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JOHN DWIGHT HUDSON .................. .... .................................................. Wilson 
GEORGE WILLIAMS HUGHES ............................................................ Winston-Salem 

....................................................................... ROBERT WENDEL HUTCHINS Carrboro 
.................................................................. THEODORE HARRY JABBS C h a p  Hill 

FRANK BROWNLOW JACKSON ................. .. ................................... Hendersonville 
................................................................. JUNE FRANKLIN JACKSON C h a p  Hill 

KEITH LEROY JARVIS ................... ........ ................................... Fayetteville 
........... ROBERT CALVIN JENKINS.. ................ ... lem 

......................................................................... DAVID GASTON JENNINGS Charlotte 
............... ROBERT BRUCE JERVIS ................. L y e t t e v i l l e  

............................. ...... DAVID TOBIN JOHNSON, JR ................... .. .... Charlotte 
................................................ EDWARD GILBERT JOHNSON .................. .. Durham 

............................... FREDERICK LEE JOHNSON W l e m  
......................................... SAMUEL WARREN JOHNSON ...................... .. Hamilton 

FRANKLIN BOWERS JOHNSTON ........................... ... ................. Winston-Salem 
................................. GRAYSON SCOTT JONES ................. .... .-lem 

............................................ STEPHEN HAROLD JONES, JR .................... .. Fletcher 
........................................ SAMUEL REA KILGORE, JR .................... ... Chapel Hill 

.......................................................................... LARRY SAMUEL KIMEL Asheville 
........................................................... JAMES JEFFREY KINCHELOE. Rocky Mount 

......................................... RONNIE PATTERSON KING ................... ... Warrenton 
SARA ANNE KING ............... .... ......................................................... Charlotte 

........................................... CLAY TEE KNIGHT ......................... ......... Scotland Neck 
............................................................. HOWARD MARSHALL KORSCHUN Goldsboro 

HOWARD ALAN KRAMER ................... .. .......... -1 Hill 
........................................................................... DAVID QUINTON LABARRE.. Durham 

JOHN OGDEN LAFFERTY, JR ........................ .. ..................................... Carrboro 
.................................................................. PHILLIP DAVID LAMBETH Greensboro 

CHARLES STUART LANIER ...................................................................... Beulaville 
WILL HARDEE LASSITER, I11 .............................................. -1 Hill 

............................................ .......... FRANCIS RIVERS LAWTHER, JR.. ... Wilmington 
WILLIAM CHARLES LAWTON ....................................................................... Raleigh 

....................... ............................... ROBERT EDWARD LEE, JR.. .. .Murf reesboro 
...................................................... RICHARD ALBERT LEIPPE ............ .... Raleigh 

..................................................... LARRY ELMER LEONARD.. .sville 
............................................. RICHARD ALLEN LEONARD. ........... .... High Point 

...................................... WADE HARRISON LEONARD, JR ................. .. C h a p  Hill 
................................................................ RAYMOND OTHO LINKER, JR Charlotte 

......................................... JAMES DAVID LITTLE ............ ... .... .... .Fayetteville 
GEORGE GUERNSEY LOCKHART ................... .. ........................................ Carrboro 

........................ HORACE LOCKLEAR.. .......................... ........ A t o n  
WILLIAM LUNSFORD LONG, I11 ................ ... ....................................... Raleigh 

............................................. .............. FRED TEMPLETON LOWRANGE.. .. Durham 
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..................................................... CHARLES EDWARD LYNCH, JR -1 Hill 
.............................................. WILLIAM OLIVER JOHNSON LYNCH Wilmington 

.......................................................... DOUGLAS PIERCE MACMILLAN C h a p e l  Hill 
................................ ................... .............. MARSHALL MCCALLUM .. .. Charlotte 

CHARLES EDWARD MCCARTNEY, JR ............................ ... ..... Winston-Salem 
....................................................................................... DEWAYNE MCCAULEY .Boone 

......................... ROBERT EDWARD MCGAW, JR.. ................. ...... 2 1  Hill 
JOSEPH ALOYSITJS MCMANUS ............ ... ............................................. Durham 
SHERRY LISBETH MCMANUS. ........... .. ................ w 

............................... ................. JAMES BRYAN MCMILLAN, JR ........ ..Charlotte 
........................................................ DENNIS WAYNE MCNAMES Winston-Salem 

.............................. ........... PASCHALL HANCOCK MCNEILL. .......... Chapel Hill 
........................................................... ERNEST FREDERICK MCPHAIL, JR.. Charlotte 

................................ ........................ EDWIN THOMAS MADDOX, JR ... Laurinburg 
............ ................ DEBORAH GREENBLATT MAILMAN.. .. L l e i g h  

........................................................... SAMUEL JOHNSTON MANNING. ..Williamston 
................................... ...................... JAMES CHALMERS MARROW, JR ..... Tarboro 

EDWARD ALLEN MARTIN ................. .. .......... .. ........................... Winston-Salem 
.................................................. ...................... JERRY CASH MARTIN.. ... M t  Airy 
.................................................. ..................... JAMES LEE MASON, JR ... .Belmont 

.......................... THOMAS JOSEPH MATKOV..  pel Hill 
JOHN MANNING MAY S p i n  Hope 
WILLIAM WALTER MAYWHORT ........................................ 4 1  Hill 
MICHAEL DAVID MEEKER ........................................................................... Asheville 

................................................... KEMP ARNOLD MICHAEL L l o t t e  
GEORGE THOMPSON MILLER ................. ... ........... W 
JERRY MEYER MILLER, JR.. ............... .... ............................. d e v i l l e  
AMOS THELMAN MILLS, 111.. ............................................... He 
RICHARD MERIWETHER MITCHELL.. ........ .. ..... ......................... Chapel  Hill 
FRED HENRY MOODY, JR ................. .. ............. .... ................... Waynesville 

...................................................................... LUTHER THOMAS MOORE W t e  
JAMES DOUGLAS MORETZ. ..................... .. ....................................... C h a p e l  Hill 
THOMAS CHAMBERS MORPHIS .............. .... ......................................... Pittsboro 
JOHN STUART MORRISON ....................... ..... . ..et City 
MICHAEL JEFFREY MULLIGAN. ........... ... ................................................ Durham 
RALPH FRANKLIN MURPHY, I1 ............................................... .. 
FRANCIS BRENT NEAL ................... ....... .................................. C h a p  Hill 
LAWSON RAY NILES.. ................... .......... ....................................... Chapel Hill 
THEODORE ADELBERT NODELL, JR.. ............... .. .. .... .......................... Charlotte 
DAVID OESTREICHER, I1 ............................................................................. Salisbury 
RICHARD ANTHONY ORSBON .................................. ........ 4 s  Creek 
RICHARD SPURGEON OWENS, I11 ............................ ... ..... W 
JAMES LARKIN PAHL.. ................................................................................ ..Raleigh 
DONALD ALAN PARKER ............................................................................. .Benson 
ROMOLUS BRAGG PARKER, JR. .................. ............ ................................. Enfield 
WILLIAM LAND PARKS .............................................. ..... A p e  Hill 
PAUL LAWRENCE PAWLOWSKI ............................................................ Chapel Hill 
RONALD DEAN PAYNE.. ....................... ...... ........ e s v i l l e  
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................................................................................ CHARLES ONIS PEED, JR Oxford 
............................... DAVID HAYES PERMAR. .. 

ELISABETH SARANEC PETERSEN ............ ................... d l  Hill 
ROBERT LOUIS PETERSEN, JR ......................... .. ..... .... . . . .  C h a p e l  Hill 

..................................... VICTOR SCOTT PETERSON.. ........................... ... .Bryson City 
MICHAEL LOUIS PEZZICOLA ................... ... ..... W 

.................................................................. RICHARD MICHAEL PIPKIN.. Statesville 
CLARENCE HATCHER POPE, JR .............................. .. .... ..olia 
LARRY EDWARD PRICE ............... ... ............................................. Winston-Salem 
WILLIAM WALTON PRITCHETT, JR ..................... ..... .......... Winston-Salem 

............................................................ DOUGLAS STUART PUNGER.. Winston-Salem 
................................................................................... PAUL EDGAR RABY. Candler 

................................................................... WILLIAM CRANFORD RAPER Asheville 
................................................................................. LACY HILL REAVES.. Raleigh 

........................................................................... GEORGE DUNCAN REGAN st. Pauls 
................ ROBERT ROOSEVELT REILLY, JR ..................... .... Hill 

.......................................................................... GARY CALVIN RHODES.. .hxin&n 
........................ .................... ERNEST CHRISTOPHER RICHARDSON. ... New Bern 

ROBERT DANIEL RIZZO ....................................................................... Jacksonville 
............................... DONALD TRAVIS ROBBINS.. 
.............................................................. RICHARD JEPHTHAH ROSE.. Rocky Mount 

.................................... .. ...................... WILLIAM GOLEY ROSS, JR.. ... .. Raleigh 
........................................................ ................. JAMES GARY ROWE. .... Asheville 

.................................................................. CHARLES PATRICK SAINSBTJRY.. ..Raleigh 
.................................. ........ .......... JOHN LESTER SARRATT.. .. ... ...,,,,...Greensboro 

...................................................................... CHASE BOONE SAUNDERS Charlotte 
ROBERT WALTER SCHIVERA .......................... .... w 
HELEN JANE SCHUITMAKER ............................................................ Winston-Salem 

.................................. ..................... JOHN VOGELEY SCHWEPPE, JR ........ Shelby 
JOHN MICHAEL SEASE ..................... .. ........ .. .................................. w a p e s ~ l l e  

............................................................................ JOSEPH WELCH SEEGERS.. Raleigh 
WILLIAM HUGH SESSOMS, JR ............................................................... Williamston 

............................................................... DAVID EMANUEL SHALLANT.. Greensboro 
............................................. ...... WILLIAM MONCURE SHEFFIELD.. .... Chapel Hill 

................................................................................ CHARLOTTE SHUFORD Lincolnton 
......................................................................... BART WILLLAM SHUSTER.. Charlotte 

.................................................................. TIMOTHY JAMES SIMMONS. Chapel Hill 
................................................................................. KARLA WEBER SIMON.. Durham 
.................................................................................. JAMES RIGG SIMPSON.. Durham 

JOHN PAUL SIMPSON. ............................ .. 
........................................... ...................... HENRY HARRISON SINK, JR.. .. Raleigh 

RAYMOND SITAR ................................................................................... Durham 
........................ CHARLES MARSHALL SLADE, JR ........................ ... Rich Square 

...................................................................... NORMAN LEE SLOAN.. Winston-Salem 
........................................... CHARLES CHRISTOPHER SMITH ............ ....... Shelby 

................................................ ................ DONALD REXFORD SMITH.. .. ..Durham 
JOHN WILLIAM SMITH, I1 .................................................................... Spring Lake 

..................................... ............ LILONA MASSEY SMITH.. .... Winston-Salem 
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PHILIP JEFFERSON SMITH ............ .... ..... .. ......... W 
DONALD HARVEY SOLOMON.. ............. .... ............................................. ..Raleigh 

....................................... MICHAEL ROLAND SPEARS. ............ ....... Fayetteville 
WILLIAM DENNIE SPRY, JR ................. ... ................................... Winston-Salem 
RICHARD THOMAS STANGE ........................................................... Winston-Salem 

.................................................................... TATE KINCAID STERRETT.. Chapel Hill 
RHODES CHERRY STOKES .............................................................................. Ayden 
JOHN WILLIAM STRAUGHN, JR ................. .................... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .Warsaw 

........................................... MARQUIS DELANO STREET .................... .... Greensboro 
NICHOLAS STREET ................... .. ............................................................. Gastonia 
ROY MICHAEL STRICKLAND.. ....... ........ ................ .... ......... Winston-Salem 
KEITH MCLENDON STROUD ................................................................. Charlotte 
TERRENCE DANIEL SULLIVAN.. ............ ... .. ..... .. ... .............. C l a p e  Hill 
OLIVER STEVENS SURLES ............................................................................ Dunn 

.......................................................... STEPHEN CHARLES SWAIN. C h a p e l  Hill 
CHARLES EDWARD SWEENY, JR ............................................................... Raleigh 
THOMAS FLEMING TAFT ................... .. ............................................. Greenville 
EDWIN ROBERT DRUMMOND TAYLOR ............. ... ......................... Blowing Rock 
RICHARD MCCRARY TAYLOR, JR.. ............... ... ................ L i l l e  
RICHARD CARL THEILING .......................................................................... Asheville 
FRANKIE CARLE THIGPEN.. .......... ..... ............................................ .Goldsboro 
HERBERT LEMAR THOMAS ............ ... ................................................ Greensboro 
DAVID REED THOMPSON ......................................................................... Chapel Hill 
LINDA AVERY THURSTON. .......... .... ...... ... ...... A p e 1  Hill 

................................................. MAYNARD EDWARD TIPPS. ............. ... Charlotte 
RICHARD CORLEY TITUS .................. ... .... .... ........................ Winston-Salem 
HAROLD EUGENE TRASK, JR. .......................... .. ....... . .  W i h t s v i l l e  Beach 
JOHN GEIB TRIMPI ............................... ... ................................. Winston-Salem 
ROBERT BLAIN TUCKER, JR. ............................................................ Winston-Salem 
ALLEN VAN TURNER ........................ .... ........................................... Carrboro 
EDMUND THEODORE URBAN ............................................................ Winston-Salem 
ROBERT ARTHUR VALOIS ......................................................................... Raleigh 

.............................................................................. DAVID PETER VOERMAN.. Trenton 
JOHN CHARLES WAINIO ............................................................................... Durham 
CARROLL CHARLES WALL, 111.. ............................................................. ..Lexington 
JOSEPH EDWARD WALL ............... .... .............................................. Burlington 

.................................. CHARLES WOODS WANNAMAKER, 111. ..o 
TERRY LYNN WEATHERFORD ............ .. ............................................... Greensboro 

............ ......... ................................... JOHN ROBBINS WESTER ... .. Rockingham 
..................................... .............. CLAUD ROBERSON WHEATLY, 111.. .. .Beauf ort 

ROSBON DANIEL BREDGER WHEDBEE.. ......................................................... Ahoskie 
................................................................. WILLIAM THOMAS WHITE. .Mt. Airy 

ARTHUR WILLIAM WIENER. ........... ... ...... ............ -0 

........... ................................................ JOHN STANLEY WILLARDSON .... Durham 
.................................................................. HOWARD LEE WILLIAMS Winston-Salem 

JAMES CHARLES WINDHAM, JR. ............................................................... Gastonia 
............................................................ WILLIAM FRANCIS WOLCOTT, I11 Asheville 

JAMES DORSETT WOMBLE, JR ............................................................. Murfreesboro 
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WILLIAM ZENO WOOD, JR ................. .. ..... .... ........ W 
............................. ..... RANDOLPH LUTHER WORTH.. ............. ... .... Raleigh 

JAMES ROBERT WREN, JR.. ................. .... ............................................ .Gastonia 
............ WILLIAM LAWRENCE YAEGER.. .......... ..... ........... .... C h a p e l  Hill 

.......................................................................... CHARLES HOLT YOUNG, JR.. Raleigh 

THE FOLLOWING NAMED APPLICANTS WERE ADMITTED BY 
COMITY WITHOUT WRITTEN EXAMINATION: 

................................................................... RAYMOND WALKER DEW, JR Raleigh 
JOSEPH RICHARD MOTELEWSKI ............. .. ...................................... Camp Lejeune 

.......................................... ............... WARD WILLIAM WUESTE, JR.. .... ..Durham 
......................... ................................ WILLIAM THEODORE JOBE, JR ... Asheville 

GUY FLETCHER DRIVER, JR ....................................................... Winston-Salem 
.......................... ................................. HORACE LLOYD WISE.. .. P o i n t  Harbor 

.................... .......................................... WILLIAM FAY O'CONNELL ...... Raleigh 
................................................................. WILLIAM JOHN GUENTHER ..Franklin 

WILLIAM FRANCIS DOWLING, JR ................. ... .......... ..... ..A 
................................ HENRY CONRAD LAUERMAN .................... .... Winston-Salem 

........................................................ ............ HUGH SCOTT HESTER.. .... .Reidsville 
....... ..................................... RALPH GUBLER JORGENSEN. ............. T a b  City 

............................................ WILLIAM GORDON HAEMMEL.. .......... ... Waynesville 
WILLIAM LAURENS WALKER, I11 ................... .. ................................. Chapel Hill 
DONALD ARTHUR DONADIO .................... ... .............................. Winston-Salem 

Given over my hand and the Seal of the Board of Law Examiners, 
this 3rd day of October, 1972. 

B. E. JAMES, Sewetarg 
The Board of Law Examiners of 
The State of North Carolina 
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C A S E S  
ARGUED AND DETERMINED IN THO 

SUPREME COURT 

N O R T H  C A R O L I N A  
1 AT 

R A L E I G H  

SPRING TERM 1972 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JESSE HARVEY, JR. 

No. 51 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Indictment and Warrant Q 6- arrest warrant-probable cause 
The Fourth Amendment requirement that no warrant shall issue 

but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and par- 
ticularly describing the persons or things to be seized, applies to 
arrest warrants as  well as to search warrants. 

2. Indictment and Warrant Q 6- arrest warrant - probable cause 
The judicial officer issuing an arrest warrant must be supplied 

with sufficient information to support an independent judgment that  
there is  probable cause for issuing the warrant. 

3. Indictment and Warrant § 6- arrest warrant - probable cause 
The same probable cause standards under the Fourth and Four- 

teenth Amendments apply to both federal and state warrants. G.S. 
15-27. 

4. Indictment and Warrant Q 6- probable cause - reliable informant 
Information received from a reliable informant is  sufficient to 

support a conclusion that probable cause for arrest exists. 

5. Indictment and Warrant 3 6- probable cause - S.B.I. agent's testi- 
mony - information from another S.B.I. agent 

S.B.I. agent's affidavit and testimony before a magistrate that  
another S.B.I. agent had purchased heroin from defendant furnished 
sufficient evidence to support the magistrate's determination that 
probable cause existed for defendant's arrest. 

6. Arrest and Bail Q 5- erroneous identification of defendant - arrest 
under warrant 

Although defendant had been erroneously identified as  the person 
who sold heroin to an S.B.I. agent, defendant's arrest under a warrant 
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charging the sale of heroin to the S.B.I. agent was lawful where the 
warrant was issued by a magistrate, in compliance with his duty, 
upon a complaint which furnished him probable cause to believe that  
the crime charged had been committed by defendant. 

7. Arrest and Bail Q 5- arrest under warrant - forcible entry -demand 
for and denial of entry 

There was sufficient compliance with the requirement that en- 
trance be demanded and denied before a police officer can forcibly 
enter a dwelling for the purpose of making an arrest, where defendant 
had observed the officer's uniform and was aware of his official status, 
the officer had seen defendant looking out a door and kne% that 
defendant had observed him, and the officer twice called out defend- 
ant's name and received no reply before he opened the door to 
defendant's residence. 

8. Constitutional Law Q 21; Criminal Law 9 84; Searches and Seizures 
Q 1- seizure without a warrant - articles in plain view 

The constitutional guaranty against unreasonable searches and 
seizures does not apply where a search is not necessary, and where 
the contraband matter is fully disclosed and open to the eye and hand. 

9. Criminal Law 8 84; Searches and Seizures 9 1- lawful entry into 
home -seizure without warrant - articles in plain view - absence of 
exploratory search 

Where a police officer lawfully entered defendant's home to serve 
a valid arrest warrant, the officer did not need a search warrant to 
seize marijuana seeds lying in plain view on the top of a freezer 
some three or four feet from the officer or to seize marijuana which 
the officer saw inside a plastic jar that he picked up to use as  a 
container for the seized marijuana seeds, no warrant being necessary 
for the seizure of articles in plain view, and the marijuana in the 
plastic jar not being discovered by a general exploratory search or 
an unreasonable search. 

10. Narcotics Q 4- possession defined 
One has possession of narcotics within the meaning of the law 

when he has both the power and intent to control its disposition or 
use. 

11. Narcotics Q 4- possession - premises controlled by accused 
The fact that narcotics are found on premises under the control 

of the accused raises an inference of knowledge and possession which 
may be sufficient to carry the case to the jury on a charge of unlawful 
possession. 

12. Narcotics Q 4- possession - defendant's proximity to narcotics 
The State may overconle a motion to dismiss or motion for judg- 

ment as  of nonsuit in a prosecution for possession of narcotics by 
presenting evidence which places the accused within such close 
juxtaposition to the narcotics as  to justify the jury in concluding that 
they were in his possession. 
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13. Narcotics 4- possession-marijuana in defendant's home 
The State's evidence was sufficient to support a reasonable infer- 

ence that  marijuana was in defendant's possession where i t  placed 
defendant within three or four feet of marijuana lying on top of a 
freezer and marijuana in a plastic jar in defendant's home, and 
no one else was in the room where the marijuana was found. 

14. Criminal Law § 115- necessity for submitting lesser offense 
The court is not required to submit to the jury the question of 

defendant's guilt of a lesser degree of the crime charged in the indict- 
ment when the State's evidence is positive as  to each and every ele- 
ment of the crime charged and there is no conflicting evidence relat- 
ing to any element of the crime charged. 

15. Narcotics 4.5- felonious possession of marijuana - failure to sub- 
mit misdemeanor 

In a prosecution for the felony of possession of more than one 
gram of marijuana, the trial court did not err in failing to submit 
the misdemeanor of possession of less than one gram of marijuana, 
where all the evidence relating to the quantity of marijuana shows 
that  defendant possessed more than one gram of marijuana. 

16. Statutes § 5- legislative intent 
In seeking to discover and give effect to the legislative intent, 

an act inust be considered as  a whole, and none of its provisions shall 
be deemed useless or redundant if they can reasonably be considered 
as  adding something to the act which is in harmony with its purpose. 

17. Narcotics 5; Criminal Law 9 138- possession of marijuana - punish- 
ment statute changed pending defendant's appeal 

A defendant whose appeal from conviction of possession of more 
than one gram of marijuana was pending on 1 January 1972, the effec- 
tive date of the act reducing that crime from a felony to a misdemeanor 
and reducing the maximum punishment for a first offense of possession 
of any quantity of marijuana to six months, is not entitled to the 
benefit of the more lenient punishment provisions of the new act, 
since the new act contains savings clauses providing that prosecutions 
for violations of law occurring prior to its effective date shall not be 
affected and that  its provisions shall be applicable to violations of 
law which occur following 1 January 1972. 

APPEAL by defendant pursuant to G.S. 7A-30(1) from de- 
cision of the North Carolina Court of .Appeals, 13 N.C. App. 
433, finding no error in the trial before Rome, J., a t  24 May 
1971, Session of BEAUFORT Superior Court. 

Defendant was charged in a bill of indictment with un- 
lawful possession of marijuana in excess of one gram. When 
the case came on for trial, defendant entered a plea of not guilty 
and, after the jury was duly empaneled, he moved to suppress 
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the marijuana from evidence. The court, on voir dire, heard 
evidence from both the State and defendant. 

On voir dire, S.B.I. Agent Thomas W. Caddy testified 
that on 15 March 1971 he went before Magistrate W. T. 
Stowe for the purpose of obtaining an arrest warrant for Jesse 
Harvey, Jr. Agent Caddy testified under oath before the magis- 
trate that on or about 23 January 1971 Special Agent E. H. 
Cross, Jr., of the State Bureau of Investigation, had purchased 
16 bindles of heroin from Jesse Harvey, Jr. He stated that he 
told the magistrate he had received the information concerning 
the sale of heroin through Agent Cross. Based on the sworn 
testimony of Agent Caddy, the magistrate issued a warrant for 
the arrest of Jesse Harvey, charging him with unlawful sale 
of the narcotic drug, heroin. 

At the time the warrant was obtained, Agent Cross was 
out of the county. 

Deputy Sheriff Randy Respass testified that he went to 
the home of Jesse Harvey on 16 March 1971 for the purpose 
of serving the arrest warrant. He observed Jesse Harvey look- 
ing out the door of the utility room. Deputy Respass ap- 
proached that door and twice called defendant's name. When 
he received no reply he opened the utility door about twelve 
inches and again called defendant's name. At this time defend- 
ant answered, "yes," and Respass observed him standing behind 
the door approximately three or four feet from a chest-type 
deep freezer located in the utility room. Deputy Respass opened 
the door wider and defendant came towards him. While stand- 
ing in the doorway, he read the warrant to Harvey. At that 
time Deputy Sheriff Respass could see the top of the deep 
freezer, and he observed seed which he recognized as marijuana 
seed lying on top of the deep freezer. After handcuffing Harvey, 
Respass went into the utility room and gathered up the mari- 
juana seed with his hands. He then picked up a plastic jar 
located adjacent to the deep freezer and poured the seed into 
the plastic jar. When he was in the act of pouring the seed into 
the jar, he observed more marijuana seed and some vegetable 
matter in the jar. 

W. H. Thompson, with the State Bureau of Investigation, 
testified that on 23 January 1971 he was with Agent Cross 
when he made a purchase of sixteen bindles of heroin. He stated 
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that he saw the entire transaction, and the person who sold 
the heroin to Agent Cross was not defendant Jesse Harvey, Jr. 

Defendant testified that Deputy Sheriff Respass came to 
his residence around 10 or 10:30 o'clock on the evening of 
16 March, 1971, and a t  that time he (Harvey) was in the 
storage room of the house. He heard an automobile door slam 
and saw Deputy Sheriff Respass (wearing his uniform) ap- 
proaching the porch. Defendant further testified that when the 
deputy called his name, he immediately left the storage room 
and closed the door behind him. He was arrested and handcuffed 
a t  that time. He stated there were no marijuana seeds loose 
on the freezer chest and that they were all in the jar;  and that 
Deputy Sheriff Respass did not go into the storage room until 
after defendant had been arrested and handcuffed. 

At the close of the evidence Judge Rouse entered an order 
in  which he found facts, which were substantially supported 
by the testimony of the two S.B.I. agents, and entered an  order 
concluding and adjudging : 

I. That the affidavit and information furnished by the 
officer to the magistrate was sufficient as a basis for the 
issuance of a valid warrant. 

11. That the entry into the home of the defendant un- 
der the circumstances of this case was with a reasonable 
belief that the defendant was present and had failed to 
respond after having been called and was, therefore, not 
illegal. 

111. That the contraband which is the subject of this 
action was in plain view and was, therefore, not discovered 
through an illegal search. 

IV. That if i t  should be construed that the contraband 
was discovered by search, then the Court concludes that 
i t  was a lawful search, incident to a lawful arrest. 

It is, therefore, ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Mo- 
tion to Suppress be and the same is hereby DENIED. 

The jury returned to the courtroom and Deputy Sheriff 
Respass testified to substantially the same facts as on voir dire. 

The State then offered the testimony of Phil Williamson, 
found by the court to be an expert in forensic chemistry, who 
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testified that he had analyzed the contents of State's Exhibit 
No. 4 and had found that i t  consisted of two grams of mari- 
juana seed and .2 of one gram of marijuana leaf fragments and 
flowering top parts. The State elicited other testimony showing 
that State's Exhibit No. 4 was the seed and vegetable matter 
taken from Jesse Harvey's home on 16 March 1971. 

The record discloses that the State took a no1 pros on the 
original charge of illegal sale of heroin. 

Defendant offered no evidence before the jury. 

The jury returned a verdict of guilty of the offense of 
possession of marijuana of more than one gram. Defendant 
appealed from judgment imposing a sentence of imprisonment 
of not less than one nor more than three years. 

Attorney General Morgan, Chief Deputy Attorney General 
McGalliard, Associate Attorney A n n  Reed, and Associate Attor- 
ney  Poole for  t he  State. 

Paul & Keenan, by  James E. Keenan, for  defendant.  

BRANCH, Justice. 

Defendant contends that the trial judge erred in denying 
his motion to suppress the evidence seized from defendant's 
premises. Defendant first argues that there was no probable 
cause shown to the magistrate for issuance of the warrant. 

[I-31 The Fourth Amendment requirement that no warrant 
shall issue but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affir- 
mation, and particularly describing the persons or things to be 
seized, applies to arrest warrants as well as to search warrants. 
The judicial officer issuing such warrant must be supplied 
with sufficient information to support an independent judg- 
ment that there is probable cause for issuing the arrest war- 
rant. Giordenello v. Unn'ted States, 357 U.S. 480, 2 L. ed 2d 
1503, 78 S.Ct. 1245. The same probable cause standards under 
the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments apply to both federal 
and state warrants. G.S. 15-27; State v. Vestal,  278 N.C. 561, 
180 S.E. 2d 755; Ker  v. California, 374 U.S. 23, 10 L. ed 2d 
726, 83 S.Ct 1623; Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 6 L. ed 2d 
1081, 81 S.Ct. 1684. 
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This Court dealt with determination of probable cause 
relating to issuance of search warrants in the case of State v. 
Vestal, supra, and there stated: 

"In Aguilar v. Texas, 378 U.S. 108, 84 S.Ct 1509, 
12 L. ed 2d 723, the Supreme Court of the United States 
dealt with questions concerning the Fourth Amendment 
requirements for obtaining a valid state search warrant. 
It said: 

'[Wlhen a search is based upon a magistrate's, 
rather than a police officer's, determination of prob- 
able cause, the reviewing court will accept evidence of 
a less "judicially competent or persuasive character 
than would have justified an officer in acting on his 
own without a warrant." * * * and will sustain the 
judicial determination so long as "there was substan- 
tial basis for [the magistrate] to conclude that [the 
articles searched for] were probably present." * * * 

'Although an affidavit may be based on hearsay 
information and need not reflect the direct personal 
observations of the affiant, Jones v. United States, 
362 U.S. 257, 4 L. ed 2d 697, 80 S.Ct. 725, 78 A.L.R. 
2d 233, the magistrate must be informed of some of 
the underlying circumstances from which the in- 
formant concluded that the [articles to be searched 
for] were where he claimed they were, and some of 
the underlying circumstances from which the officer 
concluded that the informant, whose identity need 
not be disclosed, * * * was "credible" or his informa- 
tion "reliable." ' " 

[4] More specifically considering arrest warrants, the courts 
hold that information received from a reliable informant is 
sufficient to support a conclusion that probable cause for arrest 
exists. Draper v. United States, 358 U.S. 307, 3 L. ed 2d 327, 
79 S.Ct 329; Ker v. California, supra; McCray v. Illinois, 
386 U.S. 300, 18 L. ed 2d 62, 87 S.Ct. 1056. 

In support of his contention, defendant relies heavily upon 
the case of Whiteley v. Wardeni of Wyoming Penitentiary, 401 
U.S. 560, 28 L. ed 2d 306, 91 S.Ct. 1031. There, the officer's 
complaint upon which the warrant for arrest was issued stated: 
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" 'I, C. W. Ogburn, do solemnly swear that on or about 
the 23 day of November, A. D. 1964, in the County of 
Carbon and State of Wyoming, the said Harold Whiteley 
and Jack Daley, defendants did then and there unlawfully 
break and enter a locked and sealed building [describing 
the location and ownership of the building] .' " 

The Court there, in holding that the judicial officer was not 
supplied with sufficient information to support an independent 
judgment that probable cause existed, in part said: 

" . . . [TI he sole support for the arrest warrant issued 
a t  Sheriff Ogburn's request was the complaint reproduced 
above. That complaint consists of nothing more than the 
complainant's conclusion that the individuals named therein 
perpetrated the offense described in the complaint. The 
actual basis for Sheriff Ogburn's conclusion was an in- 
former's tip, but the fact, as well as every other operative 
fact, is omitted from the complaint. Under the cases just 
cited, that document alone could not support the independ- 
ent judgment of a disinterested magistrate." 

The complaint for arrest upon which the warrant was is- 
sued in the case before us for decision avers: " . . . that a t  and 
in the County named above and on or about the 23 day of 
January, 1971, the defendant named above did unlawfully, 
wilfully and feloniously sell to S.B.I. Agent, E. H. Cross, Jr., 
a narcotic drug in violation of the Uniform Narcotic Drug Act. 
Tne drug in question consisted of sixteen (16) bindles of 
heroin." 

The present case, unlike Whiteley, shows ample basis for 
issuance of the arrest warrant upon information from a credi- 
ble source. 

This Court has held that a police officer making the affi- 
davit for issuance of a warrant may do so in reliance upon 
information reported to him by other officers in the per- 
formance of their duties. State v. Vestal, supra; State v. Banks, 
250 N.C. 728, 110 S.E. 2d 322. 

[S] Here, S.B.I. Agent Caddy relied upon information received 
through S.B.P. Agent Cross while in the performance of his 
duties. The evidence that Agent Cross purchased heroin from 
the accused furnished sufficient evidence that probable cause 
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for defendant's arrest existed. The very relation shown to exist 
between S.B.I. Agent Cross and the affiant (S.B.I. Agent Caddy) 
was sufficient evidence of circumstances upon which the affiant 
could conclude that the information furnished to the magistrate 
was credible and reliable. 

161 We must consider the fact that the warrant executed by 
Deputy Sheriff Respass was mistakenly issued for defendant. 

5 Am. Jur. 2d, Arrest, 8 4, p. 699, states: 

When a warrant, valid in form and issued by a court 
of competent jurisdiction, is placed in the hands of an 
officer for execution, i t  is his duty to carry out its demands 
without delay, and he incurs no liability for its proper 
execution, however disastrous may be the effect on the per- 
son against whom i t  is issued. If i t  is regular on its face, 
he is bound to serve it, and failure to do so would be 
disobedience of a lawful court order, punishable as con- 
tempt. 

In the case of Hill v. California, 401 U.S. 797, 28 L. ed 2d 
484, 91 S.Ct. 1106, the police had probable cause to believe 
that Hill had been implicated in a robbery and that the fruits 
of the crime were located in his apartment. They proceeded to 
his apartment, and when they arrived they found the door open 
and a man answering his description in the apartment. They 
thereupon arrested the occupant of the apartment despite his 
protestations that he was not Hill. They then proceeded to 
search the apartment. Sustaining the arrest as  valid and hold- 
ing the search legal as incident to the arrest, the Court stated: 

<' . . . '[w] hen the police have probable cause to arrest 
one party, and when they reasonably mistake a second 
party for the first party, then the arrest of the second 
party is a valid arrest.' . . . The upshot was that the offi- 
cers in good faith believed Miller was Hill and arrested him. 
They were quite wrong as it turned out, and subjective 
good-faith belief would not in itself justify either the 
arrest or the subsequent search. But sufficient probability, 
not certainty, is the touchstone of reasonableness under 
the Fourth Amendment and on the record before us the 
officers' mistake was understandable and the arrest a 
reasonable response to the situation facing them a t  the 
time." 
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We recognize that the facts in Hill differ from those in 
this case, in that in Hill the person arrested was not the accused 
against whom the evidence was offered. However, we think 
that the controlling principles of sufficient probability and rea- 
sonableness are applicable and controlling in both cases. 

Here, the officer, as he was required to do, executed the 
warrant, valid on its face. The warrant was issued by a magis- 
trate, in compliance with his duty, upon a complaint which 
furnished him probable cause to believe that the crime charged 
had been committed by defendant. The arrest was a valid arrest. 

Defendant further supports his motion to suppress with 
the argument that Deputy Sheriff Respass illegally entered his 
home to make the arrest. 

G.S. 15-44 provides : 

If a felony or other infamous crime has been commit- 
ted or a dangerous wound has been given and there is rea- 
sonable ground to believe that the guilty person is concealed 
in a house, it shall be lawful for any sheriff, coroner, consta- 
ble, or police officer, admittance having been demanded and 
denied, to break open the door and enter the house and 
arrest the person against whom there shall be such ground 
of belief. 

[7] Defendant argues that the officer's failure to knock, dis- 
close his identity, his authority, and his mission brings the facts 
of this case within the holdings of State v. Sparrow, 276 N.C. 
499, 173 S.E. 2d 897, and State v. Covington, 273 N.C. 690, 
161 S.E. 2d 140. 

In State v. Spawow, supra, i t  is stated: 

"Ordinarily, a police officer, absent invitation or per- 
mission, may not enter a private home to make an arrest 
or otherwise seize a person unless he first gives notice of 
his authority and purpose and makes a demand for and 
is refused entry." 

The Court considered the same question in State u. Coving- 
ton, supra. There police officers, without a search warrant, 
forcibly entered a motel room and arrested the defendant. The 
officers had grounds reasonably to believe that he had com- 
mitted a felony, but had not first  demanded and been denied 
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admittance. The Court, holding the entry to be unlawful and 
articles seized as a result of the unlawful entry to be inadmissi- 
ble in  evidence, stated: 

1 ' . . . Under G.S. 15-44 admittance, in the absence of 
hostile action from inside the dwelling prior to such de- 
mand, must be 'demanded and denied' before a forcible 
entry is lawful where, as here, there is neither a search 
warrant nor a warrant for the arrest of an occupant or 
supposed occupant. Indeed, State v. Mooring, 115 N.C. 709, 
20 S.E. 182, seems to support the view that this require- 
ment would apply even though the officers have a search 
warrant or warrant of arrest. See 15 N.C.L.R. 101, 125. 
Compliance with this requirement serves to identify the 
official status of those seeking admittance. The require- 
ment is for the protection of the officers as well as for 
the protection of the occupant and the recognition of his 
constitutional rights." 

It is of interest to note that in his voir dire testimony 
defendant Harvey stated that the officer made no entry into 
the house prior to the arrest. 

[7] The State's evidence showed that Deputy Sheriff Respass 
"twice called out" in lieu of knocking, before opening the door. 
Defendant had observed his uniform and was aware of his 
official status. The officer knew that defendant had observed 
him and was therefore justified in proceeding to open the door. 
Under the circumstances of this case there was sufficient com- 
pliance with the rationale of Sparrow and Covington, to the 
effect that entrance must be demanded and denied before a 
police officer can proceed to forcibly enter a dwelling for the 
purpose of making an arrest. 

We hold that Deputy Sheriff Respass legally entered de- 
fendant's premises. 

Defendant further contends that the marijuana was ob- 
tained by an illegal search and seizure. 

[S] The constitutional guaranty against unreasonable searches 
and seizures does not apply where a search is not necessary, 
and where the contraband subject matter is fully disclosed and 
open to the eye and the hand. State v. Virgil, 276 N.C. 217, 
172 S.E. 2d 28; State v. Cokon, 274 N.C. 295, 163 S.E. 2d 376; 
State v. Giles, 254 N.C. 499, 119 S.E. 2d 394. 
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Deputy Sheriff Respass testified : 

"I read the warrant to Mr. Jesse Harvey and told him 
what i t  was for and when he came out of the doorway I 
saw marijuana seed on the deep freeze. . . . They were 
three or four feet away from me." 

[9] Obviously, the seizure of the marijuana seed comes square- 
ly within the "plain view" doctrine set out in State v. Virgil, 
supra. Nor do we think there was a general exploratory search 
or  unreasonable search when the officer saw marijuana inside 
a plastic jar which he had picked up to use as a container for 
the seized marijuana seed. Officer Respass was legally on the 
premises, and no search was required to discover the contraband 
material. There was sufficient evidence to support the trial 
judge's findings, and the findings in turn support his con- 
clusions of law and ruling. 

We hold that the court properly overruled the motion to 
suppress. 

Defendant assigns as error the trial court's denial of his 
motion to dismiss. He argues that the State failed to offer sub- 
stantial evidence that he was in possession of the marijuana. 

"As used in G.S. 15-173, there is no difference in 
legal significance between a motion 'to dismiss the action' 
and a motion 'for judgment as in case of nonsuit.' The 
question presented by defendant's motion to dismiss was 
whether the evidence was sufficient to warrant its sub- 
mission to the jury and to support a verdict of guilty of the 
criminal offense charged in  the incFictment." State v. 
Cooper, 275 N.C. 283, 167 S.E. 2d 266. 

110-121 An accused's possession of narcotics may be actual or 
constructive. He has possession of the contraband material 
within the meaning of the law when he has both the power and 
intent to control its disposition or use. Where such materials 
are found on the premises under the control of an accused, this 
fact, in and of itself, gives rise to an inference of knowledge 
and possession which may be sufficient to carry the case to 
the jury on a charge of unlawful possession. Also, the State 
may overcome a motion to dismiss or motion for judgment as 
of nonsuit by presenting evidence which places the accused 
"within such close juxtaposition to the narcotic drugs as to 
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justify the jury in concluding that the same was in his pos- 
session." State v. Allen, 279 N.C. 406, 183 S.E. 2d 680; State v. 
Fuqua, 234 N.C. 168, 66 S.E. 2d 667; Hunt v. State, 158 Tex. 
Crim. 618, 258 S.W. 2d 320; People v. Galloway, 28 111. 2d 355, 
192 N.E. 2d 370. 

[I31 In this case the State's evidence placed defendant within 
three or four feet of the marijuana within his home. No one 
else was in the room. This evidence supports a reasonable in- 
ference that the marijuana was in defendant's possession. 

The trial judge correctly overruled defendant's motion to 
dismiss. 

Defendant contends that the court erred in failing to 
instruct the jury that i t  could return a verdict of misdemeanor 
possession of marijuana. 

Under the law as it existed a t  the time of defendant's trial 
he would have been guilty of a misdemeanor had he possessed 
only one gram, or less, of marijuana. G.S. 90-88; G.S. 90-111. 

In the case of State v. Riera, 276 N.C. 361, 172 S.E. 2d 
535, i t  is stated: 

"It is also well recognized in North Carolina that when 
a defendant is indicted for a criminal offense he may be 
convicted of the offense charged or of a lesser included 
offense when the greater offense in the bill contains all 
the essential elements of the lesser offense, all of which 
could be proved by proof of the allegations of fact contained 
in the indictment. . . . Further, when such lesser included 
offense is supported by some evidence, a 'defendant is 
entitled to have the different views arising on the evi- 
dence presented to the jury upon proper instructions, and 
an error in this respect is not cured by a verdict finding 
the defendant guilty of a higher degree of the same 
crime . . . . ' When there is evidence to support the milder 
verdict, the Court must charge upon i t  even when there 
is no specific prayer for the instruction." 

[14] Equally well recognized is the rule that the court is not 
required to submit to the jury the question of defendant's guilt 
of a lesser degree of the crime charged in the indictment when 
the State's evidence is positive as to each and every element of 
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the crime charged and there is no conflicting evidence relating 
to any element of the charged crime. State v. Flippin, 280 N.C. 
682, 186 S.E. 2d 917; State v. Smith, 268 N.C. 167, 150 S.E. 
2d 194; State v. Jones, 249 N.C. 134, 105 S.E. 2d 513; State u. 
Hicks, 241 N.C. 156, 84 S.E. 2d 545. 

[I§] All the evidence in this case relating to quantity of mari- 
juana shows that defendant possessed more than one gram of 
the contraband material. Defendant tried unsuccessfully by 
cross-examination to elicit evidence showing a lesser amount. 
Thus, there was no error in the failure of the trial judge to 
submit and charge on the lesser offense of misdemeanor pos- 
session of marijuana. 

Finally, we consider defendant's contention that he is 
entitled to be resentenced under the more lenient penalties for 
possession of marijuana prescribed by the North Carolina Con- 
trolled Substances Act effective 1 January 1972. 

The 1971 General Assembly enacted the North Carolina 
Controlled Substances Act. We quote pertinent portions of the 
Act. 

"$90-94. Schedule VI controlled substances. 

The following controlled substances are included in this 
Schedule : 

1. Marihuana. 

"$90-95. Violations, penalties.-(a) Except as authorized 
by this Article, i t  shall be unlawful for any person : 

(1) to manufacture, distribute or dispense or possess 
with intent to distribute a controlled substance listed 
in any schedule of this Article; 

(3) to possess a controlled substance included in any 
schedule of this Article ; 

(b) Any person who violates G.S. 90-95(a) (1) or G.S. 
90-95 (a)  (2) shall be guilty of a felony and shall be sen- 
tenced to a term of imprisonment of not more than five 
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years or fined not more than five thousand dollars ($5,000), 
or both in  the discretion of the court. . . . 

(e) Any person who violates G.S. 90-95 (a) (3) with 
respect to controlled substances included in Schedules V 
and VI of this Article shall, for the first offense, be guilty 
of a misdemeanor and be sentenced to a term of imprison- 
ment of not more than six months or fined not more than 
five hundred dollars ($500.00). . . . 

(f)  Possession by any person of controlled substances 
included in any Schedule of this Article in violation of 
G.S. 90-95(a) (3) shall be presumed to be possession of 
such substances for purpose of violating G.S. 90-95 (a) (1) 
in the following cases: 

(3) possession of more than 5 grams of marijuana as 
controlled within Schedule VI of this Article from 
which the resin has not been extracted, or possession 
of more than one gram of the extracted resin thereof 
and every salt, compound, derivative, mixture or 
preparation of such resin, or possession of more than 
one one-hundredth gram of tetrahydrocannabinols. 

"$ 90-113.7 Pending proceedings.-(a) Prosecution for 
any violation of law occurring prior to January 1, 1972 
shall not be affected by these repealers, or amendments, or 
abated by reason thereof. 

(b) Civil seizures or forfeitures and injunctive proceed- 
ings commenced prior to January 1, 1972 shall not be af- 
fected by these repealers, or amendments, or abated by 
reason thereof. 

( c )  All administrative proceedings pending on January 
1, 1972 shall be continued and brought to final determina- 
tion in accord with laws and regulations in effect prior to 
January 1, 1972. Such drugs placed under control prior to 
January 1, 1972 which are not included within Schedules I 
through VI of this Article shall automatically be controlled 
and listed in the appropriate schedule. 

(d) The provisions of this Article shall be applicable to 
violations of law, seizures and forfeiture, injunctive proceed- 



16 IN THE SUPREME COURT [281 

State v. Harvey 

ings, administrative proceedings, and investigations which 
occur following January 1, 1972." 

The possession of marijuana by an unlicensed person re- 
mains a crime under the Controlled Substances Act. However, 
the provisions of this Act reduce the mere possession of mari- 
juana in any amount to a misdemeanor, punishable, on first 
offense, by imprisonment of not more than six months or a 
fine of not more than $500. Under this act possession of more 
than five grams of marijuana creates a presumption that the 
possession is for the purpose of distribution in violation of 
G.S. 90-95 (a)  (1). 

There is a line of cases in North Carolina which hold that 
when there is an express and unqualified repeal of a statute 
after a crime has been committed-but before final judgment 
(even after conviction) -no punishment can be imposed under 
the provisions of the repealed statute. A judgment is not final 
as long as the case is pending. State v. McCLuaey, 280 N.C. 404, 
185 S.E. 2d 870; State v. Brgant, 280 N.C. 407, 185 S.E. 2d 
854; State v. Spencer, 276 N.C. 535, 173 S.E. 2d 765; State v. 
Pardon, 272 N.C. 72, 157 S.E. 2d 698; State v. Williams, 97 
N.C. 455, 2 S.E. 55. 

We note that none of the statutes considered in the above 
cited cases had a savings clause directed to violations committed 
prior to the repeal, or to prosecutions pending a t  the time of 
the repeal. 

Thus, the pendency of this case on appeal poses the ques- 
tion of whether the defendant is subject to the felony punish- 
ment pursuant to the act under which he was convicted and sen- 
tenced, or whether he is subject to lesser punishment under the 
Controlled Substances Act. 

The case of State v. Perkins, 141 N.C. 797, 53 S.E. 735, 
considered the effect of a statutory change in punishment be- 
fore final judgment in a criminal trial. There, defendant 
appealed from convictions of possession of liquor for sale with- 
out a license and unlawful sale of liquor, pursuant to Ch. 434 
of the Laws of 1903. The offenses were allegedly committed in 
1904, and in 1905, prior to defendant's trial, the General As- 
sembly increased the penalty for the two offenses. On appeal, 
defendant contended that the legislative change in penalty 
repealed the 1903 act and barred the prosecution against him. 



State v. Harvey 

The Court, in holding that there was no repeal of the 1903 act 
by the enactment of the later statute, set forth the above stated 
rule followed in McClzmey, Bryant ,  Spencer,  Pardon  and Wil- 
l iams, and further said: 

66 . . . The rule is so familiar and well grounded in 
reason that we need not stop to discuss it further, except to 
say that i t  necessarily ~ l a t e s  to an unqualified and ex- 
press repeal, in the view we take of it, as to its effect upon 
pending prosecutions for offenses committed under the 
prior statute before the repeal, or upon prosecutions for 
such offenses afterwards instituted. As thus considered, 
i t  has no application to the facts of this case, for the act 
of 1905 does not expressly and unqualifiedly repeal the act 
of 1903, but repeals only to the extent that i t  conflicts with 
it. If the Legislature had intended to repeal the act of 1903 
absolutely i t  was easy to have expressed that intention in 
words of unmistakable meaning; but i t  preferred not to do 
so, but to repeal it only so far  as it is repugnant to the 
provisions of the later statute. The act of 1905 is by its 
very language prospective in its operation. I t  refers to 
sales made after 1 June, 1905, when i t  became effective, 
and could not under our Constitution apply to antecedent 
acts, so as to make them criminal or punishable if not so 
a t  the time they were committed. . . . Repeals by impli- 
cation are not favored, and they should not be extended so 
as  to include cases not within the intention of the Legis- 
lature. . . . 

". . . I t  can make no difference how the intention of 
the Legislature, that an act should have prospective opera- 
tion, is expressed; whether i t  is done by unequivocal terms 
in the act, or by a proviso, or is to be gathered from its 
general scope and tenor, so that it appears with sufficient 
clearness that such is the intention. . . . 97  

In Perk ins  this Court quoted with approval from Pegram's 
case, 1 Leigh (Va.) 569 (28 Va. 569) as follows : 

"Although the principle is correct that leges posteriores 
prioves comtrwr/.as abrogant,  yet they only abrogate them 
from the time that the latter law is passed or goes into 
effect. The principle on which this rule prevails is that 
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the latter statute being incompatible with the former, they 
cannot exist together, and the latest expression of the will 
of the Legislature is the law. But there is no incompati- 
bility in the statutes now under consideration. A punish- 
ment affixed to an offense prior to the first of May, 1828, 
is not incompatible with a different punishment, either 
lighter or more severe, affixed to the same offense subse- 
quent to that date. They may well stand together. The pun- 
ishment prescribed by Laws 1827-'28 being different from 
that prescribed by Laws 1822-'23, is certainly an  implied 
repeal of it, as to new offenses, from the time i t  goes into 
effect; but, by the very terms of the law, the new pun- 
ishment is only applied to the offenses happening after 
1 May, 1828, leaving the old punishment to be applied to 
the offenses happing before that day." 

In State v. Putney, 61 N.C. 543, the defendant was con- 
victed of larceny of a mule. After the time of the alleged lar- 
ceny, but before trial, the Legislature increased the punish- 
ment for violation of the statute. The defendant made a motion 
in arrest of judgment on the ground that passage of the statute 
increasing the penalty repealed the statute under which he was 
convicted. The Court entered an order allowing the motion, 
and the State appealed. The Court, finding error in the entry 
of the order, stated : 

". . . But the act of 1866-1867 has no application to 
the case before us, because i t  does not repeal the old law, 
but is only prospective in its character and is to be read 
thus: If any person shall hereafter steal a mule, etc., he 
shall suffer death. All larcenies committed before that act 
are to be tried and punished without reference thereto." 

State v. Williams, 192 La. 713, 189 So. 112, reflects the 
rule recognized in many states. There defendant was charged 
with the statutory felony of injuring a person by operating an 
automobile while intoxicated. Defendant was arrested and re- 
leased on bond, and before his trial the statute under which 
he was indicted was repealed. The repealing act contained a 
proviso which stated: "This act shall in no way affect pend- 
ing prosecutions in the courts of this state." The Court held 
that defendant could be prosecuted under the old law even 
though indictment had not been returned against him until after 
the effective date of the repealing act. The Court, in so hold- 
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ing, defined the word "prosecution" as follows: "A prosecu- 
tion consists of the series of proceedings had in the bringing of 
an accused person to justice, from the time when the formal 
accusation is made, by the filing of an affidavit or a bill of 
indictment or information in the criminal court, until the pro- 
ceedings are terminated." Accord: State v. Bowles, 70 Kan. 
821, 79 P. 728; State v. District Cowrt, 19 N.D. 819, 124 N.W. 
417; Sigsbee v. State, 43 Fla. 524, 30 So. 816; State v. Shushaa, 
206 La. 415,19 So. 2d 185. 

Although we do not consider the above quoted definition 
of "prosecution" as determinative of the question here consid- 
ered, we do think i t  is a correct definition and is consistent 
with the legislative intent expressed in the Controlled Sub- 
stances Act. 

In 50 Am. Jur., Statutes, 5 572 a t  p. 571, we find the fol- 
lowing : 

$ 572. Effect of Saving Clause in Repealing Stat- 
ute.-Frequently, statutes repealing statutes relating to 
crimes contain saving clauses as to crimes committed prior 
to the repeal. Where the repealing statute contains a sav- 
ing clause as to crimes committed prior to the repeal, or 
as to pending prosecutions, the offender may be tried and 
punished under the old law. In such case, the crime is pun- 
ishable under the old statute although no prosecution is 
pending a t  the time the new statute goes into effect. 

This Court has consistently re-affirmed the cardinal rule 
of statutory interpretation as stated in State v. Spencer, supra: 

"In construing the language of a statute we are guided 
by the primary rule that the intent of the legislature con- 
trols. 'In the interpretation of statutes, the legislative will 
is the all important or controlling factor. Indeed, i t  is fre- 
quently stated in effect that the intention of the Iegislature 
constitutes the law. The legislative intent has been desig- 
nated the vital part, heart, soul, and essence of the law, 
and the guiding star in the interpretation thereof.' 50 Am. 
Jur., Statutes $ 223. . . . 9 ,  

[I61 In seeking to discover and give effect to the legislative 
intent, an act must be considered as a whole, and none of its 
provisions shall be deemed useless or redundant if they can rea- 
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sonably be considered as adding something to the act which is 
in harmony with its purpose. I n  re Watson, 273 N.C. 629, 161 
S.E. 2d 1 ;  Jomes v. Board of Education, 185 N.C. 303, 117 S.E. 
37. The same criminal offenses exist under the Controlled Sub- 
stances Act as existed under the former Articles 5 and 5A of 
Chapter 90 of the General Statutes. The provisions for punish- 
ment under the new act are different from those contained in 
the former act. Thus, if the saving clauses contained in G.S. 
90-113.7 do not save the punishment provisions of the former 
act, they are useless and redundant. 

[I71 The North Carolina Controlled Substances Act does not 
contain an  express repealing clause. On the contrary, the stat- 
ute expressly provides that prosecutions for violation of law 
occurring prior to its effective date shall not be affected. The 
statute further provides that its provisions "shall be applicable 
to violations of law, . . . which occur following Jartuary 1, 
1972." (Emphasis ours.) I t  is perfectly apparent that the gen- 
eral assembly intended that the provisions of the Controlled 
Substances Act be prospective and effective as of 1 January 
1972. Thus, the pre-existing law as to prosecution and punish- 
ment as set forth in Articles 5 and 5A, Chapter 90 of the Gen- 
eral Statutes as written prior to 1 January 1972, remains in 
full force and effect as to offenses committed prior to 1 Jan- 
uary 1972. 

We have carefully examined this entire record and find no 
prejudicial error. The decision of the Court of Appeals is 

Affirmed. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JULIUS CORNELL, LARRY 
LITTLE AND GRADY FULLER 

No. 9 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Evidence 8 31- best evidence rule 

Under the best evidence rule, a writing is the best evidence of 
its contents, and the writing itself must ordinarily be produced unless 
its nonproduction is excused; however, this rule applies only where 
the contents or terms of the writing are in question. 
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2. Evidence 9 31- best evidence rule - personal observations 
The best evidence rule did not prohibit a courtroom clerk from 

testifying as  to his personal observations regarding the racial com- 
position of jury venires during a specific period of time simply be- 
cause the clerk had made a record of his observations. 

3. Criminal Law 9 162- objection to evidence - specified ground - 
appellate review 

When an objection to evidence is  made on a specific ground, the 
competency of the evidence will be determined on appeal solely on the 
basis of the grounds specified. 

4. Criminal Law 3 175- findings of fact - conclusions of law - appel- 
late review 

While the trial court's findings of fact will not be disturbed on 
appeal if there is competent evidence to support them, the trial 
court's conclusions of law are subject to review, and where rulings are 
made under a nlisapprehension of the law, the order of the trial judge 
may be vacated and the case remanded for further proceedings, modi- 
fied or reversed, as  the rights of the parties and the applicable law 
may require. 

5. Constitutional Law 9 29; Grand Jury 8 3; Jury 9 7- systematic ex- 
clusion of Negroes 

If the conviction of a Negro is based on an  indictment of a grand 
jury or the verdict of a petit jury from which Negroes were excluded ' 

by reason of their race, the conviction cannot stand. 

6. Constitutional Law 9 29; Jury 8 7-racial discrimination in jury - 
burden of proof 

If a motion to quash alleges racial discrimination in the com- 
position of the jury, the burden is upon defendant to establish i t ;  
but once a prima facie case of racial discrimination is  established, 
the burden of going forward with rebuttal evidence is  upon the State. 

7. Constitutional Law § 29; Grand Jury 9 3; Jury 9 7-racial composi- 
tion of jury 

A defendant is not entitled to demand a proportionate number of 
his race on the jury which tries him or on the venire from which 
petit jurors are drawn. 

8. Constitutional Law $ 29; Grand Jury 3 3; Jury 8 7-racial composi- 
tion of jury - officials' denial of discrimination 

The mere denial by officials charged with the duty of listing and 
summoning jurors that  there was no intentional, arbitrary or sys- 
tematic discrimination on the ground of race is not sufficient to over- 
come a prima facie case. 

9. Constitutional Law 9 29; Grand Jury 9 3; Jury 5 7-jury source- 
tax list 

A jury list is  not discriminatory o r  unlawful because i t  is drawn 
from the tax  list of the county, and the jury commission is  not limited 
to the sources specifically designated by the statute. 
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10. Constitutional Law Ij 29; Grand Jury 5 3; Jury Ij 7- grand and 
petit juries - racial composition - systematic exclusion 

A person has no right to  be indicted or tried by a jury of his 
own race or even to have a representative of his race on the jury; 
he does have a right to be tried by a jury from which members of 
his own race have not been systematically and arbitrarily excluded. 

11. Constitutional Law 5 29; Jury Ij 7- systematic exclusion of Negroes - 
insufficiency of evidence 

Defendants' evidence that  the black adult population of the county 
amounted to 20% of the total county population and that  during the 
biennium beginning January 1970 approximately 10% of the petit 
jurors appearing for service in the courtroom were Negro, held in- 
sufficient to make out a prima facie case of racial discrimination. 

12. Constitutional Law § 29; Jury Ij 7- systematic exclusion of Negroes - 
prima facie case - absence of necessity for State to go forward 

Even if defendants made out a prima facie case of racial dis- 
crimination on the theory of underrepresentation of Negroes on the 
juries, defendants' own evidence relieved the State of the burden of 
going forward with the evidence where defendants exhausted the 
State's sources of information and their evidence shows tha t  any dis- 
parity in racial representation on juries of the county did not result 
froin discrimination in the preparation and drawing of the jury list, 
the State not being required to  repetitiously present evidence already 
elicited by defendants. 

13. Constitutional Law Ij 29; Grand Jury Ij 3; Jury Ij 7-address on jury 
list card - black or white neighborhood - opportunity for discrimina- 
tion 

Testimony by jury commissioners that, in some instances, they 
could determine from the address shown on the raw jury list card 
that  the person named thereon lived in a predominantly black or pre- 
dominantly white neighborhood did not show an "opportunity for 
discrimination" sufficient to make out a prima facie case of racial dis- 
crimination. 

14. Constitutional Law Ij 29; Grand Jury 8 3; Jury Ij 7- jury list - ab- 
sence of persons 18 to 21 years old 

The absence from the jury list of the names of persons between 
the ages of 18 and 21 during the period from 21 July 1971, the effec- 
tive date of the amendment of G.S. 9-3 lowering the age requirement 
for jurors from 21 years to  18 years, and 21 September 1971, the 
date of defendants' trial, is not unreasonable and does not constitute 
systematic exclusion of this age group from jury service. 

15. Constitutional Law 8 29; Grand Jury 3 3; Jury Ij 7-selection and 
drawing of jurors - constitutionality of statutes 

The North Carolina statutory plan for the selection and draw- 
ing of jurors is  constitutional and provides a jury system completely 
free of discrimination to any cognizable group. G.S. Ch. 9, Art. I. 
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ON certiorari to the North Carolina Court of Appeals 
prior to determination of appeal, from Long, J., a t  the 20 
September 1971 Criminal Session of FORSYTH Superior Court. 

Separate bills of indictment were returned by the Forsyth 
County Grand Jury charging defendants Cornell and Little 
with accessory after the fact of felonious larceny, and defendant 
Fuller with two counts of felonious assault with a firearm upon 
a law enforcement officer in violation of G.S. 14-34.2, and 
felonious larceny. Upon motions of defense counsel, the charges 
were consolidated for trial. On 3 May 1971 counsel for defend- 
ants filed motions to quash each of the indictments and to 
quash the petit jury venire on the grounds, inter alia, that the 
method of selecting the grand and petit jurors excluded blacks, 
women, daily wage earners, and younger persons in  the com- 
munity, and thereby denied defendants their constitutional 
right to be tried by a jury of their peers. 

The cases came on for hearing before Judge Long on 22 
September 1971, and a t  that time defendants amended their 
motions to include as a further ground for quashal the fact 
that the Forsyth County Jury selection process excluded per- 
sons under twenty-one years of age. 

Defendants offered the testimony of Wayne C. Shugart, 
Guy L. Scott and S. C. Cable, who were members of the Forsyth 
County Jury Commission during the period October 1969 to 
the date of hearing. The testimony of these witnesses tended to 
show that during the months of October and November 1969, 
pursuant to statute, they had prepared a jury list to be used 
for the biennium beginning January 1, 1970. In order to compile 
the jury list the commissioners had instructed John Click, the 
data processing system manager for Forsyth County, to prepare 
a raw jury list by programming the computer to take 
every fourth name from the Forsyth County tax list and every 
twelfth name from the voter registration list. The computer was 
fed cards containing information concerning each taxpayer and 
each registered voter. The taxpayer card had no information 
as to race, but the voter registration card denominated the race 
of each individual because of certain federal requirements. The 
cards fed to the computer were not seen by the members of 
the Jury Commission. Each of the raw list cards obtained from 
the computer contained only the name and address of the in- 
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dividual. This list contained 7,963 names from the voter list, and 
18,258 names from the tax list. This total list of 26,221 names 
was submitted to the Jury Commission, and the members of 
that commission deleted duplications in names, names of per- 
sons known to have left the county or to be deceased, and the 
names of persons known to be under twenty-one years of age. 
The deletion of names of persons known to be under twenty- 
one years of age resulted from the then existing statutory re- 
quirement that a juror be a t  least twenty-one years of age. The 
commissioners also deleted names of persons known to be 
physically or mentally incompetent to serve as jurors, the names 
of persons found on the "lunacy" docket, and the names of per- 
sons known to be convicted felons. The Jury Commission purged 
5,842 names from the original list because of one or more of 
the above stated reasons. 

A larger number of names was taken from the tax list 
because i t  was more accurate since i t  was reconstituted an- 
nually. Each member of the Jury Commission testified un- 
equivocally that he did not consider race or economic status in 
preparing the list. However, each acknowledged that in some 
instances race or economic status could be determined by the 
individual's address. The commissioners had not changed the 
list so as to include persons between the ages of eighteen and 
twenty-one since the effective date of the statutory amendment 
allowing persons eighteen years of age or over to serve on 
juries. 

The testimony of Eunice Ayers, Register of Deeds of 
Forsyth County, and A. E. Blackburn, Clerk of Superior Court 
of Forsyth County, tended to show that, pursuant to statute, 
the Jury Commission delivered to the Register of Deeds an 
alphabetized and numerically arranged jury list, together with 
the cards deleted by the Jury Commission. The Register of 
Deeds kept these jury cards under lock and key. The Clerk of 
Superior Court kept a round metal basket containing numbered 
discs in the same number as there were names on the jury list. 
The Clerk of Superior Court, a t  least thirty days prior to each 
session of court, drew from the metal basket discs equal to the 
number of jurors required for the sessions of district or su- 
perior court. The numbers from these discs were furnished to 
the Register of Deeds, and she matched the numbers drawn 
with the numbered and alphabetized jury list, and thereafter 
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furnished the Sheriff a list showing the names and addresses 
of the prospective jurors for summoning by the Sheriff. The 
Sheriff made return to the Clerk of Superior Court. 

Nathan W. Lyndon testified that he served as Foreman of 
the Forsyth County Grand Jury from 4 January 1971 until 
14 June 1971. During that period of time there were three 
members of the black race serving on the 18-member Grand 
Jury. 

Michael R. Foltz, a deputy clerk of superior court of 
Forsyth County, testified that since 27 July 1967 he had been 
in position to observe the racial composition of the venire for 
petit jury service due to his employment as courtroom clerk. 
Of his own volition he kept records of the venires appearing 
between 31 May 1971 and 31 August 1971. He testified that 
he had kept written records concerning this information but had 
inadvertently left the records a t  home. He was allowed, over 
objection, to testify as to his recollection of the racial composi- 
tion of the petit jury venires during that period. We quote a 
portion of this witness' testimony: 

Q. Do you recall whether your records reflect how 
many persons that appeared in this courtroom for petit jury 
duty since May 31 of this year? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Approximately how many persons? 

A. Between May 31, 1971 and the last day of August 
1971, three hundred twenty-four (324) people have ap- 
peared to serve as jurors. 

Q. And those three hundred, do your records reflect 
how many were black? 

MR. YEAGER: Objection. I object, your Honor, these 
aren't official records. 

COURT : Objection overruled. 
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Objection overruled. State, in  apt time excepted. 

EXCEPTION NO. 1. 
The witness further testified that he based the racial de- 

termination on skin coloration, and that his designations were 
actually in the categories of white and non-white. He stated 
that he had kept records during the current week of court, and 
that the venire for that week contained thirty-four persons, four 
of whom were non-white. 

Defendants offered other testimony and documentary evi- 
dence which tended to show: 

(1) On 1 January 1971, according to the U. S. Census 
figures, blacks comprised 22.3% of the total population of 
Forsyth County. The same census figures show that 19.8% 
of the persons over twenty-five years of age in Forsyth County 
were blacks, and that 20.9% of all persons over fifteen years 
of age in Forsyth County were black. 

(2) In November 1969 Negroes comprised 20.4% of the 
qualified voters in Forsyth County. 

There was no evidence as to percentage of Negroes appear- 
ing on the tax list, because the tax list contained no racial des- 
ignation. 

The State offered no evidence. 

Judge Long thereupon entered the following order: 

In regard to the motions of the defendants to quash 
the indictments in these cases and to quash the jury venire 
on the grounds that black persons and persons under twenty- 
one years of age were systematically excluded from the 
jury list from which a grand jury was selected and from 
which the petit jury is to be selected, the court makes the 
following findings of facts : 

1. That in November, 1969, the Forsyth County Jury 
Commission prepared the current jury lists from which 
the Grand and Petit Juries involved in these cases were 
or would be drawn; 

2. That the jury commissioners selected every fourth 
name on the Forsyth County tax list and every twelfth 
name of the Forsyth Voter registration list to obtain an 
unpurged list of prospective jurors; 
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3. That on January 1, 1970, when the current list was 
put into use, the percentage of Negroes in the Forsyth 
County population was approximately 22.3 percent accord- 
ing to the United States census figures. Although there is 
no evidence in the record as to the percentage of Negroes 
in the over-twenty-one age group a t  that time, census fig- 
ures show that Negroes constituted 19.8 percent of all 
persons over twenty-five years of age and 20.9 percent of 
all persons then over fifteen years of age and who would 
now (two years later) be seventeen years of age or older; 

4. That 20.4 percent of the qualified voters in Novem- 
ber, 1969, were Negroes. There is no evidence as to the 
percentage of taxpayers who were Negroes ; 

(5. That since May 31, 1971, three hundred twenty- 
four jurors have reported pursuant to 'summons, for jury 
service in the criminal courts of this county. Of that num- 
ber only 32 or 9.9 percent have been black and the only 
evidence on the point indicated that from the period of 
January, 1970 up to May 31, 1971, the percentage of black 
jurors has been approximately ten percent;) 

EXCEPTION NO. 3. 

(6. That the State has offered no evidence to explain 
the discrepancy between the approximately twenty percent 
Negro population in the community as a whole and the 
approximatetly ten percent Negro population of the jurors 
drawn for service;) EXCEPTION NO. 4. 

(7. The court further finds as a fact that no persons 
under twenty-one years of age in November, 1969, were 
included in the jury list and no persons reaching said age 
since November, 1969, have been added to the jury list. 
That the General Assembly of North Carolina enacted a 
law on July 21, 1971, lowering the age of majority from 
twenty-one to eighteen years and lowering the age of quali- 
fication for jury service from twenty-one to eighteen years. 
That since that date no names of persons under twenty-one 
years of age have been added to the jury list. That under 
such circumstances there would be no possibility that any 
person under the age of twenty-two years eight months 
would serve on this jury involved with the trial of the 
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three defendants, two of whom fall a t  or under such age.) 
EXCEPTION NO. 5. 

(Upon such findings of fact, the court concludes that 
under the United States Supreme Court decisions of Whitus 
vs. Georgia, 385 U.S. 545, and Sims vs. Georgia, 389 U.S. 
404, and Jones vs. Georgia, 389 U.S. 24, and under the 
applicable provisions of the United States Constitution, the 
defendants are entitled to allowance of their motions to 
quash their bills of indictment and to quash the petit 
jury venire.) EXCEPTION NO. 6 .  

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED 
that : 

(1. The bills of indictment against these three defend- 
ants in these cases are hereby quashed ;) EXCEPTION NO. 7. 

(2. That the jury commissioners for Forsyth County 
are hereby ordered to prepare a new jury list from which 
a venire of jurors may be drawn for grand and petit jury 
service. It is suggested that the jury commissioners give 
serious consideration to the possibility of using a broad- 
based name list such as the United States census records 
as an additional source of names of persons who might be 
summoned for jury service;) EXCEPTION NO. 8. 

(3. That the solicitor may proceed with new bills of 
indictment and with trial of the defendants after a new 
jury list has been prepared and a new grand jury has been 
sworn.) EXCEPTION NO. 9. 

This the 27th day of September, 1971. 

JAMES M. LONG 
Judge Presiding 

The State appealed. 

Attorney General Morgan, Assistant Attorney General 
Safron, and Associate Attorney Speas for the State. 

James E. Ferguson II  (Chambers, Stein, Ferguson & Lan- 
ning) and James E. Keenan (Paul & Keenan) f o ~  defendants. 
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BRANCH, Justice. 

The primary question presented by this appeal is whether 
the trial judge correctly quashed the bills of indictment and the 
petit jury venire on the grounds of systematic and arbitrary 
exclusion of qualified Negroes from the jury list. 

[1, 21 The State first contends that the trial judge erred in 
basing critical findings of fact on the testimony of the witness 
Foltz as to his recollection concerning the contents of records 
which he had prepared. The State seeks to invoke the best evi- 
dence rule, which declares that a writing is the best evidence 
of its contents. It is ordinarily required that the writing itself 
be produced unless its nonproduction is excused. In re Will of 
Knight, 250 N.C. 634, 109 S.E. 2d 470; Harris v. Singletary, 
193 N.C. 583, 137 S.E. 724. However, this rule applies only 
where the contents or terms of the document are in question. 
State v. Ray, 209 N.C. 772, 184 S.E. 836; Overby v. Overby, 
272 N.C. 636, 158 S.E. 2d 799. 

In State v. Ray, szcpm, this Court stated: 

"The appellant directs a number of exceptions to the 
court's permitting the State to introduce, over his objec- 
tion, pard  evidence to establish the contents of Norfolk 
Southern freight car No. 20635, when there was evidence 
to the effect that the records of the railroad company 
showed such contents, upon the theory that such records 
were the best evidence of the fact sought to be proved. 
While i t  is generally agreed that writings themselves fur- 
nish the best evidence of their contents, the 'best evidence 
rule' has no application here, since the fact sought to be 
proved was whether certain cigarettes had been put in a 
certain car, and had no relation whatsoever to the contents 
of any writing or record. No problem of primary and 
secondary evidence was presented. The making of a record 
did not prohibit a witness, who loaded the car and saw what 
went into it, from testifying as to its contents." 

[3] We do not think that the witness Foltz was prohibited 
from testifying as to his recollection of what he had personally 
observed simply because he had made a record of his observa- 
tions. Further, the State runs afoul of the technical rule which 
declares that when an objection to evidence is made on a specific 
ground, the competency of the evidence will be determined 
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on appeal solely on the basis of the grounds specified. Existence 
of another ground for the objection makes no difference unless 
the evidence was completely without purpose. Prat t  v. Bishop, 
257 N.C. 486, 126 S.E. 2d 597; Stansbury, N. C. Evidence, 
8 27 (2d ed., 1963) Here the Solicitor based his objection on 
the specific ground that the records in question were not of- 
ficial. 

We therefore conclude that the evidence of witness Foltz 
was competent and admissible. 

141 I t  is well recognized that the trial court's findings of fact 
will not be disturbed if there is competent evidence to support 
them. However, the trial court's conclusions of law are subject 
to review, and where rulings are made under a misapprehen- 
sion of the law, the orders or rulings of the trial judge may be 
vacated and the case remanded for further proceedings, modi- 
fied or reversed, as the rights of the parties and the applicable 
law may require. Harrebon v. Insurance Co., 272 N.C. 603, 158 
S.E. 2d 812; Hovton v. Redevelopment Commissio.n, 264 N.C. 1, 
140 S.E. 2d 728; Insurance Co. v. Lambeth, 250 N.C. 1, 180 
S.E. 2d 36 ; Mwris v. Wilkins, 241 N.C. 507, 85 S.E. 2d 892. 

We first consider whether the trial judge acted under a 
misapprehension of the law when he concluded: 

"Upon such findings of fact, the court concludes that 
under the United States Supreme Court decisions of Wlzitus 
vs. Georgia, 385 U.S. 545, Sims vs. Georgia, 389 U.S. 404, 
and Jones 3s. Georgia, 389 U.S. 24, and under the applicable 
provisions of the United States Constitution, the defend- 
ants are entitled to allowance of .their motions to quash 
their bills of indictment and to quash the petit jury venire." 

15-71 In State v. Spencer, 276 N.C. 535, 173 S.E. 2d 765, this 
Court unanimously approved the following statement: 

"Both state and federal courts have long approved the 
following propositions : 

1. If the conviction of a Negro is based on an indict- 
ment of a grand jury or the verdict of a petit jury from 
which Negroes were excluded by reason of their race, the 
conviction cannot stand. State v. Ray, 274 N.C. 556, 164 
S.E. 2d 457; State v. Wright, 274 N.C. 380, 163 S.E. 2d 
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897; State v. Brown, 271 N.C. 250, 156 S.E. 2d 272; 
State v. Lowry and State v. Mallory, 263 N.C. 536, 139 
S.E. 2d 870; Whitus v. Georgia, 385 U.S. 545, 17 L.ed. 2d 
599, 87 S.Ct. 643; Arnold v. North Carolina, 376 U.S. 
773, 12 L.ed. 2d 77, 84 S.Ct. 1032; Euibanks v. Louisiana, 
356 U.S. 584, 2 L.ed. 2d 991, 78 S.Ct. 970; Reece v. Georgia, 
350 U.S. 85, 100 L.ed. 77, 76 S.Ct. 167; Shepherd v. Florida, 
341 U.S. 50, 95 L.ed. 740, 71 S.Ct. 549 ; Cassell v. Texas, 
339 U.S. 282, 94 L.ed. 839, 70 S.Ct. 629. 

2. If the motion to quash alleges racial discrimination 
in the composition of the jury, the burden is upon the 
defendant to establish it. State v. Ray, supra; State v. 
Yoes, 271 N.C. 616, 157 S.E. 2d 386 ; State v. Brown, supra; 
Whitus v. Georgia, swpra; Akins v. Texas, 325 U.S. 398, 
89 L.ed. 1692, 65 S.Ct. 1276; Fay v. New York, 332 U.S. 
261, 91 L.ed. 2043, 67 S.Ct. 1613. But once he establishes 
a phma facie case of racial discrimination, the burden of 
going forward with rebuttal evidence is upon the State. 
State v. Wilson, 262 N.C. 419, 137 S.E. 2d 109; State v. 
Ray, supra. 

3. A defendant is not entitled to demand a proportion- 
ate number of his race on the jury which tries him nor on 
the venire from which petit jurors are drawn. Swain v. 
Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 13 L.ed. 2d 759, 85 S.Ct. 824; 
State v. Wilson, supra; State v. Arnold, 258 N.C. 563, 
129 S.E. 2d 229 reversed on other grounds, 376 U.S. 773, 
12 L.ed. 2d 77, 84 S.Ct. 1032." 

The following propositions of law are equally well estab- 
lished : 

[8] (1) The mere deniaI by officials charged with the duty 
of listing and summoning jurors that there was no intentional, 
arbitrary or systematic discrimination on the ground of race is 
not sufficient to overcome a prima facie case. State v. Wilson, 
262 N.C. 419, 137 S.E. 2d 109 ; Hernandez v. Texas, 347 U.S. 
475, 74 S.Ct 667, 98 L.ed. 866; Smith v. Texas, 311 U.S. 128, 
61 S.Ct 164, 85 Led. 84; Norris v. Alabama, 294 U.S. 587, 
55 S.Ct. 579, 79 L.ed. 1074. 

191 (2) A jury list is not discriminatory or unlawfuI because 
i t  is drawn from the tax list of the county. Nor is a jury com- 
mission limited to the sources specifically designated by the 
statute. State v. Yoes and Hale v. State, 271 N.C. 616, 157 S.E. 
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2d 386; Brown v. Allen, 344 U.S. 443, 73 S.Ct. 379, 97 L.ed. 
469; State v. Wilson, supra. 

[lo] (3) A person has no right to be indicted or tried by a 
jury of his own race or even to have a representative of his 
race on the jury. He does have the constitutional right to be 
tried by a jury from which members of his own race have not 
been systematically and arbitrarily excluded. State v. Yoes, 
supra; State v. Wilson, swpra; Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 
202, 85 S.Ct. 824, 13 L.ed. 2d 759; Gibson v. Mississippi, 162 
US.  565, 16 S.Ct. 904, 40 L.ed. 1075. 

The trial court and defendants rely upon the cases of 
Whitus v. Georgia, 385 U.S. 545, 87 S.Ct. 643, 17 L.ed. 2d 599; 
Sims v. Geo?-p;a, 389 U.S. 404, 88 S.Ct. 523, 19 L.ed. 2d 634; 
Jones v. Georgia, 389 U.S. 24, 88 S.Ct. 4, 19 L.ed. 2d 25, to 
support the order quashing the indictments and the jury venire. 
Jones v. Georgia, supra, and Sims v. Georgia, supra, were per 
curiam opinions factually similar to and decided on the authority 
of Whitus v. Georgia, supra. 

In Wlzitus v. Georgia, supra, defendant attacked his murder 
conviction on the ground that the State systematically excluded 
members of his race from the grand jury which indicted him 
and the petit jury which convicted him. There, the jury com- 
missioners made up the jury list from tax records which listed 
Negroes on yellow paper and whites on white paper. Eater, 
the same commission reconstituted the jury box with names 
taken from a tax listing which denoted the names of Negro 
taxpayers by a "(c)" being placed opposite the name. The 
population of the county was 27.1% black, 42.6% of the poten- 
tial (by age and sex) jurors were black. One of nineteen 
grand jurors was black, and seven of ninety petit jurors were 
black. The State offered no evidence tending to show or explain 
that the discrepancy was not the result of arbitrary, systematic 
exclusion of blacks. The United States Supreme Court, in re- 
versing the judgments, inter ~ l i a ,  stated : 

"Under such a system the opportunity for discrimina- 
tion was present and we cannot say on this record that it 
was not resorted to by the commissioners. Indeed, the dis- 
parity between the percentage of Negroes on the tax digest 
(27.1%) and that of the grand jury venire (9.1 %) and 
the petit jury venire (7.8%) strongly points to this conclu- 
sion. Although the system of selection used here had been 
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specifically condemned by the Court of Appeals, the State 
offered no testimony as to why it was continued on retrial. 
The State offered no explanation for the disparity between 
the percentage of Negroes on the tax digest and those on 
the venires, although the digest niust have included the 
names of large numbers of 'upright and intelligent' Ne- 
groes as the statutory qualification required. In any event 
the State failed to offer any testimony indicating that the 
27.1% of Negroes on the tax digest were not fully qualified. 
The State, therefore, failed to meet the burden of rebutting 
the petitioners' prima facie case." 

[ill In instant case defendants contend that their showing that 
the black adult population in Forsyth County amounted to 
approximately 20% of the population of that county, when 
coupled with the testimony of the witness Foltz to the effect 
that during the biennium beginning January 1970 approximate- 
ly 10% of the petit jurors appearing for service in the court- 
room in which he was employed were Negro, made out a prima 
facie case of racial discrimination. 

The State, on the other hand, contends that such dis- 
parity, standing alone, is not sufficient to make out a prima 
facie case of racial discrimination. 

The case of Swain v. Alabama, supra, strongly supports 
the State's argument. There the petitioner sought to quash the 
indictment and strike the trial jury venire on the ground of 
racial discrimination in the selection of all juries. He presented 
evidence showing that Negro males over twenty-one years of 
age constituted 26% of the age group in the county in which 
he was tried and that only 10% to 15% of the grand and 
petit juries drawn from the jury books since 1953 had been 
Negroes. There were four or five Negroes on the Grand Jury 
panel of approximately thirty-five persons which indicted de- 
fendant and there were eight Negroes on the petit jury venire, 
although none actually served in defendant's trial. The law 
of Alabama required the commissioners to place on the jury 
roll all male citizens over twenty-one years of age, reputed to 
be honest, intelligent men-esteemed for their integrity, good 
character and sound judgment. Each commissioner produced 
names of persons from various lists who in his judgment were 
qualified to serve as jurors. The United States Supreme Court 
held that the trial court properly denied defendant's motion 
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to quash. Mr. Justice White delivered the Court's majority 
opinion, and Mr. Justice Goldberg, with whom Chief Justice 
Warren and Mr. Justice Douglas joined, delivered a separate 
dissenting opinion. The majority opinion, in part, stated: 

6 6  . . . We cannot say that purposeful discrimination 
based on race alone is satisfactorily proved by showing that 
an identifiable group in a community is underrepresented 
by as much as 10%. See Thomas v. Texas, 212 U.S. 278, 
283,53 L.ed. 512, 514, 29 S.Ct 393; Akins v. Texas, 325 U.S. 
398, 89 L.ed. 1692, 65 S.Ct. 1276; Cassell v. Texas, 339 
U.S. 282, 94 L.ed. 839, 70 S.Ct. 629. . . . There is no evi- 
dence that the commissioners applied different standards 
of qualifications to the Negro community than they did to 
the white community. Nor was there any meaningful at- 
tempt to demonstrate that the same proportion of Negroes 
qualified under the standards being administered by the 
commissioners. It is not clear from the record that the 
commissioners even knew how many Negroes were in their 
respective areas, or on the jury roll or on the venires 
drawn from the jury box. The overall percentage disparity 
has been small, and reflects no studied attempt to include 
or exclude a specified number of Negroes. . . . We do not 
think that the burden of proof was carried by petitioner 
in this case." 

The basis for the dissenting opinion is that the showing of 
the disparity in racial representation of the jurors made out a 
prima facie case, and that since the State had greater access 
to the evidence which would negative its involvement in dis- 
criminatory jury selection, the State must assume the burden 
of going forward with evidence to show how the exclusion came 
about. 

[11-131 Swain v. Alabama, supra, amply supports a holding 
under the facts of this case that the showing of underrepresenta- 
tion of Negroes on the juries of Forsyth County was not suf- 
ficient to establish a prima facie case of racial discrimination. 
Even had a prima facie case been made out on the theory of 
underrepresentation of Negroes on the juries, defendants' own 
evidence relieved the State of the burden of going forward 
with the evidence. Defendants also argue that the system of 
jury selection in Forsyth County presented "opportunity for 
discrimination" merely because the jury commissioners ad- 
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mitted that, in some instances, they could determine from the 
address shown on the raw jury list card that the person there 
named lived in a predominantly white or a predominantly black 
neighborhood. We note in passing that a person who would 
qualify to serve on a jury commission would of necessity possess 
this knowledge of his county in order to impose the objective 
statutory criteria in preparing the jury list. 

In attacking the jury selection system, defendants offered 
the testimony of all members of the Forsyth County Jury Com- 
mission, the Clerk of Superior Court of Forsyth County and 
the Register of Deeds of Forsyth County. By offering this tes- 
timony defendants exhausted the State's sources of information 
and affirmatively showed that the officials assiduously corn- 
plied with the provisions of Article I, Chapter 9 of the General 
Statutes. We note that former Chapter 9 in 1949 contained 
substantially the same procedures as now. It was declared con- 
stitutional in the case of Brown v. Allen, supra, and was labeled 
"fair and nondiscriminatory" by this Court in State v. Wilson, 
supra. The rewrite of that chapter creating a jury commission 
to act in lieu of the county commissionem, designating the voter 
registration records as a source for preparing jury lists, and 
making other unsubstantial changes, preserves and enhances the 
fair and nondiscriminatory nature of its provisions. Chapter 9, 
Article I, of the General Statutes as it existed a t  the times 
herein complained of was obviously designed to require a mini- 
mum exercise of official discretion and to insure maximum pro- 
tection against arbitrary abuse of such discretion. 

Defendants' evidence further shows that there was no 
such "opportunity for discrimination" in the selection of the 
Forsyth County jury list as mas found in Whitus and that the 
individual jury commissioners did not remove any name from 
the raw jury Iist solely on the basis of suspected race of the 
named person. 

. Thus, defendants' evidence fully demonstrates that any dis- 
parity in racial representation on the juries of Forsyth County 
did not result from discrimination in the preparation and draw- 
ing of the jury list. The rationale of the prima facie rule does 
not require the State to repetitiously present evidence already 
elicited by defendants. I t  was, therefore, not necessary for the 
State to "go forward" with further evidence. 
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We are cognizant of the decision in Alexander v. Louisiana, 
40 U.S.L.W. 4365 (U.S. April 3, 1972) based upon Avery v. 
Georgia, supra, and Whitus v. Georgia, supra. Alexander is 
also distinguishable from instant case because of the differences 
in the Louisiana and North Carolina jury selection processes. 

The trial judge erred in quashing the bills of indictment 
and the petit jury venire on the ground of arbitrary and sys- 
tematic exclusion of qualified Negroes from the jury list. 

[ I41 The only remaining ground for quashal of the bills of 
indictment and the petit jury venire which defendants bring 
forward and argue in their brief, and to which they have 
directed evidence, is the exclusion from the jury list of persons 
eighteen years old but not twenty-one years old. 

At the time the jury list was prepared by the Forsyth 
County Jury Commission, G.S. 9-3 provided: 

Qualifications of prospective jurors.-All persons are 
qualified to serve as jurors and to be included on the jury 
list who are citizens of the State and residents of the 
county, who have not served as jurors during the preced- 
ing two years, who are tweqzty-one years of age or over, 
who are physically and mentally competent, who have not 
been convicted of a felony or pleaded nolo contendere to an 
indictment charging a felony, and who have not been 
adjudged non compos mentis. Persons not quilified under 
this section are subject to challenge for cause. (Emphasis 
ours.) 

The 1971 General Assembly amended G.S. 9-3, effective 21 
July 1971, so that the age requirement for voting was changed 
from twenty-one years or over to eighteen years or over. There- 
fore, we must determine whether there was intentional, arbi- 
trary or systematic discrimination against this age group in 
the institution and management of the jury system. State v. 
Wilson, supra. At the time the jury list in question was pre- 
pared, the jury commissioners were precluded by the provi- 
sions of G.S. 9-3 from placing the names of any persons under 
twenty-one years of age on the jury list. G.S. 9-2 required that 
the jury commissioners "at least thirty days" prior to 1 January 
1972 begin preparation of a new jury list for the ensuing 
biennium. Thus, if there be any discrimination against this age 
group, resulting in prejudice to these defendants, it must result 
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from a failure of the jury commission to place names represent- 
ing such group on the jury list during the period from 21 July 
1971 to 21 September 1971. 

We know of no reasonable method by which the Forsyth 
County Jury Commission could have obtained a fair cross- 
section of the age group in question within a period of two 
months and one day. None of the names of this age group 
appeared on the voter registration records; very few of such 
names appeared on the tax lists; a large number of this group 
would have been in school, and many of them, being still de- 
pendent upon their parents, would not have established an in- 
dependent address. 

The North Carolina plan imposes a two-years Iapse in 
preparation of new jury lists as opposed to the five-year plan 
adopted by some federal courts. United States u. Kuhn, 441 
F. 2d 179 (5th Cir. 1971). We also note, parenthetically, that 
as of 4 February 1972 the United States Congress had not 
amended 28 U.S.C.A. 1865 to require the federal district 
courts to include the names of persons under twenty-one years 
of age on their jury lists. 

[I51 The North Carolina statutory plan for the selection and 
drawing of jurors is constitutional and provides a jury sys- 
tem completely free of discrimination to any cognizable group. 

The absence from the jury list of the names of persons 
between the ages of eighteen and twenty-one for the short period 
of time here complained of is not unreasonable, and does not 
constitute systematic and arbitrary exclusion of this age group 
from jury service. 

The trial judge acted under a misapprehension of the law 
when he quashed the bills of indictment and ordered the jury 
commissioners of Forsyth County to prepare a new jury list 
for drawing of grand and petit jurors. 

The order of 27 September 1971 entered by Judge Long 
in these cases is 

Reversed. 
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STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. KENNETH JAMES WRIGHT 

No. 16 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Criminal Law § 76- confession - capital crime - right to counsel - 
determination of indigency 

In a prosecution for the capital crime of rape, the trial court 
erred in finding that defendant was not indigent and could employ 
counsel a t  the time he confessed and that  he, therefore, could not 
invoke the provision of former G.S. 7A-457 that  counsel could not 
be waived in a capital case, where the evidence before the court dis- 
closed that when arrested defendant was an eighteen-year-old marine 
earning $149.00 per month, that he had $5.00 in cash, an automobile 
on which $56.00 per month was due, and two bonds costing $18.75 
each which were in his mother's possession in Ohio, that  his step- 
father earned $9,000 per year and had a wife and eleven children 
other than defendant, and that any contribution the stepfather might 
make would have to be borrowed; consequently, the trial court erred 
in the admission of a confession made by defendant a t  a time when 
he was indigent and without counsel. 

2. Criminal Law § 169- erroneous admission of confession- prejudicial 
error 

The erroneous admission in a rape prosecution of an indigent 
defendant's confession made without benefit of counsel cannot be con- 
sidered harmless and requires a new trial, notwithstanding there was 
other evidence sufficient to support a conviction. 

Justice LAKE dissenting. 

Justices HUSKINS and MOORE join in dissenting opinion. 

APPEAL by defendant from Rouse, J., September 7, 1971 
Session of CRAVEN Superior Court. 

In these criminal prosecutions, the defendant, Kenneth 
James Wright, was charged by bills of indictment with three 
felonies: (1) housebreaking, (2) crime against nature, and (3) 
rape. The three indictments grew out of a single episode which 
occurred in the trailer home of Mr. and Mrs. Parks at  No. 1 
Jones Street, Greenfield Heights Trailer Park, Havelock, North 
Carolina. 

According to the State's evidence, Mrs. Parks, wife of a 
member of the Marine Corps, was a t  home alone on the morn- 
ing of June 4, 1971. At approximately 9:30 a.m. the defendant, 
also a member of the Marine Corps, appeared at the trailer 
door and requested permission to use the telephone. When Mrs. 
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Parks told him she did not have a telephone, he drew a 
knife and forced entrance into the trailer as charged in Indict- 
ment No. 1. Before leaving he committed the acts charged by 
Indictments Nos. 2 and 3. During the struggle, to protect her- 
self, Mrs. Parks struck the defendant with a pair of scissors, 
inflicting a shallow stab wound in the chest. 

After the defendant left, Mrs. Parks reported to officers 
what had occurred. The officers broadcast an alert. Shortly 
thereafter, the defendant appeared a t  the Marine Corps Base 
for treatment of a fresh stab wound in the chest. The officers, 
having been alerted, took the defendant into custody for ques- 
tioning about what had occurred in the trailer home. Present 
a t  the interrogation were Marine Corps and State officers who 
gave the defendant the required warnings after which he signed 
a waiver of his rights, including the right to counsel, and signed 
a written confession admitting his implication in the offenses 
reported by Mrs. Parks. Warrants were issued and a date fixed 
for the preliminary hearing. The court on a showing of indi- 
gency appointed Mr. Kennedy W. Ward attorney to represent the 
defendant. 

Mrs. Parks, in company with her husband, attended the 
preliminary hearing. However, before she entered the court- 
room, her husband lifted her up so she could see through the 
window into the courtroom where a number of persons were 
standing. She saw and recognized the defendant as her assailant. 
She had never seen him before he appeared a t  the trailer. Her 
view through the window was the first time she had seen him 
since. The defendant was ordered held without bond. 

At  the trial in superior court the defendant, through his 
court-appointed counsel, entered pleas of not guilty. The pros- 
ecuting witness, Mrs. Parks, testified, identifying the defend- 
dant and described what he had done in the trailer. The State 
introduced an expert who testified that he had lifted finger and 
palm prints from articles in the Parks' residence. By comparing 
them with the defendant's known prints, the witness found 
points of similarity sufficient in number to enable him to ex- 
press the opinion that the lifted prints had been made by the 
defendant. 

When the State undertook to introduce in  evidence the 
written confession, the defendant objected. The court conducted a 
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voir dire in  the absence of the jury. Mr. Charles Lee Atkinson 
of the Naval Investigative Section, testified that he and Special 
Agent James M. Wilson of the State Bureau of Investigation, 
conducted the interrogation. He testified : 

"After advising him of his rights, I asked him did he 
have any objections in signing a military suspect's ac- 
knowledgement and waiver of rights form signifying the 
fact that he did, in fact, understand his rights. He indi- 
cated that he had no objections to i t  and voluntarily signed 
his name to the military suspect's acknowledgement and 
waiver of rights form a t  12:50 hours on 4 June 1971. In 
regard to counsel, the statement says: 'I understand my 
rights as related to me and as set forth above. With that 
understanding, I have decided that I do not desire to consult 
with either a civilian or a military lawyer a t  this time and 
I do not desire to have such a lawyer present during this 
interview. I make this decision freely and voluntarily and 
i t  is made with no threats having been made or promises 
extended to me.' " 

The defendant objected to the introduction of the con- 
fession on the ground i t  was obtained a t  a time when he, an in- 
digent, was not represented by counsel. The State, however, 
contended the defendant was not an indigent at  the time of 
the interrogation and was not entitled to have counsel appointed 
to attend the interrogation. 

The voir dire examination, in the absence of the jury, 
disclosed the following: On June 7, 1971, before the preliminary 
hearing, the defendant signed an affidavit alleging his indigency 
and requesting appointment of counsel. His affidavit stated his 
monthly salary was $149.00; his only property was a 1970 
Mustang automobile on which payments of $56.00 per month 
were due; he owed debts of $4,000.00; and he had only $5.00 
in cash. The court found indigency and appointed Mr. Kennedy 
W. Ward as counsel. 

However, when the State insisted the confession should be 
admitted, the trial judge called and examined the defendant. 
He testified he was eighteen years of age and had been in the 
Marine Corps for eleven months. His pay was $149.00 per month. 
He had authorized the Marine Corps to deduct $37.50 per month 
for savings bonds to be sent to his mother in Ohio. He had $5.00 
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when arrested. He testified he owned an automobile on which 
$56.00 per month was due. The value of his equity in it was 
not shown. 

The defendant called his stepfather who testified that the 
defendant's mother had received two $25.00 bonds, each of 
which had cost $18.75. They were payable to the son and his 
mother. The defendant is one of twelve children. The stepfather 
works as manager of a garage in Ohio a t  a salary of $9,000.00 
per year. The defendant's mother had worked as a maid a t  a 
hotel until six months ago when, "She quit to look after the kids." 
The stepfather testified that in order to help the defendant 
employ a lawyer, he would have to borrow the money and, "My 
family would have to do without." 

At the conclusion of the voir dire, the court found the 
defendant's pay to be $149.00 per month and that in six months 
he could have accumulated bonds of a value of $225.00. There 
was no finding as to the defendant's indebtedness though he 
testified he had $5.00 and a 1970 Mustang on which payments 
of $56.00 were due each month. 

The foregoing was the evidence with respect to the in- 
digency of the defendant at  the time of his interrogation. Based 
thereon, the court found as a fact the defendant was not in- 
digent. "14. That the defendant had adequate resources with 
which to employ counsel a t  the in-custody interrogation stage of 
the proceeding in this case." The court concluded: "3. The de- 
fendant not being an indigent was not required to give a written 
waiver of counsel a t  the in-custody interrogation stage." The 
court ordered the confession admitted in evidence. 

Having recited the evidence and the findings, we deem i t  
fair  to the trial judge to quote the explanation for his ruling 
which appears in the record of the case on appeal. "Court: I 
want to be frank; this question has not yet been to the Supreme 
Court. Now, Mr. Solicitor, I will leave i t  up to you. I want you 
to confer and think about it. If I'm wrong, then you are the 
man that's got to t ry  the case a second time." The court then 
admitted the confession in evidence over defendant's objection. 
The jury returned verdicts of guilty in each of the three cases, 
recommending the punishment be imprisonment for life on the 
rape charge. From judgments imposed on the verdicts, the 
defendant appealed. 
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Robert Morgan, Attorney General, by James L. Blackburn 
and Russell G. Walker, Assistant Attorneys General, for the 
State. 

Kennedy W .  Ward fw defendant appellant. 

HIGGINS, Justice. 

The three charges, rape, crime against nature, and felonious 
housebreaking, all grew out of a single episode. The three cases, 
on motion of the State, were consolidated and tried together. 
Before confessing, the defendant signed a waiver of rights and 
made the confession which was reduced to writing and signed 
by him. The court, after hearing and findings of fact, concluded 
that the confession was voluntarily and understandingly made 
after proper warning and permitted the State to introduce i t  
in evidence. In the confession the references to the separate 
offenses a re  so interwoven as to make the confession one con- 
nected story. To relate the admissions exclusively to any one of 
the charges without involving the others would be impossible. 

The result is that if the confession was inadmissible on the 
charge of rape, the State could not make i t  admissible by con- 
solidation with the lesser charges. So the critical question is 
whether the confession is admissible on the charge of rape. 

At the time the offenses were committed, the confession 
was obtained (both on June 4, 1971), and the trial held (Sep- 
tember 10, 1971), Section 7A-457 of the North Carolina General 
Statutes was in full force and effect. Subsection (a) provided: 

"An indigent person who has been informed of his 
rights under this subchapter may, in writing, waive any 
right granted by this subchapter, if the court finds of 
record that a t  the time of the waiver the indigent person 
acted with full awareness of his rights and of the conse- 
quences of a waiver. In making such a finding, the court 
shall consider, among other things, such matters as the 
person's age, education, familiarity with the English lan- 
guage, mental condition, and the complexity of the crime 
charged. A waiver shall not be allowed in a capital case." 

(Note: G.S. 78-457 was rewritten by Chapter 1243, Session 
Laws of 1971, effective October 30, 1971.) Material a t  this 
stage, is the question whether the judge was correct in hold- 
ing the defendant was not indigent a t  the time he made the 
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confession and therefore not in a position to invoke the provi- 
sion of the statute that counsel could not be waived in a capital 
case. On this question the record discloses the defendant was 
found to be indigent and counsel was appointed and acted a t  
the preliminary hearing. The same counsel was present and 
acting when the State sought to introduce the defendant's con- 
fession. 

[I] The evidence before the trial judge disclosed that the de- 
fendant had $5.00 in cash; an automobile on which $56.00 per 
month was due; and two bonds payable to him and his mother, 
each of which cost $18.75 and were in his mother's possession in 
Ohio. On the original application for counsel, the defendant had 
disclosed his indebtedness of $4,000.00. The question of in- 
debtedness was not raised on the voir dire before Judge Rouse. 
The stepfather had a salary of $9,000.00 per year with a wife 
and eleven other children. Any contribution which he might 
make toward the employment of counsel would have to be bor- 
rowed. "My family would have to do without." 

On the showing before the trial judge, we hold the evi- 
dence was insufficient to support his finding the defendant was 
not indigent and was able to employ counsel a t  the time of his 
confession. When a person is charged with three felonies, one 
capital, the law says he is entitled to be represented by com- 
petent counsel. If he is unable to employ counsel, the court 
must appoint one to represent him. The representation goes 
further, much further, than a mere sitting in on the original 
interrogation. The representation is presumed to continue as 
long as counsel may be of service in the case. The finding the 
defendant is not indigent, reversing the original holding, is not 
supported by the evidence and the conclusion that the defendant 
was not indigent a t  the time of his interrogation was error. 

The defendant's substantive rights are to be determined by 
the law in effect a t  the time the offenses were committed. At 
the time of the interrogation and confession, the defendant was 
indigent and was without counsel. Being charged with the capi- 
tal felony of rape, he could not execute a valid waiver of counsel 
and, of course, the State could not place in evidence against him 
an invalid waiver. Otherwise, the provision, "A waiver shall 
not be allowed in a capital case," is meaningless. 

[2] In passing on the question now involved, the Court is not 
unmindful of former decisions which hold that a certain type of 
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constitutional right may be waived and a conviction affirmed 
if the appellate court finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the 
denial of the right was harmless error. In State v. Bass, 280 
N.C. 435, 186 S.E. 2d 384, this Court held the presence of coun- 
sel a t  a lineup was a constitutional right, but the in-court 
identification of Bass was of such independent origin that the 
absence of counsel a t  the lineup was harmless beyond a reason- 
able doubt. In Bass, and in other similar cases, all counsel could 
have done was to see that the lineup was properly "lined up." 

The Constitution protects its citizens against forced self- 
incrimination. This eighteen-year-old Marine, being interro- 
gated by his superiors in the Marine Corps, by the agents of 
the State Bureau of Investigation, and by the county officers, 
needed an attorney before making an admission which could 
lead to the loss of his life. The law of this State said counsel 
could not be waived. 

This case is governed by the rule stated in State v. Black- 
mon, 280 N.C. 42, 185 S.E. 2d 123, rather than by the rule 
stated in State v. Bass, supra. In Blackmon, Justice Dan K. 
Moore for this Court said: 

"Where, as in the present case, a confession made by 
the defendant is erroneously admitted into evidence, no one 
can say what weight and credibility the jury gave the 
confession. Even though there is other evidence sufficient 
to support a conviction, we cannot say beyond a reasonable 
doubt that the error in admitting the confession did not 
materially affect the result of the trial to the prejudice of 
the defendant or that i t  was 'harmless error.' Error in the 
admission of this evidence requires a new trial." 

See also Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 17 L.Ed. 2d 705; 
State v. Accor awl Mooye, 277 N.C. 65, 175 S.E. 2d 583; and 
State v. Gaskins, 252 N.C. 46, 112 S.E. 2d 745. In the latter 
case Justice Clifton L. Moore for the Court said: "In the case 
sub judice there was ample evidence to sustain a conviction 
other than that drawn in question on this appeal. But we have 
no way of determining what evidence influenced the jury. It 
may well be that the evidence in  question was the deciding 
factor." The Court ordered a new trial. 

For the reasons assigned and on the basis of authorities 
cited, this Court is required to hold, and now holds, the con- 
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fession made and signed by the defendant when he was without 
counsel was inadmissible in evidence against him. His Assign- 
ment of Error XVIII is sustained. The defendant is entitled to 
go before another jury. To that end i t  is ordered that on all 
charges there be a 

New trial. 

Justice LAKE dissenting. 

In this case the majority takes a position not required by 
any decision of the Supreme Court of the United States or by 
any previous decision of this Court. 

There is not the slightest suggestion that the defendant's 
confession was obtained by coercion, inducement, intimidation 
or persuasion. Nothing in the record indicates any involuntari- 
ness whatsoever. Nothing in the record indicates falsity or the 
slightest inaccuracy in the confession. There is no indication 
whatsoever that this eighteen year old Marine, apparently 
intelligent and not inexperienced, did not understand his right 
to have counseI present a t  the interrogation or that he was 
unaware that, if by reason of indigency he could not obtain 
counsel, the court would appoint counsel for him. He was ex- 
pressly so advised, both by the military and by the civilian 
officers present, before he made the confession. In writing, 
clear and unmistakable, he stated he did not want counsel 
"present during this interview." 

Subsequently, after he was formally charged and formal 
judicial proceedings were a certainty, he asserted for the first 
time that he wanted counsel and that, by reason of his indigency, 
he was unable to employ such counsel for the proceedings then 
imminent. Thereupon, counsel for those proceedings was ap- 
pointed and he has been diligently and ably represented through- 
out those proceedings, including this appeal, by such counsel. 

The trial court found, "The defendant had adequate re- 
sources with which to employ counsel a t  the in-custody inter- 
rogation stage of the proceeding in this case." This Court now 
says that finding is not supported by the evidence and was error. 

The evidence is that this eighteen-year-old man had a regu- 
lar job which paid him $149.00 per month over and above all 
expense for food, lodging, clothing, medical care and every other 
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necessary expense. There is no suggestion that he had any 
dependents. Obviously, the bulk, if not all, of his indebtedness 
represented the balance due on an automobile owned by him. 
This Court now says that he was an indigent because he did 
not have, in ready cash, enough funds to enable him to employ 
a lawyer, not just for the interrogation proceeding but for his 
trial, including appeal to the highest court available, and be- 
cause his family could not help him do so without giving up 
some other things. If this be indigeney, then to be seIf support- 
ing is a condition rare in this the richest country in the world. 

G.S. '?A-450 (a) provides: "An indigent person is a person 
who is financially unable to secure legal representation and to 
provide all other necessary expenses of representation in an 
action or proceeding enumerated in this subchapter." Sub- 
section(~) provides: "The question of indigency may be de- 
termined or redetermined by the court a t  any stage of the 
action or proceeding a t  which an indigent is entitled to repre- 
sentation." 

Indigency, a t  least in this sense, means financial inability 
to employ the legal assistance needed at the time. Surely, we 
may take judicial notice of the fact that a relatively small fee 
would be charged by competent counsel for appearance a t  a 
police investigation. This is all the defendant needed a t  that 
time. With full knowledge of his right to such counsel, and 
without the slightest suggestion of his inability to employ such 
counsel, he elected to represent himself. No one has suggested 
that he was coerced, intimidated or induced to reach that 
decision. When a suspected criminal, known to have the above 
mentioned employment and income, does not even suggest to 
the officers interrogating him that he is an indigent but ex- 
pressly tells them he does not want counsel present, why must 
the officers inquire further into his financial condition? 

Assuming this defendant was an indigent, within the mean- 
ing of G.S. 7A-457, for the purposes of the police interrogation, 
this statute does not declare that evidence obtained in disregard 
of it is not admissible. Neither 1Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 
86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed. 2d 694, nor M q p  v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 
81 S.Ct 1684, 6 L.Ed. 2d 1081, nor any other decision of the 
Supreme Court of the United States which has come to my 
attention holds that state courts may not admit evidence ob- 
tained in violation of a state statute. The effect of those cases 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 47 

State v. Wright 

is  limited to the admissibility of evidence obtained in violation 
of the defendant's rights guaranteed by the Federal Constitu- 
tion. No denial of any such constitutional right is involved in 
this case. Consequently, the admissibility of this defendant's 
voluntary confession must be determined by the law of this 
State. 

We have held repeatedly that the common law of North 
Carolina does not forbid the admission of evidence unlawfully 
obtained but otherwise competent. State v. Colson, 274 N.C. 
295, 305, 163 S.E. 2d 376, cert. den., 393 U.S. 1087, 89 S.Ct. 
876, 21 L.Ed. 2d 780; State v. Smith, 251 N.C. 328, 111 S.E. 
2d 188; State v. Vanhoy, 230 N.C. 162, 52 S.E. 2d 278; State v. 
McGee, 214 N.C. 184, 198 S.E. 616. See also: Stansbury, North 
Carolina Evidence, 2d Ed., Q 121 ; Wigmore on Evidence, 3d Ed., 
$$ 2183-2184a; McCormick on Evidence, 5 137; 29 AM. JUR. , 

2d, Evidence, 5 408. In State v. McGee, supra, this Court refused 
to extend, to evidence obtained by a search without any war- 
rant a t  all, a statute declaring incompetent evidence obtained 
by a search under an illegally issued warrant. Pursuant to the 
rule so established, we should not interpolate into G.S. 7A-457 
a change in the rules so established in this State. 

If, however, G.S. 78-457 should be construed as a legislative 
declaration that a voluntary confession made under the circum- 
stances of this case is not admissible, the statute should not be 
given that effect because the statute, itself, is an unconstitu- 
tional enactment. The State had no opportunity to raise this 
question since the lower court ruled in its favor on the question 
of the admissibility of the confession. In State v. Bines, 263 
N.C. 48, 138 S.E. 2d 797, this Court said, "The constitutional 
right to counsel, of course, does not justify forcing counsel upon 
an accused who wants none." To the same effect are: State v. 
Morgan, 272 N.C. 97, 157 S.E. 2d 606, and State v. McNeil, 
263 N.C. 260, 139 S.E. 2d 667, and in State v. Williams, 276 
N.C. 703, 174 S.E. 2d 503, this Court affirmed a death sentence 
imposed upon a defendant tried without counsel, pursuant to 
his declaration that he did not want counsel. All of these cases 
involved a defendant who elected to proceed without counsel 
through the formal trial of the charge against him. If a defend- 
ant may not be denied the right to do that, surely he may not 
be denied the right to represent himself a t  a police interroga- 
tion prior to the filing of a formal charge against him. Having 
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elected to do so, voluntarily and with full knowledge of his 
rights, he should not now be given a new trial because he so 
elected and confessed to the offense charged. 

Furthermore, G.S. 78-450 et seq. is invalid in that it dis- 
criminates between indigent and non-indigent defendants. If 
this defendant, a t  the time of the police interrogation, had had 
in his pocket $10,000 in cash and had been free from debt the 
majority would apparently hold he had the right to represent 
himself a t  the police interrogation and the confession would be 
held properly admitted. Neither intelligence, education, nor 
skill in matters of police or courtroom procedure has any rela- 
tion to the amount of money one has in his pocket or in a bank 
account. Neither the Legislature nor the courts of this State 
may make the right to represent one's self without counsel 
depend upon such a circumstance. 

Justices HUSKINS and MOORE join in  this dissenting opinion. 

D. I. ROBERTS V. WILLIAM N. AND KATE B. REYNOLDS MEMO- 
RIAL PARK ALSO KNOWN AS TANGLEWOOD PARK, AND GRADY 
SHUMATE 

No. 69 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Bailment § 6- bailor of vehicle for hire - liability for injury to bailee 
I t  is the duty of a bailor for  hire of a vehicle to see that  the 

vehicle is in good condition, and while he is not an insurer, he is 
liable to the bailee or a third person for injuries proximately 
caused by a defect in the vhicle of which he has knowledge or 
which he could have discovered by reasonable care and inspection. 

2. Rules of Civil Procedure § 50- motion for directed verdict 
A motion for a directed verdict presents the question of whether, 

as  a matter of law, the evidence offered by the plaintiff, when con- 
sidered in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, is sufficient to 
be submitted to the jury. 

3. Rules of Civil Procedure 5 50- directed verdict against party having 
burden of proof 

The court may direct a verdict against the party having the 
burden of proof when there is no evidence in his favor. 
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4. Pleadings § 36; Rules of Civil Procedure 3 50- variance between plead- 
ings and proof 

Prior to the adoption of the new Rules of Civil Procedure, a 
plaintiff's recovery had to be based on allegations in his complaint, 
and nonsuit was proper when there was a material variance between 
allegations and proof. 

5. Rules of Civil Procedure 3 8- sufficiency of complaint 
Under the "notice theory of pleading" of the new Rules of Civil 

Procedure, a statement of claim is adequate if i t  gives sufficient 
notice of the clain~ asserted to enable the adverse party to answer 
and prepare for trial, to allow for the application of the doctrine of 
res  judicata, and to show the type of case brought. 

6. Rules of Civil Procedure 3 84- complaint - specific acts of negligence 
While federal Forms 9 and 10 do not require complaints for 

negligence to contain specific allegations of acts of negligence, such 
specific allegations are required by G.S. 1A-1, Rule 84, Forms 3 and 4. 

7. Rules of Civil Procedure 3 15- issues - amendment of pleadings 
Under the new Rules of Civil Procedure, the trial must proceed 

within the issues raised by the pleadings unless the pleadings are 
amended. 

8. Rules of Civil Procedure § 15- amendments to pleadings 
Amendments to pleadings are made upon motion on leave of court, 

by express consent, and by implied consent. 

9. Rules of Civil Procedure 5 15- evidence outside the pleadings - fail- 
ure to object - amendment of pleadings by implied consent 

Under G.S. 1A-1, Rule 15(b),  the pleadings are deemed amended 
to conform to evidence introduced outside the scope of the pleadings 
when the evidence is not objected to on the ground that it is not 
within the issues raised by the pleadings; even when the evidence is 
objected to  on that ground, the court will freely allow amendments 
to present the merits of the case when the objecting party fails to 
satisfy the court that  he would be prejudiced in the trial on its 
merits. 

10. Rules of Civil Procedure 8 15- pleadings - amendment by implied 
consent 

Amendment by implied consent may change the legal theory of 
the cause of action so long as the opposing party has not been prej- 
udiced in presenting his case; i.e., where he had a fair  opportunity to 
defend his case. 

11. Bailment 8 6; Pleadings 3 33; Rules of Civil Procedure 9 15- evidence 
outside pleadings - failure to object - amendment by implied consent 

In  an action to recover for injuries sustained when a golf cart 
plaintiff had rented from defendants rolled backwards down a hill 
and overturned while being operated by plaintiff, wherein plaintiff 
alleged that  defendants were negligent in failing to warn him of 
defective brakes on the golf cart, the pleadings were amended by 
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implied consent to conform to the evidence and broaden the issue 
of negligence so that  the jury could consider whether defendants 
breached a duty to plaintiff by furnishing a golf cart which they 
knew had no brakes on i t  when going backwards, where defendants 
failed to object to plaintiff's testimony outside the pleadings that  
the individual defendant told him a t  the accident scene that  de- 
fendants' golf carts had no brakes on them while going backwards. 

12. Bailment 5 3- bailor for hire of vehicle- warnings t o  bailee 
I t  would be a breach of duty for a bailor for hire of vehicles to 

fail to warn that  the bailed vehicles had "no brakes on them going 
backwards." 

13. Principal and Agent 8 8- knowledge of agent - knowledge of principal 
A principal is charged with and bound by the knowledge of or  

notice to his agent received while the agent is acting as  such within 
the scope of his authority and in reference to which his authority 
extends. 

Justice SHARP concurring in result. 

Chief Justice BOBBITT joins in concurring opinion. 

APPEAL by plaintiff from decision of the Court of Appeals 
(12 N.C. App. 69) affirming the judgment of Armstrong, J., 
a t  18 November 1970 Session of FORSYTH Superior Court. This 
case was docketed and argued as No. 107 a t  the Fall Term 
1971. 

Plaintiff sued for damages for injuries sustained while 
operating a golf cart which had been rented from defendants. 

Plaintiff alleged that defendant Grady Shumate, the resi- 
dent golf professional, was the agent, servant and employee of 
the corporate defendant and that the defendants were negligent 
in that: 

A. That the defendants failed to properly maintain 
and inspect the said golf carts rented to the plaintiff; 

B. That although the defendants knew or should have 
known that the brakes on the said golf cart were defective, 
they negligently permitted the same to remain in operation 
and permitted the same to be rented to the plaintiff. 

C. The defendants permitted the golf cart to be rented 
to and operated by the plaintiff without making proper 
inspections and proper maintenance of said brakes on said 
cart. 
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D. That the defendants left protruding rocks and 
objects within the fairway, knowing that the same would 
be used by the plaintiff and others using golf carts and 
knowing that the same was dangerous to the operation of 
said golf carts. 

E. That the defendants failed and neglected to warn 
and instruct the plaintiff as to the proper use of said golf 
cart on steeped terrains and to the proper use of brakes 
on the golf cart. 

F. That the defendants failed and neglected to warn 
the plaintiff of the defective brakes on said golf cart. 

G. That the defendants failed and neglected to detect 
a defect in said golf cart when said defects could,be readily 
detected had they made an inspection of the same. 

Plaintiff's testimony, in substance, tends to show that on 
3 May 1967, around 10:OO o'clock a.m., he and Mr. David Copen 
(Copen) arrived a t  the Tanglewood Park golf course to play 
golf. Copen rented a Pargo golf cart from defendants and 
plaintiff drove the cart. While driving the cart to the first 
green, he noticed that the brakes seemed to "fade." They did 
not respond in the same manner as the power brakes on his 
automobile. He considered returning the cart, but decided not 
to because he attributed the difference in response to the nature 
of the vehicle rather than a defect in the braking system. The 
physical layout of the first nine holes played by plaintiff and 
Copen did not require a significant use of the brakes. On that 
portion of the golf course plaintiff usually coasted up to the 
ball and let the cart stop itself. When the cart stopped he would 
lock the brakes by depressing the brake pedal. He noticed no 
defect or difficulty in  the brakes while playing the first nine 
holes. 

The 10th hole, which plaintiff and Copen partially played, 
was in a new section of the golf course. Their approach to the 
green traversed a steep hill. Copen's second shot landed just 
below the crest of the hill and plaintiff drove up the incline 
and stopped near the ball by easing up on the throttle. The 
cart immediately began to roll backwards down the hill. Plain- 
tiff mashed the brake pedal as hard as he could, but the speed 
of the cart increased to approximately 25 or 30 miles per hour, 
The cart struck a rock which sheared the front wheel assembly 
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from the body of the cart. The cart overturned and threw both 
occupants onto the ground. I t  either ran over or fell on plaintiff, 
thereby causing him to suffer broken ribs and painful bruises. 
Plaintiff momentarily lost consciousness, and when he regained 
consciousness he noted that defendant Shumate and several oth- 
er  persons had arrived to offer aid. At that time Shumate made 
certain statements, which will be discussed later. 

On cross-examination plaintiff testified that he had played 
the Tanglewood course approximately a dozen times prior to 
the date of the accident, and that he had operated a golf cart 
on an average of twelve times a year for the previous five years. 
Plaintiff did not remember seeing operating instructions printed 
on the dashboard of the cart. 

David Copen's testimony substantially corroborated plain- 
tiff's testimony. His direct testimony differed in that he de- 
scribed plaintiff's attempts to stop the backward motion of 
the golf cart as a "pumping on the brakes." He also stated that 
he saw no operating instructions on the dashboard of the cart. 
Neither plaintiff nor Copen denied that the instructions were 
printed on the dashboard of the cart. 

Mr. Howard Hargett, a research and design engineer for 
the manufacturer of the Pargo Golf carts, testified as an expert 
witness for plaintiff. He described the braking system on a 
Pargo golf cart as being comprised of an external, lined band 
wrapped around a brake drum. The brake system is mechani- 
cally operated by a 3/16 inch aircraft cable connecting the band 
to the brake pedal. Pressure on the pedal wraps the band around 
the brake drum, causing the cart to stop. He stated that the 
brakes on these carts are just as effective whether the cart goes 
backwards or forward. He testified that there are two ways the 
brakes might fail. A snapping of the cable would result in a 
sudden failure of the brakes. This snapping would occur follow- 
ing excessive wear such as would result from four or five 
years' use. A reasonable inspection of the cable would reveal 
such wear. The other cause of brake failure would be wear on 
the linings of the brake bands. Such wear would result only 
from many hours of use, and a visual inspection would reveal 
such wear. An annual visual inspection of the brake bands for 
lining wear would be reasonable. He identified the cart used in 
the illustrative evidence as being a '67 or '68 model. He further 
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testified that each '67 or '68 Pargo golf cart left the factory 
with a decal stamped on the dashboard directiy in front of the 
driver's seat. This decal set forth operating instructions for 
the cart. 

Dr. Albert P. Glod testified as to plaintiff's injuries. 

At the close of plaintiff's evidence the trial judge allowed 
defendants' motion for a directed verdict on the ground that 
plaintiff had failed to show facts on the issue of negligence 
which would support a verdict against defendants. The Court 
of Appeals affirmed this judgment, with Judge Hedrick dissent- 
ing. This case is before this Court pursuant to G.S. 7A-30 (2). 

Roberts, Frye & Booth, by Leslie G. Frye; Powell & 
Powell, by Harrell Powell, Jr., for paintiff  appellant. 

Deal, Hutchins and Minor, by  John M. Minor and William 
K. Davis for defelzdant appellees. 

BRANCH, Justice. 

The sole question presented by this appeal is whether the 
trial judge erred in granting defendants' motion for a directed 
verdict. 

[I] It is the duty of a bailor for hire to see that the vehicle 
bailed is in good condition. While he is not an insurer, he is 
liable for injury to the bailee or a third person for injuries 
proximately caused by a defect in the vehicle of which he had 
knowledge or which he could have discovered by reasonable care 
and inspection. H u d s m  v.  Drive I t  Ymrse l f ,  Im. ,  236 N.C. 503, 
73 S.E. 2d 4. 

[2, 31 A motion for a directed verdict presents the question 
of whether, as a matter of law, the evidence offered by plaintiff, 
when considered in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, 
is  sufficient to be submitted to the jury. Kelly v. Harvester Co., 
278 N.C. 153, 179 S.E. 2d 396. The court may direct a verdict 
against the party having the burden of proof when there is 
no evidence in his favor. Czctts v. Casey, 278 N.C. 390, 180 
S.E. 2d 297. 

We deem it unnecessary to discuss plaintiff's allegation 
that defendants left rocks or other objects dangerous to golf 
carts on the golf course, since he offered no direct evidence which 
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would support an inference that any objects of a dangerous 
nature were present on the golf course. 

Plaintiff contends that his injury was caused by defective 
brakes on the golf cart and that defendants knew, or by the 
exercise of reasonable care should have known of the defect. In 
this connection plaintiff's evidence shows that the brakes on 
the golf cart could fail in two ways, viz: (1) sudden failure 
caused by the snapping of the brake cable, and (2) gradual 
failure of the brakes caused by wear on the linings of the brake 
bands. 

Plaintiff's expert witness testified concerning sudden fail- 
ure of the brakes as follows: "In order to sever this cable or 
cause this cable to break i t  is going to take a lot. There would 
be practically no way to break it, in normal driving around, 
suddenly, unless the cable, I'd say, is four to five years old 
and worn a lot, you can't break it, not with a foot." Plaintiff's 
evidence showed that the golf cart in which plaintiff was in- 
jured was not more than one year old. 

As to the gradual failure of the brakes, plaintiff's evidence 
showed that a visual inspection would reveal the wear on the 
linings of the brake bands, and that an annual inspection 
would be reasonable. 

Plaintiff's evidence failed to show that the cable snapped 
or that the linings on the brake bands were worn. 

We quote the following excerpts from plaintiff's testimony: 

Q. What, if anything, did Mr. Shumate say to you? 

MR. MINOR : Objection. 

THE COURT: Well, I don't know what he is going to 
say. I guess a t  this point I will admit i t  as against Shumate 
and not the others. I don't know what he is going to say. 
Sustained as to, well, as to the corporate defendant, I 
reckon I will say. 

. . . Then the park manager came up-I assume that 
he was the park manager; I never did see the gentleman 
because of the way that I was lying-and Mr. Shumate told 
him- 
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MR. MINOR: Well, objection now, if the Court please. 

THE COURT : Well- 

MR. MINOR: He is talking about someone he doesn't 
know about. 

THE COURT: Sustained again as to the corporate de- 
fendant, Tanglewood Park, Go ahead. 

. . . Later Mr. Shumate came back to me and he says, 
"If you are familiar with these carts, you should know that 
they have no brakes on them going backwards." I was still 
lying on the ground a t  that time, sir. 

MR. POWELL: I submit that statement is competent 
against the corporate defendant as well as Mr. Shumate. 

THE COURT: Well, of course, he has got an exception 
to all this. I will let that in. 

Plaintiff strongly contends that this statement was suffi- 
cient evidence of defendants' negligence to carry the case to 
the jury. 

Plaintiff failed to allege that defendants rented the golf 
cart knowing that it had no brakes when going backward. We 
must therefore decide the effect of this variance in the allega- 
tions and proof. 

[4] Prior to the adoption of the new Rules of Civil Procedure 
i t  was well recognized that a plaintiff's recovery had to be 
based on allegations in his complaint, and that when there was 
a material variance between allegations and proof, nonsuit was 
proper. Conger v. Im. CO., 266 N.C. 496, 146 S.E. 2d 462; 
Andrews v. Bruton, 242 N.C. 93, 86 S.E. 2d 786. No issues were 
submitted to the jury which were not raised by the pleadings 
and supported by competent evidence. Bowling v. Bowling, 252 
N.C. 527, 114 S.E. 2d 228. A motion for nonsuit is no longer 
proper in a civil action. In an action tried by the court without 
a jury, a defendant may move for a dismissal on the ground that 
upon the facts and the law plaintiff has shown no right to 
relief. Ch. 1A-1, Rule 41 (b). When a case is tried by a jury, as 
here, a defendant may move for a directed verdict to test the 
sufficiency of the evidence to go to the jury. Ch. 1A-1, Rule 
50 (a). See Kelly v. Harvester Co., supra. 
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[S] By enactment of G.S. 1A-1, the legislature adopted the 
"notice theory of pleading." Under "notice pleading" a state- 
ment of claim is adequate if i t  gives sufficient notice of the 
claim asserted "to enable the adverse party to answer and pre- 
pare for trial, to allow for the application of the doctrine of 
res  judicata, and to show the type of case brought. Sutton v. 
Duke, 277 N.C. 94, 176 S.E. 2d 161. 

[6] The North Carolina pleadings and forms differ from the 
federal pleadings and forms in that federal Forms 9 and 10, 
complaints for negligence, do not require specific allegations 
of acts of negligence. Under Rule 84 of G.S. 1A-1, Forms 3 and 
4 do require such specific allegations. Sizemore, General Scope 
and Philosophy of the New Rules, 5 Wake Forest Intramural 
Law Review 1. 

[7, 81 Under the new Rules the trial must proceed within the 
issues raised by the broad pleadings unless the pleadings are 
amended. The new Rules achieve their purpose of insuring a 
speedy trial on the merits of a case by providing for and en- 
couraging liberal amendments to conform pleadings and evi- 
dence under Rule 15 (a) ,  by pretrial order under Rule 16, 
during and after reception of evidence under Rule 15(b),  and 
after entry of judgment under Rules 15(b) ,  59 and 60. Such 
amendments are made upon motion and with leave of court, 
by express consent, and by implied consent. 

In instant case, since plaintiff failed to amend by leave of 
court or pretrial order and there was no amendment by express 
consent, we need only consider whether the pleadings were 
amended by implied consent. 

The doctrine of implied consent is based upon the provi- 
sions of Rule 15 (b), which we quote: 

(b) Amendments to conform to the evidence.-When issues 
not raised by the pleadings are tried by the express or 
implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all 
respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings. Such 
amendment of the pleadings as may be necessary to cause 
them to conform to the evidence and to raise these issues 
may be made upon motion of any party a t  any time, either 
before or after judgment, but failure so to amend does 
not affect the result of the trial of these issues. If evidence 
is objected to a t  the trial on the ground that i t  is not within 
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the issues raised by the pleadings, the court may allow the 
pleadings to be amended and shall do so freely when the 
presentation of the merits of the action will be served 
thereby and the objecting party fails to satisfy the court 
that the admission of such evidence would prejudice him 
in maintaining his action or defense upon the merits. The 
court may grant a continuance to enable the objecting 
party to meet such evidence. 

Dean Dickson Phillips of the University of North Carolina 
Law School, in McIntosh, N. C. Practice and Procedure, Vol. 1, 
Supp. 1970, 3 970.80, considered Rule 15(b) as i t  affects con- 
forming amendments to pleadings after offer of evidence. He 
there, in part, stated: 

The most significant feature of Rule 15's approach to 
amendments to conform pleadings to proof already adduced 
is its abandonment, both in name and practice, of the 
highly technical code doctrine of "variance." Instead, 
Rule 15 (b) approaches the problem from a completely func- 
tional standpoint. Two situations involving proof outside 
the scope of the pleadings are posited. In the first, no 
objection is made upon the introduction of evidence that 
i t  is outside the pleadings. In this situation, the Rule 
provides that "when issues not raised by the pleadings are 
tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall 
be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the 
pleadings.'' T h i s  is t h e  doctr ine  o f  " l i t igat ion b y  consent." 
W h e n  t h i s  occurs,  a n  actual  c o n f o r m i n g  a m e n d m e n t  m a y  
be  m a d e  o n  m o t i o n  e i ther  before  o r  a f t e r  judgmen t ,  b u t  
it is n o t  e s s e n t i a G t h e  pleadings are  b y  t h e  R u l e  deemed 
amended .  A party who fails to object to evidence is of 
course initially presumed to have given "implied consent" 
by silence. He can avoid the effect only by satisfying the 
court that under the circumstances, his consent to having 
certain issues considered by the trier of fact should not 
be impIied from his failure to object to particular evidence." 
(Emphasis ours.) 

In the case of Securi t ies  and  E x c h a n g e  C o m m i s s i o n  v. Rapp, 
(2d Cir., 1962), 304 F. 2d 786, the United States Court of 
Appeals considered their similar Rule 15(b) and, i n t e r  a h ,  
stated : 
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In the district court Judge Murphy gave judgment for 
defendants dismissing the complaint. The principal ground 
of decision appears to have been that the pleadings did 
not conform to the proof; he denied a motion, made a t  the 
close of argument, to amend the pleadings so to conform. 
This ruling was clearly in error. F. R. 15 (b) provides that 
"[wlhen issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by 
express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be 
treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the 
pleadings." This is mandatory, not merely permissive. The 
rule then provides for free or delayed amendment, but 
states that "failure so to amend does not affect the result 
of the trial of these issues." Indeed, formal amendment is 
needed only w h e n  evidence i s  objected t o  a t  trial as  mt 
wi th in  the scope of  the  pleadings. . . . (Emphasis ours.) 

Accord: Til lman v .  National Ci ty  Bank o f  N e w  York ,  (2d Cir., 
1941), 118 F. 2d 631; Joyce v .  L. P. Steuart ,  Inc., (D.C. Cir., 
1955), 227 F. 2d 407; Gallon v .  Lloyd-Thomas Co., (8th Cir., 
1959), 264 F. 2d 821. See also 3 Moore's Federal Practice, 
2d Ed., 5 15.13 (2),  and cases there cited. 

191 The thrust of this rule seems to destroy the former strict 
code doctrine of variance by allowing issues to be raised by 
liberal amendments to pleadings and, in some cases, by the 
evidence. Under 15(b) the rule of "litigation by consent" is 
applied when no objection i s  made on the  specific ground that 
the evidence offered i s  no t  wi th in  the  issues raised by the 
pleadings. In such case the statutory rule, in effect, amends 
the pleadings to conform to the evidence and allows any issue 
raised by the evidence to go to the jury. E v e n  w h e n  the evidence 
i s  objected t o  on  the  ground that  i t  i s  not  w i th in  the issues 
raised b y  the  pleadings, the court will freely allow amendments 
to present the merits of the case when the objecting party fails 
to satisfy the court that he would be prejudiced in the trial on 
its merits. The far-reaching effect of this statutory rule is em- 
phasized by the burden placed on the objecting party to specify 
the grounds of objection and to satisfy the court that he will 
be prejudiced by the admission of the evidence or by litigation 
of the issues raised by the evidence. The objecting party must 
meet these requirements in order to avoid "litigation by con- 
sent" or allowance of motion to amend. 
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[ lo] Further, i t  is apparent that the effect of this rule is to 
allow amendment by implied consent to change the legal theory 
of the cause of action so long as the opposing party has not 
been prejudiced in presenting his case, i.e., where he had a fair 
opportunity to defend his case. In this connection, we feel 
compelled to note that the better practice dictates that even 
where pleadings are deemed amended under the theory of "liti- 
gation by consent," the party receiving the benefit of the rule 
should move for leave of court to amend, so that the pleadings 
will actually reflect the theory of recovery. 

In instant case defendants' counsel did not object to Shu- 
mate's alleged statement on the ground that i t  was outside the 
pleadings. The record reveals that the legal effect of the evi- 
dence was argued by caunsel for defendants without any men- 
tion of the broadened issue raised by the evidence or without 
any contention that defendants were unprepared to litigate the 
broadened issue because of unfair surprise. Defendants offered 
no evidence tending to satisfy the court that they would be 
unduly prejudiced by the admission of the alleged statement 
and the issue thereby raised. 

[Ill Thus the statement allegedly made by defendant Shumate, 
in effect amended the pleadings to conform to the evidence and 
broadened the issue of negligence so that the jury could consider 
whether defendants breached a duty owed to plaintiff by fur- 
nishing a golf cart which they knew had no brakes on it when 
going backwards. 

Further, plaintiff's allegations that defendants failed to 
warn of defective brakes and that defendants failed to instruct 
as  to the proper use of the cart on steep terrain and the proper 
use of the brakes on the golf cart, a t  least negated any inference 
of unfair surprise as to the evidence of complete absence of 
brakes when the cart was rolling backward. 

[12] If it be a breach of duty for a bailor for hire to fail to 
warn of a known defect in the brakes of the bailed vehicle, i t  
certainly follows that i t  would be a breach of duty for him to 
fail to warn that the bailed vehicle had "no brakes on them 
going backwards." 

Plaintiff's complaint alleged : 

4. That the plaintiff is informed and believes that the 
defendant, Tanglewood Park and the defendant, Grady 
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Shumate, who is pro, agent, servant and employee of 
Tanglewood Park, share in the rental income of the use 
of said golf carts. That the plaintiff is further informed 
that the said golf carts are owned and maintained by 
Tanglewood Park under the direct supervision of the de- 
fendant, Grady Shumate, its agent, servant and employee. 

The answer of defendants to Paragraph 4 is as follows: 

Denied, except it is admitted that defendant Park and 
defendant Shumate share in rental fees on golf carts; that 
said golf carts are owned and maintained by defendant 
Park and that the maintenance of said carts is under the 
supervision of defendant Shumate; and that on May 3, 
1967, and for some time prior to that date, defendant 
Shumate was an employee of the defendant Park and was 
a professional golfer. 

1131 The allegations in the complaint and the admissions in 
the answer established the relationship of principal and agent 
between defendant Shumate and the corporate defendant a t  
the times plaintiff complained of. A principal is chargeable 
with and bound by the knowledge of or notice to his agent, 
received while the agent is acting as such within the scope of 
his authority and in reference to which his authority extends. 
Norburn v. Mackie, 262 N.C. 16, 136 S.E. 2d 279. Thus the 
corporate defendant was charged with and bound by its agent's 
knowledge that the golf cart had no brakes when rolling back- 
ward. 

We conclude that the evidence offered by plaintiff, when 
considered in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, was suf- 
ficient to have a jury pass on it. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is 

Reversed. 

Justice SHARP concurring in result: 

I am in accord with the majority's decision that plaintiff's 
evidence entitled him to go to the jury on the issue of defend- 
ants' negligence and that the trial judge erred in directing a 
verdict against him. Further, I do not disagree with the majori- 
ty's interpretation of Rule 15 (b) . My thesis is that Rule 15 (b) is 
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irrelevant to decision in this case. In my view, under Rule 
8(a)  (1) and Rule 84, Forms 3 and 4, plaintiff's allegations 
are sufficient to permit the introduction of testimony that the 
golf cart had no brake to check its backward movement. Sutton 
v. Duke, 277 N.C. 94, 176 S.E. 2d 161. 

In addition to the allegations (quoted verbatim a t  the be- 
ginning of the majority opinion) that defendants furnished 
plaintiff a golf cart which they knew, or should have known, 
had defective brakes, the complaint contains the following: 
Plaintiff and his partner "traveled up a hill and approached the 
crest of a hill and allowed the said golf cart to roll to a stop . . . 
and his partner began to get his golf clubs when the cart 
began rolling backward with the plaintiff applying the brakes, 
all to no effect;. That the cart continued to gain speed rolling 
backward and ran over a rock in the fairway and sheered off a 
front wheel, causing the cart to overturn. . . . 7' 

Testimony, admitted without any objection, tended to show 
defendant Shumate told plaintiff that defendants' golf carts 
had "no brakes on them going backwards." 

An allegation that the brakes were defective is sureIy 
broad enough to support evidence that they worked In one direc- 
tion only. Brakes which do not stop both forward and back- 
ward motions are defective. Furthermore, plaintiff's additional 
allegation that when the cart began rolling backward he applied 
the brakes to no effect is clearly sufficient to support the evi- 
dence of Shumate's declaration. Thus, there is no variance 
between allegation and proof. In short, this is not a case in 
which it is necessary to resort to Rule 15(b) to insure the de- 
cision of a case on its merits. Patently, a complaint which is 
already sufficient has no need of amendment either by the 
express permission of the court or by operation of law. 

I t  is also noted that defendants moved for a directed verdict 
"on the grounds that the evidence by its greater weight failed 
to prove any negligence and would leave this in the field of 
speculation and conjecture," and that the court allowed the 
motion on the ground that the evidence of negligence was in- 
sufficient to support a verdict against defendants on that issue. 
The trial court's ruling was not based upon a variance between 
allegation and proof. 

Chief Justice BOBBITT joins in this concurring opinion. 



IN T H E  SUPREME COURT 

State v. Ford 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. DONNIE L. FORD, 
ALIAS RONALD FORD 

No. 50 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Criminal Law 9 161- absence of assignments of error-review of 
record proper 

Although the record contains no exception or assignment of error, 
defendant's appeal presents the question whether error appears on 
the face of the record proper. 

2. Criminal Law 3 157- record proper 
Ordinarily, in criminal cases the record proper consists of (1) 

the organization of the court, (2)  the information, warrant or indict- 
ment, (3)  the arraignment and plea, (4)  the verdict, and (5) the 
judgment. 

3. Criminal Law 33 23, 25- plea of guilty -plea of nolo contendere - 
voluntariness - showing in record 

A plea of guilty or a plea of nolo contendere may not be consid- 
ered valid unless i t  appears affirmatively that  i t  was entered volun- 
tarily and understandingly. 

4. Criminal Law 9 25- plea of nolo contendere - voluntariness - con- 
sideration of evidence presented 

Whether technically a part of the record proper, evidence as to 
what occurred when defendant was arraigned and entered a plea of 
nolo conte~zdere will be considered by the appellate court in determin- 
ing if the plea was entered voluntarily and understandingly. 

5. Criminal Law 8 25- plea of nolo contendere-insufficiency of court's 
inquiries 

Although defendant's counsel stated that  he had explained to 
defendant the effect of a plea of nolo contendere, and defendant 
stated that  he understood the plea of .rzolo contendere and that  it was 
entered freely, voluntarily and understandingly, defendant's plea of 
nolo contendere to a charge of felonious escape should not have been 
accepted until the nature and consequences of the plea had been 
explained to defendant in open court  and evidence to  the effect that 
the plea was entered voluntarily and understandingly had been 
developed fully and a finding to that effect made by the court. 

6. Criminal Law 9 25- plea of nolo contendere -deficiencies in court's 
inquiries - defendant's testimony 

Although inquiries addressed by the court to defendant and to 
his counsel fell short of approved practice with reference to the 
acceptance of pleas of guilty or of nolo contendere, deficiencies in 
the court's inquiries and in defendant's responses were cured by de- 
fendant's testimony on the occasion of his arraignment and plea which 
discloses affirmatively that  he has no defense to the crinie of 
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felonious escape for which he was indicted, and when the entire 
record is considered, i t  appears that  defendant's plea of nolo contendere 
was entered voluntarily and understandingly. 

APPEAL by defendant from the decision of the Court of 
Appeals reported in 13 N.C. App. 34, 185 S.E. 2d 328, which 
found "No error" in the "trial" before Falls, J., a t  the August 
9, 1971 Session of FORSYTH Superior Court. 

Defendant was arraigned on a bill of indictment which 
charged that on January 9, 1971, while he was lawfully confined 
in the North Carolina Department of Correction in the custody 
of Captain T. D. Hill a t  Stokes Subsidiary #5546, under sen- 
tences imposed for breaking and entering and escape a t  the 
January 12, 1968 and February 7, 1969 Sessions of the Superior 
Court of Forsyth County, defendant did unlawfully, wilfully and 
feloniously escape while assigned to work a t  Forsyth Memorial 
Laundry Room, Winston-Salem, N. C. 

Defendant, an indigent, through his court-appointed coun- 
sel, Curtiss Todd, Esq., tendered a plea of n o l o  contendere .  In 
response to the court's inquiry, Mr. Todd stated that he had 
explained to defendant "the effect of a plea of nolo contendere." 
In response to inquiries which the court addressed directly to 
him, defendant stated in substance that he understood the mean- 
ing of a plea of nolo  contendere;  that nobody had promised 
him anything in exchange for this plea; and that he entered 
the plea freely, voluntarily and understandingly. Thereupon, 
the court heard the testimony of Correctional Officer Zeb Crews 
and the testimony of defendant. 

The judgment signed by Judge Falls recites that defendant 
had "entered a plea of nolo contendere to the offense of FELONI- 
OUS ESCAPE, being the second offense, and of the grade of fel- 
ony. . . ." Upon this plea, the judgment imposed a prison sen- 
tence of two years, to commence upon expiration of the sen- 
tences defendant was then serving. Defendant appealed. 

The record on appeal contains no exceptions or assignments 
of error. In the Court of Appeals, an opinion was written by 
each of the three members of the hearing panel. Reference is 
made to the opinion of Judge Hedrick, to the concurring opinion 
of Judge Graham, and to the dissenting opinion of Chief Judge 
Mallard. 
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Defendant appeals to the Supreme Court of right under 
G.S. 7A-30 (2). 

A t t o r n e y  General M o ~ g a n  and Deputy  A t t o r n e y  General 
Vanore  f o r  the  State .  

Curt iss  Todd f o r  de fendant  appellant. 

BOBBITT, Chief Justice. 

The question is whether the plea of nolo contendere and the 
judgment entered thereon should be vacated and the cause re- 
manded to the superior court to permit defendant to replead 
to the bill of indictment. If not, the decision of the majority 
of the panel of the Court of Appeals must be affirmed. 

In S t a t e  v. Woody ,  271 N.C. 544, 157 S.E. 2d 108 (1967), 
this Court affirmed judgments based on pleas of guilty entered 
in behalf of defendant by his counsel. On appeal, defendant as- 
signed as error the acceptance of the pleas "without ascertain- 
ing whether or not the defendant personally wished to enter" 
them. An excerpt from the opinion of Chief Justice Parker is 
quoted below : 

"[Dlue to the ever-increasing burden placed upon this 
Court to rule upon the countless petitions for review of the 
constitutionality of criminal convictions, i t  would be well, though 
not mandatory, for every trial judge in this State to interrogate, 
as most of our trial judges do, every defendant who enters a 
plea of guilty in order to be sure that he has freely, voluntarily 
and intelligently consented to and authorized the entry of such 
plea. However, we wish to make i t  clear that any failure on 
the part of the trial judge to follow this recommended proce- 
dure in cases of this nature would not be fatal to the convic- 
tion." 

G.S. 7A-457 (b),  as amended by Chapter 1243, Session 
Laws of 1971, provides : "If a n  indigent  person waives  coun- 
sel as provided in subsection (a),  and pleads guilty to any 
offense, the court shall inform him of the nature of the offense 
and the possible consequences of his plea, and as a condition 
of accepting the plea of guilty the court shall examine the per- 
son and shall ascertain that the plea was freely, understand- 
ably [sic] and voluntarily made, without undue influence, com- 
pulsion or duress, and without promise of leniency." (Our 
italics.) In the present case, defendant was represented by 
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counsel who tendered the plea in open court in defendant's 
presence and in his behalf. 

When a defendant who is represented by counsel tenders 
a plea of guilty or a plea of nolo contendeqAe, the law as declared 
in State v. Woody, supra, has not been modified by any sub- 
sequent decision of this Court or by any North Carolina statute. 
However, our law has been affected by the decision of the Su- 
preme Court of the United States in Boykin v. Alabama, 395 
U.S. 238, 23 L.Ed. 2d 274, 89 S.Ct. 1709 (1969). 

Since Bogkin was decided, and based thereon, panels of the 
North Carolina Court of Appeals have held consistently that, 
notwithstanding a defendant who is represented by counsel en- 
ters a plea of guilty or a plea of nolo contendere, it must appear 
affirmatively in the record that he did so voluntarily and under- 
standingly. State v. Harris, 10 N.C. App. 553, 180 S.E. 2d 29 
(1971) ; State v. Treadway, 12 N.C. App. 167, 182 S.E. 2d 638 
(1971) ; State v. Atkim, 12 N.C. App. 169, 182 S.E. 2d 
595 (1971). In each of these cases the defendant's plea and the 
judgment entered thereon were vacated and the case was re- 
manded to the superior court to permit the defendant to replead 
to the bill of indictment. In Harris, Judge Brock said: "The 
failure of the record in this case to affirmatively show that de- 
fendant was aware of the consequences of his pleas of guilty and 
to affirmatively show that his pleas were voluntarily and un- 
derstandingly entered entitles the defendant to have his pleas 
of guilty vacated and entitles him to replead to the charges." 
Supra a t  561, 180 S.E. 2d at 34. 

In Boykin v. State, 207 So. 2d 412 (Ala, 1968)) the defend- 
ant, represented by court-appointed counsel, entered a plea of 
guilty to each of five indictments for common-law robbery. It 
was provided by statute that 'Talny person who is convicted 
of robbery shall be punished, a t  the discretion of the jury, by 
death, or by imprisonment in the penitentiary for not less than 
ten years." Alabama Code, Title 14, 5 415 (1959). It was also 
provided by statute: "If he pleads guilty, . . . the court must 
cause the punishment to be determined by a jury. . . ." Ala- 
bama Code, Title 15, s 277 (1959). In Case No. 15520, the jury 
returned the following verdict: "We, the Jury, find the defend- 
ant guilty of Robbery, as charged in the indictment, on his 
plea of guilty, and further find that he shall suffer death by 
electrocution." On appeal, the judgment was affirmed by the 
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Supreme Court of Alabama. (Note: Although the appeal re- 
lates specifically to No. 15520 and to the jury's verdict therein, 
the dissenting opinion states that "[bly agreement, all five 
cases were presented to the same jury.") Three of the seven 
Justices of the Supreme Court of Alabama dissented on the 
ground that "the record does not disclose that the defendant 
voluntarily and understandingly entered his pleas of guilty." 
The Supreme Court of the United States granted certiorari. 
393 U.S. 820, 21 L.Ed. 2d 93, 89 S.Ct. 200 (1968). 

The Supreme Court of the United States reversed. This 
excerpt from the opinion of Mr. Justice Douglas indicates the 
basis of decision: "Several federal constitutional rights are in- 
volved in a waiver that takes pIace when a plea of guilty is 
entered in a state criminal trial. First, is the privilege against 
compulsory self-incrimination guaranteed by the Fifth Amend- 
ment and applicable to the States by reason of the Fourteenth. 
Malloy v. Hogan, 378 U.S. 1. Second, is the right to trial by 
jury. Dz~ncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145. Third, is the right to 
confront one's accusers. Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400. We 
cannot presume a waiver of these three important federal rights 
from a silent record. What is a t  stake for an accused facing 
death or imprisonment demands the utmost solicitude of which 
courts are capable in canvassing the matter with the accused 
to make sure he has a full understanding of what the plea con- 
notes and of its consequence." Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 
238, 243-44, 23 L.Ed. 2d 274, 279-80, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 1712. De- 
cision was based on the ground that " 'the record does not dis- 
close that the defendant voluntarily and understandingly en- 
tered his pleas of guilty.' " Id. a t  244, 23 L.Ed. 2d a t  280, 89 
S.Ct. a t  1713 (quoting the dissent in Boykin v. State, supra). 

A dissenting opinion by Mr. Justice Harlan, with whom 
Mr. Justice Black joined, stated that " [t] he Court thus in effect 
fastens upon the States, as a matter of federal constitutional 
law, the rigid prophylactic requirements of Rule 11 of the Fed- 
eral Rules of Criminal Procedure.'' Although Rule 11 is not 
mentioned in Mr. Justice Douglas's opinion for the Court, there 
is substantial justification for Mr. Justice Harlan's statement. 
See, "Criminal Procedure-Requirements for Acceptance of 
Guilty Pleas," 48 N.C.L. Rev. 352 (1970). 

Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, 18 
U.S.C. Appendix ( l97l) ,  provides : "A defendant may plead 
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not guilty, guilty or, with the consent of the court, nolo con- 
tendere. The court may refuse to accept a plea of guilty, and 
shall not accept such plea or a plea of nolo contendere without 
first addressing the defendant personally and determining that 
the plea is made voluntarily with understanding of the nature 
of the charge and the consequences of the plea. If a defendant 
refuses to plead or if the court refuses to accept a plea of guilty 
or if a defendant corporation fails to appear, the court shall 
enter a plea of not guilty. The court shall not enter a judgment 
upon a plea of guilty unless it is satisfied that there is a factual 
basis for the plea." 

In Boykin,  Mr. Justice Douglas quotes with approval from 
McCarthy v. United States, 394 U.S. 459, 22 LEd.  2d 418, 89 
S.Ct 1166 (1969), a decision based solely on the Court's inter- 
pretation of Rule 11. In McCarthy, the Court held that, in a 
criminal prosecution in the United States District Court, the 
trial judge could not accept a plea of guilty unless, in addition 
to all other requirements, he determined that there was a factual 
basis for the plea. 

Boykin  involved death sentences. Nothing in the opinions 
of the Supreme Court of Alabama and of the Supreme Court of 
the United States indicates that the trial judge made any  in- 
quiry of the defendant or of his counsel with reference to 
whether the pleas of guilty were voluntarily and understand- 
ingly entered. Nothing in the opinions of the Court of Appeals 
in Harris, Treadway and Atk ins  indicates that the trial judge 
made any  inquiry of the defendant or of his counsel with refer- 
ence to whether the pleas of guilty were voluntarily and under- 
standingly entered. The question before us is whether the pres- 
ent record discloses sufficiently that defendant's plea of nolo 
contendere was entered voluntarily and understandingly. 

[I-41 Although the record contains no exception or assign- 
ment of error, defendant's appeal presents the question whether 
error appears on the face of the record proper. State v. Roberts, 
279 N.C. 500, 183 S.E. 2d 647 (1971). "Ordinarily, in criminal 
cases the record proper consists of (1) the organization of the 
court, (2) the charge (information, warrant or indictment), 
(3) the arraignment and plea, (4) the verdict, and (5) the 
judgment." Sta te  v. Tinsley, 279 N.C. 482, 183 S.E. 2d 669 
(1971). Boykin  requires us to hold that a plea of guilty or a 
plea of nolo contendere may not be considered valid unless i t  
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appears affirmatively that i t  was entered voluntarily and un- 
derstandingly. Hence, a plea of guilty or of nolo contendere,  un- 
accompanied by evidence that the plea was entered voluntarily 
and understandingly, and a judgment entered thereon, must be 
vacated as in Harr i s ,  T r e a d w a y  and A t k i n s .  If the plea is sus- 
tained, it must appear affirmatively that it was entered volun- 
tarily and understandingly. Thus, whether technically a part 
of the record proper, evidence as to what occurred when de- 
fendant was arraigned and entered his plea must be considered 
if a judgment based upon the plea is to be sustained. This evi- 
dence appears in the agreed statement of case on appeal. 

151 I t  must be conceded that the inquiries addressed by the 
court to defendant's counsel and those addressed directly to de- 
fendant fall short of approved practice with reference to the 
acceptance of pleas of guilty or of ~zolo  contendere. True, de- 
fendant's counsel stated that he had explained to defendant 
the effect of the plea of nolo contendere; and defendant stated 
that he understood the plea of nolo contendere and that i t  was 
entered freely, voluntarily and understandingly. Even so, the 
nature and consequences of the plea should have been explained 
to defendant in open  court .  Evidence t o  the effect that the plea 
was entered voluntarily and understandingly should have been 
developed fully and a finding to that effect made in order to 
safeguard a defendant's rights, to protect his counsel from 
charges of unauthorized action, and generally to protect the plea 
and judgment from collateral attack in State post-conviction and 
federal habeas corpus  proceedings. See Annotation, "Validity 
of Guilty Pleas," 25 L.Ed. 2d 1025 (1971) ; also, "Standards 
Relating to Pleas of Guilty," American Bar Association Project 
on Minimum Standards for Criminal Justice (Approved Draft, 
1968) ; also, Annotation, "Courts duty to advise or admonish 
accused as to consequences of plea of guilty, or determine that 
he is advised thereof." 97 A.L.R. 2d 549 (1964). 

"A plea of nolo contendere . . . is tantamount to a plea 
of guilty for purposes of the particular criminal action in which 
i t  is tendered and accepted. The presiding judge acquires full 
power to pronounce judgment against the defendant for the 
crime charged in the indictment." S t a t e  v. N o r m a n ,  276 N.C. 
75, 79, 170 S.E. 2d 923, 926 (1969). The nature and conse- 
quences of the plea of nolo contendere are generally understood 
by those who have acquired experience as defendants in criminal 
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actions and as prisoners in our penal system. Defendant's coun- 
sel stated that he had explained to defendant the effect of a 
plea of nolo  contendere and defendant stated that he under- 
stood "what a plea of nolo contendere is." 

[6] In our view, the deficiency in the court's inquiries and 
in defendant's responses is cured by defendant's testimony on 
the occasion of his arraignment and plea. This testimony of de- 
fendant discloses affirmatively that he has no defense to the 
crime for which he was indicted. 

The indictment is based on G.S. 148-45(a) which in part 
provides : "Any prisoner convicted of escaping or attempting 
to escape from the State prison system who a t  any time sub- 
sequent to such conviction escapes or attempts to escape there- 
from shall be guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, 
shall be punished by imprisonment for not less than six months 
nor more than three years." Thus, upon a valid plea of nolo  
contendere  to an indictment properly charging a second offense 
of escape, the statute provides that punishment shall be "by im- 
prisonment for not less than six months nor more than three 
years." 

The testimony of Officer Crews tends to show that defend- 
ant had been convicted for breaking and entering and that he 
had escaped once before. Defendant testified he had been con- 
victed on January 12, 1968, for breaking and entering and 
sentenced to a prison term of "four to seven years." Accord- 
ing to the testimony of Officer Crews and of defendant, defend- 
ant was an escapee from January 9, 1971, until officers "picked 
him up" in July, 1971. 

Defendant testified that on January 9, 1971, he and four 
other prisoners were permitted to attend a movie and "to 
mingle" with other patrons ; that he took a seat downstairs ; that 
a t  5:30, the time they were supposed to leave, he went back 
upstairs where "the volunteer" was supposed to be, but could not 
find either the volunteer or any of the prisoners; that he dis- 
covered that the car in which they had come to the movie was 
gone; that he "thought about calling in," but didn't do so "be- 
cause one of the officers of the other units had already said 
if anybody messed up he was going to see that he would get 
whatever he could for him"; and that "[flrom January 9th 
until the time they picked [him] up in July, [he] knew [he] 
had escaped but not in every sense of the word." 
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G.S. 148-45(b) provides in express terms that the conduct 
of the defendant, as related by him, constitutes an escape within 
the meaning of G.S. 148-45 (a).  

Neither defendant nor his counsel has ever contended that 
defendant did not understand the full significance of his plea 
of nolo corztendere or that the plea was entered otherwise 
than voluntarily and understandingly. The present contention, 
namely, the asserted inadequacy of the record to show that the 
plea was entered voluntarily and understandingly, was made for 
the first time upon defendant's appeal to this Court from the 
Court of Appeals. The brief filed by defendant in the Court of 
Appeals referred to defendant's conduct as "in the nature of 
a breach of trust" rather than an escape, and made the conten- 
tion that the alleged escape by defendant "was surrounded by 
many extenuating circumstances and that the sentence was 
more severe than the evidence warranted." It may be that de- 
fendant was under the erroneous impression that the two-year 
sentence he received was the maximum. 

When the entire record is considered, we think it appears 
that defendant's plea of nolo contendere was entered voluntarily 
and understandingly. Hence, the decision of the Court of Ap- 
peals is affirmed. 

Affirmed, 

STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. RONALD LEE MILLER 

No. 24 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Burglary 5 5- first degree burglary - sufficiency of evidence 
The State's evidence was sufficient to support a jury finding that 

defendant feloniously and burglariously broke into and entered an 
occupied home with intent to commit the felony of rape. 

2. Criminal Law $ 66- pretrial photographic identification - in-court 
identification 

In  a prosecution for first degree burglary, there was clear and 
convincing evidence to support the trial court's findings (1) that a 
pretrial photographic procedure a t  which the prosecuting witness iden- 
tified defendant's photograph from a group of twelve photographs 
exhibited to her by a police officer a t  her place of employment was 
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not so impermissibly suggestive as  to give rise to a very substantial 
likelihood of irreparable misidentification, and (2) that  the prosecuting 
witness' identification testimony a t  the trial was based solely on 
her observations of the person in her room on the night of the 
crime; consequently, the trial court did not e r r  in the admission of 
the prosecuting witness' in-court identification testimony and the 
police officer's testimony as  to the photographic identification. 

3. Criminal Law 8 86- cross-examination - prior convictions 
For the of impeachment, a witness, including the defend- 

ant  in a criminal case, is subject to cross-examination as to  his con- 
victions for crime. 

4. Criminal Law $ 86- juvenile defendant - cross-examination - prior 
adjudications of guilt 

For purposes of impeachment, i t  is permissible to cross-examine 
a juvenile defendant with reference to his prior convictions or adjudi- 
cations of guilt of prior conduct which, if committed by an adult, 
would have constituted a conviction of crime. 

APPEAL by defendant under G.S. 78-27(a) from Kivett, J., 
August 23, 1971 Criminal Session of FORSYTH Superior Court. 

Defendant was tried on a bill of indictment which charged 
that, on December 20, 1971, "about the hour of twelve in the 
night of the same day," defendant "unlawfully, feloniously and 
burglariously did break and enter the dwelling house of Ger- 
aldine Styles, to wit; located at 45-B Columbia Terrace, Wins- 
ton-Salem, North Carolina, with the felonious intent to com- 
mit the Crime of rape in the said dwelling house, upon the said 
Geraldine Styles, a female person, then and there actually oc- 
cupying the said dwelling house a t  the said time. . . . 17 

The State offered the testimony of Geraldine Styles; Shir- 
ley Smith, Mrs. Styles's neighbor; Officer R. T. Masten; Officer 
W. R. Burke; and (in rebuttal) Wade Witherspoon. Defendant 
testified but offered no other evidence. 

The only conflict in the evidence relates to the identity of 
the person who committed the crime charged in the indictment. 

Uncontradicted evidence tends to show the facts narrated 
below. 

Mrs. Geraldine Styles, age 26, lived in a one-story apart- 
ment a t  45B Columbia Terrace, Winston-Salem, N.C. It con- 
sisted of four rooms, two bedrooms to the right as you enter 
the front door and a living room and kitchen to the left. Mrs. 
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Styles occupied the front bedroom. Her two children, ages 6 and 
4, occupied the back bedroom. 

On Sunday night, December 20, 1970, between nine-thirty 
and ten o'clock, Mrs. Styles locked the front and back doors 
of her apartment and went to bed. She closed and latched the 
kitchen window, which was near the back door. A hole in the 
glass right above the latch had been made on the preceding 
Friday when she had left her key in the house and couldn't 
get another key because the Columbia Terrace office was closed. 
This enabled her to unlatch and raise the window and open the 
door by reaching in from the outside. 

When Mrs. Styles went to bed, Gary, her six-year-old son, 
was in the living room watching television. Mrs. Styles was very 
tired and went to sleep. Soon thereafter she was awakened by 
Gary who asked whether she wanted to keep the lights on, the 
only lights being the television light and a "revolving light" on 
the Christmas tree. As directed by Mrs. Styles, Gary turned off 
these lights. Mrs. Styles went back to sleep. 

About 10:30 p.m., Mrs. Styles was awakened by the light 
from a flashlight. A young man, "real young," was standing 
"right off from the door in front of [her] night table." The 
intruder had a knife in one hand and looked at her but said 
nothing. She was "so stiff and so scared that [she] couldn't 
say anything." When she raised up, as if to get up, the intruder 
stepped forward and said, "Don't holler or 1'11 kill you." The 
knife in his hand, identified as State's Exhibit No. 2, "looked 
sort of like a dagger but i t  was a long one." The flashlight, 
identified as State's Exhibit No. 3, had "red plastic like" around 
both ends and "a metal part in between." When Mrs. Styles 
asked what he wanted, the intruder stated in vulgar phrase 
that he was going to have sexual intercourse with her. At that 
time Gary came up the hall. The intruder told Mrs. Styles to 
"tell him to go back to bed," and she did so. 

After Gary went back to his bedroom, the intruder laid the 
flashlight on the table beside the bed with the light shining 
toward the bed. Mrs. Styles's clothing consisted of panties and 
a gown. The intruder went over to the bed, pulled the cover 
off of her and pulled off her panties. Getting on the bed with 
her, he tried "to place his parts in [her] parts." When she said, 
"There's my son coming up the hall again," the intruder got 
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out of bed and went to the door. He shined the flashlight "down 
the hall" and said, "He is not out there." He put the flashlight 
back on the little table near the door and came back to the bed, 
still holding the knife in his right hand. The intruder then got 
in  bed, on top of her, and "placed his parts in [hers]." She 
"just laid there stiff." Upon her refusal to take off her gown, 
he got up, pulled off her gown and dropped i t  on the floor. 
Thereupon Mrs. Styles told him he didn't know "how to do it," 
and suggested that he pull his pants down, lie on the bed and 
let her get on top of him. Apparently assured of her coopera- 
tion, he complied with her suggestion. In arranging this ma- 
neuver, Mrs. Styles managed to get one foot on the floor and 
a grip on the bedcovers. She then leaped from the bed, jerked 
the bedcovers over his face, and ran, naked and screaming, out 
of the room, out the front door and into the apartment of Mrs. 
Smith. 

Mrs. Shirley Smith lived in the adjoining apartment, at 
45A Columbia Terrace. On the night of December 20, 1970, after 
10:OO p.m., she heard Mrs. Styles screaming and calling upon 
Mrs. Smith to open her front door. When Mrs. Smith opened 
the door, Mrs. Styles, who was nude, ran into the Smith 
apartment screaming, "There's a man in the house." Mrs. Smith 
called the police. 

On the night of December 20, 1970, Officer Masten, who 
was on duty with Officer Hogan, received a call from the police 
radio room to investigate a disturbance a t  45A Columbia Ter- 
race. They received the call a minute or so after eleven o'clock 
and arrived a t  45A Columbia Terrace ten or fifteen minutes 
after eleven. There they saw Mrs. Geraldine Styles. She was 
"dressed in a gown" and "appeared excited, hysterical." After 
hearing her account of what had occurred, they went into the 
Styles apartment, 45B Columbia Terrace. 

In Mrs. Styles's bedroom, the officers found a knife 
(State's Exhibit No. 2), a flashlight (State's Exhibit No. 3) ,  
and a key ring with two keys and a tag on i t  (State's Exhibit 
No. 4). The knife was "a black leather handle military K-bar 
knife with about a seven-inch blade." It was on the floor near 
Mrs. Styles's bed and "between her door and her bed." The key 
ring was on the floor near the knife. One of the keys was "a 
Sargent key." The tag had the name "Peggy" on it. The flash- 
light was a two-cell "Ash-Flash" brand flashlight with plastic 



74 IN THE SUPREME COURT [281 

State v. Miller 

a t  both ends. The flashlight was on the night table beside Mrs. 
Styles's bed. The knife, flashlight and key ring and attachments 
were placed in "Property Control a t  the Police Department." 
The officers also found on the floor in Mrs. Styles's bedroom 
a gown and panties. 

The kitchen (back) door was open and the window was 
"partially opened." There was a hole in a section of the window 
"right a t  the latch" large enough for the officer to put his hand 
through. He saw no loose glass on the floor in the vicinity of 
the window. Mrs. Styles had previously stated that she had 
closed the window when she went to bed and that the glass 
had been broken on a previous occasion. Masten also related 
statements made to him by Mrs. Styles with reference to lock- 
ing up the apartment before going to bed, the actions and 
words and appearance of the intruder, and the circumstances 
under which she broke away from him and fled to her neigh- 
bor's apartment. These included a statement to the effect that 
she had not known defendant even by sight but "she felt she 
could recognize [him] if she saw him again." 

Detective Sergeant Burke, in his investigation of the alleged 
burglary, got State's Exhibit No. 4, the "two keys and a tag 
with 'Peggy' on it," out of "Property Control.'' He found that 
the keys would not work the doors a t  Mrs. Styles's apartment. 
Later, in checking a board a t  the Columbia Terrace office which 
contained an extra key to each apartment in the project, he 
found a key to Apartment 47C which was similar to one of the 
keys on State's Exhibit No. 4. He went to 47C and found the 
key on State's Exhibit No. 4 "worked the door" a t  47C. He then 
obtained information that defendant, his mother and his sister, 
Peggy Miller Williams, were living in 47C on December 20,1970. 

On two occasions Sgt. Burke asked Mrs. Styles to come to 
the police station "to look a t  pictures." On each of these occa- 
sions she viewed approximately "two hundred pictures" but 
did not make an identification. Later, on February 9, 1971, Sgt. 
Burke went to Western Electric with a group of twelve pictures 
and showed these pictures to Mrs. Styles. 

The foregoing evidence was admitted without objection. 
The appeal presents no question relating to its competency. 

Over objection, Mrs. Styles testified positively that defend- 
ant was the intruder in her home on the night of December 20, 
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1970. She testified she had observed him from time to time over 
a period of twenty to twenty-five minutes when the light shined 
on his face during her encounters with him. She then observed 
that he had "a stocking on his head," wore "some type of 
sweater," and was wearing tennis shoes. What she could see 
best was "the front of his face." His face and his lips were thin 
and he had small or medium ears. (Note: A t  the voir dire 
hearing, she testified that the intruder and she "were about 
the same size.") 

Over objection Sgt. Burke testified that the pictures he 
showed Mrs. Styles on February 9, 1971, were twelve Polaroid 
snapshots of Negro males; that, exclusive of defendant who 
was then 14, their ages varied from 15 or 16 to 28; that he 
asked Mrs. Styles to look a t  the pictures to see if she could 
identify any of them; and that, after looking through the pic- 
tures, Mrs. Styles handed him a photograph and said, "That's 
the man right there." 

Masten and Burke testified without objection as to state- 
ments made to them by Mrs. Styles in which she described the 
intruder in her home on December 20, 1970, with greater par- 
ticularity. According to Officer Masten, Mrs. Styles described 
the intruder as  a "male Negro, age early twenties, height 
approximately five feet six inches, slender build, smooth shaven, 
black stocking cap on hair, possibly a brown sweater, sneak- 
ers, . . . . " According to Sgt. Burke, Mrs. Styles described the 
intruder as "slim, young, did not shave, five six in height, and 
a hundred thirty-five to a hundred forty pounds, twenty-two 
to twenty-three years old, small face, wearing tennis shoes, 
wool sweater, had a stocking over the hair." 

Defendant's testimony, summarized except when quoted, is 
narrated below. 

On December 20, 1970, defendant lived with his mother, 
Mrs. Josephine McLean, and his brother and sister (seven-year- 
old twins), a t  47C Columbia Terrace and had lived there about 
eighteen months. His grandmother, Mrs. Willie Mae Miller, 
lived in the Happy Hills section a t  714 Liberia Street. His 
mother left on December 28th or December 29th and he went 
over to his grandmother's house. He did not actually know 
where he was on the night of December 20, 1970, but probably 
was a t  his home or a t  his grandmother's house. 
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The road from his house to the Happy Hills section ran 
in  back of Mrs. Styles's apartment. Prior to December 20, 1970, 
he had seen her standing in her back door. He had never been 
in her apartment, had never spoken to her and knew nothing 
about her. 

He did not own the knife or flashlight identified as State's 
exhibits and knew nothing about them. The keys in State's 
Exhibit No. 4 were his. One of them, the "Sargent key," fitted 
his grandmother's house; and the other fitted the apartment a t  
Columbia Terrace where he had lived. Re had lost these keys 
back in November, 1970, and had told his grandmother he had 
lost them. His grandmother had her lock changed. He bought 
another key to his apartment from the Columbia Terrace office. 
He had a sister whose name was Peggy. 

Defendant's mother and grandmother were not present a t  
the trial. Defendant testified he did not know where his mother 
was, that he believed his grandmother was a t  work but didn't 
know where. 

Defendant testified he was arrested on February 18, 1971. 
The record shows that this prosecution was initiated by the 
issuance of a juvenile summons on March 31, 1971. 

The cross-examination of defendant with reference to prior 
convictions for unrelated criminal offenses will be set forth in 
the opinion. 

In rebuttal, Wade Witherspoon testified that, as main- 
tenance supervisor for the Federal Housing Authority a t  Happy 
Hill Gardens, he was in charge of all maintenance work in the 
Happy Hills section; and that he had had no occasion to go to 
Mrs. Miller's home a t  714 Liberia Street. 

The jury found defendant guilty of burglary in the first 
degree as charged and recommended that his punishment be 
imprisonment for life. Thereupon, judgment of life imprison- 
ment was pronounced. 

Defendant excepted and appealed. 

Attorney General Morgan and Assistant Attorneys Gen- 
eral Melvin and Ray  for the State. 

Donald K. TiscFale for defendant appellant. 
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BOBBITT, Chief Justice. 

[I] The assignments of error relating to the denial of defend- 
ant's motions for nonsuit have no merit. Uncontradicted evi- 
dence offered by the State tended to show that a young Negro 
male feloniously and burglariously broke into and entered the 
occupied home of Mrs. Styles during the night of December 20, 
1970, with intent to commit the felony of rape. Too, Mrs. 
Styles's positive testimony, apart from corroborating circum- 
stances, was amply sufficient to support a finding that defend- 
ant is the person who committed the crime. 

[2] Defendant excepted to and assigns as error (1) the ad- 
mission of Mrs. Styles's testimony in which she identified defend- 
ant as the person who committed the crime, and (2) the ad- 
mission of Sgt. Burke's testimony as to what occurred on 
February 9, 1971, a t  Western Electric, when Mrs. Styles identi- 
fied one of the twelve photographs then shown her as the 
photograph of the young Negro male who committed the crime. 

Defendant's objection to Mrs. Styles's identification testi- 
mony is based on his contention that her testimony was tainted 
because of illegality in the photographic identification on Feb- 
ruary 9, 1971. He contends the photographic identification was 
illegal because the procedure was "so impermissibly suggestive 
as to give rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable 
misidentification." Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377, 384, 
19 L.Ed. 2d 1247, 1253, 88 S.Ct. 967, 971 (1968). 

Before admitting the testimony, the court conducted two 
voir dire hearings, the first to consider the admissibility of Mrs. 
Styles's testimony and the second to consider the admissibility 
of Sgt. Burke's testimony. At these hearings, the only testi- 
mony, which was given in the absence of the jury, was that of 
Mrs. Styles and of Sgt. Burke, respectively. After each voir dire 
hearing, the court made findings of fact which are fuliy sup- 
ported by uncontradicted evidence found by the court to be 
clear and convincing. In each instance, the court found that 
the identification procedure on February 9, 1971, was rwt "so 
impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a very substantial 
likelihood of irreparable misidentification." The court further 
found that Mrs. Styles's identification testimony before the 
jury was based solely on her observation of the person in her 
room on the night of December 20, 1970, completely independent 
of other factors. 
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Although defendant noted a general exception to the find- 
ings made by the court after each voir dire hearing, no ex- 
ception or assignment of error is addressed to any specific 
factual finding or legal conclusion. 

On February 9, 1971, defendant had not been arrested or 
charged with any criminal offense. The photographs were 
shown Mrs. Styles in the course of Sgt. Burke's investigation. 

We conclude that defendant's objections to the testimony 
of Mrs. Styles and of Sgt. Burke were properly overruled and 
that assignments of error relating thereto have no merit. 

Defendant excepted to and assigns as error the overruling 
of his objections to questions asked him on cross-examination as 
to whether he had been convicted of specific unrelated criminal 
offenses. In response, defendant testified he had been convicted 
of house breaking on August 27, 1967, and of mail fraud on an 
unspecified date. 

[3] For purposes of impeachment, a witness, including the 
defendant in a criminal case, is subject to cross-examination as 
to his convictions for crime. In& v. Transfer Corp,, 271 N.C. 
276, 279-80, 156 S.E. 2d 265, 268-69 (1967), and cases there 
cited; State v. Williams, 279 N.C. 663, 669, 185 S.E. 2d 174, 178 
(1971). 

[4] Defendant contends the foregoing rule should not apply 
to the cross-examination of a defendant with reference to 
whether he had been found guilty of conduct committed by 
him while a juvenile which, if committed by an adult, would 
have constituted a conviction of crime. The question directly 
presented on this appeal is not whether an adult witness may 
be cross-examined with reference to convictions or adjudications 
of guilt of criminal conduct committed years before when he 
was a juvenile. Here the fifteen-year-old defendant was on trial 
for first degree burglary allegedly committed by him when he 
was fourteen. By electing to testify, defendant put in issue 
his credibility as a witness. The question is whether i t  was per- 
missible to cross-examine a juvenile with reference to his prior 
convictions or adjudications of guilt of prior conduct which, if 
committed by an adult, would be accurately denominated crim- 
inal offenses. 

As a basis for his contention that the general rule should 
not apply, defendant quotes Sections 24 and 29 (6), Article 2, 
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Chapter 110 of the General Statutes, as these sections appear 
in Volume 3A (Replacement 1966). However, except for G.S. 
110-25.1 and G.S. 110-39, Article 2 of Chapter 110 was re- 
written by Section 1 of Chapter 911 of the Session Laws of 
1969. The provisions formerly codified as Sections 24 and 
29 (6) no longer appear in Article 2 of Chapter 110. As set 
forth below, the system of "Juvenile Courts" formerly provided 
by Article 2 of Chapter 110 has been superseded. 

Article 23, Chapter 7A, as now codified in  Volume 1B 
(Replacement 1969) of the General Statutes of North Carolina, 
was rewritten by Section 2 of Chapter 911 of the Session Laws 
of 1969. Article 23 is captioned, "Jurisdiction and Procedure 
Applicable to Children." It vests exclusive, original jurisdiction 
over any case involving a child in the district court judge and 
provides in detail for procedures in the district court in cases 
involving children. 

Defendant calls attention to this provision of G.S. 78-277: 
"The purpose of this article is to provide procedures and re- 
sources for children under the age of sixteen years which are 
different in purpose and philosophy from the procedures ap- 
plicable to criminal cases involving adults.'' Although not 
referred to by defendant, we take notice that G.S. 78-287, 
which provides for maintaining "a complete record of all juve- 
nile cases,'' contains this sentence: "An adjudication that a child 
is delinquent or undisciplined shall not . . . be considered as 
conviction of any criminal offense." 

In  State v. Alexander, 279 N.C. 527, 184 S.E. 2d 274 
(1971), the defendant, then twenty-one, testified a t  his trial 
for armed robbery. When cross-examined with reference to a 
prior conviction, he answered: "When I was a juvenile, in 1965, 
I was convicted of store breaking and larceny." Justice Huskins, 
for the Court, said: "Upon a charge of store breaking and lar- 
ceny-a felony the punishment for which could be ten years- 
this defendant, even if only fifteen years old a t  the time, could 
have been processed as a juvenile or tried and convicted in the 
superior court. State v. Burnett, 179 N.C. 735, 102 S.E. 711 
(1920) ; State v. Rogers, 275 N.C. 411, 168 S.E. 2d 345 (1969). 
He said he had been convicted. His answer was competent for 
impeachment purposes." State v. Alexander, supra a t  535, 184 
S.E. 2d a t  280. Justice Huskins also said: "When a defendant 
in a criminal case takes the stand, he may be impeached by 
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cross-examination with respect to previous convictions of crime, 
but his answers are conclusive and the record of prior convic- 
tions cannot be introduced to contradict him. State v. Sheffield, 
251 N.C. 309, 111 S.E. 2d 195 (1959) ; State v. King, 224 N.C. 
329, 30 S.E. 2d 230 (1944). In a criminal case, this rule applies 
to  every defendant who takes the stand, regardless of his age 
at the time of his previms conviction." (Our italics.) State v. 
Alexander, supra a t  535, 184 S.E. 2d a t  280. Although not 
necessary to decision in the Alexander case, the italicized state- 
ment is apposite to the case under consideration. 

In the present case, the State's evidence tends to show that 
defendant committed the crime of first degree burglary as 
charged and also the crime of rape. Assuming i t  would be tech- 
nically accurate to refer to violations of the criminal law com- 
mitted by a person under fourteen years of age as adjudications 
rather than as convictions, the gist of defendant's testimony 
was that on prior occasions he had been found guilty of conduct 
which, if committed by an adult, would be criminal. Whether 
labeled adjudication or conviction would seem to make no dif- 
ference in respect of its effect, if any, upon defendant's credi- 
bility as a witness. Under the circumstances of this case, we 
perceive no error in the admission of the testimony of defendant 
relating to previous violations of the criminal law for considera- 
tion by the jury solely as bearing upon his credibility as a 
witness. 

Decisions from other jurisdictions cited by defendant have 
been considered. They are based wholly or in substantial part 
on the statute law of the jurisdictions involved. Suffice to say, 
they do not control decision herein. 

We note that the present decision is in accord with de- 
cisions of the North Carolina Court of Appeals. See State v. 
Brown, 1 N.C. App. 145, 160 S.E. 2d 508 (1968) ; State v. 
Jeffries, 3 N.C. App. 218, 164 S.E. 2d 398 (1968). 

Defendant's other assignments of error are formal and 
require no discussion. 

Defendant having failed to show prejudicial error, the 
verdict and judgment will not be disturbed. 

No error. 
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. RONALD DOUGLAS JENERETT 

No. 32 

(Filed 12  April 1972) 

1. Criminal Law § 106- nonsuit-necessity for corroboration of con- 
fession 

A felony conviction may not be based upon or sustained by a 
naked extrajudicial confession of guilt uncorroborated by any other 
evidence. 

2. Homicide 8 21- murder during robbery - evidence aliunde confession - 
sufficiency 

In this prosecution for first degree murder, there was ample 
evidence aliuncle defendant's confession to sustain a finding by the 
jury that  defendant shot and killed deceased while robbing him, 
notwithstanding defendant introduced evidence which tended to con- 
tradict the testimony for the State, where the State presented evidence 
tending to show that  the owner of a grocery store was shot to death 
in his store, that  while 100 to 150 feet from the store defendant asked 
another person who ran the store and if anyone was in the store 
with the owner, that  a t  that  time defendant had a .32 caliber pistol, 
that  a witness saw defendant go into the store when the owner was in 
the store alone, heard a noise like a pistol shot, and saw defendant run 
out of the store, that the owner was found lying on the floor of the 
store and thereafter died as  the result of a gunshot wound in the 
chest, that  when an officer arrived a t  the scene, the cash register 
was empty except for nickels and pennies, that  shortly after the shoot- 
ing defendant was seen with considerable money in his possession, 
and that  defendant later told a friend that he killed "the dude" and 
hid the money in the woods. 

3. Homicide § 4- felony-murder rule - premeditation and deliberation 
When a murder is committed in the perpetration or attempt to 

perpetrate any robbery, burglary or other felony, G.S. 14-17 declares 
i t  murder in the first degree; in those instances the law presumes 
premeditation and deliberation and the State is not put to further 
proof of either. 

4. Criminal Law 99 99, 170; Homicide 8 15- homicide during robbery - 
ownership of stolen property - questions by court 

In a prosecution for a homicide committed in the perpetration of 
a robbery, defendant was not prejudiced by the trial court's inquiry 
as  to the ownership of the store where the crime occurred and the 
merchandise therein, proof of such ownership not being essential to 
establish the robbery. 

5. Criminal Law 8 34; Homicide 5 15- confession - intent to commit 
other crimes - competency 

In a prosecution for a homicide committed in the perpetration of 
a robbery, a portion of defendant's confession which related to his 
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intent to commit other robberies prior to the commission of the crime 
for which he is charged, held competent to show defendant's intent to 
commit a robbery, to establish the chain of circumstances leading up 
to the matter on trial, and to properly develop the evidence in the 
case a t  bar. 

6. Criminal Law § 169- objection - similar testimony admitted without 
objection 

The benefit of an objection is lost where the same evidence had 
twice been admitted without objection. 

7. Criminal Law fj 51- caliber of bullet - expert testimony - absence of 
finding by court 

The trial court did not err  in allowing a police officer to give an 
opinion as to the caliber of the bullet removed from the body of the 
deceased where there was ample evidence to support a finding that 
the officer was an expert in ballistics, notwithstanding the court did 
not specifically find that  the officer was an expert, since i t  will be 
presumed from the admission of the testinlony that the court found 
the officer to be an expert. 

8. Criminal Law fj 166- abandonment of assignments of error 
Assignments of error not discussed in the brief are deemed aban- 

doned. Supreme Court Rule 28. 

BELATED appeal (permitted by our writ of certiorari) by 
defendant from Lupton, J., a t  the 14 June 1971 Session of 
FORSYTH Superior Court. 

Criminal prosecution upon a bill of indictment, proper in 
form, charging defendant with the first degree murder of 
Charles Bradley Samuel. The jury returned a verdict of guilty 
as charged with recommendation of life imprisonment. From 
judgment in accordance therewith, defendant appealed. 

On 4 December 1971 a t  approximately 1:30 p.m., Charles 
Bradley Samuel, owner of a small grocery store on Jackson 
Street in Winston-Salem, North Carolina, was shot to death in 
his store. 

The evidence for the State tends to show: On the morning 
of 4 December 1971, defendant left home with his brother Eli 
Jenerett. Defendant had a .32 caliber pistol in his possession. 
He went to the home of Julius Thompkins where he got a .25 
automatic pistol. Defendant and Eli then went to Minor's 
Market to hold it up, but there was a customer in the store 
who knew Eli so they left. They then went to another store on 
18th Street and Claremont Street. The lady who ran that store 
looked so pitiful they decided not to rob her. 
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Defendant then went to the home of Doretha Gandy, at 
which time defendant had two pistols in his possession. Shortly 
after 11 a.m. defendant and Carl Watson left the Gandy home 
to go get a beer. After buying the beer and eating lunch, they 
walked east on 24th Street to Jackson Street, about 100 to 150 
feet from Samuel's store. There defendant saw Chalmers Gray 
Bohannon, Jr., and some other boys pIaying cards. This was 
about 1:15 p.m. Defendant asked if the Samuel store was open, 
who ran it, and if the owner was alone. While talking to these 
boys, defendant pulled out his .32 caliber pistol and threatened 
to shoot one of them. These boys left, and defendant watched 
the store until some men who were in there came out. He then 
entered. 

About 1 :30 that afternoon Preston Webb, who lived across 
the street from Samuel's store, saw a man whom he identified 
as the defendant hurriedly walk up the street and enter Sam- 
uel's store. At that time no one was in the store except defend- 
ant and Samuel. Three or four minutes later Webb heard a 
sound like a "little 22" being fired, and saw the defendant 
come out the front door. At  the same time, Linda Attucks was 
about to enter the store. She collided with defendant who was 
leaving. Linda and defendant stood there for about a minute 
before defendant ran around the corner of the building. Linda 
then entered the store, saw the body of Samuel on the floor 
and screamed. Webb came across the street, saw Samuel's body, 
and told Linda to call the police and an ambulance, which she 
did. Samuel died shortly thereafter as a result of a .32 caliber 
bullet wound in the chest. 

About 2 p.m. on the same day, Elizabeth Crosby saw the 
defendant in a downtown store. She asked defendant if he had 
heard that Samuel had been killed, and he joked with her about 
it. She saw that defendant's wallet contained a large sum of 
money. A few weeks later the defendant was talking with a 
friend, Johnny George Johnson, Jr., about the Samuel incident. 
Johnson asked defendant what he had done with the money, 
and defendant replied that he had killed "the dude" and hid 
the money, $1,000, in the woods. 

On 28 January 1971 a warrant was issued charging de- 
fendant with the murder of Samuel. At the time of his arrest on 
28 January 1971 defendant was orally advised of his rights. 
He refused to sign a rights waiver and asked for an attorney. 
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R. Lewis Ray, an attorney with the Forsyth County Legal Aid 
Society, was designated to represent defendant. 

On 16 February 1971 defendant asked to talk with 6. S. 
Pinkston and E. I. Weatherman, the arresting officers. Before 
talking to defendant, the officers called defendant's attorney 
who stated it would be all right for them to question the defend- 
ant, that he did not wish to be present, but asked them to call 
him before they talked to defendant. On 17 February I971 de- 
fendant was brought into the detective office and was again 
advised of his rights by Officer Pinkston. Officer Weatherman 
called defendant's attorney, and the attorney again stated i t  
would be all right for them to talk to defendant, and that he did 
not desire to be present but would talk to defendant on the tele- 
phone. Defendant then spoke briefly to his attorney on the 
telephone. The officers again fully advised defendant of his 
rights as required under Mimnda ,  v. Arixolza, 384 U.S. 436, 16 
L.Ed. 2d 694, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966), following which defendant 
signed this statement : 

"I have read this statement of my rights and I under- 
stand what my rights are. I am willing to make a statement 
and answer questions. I do not want a lawyer a t  this time. 
I understand and know what I am doing. No promises or 
threats have been made to me and no pressure or coercion 
of any kind has been used against me by anyone. In fact, 
I have just talked by phone to my lawyer, Lewis Ray." 
Signed "Ronald Jenerett." 

After signing this statement, defendant gave the officers 
a detailed account as to what occurred on the date in question, 
stating in summary that he went into the store after some 
other people had left and told Samuel he wanted some meat, 
which he knew Samuel did not have ; that he and Samuel walked 
back toward the meat counter, and Samuel asked him what else 
he wanted; that he pulled his .32 pistol from his pocket and 
told him, "the money"; that he went to the cash register, 
opened it, and took all the money except the pennies and 
nickels; that he then told Samuel to give him his pocketbook; 
that Samuel. did not have any money in his pocketbook but 
showed i t  to him, and Samuel did give him the money from 
his pocket. Samuel then grabbed him and wrestled with him, 
and he shot Samuel and ran from the store. 
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Officer Pinkston stated that in his opinion a t  the time 
defendant signed the waiver and made this statement defendant 
was not under the influence of any drugs, narcotics, or any 
alcoholic beverages. 

Defendant offered evidence tending to show that the con- 
fession he gave was not a true confession; that when he made 
this statement he was under the influence of LSD, which he 
had concealed in his boots and had taken while in jail; that the 
only reason he made the confession was to get out on bond 
and to see a doctor about "bad trips"; and that he made up 
the story about the robbery-shooting of Samuel after reading 
the police report of the incident. 

Linda Attucks testified that the person she ran into at 
the front door of Samuel's store was definitely not the defend- 
ant. Larry Watkins testified that about 1 :30 p.m. on the day of 
the incident he was with the defendant buying marijuana from 
defendant for $25. 

Defendant admitted that he was near the Samuel store on 
the date in question, but denied that he either entered the 
store on that date or robbed or shot the deceased. 

Attorney General Robert Morgan, Associate Attorney Wil- 
liam Lewis Sauls, and Deputy Attorney General James F. Bul- 
lock for the State. 

R. Lewis Ray, of the Legal Aid Society of Forsyth County, 
f o r  defendant appellant. 

MOORE, Justice. 

[I] Defendant first assigns as error the denial of defendant's 
motions for judgment of nonsuit made a t  the conclusion of the 
State's evidence and a t  the conclusion of all the evidence. De- 
fendant contends that a mere confession is not sufficient to 
warrant a conviction, and that i t  is  incumbent on the State to 
show independent of his confession that a robbery or attempted 
robbery was actually committed, and that Samuel was killed in 
the perpetration of such robbery or attempted robbery in order 
to convict him of first degree murder. Defendant relies on 
Opper v. United States, 348 U.S. 84, 99 L.Ed. 101, 75 S.Ct. 
158 (1954), and Smi th  v. United States, 348 U.S. 147, 99 
L.Ed. 192, 75 S.Ct. 194 (1954), which hold that a felony con- 
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viction may not be based upon or sustained by a naked extra- 
judicial confession of guilt uncorroborated by any other evi- 
dence. This has long been the law in North Carolina. 

As stated by Justice Rodman in State v. Whittemore, 255 
N.C. 583, 589, 122 S.E. 2d 396, 400-01 (1961), quoting from 
State v. Cope, 240 N.C. 244, 81 S.E. 2d 773 (1954) : 

66 ' . . . (T)he overwhelming authority in this country 
is to the effect that a naked extrajudicial confession of 
guilt by one accused of crime, unaccompanied by any other 
evidence, is not sufficient to warrant or sustain a con- 
viction. . . . 9 9 ,  

Justice Rodman, continuing, said : 

"Evidence to corroborate the confession need not be 
direct. It may be circumstantial. State v. Thomas, 241 N.C. 
337, 85 S.E. 2d 300. . . . 'Full, direct, and positive evidence, 
however, of the c o r p s  delicti is not indispensable. A con- 
fession will be sufficient if there be such extrinsic cor- 
roborative circumstances, as will, when taken, in connection 
with the confession, establish the prisoner's guilt in the 
minds of the jury beyond a reasonable doubt.' [Masse v. 
United States, 210 F. 2d 418 (5th Cir. 1954), cert. denied 
347 U.S. 962, 98 L.Ed. 1105, 74 S.Ct. 711 (1954)l." 

[2] Therefore, the question to be decided in the present case 
is whether there i s  evidence of sufficient probative value, 
aliunde the confession, to establish the fact that the crime as 
charged has been committed by the defendant. 

The evidence for the State tends to show the following 
facts: Defendant taliied to Chalmers Gray Bohannon a t  the 
corner of 24th Street and Jackson Street, approximately 100 to 
150 feet from Samuel's Grocery Store, and asked Bohannon who 
ran the store and if anyone was in the store with the owner. 
At that time defendant had a .32 caliber pistol. Defendant was 
seen by Preston Webb going into the grocery store a t  a time 
no one except Samuel was there; soon afterward, Webb 
heard a noise like a pistol shot and defendant ran out of the 
store. A lady met defendant as he came out, and when she 
went in she saw Samuel lying on the floor. She screamed and 
witness Webb ran to the store and also saw Samuel on the 
floor. Samuel was taken to the hospital and died as the result 
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of a gunshot wound in the chest. The testimony further shows 
that when the officer arrived a t  the scene, the cash register was 
empty except for nickels and pennies and that four crumpled 
checks were found near the door. Shortly after the shooting 
defendant was seen with considerable money in his possession, 
and later in a conversation with a friend of his, Johnny George 
Johnson, defendant stated that he killed "the dude" and hid 
the money in the woods. 

In  considering the motions for compulsory nonsuit in this 
case, we are not concerned with the weight of the testimony 
or with the truth or falsity, but only with the sufficiency to 
carry the case to the jury and to sustain the indictment. State 
v. Primes, 275 N.C. 61, 165 S.E. 2d 225 (1969). Considering the 
evidence in  the light most favorable to the State, as we must, 
we conclude that there was ample evidence, aliunde the de- 
fendant's confession, to sustain a finding by the jury that 
defendant shot and killed Samuel while robbing him. 

131 When a murder is committed in the perpetration or attempt 
to perpetrate any robbery, burglary or other felony, G.S. 14-17 
declares i t  murder in the first degree. In  those instances the 
law presumes premeditation and deliberation, and the State is 
not put to further proof of either. State v. Fox, 277 N.C. 1, 
175 S.E. 2d 561 (1970). 

Although defendant introduced evidence which tended to 
contradict the testimony for the State, the jurors chose to 
bdieve the evidence presented by the State. They alone are the 
triers of fact. State v. Sdterfield, 207 N.C. 118, 176 S.E. 466 
(1934). The State's evidence of the corpus delicti, in addition 
to defendant's confession of guilt, notwithstanding defendant's 
evidence in  conflict, is sufficient to carry this case to the 
jury and to support the verdict of guilty as rendered by the 
jury. State v. Stinson, 263 N.C. 283, 139 S.E. 2d 558 (1965). 
The motions for judgment as of nonsuit were properly over- 
ruled. 

[4] Defendant next contends that the court erred by asking 
Mrs. Samuel the following questions : 

"Q. Just one minute. Who did you say owned the store? 
Or did you say? Were you asked that question? 

"A. No, I wasn't asked that question. 
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"Q. Well, excuse me. Did your husband have a middle 
name or second name? 

"A. Yes. 

"Q. What was his full name? 

"A. Charlie Bradley Samuel." 

At this time the court asked the solicitor to approach the bench, 
and following a conference a t  the bench the solicitor asked the 
following questions : 

"Q. Mrs. Samuel, who owned this store? 

"A. It was in my husband's name, Charles. Charlie 
Bradley Samuel owned the store. 

"Q. It was in his name? 

"A. Yes. 

"Q. Did he own the building? 

"A. Yes. 

"Q. And did he also own the merchandise in the build- 
ing? 

"A. Yes." 

Defendant contends that the ownership of the property was a 
"crucial and germane element of the State's case," and that by 
inquiring as to the ownership the trial judge was attempting to 
"plug up the loopholes." Defendant is charged with a felony- 
murder, and proof of the ownership of the store or merchandise 
therein is not essential to the robbery charge. State v. Rogers, 
273 N.C. 208, 159 S.E. 2d 525 (1968). Defendant does not point 
out how these questions prejudiced his case, and unless prej- 
udicial effect on the result of the trial is shown, the error, if 
any, will be considered harmless. State v. Holden, 280 N.C. . 
426, 185 S.E. 2d 889 (1972) ; State v. Perry, 231 N.C. 467, 57 
S.E. 2d 774 (1950) ; 2 Strong, N. C. Iudex 2d, Criminal Law 
5 99, p. 634. I t  must appear with ordinary certainty that the 
rights of the prisoner have in some way been prejudiced by 
the conduct of the court before such conduct can be treated 
as error. State v. Holdefi, supra. No such showing appears in 
this case. This assignment is without merit. 
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151 Defendant next contends that the court erred in allowing 
a police officer to read into evidence that portion of the confes- 
sion which related to defendant's intent to commit other crimes 
prior to the commission of the crime for which he is charged, 
defendant contending that the evidence of one offense is in- 
admissible to prove another and independent crime-wholly dis- 
connected and in no way related to each other-citing State v. 
Choate, 228 N.C. 491, 46 S.E. 2d 476 (1948). As a general 
statement this is true, but as stated by Justice Lake in State v. 
Atkinson, 275 N.C. 288, 312-13, 167 S.E. 2d 241, 256 (1969) : 

(6 . . . While i t  is well established that evidence of 
other crimes, having no bearing upon the crime for which 
the defendant is on trial, may not be introduced prior to 
his taking the stand as a witness in his own behalf, i t  is 
equally well settled that all facts, relevant to the proof of 
the defendant's having committed the offense with which 
he is charged, may be shown by evidence, otherwise eom- 
petent, even though that evidence necessarily indicates the 
commission by him of another criminal offense. State v. 
Christopher, 258 N.C. 249, 128 S.E. 2d 669; State v. 
McClain, 240 N.C. 171, 81 S.E. 2d 364; State v. Harris, 
223 N.C. 697, 28 S.E. 2d 232; Stansbury, North Carolina 
Evidence, 2d Ed., § 91. Thus, such evidence of other 
offenses is competent to show. . . the qao arzimo, intent, 
design, guilty knowledge, or scienter, or to make out the 
res gestae, or to exhibit a chain of circumstances in 
respect of the matter on trial, when such crimes are so 
connected with the offense charged as to throw light upon 
one or more of these questions. State v. Christopher, supra; 
State v. Harris, supra; Stansbury, North Carolina Evidence, 
2d Ed., $ 5  91 and 92." 

This portion of defendant's statement was competent to 
show defendant's intent to commit a robbery and as a part of 
the chain of circumstances leading up to the matter on trial. 
It was also competent to properly develop the evidence in the 
case a t  bar. State v. Sanders, 276 N.C. 598, 174 S.E, 2d 487 
(1970). This assignment is overruled. 

161 Defendant next contends that the court erred in allowing 
Officer Weatherman, over the objection of defendant, to give 
an  opinion as to the caliber of the bullet taken from the body 
of the deceased. The bullet in question had been identified by 
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Dr. Ernest Austin as being the bullet removed from the body 
of the deceased and was introduced into evidence without ob- 
jection. Officer Weatherman was first asked to identify the 
bullet. He replied: "It is a .32 missile from a .32 cartridge. 
This particular item was turned over to me by Dr. Austin." 
No objection was made a t  this time or shortly thereafter when 
he testified: "I have been a police officer for nearly thirty-one 
years. I have had training in firearms. We have had several 
days over the years of training. I have investigated other cases 
in which bullets were involved and used numbers of times. I 
believe I am familiar with the caliber of weapons. In my opinion 
this projectile in my hands is a .32 caliber bullet from a .32 
cartridge." The third time Officer Weatherman was asked to 
give his opinion as to the caliber of the bullet, defendant did 
object, and the objection was overruled. Since the same evidence 
had twice been admitted without objection, the benefit of this 
objection is lost. State v. Haimton, 280 N.C. 220, 185 S.E. 2d 
633 (1972) ; State v. Minton, 234 N.C. 716, 68 S.E. 2d 844 
(1952). 

[7] While the trial court did not expressly find the witness to 
be an expert in ballistics, the court did allow him to give his 
opinion as to the caliber of the bullet. By admitting the testi- 
mony as to the caliber of the bullet, the court presumably found 
him to be an expert. There was ample evidence to support such 
finding. Teague v. Power Co., 258 N.C. 759, 129 S.E. 2d 507 
(1963) ; State v. DeMai, 227 N.C. 657, 44 S.E. 2d 218 (1947). 
This assignment is overruled. 

[8] The other assignments of error are not discussed in de- 
fendant's brief and are deemed abandoned. Rule 28, Rules of 
Practice in the Supreme Court, 254 N.C. 783 (1961) ; State v. 
Kirby, 276 N.C. 123, 171 S.E. 2d 416 (1970). However, these 
assignments have been carefully considered and are found to be 
without merit. 

Defendant having failed to show prejudicial error, the 
verdict and judgment will be upheld. 

No error. 
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MAVIE M. MANGUM, TRUSTEE FOR MARY B. MATTHEWS v. DERRY 
THOMAS SURLES AND WIFE, MINNIE MARIE MATTHEWS 
SURLES 

No. 7 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Cancellation and Rescission of Instruments § 10; Fraud § 12- setting 
aside deed - fraud in the factum - sufficiency of evidence 

In an  action to set aside a deed, plaintiff's evidence was sufficient 
to make out a prirna facie case of fraud in the factum where (1) 
the 79-year-old plaintiff testified that  defendants, after asking her 
"to ride around with them," took her to an attorney's office, that the 
male defendant asked plaintiff to sign a $500.00 note for him, that she 
signed because defendants had always been good to her, that no one 
told her she was signing a deed and, so f a r  as  she knows, she never 
did, (2)  i t  was stipulated that  defendants paid no monetary considera- 
tion for the deed, and (3) testimony of plaintiff's witnesses tended 
to show plaintiff's impaired mental and physical condition and that  
defendants "claimed they were looking after her." 

2. Fraud § 9; Cancellation and Rescission of Instruments 8; Rules of 
Civil Procedure 9- fraud, duress or mistake - pleadings 

G.S. 1A-1, Rule 9 (b ) ,  codifies the requirement previously existing 
in our State practice that  the facts relied upon to establish fraud, 
duress or mistake must be alleged. 

3. Rules of Civil Procedure 15- evidence outside pleadings -failure to 
object - trial by implied consent - amendment of pleadings 

Where no objection is made to evidence on the ground that  i t  
is outside the issues raised by the pleadings, the issue raised by the 
evidence is  nevertheless before the trial court for determination, and 
the pleadings are regarded as amended to conform to the proof even 
though the defaulting pleader made no formal motion to amend. G.S. 
1A-1, Rule 15(b). 

4. Rules of Civil Procedure $i 15; Pleadings § 32- amendments to conform 
to evidence 

Amendments to conform the pleadings to the proof should always 
be freely allowed unless some material prejudice is demonstrated. 

5. Cancellation and Rescission of Instruments § 8; Pleadings 32; Rules 
of Civil Procedure 15- evidence outside pleadings - failure to object 
-trial by implied consent - right to amend pleadings 

Where, in an action to set aside a deed, plaintiff introduced evi- 
dence not supported by the pleadings that  defendants fraudulently 
induced her to sign the deed by representing the instrument to be 
a note, and defendants failed to object to such evidence on the 
ground that  i t  is  outside the issues raised by the pleadings, plaintiff 
is entitled as  a matter of law to have the issue of fraud submitted 
to the jury and to amend her complaint to conform her pleadings to 
the evidence. 
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6. Rnles of Civil Procedure § 15; Pleadings § 32- amendment of plead- 
ings - decision on appeal - retrial 

Where an  issue not raised by the pleadings has been tried by 
express or implied consent, answered by the jury or the judge, and 
the judgment rendered on the verdict has been affirmed on appeal, 
the failure to amend the pleadings to conform to the evidence does 
not affect the results of the trial which has been had upon the merits; 
when, however, a retrial is ordered for failure to submit the issues 
raised by the evidence but not by the pleadings, failure of the court 
to allow an amendment in order to conform the pleadings to the 
proof, or when a dismissal is erroneously entered upon the ground of 
a fatal variance between allegation and proof, the pleadings should 
be amended to  conform to the evidence during the interval between 
the decision on appeal and the retrial. 

ON cert iorari  to review the decision of the Court of Ap- 
peals, reported in  12 N.C. App. 547, 183 S.E. 2d 839, which 
affirmed the judgment of Hall, J., at the 29 March 1971 Session 
of HAIRNETT. 

Action to set aside a deed on the grounds of lack of mental 
capacity, fraud, and undue influence. 

The following facts were stipulated: Plaintiff, Mary B. 
Matthews, was 79 years old on 25 March 1969, when she ex- 
ecuted a deed conveying to defendants the land described in the 
complaint, a 165-acre tract of land in Cumberland County. The 
deed, which reserved to plaintiff a life estate in the land, has 
been duly recorded. Defendants are step-grandchildren of plain- 
t iff;  they paid no monetary consideration for the deed. On 3 
April 1970 plaintiff was declared incompetent by a jury verdict, 
and Mavie M. Mangum, her duly appointed trustee, prosecutes 
this action in her behalf. 

The complaint was filed 4 May 1970. In addition to the 
facts stipulated above, i t  alleges that a t  the time plaintiff 
executed the deed in suit she was in a generally poor state of 
health, possessed of little memory and no will power; that her 
mental faculties had become greatly impaired by physical weak- 
ness ; that she was wholly incapable of transacting any business 
or of making an intelligent and voluntary disposition of her 
property; that because defendants had previously advised plain- 
tiff in many matters a confidential relation existed between 
them and her; that defendants were able to obtain plaintiff's 
signature to the deed because of her lack of mental capacity and 
their knowledge of it, and doing so constituted "a fraudulent 
act." 
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The answer is a general denial of all aIlegations as to 
which the facts were not stipulated. 

The testimony of witnesses for pIaintiff tended to show: 
On 25 March 1969 she lacked sufficient mental eapacity to 
understand the nature and consequences of making a deed, to 
know what land she was conveying or to whom and how she 
was conveying it. 

Plaintiff's own testimony, to w h i c h  there was n o  objectiom, 
tended to show: She owns %ome property in Cumberland 
County known as the Cain place," but defendants are trying to 
take i t  away from her. If she executed a deed to defendants on 
25 March 1969 she doesn't remember it, for she did not do it. 
D. T. Surles is "no blood relationship" to her, and she had no 
intention of giving him any of her property because she "didn't 
have enough." Until October 1969, after a conversation with 
her tenant on the Cumberland County farm, plaintiff did not 
know that the property had been deeded away. The information 
upset her, and she did not understand i t  because she didn't 
want the property put in defendants' names. On 25 March 1969 
defendants asked her to ride aroukd with them, and they went 
to Sammy Stephenson's law office. There D. T. Surles asked her 
"to sign a note." Defendants were always good to her, but she 
didn't want anybody to say that she gave them her land. She 
was told she was signing a note in the amount of $500.00 for 
D. T. No one ever told her she was signing a deed. Stephenson 
was not her attorney; Robert Morgan was the only lawyer she 
had ever had, and she had not consulted him about this matter. 
(Mr. Morgan corroborated this testimony.) She had told defend- 
ants she would rent the property to them but never that she 
would give i t  to them. 

Defendants did not testify; neither did Mr. Stephenson nor 
the notary public whose certificate of acknowledgment appears 
on the deed. 

The testimony of the witnesses for defendants tended to 
show: D. T. Surles is the grandson of the second wife of plain- 
tiff's deceased husband. Plaintiff was his third wife. On 25 
March 1969 plaintiff was able to transact her own business. 
She knew what property she owned and understood the nature 
and effect of a deed. During the late summer of 1968 she told 
one neighbor she wanted D. T. to have the land, and in the 
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spring of 1969 she told another she had given i t  to defendants 
because they had been good to her and didn't have anything 
of their own. Sometime during 1969 she told a third neighbor 
that she wanted to keep her property, for she was depending 
upon i t ;  that she liked her property and money. This neighbor 
testified that up until about six months before the trial defend- 
ants were frequently a t  plaintiff's home; "they claimed they 
were looking after her." 

It was the consensus of all defendants' witnesses that 
approximately six or eight months prior to the trial plaintiff's 
general condition changed, and her mental faculties declined. 

At  the conclusion of the evidence defendants moved for a 
directed verdict on all issues raised by the pleadings. This 
motion was overruled. The plaintiff moved to be allowed to 
amend her complaint to conform to the evidence by adding the 
following allegation : 

"That the defendants, a t  the time Mary B. Matthews signed 
the deed alleged in the complaint, did with intent to deceive, 
practice a fraud upon the said Mary B. Matthews by inducing 
her to sign said instrument while representing the instrument 
to be a note and knowing the said Mary B. Matthews did not 
know what she was signing." The motion to amend was denied 
and plaintiff excepted. 

At the same time plaintiff tendered the following three 
issues: " (1) Did Mrs. Mary B. Matthews on March 25, 1969, 
have sufficient mental capacity to execute a deed? (2) Was the 
execution of the deed dated March 25, 1969, procured by undue 
influence on Mrs. Mary B. Matthews? (3) Was the execution 
of the deed dated March 25, 1969, procured by fraud on Mrs. 
Mary B. Matthews ?" 

Judge Hall declined to submit the second and third issues. 
He submitted the first, which the jury answered YES. From 
the judgment entered upon the verdict for defendants, plaintiff 
appealed to the Court of Appeals. 

The Court of Appeals, in an opinion by Judge Hedrick in 
which Chief Judge Mallard and Judge Campbell concurred, 
found no error in the trial below. The rationale was that the 
motion to amend the pleadings was addressed to the discretion 
of the trial court, no abuse of which appeared, and that plaintiff 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 95 

Mangum v. Surles 

was not prejudiced by the denial of her motion to amend or the 
refusal to submit the tendered issues because "there is no evi- 
dence in this record tending to show that the defendants pro- 
cured the execution of the deed by fraud or undue influence." 
We allowed certiorari. 

Bryan, Jones, Johnson, Hunter & Greene for plaintiff 
appellant. 

Samuel S. Stephenson and David K. Stewart for defendant 
appellees. 

SHARP, Justice. 

Plaintiff's assignments of error raise two questions for 
consideration: Did the trial judge err (1) in denying plaintiff's 
motion to amend her complaint to allege fraud in conformity 
with the evidence and (2) in refusing to submit the issue 
whether defendants had fraudulently obtained plaintiff's signa- 
ture to the deed in suit. 

[I] The threshold question is whether the Court of Appeals 
erred in holding that the record contained no evidence tending 
to show that defendants procured the execution of the deed by 
fraud. Obviously, if plaintiff produced no such evidence, the 
proposed amendment and issue were properly refused. However, 
we are a t  a loss to understand this ruling by the Court of 
Appeals or defendants' contention, stated in their brief, that 
plaintiff offered "not a scintilla of evidence" to show fraud on 
the part of the defendants. Plaintiff testified that defendants, 
after asking her "to ride around with them," took her to Mr. 
Stephenson's law office on 25 March 1969. There D. T. asked 
her to sign a $500.00 note for him. She signed because he and 
his wife had always been good to her; that no one ever told 
her she was signing a deed and, so far  as she knows, she never 
did. 

Plaintiff's testimony, the stipulation that defendants paid 
no monetary consideration for the deed, the evidence tending 
to  show plaintiff's impaired mental and physical condition and 
that defendants "claimed they were looking after her," were 
more than sufficient to make out a prima facie case of fraud 
in the factum. Mills v. Lynch, 259 N.C. 359, 130 S.E. 2d 541 
(1963) ; Fwrst v. Merritt, 190 N.C. 397, 130 S.E. 40 (1925). 
See Wall v. Ruffin, 261 N.C. 720, 136 S.E. 2d 116 (1964). If 
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her testimony was not true, its falsity was peculiarly within 
defendants' knowledge; yet neither they, nor any of the persons 
connected with the execution of the deed, took the stand to 
contradict plaintiff. See Maxwell v. Distq-ibuting Co., 204 N.C. 
309, 316, 168 S.E. 403, 406 (1933), and cases there cited. 

The two questions raised by this appeal are so interrelated 
they must be treated as one. 

121 In addition to her lack sf mental capacity, plaintiff alleged 
that the manner and circumstances by which defendants ob- 
tained her signature to the challenged deed "constituted a fraud- 
ulent act." She did not, as required by G.S. 1A-1, Rule 9(b) ,  
state "with particularity" the circumstances constituting the 
alleged fraud. Rule 9 (b) codifies the requirement previously 
existing in our State practice that the facts relied upon to 
establish fraud, duress or mistake must be alleged. 

Prior to 1 January 1970, the effective date of the Rules 
of Civil Procedure, absent allegations of fact which would con- 
stitute fraud if true, evidence of fraud-no matter how complete 
and convincing-could not be submitted to the jury. Proof with- 
out allegation was as ineffective as allegation without proof. 
Products Co.i.poration v. C h e s m t t ,  252 N.C. 269, 113 S.E. 2d 
587 (1960) ; Calloway v. Wyat t ,  246 N.C. 129, 97 S.E. 2d 881 
(1957) ; Colt v. Kimball, 190 N.C. 169, 129 S.E. 406 (1925) ; 1 
McIntosh, N. C. Practice and Procedure $ 990 (2d Ed. 1956). 
Under this rule, a case which had been tried upon its merits, 
and judgment entered upon the jury's verdict, could be dis- 
missed in the Supreme Court upon a demuwer  ore tenus to the 
complaint. Howxe v. Mecall,  249 N.C. 250, 106 S.E. 2d 236 
(1958). 

Under the former procedure, because of plaintiff's failure 
to allege fraud with particularity, Judge Hall's refusal to permit 
the amendment tendered a t  the close of the evidence and to 
submit the issue of fraud would have been unassailable. Now- 
ever, to eliminate the waste, delay, and the injustice which 
sometimes resulted from belated confrontations between in- 
sufficient allegations and plenary proof, Rule 15 (b) was enacted. 
Its first two sentences control this case: "When issues not 
raised by the pleadings are tried by the express or implied 
consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as 
if they had been raised in the pleadings. Such amendment of 
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the pleadings as may be necessary to cause them to conform to 
the evidence and to raise these issues may be made upon motion 
of any party a t  any time, either before or after judgment, but 
failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of 
these issues." 

Dean Dickson Phillips' comments on Rule 15 (b) , which are 
quoted in full in Roberts v. Memorial Park, ante, include the fol- 
lowing pertinent statements: "A party who fails to object to 
evidence is of course initially presumed to have given 'implied 
consent' by silence. He can avoid the effect only by satisfying 
the court that under the circumstances, his consent to having 
certain issues considered by the trier of fact should not be 
implied from his failure to object to particular evidence. This 
may be a most difficult position to sustain. Counsel cannot in 
prudence under this rule fail to object to any evidence which 
seems even remotely to be opening up issues not raised by the 
pleadings." Phillips, 1970 Supplement to 1 McIntosh, N. C. 
Practice & Procedure 5 970.80. 

Rule 15(b), except for one minuscule, immaterial phrase, 
is a verbatim copy of Federal Rule 15(b) ; so federal decisions 
interpreting this rule are apposite. Sutton v. Duke, 277 N.C. 
94, 176 S.E. 2d 161 (1971). Illustrative cases analogous to the 
one under consideration are discussed and cited below. 

In SEavitt u. Kauhi, 384 F. 2d 530 (9th Cir. 1967), a suit 
against the owners of the Barefoot Bar and two of its employees, 
plaintiff alleged that Kapana, one of the employees, maliciously 
threw him down a flight of steps. The plaintiff's evidence 
showed that Kapana left him in a drunken condition a t  the top 
of a flight of stairs and that he was injured when he fell down 
the stairway. The trial judge refused the plaintiff permission 
to amend in order to conform pleadings to proof and declined 
to submit the issue of negligence. On appeal, the court held 
that Rule P5(b) required the judge to allow the requested 
amendment and to instruct the jury that it could predicate a 
verdict for the plaintiff upon the negligence of Kapana, if they 
found "such to have been the fact." Accord, Bradford Audio 
Corporation v. Pious, 392 I?. 2d 67 (2d Cir. 1968) (official 
immunity not pleaded, but evidence of i t  considered) ; United 
States Fidelity & Guarantlg Co. v. United States, 389 F. 2d 
697 (10th Cir. 1968) ; Mazer v. Lipshwltx, 360 F. 2d 275 (3d 
Cir. 1966) (although release given by plaintiff to an alleged 



98 IN THE SUPREME COURT [28l 

Mangum v. Surles 

joint feasor not pled, evidence considered and case decided on 
merits) ; Zappia v. Baltimore & Ohio Railroad Company, 312 
F. 2d 62 (6th Cir. 1963) (although contributory negligence not 
pleaded, under the evidence, issue properly tried by court) ; 
Hasselbrink v. Speelman, 246 F. 2d 34 (6th Cir. 1957) (sudden 
emergency not pleaded but evidence thereof required judge to 
submit issue to jury.) 

In  Hester v. New Amsterdam Casualty Company, 287 
F. Supp. 957 (D.S.C. 1968), involving the issue of fraud, the 
court said : "Rule 15 (b) also applies to fraud when the issue as 
to its existence is tried by the implied consent of the parties. 
It is proper for the court to treat the issue of fraud as if i t  
had been raised in the pleadings." Id. a t  972. Accord, United 
States v. Cushman, 136 F. 2d 815 (9th Cir. 1943). 

In  J. C. Millett Co. v. Distillers Distributing Gorp., 258 
F. 2d 139 (9th Cir. 1958), after specific and uncontradicted evi- 
dence establishing a breach was introduced, the plaintiff moved 
to amend its complaint to conform to this proof. The trial 
judge's denial of the motion was reversed on appeal. The court 
emphasized that Rule 15(b) requiq-es that leave to amend be 
freely granted unless the objecting party satisfies the court 
that the amendment will prejudice him upon the merits. Accord, 
Cramer v. Hoffman, 390 F. 2d 19 (2d Cir. 1968) ; Lomartira v. 
American Automobile Insurance Co., 371 F. 2d 550 (2d Cir. 
1967) ; United States v. Stephen Brothers Line, 384 F. 2d 118 
(5th Cir. 1967) ; Securities and Exchange Commission v. Rapp, 
304 F. 2d 786 (2d Cir. 1962) ; Decker v. Korth, 219 F. 2d 732 
(10th Cir. 1955) ; Watson v. Cannon Shoe Co., 165 F. 2d 311 
(5th Cir. 1948) ; Bradford Audio Corporation v. Pious, supra. 

[3, 41 The foregoing decisions establish that where no objec- 
tion is made to evidence on the ground that i t  is outside the 
issues raised by the pleadings, the issue raised by the evidence 
is nevertheless before the trial court for determination. The 
pleadings are regarded as amended to conform to the proof 
even though the defaulting pleader made no formal motion to 
amend. Failure to make the amendment will not jeopardize a 
verdict or judgment based upon competent evidence. If an 
amendment to conform the pleadings to the proof should have 
been made in order to support the judgment, the Appellate 
Court will presume it to have been made. However, amendments 
should always be freely allowed unless some material prejudice 
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is demonstrated, for it is the essence of the Rules of Civil Pro- 
cedure that decisions be had on the merits and not avoided on 
the basis of mere technicalities. See 3 Moore's Federal Prac- 
tice $ 15.13 (1968). 

[S, 61 In this case plaintiff was entitled as a matter of law to 
have the issue of fraud submitted. It follows, therefore, that 
she was also entitled as a matter of law to amend her complaint 
to conform her pleadings to the evidence. Since there must be 
a new trial, orderly procedure, compliance with Rule 9 (b),  and 
good technique now require that the amendment actually be 
made. In the situation where an issue not raised by the plead- 
ings has been tried by express or implied consent, answered by 
the jury or the judge, and the judgment rendered on the verdict 
has been af f i rmed on appeal, the failure to amend should not, 
and does not, affect the results of the trial which has been had 
upon the merits. The litigation is ended. When, however, a 
retrial is ordered for failure to submit the issues raised by the 
evidence but not by the pleadings, failure of the court to allow 
an amendment in order to conform the pleadings to the proof, 
or when a dismissal or directed verdict is erroneously entered 
upon the ground of a fatal variance between allegation and proof, 
as pointed out by Justice Branch in Roberts v. Memorial Park, 
ante, practical considerations intervene. The judge who pre- 
sides a t  the retrial is entitled to know the theory and the state 
of the case confronting him without having to review the tran- 
script of the case on appeal. Where the rules require specificity 
or affirmative pleading the pleadings should conform to the 
evidence, and there can be little justification for a failure to 
conform them during the interval between the decision on 
appeal and the retrial. The case is entitled to this protection. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is reversed. The cause 
will be remanded to the Superior Court for a trial de novo 
upon amended pleadings. 

Reversed. 
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State v. Hudson 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. FLOYD LINDSEY HUDSON 

No. 15 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Kidnapping 8 1- definition of the crime 
Kidnapping is the unlawful taking and carrying away of a person 

by force and against his will; the distance the victim is carried is 
not material. G.S. 14-39; G.S. 4-1. 

2. Kidnapping 8 1- fraud- threats and intimidation 
In the kidnapping of a person the law considers the use of fraud 

as  synonymous with force, and threats and intimidation are equiva- 
lent to the actual use of force or violence. 

3. Kidnapping 9 1- fraud and intimidation - sufficiency of evidence 
The State's evidence was sufficient to permit the jury to find 

that  defendant was guilty of the crime of kidnapping by practicing 
both fraud and intimidation to overcome the will of the victim and 
secure control of her person, where i t  tended to show that defendant 
gained entry into the home of the retarded, 15-year-old victim by 
falsely telling her that  he wished to use the telephone, that once 
inside his acts and words were calculated to frighten and intimidate, 
that  defendant instructed the victim to  turn out the porch light, not 
to scream and to accompany him to his car, that  defendant led the 
victim out the door by the hand telling her he was taking her out 
for a fiveminute drive, and that  the victim went with defendant 
because she was afraid. 

4. Criminal Law 8 161- necessity for exceptions 
Any error asserted on appeal must be supported by an exception 

duly taken and shown in the record; exceptions which appear for the 
first time in the purported assignments of error present no question 
for appellate review. Supreme Court Rules 19 and 21. 

5. Criminal Law 8 161- assignments of error - requisites 
Each assignment of error must specifically state the alleged error 

so that  the question sought to be presented is  therein revealed. 

6. Criminal Law 5 163- assignment of error -failure to charge 
An assignment based on the court's failure to charge should set out 

the defendant's contention as  to what the court should have charged. 

7. Criminal Law 8 146- appellate rules -indigent appellants 
Appellate rules of practice are applicable to indigent defendants 

and their court-appointed counsel as they are to all others. 

8. Criminal Law 5 146- constitutional question - failure to raise in 
trial court 

Ordinarily, appellate courts will not pass upon a constitutional 
question unless i t  affirmatively appears that  such question was raised 
and passed upon in the trial court below. 
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9. Criminal Law 3 146- appellate rules - mandatory 
The rules of the Supreme Court are mandatory and will be en- 

forced. 

10. Criminal Law 3 161- appeal as  exception to judgment 
The appeal itself is considered an exception to the judgment and 

presents for review any error appearing on the face of the record 
proper. 

11. Criminal Law 3s 75, 169- erroneous admission of inculpatory state- 
ment - harmless error 

Although the admission in this kidnapping prosecution of defend- 
ant's inculpatory statement to a police officer was erroneous because 
there was neither evidence nor findings to  show that  defendant waived 
his right to counsel, either in writing as  provided by former G.S. 
74-45'7, or orally as provided by the Miranda decision, such error 
was harmless where (1) defendant's statement was not coerced or 
involuntary but was voluntarily made, (2) the statement would not be 
sufficient alone to convict defendant but is simply an admission of 
facts that, taken with others, tends to show guilt, and (3 )  defend- 
ant's guilt was shown beyond a reasonable doubt by competent, un- 
tainted, direct as  well as circumstantial evidence. 

12. Criminal Law 169- admission of incompetent evidence - harmless 
error 

The admission of evidence which is technically incompetent will 
be treated as harmless unless i t  is  made to appear that  defendant 
was prejudiced thereby and that  a different result likely would 
have ensued had the evidence been excluded. 

APPEAL by defendant from judgment of Collier, J., 15 
March 1971 Criminal Session, CABARRUS Superior Court. 

The bill of indictment, proper in form, charges defendant 
with kidnapping Clemmie Hacker on the night of 25 Septem- 
ber 1970. 

The testimony of Clemmie Hacker, a retarded fifteen-year- 
old girl, tends to show that on the night of 25 September 1970 
she was alone in the house she shared with her mother and 
sisters in Concord. The defendant appeared a t  the door at  ap- 
proximately 10 p.m. and asked to use the telephone. Clemmie 
admitted him, but instead of using the telephone he told her 
to turn out the porch light, not to scream, and to accompany him 
to his car. She went with him because she was afraid. He was 
holding her hand as they went from the house to the car. De- 
fendant then drove to his house trailer where he removed all 
Clemmie's clothing, struck her in the nose and face breaking a 
bone and knocking out four teeth, and performed degrading acts 



102 IN THE SUPREME COURT [281 

State v. Hudson 

with her genitalia. Ultimately he drove her to a point on the bank 
of the Rocky River where he forced a drink bottle into her 
vagina, knocked her unconscious and left her naked lying in a 
field near the Rocky River Bridge. 

The testimony of Clemmie Hacker was corroborated by 
George H. Smith, a police officer to whom she first related the 
incident. Officer Smith further testified that he informed 
defendant that the assault and kidnapping of a young white 
female person was under investigation. "I advised him fully 
of his constitutional rights. I advised him that he had a right 
to remain silent, that he did not have to answer any questions 
that we asked; that he had a right to have an attorney present 
while he was being questioned; if he could not afford one, one 
would be appointed for him. Further advised him that he had 
a right if he chose to talk to us to answer any questions he 
chose to answer, or any part of any question, or that he may 
remain silent on anything he wished to remain silent on. After 
we advised him of his rights he did choose to make a statement 
to us. We did not offer him any reward. Nor did we offer any 
influence. Nor did we threaten or employ any duress directly 
or indirectly to induce him to make a statement. He stated on 
this night he went to the home of Mrs. Hacker on Bell Avenue, 
knocked a t  the door and Ciemmie Hacker came to the door and 
admitted him. He stated that his purpose there was to use 
the telephone, that he went into the house but did not use the 
phone, and then after a while he took the girl for a ride in 
his car, and stated that they went to his trailer-house out on 
College Circle, and while there he removed the clothing from 
this girl, but then he didn't remember exactly what took place 
while there; and they left and drove out to Rocky River Bridge 
where he left the child under the bridge." 

Officer Smith further testified that defendant had the 
odor of alcohol about him when he was picked up around 3 a.m. 
on the night in question, but defendant was not under the 
influence of alcohol. The officer further stated that he found a 
pair of glasses in defendant's trailer home which Clemmie 
Hacker identified as belonging to her, and that he found a 
torn sanitary napkin belt with a part of the napkin attached 
in a chair in the living room of defendant's home. The officer 
stated that he went to the spot near Rocky River Bridge where 
Clemmie Hacker was found and there found a skirt which Miss 
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Hacker identified as belonging to her and a sweater which the 
defendant identified as belonging to him. 

Deputy Sheriff C. D. Eggers testified that he spotted 
Clemmie Hacker a t  approximately 1:30 a.m. on the night of 
25 September 1970 lying naked on the sand a t  the edge of the 
water beneath the Rocky River Bridge; that her left eye was 
swollen shut and she had cuts on the side of her face and was 
bleeding from the mouth; that he called an ambulance. 

The trial court on its own motion excused the jury and 
conducted a voir dire with respect to defendant's inculpatory 
statement. Officer Smith testified on voir dire for the State. 
Defendant did not testify and offered no evidence either on 
voir dire or before the jury. Following the officer's testimony on 
voir dire the court found as a fact that prior to making any 
statement defendant was fully warned of his constitutional 
rights as required by Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436; that 
defendant stated that he understood his rights and stated that 
he would talk to the officers; that his statement to  the officers 
was freely and voluntarily and understandingly made without 
threats or any promise of reward. Upon such finding the jury 
was recalled and, without objection, the officer repeated his 
testimony before the jury substantially as above set out. 

The jury convicted defendant of kidnapping as charged and 
defendant was sentenced to not less than twenty-five years nor 
more than life imprisonment. From the judgment pronounced 
defendant appealed to the Supreme Court assigning errors 
noted in the opinion. 

Clarence E. Horton, Jr. (Davis, Koontx & Hmton) Court 
Appointed Counsel for defendant appellant. 

Robert i d ~ g a n ,  Attorney General; Robert G. Webb, As- 
sistant Attorney General, for the State of North Carolina. 

HUSKINS, Justice. 

We first consider defendant's contention that the evidence 
is insufficient to carry the case to the jury on the charge of 
kidnapping. 

11, 21 G.S. 14-39 does not define kidnapping and therefore 
the common-law definition of that crime is the law of this State. 
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G.S. 4-1. The common-law definition of kidnapping is "the 
unlawful taking and carrying away of a person by force and 
against his will." State v. Lowry, 263 N.C. 536, 139 S.E. 2d 
870 (1964). The distance the victim is carried is not material. 
Any carrying away is sufficient. State v. Ingland, 278 N.C. 42, 
178 S.E. 2d 577 (1971). In  the kidnapping of a person the 
law considers the use of fraud as synonymous with force, State 
v. Gough, 257 N.C. 348, 126 S.E. 2d 118 (1962), State v. 
M u ~ p h y ,  280 N.C. 1, 184 S.E. 2d 845 (1971) ; and threats and 
intimidation are equivalent to the actual use of force or violence. 
State v. Bruce, 268 N.C. 174, 150 S.E. 2d 216 (1966). 

[3] Here, the State's evidence would permit the jury to find 
that defendant practiced both fraud and intimidation to over- 
come the will of his victim and secure control of her person. 
He gained entry to the home on the fraudulent representation 
that he wished to use the telephone. Once inside, his acts and 
words were calculated to frighten and intimidate. Me instructed 
his retarded, helpless victim to turn out the porch light, not to 
scream, and to accompany him to his car. He led her out the 
door by the hand telling her he was taking her out for a five- 
minute drive. She testified she went with him because she was 
afraid. This suffices to show that the journey was undertaken 
without the victim's consent and against her will. The evidence 
presents a jury question. This assignment is overruled. 

Defendant's remaining assignment of error is based on 
admission of Officer Smith's testimony in which the officer 
narrated defendant's inculpatory statements. Defendant con- 
tends his incriminating statement should not have been ad- 
mitted because the record is silent as to defendant's waiver of 
his right to counsel and even the findings of fact on voir dire 
are insufficient to show waiver of counsel. The State says, 
however, that defendant did not object to the admission of this 
evidence and is attempting to take exception thereto for the 
first time on appeal. 

[4-71 An examination of the record reveals that Officer Smith's 
testimony concerning the defendant's in-custody statement was 
received without objection or exception noted. This assignment 
is therefore ineffectual and presents no question for appellate 
review. Rules 19(3) and 21, Rules of Practice in the Supreme 
Court, 254 N.C. 783. "The Rules of Practice (19 and 21) of 
both this Court and the Court of Appeals require any error 
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asserted on appeal to be supported by an exception duly taken 
and shown in the record. Exceptions which appear for the first 
time in the purported assignments of error present no question 
for appellate review. State v. Greene, 278 N.C. 649, 180 S.E. 
2d 789. See State v. Merrick, 172 N.C. 870, 90 S.E. 257. Further- 
more, each assignment must specifically state the alleged error 
so that the question sought to be presented is therein reveajed. 
State v. Staten, 271 N.C. 600, 157 S.E. 2d 225. An assignment 
based on the court's failure to charge should set out the defend- 
ant's contention as to what the court should have charged. 
State v. W i l s m ,  263 N.C. 533, 139 S.E. 2d 736. Appellate rules 
of practice are applicable to indigent defendants and their 
court-appointed counsel as they are to all others. State v. Price, 
265 N.C. 703, 144 S.E. 2d 865." State v. Jacobs, 278 N.C. 693, 
180 S.E. 2d 832 (1971). 

[8] The question of defendant's constitutional right to counsel 
during in-custody interrogation was not raised in the court 
below. Ordinarily appellate courts will not pass upon a con- 
stitutional question unless i t  affirmatively appears that such 
question was raised and passed upon in the trial court. State v. 
Jones, 242 N.C. 563, 89 S.E. 2d 129 (1955) ; State v. Colsov,, 
274 N.C. 295, 163 S.E. 2d 376 (1968) ; State v. Cumber, 280 
N.C. 127, 185 S.E. 2d 141 (1971). This is in accord with de- 
cisions of the Supreme Court of the United States. E d e l m m  v. 
California, 344 U.S. 357, 97 L.Ed. 387, 73 S.Ct. 293 (1952). 

191 The rules of the Supreme Court are mandatory and will be 
enforced. State v. Kirby, 276 N.C. 123, 171 S.E. 2d 416 (1970). 

[lo] The appeal itself is considered an exception to the judg- 
ment and presents for review any error appearing on the face 
of the record proper. State v. Ayscue, 240 N.C. 196, 81 S.E. 
2d 403 (1954) ; State v. Elliott, 269 N.C. 683, 153 S.E. 2d 330 
(1967). Unless error appears on the face of the record proper, 
the judgment will be sustained. State v. Williams, 268 N.C. 
295, 150 S.E. 2d 447 (1966) ; State v. Jackson, 279 N.C. 503, 
183 S.E. 2d 550 (1971). An examination of the record proper 
reveals no error. State v. Tinsley, 279 N.C. 482, 183 S.E. 2d 
669 (1971). 

[I11 Consideration of the assignment on its merits, however, 
leads to the same result. Admission of defendant's inculpatory 
statement to Officer Smith was erroneous because there is 



106 IN THE SUPREME COURT C281 

State v. Hudson 

neither evidence nor findings to show that defendant waived 
his right to counsel, either in writing as provided by G.S. 
7A-457 on which State v. Lynch, 279 N.C. 1, 181 S.E. 2d 561 
(1971), is based, or orally as provided by Miranda, on which 
State v. Blackmow, 280 N.C. 42, 185 S.E. 2d 123 (1971), is 
based. Even so, the erroneous admission of the statement does 
not automatically require a new trial. Defendant's statement 
was not coerced as in Payne v. Arkansas, 356 U.S. 560, 2 L.Ed. 
2d 975, 78 S.Ct. 844 (1958). The statement was not involuntary, 
induced by threat or promise or "by the slightest emotions of 
hope or fear" as in State. v. Roberts, 12 N.C. 259 (1827). 
There is no suggestion that the police applied the stick or 
waved a carrot to produce the statement. I t  was voluntarily 
made. The court so found on voir dire, and all the evidence 
supports the finding. 

The broad sweep of cases dealing with a defendant's in- 
culpatory statements project two predominant concerns : ( I )  
that the circumstances surrounding defendant's interrogation 
do not render his statement inherently unreliable because in- 
voluntary; and (2) that over-zealous officers be deterred from 
the use of unconstitutional and illegal practices in obtaining a 
statement from the accused. 3 Wigmore, Evidence $ 821 ff. 
(Chadbourn rev. 1970). Neither of these concerns would be 
served by remanding this case since, measured by all traditional 
standards, defendant's statement was entirely voluntary and 
there is absolutely no evidence of overreaching on the part of 
the officers. Thus there is no factual basis for an automatic new 
trial. 

1121 We have consistently held that the admission of evidence 
which is technically incompetent will be treated as harmless 
unless i t  is made to appear that defendant was prejudiced 
thereby and that a different result likely would have ensued 
had the evidence been excluded. State v. Williams, 275 N.C. 77, 
165 S.E. 2d 481 (1969) ; State v. Barrow, 276 N.C. 381, 172 
S.E. 2d 512 (1970) ; State v. Barbour, 278 N.C. 449, 180 S.E. 
2d 115 (1971) ; State v. Bailey, 280 N.C. 264, 185 S.E. 2d 683 
(1972). Moreover, every violation of a constitutional right is 
not prejudicial. "Some constitutional errors are deemed harm- 
less in the setting of a particular case, not requiring the auto- 
matic reversal of a conviction, where the appellate court can 
declare a belief that i t  was harmIess beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . Unless there is a reasonable possibility that the evidence 
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complained of might have contributed to the conviction, its 
admission is harmless. F'uhy v. Comecticut, 375 U.S. 85, 11 
L.Ed. 2d 171, 84 S.Ct. 229 (1963)." State v. Taylor, 280 N.C. 
273, 185 S.E. 2d 677 (1972). "Our judgment must be based on 
our own reading of the record and on what seems to us to have 
been the probable impact of the [defendant's statement] on 
the minds of an average jury." Harrington v. California, 395 
U.S. 250, 23 L.Ed. 2d 284, 89 S.Ct. 1726 (1969). 

Here, the statement made by this defendant placed him a t  
the scene of the crime and in the company of the victim, but 
i t  did not prove his guilt. Taken alone, it would not have suf- 
ficed to convict defendant of the crime of kidnapping. I t  is 
simply an admission of facts that, taken with others, tends 
to show guilt. 22A C.J.S., Criminal Law $ 730 and following; 
Wigmore, supra, $ 821. 

Just as in Harrington, supra, the case against Hudson 
"was not woven from circumstantial evidence." Defendant's 
guilt is shown beyond a reasonable doubt by competent, un- 
tainted, direct as well as circumstantial evidence, including: 
(1) the victim's testimony, (2) the officer's testimony in cor- 
roboration, (3) the victim's glasses which were found in de- 
fendant's trailer home, (4) a torn sanitary belt and napkin 
found in a chair in defendant's trailer home, and (5) the vic- 
tim's skirt and defendant's sweater found a t  the spot near the 
Rocky River Bridge where Clemmie Hacker, naked and beaten, 
was first sighted by Deputy Sheriff Eggers. In light of such 
overwhelming evidence of guilt, there is no reason to believe that 
yet another trial would produce a different result. "It is so 
overwhelming that unless we say that no violation of [Miranda] 
can constitute harmless error, we must leave this . . . convic- 
tion undisturbed." Harrhgton v. California, supra. Admission 
of the statement was therefore harmless. State v. Brinson, 277 
N.C. 286, 177 S.E. 2d 398 (1970) ; State v. Smith, 278 N.C. 
476, 180 S.E. 2d 7 (1971) ; State v. Fletcher and Arnold, 279 
N.C. 85, 181 S.E. 2d 405 (1971). 

For the reasons stated the verdict and judgment will not 
be disturbed. 

No error. 
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA ON RELATION OF THE BANKING 
COMMISSION, AND BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY 
v. LEXINGTON STATE BANK 

No. 75 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Banks and Banking § 1- establishment of branch bank-requisite 
findings 

As a condition precedent to the establishment of a branch bank, 
the Comniissioner of Banks must find that such branch will meet 
the needs of the community and that the probable volume of business 
will be sufficient to assure and maintain the solvency of such branch. 
G.S. 53-62. 

2. Banks and Banking § 1- applications for two branches - consolidation 
for hearing - separate findings and conclnsions 

While two applications by a bank to establish two branches in 
the same city may be consolidated for hearing, each application must 
be treated as a separate application and be approved or denied on 
the basis of the evidence relating thereto, and separate findings and 
conclusions must be made as to each application. 

3. Banks and Banking 8 1- establishment of branch bank - solvency re- 
quirements 

The solvency provisions of G.S. 53-62 for establishment of a 
branch bank are not met by the fact that the parent bank and all 
i ts  branches together meet the solvency test, i t  being required that  
each new branch not endanger the solvency of the parent bank or 
the solvency of another bank in the field. 

APPEAL by defendant from the decision of the Court of 
Appeals filed August 18, 1971, affirming judgment in  favor 
of the plaintiff petitioner entered in the Superior Court of 
WAKE County by Clark, J., a t  its September 14, 1970 Civil Ses- 
sion. A dissent was filed to the decision of the Court of Appeals. 
The respondent appealed as  a matter of right under G.S. 
7A-30 (2). This case was docketed and argued a t  the Fall Term 
1971 as No. 125. 

Two applications were filed before the Commissioner of 
Banks (Commissioner) by Branch Banking and Trust Company 
(Branch) for authority to open two branches in Lexington. 
One was to be designated "Lexington Branch" and the other 
"Lexington Drive-In Branch." The Lexington State Bank (Lex- 
ington) filed a protest to each application. 

The Commissioner of Banks (Commissioner) approved the 
applications. On review, the North Carolina Banking Commis- 
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sion (Commission) conducted an extensive investigation and 
heard evidence of interested parties. The two applications were 
consolidated and heard as a single proceeding. Throughout the 
hearing the petitioner's evidence dealt with the two applications 
as  a single request for two branches. After the consolidation 
there was no attempt to relate the evidence, or the findings, 
specifically to either application. The two were treated as a 
single application. 

On review by the Commission, facts were found and the 
Commissioner concluded: "4. All of the requirements for ap- 
proval of the establishment of branches of The Branch Bank- 
ing and Trust Company in Lexington, North Carolina, pre- 
scribed by applicable North Carolina law have been met." By 
order, the Commissioner of Banks approved the applications 
and, after hearing, the Banking Commission ratified, confirmed, 
and approved them. 

The Lexington State Bank appealed the decision to the 
Wake County Superior Court. On review, Judge Clark found 
the facts and conclusions of the Commission were supported by 
the evidence and on September 25, 1970, entered an order rati- 
fying, confirming, and approving the establishment "of two 
branches in Lexington." From the order, the respondent bank 
appealed. 

On August 18, 1971, the Court of Appeals, Judge Brock 
dissenting, affirmed the order of the Superior Court. The re- 
spondent appealed. 

Jordan, Morris and Holke by Job% R. Jordan, Jr., and Wil- 
liam R. Hoke; Walser, Brinkley, Walser & McGirt by  Walter F. 
Brinkley for def enda.nt appellant. 

C a w  and Gibbons by F. L. Carr, DeLapp, Ward &: Hedrick 
by Hiram H. Ward for plaintiff appellee. 

HIGGINS, Justice, 

[I] As a condition precedent to the establishment of a branch, 
the Commissioner of Banks must find that such branch will 
meet the needs of the community and the probable volume of 
business will be sufficient to assure and maintain the solvency 
of such branch. G.S. 53-62 provides: "Such approval shall not 
be given until he (Commissioner) shall find (i) that the estab- 
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lishment of such branch or teller's window will meet the needs 
and promote the convenience of the community to be served 
by the bank, and (ii) that the probable volume of business and 
reasonable public demand in such community are sufficient to 
assure and maintain the solvency of said branch or teller's win- 
dow and of the existing bank or banks in said community." 

[2, 31 We conclude from the wording of the pertinent stat- 
ute that each application for a branch must be treated as a 
separate application and be approved or denied on the basis of 
the evidence relating thereto taken before the Commissioner 
or the Commission. The requirement is not met in the absence 
of a separate finding. We do not mean to say that two applica- 
tions for branches may not be consolidated and heard together. 
What we do say is that under the statute the evidence and find- 
ing must be sufficient to support each application independent 
of the other. No provision is made in the act for the approval 
of any branch that fails to meet the requirements. The purpose 
is obvious. A branch may not be established which would be 
a financial failure or would endanger the solvency of another 
bank already in the field. The petitioner argues that solvency 
provisions of our statute are met if the parent bank and all 
its branches together meet the solvency test. Branch cites First 
Citizens Bank and Trust Company v. Camp, 409 F. 2d 1086 in 
support of the total solvency test. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals makes i t  clear that 
the decision applies only to the showing in the First Citizens 
case, calling attention to the absence of any North Carolina 
court decision construing G.S. 53-62. The solvency tests under 
the statute are twofold. Each new branch must not endanger 
the solvency of the parent bank and i t  must not endanger the 
solvency of another bank already in th'e field. We are gov- 
erned by the provisions of the act as written. Fixing rules 
comes within the function of the General Assembly. Unless 
the rules violate some fundamental (constitutional) right, the 
Commissioner of Banks, the Banking Commission, and the 
courts are bound by them. The purpose to be accomplished by 
what appear to be rather stringent rules was to protect the 
solvency of banks. A bank failure is a major disaster to the 
community served by the bank. 

Some of the members of the General Assembly which re- 
wrote G.S. 53-62 were old enough to recall the day in 1933 
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when all banks were ordered closed because depositors were 
transferring funds from bank vaults to hiding places in their 
homes. 

It is well known that a rumor of insolvency may start a 
run on a bank. To minimize the danger, was the motivation 
for G.S. 53-62. The purpose was to require that each separate 
branch contribute to the solvency of the system. 

We conclude there must be an independent finding with 
respect to each branch. Manifestly two or more branches may 
not be lumped together and approved as a single unit. If two 
may be consolidated, then any number may be if the total 
meets the test. G.S. 53-62 requires that each branch meet the 
test. 

For the reasons heretofore assigned, i t  is now ordered 
that the applications be remanded to the Banking Commission 
for separate findings and conclusions as to each individual ap- 
plication for a branch. To that end the decision of the Court 
of Appeals is reversed and the proceeding will be remanded 
to the Banking Commission for disposition in accordance with 
this opinion. 

Reversed and remanded. 

STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. KENNIE HARRELL 

No. 18 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Constitutional Law § 30- right to speedy trial - purpose 

The threefold purpose of the constitutional guaranty of a speedy 
trial is to protect the accused against prolonged imprisonment, relieve 
him of the anxiety and public suspicion attendant upon an untried 
accusation of crime, and prevent him from being exposed to trial 
after the lapse of so great a time that  the means of proving his in- 
nocence may have been lost. 

2. Constitutional Law 8 30- speedy trial 

The word "speedy" cannot be defined in specific terms of days, 
months or years, so the question whether a defendant has been denied 
a speedy trial must be answered in light of the facts in a particular 
case. 
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3. Constitutional Law 8 30- speedy trial - reasonableness of delay 
Four factors should be considered in determining the reasonable- 

ness of a delay: the length of the delay, the reason for the delay, 
prejudice to the defendant, and waiver by the defendant. 

4. Constitutional Law 8 30- speedy trial - appeal from recorder's court 
-trial de novo in superior court - delay 

Defendant was not denied his Sixth Amendment right to a speedy 
trial by the delay between his appeal from the recorder's court on 
24 September 1968 and his trial de novo in the superior court in June 
1971, where defendant was serving a sentence for an unrelated 
offense for nine months after his appeal, defendant thereafter failed 
to appear for trial on two occasions when the case was called, defend- 
ant has not shown that  the delay in bringing him to trial was due 
to neglect or willfulness of the prosecution or even that  i t  was for 
the convenience of the State, and defendant has not shown that  the 
delay prejudiced his cause or created a reasonable possibility of 
prejudice to him. 

Criminal Law § 138- trial de novo in superior court -increased pun- 
ishment 

Upon appeal from an inferior court for a trial de novo in the 
superior court, the superior court may impose punishment in excess of 
that  imposed in the inferior court provided the punishment imposed 
does not exceed the statutory maximum. Amendments VI and XIV, 
U. S. Constitution; Article I, 55  19 and 24, N. C. Constitutior,. 

Chief Justice BOBBITT dissenting in part. 

Justices HIGGINS and SHARP join in dissenting opinion. 

DEFENDANT appeals from decision of the Court of Appeals 
upholding judgments of Bowman, S.J., 21 June 1971 Criminal 
Session, CRAVEN Superior Court. 

Defendant was charged in separate warrants with com- 
mitting an assault with a deadly weapon upon Grace Harrell, 
his wife, Faye Mitchell, his wife's sister, and Mary Mercer, his 
mother-in-law. 

The State's evidence tends to show that on 1 July 1968 
the three prosecuting witnesses were sitting on Mary Mercer's 
porch when defendant drove up, jumped out of his car, held a 
shotgun on the trio and told them not to move or he would kill 
them. Faye Mitchell ran to the back of the house to call the 
police. Mary Mercer screamed for help. The defendant attempted 
to force Grace Harrell to get in his car and bring their chil- 
dren with her. He repeatedly told the women he would kill 
them if they moved and threatened to blow Mary Mercer's "god 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 113 

State v. Harrell 

damn head off." Defendant and his wife were separated at the 
time. When defendant heard that the officers were coming, 
"he hauled off and fired the gun," the shot striking the house 
within a few feet of Grace Harrell and her mother. 

Defendant testified as a witness in his own behalf and 
stated that Faye Mitchell fired a pistol a t  him three or four 
times and that he reached for his shotgun but the boy, who 
was with him in his car, picked up the gun and shot a t  the 
porch and ran away. Defendant denied shooting at, pointing a 
gun at, or threatening the women. 

On 24 September 1968 in the Craven County Recorder's 
Court defendant was convicted of an assault with a deadly 
weapon in each case and given six months in each case to run 
concurrently. He appealed to the Superior Court of Craven 
County where, on 21 June 1971, he was convicted by a jury of 
an  assault with a deadly weapon in each case. The court there- 
upon sentenced him to eighteen to twenty-four months in each 
case to run consecutively. Defendant appealed to the Court of 
Appeals, and that tribunal found no error, 13 N.C. App. 243. 
Defendant thereupon appealed to the Supreme Court allegedly 
as of right contending that a substantial constitutional ques- 
tion is invoIved. The State moves to dismiss the appeal for lack 
of a substantial constitutional question. 

John H. Harmon, attorney for defendant appellant. 

Robert Morgan, Attorney General; Christine A. Witcover, 
Associate Attorney; James F. Bullock, Deputy Attorney Gen- 
eral, for the State of North Carolina. 

HUSKINS, Justice. 

We have decided to consider the appeal on its merits. 
Hence the State's motion to dismiss the appeal is denied. 

Defendant first contends that he was denied a speedy trial 
in the Superior Court of Craven County and that his motion 
to dismiss these actions on that ground should have been 
allowed. 

The record is not clear with respect to events occurring 
between 24 September 1968 when defendant appealed from the 
recorder's court and June 1971 when he was tried de novo in 
the Superior Court of Craven County. In September 1968 de- 
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fendant was apparently serving a prison term for some unre- 
lated offense. The colloquy among the judge, the solicitor and 
defendant's counsel seems to indicate that defendant completed 
that sentence on 25 June 1969, gave an appearance bond in 
these cases on 26 June 1969 and was released. On 10 Septem- 
ber 1969 counsel was appointed in these cases to represent de- 
fendant. On 11 November 1969 defendant's present counsel was 
first appointed, but the record shows defendant subsequently 
attempted to fire him and "appoint" another attorney. Whether 
this occasioned any delay in defendant's trial is not clear. In 
any event, these cases were calendared for trial and called on 
25 May 1970, and defendant failed to appear. Capias was issued 
and returned unserved when i t  was ascertained that defendant 
was in Florida. Whether he went to Florida shortly after post- 
ing his appearance bond on 26 June 1969 or a t  a later date is 
not shown by the record. Defendant was again called for trial 
on 8 March 1971 and again failed to answer, and another capias 
was issued for his arrest. Defendant was eventually appre- 
hended on 12 May 1971, lodged in jail, and tried a t  the next 
term of Graven Superior Court. His present counsel was re- 
appointed on 3 June 1971. The question of speedy trial was 
raised for the first time when these cases were called for trial 
a t  the June 1971 Term. 

Principles governing the right to a speedy trial guaran- 
teed by the Sixth Amendment and made applicable to the States 
by the Fourteenth Amendment are outlined with commend- 
able clarity by Justice Sharp in State v. Johnso%, 275 N.C. 264, 
167 S.E. 2d 274 (1969). The right to a speedy trial has been 
considered by this Court in other cases including State v. Ball, 
277 N.C. 714, 178 S.E. 2d 377 (1971) ; State v. Cavallaro, 274 
N.C. 480, 164 S.E. 2d 168 (1968) ; State v. Hollars, 266 N.C. 
45, 145 S.E. 2d 309 (1965) ; State v. Lowry, 263 N.C. 536, 139 
S.E. 2d 870 (1965) ; State v. Pattom, 260 N.C. 359, 132 S.E. 
2d 891 (1964) ; State v. Webb, 155 N.C. 426, 70 S.E. 1064 
(1911). 

Similarly, the Supreme Court of the United States has 
considered the constitutional guaranty of a speedy trial in vari- 
ous cases including United States v. Marion, 404 U.S. 307, 30 
L.Ed. 2d 468, 92 S.Ct. 455 (1971) ; Dickey v. Florida, 398 U.S. 
30, 26 LEd .  2d 26, 90 S.Ct. 1564 (1970) ; Smith v. Hooey, 393 
U.S. 374, 21 L.Ed. 2d 607, 89 S.Ct 575 (1969) ; Klopfer v. 
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North Carolina, 386 U.S. 213, 18 L.Ed. 2d 1, 87 S.Ct. 988 
(1967) ; United States v. Ewell, 383 U.S. 116, 15 L.Ed. 2d 627, 
86 S.Ct. 773 (1966) ; Pollard v. United States, 352 U.S. 354, 
1 L.Ed. 2d 393, 77 S.Ct. 481 (1957) ; Beavers v. Haubert, 198 
U.S. 77, 49 L.Ed. 950, 25 S.Ct. 573 (1905). 

[I] The threefold purpose of the constitutional guaranty of 
a speedy trial is to protect the accused against prolonged im- 
prisonment, relieve him of the anxiety and public suspicion 
attendant upon an untried accusation of crime, and prevent him 
from being exposed to trial after the lapse of so great a time 
that the means of proving his innocence may have been lost. 
21 Am. Jur. 2d, CriminaI Law § 242; State v.  Hollars, s w r a ;  
Uwited States v.  Ewell, supva. 

12, 31 The word speedy cannot be defined in specific terms of 
days, months or years, so the question whether a defendant has 
been denied a speedy trial must be answered in light of the 
facts in a particular case. Four factors should be considered 
in determining the reasonableness of a delay: the length of the 
delay, the reason for the delay, prejudice to the defendant, 
and waiver by the defendant. State v.  Ball, supra; State v. Hol- 
lars, supra; State v. Lowry, supra. 

It is the rule in a majority of jurisdictions that a defend- 
ant waives his right to a speedy trial unless he resists post- 
ponement, demands trial, or otherwise attempts to procure a 
speedier trial than the State accorded him. State v. Hollars, 
supra; Annot., Speedy Trial-Waiver or Loss of Right, 129 
A.L.R. 572 (1940) ; Supp. Annot., 57 A.L.R. 2d 302 (1958). 
Here, defendant made no demand for a trial a t  any time dur- 
ing the delay he is now protesting. He not only failed to resist 
postponement but failed to  appear for trial when called on a t  
least two occasions. Hence under the majority rule defend- 
ant has waived his constitutional right to a speedy trial, but 
we do not rest decision here on that ground. A strong minority 
of jurisdictions rejects the "demand doctrine9' and requires only 
a motion to dismiss, filed before trial. See 21 Am. Jur. 2d, 
Criminal Law § 254. Whether an accused loses his right to a 
speedy trial by silence or inaction remains to be resolved by 
the United States Supreme Court. In  State v. Ball, supra, we 
quoted with approval from Mr. Justice Brennan's concurring 
opinion in Dickey v. Florida, supra, where he excludes waiver 
by the defendant as one of the basic factors to be considered 
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in judging the reasonableness of a particular delay. In  any 
event, we prefer to rest decision here on other grounds. 

[4] Defendant has not shown that the delay in bringing him 
to trial was "the studied choice of the prosecution," State v. 
Johnson, supra, or even that the delay was for the convenience 
of the State. Neither has defendant shown, or attempted to 
show, that the delay created a reasonable possibility of preju- 
dice to him. Nor has he shown any actual prejudice to his 
cause. No witnesses have died or disappeared and no evidence 
has been lost. The memories of those he assaulted are not alleged 
to have been affected by the passage of time. His own memory 
of events has not dimmed. Hence it would appear that no actual 
prejudice to the conduct of the defense is alleged or proven. 
He seems to rely solely on the possibility of prejudice inherent 
in any extended delay-that memories are dimmed, witnesses 
become inaccessible and evidence lost. " [HI owever, these pos- 
sibilities are not in themselves enough to demonstrate that [ap- 
pellant] cannot receive a fair trial and to therefore justify . . . 
dismissal." United States v. Marion, supra. Furthermore, "[tlhe 
burden in on an accused who asserts the denial of his right 
to a speedy trial to show that the delay was due to the neglect 
or willfulness of the prosecution. A defendant who has himself 
caused the delay, or acquiesced in it, will not be allowed to con- 
vert the guarantee, designed for his protection, into a vehicle 
in which to escape justice." State v. Johnsm, supra. 

In light of the foregoing principles we hold that the delay 
of which defendant complains did not violate his Sixth Amend- 
ment right to s speedy trial. Defendant's first assignment of 
error is overruled. 

[5] Defendant next contends the imposition of greater sen- 
tences upon trial de novo in superior court violates his con- 
stitutional rights guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth 
Amendments to the Federal Constitution and Article I, $ 5  13 
and 1'7 of the Constitution of North Carolina (now $5 24 and 
19 respectively of the State Constitution which became effec- 
tive 1 July 1971). This constitutes his second and final assign- 
ment of error. 

The question posed has already been the subject of con- 
clusive judicial determination in North Carolina and has been 
determined adversely to defendant's position. State v. Speights, 
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280 N.C. 137, 185 S.E. 2d 152 (1971) ; State v. Spencer, 276 
N.C. 535, 173 S.E. 2d 765 (1970) ; State v. Sparrow, 276 N.C. 
499, 173 S.E. 2d 897 (1970). I t  is pointless to thrash this straw 
again. The imposition of punishment by the superior court in 
excess of that imposed in the Recorder's Court of Craven County 
was not error. Upon appeal from an inferior court for a trial 
de novo in  the superior court, the superior court may impose 
punishment in excess of that imposed in the inferior court pro- 
vided the punishment imposed does not exceed the statutory 
maximum. State v. Tolley, 271 N.C. 459, 156 S.E. 2d 858 (1967) ; 
State v. Morris, 275 N.C. 50, 165 S.E. 2d 245 (1969). Decisions 
from other jurisdictions adopting this view include Mann v. 
Cmrnmwealth, ____._ Mass. .._.__, 271 N.E. 2d 331 (1971) ; State 
v. Starzosheck, 186 Neb. 17, 180 N.W. 2d 226 (1970) ; Evans 
v. City of Richmond, 210 Va. 403, 171 S.E. 2d 247 (1969) ; 
People v. Olary, 382 Mich. 559, 170 N.W. 2d 842 (1969) ; 
Lemieux v. State, Me., 240 A. 2d 206 (1968). Here, defendant 
was convicted of an aggravated assault in three separate cases, 
and the maximum punishment for each offense, when committed 
on 1 July 1968, was a fine and imprisonment not to exceed two 
years. G.S. 14-33 (b), (c). If the punishment seems severe, the 
Board of Paroles may lawfully grant relief; but in law there 
is no error. 

For the reasons stated the decision of the Court of Appeals 
upholding the judgments of the trial court is 

Chief Justice BOBBITT dissenting in part. 

In  my opinion there was only one assault-no battery-and 
therefore only one judgment was permissible. 

Justices HIGGINS and SHARP join in this dissenting opinion. 
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STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. CRAVEN TURNER, JR. 

No. 4 

(Filed 12 April 5972) 

Criminal Law § 75- in-custody statements -failure to demand counsel - 
absence of waiver 

In this prosecution for first degree murder, the trial court erred 
in the admission of in-custody incriminating statements made by 
defendant without benefit of counsel where there was neither evidence 
nor finding that  defendant specifically waived the right to counsel, 
the failure to demand counsel not constituting a waiver. 

APPEAL by defendant from Beal, S.J., May 31, 1971 Special 
Criminal Session, STANLY Superior Court. 

The defendant was charged by indictment, proper in form, 
with the capital felony of murder in the first degree in the 
killing of James Alexander Howell. The offense is charged to 
have been committed in Stanly County on January 5, 1971. 
This is a companion case to State v. Blackmon tried a t  the 
March 29, 1971 Session, Stanly Superior Court. Blackmon and 
the defendant, Craven Turner, Jr., were separately indicted 
for murder in the attempt to perpetrate armed robbery. 

The defendant Blackmon was convicted of murder in the 
first degree. The jury having failed to recommend life imprison- 
ment, the court imposed the mandatory death sentence. This 
Court granted a new trial because of error committed by the 
trial court in permitting the State to introduce the defendant's 
in-custody confession made a t  a time when he was not repre- 
sented by counsel, and had not affirmatively waived counsel. 
Sta te  v. Blackmon, 280 N.C. 42, 185 S.E. 2d 123. 

The defendant and Blackmon were arrested and interro- 
gated separately and then brought together by the officers 
where each implicated the other. The warnings required by 
the Supreme Court of the United States in Miranda v. Arizona, 
384 U.S. 436, 16 L.Ed. 2d 694, 86 S.Ct. 1602, had been given. 
In  Turner's case as in Blackmon's, the court, after voir dire 
hearing, concluded that the admissions were knowingly and 
voluiltarily made without any inducement or coercion and were 
admissible before the jury. 

The theory of the State was that Blackmon and the defend- 
ant planned to rob the deceased, Mr. Howell; armed themselves 
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with a shotgun; and intercepted the intended victim as he was 
leaving home for work on the early morning of January 5, 
1971. When first accosted, Mr. Howell gave evidence of his 
intention to resist the robbery. He was shot by one of the 
robbers. Both became frightened and left the scene in Turner's 
automobile after hiding their disguises which were later re- 
covered. 

The defendant Turner a t  his trial objected to the introduc- 
tion in evidence of the in-custody admissions made to the 
officers. The trial court conducted a voir dire in which the 
officers testified that the warnings were given and Turner 
asked that Attorney Charles E. Brown be called. Attorney 
Brown was called and conferred with the defendant, but be- 
cause of a conflict of interest Mr. Brown did not agree to repre- 
sent the defendant. Other counsel for Turner was not obtained. 

On the voir dire, the defendant testified that a t  the time 
of the interrogation he was frightened and did not remember 
the warnings. He did not deny that they were given. The 
defendant, however, did not testify a t  the trial before the 
jury and did not offer evidence. 

The jury returned a verdict finding the defendant guilty 
of murder in the first degree with a recommendation the 
punishment be imprisonment for life in the State's prison. 
From the judgment in accordance with the verdict, the defend- 
ant appealed. 

Robert Morgan, Attorney General, by Ralph Moody, Special 
Counsel t o  Atturney General, and William Lewis S d s ,  Associ- 
ate Attorney, for the State. 

Davis, Koontx & Horton, by James C. Davis and Clarence 
E. Horton, Jr. for defendant appellant. 

HIGGINS, Justice. 

After the appellant had filed the record of the case on 
appeal and his brief, the Attorney General filed the State's 
brief which contained the statement here quoted: 

"In view of the decision of this Court in  STATE v. 
BLACKMON (280 N.C. 42), we do not discuss the LYNCH 
case (279 N.C. 1) .  While we do not confess error because 
the Court may see and observe some features that dis- 
tinguish this case from the BLACKMON case, nevertheless, 
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we are unable to distinguish between the two cases . . . . 
The critical ruling in the BLACKMON case is that the failure 
to ask for a lawyer does not constitute a waiver under the 
MIRANDA case." 

The State, however, later requested, and was given per- 
mission to file a supplemental brief. In the supplemental brief 
the Attorney General called attention to the fact the defendant, 
after the original interrogations, requested that he have the 
opportunity to make changes in his story. He requested the 
further interview with the officers "to get it off his brain." He 
then made the incriminating statements which were admitted 
in  evidence against him. He was still in custody charged with 
a capital felony. He had not withdrawn his request that he 
have counsel. He had a t  first asked for a lawyer and had Attor- 
ney Brown called, but Attorney Brown was unable to represent 
him. He did not waive his right to the presence and advice of 
an  attorney, although he did not make a further demand for 
counsel. These facts do not constitute a voluntary waiver of 
counsel as this Court construes the requirement in Mirmda v. 
Arizona, supra. On the voir dire and a t  the trial, however, the 
court found facts and concluded the admissions were knowingly 
and voluntarily made after adequate warnings and were ad- 

' missible in evidence. However, there is neither evidence nor 
finding the defendant specifically waived the right to counsel. 

At the time the offense here involved was committed 
(January 5, 1971) and a t  the time the incriminating admissions 
were made to the officers (February 19, 1971), the North Caro- 
lina statutory requirements as to counsel discussed in State v. 
Lywch, 279 N.C. 1, 181 S.E. 2d 561, were in force. The General 
Assembly, however, by Chapter 1243, Session Laws of 1971, 
amended Section 78-45? of the General Statutes, relaxing the 
requirement that a waiver of counsel must be in writing. As 
stated in Blackmon, however, we base decision in this case on 
the failure to meet the requirement fixed by the Supreme Court 
of the United States in Mirarzda v.  Arizona, supra. Failure to 
demand counsel is not a waiver. 

We conclude, therefore, the trial court erroneously over- 
ruled the defendant's objection to his in-custody admissions. 
The judgment is vacated, the verdict is set aside and i t  is or- 
dered that there be a 

New trial. 
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STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. JAMES MACKEL SPENCER 

No. 27 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Constitutional Law 8 30- speedy trial 
The constitutional right to a speedy trial protects an accused 

from extended imprisonment before trial, from public suspicion gen- 
erated by an untried accusation, and from loss of witnesses and other 
means of proving his innocence resulting from passage of time. 

2. Constitutional Law § 30- speedy trial - circumstances of each case 
Whether defendant has been denied the right to a speedy trial 

is a matter to be determined by the trial judge in the light of the 
circumstances of each case. 

3. Constitutional Law 8 30- speedy trial - burden of proof 
The accused has the burden of showing that  the delay was due 

to the State's wilfulness or neglect. 

4. Constitutional Law 5 30- speedy trial - unavoidable delay -delay 
requested by defendant 

Unavoidable delays and delays caused or requested by defendant 
do not violate his right to a speedy trial. 

5. Constitutional Law 9 30- speedy trial - waiver 
A defendant may waive his right to a speedy trial by failing to 

demand or to make some effort to obtain a speedier trial. 

6. Constitutional Law 8 30- speedy trial - ten months between arrest 
and trial 

Defendant was not denied his constitutional right to a speedy 
trial by a delay of ten nionths between his arrest and trial on charges 
of possessing and growing marijuana where defendant, who was 
represented by counsel, failed to demand a speedy trial, failed to 
appear when the case was called for trial on one occasion, and 
acquiesced in a continuance on another occasion, and defendant failed 
to show that  the delay resulted in any prolonged imprisonment, created 
public suspicion against him or deprived hini of any means of proving 
his innocence; there is no merit in defendant's contention that  he 
was prejudiced by the delay because of widespread publicity resulting 
from drug investigations in the county during the delay and the 
trial of three other drug cases a t  the same session a t  which he was 
tried. 

7. Searches and Seizures 9 3- affidavit for search warrant - sufficiency 
An affidavit for a search warrant complied with G.S. 15-26 (b) and 

met the constitutional standard of reasonableness and probable cause, 
where the affiant stated that  he had received information from a 
reliable informant that defendant had marijuana in his residence 
and was growing marijuana approximately 75 yards from his residence, 
that  the informant was credible because he had given information 



122 IN THE SUPREME COURT [281 

State v. Spencer 

in the past which led to arrests and convictions, that  affiant con- 
firmed the information as to growing marijuana by personal observa- 
tion, and that  affiant, by personal surveillance, observed large amounts 
of traffic to and from defendant's residence. 

8. Searches and Seizures 8 3- search warrant - affidavit - information 
from prior warrantless search - lands not within curtilage 

There is no merit in defendant's contention that  a search warrant 
was invalid on the ground that  the affidavit for the warrant revealed 
that  the affiant had illegally searched a cornfield in which marijuana 
was growing some 75 yards behind defendant's residence prior to 
issuance of the warrant, since the constitutional guaranties against 
unreasonable search and seizure do not apply to open fields or other 
lands not an immediate part  of the dwelling site. 

9. Narcotics § 4- constructive possession 
Constructive possession of marijuana is that  which exists without 

actual personal dominion over the material, but with an intent and 
capability to maintain control and dominion over it. 

10. Criminal Law § 106- motion for nonsuit or directed verdict -circum- 
stantial evidence 

When a motion for nonsuit or motion for directed verdict ques- 
tions the sufficiency of circumstantial evidence, the question for the 
court is whether a reasonable inference of defendant's guilt may be 
drawn from the circumstances. 

11. Narcotics 8 4- marijuana in ont-building - possession 

The State's evidence was sufficient to support a reasonable in- 
ference that  defendant exercised custody, control and dominion over 
82.2 grams of marijuana found in a pig shed located approximately 
twenty yards directly behind defendant's residence, where i t  tended 
to show that  defendant had been seen on numerous occasions in and 
around the out-buildings directly behind his house, and that marijuana 
seeds were found in defendant's bedroom. G.S. 90-88. 

12. Narcotics 8 4- growing marijuana in cornfield 

The State's evidence was sufficient to be submitted to  the jury 
on the issue of defendant's guilt of feloniously growing marijuana 
where i t  tended to show thzt (1) marijuana seeds were found in 
defendant's bedroom, (2) 82.2 grams of marijuana were found in a 
pig pen located 20 yards directly behind defendant's residence, (3)  
an unintersected path began a t  the edge of the pig pen and extended 
a distance of about 55 yards to a cornfield where marijuana was 
found growing, and (4 )  the wire fencing a t  the beginning of the 
path was lower than the remainder of the path. 

APPEAL by defendant from decision of the North Carolina 
Court of Appeals (13 N.C. App. 112), affirming Rouse, J., at 
1 May 1971 Session of BEAUFORT Superior Court. 
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Defendant was charged in separate bills of indictment with 
feloniously growing marijuana and with feloniously possessing 
marijuana in a quantity in excess of one gram. 

The State offered evidence which tended to show that 
defendant lived in a combination residence and store in rural 
Beaufort County. Officers, armed with a search warrant, 
searched the residence-store and a pig pen located approximately 
twenty-five yards directly behind defendant's home. The offi- 
cers found a jar containing marijuana seeds in defendant's 
bedroom, and found a box containing in excess of eighty-two 
(82) grams of marijuana leaves in a shed in the pig pen. 

Beginning at the fence near the eastern corner of the 
same pig pen, a path some three or four feet wide ran approxi- 
mately fifty to fifty-five yards to the edge of a cornfield. The 
wire fencing a t  the beginning of the path was lower than the 
remainder of the fence. The total distance by way of the path 
from defendant's residence to the cornfield was approximately 
seventy-five yards. No paths intersected or adjoined the path 
leading from the pig pen to the cornfield. The officers found 
approximately 115 marijuana plants growing in the corn rows. 

Defendant offered no evidence. The jury returned verdicts 
of guilty as charged on both counts. The trial judge imposed 
concurrent sentences of two years on each count. Defendant 
appealed to the North Carolina Court of Appeals. The appeal 
is before this Court pursuant to G.S. 7A-30(1). 

At torney  General Morgan and Assistant At torney General 
Magner f o r  the  State. 

Wilkinson, Vosburgh & Thompson by  John A. Wilkicinson, 
for defendant.  

BRANCH, Justice. 

Upon the call of his case for trial, and before pleading, 
defendant through counsel moved to quash the bills of indict- 
ment on the ground that his constitutional right to a speedy 
trial had been violated. 

We note a t  the outset that the motion should have been 
to dismiss rather than to quash; however, the trial judge ap- 
parently treated the motion as a motion to dismiss and we 
therefore choose to consider the question of speedy trial. 
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The trial judge considered the records of the case, state- 
ments of defense counsel and statements of the solicitor for 
the State, and, after making full findings of fact, concluded 
(1) that the length of delay was not unreasonable, (2) that 
the delay was for good cause and not because of neglect or 
wilfullness of the prosecution, (3) that the delay was not prej- 
udicial to defendant in preparing and presenting his defense, 
and (4) that failure to t ry  defendant at  the January 1991 Ses- 
sion of Beaufort County Superior Court was acquiesced in by 
defendant's counsel. Upon these findings of fact and conclusions 
of law the court denied defendant's motions to quash the bills of 
indictment. 

Defendant did not except to any findings of fact or con- 
clusions of law upon which the denial of the motions to quash 
was based. In any event, the record discloses that there was 
ample evidence to support the findings of fact, and that these 
findings in turn supported the conclusions of law. 

11-51 The constitutional right to a speedy trial protects an 
accused from extended imprisonment before trial, from public 
suspicion generated by an untried accusation, and from loss of 
witnesses and other means of proving his innocence resulting 
from passage of time. Whether defendant has been denied the 
right to a speedy trial is a matter to be determined by the 
trial judge in light of the circumstances of each case. The 
accused has the burden of showing that the delay was due to the 
State's wilfulness or neglect. Unavoidable delays and delays 
caused or requested by defendant do not violate his right to a 
speedy trial. Further, a defendant may waive his right to a 
speedy trial by failing to demand or to make some effort to 
obtain a speedier trial. State v. Ball, 277 N.C. 714, 178 S.E. 
2d 377; State v. Hollars, 266 N.C. 45, 145 S.E. 2d 309; State v. 
Lowry and State v. Mallo~y, 263 N.C. 536, 139 S.E. 2d 870. 
The constitutional right to a speedy trial prohibits arbitrary 
and oppressive delays by the prosecution. State v. Johmon, 275 
N.C. 264, 167 S.E. 2d 274. But this right is necessarily relative 
and is consistent with delays under certain circumstances. 
Beavers v. Haubert, 198 U.S. 77, 49 L.ed. 950, 25 S.Ct. 573. 

[6] Approximately ten months elapsed between the time of 
defendant's arrest and the time of his trial. He complains that 
events taking place during the .delay, rather than the actual 
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length of the delay, prejudiced him. He argues that widespread 
publicity resulting from drug investigations in Beaufort County 
during this delay, and the trial of three other drug cases in 
the same session a t  which he was tried, created the actual 
prejudice. 

In  this connection we take judicial notice that the drug 
problem had been known and widely publicized iil every corner 
of the state long before defendant was arrested. In any event, 
we can only speculate as to the effect of the Beaufort County 
investigations and trials upon the minds of prospective jurors. 

Defendant was represented by experienced and competent 
counsel and was in position to demand a speedy trial. He failed 
to do so. On the contrary, a t  one term of court his case was 
called and he failed to answer. At another term of court his 
counsel acquiesced in a continuance. Defendant fails to show 
that the delay of approximately ten months resulted in any 
prolonged imprisonment, created public suspicion against him, 
or deprived him of any means of proving his innocence. In fact, 
a careful examination sf this record fails to reveal any evidence 
of purposeful and oppressive delay on the part of the State. 

The trial judge correctly overruled defendant's motions to 
quash the indictments. 

171 Defendant next contends that the trial judge erred in 
denying his motion to suppress all the evidence resuIting from 
the search of his premises. He argues that the affidavit for the 
search warrant fails to comply with G.S. 15-26 (b) and with the 
constitutional requirement of probable cause guaranteed by the 
Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Con- 
stitution. 

G.S. 15-26 (b) provides : "An affidavit signed under oath 
or affirmation by the affiant or affiants and indicating the 
basis for the finding of probable cause must be a part of or 
attached to the warrant." 

The portion of the affidavit pertinent to the question of 
probable cause recites : 

The facts which establish probable cause for the is- 
suance of a search warrant are as follows: 
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Information received by affiant on 7-3-70 from a re- 
liable informant, one which has given information in the 
past and lead to convictions and arrest, that James Spencer 
c/m who resides a t  R-2, Box 42, Pantego, N. C., as de- 
scribed above has marahauna plants growing approximately 
75 yards from his residents and marahauna seeds within 
his residents. On 7-9-70 and 7-14-70 affiant found the 
rnarajauna plants growing in the location given by in- 
formant. On 7-13-70 information received from informant 
that subject James Spencer is to leave on 7-15-70 on trip 
with a quantity of marahauna which will be transported in 
his personal car, a 1964 Chrysler, N. C. Lic. LF602. Sur- 
veillance by affiant on 7-14-70 indicated large amount of 
traffic a t  residence. 

THOMAS WILLIAM CADDY 
Affiant. 

Sworn to on July 15, 1970. 

The principles of law applicable to this contention are 
stated in the case of State v. Spillars, 280 N.C. 341, 185 S.E. 
2d 881 as follows: 

A valid search warrant may be issued on the basis of 
an affidavit containing information which may not be 
competent as evidence. State v. Vestal, 278 N.C. 561, 
180 S.E. 2d 755. The affidavit may be based on hear- 
say information if the magistrate is informed of underlying 
circumstances upon which the informant bases his con- 
clusion as to the whereabouts of the articles and the 
underlying circumstances upon which the officer con- 
cluded that the informant was credible. Jones v. U. S., 
362 U.S. 257, 4 L.Ed. 2d 697, 80 S.Ct. 725. Probable 
cause deals with probabilities which are factual and 
practical considerations of everyday life upon which rea- 
sonable and prudent men may act, Brineyar v. U. S., 
388 U.S. 160, 93 L.Ed. 1879, 69 S.Ct. 1302, and if the facts 
before the magistrate supply "reasonable cause to believe 
that the proposed search for evidence of the commission 
of the designated criminal offense will reveal the presence 
upon the described premises of the objects sought and that 
they will aid in the apprehension or conviction of the of- 
fender," i t  is sufficient basis for the issuance of the search 
warrant. State v. Vestal, supra. The magistrate's deter- 
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mination of probable cause should be paid great deference 
by the reviewing court. Jones v. U. S., supra. 

Here, the affiant concluded that the informant was credible 
because he had given information in the past which led to 
arrests and convictions. The affiant confirmed the information 
as to growing marijuana by personal observation. Further, 
the affiant, by personal surveillance, observed large amounts of 
traffic to and from defendant's residence. These facts supplied 
reasonable cause to believe that search of the described premises 
wouId reveal the presence of marijuana. 

[$I Defendant also contends that the search warrant is invalid 
on the theory that the affidavit shows on its face that affiant 
had engaged in illegal search and seizure because he illegally 
visited the field where the marijuana was growing prior to the 
issuance of the search warrant under attack. 

Answer to this attack on the validity of the search warrant 
is found in State v. Hawisom, 239 N.C. 659, 80 S.E. 2d 481: 

"It seems to be generally held that the constitutional 
guaranties of freedom from unreasonaMe search and 
seizure, applicable to one's home, refer to his dwelling and 
other buildings within the curtilage but do not apply to 
open fields, orchards, or other lands not an immediate part 
of the dwelling site. Machen, The Law of Search and 
Seizure, page 95 (citing Hester v. United States, 265 U.S. 
57, 44 Sup. Ct. 445, 68 L.Ed. 898) ; Cornelius, Search and 
Seizure, Second Edition, page 49; 48 C.J.S., Intoxicating 
Liquors, section 394, page 630, et seq.; 30 Am. Jur., In- 
toxicating Liquors, section 528, page 529; Anno. 74 A.L.R. 
1454, where numerous cases on this point are collected, 
among them being: Simmons v. Commonwealth, 210 Ky. 
33, 275 S.W. 369; S. v. Cobb, 309 Mo. 89, 273 S.W. 736; 
Penney v. State, 35 Okla. Crim. Rep. 151, 249 P. 167; 
Sheffield v. State, 118 Tex. Crim. Rep. 329, 37 S.W. 2d 
1038; Field v. State, 108 Tex. Crim. Rep. 112, 299 S.W. 
258." 

We hold that this affidavit complied with the provisions of 
G.S. 15-26 and clearly met the constitutional standard of reason- 
ableness and probable cause requisite to issuance of a search 
warrant. 
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Defendant challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to 
carry both charges to the jury by moving for a directed verdict 
of not guilty. 

In State v. Glover, 270 N.C. 319, 154 S.E. 2d 305, i t  is 
stated : 

"Defendant moved for a directed verdict of not guilty. 
This motion challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to 
go to the jury. S. v. Wiley, 242 N.C. 114, 86 S.E. 2d 
913. ' . . . (T) he objection that the evidence is not sufficient 
to carry the case to the jury . . . must be raised during the 
trial by a motion for a compulsory nonsuit under the 
statute now embodied in G.S. 15-173, or by a prayer for 
instruction to the jury.' S. v. Gaston, 236 N.C. 499, 73 S.E. 
2d 311. . . . 9, 
Prior to 1 January 1972, Article 5 of Chapter 90 of the 

General Statutes provided, in part: 

5 90-87. Definitions (of narcotic drugs). 

(1) "Cannabis" includes the following substances under 
whatever means they may be designated : 

a. The dried flowering or fruiting tops of the pis- 
tillate plant cannabis sativa L. from which the 
resin has not been extracted; 

. . . .  
d. Marihuana. 

5 90-88. Manufacture, sale, etc., of narcotic drugs reg- 
ulated.-It shall be unlawful for any person to manufacture, 
possess, have under his control, sell, prescribe, administer, 
dispense, or compound any narcotic drug, except as authorized 
in this article. 

§ 90-111.1. Growing of narcotic plant known as marijuana 
or opium poppy by unlicensed persons.-A person who with- 
out being licensed to do so under the federal narcotic laws, 
grows the narcotic plant known as marijuana or opium poppy 
or knowingly allows i t  to grow on his land without destroying 
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the same shall be guilty of a felony and shall be punished 
according to the provisions of this article. 

5 90-111. Penalties for violation. (a)  Any person violating 
any provision of this article or any person who conspires, 
aids, abets, or procures others to do such acts, shall upon 
conviction be punished, for the first offense, by a fine of not 
more than one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) or be imprisoned 
in the penitentiary for not more than five years, or both, in 
the discretion of the court: Provided, that any person unlaw- 
fully possessing . . . one gram or less of the drug marijuana 
defined in G.S. 90-87(1)d, shall, for the first offense, be 
guilty of a misdemeanor and punished by fine or imprison- 
ment, or both, in the discretion of the court. . . . 

We first examine the facts of this case concerning the 
charge of felonious possession of marijuana. 

Defendant stipulated that the vegetable matter found with- 
in the pig shed was marijuana and that the vegetable matter 
weighed 82.2 grams. Thus, if the marijuana was in defendant's 
actual or constructive possession, the trial judge correctly 
denied defendant's motion directed to the charge of felonious 
possession. 

[9] Constructive possession of contraband material is that 
which exists without actual personal dominion over the material, 
but with an intent and capability to maintain control and do- 
minion over it. State v. Allen, 279 N.C. 406, 183 S.E. 2d 680; 
Rodellu v. United States, 286 F. 2d 306 (9th Cir., 1960) ; State 
v. Meyers, 190 N.C. 239, 129 S.E. 600. 

[lo] One of the well recognized rules concerning sufficiency 
of evidence to withstand motion for nonsuit or motion for a 
directed verdict is that when the motion questions the sufficient 
of circumstantial evidence, the question for the court is whether 
a reasonable inference of defendant's guilt may be drawn from 
the circumstances. State v. Stephens, 244 N.C. 380, 93 S.E. 2d 
431. 

[ I l l  In instant case the pig shed where the marijuana was 
found was located approximately twenty yards from and directly 
behind defendant's residence. Defendant had been seen on 
numerous occasions in and around the out-buildings directly 
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behind his house. Thus, when considered with the fact that 
marijuana seeds were found in defendant's bedroom, this evi- 
dence raises a reasonable inference that defendant exercised 
custody, control, and dominion over the pig shed and its contents. 
As stated by the Court in Hunt v. State, 158 Tex. Crim. 618, 
258 S.W. 2d 320, defendant has been placed in "such close 
juxtaposition to the narcotic drug as to justify the jury in 
concluding that the same was in his possession." 

[I21 The trial judge also correctly allowed the jury to consider 
the charge on feloniously growing marijuana plants in violation 
of G.S. 90-111.1. Again, considering the facts above recited and 
these additional facts: (1) that a path about three or four feet 
wide began a t  the edge of the pig pen, where the 82.2 grams of 
marijuana were found; (2) that the wire fencing at the begin- 
ning of the path was lower than the remainder of the fence; 
(3) that the path extended a distance of about 55 yards to the 
cornfield where the marijuana was found growing; and (4) 
that the path leading from the pig pen to the growing marijuana 
was not adjoined by or intersected by other paths, a reasonable 
inference arises that defendant was feloniously growing mari- 
juana. 

The trial judge correctly overruled defendant's motion for 
a directed verdict. 

The Controlled Substances Act, effective I January 1972, 
Article 5, Chapter 90 of the General Statutes, does not affect 
the prosecution in this case. State v. Harvey, ante p. 1. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals finding no error 
is 

Affirmed. 
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STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. WALTER LEE COX 

No. 70 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Criminal Law § 161- appeal as  exception to judgment 
The appeal itself constitutes an exception to the judgment and 

presents for review any error appearing on the face of the record 
proper, even in the absence of proper exception and assignment. 

2. Burglary and Unlawful Breakings 5 1- burglary defined 
Burglary consists of a breaking and entering during the night- 

time of a dwelling or sleeping apartment with intent to commit a 
felony therein; if the burglarized dwelling is occupied, i t  is burglary 
in the first degree, and if unoccupied, it is  burglary in the second 
degree. G.S. 14-51. 

3. Burglary and Unlawful Breakings 1- burglary -offense in night- 
time 

To constitute burglary in either degree, the common law required 
the felonious breaking and entering to occur in the nighttime, and 
this common law requirement is still the law in this State. G.S. 4-1. 

4. Criminal Law § 146- Supreme Court - exercise of supervisory juris- 
diction 

I n  this appeal from a conviction of second degree burglary, the 
Supreme Court, in the exercise of its supervisory jurisdiction, takes 
notice of the lack of proof of burglary, although such question was 
not raised by appellant. Art. IV, Sec. 12(1) of the N. C. Constitution. 

5. Burglary and Unlawful Breakings 93 5, 7- verdict of second degree 
burglary -offense in daytime - felonious breaking and entering 

Defendant's conviction of second degree burglary cannot stand 
where all the State's evidence tends to show that  the crime occurred 
in the daytime; since it is apparent that  the jury found facts which 
establish defendant's guilt of breaking and entering a residence in 
the daytime with intent to commit the felony of robbery therein, but 
that  the jury mislabeled its verdict, calling i t  burglary in the second 
degree, because the judge erroneously instructed i t  to do so, the 
verdict must be considered a verdict of felonious breaking and enter- 
ing, a lesser degree of the crime of burglary, and the cause is re- 
manded for pronouncement of judgment upon such verdict. 

DEFENDANT appeals from Braswell, J., 17 March 1971 
Criminal Session, PERSON Superior Court. This case was dock- 
eted as No. 110 and argued a t  the Fall Term 1971. 

Defendant was tried upon two bills of indictment. In Case 
No. 70 CR 4203 the bill charged defendant with the common 
law robbery of Sanders McWhorter on 17 November 1970 in 
Person County. In Case No. 70 CR 4204 the bill charged that 
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defendant burglariously broke and entered the occupied dwelling 
of one Sanders McWhorter on 17 November 1970, in the night 
of the same clay, with force and arms, with the felonious intent 
to steal, take and carry away the goods and chattels of the 
said Sanders McWhorter located in said dwelling house against 
the peace and dignity of the State. Defendant pled not guilty 
to both charges. 

Sanders McWhorter testified that he first saw defendant 
on 17 November 1970 "at approximately 1:30 in the afternoon 
when I returned to my house after going out for lunch. I was 
unlocking my back door and walked in and when I looked up 
he was standing directly in front of me. He had just stepped 
out behind the door of a broom closet that I had. I started to 
ask him what he was doing and before I could get i t  out of 
my mouth he hit me across the head and knocked me down and 
in the ensuing short scuffle after that he hit me the second 
time and knocked me back against the doorknob on the door 
and broke my shoulder." This witness further stated that de- 
fendant demanded money and threatened to kill him if he did 
not surrender it. Defendant thereupon took McWhorter's bill- 
fold containing between eight and ten dollars and fled. The 
victim sought hospital treatment and was an outpatient for 
about three weeks on account of his injuries. Mr. McWhorter 
further testified that the kitchen window, which had been previ- 
ously closed and thumb-latched, had been raised, and flower 
pots against the window had been knocked down and broken. 

On 20 November 1970 a t  approximately 11 a.m., defendant 
was exhibited to Sanders McWhorter in a lineup of eight black 
males basically dressed the same and about the same size and 
color. Defendant was represented by counsel, and his counsel 
personally brought two of the eight men who stood in the lineup. 
McWhorter testified he had no difficulty picking defendant 
out-"I picked him out on the first try and I only picked one.'' 
The court conducted a voir dire, determined the admissibility 
of the evidence identifying defendant, and i t  was admitted 
for consideration by the jury. There was other identification 
evidence, but its narration is not necessary to decision in this 
case. 

Walter Lee Cox, as a witness in his own behalf, testified 
that he resided in Durham and worked a t  the University Grill; 
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that on 17 November 1970 he did not work on his regular job 
but assisted William Lloyd moving furniture. "We were helping 
the lady move. We did this all day on November 17, 1970." E e  
said his friend stayed with this lady, and he did the work to 
pick up some extra money. The job was completed about three 
or  four o'clock a t  which time he went with William Lloyd to 
Lloyd's home in Chapel Hill where they played records, got "a 
little drunk," and spent the night. He was unable to give 
Lloyd's address and said "I don't know where he is today." 
He swore he was not in Roxboro on 17 November 1970, did not 
know Mr. McWhorter, and had never seen him previous to 
the hearing in this case. He stated on cross-examination that 
he was nineteen years of age, had been convicted of robbery in 
Virginia and had served time in North Carolina for breaking 
and entering. While serving that sentence he said he escaped 
"from Person County." 

On the burglary charge the court instructed the jury to 
return a verdict of guilty of burglary in the second degree or 
not guilty, as the jury may find. On the robbery charge the 
court instructed the jury to return a verdict of guilty of common 
law robbery or not guilty, as the jury may find. The jury found 
defendant guilty of burglary in the second degree and guilty 
of common law robbery. Defendant was sentenced to thirty years 
on the burglary conviction and ten years on the robbery con- 
viction, to begin at  the expiration of the burglary sentence. His 
appeal to the Court of Appeals was transferred to the Supreme 
Court for initial appellate review pursuant to our general order 
dated 31 July 1970. 

Rapnsey, Jackson & Hubbard by George W. Jackson, Attor- 
ney f 0.r defendant appellant. 

Robert Morgan, Attorney General, and James B. Richmond, 
Assistmt Attorney General, for the State of North Carolina. 

HUSKINS, Justice. 

111 Defendant states in his brief that he has been unable to 
find reversible error in the trial below and simply presents the 
record in the hope that the Court will discover error ex mero 
rnotu. While we are not required to do so under our rules, we 
have nevertheless examined the entire record in view of the 
seriousness of the charges and the sentences imposed. The ap- 
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peal itself constitutes an exception to the judgment and presents 
for review any error appearing on the face of the record 
proper, even in the absence of proper exception and assign- 
ment. State v.  Elliott, 269 N.C. 683, 153 S.E. 2d 330 (1967). 

In the first case (No. 70 CR 4203) defendant was charged 
with and convicted of common law robbery. The bill of indict- 
ment is proper in form, and the judgment is supported by the 
verdict and is within the limits authorized by G.S. 14-2. No 
error appears of record with respect to defendant's conviction 
of common law robbery. Hence the judgment in the robbery 
case must be upheld. 

In the second case (No. 70 CR 4204) defendant was charged 
with a capital felony in the bill of indictment and convicted of 
burglary in the second degree for which he received a prison 
sentence of thirty years. To insure the proper administration 
of justice, we have reviewed not only the record proper but the 
evidence and the charge of the court as well. 

All the State's evidence tends to show that defendant en- 
tered the McWhorter dwelling during daylight hours. Mr. 
McWhorter himself testified that he first saw defendant "at 
approximately 1:30 in the afternoon when I returned to my 
house after going out for lunch." There is no evidence of entry 
during the hours of darkness. Rather, the State's evidence shows 
a breaking or entering in the daytime with intent to commit 
a felony in violation of G.S. 14-54, a lesser degree of the offense 
of burglary punishable by imprisonment not to exceed ten years 
under G.S. 14-2. 

[2, 31 Burglary was a criminal offense a t  common law. "To 
warrant a conviction thereof i t  must be made to appear that 
there was a breaking and entering during the nighttime of a 
dwelling or sleeping apartment with intent to commit a felony 
therein." (Emphasis added.) State v. Mumford, 227 N.C. 132, 
41 S.E. 2d 201 (1947). Since 1889, burglary has been divided 
into two degrees by G.S. 14-51. If the burglarized dwelling is 
occupied, i t  is burglary in the first degree; if unoccupied, i t  
is burglary in the second degree. G.S. 14-51; State v. Allen, 
186 N.C. 302, 119 S.E. 504 (1923) ; State v. Morris, 215 N.C. 
552, 2 S.E. 2d 554 (1939). To constitute burglary in either 
degree, however, the common law required the felonious break- 
ing and entering to occur in the nighttime, State v. Whit, 49 
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N.C. 349 (1857) ; and this common law requirement is still the 
law in North Carolina. G.S. 4-1. By virtue of the cited statute, 
all parts of the common law of England which were heretofore 
in force and which have not been abrogated or repealed by 
statute remain in full force within this State. Sta te  v. Lackey, 
271 N.C. 171, 155 S.E. 2d 465 (1967) ; Sta te  v. Ingland, 278 
N.C. 42, 178 S.E. 2d 577 (1971). 

[4, 51 In light of these principles, the burglary charge was 
submitted to the jury under a misapprehension of the law, and 
defendant's conviction of burglary in the second degree cannot 
stand. To do justice in this case and to insure the proper ad- 
ministration of the criminal laws, we deem it appropriate to 
exercise our general supervisory jurisdiction conferred on the 
Supreme Court by Article IV, Section 12(1) of the Constitution 
of North Carolina, to take notice of the total lack of proof of 
burglary. Compare State  v. Brown,  263 N.C. 786, 140 S.E. 2d 
413 (1965). 

The judge charged the jury in the burglary case as follows: 

"As to the charge of burglary in the second degree, I 
charge you that if you find from the evidence and beyond 
a reasonable doubt, the burden being on the State to so 
satisfy you that on the 17th day of November, 1970, that 
this defendant, Walter Lee Cox, did break and enter into 
the dwelling house here in Roxboro, owned and occupied 
by Sanders McWhorter, that at  the time of the breaking 
and entering the building which is [sic] used as a dwelling 
house by Sanders McWhorter, that a t  the time of the 
breaking and entering no person was then physically inside 
of the dwelling house and that at  the time of the breaking 
and entering it was the intent of the defendant to commit 
the felony of robbery therein, then upon your finding of 
these facts beyond a reasonable doubt, i t  would be your 
duty to return a verdict of guilty, as charged, of burglary 
in the second degree." 

Since all the evidence shows the offense occurred a t  ap- 
proximately 1 :30 in the afternoon, i t  is perfectly apparent that 
the jury found the very facts enumerated in the judge's charge 
-facts which establish breaking and entering of the McWhorter 
residence in the daytime with intent to commit the felony of 
robbery therein. The jury mislabeled its verdict, calling i t  
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burglary in the second degree, because the judge erroneously 
instructed it to do so. The verdict must therefore be considered 
a verdict of felonious breaking and entering, a lesser degree of 
the crime of burglary, and a violation of G.S. 14-54(a) punish- 
able by imprisonment not to exceed ten years under G.S. 14-2. 
Hence, leaving the verdict undisturbed but recognizing i t  for 
what it is, the judgment is vacated in the burglary case (No. 
70 CR 4204) and the cause is remanded to the Superior Court 
of Person County for the pronouncement of a judgment as upon 
a verdict of guilty of felonious breaking and entering. G.S. 
14-54(a) ; G.S. 14-2; State v. Jones, 275 N.C. 432, 168 S.E. 
2d 380 (1969) ; State v. Foster, 268 N.C. 480, 151 S.E. 2d 62 
(1966). The Clerk of the Superior Court of Person County shall 
thereupon issue a revised commitment in Case No. 70 CR 4204, 
bearing the same date as the original commitment, to be substi- 
tuted for the commitment heretofore issued. The effect will be, 
and it is so intended, that the defendant will receive credit upon 
the new commitment for all the time heretofore served for 
second degree burglary. 

Inasmuch as the valid judgment of imprisonment for ten 
years pronounced in Case No. 70 CR 4203 was made to begin 
a t  the expiration of the thirty-year sentence imposed in Case 
No. 70 CR 4204, which is now vacated, Case No. 70 CR 4203 
is remanded to the Superior Court of Person County to the end 
that the judgment may be modified so as to provide that the 
ten-year sentence shall commence a t  the expiration of the sen- 
tence which may be imposed in Case No. 70 CR 4204, or may 
run concurrently with it, as the court in its discretion may 
determine. 

In the common law robbery case (70 CR 4203)-Remanded. 

In the burglary case (70 CR 4204)-Remanded for Judg- 
ment. 
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ANNIE LONG v. METHODIST HOME FOR THE AGED, INC. 

No. 57 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Negligence 5 52- private-duty nurse - invitee 
A nurse employed by the family of a nursing home patient was 

an invitee while in the nursing home. 

2. Negligence 88 5.1, 53- duties to invitees 
While the operator of a nursing home does not insure the safety 

of his invitees, he must exercise ordinary care to keep his premises 
in such reasonably safe condition as not to expose them unnecessarily 
to danger, and must give warning of any hidden danger or unsafe 
condition of which he has knowledge, express or implied. 

3. Negligence $8 5.1, 53- duties to invitees -warning - obvious condition 
Where a condition of the premises is obvious, there is generally 

no duty on the part  of the owner to warn of such condition. 

4. Negligence 85 5.1, 57- invitee -negligence by nursing home operator 
- insufficiency of evidence 

In an action to recover for personal injuries allegedly sustained 
by a private-duty nurse in a fall in defendant's nursing home, plain- 
tiff's evidence was insufficient to be submitted to  the jury on the 
issue of defendant's negligence where i t  tended to show that  plaintiff 
overloaded a comlnode with toilet tissue and kept working the flushing 
lever, causing continuous and heavy overflow onto the floor of the 
patient's room, that  an orderly employed by defendant removed the 
obstruction, that  plaintiff mopped a portion of the floor, and that  
she slipped and fell when she stepped in water that  had run from 
under a wardrobe. 

ON certio~ari to the Court of Appeals to review its decision 
(10 N.C. App. 534, 179 S.E. 2d 3) reversing the judgment for 
the plaintiff entered in the Superior Court of UNION County 
by Brewer, J., a t  the August 17, 1970 Session. This case was 
docketed and argued a t  the Fall Term 1971 as No. 33. 

The plaintiff, Annie Long, instituted this civil action in 
the superior court to recover damages on account of personal 
injury she alleges she sustained while engaged in the discharge 
of her duties as a nurse for Mamie Jones, a bedridden, mentally, 
and physically helpless patient in the Wesley Nursing Center, a 
wholly owned nursing unit of the defendant, Methodist Home 
for the Aged, Inc. 

Although the plaintiff was employed by the family of the 
helpless patient, she was governed by the regulations of the 
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defendant. On the third day of the plaintiff's employment, her 
patient "messed up" the bed and floor around the bed. The plain- 
tiff in her clean-up operations, made liberal use of toilet tissue 
which, after use, she deposited in the commode. When the plain- 
tiff attempted to flush the commode, the amount of paper com- 
pletely stopped the flow of water through the exit. As a result 
water overflowed the bathroom and the floor of the patient's 
room. 

The plaintiff testified: "After I attempted to flush the 
toilet tissue down the commode, the water ran over the edge . . . 
onto the bathroom floor. I jiggled the Iever some more to t ry  
to get the paper on down. When I did that, the water kept coming 
out. . . . (E)very time I would jiggle the lever some more the 
water wouId keep coming out, i t  never quit." The plaintiff called 
an orderly who unstopped the commode by the use of a hook made 
from a coat hanger. The plaintiff obtained a mop and by its 
use partially succeeded in removing the water from the floor 
of the rooms. 

The plaintiff describing her accident testified: "While I 
was using the mop and wringing i t  out in the bathtub, i t  was 
necessary for me to walk through the water. . . . I had on 
nurses' oxfords . . . . The soles of my shoes were wet . . . . I 
started out of the bathroom, and when I did I stepped in that 
water that was running from under the wardrobe, and I fell. . . . 
At the time I fell I knew that I was walking on a wet 
floor. . . . I was aware that the floor was extremely slip- 

7 , pery. . . . 
As a result of the fall the witness was injured. She offered 

both lay and medical testimony with respect thereto, including 
the expense for treatment. 

At  the close of the evidence the defendant moved for a 
directed verdict in its favor on the grounds, (1) the plaintiff 
had failed to offer evidence of defendant's negligence and (2) 
on the alternative ground the plaintiff's evidence disclosed her 
contributory negligence as a matter of law. The court denied the 
motions and submitted proper issues to the jury which answered 
them in plaintiff's favor. The court, after refusing to set the 
verdict aside, signed judgment awarding the plaintiff $8,000.00 
in damages. The defendant filed many exceptions to the charge. 
On review, the Court of Appeals reversed the judgment holding 
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the evidence of negligence insufficient to sustain the verdict 
and judgment. 

G r i f f i n  & Clark by Robert B. Clark for plaintiff appellant. 

Carpenter, Golding, Crews & Meekins by James P. Crews 
for  defendant appellee. 

HIGGINS, Justice. 

[I, 21 The evidence before the jury was sufficient to place 
the plaintiff a t  the time of her injury in the status of an invitee 
in the defendant's nursing home. While the proprietor or owner 
of premises does not insure the safety of his invitees, neverthe- 
less he is under the duty of exercising ordinary care to keep his 
premises in such reasonably safe condition as not to expose 
them unnecessarily to danger. He is under the obligation to 
give warning of any hidden danger or unsafe condition of 
which he has knowledge, express or implied. Strong's Index 
2d, Vol. 6, Negligence. § 53. Duties and Liability to Invitees. 
(Citing many cases.) Gordon v. Sprott, 231 N.C. 472, 57 S.E. 
2d 785. 

[3] While there is a duty on the part of the owner to warn 
invitees of hidden danger, "Where a condition of the premises 
is obvious . . . generally there is no duty on the part of the 
owner . . . to warn of that condition." Shaw v.  Ward Co., 260 
N.C. 574, 133 S.E. 2d 217. See also Wrenn  v. Cofivalescent 
Home, Inc., 270 N.C. 447, 154 S.E. 2d 483; Jones v.  Pinehurst, 
Inc., 261 N.C. 575, 135 S.E. 2d 580; Garner v. Greyhound Cor- 
poration, 250 N.C. 151, 108 S.E. 2d 461; and Harris v.  Depart- 
ment  Stores Co., 247 N.C. 195, 100 S.E. 2d 323. 

[4] In this case the plaintiff not only knew of the slick and 
slippery condition of the floor, but she had actually caused that 
condition. There is neither allegation nor evidence the commode 
in the bathroom was defective or not in good working order. 
Actually the plaintiff overloaded it with toilet tissue and kept 
working the flushing lever causing a continuous and heavy 
overflow. When she called for help, an orderly appeared 
(though she claimed not promptly) and by the use of a hook 
made from a coat hanger he removed the obstruction. Although 
she knew the floor was wet and slippery, of which condition 
the owner had no knowledge, nevertheless she seeks to charge 
the defendant with liability. "And, ordinarily, i t  is only when 
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the dangerous condition or instrumentality is known to the 
occupant (owner), or in the exercise of due care should have 
been known to him, and not known to the person injured, that a 
recovery may be permitted." Revis v. Orr, 234 N.C. 158, 66 
S.E. 2d 652. 

A fair examination of the evidence convinces us that an 
inference of actionable negligence on the part of the defendant 
cannot be drawn from the evidence offered. The court should 
have entered judgment for the defendant. The decision of the 
Court of Appeals is correct and is 

Affirmed. 

EAC CREDIT CORPORATION v. FREDERICK M. WILSON 
AND HELEN A. WILSON 

No. 92 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Guaranty- absolute or conditional 
A guaranty contract is collateral to the primary obligation and 

may be absolute or conditional dependent upon its terms. 

2. Guaranty- guaranty of payment 
A guaranty of payment is  an absolute promise by the guarantor 

to pay the debt a t  maturity if i t  is not paid by the principal; the 
obligation of the guarantor is  separate and independent of the obliga- 
tion of the principal debtor, and the creditor's cause of action against 
the guarantor ripens immediately upon failure of the principal debtor 
to pay the debt a t  maturity. 

3. Guaranty- guaranty of collection 
A guaranty of collection is a promise by the guarantor to pay 

the debt on condition that  the creditor shall diligently prosecute the 
principal debtor without success. 

4. Guaranty- guaranty of payment 
The language of a guaranty contract constituted a guaranty of 

payment where the promise to pay when due was absolute and un- 
conditional. 

5. Attorney and Client 9; Guaranty- guaranty contract- security 
agreements - attorneys' fees 

A guaranty contract is not a "security agreement" within the 
language of G.S. 6-21.2(5), relating to liability for attorneys' fees 
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for the collection of a note, conditional sales contract or other evidence 
of indebtedness. 

6.  Attorney and Client § 9; Guaranty- promissory note - guaranty of 
payment - action on guaranty contract - creditor's attorney fees - 
liability of guarantors 

Where a promissory note contains a provision requiring the debtor 
to pay reasonable attorneys' fees of the creditor in collection of the 
note, but a guaranty of payment of the note contains no such pro- 
vision, the guarantors are not liable under G.S. 6-21.2 for attorneys' 
fees incurred by the creditor in an action on the guaranty contract. 

APPEAL by plaintiff from decision of the Court of Appeals 
(12 N. C. App. 481) reversing judgment of Thornburg, J., 29 
March 1971 Civil Session, UNION Superior Court. Docketed as  
No. 165 and argued a t  the Fall Term 1971. 

Plaintiff instituted this action to recover the sum of 
$44,320 pursuant to a guaranty agreement executed by defend- 
ants whereby defendants guaranteed the payment of a promis- 
sory note executed by Landmark Inns of Durham, Inc., payable 
to plaintiff. 

On 4 March 1966 Landmark Inns of Durham, Inc., executed 
a promissory note payable to EAC Credit Corporation, plaintiff 
herein. That note provides, inter alia, that Landmark Inns of 
Durham, Inc., the maker, will pay "a reasonable sum as Attor- 
ney's fees, if placed with an Attorney for collection." ( I t  is 
not necessary to refer to a modification of the note dated 13 
February 1968 since the modification contains an identical 
provision regarding counsel fees.) 

On 14 June 1966 Frederick M. Wilson and Helen A. Wilson, 
defendants herein, executed the guaranty agreement upon which 
this action is brought. That agreement reads as follows: 

"FOR VALUE RECEIVED, I (we) do hereby guaranty to EAC 
Credit Corporation, (hereinafter called Company) its as- 
signees and transferees, the payment when due of any and 
all notes, accounts receivable, conditional sales contracts, 
chattel mortgages, indebtedness and liability (hereinafter 
called commercial paper) a t  any time made or incurred by 
Landmark Inn of Durham, Inc., 2424 Erwin Road, Durham, 
North Carolina (hereinafter called said debtor), to said 
Company, or acquired by said company and any and all 
commercial paper a t  any time purchased or acquired from 
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said debtor, by said Company, and endorsed by said debtor 
to said Company, with or without recourse, whether said 
commercial paper so made or incurred, or so purchased and 
acquired, be retained by said company or transferred before 
or after maturity with or without recourse. 

"Said company without notice to me (us), may elect which 
specific commercial paper this guaranty shall apply to and, 
from time to time, may change its election. 

"The liability of the undersigned is direct and unconditional 
and this guaranty is given without regard to any security, 
or otherwise, and shall be effective as to any of said com- 
mercial paper as if no other guaranty or security had been 
given therefor. I (we) acknowledge that this guaranty is 
binding without the signature of any other person. I (we) 
waive notice of the acceptance of this guaranty, notice of 
the commercial paper to which the same shall apply, also 
presentment, demand, protest, and notice of protest on any 
and all such commercial paper. No renewal or extension of 
time of payment of any commercial paper, and no release 
or surrender or other security for such commercial paper, 
or delay in enforcement of payment of the principal obliga- 
tion or any security thereto shall affect my (our) liability 
thereon, even though such renewal or extension or release 
or surrender may have been given subsequent to my (our) 
death. Said company may employ said debtor as collection 
agent for the purpose of presenting or demanding payment, 
collecting or protesting any or all of said commercial paper 
a t  any time purchased or acquired from said debtor by 
said company. 

"This guaranty shall be a continuing one and shall remain 
in force until written notice from me (us) of its dis- 
continuance shall be received by said company, and until 
all commercial paper and liability covered hereby, existing 
a t  the time of such notice, shall have been fully paid." 

It will be noted that the foregoing guaranty agreement 
contains no provision for the payment of attorney fees. 

The case was heard by Judge Thornburg without a jury, 
and he entered judgment awarding plaintiff $39,182.78 repre- 
senting the sum due on the note, plus attorney's fees in the 
sum of $5,877.42 pursuant to  G.S. 6-21.2 (5).  Defendants ap- 
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pealed to the Court of Appeals assigning as error only that 
portion of the judgment awarding plaintiff $5,877.42 as attor- 
ney's fees. 

Being of the opinion that counsel fees were not recoverable 
under the facts of this case, the Court of Appeals reversed with 
Brock, J., dissenting, and plaintiff appealed to the Supreme 
Court as a matter of right under the provisions of G.S. 7A-30. 

T h m a s  and Harrington., Attorneys for plaintiff appellant. 

Powe, Porter & Alphin, P.A., by Willis P. Whichard and 
James G. Billifigs, Attorneys for defendant appellees. 

HUSKINS, Justice. 

Where a promissory note contains a provision requiring 
the debtor to pay reasonable attorneys' fees of the creditor in 
collection of the note, but a guaranty of payment of the note 
contains no such provision, are the guarantors liable under G.S. 
6-21.2 for attorneys' fees incurred by the creditor in an action 
on the guaranty contract? This is the sole question presented on 
this appeal. 

Plaintiff contends that i t  is entitled to recover attorneys' 
fees in this action upon the guaranty contract by virtue of G.S. 
6-21.2 which provides in pertinent part as follows: 

"§ 6-21.2. Attorneys' fees in  notes, etc., in addition to 
interest.-Obligations to pay attorneys' fees upon any note, 
conditional sale contract or other evidence of indebtedness, 
in addition to the legal rate of interest or finance charges 
specified therein, shall be valid and enforceable, and 
collectible as part of such debt, if such note, contract or 
other evidence of indebtedness be collected by or through an 
attorney a t  law after maturity, subject to the following 
provisions : 

"(2) If such note, conditional sale contract or other 
evidence of indebtedness provides for the payment of 
reasonable attorneys' fees by the debtor, without 
specifying any specific percentage, such provision shall 
be construed to mean fifteen percent (15%) of the 
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'outstanding balance' owing on said note, contract or 
other evidence of indebtedness. 

"(5) The holder of an unsecured note or other writ- 
ing (s) evidencing an unsecured debt, and/or the holder 
of a note and chattel mortgage or other security agree- 
ment and/or the holder of a conditional sale contract 
or any other such security agreement which evidences 
both a monetary obligation and a security interest in 
or a lease of specific goods, or his attorney a t  law, 
shall, after maturity of the obligation by default or 
otherwise, notify the maker, debtor, account debtor, 
endorser or party sought to be held on said obligation 
that the provisions relative to payment of attorneys' 
fees in addition to the 'outstanding balance' shall be 
enforced and that such maker, debtor, account debtor, 
endorser or party sought to be held on said obligation 
has five days from the mailing of such notice to pay 
the 'outstanding balance' without the attorneys' fees. 
If such party shall pay the 'outstanding balance' in 
full before the expiration of such time, then the obliga- 
tion to pay the attorneys' fees shall be void, and no 
court shall enforce such provisions." 

Plaintiff argues that G.S. 6-21.2 as quoted is sufficiently 
broad to include guarantors because the "evidence of indebted- 
ness" is the note itself which provides for attorneys' fees and 
that the guaranty contract is simply a "security agreement" 
referred to in G.S. 6-21.2(5) which secures the payment of the 
note. Defendants, on the other hand, contend that the guaranty 
agreement is the only "evidence of indebtedness" within the 
meaning of the statute and is not a security agreement "which 
evidences both a monetary obligation and a security interest 
in . . . specific goods." Since such evidence of indebtedness con- 
tains no provision for attorneys' fees, defendants contend the 
statute does not authorize collection of such fees in this action 
on the guaranty agreement. 

[I] A guaranty contract is collateral to the primary obligation 
between the debtor and the creditor, and i t  may be absolute 
or i t  may be conditional dependent upon its terms. "A guaranty 
of the payment of a debt is distinguished by the authorities 
from a guaranty of the collection thereof, the former being 
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absolute and the latter conditional." 38 Am. Jur. 2d, Guaranty 
§ 22; Garren v. You~~gblo~od, 207 N.C. 86, 176 S.E. 252 (1934). 

12, 31 A guaranty of paymeat is an absolute promise by the 
guarantor to pay the debt a t  maturity if it is not paid by the 
principal debtor. The obligation of the guarantor is separate 
and independent of the obligation of the principal debtor, and 
the creditor's cause of action against the guarantor ripens im- 
mediately upon failure of the principal debtor to pay the debt 
a t  maturity. Milling Co. v. Wallace, 242 N.C. 686, 89 S.E. 2d 
413 (1955). On the other hand, a guaranty of collection is a 
promise by the guarantor to pay the debt on condition that 
the creditor "shall diligently prosecute the principal debtor 
without success." Jenlcins v. Wilkinson, 107 N.C. 707, 12 S.E. 
630 (1890) ; Jones v. Ashford, 79 N.C. 172 (1878). 

14, 51 Here, the language of the guaranty contract amounts to 
a guaranty of payment since the promise to pay when due is 
absolute and unconditional. Moreover, the guaranty instrument 
is not a "security agreement" analogous to a chattel mortgage 
or a conditional sales contract. Rather, i t  is a contract which 
guarantees payment of the note a t  maturity if not paid by the 
maker. There is no legal basis for plaintiff's argument that the 
guaranty contract is a security agreement within the language 
of G.S. 6-21.2(5). "Security a.greement means an agreement 
which creates or provides for a security interest," G.S. 25- 
9-105 (h) ; and "security interest means an interest in personal 
property or fixtures which secures payment or performance of 
an  obligation. . . . " G.S. 25-1-201 (37). As used in the Commer- 
cial Code, the general term security agreement is ordinarily 
understood to embrace chattel mortgages, conditional sales con- 
tracts, assignments of accounts receivable, trust receipts, etc. 
Evam v. Everett, 279 N.C. 352, 183 S.E. 2d 109 (1971). The 
term has a similar connotation here, and, for that reason, G.S. 
6-21.2(5) is entirely irrelevant to the question posed by this 
appeal. 

The rights of the plaintiff as against the guarantors, de- 
fendants herein, arise out of the guaranty contract and must 
be based on that contract. "Such an action is not a suit on the 
primary obligation which the guaranty contract secures, and 
the guarantor is not liable except under the terms of the guar- 
anty contract." 38 Am. Jur. 2d, Guaranty 5 115; Milling Co. v. 
Wallace, supra [242 N.C. 686, 89 S.E. 2d 4131. Accord, Kushnick 
v. Building and Loan Assn., 153 Md. 638, 139 A. 446 (1927). 
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Where the guaranty contract is silent concerning attorneys' 
fees but the note provides for their payment, and the action i s  
brought against the maker and the guarantor jointly, there is 
authority in other jurisdictions that plaintiff may recover attor- 
neys' fees, the rationale being that such fees are a valid in- 
debtedness of the maker which the guarantor agreed to pay. See 
College National Bank v.. Morrison, 100 Cal. App. 403, 280 
P. 218 (1929) ; Franklin v.  The Duncan, 133 Tenn. 472, 182 
S.W. 230 (1916) ; Bank of California v. Union Packixg Corp., 
60 Wash. 456, 111 P. 573 (1910) ; California Standard Finance 
Co. v. Bessolo and Gualano, 118 Cal. App. 327, 5 P. 2d 480 
(1931). 

Other courts, in actions against the guarantor alone, have 
limited the liability of the guarantor of payment to payment of 
the primary debt, even though by the terms of the note the maker 
was obligated to pay the cost of collection including attorneys' 
fees. See Continental Supply Co. v. Tucker-Rose Oil Co., 
146 La. 671, 83 So. 892 (1920) ; Krinsky v. Leventhal, 323 Mass. 
160, 80 N.E. 2d 477, 4 A.L.R. 2d 136 (1948) ; Schauer v.  Mor- 
gan, 67 Mont. 455, 216 P. 347 (1923). 

For a collection of cases involving suits against the maker 
and the guarantor jointly, suits against the guarantor after a 
fruitless suit against the maker, suits where the guarantor ex- 
pressly agrees to repay the creditor for expenses of attempted 
collection from the maker, and other factual situations, see 
Annotation, Guaranty of payment at  maturity as covering ex- 
penses of collection, 4 A.L.R. 2d 138; 38 Am. Jur. 2d, Guaranty 
5 75, and cases cited. 

Decisions of this Court treat the obligation of a guarantor 
of payment separate and distinct from that of the maker. Cole- 
m a n  v.  Fuller, 105 N.C. 328, 11 S.E. 175 (1890) ; Cowan v. 
Roberts, 134 N.C. 415, 46 S.E. 979 (1903) ; Rouse v .  Wooten, 
140 N.C. 557, 53 S.E. 430 (1905) ; Trztst Go. v.  Clifton, 203 
N.C. 483, 166 S.E. 334 (1932). "Their contract of guaranty 
is their own separate contract jointly and severally to pay the 
debts of the male defendants when due, if not paid by the male 
defendants. . . : they are not in any sense parties to the [note]." 
Milling Co. v. Wallace, supra [242 N.C. 686, 89 S.E. 2d 4131. 

[6] Applying these principles to the facts before us, we hold 
that G.S. 6-21.2 does not authorize collection of attorneys' fees 
in this action. The guaranty contract sued upon does not so 
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provide. Guaranty of payment alone does not render the guaran- 
tors liable for attorneys' fees which the principal debtor, by the 
terms of the note, is bound to pay. Well-reasoned decisions from 
other jurisdictions supporting this view include Walker v. 
McNeal, 134 Okla. 111, 272 I?. 443 (1928) ; Midway National 
Bank v. Gzcstafson, 282 Minn. 73, 165 N.W. 2d 218 (1968) ; 
Estes v. Oilfield Salvage Co. (Tex. Civ. App.), 284 S.W. 2d 201 
(I%%). 

For the reasons stated the decision of the Court of Appeals 
reversing that part of the judgment of the trial court which 
awarded plaintiff attorneys' fees in the sum of $5,877.42 is 

Af f i rmed .  

ADAMS-MILLIS CORPORATION, RAY M. GRAVES, JR., AND PAUL 
A. BUTNER v. TOWN O F  KERNERSVILLE, NORTH CAROLINA 

No. 34 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

1. Taxation § 25- ad valorem taxes- property within annexation area 
- appeal of annexation ordinance 

Where an appeal from an annexation ordinance was pending in 
the Court of Appeals on the effective date of annexation specified in 
the ordinance, 15 May 1969, and the decision of the Court of Appeals 
was filed and certified in September 1969, property within the area 
being annexed was not subject to n~unicipal ad valorem taxes for the 
fiscal year beginning 1 July 1969, since (1) newly annexed territory 
"is subject to municipal taxes levied for the fiscal year following the 
effective date of annexation," G.S. 160-453.5(f), and (2) under G.S. 
160-453.6(i) the appeal postponed the effective date of the ordinance 
until "the date of the final judgment" of the appellate court. 

2. Municipal Corporations 8 2- appeal from annexation ordinance- 
Court of Appeals 

An appeal from an order of the superior court affirming an an- 
nexation ordinance was properly taken to the Court of Appeals, not- 
withstanding by legislative oversight Sections (h) and (i)  of G.S. 
60-453.6 were not amended to include the Court of Appeals as  one of 
the appellate courts, since G.S. 7A-27 gives initial appellate jurisdic- 
tion of such cause to the Court of Appeals, and the Court of Appeals, 
therefore, is deemed to be included in G.S. 160-453.6(h) and (i). 
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APPEAL by plaintiffs from Kivett, J., 20 September 1971 
Session "B" of Forsyth, certified for initial appellate review by 
the Supreme Court under G.S. 7A-31. 

Plaintiffs instituted this action on 1 March 1971 pursuant 
to G.S. 105-267 and G.S. 105-406 (now G.S. 105-381 (1971) ) to 
recover taxes paid defendant under protest. 

Admissions in the pleadings, the record evidence, and 
affidavits establish the following facts: On 6 August 1968 the 
Board of Aldermen for the Town of Kernersville (the Town) 
adopted an ordinance extending the corporate limits to include, 
inter aEia, the territory designated as Study Area No. Four. 
The effective date of the annexation was specified in the ordi- 
nance as 15 May 1969. Each of the plaintiffs owns real and 
personal property located in Area No. Four. 

On 5 September 1968 plaintiff Adams-Millis Corporation 
(Adams-Millis) , acting under G.S. 160-453.6, appealed the an- 
nexation of Area No. Four to the Superior Court. The appeal 
was heard by Seay, J., who affirmed tne annexation ordinance 
without change on 6 February 1969. Adams-Millis appealed to 
the Court of Appeals and, on 14 May 1969, petitioned Judge Seay 
to stay the operation of the ordinance as to Area Four pending 
the appeal. On the sa,me day Judge Seay denied the petition. 
On 17 September 1969 the Court of Appeals filed its decision 
affirming Judge Seay's judgment, Adams-Millis Corp. v. Ker- 
nersville, 6 N.C. App. 78, 169 S.E. 2d 496. The decision was cer- 
tified to the Superior Court of Forsyth County on 29 September 
1969. This Court denied certiorari on 2 December 1969,' 275 
N.C. 681. 

While the Adams-Millis appeal from the annexation ordi- 
nance was pending before the Court of Appeals, the Town, pur- 
porting to act under G.S. 160-453.5 (f) ,  levied ad valorem taxes 
against plaintiffs' property in Area Four for the fiscal year 
beginning 1 July 1969 and ending 30 June 1970. Plaintiffs paid 
these taxes under protest and brought this action. Kivett, J., 
adjudged that plaintiffs were not entitled to a refund of the 
protested taxes and dismissed the action. Plaintiffs appealed to 
the Court of Appeals, and we allowed their petition for initial 
appellate review by this Court. 

Womble, Carlyle, Smdridge & Rice for plaintiff appellants. 

R. Kasm Keiger for defendant appellee. 
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SHARP, Justice. 

[I] Newly annexed territory is "subject to municipal taxes 
levied for the fiscal year following the effective date of annex- 
ation." G.S. 160-453.5 (f) . Therefore, plaintiffs' right to recover 
taxes paid under protest for the fiscal year beginning 1 July 
1969 depends upon whether the annexation ordinance became 
effective before or after that date. The answer to this question 
is found in G.S. 160-453.6 (i) , which provides : 

"If part or all of the area annexed under the terms of an 
annexation ordinance is the subject of an appeal to the superior 
or Supreme Court on the effective date of the ordinance, then 
the ordinance shall be deemed amended to make the effective 
date with respect to such area the date of the final judgment 
of the superior or Supreme Court, whichever is appropriate, or 
the date the municipal governing board completes action to 
make the ordinance conform to the court's instructions in the 
event of remand.'' 

[2] Before considering this section i t  must be noted that at 
the time i t  was enacted as N. C. Sess. Laws, Ch. 1010, Section 
6 (1959), the Supreme Court was the only court to which an 
appeal could be taken from the superior court. When the Court 
of Appeals was created as of 1 January 1967, the appellate 
division of the General Court of Justice became the Supreme 
Court and the Court of Appeals. G.S. 7A-5, G.S. 7A-16; State 
v. Cobort, 274 N.C. 295, 163 S.E. 2d 376. By a clear Iegislative 
oversight Sections (h) and (i) of G.S. 160-453.6 were not 
amended to include the Court of Appeals as one of the appellate 
courts. However, N. C. Sess. Laws, Ch. 108, Section 1 (1967), 
codified as G.S. 7A-25 to -35, defines the respective appellate 
jurisdiction of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals. 
By G.S. 7A-27 initial appellate jurisdiction of this cause is given 
to the Court of Appeals subject, however, to the provisions of 
G.S. 7A-31. The Court of Appeals, therefore, is now deemed to 
be included in Sections (h) and (i) of G.S. 160-453.6. Gwilford 
County v. Estates Administration, Inc., 212 N.C. 653, 194 S.E. 
295. This appeal was properly taken to the Court of Appeals, 
from which i t  was transferred to this Court upon our order 
entered under G.S. 7A-31. 

Applying Section (i) to the facts of this case, i t  is quite 
obvious that the effective date of the annexation of Area Four 
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was subsequent to the fiscal year beginning 1 July 1969, and 
that plaintiffs' property was illegally assessed for taxes that 
year. 

On 15 May 1969, the effective date specified in the ordi- 
nance, the annexation of Area Four was the subject of an appeal 
to the Court of Appeals. Therefore, the ordinance did not be- 
come effective until "the date of the final judgment" of that 
court. Its decision, filed 17 September 1969, was certified to 
the Superior Court on 29 September 1969. This Court denied 
certiorari on 2 December 1969. Therefore, the date on which 
the ordinance became effective could not have been earlier than 
29 September 1969; so the fiscal year following the effective 
date of annexation did not begin until 1 July 1970. 

Notwithstanding the unambiguous language of Section (i) , 
defendant Town asserts that to construe i t  as written is to set 
a t  naught the provisions of Section (h) of the same statute, 
G.S. 160-453.6, which governs appeals in annexation proceed- 
ings. Section (h),  after authorizing any party to a proceeding 
for the review of an annexation ordinance to appeal from the 
final judgment of the Superior Court, provides: 

"The appealing party may apply to the superior court for 
a stay in its final determination, or a stay of the annexation 
ordinance, whichever shall be appropriate, pending the outcome 
of the appeal to the Supreme Court; provided, that the superior 
court may, with the agreement of the municipality, permit an- 
nexation to be effective with respect to any part of the area 
concerning which no appeal is being made and which can be 
incorporated into the city without regard to any part of the 
area concerning which an appeal is being made." 

The Town contends that if the legislature had intended by 
Section (i) to stay an annexation ordinance until i t  had "been 
processed" through the Superior Court and the appellate divi- 
sion, there would have been no reason to authorize a stay of 
annexation "pending the outcome of the appeal" in Section (h). 
It argues: (1) When the Superior Court affirmed the ordinance 
without change on 6 February 1969, and thereafter refused to 
stay its operation pending the appeal, as i t  was authorized to 
do under Section (h),  the annexation became effective on 15 
May 1969, subject only to reversal in the appellate division; and 
(2) when the Court of Appeals, in a decision which the Supreme 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 151 

State v. Atkinson 

Court declined to review, affirmed the judgment of the Superior 
Court i t  also affirmed the ordinance and 15 May 1969 as the 
effective date of the annexation of Area Four since that was the 
date specified therein. 

The explicit language of Section (i) ,  which fits this case 
exactly, renders the Town's contentions untenable. The first sen- 
tence of Section (h),  which permits either party to a review 
proceeding to appeal, is applicable to any case. However, the 
proviso which concludes the second >and last sentence is not 
applicable to this case. The first portion of the second sentence 
is utterly irreconciIabIe with Section (i) and, in this context, 
we cannot discern its meaning, if any. Without attempting to 
analyze Section (h) or to fathom its meaning, we hold that 
Section (i) controls decision here. 

The Town's contentions that this action is a collateral 
attack on the ordinance and that plaintiffs are estopped to 
recover the taxes paid under protest are without merit and 
require no discussion. 

For the reasons stated herein plaintiffs are entitled to 
recover the taxes for which this suit was instituted. The decision 
of the Superior Court is 

Reversed. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. DEE D. ATKINSON 

No. 52 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

Criminal Law § 135- life sentence - compliance with Supreme Court order 
Judgment of life imprisonment imposed by the superior court in 

compliance with an order of the N. C. Supreme Court is affirmed. 

Justice LAKE dissenting. 

APPEAL by defendant from Clark, J., November 1971 Crimi- 
nal Session, JOHNSTON Superior Court. 

Robert A. Sperzce, Attorney for defendant appellant. 

Robert Morgan, Attorney General, Andrew A. Vanore, 
Jr., Deputy Attorney Gelzerat, for the State of North Carolina. 
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HUSKINS, Justice. 

In State v. Atkinson, 279 N.C. 385, 183 S.E. 2d 105, filed 
7 September 1971, for the reasons therein stated, this Court 
remanded the cause to the Superior Court of Johnston County 
for the pronouncement of a life sentence pursuant to the man- 
date of the Supreme Court of the United States. On 29 November 
1971, in open court, after due notice and in the presence of 
defendant and his counsel, Judge Clark pronounced judgment 
that defendant be imprisoned in the State prison for and during 
the term of his natural life, said sentence to commence upon 
the termination of a life sentence imposed a t  the November Ses- 
sion 1971 of the Superior Court of Wayne County on the charge 
of murder. Defendant excepted and gave notice of appeal. 

The questions defendant attempts to raise on the present 
appeal heretofore have been decided adversely to him, and 
we decline to explore them again. Judge Clark's judgment, 
having been entered in  compliance with our decision of 7 Sep- 
tember 1971, is 

Affirmed. 

Justice LAKE dissenting. 

I dissent for the reasons previously stated in my dissenting 
opinions in State u. Hill, 279 N.C. 371, 378, 183 S.E. 2d 97, 
and in the present case when heretofore remanded by this Court 
for the entry of the judgment now affirmed. State v. Atkinson, 
279 N.C. 385, 183 S.E. 2d 105. 

STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. DEE D. ATKINSON 

No. 49 

(Filed 12 April 1972) 

Criminal Law 8 135- life sentence - compliance with Supreme Court order 
Judgment of life imprisonment imposed by the superior court in 

compliance with an order of the N. C. Supreme Court is  affirmed. 

Justice LAKE dissenting. 

APPEAL by defendant from Tillery, J., November 1971 
Criminal Session of WAYNE Superior Court. 
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Attorney General Robert Movgan and Deputy At torney  Gen- 
eral Andrew A. Vanore, Jr., for  the  State. 

Kornegay & Bruce by  George R. Kornegay, Jr., for  defend- 
ant appellant. 

MOORE, Justice. 

In  State v. Atkinson,  279 N.C. 386, 183 S.E. 2d 106, filed 
September 7, 1971, for the reasons there stated by Chief Jus- 
tice Bobbitt, this Court remanded the cause to the Superior 
Court of Wayne County for the pronouncement of judgment 
imposing a sentence of life imprisonment. On November 3, 1971, 
i n  open court, after due notice and in the presence of defendant 
and his counsel, Judge Tillery pronounced judgment that defend- 
ant be imprisoned for life in the State's prison. Defendant ex- 
cepted and gave notice of appeal. The questions he attempts to 
raise by his assignments of error on the present appeal here- 
tofore have been decided adversely to defendant in this cause. 

Judge Tillery's judgment, having been entered in strict 
compliance with our order of September 7, 1971, is affirmed. 

Affirmed. 

Justice LAKE dissenting. 

I dissent for the reasons previously stated in my dissenting 
opinions in State v. Hill, 279 N.C. 371, 378, 183 S.E. 2d 97, 
and in the present case when heretofore remanded by this Court 
for the entry of the judgment now affirmed. State v. Atkinson,  
279 N.C. 386, 183 S.E. 2d 106. 
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CORNATZER v. NICKS 
No. 64 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 152. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 2 May 1972. 

GARDNER v. BRADY 
No. 52 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 647. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 4 April 1972. 

LOFLIN v. LOFLIN 
No. 44 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 574. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 4 April 1972. 

REGAN v. PLAYER 
No. 37 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 593. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 13 April 1972. 

RIDDICK v. WHITAKER 
No. 14 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 416. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 4 April 1972. 
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SMITH v. KILBURN 
No. 25 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 449. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 4 April 1972. 

STATE v. ANDREWS 
No. 123. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 718. 
Motion of Attorney General to dismiss appeal for lack of 

substantial constitutional question allowed 25 April 1972. 

STATE v. BENNETT 
No. 41 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 251. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 2 May 1972. 

STATE V. DAYE 
No. 61 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 166. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 25 April 1972. 

STATE v. GODWIN 
No. 79 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 700. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 2 May 1972. 
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STATE V. KELLY 
No. 28 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 588. 
Petition for  writ  of certiorari to  North Carolina Court of 

Appeals allowed 4 April 1972. 

STATE v. KISTLER 
No. 5 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 431. 
Petition for  writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals allowed 4 April 1972. 

STATE v. KISTLER 
No. 118. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 431. 
Motion of Attorney General to dismiss petition for writ of 

certiorari a s  improvidently granted allowed 25 April 1972. 

STATE v. MARTIN 
No. 49. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 613. 
Petition fo r  writ  of certiorari to  North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 13 April 1972. 

STATE v. MARTIN 
No. 115. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 613. 
Motion of Attorney General to  dismiss appeal for lack of 

substantial constitutional question allowed 25 April 1972. 
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STATE v. MAYS 
No. 77 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 90. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 2 May 1972. 

STATE v. PARKS 
No. 72 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 97. 
Petition for  writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 2 May 1972. 

STATE v. SMITH 
No. 48 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 583. 
Petition for  writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 4 April 1972. 

STATE V. TURNER 
No. 51 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 603. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 4 April 1972. 

STATE v. WILLIAMS 
No. 38 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 619. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 4 April 1972. 
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UTILITIES COMMISSION v. PETROLEUM CARRIERS 
No. 53 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 554. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 25 April 1972. 

WILSON v. CHEMICAL CO. 
No. 46 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 610. 

Petition for writ of certiorari to  North Carolina Court of 
Appeals allowed 4 April 1972. 

WOODS v. ENTERPRISES, INC. 
No. 45 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 650. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 4 April 1972. 
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JAHALA S. WRIGHT v. A. J. WRIGHT 

No. 61 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Evidence 5 12; Divorce and Alimony 9 16; Rules of Civil Procedure 
5 33- interrogatories -sexual intercourse between husband and wife 
- confidential communications 

In the wife's action for alimony and alimony pendente  l i te ,  the 
wife may not be compelled to answer interrogatories which seek to 
elicit her answers under oath as to acts of sexual intercourse between 
the husband and wife, since such an act is a "confidential communica- 
tion" within the meaning of G.S. 8-56. 

2. Divorce and Alimony 5 14; Evidence 5 12- adultery -competency of 
spouse to testify 

Because of the provisions of G.S. 8-56 and G.S. 50-10, neither 
the husband nor the wife is a competent witness in any action 
i n t e r  se to give evidence for or against the other in any action or 
proceeding in consequence of adultery, or  in any action or proceeding 
for divorce on account of adultery, and may not be compelled to give 
such evidence. 

3. Divorce and Alimony 5 14; Evidence 5 12 -action in consequence of 
adultery - plea of adultery 

The husband's interposition of the plea of adultery in the wife's 
action for alimony and alimony pendente l i t e  converted the action into 
an "action or proceeding in consequence of adultery" within the 
meaning of G.S. 8-56. 

4. Divorce and Alimony 5 14; Evidence § 12; Rules of Civil Procedure 
5 33- interrogatories - adultery of husband or wife -actions inter se 

Rules of Civil Procedure 33 and 26(b) do not require the husband 
or wife in actions i n t e r  se to answer interrogatories relating to acts of 
adultery or conduct from which adultery might be implied during the 
subsistence of their marriage, the provisions of G.S. 8-56 and G.S. 
50-10 being applicable to interrogatories as  well as  to testimony a t  
trial. 

5. Evidence $3 51; Parent and Child 5 1- blood-grouping tests -paternity 
- civil and criminal actions 

In  both criminal and civil actions in which the issue of paternity 
arises, the results of blood-grouping tests must be admitted in evidence 
when offered by a duly licensed practicing physician or other qualified 
person, regardless of any presumptions with respect to paternity, and 
such evidence is competent to rebut any presumptions of paternity. 
G.S. 8-50.1. 

6. Evidence 5 51; Parent and Child 5 1- paternity -right to blood- 
grouping test 

In  plaintiff-wife's action for alimony, alimony pendente  l i t e  and 
child support, defendant-husband was entitled under G.S. 8-50.1 to an 
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order for a blood-grouping test where plaintiff alleged and defendant 
denied that  he was the father of a child born to plaintiff during the 
subsistence of the marriage. 

7. Divorce and Alimony § 14; Evidence 9 51; Parent and Child 8 1- 
blood-grouping tests -issues of paternity and adultery 

In a case in which issues of paternity and adultery are raised, 
evidence of the results of blood-grouping tests excluding the husband 
as the father of a child born during the subsistence of the marriage 
is competent on both the issue of paternity and the issue of adultery. 

ON appeal by defendant under G.S. 7A-30(2) from the 
decision of the Court of Appeals reported in 11 N.C. App. 
190, 180 S.E. 2d 369, docketed and argued as No. 46 a t  Fall 
Term 1971. 

Plaintiff-wife instituted this action on November 14, 1969. 
She alleged that she had separated herself from defendant- 
husband because he had offered such indignities to her person as 
to render her condition intolerable and her life burdensome. 
Answering, defendant denied the essential allegations on which 
plaintiff based her claim; and, in a further answer and de- 
fense, alleged facts with reference to plaintiff's conduct toward 
him which he contended constituted a bar to her action. These 
charges and counter charges are not germane to decision on 
this appeal. 

Plaintiff prayed for custody of and support for Sidney 
Cullen Wright, alimony and possession of the family dwelling, 
and for subsistence and counsel fees pendente lite. 

Plaintiff alleged that she and defendant were married on 
August 7, 1948; that three children were born of the marriage, 
Joseph Dewey Wright, age 20 (born July 13, 1949) ; Brenda 
Kathryn Wright, age 18 (born October 7, 1951) ; and Sidney 
Cullen Wright, age 2 (born  December 5, 1966). 

In Paragraph 4 of his original answer, which was filed 
January 27, 1970, defendant admitted the allegations of plaln- 
tiff set out in the preceding paragraph hereof; in Paragraph 11 
he asserted that "defendant certainly admits that Sidney Cullen 
Wright is entitled to support from him, regardless of the 
court's decision relative to custody of the said child"; in Para- 
graph 18 of his further answer and defense he asserted that 
"defendant is a f i t  and proper person to have the custody of 
Sidney Cullen Wright, and the best interests of the said child 
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will be served by awarding his custody to the defendant"; and 
in Paragraph 1 of his prayer for relief he asked that "[tlhe 
court award the custody of Sidney Cullen Wright to the defend- 
ant herein." 

Defendant also filed on January 27, 1970, "Interrogatories 
to Plaintiff" in which he called for answers to sixty-five inter- 
rogatories. On January 29, 1970, plaintiff filed an "Objection to 
Interrogatories," in which she moved that "she not be required 
to answery9 Nos. 20 through 33 and Nos. 36 through 51. 

The thirty interrogatories to which plaintiff objected con- 
tained numerous sub-questions. Generally, defendant called upon 
plaintiff to answer under oath and in detail questions relating 
to the following: whether the child born on December 5, 1966, 
was conceived between February 25, 1966, and March 25, 1966; 
whether she had sexual intercourse with her husband during the 
period from January 1, 1966, to March 25, 1966, and the date 
of each act of intercourse during this period; whether she was 
absent from the family residence during the evening hours or 
overnight during the period from November 5, 1965, through 
March 25, 1966; whether she was acquainted and to what extent 
she had associated with each of three named men; and whether 
she had committed adultery a t  any time during her marriage 
to defendant and, if so, the date of each adulterous act and 
the name and address of each man with whom she had commit- 
ted adultery. 

On February 10, 1970, District Court Judge A. A. Webb, al- 
lowing defendant's motion therefor, ordered that plaintiff, Sid- 
ney Cullen Wright, and defendant, submit to a blood-grouping 
test as provided by G.S. 8-50.1. Judge Webb made no ruling a t  
that time on plaintiff's objections to the enumerated intewoga- 
tories. The report of Dr. W. M. Summerville, clinical pathologist, 
which was filed February 24, 1970, sets forth that he performed 
the tests on February 18 and 20, 1970, and that "[a] ccording to 
[his] findings and the hereditary blood pattern, A. J. Wright 
is excluded as a parent of Sidney Cullen Wright." 

On April 3, 1970, defendant moved for leave to amend his 
answer so as to delete admissions that he was the father of 
Sidney Cullen Wright and to plead adultery of plaintiff in bar 
of her right to recover in this action. Judge Webb's order grant- 
ing defendant's motion for leave to amend and the amendment 
itself were filed on April 3, 1970. 
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In an order dated April 21, 1970, Judge Webb directed 
plaintiff "to answer each and every interrogatory . . . within 
ten (10) calendar days from the date of this order." 

[Motions and orders with reference to placing the inter- 
rogatories in a sealed container and in the protective custody of 
the clerk are not set forth because not germane to any of the 
questions before us on appeal.] 

In a motion filed May 18, 1970, plaintiff moved (1) that 
the court adjudge void its prior order for blood-grouping tests; 
(2) that the report of the blood-grouping tests be removed from 
the record; (3) that the court strike the amendment to the 
answer; (4) that defendant's motion of May 15, 1970, [referred 
to below] be denied; (5) that plaintiff's "Objection to Interroga- 
tories" be sustained; (6) that the court set the case peremp- 
torily for hearing on plaintiff's prayer for relief; and (7) for 
"such other and further relief to which plaintiff may be 
entitled." 

In his motion of May 15, 1970, defendant moved that the 
court, because of plaintiff's failure to answer the interroga- 
tories, treat as established thirteen specific factual matters set 
forth in the motion. 

In a motion filed June 15, 1970, because of the intervening 
death of Dr. W. M. Summerville, defendant moved that the 
court order that plaintiff, the child and defendant submit them- 
selves again for a blood-grouping test. 

In an order dated June 9, 1970, filed June 16, 1970, Judge 
Webb directed plaintiff "to answer each and every interrogatory 
propounded, under oath, before June 19, 1970, and serve a copy 
on counsel for defendant before June 19, 1970," but denied "at 
this time" defendant's motion of May 15, 1970; and, with this 
exception, he denied each of the several prayers for relief set 
forth by plaintiff in her motion of May 18, 1970. Plaintiff 
excepted specifically to each adverse ruling. 

In a supplementary order dated June 9, 1970, filed June 
16, 1970, Judge Webb, allowing defendant's motion therefor, 
ordered that defendant, plaintiff and Sidney Cullen Wright ap- 
pear a t  a designated time and place before a designated tech- 
nician and then and there submit to a blood-grouping test. 
Plaintiff excepted. 
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Plaintiff's appeal to the Court of Appeals was from the 
two orders entered on June 9, 1970, and the denial of plaintiff's 
motions made on May 18, 1970. 

In an opinion by Judge Morris, with which Judge Vaughn 
concurred and from which Judge Brock dissented, the Court of 
Appeals reversed the order of Judge Webb requiring plaintiff, 
the child and defendant to submit themselves again for a blood- 
grouping test. Because of the dissent, defendant appeals of 
right to the Supreme Court. 

Clark,  H u f f m a n  & G r i f f i n ,  by  Robert  L. H u f f m a n ,  for plain- 
tiff appellee, 

Thomas & Harrington,  by  L. E. Harrington,  f o r  defendant  
appellant. 

BOBBITT, Chief Justice. 

In her appeal from the District Court to the Court of 
Appeals, plaintiff asserted that Judge Webb erred (1) by order- 
ing her to answer the interrogatories, and (2) by ordering that 
she, the child and defendant submit to a blood-grouping test. 
The Court of Appeals made no ruling in respect of the order 
requiring plaintiff to answer the interrogatories. It reversed the 
order for the blood-grouping test. 

G.S. 50-16.6 (a) provides : "Alimony or alimony pendente 
lite shall not be payable when adultery is pleaded in bar of 
demand for alimony or alimony pendente lite, made in an 
action or cross action, and the issue of adultery is found against 
the spouse seeking alimony, but this shall not be a bar to 
reasonable counsel fees." 

Defendant pleaded adultery in bar of plaintiff's demand 
for alimony pendente lite and alimony. Whether the court should 
allow alimony pendente lite depends upon its answer to the 
issue raised by defendant's plea. Judge Webb deferred decision 
on this issue pending the availability of evidence resulting from 
compliance with his orders. By order dated June 9, 1970, Judge 
Webb allowed a fee of $1,200.00 to plaintiff's counsel for his 
services to that date. No order for the payment of alimony 
pendente l i te has been entered. 
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The purpose of Interrogatories Nos. 20 through 33 and 
Nos. 36 through 51 is to elicit answers under oath which tend to 
show (1) that plaintiff had committed adultery, and (2) that 
defendant is not the father of the child born December 5, 1966. 
Evidence that defendant is not the father of her child would be 
evidence of plaintiff's adultery; but evidence of her adultery, 
except a t  a time when the child was or may have been conceived, 
would not be evidence that defendant is not the father of the 
child. 

May one spouse, by filing interrogatories in the manner 
provided by Rule 33 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, G.S. 1A-1, 
compel disclosure by the other under oath of acts of adultery com- 
mitted by him or by her during the subsistence of their mar- 
riage? Defendant contends that this question must be answered 
in the affirmative, basing his contention primarily on Rules 33 
and 26(b) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, G.S. 1A-1. Plaintiff 
contends that this question must be answered in the negative, 
basing her contention primarily on G.S. 8-56 and G.S. 50-10. 

Defendant points out that Rule 33 provides that inter- 
rogatories to parties "may relate to any matters which can be 
inquired into under Rule 26 (b) ," and that Rule 26 (b) provides 
that "the deponent may be examined regarding any matter, not 
privileged, which is reIevant to subject matter in the pending 
action . . . . " Obviously, answers to the interrogatories to 
which plaintiff objects are relevant to the issues raised by 
defendant's pleading. The question is whether, because of the 
statutory provisions quoted and discussed below, a spouse has 
the privilege not to answer interrogatories relating specifically 
to his or her adultery or to facts from which adultery might be 
implied. 

G.S. 8-56 provides: "In any trial or inquiry in any suit, 
action or proceeding in any court, or before any person having, 
by law or consent of parties, authority to examine witnesses or 
hear evidence, the husband or wife of any party thereto, or of 
any person in whose behalf any such suit, action or proceeding 
is brought, prosecuted, opposed or defended, shall, except  as 
here in  s ta ted,  be competent and compellable to  give evidence, as 
any other witness on behalf of any party to such suit, action or 
proceeding. N o t h i n g  here in  shall render  a n y  husband or w i f e  
competent  or  compellable t o  give evidence f o r  or  agains t  t h e  
other  in a n y  act ion o r  proceeding in consequence o f  adul tery ,  or 
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in a n y  action or  proceeding f o r  divorce o n  account o f  adul tery;  
or in any action or proceeding for or on account of criminal 
conversation, except that in actions of criminal conversation 
brought by the husband in which the character of the wife is 
assailed she shall be a competent witness to testify in refutation 
of such charges: Provided, hawever, that in all such actions 
and proceedings, the husband or wife shall be competent to 
prove, and may be required to prove, the fact of marriage. N o  
husband or w i f e  shall be compellable t o  disclose a n y  confiden- 
t ial  communication made  b y  one t o  t h e  other during the i r  mar-  
?+age." (Our italics.) 

G.S. 58-1 0 provides : "The material facts in every complaint 
asking for a divorce shall be deemed to be denied by the defend- 
ant, whether the same shall be actually denied by pleading or 
not, and no judgment shall be given in favor of the plaintiff in 
any such complaint until such facts have been found by a jury, 
and o n  such  trial nei ther  t h e  husband nor w i f e  shall be a com- 
petent wi tness  t o  prove t h e  adul tery  o f  the  other, n o r  shall t h e  
admissions o f  either party  be received as evidence t o  prove such 
fact.  Notwithstanding the above provisions, the right to have 
the facts determined by a jury shall be deemed to be waived in 
divorce actions based on a one-year separation as set forth in 
G.S. 50-5 (4) or 50-6, where defendant has been personally served 
with summons, whether within or without the State, or where 
the defendant has accepted service of summons, whether within 
or without the State, or when service has been made upon the 
defendant by registered mail as provided in the Rules of Civil 
Procedure, unless such defendant, or the plaintiff, files a de- 
mand for a jury trial with the clerk of the court in which the 
action is pending, as provided in the Rules of Civil Procedure. 

"In all divorce actions tried without a jury as provided in 
this section the presiding judge shall answer the issues and 
render judgment thereon." (Our italics.) 

"At common law husband and wife were absolutely in- 
competent to testify in an action to which either was a par- 
ty, . . . . " Stansbury, North Carolina Evidence, $ 58 (2d ed. 
1963). The first sentence of G.S. 8-56 removed this disqualifica- 
tion by providing, with explicit exceptions, that husband and 
wife are both competent and compellable to testify as any other 
witness on behalf of any party to the action. 
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In  determining whether a husband or wife is a competent 
witness  to prove the adultery of the other, the quoted statutes 
(including prior statutes from which they are derived) being 
in parn' materia, have been construed together. Based largely 
upon the requirement of G.S. 50-10 that  "no judgment shall 
be given in favor of the plaintiff in any such [divorce] com- 
plaint until such facts have been found by a jury," which was 
absolute prior to the 1963 amendment, this Court held that  the 
primary purpose in restricting the husband's or wife's compe- 
tency and in prohibiting "the admissions of either party" to 
prove the fact of his or her adultery, was to obviate the risk of 
and opportunity for collusive divorces. Moss v. Moss, 24 N.C. 
55 (1841) ; Hansley v. Hansley, 32 N.C. 506 (1849) ; Perkins v. 
Perkins, 88 N.C. 41 (1883) ; Hooper v. Hooper, 165 N.C. 605, 
81 S.E. 933 (1914) ; Beeke?. v. Becker, 262 N.C. 685, 138 S.E. 
2d 507 (1964) ; H i c k  v. Hicks, 275 N.C. 370, 167 S.E. 2d 761 
(1969). As pointed out by Justice Walker, "husbands and wives 
are incompetent to give evidence only where they testify 'for or 
against each other' in the class of cases specified" in the statute 
now codified as  G.S. 8-56. Powell v. Strickland, 163 N.C. 393, 
399, 79 S.E. 872, 874 (1913). Where the husband sued for 
divorce on the ground of adultery and offered as witnesses two 
men who testified they had engaged in adulterous acts with 
the wife, the wife was not prohibited from testifying in defense 
of herself. Broom v. Broom, 130 N.C. 562, 41 S.E. 673 (1902). 
Too, where the husband sued for divorce on the ground of adul- 
tery and the wife pleaded his condonation by engaging in sexual 
intercourse with her, the husband was permitted to testify in his 
own defense in contradiction of the wife's allegations and evi- 
dence as to  condonation. Biggs v. Biggs, 253 N.C. 10, 116 S.E. 
2d 178 (1960). 

No attempt will be made here to reconcile our decisions 
involving the c m p e t e n c y  of a husband or wife to testify in a 
suit against a third party for criminal conversation with refer- 
ence to alleged adulterous conduct of the defendant and the 
non-party spouse. Decisions which deal with this type of factual 
situation include the following: Grant v. Mitchell, 156 N.C. 15, 
71 S.E. 1087 (1911) ; McCall v. Galloway, 162 N.C. 353, 78 
S.E. 429 (1913) ; Powell v. Strickland, supra; Knighten v. 
McClain, 227 N.C. 682, 44 S.E. 2d 79 (1947). 

[I] With specific reference to interrogatories which seek to 
elicit plaintiff's answers under oath as to acts of sexual inter- 
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course between plaintiff and defendant, it is sufficient to say: 
G.S. 8-56 provides that "[nlo husband or wife shall be com- 
pellable to disclose any confidential communication made by 
one to the other during their marriage." (Our italics.) " [Aln 
act of intercourse between husband and wife is a confidential 
communication." Biggs  v. Biggs,  supra  a t  16, 116 S.E. 2d at 183. 

[2] Construing G.S. 8-56 and G.S. 50-10 together, we hold that 
neither the husband nor the wife is a competent  wi tness  in any 
action i n t e r  se to give evidence for or against the other in any 
action or proceeding in consequence of adultery, or in any action 
or proceeding for divorce on account of adultery, and m u y  n o t  
be compelled to give such evidence. 

[3] This is an action between husband and wife. While in form 
an  affirmative defense, we think interposition of the plea of 
adultery converted this into an "action or proceeding in conse- 
quence of adultery" within the meaning of G.S. 8-56. To hold 
otherwise would be to substitute form for substance. 

[4] The District Court has not acted on plaintiff's application 
for alimony pendente lite. A finding of fact that plaintiff had 
committed adultery would defeat plaintiff's right thereto. The 
purpose of Interrogatories Nos. 20 through 33 and Nos. 36 
through 51 is to compel answers which will or may tend to 
prove the adultery of plaintiff or disclose facts pertinent thereto. 
If plaintiff is required to give answers which will or may in- 
criminate her in respect of adultery, plaintiff would be com- 
pelled "to give evidence for" defendant within the meaning of 
G.S. 8-56. We further hold that the provisions of G.S. 8-56 and 
G.S. 50-10 which render a husband or wife an incompetent wit- 
ness apply to answers to interrogatories as well as to testimony 
a t  trial. 

Plaintiff is not a competent witness to give evidence for 
defendant in this action. She is exempted from giving such 
evidence either a t  trial or before trial. The provision of Rule 
26(b) that "[ilt is not ground for objection that the testimony 
will be inadmissible a t  the trial if the testimony sought appears 
reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible 
evidence" refers only to testimony that will or might be in- 
admissible a t  trial. The statutes construed above relate to the 
disqualification of husband or wife as a wi tness  with reference 
to specific matters, not to the admissibility or inadmissibility of 
the testimony of a qualified witness. 
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Prior to the Rules of Civil Procedure, G.S. 1A-1, the statu- 
tory procedure for  the examination of an adverse party before 
trial was set forth in Article 46 of Chapter 1 of the General 
Statutes (Recompiled 1953). We find no decision based thereon 
or on the Rules of Civil Procedure which relate to  a pretrial 
adverse examination of one spouse by the other or to interroga- 
tories by one spouse to the other concerning matters such as 
those involved in the interrogatories under consideration. 

We note that  our Rules of Civil Procedure are  modeled after 
the Federal Rules and in most instances are verbatim copies 
with the same enumerations. Su t ton  v. Duke,  277 N.C. 94, 176 
S.E. 2d 161 (1970). Ordinarily, we look to federal decisions for 
guidance in the interpretation and application of our correspond- 
ing rule. However, since the federal courts do not t ry  divorce 
actions, federal decisions are not germane in respect of the 
application of Rules 33 and 26(b) to the factual situation now 
under review. 

In  our view, the General Assembly, in enacting the Rules 
of Civil Procedure, did not contemplate that  Rules 33 and 26 (b) 
would enable the husband and the wife in actions between them 
to require the other to answer interrogatories relating to acts of 
adultery or conduct from which adultery might be implied dur- 
ing the subsistence of their marriage. We are quite sure the 
General Assembly did not intend in such manner to remove the 
cloak of privacy surrounding the confidential relationships of 
husband and wife. 

For the reasons stated above, the order requiring plaintiff 
"to answer each and every interrogatory," to the extent i t  re- 
quires plaintiff to answer Interrogatories Nos. 20 through 33 
and Nos. 36 through 51, should be reversed. 

The validity of Judge Webb's order requiring plaintiff, the 
child and defendant to submit to blood-grouping tests depends 
largely upon the interpretation to be given the provisions of 
G.S. 8-50.1. 

G.S. 8-50.1 provides: "Competency of evidence of blood 
tests.-In the trial of any criminal action or proceedings in any 
court in which the question of paternity arises, regardless o f  any 
presumptions w i t h  respect t o  paternity, the court before whom 
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the matter may be brought, upon motion of the defendant, shall 
direct and order that the defendant, the mother and the child 
shall submit to a blood grouping test; provided, that the court, 
in its discretion, may require the person requesting the blood 
grouping test to pay the cost thereof. The results of such blood 
grouping tests shall be admitted in evidence when offered by a 
duly licensed practicing physician or other qualified person. 
S u c h  evidence shall be competent  t o  r e b u t  a ~ ~ y  presumpt ions  of 
paterni ty .  

"In the trial of any civil action, the court before whom 
the matter may be brought, upon motion of either party, shall 
direct and order that the defendant, the plaintiff, the mother 
and the child shall submit to a blood grouping test; provided, 
that the court, in its discretion, may require the person request- 
ing the blood grouping test to pay the cost thereof. The results 
of such blood grouping tests shall be admitted in evidence when 
offered by a duly licensed practicing physician or other duly 
qualified person." (Our italics.) 

With the exception of the italicized portions, G.S. 8-50.1 
is a codification of Chapter 51 of the Session Laws of 1949, 
captioned "AN ACT TO AMEND CHAPTER 8 OF THE GENERAL 
STATUTES RELATIVE TO THE COMPETENCY O F  CERTAIN EVIDENCE 
IN CIVIL AND CRIMINAL ACTIONS." The italicized portions were 
incorporated in G.S. 8-50.1 by Chapter 618 of the Session Laws 
of 1965, captioned "AN ACT TO AMEND AND CLARIFY G.S. 8-50.1 
RELATING TO COMPETENCY OF EVIDENCE OF BLOOD TESTS." 

Rule 35(a) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, G.S. 1A-1, 
provides: "In an action in which . . . the blood relationship of 
a party, . . . or a person in the custody or under the legal control 
of a party, is in controversy, a judge of the court in which 
the action is pending . . . may order the party to submit to 
a . . . blood examination by a physician, or to produce for such 
examination . . . the person in his custody or legal control. The 
order may be made only on motion for good cause shown. . . . ,f 
151 G.S. 8-50.1 requires blood-grouping tests only in actions "in 
which the question of paternity arises." Since the sole purpose 
of the blood-grouping tests is to procure scientific evidence relat- 
ing to the paternity of the child, we think i t  clear that the clause 
"in which the question of paternity arises," although i t  appears 
only in the first paragraph of G.S. 8-50.1, is equally applicable 
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to both criminal and civil actions. We hold that the provisions 
of G.S. 8-50.1 were intended to apply alike in civil and criminal 
actions except in those particulars involving procedural differ- 
ences. Such procedural differences include the following: (1) 
In criminal actions, the motion for the blood-grouping tests must 
be made by the defendant. In  civil actions, the motion for the 
blood-grouping tests may be made by either party. (2) In crimi- 
nal actions, the order directs the defendant, the mother and the 
child to submit to the blood-grouping tests. In civil actions, i t  
is provided that the court "shall direct and order that the 
defendant, the plaintiff, the mother and the child shall submit 
to a blood-grouping test." The General Assembly, in providing 
for an order for four blood-grouping tests in civil actions, may 
have anticipated a husband's action for criminal conversation in 
which the blood-grouping tests might necessarily include the 
plaintiff and the defendant, his wife's alleged paramour. While 
the structure of G.S. 8-50.1 is not all that one might desire, we 
are of opinion and hold that in both criminal and civil actions 
in which the question of paternity arises, the results of such 
blood-grouping tests must be admitted in evidence when offered 
by a duly licensed practicing physician or other qualified person, 
"regardless of any presumptions with respect to paternity," and 
that "[s]uch evidence shall be competent to rebut any presump- 
tions of paternity." 

No civil action involving G.S. 8-50.1 has ever been con- 
sidered by this Court. G.S. 8-50.1 has been considered only in 
criminal prosecutions under G.S. 49-2 for alleged wilful failure 
to support an illegitimate child. State v. Davis, 272 N.C. 102, 
157 S.E. 2d 671 (1967) ; State v. Fowler, 277 N.C. 305, 177 
S.E. 2d 385 (1970). 

The Court of Appeals reversed the order requiring plaintiff, 
the child and defendant to submit to a blood-grouping test 
because i t  interpreted our decision in Eubanh  v. Eubanks, 273 
N.C. 189, 159 S.E. 2d 562 (1968), as a clear holding that "the 
results of a blood-grouping test cannot be used to establish non- 
paternity if there was access; . . . . 9 ,  

"The law discussed in any opinion is set within the frame- 
work of the facts of that particular case . . . . " Light Co. v. 
Mo8s, 220 N.C. 200, 208, 17 S.E. 2d 10, 16 (1941). Eubanks did 
not involve a blood test. No question with reference thereto was 
raised or considered. 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 171 

Wright v. Wright 

In Eubanlcs, the action was instituted March 21, 1966, by 
the plaintiff-husband for an absolute divorce on the ground of 
separation for one year. The defendant-wife answered and al- 
leged a cross action for alimony without divorce and for custody 
and support of a child born to her on January 7, 1966. In his 
reply, the plaintiff denied the paternity of this child. The court 
found fundamental error in the irreconcilable answers to 
the third and fourth issues submitted to the jury. Answering 
the third issue, pursuant to a peremptory instruction, the jury 
found that the plaintiff and the defendant had lived "separate 
and apart from each other continuously for more than one year 
next preceding the institution of this action," as alleged in the 
complaint. Answering the fourth issue, the jury found that the 
plaintiff was the father of the child born to the defendant on 
January 7, 1966, as alleged in the defendant's cross action. The 
opinion states: "On this record, the law presumes that plaintiff 
is the father of Rhonda and that she was conceived on or about 
3 April 1965, a time within the year next preceding the institu- 
tion of the action." The Court further stated: "On this record, 
the third and fourth issues may not each be answered YES, and 
the court should have instructed the jury that if they answered 
the third issue YES, they would answer the fourth issue No." The 
crucial issue was whether the plaintiff and the defendant had 
in fact lived separate and apart continuously during the year 
next preceding March 21, 1966. 

The opinion in Eubanks contains this statement: "If there 
was access, there is a conclusive presumption that the child was 
lawfully begotten in wedlock." Eubanks v. E u b a n h ,  supra a t  
197, 159 S.E. 2d a t  568. Taken literally and out of context, the 
quoted statement would disallow evidence even of impotency or 
physical or racial differences to rebut the presumption. How- 
ever, the topic sentence of the paragraph in which the above 
statement is found demonstrates the real rationale of the rule: 
"When a child is born in wedlock, the law presumes i t  to be 
legitimate, and this presumption can be rebutted only by facts 
and circumstances which show that the husband could not have 
been the father, as that he was impotent or could not have had 
access to his wife." (Our italics.) Impotency and nonaccess are 
set out therein as examples of types of evidence that would 
"show that the husband could not have been the father." Since 
the results of blood-grouping tests would be significant only if 
they tended to show that defendant herein could not have been 
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the father, we find nothing in Eubmks  that would preclude their 
admission in evidence. 

"A child born in wedlock is presumed to be legitimate, and 
the presumption can be rebutted only by proof that the husband 
could not have been the father, as by showing that he was 
impotent, or that he could not have had access to  the mother 
during the period when conception must have occurred, or that 
the husband and wife were white and the child of mixed blood." 
Stansbury, North Carolina Evidence, 5 246 (2d. ed. 1963). 

Professor Stansbury refers to this presumption as "one of 
the strongest known to the law," and states, as indicated above, 
that i t  may be rebutted only by proof that the husband could not 
have been the father. Prior to the discovery and perfection of 
the blood-grouping test, the only kinds of evidence which showed 
to even an approximate certainty that a husband was not the 
father of his wife's child were evidence of impotency, racial or 
other distinctive physical differences, or nonaccess during the 
probable time of conception. Although we continue to recognize 
its primary importance in preserving the status of legitimacy 
of children born in wedlock, this presumption must give way 
before dependable evidence to the contrary. Blood-grouping tests 
which show that a man cannot be the father of a child are 
perhaps the most dependable evidence we have known. See Note, 
50 N.C.L. Rev. 163 (1971). 

[6] The issue of paternity arises herein from plaintiff's 
allegation that defendant is the father of Sydney Cullen Wright 
and defendant's denial thereof. Under G.S. 8-50.1, defendant 
was entitled to the order for the blood-grouping test. 

The record discloses no facts sufficient to estop defendant 
from raising the issue of paternity. It may be that the putative 
father of a child conceived or born during wedlock should be 
estopped to raise the issue of paternity unless he does so within 
a fixed time. However, this is a matter for consideration by 
the General Assembly. 

[7] Assuming the blood-grouping tests are made and offered 
in evidence by qualified persons, the results thereof, if they tend 
to exclude defendant as the father of the child, may be offered 
in evidence to rebut the common-law presumption of legitimacy. 
Ordinarily, such evidence is competent solely in relation to the 
issue of paternity. If the results of the blood-grouping tests ex- 
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elude defendant as the father of a child admittedly born during 
the subsistence of the marriage, may the evidence also be con- 
sidered upon the separate issue of plaintiff's alleged adultery? 
While there is no authority for blood-grouping tests unless an 
issue of paternity is raised, in a case such as the present, in  
which the issue of paternity is raised, the results of the blood- 
grouping tests, if they exclude defendant as the father of a 
child admittedly born during the subsistence of the marriage, 
also would be evidence of adultery. In resolving this question, 
we must take the case as we find it. 

When, as in the present case, issues of paternity and of 
adultery are raised, it would be unrealistic to hold that the evi- 
dence of the results of the blood-grouping tests is competent on 
the issue of paternity but not on the issue of adultery. Moreover, 
i t  would be virtually impossible for the District Court Judge, 
when passing upon the application for alimony and child sup- 
port pendente l i te,  to consider the results of the blood-grouping 
tests as related to child support pendente l i te but not as to ali- 
mony gendevzte lite. 

For the reasons stated, the decision of the Court of Ap- 
peals, which reversed Judge Webb's order for the blood-grouping 
tests, is reversed. 

The cause is remanded to the Court of Appeals with direc- 
tions that i t  enter a judgment (1) reversing Judge Webb's order 
with reference to interrogatories, to the extent i t  plain- 
tiff to answer Interrogatories Nos. 20 through 33 and Nos. 36 
through 51, and (2) affirming the order of Judge Webb which 
requires the blood-grouping tests. 

Reversed and remanded. 
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES OF ASHEVILLE, INC. AND BAXTER 
H. TAYLOR v. MARTHA NORBURN MEAD ALLEN 

No. 94 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Rules of Civil Procedure 8 50- motion for directed verdict - considera- 
tion of evidence 

On a motion for a directed verdict by the defendant, the court 
must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, 
and may grant the motion only if, as a matter of law, the evidence 
is insufficient to justify a verdict for the plaintiff. 

2. Principal and Agent § 4- agency -sufficiency of evidence 
Plaintiffs9 evidence was sufficient to be submitted to the jury on 

the question of whether defendant's brother was the agent of defend- 
ant  in terminating a lease of land owned by defendant and in prom- 
ising to pay for the grading work performed on the land if the lease 
were terminated before a certain date, where i t  tended to show that  
(1) defendant knew her brother was negotiating to lease her property 
to the corporate plaintiff for the construction of a motel, (2) as a 
result of those negotiations defendant signed a lease because she 
trusted her brother to do what was best for her, (3 )  defendant was 
later advised that  "this was not a good lease," (4)  defendant's brother 
and the corporate plaintiff's vice president then entered into lengthy 
negotiations attempting to agree on a new lease, ( 5 )  during such 
negotiations the grading work continued, and defendant was kept 
advised by her brother concerning this grading and on occasions was 
taken by him to inspect this work, which substantially improved her 
land, (6)  no new lease was agreed upon with corporate plaintiff and 
the lease signed by defendant was terminated, (7) defendant there- 
after signed a lease of the land to another party which was negotiated 
by her brother, and (8) defendant recognized her brother as her agent 
a t  all times during such transactions and fully ratified his acts done 
in her behalf. 

3. Frauds, Statute of 8 11- oral rescission of lease 
A lease required by the Statute of Frauds to be in writing may 

be rescinded orally by the rmtual assent of both parties. 

4. Principal and Agent $8 4, 6- proof of agency - ratification 
The jury could reasonably find that  defendant's brother was 

acting for defendant when he promised to pay for grading work on 
defendant's land in the event a new lease of the land to plaintiff 
was not agreed upon, and that  in any event defendant subsequently 
ratified her brother's promise to pay, where there was evidence 
tending to show that defendant's brother made such promise to pre- 
vent the removal of grading equipment from defendant's land and 
to assure that a motel would be constructed on the land, that  defend- 
ant's land was substantially benefited by the work done, and that 
defendant was advised concerning the grading work and actually 
went on the property to inspect the work. 
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5. Frauds, Statute of 5 11; Landlord and Tenant 9 19- claim for rent 
and improvements - oral rescission of lease 

The lessor has no claim for rental payments or the value of 
improvements promised under a lease if the lease was orally rescinded 
prior to the date the first rental payment was due. 

6. Rules of Civil Procedure $4 50- motion for judgment n.0.v. - considera- 
tion of evidence 

When passing on a motion for judgment n.o.v., the court must 
view the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-movant. 

7. Rules of Civil Procedure 8 50- denial of directed verdict - judgment 
n.0.v. 

Denial of a motion for a directed verdict is not a bar to a motion 
for judgment n.0.v. 

8. Rules of Civil Procedure 8 50- denial of judgment n.0.v. 
The trial court correctly denied defendant's motion for judgment 

n.0.v. where the evidence viewed in the light most favorable to plain- 
tiffs was sufficient to sustain the verdict. 

9. Appeal and Error 8 45- abandonment of exceptions 

An exception not brought forward and discussed as an assign- 
ment of error is deemed abandoned. Supreme Court Rule 28. 

10. Principal and Agent 3 4- proof of agency - similar transactions 

Evidence that  defendant's brother negotiated a lease of defendant's 
land to another corporation after the lease to plaintiff was allegedly 
rescinded, and that  defendant took no part  in the negotiations but 
merely signed the lease when i t  was presented to her, held competent 
on the question of the agency of defendant's brother in various 
transactions concerning the lease with plaintiff. 

11. Evidence 9 33; Principal and Agent 5 4- hearsay - purpose of testi- 
mony 

Defendant's testimony on adverse examination that  "They told 
'me i t  was not a good lease" was not incompetent as hearsay, notwith- 
standing the identity of "they" was never revealed, where the testi- 
mony was not offered to prove or disprove the quality of the lease 
itself but was offered to show that  defendant had been advised or 
put on notice that  the lease might be deficient in some respects. 

12. Principal and Agent 8 4- proof of agency - negotiations with third 
party - responsiveness of witness' answer 

Where defendant was asked by plaintiff on adverse examination 
whether her alleged agent was reporting to her regularly on the 
status of negotiations with a third party, defendant's answer, "He 
would come and tell me something about i t  and I trusted him to go 
ahead and do what he thought best, and I don't know how much went 
on," held responsive to the question and relevant on the issue of 
agency. 
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13. Appeal and Error  5 31- assignment of error to  the charge 
An assignment of error  to the charge on the ground t h a t  the 

court gave a n  erroneous instruction on a particular aspect should 
not only quote the portion of the charge to  which the appellant 
objects but  should also point out the alleged error. 

14. Appeal and Error  8 31- broadside assignment sf error to  the charge 
An assignment of error  to the charge a s  a whole t h a t  specifies 

no portion of the  charge which appellant deeins erroneous and no 
additional instructions which he deems to be required is  broadside 
and ineffective to  bring up  any portion of the  charge for  review. 

15. Contracts 5 29; Interest 5 1- contract action - interest on judgment - 
time of breach 

I n  a n  action on a contraet to recover the actual cost of grading 
and improvements performed on defendant's property, the trial court 
did not e r r  in  allowing plaintiffs to  recover interest upon the verdict 
in  their favor from the date plaintiffs forwarded to defendant a 
statement itemizing the work performed and the actual cost thereof, 
where the amount of damages, although not ascertainable from the 
contract itself, could easily be computed from the uncontradicted tes- 
timony of the individual plaintiff. 

Justice SHARP dissenting. 

Chief Justice BOBBITT and Justice LAKE join in  the dissenting 
opinion. 

APPEAL by defendant from the decision of the Court of 
Appeals reported in 13 N.C. App. 406, 185 S.E. 2d 711 (1972), 
which found no error in the trial before Martin, J., at the 
1 March 1971 Civil Session of BUN~OMBE Superior Court. 

Plaintiffs brought this action to recover $19,456.88, the 
cost of grading, excavation and land preparation of certain real 
property belonging to defendant, Martha Norburn Mead Allen, 
in Buncombe County, North Carolina. 

In May 1965 defendant was the owner of a tract of land 
known as the "Old Norburn Home Place," containing approxi- 
mately 16 acres located a t  the intersection of U. S. Highway 
19-23 and old Highway 10 in Buncombe County, North Caro- 
lina. In early 1965 Dr. Logan Robertson, Vice President of 
Investment Properties of Asheville, Inc., a real estate holding 
company, came to Dr. Charles S. Norburn, brother of defendant, 
and asked him to get his sister to lease this property to  his 
Company for the purpose of constructing a motel thereon. 
Norburn discussed this with his sister, and on 10 May 1965 
a written lease was executed between defendant Allen and 
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Investment Properties of Asheville, Inc. This lease provided 
in part that the lessee would pay to lessor monthly rental in- 
stallments of $1,000 beginning when the lessee began to receive 
income from the property or on 1 June 1966, whichever was 
sooner. It further provided that in the event of re-entry by the 
lessor for default in rental installments, should the improve- 
ments then on the property amount to less than $60,000, the 
lessee would pay to the lessor the difference in cash. The lease 
also provided that the lessee "assume entire responsibility for 
property, to list i t  for taxes and pay the same when due, and 
also pay all assessments, . . . and shall have complete and un- 
restricted control in grading, reshaping and development of this 
property." 

Robertson testified that after the execution of the lease 
he discovered that he would not be able to obtain financing for 
the construction of a motel based upon this lease, and requested 
that Norburn get his sister to agree to a new lease wherein she 
would subordinate her interest to the lien of the person or 
institution lending money for the construction of a motel on 
the property. Defendant refused to so subordinate her interest. 
Thereafter, various attempts were made to change the lease 
agreement of 10 May 1965 so that plaintiffs could finance the 
construction of a motel. No changes were made, and no other 
lease for this property was ever executed between plaintiffs 
and defendant. 

Robertson further testified that in the month of July 1965 
he and Norburn discussed the problem about the lease; that 
Norburn then stated that this lease was cancelled, and as a 
result Robertson returned to his office and made this notation 
on the lease: "Never registered 'cause we felt that both parties 
knew it was invalid. July 1965-CSN informed me that lease 
was cancelled." Norburn denied that he made such statement. 

Baxter H. Taylor, one of the plaintiffs, was the President 
of Asheville Contracting Company and was a partner with In- 
vestment Properties of Asheville, Inc., in connection with the 
10 May 1965 lease from defendant. Prior to May 1965 AsheviIIe 
Contracting Company obtained a contract for the construction 
of a section of Highway 1-40 which passed over railroad tracks 
and Highway U. S. 19-23 near defendant's property. It was 
necessary to build a fill for this overpass. Taylor testified that 
he had a conversation with Robertson with reference to Ashe- 
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ville Contracting Company's filling and leveling the Norburn 
property and putting in the drainage facilities necessary for 
the construction of a motel. Asheville Contracting Company 
agreed to do the work and began grading on 5 June 1965. The 
major grading work was completed within two weeks, although 
some seeding was done on the banks and some leveling done 
at a later date. 

Before the work on the property was completed, Robertson 
told Norburn that if defendant Allen did not sign another lease 
so that financing could be obtained, he was afraid the grading 
machinery belonging to Asheville Contracting Company would 
be removed from the property and that the Holiday Inn would 
be built in Hendersonville rather than on the Allen land. Nor- 
burn assured Robertson that he thought he could persuade his 
sister to sign such lease, and stated that if she did not he 
would pay for the grading. Norburn then wrote and signed this 
statement : 

"Asheville, N. C. 
June 17, 1965 

"TO 
"Dr. Logan Robertson : 

"This is to certify that I will stand personally liable 
as stated below for the Conduit grading and necessary ex- 
penses (at  actual cost) for the land preparation of the 
Acton property now owned by Martha Mead Allen, in case 
the lease is not continued after June 1, 1966. 

"I promise to pay in cash for this or else deed to you 
the 734 acre tract in Ashe County which is and will be 
free and clear. 

Charles S. Norburn" 

On 29 September 1965 Robertson wrote defendant stating 
in part: 

"I am sending you a new lease-which we think is a 
good one and our final offer for your property. . . . f want 
to say also that a t  first I had no idea that the grading 
would be delayed. Through necessity elsewhere the ma- 
chines were withdrawn, but will now be returned. . . . You 
may rest assured that the place will be graded properly to 
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carry the large motel we plan to build upon it. Those who 
hold the Holiday Inn franchise say they simply cannot 
afford to build such an expensive complex if the lease is 
for a shorter time than fifty (50) years." 

Neither the defendant nor Norburn answered this letter or 
ever insisted that the paper writing of 10 May 1965 was still 
in effect. No demand for payment of any rent was made on the 
plaintiffs by defendant Allen or by Norburn under the lease 
dated 10 May 1965, and none was paid. Defendant, through 
another brother Dr. Russell Norburn, contrary to the terms of 
said lease, listed the property for taxes on 17 February 1966. 

On 12 December 1966 Robertson, in the presence of and 
at the request of Norburn, wrote on the lease of 10 May 1965 
as follows: 

"December 12, 1966 

"Lease forfeited and returned this date. Settlement in 
accordance with the provisions of the lease and its as- 
sociated papers is to follow. 

Investment Properties of Asheville, Inc. 
by Logan T. Robertson 

Vice President" 

On 13 October 1967 the land in question was leased by 
defendant to  West Side Motel Company, Inc., and a Holiday Inn 
was built thereon. 

Plaintiffs allege that a t  all times Norburn was acting as 
agent for his sister in negotiating and terminating the 10 May 
1965 lease and in promising to pay for the grading. Plaintiffs 
further allege that after the land preparation was completed by 
Asheville Contracting Company, demands for payment were 
refused by defendant. Whereupon, plaintiffs paid Asheville 
Contracting Company by giving that Company a noninterest- 
bearing note payable on demand for $19,456.88, and defend- 
ant is now indebted to the plaintiffs in that amount. 

Norburn testified that he received no compensation from 
Robertson or from his sister, defendant, and that he was not 
an  agent for his sister; rather that he was acting as agent for 
his good friend Robertson when he approached his sister about 
the lease. Defendant Allen testified that Norburn was not her 
agent. 
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In a separate action (see Inves tment  Properties,  Irzc. v. 
N o r b u m ,  281 N.C. 191, 188 S.E. 2d 342 (1972)), plaintiffs 
sought to recover from Norburn $19,456.88 on his guaranty 
contract. By consent the two cases were consolidated for trial. 

Upon issues submitted in this case, the jury found that 
Norburn was the agent of defendant in connection with the 
alleged termination of the lease, that the lease was terminated 
on or before 1 June 1966, that Norburn was the agent of de- 
fendant in contracting for the land preparation, that defendant 
through her agent Norburn agreed to pay the actual cost of the 
land preparation, and that plaintiffs should recover $19,456.88 
from defendant. 

From judgment entered on the verdict, defendant appealed 
to the Court of Appeals. That court, with Judge Vaughn dis- 
senting, found no error. Defendant appeals to the Supreme 
Court as of right under G.S. 7A-30 (2). 

Will iams,  Morris  42 Golding by  James F. Blue, ZZI, for  de- 
f endant appellant. 

Benne t t ,  Kel ly  & Long b y  Harold K. Bewnett  f o r  plaint i f f  
appellees. 

MOORE, Justice. 

Defendant Allen first contends the trial court erred in 
denying her motion for a directed verdict made a t  the close of 
all the evidence. 

[ I ]  On a motion for a directed verdict by the defendant, the 
court must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to 
the plaintiff, and may grant the motion only if, as a matter of 
law, the evidence is insufficient to justify a verdict for the 
plaintiff. G.S. 1A-1, Rule 50 (a ) ,  Rules of Civil Procedure; 
Adler  v. Insurance Co., 280 N.C. 146, 185 S.E. 2d 144 (1971) ; 
Kelly  v. Harvester  Co., 278 N.C. 153, 179 S.E. 2d 396 (1971) ; 
5A Moore's Federal Practice § 50.02 [I] (2d Ed. 1969). 

The motion presents substantially the same question for 
sufficiency as did a motion for an involuntary nonsuit under 
former G.S. 1-183. See Comment by Phillips in 1970 Pocket Part 
to McIntosh, North Carolina Practice and Procedure § 1488.15 
(2d Ed. 1969). As to the rules which governed the motion for 
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an  involuntary nonsuit under G.S. 1-183, see Bowen v. Gardner, 
275 N.C. 363, 168 S.E. 2d 47 (1969). 

In  support of her motion for a directed verdict, defendant 
insists that there was no evidence of agency between defend- 
ant and Norburn, that the rescission of the written lease con- 
tract was not in writing and was improper because of the 
Statute of Frauds, and that there was no evidence that defend- 
ant AIIen promised to pay for the grading work or that her 
alleged agent Norburn made such promise for her. 

Taken in the light most favorable to plaintiffs, the evidence 
tends to show that defendant was quite sick during the spring 
and summer of 1965; that she was over 75 years of age, sep- 
arated from her husband and in the process of obtaining a 
divorce; and that she was aware of the negotiations between 
Norburn and Robertson leading to the lease of 10 May 1965, 
which she signed and which she later learned was not a good 
lease. Defendant felt that the land in question was partly owned 
by her brothers although their names were not on anything, 
and that she and her brothers had obligations to each other. 
She also felt that "Norburn had business and good judgment," 
and although she did not know much about the negotiations 
between Norburn and Robertson, she signed the lease of 10 May 
1965 because she trusted Norburn to do what he thought was 
best. On one or two occasions Norburn took her to view the 
grading on the property and talked to her about the status of 
the grading work, filling, and excavation. The lease which 
defendant finally signed with the West Side Motel Company, 
Inc., was also negotiated and approved by Norburn. This lease 
to West Side Motel Company, Inc., contained various provisions 
suggested by Norburn, one of which was, "Lessee acknowledges 
that certain grading, excavating, and laying pipes and building 
manholes have heretofore been done on the leased premises," 
with a further provision that should it ultimately be determined 
that defendant or Norburn was responsible for this grading, any 
such expense for which they might be liable would be paid by 
the West Side Motel Company, Inc. 

In discussing the power of an agent to bind its principal, 
Justice Bobbitt (now Chief Justice) in Research Corporation v. 
Hardware Co., 263 N.C. 718,721,140 S.E. 2d 416,418-19 (1965), 
states : 
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"Our decisions adopt and quote the following statement 
from Tiffany on Agency, pp. 180-181, vix: 'The principal 
is liable upon a contract duly made by his agent with a third 
person-(1) When the agent acts within the scope of his 
actual authority; (2) When the contract, although un- 
authorized, has been ratified; (3) When the agent acts 
within the scope of his apparent authority, unless the third 
person has notice that the agent is exceeding his actual 
authority. "Apparent authority," as the term is used in the 
foregoing section, includes authority to do whatever is 
usual and necessary to carry into effect the principal power 
conferred upon the agent and to transact the business which 
he is employed to transact; and the principal cannot restrict 
his liability for acts of his agent within the scope of his 
apparent authority by limitations thereon of which the 
person dealing with the agent has not notice. The principal 
may be estopped to deny that a person is his agent, or that 
his agent has acted within the scope of his authority.' W y n n  
v. Grant, 166 N.C. 39, 47, 81 S.E. 949; Brimmer v. B?%mmer, 
174 N.C. 435, 439-440, 93 S.E. 984; Jo.lzes v. Bank,  214 
N.C. 794, 797, 1 S.E. 2d 135." 

121 Here, the evidence favorable to the plaintiffs tends to 
show: (1) Defendant knew Norburn was negotiating with 
Robertson to lease her property to the corporate plaintiff for 
the construction of a Holiday Inn; (2) as a result of these 
negotiations, the lease of 10 May 1965 was signed by defendant 
because she trusted her brother to do what was best for her; (3) 
that the defendant was later advised that this "was not a good 
lease"; (4) that Norburn and Robertson then entered into 
lengthy negotiations attempting to agree upon a new lease; (5) 
that while these negotiations were in progress, the grading of 
the property proceeded and defendant was kept advised by Nor- 
burn concerning this grading, and on occasions she was taken 
by him to inspect this work, which had substantially improved 
her land; (6) that no new lease was agreed upon with Robert- 
son; (7) that the lease of 10 May 1965 was terminated before 
1 June 1966, and that Norburn, acting for defendant, negotiated 
a lease with West Side Motel Company, Inc., for defendant's 
property, which defendant signed, and (8) that defendant rec- 
ognized Norburn as her agent a t  all times during these trans- 
actions and fully ratified his acts done in her behalf. This evi- 
dence was sufficient to be submitted to the jury and to over- 
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come defendant's motion for a directed verdict. Kelly v. Har- 
vester Co., supra; Equipment Co. v. Anders, 265 N.C. 393, 144 
S.E. 2d 252 (1965). 

There was other evidence from which the jury could have 
found to the contrary, but the resolution of the factual issues 
was properly left to the jury. Sneed v. Lions Club, 273 N.C. 
98, 159 S.E. 2d 770 (1968). 

[3] In further support of her motion for a directed verdict, 
, defendant contends that the alleged rescission of the lease of 

10 May 1965 was not in writing and was improper because of 
the Statute of Frauds. This contention is without merit. A 
lease which is required by the Statute of Frauds to be in writing 
may be rescinded orally by the mutual assent of both parties. 
Scott v. Jordan, 235 N.C. 244, 69 S.E. 2d 557 (1952) ; Bell v. 
Brown, 227 N.C. 319, 42 S.E. 2d 92 (1947). 

[4] Defendant also insists there was no evidence that defend- 
ant personally or through Norburn promised to pay for the 
grading work. The evidence discloses that Norburn agreed to 
pay for this work in the event a new lease was not agreed upon ; 
that he did this to prevent the Asheville Contracting Company 
from removing its equipment, and also to assure that a Holiday 
Inn would be constructed on this property. Although no benefit 
accrued to Norburn, the defendant's property was substantially 
benefited by the work done. The evidence further discloses that 
defendant was advised concerning the grading and actually 
went on the property to inspect the work. From this evidence 
the jury could reasonably find that Norburn was acting' for 
defendant when he promised to pay for this work, and that in 
any event defendant subsequently ratified his promise to pay. 
See White v. Disher, 232 N.C. 260, 59 S.E. 2d 798 (1950). This 
evidence was sufficient for submission to the jury and to over- 
come defendant's motion for a directed verdict. Kelly v. Har- 
vester Co., supra. 

[5] Defendant also assigns as error the failure of the trial 
court to direct a verdict for her on the counterclaim for rental 
payments due under the 10 May 1965 lease and for the differ- 
ence between the value of the improvements promised and the 
value of improvements actually placed upon her property. This 
assignment is without merit. There was sufficient evidence from 
which the jury could find that there was no default under the 
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lease, but that the lease was orally rescinded prior to the date 
the first rental payments were due. If so rescinded, defend- 
ant had no claim for rent or improvements. Scott v. Jordan, 
supra; Bixler v. B?$tton, 192 N.C. 199, 134 S.E. 488 (1926). 
Consequently, the trial court correctly denied defendant's 
motion and submitted issues to the jury. Adler v. Insurance 
Co., supra. 

Defendant next contends that the trial court erred in re- 
fusing defendant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the 
verdict, under Rule 50(b) of the New Rules of Civil Procedure. , 
This rule provides in effect that "when a motion for directed 
verdict is denied, and the jury returns a verdict for the non- 
movant, the movant may make a motion for judgment in his 
favor notwithstanding the verdict. The propriety of granting 
a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is deter- 
mined by the same considerations as that of a motion for a 
directed verdict and, as in the case of the latter motion, is 
cautiously and sparingly granted. I t  permits the judge to con- 
sider the sufficiency of the evidence after the jury has returned 
a verdict." Sizemore, General Scope and Philosophy of the New 
Rules, 5 Wake Forest Intramural Law Review 1, 41 (1969). 

[6, 71 When passing on a motion for judgment n.o.v., the 
court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to 
the non-movant. New Mexico Saving & Loan Ass'n v. U. S. 
Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 454 F. 2d 328 (10th Cir. 1972) ; Hanni- 
gun v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 410 F. 2d 285 (7th Cir. 1969) ; 
Warner v. Billups Eastern Petroleum Co., 406 F. 2d 1058 (4th 
Cir. 1969). The standards are the same as those for granting a 
directed verdict. Juhnke v. E I G  Corp., 444 F. 2d 1323 (9th Cir. 
1971). However, denial of a motion for a directed verdict is not 
a bar to a motion for judgment n.0.v. Moore v. Capital Transit 
Go., 226 F. 2d 57 (D.C. Cir. l955), cert. denied 350 U.S. 966, 
100 L.Ed. 839, 76 S.Ct. 434 (1956). For a good explanation of 
the purpose of the rule, see Montgomery Ward & Go. v. Duncan, 
311 U.S. 243, 85 L.Ed. 147, 61 S.Ct. 189 (1940) ; Comment to 
G.S. 1A-1, Rule 50, N. C. Rules of Civil Procedure. 

[8] In the instant case, a t  the close of all the evidence defendant 
made a motion for a directed verdict, which was denied. After 
the jury returned its verdict, defendant then made a motion for 
judgment n.0.v. under Rule 50(b). The trial judge correctly 
denied this motion for the same reasons that he denied the 
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motion for a directed verdict-that is, the evidence viewed in 
the light most favorable to plaintiffs was sufficient to sustain 
the verdict. 

[9] Defendant also made a motion for a new trial under Rule 
59. This motion was denied by the court, and the defendant ex- 
cepted to this ruling. However, this exception was not brought 
forward and discussed as an assignment of error and is there- 
fore deemed abandoned. Rule 28 of the Rules of Practice in the 
Supreme Court, 254 N.C. 810 (1961) ; Dinkins v. Booe, 252 
N.C. 731, 114 S.E. 2d 272 (1960). 

[lo] Defendant further contends that the trial judge erred in 
admitting testimony concerning a subsequent lease from defend- 
ant to West Side Motel Company, Pnc. This Iease involved the 
same tract of land and was signed by defendant on 13 October 
1967. Both defendant and Norburn testified concerning this 
lease. Norburn testified that he dictated to West Side Motel 
Company, Inc., and its attorneys the provisions which he wished 
to be included in the lease, that defendant Allen had no part 
in negotiating the lease, and that she only signed i t  when i t  
was presented to her. Defendant Allen testified that she had 
no contact with the representatives of West Side Motel Com- 
pany, Inc., until she met them in the office of the attorney 
when she signed the lease. This testimony by defendant Allen 
and Norburn was competent on the question of the agency of 
Norburn, as i t  tended to show a course of business dealings 
between defendant and Norburn in similar transactions. Colyer. 
v. Hotel Co., 216 N.C. 228, 4 S.E. 2d 436 (1939). " . . . (P)roof 
that the principal permitted the agent to perform similar acts 
and transactions with other persons has always been accepted 
to establish the existence of an agency. . . . " 3 Am. Jur. 2d, 
Agency 8 351. See also 3 Am. Jur. 2d, Agency $ 352, which 
states: " . . . (E)vidence of an agent's authority to bind his 
principal is frequently found in the fact that the alleged princi- 
pal acquiesced in, recognized, or adopted similar acts done on 
other occasions by the assumed agent." See Realty Co. v. Rum- 
bough, 172 N.C. 741, 90 S.E. 931 (1916) ; Gilbraith v. Line- 
berger, 69 N.C. 145 (1873). 

[ I l l  Defendant next contends that the court erred in  allowing 
the plaintiffs' attorney to read to the jury two portions of the 
adverse examination of defendant Allen. The first portion of 
defendant's statement related to the 10 May 1965 lease and was 
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as follows: "They told me i t  was not a good lease." Defendant 
contends that this was hearsay as the identity of "they" was nev- 
er  revealed. This argument is without merit. The purpose of the 
question was not to prove or disprove the quality of the lease 
itself, but was to show that defendant had been advised or put 
on notice that the lease might be deficient in some respects. 
Wilson v. Indemnity Corp., 272 N.C. 183, 158 S.E. 2d 1 (1967) ; 
Stansbury, N. C. Evidence 5 141, p. 346 (2d Ed. 1969). 

[I21 The second portion of the statement read to the jury con- 
sisted of the following question asked by plaintiffs' attorney 
and answered by defendant: 

"Q. Wasn't he [Norburn] reporting back to you regu- 
larly on the status of these negotiations [with West Side 
Motel Company, Inc.] ? 

"A. He would come and tell me something about i t  
and I trusted him to go ahead and do what he thought best, 
and I don't know how much went on, I just don't know." 

Defendant contends the answer was not responsive to the ques- 
tion and should have been stricken. As stated in I11 Wigmore, 
Evidence 5 785 (Chadbourne rev. 1970) : 

"Where the witness, either in a deposition or on the 
stand, goes beyond the scope of the question, and makes an 
answer nolt responsive, there is nothing 'per se' wrong. If 
the answer contains irrelevant facts, they may be struck 
out, and the jury directed to ignore them. If it furnishes 
relevant facts, then they are none the less admissible 
merely because they were not specifically asked for." 

The answer in this case was in fact responsive and relevant to 
the question of the existence of agency. See State v. Little, 278 
N.C. 484, 180 S.E. 2d 17 (1971) ; In re Will of Tatum, 233 N.C. 
723, 65 S.E. 2d 351 (1951). 

[I31 Defendant's assignments of error Nos. 323, 324, 325, 326, 
327, 328, 329, and 330 relate to alleged errors in the charge. In 
each assignment the defendant merely says: "The court erred 
in instructing the jury, as set forth in EXCEPTION NO.[giving 
exception number]," and then quotes a portion of the charge. 
The assignments do not set out the defendant's contentions as to 
what the court should have charged or the particular matters 
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which defendant asserts were erroneous or omitted. An assign- 
ment of error to the charge on the ground that the court gave 
an erroneous instruction on a particular aspect should not only 
quote the portion of the charge to which the defendant 
objects but should also point out the alleged error. State v. 
Boyd, 278 N.C. 682, 180 S.E. 2d 794 (1971) ; State v. Benton, 
276 N.C. 641, 174 S.E. 2d 793 (1970) ; State v. Kirby, 276 N.C. 
123, 171 S.E. 2d 416 (1970) ; State v. Borth, 269 N.C. 329, 
153 S.E. 2d 10 (1967) ; State v. Wilsorz, 263 N.C. 533, 139 S.E. 
2d 736 (1965) ; Pratt v. Bishop, 257 N.C. 486, 126 S.E. 2d 597 
(1962) ; 1 Strong, N. C. Index 2d, Appeal and Error 8 31, 
p. 167; 3 Strong, N. C. Index 2d, Criminal Law 5 163, p. 118. 

1141 Assignment of error No. 331 based on exception No. 331, 
entered a t  the end of the charge, states: 

"The court erred in failing to state in a plain and con- 
cise manner the evidence given in the case to the extent 
necessary to explain the application of the law thereto and 
in failing to declare and explain the law arising on the 
evidence given in the case, as set forth in EXCEPTION NO. 
331 (R p 220), as required by Rule 51 of the Rules of Civil 
Procedure, in the foIlowing particulars : 

"(a) The court failed to explain the law relating 
to the meaning of agency and the agency relationship; 

" (b) The court failed to expIain the law relating 
to the scope of an agent's authority to act for his 
principal and to sufficiently define authority and scope 
of authority of an agent within the context of this case ; 

"(c) The court failed to fully and correctly ex- 
plain apparent authority of an agent to act for his 
principal and to define the meaning of apparent au- 
thority within the context of this case; 

" (d) The court failed to fully and correctly ex- 
plain the meaning of ratification by the principal and 
to define that term within the context of this case; 

" (e) The court failed to explain the law regarding 
the abandonment or termination of a written lease 
agreement ; 

" (f) The court failed to explain the law relating 
to the requirements for an agent to make an agree- 
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ment for and on behalf of his principal, in order to 
bind the principal upon that agreement. 

This assignment of error is to the charge as a whole. It specifies 
no portion of the charge which defendant deemed erroneous 
and sets out no additional instructions which she deemed to be 
required. This is a broadside assignment and is ineffective to 
bring up any portion of the charge for review by this Court. 
State v. Mason, 279 N.C. 435, 183 S.E. 2d 661 (1971) ; State v. 
Baldwin, 276 M.C. 690, 174 S.E. 2d 526 (1970) ; State v. Kirby, 
supra; State v. Wilson, supra. 

Even though the assignments of error to the charge do not 
comply with the rules stated above, we have examined the 
charge and find i t  free from error. 

[IS] Defendant finally contends that the court erred In allow- 
ing the plaintiffs to recover interest upon the verdict from 25 
November 1966. The plaintiffs' action was on a contract to 
recover the actual cost for the grading and improvements per- 
formed by the Asheville Contracting Company on the defend- 
ant's property. The amount was not known a t  the time the 
agreement was entered into, but was ascertained upon the 
completion of the work. On 25 November 1966 plaintiffs for- 
warded a statement itemizing the work performed and the 
actual cost thereof. Defendant refused to pay. 

In General Metals v. Manufactu~ifig Co., 259 N.C. 709, 713, 
131 S.E. 2d 360, 363 (1963), with reference to interest on a 
judgment for breach of contract, i t  is stated: 

"The later cases following the enactment of G.S. 24-5 
seem to have established this rule: When the amount of 
damages in a breach of contract action is ascertained from 
the contract itself, or from relevant evidence, or from both, 
interest should be allowed from the date of the breach. 
Constwct.ion Co. v. Crain & Denbo, 256 N.C. 110, 123 S.E. 
2d 590; Thomas v. Realty Co., 195 N.C. 591, 143 S.E. 2d 
144; Perry v. Norton, 182 N.C. 585, 109 S.E. 641; Bond v. 
Cotto% Mills, 166 N.C. 20, 81 S.E. 936." 

See also Vancouver Plywood Co. v. Godley Construction Co., 
393 F. 2d 295, 299 (4th Cir. 1968). 
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Although in this case the amount of damages was not 
ascertained from the contract itself, the same could be easily 
computed from the uncontradicated testimony of the plaintiff 
Taylor. The court's action in allowing interest from 25 Novem- 
ber 1966 finds support in the record and in the cases cited in 
General Metals v. Manufactztring Co., supm. This assignment 
is overruled. 

The record in this case contains 334 assignments of error 
based on 334 exceptions. No effort was made to group the ex- 
ceptions. Willianzs v. Denning, 260 N.C. 539, 133 S.E. 2d 150 
(1963) ; Daniel v. Lumber Co., 254 N.C. 504, 119 S.E. 2d 397 
(1961). The assignments of error alone cover 93 pages of the 
record. Obviously, a separate discussion of each would prolong 
this opinion beyond reasonable bounds. State v. Porth, supra; 
State v. Lea, 203 N.C. 13, 164 S.E. 737 (1932). A statement 
made by Justice Higgins regarding the record in Morgan v. 
Bell Bakeries, Inc., 246 N.C. 429, 98 S.E. 2d 464 (1957), is 
pertinent : 

6 L . . . The careful review of this record has been 
difficult and time consuming. More than 200 exceptions 
have been examined. The assignments of error alone cover 
68 pages of the record. If there is grain of merit in this 
appeal i t  is covered up in the chaff." 

Suffice i t  to say that each assignment has been carefully 
examined. The evidence was sharply conflicting in many re- 
spects. These conflicts have been resolved by the jury in favor 
of the plaintiffs in a trial free from prejudicial error. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is affirmed. 

Affirmed. 

Justice SHARP dissenting. . 
In my view, defendant's motion for a directed verdict should 

have been allowed, for (1) the evidence discloses that Norburn 
lacked authority to bind his sister, defendant Allen, to pay the 
cost of the grading in suit, and (2) in that matter plaintiffs 
did not deal with him as her agent. The undisputed evidence 
is that they relied upon Norburn's individual, specific promise 
"to pay in cash for this." 
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After plaintiffs found out that they could not secure a 
construction loan to build the motel they had planned to erect 
on the property they had leased from Mrs. Allen on 10 May 
1965 until she subordinated her rights under the lease to those 
of the lender, they attempted to secure a substitute lease which 
would accomplish this. Dr. Logan Robertson came to Dr. Nor- 
burn's home "day after day, with one propositon after another, 
trying to get [him] to get Martha to give him another lease 
that would subordinate her property." At least twenty leases 
were prepared, but defendant never executed one. Plaintiffs 
rightly apprehended that a substitute lease might never be 
executed, and Dr. Robertson told Norburn that plaintiffs 
"would have to have some sort of a guarantee from him or from 
Martha to pay the cost of it [the continuation of the grading 
which had been started on defendant's property] ." Whereupon, 
on 17 June 1965 Norburn executed the promise to pay which is 
set out in full in the majority opinion. 

The record contains no evidence -that defendant ever knew 
Norburn had executed a contract to "stand personally liable" 
for the actual cost of grading defendant's property "in case the 
lease is not continued after June 1, 1966." In it he did not pur- 
port to be acting as defendant's agent; the promise to pay was 
his individual act and bound him only. The instrument itself 
negates any promise to pay on defendant's part, and plaintiffs' 
requirement that either she o r  Norburn execute a written prom- 
ise of payment demonstrates their knowledge of his lack of 
authority to bind his sister, the owner of the land on which 
the grading was being done. 

Although Dr. Robertson testified that plaintiffs and Nor- 
burn had regarded the May 10th lease as canceled in the summer 
of 1965, there is no evidence that defendant herself so regarded 
it. It was not until 12 December 1966 that Dr. Robertson 
marked it "forfeited and returned." That lease had obligated 
plaintiffs to pay for all grading which was done on defendant's 
land. No person representing plaintiffs ever talked with defend- 
ant herself about rescinding the case and substituting therefor a 
new one. Plaintiffs, however, knew they had been unable to 
negotiate a new lease with her through Norburn and that they 
expended further sums on grading a t  their own risk. After 
obtaining Norburn's promise to pay in cash for the continued 
grading, or to deed Dr. Robertson 734 acres of land, in the 
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event the lease was "not continued," plaintiffs expended the sum 
of $19,456.88. 

Defendant never executed a substitute lease to plaintiffs. 
For reasons satisfactory to herself she apparently desired no 
further dealings with them. Later, however, Norburn negotiated 
a lease with a tenant acceptable to her, West Side Motel Com- 
pany. That company agreed to pay for the grading plaintiffs 
had done in the event either defendant or Norburn should be 
liable for it. West Side's agreement may or may not render 
academic the question of defendant's liability, but, be that as 
i t  may, I cannot agree that she has any liability whatever to 
pIaintiffs. Conceding that the grading was necessary if a motel 
was to be constructed on defendant's property and that she has, 
or will, profit from the work, it was Dr. Norburn who agreed 
to pay for it. Further, i t  was his promise to pay upon which 
plaintiffs acted, and they have sued him upon it too. See 
Inves tment  Properties v. Norburn ,  post, decided this day. The 
West Side Motel Company has also agreed to pay if either 
Norburn or defendant should be held liable for the grading. 
Defendant, however, never agreed to pay plaintiffs for the 
grading under any circumstances, and it is a fair inference 
from the evidence that she did not want it done. My vote is to 
reverse. 

Chief Justice BOBBITT and Justice LAKE join in this dis- 
senting opinion. 

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES OF ASHEVILLE, INC. AND BAXTEP, 
H. TAYLOR v. CHARLES S. NORBURN 

No. 54 

(Filed , l o  May 1972) 

1. Guaranty- guaranty of payment 
A guaranty of payment is an absolute promise by the guarantor 

to pay a debt a t  maturity if i t  is not paid by the principal debtor; 
this obligation is separate and independent of the obligation of the 
principal debtor, and the creditor's cause of action against the guar- 
antor ripens immediately upon the failure of the principal debtor to 
pay the debt a t  maturity. 

2. Guaranty- guaranty of payment 
Language of a guaranty signed by defendant creating an uncondi- 

tional promise to pay either in cash or by deeding 734 acres of land 



192 I N  THE SUPREME COURT [ZSl 

-- - - - - 

Investment Properties v. Norburn 

for  the actual cost of land preparation of property owned by defend- 
ant's sister i n  case a lease of the  property t o  plaintiff corporation 
was not continued a f te r  a specified date constituted a guaranty 
of payment. 

3. Contracts 8 4- consideration 
I n  order fo r  a contract to  be enforceable it must be supported 

by consideration. 

4. Contracts 8 4- consideration - forbearance t o  exercise legal rights - 
benefit t o  third person 

Forbearance to exercise legal rights is sufficient consideration for  
a promise given to secure such forbearance even though the forbear- 
ance is  for  a third par ty  rather  than for  the pronlisor. 

5. Contracts 5 4; Guaranty- guaranty contract - consideration - benefit 
to  principal debtor 

A consideration moving directly to the guarantor  is not essential 
in  a guaranty contract, but the promise is enforceable if a benefit to 
the principal debtor is shown or  if detriment o r  inconvenience to the 
promisee is disclosed. 

6. Rules of Civil Procedure 8 51; Trial 8 33- application of law to evi- 
dence 

I t  is  the duty of the court, without a request fo r  special in- 
structions, to explain the law and to apply i t  to  the evidence on all 
substantial features of the  case, and a failure t o  do so constitutes 
prejudicial error. G.S. 1A-1, Rule 51. 

7. Contracts 8 28; Guaranty- sufficiency of consideration-instructions 
I n  this action to recover on defendant's guaranty of payment of 

the  cost of grading and preparation of land owned by defendant's 
sister, the t r ia l  court erred (1) i n  giving the jury instructions subject 
to  the construction tha t  it was necessary for  defendant to  have re- 
ceived something of value himself in  order to provide the legal con- 
sideration sufficient to  support the contract of guaranty, and (2) 
i n  failing to instruct the jury tha t  the contract of guaranty was 
supported by sufficient consideration if, by reason of the guaranty, 
defendant's sister received benefits from plaintiffs by their furnishing 
additional work on her property, o r  plaintiffs had additional work 
done on the property and thereby incurred added expense. 

APPEAL by plaintiffs from the decision of the Court of 
Appeals reported in 13 N.C. App. 410, 185 S.E. 2d 710 (1972), 
which found no error in the trial before Mccrtin, J., a t  the 1 
March 1971 Civil Session of BUNCOMBE Superior Court. 

On 10 May 1965 Martha Norburn Mead Allen, sister of 
defendant, Dr. Charles S. Norburn, leased to plaintiff Invest- 
ment Properties of Asheville, Inc., a tract  of land owned by 
her in Buncombe County, North Carolina. The lease provided 
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that the lessee should have complete control in grading, re- 
shaping, and developing the land, as  well as  full responsibility 
for listing and paying taxes, etc. 

Plaintiffs' evidence tends to show that when plaintiffs 
attempted to obtain financing for the construction of s motel 
on this property, i t  was found that the lease was not in sufficient 
legal form to permit such financing. Negotiations were then 
carried on between Dr. Logan Robertson, Vice President of 
plaintiff Investment Properties of Asheville, Inc., and defendant 
Norburn, looking to the execution of a lease which would sup- 
port financing on a long-term basis. In July of 1965 Robertson 
and defendant Norburn met and discussed the deficiencies in 
the 10 May 1965 lease, and according to the testimony of 
Robertson it was agreed that this lease be rescinded. Defendant 
Norburn denied that there was such an agreement. 

Plaintiff Baxter PI. Taylor was a partner or co-venturer 
with Investment Properties of Asheville, Inc., as to the leased 
property. Taylor was also the sole owner of Asheville Contract- 
ing Company, which was engaged in heavy dirt moving and 
construction projects, and a t  the time engaged in grading for 
a section of Highway 1-40 near the Allen property. While ne- 
gotiations with reference to another lease were being conducted, 
Asheville Contracting Company, a t  the request of Taylor and 
Investment Properties of Asheville, Inc., started grading the 
leased property for the construction of a motel. On 17 June 
1965 Robertson stated to defendant Norburn that the grading 
on this property had reached such a point that the maehinerg 
might have to be removed if a satisfactory lease could not be 
obtained. To prevent this, defendant entered into a written 
agreement with plaintiffs as follows: 

"Asheville, N. C. 
June 17, 1965 

"TO 
"Dr. Logan Robertson 

"This is to certify that I will stand personally liable 
as stated below for the Conduit grading and necessary 
expenses (at  actual cost) for the land preparation of the 
Acton property now owned by Martha Mead Allen, in case 
the lease is not continued after June 1, 1966. 
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"I promise to pay in cash for this or else deed to you 
the 734 acre tract in Ashe County which is and will be free 
and clear. 

Charles S. Norburn" 

Following the execution of this agreement, the Asheville 
Contracting Company continued to work on the Allen tract. 
Most of the grading on the property had been completed prior 
to 12 June 1965, but some additional leveling was done and the 
banks of the property were fertilized and seeded after that date. 

Plaintiffs and Allen were never able to agree on a new 
lease although various lawyers were consulted, numerous leases 
considered, and negotiations continued for a long period follow- 
ing the conclusion of the grading work. On 13 October 1967 
Allen finally leased the property to West Side Motel Company, 
Inc., which Company erected a Holiday Inn thereon. 

Plaintiffs' evidence tends to show that the actual cost of 
grading the property was $19,456.88. Demand for payment 
was made by plaintiffs on Allen and on Norburn. Both refused 
to pay. Plaintiffs gave Asheville Contracting Company their 
note for that amount and instituted this action to recover this 
amount on the written contract of guaranty given by defendant 
Norburn. Plaintiffs a t  the same time instituted an action for 
the same amount against Allen (see Investment Properties v. 
Allen, 281 N.C. 174, 188 S.E. 2d 441 (1972)) alleging that 
defendant Norburn acted as Allen's agent in the various trans- 
actions concerning the lease with the plaintiffs, including the 
agreement to pay the actual cost of the grading and improve- 
ment of the leased property. 

By consent the cases were consolidated for trial. On issues 
submitted and answered in favor of the plaintiffs, judgment 
was entered against Allen for $19,456.88, the cost of the grad- 
ing. In the case against defendant Norburn, the jury found 
that the defendant did not receive a valuable consideration from 
plaintiffs for the execution and delivery of the written guaranty. 
From judgment on the verdict that plaintiffs recover nothing 
against defendant Norburn, plaintiffs appealed to the Court of 
Appeals. That court, with Judge Vaughn dissenting, found 
no error. Plaintiffs appealed to the Supreme Court as of right 
under G.S. 7A-30 (2). 
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Bennett, KeWy & Long by Harold K. Bennett f o r  plaintiff 
appellants. 

Williams, Morris & Golding by James F. Blue, 111, f o r  de- 
f endunt appellee. 

MOORE, Justice. 

Plaintiffs allege that defendant Norburn is liable for the 
actual cost of the grading and seeding done on Allen's property 
by reason of the guaranty agreement executed by Norburn. 
Defendant Norburn alleges that this guaranty agreement was 
not based on a legal consideration and contends that the jury 
correctly found that the defendant did not receive a valuable 
consideration from plaintiffs for the execution and delivery of 
this guaranty. 

[I, 21 A guaranty of payment is an absolute promise by the 
guarantor to pay a debt at  maturity if it is not paid by the 
principal debtor. This obligation is separate and independent 
of the obligation of the principal debtor, and the creditor's 
cause of action against the guarantor ripens immediately upon 
the failure of the principal debtor to pay the debt a t  maturity. 
Milling Co. v. Wallace, 242 N.C. 686, 89 S.E. 2d 413 (1955). 
The language in the guaranty signed by defendant Norburn 
created an unconditional promise to pay in cash for the actual 
cost of the land preparation of Allen's property in case the 
lease (of 10 May 1965) was not continued after 1 June 1966, 
or in lieu of cash to deed to Robertson 734 acres of. land in 
Ashe County. This language was sufficient to constitute a guar- 
anty of payment. Credit Corp. v. Wilson, 281 N.C. 140, 187 
S.E. 2d 752 (1972). 

The jury found that the lease in question was not continued 
after 1 June 1966, and, in accordance with a peremptory in- 
struction, further found that the guaranty agreement was ex- 
ecuted by defendant. The determinative issue then is: Did 
defendant Norburn receive valuable consideration from the 
plaintiffs for the execution and delivery of this guaranty agree- 
ment ? 

[3] It is well-settled law in this State that in order for a 
contract to be enforceable i t  must be supported by consideration. 
A mere promise, without more, is unenforceable. Scott v. Foppe, 
247 N.C. 67, 100 S.E. 2d 238 (1957) ; Jo~daw v. Maynard, 231 
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N.C. 101, 56 S.E. 2d 26 (1949) ; Sto%estreet v. Oil Co., 226 
N.C. 261, 37 S.E. 2d 676 (1946) ; 2 Strong, N. C. Index 2d, 
Contracts 5 4. As a general rule, consideration consists of some 
benefit or advantage to the promisor or some loss or detriment 
to the promisee. However, as stated by Chief Justice Stacy in 
Stmestreet v. Oil Co., supra: 

" . . . It has been held that 'there is a consideration if 
the promisee, in return for the promise, does anything 
legal which he is not bound to do, or refrains from doing 
anything which he has a right to do, whether there is 
any actual loss or detriment to him or actual benefit to 
the promisor or not.' 17 C.J.S. 426; Spencer v. Bynunz, 169 
N.C. 119, 85 S.E. 216; Basketeria Stores v. Indemnity Co., 
204 N.C. 537, 168 S.E. 822; Grztbb v. Motor Co., 209 N.C. 
88, 182 S.E. 7'30, and cases cited." 

[a, 51 I t  is not necessary that the promisor receive considera- 
tion or something of value himself in order to provide the legal 
consideration sufficient to support a contract. Forbearance to 
exercise legal rights is sufficient consideration for a promise 
given to secure such forbearance even though the forbearance 
is for a third person rather than that of the promisor. Myers v. 
Allsbroolc, 229 N.C. 786, 51 S.E. 2d 629 (1949). In a guaranty 
contract, a consideration moving directly to the guarantor is 
not essential. The promise is enforceable if a benefit to the 
principal debtor is shown or if detriment or inconvenience 
to the promisee is disclosed. 38 Am. Jur. Zd, Guaranty 5 43, 
p. 1046. 

In Cowan v. Roberts, 134 N.C. 415, 46 S.E. 979 (1904), 
this Court held that a promise to pay for goods delivered to the 
principaI was sufficient consideration to support the contract 
of guaranty. The guaranty in that case was as follows: 

"Knoxville, Tenn., 8 April, 1899 

"I hereby guarantee to Cowan, McClung & Co., any 
debts which Roberts Bros. now owe, or may owe in the 
future, to the extent of two thousand dollars. This obligation 
to remain in full force until the debt now due Cowan, 
McClung & Co. is fully discharged and this agreement 
annulled in writing. 

W. S. Roberts." 
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Although W. S. Roberts received nothing of value, the Court held 
the delivery of merchandise to Roberts Bros. by Cowan, 
McClung & Co., by reason of this guaranty, was sufficient con- 
sideration to hold the guarantor, W. S. Roberts, liable for the 
amount owed a t  the time of the guaranty, and for merchandise 
delivered to Roberts Bros. after the guaranty was executed. 

In the case before us plaintiffs assign as error the failure 
of the trial court to instruct the jury that the contract of guar- 
anty given by defendant Norburn was supported by sufficient 
legal consideration if a third party, Allen, received benefits from 
the plaintiffs by their furnishing additional services of benefit 
to her property, and that i t  was not necessary for the defendant 
Norburn to receive consideration or something of value himself 
in order to provide the legal consideration sufficient to support 
the contract of guaranty. This assignment is well taken. 

[6] G.S. 1-180, as now incorporated in G.S. 1A-1, Rule 51, 
required the judge to explain and apply the law to the specific 
facts pertinent to the issue involved. A mere declaration of the 
law in general terms was not sufficient to meet the requirements 
of the statute. Saunslers v. Warren, 267 N.C. 735, 149 S.E. 2d 
19 (1966). It is the duty of the court, without a request for 
special instructions, to explain the law and to apply i t  to the 
evidence on all substantial features of the case. Melton v. Crotts, 
257 N.C. 121, 125 S.E. 2d 396 (1962). A failure to do so con- 
stitutes prejudicial error for which the aggrieved party is 
entitled to a new trial. Correll v. Gaskim, 263 N.C. 212, 139 S.E. 
2d 202 (1964). 

171 The court in the charge to the jury in this case correctly 
stated: "There must be a sufficient consideration in order to 
support a contract or legal agreement. Any benefit, right or 
interest accruing to the one who makes the promise or guaranty, 
or any forbearance, detriment or loss suffered or undertaken by 
one to whom the promise for guaranty is made is a sufficient 
consideration to support such guaranty or contract." Thereafter, 
the court charged the jury: "I charge you that if the plaintiffs 
have satisfied you by the greater weight of the evidence that 
the defendant Norburn received a valuable consideration for 
the execution and delivery of the guaranty i t  will be your duty 
to answer the issue 'Yes.' If the plaintiffs have failed to so satis- 
fy  you i t  would be your duty to answer the issue 'No.' " Under 
this charge the jury might well have understood that they 
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were required to find that defendant Norburn himself received 
a valuable consideration to support his guaranty. In view of 
the facts in this case, this was too restrictive. 

The jury should also have been instructed that if, by reason 
of the guaranty signed by defendant Norburn, Allen received 
benefits from the plaintiffs by their furnishing additional work 
on her property, including fertilizing, seeding, and additional 
leveling, or if Asheville Contracting Company, a t  the request 
of plaintiffs, did additional work upon the Allen property and 
thereby incurred added expense by reason of this guaranty, 
either would be sufficient legal consideration to support such 
guaranty. 

The failure to so charge the jury is error for which plain- 
tiffs are entitled to a new trial. The other assignments of 
error are not considered since they may not recur a t  the next 
trial. 

New trial. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. ELIZABETH CRADLE 

No. 30 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Constitutional Law 8 32- right to counsel 
If an accused can afford counsel he has a constitutional right 

in all criminal cases to be represented by counsel selected and em- 
ployed by him. 

2. Constitutional Law $j 32; Criminal Law 5 21- preliminary hearing- 
right to  counsel 

A preliminary hearing is a critical stage of the State's criminal 
process a t  which an accused has a right under the Sixth and Four- 
teenth Amendments to assistance of counsel; furthermore, by statute 
in North Carolina, an indigent person has the right to the services 
of counsel a t  a preliminary hearing in any felony case. G.S. 
76-451 (a)  ( I ) ,  (b) ( 4 ) .  

3. Constitutional Law 5 32- appointment of counsel - indigency 
The trial court erred in finding that  defendant was not an  

indigent and in refusing to appoint counsel to represent her a t  her 
preliminary hearing on a felony charge where defendant's affidavit 
of indigency stated that  she had no income, no money and no property 
except a 1958 Chevrolet which was paid for, and that  she had three 
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children, an unemployed husband and owed $3,000, and nothing in 
the record refutes or contradicts the import of defendant's affidavit 
of indigency. G.S. 7A-450 (a) .  

4. Criminal Law 3 21- preliminary hearing - function 
In North Carolina, a preliminary hearing is simply an inquiry 

into whether the accused should be discharged or whether there is 
probable cause to submit the State's evidence to the grand jury and 
seek a bill of indictment to the end that  the accused may be placed 
upon trial. 

5. Criminal Law § 21- preliminary hearing - probable cause 
The district judge, when sitting as  a committing magistrate as  

authorized by G.S. 78-272(b), does not render a verdict but passes 
only on the narrow question of whether probable cause exists and, 
if so, the fixing of bail if the offense is bailable; and a discharge 
of the accused is not an acquittal and does not bar a later indictment. 

6. Constitutional Law 5 32; Criminal Law 5 21- preliminary hearing- 
failure to  appoint counsel - harmless error 

The failure to appoint counsel to represent an indigent defendant 
a t  her preliminary hearing on charges of forgery and uttering a 
forged check was harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt where 
the testimony a t  the hearing was not transcribed and was never put 
before the trial court, the jury which convicted defendant never 
knew that  a preliminary hearing had been conducted, the record 
does not show that  defendant pled guilty or made any disclosures 
a t  the preliminary hearing which were used against her a t  the trial, 
and the record does not show the loss of any defenses or pleas or 
motions by failure to assert them a t  the preliminary hearing. 

7. Criminal Law 3 21- preliminary hearing -termination by court - 
probabIe cause 

Counsel's ability a t  the preliminary hearing to "fashion a vital 
impeachment tool for use in cross-examination of the State's wit- 
nesses a t  trial" or to "discover the case the State has against his 
client" is greatly diminished by the authority of the court to termi- 
nate the preliminary hearing once probable cause is established. 

8. Criminal Law 5 91- motion for continuance - appellate review 
A motion for continuance is ordinarily addressed to the discretion 

of the trial judge and his ruling thereon is not subject to review 
absent abuse of discretion; however, when the motion is based on a 
right guaranteed by the Federal and State Constitutions, the question 
presented is one of law and not of discretion, and the decision of 
the trial court is reviewable. 

9. Constitutional Law 5 31- right of confrontation 
The right to the assistance of counsel and the right to face one's 

accusers and witnesses with other testimony are guaranteed by the 
Sixth Amendment to the U. S. Constitution, which is made applicable 
to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment, and by Article I, $5 19 
and 23 of the N. C. Constitution. 
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10. Constitutional Law 9 32- right to  counsel- time t o  prepare defense 
The r ight  to  the assistance of counsel includes the r ight  of counsel 

to  confer with witnesses, to  consult with the accused and to prepare 
his defense. 

11. Constitutional Law 9 31; Criminal Law 8 91- denial of eontinuanee- 
right t o  confrontation - right to  effective assistance of counsel 

Defendant's rights of confrontation and the  effective assistance 
of counsel were not violated by the denial of a motion for  continuance 
made on the ground t h a t  she needed to get information from her 
home in order to know what witnesses she wanted subpoenaed, where 
defendant was afforded the opportunity to  go home during the noon 
hour to get anything she desired, defendant's counsel represented 
her i n  four  other pending cases and they had conferred a t  length 
concerning them, defendant could have conferred with her counsel 
concerning this case for  six days prior to  the trial,  counsel knew of 
his appointment and could have conferred with defendant fo r  four 
days prior to  the trial, both knew the case was calendared for  trial, 
and neither defendant nor her counsel revealed to the court the name 
of a n y  witness defendant allegedly had a t  her home which she desired 
to  subpoena or  what  she expected to  prove by a n y  such witness. 

12. Constitutional Law 9 36; Forgery 3 2- sentence for uttering - cruel 
and unusual punishment 

A sentence of seven to ten years for  uttering a forged check i n  
the sum of $50 is not cruel and unusual punishment, since i t  is  
within the maximum authorized by statute. G.S. 14-119; G.S. 14-120. 

13. Constitutional Law 8 36; Criminal Law 9 138- punishment - province 
of legislature 

It  is  within the province of the General Assembly and not the 
judiciary to determine the extent of punishment which ?nay be im- 
posed on those convicted of crime. 

DEFENDANT appeals from decision of the Court of Appeals, 
13 N.C. App. 120, upholding judgment of Copeland, S.J., 7 June 
1971 Session, ORANGE Superior Court. 

Defendant was charged in a two-count bill of indictment 
with forgery and uttering a forged check. 

The State's evidence tends to show that on 15 January 
1971 a t  approximately 2 p.m. defendant entered the place of busi- 
ness of Central Carolina Farmers, Inc., in Carrboro and request- 
ed Mrs. Irma Davis, who worked there, to cash a fifty-dollar 
check. Mrs. Davis asked who the maker was, and defendant re- 
plied: "That's the man I work for." The name appearing on the 
check as maker was Bennie Duty, and the name appearing on the 
check as payee was Lena Mae Hopkins. Defendant endorsed the 
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check in the presence of Mrs. Davis by writing the name "Lena 
Mae Hopkins" on the back of the check, and Mrs. Davis there- 
upon took the check and gave defendant fifty dollars in currency. 

The check was deposited in due course and returned 
stamped "Account Closed." Mrs. Davis contacted the police and 
described the person who gave her the check as "a black female, 
with red hair, small build and freckles. On this particular date, 
January 15, 1971, she was wearing a dark blue dress. I was 
questioned by Officer Blackwood as to how many times I had 
seen Elizabeth Cradle prior to the date of January 15, 1971, to 
which I replied that I had seen her fifty, seventy-five or more 
times." Although she had seen Elizabeth Cradle many times, 
Mrs. Davis did not know her name. However, based on the in- 
formation and the description, the officer swore out a warrant 
for Elizabeth Cradle. 

Bennie R. Duty testified t a t  he did not sign the check P and did not authorize anyone e se to sign his name to it. He 
identified the check in question as one of his personalized checks, 
with his name (Bennie R. Duty) and his address (115 Carr 
Street, Carrboro) printed on it. He said that for several months 
prior to 1 February 1971 he had been in prison serving a six- 
month term for driving under the influence of alcohol and had 
not been a t  his home address during the month of January 1971. 

Earl Eversole testified that he lived a t  115 Carr Street, 
Carrboro, North Carolina, in the same house where Bennie Duty 
lived; that Mr. Duty was absent during the month of January; 
that in December 1970, between Christmas and New Year's, 
defendant came to his house and cleaned up a room adjoining 
the room in which Mr. Duty lived; that after Mr. Duty returned 
home he complained about his checks being gone-"he calculated 
that he was missing about sixty checks." This witness stated 
that the room defendant cleaned opens out into the hall and 
doesn't open into Mr. Duty's room; that the house stays open 
rather than locked-"I do not lock the door." 

The State rested its case and defendant moved for a directed 
verdict of not guilty as to both counts. As to the count charging 
forgery, the motion was allowed ; as to the count charging utter- 
ing, the motion was denied. 

Defendant, as a witness in her own behalf, testified that 
she is married to Irving Sylvester Cradle, is twenty-two years 
of age, and has three children. Neither she nor her husband has 
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ever been on welfare. For the last six months she has been 
staying home taking care of her children. "My mother's name 
is Lena Mae Rigsbee but she went under the name of Lena Mae 
Hopkins. She wasn't alive on January 15, 1971; she died about 
two years ago." 

The defendant further testified that a t  two o'clock in the 
afternoon of January 15 she was a t  home "as far as I can remem- 
ber." She denied she had ever seen the check in question and 
denied going into the Farmers Exchange on January 15. She 
admitted working for Mr. Eversole between Christmas and New 
Year's cleaning an upstairs room for him but denied having 
gone into Mr. Duty's room, "although I have known him for two 
or three years." She said she had never taken anything from 
any of the rooms a t  Mr. Eversole's. She said she did not know 
Mrs. Davis and had never given her a check of any kind. 

Defendant's motion for firected verdict of not guilty on 
the uttering count in the bill of indictment was renewed at the 
close of all the evidence and denied. Following the arguments 
and the charge of the court, the jury convicted defendant of 
uttering a forged check, as charged, and defendant was sen- 
tenced to a term of not less than seven nor more than ten years. 
The Court of Appeals found no error, and defendant appealed to 
the Supreme Court, allegedly as of right, asserting involvement 
of substantial constitutional questions and assigning errors noted 
in the opinion. 

Roy  M. Cole; Lolflin, Anderson & Lofl in by Thomas F. 
Loflin, 111, Attorneys for defendant app8ellant. 

Robert Morgan, Attorney General; Charles M. Hensey, 
Assistant A t t m e y  General, for the  State of North Carolina. 

HUSKINS, Justice. 

Following her arrest defendant signed an affidavit of in- 
digency on 22 March 1971. The affidavit stated that she was 
unemployed, had no income, no money, and no property except 
a 1958 model Chevrolet which was fully paid for. Her affidavit 
further stated that she had three children, an unemployed hus- 
band, and owed $3,000. She requested assignment of counsel. 
On 23 March 1971 District Judge Cates signed the following 
order denying counsel : 
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"The above named person, being a party to a proceeding 
or action listed in G.S. 7A-451(a), specifically, uttering 
forged check, and, having requested the assignment of 
counsel; now, therefore, 

It appearing to the undersigned Judge from the affirma- 
tions made by the applicant and after due inquiry made, 
that the applicant is financially able to provide the neces- 
sary expenses of legal representation, i t  is, therefore, 

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that he is not an indigent, and his 
request is hereby denied." 

Thereafter, a preliminary hearing was conducted before 
Judge Cates on 30 March 1971, probable cause found, and 
defendant was bound over to superior court for trial. Her 
appearance bond was fixed a t  $1,000 which she posted and 
remained a t  liberty until her trial in superior court. Insofar 
as  the record discloses, she was not represented by counsel at 
the preliminary hearing. Defendant assigns as error the failure 
of Judge Cates to appoint counsel to represent her a t  the pre- 
liminary hearing. 

[I] If an accused can afford counsel he has a constitutional 
right in all criminal cases to be represented by counsel selected 
and employed by him. State v. Morris, 275 N.C. 50, 165 S.E. 
2d 245 (1969). If the accused is indigent and charged with a 
felony or other serious offense, what are his rights with respect 
to assigned counsel a t  a preliminary hearing? 

[2] A preliminary hearing is a critical stage of the State's 
criminal process a t  which an accused has a constitutional right 
under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to assistance of 
counsel. Coleman u. Alabama, 399 U.S. 1, 26 L.Ed. 2d 387, 90 
S.Ct 1999 (1970). Compare, Gasque v. State, 271 N.C. 323, 
156 S.E. 2d 740 (1967) ; State v. Cason, 267 N.C. 316, 148 
S.E. 2d 137 (1966). Furthermore, by statute in North Carolina, 
an  indigent person has the right to the services of counsel a t  
a preliminary hearing in any felony case. G.S. 7A-451 (a) ( I ) ,  
(b) (4). An indigent person is defined as one "who is financially 
unable to secure legal representation and to provide all other 
necessary expenses of representation. . . . " G.S. 7A-450 (a) .  The 
court makes the final determination of indigency, G.S. 7A- 
453(b), and this may be determined or redetermined by the 
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court a t  any stage of the proceeding a t  which the indigent is 
entitled to representation. G.S. 78-450 (c) . 
[3] Here, defendant was charged with a felony, and the only 
evidence of record bearing upon the question of indigency is 
her affidavit. That affidavit, if believed, certainly shows that 
she "was financially unable to secure legal representation and 
to provide all other necessary expenses." The order signed by 
Judge Cates in which he refused to assign counsel recites that 
"from the affirmations made by the applicant and after due 
inquiry made" i t  appears to the judge that the applicant is 
financially able to provide the necessary expenses of legal repre- 
sentation. The record does not reveal what inquiry the judge 
made and no facts are found. Nothing in the record refutes or 
contradicts the import of defendant's affidavit of indigency. 
On this record we hold that defendant was an indigent within 
the meaning of G.S. 7A-450 (a) and was entitled to be repre- 
sented by appointed counsel a t  the preliminary hearing con- 
ducted before Judge Cates on 30 March 1971. Failure to assign 
counsel was error. I t  is noteworthy that Judge Copeland, acting 
upon the same affidavit, "and after due inquiry made," found 
defendant indigent on 1 June 1971 and appointed Attorney 
Roy M. Cole to represent her a t  the trial in superior court and, 
following her conviction, upon appeal. 

Whether defendant was prejudiced by the absence of coun- 
sel a t  the preliminary hearing must now be determined. "The 
test to be applied is whether the denial of counsel a t  the pre- 
liminary hearing was harmless error under Chapman. v. Cali- 
fornia, 386 U.S. 18, 17 L.Ed. 2d 705, 87 S.Ct. 824, 24 A.L.R. 3d 
1065 (1967) ." Coleman. v. Alabama, supra. 

[4, 51 In  North Carolina, a preliminary hearing is simply an 
inquiry into whether the accused should be discharged or wheth- 
er, on the other hand, there is probable cause to submit the 
State's evidence to the grand jury and seek a bill of indictment 
to the end that the accused may be placed upon trial. The district 
judge, when sitting as a committing magistrate as authorized 
by G.S. 74-272 (b), does not render a verdict; and a discharge 
of the accused is not an acquittal and does not bar a later indict- 
ment. State v. Hargett, 255 N.C. 412, 121 S.E. 2d 589 (1961). 
Thus a preliminary hearing is not a trial ; and the district judge, 
in his capacity as committing magistrate, passes only on the 
narrow question of whether probable cause exists and, if so, 
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the fixing of bail if the offense is bailable. G.S. 15-94; G.S. 15-95; 
State v. Bass, 280 N.C. 435, 186 S.E, 2d 384 (1972). 

[6] The record on appeal in this case is completely silent with 
respect to what occurred a t  the preliminary hearing. As defend- 
ant correctly states in her brief: "All that the record shows is 
that one was held and probable cause against the defendant 
found after the defendant submitted an affidavit of indigency 
and was denied counsel." 

The record does not show that defendant pled guilty or 
made any disclosures a t  the preliminary hearing which were 
used against her a t  the trial, as in White v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 
59, 10 L.Ed. 2d 193, 83 S.Ct. 1050 (1963). 

The record does not show that the transcript of any testi- 
mony given a t  the preliminary hearing was used against defend- 
ant a t  her trial, thus denying her the right of confrontation, as 
in Pointer u. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 13 L.Ed. 2d 923, 85 S.Ct. 
1065 (1965). 

The record does not show the loss of any defenses or pleas 
or motions by failure to assert them a t  the preliminary hearing. 
See Hamilton v. Alabama, 368 U.S. 52, 7 L.Ed. 2d 114, 82 S.Ct. 
157 (1961). 

The record does not show that the absence of counsel a t  
the preliminary hearing in any way contaminated the proceed- 
ings a t  the trial in superior court. The testimony a t  the hearing 
was not transcribed and was never put before the trial court. 
The jury which convicted defendant never knew that a pre- 
liminary hearing had been conducted or that probable cause 
had been found and defendant bound over for trial. Surely de- 
fense counsel would have included in the statement of case on 
appeal each and every circumstance and event which was con- 
sidered prejudicial to the defendant a t  her trial. The absence of 
all such circumstances is compelling proof of their nonexistence. 
The record contains nothing save the bare assertion of prej- 
udice and the contention that defendant's conviction cannot stand 
because she was not represented by counsel a t  the preliminary 
hearing. 

[7] In light of the record before us i t  would require reaching 
and stretching to conclude that the presence of counsel a t  the 
preliminary hearing would have enabled defendant to elicit 
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favorable testimony a t  her trial which was irretrievably lost 
due to absence of counsel a t  the preliminary hearing. That 
defense counsel might have done a better job a t  the trial had 
he been present a t  the preliminary hearing is sheer speculation. 
Moreover, the presiding judge may hear only one witness, find 
probable cause, and end the hearing. Thus counsel's ability a t  
the preliminary hearing to "fashion a vital impeachment tool for 
use in cross-examination of the State's witnesses a t  trial," or to 
"discover the case the State has against his client," Coleman v. 
Alabama, supra, is greatly diminished by the authority of the 
court to terminate the preliminary hearing once probable cause 
is established. See Adams v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 278, 31 L.Ed. 
2d 202,92 S.Ct. 916 (decided March 6,1972). 

It was held in Chapman v. California, supra [386 U.S. 18, 
17 L.Ed. 2d 705, 87 S.Ct. 824, 24 A.L.R. 3d 1065 (1967)l that 
some constitutional errors are deemed harmless in the setting 
of a particular case, not requiring the automatic reversal of a 
conviction, where the appellate court can declare a belief that i t  
was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. In fashioning a harm- 
less error rule the Court said: "We prefer the approach of this 
Court in deciding what was harmless error in our recent case of 
Fahy v. Connecticut, 375 U.S. 85, 11 L.Ed. 2d 171, 84 S.Ct. 
229. There we said: 'The question is whether there is a reason- 
able possibility that the [error] complained of might have con- 
tributed to the conviction.' . . . We, therefore, do no more than 
adhere to the meaning of our Fahy Case when we hold, as we 
now do, that before a federal constitutional error can be held 
harmless, the court must be able to declare a belief that i t  was 
harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." 

Applying the Chapman test to the facts in this case, we 
see no reasonable possibility that the absence of counsel at the 
preliminary hearing could have contributed to defendant's con- 
viction a t  her trial in superior court. In our view it was harm- 
less error beyond a reasonable doubt and we so hold. Harrington 
v. California, 395 U.S. 250, 23 L.Ed. 2d 284, 89 S.Ct. 1726 
(1969) ; State v. Brinson, 277 N.C. 286, 177 S.E. 2d 398 (1970) ; 
State u. Fletcher and Arnold, 279 N.C. 85, 181 S.E. 2d 405 
(1971) ; State v. Taylor, 280 N.C. 273, 185 S.E. 2d 677 (1972). 
Defendant's first assignment of error is overruled. 

Attorney Roy M. Cole was appointed to represent defendant 
in this case on 1 June 1971 and was informed of his appoint- 
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ment on 3 June 1971. When the case was called for trial on 
7 June 1971, counsel moved for a continuance on the ground 
that he had not had time to prepare for trial and to subpoena 
witnesses. He had been previously appointed to represent de- 
fendant in four other cases and had conferred a t  great length 
with the defendant concerning them. In a conference with the 
solicitor on June 3 or 4 Mr. Cole indicated he was ready to go 
to trial in this case and was advised by the solicitor that not only 
this case but also other cases pending against the defendant 
were on the calendar and might be called during the week of 
June 7. When this case was called on June 7, defendant informed 
her counsel that she didn't know what witnesses she wanted 
subpoenaed until she went home. Mr. Cole then stated to the 
court that he was informed by his client that she needed to 
"get information that she has a t  her home regarding this case 
and to inform me what witnesses she desi~es to subpoena for 
this case; these being the reasons for the motion for con- 
tinuance." The record discloses defendant was afforded an 
opportunity to go home during the noon hour to get anything she 
desired. The motion for continuance was denied, and this con- 
stitutes defendant's second assignment of error. 

[8] A motion for continuance is ordinarily addressed to the 
discretion of the trial judge and his ruling thereon is not sub- 
ject to review absent abuse of discretion. State v. Stinson, 267 
N.C. 661, 148 S.E. 2d 593 (1966). However, when the motion 
is based on a right guaranteed by the Federal and State Consti- 
tutions, the question presented is one of law and not of dis- 
cretion, and the decision of the court below is reviewable. 
State v. Phillips, 261 N.C. 263, 134 S.E. 2d 386 (1964). 

19, 101 The right to the assistance of counsel and the right to 
face one's accusers and witnesses with other testimony are 
guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the Federal Consti- 
tution which is made applicable to the States by the Fourteenth 
Amendment, and by Article I, Sections 19 and 23 of the Con- 
stitution of North Carolina. The right to the assistance of coun- 
sel includes the right of counsel to confer with witnesses, to 
consult with the accused and to prepare his defense. Avery v. 
Alabama, 308 U.S. 444, 84 L.Ed. 377, 60 S.Ct. 321 (1940) ; 
Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 77 L.Ed. 158, 53 S.Ct 55 
(1932) ; State v. Farrell, 223 N.C. 321, 26 S.E. 2d 322 (1943). 
Hence, the question presented by this assignment is whether 
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the refusal of the trial court to grant defendant's motion for 
a continuance impinged upon her constitutional right to con- 
frontation and effective representation by counsel by denying 
her a reasonable time within which to prepare and present her 
defense. If so, she is entitled to a new trial. If not, denial of 
the continuance was a discretionary matter not subject to review 
except in case of manifest abuse. 

[11] The record in this case does not support defendant's 
contention that she has been denied her constitutional rights of 
confrontation and assistanee of counsel. She and her counsel 
were well acquainted. He represented her in four other pending 
cases and they had conferred a t  length concerning them. She 
could have conferred with him concerning this case, had .she 
tried, for six days prior to the trial. Counsel knew of his ap- 
pointment and could have conferred with defendant for four 
days prior to the trial. Both knew this case was calendared 
for trial during the week of June 7. Yet, insofar as the record 
shows, they did nothing. Moreover, neither defendant nor her 
counsel revealed to the court the name of a single witness de- 
fendant allegedly had a t  her home which she desired to sub- 
poena. What she expected to prove by these witnesses must be 
surmised. If she went home to get the list of witnesses, the 
record fails to show it. The oral motion for continuance is not 
supported by affidavit or other proof. In fact, the record sug- 
gests only a natural reluctance to go to trial and affords little 
basis to conclude that absent witnesses, if they existed, would 
ever be available. We are left with the thought that defense 
counsel suffered more from lack of a defense than from lack 
of time. "Continuances should not be granted unless the reasons 
therefor are fully established. Hence, a motion for a continuance 
should be supported by an affidavit showing sufficient grounds. 
State v. Gibson, 229 N.C. 497, 50 S.E. 2d 520 (1948)." State v. 
Stepney, 280 N.C. 306, 185 S.E. 2d 844 (1972). The facts show 
no abuse of discretion and no violation of defendant's constitu- 
tional rights by the court's refusal to continue the case. De- 
fendant's second assignment of error is overruled. 

[I21 Defendant's third and final assignment of error in this 
Court is grounded on the contention that a sentence of seven to 
ten years for uttering a forged check in the sum of fifty dollars 
is cruel and unusual punishment prohibited by both State and 
Federal Constitutions. 
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We have consistently held that a sentence of imprisonment 
which is within the maximum authorized by statute is not cruel 
or unusual in a constitutional sense, unless the punishment pro- 
visions of the statute itself are unconstitutional. State v. Rogers, 
275 N.C. 411, 168 S.E. 2d 345 (1969) ; State v. Robinson, 271 
N.C. 448, 156 S.E. 2d 854 (1967) ; State v. Greer, 270 N.C. 
143, 153 S.E. 2d 849 (1967) ; State v. Bruce, 268 N.C. 174, 150 
S.E. 2d 216 (1966). 

One who forges or utters forged paper in this State is 
guilty of a felony and may be punished by imprisonment in the 
county jail or State's prison for not less than four months nor 
more than ten years. G.S. 14-119; G.S. 14-120. Thus the judg- 
ment pronounced in this case is within the maximum authorized 
by law and must be upheld. 

[I31 Defendant argues that the foregoing rule abdicates judicial 
functions to the legislative branch of government. No so. I t  is 
within the province of the General Assembly of North Carolina 
and not the judiciary to determine the extent of punishment 
which may be imposed on those convicted of crime. If the sen- 
tence pronounced here seems harsh, the executive branch of 
government acting through the Board of Paroles may lawfully 
commute it. Our function, however, is to pass upon errors of 
law; and in law there is no error. 

Defendant's remaining assignments, five in number, relate 
to motions for nonsuit, mistrial, and to the court's charge. De- 
fendant's supplemental brief filed in this Court does not discuss 
these assignments and does not refer to a discussion of them 
contained in defendant's brief filed in the Court of Appeals. 
Although they may be deemed abandoned under Rule 28, Rules 
of Practice in the Supreme Court (State v. St~ickland, 254 
N.C. 658, 119 S.E. 2d 7811, we have carefully reviewed the 
assignments and find no merit in any of them. They are over- 
ruled without discussion. 

For the reasons stated the decision of the Court of Appeals 
upholding the judgment of the trial court is 

Affirmed. 
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In  re  Publishing Co. 

IN THE MATTER O F  THE APPEAL OF ASHEVILLE CITIZEN-TIMES PUB- 
LISHING COMPANY FROM AN ACTION O F  THE BUNCOMBE COUNTY BOARD 
OF TAX SUPERVISION, SITTING AS THE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION AND 
REVIEW, DENYING THE REQUEST FOR EXEMPTION FROM AD VALOREM TAX- 
ATION CERTAIN IMPORTED PROPERTY OWNED BY THE APPELLANT AND 
LOCATED IN BUNCOMBE COUNTY AS O F  JANUARY 1, 1970. 

No. 109 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Taxation Q 9.5- taxes on exports or imports - U. S. Constitution 

The purpose of Art. I, 8 1012.1 of the U. S. Constitution, pro- 
hibiting a state t ax  on imports, is to prevent the coastal states, and 
o ther  states through which imports must pass, from levying a t ax  
on imports before they reach their destination, so as to impede the 
free flow of goods between the states, and so as to prevent encroach- 
ment by the state upon taxing powers reserved exclusively to the 
national government. 

2. Taxation Q 9.5- state taxes on imports - current operational needs 

When goods are needed, imported and irrevocably committed to  
supply and are actually being used to supply the daily requirements 
of a manufacturer, they are being used for "current operational 
needs" so as to lose their character as imports and their immunity 
from state taxation. 

3. Taxation Q 9.5- state taxes on imports - use or storage 

Neither the size of the supply of imported materials on hand 
nor the distance the materials are stored from the point of fabrica- 
tion or consumption determines whether they are being used or merely 
stored, the treatment of the goods by the importing manufacturer 
being the critical test. 

4. Taxation Q 9.5- taxes on imports - current operational needs - 
time necessary for delivery 

Contention that "current operational needs" of imported newsprint 
must be determined by mutiplying the number of days necessary for 
the imported goods to be shipped from the place of origin to des- 
tination by the average daily requirement of such goods by the 
importer-manufacturer is without merit. 

5. Taxation QQ 9.5, 25- ad valorem taxes - imported newsprint - cur- 
rent operational needs 

A four-to-six weeks supply of newsprint ordinarily kept on hand 
by a newspaper publishing company, and on hand on the taxing date, 
including imported newsprint, constituted the "current operational 
needs" of the publishing company and was subject to ad valorem 
taxation. 
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6. Taxation 3 9.5- imported newsprint - ad valorem taxes - "original 
package" doctrine 

The "original package" doctrine has no application in determining 
whether ad valorem taxes may be imposed on imported newsprint 
where the newsprint was being used on the taxing date for the pur- 
poses for which the taxpayer imported it. 

APPEAL by plaintiff from Martin, J. (Harry) a t  the October 
1971 Civil Session of BUNCOMBE Superior Court. 

The Asheville Citizen-Times Publishing Company (tax- 
payer) requested the Board of Supervision of Buncombe County, 
sitting as the Buncombe County Board of Equalization and 
Review, to exempt i t  from ad valorem taxes on that portion of 
imported newsprint on hand as of 1 January 1970 which ex- 
ceeded the average amount of newsprint used by i t  during a 
6-day period. The taxpayer contended that such newsprint as  
was necessary to meet its "current operational needs" was tax- 
able, and that "current operational needs" should be measured 
by the length of time it takes to get an additional supply of 
newsprint from its foreign supplier, in this case six days. How- 
ever, the Buncombe County Board of Equalization and Review 
concluded that the four to six weeks supply ordinarily kept on 
hand by the taxpayer, and on hand on the taxing date, consisting 
of 293.1 tons of imported newsprint and 191.6 tons of domestic 
newsprint, constituted the "current operational needs" of the 
taxpayer. Pursuant to this conclusion, the Buncombe County 
Board of Equalization and Review, on 3 August 1970, denied 
the request for exemption. The taxpayer appealed to the North 
Carolina Board of Assessment, contending that the County was 
imposing a tax on imports in contravention of Art. I, § 10 [2.], 
of the United States Constitution, which, in part, provides: "No 
state shall, without the consent of congress, lay any imposts or 
duties on imports or exports, except what may be absolutely 
necessary for executing its inspection laws, . . . 17 

The uncontradicted evidence disclosed by the affidavit 
testimony of Mr. John Q. Schell, General Manager of the tax- 
payer, answers by Mr. Schell to interrogatories submitted to 
him, and a copy of the contract between taxpayer and one 
foreign supplier for the purchase and sale of newsprint, shows 
that the newsprint is delivered to and placed in an underground 
storage warehouse located in a building adjacent to the building 
housing the printing facilities and general offices of taxpayer; 
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that the newsprint is moved from the underground warehouse 
to a storage room adjacent to the printing area as i t  is needed 
in order to maintain a four. to six day supply in the storage 
room. The newsprint is wrapped in heavy kraft paper, which 
is removed just before the actual use of the newsprint on the 
presses. Pursuant to the written contract between taxpayer and 
one of its Canadian suppliers, the taxpayer places monthly or- 
ders for newsprint. This contract, in part, provides: 

"5(d) Unless the buyer shall furnish to International 
(supplier) by the 15th day of the month complete spe- 
cifications expressed in tons of each width for the paper 
to be shipped the succeeding month, International may ship 
in accordance with specifications last received." 

In connection with the purchase of newsprint, Schell, in 
his affidavit, inter alia, stated : 

" . . . [W]e can, as a practical matter, and occasionally 
do place special, changed or unanticipated orders with any 
of our manufacturing suppliers. On these occasions we can 
also get delivery in Asheville of the newsprint ordered 
within six days after the manufacturer's receipt of our 
order, barring unusual circumstances." 

The State Board of Assessment found facts consistent with 
the evidence above stated, concluded that appellant's entire sup- 
ply of newsprint on hand as of 1 January 1970 constituted its 
"current operational needs," and sustained the action of the 
Buncombe County Board of Tax Supervision, sitting as the 
Buncombe County Board of Equalization and Review. The tax- 
payer filed a petition for review in Buncombe County Superior 
Court, and on 26 August 1971 Judge Harry Martin heard argu- 
ments of counsel and considered the record proper and briefs 
of counsel. On 8 October 1971 Judge Martin entered a judg- 
ment in which he, inter alia, found and concluded: 

"4. Taxpayer contends any newsprint on hand exceed- 
ing a six (6) day supply (6 x 13.8 tons, or 88.8 tons) is 
not a part of "current operational needs" but rather news- 
print purchased and held in the exercise of "sound and 
prudent business judgment." 
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"5. The Board concluded from the facts i t  found that 
a four to six weeks supply, some 489.972 tons, was required 
for taxpayer's "current operational needs" and held that 
this amount on hand January 1, 1970, the taxing date, was 
not exempt from taxation." 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

"1. Taxpayer has failed to produce evidence that the 
newsprint on hand January 1, 1970, in excess of a six (6) 
days supply (88.8 tons) was purchased in the exercise of 
sound and prudent business judgment as distinguished 
from current operational needs. There is no evidence that 
any of the paper was purchased a t  a favorable price or was 
of a particular quality not customarily obtainable, or that 
i t  was purchased for a particular purpose as distinguished 
from regular business operations, or that purchases 
in certain quantities had economic advantages, or that there 
was any threat to the foreign supply by way of strikes or 
otherwise. 

"2. There is sufficient competent evidence in the record 
to sustain the Board's findings of fact, and its conclusion 
of law, that a four to six weeks supply of newsprint paper 
(489.972 tons) did on January 1, 1970, (the taxing date) 
constitute the current operational needs of the appellant 
taxpayer. 

"3. That the Board's Decision that the property sub- 
ject to the appeal, 489.972 tons of newsprint paper owned 
by the appellant taxpayer January 1, 1970, and then located 
within Buncombe County, is not exempt from ad valorem 
taxes under Article 1, Section 10, Clause 2, of the United 
States Constitution." 

Judge Martin, after finding facts and entering his con- 
clusions of law, affirmed the decision of the State Board of 
Equalization and Review. The taxpayer appealed to the North 
Carolina Court of Appeals, and on 7 March 1972 we allowed 
the party's petition for writ of certiorari to the North Carolina 
Court of Appeals prior to determination. 

McGuire, Baley & Wood, by Charles R. Worlqy, for Appel- 
lant Asheville Citizen-Times Publishing Compa~y. 

W. M. styles for Board of Tax Supervision. 
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BRANCH, Justice. 

The constitutional question here presented is when, and to 
what extent, Buncombe County may levy an ad valorem prop- 
erty tax upon newsprint imported by a taxpayer for use in its 
printing operation. 

[I] Art. I, 5 10 [2.] was inserted in the United States Consti- 
tution to prevent the coastal states, and other states through 
which imports must pass, from levying a tax on imports before 
they reach their destination, so as to impede the free flow of 
goods between the states, and so as to prevent encroachment by 
the state upon taxing powers reserved exclusively to the national 
government. Brown v. Maryland, 12 Wheat. 419, 6 L.ed. 678; 
Youngstown Sheet and Tube Co. v. Bowers, and U. S. Plywood 
Corporation v. City of Algoma, 358 US. 534, 3 L.ed. 2d 490, 79 
S.Ct. 383. 

In Byown v. Maryland, supra, Chief Justice John Marshall, 
writing for the Court, held that the national government had 
exclusive power to tax the act of importation, and that a state 
could not tax an imported good while i t  remained the property 
of the importer "in his warehouse, in the original form or 
package in which i t  was imported." However, the Chief Justice 
emphasized that there was a point of time when imported goods 
must lose their immunity and become taxable by the states. 
In  this connection he said: "It is sufficient for the present to 
say, generally, that when the importer has so acted upon the 
thing imported, that i t  has become incorporated and mixed up 
with the mass of property in the country, it has, perhaps, lost 
its distinctive character as an import, and has become subject 
to the taxing power of the State; . . . " 

Without defining just what constituted such act or conduct, 
the Chief Justice listed some of the acts which would cause loss 
of the import characteristic. Included in this list was the act 
of an importer in bringing goods into this country for "his own 
use" and here using them for the purposes for which they 
were imported. 

The United States Supreme Court again discussed the 
effect of "use" by an importer in the case of Hooven & Allison 
Co. v. Evatt, 324 U.S. 652, 89 L. 2d 1252, 65 S.Ct. 870. There 
the court concluded that goods imported for "use" by the im- 
porter were subject to the same immunity as goods imported 
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for sale, and the goods imported for "use" did not lose their 
character as imports more readily than did goods imported 
for sale. When the imported goods are merely in storage in  
the warehouse of the importer, the goods retain their character 
as imports, and, consequently, their immunity from state tax- 
ation. The court, however, recognized that when a manufacturer 
begins to use the imported goods in the manufacturing process, 
the goods lose their character as imports and their immunity 
from state taxation. 

It was not until the United States Supreme Court decided 
the companion, landmark cases of Youngstown Sheet & Tube 
Co. u. Bow em, and U. S. Plywood Covoratiolz v. City of Algom, 
supra, that the court delineated the actual use by an importing 
manufacturer which served to remove the import character from 
a good. 

In Youngstown, the stipulated facts show that imported 
iron ore was transported to the manufacturing plant and stock- 
piled with similar imported ore adjacent to the smelters. These 
stockpiles, segregated as to quality and point of origin, contained 
enough ore to meet smelting needs a t  the manufacturer's plant 
for  approximately three months. Ore was removed periodically 
from these stockpiles and taken directly to the open hearth and 
blast furnaces. The manufacturer kept a one-to-two days supply 
of ore available continuously a t  each furnace facility. As ore 
was removed from the large stockpiles, the stockpiles were re- 
plenished with imported ore. It was further stipulated that this 
ore had been imported for manufacturing and for the purpose 
of meeting estimated requirements a t  the plant; that the 
"importation journey definitely had ended; (and) that the ores 
were irrevocably committed to use in manufacturing a t  that 
plant and point of final destination; . . . ,, 

The U. S. Plywood Corporation imported unfinished 
"green" lumber "in bulk" and veneers "in bundles" a t  its facili- 
ties. Upon delivery a t  its plant, the lumber was unloaded and 
carried to the company's storage yard, located "adjacent to its 
plant," where i t  was stacked so as to allow the air to circulate 
and dry the lumber. The lumber was then taken from the storage 
yard and placed in a kiln for drying, and the lumber was there- 
after used in the manufacturing process. The veneers, imported 
from three countries, were received in bundles and kept in that 
form a t  the taxpayer's plant for use as  needed in the day-to-day 
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operation of the plant. In the Plywood case the state court found 
as facts that the lumber and veneers had been imported for 
use in manufacturing a t  the Algoma plant; that upon arrival 
there the importation journey ended; that these materials were 
irrevocably committed to use in manufacturing at that plant; 
that these materials were "necessarily required to be kept on 
hand to meet (its) current operational needs"; and that these 
materials were actually being used a t  the plant to supply those 
needs. These findings were not attacked in the appeal to the 
United States Supreme Court. 

In Youngstown the taxing authorities levied an ad valorem 
assessment against the full value of all the ore in the plant's 
stockpiles; in Plywood the authorities levied an assessment 
against only one-half the value of the imported materials located 
a t  the manufacturing plant. In affirming these levies, the 
United States Supreme Court held that the stipulated facts in 
Youngstown and the facts found by the court from sufficient 
evidence in Plywood showed that the manufacturers had "so 
acted upon the imported materials . . . for the purpose for which 
they were imported, that . . . they must be held to have then 
entered the manufacturing process." 

The court held that the "original package" concept as 
applied to goods imported for the purpose of sale in the case 
of Brown v. Maryland, supra, did not exempt goods from taxa- 
tion when such goods were imported for use in manufacturing 
and were in fact effectively subjected to such use before the 
original packaging was removed. 

In discussing this holding, the court, in part, stated: 

"The materials here in question were imported to 
supply, and were essential to supply, the manufacturer's 
current operating needs. When, after all phases of their 
importation had ended, they were put to that use and in- 
discriminate portions of the whole were actually being used 
to supply daily operating needs, they stood in the same 
relation to the State as like piles of domestic materials a t  
the same place that were kept for use and used in the same 
way. The one was then as fully subject to taxation as the 
other. In those circumstances, the tax was not on 'imports', 
nor was i t  a tax on the materials because they had been 
imported, but because a t  the time of the assessment they 
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were being used, in every practical sense, for the purposes 
for which they had been imported. They were therefore 
subject to taxation just like domestic property that was 
kept a t  the same place in the same way for the same use. 
We cannot impute to the Framers of the Constitution a 
purpose to make such a discrimination in favor of materials 
imported from other countries as would result if we ap- 
proved the views pressed upon us by the manufacturers. 
Compare May v. New Orleans, 178 U.S., a t  page 509," 

[2] The opinon in Youngstown Sheet and Tube Co. v. Bowers, 
supra, furnishes criteria for determining what imported goods 
are within the classification of "current operational needs" so 
as to lose their character as imports and their immunity from 
state taxation. The essence of these criteria may be stated as  
follows: When goods are needed, imported and irrevocably com- 
mitted to supply and are actually being used to supply the 
daily requirements of a manufacturer, they are being used for 
"current operational needs." 

131 Neither the size of the supply on hand nor the distance 
the materials are stored from the point of fabrication or con- 
sumption, determines whether a good is being used or merely 
stored. Hooven & Allison Co. v. Evatt, supra,; Yozcngstown Sheet 
& Tube Co. v. Bowers, supra. The treatment of the imported 
goods by the importing manufacturer is the critical test. 

Thus, a supply of imported ore to meet its estimated re- 
quirements for a period of a t  least three months in the Youngs- 
town case, and one-half of an unspecified supply of imported 
veneer in the Plywood case were held to be in use for the pur- 
poses for which they were imported, and, therefore, subject to 
taxation by the state. (We note that the one-half determination 
in the Plywood case was the decision of the local taxing au- 
thority and not of the United States Supreme Court. In reaching 
its decision the Supreme Court apparently did not consider 
the lapse between the time the manufacturer placed an order 
with the foreign supplier and the time the manufacturer re- 
ceived the goods.) 

[4] Appellant argues that "current operational needs" should 
be determined by multiplying the number of days necessary for 
the imported goods to be shipped from the place of origin to 
destination by the average daily requirement of such goods by 
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the importer-manufacturer. In support of this contention appel- 
lant relies on Hooven & Allison Co. v .  Evatt ,  supra, decided ten 
years prior to Youngstown Sheet & Tube Co. v. B m e r s ,  supra. 
The later case specifically points out that Hoolven & Allison Co. 
v. Evat t  did not reach, but expressly reserved, the crucial ques- 
tion here presented. In that case i t  is stated: 

"[Ilt is unnecessary to decide whether, for purposes 
of the constitutional immunity, the presence of some fibers 
in the factory was so essential to current manufacturing 
requirements that they could be said to have entered the 
process of manufacture and hence were already put to the 
use for which they were imported before they were re- 
moved from the original packages." 

Appellant relies heavily on the line of authority represented 
by City and County of Denver v.  Denver Publishing Compan.y, 
153 Colo. 539, 387 P. 2d 48. In  that case the Board of Equaliza- 
tion of the City and County of Denver upheld the assessment 
of ad valorem taxes on all newsprint which taxpayer imported 
from Canada and held for storage in its warehouses and pub- 
lishing plant. The facts show that taxpayer imported 99% of 
its newsprint and used three separate warehouse facilities to 
store its large newsprint demands. The Supreme Court of Colo- 
rado held that the crucial issue was the amount of newsprint 
required to meet "current operational needs." I t  adopted the 
trial court's holding that "current operational needs" is defined 
in terms of the 6-day period needed to fill an order for news- 
print as multiplied by daily requirements. Rowever, in so hold- 
ing, the court stated: 

"There is no rigid and inflexible rule which can be laid 
down to determine the 'current operational needs' of a tax- 
payer. This is an area wherein the policy of the law dic- 
tates ad hoe determinations based on the facts presented 
in each particular case. The trial court in the instant case 
held that since i t  took six days for the taxpayer to re- 
plenish its supply of newsprint from Canada and since the 
taxpayer used 60 tons of newsprint per day, the amount 
necessary for 'current operational needs' was 360 tons and 
that this amount was taxable even though all the news- 
print remained in its original package until actually being 
made ready for the presses. We approve the formula in 
the instant case and cannot conclude that as a matter of 
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law the court made an erroneous determination of the 
'current operational needs' of the taxpayer." 

For other cases in this line of authority, see: Knight News- 
papem, Inc. v .  City of Detroit, 16 Mich. App. 438, 168 N.W. 2d 
318; Wheeling Steel Cwp.  v .  Porterfield, 14 Ohio St. 2d 85, 236 
N.E. 2d 652; Republic Steel Corp. v. Porterfield, 14 Ohio St. 2d 
101,236 N.E. 2d 661; Beall Pipe and Tank Corp. v. Tax  Comm., 
254 Or. 195, 458 P. 2d 420; Lumber Co. v .  Tax  Cornm., 255 Or. 
13, 463 P. 2d 590; Emhart  Corp. v .  Town  of West  Hartford, 
28 Conn. Supp. 134, 253 A. 2d 670. 

Denver differs from Youngstown, Plywood, and instant case 
in that in Denver the taxpayer's use of three large, storage ware- 
houses indicates storage rather than use. However, we think 
that the primary reason for the different results in these cases 
lies in the fact that the local fact-finding bodies found facts 
which compelled different conclusions. Obviously Denver and 
the other cases which reached like results recognized the desira- 
bility and practicality of retaining a broad discretion in the 
local fact-finding body. This is entirely consistent with the 
holdings in Youngstown and Plywood. 

Our research discloses that none of the cases in the line 
of authority represented by Denver have been before the United 
States Supreme Court upon appeal; nor do we find that the 
United States Supreme Court has considered a petition for 
certiorari in any of these cases. 

We find two recent decisions by the CaIifornia Court of 
Appeals which reject the "time necessary for delivery" rule 
as adopted in Denver, and specifically apply the criteria as set 
forth in Youngstown, and Plywood. Virtue Bros. v. County of  
Los Angeles, 239 Cal. App. 2d 220, 48 Cal. Rptr. 505, and 
American Smelting & Refining Co. v .  County of Contra Costa, 
271 Cal. App. 2d 437, 77 Cal. Rptr. 570. The United States 
Supreme Court denied taxpayer's petition for certiorari in 
Vir tue  Bros. v .  County of  Los Angeles, 385 U.S. 820, 17 L.ed 2d 
58, 87 S.Ct. 45. In American Smelting & Refining Co. v. County 
of  Contra Costa, the taxpayer appealed to the United States 
Supreme Court, and this appeal was dismissed for want of a 
substantial federal question. 396 U.S. 273, 24 L.ed. 2d 462, 90 
S.Ct 553. Taxpayer's moton for a rehearing was denied by that 
same court. 397 U.S. 958, 25 L.ed. 2d 144, 90 S.Ct. 940. 
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In instant case the imported newsprint had reached the 
end of its importation journey and had there been indiscrimi- 
nately co-mingled with domestic newsprint. The uncontroverted 
statement of the taxpayer's general manager that, "inside our 
14 O'Henry Avenue building and adjacent to our printing press 
area in that building, we have space for and maintain on hand 
the necessary quantity and sizes of newsprint for four to six 
days of our anticipated production needs from time ta time," 
leads us to the inescapable conclusion that there was a con- 
tinuous day-to-day use of the newsprint stored in the under- 
ground warehouse in connection with taxpayer's printing opera- 
tion. 

On 1 January 1970 (the taxable date) appellant had on 
hand approximately a four-to-six weeks supply of newsprint, of 
which 40.2612% was domestic newsprint. The domestic news- 
print was unquestionably subject to the ad valorem tax assessed 
by the county, and it follows that the assessment on the entire 
supply as i t  affected the imported newsprint was nondiscrimina- 
tory. 

The tax was not on imports. It was a nondiscriminatory tax 
on newsprint which had lost its character as an import because 
a t  the time of the assessment it was being used, in every practi- 
cal sense, for the purpose for which it had been imported. The 
newsprint was, therefore, subject to taxation in the same man- 
ner as the domestic newsprint which was kept a t  the same 
place, in the same manner, and for the same use. 

We have difficulty connecting the importation of the news- 
print with the tax assessed on the newsprint. Certainly, assess- 
ment of the tax by the North Carolina authorities upon personal 
property which had been received and manufactured, and the 
finshed product distributed in this state, could not possibly coh- 
travene the intent of the framers of the Constitution that free 
flow of goods between the states be not impeded by state tax- 
ation. The newsprint, imported and domestic, stored in tax- 
payer's underground warehouse was as much a part of taxpayer's 
"manufacturing process" as was the four-to-six days' supply 
of newsprint stored adjacent to the printing press area. 

We see no reason to construe the appropriate tax statutes 
and ordinances of this jurisdiction so as to require, as a matter 
of law rather than fact, that the term "current operational 
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needs'' be given a more restricted meaning than that set forth in 
Yourzgstown and Plywood. 

The evidence in this case supports the facts found by the 
State Board of Assessment, and these findings support the con- 
clusion of law entered by the reviewing judge of the Superior 
Court, "that a four to six weeks supply of newsprint paper . . . 
did on 1 January 1970 (the taxing date) constitute the current 
operational needs of the appellant taxpayer." This conclusion 
and the resulting affirmance of the decision of the State Board 
of Equalization and Review by the Judge of Superior Court is 
entirely in accord with the principles of law set forth in the 
cases of Youngstow% and Plywood. 

[S] We conclude that the case of Youngstown Sheet & Tube Co. 
v. Bowers, supra, is controlling and that the four-to-six weeks 
supply of newsprint on hand on 1 January 1970 constituted 
taxpayer's current operational needs and was subject to the ad 
vaIorem taxes. 

[6] The "original package" doctrine has no application under 
the facts of this case, since on 1 January 1970 the newsprint 
was being used for the purposes for which taxpayer imported 
it. Hooven & Allison Co. v. Evatt, supra; Youngstown Sheet & 
Tube Co. v. Bowers, supra. 

The judgment of Judge Harry L. Martin, entered in the 
Buncombe County Superior Court on 8 October 1971, is 

Affirmed. 

STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. JAMES BRYAN WATSON 

No. 35 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Constitutional Law 9 30- speedy trial - delay between warrant and 
trial 

Defendant was not denied his constitutional right to a speedy 
trial by the delay between the issuance of a warrant charging him 
with homicide on 19 JnIy 1969 and his trial a t  the 19 April 1971 
session of court, where defendant was committed to the State Hospital 
for 60 days upon motion of his counsel, defendant was granted con- 
tinuances on two occasions, defendant was out on bail for most of 
the time between 12 December 1969 and the date of his trial but 
made' no effort to obtain a speedier trial, and defendant has failed 
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to show tha t  he was prejudiced by the delay or tha t  the State  wilfully 
o r  by its neglect caused arbi t rary or  oppressive delay. 

2. Jury § 5- competency of juror - discretion of court 
The question of the competency of jurors is a matter  within the  

trial judge's discretion, and his rulings thereon a r e  not subject to  
review on appeal unless accompanied by some imputed error  of law. 
G.S. 9-14. 

3. Jury  s 5- father-in-law of solicitor-competency a s  juror 
The trial court did not e r r  in the denial of defendant's challenge 

for  cause directed to  the district solicitor's father-in-law a s  a juror, 
where the challenge was allowed only af ter  the juror stated, upon 
being questioned by the court, tha t  he would not convict on his rela- 
tionship to the solicitor, and a f te r  i t  was ascertained t h a t  the  district 
solicitor was not prosecuting defendant's case. 

4. Constitutional Law 29; Criminal Law 5 135; Jury  3 7- jurors opposed 
t o  death penalty - challenge for cause 

The t r ia l  court properly allowed the State's challenges f o r  cause 
to prospective jurors who stated, in effect, tha t  under no circumstances 
could they vote fo r  a verdict which would result in  the imposition of 
the death penalty. 

5. Constitutional Law 3 31; Criminal Law 88- right of cross-examina- 
tion 

The witnesses i n  crinlinal trials must be present and subject to  
cross-examination. Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to  the U. S. 
Constitution; Article I, § 23 of the N. 6. Constitution. 

6. Constitutional Law 31- right of confrontation 
The r ight  of confrontation is  a n  absolute right rather  than a 

privilege and must be afforded an accused not only in  fortn but in  
substance. 

7. Constitutional Law § 31; Criminal Law 8 80; Death § 1; Homicide 15- 
cause of death - competency of death certificate - right of confronta- 
tion - due process -harmless error 

I n  a homicide prosecution, defendant's right to confrontation and 
his right to  fundamental fairness in  a criminal t r ia l  guaranteed by 
due process were violated by the admission in evidence of the hearsay 
and conclusory statement in  the victim's death certificate t h a t  "the 
immediate cause of death was hemorrhage and asphyxia due to  or a s  
a consequence of s tab wounds of left neck"; however, the  admission 
of such evidence was harmless error  beyond a reasonable doubt i n  
view of the other overwhelming evidence of defendant's guilt. Sixth 
Amendment to  the  U. S. Constitution; Article I, § 11 (Now Article I, 
5 23) of the N. C. Constitution; G.S. 130-66. 

8. Criminal Law § 169- erroneous admission of evidence - violation of 
constitutional right 

The improper admission of evidence which violates a r ight  guar- 
anteed by the U. S. Constitution does not constitute prejudicial error  
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unless there is a reasonable possibility that  such evidence contributed 
to defendant's conviction. 

ON certiorari to the North Carolina Court of Appeals to 
review its decision (13 N.C. App. 54) finding no error in the 
trial before Cooper, J., a t  the 19 April 1971 Session of CUMBER- 
LAND Superior Court. 

The State's evidence, in substance, was as follows: 

Shelton David Tew testified that on 19 July 1969 he and 
Billy Gene Horner were standing a t  the bar in Gib's Lounge in 
Fayetteville, North Carolina, drinking beer, when defendant, 
as he passed by, bumped into Horner. Tew, Jesse Robert Pitt- 
man and Horner passed defendant as they walked to a booth 
where they intended to play checkers. As they passed defendant, 
Horner said to him, "I will see you later." The trio sat in the 
booth where Horner and Pittman began to play checkers. After 
a few minutes, defendant approached the booth and said to 
Horner, "So you will see me later, will you?" Horner did not 
reply. Defendant slapped Horner twice, and Horner raised bot% 
hands and backed up. Defendant momentarily held a knife at 
Horner's throat and then thrust the knife into his neck just 
below the left ear. The knife was "maybe" four inches long and 
two inches wide. Defendant then walked to the end of the bar. 
Horner, beginning to bleed profusely from the neck, nose and 
mouth, stepped out of the booth, over to a pool table, and picked 
up a cue stick. He was so weak that he could only lean against 
the table. Tew took Horner out of the lounge and down the 
street for a distance of approximately 75 feet, where Horner 
collapsed on the sidewalk. He was a t  that time bleeding from 
the gash in his neck and from his nose and mouth. He was 
carried away by an ambulance a few minutes later. 

Jesse Robert Pittman testified that on 19 July 1969, while 
he was playing checkers with Horner in Gib's Lounge, he saw 
defendant approaching with a knife in his hand. Pittman left 
the booth and walked over to the bar after defendant and Horner 
began to scuffle. When he next observed Horner, Horner 
was stepping out from the booth with blood gushing from his 
neck and mouth. He observed Horner stagger over to the pool 
table and fall. He next saw Horner lying across the hood of a 
car. He believed Horner was dead when he was carried away in 
an  ambulance a few minutes later. 
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Douglas Davidson testified that he was a member of the 
Fayetteville police force on 19 July 1969, and that he and 
Officer Albert Tanzilo observed a person, later identified as 
Horner, lying on the street. Re observed a trail of blood begin- 
ning a t  Gib's Lounge and leading to the place where Horner 
was lying. Horner was bleeding from his mouth, and when he 
tried to talk he could only make a gurgling sound. After calling 
an ambulance, Davidson went into Gib's Lounge in an attempt 
to locate witnesses. When he returned to the street he observed 
attendants putting Horner into an ambulance. Horner appeared 
to be dead a t  that time. 

Officer Tanzilo testified to substantially the same facts as  
did Officer Davidson. He further testified that after the am- 
bulance departed he and Officer Davidson proceeded about a 
block and a half to 204 Campbell Avenue, which was the home 
of defendant's parents. They there arrested defendant, who a t  
that time had blood on his shirt, trousers and arms. 

Detective Sergeant A. A. Banks testified, without objection, 
to certain statements made to him by defendant, including a 
volunteered statement by defendant that "If he (Horner) is 
dead, I killed him. He was a no good SOB, and he ought to be 
dead." 

William Joyner, Director of the City-County ABC Bureau 
of Identification, testified, in part: 

" . . . I recognize the photograph marked S-6 and shown 
to me. It is a photograph taken by me at Cape Fear Valley 
Hospital morgue, of Mr. Horner. That picture was taken 
approximately a quarter to six or six o'clock. The picture 
shows the body of the deceased, and puncture wound on 
the left side of his face. . . . 

" . . . S-6 is a photograph of the deceased, showing a 
puncture wound on the left side of his neck." 

Defendant, testifying in his own behalf, stated that on 
19 July 1969 he had been drinking whiskey and beer. He had 
for some time had trouble with Billy Gene Horner, and Horner 
had threatened to kill him in June 1969. Re stated that on 19 
July 1969 he walked up to the booth in which Horner was 
sitting and asked, "Why is it you want to kill me or jump on 
me every time you see me?" Thereupon Horner mumbled some- 
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thing, and "come up with a motion as if to hit me, which he 
did, and I throwed up my hand to keep him from hitting me. . . . 
his left hand had a sharp object in i t  which cut me on the leg." 
He did not realize Horner had been cut until he saw him bleeding 
a t  the pool table. He did not intend to kill or hurt  Horner in 
any way. 

Defendant offered a number of witnesses who gave testi- 
mony as to the occurrence in Gib's Lounge on 19 July 1969. He 
also offered witnesses who testified that Horner had a reputa- 
tion for being a violent person. Some of the witnesses testified 
on cross-examination that defendant had a reputation for being 
a man of violent character. 

The jury returned a verdict of guilty of murder in the 
second degree. The trial judge imposed a sentence of imprison- 
ment of not less than 25 nor more than 30 years. Defendant 
appealed, and the Worth Carolina Court of Appeals found no 
error in the trial. We allowed defendant's petition for certiorari 
on 14 January 1972. 

A t t o r n e y  General Morgan and Assis tant  A t t o m e y  General 
Magner f o r  the  State .  

Downing,  David & Vallery,  by  Edward  J .  David, f o ~  defend-  
ant .  

BRANCH, Justice. 

[I] Defendant assigns as error the failure of the trial court 
to dismiss the prosecution on the ground that  he had not been 
afforded a speedy trial. 

The record in this case shows that the alleged crime was 
committed on 19 July 1969, and a warrant was issued on that  
day charging defendant with murder. On 30 July 1969 defendant 
was given a preliminary hearing and was bound over (without 
privilege of bond) to the Superior Court of Cumberland County 
for action by the grand jury. On 21 July 1969 defendant was 
found to be an indigent, and Mr. Edward J. David of the 
Cumberland County Bar was appointed as counsel for  defend- 
ant. On 12 August 1969, upon motion of his counsel, defendant 
was committed to the State Hospital a t  Raleigh for a period 
of sixty days for observation and examination towards de- 
termining whether defendant had mental capacity to know 
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right from wrong and to understandingly enter a plea. On 22 
September 1969 the grand jury of Cumberland County returned 
a t rue  bill of indictment, charging defendant with murder. On 
2 October defendant was transferred to  Central Prison in  
Raleigh because of inadequate jail facilities in Cumberland Coun- 
ty. Defendant filed a writ of habeas corpus on 1 November 
1969, in which he alleged that  he had been denied his right 
to a speedy trial, and alleged many other violations of his con- 
stitutional rights. On 18 November 1969 Judge Hamilton Hob- 
good signed a writ  of habeas corpus ad proseque?zdum directing 
the Department of Correction to deliver defendant to the Sheriff 
of Cumberland County on 25 November 1969 t o  the  end that  he 
might be tried on 1 December 1969. On 12 December 1969 
defendant was released on bond, and remained free on bond 
until the date of his trial except for one day in January 1970 
and for approximately eleven days in August 1970, when he was 
in custody because his bondsrnan "went off his bond." On 15 
December 1969 (after defendant had been released on bond) 
Judge Bickett denied defendant's petition for writ  of habeas 
corpus. Defendant made no motion for a speedy trial after 
he was released on bond. Defendant's counsel moved for, and 
was granted, two continuances before the case was called for 
trial. Defendant's counsel again moved for a continuance after 
the trial court denied his motion for dismissal on the ground that  
he had been denied a speedy trial. 

In  the recent case of State v. Speficer, 281 N.C. 121, 187 
S.E. 2d 779, this Court considered the question of speedy trial, 
and there stated: 

"The constitutional right to a speedy trial protects an  
accused from extended imprisonment before trial, from 
public suspicion generated by an untried accusation, 
and from loss of witnesses and other means of proving 
his innocence resulting from passage of time. Whether 
defendant has been denied the right of a speedy trial is a 
matter to  be determined by the trial judge in light of the 
circumstances of each case. The accused has the burden of 
showing that  the delay was due to the State's wilfullness 
or neglect. Unavoidable delays and delays caused or re- 
quested by defendant do not violate his right to  a speedy 
trial. Further, a defendant may waive his right to a speedy 
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trial by failing to demand or to  make some effort to 
obtain a speedier trial. State v. Ball, 277 N.C. 714, 178 
S.E. 2d 377 ; State v. Hollars, 266 N.C. 45, 145 S.E. 2d 309 ; 
State v. Lowry and State v. Mallory, 263 N.C. 536, 139 
S.E. 2d 870. The constitutional right to a speedy trial 
prohibits arbitrary and oppressive delays by the prosecu- 
tion. State v. Johnson, 275 N.C. 264, 167 S.E. 2d 274. But 
this right is necessarily relative and is consistent with 
delays under certain circumstances. Beavers v. Haubert, 
198 U.S. 77, 49 L.ed. 950, 25 S.Ct. 573.'' 

I n  instant case defendant's motion for a mental examina- 
tion, in effect, was a motion for a continuance. Thereafter he 
was granted two continuances. During the period from 12 De- 
cember 1969, when he was released on bond, to the date of his 
trial, defendant made no effort to  obtain a speedier trial. He 
has failed to  show that  the delay in his trial resulted in pro- 
longed imprisonment, created public suspicion against him, or 
deprived him of any means of proving his innocence. Nor does 
the record disclose that  the State wilfully or by its neglect 
caused arbitrary or oppressive delay. 

This assignment of error is overruled. 

Defendant contends that  the trial judge erred in not allow- 
ing his challenge for cause directed to the district solicitor's 
father-in-law as a juror. 

[2] The question of the competency of jurors is a matter with- 
in the trial judge's discretion, and his rulings thereon are not 
subject to  review on appeal unless accompanied by some imputed 
error of law. G.S. 9-14; State v. Spence~,  239 N.C. 604, 80 S.E. 
2d 670; State v. DeGraffenreid, 224 N.C. 517, 31 S.E. 2d 523. 

This Court discussed possible disqualifications of a juror 
because of his relationship with a State's witness in the case of 
State v. Allred, 275 N.C. 554, 169 S.E. 2d 833, and there stated: 

"In this jurisdiction, a juror, who is related to the 
defendant by blood or marriage within the ninth degree 
of kinship, is properly rejected when challenged by the 
State for cause on that  ground. . . . 

"We do not hold that  a relationship within the ninth 
degree between a juror and a State's witness, standing 
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alone, is legal ground for challenge for cause. This is in 
accord with the weight of authority in other jurisdictions. 
Annotation, 'Relationship to prosecutor or witness for 
prosecution as disqualifying juror in criminal case.' 18 
A.L.R. 315 ; 31 Am. Jur., Jury 5 192; 50 C.J.S., Juries 
5 218 (b) (1) .  Even so, where such relationship exists and 
is known and recognized by the juror, a defendant's chal- 
lenge for cause should be rejected only if i t  should appear 
clearly that, under the circumstances of the particular case, 
the challenged juror would have no reason or disposition to 
favor his kinsman by giving added weight to his testimony 
or otherwise. . . . 9 9  

We are unable to find a North Carolina case which con- 
siders whether a juror is disqualified because he is related with- 
in the prohibited degree to counsel in the case. However, the ma- 
jority rule in other jurisdictions is that  a juror is not disquali- 
fied by the fact that  he is related to counsel involved in the 
case. Petcosky v. Bowman,  197 Va. 240, 89 S.E. 2d 4 ;  State  of 
Missouri v. Jones, 64 Mo. 391; Roberts  v. Roberts ,  115 Ga. 259, 
41 S.E. 616. The Georgia cases note an exception to this general 
rule and hold that the juror is disqualified where the pro- 
hibited relationship exists and counsel's fee is contingent upon 
success in the case. Melson v. Dickson, 63 Ga. 682, and Roberts 
v. R o b w t s ,  supra, 

131 We note that  in instant case the trial judge carefully 
examined the juror and denied the challenge only after the 
juror stated that  he would not convict on his relationship to 
the solicitor and after i t  was ascertained that  the solicitor 
(juror's son-in-law) was not prosecuting in this case. These 
circumstances do not show imputed error of law or abuse of 
discretion on the part of the trial judge in making his ruling. 

This assignment of error is not sustained. 

[4] Defendant assigns as error the action of the trial judge in 
allowing the State's challenge for cause of certain jurors be- 
cause of their beliefs as to capital punishment. 

Each of the jurors successfully challenged stated, in effect, 
that  under no circumstances could he vote for a verdict which 
would result in the imposition of the death penalty. 
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A trial judge should allow challenge for cause when a 
venireman is not willing to consider all possible penalties pro- 
vided by state law and when the venireman is unalterably com- 
mitted to vote against the death penalty, regardless of the evi- 
dence which might be presented at trial. Withe~spoon v. Illinois, 
391 U.S. 510, 20 L.ed. 2d 776, 88 S.Ct. 1770; State v. Doss, 
279 N.C. 413, 183 S.E. 2d 671 ; State v. Chance, 279 N.C. 643, 
185 S.E. 2d 227; State v. Miller, 276 N.C. 686, 174 S.E. 2d 481. 

The Court correctly sustained the State's challenges for 
cause. 

Defendant's most serious assignment of error relates to 
admission into evidence, over objection, a portion of a certified 
copy of the victim's death certificate. He contends that admis- 
sion of this evidence violated his constitutional right of con- 
frontation and cross-examination. 

We note that the record does not contain a copy of the 
death certificate ; however, the record does show that the Judge 
read portions of the death certificate to the jury, and in order 
to consider this assignment of error we must assume that the 
portions read to the jury are correctly indicated in that part of 
the charge which states: 

"The State further offered evidence in the form of 
an authenticated copy of a record of the Office of Vital Sta- 
tistics of the State of North Carolina, State Board of 
Health, which in substance tends to show that Billy Gene 
Horner died in Cumberland County on July 19, 1969, and 
that the immediate cause of death was hemorrhage and 
asphyxia due to or as a consequence of stab wound of the 
left neck." 

At the time of defendant's trial, Article I, 11 of the North 
Carolina Constitution (now Article I, 23) provided : 

"In all criminal prosecutions, every person charged 
with crime has the right to be informed of the accusation 
and to confront the accusers and witnesses with other tes- 
timony, and to have counsel for defense, and not be com- 
pelled to give self-incriminating evidence, or to pay costs, 
jail fees, or necessary witness fees of the defense, unless 
found guilty." 
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[S, 61 The right of confrontation confirms the common-law 
rule that, in criminal trials, the witnesses must be present and 
subject to cross-examination. State v. Bumper, 275 N.C. 670, 
3.70 S.E. 2d 457; State v. Perry, 210 N.C. 796, 188 S.E. 639; 
State v. Hightower, 187 N.C. 300, 121 S.E. 616; State v. Thomas, 
64 N.C. 74. This same protection is granted by the Sixth Amend- 
ment to the United States Constitution and made applicable to 
the States by the Fourteenth Amendment. State v. Moore, 275 
N.C. 198, 166 S.E. 2d 652; Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 
13 L.ed. 2d 923, 85 S.Ct. 1065. The right of confrontation is an 
absolute right rather than a privilege, and it must be afforded 
an accused not only in form but in substance. State v. Bumper, 
supra; State v. Hightower, supra; State v. Hackney, 240 N.C. 
230, 81 S.E. 2d 778. 

This Court considered the admissibility of a death cer- 
tificate in a civil action to recover damages for wrongful death 
in the case of Branch v. Dempsey, 265 N.C. 733, 145 S.E. 2d 
395. There the appellant assigned as error the exclusion from 
evidence of a certified copy of the death certificate. This Court 
held that the death certificate was properly excluded because 
it contained hearsay statements concerning the manner in which 
the collision, which allegedly caused the fatal injuries, occurred. 
In so doing, the Court, in part, stated: 

"The purpose of the statute appears to be to permit 
the death certificate to be introduced as evidence of the fact 
of death, the time and place where it occurred, the identity 
of the deceased, the bodily injury or disease which was the 
cause of death, the disposition of the body and possibly 
other matters relating to the death. We think i t  was not 
the purpose of the Legislature to make the certificate com- 
petent evidence of whatever might be stated thereon. . . . 9 9 

We note that Branch v. Dempsey, supra, considered G.S. 
130-73, which was superseded by the present G.S. 130-66. 
A notable difference in the statutes is that G.S. 130-73 stated 
"that any copy of the record of a birth or death certificate 
properly certified . . . shall be prima facie evidence in all courts 
and places of the facts therein stated." (Emphasis ours.) The 
comparable portion of the present G.S. 130-66 (applicable in 
this case) states: 

"(b) The State Registrar is authorized to prepare 
typewritten, photographic, or other reproductions of origi- 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 23 1 

State v. Watson 

nal records and files in his office. Such reproductions, when 
certified by him, shall be considered for all purposes the 
same as the original and shall be prima facie evidence of 
the facts therein stated." 

Our research fails to disclose a decision of this Court which 
considers whether the death certificate of a homicide victim is 
admissible into evidence to prove some element of the crime 
pursuant to a statute making it prima facie evidence of the facts 
stated therein. We note a split of authority in other jurisdictions 
on this question. 

The Criminal Court of Appeals of Oklahoma, in the case 
of Osborn  v. Sta te ,  86 Okla. Crim. 259, 194 P. 2d 176, without 
discussion approved the admission of a death certificate in the 
trial of a murder case pursuant to a statute which provided that 
a certified copy of a death certificate "shall be prima facie evi- 
dence in all courts and places of the facts therein stated." 

In the case of Sta te  v. F l o ~ y ,  198 Iowa 75, 199 N.W. 303, 
defendant was charged with the murder of his wife by adminis- 
tering poison. There the Supreme Court of Iowa held that the 
trial judge committed prejudicial error in excluding a certified 
copy of the death certificate of the victim when it was offered 
into evidence by defendant. In that state a statute provided 
that a properly certified death certificate was prima facie evi- 
dence of the facts therein stated in all courts and places. 

The California Courts of Appeals have taken diverse views 
on this question. The California cases decided by these courts 
are reviewed and the better rule stated in the case of People v. 
Holder,  230 Cal. App. 2d 50, 40 Cal. Rptr. 655, where the Court 
stated : 

"The authorities are in disagreement as to which ele- 
ments of the death certificate are statements of 'fact' and 
which are not. The line between fact and opinion is often 
thin and indistinct. (Citations omitted.) Occurrence of 
death is doubtless a fa& which is proved prima facie by 
the certificate. (Citations omitted.) The cause of death, 
however, may amount only to an opinion or conclusion, 
sometimes resulting from inferences drawn by a medical 
expert. . . . Other decisions assume without discussion that 
cause of death (no matter how dependent on medical con- 
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clusions) is a fact which may be established prima facie by 
certificate. (Citations omitted.) . . . . 

"The point of the matter is not that  conclusionary en- 
tries on death certificates are necessarily unreliable; rather, 
that  Health and Safety Code section 10577 would permit 
their admission as hearsay. The coupling of hearsay and 
conclusionary elements in a single piece of evidence arouses 
the more fundamental problem of fairness to the defendant 
in a criminal case. The cause of death entry may emanate 
from a complex value judgment drawn by a medical expert. 
(See, for example, Longuy v. La Societe Framxise, 52 Cal. 
App. 370, 198 P. 1011.) When i t  rides into the fray mounted 
on a saddle of a public document, i t  is unaccompanied by 
the expert. The latter appears in court only in the form of 
the document. He himself is not available for cross-examina- 
tion by the defense." 

See also 30 Am. Jur. 2d, Evidence, 8 1009, p. 143, and Annota- 
tion: Evidence-Official Death Certificate, 21 A.L.R. 3d 418. 

[7] The clear mandate of Article I, 5 11 (now Article I, 3 23) 
of the North Carolina Constitution, and the Sixth Amendment 
to  the United States Constitution guaranteeing the right of 
confrontation and cross-examination, and the fundamental fair- 
ness guaranteed to an accused in a criminal action by due 
process of law require that  we hold that  the trial judge er- 
roneously admitted the hearsay and conclusory statement , 
contained in the death certificate, "that the immediate cause 
of death was hemorrhage and asphyxia due to or as a conse- 
quence of stab wound of the left neck." 

However, we must determine if the admission of this evi- 
dence as to cause of death was such prejudicial error as to 
require a new trial. 

[8] The fact that  the improper admission of this evidence vio- 
lated a right guaranteed by the United States Constitution does 
not, per se, render the error prejudicial. Chapman. v. Cali for~ia ,  
386 U.S. 18, 17 L.ed. 2d 705, 87 S.Ct. 824; reha den. 386 
U.S. 987, 18 L.ed. 2d 241, 87 S.Ct. 1283; Hawington v. Cali- 
fornia, 395 U.S. 250, 23 L.ed. 2d 284, 89 S.Ct. 1726. Unless 
there is a reasonable possibility that  the improperly admitted 
evidence contributed to defendant's conviction, there is no prej- 
udicial error. Chapman v. California, supra. 
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We deem i t  appropriate to here note the recent United 
States Supreme Court decision in the case of Schneble v. Florida 
(March 21, 1972; 40 U.S.L.W. 4299), 405 U.S. 427, 31 L.ed. 
2d 340, 92 S.Ct. 1056. There the confession of a codefendant was 
admitted against the defendant and the confessor was not 
present for the purposes of confrontation and cross-examination 
by the defendant. This evidence corroborated other independent, 
objective evidence strongly pointing to defendant's guilt. The 
United States Supreme Court held that the admission into evi- 
dence of the confession of the codefendant was error, but that 
in view of the other overwhelming evidence of the defendant's 
guilt, such error was not reversible error. 

The challenged evidence admitted in instant case relates 
to the same constitutional right, but is less persuasive than that 
complained of in Schneble v. Flo?*ida, supra. 

We conclude that the evidence in this case clearly and 
overwhelmingly supports a reasonable inference that defendant 
intentionally used a deadly weapon and thereby inflicted a 
would which proximately caused Horner's death, and that the 
minds of an average jury would not have found the evidence less 
persuasive had the conclusory evidence contained in the certified 
copy of the death certificate been excluded. The admission of 
the evidence contained in the certified copy of the death cer- 
tificate was a t  most harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. 
Schneble v. Flo~ida,  supra; Chapman v. California, supra. 

Finally, defendant argues that the trial judge erred in over- 
ruling his motions for judgment as of nonsuit. 

In light of the preceding ruling, we do not deem i t  neces- 
sary to discuss this assignment of error at  length. I t  is sufficient 
to say that upon application of the often-repeated and well- 
recognized rules as to the sufficiency of evidence to overrule 
a motion for nonsuit, we conclude that there was plenary evi- 
dence to repel defendant's motion. See 2 Strong's N. C. Index 
2d, Criminal Law 5 106, p. 654, and cases there cited. 

We have carefully reviewed this entire record and find no 
prejudicial error. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is 

Affirmed. 
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CLYDENE W. ROBBINS, WIDOW; CLYDENE W. ROBBINS, NEXT FRIEND OF 
SARAH EDITH ROBBINS, LARRY DEAN ROBBINS, CHARLES RANDY ROB- 
BINS AND KATHY DARLENE ROBBINS, CHILDREN O F  CHARLIE 
ROBBINS, DEC'D., EMPLOYEE, PLAINTIFF; 

VELMA HEWITT WEAVER, NEXT FRIEND OF DANNY LEWIS AND CYNTHIA 
LEIGH LEWIS, CHILDREN OF MRS. TERRI  D. LEWIS, DEC'D., EM- 
PLOYEE, PLAINTIFF ; 

No. 58 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Master and Servant 9 55- workmen's compensation - compensable 
death 

Under the Workmen's Compensation Act a compensable death is 
one which results to  a n  employee from a n  injury by accident arising 
out of and in the course of his employnient. G.S. 97-2 (6) .  

2. Master and Servant 9 59- workmen's compensation - assault 
Although a n  assault is a n  intentional act, i t  may be a n  accident 

within the meaning of the Compensation Act when i t  is  unexpected 
and without design on the par t  of the employee who suffers it. 

3. Master and Servant § 56- workmen's compensation - "in the  course 
of" - "arising out of" 

A s  used in the  Workmen's Compensation Act, the  words "in the  
course of the employnient" refer to the time, place and circumstances 
under which a n  accidental injury occurs, and the phrase "arising 
out of the eniployment" refers to  the origin o r  cause of the accidental 
injury. 

4. Master and Servant 9 59- workmen's compensation - murder by em- 
ployee's husband - i n  the course of employment 

The deaths of two employees were the result of injury by acci- 
dent arising in the  course of their employment where they were un- 
expectedly shot and killed by the  husband of one of the  employees while 
performing their duties on the  premises of their employer, where 
their employment required them to be, but  the risk was not a n  incident 
of the employment. 

5. Master and Servant 9 56- workmen's compensation - injury arising 
out of employment 

An injury arises out of the enlployment when i t  is a natural  and 
probable consequence or incident of the  employment and a natural  
result of one of i ts  risks, so t h a t  there is  some causal relation between 
the injury and the performance of some service of the employment. 
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6. Master and Servant 5 59- workmen's compensation- assault by third 
person 

When the  moving cause of a n  assault upon an employee by a third 
person is personal or the circunlstances surrounding the assault fur-  
nish no basis fo r  a reasonable inference t h a t  the nature of the  
employment created the risk of such a n  attack, the injury is  not 
cornpensable even though the employee was engaged in the  per- 
formance of his duties a t  the  time. 

7. Master and Servant 9 59- workmen's compensation -murder of em- 
ployees by jealous husband 

The deaths of two employees of a grocery store who were un- 
expectedly shot and killed by the femme decedent's husband while they 
were performing their duties on the premises of their employer did 
not result from injuries arising out of their employment, where all  
the evidence showed t h a t  the femme decedent had left her husband be- 
cause of his excessive drinking, and tha t  the husband murdered his 
wife, her employer and her male co-worker because he believed (1) 
t h a t  the co-worker had replaced him in his wife's affection and (2) 
tha t  if the employer discharged his wife, which the employer refused 
to do, she would have t o  return to him, the employer's refusal to  dis- 
charge the femme decedent not having made the  risk t h a t  her husband 
would assault her o r  one of her fellow employees a risk arising out 
of the employment, and the risk of murder by a jealous husband 
not being one which a rational mind would anticipate a s  a n  incident 
of the employment of both sexes in  a business. 

APPEAL by defendants from the decision of the Court of 
Appeals, reported in 10 N.C. App. 421, 179 S.E. 2d 183, af- 
firming awards made to claimants by the North Carolina Indus- 
trial Commission. The case was docketed and argued as Case 
No. 35 at the Fall Term 1971. As to claimants Robbins, defend- 
ants appeal under G.S. 7A-30 (2) ; as to claimants Lewis, defend- 
ants' petition for certiorari was allowed. 

These two cases, which involve separate claims for deaths 
resulting from the same accident, are proceedings under the 
Workmen's Compensation Act. They were consolidated for hear- 
ing by the Industrial Commission. The decisive facts are not 
disputed. 

In  December 1967 Charlie Robbins (Robbins) and Terri 
Lewis (Terri) were employed by 0. T. Nicholson (Nicholson), 
who operated a grocery and adjacent coal yard in Lexington. 
Robbins had worked for Nicholson about five years; Terri had 
been employed approximately two years and nine months. She 
was married to Daniel Lewis (Lewis), and the couple had two 
minor children, the claimants Danny Lewis (13) and Cynthia 
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Leigh Lewis (11). Lewis was a furniture worker. He had worked 
in various factories in Piedmont North Carolina. 

Both before and after his marriage Lewis "drank on week- 
ends, heavy." In consequence, domestic problems resulted. Terri 
twice left him-the first time, shortly after the marriage; the 
last time, on Thanksgiving 1967. 

In July 1967 Lewis rented a beach cottage with the inten- 
tion of taking the family on a vacation. However, three or four 
days before they were to leave, Terri said she wouldn't go; that 
she had to work. When Nicholson refused Lewis' request to let 
Terri off, Lewis said to him, "Looks like this job is breaking 
up my home." Terri remained on the job, and Lewis went to 
the beach with his children and mother-in-law. 

In September 1967 Lewis decided that Terri was "acting 
funny." On November 1st he went to the grocery where 
he observed Terri and another employee, James Waller, putting 
up stock. He told Terri that he would kill Waller if he was going 
to work with her. On the same occasion he asked her if she 
wasn't "running around with Mr. Robbins." She assured him 
she wasn't running around with anyone, but he told her if he 
ever caught her with Robbins out of the store, or working with 
him in the store, he would kill them both. 

Because of Lewis' conduct a t  the store and his continuous 
drinking, Terri left him on or about November 22nd. Shortly 
thereafter he went to the store and requested her to go home 
with him. She refused, and he said, "Well you won't live." He 
also told her that if she "took out a nonsupport warrant on 
him that she would not live to see Christmas." Later he went 
to the store and said to Nicholson, "I want you to let my wife 
go." When Nicholson replied, "Your wife needs to work," Lewis 
said, "If you don't let her go, you will never live to see Christ- 
mas." Lewis told a neighbor that he did not want his wife to 
work a t  Nicholson's store because, if she had no income, she 
would have to bring the children and come back home. 

On 27 November 1967 Terri signed a warrant for Lewis, 
charging him with having failed to provide adequate support 
for his children. Thereafter he went to the store and told Terri 
that Robbins and Nicholson had caused her to take out the war- 
rant, and he would kill them too. On 20 December 1967 Lewis was 
convicted of the charge contained in the warrant and ordered to 
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pay $15.00 on that day and $50.00 every two weeks thereafter 
for the support of his children. 

About 3:30 on the afternoon of 25 December 1967 Lewis 
went to the home of his friend, Foyelle Cecil, and told him he 
intended to kill three people-his wife, "her lover," and a third 
person whom he did not name. Lewis had been drinking. Cecil 
advised him against executing such a plan and, after an hour and 
a half of discussion, Lewis agreed that perhaps "he had better 
forget about it" and left. 

Nicholson's grocery was open for business on the afternoon 
of Christmas Day. About 5 :30 p.m. Terri was a t  the cash regis- 
ter, and Robbins was at  the end of the counter "sacking gro- 
ceries" when Lewis entered with a rifle. He shot and killed both 
Robbins and Terri. Then he went into the stockroom where 
Nicholson and Miss LilIian Jones were working. After knocking 
Miss Jones out of the way, Lewis shot and killed Nicholson. He 
then went outside where he remained until the police came and 
arrested him. 

Robbins was survived by his widow and four minor chil- 
dren, the claimants herein; Terri, by her two minor children. 

The Industrial Commission found facts substantially as 
detailed above and included a specific finding that the "employ- 
ment of Terri and Robbins at  the Nicholson store was the chief 
origin of the matrimonial difficulties between Terri and Lewis." 
The parties stipulated that the deaths of Terri and Robbins 
were the result of injuries by accident. The Industrial Commis- 
sion held as a matter of law that the fatal accident arose out 
of and in the course of their employment a t  Nicholson's grocery. 

(We note that all the evidence tended to show that Terri 
was a woman of good character, and there was no evidence of 
any improper relationship between her and Robbins.) 

The Commission held that the dependents of Terri and Rob- 
bins were entitled to compensation under G.S. 97-38, G.S. 97-39, 
and G.S. 97-41. Defendants appealed to the Court of Appeals. 
In an opinion by Judge Britt, Judge Hedrick concurring, the 
Court of Appeals affirmed both awards. In a separate opinion, 
Judge Campbell concurred as to the dependents of Terri and 
dissented as to the award to the dependents of Robbins. 
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T .  H.  Sudda,rth,  Jr., and Jack E. Klass f o r  claimants Rob- 
bins. 

J .  Lee Wi l son  and Ned  A. Beelcer f o r  claimants Lewis .  

Kennedy,  Covington, Lobdell & Hickrnan by E d g a r  Love 
I I I ,  f o r  de fendants  appellants. 

SHARP, Justice. 
[I] Under the Workmen's Compensation Act a compensable 
death is one which results to an employee from an injury by 
accident a ~ i s i n g  out  o f  and in the e o w s e  o f  his employment. 
G.S. 97-2(6) (1965) ; Cole v. Guilford County ,  259 N.C. 724, 
131 S.E. 2d 308 (1963). The two italicized phrases are not 
synonymous ; they "involve two ideas and impose a double condi- 
tion, both of which must be satisfied in order to bring a case 
within the Act." Szoeatt v .  Board o f  Edzccat io~,  237 N.C. 653, 
657, 75 S.E. 2d 738, 742 (1953). 

This appeal presents only the question whether the deaths 
sf Terri and Robbins resulted from injuries by accident &sing 
out o f  their employment a t  Nicholson's grocery. The parties 
have stipulated that  the deaths were accidents and, clearly, 
they occurred in the course of their employment. 

[2-41 Although an assault is an intentional act, i t  may be an 
accident within the meaning of the Compensation Act when i t  
is unexpected and without design on the part  of the employee 
who suffers from it. W i t h e r s  v .  BFack, 230 N.C. 428, 53 S.E. 
2d 668 (1949). The words "in the course of the employment" as 
used in this Act, refer to the time, place and circumstances un- 
der which an accidental injury occurs; the phrase "arising out 
of the employment" refers to the origin or cause of the acci- 
dental injury. Clark v. B u r t o n  Lines,  272 N.C. 433, 158 S.E. 
2d 569 (1967) ; Taylor  v.  T w i n  C i t y  Club, 260 N.C. 435, 132 
S.E. 2d 865 (1963) ; W i t h e r s  v. Black, supra. Terri and Robbins 
were unexpectedly shot and killed by Lewis during working 
hours while performing their duties as  employees on the prem- 
ises of their employer, where their employment required them 
to be. Thus, their deaths were the result of injury by accident 
arising during the course of their employment. 

151 An accident occurring during the course of an employment, 
however, does not ipso facto arise out of it. The term "arising 
out of the employment" is not susceptible of any all-inclusive 
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definition, but i t  is generally said that  an injury arises out of 
the employment "when i t  is a natural and probable consequence 
or incident of the employment and a natural result of one of 
its risks, so there is some causal relation between the injury 
and the performance of some service of the employment." Pemy 
v. Bakeries Co., 262 N.C. 272, 274, 136 S.E. 2d 643, 645 (1964). 
In other words, to be compensable, "[tlhe injury must spring 
from the employment or have its origin therein." Bolling v. B e l b  
White Co., 228 N.C. 749, 750, 46 S.E. 2d 838, 839 (1948). 
"The injury must come from a risk which might have been 
contemplated by a reasonable person as incidental to the service 
when he entered the employment. I t  may be said to be incidental 
to  the employment when i t  is either an ordinary risk directly 
connected with the employment, or any extraordinary risk 
which is only indirectly connected with the service owing to 
the special nature of the employment." Lockelj v. Cohen, Gold- 
man & Co., 213 N.C. 356, 359, 196 S.E. 342, 344-45 (1938). 

In  Harden v. Fu~~n,iture Co., 199 N.C. 733, 155 S.E. '728 
(1930), one employee killed another, but the "motive which in- 
spired the assault was unrelated to the employment of the 
deceased and was likely to assert itself a t  any time and in any 
place." Id. a t  736, 155 S.E. at 730. In denying compensation this 
Court quoted with approval the following exposition by the 
Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts : " ' It  (the injury) 
arises "out of" the employment, when there is apparent to the 
rational mind upon consideration of all the circumstances, a 
causal connection between the conditions under which the work is 
required to be performed and the resulting injury. . . . But i t  ex- 
cludes an injury which cannot fairly be traced to the employment 
as a contributing proximate cause and which comes from a haz- 
ard to which the workmen would have been equally exposed 
apart  from the employment. The causative danger must be pe- 
culiar to the work and not common to the neighborhood. I t  must 
be incidental to the character of the business and not independ- 
ent of the relation of master and servant. I t  need not have been 
foreseen or expected, but after the event i t  must appear to have 
had its origin in a risk connected with the employment, and to 
have flowed from that  source as a rational consequence.' " Id. 
a t  735, 155 S.E. a t  729-30. Accord, Guest v. Iron & Metal Co., 
241 N.C. 448, 85 S.E. 2d 596 (1954) ; Bryan v. T. A. Loving 
Co., 222 N.C. 724, 24 S.E. 2d 751 (1943). 
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[6] A fortiori, when the moving cause of an  assault upon an 
employee by a third person is personal, or the circumstances 
surrounding the assault furnish no basis for a reasonable infer- 
ence that  the nature of the employment created the risk of 
such an attack, the injury is pot cornpensable. This is true even 
though the employee was engaged in the performance of his 
duties at the time, for  even though the employment may have 
provided a convenient opportunity for the attack i t  was not the 
cause. Ellis v. Rose Oil Company of Dixie, 190 So. 2d 450 (Miss. 
(1960) ; 6 Schneider, Workmen's Compensation Text, 5 1561 (a)  
(1948) ; 99 C.J.S. Workmen's Compensation 5 227 (1958) ; 58 
Am. Jur.  Workmen's Com,pensation S 265 (1948) ; Annots., 112 
A.L.R. 1258; 40 A.L.R. 1122; 29 A.L.R. 437; 15 A.L.R. 588. 

In  Duerock v. Accareyui, 87 Idaho 24, 390 P. 2d 55 (1964), 
the claimant was the manager of a motel. Her employment made 
her subject to call a t  any time. She lived with her husband in 
an apartment connected with the motel. Her husband, who had 
become unable to hold a job because of his alcoholism, resented 
the fact that  his wife was the primary breadwinner. He had 
repeatedly demanded that  she quit her employment. One evening, 
while she was preparing their supper, he repeated this demand. 
She told him that until he found and kept a job she could not 
give up hers, and that  she did not want to discuss the matter 
further. Thereupon, he shot her and himself. In  consequence 
she was paralyzed, and he died. In  sustaining the Board's denial 
of compensation, the Supreme Court of Idaho held that  although 
claimant's injury resulted from an accident occurring in the 
course of her employment, i t  did not arise out of i t ;  that  her 
injuries were not the result of an industrial, but of a domestic 
hazard. "The risk existed before her employment. I t  was a 
personal risk she brought with her, a part  of her domestic 
and private life. I t  was not a risk occasioned by, incident to, or 
a condition of, her employment." Id .  a t  37, 390 P. 2d at 63. 

Among the authorities cited by the Idaho Court in support 
of the foregoing decision was Harden v. Fzwniture Co., supra. 

In  State House Im v. Industrial Com., 32 111. 2d 160, 204 
N.E. 2d 17 (1965), the claimant was a married woman working 
the night shift as a switchboard operator a t  the Inn. About 
3 :00 a.m. she went with the night manager into the dining room 
for  food. The claimant's husband suddenly appeared and "vio- 
lently assaulted the pair, striking them both in a f i t  of jealous 
rage." On appeal, the Supreme Court held against the claimant, 
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saying : " [A] n injury does not arise out of the employment if i t  
is caused by reason of something unrelated to the nature of the 
employment. An injury not fairly traceable to the employment 
as a contributing, proximate cause, and which comes from a 
hazard to which the employee would have been equally exposed 
apart from the employment, does not arise out of it. If Mrs. 
Strode's injury was caused by her husband's attack it could not 
be said to have arisen out of her employment." Id. a t  163-64, 
204 N.E. 2d a t  19. 

In the similar case of Belden Hotel Co. v. Industrial Corn., 
44 Ill. 2d 253, 255 N.E. 2d 439 (1970), the husband of a hotel 
maid, in a fit of jealousy, killed one of her male co-workers. An 
award to his dependents was reversed because "[el ompensation 
is proper only where it is shown that the injury arose out of 
some risk inherent in the conditions of employment." Id. a t  255, 
255 N.E. 2d a t  440. Accord, Wood v. Aetna Casualty & Surety 
Company, 116 Ga. App. 284, 157 S.E. 2d 60 (1967). 

[?I In this case all the evidence tends to show that Lewis mur- 
dered his wife, Terri; her employer, Nicholson; and her fellow 
worker, Robbins, because he believed (1) that Robbins had 
replaced him in his wife's affection and (2) that if Nicholson 
would discharge her, and she had no job, she would have to 
return to him. The three assaults were entirely unrelated to the 
nature of the victim's employment; they did not result from 
the work either Terri or Robbins was required to do. Indeed, 
i t  was not the fact that Terri was working a t  a grocery which 
created the risk of an assault by her husband, but the fact that 
she was gainfully employed a t  all. She would have been exposed 
to the same risk in any business or industry which paid wages 
and employed both sexes. Further, any male employee whose du- 
ties required him to work with her or beside her would have been 
equally endangered. As the Idaho Court said with reference to 
Mrs. Duerock, the risk which caused the deaths of Terri and 
Robbins existed before her employment. It was a personal risk 
she brought to the grocery from her domestic and private life. 
It was not occasioned by, incident to, or a condition of her em- 
ployment. 

Nicholson was under no duty to discharge Terri merely 
because her husband demanded he do so and, under the circum- 
stances here disclosed, retaining her as an employee did not 
make the risk that Lewis would assault her or one of her fellow 
employees a risk arising out of the nature of the employment. 
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In  our view, the evidence will not sustain the Commission's 
finding that  "the employment of Terri and Robbins at the 
Nicholson store was the chief origin of the matrimonial diffi- 
culties between Terri and Lewis." The origin was his al- 
coholism, and i t  was the fact that  she finally left him which 
motivated the assaults. However, even if i t  were conceded that  
her employment was a major source of friction between Terri 
and Lewis, that friction was not a risk arising out of the nature 
of her employment. 

Notwithstanding the events a t  Nicholson's grocery on 
Christmas Day 1971, the risk of murder by a jealous spouse is 
not one which a rational mind would anticipate as an incident of 
the employment of both sexes in a business or industry. The 
possibility that an employee's spouse will become jealous of an 
associate-with or without cause-is a hazard "common to the 
neighborhood"; i t  is independent of the relation of master and 
servant. 

The evidence in this case does not support the Commission's 
finding or conclusion that  Lewis' assaults upon Terri and Rob- 
bins were accidents arising out of their employment. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is reversed with direc- 
tions that  these proceedings be remanded to the Industrial Com- 
mission for the entry of an award in accordance with this 
opinion. 

Reversed and remanded. 

I N  T H E  MATTER OF: APPEAL OF McLEAN TRUCKING COMPANY, 
WINSTON-SALEM, NORTH CAROLINA, FROM AN ACTION OF 
T H E  FORSYTH COUNTY BOARD O F  COMMISSIONERS PLAC- 
ING THE TAXABLE SITUS OF CERTAIN OF T H E  APPEL- 
LANT'S OVER-THE-ROAD VEHICLES I N  WINSTON TOWNSHIP 
(CITY OF WINSTON-SALEM), NORTH CAROLINA, AS OF JAN- 
UARY 1, 1969 

No. 65 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Taxation § 24- vehicles owned by interstate motor carrier - t a x  situs 
The tax  situs of vehicles used by a trucking company in inter- 

s ta te  commerce was the township in  which the company has i ts  princi- 
pal office in the State, G.S. 105-302(a), not the township in  which a 
lot owned by the company and designated by i t  a s  a storage place 
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f o r  such vehicles was located, G.S. 105-302(d), where no such vehicles 
were actually stored upon such lot or elsewhere in the township in  
which the lot was located a s  of the f i rs t  day of the t a x  year or f o r  
many nlonths prior thereto fo r  the reason that  they were constantly 
on the  move. 

2. Taxation § 25- Board of Equalization and Review-change of t a x  
listing - time limitation 

A County Board of Equalization and Review had no authority t o  
change a t ax  listing from one township to another af ter  the time 
limitation set  by G.S. 105-327(e) fo r  completion of i t s  duties had 
expired, such time limitation being mandatory. 

3. Taxation § 25- Board of E.qualization and Review - Board of County 
Commissioners - change of t ax  records, 

Although the County Board of Equalization and Review is identi- 
cal in nlembership with the  Board of County Commissioners, G.S. 
105-327(a), i ts  powers do not evolve upon the Board of County Com- 
missioners af ter  its authority has ceased by lapse of time, the authority 
of the Board of County Conimissioners thereafter to  make changes in  
the t a x  records being limited to  tha t  conferred by G.S. 105-330. 

4. Statutes  9 5- statutory construction 
Nothing else appearing, the Legislature is presumed to have 

used the words of a s tatute  to convey their natural and ordinary 
meaning. 

5. Taxation 8 25- improperly listed property - authority of County 
Commissioners to  correct - discovered property 

The Board of County Cornmissioners had no authority to change 
a t a x  listing from one township to another a s  "discovered property" 
under G.S. 105-330, since "discovered property" means property which 
has not been listed for  taxation; even if tha t  term could be construed 
to include property inlproperly listed, the Board of County Commis- 
sioners had no authority to  change the listing where the county and 
city were fully aware of the facts governing the t a x  situs of the 
property in question prior to  the date on which the County Board 
of Equalization and Review ceased to function, since the authority of 
the Board of County Commissioners to  change the listing extends no 
fur ther  than a change a s  to property "discovered" af ter  the County 
Board of Equalization and Review has finished i ts  work and ceased 
to function. 

APPEAL by McLean Trucking Company and by respondents, 
Forsyth County and the City of Winston-Salem, from Arm- 
strong, J., a t  the 29 March 1971 Civil Session of FORSYTH, heard 
prior to  determination by the Court of Appeals. This case was 
docketed and argued as No. 85 a t  the Fall Term 1971. 

McLean Trucking Company (McLean) is incorporated in 
North Carolina and has its principal office in the City of 
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Winston-Salem. The city and Winston Township of Forsyth 
County are coterminous. McLean is a common carrier of prop- 
erty by motor vehicle. On 1 January 1969, i t  operated sixty- 
six terminals in twenty states, including one in Winston-Salem. 
Its  vehicles operate on fixed and regular routes, but not upon 
regular timetables. In  the four years preceding 1969, approxi- 
mately 9.69% of its total interstate vehicle miles were in North 
Carolina. 

McLean assigns to each of its terminals all vehicles used 
solely for the pick-up and delivery of freight within the local 
area served by such terminal. All such "local equipment" is 
recognized as having its tax situs a t  the terminal to which 
i t  is so assigned. Thus, such "local equipment" assigned to the 
Winston-Salem terminal is listed for taxation in Winston 
Township. I t  is taxed both by the county and by the city. This 
appeal does not involve the taxation of such "local equipment." 

Other tractors and trailers owned by McLean, referred to 
as "interstate equipment," move between the various terminals 
in its system. They are not assigned to any specific terminal 
and remain at any terminal for brief periods only. These inter- 
state tractors are divided into two groups. Those in Group I, 
with rare exceptions, never come into North Carolina. They 
were not listed for ad valorem taxes in North Carolina in 1969. 
Group I1 tractors move between the various McLean terminals 
and so travel in and out of all states served by McLean, includ- 
ing North Carolina. This appeal does not involve Group I trac- 
tors. 

There are also two groups of trailers included in McLean's 
interstate equipment. Group A consists of a pool of trailers, of 
which each terminal in the total system is entitled to the use of 
a specific number, though not specific trailers, a t  any given 
time. The Group A trailers to  which the Winston-Salem terminal 
is so entitled are regularly listed by McLean for ad valorem 
taxes in Winston Township and were so listed by McLean in 
1969. The remaining Group A trailers (i.e., those so assigned to 
other terminals) were not listed by McLean for ad valorem 
taxes in Forsyth County. The remaining interstate trailers, 
Group B, are nct pooled and are not assigned to any specific 
terminal, but serve the system a t  large, moving from terminal 
t o  terminal and from state to state as needed. This appeal does 
not involve Group A trailers. 
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In accordance with the practice followed by it since 1950, 
McLean listed in Broadbay Township, for 1969 ad valorem 
taxes, all of its Group I1 tractors, with a tax value of $2,050,450, 
and all of its Group B trailers with a tax value of $2,268,110. 
The total, $4,318,560, is the full taxable value of all such equip- 
ment, without any apportionment between North Carolina and 
the other states in which the respective vehicIes operate. These 
are the only vehicles to which this appeal relates. 

On 29 August 1969, taxes levied by Forsyth County, in 
accordance with such listing, were paid in full by McLean. For 
the year 1969, McLean also incurred and paid ad valorem prop- 
erty taxes on the same vehicles in some of the other states in 
which it operates. 

Following the 1969 listing by McLean of these vehicles, 
and a t  some time prior to 22 April 1969, a question was raised 
as to whether such vehicles should have been listed for taxes 
in Broadbay Township or in Winston Township. If the proper 
place for listing was Winston Township, the vehicles would also 
be subject to city taxes, otherwise not. With respect to this 
question, on 22 April 1969, attorneys for the city and for the 
coui~ty wrote to the attorneys for McLean, requesting informa- 
tion as to the nature of the personal property so listed in Broad- 
bay Township and as to whether a tract of land also listed by 
McLean in Broadbay Township was occupied by McLean as a 
"place for storage" and, if so, the extent to which storage ac- 
tually took place thereon. McLean's attorneys replied promptly, 
advising : 

"The personal property listed there consists entirely of 
tractor and trailer equipment used by our client in its opera- 
tions as an interstate motor common carrier of freight. 
* * * The amount of this type of equipment listed in Broad- 
bay Township represents that portion of the line-haul 
fleet which is not permanently stationed a t  the Winston- 
Salem terminal or assigned outside of Forsyth County or 
domiciled outside of Forsyth County. It represents road 
equipment which is not used in connection with a single 
terminal but which moves to and from various terminals 
within the McLean system. * * * 

"The personal property listed in Broadbay Township 
is personal property which our client elects to list in its 
home county for taxes rather than a t  some other location 
throughout the McLean system. 
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"The tract of land above referred to was acquired by 
our client many years ago as a place for storage or parking 
area for the type of line-haul equipment referred to above 
when the same is not engaged in line-haul operations. This 
property is still occupied for that purpose and is a t  all 
times available for that purpose. * * * The lot is actually 
used very little for storage or parking for the reason that 
this type vehicle is constantly moving between terminals 
and between states and remains a t  one location for only 
brief periods of time. The lot, however, h a s  b e e n  actually 
used for the parking of such vehicles and is retained and 
available for that purpose. 

"I am sure that you are aware of the question which 
arises as to whether or not this property used exclusively 
in interstate commerce may be taxed a t  its full value rather 
than on an apportionment basis according to mileage or 
other reasonable factors. While our extensive research in this 
area leads us to believe that equipment used in interstate 
commerce cannot be taxed in one taxing jurisdiction a t  
100% of its value, o u r  cl ient  h a s  n o t  elected t o  press  f o r  
s u c h  a de t e rmimt ion . "  (Emphasis added.) 

Following an intervening conference, on 8 September 1969, 
the attorneys for the city and for the county advised the Tax 
Supervisor, with a copy to McLean's attorney, that, in their 
opinions, the McLean vehicles here in question should be listed 
and taxed in Winston Township. 

On 10 September 1969 (after the statutory date for the ad- 
journment of the County Board of Equalization and Review and 
after the payment by McLean of the 1969 taxes levied by the 
county), the Tax Supervisor, pursuant to such advice, notified 
McLean of his intent to  place the vehicle on the tax books of 
Winston Township, requesting McLean to agree that the appro- 
priate valuation would be that previously used in the listing of 
these vehicles by McLean in Broadbay Township. This notice 
advised McLean that if i t  did not so agree on the matter of 
valuation, that question would be placed by the Tax Supervisor 
on the agenda for the meeting of the Board of County Com- 
missioners on 22 September. McLean did not sign the requested 
consent to the proposed valuation in Winston Township. 
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On 17 Septebmer 1969, McLean, through its attorney, ad- 
vised the Tax Supervisor of its contentions that (1) the ve- 
hicles were properly listed for taxation in Broadbay Township 
and (2) in any event, he had no authority to change the listing 
to Winston Township, the time within which he, the County 
Commissioners, or the County Board of Equalization and Re- 
view, might have made such change, if otherwise proper, having 
expired. 

On 22 September 1969, the County Board of Commission- 
ers met and fixed the value of the vehicles in question at 
$4,318,560, the identical valuation a t  which they had been so 
listed by McLean in Broadbay Township and upon which the 
county taxes previously paid by McLean had been levied. On 
26 September 1969, the Tax Supervisor advised McLean that 
he was placing the vehicles on the tax books of Winston Town- 
ship for 1969 taxes a t  the value so fixed. 

On 30 September 1969, the Tax Supervisor billed McLean 
for 1969 city taxes based upon such listing of these vehicles, 
which tax bill McLean has not paid. 

In 1962 and subsequently, including 1969, McLean re- 
quested the Tax Supervisor to develop and use a reasonable ap- 
portionment formula for the taxing of such interstate equip- 
ment owned by it. These requests were uniformly denied and 
none of them was pursued by McLean until the present con- 
troversy arose. 

The origin of the listing of the vehicles in Broadbay Town- 
ship is as follows: In 1950, McLean acquired a six acre tract of 
land in Broadbay Township with the intent of designating and 
using i t  as a "storage yard and parking area for its interstate 
equipment when such equipment was not in use." I t  thereupon 
inquired of the County Attorney as to whether in view of G.S. 
105-302 Broadbay Township would be the taxable situs of the 
type of vehicle here in question. In that inquiry it stated: 

"At this time the company has acquired property in 
Forsyth County but outside of the city of Winston-Salem 
which we propose to use as  a storage yard and parking 
space for equipment used in interstate commerce through 
all or most of the thirteen [as of 19501 states hereinabove 
pointed out. * * * The land in question will be the 'place 
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for storage' of the personal property in question which the 
company uses in its interstate commerce activities. There 
will, of course, be an 'office' there and/or 'shop7." 

To this inquiry the County Attorney replied that, in his opinion, 
the tax situs of the property would be the township wherein 
such "storage yard" was located. 

The 1950 opinion of the County Attorney was followed by 
McLean and the Tax Supervisor until the present controversy 
arose. Both this opinion and the tax practices followed in re- 
liance thereon were known to the attorneys for the county and 
for the city at  the time of their above mentioned correspondence 
with McLean in April, 1969. In their advice to the Tax Super- 
visor, dated 8 September 1969, the attorney for the county and 
for the city stated: 

"Your office has likewise followed the 1950 opinion of 
the County Attorney in assessing the interstate equipment 
of companies owning such property and listing it for tax- 
ation a t  the 'place of storage' designated by the company. 

"We are of the view that both your office and the 
companies named above have followed what was considered 
by all parties to be legally proper under the 1950 opinion. 
Likewise, we do not feel that the County Attorney who ren- 
dered the former opinion gave a wrong opinion, based upon 
the facts and interpretations of the law then before him. 

"We do find, however, that since the date of the former 
opinion, the facts regarding this situation are slightly 
different, and the interpretations of the law have been 
clarified somewhat." 

In 1950, the lot in Broadbay Township was enclosed by a 
metal fence and was used from time to time for the storage of 
interstate equipment not in use. I t  continued to be maintained 
by McLean as a designated place for storage of such equipment, 
but no equipment was stored thereon for a t  least twelve months 
preceding 20 November 1969 and "for some time prior" thereto 
such equipment was rarely stored or parked upon the lot for 
the reason that such equipment was constantly on the move. 
The equipment was not stored a t  any other location. As  
of 1 January 1969, and for some time prior thereto, McLean 
did not maintain either an office or a shop upon the lot 
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in Broadbay Township, of which circumstances neither the 
Tax Supervisor nor the County Attorney was advised in writing. 

From the action of the Tax Supervisor, McLean appealed 
to the State Board of Assessment. Before that board i t  con- 
tended: (1) The property in question not being "discovered 
property," within the meaning of G.S. 105-331, the action of the 
Tax Supervisor in listing the property in Winston Township 
after the adjournment of the County Board of Equalization and 
Review was unlawful and invaiid; (2) the proper 1969 tax 
situs of the property in question was Broadbay Township; and 
(3) it is a violation of the Commerce Clause of the Constitution 
of the United States for the County Board of Commissioners 
to assess the vehicles &t 100% of their tax value rather than a t  
a proportionate part thereof based upon the relationship which 
its use in North Carolina bears to its use in other states. 

The foregoing facts were stipulated before the State Board 
of Assessment. In addition, McLean offered testimony that the 
vehicles in question were in North Carolina approximately 12% 
of the time. 

On 12 May 1970, the State Board of Assessment rendered 
its decision affirming the action of the County Board of Com- 
missioners. I t  concluded that the tax situs of the vehicles in 
question, as of 1 January 1969, was Winston Township, the list- 
ing was properly corrected to show the proper township, the 
city was a party to the consideration of the matter and had in- 
dependent authority under G.S. 105-331(e) to make the correc- 
tion and the use in the corrected listing of the same valuation a t  
which McLean had listed the property in Broadbay Township 
was proper. McLean petitioned for judicial review by the su- 
perior court, excepting to each of these conclusions. 

The superior court affirmed the conclusions of the State 
Board of Assessment, except that it set aside the board's con- 
clusion as to the valuation. The court remanded the matter to 
the board with instruction to review the record, take such addi- 
tional evidence as it shall determine to be necessary, determine 
whether or not the property is taxable on an apportionment 
basis and, if so, determine the proper apportionment of the 
total valuation taxable by the city. From that judgment McLean, 
the county and the city all appeal. 
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Hamrick, Doughton, and Newton, by Claude M. Hamrick 
and George E. Doughton, Jr., for McLean Tmcking Company. 

P. Eugene Price, Jr., for Forspth County. 

Womble, Carlyle, Sandridge & Rice, by William F. Womble 
and Roddey M. Ligon, Jr., for City of Winston-Salem. 

LAKE, Justice. 

All citations to sections of the General Statutes in this opin- 
ion relate, both as to section numbers and as to content, to the 
statutes in effect in 1969. 

[I]  G.S. 105-302 (a)  provides that, except as otherwise provided 
in that section, tangible personal property must be listed for 
taxes in the township wherein the owner has his residence, 
which, in the case of a corporation, is the township in which i t  
has its principal office in the State. McLean contends that this 
does not apply to the property here in question because subsec- 
tion (d )of this statute provides that tangible personal property 
"shall be listed in the township in which such property is sit- 
uated, rather than in the township in which the owner resides, 
if the owner * * * hires or occupies a * * * place for storage * * * 
for use in connection with such property." This contention 
cannot be sustained for the reason that the tractors and trailers 
in question were not "situated" on the lot in Broadbay Town- 
ship owned by McLean and designated by it as a place for 
storage of such property. I n  re Freight Cawiers, 263 N.C. 345, 
139 S.E. 2d 633. As of 1 January 1969, and for many months 
prior thereto, none of these vehicles was stored upon this lot or 
elsewhere in Broadbay Township, if, indeed, they ever were 
there. Consequently, Winston Township was the tax situs of 
these tractors and trailers as of 1 January 1969 and they should 
have been listed for 1969 taxes therein. 

121 The vehicles having been listed improperly in Broadbay 
Township, the County Board of Equalization and Review had 
the authority to correct the listing and cause the vehicles to be 
listed for 1969 taxes in Winston Township. G.S. 105-327 (g) ( I ) ,  
(3).  This it could do on its own motion or on sufficient cause 
shown by any person. Subsection (e) of G.S. 105-327 provides, 
however, that the County Board of Equalization and Review 
"shall hold its first meeting not earlier than the first Monday 
in April and not later than the first Monday in May following 
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the day on which the tax listing began, but i t  shall complete its 
duties on or before the third Monday following its f irst  meeting," 
except that  i t  may continue in session for  a longer period when 
necessary or expedient to a proper execution of its responsibili- 
ties, "but in no event shall said board sit later than July 1," ex- 
cept for matters not pertinent to this appeal. The time limitation 
thus imposed upon the County Board of Equalization and Re- 
view by this statute is mandatory. Spiers v. Davenport, 263 
N.C. 56, 138 S.E. 2d 762. Thus, a t  the time the Tax Supervisor 
undertook t o  change the listing of this property, the County 
Board of Equalization and Review was powerless to  take such 
action. 

G.S. 105-328 provides that  when changes made by the 
County Board of Equalization and Review have been reflected 
upon the tax records, the members of the board, or a majority 
thereof, "shall sign a statement a t  the end of the scroll or tax  
book to the effect that  the scroll is the fixed and permanent 
t ax  list and assessment roll for the current year, subject to  the 
provisions of this subchapter." 

[3] The County Board of Equalization and Review is identical 
in membership with the Board of County Commissioners. G.S. 
105-327(a). Nevertheless, after its authority has ceased, by 
lapse of time, the powers of the County Board of Equalization 
and Review do not evolve upon the  Board of County Commis- 
sioners. The authority of the Board of County Commissioners 
thereafter t o  make changes in the tax records is limited to that  
conferred by G.S. 105-330, the pertinent portion of which pro- 
vides : 

"After the board of equalization has finished its work 
and the changes effected by i t  have been given effect on 
the tax  records, the board of county commissioners may 
not authorize any changes to be made on said records except 
as follows: 

8 * 9 

"(5)  To add any discovered property under the pro- 
visions of this subchapter. " " * " (Emphasis added.) 

[4, 51 Thus, there was no authority in the Board of County 
Commissioners, and a fortiorari, none in the Tax Supervisor, to  
change the listing of McLean's vehicles from Broadbay Town- 
ship to  Winston Township unless these vehicles constituted "dis- 
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covered property." Nothing else appearing, the Legislature is 
presumed to have used the words of a statute to convey their 
natural and ordinary meaning. Yacht  C o m p a r , ~  v. High, Commis- 
sioner o f  Revenue, 265 N.C. 653, 144 S.E. 2d 821; Seminary v. 
W a k e  Cowzty, 251 N.C. 775, 112 S.E. 2d 528. The ordinary 
meaning of "discovered" is newly found, not previousiy known. 
G.S. 105-331 (a )  makes i t  clear that  "discovered property," as 
used in the Machinery Act, G.S. Chapter 105, Subchapter 11, 
means property which has not been listed for taxation. Even 
if this term could be construed to  include property improperly 
listed (see, Smi th  v. D u m ,  160 N.C. 174, 76 S.E. 242), we think 
G.S. 105-330 makes i t  clear that  the authority of the Board 
of County Commissioners to change the listing extends no fur- 
ther than a change as to property "discovered9' after the County 
Board of Equalization and Review has finished its work and 
ceased to function. In  the present instance, i t  is clear that  the 
matter came to the attention of both the county and the city a t  
some time prior to 22 April 1969. Nothing in the record indicates 
that  the county and the city were not fully aware of the facts 
governing the tax situs of the property in question prior to the 
date on which the County Board of Equalization and Review 
ceased to  function. Thus, the tractors and trailers listed by 
McLean in Broadbay Township cannot be deemed "discovered 
property," within the meaning of G.S. 105-330, as of the date of 
the attempted listing of these properties in Winston Township 
by the Tax Supervisor and such attempted listing was without 
legal effect. 

The power conferred by G.S. 105-331 (e)  upon cities and 
towns is, by the terms of that  statutory provision, no more ex- 
tensive than the power conferred by that  section and by G.S. 
105-330 upon the Board of County Commissioners. 

Having concluded that  the attempted listing of the property 
in  Winston Township for 1969 taxes was ineffectual, we do not 
reach, in this case, the question of whether McLean was entitled 
in 1969 to  have the full tax value of these vehicles apportioned 
so as to subject only part  of i t  t o  taxation in Forsyth County. 

The judgment of the superior court affirming the decision 
of the State Board of Assessment is, therefore, reversed, and the 
matter is remanded to the Superior Court of Forsyth County for 
the entry by i t  of a judgment in accordance with this opinion. 

Reversed and remanded. 
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. HAYWOOD LINDALE PEELE 

No. 110 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Constitutional Law Q 31; Criminal Law Q 80-access to  evidence- 
witnesses favorable to defendant - statements by witnesses - produc- 
tion by solicitor 

The trial court did not e r r  i n  the denial of defendant's motion 
pursnant to G.S. 15-155.4 tha t  the solicitor furnish defendant (1) the 
names and addresses of all witnesses known to the State  who might 
offer testimony favorable to defendant, and ( 2 )  copies of written 
statements o r  transcripts of oral statements made by any witness, 
since the s tatute  does not contemplate that  the solicitor be required to 
furnish such information. 

2. Criminal Law Q 87- leading questions 
The trial court did not e r r  in  allowing the solicitor to ask leading 

questions in this homicide and armed robbery prosecution. 

3. Criminal Law § Q  162, 169- unresponsive testimony - test of relevancy 
If a n  unresponsive answer produces irrelevant facts, i t  should be 

stricken and withdrawn froin the jury; however, if a n  answer brings 
forth relevant facts, i t  is admissible even though not specifically 
asked for  or beyond the scope of the question. 

4. Criminal Law 5 80- irrelevancy of letter 
The trial court in  a n  armed robbery and homicide prosecution 

properly excluded a s  irrelevant a letter written to  defendant by a n  
employment agency in New York forty-two days a f te r  the crimes 
which acknowledged defendant's application for  a job without indicat- 
ing any  date on which the application was made, the Ietter having 
contained nothing from which any inference may be drawn a s  to de- 
fendant's whereabouts on the date of the crimes. 

5. Homicide Q 21- murder in perpetration of armed robbery - sufficiency 
of evidence 

The State's evidence was sufficient to  be submitted to the jury 
on the issue of defendant's guilt of murder coinnlitted in  the perpetra- 
tion of a n  armed robbery where i t  tended to show t h a t  defendant 
and a conlpanion entered a store, tha t  a comnlotion in the store was 
heard, t h a t  defendant and his companion ran  from the store carrying 
a cash register, tha t  the store proprietor had been shot and killed 
with a 2 2  caliber pistol, tha t  defendant and his companion took the 
cash register to  another person's home and divided the money, and 
tha t  defendant's companion had borrowed a 2 2  caliber pistol just 
before the robbery and returned i t  shortly thereafter. 

6. Criminal Law Q 26; Homicide Q 31-murder in perpetration of robbery 
-separate punishment for robbery -double jeopardy 

Where defendant's conviction of felony-murder was based upon 
a jury finding that  the murder was conimitted in the  perpetration 
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of a n  armed robbery, no separate punishment can be imposed f o r  
the armed robbery. 

APPEAL by defendant from Clark, J., January 17, 1972 
Criminal Session, CUMBERLAND Superior Court. 

These criminal prosecutions were based on grand jury in- 
dictments as follows. The bill in Case No. 71 CR 24751 is here 
quoted : 

"THE JURORS FOR THE STATE UPON THEIR OATH Pre- 
sent, that  Haywood L. Peele late of the County of Cumber- 
land on or about the 12th of July, 1971, with force and 
arms a t  and in the county aforesaid did unlawfully, wilfully 
and feloniously having in his possession and with the use 
and threatened use of firearms and other dangerous 
weapons, implements, and means, to wit: a pistol, whereby 
the life of William F. Icenogle was endangered and threat- 
ened, did then and there unlawfully, wilfully, forcibly, 
violently and feloniously take, steal and carry away Three 
Hundred Dollars ($300.00) in money, to wit: United States 
Currency of the value of Three Hundred Dollars ($300.00) 
from the presence, person and possession of William F. 
Icenogle, property of William F. Icenogle trading as Square 
Deal Package Store, contrary to the form of the statute 
in such case made and provided and against the peace and 
dignity of the State. 

The bill in case No. 71 CR 24752 is likewise quoted: 

"THE JURORS FOR THE STATE UPON THEIR OATH Pre- 
sent, That Haywood L. Peele late of the County of Cumber- 
land on or about the 12th day of July, 1971, with force 
and arms, a t  and in the said county, feloniously and wilfully 
did kill and murder William F. Icenogle, which murder was 
committed in the perpetration of the crime of armed rob- 
bery, a felony, contrary to  the form of the statute in such 
case made and provided and against the peace and dignity 
of the State. 

/S JACK A. THOMPSON 
Solicitor" 
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The defendant was adjudged to be indigent and A. Max- 
well Ruppe was appointed counsel to represent him. 

After the indictments were duly returned but before ar- 
raignment, defense counsel filed a written request for discovery 
and moved before Judge Bailey for an order requiring the solic- 
itor to make available to defense counsel " . . . (T)  he following 
information pertaining to the charges against the defend- 
ant . . . : 1. Names and addresses of witnesses known to the 
State who might offer testimony favorable to the defendant. 
2. Copy of all written statements made by any of the witnesses 
signed by the witnesses now in possession of a representative 
of the State. 3. Copy of any unsigned statements or verbal state- 
ments, including any transcribed recording of a witnesses state- 
ment given to a representative of the State which has been re- 
duced to writing and now in possession of the representative of 
the State. 4. A copy of the transcript of testimony in the case of 
S ta t e  v. Anthony  Calloway, 71 Cr 23574 and 71 Cr 23575 . . . 
on the same charge now pending against Haywood Lindale 
Peele." 

Judge Bailey found that Anthony Calloway was also in- 
dicted both for the robbery and the murder of William F. 
Icenogle. The evidence was taken by the reporter a t  the hearing 
after Calloway entered pleas of guilty both to murder in the 
second degree and to armed robbery. Judge Bailey concluded 
the transcript of the Calloway hearing would enable the defend- 
ant to prepare for the trial, as the same witnesses would be 
used by the State. Judge Bailey ordered the Calloway transcript 
made available to defense counsel a t  the State's expense. 

When arraigned the defendant entered pleas of not guilty. 
Twelve regular jurors and one alternate were selected and 
empaneled. 

The State introduced evidence of which the following is a 
summary. Mrs. Icenogle, wife of the victim, testified that she 
left her husband alone a t  the store about 9 o'clock on the night 
of July 12, 1971. The cash register contained $200.00 to $300.00 
in cash and some checks. The State introduced i t  in evidence. 

A State's witness stopped a t  a telephone booth near Mr. 
Icenogle's store a few minutes before 10 o'clock on the night 
of July 12th. He heard a commotion in the store, saw two men 
leave running, went inside, and found Mr. Icenogle on the floor 
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dying from gunshot wounds. Another eyewitness saw the two 
men running from the store carrying a cash register. Soon after 
they passed out of his view he heard an  automobile door slam 
and heard the car drive away. The witness identified the defend- 
an t  and Calloway as the men leaving the store with the cash 
register. 

Catherine Winborn testified that  she was well acquainted 
with Anthony Calloway, Haywood Lindale Peele, and Jake 
Gooding. Around 12 o'clock on the night of July 12th these three 
men came into her house through the back door carrying a 
cash register. They opened i t  in her house, took a quantity of 
money from i t  and left. A few days before, Anthony Calloway 
had borrowed her twenty-two calibre pistol. Shortly thereafter, 
he returned it. She had heard about the shooting and turned 
the pistol over to  one of her friends who hid i t  under a trash 
can nearby. After the officers made inquiry, Catherine Winborn 
and Howard Jenkins informed the officers about hiding the 
pistol. A search disclosed i t  had been removed. 

Jake Gooding, a witness for the State, testified that  on 
the night of July 12th around 10 o'clock, or a little before, he 
drove his automobile to a place a short distance from the 
Icenogle store and that  his two passengers, Anthony Calloway 
and Haywood Peele, left his automobile. He saw them go to 
the Icenogle store and in a few minutes return with the cash 
register. He went with them to Catherine Winborn's house 
where Calloway opened the safe and gave him $20.00. Calloway 
and Peele then divided the remainder of the money which was 
around $300.00. The officers took possession of the cash register. 
Mrs. Icenogle identified i t  as belonging to her husband and 
i t  was introduced in evidence. 

After the shooting, the body of Mr. Icenogle was taken t o  
the hospital. An autopsy was performed which disclosed that  
he had died from a twenty-two calibre pistol bullet which had 
pierced his heart. 

At the close of the State's evidence the defendant's motion 
for a directed verdict of not guilty was overruled. 

The defendant testified that  he was well acquainted with 
Calloway and Gooding. He frequently saw them at  the home 
of Mamie Gaines. They often met together and had social drinks. 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 257 

State v. Peek 

He said that he left Fayetteville on the night of July l l th ,  
went to New York and remained there until a relative wrote 
him about the robbery and death of Icenogle. He came back to 
Fayetteville and surrendered because he was not guilty. He 
called Anthony Calloway as a witness in his behalf. Calloway 
testified that he had already pled guilty to the robbery and 
second degree murder in the killing of Icenogle ; that the defend- 
ant PeeIe was not with him a t  all and had nothing to do with 
the robbery or killing; that Gooding drove him to the place 
near the store and waited while he went to the store alone, 
shot Icenogle, and took the cash register to the home of Cath- 
erine Winborn. He admitted that he and PeeIe had occupied a 
cell together in jail before the trial. 

The defendant called Officer Truitt who testified that he 
had a conversation with State's witness Catherine Winborn 
who told him that Calloway and Gooding brought the cash regis- 
ter to her house, opened it, and divided the money and that the 
defendant Peele was not with them. 

The defendant sought to introduce in evidence a letter 
from an ernpIoyment agency in New York addressed to him at 
his uncle's residence in Brooklyn. The letter, dated August 24, 
1971, acknowledged the receipt of his application for a job. 
The court excluded the letter as irrelevant. 

The jury returned a verdit finding the defendant guilty 
of murder in the first degree and recommended life imprison- 
ment on the murder charge. The jury also returned a verdict of 
guilty on the robbery charge. From the judgment of life im- 
prisonment on the murder charge and a sentence of not less 
than twenty-five nor more than thirty years on the robbery 
charge, the defendant appealed assigning errors. 

Robert Morgan, At torney General by  Wal ter  E. Ricks 
111, Associate At torney,  f o r  the State.  

A. Maxwell R w p e  and Paul G. Mallonee f0.r defendant  
appellant. 

HIGGINS, Justice. 

[I] The bills of indictment charged armed robbery and murder 
committed in the perpetration of the robbery. The defendant's 
witness Calloway had already been tried and entered pleas of 
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guilty on the identical charges. The State's pre-sentence testi- 
mony on the charges against Calloway was transcribed and a 
copy was delivered to the defense counsel in response to the 
motion for discovery filed a t  the beginning of the hearing. The 
disclosure statute, Chapter 1064, Session Laws of 1967, now 
G.S. $ 15-155.4, was enacted after this Court's decision in State 
v. Goldberg, 261 N.C. 181, 134 S.E. 2d 334. According to the 
statute, a pre-trial order may require the solicitor to produce 
for inspection and copy "specificaly identified exhibits" to be 
used in the trial and to permit defense counsel to examine 
"specific expert witnesses" who may be called. The statute does 
not contemplate anything resembling the demand made by de- 
fense counsel in this case. The purpose of the statute is to 
enable a defendant to guard against surprise documents and 
surprise expert witnesses. Nothing of that nature was shown to 
be available or its use contemplated in this case. The order 
to produce a copy of the pre-sentence hearing would appear to 
have given defense counsel sufficient information to enable him 
to guard against surprises. The Assignment of Error No. 1 is 
not sustained. 

[2] By defendant's Assignments of Error Nos. 3 and 4, the 
defendant challenges the solicitor's leading questions. Examina- 
tion discloses that questions, if on occasion somewhat leading, 
were intended to facilitate the hearing. The court was well 
within its prerogative in allowing them. State v. Bass, 280 N.C. 
435, 186 S.E. 2d 384 ; State v. Clanton, 278 N.C. 502, 180 S.E. 
2d 5 ;  State v. Pearson, 258 N.C. 188, 128 S.E. 2d 251. The 
Assignments of Error Nos. 3 and 4 based on leading questions 
are not sustained. 

[3] The Defendant's Assignment of Error No. 6 is addressed 
"To the court permitting Detective W. A. Newsome, a State's 
witness, on cross-examination to volunteer information that 
was not in response to any question." The questions related to 
the officer's conversations with a witness. I t  appears that these 
conversations had occurred on more than one occasion between 
the officer and Gooding. They concerned the identity of the 
two men whom he had taken to and from the Icensgle store and 
the home of Catherine Winborn. The witness in his reply to 
questions had gone somewhat beyond the answers to the last 
question. In a long trial i t  is not unusual for a witness to give 
testimony somewhat beyond the precise form of a question. 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 259 

State v. Peele 

"Whether an answer is responsive to a question, is not the 
ultimate test on a motion to strike. If an unresponsive answer 
produces irrelevant facts, they may and should be stricken and 
withdrawn from the jury. However, if the answers bring forth 
relevant facts, they are nonetheless admissible because they are 
not specifically asked for or go beyond the scope of the 
question." State v. Ferguson, 280 N.C. 95, 185 S.E. 2d 119; 
State v. Staten, 271 N.C. 600, 157 S.E. 2d 225. Assignment of 
Error No. 6 is not sustained. 

[4] Defense counsel in the brief and in the oral argument 
stressfully contends that the court committed prejudicial error 
by refusing to admit in evidence the letter dated August 24, 
1971, addressed to the defendant a t  50 Gates Avenue, Brooklyn, 
New York. The letter was written forty-two days after the 
robbery and related to defendant's application for a job without 
indicating any date on which the application was made. Hence i t  
contained nothing from which any inference may be drawn as to 
the whereabouts of the defendant on July 12,1971. The letter was 
properly excluded as irrelevant. We note the defendant's objec- 
tion to the letter solely because of the stress and importance 
defense counsel seemed to attach to it. 

[5] Defendant's 8th and final Assignment of Error challenges 
the sufficiency of the evidence to survive his motion to dismiss 
a t  the close of all the evidence. On this motion the State's evi- 
dence is deemed to be true. All inconsistencies and contradic- 
tions are to be resolved in favor of the State. The defendant's 
evidence in contradiction is not to be considered. The evidence 
when properly construed makes out a strong case for the prose- 
cution showing a murder committed in the perpetration of a 
robbery. 

Mrs. Icenogle left her husband alone in the store a t  9 
o'clock. The cash register was in place. She returned a t  10 
o'clock in response to a call from the officers. Mr. Icenogle 
was dead and the cash register missing. The defendant and 
Anthony Calloway are shown to have entered Icenogle's store 
just before 10 o'clock a t  night. A commotion in the store was 
heard. Calloway and the defendant were seen running from the 
store carrying a cash register. They appeared a t  the Winborn 
home, opened the cash register, divided the money, and left. 
Just before the robbery, Calloway had borrowed Catherine Win- 
born's twenty-two calibre pistol. Shortly after the occurrence 
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he returned it. Icenogle's death resulted from a twenty-two 
calibre bullet. The evidence indicates that Calloway probably 
did the shooting, but both he and the defendant entered the 
store together. They left together with the cash register and 
divided the contents. Both were equally guilty of the murder 
which one committed in the presence of the other. "Where two 
or more persons aid and abet each other in the commission of 
a crime, all being present, each is a principal and equally 
guilty regardless . . . of which is the actual perpetrator . . . . ,, 
Strong's N. C. Index, 2d, Vol. 2, Criminal Law, 5 9. See also 
State v. Aycoth, 272 N.C. 48, 157 S.E. 2d 655; and State v. Ham, 
238 N.C. 94, 76 S.E. 2d 346. 

The evidence in its light most favorable to the State, estab- 
lishes all essential elements of murder committed in the perpe- 
tration of armed robbery. State v. Jones, 280 N.C. 60, 184 S.E. 
2d 862; State v. Thompson, 256 N.C. 593, 124 S.E. 2d 728; and 
State v. Stephens, 244 N.C. 380, 93 S.E. 2d 431. In the trial, 
conviction and sentence on the charge of murder in the first 
degree we find no error. 

[6] However, the face of the record proper requires this 
Court, of its own motion, to take notice of a fatal defect in the 
verdict and judgment in No. 71 CR 24751 charging armed rob- 
bery. Examination of the indictments, verdicts, and judgments 
disclose that the armed robbery charge was embraced in and 
made a part  of the charge of murder in the first degree. Whar- 
ton's Criminal Law and Procedure, Vol. 1, Section 148, states 
the rule: "It is generally agreed that if a person is tried for a 
greater offense, he cannot be tried thereafter for a lesser 
offense necessarily involved in, and a part of, the greater, . . . 7 7  

Many cases recognize and apply the same principle. Among them 
are State v. Thompson, 280 N.C. 202, 185 S.E. 2d 666; State v. 
Hatcher, 277 N.C. 380, 177 S.E. 2d 892; State v. Pa?-ker, 262 
N.C. 679, 138 S.E. 2d 496; State v. Birckhead, 256 N.C. 494, 
128 S.E. 2d 838 ; and State v. Bell, 205 N.C. 225, 171 S.E. 50. 

From the foregoing it  follows as a matter of course that the 
judgment must be arrested in the robbery case. 

In No. 71 CR 24752-No error. 

In No. 71 CR 24751-Judgment arrested. 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 

State v. Anderson 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. LIONEL ANDERSON 

No. 13 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Constitutional Law 5 29; Criminal Law 5 135; Jury 5 7- jurors opposed 
to death penalty - excusal for cause 

The trial court in a first degree murder prosecution properly ex- 
cused six jurors for cause when each stated on voir dire examination 
that  he would not vote in favor of the death penalty under any cir- 
cumstances no matter how aggravated the case and no matter 
what the facts may be. 

2. Criminal Law 9 92- consolidation of murder cases for trial 
The trial court properly consolidated for trial indictments charg- 

ing defendant with the first degree murders of his wife alzd niother- 
in-law. 

3. Criminal Law 5 166- abandonment of assignments of error 
Assignment of error is deemed abandoned where appellant's brief 

sets out no reason or aryunient and cites no authority in support 
thereof. Supreme Court Rule 28. 

4. Criminal Law 5 87; Witnesses 5 1- list of State's witnesses-testi- 
mony by witness not listed 

In a first degree murder prosecution wherein the State furnished 
defense counsel a list of State's witnesses prior to selection of the 
jury, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the 
State to present a witness whose name was not on the list, where 
each juror strited upon interrogation by the court that  he did not 
know the witness by sight or by name, and the court found that the 
name of the witness was not available to the State a t  the time the 
jury was selected and that defendant had suffered no prejudice by 
the fact that  the name of the witness was not furnished prior to 
the jury selection. 

5. Criminal Law 3 97- additional evidence after jury arguments 
The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the State 

to recall two witnesses who had previously been examined and to 
elicit additional evidence from them after the State and defendant 
had rested and all arguments to the jury had been made, where de- 
fendant was given an opportunity to offer additional rebuttal evidence 
and the State's additional evidence was inconsequential. 

6. Constitutional Law 9 29; Criminal Law 5 135; Homicide 5 31- first 
degree murder - death penalty - constitutionality - former G.S. 15- 
162.1 

Sentences of death could not constitutionally be imposed on de- 
fendant for crimes of first degree murder committed while the statute 
allowing a defendant to plead guilty to a capital crime and receive a 
life sentence, G.S. 15-162.1, was in effect, since during that  time 
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the death penalty applied only to those defendants who asserted 
their constitutional r ight  t o  plead not guilty; consequently, sentences 
of death imposed on defendant fo r  f i rs t  degree murder a re  vacated 
and the cases a r e  remanded to the superior court f o r  imposition of 
sentences of life imprisonment. 

Justices HKGGINS and LAKE dissent. 

DEFENDANT appeals from judgments of P e e k ,  J., September 
1971 Session of MARTIN Superior Court. 

Defendant was charged in separate bills of indictment with 
the first degree murder of Fannie Alice Whitfield, his mother- 
in-law, and the first degree murder of Joyce Janet Anderson, 
his wife, on 29 June 1971. Upon arraignment defendant entered 
pleas of not guilty. The cases were thereupon consolidated for 
trial, over defendant's objection, and a jury was selected and 
empaneled. 

The State's evidence tends to show the facts narrated 
below. 

Defendant Lionel Anderson and his wife Joyce Janet An- 
derson lived in Greenville, North Carolina. Joyce was the daugh- 
ter of Willie Herbert Whitfield and Fannie Alice Whitfield who 
lived near Williamston on Highway No. 17 in Martin County. 
On 29 June 1971 defendant called his wife's father to come after 
her. Mr. Whitfield went to Greenville and took his daughter to 
his home near Williamston. That same afternoon defendant left 
Greenville taking his .20 gauge shotgun with him. He went to 
the Whitfield home, asked for his wife, and was told she was 
a t  the store. He left and drove toward the store where he saw 
his wife driving a car and thereupon turned around and followed 
her back to the Whitfield home. He parked his car in the back- 
yard and talked to his wife for thirty or forty minutes. Defend- 
ant  and his wife had been fussing since Tuesday morning, June 
27, and defendant was trying to persuade her to return home. 
She told him she was going to Baltimore to live with the par- 
ents of a man who was the father of a baby born to her before 
her marriage to defendant. Defendant thereupon shot his wife 
Joyce Anderson with the 2 0  gauge shotgun. Mrs. Whitfield 
came to the back door, stepped out on the ground and defendant 
shot her in the stomach with his shotgun. He reloaded, stepped 
forward and shot her again and she fell to the ground near 
the back steps. Meanwhile, Joyce Anderson ran toward a neigh- 
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bor's house and the defendant followed her. Joyce stumbled 
and fell in the yard, and defendant stood over her with the 
shotgun and fired another shot into her body. Defendant then 
walked toward his car in the Whitfield yard and saw Mrs. 
Whitfield moving on the ground. He approached her and said, 
"You are the cause of all this," placed his gun against her neck 
and fired again. As defendant approached his car to drive away 
he was shot twice in the back by Melvin Whitley, a nineteen- 
year-old boy who was staying a t  the Whitfield home. Numerous 
shotgun pellets entered his body. 

The coroner found both women dead when he arrived on 
the scene. He testified that Mrs. Whitfield had a large wound 
about the size of a quarter under her right breast and a large 
wound in her stomach below the navel about the size of a 
baseball, and a large wound behind her left ear. Joyce Anderson 
had a large wound near the top of her chest on the left side 
near the heart region and twenty-five to thirty small holes in 
her arm. When the coroner arrived the bodies were still lying 
in the yard where they had fallen. 

Defendant drove a t  a high rate of speed to his mother's 
home in Greenville where he was arrested, taken to the hospital 
for treatment of his wounds which apparently were not serious, 
and lodged in jail. With his counsel present and after being 
fully warned of his constitutional rights, defendant made a 
statement to the officers in which he related his family difficul- 
ties and said he remembered shooting his wife only once and 
Mrs. Whitfield only once. Defendant identified the shotgun he 
used. 

Defendant testified as a witness in his own behalf. His 
testimony shows that he was thirty-six years of age, had served 
as a special policeman in the City of Washington, D. C. for two 
years, and had never been in any trouble. On Monday preceding 
June 29 he had seen a man running from his home and this 
had caused serious arguments between him and his wife. On 
June 29 he called Mr. and Mrs. Whitfield to come to his 
home and they came. The Whitfields decided to take their 
daughter home. After they had gone defendant began drinking. 
He tried unsuccessfully to call his wife several times and finally 
decided to drive to Williamston to talk with her. The shotgun 
was already in the trunk of his car, but he took it out and 
laid i t  on the back seat when he left the house. When he knocked 
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on the door a t  the Whitfield residence he was advised that his 
wife had gone to the store. Re went looking for her and 
followed her back to the Whitfield home. She took her two babies 
in the house and returned to the backyard where they talked. 
Defendant had consumed ten cans of beer and about half of a 
fifth of liquor. Me begged his wife to go back home with him, 
and she told him she was going to Baltimore to stay with the 
mother of a boy who had fathered her baby before she married 
defendant. Defendant then testified that he remembered little 
of what happened thereafter; that he doesn't remember how 
many times he fired or who he shot on that occasion; that he 
didn't go to Williamston to hurt anyone. 

In each case the jury convicted the defendant of murder in 
the first degree, and in each case the court pronounced a death 
sentence. Defendant appealed to the Supreme Court assigning 
errors discussed in the opinion. 

Clarence W. G r i f f i n ,  A t torney  f o r  defendant  appellant. 

Rober t  Morgan, A t torney  General, and R a l p h  Moody, Spe- 
cial Counsel, for  the  S ta te  o f  N o r t h  C a ~ o l i n a .  

HUSKINS, Justice. 

[I] Defendant assigns as error that six jurors were excused 
for cause when each stated on vsir dire examination that he 
would not vote in favor of the death penalty under any circum- 
stances no matter how aggravated the case and no matter 
what the facts may be. We said in Sta te  v. Doss, 279 N.C. 413, 
183 S.E. 2d 671 (1971), that "a venireman should be willing to 
consider all the penalties provided by State law and he should not 
be irreparably committed before the trial has begun to vote 
against the penalty of death regardless of the facts and cir- 
cumstances that might emerge in the course of the proceeding." 
This accords with the holding in Witherspoon  v. Illinois, 391 
U.S. 510, 20 L.Ed. 2d 776, 88 S.Ct. 1770 (1968). The six venire- 
men in question were properly excused because they were com- 
mitted to vote against the death penalty before the trial com- 
menced. This assignment is overruled. 

[2] Defendant's second assignment is addressed to the con- 
solidation of the two murder cases for trial. This assignment 
obviously has no merit. When a defendant is charged with crimes 
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of the same class and the offenses are not so separate in time 
or place and not so distinct in circumstances as to render a 
consolidation unjust and prejudicial, consolidation is authorized 
in the discretion of the court by G.S. 15-152. State v .  White, 
256 N.C. 244, 123 S.E. 2d 483 (1962) ; State v. Jokznson, 280 
N.C. 700, 187 S.E. 2d 98 (1972). 

131 Appellant's brief sets out no reason or argument and cites 
no authority in support of defendant's third assignment of 
error. The assignment is therefore deemed abandoned under 
Rule 28, Rules of Practice in the Supreme Court. State v. Strick- 
land, 254 N.C. 658, 119 S.E. 2d 781 (1961). 

[4] The State furnished defense counsel a list of State's wit- 
nesses prior to selection of the jury. However, the witness 
Alton Daniels was unknown to the solicitor and his name was 
not on the list. The solicitor learned during the trial that Alton 
Daniels was an eyewitness to the shooting. He informed the 
court of these facts and was allowed to examine Daniels as a 
witness for the State over defendant's objection. This consti- 
tutes defendant's fourth assignment of error. 

The record reveals that before this witness was allowed to 
testify the court interrogated the jurors and each juror stated 
that he did not know Alton Daniels by sight or by name. The 
court found that the name of the witness was not available to 
the State a t  the time the jury was selected and that defendant 
had suffered no prejudice from the fact that the name of this 
witness was not furnished prior to selection of the jury. The 
court thereupon in its discretion permitted the witness to 
testify, and we perceive no error therein. It was a discretionary 
matter not reviewable on appeal absent abuse of discretion, and 
no abuse of discretion is shown. 

Defendant's fifth assignment of error is based on denial 
of his motion for nonsuit a t  the close of the State's evidence. 
His sixth assignment of error is based on denial of his motion 
for a directed verdict of not guilty a t  the conclusion of all the 
evidence. These assignments are formal and are overruled with- 
out discussion. 

[5] After the State and defendant had rested their case and 
after all arguments to the jury had been made, the court in its 
discretion allowed the State to recall two witnesses who had 
previously been examined and elicit from them additional evi- 
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dence. Defendant objected to this procedure, and this constitutes 
his seventh assignment of error. 

It is discretionary with the trial court to permit the intro- 
duction of additional evidence after both parties have rested 
and arguments have been made to the jury, but the opposing 
party must be given an opportunity to offer additional evidence 
in rebuttal. State v. Harding, 263 N.C. 799, 140 S.E. 2d 244 
(1965) ; State v. Jackson, 265 N.C. 558, 144 S.E. 2d 584 (1965). 
The record shows that defendant was given an opportunity to 
offer additional evidence in rebuttal but declined to do so. Fur- 
thermore, i t  is noted that the additional evidence in question 
was inconsequential and could not have prejudiced defendant. 
Defendant's seventh assignment of error is overruled. 

The State again rested its case, and defendant again moved 
for a directed verdict of not guilty. Denial of his motion con- 
stitutes his eighth assignment of error. I t  has no merit and is 
overruled without discussion. 

[6] Defendant's ninth and tenth assignments of error relate 
to the same legal question and will be treated jointly. By these 
assignments defendant challenges the constitutionality of the 
death sentences imposed upon him and contends that these cases 
against him should be remanded to the Superior Court of 
Martin County for imposition of a life sentence in each case. 
We think defendant's position is sound for the reasons set out 
below. 

On 23 July 1971 the United States Supreme Court entered 
memorandum decisions in the following North Carolina cases 
reversing the death sentence imposed by the trial court and 
affirmed by this Court, to wit: Atkinson v. North Carolina, 403 
U.S. 948, 29 L.Ed. 2d 859, 91 S.Ct 2283; Hill v. North Carolina, 
403 U.S. 948, 29 L.Ed. 2d 860, 91 S.Ct. 2287; Roseboro v. North 
Carolina, 403 U.S. 948, 29 L.Ed. 2d 860, 91 S.Ct. 2289; Williams 
v. North Carolina, 403 U.S. 948, 29 L.Ed. 2d 860, 91 S.Ct. 2290; 
Sanders v. North Carolina, 403 U.S. 948, 29 L.Ed. 2d 860, 91 
S.Ct. 2290; and Atkinsom v. North Carolina, 403 U.S. 948, 29 
L.Ed. 2d 861, 91 S.Ct. 2292. As authority for its decision in 
each case, that Court cited United States v. Jackson, 390 U.S. 
570, 20 L.Ed. 2d 138, 88 S.Ct. 1209 (1968), and Pope v. United 
States, 392 U.S. 651, 20 L.Ed. 2d 1317, 88 S.Ct. 2145 (1968). 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 267 

State v. Anderson 

Jackso.n and Pope stand for the proposition that every de- 
fendant has a constitutional right to plead not guilty and that 
the Federal Constitution does not permit the establishment of 
a death penalty applicable only to those defendants who assert 
their constitutional right to contest their guilt before a jury. 
At  the time Atkinson, supra, and the other five North Carolina 
cases arose, the death penalty in North Carolina was expressed 
in G.S. 14-17 and G.S. 15-162.1. 

G.S. 14-17 provides in pertinent part as follows: "A mur- 
der which shall be perpetrated . . . by any . . . willful, deliberate 
and premeditated killing, or which shall be committed in the 
perpetration or attempt to perpetrate any arson, rape, robbery, 
burglary or other felony, shall be deemed to be murder in the 
first degree and shall be punished with death: Provided, if a t  
the time of rendering its verdict in open court, the jury shall 
so recommend, the punishment shall be imprisonment for life 
in the State's prison, and the court shall so instruct the jury." 

G.S. 15-162.1 provides in pertinent part as follows: "(a)  
Any person, when charged in a bill of indictment with the 
felony of murder in the first degree, or burglary in the first 
degree, or arson, or rape, when represented by counsel, whether 
employed by the defendant or appointed by the court under 
G.S. 15-4 and G.S. 15-5, may, after arraignment, tender in 
writing, signed by such person and his counsel, a plea of guilty 
of such crime; and the State, with the approval of the court, 
may accept such plea. . . . (b) In the event such plea is accepted, 
the tender and acceptance thereof shall have the effect of a 
jury verdict of guilty of the crime charged with recommenda- 
tion by the jury in open court that the punishment shall be 
imprisonment for life in the State's prison; and thereupon, the 
court shall pronounce judgment that the defendant be im- 
prisoned for life in the State's prison." 

The decisions in Jachxorz and Pope apparently condemned 
as unconstitutional the language of G.S. 15-162.1 because, with 
the language of that statute in effect, our death penalty applied 
only to those defendants who asserted their constitutional right 
to plead not guilty. To correct that infirmity, G.S. 15-162.1 was 
repealed by Chapter 117 of the 1969 Session Laws, effective 
25 March 1969. Such repeal left in effect, applicable to all 
alike, the provisions of G.S. 14-17; and this Court has con- 
sistently upheld the constitutionality of that statute. State v. 
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Westbrook, 279 N.C. 18, 181 S.E. 2d 572 (1971) ; State v. Doss, 
279 N.C. 413, 183 S.E. 2d 671 (1971). However, for some ob- 
scure reason, the General Assembly reenacted the provisions of 
G.S. 15-162.1 by Chapter 562 of the 1971 Session Laws, effective 
15 June 1971. Then, apparently to correct the error, G.S. 15- 
162.1 was again repealed by enactment of Chapter 1225 of the 
1971 Session Laws, effective 21 July 1971. I t  thus appears that 
from 15 June 1971 to 21 July 1971 the death penalty provisions 
of our statutes once again applied only to those defendants who 
asserted their right to plead not guilty. United States v. Jackson, 
supra; Pope v. United States, supra; Atkinson v. North Carolina, 
supva. Here, the murders were committed on 29 June 1971 while 
the provisions of G.S. 15-162.1 were in effect, and therefore the 
death sentences in these cases are unconstitutional and cannot 
be carried out. Hill v. North Carolina, supra [403 U.S. 948, 29 
L.Ed. 2d 860, 91 S.Ct. 22871. 

Applying the constitutional principles enunciated in Jachon 
and Pope, and following the procedure adopted by this Court 
in State v. Hill, 279 N.C. 371, 183 S.E. 2d 97 (1971), the judg- 
ments of the Superior Court of Martin County, insofar as they 
imposed the death penalty, are reversed. These cases are re- 
manded to the Superior Court of Martin County with directions 
to proceed as follows: 

1. The presiding judge of the Superior Court of Martin 
County will cause to be served on the defendant Lionel Ander- 
son, and on his counsel of record, notice to appear during a 
session of said superior court a t  a designated time, not less than 
ten days from the date of the order, a t  which time, in open court, 
the defendant Lionel Anderson being present in person and 
being represented by his counsel, the presiding judge, based on 
the verdicts of guilty of murder in the first degree returned by 
the jury a t  the trial of these cases a t  the September 1971 Ses- 
sion, will pronounce judgments that the defendant Lionel 
Anderson be imprisoned for life in the State's prison, to be 
served concurrently or consecutively as the judge in his 
discretion may determine. 

2. The presiding judge of the Superior Court of Martin 
County will issue a writ of habeas corpus to the official having 
custody of the defendant Lionel Anderson to produce him in 
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open court a t  the  time and for the purpose of being present 
when the judgments imposing life imprisonment are  pronounced. 

Remanded for judgment. 

Justices HIGGINS and LAKE dissent. 

T H E  CITY O F  KINGS MOUNTAIN, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, PE- 
TITIONER V. BUFORD D. CLINE AND W. K. MAUNEY, JR., TRAD- 
ING AS T H E  DOUBLE B. RANCH, A PARTNERSHIP, AND PATRICIA 
C. GOLD AND HUSBAND, HARRY G. GOLD, EDWIN H. CLINE AND 
WIFE, J E A N  R. CLINE, C. R. GOLD AND WIFE, OCIE GOLD, J O S E P H  
C. WHISNANT, TRUSTEE, FIRST-CITIZENS BANK AND TRUST 
COMPANY O F  KINGS MOUNTAIN, N. C., AND COUNTY O F  
CLEVELAND, DEFENDANTS 

No. 88 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Appeal and Error  $5 26, 28- broadside exception t o  findings and 
conclusions - questions presented 

Appellants' broadside exception to "each and every" finding of 
fact  and conclusion of law and to the jndgment does not bring up  
for  review the sufficiency of the evidence to support any  particular 
finding of fact,  but  presents only the questions (1)  whether the facts  
found support the judgment and (2 )  whether error  of law appears on 
the face of the record proper. 

2. Appeal and Error  5 24- necessity for  exceptions 
An assignment of error  will not present a question unless i t  is  

based upon a n  exception set out i n  the case on appeal and numbered 
a s  required by Rule 21. 

3. Eminent Domain 5 7- municipality's right to  condemn- stipulation 
t h a t  municipality "will acquire title" 

Defendants a r e  estopped to contest a municipality's r ight  to  con- 
demn their property fo r  a water  reservoir project where i t  was stipu- 
lated tha t  the municipality "will acquire title" to  the lands upon 
posting the amount set for th in  the  petition and t h a t  defendants 
might withdraw the money from the  clerk's office without prejudice 
to  the right of either side t o  contest the amount of damages. 

APPEAL by defendants from Blowzt, J., February 1971 Ses- 
sion of Cleveland; transferred from the Court of Appeals for 
initial appellate review by the Supreme Court under i ts  general 
order of 31 July 1970 entered pursuant to G.S. 7A-31 (b) (4) ; 
docketed and argued as Case No. 158 a t  the Fall Term 1971. 
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In this special proceeding, instituted 5 November 1969 
under G.S. 160-204, G.S. 160-205, and G.S. 40-11 e t  seq., the 
City of Kings Mountain (City) seeks to condemn 247.57 acres of 
land belonging to defendants. City alleged that the land de- 
scribed in the petition is a necessary part of a municipal reser- 
voir in its Buffalo Creek water project; that defendants refused 
City's offer of $44,562.60 for the property; that although City 
has negotiated in good faith the parties have been unable to 
agree upon the value of the property. 

Defendants denied that City has made a bona fide effort 
to purchase the land. They alleged, i n t e r  alia, that the size of 
the proposed reservoir far exceeds City's foreseeable needs; that 
although the maximum water level of the proposed lake will 
be 736 feet above sea level (shown on the project map as con- 
tour 736), City also seeks to condemn the perimeter between con- 
tour 736 and contour 744; that City requires only a floodage- 
easement over this area and has no right or need to acquire 
the fee simple title; that defendants are willing to grant City 
the necessary easement, but it seeks arbitrarily to take this por- 
tion of defendants' land. (The width of the area between 
contours 736 and 744, a vertical differentiation of 8 feet, is not 
disclosed.) 

In an amended answer, filed 31 July 1970, defendants allege 
that City's appraisers valued their land on the erroneous as- 
sumption defendants' remaining property could be devel- 
oped and sold as waterfront lots; that City has established a 
policy which prevents any recreational use of the proposed 
reservoir and is attempting to condemn land of the defendants 
lying above the normal water level of the lake without providing 
them any access from their remaining lands to the waters of 
the lake; that this policy will prevent defendants from develop- 
ing and selling lake-front lots and, in consequence, the price a t  
which City has attempted to buy defendants' land was not a 
good-faith offer; that defendants have never refused to sell City 
the land i t  desired; and that this condemnation proceeding 
should be dismissed because of City's failure to negotiate in 
good faith before instituting it. 

As required by G.S. 40-16, on 11 August 1970, the Clerk 
of the Superior Court heard "the proofs and allegations of the 
parties." 
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Evidence for City tended to show: On 14 March 1967 City 
employed W. K. Dickson and Company (Dickson), an engineer- 
ing firm specializing in water projects, to prepare plans and 
specifications for an adequate water supply system for the 
municipality. This plan is shown on the topographical map of 
the Buffalo Creek water project, introduced as petitioner's 
Exhibit 4. The lands required for the project were shown on 
the map as lying within a heavy green line a t  contour 744. 

City's Board of Commissioners (Board) approved the plan 
on 11 July 1967 and instructed Dickson to proceed with the 
project. The Board found that the project would compel City 
to acquire all the lands within the green line. 

Engineers R. D. Johnson and W. K. Dickson, upon whose 
advice City acted, testified that, in their opinion, the land 
shown within the green line on Exhibit 4 is the minimum acre- 
age required for the lake site and for its adequate protection 
as  a sanitary reservoir. The buffer zone between contour 736 
and contour 744 is "really a minimum amount" to control flood- 
ing, erosion, mosquitos, and pollution. 

In planning the project the engineers designed the lake 
for optimum benefits, including recreation. The State Board 
of Health gave tentative, preliminary approval to a plan "to 
have recreation on the lake." Thereafter, however, the Board 
adopted a resolution that there would be no recreation on the 
proposed lake. 

City had defendants' property appraised and, after con- 
siderable discussion, the Board decided that defendants' land 
had a value of $44,562.60. Early in 1969 i t  instructed Coates 
Field Service to attempt to buy it  for that amount. Defendants 
refused the offer. 

Subsequent negotiations between the parties failed because 
City insisted on purchasing the fee in the area between contours 
736 and 744, and defendants offered only an easement. On 28 
August 1969, pursuant to a resolution adopted by the Board 
on 18 August 1969, City's attorney made defendants "a firm 
offer" of $44,562.60, and advised them that unless the offer 
was accepted within ten days i t  would be deemed refused. When 
defendants did not reply, on 18 September 1969 the Board or- 
dered condemnation. 
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At the hearing the Clerk permitted defendants to offer 
their evidence before City presented its case. Defendants exam- 
ined two of City's appraisers, the chief of the planning review 
section of the State Board of Health, James Stamey, and the 
five persons who, in addition to the mayor, composed City's 
Board of Commissioners on 18 August 1969. 

The testimony of the appraisers is not pertinent to decision 
here. Stamey's testimony indicated that he, along with Mayor 
Moss, Dickson's president, W. K. Dickson, and Gardner Gidley, 
a private recreational consultant, attended a meeting on 2 Feb- 
ruary 1968 to discuss the Buffalo Creek water project. Gidley 
presented a plan which called for extensive recreational develop- 
ment in the watershed. The maps used in this conference did 
not indicate whether City proposed to acquire land above the 
736 contour. Shortly thereafter, a letter from the Board of 
Health advised Moss that the proposed recreational develop- 
ment was tentatively approved. The letter proposed that City 
"will own a 10 foot horizontal (or 4 foot vertical) strip of land 
around the entire reservoir." However, the project's final plans, 
approved by the Board of Health on 5 November 1968, contem- 
plated no recreational development a t  all. 

Each commissioner testified, in substance, that he had 
voted to acquire the lands shown on the map on the basis of 
the engineers' recommendation; that in approving the project 
he voted for a lake to supply the town with water and for no 
other purpose; and that he had voted to prohibit its use as a 
recreational facility. 

On 13 August 1970 the Clerk of the Superior Court ren- 
dered his judgment in which he found: (1) City, which has 
the power of eminent domain, had properly instituted this pro- 
ceeding. (2) Defendants' land, described in the petition, is 
reasonably necessary for the construction of City's Buffalo Creek 
water project. (3) City, without success, negotiated in good faith 
for the purchase of defendants' property prior to the institution 
of condemnation proceedings. Thereupon he adjudged that three 
disinterested freeholders of Cleveland County be appointed to 
hear the evidence and contentions of the parties and determine 
just compensation for the property taken. 

Defendants excepted "to each and every finding of fact" 
and "each and every conclusion of law" and appealed to the 
Superior Court. 
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At the time the appeal entries were made the parties stipu- 
lated : 

"(1) . . . that both parties would waive the appointment of 
commissioners and appeal the entire controversy direct to the 
Superior Court and a jury trial on the question of damages; 

" (2) The petitioner will acquire title to the lands upon the 
posting of the amount set forth in the petition and that the re- 
spondents may draw such money from the clerk's office without 
prejudice to either side, this being done in order to save interest 
running on the deposit; that in the event the final determination 
of value is a lower figure than the deposit, the petitioner may 
have a judgment against the respondents for the difference in 
such value, and in the event the final determination of damages 
is a greater amount than the deposit, then the respondents may 
have judgment against the petitioner for such greater amount, 
plus interest from the date of the taking to the day of such 
payment ; 

"(3) The respondents except to the award of damages 
under this stipulation and appeal to the Superior Court, demand- 
ing a jury trial on the question of damages." 

At the same time the parties made the foregoing stipula- 
tions City paid defendants the sum of $44,562.60, the amount set 
forth in the petition. 

In the Superior Court, Judge BIount heard the appeal upon 
a transcript of the hearing before the clerk. On 28 March 1971 
he adjudged, inter alia, (1) that City, in good faith, had de- 
termined defendants' property was reasonably necessary for 
the successful operation and protection of its Buffalo Creek 
water project; (2) that i t  had negotiated in good faith with 
defendants for the purchase of said lands but was unable to 
reach any agreement with them; and (3) that all the land in 
suit was reasonably necessary for the operation and protection 
of City's water system. He thereupon decreed "that the City 
of Kings Mountain is entitled to acquire in fee the lands 
described in the petition for such sum of money to be deter- 
mined and assessed by a jury." 

Defendants excepted "to each and every finding of fact . . . 
to each and every conclusion of law and to the signing and 
entry of the foregoing judgment," and appealed. 
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Jack H. White and Veme E. Shive for the City o f  Kings 
Mountain. 

Whimmt & Lackey for defendant appellants. 

SHARP, Justice. 

[I, 21 Appellants except to "each and every" finding of fact 
and conclusion of law and to the judgment. This broadside ex- 
ception does not bring up for review the sufficiency of the 
evidence to support any particular finding of fact. It presents 
these questions only: (1) Do the facts found support the judg- 
ment, and (2) does error of law appear on the face of the record? 
Logan v. Slwinkle, 256 N.C. 41, 123 S.E. 2d 209 (1961) ; Long 
v. Smitherman, 251 N.C. 682, 111 S.E. 2d 834 (1959) ; Cotton 
MiWs v. Local 578, 251 N.C. 413, 111 S.E. 2d 529 (1959) ; 1 
N. C. Index 2d Appeal and Error, $ 5  26, 28 (1967). An assign- 
ment of error will not present a question unless i t  is based upon 
an exception set out in the case on appeal and numbered as re- 
quired by Rule 21. Exceptions which appear for the first time 
in the assignments of error will not be considered. Barnette v. 
Woodv, 242 N.C. 424, 88 S.E. 2d 223 (1955) ; 1 N.C. Index 
2d Appeal and Error 5 24 (1967). Thus, the questions debated 
in the brief-whether City negotiated in good faith for the 
purchase of the land described in the complaint, and whether 
condemnation of the fee in the land lying between contours 
736 and 744 was for a public purpose and necessary for the 
operation and protection of the Buffalo Creek water project- 
are not presented for decision. 

131 However, our examination of the record reveals that sub- 
stantial competent evidence supports every finding of the clerk 
and the judge and that the findings support each judgment. 
Furthermore, all questions, except the question of just compen- 
sation, were rendered moot by the stipulation (quoted verbatim 
in the statement of facts) that City will acquire title to the lands 
upon posting the amount set forth in the petition and that defend- 
ants might withdraw the money from the clerk's office without 
prejudice to the right of "either side" to contest the amount of 
damages. This stipulation goes far  beyond the right, which G.S. 
40-19 gives a municipality upon the payment into court of the 
sum appraised by commissioners, to "enter, take possession of, 
and hold" lands notwithstanding the pendency of an appeal, 
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until final judgment has been rendered. See Topping v. Board of 
Education, 249 N.C. 291, 106 S.E. 2d 502 (1958). In  the face 
of the stipulation that upon payment of the sum mentioned in 
the petition ($44,562.60) City would "acquire title," defendants 
are estopped to contest City's right to condemn. 

By this stipulation the parties have, in effect, agreed that 
City's payment of $44,562.60 should be treated as if i t  were 
the amount of damages assessed by commissioners under G.S. 
40-17 to -18 and thereafter paid into the office of the Clerk of 
the Superior Court under G.S. 40-19. From this "award of 
damages" defendants have appealed to the Superior Court as 
provided in G.S. 40-19, demanding a jury trial as provided by 
G.S. 40-20. 

All preliminary questions of fact having been resolved, only 
the amount of damages which defendants have suffered in eon- 
sequence of City's condemnation of the land described in the 
complaint remains to be determined. The case is remanded to 
the Superior Court for the trial of that issue. 

The judgment of the court below is 

Affirmed. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. DIN0 ROYAL COX 
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. WESLEY CONRAD WARD, 

ALIAS JAMES THOMAS 
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JAMES GARY, 

ALIAS TIMOTHY JOHNSON 

No. 68 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Criminal Law § 36.1; Indictment and Warrant 3 17- date of kidnapping 
- variance - alibi - absence of prejudice 

There is no merit in defendants' contention that  they were pre- 
vented from developing any alibi they may have had by the fact that  
the indictment charged them with a kidnapping on 17 December 1970 
and all the evidence tended to show that  the crime occurred on 
10 December 1970, where defense counsel assured the court before 
trial that  he was fully aware that  the State contended the crime was 
committed on 10 December 1970, and defendants were arrested dur- 
ing the early morning of 11 December 1970 and thereafter were in 
the custody of State or federal officers. 
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2. Criminal Law 9 111; Kidnapping 9 1- kidnapping trial-charge on 
robbery and conspiracy 

The trial court in a kidnapping prosecution did not err  in charging 
the jury on the crimes of robbery and conspiracy where the facts tend- 
ing to prove defendants' participation in those two crimes constitute 
an integral part  of the proof of the kidnapping for which they were 
indicted. 

3. Criminal Law 9 68- reference to "he" and "they" 

Testimony by two bank employees, who could not identify defend- 
ants, with reference to what "he" or "they" did during a robbery 
of the bank and a kidnapping of one of the employees was competent 
when considered in connection with other State's evidence identifying 
defendants as the persons who committed the bank robbery and kid- 
napping. 

4. Criminal Law 99 15, 91- continuance- change of venue - denial by 
court 

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in the denial of 
defendants' motions for a continuance and for a change of venue of 
their kidnapping trial. 

5. Criminal Law 9 87- leading questions 
The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the solicitor 

to ask leading qnestions of a State's witness in this kidnapping prose- 
cution. 

6. Criminal Law 9 66- identification testimony - absence of lineup - 
voir dire 

The trial court did not e r r  in the denial of defendants' motion 
that a voir dire hearing be conducted to determine the admissibility 
of a police officer's identification testimony where there was no evi- 
dence that  the officer had identified defendants in a pretrial lineup 
or confrontation. 

7. Criminal Law 9 66- counsel a t  lineup-identification by officer a t  
arrest scene 

The W a d e  and Gilbert decisions, relating to the right to counsel 
a t  a lineup, do not apply to a police officer's identification of defend- 
ants a t  the scene of their arrest by other officers as  the persons who 
a few hours before had eluded pursuit and arrest by the identifying 
officer. 

8. Criminal Law 9 34- evidence of guilt of another crime -same trans- 
action rule 

Evidence that  defendants had pleaded guilty in federal court to 
the armed robbery of a bank was properly admitted in the trial of 
defendants for kidnapping an employee of the bank, where the two 
crimes were parts of the same transaction and were so connected in 
point of time and circumstance that one cannot be fully shown without 
proving the other. 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 277 

State v. Cox and State v. Ward and State v. Gary 

9. Criminal Law 00 75, 169- incriminating statements- written waiver 
of counsel - harmless error 

The trial court in a kidnapping prosecution erred in the admission 
of in-custody incriminating statements made by one defendant where 
the State failed to produce and offer in evidence a t  the voir dire hear- 
ing a written waiver of counsel executed by that  defendant in com- 
pliance with the statute then in effect and codified as G.S. 7A-457(a) ; 
however, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in the 
light of the mass of other evidence of defendants' guilt of the kid- 
napping, including evidence that  defendants had pleaded guilty to 
a bank robbery which was part  of the same transaction and that  the 
same persons committed the bank robbery and kidnapping. 

APPEAL by Dino Royal Cox, Wesley Conrad Ward, alias 
James Thomas, and James Gary, alias Timothy Johnson, under 
G.S. 7A-27(a), from Johnston, J., April 13, 1971 Session of 
GUILFORD Superior Court, docketed and argued as No. 96 a t  
Fa11 Term 1971. 

Identical indictments were returned against the three ap- 
pellants, each charging that the defendant named therein on 
December 17, 1970, "did unlawfully, wilfully, feloniously and 
forcibly kidnap Mrs. Paul Richardson, without lawful authority." 

Upon determinations of indigency, the Public Defender for 
the Eighteenth Judicial District, Wallace C. Harrelson, Esq., 
was appointed as counsel for each defendant on January 26, 
1971. 

Prior to trial, the State moved to amend the indictments 
to charge commission of the crime on December 10, 1970, instead 
of December 17, 1970. The motion was denied. Defense counsel 
assured the court that he was fully advised that the State con- 
tended the crime charged was committed on December 10, 1970. 

Defendants' pretrial motions for continuance and for 
change of venue were overruled. 

Each defendant entered a plea of not guilty. On motion of 
the State, and without objection by defense counsel, the three 
indictments were consolidated for trial. 

The State offered the testimony, respectively, of J. A. Led- 
better, High Point Police Officer; Mrs. Paul Richardson, em- 
ployee of North Carolina National Bank; Gary Anderson, High 
Point Police Officer; Mrs. Ina Ray Gray, employee of North 
Carolina National Bank; J. G. Nixon, Greensboro Police Officer; 
and Frank Fairchild, FBI agent. Defendants offered no evidence. 
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The State's evidence, summarized except when quoted, is 
narrated below. 

About 4:40 p.m. on December 10, 1970, three men entered 
the College Village branch of the North Carolina National Bank 
in High Point, where Mrs. Paul Richardson and Mrs. Ina Ray 
Gray worked as tellers. Everyone in the bank was ordered to 
get down on the floor. One of the men came behind the tellers' 
cages and, holding a gun a t  Mrs. Richardson's head, commanded 
her to empty into a pillowcase the money located a t  her window 
and Mrs. Gray's window. Mrs. Gray was made to get the key 
to the bank vault. Mrs. Richardson was dragged to the vault, 
all the while forced into a "stooped" position so that she could 
not look a t  the men, and made to fill the pillowcase with money 
from the vault. A gun was fired once. Mrs. Richardson was in- 
formed that "she was going to be a hostage." One of the men 
asked her if she had a car. She said, "Yes," and was made to 
get her keys from her teller's window. The four departed 
through the back door of the bank and got into Mrs. Richard- 
son's Buick, with Mrs. Richardson a t  the driver's wheel. 

On the lookout for "a '66 beige Buick," Officers J. A. 
Ledbetter and Gary Anderson sighted Mrs. Richardson's Buick 
stopped in a line of traffic headed north on Centennial Street 
because confronted by the red light at  the intersection of 
Centennial and N. C. Highway #68. The police car pulled beside 
the Buick, Anderson driving and Ledbetter to his right. Led- 
better observed defendants Cox and Gary in the rear of the 
car and defendant Ward in the front seat on the right. Ledbetter 
and Andemon observed Cox sitting directly behind Mrs. Rich- 
ardson with a pistol pointed to her head. The Buick turned out 
of the line of traffic, went through a service station yard, and 
headed east on #68. A quarter of a mile from the Centennial- 
#68 intersection, Cox crossed over from the back into the 
driver's seat, pushed Mrs. Richardson "over to the middle of the 
seat and down," and took control of the steering wheel, still 
holding his gun on Mrs. Richardson. Closely pursued by the 
police vehicle, which had its siren and emergency light on, the 
Buick attained speeds as high as 115 m.p.h. on the thickly- 
trafficked road. After four or five miles of this chase, Cox 
pulled to the side of the highway. The officers stopped about 
two car lengths behind. 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 

State v. Cox and State v. Ward and State v. Gary 

Cox got out of the Buick on the driver's side, pulling Mrs. 
Richardson out with his left arm around her neck and his gun 
up to her head. The police officers got out of their vehicle and 
Cox began shooting a t  them, using Mrs. Richardson as a shield. 
Ledbetter and Anderson moved to the rear of their vehicle, and 
then Ledbetter crossed to the other side of the road. Cox came to 
the front of the police car, removed the keys, and shot through 
the windshield and over the roof. In the process of being dragged 
back and forth, Mrs. Richardson fell down on the ground. By 
this time the other two defendants had gotten out of the right- 
hand side of the Buick. Several more police cars were arriving 
on the scene. For the first time, Ledbetter and Anderson opened 
fire on the defendants. The defendants ran into the woods, con- 
tinuing to shoot back a t  the police officers, and successfully 
eluded the officers who gave chase. A pillowcase "full of money" 
was found behind the driver's seat of the Buick, and more 
money was found in the woods nearby. 

At 4:40 a.m. the next morning, December 11, 1970, when 
i t  was still dark, Officer J. G. Nixon was patroling in the vi- 
cinity of Meredith Drive in Greensboro. Three persons were 
beside the road and one attempted to flag him down. Nixon 
slammed on his brakes, turned his car around and went back. 
He then observed the defendants running beside a wooded area 
near Interstate 40. He got out, chased defendants a short dis- 
tance, then went back to his patrol car to radio for help. Another 
car with Officers Austin and Stephenson arrived. The three offi- 
cers went looking for the defendants. They followed Interstate 
40, then turned into the woods and spread out. Nixon flashed on 
his flashlight and saw two of the defendants, lying face down. 
Nixon called to Austin and ordered the two to lie still. One of 
these defendants had a shotgun and came up on his knees. Aus- 
tin hit him and grabbed the gun. Stephenson came over and 
grabbed the second defendant, and the two were handcuffed. 
Then the officers began looking for the third defendant, and he 
was found 20 feet north across a fenge, lying face down. He got 
up and was handcuffed. A .22 pistol was found in the leaves, 
and more than $7,000.00 bound in bank straps of the North 
Carolina National Bank was recovered in a black skirt. 

During the trial two voir dire hearings were held, one re- 
lating to the admissibility of certain testimony of Anderson 
and the other relating to the admissibility of certain testimony 
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of FBI Agent Frank Fairchild. Facts in connection with these 
hearings and the testimony of Fairchild will be stated in the 
opinion. 

The jury found each defendant guilty of kidnapping; and, 
as to each, a judgment imposing a sentence of life imprisonment 
was pronounced. 

Each defendant excepted and appealed. 

Attorney General Morgan and Deputy Attorney General 
Moody fo r  the  State. 

Wallace C. Harrelson, Public Defefider, and J .  Dale Shep- 
herd, Assistant Public Defender, for  defendant appellants. 

BOBBITT, Chief Justice. 

In their brief, after stating quite accurately that they had 
brought forward "numerous assignments of error," defendants 
assert that "the most prejudicial to the defendants were those 
that are brought forward from the charge." 

[I] Initially, defendants stress the fact that, although the in- 
dictments charged that Mrs. Richardson was kidnapped on De- 
cember 17, 1970, all the evidence tends to show this occurred 
on December 10, 1970. As noted in our preliminary statement, 
defense counsel stated that he was fully aware that the State 
contended the crime was committed on December 10, 1970. He 
now contends that the trial of this case upon an indictment 
charging that the offense was committed on December 17, 1970, 
"played havoc with any alibi that the defendants might have 
had." This contention is without substance since defendants 
were arrested during the early morning of December 11, 1970, 
and thereafter were in the custody of State or federal officers. 
Time was not of the essence of the offense and no prejudice to 
defendants was caused by the clerical error. 

[2] Defendants' brief further asserts that the trial judge's 
"clearest error" was in charging "on two distinct separately in- 
dictable crimes (robbery and conspiracy) which neither of the 
defendants has ever been charged with . . . . " Although de- 
fendants were not charged with conspiracy or with bank rob- 
bery, the facts tending to prove defendants' participation in 
these two crimes constitute an integral part of the proof of the 
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kidnapping for which they were indicted. The three crimes are 
so interwoven as to constitute one transaction or series of events. 
"It was not necessary, in order to submit to the jury the law 
as to criminal conspiracy, that the bill specifically charge con- 
spiracy, if the evidence was sufficient to warrant this view. 
S. v. Triplett, 211 N.C. 105, 189 S.E. 123." State v. Abslzer, 230 
N.C. 598, 54 S.E. 2d 922 (1949). There can be no doubt as to 
the sufficiency of the evidence to warrant findings that the 
men who robbed the bank were acting in furtherance of a com- 
mon purpose, design and unlawful conspiracy, and that this un- 
lawful conspiracy included the means for escape with the 
fruits of the robbery. The evidence was sufficient to support 
the conviction of each defendant of the crime of kidnapping on 
the legal principle that, in the accomplishment of the purpose 
and design of an unlawful conspiracy, each conspirator is re- 
sponsible for the acts of his co-conspirators. Moreover, the judge 
correctly instructed the jury with reference to the principles of 
aiding and abetting in the commission of a felony. Apart from 
conspiracy, if the jury found that defendant Cox was guilty of 
the crime of kidnapping as principal, there was ample evidence 
to support the conviction of each of the others as an aider and 
abettor or principal in the second degree. 

Defendants noted twenty exceptions to the charge. The 
excerpts to which they relate constitute a major portion of the 
charge. Although all have been considered, further discussion 
of these exceptions is unnecessary. The instructions are in sub- 
stantiaI accord with our decisions. The assignments relating 
thereto are without merit. 

131 Mrs. Richardson and Mrs. Gray testified in detail as to 
what occurred a t  the bank when three men entered shortly 
after 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, December 10, 1970. The period 
covered by Mrs. Gray's testimony relates to what occurred until 
Mrs. Richardson was taken from the bank by the three robbers. 
Mrs. Richardson's testimony continues until she fell to the 
ground during the confrontation between the robbers and the 
pursuing officers. Both these witnesses testified they were un- 
able to identify any of the defendants as being one of the three 
bank robbers. 

Defendants excepted to and assigned as error all testimony 
of Mrs. Richardson and of Mrs. Gray referring to what "he" 
or "they" (that is, the unidentified robbers) did during the 
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robbery of the bank and the kidnapping of Mrs. Richardson. 
Both women testified that the three men who robbed the bank 
were the men who kidnapped Mrs. Richardson. Their testimony 
was competent when considered in connection with other State's 
evidence identifying defendants as the persons who robbed the 
bank and kidnapped Mrs. Richardson. These assignments are 
without merit. 

[4] Defendants excepted to and assign as error the denial of 
their motions for a continuance and for a change of venue. These 
motions were addressed to the court's- discretion. State v. Bald- 
win, 276 N.C. 690, 697, 174 S.E. 2d 526, 531 (1970) ; State v. 
Ray, 274 N.C. 556, 568, 164 S.E. 2d 457, 465 (1968). Defend- 
ants having failed to show abuse of discretion or prejudice, these 
assignments are overruled. 

[5] Defendants excepted to and assign as error the overruling 
of their objections to certain questions on the ground the soiici- 
tor was leading the witness. "The allowance of leading questions 
is a matter entirely within the discretion of the trial judge, and 
his rulings will not be disturbed on appeal, a t  least in the ab- 
sence of abuse of discretion." State v. Painter, 265 N.C. 277, 
284, 144 S.E. 2d 6, 11 (1965). Defendants having failed to show 
abuse of discretion or prejudice, these assignments are over- 
ruled. 

[6] Defendants excepted to and assign as error the denial of 
their motion that the court conduct a voir dire hearing to de- 
termine the admissibility of Officer Ledbetter's identification 
testimony. Absent evidence that Ledbetter had identified defend- 
ants in some pretrial lineup or confrontation, there was no basis 
for any contention that his in-court identification was in any 
way affected by such lineup or confrontation. Hence, this as- 
signment is overruled. 

Defendants excepted to and assign as error the admission 
of Officer Anderson's in-court testimony that the three male 
occupants of the Buick were Cox, Ward and Johnson [Gary]. 
Defense counsel obtained permission to cross-examine Anderson 
in the absence of the jury concerning his identification of de- 
fendants shortly after their arrest by Greensboro police officers. 
In the course of this cross-examination Anderson testified that 
early in the morning of December l l t h ,  when traveling toward 
Greensboro, he received a call from the Greensboro police; and 
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that, in response to this call, he went to Meredith Drive and 
there found defendants Cox, Ward and Johnson [Gary], each 
in the back seat of a police car. He testified unequivocally that 
he based his in-court identification of defendants on his observa- 
tion of them a t  the time of the gunfight, when he was approxi- 
mately two car lengths from them. He further testified that 
" [he] knew them when [he] saw them" on Meredith Drive. Im- 
mediately following this statement, Anderson was asked, "There- 
fore, your testimony in court today, your identification is based 
partly on your observation of them in Greensboro in custody 
of the Greensboro police department?" Anderson answered: 
"Yes, sir." When considered in context, we attach no signifi- 
cance to this answer, except that Anderson was simply saying 
that the men whom he had pursued a few hours before were 
the identical men who were now seated in the police cars. 

Defendants contend that Anderson's identification of de- 
fendants as the men whom he had pursued a few hours before 
was made under circumstances in the nature of a lineup or one- 
person confrontation; that defendants were not represented by 
counsel when Anderson identified them on Meredith Drive; and 
that the circumstances under which Anderson identified defend- 
ants were so suggestive as to render Anderson's identification 
of defendants on Meredith Drive "unconstitutionally prej- 
udicial." 

After hearing the cross-examination of Anderson by defend- 
ants' counsel in the absence of the jury, Judge Johnston con- 
cluded that this was not a lineup or one-person confrontation 
within the meaning of the decisons of the Supreme Court of 
the United States in United States  v. Wade,  388 U.S. 218, 18 
L.Ed. 2d 1149, 87 S.Ct. 1926 (1967), and Gilbert v. California, 
388 U.S. 263, 18 L.Ed. 2d 1178, 87 Sect.  1951 (1967). Thereupon 
he overruled defendants' objections to Anderson's in-court iden- 
tification testimony. Defendants' assignments of error on this 
aspect of the case are addressed to the admission over objection 
of Anderson's in-court identification testimony and to the court's 
failure to find the facts as to the circumstances under which 
Anderson identified the defendants on Meredith Drive and as to 
whether his in-court identification testimony was tainted 
thereby. 

171 Defendants' assignments of error in this connection are 
without merit. Of course, the accuracy and credibility of Ander- 
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son's in-court identification testimony were proper subjects for 
cross-examination by defendants' counsel and for resolution by 
the jury. However, we are unwilling to extend the decisions 
bearing upon exclusion of in-court identification testimony be- 
cause tainted by illegal pretrial identifications to the present 
factual situation. Here officem engaged in the pursuit of flee- 
ing criminals whom they had had every opportunity to observe 
soon thereafter identified persons intercepted by different offi- 
cers as the persons who a few hours before had eluded their 
pursuit and arrest. The W a d e  and Gilbert decisions simply do 
not apply to this type of identification. 

We note that the testimony of Anderson, elicited on cross- 
examination before the  jwy, clearly indicates his independent 
identification of defendants. This testimony contains references 
to the position and actions of defendant Cox during the pursuit 
of the Buick and to the actions of Cox from the time the Buick 
stopped until the three men fled into the woods. I t  further 
refers to the actions of the two men other than Cox after the 
Buick stopped and the occupants got out of it. 

Defendants' Assignments Nos. 14-17 relate to the testimony 
of FBI Agent Fairchild. He testified before the jury that, early 
in the morning of December 11, 1970, he went to Meredith Drive 
where the defendants were in the custody of the Greensboro 
police. He testified he then received from Officer Nixon the 
shotgun and [.22] pistol identified as State's Exhibits Nos. 3 
and 4 and also money in excess of $7,000.00 which was enclosed 
by "bank straps of the North Carolina National Bank" and 
wrapped in a black cloth, "possibly a woman's skirt." 

Then, in the absence of the jury, Fairchild was cross- 
examined as to the circumstances under which defendant Cox 
made a statement later admitted into evidence over defendants' 
objection. Fairchild's testimony on v o i ~  dire is summarized be- 
low. 

Fairchild talked to Cox a t  the City-County Jail in High 
Point around 5:30 a.m. on the morning of December 11, 1970. 
He advised Cox of his constitutional rights as set forth in the 
M i m n d a  decision. Cox stated that he understood his rights and 
signed "a rights waiver form." (Note: Fairchild testified "the 
rights waiver form" was not in the file he had with him but 
in a file a t  his office. The State did not produce the waiver form 
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nor did the defendants request that i t  be produced.) The conver- 
sation of Fairchild and Cox related primarily to the bank rob- 
bery. 

191 ,The court found as a fact that the confession made by 
Cox to Fairchild was made voluntarily and after he had been 
fully warned of his M i r a n d u  rights. Fairchild was then permit- 
ted to testify that during the course of their conversation de- 
fendant Cox stated, "in running through the woods after he 
left Mrs. Richardson's car that he lost his pistol in the woods, a 
38 revolver." We find no evidence that a .38 pistol was used in 
the gun fight or that a .38 pistol was found in the woods. The 
implicating aspect of this testimony is that Cox was "running 
through the woods after he left Mrs. Richardson's car." Con- 
t rary to defendants' appraisal, we think the admission of this 
testimony constitutes their more serious assignment because of 
the State's failure to produce and offer in evidence a t  the voir 
dire hearing a written waiver by Cox in compliance with the 
statute then in effect and codified as G.S. 78-457 (a) .  

Later, Fairchild testified before the jury, over defendants' 
objections, that each defendant had pleaded guilty in federal 
court to the robbery of the ColIege Village branch of the North 
Carolina National Bank on December 10, 1970, and that each 
was there represented by separate and independent counsel when 
his guilty plea was entered. 

[%I Defendants base their objection to the admission of the 
evidence of their guilty pleas in federal court on the general 
rule that in a prosecution for a particular crime the State cannot 
offer evidence tending to show that the accused has committed 
another distinct, independent, or separate offense. They cite 
State v. McClain, 240 N.C. 171, 81 S.E. 2d 364 (1954), which 
states the general rule and the established exceptions thereto. 
The first exception, for which numerous prior decisions are 
cited, is stated in these words: "1. Evidence disclosing the com- 
mission by the accused of a crime other than the one charged 
is admissible when the two crimes are parts of the same trans- 
action, and by reason thereof are so connected in point of time or 
circumstance that one cannot be fully shown without proving 
the other." Id.  a t  174, 81 S.E. 2d at 366. The testimony under 
consideration fits this exception like a glove and illustrates its 
soundness. 
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Apart from the in-court identification testimony of the 
officers, Mrs. Richardson and Mrs. Gray testified unequivocally 
that the men who kidnapped Mrs. Richardson were the men who 
robbed the bank. Thus, their testimony, considered with defend- 
ants' judicial admissions, identifies the defendants as the kid- 
nappers. Moreover, the impact of this testimony must be con- 
sidered in the light of these evidential facts: Anderson testified 
that, after the three men fled, a pillowcase full of money was 
found on the floor of the back seat of the Buick directly behind 
the driver's seat, and later some money was found in the woods 
into which the three men had fled. Officer Nixon testified that, 
on the occasion when the three defendants were apprehended 
in the woods in the Greensboro area, he, along with other Greens- 
boro officers and at least one FBI agent, found in excess of 
$7,000.00 in a lady's black skirt, sewed up a t  one end, which 
money had North Carolina National Bank wrappers on it. 

[9] When the mass of evidence pointing to the guilt of the 
defendants is considered, we hold that errors, if any, in the ad- 
mission of testimony, were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 
Harrington v. California, 395 U.S. 250, 23 L.Ed. 2d 284, 89 
S.Ct. 1726 (1969) ; Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427, 31 
L.Ed. 2d 340, 92 S.Ct. 1056 (1972) ; State v. Doss, 279 N.C. 
413, 423-24, 183 S.E. 2d 671, 677 (1971) ; State v. Jones, 280 
N.C. 322, 340, 185 S.E. 2d 858, 869 (1972). It  appears beyond a 
reasonable doubt that these defendants would have been con- 
victed of the crime charged if the evidence challenged as erro- 
neous were not in the case. Fairchild's testimony as to Cox's 
statement concerning his flight from Mrs. Richardson's car was 
of negligible probative value when considered in the light of 
Cox's plea of guilty of the bank robbery. 

The assignments of error not discussed specifically herein 
have been considered. They do not disclose prejudicial error or 
merit discussion. 

Defendants having failed to show prejudicial error, the ver- 
dict and judgment of the court below will not be disturbed. 

No error. 
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. RICHARD WILLIAM ACCOR 
-AND- 

STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. WILLARD MOORE 

No. 17 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Criminal Law § 66- illegal photographic identification - in-court iden- 
tification - independent origin 

There was sufficient evidence to support the trial court's determi- 
nation that  in-court identifications of defendants as the perpetrators 
of a burglary arose out of the witness' observations of defendants 
during the crime and were independent of and not infhenced by a 
preview of illegally obtained photographs. 

2. Criminal Law § 115- erroneous submission of lesser offenses - absence 
of prejudice 

In a prosecution for first degree burglary, error, if any, in the 
submission of lesser included offenses was favorable to defendants 
and was, therefore, nonprejudicial. G.S. 15-170. 

3. Criminal Law 8 122- additional instructions urging verdict 

Trial court's additional charge to the jury after the dinner recess, 
"If you don't reach a verdict, of course, i t  will be necessary that the 
case be tried again and someone is ultimately going to have to decide the 
case in Gaston County and I hope i t  will be you," held without error 
where the court further charged that no juror should surrender any 
conscientious opinion in order to reach a verdict. 

THE case is now before this Court on the defendants' appeal 
from the decision of the North Carolina Court of Appeals find- 
ing no error in their trial, convictions, and sentences in the 
Superior Court of GASTON County a t  the February 1, 1971 Ses- 
sion. The decision affirmed the convictions of felonious house- 
breaking. The defendants contend their appeal is authorized by 
G.S. 7A-30(1).  The State contends that all constitutional ques- 
tions have been decided adversely to the defendants' contentions, 
and the appeal should be dismissed. 

Robert Mas-gan, Attorney General by Walter E. R i c h  III, 
Associate Attorney, for the State. 

Chambers, Stein, Ferguson & Lanning by James E. Fergu- 
son, XI, and Adam Stein f0.r defendant appellants. 
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HIGGINS, Justice. 

Resolution of the legal questions involved in the defendants' 
appeal and in the State's motion to dismiss require a review of 
what has already been decided in this case. 

Defendants, Richard William Accor and Willard Moore, 
were charged by grand jury indictment with the crime of bur- 
glary In the first degree. They were convicted by the jury of 
burglary in the first degree with a recommendation punishment 
be imprisonment for life. From the judgment, in accordance with 
the verdict entered in the Superior Court of Gaston County on 
May 26, 1969, they appealed. The appeal was argued here on 
the merits. After argument, this Court found defects in the 
record which the Court ordered corrected. 276 N.C. 567, 173 
S.E. 2d 775. After a correct record was certified to this Court 
and after careful consideration of the questions presented on 
the appeal, this Court found the trial court had committed error 
in the admission of evidence and ordered a new trial. 277 N.C. 
65, 175 S.E. 2d 583. 

At the new trial before Thornburg, S.J., a t  the February 1, 
1971 Session, the defendants were again placed on trial on the 
original indictment, a copy of which appears a t  page 567, 276 
N. C. Reports and again a t  page 68, 277 N.C. Reports. 

At the trial before Judge Thornburg the State sought to 
offer the evidence of witnesses Witt Martin, James Martin, and 
Elizabeth Martin Carson identifying the defendants as the two 
colored males who broke into the residence of Mrs. Carson and, 
when discovered, assaulted both Witt Martin and James Martin. 
The defendants objected to the identifications on the ground 
they were tainted by a preview of an album in which illegally 
obtained pictures of the defendants appeared. The court con- 
ducted a thorough voir dire examination, heard evidence, found 
facts, and entered the following: 

"1. That the photographs displayed to the witnesses 
were illegally obtained and are inadmissible as evidence in 
the cause now on trial. 

"2. That the State may not offer the testimony of 
Elizabeth Martin Carson as to the identity of the parties 
involved in the trial of this action by reason of the fact 
that her testimony does not meet the standards for in-court 
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identity previously fashioned by the courts of this State or 
the Federal Court. 

"3. That the witnesses, Witt Martin and James Martin, 
may offer and make in-court identification in this case, 
their identifications having been determined by the Court 
to be of independent origin and not tainted by the photo- 
graphs referred to." 

Mrs. Carson was called as a State's witness. She testified 
before the jury as to what occurred in her home on the night 
of March 4, 1969. At no time, however, was she permitted to 
testify as to the identity of the intruders into her home. The 
State's witnesses, Witt Martin and James Martin, were permit- 
ted to testify before the jury identifying Richard William Accor 
and Willard Moore as the men who forcibly entered the Carson 
home about 2 :00 a.m. on the night of March 4, 1969, and after 
discovery assaulted them. 

The defendants testified denying they were in the Carson 
home on the night of March 4, 1969. They admitted they were 
together on the day of March 3, 1969, and until late in the 
night when they separated and went to their respective homes. 
Moore testified he arrived a t  home about 1:56 a.m. Accor testi- 
fied : "It was about between quarter to 2 :00 or 2 :00, somewhere 
around in that area when I got in the house . . . . " The two 
men lived near each other in Gastonia. Both testified that they 
had been engaged in heavy drinking throughout the day and 
until shortly before they separated. 

After the arguments, the court charged the jury that under 
the evidence the jury could render one of four verdicts: (1) 
guilty of burglary in the first degree with the recommendation 
the punishment be imprisonment for life in the State's prison; 
(2) guilty of felonious housebreaking; (3) guilty of non- 
felonious housebreaking; or (4) not guilty. At the conclusion 
of the charge the court asked counsel, both for the State and 
for the defendants, if there was any request for further instruc- 
tion. The solicitor replied, "No, sir." Defense counsel replied, 
"No, your Honor." 

After the jury had deliberated for one hour and fifty min- 
utes, the court sent them to dinner in charge of an officer. 
When they returned to the courtroom a t  9 o'clock, the court gave 
this instruction : 
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"THE COURT: Members of the Jury, I wanted to be 
certain that you were all together before you continued your 
deliberations and also to give you these additional instruc- 
tions, that it is not anticipated when twelve people retire to 
a jury room for the purpose of making up a verdict that 
they will be all of the same mind or opinion as to what 
verdict should be reached. That's the reason we have twelve 
jurors who are chosen so that they may sit, consider the 
opinions that each of the others has and do their best, 
after thinking on their own and considering the opinions 
of others, to reach a just verdict in the case. You have not 
been out long up to this point but I do hope that you and 
members of this jury will be able to reach a verdict as to 
each defendant. Coming as you do from all parts of Gaston 
County, certainly you represent a cross section of the 
County, and certainly you are as intelligent a jury as we 
would ever hope to have to hear the evidence in the case. If 
you don't reach a verdict, of course, i t  will be necessary 
that the case be tried again and someone ultimately is going 
to have to decide this case in Gaston County and I hope i t  
will be you. I am not asking either of you a t  any time to 
surrender any conscientious opinion that he or she may 
have as to how the verdict should be reached as to each 
defendant, but I am asking you to do your very conscientious 
best to reach a verdict in this case as to each defendant. 
With those additional instructions, you may be excused to 
continue your deliberations." 

Two hours later the jury returned into court and rendered 
this verdict: "Guilty of felonious breaking and entering." The 
court imposed on each defendant a prison sentence of eight to 
ten years "to have credit for jail time and prison time served 
from March 6, 1969." The defendants appealed to the North 
Carolina Court of Appeals. The decision finding no error in the 
trial is reported in 13  N.C. App. 10, 185 S.E. 2d 261. 

Within the time permitted, the defendants filed notice of 
appeal to this Court alleging that in their trial their constitu- 
tional rights had been denied them in three particulars: (1) by 
permitting the State's witnesses Witt Martin and James 
Martin to identify the defendants as the two men who entered 
the Elizabeth Martin Carson home on the night of March 4, 
1969; (2) by the trial court's instruction to the jury that i t  
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should render one of four verdicts; and (3) the court's instruc- 
tion after the jury had begun its deliberations. 

Unless there is merit in one or more of the above particulars 
in which the defendants allege their rights were denied, the 
motion of the State to dismiss should be allowed, or the decision 
of the Court of Appeals affirmed. 

When the court ascertained the State intended to offer evi- 
dence of Witt Martin, James Martin, and Elizabeth Martin 
Carson identifying the defendants as the men who broke into 
the Carson home on the night of March 4, 1969, and that the 
defendants intended to challenge on the ground the witnesses 
had been shown illegally obtained photographs of the defendants 
placed in an album with other photographs, thus tainting the 
identifications rendering them inadmissible in evidence, the court 
conducted an extensive voir dire. Witt Martin and James Martin 
each testified he had a full face view of the intruders under 
good light and that there was no doubt in his mind about the 
identity of the intruders into the home. While he saw the album, 
his identification was based exclusively on his face to face con- 
frontation in the home. 

Mrs. Carson testified that she saw the two intruders into 
the home and later saw their pictures in an album. The court 
sustained the defendants' objection to testimony of identifica- 
tion. 

[I] The court made detailed findings of fact and concluded 
that Witt Martin and James Martin were qualified to give 
identifying evidence before the jury, specifically finding their 
identifications were independent of and not influenced by a 
preview of the illegally obtained photographs. Their identifica- 
tions were based entirely on the face to face confrontations in 
the home. The court concluded that Mrs. Carson's evidence 
might have been influenced by the album and sustained 
the defendants' objection to her identifying testimony. The 
court permitted Witt Martin and James Martin to testify before 
the jury. The admission of their testimony is challenged by the 
defendants. 

It is well established in North Carolina that findings of 
fact made by the trial judge and conclusions drawn therefrom 
on the voir dire examination are binding on the appellate courts 
if supported by evidence. State v. Wright, 274 N.C. 380, 163 
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S.E. 2d 897; State v. Wilson, 262 N.C. 419, 137 S.E. 2d 109 ; 
State v. Austin, 276 N.C. 391, 172 S.E. 2d 507. 

< L . . . (1)f the in-court identification had an  independent 
origin i t  is competent. If i t  resulted from the illegal, out-of-court 
confrontation i t  is incompetent. . . . That question should be de- 
cided by the trial court on a voir dire examination . . . . 9 ,  

State v. Wright, 274 N.C. 84, 161 S.E. 2d 581. See also Wong 
Sun v. U. S., 371 U.S. 471, 9 L.Ed. 2d 441; and State v. Gatli~g, 
275 N.C. 625, 170 S.E. 2d 593 ; and U. S. v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 
18 L.Ed. 2d 1149. 

The defendants have not been denied their constitutional 
rights by the admission of testimony of Witt Martin and James 
Martin a t  the trial. The decision of the Court of Appeals so 
holding is sustained by the authorities and is correct. 

[2] The defendants challenged the court's charge on the per- 
missible verdicts which are included lesser offenses in an indict- 
ment charging first degree burglary. G.S. 15-170 provides: 
"Upon the trial of any indictment the prisoner may be con- 
victed of the crime charged therein or of a less degree of the 
same crime, or of an attempt to commit the crime so charged, 
or of an attempt to commit a less degree of the same crime." 
State v. Allen, 279 N.C. 115, 181 S.E. 2d 453; State v. Fikes, 
270 N.C. 780, 155 S.E. 2d 277; State v. Perry, 265 N.C. 517, 
144 S.E. 2d 591; State v. Chambers, 218 N.C. 442, 11 S.E. 2d 
280. 

In the first trial the defendants were convicted of burglary 
in the first degree and given sentences of life imprisonment. 
In the trial now under review they were convicted of felonious 
housebreaking and given sentences of eight to ten years. They 
were on trial in the State court for a violation of State law. 
Error, if any, in the submission of lesser offenses was favorable 
to the defendants and hence was nonprejudicial. Constitutional 
rights were not infringed. 

[3] Finally, the defendants contend the court's additional 
charge, heretofore quoted in full, violated their constitutional 
rights to a fair trial. A reading of that portion of the charge 
which is the subject of the objection, shows conclusively that 
the court was explaining to twelve laymen that it was their duty 
to act and they could only act as a body. State v. Green, 246 N.C. 
717, 100 S.E. 2d 52; State v. B a r ~ e s ,  243 N.C. 174, 90 S.E. 2d 
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321. Nothing unfair or prejudicial to the defendants' rights can 
be read into the additional charge. The jury's verdict under the 
evidence in the case was not unkind to the defendants. The 
court's failure to sequester the witnesses was discretional. 

After careful review, we find the decision of the Court of 
Appeals is correct and in accordance with our decided cases. 
That decision is 

Affirmed. 

IN THE MATTER OF THE APPEAL OF STRONG TIRE SERVICE, INC., 
GREENSBORO, NORTH CAROLINA 

No. 60 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Taxation $ 25- ad valorem taxes - unlisted property -listing by tax 
supervisor - assessment by county commissioners 

When county tax authorities discover that property subject to 
ad valorem taxes has not been listed, it  is the duty of the tax super- 
visor to list such property in the name of the taxpayer; and, in such 
case, the county commissioners may assess the previously unlisted 
property for the preceding years, not exceeding five, during which i t  
escaped taxation and for the current year, and may assess a penalty 
for the taxpayer's failure to list i t  in accordance with statutory re- 
quirements. G.S. 105-331. 

2. Taxation § 25- understatement of inventory -failure to list portion 
of inventory - assessment by county commissioners 

Where inventories were identified and listed only by value on ad 
valorem taxation forms, the taxpayer's gross understatement of the 
value of its inventories, as  shown by the taxpayer's records, for each 
of the years 1963-1968 constituted a failure to list a portion of its 
inventories for those years; consequently, the board of county commis- 
sioners was authorized by G.S. 105-331 to assess taxes with penalties 
for each of those years on the difference between the amount reported 
on the tax forms as  inventory and the value of inventory shown by 
the taxpayer's records. 

APPEAL by Guilford County from Exurn, J., a t  January 7, 
1971 Session of GUILFORD Superior Court, docketed and argued 
as  No. 43 a t  Fall Term 1971. 

Strong Tire Service, Inc., hereafter called taxpayer, listed 
tangible personal property for ad valorem taxation by Guilford 
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County for the years 1963, 1964, 1965, 1966, 1967 and 1968 on 
the "Business Property Abstract" forms. 

The following is the pertinent part of the taxpayer's com- 
pleted form for 1963. 

i 
' NOTE: Read Instruclions on Pagc 4 Before Pieparing This Abs+racl 

SECTION A- Lisl in this section ALL RCAL AND TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERM locatcd or having taxable situs in 
township listed on tlic covcr pace cf this abstract, and on which you will phy ad valordm trxes. 

JANUARY 1. 1962 JANUARY 1. 1963 
9 INVENTORIES (Merchandise, work&?. A,,,t 

process. finished goods, raw rnstcrlals. 
rupplios and olhcr lika properly ........... XXXXXXXXXXX[S 23,040.54XXXy)(XKXXXY S 24,327.7 

The following is the pertinent part of the taxpayer's com- 
pleted form for 1966. 

h i e  2 NOTE: Read Instrudion; cn P q e  4 Before Pi~paring This Abstrrct 

I SECiiOtd A- Lisl in this section ALL REAL AND T w l i a L E  PEISONAL PROPERTY l o e i k d  or havicp t a x i l l  siius in / 
lownship listed on tho.covor page o! this abstract, and on which you v:;il pay ad valorem taxes. 

Except for the differences in the figures, the completed 
forms for 1964 and 1965 are the same as the completed 
1963 form. Except for the differences in the figures, the com- 
pleted forms for 1967 and 1968 are the same as the completed 
form for 1966. In the completed forms for 1966-68, these words 
and figures appear below the heading "Amount": "100% of 
Cost.'' A series of x's appears in the corresponding spaces in 
each of the completed returns for 1963-65. 

(D JNVEFlTORliS (Merchandise, w o r k h  
process, finished goods, raw mal~rials, 

An examination of the taxpayer's records in 1968 disclosed 
that its inventories on the first day of January of each of the 
years 1963-68 had a value greatly in excess of that reflected in 
the taxpayer's returns. Thereupon, the tax supervisor listed in 
the taxpayer's name inventories for each of the years 1963-68 
in the amount of the difference between the amounts specified 
in the taxpayer's returns and the amounts of the taxpayer's 
inventories as shown by its records. 

On October 7, 1968, the Guilford County Board of Commis- 
sioners approved a tax assessment with penalties and interest, 
based on authority for the assessment of unreported tangible 
personal property conferred by G.S. 105-331. The taxpayer 
appealed the County Board's decision to the State Board of 
Assessment. 

Far i a r  
C I h  Us0 

JANL'AW 1, lOCS 
Total 

7bCo' 

JANUARY 1. 19GG 

Amount I Total 

rvpplicr and olhrr like properly.. . . . 10c% of Colt IS 24$89.74, i o c ~ . c f  cost 1 525.214.M,, 
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The appeal came on for hearing before the State Board 
of Assessment, sitting as the State Board of Equalization and 
Review (State Board), on September 17, 1969. I t  was there 
stipulated that the taxpayer's actual inventories according to 
i ts records, the amounts reported to the county and the differ- 
ences between these two figures for the years 1963-68 are as 
follows : 

1963 1964 1965 - - - 
Inventories per records 53,033 56,032 70,463 
Amounts reported 24,327 23,120 24,890 
Differences 28,706 32,912 45,573 

- - - 
Inventories ~ e r  records 79.511 95.785 101.560 
Amounts reported 25;214 25;982 27;541 
Differences 54,297 69,803 74,019 

Each of the abstracts was signed by a named individual 
who describing himself as an officer or agent of the taxpayer, 
solemnly swore "that the above listing of real and tangible 
personal property [was] a full, true and complete list as  
abstract indicates." There was no evidence as to the method, if 
any, employed by the taxpayer to arrive a t  the reported in- 
ventory figures. The percentages of the taxpayer's actual inven- 
tories reported to the county was : 45.87% for 1963 ; 41.26% 
for  1964; 35.32% for 1965; 31.71% for 1966; 27.13% for 
1967; and 27.12% for 1968. 

The State Board, having found the facts stated above, con- 
cluded "that the abstracts filed by the appellant for the years 
under appeal were not complete listings of all property owned by 
the appellant as of the assessment dates. . . . that for each of 
the years under appeal, to wit: 1963, 1964, 1965, 1966, 1967 
and 1968, the appellant failed to list that portion of its in- 
ventory represented by the difference between the amount shown 
by its records and the amount reported to Guilford County as 
inventory. . . . that the appellant filed the abstracts with full 
knowledge that they did not accurately reflect its inventories 
for the years under appeal." Thereupon, the State Board ordered 
"that the action of the Guilford County Board of Commission- 
ers in assessing taxes and penalties on the inventories not listed 
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by the appellant for the years 1963 through 1968 is hereby sus- 
tained." 

After hearing in the Superior Court, upon the taxpayer's 
petition for review of the decision of the State Board, Judge 
Exum entered judgment in favor of the taxpayer which con- 
cluded as follows : 

"(1) The taxpayer in question did list its 'Inventories' for 
the years 1963-1968 ; 

"(2) That G.S. 105-331 entitled DISCOVERY AND ASSESS- 
MENT O F  PROPERTY NOT LISTED DURING THE REGULAR LISTING 
PERIOD does not apply in this instance; and 

"(3) That although the facts found by the State Board 
of Assessment are supported by the evidence. the FINAL DECI- 
SION O F  THE STATE BOARD OF ASSESSMENT including the CON- 
CLUSION, DECISION AND ORDER O F  THE STATE BOARD O F  ASSESS- 
MENT entered September 17, 1969, is in error as a matter of 
law, in that i t  is not supported by the facts found, is in excess 
of the statutory authority of the Board, is arbitrary and ca- 
pricious and is prejudicial to substantial rights of the taxpayer. 

"IT IS NOW, THEREFORE, ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED 
that the FINAL DECISION O F  THE STATE BOARD O F  ASSESSMENT 
be and the same is hereby reversed." 

Guilford County excepted and appealed. The case was trans- 
ferred from the Court of Appeals for initial appellate review 
by the Supreme Court under our general order of July 31, 1970, 
entered pursuant to G.S. 7A-31 (b) (4). 

W. B. Trevorrow and Ralplh A. Walker for appellant Guil- 
ford County. 

Fraxier, Fmxier & Mahler, by Harold C. Mahler and Spen- 
cer W. White, for appellee Strong Tire Service, Inc. 

Attorney General Morgan and Deputy Attorney General 
Bemvy for North Carolina State Board of Assessment, amicus 
currzCUrrZae. 

John T. Morrisey, Sr., for North Carolina Association of 
County Cornmi&oners, amicus curiae. 
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BOBBITT, Chief Justice. 

[I] When county tax authorities discover that property subject 
to ad valorem taxes has not been listed, it is the duty of the 
tax supervisor to list such property in the name of the taxpayer; 
and, in such case, the county commissioners may assess the 
previously unlisted property "for the preceding years during 
which it escaped taxation, not exceeding five, in addition to the 
current year," and may assess a penalty for the taxpayer's 
failure to list i t  in accordance with statutory requirements. G.S. 
105-331. 

[2] In reversing the State Board, Judge Exum held the pro- 
visions of G.S. 105-331 do not apply to the present factual situ- 
ation. He accepted taxpayer's contention that, although the fig- 
ures under "Total" did not reflect the true value of taxpayer's 
inventories as shown by its records, taxpayer's failure to state 
the true value thereof may not be considered a failure to list a 
portion of its inventories. 

Spiers  v .  Davenport,  263 N.C. 56, 138 S.E. 2d 762 (1964), 
and W o l f e n d e n  v. Commissioners,  152 N.C. 83, 67 S.E. 319 
(1910)' cited and stressed by taxpayer, hold that the county 
commissioners have no authority to raise the appraised value 
of specific listed p r o p e ~ t y  after final adjournment of the county 
board of equalization and review and the assessment and pay- 
ment of the taxes thereon. Specific parcels of real estate were 
involved in Spiers.  Specific mortgage notes were involved in 
Wolfenden.  The statutory provisions governing the procedure 
in such cases are discussed by Justice Rodman in Spiers  and 
need not be repeated here. The question before us is whether 
taxpayer listed all o f  i t s  i n v e n t w i e s  for the years 1963-68 or 
only a portion thereof. 

Included in the record before us are pages 1, 2 and 3 of 
each of the abstracts for 1963-68. As indicated in our pre- 
liminary statement, there appears a t  the top of page 2 the fol- 
lowing: "NOTE: Read Instructions on Page 4 Before Preparing 
This Abstract." However, page 4 (presumably the reverse side 
of page 3) is not before us. 

G.S. 105-306 provides in part: "Each taxpayer or person 
whose duty i t  is to list property for taxation shall file with the 
proper list taker a tax list setting forth, as of the day on which 
property is assessed, the following information: . . . . (14) The 
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amount and value of merchandise, manufactured goods, or goods 
in the process of manufacture. This subdivision is intended to 
include all tangible personal property whatever held for the pur- 
pose of sale or exchange or held for use in the business of the 
taxpayer." 

G.S. 105-294 provides in part: "All property, real and per- 
sonal, shall as far  as practicable be appraised or valued a t  its 
true value in money. The intent and purpose of this section is 
to have all property and subjects of taxation appraised a t  their 
true and actual value in money, in such manner as such property 
and subjects of taxation are usually sold, but not by forced sale 
thereof; and the words 'market value,' 'true value,' or 'cash 
value,' whenever used in this chapter, shall be held to mean for 
the amount of cash or receivables the property and subjects 
can be transmuted into when sold in such manner as such 
property and subjects are usually sold." 

The abstract form permitted taxpayer to list its inventories 
in bulk. Since neither itemization nor identification was re- 
quired, the extent or "Amount" of taxpayer's inventory was 
shown only by the figure entered under the word "Total." Thus, 
taxpayer was permitted to identify and list its inventories by 
value rather than by description. In  the absence of special cir- 
cumstances, it was contemplated that the reported value of the 
inventory would be its value as shown by taxpayer's records. 

In the abstracts for 1966, 1967 and 1968, under the word 
"Amount," which precedes the word "Total," are the printed 
words "100% of Cost." Since page 4 (instructions to be read 
before preparing the abstract) was not included in the record, 
whether page 4 of the abstracts for 1963, 1964 and 1965 con- 
tained instructions pertinent to the listing of inventories can- 
not be answered from the record before us. 

Taxpayer stipulated that the value of its inventories as 
shown by its own records as of January 1 of each of the years 
1963-68 greatly exceeded the amounts shown as totals on its six 
abstracts. No attempt was made to justify the figures in its 
abstracts. In gist, taxpayer admits its inventories were greatly 
undervalued but asserts that the failure of the tax supervisor 
to challenge its figures before the final session of the Board 
of Equalization and Review clears i t  from obligation to pay addi- 
tional taxes. 
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Notwithstanding the explicit provisions in the abstracts for 
1966, 1967 and 1968 to the effect that the amount of inventories 
was to be "100% of Cost," each year during the period 1963- 
68 the percentage shown under "Total" of the true value of tax- 
payer's inventories as shown by its own records continued its 
downward course. Taxpayer's contention that in each of the 
years 1963-68 i t  listed its entire inventories for ad valorem tax- 
ation is unimpressive. When inventories are identified and listed 
only by value, gross understatement of value is evidence that 
all of taxpayer's inventories were not listed. 

We think the evidence was sufficient to support the State 
Board's finding (erroneously set forth as a conclusion of law) 
that taxpayer "failed to list that portion of its inventory repre- 
sented by the difference between the amount shown by its rec- 
ords and the amount reported to Guilford County as inventory," 
and that taxpayer "filed the abstracts with full knowledge that 
they did not accurately reflect its inventories" for the years 
1963-68. 

G.S. 105-331, -306 and -294, as codified in Volume 2D of 
the General Statutes (Replacement 1965), are applicable to the 
taxation periods involved in this case. They clearly require 
taxpayer to pay taxes on the full value of its inventories. We 
note that these statutory provisions were superseded by Chapter 
806 of the Session Laws of 1971. 

The judgment of the Superior Court is reversed; and the 
cause is remanded for the entry of a judgment affirming the 
decision of the State Board. 

Reversed and remanded. 
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ANNIE NEAL STEVENSON, SISTER, CURTIS DANIELS, BROTHER, 
ALFRED DANIELS, BROTHER, O'NEAL DANIELS, DECEASED EM- 
PLOYEE V. CITY OF DURHAM, EMPLOYER, SELF-INSURER 

No. 3 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

1. Statutes § 5- statutory construction - legislative intent 
The intent of the legislature controls the interpretation of a 

statute; in seeking to discover this intent, the courts should consider 
the language of the statute, the spirit of the act, and what the act 
seeks to accomplish. 

2. Master and Servant 3 47- Workmen's Compensation Act-construc- 
tion 

The Workmen's Compensation Act should be liberally construed 
so that  the benefits under the Act will not be denied by narrow, techni- 
cal or strict construction. 

3. Master and Servant fj 79- workmen's compensation - death benefits - 
next of kin 

Brothers and sisters of a deceased employee who are eighteen 
years of age or older and married are "next of kin" as  defined in 
G.S. 97-40 and are entitled to receive compensation for the death of 
an employee who left no wife, child, parents or dependents surviving 
him, the dependency, age and marital status restrictions contained in 
G.S. 97-2(12) not being applicable to the definition of "next of kin" 
contained in G.S. 97-40. 

APPEAL from decision of the North Carolina Court of Ap- 
peals (12 N.C. 632) affirming opinion and award of the North 
Carolina Industrial Commission. 

The facts stipulated by the parties to this action disclose 
that O'Neal Daniels was killed on 18 September 1969 as a result 
of an accident which arose out of and in the course of his 
employment with defendant City of Durham. Defendant was a 
self-insurer. Deceased left no wife, child, parents, or depend- 
ents of any kind surviving him. He was survived by two broth- 
ers and one sister, all of whom were married and over eighteen 
years of age at the time of his death. 

The surviving sister and brothers filed a claim with the 
North Carolina Industrial Commission alleging that they were 
next of kin pursuant to G.S. 97-40 and were therefore entitled 
to compensation as his next of kin. 

The North Carolina Industrial Commission held that 
claimants were not next of kin and therefore no compensation 
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was due or payable as a result of the employee's death, except 
the sum of $500 already paid to his administratrix to be ap- 
plied on burial expenses. 

Claimants appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed, 
with Chief Judge Mallard dissenting. 

The case is before this Court on appeal pursuant to G.S. 
7A-30 (2). 

Mason H. Anderson  for plaintif f  appellants. 

C. V.  Jouzes, S. F. G a n t t  by  S. F. Gant t ,  f o r  d e f e n d m t  
appellee. 

BRANCH, Justice. 

The question presented by this appeal is whether "brothers" 
and "sisters" who are eighteen years of age, or older, and mar- 
ried are "next of kin" as defined in G.S. 97-40. 

At the time of O'Neal Daniels' injury and death, G.S. 97-40, 
in part, provided: 

Subject to the provisions of G.S. 97-38, if the deceased 
employee leaves neither whole nor partial dependents, then 
the compensation which would be payable under G.S. 97-38 
to whole dependents shall be commuted to its present value 
and paid in a lump sum to the next of kin as herein defined. 
For purposes of this section and G.S. 97-38, "next of kin" 
shall include only child, father, mother, brother or sister of 
the deceased employee. For all such next of kin who are 
neither wholly or partially dependent upon the deceased 
employee and who take under this section, the order of 
priority among them shall be governed by the general law 
applicable to the distribution of the personal estate of 
persons dying intestate. . . . 

If the deceased employee leaves neither whole depend- 
ents, partial dependents, nor next of kin as hereinabove 
def ined,  then no compensation shall be due or payable on 
account of the death of the deceased employee, except that 
the employer shall pay or cause to be paid the burial ex- 
penses of the deceased employee not exceeding five hundred 
dollars ($500.00) to the person or persons entitled thereto. 
(Emphasis ours.) 
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G.S. 97-38 classifies those persons eligible to receive, and 
determines the amount of, death benefits payable under the 
Workmen's Compensation Act to persons wholly or partially 
dependent upon the earnings of a deceased employee. If the 
deceased employee leaves neither whole nor partial dependents, 
as here, then G.S. 97-40 provides for the commutation and pay- 
ment of compensation to the "next of kin" as therein defined. 

The Court of Appeals, relying on the case of Jones v. Sutton, 
8 N.C. App. 302, 174 S.E. 2d 128, affirmed the opinion and 
award of the Industrial Commission. The rationale of the ma- 
jority decision of the Court of Appeals is that G.S. 97-40 and 
G.S. 97-2(12) are in pari materia and therefore should be con- 
strued with reference to each other. G.S. 97-2 (12) provides: 

Child, Grandchild, Brother, Sister.-The term "child" 
shall include a posthumous child, a child legally adopted prior 
to the injury of the employee, and a stepchild or acknowl- 
edged illegitimate child dependent upon the deceased, but 
does not include married children unless wholly dependent 
upon him. "Grandchild" means a child as above defined of 
a child as above defined. "Brother" and "sister" include 
stepbrothers and stepsisters, half brothers and half sisters, 
and brothers and sisters by adoption, but does not include 
married brothers nor married sisters unless wholly depend- 
ent on the employee. "Child," "grandchild," "brother" and 
"sister" include only persons who a t  the time of the death 
of the deceased employee are under eighteen years of age. 

After the Court of Appeals filed its decision in this case, 
this Court, in the case of Smith v. Exte~minators, 279 N.C. 583, 
184 S.E. 2d 296, in construing G.S. 97-38 and G.S. 97-40, stated: 

" . . . Thus, G.S. 97-40 determines the person or persons 
entitled to receive the death benefits provided in the Act, 
but the amount payable to the person or persons entitled 
thereto is determined by G.S. 97-38, commuted to its pres- 
ent, lump sum value. When, as here, the deceased employee 
left no dependent, whole or partial, the amount payable is 
not reduced from the amount which would have been pay- 
able had the deceased employee left a person wholly de- 
pendent upon him unless there is no person surviving who 
falls within the term 'next of kin', as defined in  G.S. 
97-40. . . . " (Emphasis ours.) 
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G.S. 97-40 as rewritten by the 1965 General Assembly 
added "next of kin" as a category of persons entitled to death 
benefits under the Workmen's Compensation Act. The rewritten 
statute defined the term "next of kin" and specified the order 
of priority among "next of kin" who are neither wholly nor par- 
tially dependent upon the deceased employee and who take 
under the section. 

[l, 21 The primary rule of statutory construction is that the 
intent of the legislature controls the interpretation of a statute. 
In seeking to discover this intent, the courts should consider 
the language of the statute, the spirit of the act, and what the 
act seeks to accomplish. Galligan v. Chapel Hill, 276 N.C. 172, 
171 S.E. 2d 427; State v. Spencer, 276 N.C. 535, 173 S.E. 2d 
765; Freeland v. Orange County, 273 N.C. 452, 160 S.E. 2d 282. 
Equally well recognized is the rule that the Workmen's Com- 
pensation Act should be liberally construed so that the benefits 
under the Act will not be denied by narrow, technical or strict 
interpretation. Hollman v. City of Raleigh, 273 N.C. 240, 159 
S.E. 2d 874 ; Cates v. Construction Co., 267 N.C. 560, 148 S.E. 
2d 604; Keller v. Wiring Co., 259 N.C. 222, 130 S.E. 2d 342. 
"In seeking to discover and give effect to the legislative intent, 
an act must be considered as a whole, and none of its provisions 
shall be deemed useless or redundant if they can reasonably be 
considered as adding something to the act which is in harmony 
with its purpose. I n  re Watson, 273 N.C. 629, 161 S.E. 2d 1 ;  
Jones v. Board of Education, 185 N.C. 303, 117 S.E. 37." State 
v. Harvey, ante 1, 187 S.E. 2d 706. 

Imposition of the restrictions contained in G.S. 97-2 (12) 
upon the definition of "next of kin" as defined in G.S. 97-40 
would require that we ignore the un.ambiguous language con- 
tained in G.S. 97-40 that "next of kin" be as "herein defined." 
Further, a child, brother or sister who is partially or wholly 
dependent and under eighteen years of age would take death 
benefits under the provisions of G.S. 97-38. Thus, the imposi- 
tion of the restrictions of dependency and age contained in 
G.S. 97-2 (12) would result in a narrow and technical interpreta- 
tion of the Workmen's Compensation Act. 

[3] We conclude that the 1965 re-write of G.S. 97-40 shows a 
clear intent by the General Assembly to remove the require- 
ments of dependency, age and marital status from the definition 
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of "next of kin" who are entitled to death benefits under Section 
40 of the Workmen's Compensation Act. This conclusion draws 
strength from the fact that the 1972 General Assembly (after 
the decision in Jones v. Sutton, supra) further amended G.S. 
97-40 so as to include adult children or adult brothers and adult 
sisters in the definition of "next of kin" contained in that see- 
tion. By this amendment the General Assembly again evidenced 
its intent that the definition of "next of kin" as contained in 
G.S. 97-40 should not be narrowly and strictly limited by the 
provisions of G.S. 97-2 (12). Gates v. Construction Co., supra. 

We note with approval the reasoning and conclusions in 
the dissenting opinion filed in the Court of Appeals by Mallard, 
Chief Judge. 

The doctrine of pari materia does not apply and the pro- 
visions of G.S. 97-40 should not be construed with the provisions 
of G.S. 97-Z(12). 

We hold that brothers and sisters who are eighteen years 
of age or older, and who are married, are "next of kin" as de- 
fined in G.S. 97-40. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is 

Reversed. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JACK 

No. 107 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

ARNOLD MdNTYRE 

Narcotics § 5; Criminal Law 8 138- possession of marijuana - punishment 
statute changed pending defendant's appeal 

A defendant whose appeal from conviction of possession of more 
than one gram of marijuana was pending on 1 January 1972, the 
effective date of the act reducing that crime from a felony to a 
misdemeanor, is not entitled to the benefit of the inore lenient pun- 
ishment provisions of the new act, since the new act contains savings 
clauses providing that  i t  would apply only to violations of law "follow- 
ing January 1, 1972" and that  prosecutions for violations of law occur- 
ring prior to that  date should not be affected by its provisions. G.S. 
90-113.7. 
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ON certiorari, upon petition by the State of North Carolina, 
to review the decision of the Court of Appeals reported in 13 
N.C. App. 479, 186 S.E. 2d 207. 

Defendant was tried a t  the May 1971 Session of ROBESON 
upon a bill of indictment charging that, in violation of G.S. 
90-88, on 21 March 1971 he had in his "possession a certain 
quanity of the drug marihuana, to wit: 168 grams." He was 
convicted of the offense charged, a felony. Acting under G.S. 
90-111, Judge  C a m d a y  imposed a prison sentence of 3-5 years. 

The State's evidence tended to show: On the afternoon of 
21 March 1971, Deputy Sheriff Hubert Stone, who had a search 
warrant for defendant's car and was looking for him, saw 
defendant driving a Toyota on Main Street in Pembroke. The 
officer followed the Toyota, which made several turns a t  inter- 
secting streets. At a time when Stone was about 50 feet behind 
the Toyota, a t  the intersection of Pine Street and Fifth Street, 
defendant threw out a blue object. I t  landed on a lawn a t  the 
corner of Pine and Fifth. About 300 yards from that spot the 
officer stopped defendant and informed him he had a search 
warrant for his automobile. Defendant told him to go ahead and 
search, that he would find nothing but a pistol lying on the seat, 
and that was what the officer found. 

Defendant was allowed to continue on his way, and Stone 
returned to the place where he had seen defendant throw the 
blue object from the Toyota. There he found a blue bank-deposit 
bag containing several small plastic pouches filled with vegetable 
matter. In the officer's opinion, the stuff was marihuana. Ap- 
proximately ten minutes elapsed from the time Stone saw de- 
fendant throw out the blue bag until he picked i t  up on the lawn. 

ImmediateIy after finding the bag, Stone went in search of 
defendant. In about three minutes he found him stopped for a 
red light near the spot he had first seen him. Stone showed 
defendant the bag and told him he "would be back with a war- 
rant" if a laboratory analysis confirmed his suspicion that the 
substance in the plastic was marihuana. The bag and its con- 
tents were sent to the laboratory of the State Bureau of Investi- 
gation a t  Raleigh for analysis and a search for fingerprints. 
The laboratory found that the bag contained 74.9 grams of mari- 
huana, and that defendant's fingerprints were on the plastic 
bags containing the contraband. In consequence, defendant was 
charged with the possession of marihuana and arrested. 
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Defendant offered evidence of his good character and tes- 
tified that, although the sequence of events occurred as Deputy 
Stone stated, he did not throw anything out of the car window 
and had no marihuana in his possession on 21 March 1971. 

Defendant appealed his conviction and sentence to the 
Court of Appeals. In an opinion, filed 2 February 1972 and 
written by Chief Judge Mallard, Judges Hedrick and Graham 
concurring, the Court of Appeals found no error in the trial and 
affirmed defendant's conviction of the crime of possessing more 
than one gram of marihuana, G.S. 90-111 (Supp. 1969). Citing 
State v. Pardon, 272 N.C. 72, 157 S.E. 2d 698, as controlling its 
decision, the Court held that the North Carolina Controlled Sub- 
stances Act, which became effective 1 January 1972 and reduced 
the mere possession of marihuana to a misdemeanor, governed 
the punishment in all pending prosecutions for its possession. 
Whereupon i t  reduced the 3-5-year sentence which Judge Cana- 
day had imposed, to only six months. The State petitioned for 
certiorari under G.S. 7A-31 (a) and (c) (3) ,  and its petition was 
allowed. 

Attorney General Robert Morgan; Associate Attorney 
Henry E. Poole fw the State. 

John C. B. Regan 111 for defendant appellee. 

SHARP, Justice. 

The one question presented is whether defendant's posses- 
sion of marihuana on 21 March 1971 is punishable as a felony 
under G.S. 90-111 (Supp. 1969) or as a misdemeanor under 
G.S. 90-95(e) (Supp. 1971). The question was decisively an- 
swered by our decision in State v .  Harvey, 281 N.C. 1, 187 S.E. 
2d 706: Defendant's crime is punishable as a felony. 

In Harvey, as in this case, the defendant was indicted, 
tried and convicted under G.S. 90-88 (1965), which made illegal 
the possession of any quantity of marihuana. Also in effect a t  
the time the offenses were committed was the proviso, which 
was incorporated into G.S. 90-111 by N. C. Sess. Laws, Ch. 970, 
5 3 (1969). This proviso made the possession of more than one 
gram of marihuana a felony, punishable by not more than five 
years in the penitentiary. 

Both this case and the Harvey case were in the appellate 
division on 1 January 1972, the date on which the North 
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Carolina Controlled Substances Act, G.S. 90-86 to -113.9 (Supp. 
1971), supplanted the Uniform Narcotic Drug Act, G.S. 90-87 
to  -111.2 (1965) as amended (Supp. 1969). The Controlled Sub- 
stances Act specifically provided, however, that  i t  would apply 
only to violations of law "following January 1, 1972," and that  
prosecutions for any violations of law occurring prior to that 
date should not be affected by its provisions. G.S. 90-113.7 
(Supp. 1971). 

We held in Harvey that  the savings provision of the Con- 
trolled Substances Act (G.S. 90-113.7) made the decision in 
State v. Pardon, 272 N.C. 72, 157 S.E. 2d 698, inapplicable to 
any offense committed prior to 1 January 1972 and that, as to 
such offenses, the Narcotic Drug Act continued in full force 
and effect. 

Upon the authority of Harvey, the decision of the Court of 
Appeals is reversed, and the cause is remanded to that  court 
with directions that  the judgment of the Superior Court be 
reinstated and affirmed. 

Reversed. 

JERRY W. GOBLE v. V. LEE BOUNDS, DIRECTOR OF THE NORTH 
CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTION 

No. 111 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

Convicts and Prisoners 8 2- prison records -inspection by inmate 
A prison inmate has no r ight  to  examine the contents of his 

prison file and to offer commentary on items which may adversely 
affect his opportunities fo r  honor grade status, work release or parole. 

APPEAL by plaintiff from order of Lmg, J., July 11, 1971 
Session, CASWELL Superior Court. 

The plaintiff, Jerry W. Goble, prisoner in the Blanch Pri- 
son complex in Caswell County, North Carolina, instituted this 
proceeding against V. Lee Bounds, Director of the North Caro- 
lina Department of Correction, alleging in substance the fol- 
lowing: The prisoner believes his personnel record in the Prison 
Department includes a letter from the solicitor of the Twelfth 
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Solicitorial District who prosecuted him in the superior court. 
The letter contains statements "which are derogatory of plain- 
tiff and are highly damaging to his reputation" and "have ad- 
versely affected his opportunities for earning honor grade sta- 
tus, work release, or parole." Plaintiff believes the allegations 
contained in said letter must be false and the plaintiff desires 
the opportunity to know the contents of the said letter and to 
be able to explain, deny, and rebut all parts of said letter which 
he might find to be inaccurate. Plaintiff has made known to de- 
fendant his desire to read the letter. Plaintiff has been denied 
the opportunity to review the letter, consider its accuracy, and 
offer any commentary on the letter that he may desire. 

The plaintiff's prayer for relief requests the following: 
"Preliminary injunction and permanent injunction be entered 
against defendant, enjoining him to permit plaintiff to inspect 
and comment upon the letter referred to herein contained in 
plaintiff's personal file, and generally to permit plaintiff to 
inspect and comment upon the contents of his personal file 
maintained by defendant." 

In addition to his individual complaint, the prisoner alleges 
the defendant consistently refuses to other prisoners the right 
to inspect their individual files and he seeks to make this a 
class action and to obtain an order that all files be open to 
inspection. 

The Attorney General, acting for the defendant, moved to 
dismiss the action upon these grounds: (1) The complaint fails 
to state a cause of action upon which relief may be granted; (2) 
the court lacks jurisdiction over the subject matter of the action; 
and (3) the prison rules under G.S. 148-11 and 148-13 provide 
that the granting of work release or parole is left to the State 
Department of Correction after conviction, and after the courts 
have passed final judgment. 

The court adjudged the plaintiff is lawfully in the custody 
of the Commissioner of Correction pursuant to G.S. 148-4. All 
prisoners serving sentences shall be subject to all the rules and 
regulations legally adopted for the government thereof. Prison 
records of inmates are confidential and are not subject to 
inspection either by the public or by the inmate concerned. The 
court dismissed the prisoner's petition. 
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Smith,  Paterson, Follin & Curtis by Norman B. Smi th  and 
Michael K. Curtis for plaintiff appellant. 

Robert Morgan, Attorney General by Jacob L. Safron,  
Assistant Attorney General for defendunt appellee. 

HIGGINS, Justice. 

Ordinarily when the court enters a final judgment in a 
criminal case, the execution of the sentence becomes the function 
of the executive branch of the State Government. The legislative 
branch makes the rules which govern the operation of the State's 
prisons. By G.S. 148-1 (Chapter 996, Session Laws of 1967) the 
Legislature created the State Department of Correction; and 
by G.S. 148-51.1 provided for the Board of Paroles. G.S. 148-59 
requires the clerks of the superior and the clerks of all inferior 
courts to attach to the commitment of each prisoner sentenced a 
statement giving: 

(1) The court in which the prisoner was tried ; 

(4) The offense with which the prisoner was charged and 
the offense for which convicted; 

(6) The name and address of the presiding judge; 

(7) The name and address of the prosecuting solicitor; 

(9) The name and address of the arresting officer; and 

(10) All available information of the previous criminal 
record of the prisoner. 

"The prison authorities receiving the prisoner for the be- 
ginning of the service of sentence shall detach from the commit- 
ment the statement furnishing such information and forward 
i t  to the Board of Paroles, together with any additional infor- 
mation in the possession of such prison authorities . . . and 
the information thus furnished shall constitute the foundation 
and file of the prisoner's case." 

G.S. 148-64 provides that the officials and employees of 
the Department of Correction and the Board of Paroles shall 
cooperate and furnish each other such information and assist- 



310 IN THE SUPREME COURT [281 

Goble v. Bounds 

ance as will promote the purpose for which these agencies 
were established. "The Board of Paroles and its staff shall have 
free access to all prisoners." 

The legislative enactments tie the three branches of State 
Government together in the business of dealing with crimes 
against the State. The Legislature makes the laws. The judicial 
branch interprets them and enters judgment. The executive 
branch takes over the custody of the prisoner and effects the 
judgment with such modifications favorable to the prisoner as 
the above designated agencies deem for the best interest of the 
State and the prisoner. 

The prisoner's complaint in this case relates to the manner 
in which the executive branch is dealing with his qualifications 
for honor grade status, work release, and parole. 

The granting of the above privileges is by way of mitigating 
the terms of the judgment which the court has entered. The 
legality and propriety of the trial and sentence have already 
been determined after the prisoner has been heard and his 
constitutional rights have been accorded him. The merits of 
the trial and the validity of the judgment may not again be 
raised before the Department of Correction and the Board of 
Paroles. 

The authorities are required to keep a file on each person 
admitted to prison and to make a periodic review to ascertain 
whether the prisoner's conduct and attitude merit his release 
earlier than the time fixed by the court's sentence. The file 
must contain the name and address of the judge, of the investi- 
gating officer, and of the State's prosecutor. These sworn of- 
ficials know more of the background of the case than the record 
discloses. The identity of these officers is a required part of 
the prisoner's file. Hence, the officers may be consulted on 
matters in addition to that which the record discloses. Their 
reports would be of more value, perhaps, if they were treated 
in confidence. 

Whether to release a prisoner before the completion of his 
sentence is a question with many facets. It cannot be answered 
by rules of law. Those who have watched the prisoner during his 
confinement are better qualified than the courts to say if and 
when he merits parole. Another court proceeding would be a 
poor substitute for the method now employed. 
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In the insta,nt case the prisoner says he has information 
that a letter is in his file from the public prosecutor which con- 
tains statements "derogatory . . . and highly damaging to his 
reputation." If the Court opens prison files for inspection, many 
prisoners will want to inspect and refute. In fact in this case 
the prisoner asks that his apphation be treated as a class 
action and the Court order all files to be opened for inspection. 

Of course a prisoner takes with him into the prison certain 
rights which may not be denied him. Lee v. Washington, 390 
U. S. 333, 19 L.Ed. 2d 1212. The legal right to the mitigation 
of his punishment is not one of them. It is contemplated as a 
part  of his rehabilitation that he earn his right to honor grade 
status, work release, or parole. The decision is not in the nature 
of an adversary proceeding under rules of evidence. The Su- 
preme Court of the United States in Williams v. New York, 337 
U.S. 241, 69 S.Ct. 1079, states : "The practice of probation which 
reIies heavily on non-judicial implementation has been accepted 
as a wise policy. Execution of the United States parole system 
rests on the discretion of an administrative board. . . . The . 
due process clause should not be treated as a device for freezing 
the evidential procedure of sentencing in the mold of trial pro- 
cedure." 

In the case of Meaechi.120 u. Oswald, 430 Fed. 2d 403, the 
Court said: " . . . He (the prisoner) is entitled only to be released 
after full service of his sentence less good time earned during 
incarceration. The Board is given absolute and exclusive dis- 
cretion to decide whether or not to initiate parole proceedings 
and, if so, whether parole should be granted to him. Appellant 
has been constitutionally deprived of his right to liberty for the 
period of his sentence. . . . (H)e does not qualify for procedural 
due process in seeking parole." 

In the case of Tar1to.n v. United States, 430 Fed. 2d 1351 
(5th Circuit) the Court passed on the question now before us. 

"By his first motion Tarlton sought to obtain access to his 
prison file to learn the source of a derogatory statement 
which was allegedly made concerning him. As the District 
Court held, PRISON RECORDS OF INMATES ARE CONFIDENTIAL 
AND ARE NOT SUBJECT TO INSPECTION BY THE PUBLIC NOR 
THE INMATE CONCERNED." (Emphasis added.) 
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Whether the prisoner in this case is entitled to honor grade 
status, work release, or parole involves policy decisions which 
should be decided by the Department of Correction and the 
Board of Paroles. These agencies are charged with the duty 
and are properly given means of discharging i t  not available to 
the courts. 

The judgment entered in the superior court dismissing the 
action is 

Affirmed. 

STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. MARIE HILL 

No. 98 

(Filed 10 May 1972) 

. Criminal Law 5 135- life sentence - compliance with Supreme Court order 
Judgment of life imprisonment imposed by the superior court in 

compliance with a n  order of the N. C. Supreme Court is  affirmed. 

Justice LAKE dissenting, 

APPEAL by defendant from Cowper, J., November 8, 1971 
Session of EDGECOMBE Superior Court. 

Attorney General Morgan and Deputy Attorney General 
Vanore for the State. 

Chambers, Stein, Ferguson & Lanning, by James E. Fergu- 
son II ,  J. L e V m n e  Chambers and Jonatlzan Wallas for defendant 
appellant. 

BOBBITT, Chief Justice. 

In State v. Hill, 279 N.C. 371, 183 S.E. 2d 97, filed Septem- 
ber 7, 1971, for the reasons there stated, this Court remanded 
the cause to the Superior Court of Edgecornbe County for the 
pronouncement of judgment imposing a sentence of life im- 
prisonment. On November 8, 1971, in open court, after due 
notice and in the presence of defendant and her counsel, 
Judge Cowper pronounced judgment that defendant be im- 
prisoned for life in  the State's prison. Defendant excepted and 
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gave notice of appeal. The questions she attempts to raise by 
her assignments of error on the present appeal heretofore have 
been decided adversely to defendant in this cause. 

Judge Cowper's judgment, having been entered in strict 
compliance with our order of September 7, 1971, is affirmed. 

Affirmed. 

Justice LAKE dissenting. 

For the reasons stated in my dissent when this matter was 
remanded to the superior court, State v. Hill, 279 N.C. 371, 378, 
183 S.E. 2d 97, I dissent from the present majority opinion. 
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CARTER v. TOWN OF CHAPEL HILL 
No. 76 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 93. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 

CROUCH V. CROUCH 
No. 82 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 49. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 

FREEMAN v. HAMILTON 
No. 81 PC. ' 

Case below: 14 N.C. App. 142. 
Petition for writ of cei-tiorari to Nort 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 
;h Carolina Court c 

HUGGINS v. DeMENT 
No. 6. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 673. 
Motion of Betty Lou Britt, Defendant Appellee, to dismiss 

appeal for lack of substantial constitutional question allowed 
24 May 1972. 

KENAN v. BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
No. 75 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 688. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 
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McALISTER v. McALISTER 
No. 78 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 159. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to  North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 

ROSE & DAY, INC. v. CLEARY 
No. 80 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 125. 
Petition for  writ  of certiorari to  North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 

STATE V. CURRENCE 
No. 88 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 263. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to  North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 

STATE V. CURRENCE 
No. 128. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 263. 
Motion of Attorney General to  dismiss appeal for lack sf  

substantial constitutional question allowed 24 May 1972. 

STATE v. FRAZIER 
No. 92 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 104. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to  North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 



316 I N  THE SUPREME COURT [281 

DISPOSITION OF PETITIONS FOR CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS 

STATE V. HOOVER 
No. 68 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 154. 
Petition for w r i t  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 

STATE v. McLAMB 
No. 74 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 705. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 

STATE v. NEWKIRK 
No. 83 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 53. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 

STATE V. RAY 
No. 87 PC. 
Case below: 12 N.C. App. 646. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to  North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 

STATE v. SALLIE 
No. 90 PC. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 499. 
Petition for  writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 
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STATE v. STORY 
No. 59 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 182. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 24 May 1972. 

PETITIONS TO REHEAR 

HARRISON ASSOCIATES v. STATE PORTS AUTHORITY 
No. 127. 
Reported: 280 N.C. 251. 
Petition by Harrison Associates to rehear denied 20 April 

1972. 

WIGGINS v. BUNCH 
No. 7. 
Reported: 280 N.C. 106. 
Petition by Wiggins to rehear denied 28 January 1972. 

STATE V. FERGUSON 
No. 155. 
Reported: 280 N.C. 95. 
Petition by Ferguson to rehear denied 31 January 1972. 



IN T H E  SUPREME COURT 

Utilities Comm. v. Telephone Co. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA EX REL. UTILITIES COMMISSION 
AND ROBERT MORGAN, ATTORNEY GENERAL V. GENERAL TELE- 
PHONE COMPANY O F  THE SOUTHEAST AND CITY O F  DUR- 
HAM 

No. 5 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 1;  Utilities Commission 5 6- 
rate base -value of franchise 

While the value of a telephone franchise enters into and affects 
the market price of the utility's stock, i t  does not enter into the 
computation of the utility's rate base. G.S. 62-133. 

2. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 8 1;  Utilities Commission 3 6- 
adequacy of service - rates 

The Utilities Commission, not the Supreme Court or the Court of 
Appeals, has been given the authority to determine the adequacy of 
a public utility's service and the rates to be charged therefor. G.S. 
62-31; G.S. 62-32; G.S. 62-130; G.S. 62-131. 

3. Telephone and'Telegraph Companies § 1;  Utilities Commission 8 6- 
public utility rates - legislative function - constitutional limitations 

In fixing rates to be charged by a public utility, the Utilities 
Commission is exercising a function of the legislative branch of the 
government and niay not exceed the limitations imposed upon the 
Legislature by the State and Federal Constitutions. 

4. Telephone and Telegraph Companies § 1; Utilities Commissioh 8 6- 
public utility rates - statutory requirements 

In  fixing the rates to be charged by a public utility for its serv- 
ice, the Utilities Commission does not have the full power of the 
Legislature but must comply with the requirements of G.S. Chapter 
62, more specifically, G.S. 62-133. 

5. Telephone and Telegraph Companies rj 1; Utilities Commission § 6- 
public utility rates - power of reviewing court 

The authority of an  appellate court to reverse or modify the 
order of the Utilities Commission, or to remand the matter to the 
Commission for further proceedings, is limited to that  specified in 
G.S. 62-94, which includes the authority to reverse or modify such 
order on the ground that  i t  violates a constitutional provision. 

6. Telephone and Telegraph Companies § 1; Utilities Commission 8 6- 
public utility rates - presumption of reasonableness 

Upon appeal, the rates fixed by the Utilities Commission, pur- 
suant to G.S. Chapter 62, a re  deemed prima facie just and reasonable, 
and all findings of fact supported by competent, material and sub- 
stantial evidence are conclusive. 
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7. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 8 1; Utilities Commission 5 6- 
findings of fact - appellate review 

A finding of fact or determination of what rates are reasonable 
by the Utilities Comnlission may not be reversed or modified by the 
reviewing court merely because the court would have reached a dif- 
ferent finding or determination upon the evidence. 

8. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 8 1; Utilities Commission 3 6- 
public utility - acquisition of property - board of directors 

Except as otherwise provided, expressly or by reasonable im- 
plication in G.S. Chapter 62, a public utility is free to manage its 
property and business as i t  sees fit, and the Utilities Commission 
may not restrict or control the discretion of the utility's board of 
directors in the acquisition of property or in the price paid for it. 

9. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 1; Utilities Commission 5 6- 
public utility rates - attraction of capital 

To attract capital, a public utility need not charge, and is not 
entitled to charge, for its services rates which will make its stock 
or bonds attractive to investors who are willing to risk substantial 
loss of principal in return for the possibility of abnormally high earn- 
ings, since the utility, having a legal monoply in an essential service, 
offers its investors a minimal risk of loss of principal. 

10. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 3 1; Utilities Commission 5 6- 
public utility rates -fair value 

The Utilities Commission must "ascertain the fair  value of the 
public utility's property used and useful in providing the service," 
and must then fix a fair  rate of return on "fair value." 

11. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 1; Utilities Commission 3 6- 
fair value 

The "fair value" which G.S. 62-133 requires the Utilities Commis- 
sion to ascertain is not the price for which the property could be sold 
as  used or second-hand property, is not the sale or exchange value 
of the entire business as a going concern, and is not the same as the 
fa i r  value to  be awarded by a jury in a condemnation case. 

12. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 3 1; Utilities Commission 5 6- 
fair value 

G.S. 62-133 contemplates that, normally, the Utilities Commis- 
sion will ascertain the "fair value" of a utility's properties a t  a 
point somewhere between the original cost, less depreciation, and the 
cost of replacement new, less depreciation. 

13. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 8 1; Utilities Commission $ 6- 
fair value -original cost -replacement cost 

In determining "fair value," the Utilities Commission has the 
duty to weigh evidence of original cost, less depreciation, and evidence 
of replacement cost, less depreciation, fairly in balanced scales and 
may not disregard either or brush aside either by giving i t  only 
minimal consideration. 
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14. Telephone and Telegraph Companies tj 1; Utilities Commission 6- 
fair value - appellate review 

The reviewing court may not set aside the Utilities Con~mission's 
determination of fair  value merely because the court would have 
given the respective elements thereof different weights and would, 
therefore, have arrived a t  a different fair value. 

15. Telephone and Telegraph Companies tj 1; Utilities Commission § 6- 
fair value - "other factsm- necessity for findings 

"Other facts" which the Utilities Commission considers in de- 
termining the fa i r  value of a utility's properties must be found and 
set forth in its order, so that the reviewing court may see what these 
elements are and determine the authority of the Commission to con- 
sider the= as  relevant to the present fair value. 

16. Telephone and Telegraph Companies tj 1; Utilities Commission § 6- 
rate base - excess of fair value over cost - addition to equity 

G.S. 62-133 contemplates that  the excess of fa i r  value over the 
original cost, less depreciation, shall be included in the rate base of 
the utility; i t  should be treated by the Utilities Commission as  if i t  
were an addition to the equity component of the utility's capital struc- 
ture. 

17. Telephone and Telegraph Companies tj 1; Utilities Commission 5 6- 
fair rate of return 

There is no fixed "fair rate of return" applicable to all utility 
companies or to a single utility company a t  all times. 

18. Telephone and Telegraph Companies tj 1; Utilities Commission 6 6- 
fair rate of return - debt-equity ratio 

A public utility's debt-equity ratio and its effect on the attrac- 
tion of capital are circumstances to be weighed by the Utilities Com- 
mission in determining what is a fair  rate of return on fa i r  value. 

19. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 1; Utilities Commission 8 6- 
prices paid for equipment and supplies - rate base 

The Utilities Commission may not fix or control prices which a 
company that  is not a public utility within the definition contained 
in G.S. 62-3 (23) a charges its customers; the Commission may, how- 
ever, in a proper case, refuse to allow a public utility to include in 
its rate base or in its operating expenses the full price actually paid 
to another company for equipment and supplies. 

20. Telephone and Telegraph Companies § 1; Utilities Commission 8 6- 
public utility rates -reasonable cost of property 

In  fixing rates to be charged by a public utility to i ts  own cus- 
tomers, the Utilities Commission is  directed by G.S. 62-133 to consider 
"the reasonable original cost of the utility's property used and useful 
in providing the service." 

21. Telephone and Telegraph Companies tj 1; Utilities Commission 8 6- 
rate base - extravagance in purchases and construction 

A public utility may not inflate its rate base by extravagance 
in purchasing equipment or in constructing its plant, i t  being im- 
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material whether such extravagance is due to careless improvidence 
or to wilful payment of exorbitant prices to an affiliate. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies $ 1; Utilities Commission $ 6- 
prices paid by utility - authority of board of directors 

The management of the business of a public utility, including the 
fixing of the prices which i t  pays for construction and equipment of 
its plant and for its maintenance and operation, rests with its board 
of directors in the absence of a clear niismanagenient or abuse of 
discretion. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 1; Utilities Commission $ 6- 
public utility rates -disregard of corporate entity 

The doctrine of the corporate entity may be disregarded where 
i t  is used to defeat the public interest and circumvent public policy 
in the regulation of utility rates. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies 3 1; Utilities Commission 5 6- 
purchases from affiliated company - reasonableness of prices 

The fact that  equipment or services are sold to a public utility 
by an affiliated corporation does not alter the ultimate question be- 
fore the Utilities Commission of whether the prices paid by the 
utility are reasonable and, therefore, reflect the reasonable original 
cost of the properties. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 1; Utilities Commission 5 6- 
purchase from affiliated company - reasonableness of price - burden 
of proof 

A purchase froni an affiliated company calls for a close scrutiny 
by the Utilities Conlmission of the price paid by the utility; when 
such transaction is called in question, the burden is on the utility 
to show that  the price i t  paid was reasonable. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 I; Utilities Conlmission 5 6- 
telephone rates - purchases from affiliated company - deduction for 
excess profits 

The Utilities Comniission erred in deducting $978,000 from a tele- 
phone company's "net investment in plant" (original cost less de- 
preciation) by reason of profits earned by an affiliated company on 
its sales to the telephone company, where the evidence shows that  
the affiliated company had an independent existence before i t  was 
acquired by the present parent company, that  it was a supplier of 
materials and equipment to the telephone company during its inde- 
pendent life, that  i t  continues to supply unaffiliated companies, that  
its prices to the telephone company are no higher and are often 
lower than its prices to nonaffiliated custonlers, that  the telephone 
company receives the benefit of volume discounts obtained by the 
affiliated company froin its suppliers, which discounts would not be 
available to the telephone company if i t  dealt directly with the affili- 
ated company's suppliers, and that  the telephone company receives 
refunds by reason of savings on the affiliated company's income taxes 
resulting from the affiliation, and nothing in the record indicates 
that  the affiliated coinpany was acquired or has been used by the 
parent company as a device through which to siphon off and conceal 
profits of the telephone company. 
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Telephone and Telegraph Companies § 1; Utilities Commission 8 6- 
rate increase - burden of proof 

The burden of proof is  upon the utility seeking a rate increase 
to show the proposed rates are just and reasonable. G.S. 62-75; G.S. 
62-134 (c) . 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 1; Utilities Commission 8 6- 
overbuilding of utility plant - rate base 

The question for determination in connection with an alleged 
overbuilding of the utility plant is whether the properties in ques- 
tion can be deemed "used and useful" in rendering the service as  of 
the end of the test period; if not, they may not be properly included 
in the rate base. G.S. 62-133. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies 8 1; Utilities Commission 5 6- 
determination of plant requirements - latitude of directors 

Substantial latitude must be allowed the directors of a public 
utility in making the determination as to what plant is presently re- 
quired to meet the service demand of the immediate future, since con- 
struction to meet such demand is  time consun~ing and piecemeal 
construction programs are wasteful and not in the best interest of 
either the ratepayers or the stockholders. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies 3 1; Utilities Commission $ 6- 
rate base -excess plant - interest of stockholders 

The deletion of excess plant from the rate base is not precluded 
by a showing that present acquisition or construction is in the best 
interest of the stockholders, since the present ratepayers may not be 
required to pay excessive rates for service to provide a return on 
property which will not be needed in providing utility service within 
the reasonable future. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 1; Utilities Commission § 6- 
excess central office equipment - rate base 

The fact that  a telephone company's central office equipment is 
not presently used to its full capacity does not necessarily justify the 
exclusion of any portion of i t  from the rate base on the theory that  
such portion is not presently "used and useful" in rendering service; 
on the other hand, a telephone company with central office equipment 
sufficient to serve any reasonably anticipated increase in customers 
may not properly add to its rate base additional units of central office 
equipment merely because, in the long future, i t  hopes to have cus- 
tomers who will use it, especially where the supplier of such equip- 
ment is  an affiliated corporation controlled by the same holding com- 
pany which controls the telephone company. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 1 ;  Utilities Commission 5 6- 
plant requirements - determination by Utilities Commission 

The Utilities Commission's determination of how much d a n t  is 
presently required to meet the service obligations of a pub~iE utility 
in the immediate future, supported by competent evidence, may not 
properly be set aside by the reviewing court merely because a different 
conclusion could have been reached upon the evidence. 
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33. Telephone and Telegraph Companies (j 1; Utilities Commission 9 6- 
property "used and useful" - burden of proof 

The question of whether specific property is presently "used and 
useful" in rendering service is one of fact to be determined by the 

' Utilities Comnlission upon competent and substantial evidence, the 
burden of proof being on the utility to show that  the property should 
be included in the rate base. G.S. 62-75; G.S. 62-134(c). 

34. Telephone and Telegraph Companies (j 1; Utilities Commission (j 6- 
telephone rates - excess central office equipment 

The evidence supported a finding by the Utilities Commission that  
a portion of the property of a telephone company consisted of central 
office equipment not to be used by it in rendering telephone service 
within the reasonable future, and the Commission properly excluded 
such excess property from the computation of the original cost, less 
depreciation, in arriving a t  the fair  value of the telephone company's 
properties used and useful in rendering telephone service. 

35. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 8 1; Utilities Commission 9 6- 
fair value 

"Fair value" of a public utility's property is  not synonymous 
with "replacement cost," is not an arithmetical average of original 
cost and replacement cost, less depreciation, and is not to be ascer- 
tained by the application of any mathematical formula; conversely, 
a finding of "fair value" by the Utilities Conlmission is not rendered 
immune to judicial review by the Commission's declaration that, in 
reaching such finding, i t  followed no formula. 

36. Telephone and Telegraph Companies (j 1; Utilities Commission (j 6- 
ascertainment of fair value - factors - weight 

I t  is  for the Utilities Commission, not the reviewing court, to 
determine the weight to be given each of the factors set forth in 
G.S. 62-133 (b) for consideration in the ascertainment of "fair value"- 
original cost, replacement cost and other relevant factors. 

37. Telephone and Telegraph Companies § 1; Utilities Commission 8 6- 
determination of fair value - appellate review 

The Utilities Commission's finding of "fair value" may be set 
aside by the reviewing court if i t  clearly appears (1) that  the Com- 
mission disregarded or gave nlininlal consideration to one of the 
factors enumerated in G.S. 62-133(b), (2) that  the Coninlission made 
its determination thereof by giving weight to a factor as  to which 
there is  no substantial evidence in the record, or (3) that  the Com- 
mission considered unspecified facts other than original cost and re- 
placement cost depreciated. 

38. Telephone and Telegraph Companies (j 1; Utilities Commission 3 6- 
fair value - factors - consideration by Utilities Commission 

The mere recital by the Utilities Comnlission that  i t  has con- 
sidered all of the factors prescribed by G.S. 62-133 in arriving a t  its 
ascertainment of "fair value" does not preclude the court from setting 
aside the finding of "fair value" where the record discloses error of 
law. 



324 IN THE SUPREME COURT 1281 

Utilities Comm. v. Telephone Co. 

39. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 8 1; Utilities Commission § 6- 
replacement cost - variance from expert testimony -reasons 

I t  would be proper and helpful for the Utilities Commission to 
state, a t  least in summary, its reasons for not acquiescing in the fig- 
ures suggested for replacement cost, less depreciation, by the respective 
expert witnesses. 

40. Telephone and Telegraph Companies Ij 1; Utilities Commission 5 6- 
public utility rates - determination of replacement cost 

The Utilities Commission may in some cases fix rates to be 
charged by a utility for its service without a determination of replace- 
ment cost less depreciation, since the utility, with the Commission's 
acquiescence, may offer evidence of original cost less depreciation a s  
its only evidence of fair  value. 

41. Telephone and Telegraph Companies Ij 1; Utilities Commission § 6- 
original cost - replacement cost - necessity for findings 

When the record before the Utilities Commission presents the 
questions of original cost, less depreciation, and replacement cost, 
less depreciation, these are material issues of fact upon each of 
which the Commission must make its finding; when i t  does so, those 
findings are conclusive if supported by substantial evidence in the 
record and not affected by error of law. 

42. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 1; Utilities Commission § 6- 
replacement cost - errors or omissions in expert testimony 

I t  is the prerogative of the Utilities Commission to take into 
account, in making its finding of replacement cost, errors or omis- 
sions in the testimony of an expert witness purporting to show such 
replacement cost. 

43. Telephone and Telegraph Companies § 1; Utilities Commission § 6- 
fair value - cost of reproducing plant 

The Utilities Commission is  not required to accept as  a factor to 
be weighed, in determining fair value, the full amount stated by an  
expert witness to be the cost of reproducing the exact plant now in 
operation, brick for brick, pole for pole, and wire for wire. 

44. Telephone and Telegraph Companies Ij 1; Utilities Commission 8 6- 
public utility rates - poor service -deduction from original cost and 
reproduction cost 

Consistently poor service, attributable to defective or inadequate 
or poorly designed equipment or construction, justifies a subtraction 
from both the original cost and the reproduction cost of the existing. 
plant before weig%ing such factors in -ascertaining the present "fai; 
value" of the properties: the Utilities Conlmission must make a sue- 
cific finding s60wfing the  effect i t  gave this factor if such a deduction 
is made. 

45. Telephone and Telegraph Companies Ij 1; Utilities Commission § 6- 
depreciation - change by Utilities Commission 

If a reasonably close relationship between the reserve for de- 
preciation and the actual accumulated depreciation is  not present, the 
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Utilities Commission may and should review and make appropriate 
changes in the annual charge to operating expenses on account of de- 
preciation. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies Q 1; Utilities Commission $ 6- 
depreciation - presumption 

In  the absence of convincing evidence to the contrary, the Utili- 
ties Commission is  entitled to proceed on the assumption that  the 
annual charges to operating expenses to cover depreciation, which 
the utility has been making with the Commission's approval, have 
been based on plausible assumptions as to downward trends in asset 
values in the course of their service lives. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies Q 1; Utilities Commission 8 6- 
replacement cost - percentage of depreciation - deduction for pliant 
inadequacy 

In  the absence of convincing evidence to the contrary, the Utili- 
ties Commission may discount the replacement cost new by the same 
percentage as that  indicated by the total accumulated depreciation 
in arriving a t  the replacement cost factor, or, if there is evidence to 
support such a finding, may discount replacement cost new by a greater 
or a smaller amount on account of depreciation, including obsolescence; 
the Commission may, after proper findings, further subtract from 
both original cost and replacement cost new an appropriate allowance 
for the inadequacy of the plant, if any, due to faulty engineering, 
faulty maintenance or other circumstance. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies Q 1; Utilities Commission $ 6- 
failure to find replacement cost 

The Utilities Commission committed an error of law in failing to 
make a specific finding of its determination of the replacement cost of 
the utility's properties. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 1; Utilities Commission 8 6- 
rate base - plant under construction 

The Utilities Commission properly refused to include in the rate 
base telephone plant under construction a t  the end of the test period, 
since that  is not property "used and useful" within the meaning of 
G.S. 62-133. 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies Q 1; Utilities Commission Q 6- 
objective of ratemaking 

The ultimate objective of ratemaking is the fixing of rates for 
service which wilI enable the utility to (1) produce a fair  profit for 
i ts  stockholders, (2) maintain its facilities and service, and (3) com- 
pete in the market place for capital, and no more. G.S. 62-133 (b) (4). 

Telephone and Telegraph Companies Q 1; Utilities Commission 8 6- 
fair rate of return - experience in attracting capital 

A utility's experienced success or difficulty in attracting capital 
on reasonable terms under the rates of which i t  complains is often 
more convincing than expert opinion testimony in determining a fair  
rate of return. 
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52. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 1; Utilities Commission § 6- 
rate of return - determination 

The weighing of the evidence and the drawing of the ultimate 
conclusion therefrom as to  what return is necessary to enable a 
utility to attract capital is for the Utilities Commission, not the re- 
viewing court. 

53. Telephone and Telegraph Companies § 1; Utilities Commission 5 6- 
rate of return - fixing prior to ascertainment of fair value 

Without a finding by the Utilities Commission of the replacement 
cost of a public utility's properties "used and useful in providing the 
service," the Commission's finding of "fair value" was affected by 
an error of law and, consequently, its finding of a fair rate of return 
on such "fair value" was so affected and was premature. 

54. Telephone and Telegraph Companies 5 1; Utilities Commission 5 6- 
fair rate of return - fair value - appellate review 

The Utilities Commission must consider and weigh the testimony 
of expert witnesses on the question of the fair  rate of return in the 
light of its own adjustment, for ratemaking purposes, of the utility's 
actual capital structure by its determination of the "fair value" of 
its properties; having done so, its determinations of the rate of re- 
turn  to be allowed, and the rates for service i t  deems sufficient to  
earn such rate of return, may not be modified or reversed by a re- 
viewing court in the absence of a violation of a constitutional provision 
or of an error of law specified in G.S. 62-94(b). 

55. Evidence 48; Utilities Commission § 6- rate hearing - qualification 
of expert 

The Utilities Commission did not err  as a matter of law in 
allowing a witness experienced in public utility accounting and re- 
lated financial matters to testify as  to  his opinion concerning the 
cost of capital and a fair rate of return. 

56. Evidence 48- qualification of expert 
A witness qualified to testify as an expert in the field of his 

training and experience is  not necessarily qualified to testify as an  
expert in other fields, even though somewhat related. 

57. Evidence 5 48- qualification of expert-discretion of trial court 

The competency of a witness to testify as an expert is a question 
addressed primarily to the sound discretion of the trial court o r  
commission, and its discretion is ordinarily not disturbed by a review- 
ing court. 

58. Evidence 5 48- qualification of expert - officer, employee or con- 
sultant 

The fact that  a witness is an officer or employee, or a consultant 
specially retained by a party to the litigation, does not disqualify him 
as  an  expert. 

Chief Justice BOBBITT and Justices HIGGINS and SHARP concurring 
in par t  and dissenting in part. 
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SEPARATE appeals by all parties from the judgment of the 
Court of Appeals, reported in 12 N.C. App. 598, 184 S.E. 2d 
526, reversing and remanding to the North Carolina Utilities 
Commission the order of the Commission allowing in part an 
application by General Telephone Company of the Southeast 
for an increase in its rates for telephone service. 

General Telephone Company of the Southeast (General) is 
a wholly owned subsidiary of General Telephone & Electronics 
Company (GT&E) . Automatic Electric Company (Automatic), 
a manufacturer of telephone equipment and supplies, is also a 
wholly owned subsidiary of GT&E. Automatic is the principal 
but not the only source of supply of such equipment and ma- 
terials for General. 

General renders telephone service to the public in this and 
other states. Its service area in North Carolina includes the 
City of Durham and the Towns of Creedmoor and Butner. 
Prior to the present proceeding, the North Carolina Utilities 
Commission (Commission) entered on 19 December 1968 an 
order granting rate increases to General, the rates then ap- 
proved being, basically, those in effect when the present pro- 
ceeding was instituted and being referred to herein as the 
present rates. In that order the Commission also directed that 
General make certain improvements in its service to its sub- 
scribers. 

General instituted the present proceeding by filing with 
the Commission on 14 July 1970 its application for further 
increases in its rates for service, sufficient to increase its reve- 
nues from North Carolina intrastate telephone service by 
$2,472,554. Its application was based upon its alleged operating 
experience under the present rates during the twelve months 
ending 31 March 1970, the test period used throughout the 
present proceeding. The proceeding was designated a general 
rate case by the Commission. The City of Durham and the 
Attorney General intervened in opposition to the proposed rate 
increases, the city contending, among other things, that the 
service presently rendered by General is grossly inadequate. 

The Commission conducted a hearing, which lasted ap- 
proximately two weeks, and received thereat the testimony of 
many witnesses, expert and otherwise, together with a great 
mass of exhibits setting forth statistical data, prepared and 
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submitted by the various expert witnesses in support of their 
respective opinions. 

Pursuant to the Rules of Practice before the Commission, 
the direct testimony of all expert and technical witnesses, both 
for the company and for the other parties, including the Com- 
mission's staff, and all exhibits in support of such testimony, 
were put in writing and filed with the Commission substan- 
tially in advance of the hearing. Copies thereof were made 
available to all parties, for study and preparation of cross- 
examination, prior to the commencement of the hearing and the 
actual giving of the testimony and introduction of the exhibits. 

In addition to company officials and expert witnesses 
called by the company, the city and the Commission staff, the 
city called 51 witnesses, who testified concerning the quality 
of the service being rendered by General. Sixty other individ- 
uals, present for the purpose of testifying upon this subject, 
did not do so in the interest of time, the Commission being 
advised that their testimony would be substantially repetitious 
of that of the 51 witnesses actually called. The following is a 
catalog or summary of their testimony concerning the quality 
of General's service : 

Telephones are frequently out of order. There are long 
delays in obtaining service after difficulties are reported, re- 
sulting in telephones being out of order for several days at a 
time. Supposedly private lines are not private, with the result 
that the subscriber to a private line frequently cannot use 
his telephone due to other conversations being carried on over 
the line. A subscriber seeking to get operator assistance fre- 
quently has to wait 15 minutes or more before the operator 
answers. Direct distance dialing results In reaching tine wrong 
number more frequently than could be explained by inaccurate 
dialing. Calls are frequently cut off while the conversations are 
in progress. Innumerable incoming calls for the wrong number 
are received. Company employees in the lower echelons are 
discourteous and inefficient in receiving reports of service 
difficulties. There is little relation between the arrival of a 
repairman a t  the subscriber's home and the hour for which 
his arrival was promised by the central office, so that a com- 
plaining subscriber is kept a t  home waiting for him and then 
he comes when the subscriber is not at  home, necessitating a 
new service call. Billing for long distance calls, not properly 
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chargeable to the subscriber's telephone, is frequent. On at- 
tempts to dial an outgoing call, the calling phone frequently 
disconnects before the other phone begins to ring. On incoming 
calls, the person placing the call frequently hears a ringing 
sound but the subscriber being called, though a t  home, hears 
no ring. Incoming long distance calls frequently do not get 
through to the subscriber's telephone. There is static on the 
line. Phones are frequently out of order in rainy weather. "It 
is inefficient to do business with the phone company by phone,'' 
because employees in the complaint department do not answer 
the telephone. "It is almost impossible to contact the telephone 
company." 

The Commission made detailed findings of fact, including 
the following : 

"(5) With the elimination of * * * plant under con- 
struction * * * the Applicant has invested in utility plant 
in service * * * as of the end of the test period * * * an 
original cost of $31,564,745. This figure reflects Applicant's 
net investment plus allowance for working capital, and is 
subject to further adjustments as hereinafter stated. 

" (6) Applicant's investment in telephone plant is ad- 
justed herein in the amount of $690,340, representing v2 of the amount testified to by the Commission Staff as 
relating to excess margin in central office equipment * * * . 
The Commission Staff's recommendation is reduced by 
50% because a portion of the equipment considered to be 
excess margin during the test period will be utilized in 
the service improvement program of the Applicant in the 
immediate future. 

"(7) Applicant's net investment in plant is further 
adjusted by $978,000 in regard to the excess profits which 
are reasonably attributed to its dealings with its major 
supplier Automatic Electric Company. This amount, how- 
ever, is based on a 15% return to AE rather than the 
12% return recommended by Witness Smith. These major 
adjustments, accompanied by standard related adjustments, 
yield an adjusted net investment in telephone plant for 
the Applicant's North Carolina intrastate operations of 
$30,107,171 for the test period. 

* * * 
" (9) The Commission finds that the fair value of the 
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Applicant's properties used and useful in rendering intra- 
state telephone service to its North Carolina subscribers, 
considering original cost less depreciation and considering 
replacement cost by trending original cost by current cost 
levels, is $31,913,601. 

"(10) Applicant's net operating income for return a t  
the end of the test period, and considering the adjustments 
hereinabove described, is $1,729,517, resulting in a rate 
of return on adjusted book value of 5.7476, which the 
Commission deems insufficient considering the Applicant's 
current operating conditions. 

"(11) The rate of return deemed necessary on the 
fair value of Applicant's properties, with sound manage- 
ment, to produce a fair profit for its stockholders, consider- 
ing economic conditions as they exist, and permitting 
Applicant to maintain its facilities and service and further 
permitting Applicant to improve its service in accordance 
with the terms of this Order, * * * is 77.376, which said 
rate of return on fair value will afford Applicant an  
opportunity to realize additional annual gross revenues of 
$1,445,003. The Commission deems this amount of dollar 
return to the Applicant sufficient for i t  to compete in 
the market for capital funds on a reasonable basis to 
its customers and stockholders. This amount is a 16.04% 
increase over Applicant's present revenues and will afford 
the Applicant an opportunity to  earn additional gross 
revenues in the above stated amount, being approximately 
59.32% of the increases requested by the Applicant in  
this proceeding. The increases requested by the Applicant 
in excess of the above stated amount are deemed to be 
unjust and unreasonable by the Commission. 

"(12) The additional revenues provided by the in- 
creases herein approved will produce a total net operating 
income of $2,469,106 and will result in a return on common 
equity to the Applicant of approximately 8.94%. 

" (13) * * * Applicant's present engineering design 
techniques and standards are efficient and economical. 

"(14) Applicant has made * * * improvements in  
service to its subscribers. * * * While there has been im- 
provement in the quality of service, there remains a need 
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for additional impr~~vements. The Commission finds that 
the overall quality of service afforded by the Applicant to 
its subscribers is on the low side of providing reasonably 
adequate service. The following specific service improve- 
ments are determined to be necessarily required to be com- 
pleted on or before July 1,1972 * * * ." 
The Commission then stated in detail its conclusions, in- 

cluding the following : 

"The Commission concludes that the rate of return on 
the fair value of Applicant's properties of 7.53% will 
afford the Applicant an opportunity to earn approximately 
$1,445,003 additional annual gross revenues being * * * 
58.44 %, requested by the Applicant. 

"The total amount applied for by the Applicant is not 
supported by this record and would produce a return 
greater than that which could be deemed just and reason- 
able. The Commission concludes that additional gross 
revenues of $1,445,003 are necessary to provide a fair re- 
turn to the Applicant on the fair value of its property. 

" * * * The Commission concludes that [Automatic's] 
prices charged to the Applicant are unreasonable and ex- 
cessive to the extent they produce a return higher than 
15% on common equity [of Automatic]. The excess profits 
adjustment of $978,000 is made necessary because of the 
close relationship existing between [Automatic] and [Gen- 
eral] which buys about 85 % to 95 % of its telephone equip- 
ment and supplies from [Automatic]. As a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of [GT&E], [Automatic] has been the leading 
supplier of telephone equipment to non-Bell companies. 
The dominant position of [Automatic] in the telephone 
equipment manufacturing market leaves only a few small 
low-volume non-affiliated manufacturers in the market 
with very little, if any, competitive forces available to 
them. Despite the Applicant's contention that competition 
does exist in this market, the Commission is of the opinion 
and concludes that the method utilized in this proceeding 
of adjusting for excess profits relating to the dealings 
between the Applicant and [Automatic] more nearly treats 
the operation of [Automatic] as another division or ex- 
tension of the telephone operations of the Applicant. * * * 
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[Ilt is reasonable to deal with [Automatic] and the Appli- 
cant for rate making purposes as one company subject to 
regulation by this Commission. 

"The Commission Staff evidence indicates that the 
Applicant as of the end of the test period had excess 
plant margin in central office equipment amounting to 
approximately $1,380,680. * * * This Order reduces that 
figure by 50% in view of the Commission's opinion and 
conclusion that a portion of this equipment is being con- 
sumed and utilized in the service improvement program 
which is ongoing and imminent with respect to the Ap- 
plicant's operations. 

"While the quality of telephone service afforded by 
the Applicant * * * has improved since its last general rate 
proceeding, the Commission concludes that Applicant's 
overall level of service is on the low side of reasonably 
adequate service." 

The Commission thereupon ordered that General be author- 
ized to make effective on bills rendered after 1 June 1971 rates 
and charges contained in an appendix made part of the order, 
these being sufficient to produce the additional revenues above 
mentioned. It further ordered that General be required to com- 
ply with specified service improvement requirements not later 
than 1 July 1972. 

Commissioners Wells and McDevitt dissented in separate 
opinions, it being their view that: The Commission should 
have subtracted from the rate base the full amount of the 
excess central office equipment shown in t%e testimony of 
Witness Clemmons of the Commission Staff; the deduction 
from the rate base, on account of excess profits made by Auto- 
matic upon its sales to General, should have been larger; and, 
consequently, a smaller increase in rates for service should 
have been granted. Commissioner Wells was further of the 
opinion that the probable future revenues from the present 
rates were understated by the majority due to the rapidly pro- 
gressing program to put all subscribers on single party lines, 
which will increase the average revenue per telephone even 
without any increase in the present rates. Both Commissioners 
Wells and McDevitt were of the opinion that a t  least a sub- 
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stantial part of the increases allowed should be withheld 
pending improvements by General in its service. 

The Commission entered its order 11 May 1971. General 
and the city appealed to the Court of Appeals which rendered 
its decision 17 November 1971, reversing the order of the 
Commission and remanding the proceeding to i t  for further 
consideration "either upon the present record or after such 
further hearing as the Commission shall deem proper." Salient 
points in the opinion of the Court of Appeals are these: 

1. Only after the determination of the fair value of the 
utility's property, used and useful in providing service, can 
judgment be intelligently exercised in fixing the rate of return 
which the utility is entitled to earn thereon. (General assigns 
this ruling as error.) 

2. The Commission had ample authority to inquire into 
the reasonableness of the prices paid by Genera! to Automatic 
for equipment and supplies and, to the extent that such prices 
were unreasonable, to reduce, accordingly, the amount other- 
wise determined to be the original cost to General of its proper- 
ties used and useful in rendering telephone service. There was 
no error in the deduction from original cost of the properties 
made by the Commission on this account. (General now assigns 
this ruling of the Court of Appeals as error.) 

3. The Commission erred in further reducing the amount 
otherwise found by i t  to be the original cost of the properties 
by $690,340 011 account of alleged excess margin in central 
office equipment. (This ruling of the Court of Appeals is now 
assigned as error by the Commission, the Attorney General 
and the city.) 

4. There was no error in the Commission's exclusion of 
plant under construction a t  the end of the test period from 
the rate base. (General assigns this ruling of the Court of 
Appeals as error.) 

5. The Commission made no finding of fact and stated 
no conclusion as to the replacement cost of the properties, simply 
noting the testimony of General's Witness McGrath stating his 
opinion as to the net trended book cost and an exhibit intro- 
duced by General showing such net trended book cost of the 
North Carolina intrastate portion of the properties to be 
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$40,781,543 as of the end of the test period. "It is apparent," 
said the Court of Appeals, "that the Commission arrived a t  its 
ultimate determination as to the fair value of General's prop- 
erty by first determining original cost and then increasing 
that figure by 6%. This, the Court of Appeals said, is not 
supported by the record and "the Commission's finding of fair 
value in this case was not supported by competent, material 
and substantial evidence in the record and was arrived a t  by 
a method which failed to comply with the directives contained 
in G.S. 62-133 (b) (1) ." (The Commission assigns this ruling 
of the Court of Appeals as error.) 

6. The Commission's finding that the quality of service 
"is on the low side of providing reasonably adequate service" 
is ambiguous. If the Commission meant thereby that the quality 
of service fell short of the statutory requirement that i t  be 
adequate, efficient and reasonable, the Commission should make 
specific findings showing the effect of such inadequacy upon 
its decision as to the rates. The evidence of service deficiencies 
was such as to provide material facts which the Commission 
must consider in determining just and reasonable rates. Specific 
and unambiguous factual findings by the Commission are 
necessary to enable the reviewing court to determine whether 
the Commission has performed a duty imposed upon it by the 
statute in this respect. (The Commission assigns this ruling 
of the Court of Appeals as error.) 

7. In view of the fact that the appropriate rate of return 
can be determined only after the fair value of the properties 
is correctly ascertained and, in view of the court's conclusion 
that the proceeding must be remanded to the Commission for 
further consideration and fixing of the fair value of the proper- 
ties, the court did not pass upon the contention of General that 
the Commission committed error in fixing a fair rate of return 
a t  7.53 % . 

8. Other exceptions by General and by the city to rulings 
of the Commission were found to be without merit. 

The evidence before the Commission, concerning the re- 
spective questions presented by the several appeals to this 
Court, is summarized in the opinion. 
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Attorney General Morgan, Deputy Attorney General Benoy 
and Associate Attorney Payne f0.r the  Attorney General. 

Edward B. Hipp and Maurice W .  Horne for the Utilities 
Commission. 

Claude V. Jomes for  the Ci ty  o f  Durham. 

Newsom, Graham, Strayhorn, Hedrick & Murray, by  A. H. 
Graham, Jr .  

Power, Jones & Schneider, b y  John Robert Jones and 
Wil l iam R. Whi te ;  and Ward Wueste,  Jr., General Counsel and 
Secretary, for  the  General Te1ephon.e Company of the Southeast. 

LAKE, Justice. 

In  the consideration of an appeal from an order of the 
Utilities Commission in a general rate case, such as this, i t  is 
necessary for the reviewing court to keep in mind certain funda- 
mental facts and principles. Some of these are : 

[I] 1. The State has granted to the utility company a legal 
monopoly upon a service vital to the economic well being and 
the domestic life of the people of a large territory. G.S. 62-110. 
This franchise is a property right of great value. Normally, 
when the grantee sells its business to another company, the 
monopolistic franchise commands a substantid price, over and 
above the exchange value of the physical properties transferred 
with it. Thus, the value of the franchise enters into and affects 
the market price of the utility's stock. It does not, however, 
enter into the computation of the utility's rate base. G.S. 62- 
133; Galveston Electric Co. v .  Galveston, 258 U.S. 388, 396, 
42 S.Ct. 351, 66 L.Ed. 678 ; 73 C. J.S., Public Utilities, 8 21. 

2. Because of this monopolistic feature of the utility's 
business, many of the basic principles of the Free Enterprise 
System, which govern the operations of and the charges by 
industrial and commercial corporations and those of the corner 
grocery store, have no application to the regulation of the serv- 
ice or charges of a utility company. 

121 3. An uncontrolled legal monopoly in an essential service 
leads, normally and naturally, to poor service and exorbitant 
charges. See Adam Smith, The Wealth of Nations (3d Ed.), 
Book V. Chapter 1, pp. 143-144. To prevent such result, the 
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Legislature has conferred upon the Utilities Commission the 
power to police the operations of the utility company so as to 
require i t  to render service of good quality a t  charges which 
are  reasonable. G.S. 62-31; G.S. 62-32; G.S. 62-130; and G.S. 
62-131. These statutes confer upon the Commission, not upon 
this Court or the Court of Appeals, the authority to determine 
the adequacy of the utility's service and the rates to be charged 
therefor. Utilities Commission v. Morgan, Attorney General, 
277 N.C. 255, 177 S.E. 2d 405; Utilities Commission v. Tele- 
phone Co., 266 N.C. 450, 146 S.E. 2d 487; Utilities Commission 
v. State and Utilities Commission v. Telegraph Co., 239 N.C. 
333, 80 S.E. 2d 133. 

13, 41 4. In  fixing rates to be charged by a public utility, the 
Commission is exercising a function of the legislative branch 
of the government. It may not, therefore, exceed the limitations 
imposed upon the Legislature by the State and Federal Consti- 
tutions. The Commission, however, does not have the full power 
of the Legislature but only that  portion conferred upon i t  in 
G.S. Chapter 62. I n  fixing the rates to be charged by a public 
utility for i ts  service, the Commission must, therefore, comply 
with the  requirements of that  chapter, more specifically, G.S. 
62-133. This is true, notwithstanding the fact that, in  Federal 
Power Commission v. Hope Natwal  Gas Co., 320 U.S. 591, 
64 S.Ct. 281, 88 L.Ed. 333, the Supreme Court of the United 
States held the Federal Constitution no longer requires such 
a procedure. 

[5-71 5. Upon appeal, the authority of the reviewing court, 
whether the  Court of Appeals or  this Court, to  reverse or modify 
the order of the Commission, or to remand the matter to the 
Commission for further proceedings, is limited to  tha t  specified 
in G.S. 62-94, which includes the authority to reverse or modify 
such order on the ground that  i t  violates a constitutional pro- 
vision. Utilities Commission v. Morgan, Attorney General, supra. 
Upon such appeal, the rates fixed by the Commission, pursuant 
to G.S. Chapter 62, are  deemed prima facie just and reasonable. 
G.S. 62-94(e) ; G.S. 62-132. All findings of fact  made by the 
Commission, which a re  supported by competent, material and 
substantial evidence, are  conclusive. Utilities Commission v. 
Coach Co., 269 N.C. 717, 153 S.E. 2d 461; Utilities Commission 
v. Telegraph Co., 267 N.C. 257, 148 S.E. 2d 100; Utilities 
Commission v. Coach Co., 261 N.C. 384, 134 S.E. 2d 689; 
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Utilities Commission v. Clzampion Papers, Inc., 259 N.C. 449, 
130 S.E. 2d 890; Utilities Commission v. Towing Corp., 251 
N.C. 105, 110 S.E. 2d 886. Neither such finding of fact nor 
the Commission's determination of what rates are reasonable 
may be reversed or modified by a reviewing court merely 
because the court would have reached a different finding or 
determination upon the evidence. Utilities Commission v. Mor- 
gan, Attomey General, supra; Utilities Commission v. Railway 
Co., 267 N.C. 317, 148 S.E. 2d 210; Utilities Commission v. 
Railway Co., 254 N.C. 73, 118 S.E. 2d 21 ; Utilities Commission 
v. Towirbg Corp., supra. 

181 6. Notwithstanding the authority of the Commission to 
regulate its services and rates, and other matters incidental 
thereto, the property of the utility is private property and the 
business is private business. Except as otherwise provided, ex- 
pressly or by reasonable implication, in G.S. Chapter 62, the 
utility is free to manage its property and business as i t  sees 
fi t  and the Commission may not restrict, or control, the discre- 
tion of the board of directors in the acquisition of property, 
or in the price paid for it. Utilities Commission v. Gas Co., 
254 N.C. 536,119 S.E. 2d 469. 

191 7. As a practical matter, apart from constitutional right, 
the utility must be able to attract from volunteer investors 
additional capital, as required from time to time for the expan- 
sion or improvement of its service. Utilities Commission v. 
Morgan, Attorney General, supra; G.S. 62-133 (b) (4) (5). Here, 
the principles of the Free Enterprise System do come into play, 
for the utility must win the favor of the free, voIunteer investor 
in competition with all other investment options available to 
him. This the utility does by offering the investor an oppor- 
tunity to earn on his investment a t  a rate which, considered 
together with the risk of loss of part or all of the principal of 
his investment, outweighs, in his opinion, the corresponding 
prospects and risks in  those other types of investment. Ob- 
viously, the utility will have little appeal to many investors, 
strong appeal to others. Some investors paramount safety of 
principal, some the prospect of very large earnings. To attract 
capital, a utility does not need to charge, and i t  is not entitled 
to charge, for its service rates which will make its shares, or  
its bonds, attractive to investors who are willing to risk sub- 
stantial loss of principal in return for the possibility of ab- 
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normally high earnings. The reason is the utility, having a 
legal monopoly in an essential service, offers its investors a 
minimal risk of loss of principal. Bluefield Water Works & 
Improvement Co. v. Public Service Commission, 262 U.S. 679, 
43 S.Ct. 675, 67 L.Ed. 1176; Federal Power Commission v. 
Hope Natural Gas Co., supra. 

1101 8. In order to assure the utility of earnings sufficient 
to attract capital and also in order to limit its charges for 
service to levels sufficient for that purpose, the Legislature has 
prescribed in G.S. 62-133 the steps which the Commission must 
take in fixing such charges. This statute requires the Com- 
mission to "ascertain the fair value of the public utility's prop- 
erty used and useful in providing the service." (Emphasis 
added.) In so doing, the Commission is required to consider: 
(1) "The reasonable original cost of the property" (emphasis 
added) less depreciation, (2) the replacement cost of the 
property, and (3) any other factors relevant to its fair value. 
The statute then requires the Commission to "fix such rate 
of return on the fair Value of the property" as will enable the 
company, after payment of its "reasonable operating expenses," 
including taxes, maintenance of its properties and "reasonable 
actual depreciation," to attract, upon reasonable terms, such 
capital as i t  reasonably requires for the expansion and improve- 
ment of its service. Paragraph (d) of this statute further 
directs the Commission to "consider all other material facts of 
record that will enable i t  to determine what are reasonable and 
just rates." 

[I11 9. The "fair value" which the statute requires the Com- 
mission to "ascertain" is not the price for which the property 
could be sold "as used or second-hand property." Utilities Com- 
mission v. State and Utilities Commission v. Telegraph Co., 
239 N.C. 333, 80 S.E. 2d 133. On the other hand, it is not 
the sale or exchange value of the entire business as a going 
concern, for that is determined by its prospective earnings. 
To undertake to regulate rates for service so as to maintain a 
value based on earnings leads into a vicious circle. "The prop- 
erty is not ordinarily the subject of barter and sale and, when 
rates themselves are in dispute, earnings produced by rates 
do not afford a standard for decision." Chief Justice Hughes, 
in Los Angeles Gas Co. v. Railroad Commission, 289 U.S. 287, 
305, 53 S.Ct 637, 644, 77 L.Ed. 1180. Accord: Federal Power 
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Commission v. Hope Natural Gas Co., supra, a t  p. 601; Cham- 
bersburg Gas Co. v. Public Service Cmrnission, 116 Pa. Super. 
Ct. 196, 176 A 794, 797. See also, General Telephone Co. of 
Upstate New York v. Lundy, 17 N.Y. 2d 373, 218 N.E. 2d 274, 
281. For the same reason, the "fair value" to be ascertained by 
the Commjssion is not the same as the fair value to be awarded 
by a jury in a condemnation case, for in the condemnation 
proceeding there is a forced sale of the property and the pur- 
pose is to award damages equal to the fair market or sale value 
a t  the time of the taking. DeBruhl v. Highway Commission, 247 
N.C. 671,676,102 S.E. 2d 229. 

[12-141 10. The concept of "fair value," as used with refer- 
ence to a public utility's rate base, is unique to rate making. 
To "ascertain" this "fair value" of the utility's property, the 
Commission is directed by the statute to consider the original 
cost of the properties, less depreciation, generally referred to 
as the "net investment," and also to consider the "replacement 
cost." Neither of these is the test of "fair value." "We are to 
remember that the cost of reproduction is a guide, but not a 
measure." Justice Cardozo, in Dayton Power & Light Co. v. 
Public Utilities Commission, 292 U.S. 290, 311, 54 S.Ct. 647, 78 
L.Ed. 1267. "Ordinarily, the fair value of a utility's property 
is found to be less than the reconstruction cost of the property." 
Chief Justice Denny, in Utilities Cmrnission v. Telephone Co., 
266 N.C. 450, 454, 146 S.E. 2d 487. Clearly, G.S. 62-133 con- 
templates that, normally, the Commission will "ascertain" the 
"fair value" of the properties a t  a point somewhere between 
the original cost, less depreciation, and the cost of replacement 
new, less depreciation. The Commission has the duty to weigh 
these evidences of "fair value" fairly in "balanced scales" and 
may not disregard either, or brush either aside by giving i t  
"minimal consideration only." Justice Higgins, in Utilities 
Commission v. Gas Co., 254 N.C. 536, 550, 119 S.E. 2d 469. 
Accord: Utilities Commission v. Telephone Co., 263 N.C. 702, 
140 S.E. 2d 319. The Legislature has, however, designated the 
Commission to do the weighing of these elements, and the 
reviewing court may not set aside the Commission's determina- 
tion of "fair vdue" merely because the court would have given 
the respective elements different weights and would, therefore, 
have arrived a t  a different "fair value." Utilities Commission v. 
Morgan, Attorney General, supra, a t  p. 267 ; Utilities Commission 
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v. State and Utilities Commission v. Telegraph Co., supra, a t  
pp. 344 and 349; Utilities Commission v. Telephone Co., 266 
N.C. 450,457,146 S.E. 2d 487. 

[I51 11. "Other facts" which the Commission considers in 
determining the "fair value" of the utility's properties must be 
found and set forth in its order, so that the reviewing court 
may see what these elements are and determine the authority 
of the Commission to consider them as "relevant to the present 
fair value." The statute does not contemplate that the Com- 
mission may "roam a t  large in an unfenced field" in the 
selection of such "other faets." Justice Higgins, in Utilities 
Commission v. Public Service Co., 257 N.C. 233, 125 S.E. 2d 
457. 

[I61 12. The excess of "fair value," so ascertained by the 
Commission, over and above the original cost, less depreciation, 
is an unrealized paper profit to the utility. It is not a proper 
entry on the utility's balance sheet and does not appear there. 
It is not an addition to surplus, which is either distributable to 
stockholders or reinvestable in the business. It is, therefore, 
utterly different from an actual, earned surplus retained and 
reinvested in the business by the company. Nevertheless, G.S. 
62-133 clearly contemplates that this excess shall be included 
in the rate base of the utility, just as if i t  were a realized 
profit invested in additional property used and useful in ren- 
dering service to the public. Since the holders of the utility's 
bonds and other evidences of indebtedness derive no benefit 
from this paper profit, i t  should be treated by the Commis- 
sion in a proceeding to fix rates as if it were an addition to the 
equity component of the utility's capital structure. 

[I71 13. There is no fixed "fair rate of return" applicable to 
all utility companies, or to a single utility company a t  all times. 
Federal Power Commission v. Hope Natural Gas Co., supra, a t  
p. 603; Smith v. Illinois Bell Tel. Co., 282 U.S. 133, 160, 51 
S.Ct. 65, 75 L.Ed. 255 ; United Railways v. West, 280 U.S. 234, 
249, 50 S.Ct. 123, 74 L.Ed. 390; Bluefield Water Works & 
Improvement Co. v. Public Service Commission, supra, a t  p. 692 ; 
City of Alton v. Illinois Commerce Commission, 19 Ill. 2d 76, 
165 N.E. 2d 513, 519. In the Smith case, Chief Justice Hughes 
said : 

"[A] rule as to rate of return cannot be laid down 
which would apply uniformly to all sorts of utilities; 'what 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 341 

Utilities Comm. v. Telephone Co. 

may be a fair return for one may be inadequate for another, 
depending upon circumstances, locality and risk.' * * * It 
is evident that in the present case we are not dealing with 
an ordinary public utility company, but with one that is 
part of a large system organized for the purpose of main- 
taining the credit of the constituent companies and secur- 
ing their efficient and economical management." 

1181 14. A major factor in the element of risk is the com- 
pany's capital structure. A low ratio of debt capital to total 
capital means less risk, both to the bondholder and to the 
stockholder. The lower the risk, the lower is the return re- 
quired to attract capital. On the other hand, a high debt 
ratio, coupled with a rate of return on "fair value" which is in 
excess of the rate of the fixed interest charges on the debt 
component, provides a leverage, which results in a rate of 
return on the equity component substantially higher than the 
rate of return on "fair value." These are circumstances to be 
weighed by the Commission in determining what is a fair rate 
of return on "fair value." As above noted, the excess of "fair 
value'' over the actual total capital of the company (debt capital, 
plus capital stock, plus actual surplus) is to be added to the 
equity component of the capital structure for the purpose of 
fixing rates under G.S. 62-133. The choice of the appropriate 
debt-equity ratio is a management decision, but the board of 
directors may not thereby tie the hands of the Commission 
and compel i t  to approve rates for service higher than would 
be appropriate for a reasonably balanced capital structure. 

We turn now to the more difficult task of applying these 
principles to the specific questions arising on the record before 
us. 

Deductions From Rate Base Due To Purchases 
From Automatic Electric Company 

Witnesses for General testified to the following effect: 

Both General and Automatic are wholly owned subsidiaries 
GT&E. Automatic was acquired by GT&E in 1955. As of 
December 1969, GT&E's investment in Automatic was 

$328,909,188 and the consolidated book net worth of Automatic 
and its own subsidiaries was $235,991,550, on which Automatic 
earned 18.06%. 
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For many years prior to its acquisition by GT&E, Auto- 
matic was an independent manufacturer of telephone and elec- 
tronic equipment and a major source thereof for telephone 
companies not affiliated with the Bell Telephone System, in- 
cluding all operating companies in the GT&E System. This 
business Automatic had secured on a competitive basis. Since 
such acquisition, the other affiliates of GT&E, including Gen- 
eral, are not obligated by contract or otherwise to purchase 
equipment and supplies from Automatic. However, Automatic 
continues to be their principal, though not their sole supplier. 
Automatic continues to sell to telephone companies not affiliated 

, with either the Bell System or the GT&E System. Most of its 
manufactured products are designed and engineered to the 
purchasing company's specifications. 

Since the acquisition of Automatic by GT&E, its prices to 
GT&E affiliates, including General, are the same as or lower 
than its prices to telephone companies not affiliated with GT&E. 
On items sold but not manufactured by it, Automatic obtains 
from its own supplier discounts by virtue of the volume of its 
purchases. These discounts Automatic passes on to its operating 
affiliates, such as General, irrespective of the size of the pur- 
chases made from time to time by such affiliated operating 
companies. [This is one distinguishing feature of the present 
case from Utilities Commission v. Morgan, Attornezj General, 
supra, concerning transactions between affiliates.] Generally, 
on items not designed to meet the specific customer's specifica- 
tion, Automatic's prices to General, and to other GT&E operat- 
ing affiliates, are lower than the prices charged by competing 
independent suppliers; i.e., suppliers other than Western 
Electric Company, which is the principal supplier of the Bell 
System operating companies. 

Since its acquisition by GT&E, Automatic has followed 
the same or similar pricing methods as prior to such affili- 
ation. However, as a result of the affiliation, Automatic, under 
the Federal Internal Revenue Act, may disregard profits made 
by i t  on sales to affiliated companies, thus substantially reduc- 
ing Automatic's income tax liability. This entire saving Auto- 
matic remits to GT&E, which, in turn, remits to its affiliated 
operating companies. In this way, General received in  1969 a 
total refund of $1,660,000 on account of its purchases from 
Automatic, totaling $17,802,000 (company-wide, not North 
Carolina alone). Also, since its affiliation with GT&E, Auto- 
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matic has introduced an inventory stocking plan which allows 
the affiliated operating companies, including General, to mini- 
mize their own inventories and use invoicing and other pro- 
cedures which are beneficial to them. 

Since its affiliation with GT&E in 1955, Automatic's sales 
to its nonaffiliated customers have increased from $37,000,000 
to approximately $72,000,000, despite intervening acquisition by 
GT&E of a number of previously nonaffiliated customers of 
Automatic. 

The Commission's Director of Accounting, who testified 
concerning the relation between Automatic and General, did 
not controvert any of the above summarized testimony given 
by witnesses for General. His testimony was to the effect that 
Automatic's sales to nonaffiliated domestic companies have 
declined in relation to Automatic's total sales. (This would be 
a natural consequence of the acquisition by GT&E of some of 
Automatic's previously unaffiliated customers.) He further 
testified that the dominant position of Automatic in the tele- 
phone equipment market, other than the Bell System, leaves 
only a few smaller manufacturers in the market with little, if 
any, competitive forces a t  their command. On the other hand, 
Automatic's existence depends upon the business it receives 
from GT&E affiliates and its entire operations are geared to 
the service of such affiliates. 

For this reason, this witness recommended that the Com- 
mission permit General, for rate making purposes, to consider 
as  the original cost of its purchases from Automatic, not the 
actual price paid to Automatic, but no more than a reasonable 
price, based on a fair return to Automatic upon its own net 
investment in properties required for the production of such 
commodities. He concluded that $1,417,000 should be subtracted 
from the original cost of General's properties, computed on 
the basis of prices actually paid by it, on the ground that this 
amount represented excess profits made by Automatic upon its 
sales to General for North Carolina intrastate service. Such 
excess he computed "on the concept of permitting the supplier 
affiliate the same rate of return on net book investment as 
that allowed by the Commission to the affiliate operating tele- 
phone company," which, in the opinion of the witness, should 
be 12% (i.e., on the equity component of General's capital 
structure). This concept would further require, in the opinion 



344 IN THE SUPREME COURT [a81 

Utilities Comm. v. Telephone Co. 

of the witness, adjustments to the accumulated depreciation 
reserve and to operating expenses. In support of this concept, 
the witness cited the decision of the Court of Appeals of New 
York in Gen'eral Telephone Co. of  Upstate New York  v. Lundy, 
supra, and orders of the New York, Pennsylvania and Wiscon- 
sin Commissions. 

1191 The record does not indicate that Automatic carries 
on any operations in North Carolina. Furthermore, i t  is not a 
public utility within the definition contained in G.S. 62-3 (23) a. 
It is not the parent of or a subsidiary of General, as those 
terms are defined in G.S. 55-2. Consequently, i t  is not brought 
within the definition of "public utility" by the provisions of 
G.S. 62-3(23)c. Neither the Commission nor the courts may 
add to the types of business defined by the Legislature as public 
utilities. Utilities Commission v. Telegraph Co., 267 N.C. 257, 
268, 148 S.E. 2d 100. Consequently, the Commission may not 
fix or control prices which Automatic charges its customers 
for its products. The Commission may, however, in a proper 
case, refuse to allow General to include in its rate base, or in 
its operating expenses, the full price General actually paid 
Automatic for equipment and supplies. 

In its proper regulation of rates charged by General, the 
Commission is expressly authorized to inspect the books and 
records of affiliated corporations and to investigate contracts 
and practices between the operating utility company and its 
holding company. G.S. 62-37 and G.S. 62-51. G.S. 62-153, which 
authorizes the Commission, after hearing, to disapprove and 
declare void contracts between a public utility and certain 
types of affiliated corporations is not before us in the present 
case and nothing herein may be deemed to limit the powers 
granted to the Commission by that statute. 

120,211 In fixing rates to be charged by a public utility to 
its own customers, the Commission is directed by G.S. 62-133 
to consider "the reasonable original cost of the utility's prop- 
erty used and useful in providing the service." (Emphasis 
added.) Obviously, a utility may not inflate its rate base by 
extravagance in purchasing equipment or constructing its plant. 
In this connection, it is immaterial whether such extravagance 
be due to careless improvidence or to wilful payment of exorbi- 
tant prices to an affiliate. See: State v. Morgan, Attorney 
General, sup?-a, a t  pp. 271-272; Pacific Telephone & Telegraph 
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Co. v. Public Utilities Commission, 34 Cal. 2d 822, 215 P. 2d 
441. As Mr. Justice Brewer said, in Chicago & Grand Trunk 
Railway v. Wellman, 143 U.S. 339, 346, 36 L.Ed. 176, 180, 
"While the protection of vested rights of property is a supreme 
duty of the courts, i t  has not come to this, that the legislative 
power rests subservient to the discretion of any railroad cor- 
poration which may, by exorbitant and unreasonable salaries, 
or in some other improper way, transfer its earnings into 
what it is pleased to call 'operating expenses'." 

1221 On the other hand, the management of the business of a 
public utility, including the fixing of the prices which i t  pays 
for the construction and equipment of its plant and for its 
maintenance and operation, rests with its board of directors 
in the absence of clear mismanagement or abuse of discretion. 
Utilities Commission v. Gas Co., 254 N.C. 536, 548, 119 S.E. 
2d 469; United Fuel Gas Co. v. Raihoad Commission, 278 U.S. 
300, 320, 49 S.Ct. 150, 73 L.Ed. 390; Southwestern Bell Tele- 
phone Co. v. Public Service Commission, 262 U.S. 276, 43 S.Ct. 
544, 67 L.Ed. 981; Chmbersburg Gas Co. v.  Public Service 
Commission, 116 Pa. Super. Ct. 196, 176 A. 794, 806. 

[23] As observed by Justice Traynor, later Chief Justice, in 
Pacific Telephone & Telegraph Co. v. Public Utilities Commis- 
sion, supra, a t  p. 826, the advent of the holding company, 
which both controls and provides, either directly or indirectly 
through another subsidiary, services for a network of operating 
utilities, has been the source of new problems in public utility 
rate regulation. As the Supreme Court of California there ob- 
served, and as we stated in Utilities Commission v. Morgan, 
Attorney General, supra, a t  p. 272, the doctrine of the corporate 
entity may be disregarded where it is used to defeat the public 
interest and circumvent public policy in the regulation of 
utility rates. 

124,251 However, the fact that equipment or services are 
sold to the utility by an affiliated corporation does not alter the 
ultimate question for the Commission. That question is whether 
the prices paid by the utility are reasonable and, therefore, 
reflect the "reasonable original cost" of the properties. The 
only effect of the affiliation between the utility and its supplier 
is that such relationship calls for a close scrutiny by the Com- 
mission of the price paid by the utility. Dayton Power & Light 
Co. v. Public Utilities Commission of  Ohio, 292 U.S. 290, 295, 
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308, 54 S.Ct 647, 78 L.Ed. 1267; Lindheimer v. Illinois Bell 
Telephone Co., 292 U.S. 151, 156, 54 S.Ct. 658, 78 L.Ed. 1182; 
Western Distributing Co. v.  Public Service Commission of  Kan- 
sas, 285 U.S. 119, 124, 52 S.Ct. 283, 76 L.Ed. 655; Smith  u. 
Illinois Bell Telephone Co., 282 U.S. 133, 152, 51 S.Ct 65, 75 
L.Ed. 255; Pacific Telephone & Telegraph Co. v. Public Utilities 
Commission, supra; General Telephone Co. of Upstate New 
York  v .  L.undy, surpra; Solar Electric Co. v .  Public Utilities 
Commission, 137 Pa. Super. Ct. 325, 9 A. 2d 447, 473. Where 
the purchase is made from an affiliated company, the bargain- 
ing is not a t  arm's length and when the transaction is called 
in question, the burden is upon the utility to show that the 
price i t  paid was reasonable. As was said in Solar Electric Co. 
v. Public Utilities Commission, supra: 

"Charges arising out of intercompany relationships 
between affiliated companies should be scrutinized with 
care [citations omitted] and if there is an absence of data 
and information from which the reasonableness and pro- 
priety of the services rendered and the reasonable cost of 
rendering such services by the servicing companies can 
be ascertained by the commission, allowance is properly 
refused. * * * 

"Moreover, the record in this case is an illustration 
of the fact that effective and satisfactory State regulation 
of utilities is made increasingly difficult by the progres- 
sive integration of utility services under holding company 
domination. 

"The desire of public utility management, evidenced 
by various methods, to secure the highest possible return 
to the ultimate owners is incompatible with the semi-public 
nature of the utility business, which the management di- 
rects. It therefore follows that the commission should 
scrutinize carefully charges by affiliates, as inflated 
charges to operating companies may be a means to im- 
properly increase the allowable revenue and raise the 
cost to the consumers of utility service as well as an un- 
warranted source of profit to the ultimate holding com- 
pany." 

Similarly, the Court of Appeals of New York, in General 
Telephone Co. o f  Upstate New York  v. Lundy, supra, observed: 
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"When such materials and services are obtained 
through contracts which are the result of arm's-length 
bargaining in the open market, the contract price is usually 
accepted as the proper cost. However, when a utility and 
its suppliers are both owned and controlled by the same 
holding company, the safeguards provided by arm's-length 
bargaining are absent, and ever present is the danger that 
the utility will be charged exorbitant prices which will, 
by inclusion in its operating costs, become the predicate 
for excessive rates." 

In United Fuel Gas Co. v. Railroad Commission, supra, a t  
p. 320, Mr. Justice Stone, later Chief Justice, said: 

"We recognize that a public service commission, under 
the guise of establishing a fair rate, may not usurp the 
functions of the company's directors and in every case 
substitute its judgment for theirs as to the propriety of 
contracts entered into by the utility; and common owner- 
ship is not of itself sufficient grounds for disregarding 
such intercorporate agreements when i t  appears that, 
although an affiliated corporation may be receiving the 
larger share of the profits, the regulated company is still 
receiving substantial benefits from the contract and prob- 
ably could not have secured better terms elsewhere." 

1261 The uncontradicted evidence offered by Automatic be- 
fore the Commission in the present case is to the effect that 
Automatic had an independent corporate existence long before 
i t  became a part of the GT&E System. I t  was not brought into 
being, and nothing in the record indicates that it was acquired 
-by GT&E or has been used by it, as a device through which to 
siphon off and conceal profits of the affiliated utility. During 
its independent life it was a supplier of materials and equip- 
ment to General. I t  continues to supply unaffiliated telephone 
companies. Its prices to General are no higher and are often 
lower than its prices to such nonaffiliated customers. Though 
this circumstance is not controlling, i t  is relevant. General 
receives the benefit of volume discounts obtained by Automatic 
from its suppliers, which discounts would not be available to 
General if i t  dealt directly with Automatic's suppliers. In addi- 
tion, General receives refunds by reason of savings on Auto- 
matic's income taxes due to Automatic's now being a member 
of the GT&E System. In view of benefits to General, resulting 
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from the affiliation, we cannot deem the fact that Automatic 
earns, on its own net investment in its properties, a return 
somewhat higher than that which might be deemed reasonabIe 
earnings by General, on the equity component of its own capital 
structure, sufficient basis for disallowance of part of the 
prices actually paid by General to Automatic in the computa- 
tion of General's rate base. We are compelled to the conclusion 
that there is no substantial evidence in this record to support 
a finding that the prices charged by Automatic to General 
are so excessive as to indicate bad faith or mismanagement by 
the directors of General. The complete absence of any evidence 
tending to show an abuse of the doctrine of the corporate 
entity so as to conceal excessive rates for telephone service 
distinguishes this case from Utilities Commission v. Morgan, 
At torney General, supra. 

Consequently, we hold that the Court of Appeals erred in 
affirming the deduction by the Commission of $978,000 from 
General's "net investment in plant" (original cost less depreci- 
ation) by reason of profits earned by Automatic upon its sales 
to General. This finding by the Commission is not supported by 
the evidence. 

Deduction F r o m  Rate Base O n  Account Of Excess 
Margin I n  Central O f f i ce  Equipment  

Witnesses for General testified to the following effect con- 
cerning additions to plant: 

All telephone companies operating in North Carolina had 
a combined station growth of 96% from 1960 to 1970. General's 
station growth in that period was 91.7%. 

At the time of the hearing, General anticipated that its 
construction of "outside plant," as contrasted with central of- 
fice construction and equipment, would be a larger proportion 
of its total construction program in 1971 than had been the 
case in 1970. It is moving toward a complete one-party service; 
that is, it is moving toward the elimination of two-party and 
multi-party lines. [This will, of course, increase its average 
revenue per telephone without any increase in the present 
rates for service. It will also increase to some extent its invest- 
ment in plant per telephone.] 

The company contemplates gross additions to its telephone 
plant in North Carolina, including both interstate and intra- 
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state operations, of approximately $10,000,000 per year for 
the next five years. In the three year period ending 30 Novem- 
ber 1970, General's investment in telephone plant in service in 
North Carolina increased from $30,143,000 to $50,809,000, an 
increase of 69%, and in the same period its primary or main 
telephones in service increased from 41,338 to 51,096, an in- 
crease of 24%. 

The Chief Engineer of the Commission, Mr. Clemmons, 
testified : 

General's investment in central office equipment increased 
127.5% for the three years of 1967, 1968 and 1969. This increase 
was a t  such a rapid rate that main station growth has not 
been able to keep pace with the investment. He made a study 
to determine whether General's investment in plant incIuded 
central office equipment not reasonably needed during the 
test period. As a result of this study he found that on 31 
March 1970, the end of the test period, there were 16,202 lines, 
representing an investment of $1,457,000, and 7,236 terminals, 
representing an investment of $253,355 available but not in use. 

Mr. CIemmons aIso made a study to determine the engi- 
neering interval for the last line and terminal additions a t  
each central office. In his opinion, an engineering interval of 
two and one-half years for large central office additions and 
three years for small additions is reasonable. The term "en- 
gineering interval,'' so used by him, means the period beginning 
with the completed installation of the equipment and ending 
when i t  is completely in service, so that it no longer affords 
margin for further growth in business. Substantial line and 
terminal additions were made during the test period, or within 
the few months immediately preceding it. The long engineering 
intervals, for which these additions made during, or just prior 
to, the test period provided, resulted in the above mentioned 
lines and terminals being included in the plant during the test 
period in excess of those needed for a two and one-half year 
engineering interval. The company's program for conversion 
of its system to an all one-party service is scheduled to be 
completed by the end of 1973, with most of the conversion 
to be completed by the end of 1972. Consequently, this does 
not explain the excessive quantity of lines and terminals ex- 
ceeding the two and one-half year engineering interval. 
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Mr. Clemmons' final conclusion was that "the quantity of 
lines and terminals installed just prior to and during the test 
period was exceptionally large for the reason that they were 
in some cases engineered for long periods of time and also 
the regrade program required more equipment than would 
normal growth." Exhibit 22, prepared and introduced in evi- 
dence by this witness, showed that at  the end of the test 
period the company had 9,842 lines, representing an invest- 
ment of $885,900, and 4,711 terminals, representing an invest- 
ment of $164,830, installed but not actually in use, all of which 
exceeded the appropriate engineering interval of two and one- 
half years from the end of the test period. In the witness' opin- 
ion, this was excess plant margin at  the end of the test period. 
A substantial portion of the lines and terminals, installed but 
not in use at  the end of the test period, will be used for regrade 
and new growth a t  some time in the future. 

Rule 1-21 (b) (1) of the Rules of Practice Before the 
Utilities Commission, promulgated pursuant to G.S. 62-72, 
requires that the exhibits and direct testimony of expert wit- 
nesses to be offered by the Commission's staff in a general 
rate case be reduced to writing, filed with the Commission 
and made available to the utility company not less than twenty 
days prior to the commencement of the hearing. Thus, General 
had full notice of the evidence to be given by Mr. Clemmons. 
Nevertheless, General offered no evidence to rebut his expert 
opinion that two and one-half years is a reasonable engineering 
interval for the planning and installation of lines and termi- 
nals for future station growth, or to rebut his testimony that, 
as of the end of the test period, General had installed the above 
mentioned lines and terminals which were not in use a t  the 
end of the test period and which could not reasonably be an- 
ticipated to be put in use until more than two and one-half 
years after the end of the test period. These unused lines and 
terminals represent a total investment of $1,050,730, which is 
reflected in the net investment (original cost less depreciation) 
shown on General's books. The Commission, in reaching its 
finding of the original cost, less depreciation, eliminated 
$690,340 on this account. The Court of Appeals held this was 
error. The city contends the full amount of the excess, as 
shown in the testimony of Mr. Clemmons, should have been 
eliminated. 
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[27] The burden of proof is upon the utility seeking a rate 
increase to show the proposed rates are just and reasonable. 
G.S. 62-75; G.S. 62-134 (c) ; Utilities Commission v. Railway Co., 
267 N.C. 317,148 S.E. 2d 210. 

[28] The question for determination in connection with an 
alleged overbuilding of the utility plant is whether the proper- 
ties in question can be deemed "used and useful" in rendering 
the service, as of the end of the test period. If not, they may 
not properly be included in the rate base. G.S. 62-133 ; Utilities 
Commission v. Morgan, Attorney General, supra, a t  p. 268; 
Utilities Commission v. Gas  Co., 254 N.C. 536, 548, 119 S.E. 
2d 469. As the Supreme Court of Oregon said, in Pacific Tele- 
phone & Telegraph Co. v. Wallace, 158 Ore. 210, 231, 75 P. 2d 
942, 951 : 

"We are well satisfied that the company cannot in- 
clude within its valuations property which i t  neither used 
nor was useful to the public service. Property which was 
not reasonably necessary to the adequate furnishing of 
telephone service must be excluded from the rate base." 

Similarly, in St. Joseph Stockyards Co. v. United States, 
11 F. Supp. 322, 329 (W.D. Mo.), aff'd 298 U.S. 38, 56 S.Ct. 
720,80 L.Ed. 1033, the Court said: 

"The matter of including or excluding land or property 
held for business expansion in the rate base is the matter 
of who-the ratepayers or the company-shall carry prop- 
erty which is not being used to produce the service paid 
for by the rate. Obviously, i t  may be proper and good 
business judgment may sometimes dictate provision for 
future expansion of the business, It is equally clear that, 
so f a r  as the present ratepayers are concerned, there must 
be a limit to the extent to which they can be compelled to 
pay for providing possible future facilities for future 
business. While a broad power and discretion must be left 
undisturbed in company management, yet, even as to ex- 
penditures directly entering into the present service for 
which the now customer pays, this discretion is not beyond 
control. [Citations omitted.] It would seem that such con- 
trol should be much more extensive where the expenditure 
has no part whatsoever in furnishing the service paid for. 
In fact, the general doctrine is that the rate base is made 
up of values used in furnishing the service." 
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Justice Holmes, speaking for the Court in S a n  Diego Land 
& T o w n  Co. v .  Jasper, 189 U.S. 439, 446, 23 S.Ct. 571, 47 L.Ed. 
892, said: 

"If a plant is built * * * for a larger area than i t  finds 
itself able to supply, or, apart from that, if i t  does not, 
as  yet, have the customers contemplated, neither justice 
nor the Constitution requires that, say, two-thirds of the 
contemplated number should pay a full return." 

At the time he so spoke, the Supreme Court of the United States 
followed the view that the Federal Constitution required regu- 
latory commissions to comply with the rule of Smytlz v .  Ames,  
169 U.S. 466, 18 S.Ct. 418, 42 L.Ed. 819, from which G.S. 
62-133 is derived. 

Justice Cardozo, speaking for the Court in Columbus Gas 
& Fuel Co. v. Public Utilities Commissio~z, 292 U.S. 398, 407, 
54 S.Ct. 763,78 L.Ed. 1327, said : 

"[Certain gas leases purchased by the utility] ought 
not i11 fairness to be capitalized until present or imminent 
need for use as sources of supply shall have brought them 
into the base upon which profits must be earned. To capital- 
ize them sooner is to build the rate structure of the 
business upon assets held in idleness to abide the uses of 
the future." 

To the same effect are: Cedar Rapids Gaslight Co. v .  City  
o f  Cedar Rapids, 144 Iowa 426, 120 N.W. 966, 969, and Public 
Service Commission v. Montana-Dakota Utilities Co. (N.D.) ,  
100 N.W. 2d 140, 150. 

[29,30] On the other hand, a public utility is under a present 
duty to anticipate, within reason, demands to be made upon it  
for service in the near future. Idaho Underground Water  Users 
Association v. Idaho Power Go., 89 Idaho 147, 404 P. 2d 859; 
Wisconsin Telephone Co. v .  Public Service Gommissim,  232 
Wis. 274, 343, 287 N.W. 122. Substantial latitude must be 
allowed the directors of the utility in making the determina- 
tion as to what plant is presently required to meet the service 
demand of the immediate future, since construction to meet 
such demand is time consuming and piecemeal construction 
programs are wasteful and not in the best interests of either 
the ratepayers of the stockholders. Springfield v. Springfield 
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Gas & Electric Co., 291 111. 209, 234, 125 N.E. 891, 901 ; Latour- 
neau v. Citizens' Utilities Co., 125 Vt. 38, 209 A. 2d 307; Pacific 
Telephone & Telegraph Co. v. Department of Public Service, 
19 Wash. 2d 200, 142 P. 2d 498; Wisconsin Telephone Co. v. 
Public Service Commission, supra; 73 C.J.S., Public Utilities, 
$ 18a. However, Commission action deleting excess plant from 
the rate base is not precluded by a showing that present acquisi- 
tion or construction is in the best interests of the stockholders. 
The present ratepayers may not be required to pay excessive 
rates for service to provide a return on property which will 
not be needed in providing utility service within the reasonable 
future. 

[31] The overbuilding of plant may occur in a variety of ways. 
For example, a spare tire is presently used and useful in the 
operation of an automobile, but twenty spare tires carried in 
the trunk would be beyond the limit of sound management. 
A power line may properly be built to carry voltage in excess 
of that required to serve customers presently in a growing area, 
since otherwise a line constructed today must be replaced within 
a short time. Latourneau v. Citixens Utility Co., supra. An 
office building or a storage warehouse may properly be built 
today, with capacity larger than presently needed, if greater 
need may reasonably be expected in the near future. A pipe 
line may be laid today in the mere hope that some day the area 
i t  reaches may be occupied by industries and in the belief that, 
in that event, the cost of laying such a line may be greater 
than now. See, Pacific Telephone & Telegraph Co. v. Depart- 
ment of Public Service supra, a t  p. 513. The inclusion of such 
a line in the utility's rate base places an unreasonable burden 
on today's ratepayers. Thus, the fact that a transmission line, 
a building or a telephone company's central office equipment is 
not presently used to its full capacity does not necessarily justify 
the exclusion of any portion of i t  from the rate base on the 
theory that such portion is not presently "used and useful" in 
rendering servjce. On the other hand, a telephone company, with 
central office equipment sufficient to serve any reasonably 
anticipated increase in customers, may not properly add to its 
rate base additional units of central office equipment merely 
because, in the long future, i t  hopes to have customers who 
will use it. This is especially true where the supplier of such 
equipment is an affiliated corporation, controlled by the same 
holding company which controls the telephone company. 
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1321 It must be borne in mind that, customarily, the utility 
selects the time for filing an application for an increase in 
its rates for service and thereby fixes the test period. Within 
limits, it has the opportunity to pad its rate base with excess 
additions to plant immediately before or during the test period. 
Such additions to plant will produce little or no revenues dur- 
ing the test period and so will artificially depress the rate of 
return for such period. If rates for service are now fixed so as 
to yield, from the customers served at the end of the test 
period, a fair return on the total plant, including such excess 
construction, then, in the future years, when the excess plant 
is actually rendering service and producing revenue, the return 
on the total plant may well be excessive. The self interest of 
the utility alone may well lead its management into such 
speculative construction of plant. While the Commission should 
allow the directors of the utility considerable latitude in the 
exercise of their business judgment, concerning how much 
plant is presently required to meet the service obligations of 
the utility in the immediate future, the courts must give the 
Commission some measure of discretion in the discharge of 
its duty to protect the ratepayers against a padded rate base. 
The Commission's determination, supported by substantial evi- 
dence, may not properly be set aside by the reviewing court 
merely because a different conclusion could have been reached 
upon the evidence. Utilities Commission v. Morgan, Attorney 
General, supra, a t  p. 267 ; Utilities Commission v. Railway Co., 
267 N.C. 317, 326, 148 S.E. 2d 210; Utilities Commissioln v. 
Champion Papers, Inc., 259 N.C. 449, 130 S.E. 2d 890; Utilities 
Commission v. Railway Co., 254 N.C. 73, 84, 118 S.E. 2d 21; 
Utilities Commission v. Towing Corp., 251 N.C. 105, 109, 110 
S.E. 2d 886. 

1331 The question of whether specific property is presently 
"used and useful" in rendering service is one of fact to be de- 
termined by the commission upon competent and substantial 
evidence. Southern New England Telephone Co. v. Public 
Utilities Commission, 29 Conn. Super. 253, 282 A. 2d 915, 919; 
Latourneau v. Citizens Utilities Co., supra. On this question, 
the burden of proof is upon the utility to show that the property 
should be included in its rate base, for it has the burden of 
showing that its proposed increase in rates is just and reason- 
able. G.S. 62-75 ; G.S. 62-134 (c) . 
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[34] There is unquestionably substantial, competent evidence 
in the record before us to support the finding of the Commis- 
sion that a substantial portion of the property of General, 
asserted by i t  to be a proper part of its rate base, consisted of 
central office equipment not to be used by it in rendering tele- 
phone service within the reasonable future. General, having 
full advance knowledge that this evidence would be offered by 
the Commission Staff, did not introduce any evidence to refute 
it. Under these circumstances, i t  was error for the Court of 
Appeals to set aside the Commission's finding that such excess 
property should be excluded from the computation of the origi- 
nal cost, less depreciation, in arriving a t  the fair value of the 
properties of General used and useful in rendering telephone 
service. 

The city's exception to the refusal of the Commission to 
subtract from the original cost, less depreciation, of the prop- 
erties the full amount deemed by Mr. Clemmons to be excess 
plant margin cannot, however, be sustained. The finding of 
the Commission as to the extent of the excess is supported, 
though not compelled by the testimony of Mr. Clemmons, him- 
self. 

Fair Value Of The Properties 

In its application, General alleged that the net book cost 
of its properties used in intrastate service in North Carolina 
as of the end of the test period, 31 March 1970, was $33,467,015, 
which, together with its cash working capital and materials 
and supplies on hand, gave it a total net investment, as of that 
date, in the amount of $34,531,781. This includes plant under 
construction a t  the end of the test period and the amount elimi- 
nated by the Commission as excess plant margin. It alleged 
that the net trended cost of its properties, including the above 
mentioned items, was such as to give it a rate base as of the 
end of the test period of $43,480,850. The testimony and exhibits 
prepared and introduced by General's controller, Mr. Redman, 
are to the effect that the original cost of its intrastate plant 
in service a t  the end of the test period was $39,030,988 against 
which General has, through annual charges with Commission 
approval, accumulated a depreciation reserve in the total 
amount of $6,635,641, giving i t  an end of period net investment 
in plant of $32,395,347 (original cost less depreciation). This 
figure also includes plant under construction and the amount 
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disallowed by the Commission as excess margin. [Thus, the ac- 
cumulated depreciation reserve is approximately 17% of the 
original cost of the properties prior to any deductions for these 
items.] 

General's Witness McGrath testified that the trended cost 
of the properties, including plant under construction and the 
entire plant margin, as of the end of the test period, was 
$52,930,678 and the net trended cost thereof was $49,409,698. 
[The difference, $3,520,980, is this witness' allowance for de- 
preciation, this being only 6.65% of his estimated trended cost 
of the properties.] Apparently, Mr. McGrath's figures relate 
to General's entire plant in North Carolina, including the por- 
tion attributable to interstate service, which if true, would 
require a substantial further reduction therefrom. His estimate 
of 6.65% depreciation was the result of his inspection of the 
plant and the exhibit prepared and introduced by him showed, 
among the several property accounts [i.e., types of property], 
he observed only "pole lines" to have depreciated as much as 
the 17% reflected in General's accumulated depreciation re- 
serve. 

Mr. McGrath testified that his trended cost figure was 
intended by him to represent the "fair value" of General's 
properties. In this computation, he made no determination as 
to whether the plant in service was properly engineered. He 
testified, "I trended what was on the books of the company 
* * * I don't know what the book reserve [for depreciation] 
is. I haven't had it. * * * I am out there telling the condition, 
physical condition of the plant as of today. * * * I am taking 
the original piece of equipment  and replacing it, t h e  same 
design, brick for b~ ic le ,  and value has nothing to do with poten- 
tial buyers and sellers and value on the market. It is my under- 
standing that it is replacing, and the fair value is set up for me 
to replace i t  as an Engineer. I cannot go out and re-engineer a 
plant." (Emphasis added.) In response to the question, "Re- 
placement is something that would render the same service 
using current technology which may produce a substantial dif- 
ferent result than trending the existing plant to current cost?" 
Mr. McGrath replied: "I am not permitted to do that. That 
is not the value I am permitted to use. I would get a different 
value but I am not allowed to do it." [Thus, this witness' esti- 
mate of trended cost takes no account of obsolescence or of 
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faulty engineering, but is his opinion as to the trended original 
cost of the properties actually in use, less his own estimate 
of physical depreciation only, with no deduction for the defects 
in service described by the 51 subscriber witnesses and found 
by the Commission, many of which would appear to be attri- 
butable to the col~dition of the equipment.] 

The Commission Staff offered the evidence of its Staff 
Engineer, Mr. Cash. He testified that General's density of 181 
stations per square mile is the highest in the State and over 
four times that of the State average. From this circumstance 
he would normally expect General's investment in plant per 
telephone in service to be below the State average. However, 
General's investment in plant per station is $573.00, as com- 
pared with the State average of $526.00. He attributed Gen- 
eral's greater investment per station, in large part, to General's 
crash program of construction in 1968 and 1969. In his opinion, 
this comparative investment per station is a fact which should 
be considered by the Commission in determining the fair value 
of General's properties. 

The Commission Staff's Chief Engineer, Mr. Clemmons, 
testified that service problems still exist in several areas of 
GeneraI's operations in North Carolina. He found only 7.16% 
of the pay stations checked were in operational condition. He 
further found that the failure rate for calls, inter-office and 
intra-office combined, was 2.94% and that the number of "initial 
trouble reports per 100 stations" was 8.5, whereas the figure 
should be in the range of 6 per 100 stations. He testified: "I 
would compare Durham [i.e., General] to Southern Bell in 
Raleigh, and Raleigh's Southern Bell is reported for the month 
of December, 1970 total subscriber trouble reports of 4.22 per 
100 stations. For General * * * for December, 1970, initial 
trouble reports were 7.3 per 100 stations, Charlotte for the 
month of December 3.43, Greensboro 5.06." 

The Commission Staff Accountant, Mr. Peele, testified that 
General's investment in telephone plant in North Carolina in- 
creased $9,559,134 in the 16 months immediately prior to the 
test period used in this proceeding, and an additional $6,972,105 
as added to its investment in plant during the test period. [This 
coincides with the period in which, according to Staff Engineer 
Cash, General was engaged in a crash program of construction, 
and coincides with the period in which Chief Engineer Clem- 
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mons found the company installed the central office equipment 
f a r  in excess of a reasonable engineering interval.] 

G.S. 62-133(b) requires the Commission to "ascertain," 
that is, to find "the fair value of the public utility's property 
used and useful in providing the service." In so doing, the 
statute requires the Commission to consider (1) "the reasonable 
original cost," less depreciation, (2) the "replacement cost," 
which may be determined by trending such reasonable depreci- 
ated cost to current cost levels or by any other reasonable 
method, and (3) any other relevant factor. 

1351 Quite obviously, "replacement cost" and "fair value" are 
not synonymous. I t  is equally clear that "fair value" is not an 
arithmetical average of original cost and replacement cost, less 
depreciation, nor is i t  to be "ascertained" by the application of 
any mathematical formula. Conversely, a finding of "fair value" 
by the Commission is not rendered immune to judicial review 
by the Commission's declaration that, in reaching such find- 
ing, i t  followed no formula. The statute contemplates a "con- 
sidering" or a weighing of the three factors by the Commission 
in the exercise of its own expert judgment. Utilities Commission 
v. Telephone Co., 266 N.C. 450, 454, 146 S.E. 2d 487; Utilities 
Commission v. Public Service Co., 257 N.C. 233, 237, 125 S.E. 
2d 457; Utilities Commission v. State and Utilities Commission 
v. Telegraph Co., 239 N.C. 333, 344, 349, 80 S.E. 2d 133; Rail- 
road Commission v .  Pacific Gas & Electric Co., 302 US.  388, 
398, 58 S.Ct. 334, 82 L.Ed. 319; Dazjton Power & Light  Co. v. 
Public Utilities Commission, 292 U.S. 290, 311, 54 S.Ct. 647, 78 
L.Ed. 1267; Los Angeles Gas C o ~ p .  v. Railroad Commission, 
289 U.S. 287, 53 S.Ct. 637, 644, 77 L.Ed. 1180; Minnesota Rate 
Cases, 230 U.S. 352, 434, 33 S.Ct. 729, 57 L.Ed. 1511; N e w  
England Tel.  & Tel. Co. v .  Public Utilities Commission, 148 Me. 
374, 94 A. 2d 801; State v. Hampton Water  Works  Co., 91 N.H. 
278, 18 A. 2d 765; N e w  Y o r k  Telephone Co. v. Public Service 
Commission, 309 N.Y. 569, 132 N.E. 2d 847; City of  Pittsburgh 
v .  Public Utility Commission, 187 Pa. Super. Ct. 341, 144 
A. 2d 648. 

[36-381 The determination of the weight to be given each of 
the above factors in its ascertainment of "fair value" is for the 
Commission, not the reviewing court. But if i t  is clear from 
the record that the Commission reached its finding of "fair 
value" by disregarding or giving "minimal" consideration to 
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one of the above enumerated factors, its finding of the ultimate 
fact of "fair value" may be set aside by the court on the ground 
of error of law in such ascertainment. Utilities Commission v. 
Telephone Co., 263 N.C. 702, 707, 140 S.E. 2d 319; Utilities 
Commission v. Gas Co., 254 N.C. 536, 119 S.E. 2d 469. Similarly, 
the finding of "fair value" may be set aside by the reviewing 
court if i t  clearly appears that the Commission has made its 
determination thereof by giving weight to a factor as to which 
there is no substantial evidence in the record. Utilities Commis- 
sion, v. Coach Co., 261 N.C. 384, 134 S.E. 2d 689. I t  is likewise 
where the order of the Commission shows that i t  reached its 
determination of "fair value" by considering unspecified facts 
other than original cost and replacement cost depreciated. 
Utilities Commission v. Public Service Co., 257 N.C. 233, 125 
S.E. 2d 457. The mere recital by the Commission that i t  has 
considered all of the factors prescribed by G.S. 62-133 in arriv- 
ing a t  its ascertainment of "fair value" does not preclude the 
court from setting aside the finding of "fair value" where 
the record discloses any of the above mentioned errors of law. 
Utilities Commission v. Public Service Co., supra. 

[39] It seems inescapable that the Commission cannot "con- 
sider" or "weigh" an element until i t  first determines what 
that element, itself, is. No doubt, the Commission, in the pres- 
ent case, formed an opinion satisfactory to itself, as to the 
amount of the "replacement cost," depreciated, of the proper- 
ties included in its determination of the "reasonable original 
cost," since i t  said i t  had given consideration thereto. Unfor- 
tunately, though it set forth its finding of the "net investment" 
[i.e., the reasonable original cost, less depreciation], i t  failed to 
set forth its finding of the "replacement cost," depreciated. We 
do not construe this omission as an acceptance by the Commission 
of Mr. McGrath's conclusion, for, as we have indicated above, his 
conclusion was predicated, in substantial part, upon certain 
items the Commission excluded from "net investment," and 
upon an erroneous treatment of depreciation. While the con- 
sideration or weight to be given "replacement cost," depreci- 
ated, in ascertaining "fair value" rests in the sound discretion 
of the Commission, the reviewing court cannot satisfactorily 
determine whether the Commission considered or weighed this 
element a t  all, or merely gave it "minimal consideration," unless 
the Commission sets forth what it found this element to be. 
Though perhaps not indispensable to the validity of such find- 
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ing, it would be proper, and certainly helpful to the reviewing 
court and to the parties, for the Commission to state, a t  least in 
summary, its reasons for not acquiescing in the figures sug- 
gested for this element by the respective expert witnesses. 

1401 Original cost, less depreciation, and replacement cost, less 
depreciation, are not ultimate facts but evidential facts only. 
The ultimate fact, in this segment of a rate case, is "fair value." 
However, G.S. 62-133 requires that these evidential facts be 
considered or weighed by the Commission in determining this 
ultimate fact. This is not to say that in no case may the Com- 
mission fix rates to be charged by a utility for its service 
without a determination of "replacement cost," less depreciation. 
The utility, with the Commission's acquiescence, may offer 
evidence of original cost less depreciation, as its only evidence 
of "fair value." Proof of "replacement cost" is exceedingly cost- 
ly, and may be unduly burdensome, especiaIIy to a snlaII utility 
company. However, where, as here, such evidence is introduced, 
the statute seems clearly to require that the Commission make, 
and set forth in its order, its findings as to both of these evi- 
dential facts, along with any "other facts" considered by it. 
G.S. 62-79 requires that all orders of the Commission shall 
include findings upon all "material issues of fact, law, or dis- 
cretion presented in the record." Utilities Commission v. Mem- 
bership Cory., 260 N.C. 59, 64, 131 S.E. 2d 865; Smith v. Illinois 
Bell Telephone Co., 282 U.S. 133, 152, 51 S.Ct. 65, 75 L.Ed. 
255; Northern States Power Co. v. Board of Railroad Commis- 
sioners, 71 N.D. 1, 298 N.W. 423; Commonwealth Telephone 
Co. v. Public Service Commission, 252 Wis. 481, 32 N.W. 2d 247. 

141,421 We hold, therefore, that, when the record before the 
Commission presents the questions of the original cost, less 
depreciation, and the replacement cost, less depreciation, these 
are "material issues of fact," upon each of which the Commis- 
sion must make its finding. When it does so, those findings are 
conclusive, if supported by substantial evidence in the record 
and not affected by an error of law. Waving made such findings, 
so supported, i t  is for the Commission, not the reviewing court, 
to determine, in its expert discretion and by the use of "balanced 
scales," the relative weights to be given these several factors 
in ascertaining the ultimate fact of "fair value." Utilities Com- 
mission v. Gas CO., 254 N.C. 536, 550, 119 S.E. 2d 469. It 
is, of course, the prerogative of the Commission to determine 
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the credibility of evidence, even though i t  be uncontradicted. 
It is clearly the prerogative of the Commission to take into 
account, in making its finding of replacement cost, errors or 
omissions in the testimony of an expert witness purporting to 
show such replacement cost. 

[43] It must be borne in mind that the ultimate fact to be 
found is the present "fair value" of the properties. Obviously, 
the present "fair value" of a plant, physically new, but com- 
posed of outmoded, obsolete equipment, poorly designed and 
engineered, cannot exceed what it would cost to build today 
a modern, well engineered and designed plant capable of pro- 
ducing the same quantity of service a t  lower operational costs. 
See the dissenting opinion of Justice Brandeis, concurred in by 
Justices Holmes and Stone, in St .  Louis & O'Fallon Railway Co. 
v. United States, 279 U.S. 461, 488, 517, 49 S.Ct. 384, 73 L.Ed. 
798, and the authorities there cited. Consequently, the Commis- 
sion is not required to accept as a factor to be weighed, in 
determining "fair value," the full amount stated by an expert 
witness to be the cost of reproducing the exact plant now in 
operation, brick for brick, pole for pole, and wire for wire. 

1441 It is obvious that consistently poor service, attributable 
to defective or inadequate or poorly designed equipment or 
construction, justifies a subtraction from both the original 
cost and the reproduction cost of the existing plant before 
weighing these factors in ascertaining the present "fair value" 
of the properties. City o f  Altorz v. Illinois Commerce Commis- 
sion, 19 Ill. 2d 76, 165 N.E. 2d 513, 518. The Commission must, 
however, make a specific finding showing the effect i t  gave 
this relevant factor, if it made such deduction on that account. 
Utilities Commission v. Morgan, Attorney General, supra, a t  
pp. 268-269. As the Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia 
said, in Alexandria Water Co. v. City Council of Alexandria, 
163 Va. 512, 563, 177 S.E. 454: "The fact that a plant or a 
unit thereof is not well adapted to, or is inappropriate for, its 
present and/or reasonably to be anticipated future use tends 
materially to reduce its value below its reproduction new cost. 
One of the forms of inappropriateness is inappropriate engi- 
neering layout." 

G.S. 62-133 recognizes the self-evident truth that the pres- 
ent "fair value" of a utility plant, which includes properties 
installed a t  varying times over a period of many years, is not 
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to be ascertained by simply weighing the original cost new and 
the replacement cost new. From each of these there must be 
subtracted an appropriate allowance for depreciation in order 
to reach the elements which are to be considered in arriving 
a t  the ultimate fact of present "fair value." In this era of 
automation and a well nigh constant flow of inventions and new 
techniques, the ar t  of telephony is rapidly changing. Ob- 
solescence often takes a heavier toll from the value of plant and 
equipment than does physical wear and tear. 

Before there is any return whatever to the utility upon 
the "fair value" of its properties, i t  must recover its operating 
expenses, including an adequate allowance for the depreciation 
or consumption of its properties in the public service. Utilities 
Commission v. Morgan, Attorney General, supra, a t  p. 262. 
Rates for service are fixed by the Commission on the basis of 
including, as an operating expense, an annual charge for de- 
preciation, which over the anticipated useful life of the property 
will, upon its retirement from service, be sufficient in amount 
to restore to the utility the full original cost of the property. 
G.S. 62-35; Utilities Commissiom v. State and Utilities Commis- 
sion v. Telegraph Co., supra, a t  p. 346. The Commission is 
expressly authorized to prescribe "what are proper and ade- 
quate charges for depreciation of the several classes of property 
for each public utility," and to make such changes from time 
to time in these as it finds necessary. G.S. 62-35(c). 

General's charges to operating expenses for depreciation, so 
approved by the Commission, are computed on the straight line 
basis, the most frequently used of several methods for com- 
puting annual depreciation charges. Substantially, this method 
involves (1) estimating the service life of the various proper- 
ties included in the plant, (2) estimating the salvage value of 
such property a t  the end of its useful service life, (3) dividing 
the original cost of the property, less its salvage value, by the 
number of years of its anticipated service life, and (4) charg- 
ing annually to operating costs, and setting aside in a reserve 
for depreciation, an amount equal to such quotient. The reserve 
so created is customarily reinvested in the business. 

[45] If these estimates and computations are correct, a t  any 
given time during the service life of the property, the reserve 
will be in the same proportion to the original cost as the con- 
sumed portion of the property is to the total property new. 
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Obviously, as to any specific item of property, this exact rela- 
tion of accumulated reserve to accumulated actual depreciation 
a t  any given time is unlikely, since properties do not wear out 
or become obsolete a t  a uniform rate. Nevertheless, when this 
method is applied to the innumerable items constituting a 
utility plant, these having been installed in service a t  varying 
times over a period of years, a reasonably close relationship 
between the reserve and the actual accumulated depreciation is 
probable. If such relationship is not present, then the Commis- 
sion, in fairness both to the utility and to its ratepayers, may 
and should review, and make appropriate changes in, the an- 
nual charge to operating expenses on account of depreciation. 
In  State v. Hampton Water Works Co., 91 N.H. 278, 18 A. 2d 
765, 774, the Supreme Court of New Hampshire, speaking 
through Chief Justice Allen, said: "It would seem that the 
company's actual depreciation reserve, found by the Commis- 
sion to be adequate and proper, should be applied in proportion 
to reproduction costs." See also: Tobacco River Power Co. v. 
Public Service Commission, 109 Mont. 521, 98 P. 2d 886; City 
of Philadelphia v. Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission, 
174 Pa. Super. Ct. 641,102 A. 2d 428. 

In Lindheimer v. Illinois Bell Telephone Co., 292 U.S. 151, 
167, 54 S.Ct. 658, 78 L.Ed. 1182, Chief Justice Hughes, speaking 
for the Court, said : 

"Broadly speaking, depreciation is the loss, not re- 
stored by current maintenance, which is due to all the fac- 
tors causing the ultimate retirement of the property. 
These factors embrace wear and tear, decay, inadequacy, 
and obsolescence." (Emphasis added.) 

To the same effect are: Utilities Commission v .  State and Utili- 
ties Commission v .  Telegraph Co., 239 N.C. 333, 346, 80 S.E. 
2d 133; City of Cincinnati v. Public Utilities Commission, 151 
Ohio St. 353, 86 N.E. 2d 10; Solar Electric Co. v .  Pennsylvania 
Public Utilities Commission, 137 Pa. Super. Ct. 325, 9 A. 2d 
447; Chambersburg Gas Co. v .  Public Service Commission, 116 
Pa. Super. Ct. 196, 176 A. 794, 797; Wisconsin Telephone Co. u. 
Public Service Commission, 232 Wis. 274, 337-338, 287 N.W. 
122. An expert witness, who computes replacement cost by 
trending the original cost of the properties and subtracting 
from the figure, thus derived, an allowance for no element of 
depreciation, save the physical wear and tear observed by him, 
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has obviously left out the major factor of obsolescence. The 
Commission is not required by the statute to accept as the 
replacement cost factor, in its ascertainment of "fair vaIue," 
such a witness' conclusion, even though there be no other wit- 
ness on the subject of replacement cost. 

A utility, nothing else appearing, occupies a poor position 
before the Commission when, in the same rate case, i t  says, 
through one witness, that it should be permitted to continue to 
charge, as an annual operating expense, the company's long 
established and applied depreciation rates, but says, through 
another witness, the reserve, thus accumulated, does not reflect 
the portion of its properties heretofore consumed through use 
and obsolescence. 

[46] As the Wisconsin Court has said: "Manifestly, property 
does not diminish in value in accordance with a regular sched- 
ule. * * * Some new invention may require the retirement of 
a large amount of property, such as the substitution of the dial 
for the manual system. * * * It is also apparent that some de- 
preciation factors are not observable from physical inspection." 
Wisconsin Telephoae Co. v. Public Service Commission, 232 Wis. 
274, 337-338, 287 N.W. 122. Professor Bonbright has said in his 
book, "Principles of Public Utility Rates," a t  p. 98: "As a mat- 
ter  of sound accounting and sound price fixing, the rates a t  
which capital costs are gradually transformed into a series of 
charges to operating expense should be based on plausible as- 
sumptions as to downward trends in asset values in the course 
of their service lives." In the absence of convincing evidence 
t o  the contrary, the Commission is entitled to proceed on the 
assumption that the annual charges to operating expenses to 
cover depreciation, which the company has been making with 
the Commission's approval, have been so based. See also, City 
of Weslaco v. General Telephone Co. of the Southwest (Tex. Civ. 
App.), 359 S.W. 2d 260, 265, and Re Reedsburg Telephone Co., 
7 P.U.R. (N.S.) 389, 397, in which case the Wisconsin Public 
Service Commission said : 

" [Witness] Haitt's depreciation estimate is based on 
inspection of portions of the property. This method, as 
applied by Hartt, gives consideration to the physical causes 
of depreciation, but does not provide a complete allowance 
for the more or less invisible but extremely important 
causes of depreciation such an inadequacy and obsolescence. 
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For the past seventeen years this utility has followed the 
'straight-line' method of depreciation accounting. This 
method supposedly makes allowance for all factors both 
physical and functional which act to terminate the service 
lives of units of equipment. In our opinion, a utility which 
claims and has long used the 'straight-line' depreciation 
allowances in operating expenses for the ostensible pur- 
pose of replacing capital consumed in operation is estopped 
to have its property for purposes of valuation depreciated 
on some other and inconsistent basis. Either the company 
was wrong in claiming its depreciation expense or i t  is 
wrong now in claiming accrued depreciation on a different 
basis. It cannot be right in both respects." 

[47] Where, as in the present case, the accumulated reserve 
indicates a total accumulated depreciation of 17%, in absence 
of convincing evidence to the contrary, the Commission may 
discount the replacement cost new by 17% in arriving a t  the 
replacement cost factor which it is to consider and weigh in 
determining the "fair value" of the properties. If there is evi- 
dence to support such a finding, the Commission may, instead, 
discount replacement cost new by a greater or a smaller amount 
on account of depreciation, including obsolescence. Here, as 
in other phases of a proceeding instituted by the utility to fix 
its rates for service, the burden of proof is upon the utility. 
G.S. 62-75. 

The Commission may, after proper findings, further sub- 
tract from both original cost new and replacement cost new 
an appropriate allowance for the inadequacy of the plant, if 
any, indicated by the great volume of service complaints set 
forth in the evidence before the Commission. 

[47, 481 We, therefore, hold that the Court of Appeals was, 
correct in its conclusion that the Commission committed an 
error of law, in failing, in the present case, to make a specific 
finding of its determination of the replacement cost of Gen- 
eral's properties. Upon remand the Commission may, in mak- 
ing such finding, take into account the appropriate allowance 
for depreciation, including obsolescence, and the appropriate 
allowance for inadequacy, if any, of the properties due to faulty 
engineering, faulty maintenance or other circumstance. The 
Commission should make appropriate findings as to these items. 
It may further subtract from original cost and from replace- 
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ment cost, so adjusted, the appropriate amount for excess plant 
margins hereinabove discussed. 

Plant Under Constructiom At The End Of The Test Period 

[49] The Court of Appeals was correct in finding no error 
in the Commission's refusal to include in the rate base tele- 
phone plant under construction at the end of the test period. 
This is not property "used and useful" within the meaning of 
G.S. 62-133. State v. Morgan, Attorney General, supra, a t  p. 
273; same case on rehearing, 278 N.C. 235, 179 S.E. 2d 419. 

Fair Rate Of Retwn 

General's witness, Mr. Redman, testified that, as of the 
end of the test period, General did not have enough coverage 
of interest charges by earnings to permit the issuance of addi- 
tional long term debt securities under the terms of its indenture. 
"This," he said, "is true for our entire operation, not just for 
North Carolina." 

Mr. Redman's testimony and exhibits do not disclose 
directly how General's earning rate on its North Carolina intra- 
state business compares with that in each of the other states 
in which General operates. However, it does appear from Mr. 
Redman's Exhibits 13 and 14 that in the test period General's 
net operating income from North Carolina intrastate service 
was 28.8% of its company-wide net operating income, whereas 
i t  appears from his Exhibits 12 and 15 that General's net in- 
vestment in telephone plant attributable to North Carolina in- 
trastate service was only 18.8% of its company-wide net invest- 
ment in telephone plant. These exhibits appear to indicate that 
such inadequacy as there may be in the coverage of interest 
charges by earnings stems, primarily, from General's opera- 
tions in other states rather than from its North Carolina intra- 
state service. "North Carolina users of telephones are not to 
be required to furnish revenue to maintain applicant's financial 
condition which other states refuse to provide." Justice Barn- 
hill, later Chief Justice, in Utilities Commission v. State and 
Utilities Commission v. Telegraph Go., supra, at  p. 346. 

Furthermore, Mr. Redmanys testimony in this regard was 
predicated upon the inclusion in General's long term debt of an 
issue of $14,000,000 in new bonds on the day after the test 
period ended, the interest rate on that issue being 9.375%. That 
bond issue would, necessarily, depress temporarily the ratio of 
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earnings to interest charges. Clearly, the ratio maintained dur- 
ing the test period was sufficient to permit the sale of the bond 
issue of 1 April 1970. 

According to Mr. Redman, General's current construction 
program requires the attraction of a substantial amount of 
capital, in addition to funds available through the accumulation 
of its reserve for depreciation. In his opinion, to secure long 
term debt capital for such construction, General must have earn- 
ings, after taxes, equal to two times its interest charges and 
i t  would have such earnings from North Carolina intrastate 
service, in relation to interest charges attributable to that serv- 
ice, if the requested rate increases were granted in full. 

Mr. Meyer, Vice President of GT&E, was General's ex- 
pert witness on what constitutes a fair rate of return, being 
permitted to testify as an expert in that field over objection by 
the city. The substance of his voluminous testimony and exhibits 
is as  follows: 

The optimum capital structure for General is: 45.09% 
mortgage bonds ; 3.00 % debentures ; 0.02 % other long term 
debt; 5.56% short term debt; 1.93% unamortized tax credit; 
2.25% preferred stock; and 42.15% common equity (i.e., com- 
mon stock plus accumulated surplus). A fair rate of return to 
General is a composite of the cost of the debt and preferred 
stock components of such capital structure, plus a reasonable 
return on the equity component. He computed the cost of the 
bonded debt component by considering the present embedded 
cost of outstanding bonds, prior to the issue of 1 April 1970, 
which is 5.76%, the cost of that issue, which is 9.63%, and his 
opinion as to the cost a t  which a proposed issue of $6,600,000 
could be sold a t  the time of the hearing, 8%. From these factors, 
he derived a composite cost of the bonded debt component, 
6.73 %. 

Proceeding with his computation of the composite cost of 
capital to General, Mr. Meyer used the present embedded cost 
of the debenture component, 4.85%, and of the other long term 
debt component, 6%. For the short term debt component, he 
used the cost of short term debt as of the time of his testimony, 
6%, and for the preferred stock component, he used the actual 
dividend rate of 4.65 . To the "unamortized investment tax 
credit" component, Mr. Meyer assigned a cost rate of 376, al- 
though this is capital which is available to General without 
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any actual interest cost whatsoever. This left for determination 
his estimate of the cost of the common equity component of the 
capital structure. 

In Mr. Meyer's opinion, the basic test of a fair rate of re- 
turn on the common equity component of a utility's capital 
structure is "the comparable earnings test." Since a public 
utility has no right to a profit such as is anticipated in a highly 
profitable, speculative venture, he restricted his study of earn- 
ings of other companies to "comparable utilities," both telephone 
and electric, also taking into account the coverage of interest 
charges by earnings required to give General an A rating on 
its bonds. His conclusion was that a reasonable return to Gen- 
eral on the equity component of its capital structure was he- 
tween 11.5% and 13.5%. Considering all components in com- 
bination, he concluded that "a fair range of rate of return * * * 
on the rate base" would be 8.5 % to 9.5 %. 

In the opinion of Mr. Meyer, the common equity component 
of General's actual capital structure as of the end of the test 
period, 36.0370, was too low and would tend to increase the 
cost of the debt component of his optimum capital structure. 
In this observation, however, he did not take into account any 
increase in the equity component, for rate making purposes, 
by reason of the unrealized paper profit inherent in a finding 
of "fair value" in excess of book value (original cost less de- 
preciation). 

General's witnesses, Mr. Flannery and Mr. Duncan, both 
testifying for the primary purpose of showing the reasonable- 
ness of the profits earned by Automatic on its sales to General, 
demonstrated, rather convincingly, that the earnings of indus- 
trial corporations are little, if any, evidence of what rate a 
utility should be permitted to earn on the "fair value" of its 
properties. 

Mr. Flannery testified that a manufacturing company has 
"a risk factor far  greater than a public utility," and for this 
reason successful manufacturing companies ordinarily earn 
greater returns than do public utilities. His testimony as to the 
reasons for this may be summarized as follows: Manufacturers' 
sales tend to change dramatically from year to year, whereas 
public utilities have a reasonably stable growth in their rates 
of return. The cost of operation of a manufacturing company, 
as contrasted with a utility, is greatly increased by the much 
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more erratic fluctuations in revenues. The cost of labor and 
material to the manufacturing company is a much higher pro- 
portion of its revenue dollar than is the case with the utility. 

Mr. Duncan's testimony upon this subject may be summar- 
ized as follows: It is difficult to draw any meaningful com- 
parison of returns on investment between industrial companies 
without careful analysis of their comparability. This is espe- 
cially true where the comparison is between a particular com- 
pany and broad averages of rates of earnings shown by a 
number of companies in diverse industries. "Unlike most utility 
companies, return on investment on any one of the industrial 
companies included in the average can fluctuate widely, de- 
pending on many different factors. * * * Secondly, there is no 
uniform system of accounts such as is prescribed for utilities. 
* * * Return on book net worth is a relatively unimportant 
measure of the profitability of an industrial business because 
the balance sheet usually does not reflect any amount for some 
of the company's most productive assets." The profitability of 
a manufacturing enterprise is less dependent on tangible assets 
than on such intangibles as the competency of its management, 
the creativity of its research, its patents, processes and techni- 
cal drawings, the reputation of its product, the skill of its labor 
force and other intangibles which do not appear on the balance 
sheet. 

The city's witness, Dr. Olson, also used the cost of capital 
approach as the basis for his computation of a fair rate of re- 
turn for General. Including the bond issue of 1 April 1970, he 
computed the weighted cost of outstanding mortgage bonds at 
6.476 %, as contrasted with Mr. Meyer's computation of 6.73 %. 
Dr. Olson based his computation of a fair return on the equity 
component of General's capital structure upon a study of the 
ratios of earnings per share to market price per share of com- 
panies deemed by him comparable to General. His conclusion 
was that a return of 9.8% on its equity component would be 
sufficient to attract equity capital to General and so would 
be a fair return on its equity component. This contrasts with 
the range of 11.5% to 13.5% used by Mr. Meyer in his com- 
putation of the cost of equity capital to General. Like Mr. Meyer, 
Dr. Olson did not take into account in his computation any 
addition to General's equity component by reason of the un- 
realized paper profit inherent in a "fair value" rate base which 
is in excess of the original cost less depreciation. 
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Dr. Olson further testified : "The company [General] has 
included in its operating costs the higher taxes i t  would have 
paid without the investment tax credit, and this excess has been 
accumulated as an investment tax credit reserve. This reserve 
represents capital that has been accumulated by charging tele- 
phone subscribers more for Federal income taxes than the 
company actually has paid. The company pays no return on this 
capital and it should be deducted in arriving a t  the rate base 
upon which the company is entitled to earn a return." The North 
Carolina intrastate portion of this accumulated reserve is 
$690,030. 

Plant and equipment acquired with past excess allowances 
in the rate structure for operating expenses is, nevertheless, 
property of the utility. It is properly included in the rate base. 
G.S. 62-133 (b).  The appropriateness of continuing to allow, as 
an operating expense, a computation of income tax liability in 
excess of taxes actually payable is a different matter. The con- 
sideration of time lags between collections of customers' bills 
and payment of taxes and other expenses in computing the 
utility's need for cash working capital is also a different mat- 
ter. 

[SO] G.S. 62-133 (b) (4) requires the Commission to fix a rate 
of return on the "fair value" of the properties which will en- 
able the utility "by sound management" : (1) To produce a fair 
profit for its stockholders, in view of current economic condi- 
tions, (2) maintain its facilities and service, and (3) compete 
in the market for capital. This, as is recognized by all parties 
before us, is the test of a fair rate of return declared in Blue- 
field Water Works & Improvement Go. v. Public Service Corn 
mission, supra, a t  p. 692. See also, Federal Power Commission 
v. Hope Natural Gas Co., supra, a t  p. 603. The fixing of rates 
for service which will enable the utility to do these things, and 
no more, is the ultimate objective of rate making. At best, the 
result of the complex rate making procedure is an approxima- 
tion of this objective. Utilities Commission v. State and Utilities 
Commission v. Telegraph Co., supra, a t  p. 344. 

The apparent precision with which experts, both for the 
utility and for the protestants, compute the fair rate of return 
is somewhat illusory. The habitual bickering and theorizing of 
such witnesses over the relative merits of methods of comput- 
ing cost of equity capital, such as the earnings-to-price ratio 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 371 

Utilities Comm. v. Telephone Co. 

or the discounted-cash-flow, lends a false appearance of cer- 
tainty to the ultimate decision which is for the Commission. 
No doubt, either of these, or any other method adopted by a 
competent expert, will aid the witness and the Commission in 
arriving a t  an approximation of the return, which will be suf- 
ficient to attract to the utility the capital i t  will require in the 
immediate future. 

1511 It is for the Commission, not the reviewing court, to de- 
termine the credibility of and the weight to be given to all 
competent evidence, including conflicting expert opinion testi- 
mony upon this complex question and the respective methods 
used by the witnesses in their studies. As Chief Justice Hughes 
said, in Lindheimer v. Illinois Bell Telephone Co., supra, a t  pp. 
163-164, the actual experience of a utility in the attraction of 
capital, under the rates of which i t  complains, is often more 
convincing than tabulations of experts and " [el laborate cal- 
culations which are a t  war with realities are of no avail." See 
also, Federal Power Commission v. Hope Natural Gas Co., supra, 
a t  pp. 602-603. This is as true of the utility's experienced dif- 
ficulty in attracting capital on reasonable terms as i t  is of the 
utility's success in doing so, which was the situation of which 
Chief Justice Hughes spoke in the Lindheimer case. 

[52] The weighing of the evidence and the drawing of the 
ultimate conclusion therefrom as to what return is necessary 
to enable a utility to attract capital is for the Commission, not 
the reviewing court. It has been said many times that this is 
so because the Commission is a body of experts "composed of 
men of special knowledge, observation and experience" in the 
field of rate regulation. Utilities Commission v. Champion Pa- 
pers, Inc., 259 N.C. 449, 456, 130 S.E. 2d 890; Utilities Com- 
mission v. State and Utilities Commission v. Telegraph Co., 
supra, a t  p. 349. Without any intent to question the correctness 
of such statement as to the experience and abilities of the Com- 
mission or to claim expertness for the courts, this is not the 
reason for the rule. The rule applies to the newly appointed, 
inexperienced commissioner, sitting on his first general rate 
case, as truly as  i t  does to the veteran and, should the veteran 
be transferred from a seat on the Commission to a seat on the 
reviewing court, he loses immediately the preferential status 
given by this rule to his views of the matter. The reason for 
that status is not expertness in fact, but the circumstance that 
the Commission is the delegatee of the power of the Legislature. 
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The courts can modify or reverse the action of the Commission, 
in the exercise of that delegated authority, only when an error 
of law specified in G.S. 62-94 (including a violation of constitu- 
tional provisions) has occurred. 

[53] The Court of Appeals held i t  was such an error of law 
for the Commission to fix the allowable rate of return prior 
to its ascertainment of the "fair value" of General's properties 
used and useful in providing its telephone service. In this we 
find no error, in view of the rate making procedure required 
by G.S. 62-133(b). In so holding, we do not intimate, as the 
Court of Appeals did not, that the Commission's determination 
that 7.53% is a fair rate of return upon the "fair value" of 
General's properties is arbitrary or capricious, or that it is un- 
supported by competent, material and substantial evidence in 
the record, or that it is confiscatory or, per se, in excess of the 
statutory authority of the Commission. Nor are we to be under- 
stood as holding that the Commission's finding of "fair value" 
is affected by any of these errors of law. What the Court of 
Appeals held was that, wi thou t  a f ind ing by the Commission of 
the replacement cost of General's properties "used and useful 
in providing the service," the Commission's f ind ing  of "fair 
value" was affected by an error of law and, consequently, its 
finding of a fair rate of return on such "fair value" was so 
affected and was premature. 

1541 Obviously, no witness, however expert, can form an opin- 
ion, prior to the hearing, as to the fair rate of return on the 
"fair value" of the utility's properties so used and useful, since 
there is, a t  that time, no way for the witness to know what 
the Commission will determine the "fair value" to be. Until that 
determination is made by the Commission, the existing capital 
structure of the utility, f o r  ra te  making purposes, cannot be 
known. The capital structure of the company is a major factor 
in determining the risk of investing in its bonds or in its stock. 
Consequently, it is a major factor in determining its cost of 
capital, which cost determines the fair rate of return. See, Ci ty  
of A l t o n  v. I l l i no is  Commerce Commission, 19 111. 2d 76, 165 
N.E. 2d 513, 519. To comply with the statute, the Commission 
must consider and weigh testimony of expert witnesses, on the 
question of the fair rate of return, in the light of its own ad- 
justment, for rate making purposes, of the utility's actual capi- 
tal structure by its determination of the "fair value" of its prop- 
erties. Raving done so, its determinations of the rate of return 
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to be allowed, and the rates for service i t  deems sufficient to 
earn such rate of return, may not be modified or reversed by 
a reviewing court in  the absence of a violation of a provision 
of the State or Federal Constitution or of one or more of the 
other errors of law specified in G.S. 62-94(b). 

Other Assignments Of Error 

155-581 The city's exception to the ruling of the Commission 
allowing Mr. Meyer to testify as to his opinion concerning the 
cost of capital and a fair rate of return cannot be sustained. 
I n  Re Filing by  Automobile Rate Office, 278 N.C. 302, 320, 180 
S.E. 2d 155. In view of our decision in that case, we cannot 
hold that, as a matter of law, the Commission erred in permitting 
such testimony by a witness experienced in public utility ac- 
counting and related financial matters. See also, Stansbury, 
North Carolina Evidence, 2d Ed, § 132. Of course, a witness 
qualified to testify as an expert in the field of his training and 
experience is not necessarily qualified to testify as an expert in 
other fields, even though somewhat related. Hopkins v. Comer, 
240 N.C. 143, 81 S.E. 2d 369. However, the competency of a 
witness to testify as an expert is a question addressed primarily 
to the sound discretion of the trial court, or Commission, and 
its discretion is ordinarily not disturbed by a reviewing court. 
LaVecclzia v. La& Bank, 218 N.C. 35, 9 S.E. 2d 489. The fact 
that the witness is an officer or employee, or a consultant spe- 
ciaIIy retained by a party to the litigation, does not disqualify 
him as an expert. The effect of this circumstance upon the 
weight to be given his opinion is for the trial body to determine. 

We have considered each other assignment of error by 
each of the appellants and find therein nothing requiring dis- 
cussion or further modification of the decision of the Court of 
Appeals. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals, remanding this mat- 
ter to the Utilities Commission for further proceedings by the 
Commission, either upon the record heretofore compiled a t  the 
hearing before it, or after such further hearing as it may deem 
advisable, is approved, except insofar as hereinabove modified. 
This matter is, therefore, remanded to the Court of Appeals, 
with direction that it enter its judgment remanding the matter 
to the Commission for further proceedings in accordance with 
this opinion. 
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Modified and affirmed. 

Chief Justice BOBBITT, concurring in part, dissenting in 
part. 

I concur in that portion of the Court's decision which holds 
that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the deduction by 
the Commission of $978,000.00 from General's "net investment 
in plant" (original cost less depreciation) by reason of profits 
earned by Automatic upon its sales to General. With this excep- 
tion, I vote to affirm the decision of the Court of Appeals for 
the reasons set forth in the opinion of Judge Parker. I deem i t  
unnecessary to approve or disapprove the extended discussions 
in the Court's opinion relating to the determination of replace- 
ment cost, less depreciation, and other questions not directly 
presented by this appeal. These should be decided when drawn 
into focus by proper exceptions and full argument. 

Justice HIGGINS, concurring in part, dissenting in part. 

In my view the Court of Appeals committed error in con- 
firming the Commission's deduction of $978,000 from the rate 
base on account of equipment purchased from a separate though 
affiliated corporate dealer. In my opinion, the evidence in the 
record neither justifies nor supports the deduction. 

I vote to remand to the Utilities Commission for reconsid- 
eration and correction of this error. Otherwise I think the de- 
cision of the Court of Appeals is correct and should be affirmed. 

Justice SHARP, concurring in part, dissenting in part. 

I concur in the majority's decision that "the Court of Ap- 
peals erred in affirming the deduction by the Commission of 
$978,000 from General's 'net investment in plant' (orginal cost 
less depreciation) by reason of profits earned by Automatic 
upon its sales to General." 

In  all other respects I vote to affirm the decision of the 
Court of Appeals upon the grounds so succinctly stated by Judge 
Parker in the opinion of that Court. Thus, I dissent from the 
majority's decision that the Court of Appeals erred in setting 
aside the Commission's finding that General's investment in its 
North Carolina telephone plant should be reduced in the amount 
of $690,340 as "excess margin in central office equipment in re- 
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lation to the test period." In my judgment the Commission erred 
in making this deduction and this Court errs in affirming it. 

In my view, the extended discussions and pronouncements 
in the majority opinion go far  beyond the questions presented 
for decision on this appeal. The opinion is a dissertation upon 
the theory of rate making which clearly manifests the scholar- 
ship and indefatigability of the author. Yet, with all deference, 
I do not deem i t  the proper function of this Court, in any case, 
to attempt to encompass the law of future cases. Those will 
present facts and problems we cannot now anticipate, and the 
arguments which they engender may open avenues heretofore 
unexplored. 

I N  THE MATTER OF: APPEAL OF McLEAN TRUCKING COMPANY, 
WINSTON-SALEM, NORTH CAROLINA, FROM AN ACTION 
OF THE FORSYTH COUNTY BOARD OF EQUALIZATION AND 
REVIEW RELATING TO THE VALUATION AND SITUS OF 
CERTAIN OF APPELLANT'S TRACTORS AND TRAILERS FOR 
PURPOSES OF 1970 AD VALOREM TAXES 

No. 66 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Taxation 3 25- ad valorem taxes - tractors and trailers - value 
G.S. 105-294 requires that tractors and trailers, like other prop- 

erty, be appraised for purposes of taxation a t  their "true value in 
money,'' i.e., their sale value. 

2. Taxation 5 25- ad valorem taxes - appraisal 
The appraisal of property for taxation cannot be made to depend 

upon the number of units of similar properties owned by the taxpayer 
or upon the varying abilities of the several taxpayers to negotiate 
for favorable terms in buying or selling such units. 

3. Taxation $ 25- ad valorem taxes -tractors and trailers -use of 
book value 

The State Board of Assessment erred in accepting a trucking 
company's book value of its tractors and traiIers as the "true value 
in money" of such properties, since the book value is based upon 
what the company actually paid for the vehicles and, therefore, 
reflects the company's peculiar purchasing power due to the size of 
its fleet and the resulting volume of its purchases. 

4. Taxation § 25- ad valorem taxes- use of Truck Blue Book 
The use of the National Market Report's Truck Blue Book and 

its uniform application to all such vehicles listed by all taxpayers 
in the county cannot be deemed arbitrary per se, the burden 
being upon the complaining taxpayer to show that  the application 
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of such standard to his vehicles results in their being appraised a t  
a figure in excess of their market value. 

5. Evidence 5 33; Taxation fj 25- appraisal of trailers - hearsay 
There was no competent evidence before the State Board of 

Assessment supporting a county's appraisal of trailers owned by a 
trucking company, where the evidence for the county consisted of 
the testimony of two of the county's tax appraisers who stated that 
their appraisal was based upon information as to  the price of new 
trailers obtained by them from an official of a trailer manufacturer 
and from a dealer in trailers, since the testimony of the appraisers 
was hearsay and does not fall within any exception to the hearsay 
rule. G.S. 143-318. 

6. Taxation § 24- personal property - tax situs -owner's domicile 
Nothing else appearing, tangible personal property may be taxed 

a t  its full value by the state of the owner's domicile even though 
i t  is frequently taken or sent out of state during the tax  year. 

7. Taxation fj 24- ad valorem taxation - allocation between counties 
The state of the owner's domicile may determine how the value 

of property subject to its taxing jurisdiction shall be allocated among 
its several counties. 

8. Taxation 5 24- domestic corporation -personal property - tax situs 
The tangible personal property of a domestic corporation must 

be listed for taxation a t  its true value in money in the county and 
township wherein the principal office of the corporation is located. 
G.S. 105-302 (a) .  

9. Taxation § 24- personal property -apportionment between taxing 
units 

In the absence of legislative authority, the value of tangible per- 
sonal property, subject to the taxing power of this State, may not 
be apportioned between a county and any other taxing unit in or  
out of North Carolina. 

10. Taxation 3 24- tractors and trailers - apportionment of taxes 
For the tax  year 1970, there was no statutory authority in this 

State for the allocation or apportionment of the value of a trucking 
company's vehicles as between the county wherein its principal office 
is  located and other taxing units in or out of this State. 

11. Taxation 3 24- tax situs -taxation by other states 
A tax  improperly imposed by another state cannot deprive this 

State of taxing jurisdiction, nor does the election of another state 
not to tax  that  which is within its taxing power confer upon this 
State authority to tax that  which i t  could not otherwise tax. 

12. Taxation $ 24- domestic corporation - property located or used in 
another state 

A state may not tax  a domestic corporation on account of tangible 
personal property which is permanently located in another state, or 
on account of property which is habitually located and used in the 
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business of the corporation in another state, even though such prop- 
erty may occasionally come into the state of the domicile. 

13. Taxation 3 24- trucking company vehicles -allocation of value be- 
tween N. C. and other states 

The State Board of Assessment erred in allocating the value of 
all of a trucking company's tractors between North Carolina and 
other states, since that  figure included the value placed upon vehicles 
totally beyond the taxing jurisdiction of this State; i t  also erred 
in using as the allocation factor the ratio of miles traveled in North 
Carolina to the total miles traveled by all of the company's inter- 
state vehicles, since the latter figure included the miles traveled by 
vehicles not taxable in North Carolina because they never, or only 
rarely, come into this State. 

14. Taxation 3 24- trucking company -interstate vehicles - tax situs 
A trucking company was taxable for the year 1970 in the 

county wherein its principal office was located upon the full value 
of its tractors and trailers operated in interstate commerce in and 
out of this State, where no specific tractor or trailer had a fixed, 
regular route or schedule but moved from one terminal to another 
as the volunie of business required, no tax situs for such vehicles 
having been established in any other state. 

Chief Justice BOBBITT dissenting in part. 

Justice SHARP concurs in dissenting opinion. 

APPEALS by McLean Trucking Company, the County of 
FORSYTH and the City of WINSTON-SALEM from Armstrong, J., 
a t  the 19 April 1971 "A" Session of FORSYTH, heard prior to 
determination by the Court of Appeals. This case was docketed 
and argued as Case No. 86 a t  the Fall Term 1971. 

This is a companion to Case No. 65 of the same name, 
decided 10 May 1972, 281 N.C. 242, 188 S.E. 2d 452, that case 
involving the tax year 1969, whereas the present case involves 
the tax year 1970. Except for differences in the number of 
vehicles and in the valuations thereof, the facts in the two 
cases are the same with reference to the types of vehicles, 
their location and their use by the taxpayer (McLean) and 
will not be repeated here. 

At the appropriate time, McLean listed 635 tractors and 
1409 trailers for county taxes for 1970 in Broadbay Township, 
Forsyth County. In so doing McLean listed these vehicles a t  
9.62% of what McLean contended was their total tax valuation, 
this being an apportionment of such valuation on the basis sf 
the ratio of the interstate miles traveled by McLean vehicles 
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in North Carolina to the total interstate miles traveled by all 
McLean vehicles in all states in 1969, including miles traveled 
by vehicles which never come into North Carolina and which, 
for that reason, are not among the vehicles so listed by McLean. 

In due time the Tax Supervisor appraised the vehicles, 
changed the listing from Broadbay Township to Winston Town- 
ship, assessed them a t  the full assessment ratio, 58% of the 
appraised value, and refused to apportion such assessed valua- 
tion on any basis whatever. 

In due time McLean sought relief from the County Board 
of Equalization and Review, contending that:  (1) The appraised 
valuation was excessive; (2) the correct valuation should be 
apportioned on the basis above mentioned; and (3) the tax 
situs of these vehicles was Broadbay Township. The County 
Board of Equalization and Review affirmed the determinations 
of the Tax Supervisor in all of these respects. 

In due time McLean appealed to the State Board of Assess- 
ment, which conducted a hearing and received evidence. The 
State Board of Assessment made the following findings of fact: 

Unxumbered Findings 

McLean is a common carrier of property operating over 
fixed and regular routes in North Carolina and twenty-three 
other states. For the past several years, the North Carolina por- 
tion of McLean's interstate mileage has been approximately 
10%. In 1969, the figure was 9.62 %. 

This appeal relates to 635 tractors having a book value 
of $5,161,199 and 1460 trailers having a book value of $4,359,- 
513. The county has valued the tractors at  $6,295,810 and the 
trailers a t  $5,327,931. 

Numbered F ind ings  

(1) Appellant's tractors were appraised by the county on 
the basis of "average retail value" as reflected in the "Used 
Truck Blue Book" published by National Market Reports, Inc. 

(2) Used tractors will not usually sell for the said aver- 
age retail value unless they have been reconditioned by the 
dealer a t  a cost of approximataely 20% to 25% of the said 
average retail value. 
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(3) The schedule used by the county to value appellant's 
trailers was developed from conversations with representatives 
of one or more trailer sales firms. 

(4) The entire schedule is keyed to a selling price of 
$8,000 for a 1970 forty-five foot tandem trailer. 

(5) Depreciation is computed on the basis of 20% of the 
selling price for the first year and 10% of the remaining bal- 
ance for each subsequent year subject to a residual. 

(6) The county made no inspection of appellant's vehicles. 

(7) In 1970, appellant purchased 225 forty-five foot trail- 
ers a t  an average price of $6,104.81. 

(8) Appellant's book value figures are based upon actual 
cost less depreciation as allowed by the ICC; i.e., 12v2% per 
year to a residual of 15% for trailers and 162/3% to a residual 
of 10% for tractors. 

(9) The only vehicles known to have been stored in appel- 
lant's Broadbay Township "place of storage" during 1969 were 
some which had been sold by appellant but were awaiting pick 
up by the purchaser. 

(10) Of appellant's 2,918 interstate trailers, 1,409 serve 
the system a t  large and 1,509 are assigned to the various termi- 
nals throughout the McLean system. 

(11) Of the 1,509 assigned trailers, 203 are assigned to 
North Carolina terminals. 

(12) None of the said 203 trailers, except the 51 assigned 
to the Winston-Salem terminal, have been listed for taxation in 
any county in  North Carolina. 

(13) The 9.62% mileage figure was computed on the basis 
of the interstate mileage driven by all of appellant's 1,166 
interstate tractors. 

(14) The vehicles involved in this appeal have been sub- 
jected to ad valorem taxation on an apportionment basis in 
numerous taxing jurisdictions in other states. 

Upon these findings, the State Board of Assessment con- 
cluded: (1) The appraisal methods used by the county resulted 
in a valuation of the vehicles, tractors and trailers, in excess 
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of their fair market value and, in this instance, the book value 
is the best indication of the fair market value; (2) the taxable 
situs of the property is Winston Township; and (3) McLean 
is entitled to be taxed on these vehicles in a manner recognizing 
that they have acquired a partial situs outside North Carolina. 

Upon these conclusions, the State Board of Assessment held 
that the fair market value of McLean's entire interstate fleet 
of 1,166 tractors was $8,884,945, the fair market value of its 
entire fleet of 1,409 unassigned trailers was $4,207,178, that 
9.62% (the ratio of miles traveled in North Carolina by inter- 
state vehicles, to total miles traveled by all interstate vehicles) 
was the proper proportion of these valuations attributable to 
Forsyth County, that the fair market value of 51 trailers 
assigned to the Winston-Salem terminal (100% attributable to 
Forsyth County) was $152,335, making a total valuation at- 
tributable to Forsyth County of $1,411,798. 

The State Board of Assessment further held that trailers 
having a total fair market value of $453,975 were assigned to 
terminals in other counties of North Carolina and were attri- 
butable for tax purposes to those counties. It, therefore, ordered 
the taxing officials of Forsyth County and of the City of 
Winston-Salem to recompute 1970 taxes assessed upon McLean 
on account of such properties in accord with the above figures; 
i.e., applying the 58% assessment ratio to such apportioned 
value and then applying to that result the tax rate. I t  further 
ordered that McLean list in the appropriate other North Caro- 
lina counties for 1970 and other years not barred by statute 
the above mentioned trailers so assigned to those counties. 

The county and the city petitioned the superior court to 
review the order of the State Board of Assessment and reverse 
it, reinstating the action taken by the county taxing authorities. 
McLean also petitioned the superior court to review the order 
of the State Board of Assessment and to modify it in the follow- 
ing respects: (1) To include a finding that the true market 
value of the interstate equipment is that to which McLean's 
expert witnesses testified; (2) to include a finding and de- 
termination that the tax situs of the property (apportioned) is 
Broadbay Township ; and (3) with reference to trailers assigned 
to McLean's other terminals in North Carolina, to delete the 
reference in the board's order to any tax years other than 1970. 
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In the superior court ~ c ' ~ e a n  tendered a judgment, which 
would have affirmed the decision of the State Board of Assess- 
ment in all respects except (1) the determination and order 
concerning the tax situs and listing of trailers assigned to 
other terminals in North Carolina, and (2) the determination 
that the situs of the interstate tractors and trailers was in 
Winston Township. Thus, McLean abandoned in the superior 
court its exception to the valuation of its vehicles by the State 
Board of Assessment. 

The county and the city tendered a judgment in conformity 
to their contentions in their petition for review. 

The superior court entered judgment: (1) Affirming the 
decision of the State Board of Assessment that the proper tax 
situs of the interstate equipment is Winston Township; (2) 
affirming the State Board of Assessment's determination of 
the value of tne vehicles; (3) reversing that portion of the 
final decision of the State Board of Assessment which ordered 
McLean to list in counties in North Carolina, other than For- 
syth, trailers assigned to terminals located in such counties; 
and (4) remanding the matter to the State Board of Assess- 
ment for further consideration of that portion of its order 
relating to the apportionment of the value of interstate tractors 
and trailers for taxation. 

The superior court directed the State Board of Assess- 
ment to "take such additional evidence, if any, as i t  shall deter- 
mine necessary in order to make appropriate Findings of Fact 
and ConcIusions of Law,'' and to determine the apportionment 
issue in accordance with principles of law laid down in Billings 
T~ansfer  Corporation v. Davidson, 276 N.C. 19, 170 S.E. 2d 
873, and other applicable law. 

McLean appealed from the judgment of the superior court, 
contending: (1) The decision of the board on the matter of 
apportionment is supported by sufficient findings and con- 
clusions, and (2) the interstate vehicles have a tax situs in 
Broadbay Township. 

The county and city appealed from the judgment of the 
superior court, contending: (1) The court erred in affirming 
the findings and conclusions of the State Board of Assessment 
concerning the total valuation of McLean's interstate equip- 
ment; (2) the court erred in failing to adjudge that McLean 
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is not entitled to any apportionment of the valuation of its in- 
terstate vehicles; and (3) the court erred in overruling excep- 
tions by the county and city to evidence introduced before the 
board by McLean. 

There is no appeal from that portion of the judgment of 
the superior court reversing so much of the order of the State 
Board of Assessment as directs McLean to list for taxation in 
counties of North Carolina, other than Forsyth, trailers assigned 
by McLean to its terminals in those counties. 

Hamrick, Doughton and Newton,  by  Claude M.  Hamrick 
and George E .  Doughton, Jr., for  McLean Trucking Company. 

P. Eugene Price, Jr., for  Forsyth County. 

Womble, Carlyle, Sandridge & Rice, by  William F. Womble 
and Roddey M.  Ligon, Jr., for  Ci ty  o f  Winston-Salem. 

LAKE, Justice. 

In  Case No. 65, decided 10 May 1972, I n  Re M c L e m  
Trucking Co., 281 N.C. 242, 188 S.E. 2d 452, we have held 
that the tax situs of the interstate vehicles here in question 
is Winston Township. We affirm that decision. 

All references herein to Chapter 105 of the General Stat- 
utes, both as to section numbers and as to content, relate to 
statutes in effect in 1970, not to the 1971 revision of the Ma- 
chinery Act. 

G.S. 105-294 provides : 

"All property, real and personal, shall as-far as prac- 
ticable be appraised or valued at its true value in money. 
The intent and purpose of this section is to have all prop- 
erty and subjects of taxation appraised a t  their true and 
actual value in money, in such manner as such property 
and subjects of taxation are usually sold, but not by forced 
sale thereof; and the words 'market value,' 'true value,' or 
'cash value,' whenever used in this chapter, shall be held 
to mean for (sic) the amount of cash or receivables in the 
property and subjects can be transmuted into when sold in 
such manner as such property and subjects are usually 
sold." 
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G.S. 105-327(g) provides, with reference to the powers 
and duties of the County Board of Equalization and Review: 

"(1) It shall be the duty of the board of equalization 
and review to equalize the valuation of all property in the 
county, to the end that such property shall be listed on 
the tax records a t  the valuation required by law; and said 
board shall correct the tax records for each township so 
that they will conform to the provisions of this subchapter. 

* * * 
"(3)  The board * * * shall correct all errors in the 

names of persons, in the description of property, and in 
the assessment and valuation of any taxable property ap- 
pearing on said lists; shall increase or reduce the assessed 
value of any property which in their opinion shall have 
been returned below or above the valuation required by 
law; and shall cause to be done whatever else shall be 
necessary to make said lists comply with the provisions of 
this subchapter. * * * " 
G.S. 105-275, with reference to the duties and powers of 

the State Board of Assessment, provides : 

"Duties of the Board.-The State Board of Assessment 
shall exercise general and specific supervision over the 
valuation and taxation of property taxation (sic) through- 
out the State, including counties and municipalities. It 
is constituted * * * a State Board of Equalization and 
Review of valuation and taxation of property in this State. 
I t  shall be the duty of the Board: 

"(3) To hear and adjudicate appeals from the boards 
of county commissioners and county boards of equaliza- 
tion and review as to property liable for taxation that 
has not been assessed or of property that has been fraud- 
ulently or improperly assessed through error or otherwise, 
to investigate the same, and if error, inequality, or fraud 
is found to exist, to take such proceedings and to make 
such orders as  to correct the same." 

G.S. 143-318 provides, with reference to administrative 
proceedings before State agencies, such as the State Board of 
Assessment : 
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" (1) Incompetent, irrelevant, immaterial, unduly rep- 
etitious, and hearsay evidence shall be excluded. The rules 
of evidence as applied in the superior and district court 
divisions of the General Court of Justice shall be followed. 

* * * 
" (3) Notice may be taken of judicially cognizable 

facts. * * * The agency's experience, technical competence, 
and specialized knowledge may be utilized in the evaluation 
of the evidence." 

G.S. 143-315, with reference to judicial review of decisions 
of administrative agencies, such as the State Board of Assess- 
ment, provides : 

"The court may affirm the decision of the agency or 
remand the case for further proceedings; or i t  may reverse 
or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the 
petitioners may have been prejudiced because the adminis- 
trative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are: 

"(1) In violation of constitutional provisions; or 

"(2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdic- 
tion of the agency; or 

" (3) Made upon unlawful procedure; or 

" (4) Affected by other error of law ; or 

"(5) Unsupported by competent, material, and sub- 
stantial evidence in view of the entire record as submitted; 
or 

" (6) Arbitrary or capricious. 

"If the court reverses or modifies the decision of the 
agency, the judge shall set out in writing, which writing 

f shall become a part of the record, the reasons for such 
reversal or modification." 

The first step to be taken in this matter is to determine 
"the true value in money" of the tractors and trailers listed by 
McLean-635 tractors, and 1,409 unassigned and 51 assigned 
trailers-as of 1 January 1970. G.S. 105-294. This is separate 
and apart from any question of an apportionment of such value. 

The county tax appraisers valued the tractors in accord- 
ance with the Blue Book published by National Market Reports, 
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Inc. The Blue Book states one value for each tractor type and 
series, this being the publisher's opinion as to the average 
retail value of the tractors in each such series. Taking the list 
filed by McLean, the county appraiser assigned to each tractor 
shown thereon the appropriate average value. The county fol- 
lowed this procedure in valuing all tractors listed for taxation 
in 1970, irrespective of whether the owner listed one tractor 
o r  many. 

McLean offered the testimony of Mr. Phil Deans, Used 
Truck Manager of White Trucks, a division of White Motor 
Corporation. Mr. Deans classified the 635 tractors according 
to manufacturer, age and model number. He assigned a per 
unit value to each such group, giving to eight groups, contain- 
ing a total of 408 tractors, a valuation within a range, the vari- 
ation within each such range being either $250 or $500. The 
remaining four groups, containing 227 tractors, he assigned 
specific values per unit. Thus, he too assigned to the tractors 
average values. 

McLean also introduced evidence of the book value of these 
tractors, using the same classification used by Mr. Deans. The 
book values of the respective groups varied substantially from 
the values assigned by Mr. Deans. For example: Mr. Deans 
valued 90 GMC 1963 tractors a t  $2,350 per unit, whereas the 
book value was $1,578 per unit, but Mr. Deans valued 179 White 
1966 tractors a t  $4,500 to $5,000 per unit, whereas the book 
value was $6,462 per unit. Mr. Deans valued 125 White 1969 
tractors a t  $11,000 per unit, whereas the book value was 
$13,499 per unit. 

Mr. Deans testified that i t  has been his experience that 
the values stated in the Blue Book published by the National 
Market Reports, Inc., are substantially higher than the actual 
market values of such vehicles, and that in order to obtain 
a price approximating the value stated in the Blue Book, i t  is 
necessary to spend 20% to 25% thereof in reconditioning 
the truck. McLean describes the condition of all its vehicles as 
"good." 

The county, using the Blue Book value per unit, valued the 
635 tractors a t  $6,295,810. McLean's book value is $5,161,199. 

There is no Blue Book for trailers. The county appraiser 
testified that he conferred with the sales manager a t  the local 



386 IN THE SUPREME COURT [281 

In re Trucking Co. 

office of the Fruehauf Company and with a dealer in new and 
used trailers. From the information so obtained, he arrived a t  
the opinion that a new 45-foot trailer had a value of $8,000 and a 
new 40-foot trailer had a value of $7,000. To these figures he 
applied depreciation a t  the rate of 20% for the first year and 
a t  the rate of 10% of the preceding year's value in each sub- 
sequent year. The depreciation rate so applied was based 
upon information given the appraiser by the above mentioned 
dealer. Upon this basis the county appaiser valued the 1,460 
trailers, including 51 assigned to the Winston-Salem terminal, 
a t  $5,327,931. He used this method and these basic figures in 
appraising all trailers listed for taxation in Forsyth County 
in 1970, whether by McLean or by other taxpayers. 

McLean offered evidence that in 1970 it purchased 225 
new 45-foot tandem trailer units for an average cost of $6,104.81 
per unit. These 1970 purchases were, of course, not included 
in the tax list in question. Upon cross-examination, it was de- 
veloped that these purchases were in large blocks of not less 
than 60 units and McLean was given substantial price dis- 
counts due to volume. McLean further introduced in evidence 
its book value of its entire fleet of 2,918 trailers, the total 
being $8,714,122. The book value, of course, represents the 
price paid by McLean, less its computation of depreciation, and 
thus reflects similar volume discounts given McLean by its 
suppliers. McLean did not offer evidence of the book value of 
the 1,460 trailers involved in this proceeding. The State Board 
of Assessment simply assigned to these the proportionate part 
of the book value of the entire fleet. 

McLean also offered the affidavit of Mr. Harrison, the 
local Factory Branch Manager of the Fruehauf Corporation, 
which was received without objection. Mr. Harrison stated that 
he is familiar with the various types of trailers included in 
the McLean fleet and, from time to time, has made appraisals 
for McLean. Classifying McLean's entire fleet of 2,918 trailers, 
only 1,460 of which are involved in this appeal, into 30 groups 
according to manufacturer, age, type and length, he gave his 
opinion as to the average unit value in each group. McLean 
also introduced the affidavit of Robert L. Millikin, Branch 
Manager for Trailmobile, Inc., to the same general effect, 
though varying slightly as to the respective unit values of 
the several groups of trailers. There is nothing to indicate that 
either of these witnesses ever saw or appraised any one 
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of the 1,460 trailers involved in this appeal and there is no 
evidence showing that the 1,409 unassigned trailers which move 
in and out of North Carolina and which are involved in this 
appeal, fall proportionately into each of the 30 groups or classi- 
fications into which these two witnesses divided McLean's en- 
tire fleet. 

The County Board of Equalization and Review affirmed 
the tax appraiser's valuation of the 1,409 unassigned trailers 
a t  $5,141,569. The State Board of Assessment reduced this to 
$4,207,178, using McLean's book value as its measure. 

11-31 G.S. 105-294, quoted above, requires that tractors and 
trailers, like other property, be appraised for purposes of tax- 
ation a t  their "true value in money ;" i.e., their sale value. A trac- 
tor or trailer which is part of a large fleet does not, for that 
reason, have a different sale value from that which i t  would 
have if i t  were the only tractor or trailer owned by the tax- 
payer. The appraisal of property for taxation cannot be made 
to depend upon the number of units of similar properties owned 
by the taxpayer or upon the varying abilities of the several 
taxpayers to negotiate for favorable terms in buying or selling 
such units. To hold otherwise would depart from the principle 
of equality of appraisal which is fundamental in the Machinery 
Act. In accepting McLean's book value of its tractors and trail- 
ers as the "true value in money" of these properties, the State 
Board of Assessment erred, since the book value is based upon 
what McLean actually paid for the vehicles and, therefore, 
reflects McLean's peculiar purchasing power due to the size of 
its fleet and the resulting volume of its purchases. See, Annot., 
160 A.L.R. 684, 686. 

The use of the Blue Book published by National Market 
Reports, Inc., in the valuation of trucks (tractors) for taxation 
has been approved by this Court. In r e  Block Company, 270 
N.C. 765, 155 S.E. 2d 263. In that case he replied, a t  least in 
part, upon G.S. 105-428, which statute, by its terms, had no 
application to Forsyth County. I t  was repealed in 1971. We do 
not construe the omission of Forsyth from the list of counties 
to which G.S. 105-428 was made applicable as a prohibition 
against the use of the Blue Book for such purpose in Forsyth 
County. As we said in the Block Company case, a t  page 769: 

"The task of examining and appraising each of the 
thousands of trucks and cars in [Forsyth] County would 
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be almost impossible. To avoid this, the County is justified 
in using some recognized dependable and uniform method 
of valuing them. There is no 'the' Blue Book nor a 'the' 
Red Book, any more than there is a 'the' AImanac, but the 
authorities may use this type publication as a guide, and in 
the absence of merited complaint adopt figures given by 
the publication as valuations which would be subject to the 
assessment ratio. But we know that not all 1964 Buicks, for 
instance, are of the same value. One may have been driven 
200,000 miles and be almost worn out while another had 
been carefully driven for only 6,000 or 8,000 miles. One 
may be wrecked and damaged almost to the extent of use- 
lessness, in which event the taxpayer would be entitled 
to some consideration. And the owner making such a 
showing should not be taxed upon the arbitrary valuation 
placed in a publication giving no consideration to the 
condition of the article." (Emphasis added.) 

[4] Obviously, the Blue Book figure is an estimate as to the 
value of the average vehicle in the designated class. Its re- 
liability increases, however, when used as a guide to the value 
of the units in a large fleet of vehicles, such as that here in 
question. The use of such a publication and its uniform applica- 
tion to all such vehicles listed by all taxpayers in the county 
cannot be deemed arbitrary per se. As suggested in the appeal 
of the Block Company, supra, the burden is upon the complain- 
ing taxpayer to show that the application of such standard to 
his vehicles results in their being appraised a t  a figure in excess 
of their market value. G.S. 143-318 does not apply to county 
authorities. The Blue Book was introduced without objection 
a t  the State Board hearing. Furthermore, i t  is within an ex- 
ception to the Hearsay Rule. See, Stansbury, N. C. Evidence, 
2d Ed., $ 165. 

The State Board of Assessment found that used tractors 
will not sell for the Blue Book value unless they have been 
reconditioned a t  a cost of approximately 20% to 25% of that 
value. This is in accord with the testimony of Mr. Deans. How- 
ever, 75% of the Blue Book value of these 635 tractors is 
$4,721,857, whereas Mr. Deans' estimate of the value of these 
vehicles, using the upper limits of his several value ranges, was 
only $3,314,250. The book value of these vehicles was $5,161,199, 
and the board concluded that the book value is the best indica- 
tion of fair  market value in this case. The State Board of 
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Assessment never actually found the fair market value of the 
635 tractors. However, we interpret its statement concerning 
book value as a finding that such fair market value of the 
635 tractors was $5,161,199. We hold that such finding is "un- 
supported by competent, material, and substantial evidence in 
view of the entire record as submitted." 

For the reasons above mentioned, the book value of the 
trailers is not the measure of their fair market value. Also, 
MeLean's evidence that in 1970 (after the listing in question) 
i t  purchasesd 225 new 45-foot trailer units for an average price 
of $6,104.81 is not indicative of the sale price of a new 45-foot 
tandem trailer. The record shows these purchases were made 
in large blocks from the same dealer, so that the price reflects 
a substantial volume discount. Thus, the evidence does not show 
the county's appraisal based upon its information as to the 
selling price, new, of such trailers resulted in an excessive 
valuation. The testimony of Witness Harrison that Fruehauf ad- 
vertises a 40-foot trailer for $4,495 does not tend to refute the 
county's valuation for the reason that this witness stated the 
trailer so advertised is not of the same quality as those used by 
McLean. 

[5] On the other hand, there was no competent evidence 
before the State Board of Assessment supporting the county's 
appraisal of these trailers. The evidence for the county and city 
consisted of the testimony of two of the county's tax appraisers. 
Both testified that their appraisal was based upon information 
as to the price of trailers, new, obtained by them from an 
official of the Fruehauf Corporation and from a dealer in trail- 
ers. Neither the official of Fruehauf Corporation nor the dealer 
was called as a witness. Neither witness for the county and 
city purported to have basis for an opinion of his own as to 
the market value of the trailers, new or used. Neither made 
an inspection of any of the vehicles in question. 

This is not to say that there was an impropriety in their 
making their original appraisals on the basis of information so 
obtained. Such appraisals are not required to be based upon 
evidence colmpetent in a judicial proceeding. However, in a 
proceeding before the State Board of Assessment upon an appeal 
from the action of the county taxing authorities, G.S. 143-318 
governs the admissibility of evidence. I t  provides that the rules 
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of evidence as applied in the superior and district court divi- 
sions of the General Court of Justice shall be followed. While the 
testimony of these witnesses was competent to show the method 
they used in reaching their appraisal of trailers (those of 
McLean's and those of other taxpayers alike), it was not com- 
petent on the question of the correctness of those appraisals. 
It was hearsay and does not fall within any exception to the 
hearsay rule. 

There was no competent evidence before the State Board 
of Assessment as to the "true value in money" of the McLean 
trailers, except the testimony of Messrs. Harrison and Millikin, 
witnesses for McLean, each of whom valued McLean's entire 
fleet of 2,918 trailers far  below the book value thereof, which 
the board found to be the entire fleet's true value in money. 

We hold, therefore, that the superior court erred in its 
Conclusion No. 1 that the findings of fact and conclusions of 
law made by the State Board of Assessment respecting the fair 
market or true value of the equipment in question are sup- 
ported by competent and material evidence. 

The State Board of Assessment actually made no finding 
as to the "true value in money" of the 635 tractors which 
travel in and out of North Carolina. It valued McLean's entire 
fleet of 1,166 tractors a t  the book value thereof, $8,884,945, 
and valued the 1,409 trailers, unassigned by McLean to any 
terminal, at  their book value, $4,207,178. It then attributed 
9.62% of each of these amounts to Forsyth County as the tax 
value of the portion of McLean's interstate vehicles attributable 
to Forsyth County. 

[6-101 Nothing else appearing, tangible personal property may 
be taxed a t  its full value by the state of the owner's domicile 
even though it is frequently taken or sent out of such state 
during the tax year. N e w  York Central  Railroad Co. v. Miller, 
202 U.S. 584, 26 S.Ct. 714, 50 L.Ed. 1155. The state of the 
domicile may determine how the taxable value of property, sub- 
ject to its taxing jurisdiction, shall be allocated among its 
several counties. With exceptions not here material, this State 
has determined that the tangible personal property of a domes- 
tic corporation shall be listed for taxation a t  its true value in 
money in the county and township wherein the principal office 
of the corporation is located. G.S. 105-302(a) ; In r e  McLean 
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Trucking Co., supra. In the absence of legislative authority, 
the value of tangible personal property, subject to the taxing 
power of this State, may not be apportioned between such 
county and any other taxing unit in or out of North Carolina. 
I n  re Freight Carriers, 263 N.C. 345, 139 S.E. 2d 633. The 
Machinery Act of 1971 makes certain provisions for the alloca- 
tion or apportionment of the valuation of properties of truck 
companies for tax purposes, but those provisions did not become 
effective until 1 January 1972 and, consequently, have no bear- 
ing upon this appeal. G.S. 105-395. For the tax year 1970, there 
was no statutory authority in this State for the allocation or 
apportionment of the value of McLean's vehicles as between 
Forsyth County and other taxing units in or out of this State. 

[I11 The failure of the Legislature to provide for constitu- 
tionally required apportionment of the tax valuation of property 
between this and other states cannot, of course, enlarge the 
taxing jurisdiction of this State or of its counties. Obviously, 
Forsyth County may not tax McLean upon property which is 
beyond the taxing jurisdiction of North Carolina. On the other 
hand, this State's jurisdiction to tax a domestic corporation upon 
property which is outside its borders during part or all of the 
tax year does not depend upon what other states do, in fact, 
with reference to imposing taxes upon the corporation on ac- 
count of such property. A tax improperly imposed by another 
state cannot deprive this State of taxing jurisdiction, nor does 
the election of another state not to tax that which is within 
its taxing power confer upon North Carolina authority to tax 
that which it could not otherwise tax. Central Railroad Com- 
pany of Pennsylvania v. Pennsylvania, 370 U.S. 607, 613, 82 
S.Ct. 1297, 8 L.Ed. 2d 720, reh. den., 371 U.S. 856, 83 S.Ct. 15, 
9 L.Ed. 2d 93; Northwest Airlines v. Minnesota, 322 U.S. 292, 
64 S.Ct. 950, 88 L.Ed. 1283. 

1121 It is now well settled that a state may not tax a domestic 
corporation on account of tangible personal property which is 
permanently located in another state. Union Refrigerator 
Transit Co. v. Kentucky, 199 U.S. 194, 26 S.Ct. 36, 50 L.Ed. 
150. Likewise, the domiciliary state may not tax its domestic 
corporation on account of property which is habitually located 
and used in the business of the corporation in another state, 
even though such property may occasionally come into the 
state of the domicile. Central Railroad Company of Pennsylvania 
v. Pennsylvania, supra. On the basis of these principles, McLean 
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has not listed in Forsyth County its Group I tractors or its 
Class A trailers (for a description of these vehicles, see In re  
McLean, supra). The county and city do not here contend that 
those vehicles should have been listed for taxation by them. 
Thus, they are not involved in this appeal and we are not pres- 
ently required to determine the correctness of such conclusion 
as to those vehicles. 

[I31 The question of apportionment, assuming it to be applic- 
able to any of the McLean vehicles, relates only to the vehicles 
which run in and out of North Carolina in the course of Mc- 
Lean's business; that is, its Class I1 tractors and its Class B 
trailers. Only the value of these vehicles would be subject to 
apportionment and, assuming that the ratio of miles traveled 
in North Carolina to total miles traveled is the appropriate 
allocation factor, the mileage to be used in computing that 
factor would be the mileage accumulated by these vehicles only. 
Thus, the State Board of Assessment erred in allocating the 
value of all of McLean's tractors between North Carolina and 
other states, since thzt figure included the value placed upon 
vehicles totally beyond the taxing jurisdiction of North Car- 
olina. It also erred in using as the allocation factor the ratio of 
miles traveled in North Carolina to the total miles traveled by 
all of McLean's interstate vehicles, since the latter figure 
included the miles traveled by vehicles not taxable in North 
Carolina because they never, or only rarely, come into this State. 

We conclude, however, that upon this record the question 
of apportionment of Class II tractors and Class B trailers (the 
vehicles which operate in interstate commerce in and out of 
North Carolina) does not arise at  all. Billings Transfer Co. u. 
Davidson, supra. In the Billings Case, we said, a t  page 34, "The 
burden is on the taxpayer who contends that some portion of 
his tangible personal property is not within the taxing jurisdic- 
tion of his domiciliary state to prove that the same property 
has acquired a tax situs in another jurisdiction." We also said in 
the Billings Case, a t  page 34, "With respect to tangible movable 
property, a mere general showing of its continuous use in other 
states is insufficient to exclude the taxing power of the state 
of domicile," and, a t  page 33, "When a fleet of vehicles is 
operated into, through, and out of a nondomiciliary state, a 'tax 
situs' sufficient to satisfy constitutional requirements is ac- 
quired if (a)  the vehicles are operated along fixed routes and 
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on regular schedules, or (b) the vehicles are habitually situated 
and employed within the nondomiciliary jurisdiction through- 
out the tax year." The record before us does not show that 
Class I1 tractors and Class B trailers are habitually situated 
and employed in any other state throughout the tax year. Nor 
does the record show that these vehicles are operated on regular 
schedules. McLean's Witness Wells testified : 

"The period of frequency and the time within which 
trailers might leave a designated terminal to another could 
vary depending on the volume of traffic. So when you 
speak of timetables, there are no timetables on an hour or 
minute basis. There are timetables on a daily basis. 

"I would say that with respect to schedules and the 
number of trailers a t  a particular terminal, i t  would de- 
pend on the demand and need that are dictated by the 
volume of business." 

McLean's Witness Elkins testified : 

"A typical example of our operation-a truck, at  least 
one or more trucks, would be dispatched to Boston, Massa- 
chusetts, [apparently from Winston-Salem] every day and 
when they arrive in Boston, Massachusetts, they do not 
remain there as permanent fixtures. They come back out 
to various other places. I am referring to interstate equip- 
ment. It is conceivable that after this equipment arrives in 
Boston, i t  might not return to Boston for some months." 

[14] Thus, any specific tractor or trailer has no fixed, regular 
route or schedule. It moves from one terminal to another as 
the current volume of business requires. The total number of 
vehicles moving to or from any specific terminal varies from 
day to day as the volume of business fluctuates. This does not 
establish a tax situs for these vehicles in any other state in 
accordance with the rule of Billings Transfer Company v. 
Davidson, supra. Therefore, for the year 1970, McLean was 
taxable in Forsyth County upon the full value of the 635 
Class I1 tractors and the 1,409 Class B trailers. The State 
Board of Assessment erred in allocating to Forsyth County 
only a portion of the value of these vehicles and the superior 
court erred in remanding the matter to the State Board of 
Assessment for further consideration with regard to the ques- 
tion of apportionment. The matter must, however, be remanded 
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to the State Board of Assessment for further consideration 
and determination of the value as of 1 January 1970 of the 
properties of McLean here in question after due notice to all 
parties to this proceeding and an opportunity to them to pre- 
sent such evidence upon the question of valuation as may be 
competent under G.S. 143-318. 

The judgment of the superior court must, therefore, be 
modified and to that end this matter is remanded to that 
court for the entry of a judgment by i t  which shall: 

1. Affirm the final decision of the State Board of Assess- 
ment insofar as it finds, concludes and orders that the proper 
tax situs of the vehicles in question for the year 1970 is Winston 
Township ; 

2. Vacate and set aside the decision of the State Board of 
Assessment insofar as it purports to determine and fix the value, 
for the purposes of taxation by Forsyth County for the year 
1970, of the properties of McLean here in question ; 

3. Vacate and set aside the decision of the State Board 
of Assessment insofar as i t  orders McLean to list in counties 
of North Carolina, other than Forsyth County, the properties of 
McLean specified in the said decision of the State Board of 
Assessment ; and 

4. Remand this matter to the State Board of Assessment 
for the determination by i t  of the true value in money, as of 
1 January 1970, of the 635 tractors, the 1,409 unassigned trail- 
ers and the 51 assigned trailers to which this proceeding re- 
lates, and the allocation by i t  to Forsyth County of the entire 
value of such properties, for the purpose of taxation for the 
year 1970, such determination to be made by the State Board 
of Assessment following a further hearing by it, of which 
hearing all parties to this proceeding shall be given due notice 
and a t  which hearing they may offer evidence competent under 
G.S. 143-318. 

Error and remanded. 

Chief Justice BOBBITT dissenting in part. 

I dissent from that portion of the Court's decision which 
holds that the valuations placed on McLean's tractors and 
trailers by the State Board of Assessment were not supported 
by competent evidence. 
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The opinion states: "There was no competent evidence 
before the State Board of Assessment as to the 'true value in 
money' of the McLean trailers, except for testimony of Messrs. 
Harrison and Millikin, witnesses for McLean, each of whom 
valued McLean's entire fleet of 2,918 trailers far below the 
book value thereof, which the board found to be the entire 
fleet's true value in money." 

Elsewhere, the opinion states : " [W] e interpret [the state- 
ment of the Board of Assessment] concerning book value as a 
finding that such fair market value of the 635 tractors was 
$5,161,199. We hold that such finding is 'unsupported by com- 
petent, material, and substantial evidence in view of the 
entire record as submitted.' " In the last sentence, the opinion 
was quoting G.S. 143-315 (5),  the general provision describing 
the various circumstances under which an administrative de- 
cision may be reversed. 

These conclusions, standing alone, might indicate that the 
evidence of book value in this case was "incompetent" due to 
a failure in the manner of presentation. However, when con- 
sidered in context, the term "incompetent" is used to mean 
legally impermissible.  The reasoning of the opinion is this: 
McLean's "book value" reflected substantial quantity discounts 
that McLean was able to get from time to time in the purchase 
of its tractors and trailers. Such discounts do not bear on what 
each individual tractor or trailer might sell for on the market. 
"[Tlhe principle of equality of appraisal which is fundamental 
in the Machinery Act" would require that each tractor and 
trailer be valued from the standpoint of what each itern- 
each tractor and trailer-might sell for on the market. There- 
fore, the opinion concludes, book value is an improper test and 
the State Board may not even consider it. 

Seemingly, this position puts this Court in the position of 
making appraisals and usurps the discretion of the duly consti- 
tuted appraisal boards. Nowhere does it appear that the State 
Board held that McLean's book value afforded the only proper 
evidence to be considered in determining the trucks' true value 
in money. After considering several types of evidence, the 
State Board came to the conclusion that the book value more 
nearly approximated true value under the circumstances of 
this case. 
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Of course, book value is not necessarily an accurate indi- 
cator of true market value. If McLean's discounts represented 
"bargains" which McLean would not have to pass on to another 
buyer, then book value, to the extent it recognized such "bar- 
gains," would not have been properly relied upon. However, 
there is no evidence to indicate that a competitor of McLean 
who makes volume purchases from the manufacturers of trac- 
tors and trailers would be unable to obtain similar volume dis- 
counts. 

McLean is not in the business of selling used tractors and 
trailers. As of January 1, 1970, McLean had a large inventory 
of tractors and trailers for use in its business. It was the func- 
tion of the State Board to determine the market value of this 
inventory in its entirety on that date. Obviously, the willing 
buyers of large numbers of tractors and trailers would be lim- 
ited; and any prospective buyer could reasonably expect a 
volume discount in its purchase of used tractors and trailers 
a t  least equal to the volume discount it could obtain in the 
purchase of new tractors and trailers. It is for the State Board 
of Assessment to exercise its judgment as to valuations based 
on the realities of each case. 

In In r e  Block Co., 270 N.C. 765, 155 S.E. 2d 263 (1967), 
the Court approved the use of the Truck Blue Book in the 
assessment of the value of trucks (there, only six trucks). In 
Block, the Court found support for its approval for the use of 
the Truck Blue Book in Article 35A of Chapter 105 (Vol. 2D, 
Replacement 1965), entitled "Listing of Automobiles in Certain 
Counties," and specifically in G.S. 105-428. Article 35A, accord- 
ing to G.S. 105-429 thereof, did apply to Guilford County 
(involved in Block) but not to Forsyth County (involved here). 
Article 35A has been repealed. 

Since G.S. 105-429 authorized the use of the Truck Blue 
Book in Guilford County, the Court did not consider whether 
the Truck Blue Book would otherwise have been competent 
under "[tlhe rules of evidence as applied in the superior and 
district court divisions of the General Court of Justice . . . . 11 

G.S. 143-318(1). I share the view that the State Board of 
Assessment should be permitted to consider the Truck Blue 
Book along with other sources of information which competent 
appraisers would deem appropriate. Whether there was evi- 
dence sufficient to establish that the particular Blue Book 
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here considered complies with "[tlhe rules of evidence as ap- 
plied in the superior and district court divisions of the General 
Court of Justice" is not presented on this appeal. 

The valuation of McLean's tractors and trailers for the 
purpose of taxation was a matter for determination by the 
State Board of Assessment. We are not to determine whether 
i t  should have reached a different conclusion. In my opinion, it 
did not overstep its authority or the limits of its discretion in 
the valuations i t  placed upon McLean's tractors and trailers as 
of January 1, 1970. 

Justice SHARP joins in this opinion. 

STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. JOHN R. RATLIFF 

No. 43 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Criminal Law 9 84- evidence unconstitutionally obtained - exclusion 
Evidence unconstitutionally obtained is excluded in both state and 

federal courts as  an essential to due process. 

2. Criminal Law 9 84- evidence unlawfully obtained - exclusion - stat- 
utes 

G.S. 15-27 and G.S. 15-27.1, in accord with constitutional require- 
ments, render incompetent all evidence obtained (1) in the course of 
a search, (2) without a legal search warrant, (3) under conditions 
requiring a search warrant. 

3. Constitutional Law 9 21; Searches and Seizures 9 1-unreasonable 
search and seizure 

The Constitution does not prohibit all searches and seizures but 
only those which are unreasonable. 

4. Criminal Law 9 84; Searches and Seizures 3 1- search of automobile - 
probable cause 

The right to search an automobile without a warrant does not 
depend on the right to arrest but depends on the existence of probable 
cause to make the search. 

5. Criminal Law 9 84; Searches and Seizures 5 1-probable cause to 
search automobile - officer's choice 

If there is probable cause to search an automobile the officer 
may either seize and hold the vehicle before presenting the probable 
cause issue to a magistrate, or  he may carry out an immediate 
search without a warrant. 
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6. Criminal Law 8 84; Searches and Seizures 9 1- search of automobile - 
probable cause 

An officer had probable cause to believe that  defendant's car con- 
tained contraband of some sort, and a search of the car without a 
warrant was lawful, where the officer observed defendant, apparently 
nude, in a parking lot of a business establishment a t  midnight, 
defendant tried to drive away when the officer stopped, and defend- 
ant  was seen brushing something out of his lap onto the floorboard 
of the car and then appeared to kick something under the seat with 
his left leg and foot; consequently the fruits of the search, including 
a pistol found under the seat, were admissible in defendant's trial 
for homicide. 

7. Criminal Law 9 75- indigent defendant - arrest for petty misde- 
meanor - statements relating to  capital felony - right to counsel 

Former G.S. 74-451 and the decision of S t a t e  v. Lynch, 279 
N.C. 1, did not render inadmissible in a first degree murder prosecu- 
tion statements made by an indigent defendant to the arresting officer 
without benefit of counsel, where defendant had been arrested only 
for the petty misdemeanor of carrying a concealed weapon when 
the statements were made and the officer had no knowledge that a 
capital felony had been committed, since a t  all times pertinent to 
this case, an indigent charged with a petty misdemeanor was not 
entitled to the services of counsel a t  the State's expense. 

8. Criminal Law § 75- arrest for misdemeanor - statements relating to 
capital felony - in-custody interrogation 

Where defendant was arrested for carrying a concealed weapon, 
a pistol, and the arresting officer, upon discovering that  three of the 
pistol's nine chambers were empty, asked defendant where he had 
been and what he had been shooting at, defendant's unexpected 
statement that  he had shot a woman, defendant's further statement, 
in response to the officer's attempt to get more definite information, 
that  the officer was a cop and i t  was for him to locate the victim, and 
defendant's volunteered statement that  the woman might not be 
dead and the officer could be a hero, held not the result of "in-custody 
interrogation" within the purview of the Escobedo and Miranda de- 
cisions; consequently, the statements were properly admitted in de- 
fendant's trial for first degree murder although defendant was an 
indigent, was not represented by counsel and had not waived counsel 
when they were made. 

Justice HIGGINS dissenting. 

APPEAL by defendant from Bailey, J., 6 December 1971 
Criminal Session, CUMBERLAND Superior Court. 

Defendant was tried upon a bill of indictment, proper in 
form, charging him with the murder of Marilyn Best on 24 
June 1971. Being indigent, he was represented by the public 
defender. 
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The State's evidence tends to show that on the night of 
24 June 1971 Deputy Sheriff Douglas Hartley was on patrol 
on Highway 401 south. At approximately 12:15 a.m. he saw 
defendant sitting in a gray 1964 Thunderbird in the parking 
lot of Johnson Furniture Store on Raeford Road. The dome 
light of the car was on and defendant was apparently nude. 
Officer Hartley pulled into the parking lot and stopped defend- 
ant when he started to pull out. The officer observed defendant 
"making a motion like he was knocking something out of his 
lap onto the floorboard of the car." The officer got out of his 
vehicle, approached defendant's car on the driver's side, and 
observed he was dressed only in Bermuda shorts. He was sitting 
under the wheel with a knife in his hand. "I asked him to lay 
the knife down and open the car door and when he did this 
he made a kicking motion with his left leg and foot as if he 
were kicking something under the seat." He laid the knife on 
the dashboard of the car, and when he got out the officer 
reached under the seat of the car and found a .22 caliber re- 
volver. It was located directly under the driver's seat on the 
extreme left where the frame joins the floorboard of the car. 
The weapon (State's Exhibit 1) was a High Standard .22 
caliber, nine-shot revolver, serial No. 2206367. Defendant stated 
his name upon request, and the officer informed him he was 
under arrest for carrying a concealed weapon. The officer then 
read defendant's constitutional rights to him from a prepared 
copy he kept in his patrol car, and defendant acknowledged that 
he understood his rights. 

Officer Hartley then broke the weapon down and found 
that i t  contained six 2 2  long rifle shells and three empty 
chambers. The officer then asked defendant where he had been. 
Upon objection the court excused the jury and, after conduct- 
ing a voir dire examination during which only Officer Hartley 
testified, found facts substantially as above narrated and fur- 
ther found that Officer Hartley "had reasonable grounds to 
believe that something had been concealed under the floor of 
the car and . . . that i t  was reasonable to believe that said 
article constituted the fruits or evidence of a crime." In addi- 
tion, the court found "that the officer had reasonable grounds 
to believe that if said vehicle was not properly searched it would 
be moved and such evidence or fruits of crime as might be 
in i t  would be disposed of and would never again be available 
to the police." The court further found that a t  the time of the 
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arrest, and prior to making any statement, defendant had been 
given the Miranda warnings and had said he understood his 
rights; that defendant was not suspected of any crime which 
would involve a penalty of over six months; that he was not 
required to waive his rights to an attorney or other constitu- 
tional rights in writing; and that there was no showing that 
defendant was an indigent person a t  that time. Based on such 
findings the court concluded that Officer Hartley had probable 
cause to search defendant's automobile without a warrant and 
that defendant's answer in response to the officer's questions 
should be admitted into evidence. 

The jury returned to the box and Officer Hartley continued 
his testimony as follows: "After I charged Mr. Ratliff with 
carrying a concealed weapon, I asked him where he had been 
and he said out off Fisher Road and I asked him what he shot 
out off Fisher Road and he said he had just shot a woman." 
The officer then asked him for the location off Fisher Road 
where a woman had been shot and, over objection, the officer 
was permitted to testify: "He told me then, at  that point, that 
I was a cop, and for me to find out." Officer Hartley asked 
no more questions a t  that time and busied himself filling out 
a storage report to have defendant's automobile stored. De- 
fendant volunteered an unsolicited statement that the officer 
"should t ry  to find the woman, she may not be dead and then 
I could be a hero." This statement prompted Officer Hartley 
to t ry  again, without success, to learn the woman's name and 
the location. 

At this point Officer Hartley made an examination of 
defendant's car and testified, over objection, that he found a 
hatchet on the back floorboard of the car, a lady's necklace-type 
watch on the floorboard a t  the front on the right side and some 
wet one-dollar bills stuffed between the seat and console on 
the driver's side of the automobile. Defendant said the watch 
belonged to his wife, and Officer Hartley left it in the car on 
the right front floorboard where he found it. 

Officer Hartley then took defendant to the Cumberland 
County Sheriff's Office. Around 9 a.m. that same morning, 
Officer Hartley returned to the Johnson Furniture Store 
parking lot where he found two spent .22 long rifle casings "in 
an area that would have been in front and to the left'' of the 
point where defendant's car was parked when the officer first 
arrived on the scene. 
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The following morning while cleaning his patrol car, Offi- 
cer Hartley examined the back seat area where defendant sat 
the previous night on the trip to the Sheriff's office and found, 
behind the back seat, an identification card similar to those 
issued to Army dependents with a picture of Marilyn Best on 
it and bearing the following inscription: "Issued on 8th June, 
1970, expiration 27th May, 1973, issued to Marilyn Best, color 
of eyes, brown, color of hair, brown, five-nine, weighing 140. 
Date of birth, 26 October 1951. Grade, name, Private Samuel 
W. Best." 

In response to a radio call during the day of June 24, 
Officer Hartley went to the trailer home of Marilyn Best with 
a man named Paul Cunningham, a neighbor of Mrs. Best. The 
trailer door was open. Inside, Marilyn Best lay haIf in and 
half out of an easy chair. Her hair was matted with blood, and 
she had a wound on the outside of the left thigh. She was 
dressed in panties and some type of dress or nightgown which 
was above her waist. There were two bullet holes in the wall 
behind the chair. Beside the kitchen sink lay an empty lady's 
pocketbook. The sink was full of water and the contents of 
the pocketbook, "papers and things," were fIoating in it. 

Mrs. Best was having difficulty breathing. Her head was 
slumped over the left arm of the chair. She was moaning and 
apparently unconscious. Mrs. Best died in Duke Hospital five 
days later as a result of her wounds. 

Paul Cunningham, neighbor and acquaintance of Marilyn 
Best and her husband, testified that he was the owner of the 
.22 caliber pistol taken from defendant's car by Officer Hartley 
and that he had loaned the pistol to Mrs. Best on the Saturday 
before she was shot. He said she wanted to borrow i t  for her 
protection and was apprehensive because a car had stopped 
two or three times in her driveway. This witness further 
stated that a t  approximately 5 :33 a.m. on June 24 he was driv- 
ing by the Best trailer and saw the lights on and the front 
door open; that he stopped to investigate, saw Mrs. Best moan- 
ing and apparently unconscious and called the officers. 

Samuel Best, husband of the deceased, identified the lady's 
necklace-type watch found in defendant's car (State's Exhibit 2) 
as the property of his wife. He said it was given to her by 
her father and she had worn it many times. Mr. Best also 
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identified State's Exhibit 5 as the Army dependents identifica- 
tion card issued to his wife. 

SBI Agent E. B. Pierce testified that in his opinion the 
two .22 caliber cartridge casings found on the parking lot where 
defendant was parked when apprehended (State's Exhibits 
4A and 4B) had been fired in the .22 caliber revolver found 
in defendant's car (State's Exhibit 1 ) .  

Defendant offered no evidence. The jury convicted him of 
murder in the first degree and recommended life imprisonment. 
Judgment was pronounced accordingly and defendant appealed 
to the Supreme Court assigning errors noted in the opinion. 

James Godwin Taylor, Assistant Public Defender, for the 
defendant appellant. 

Robert Morgan, Attorney General, William F. O'Co.n.nel1, 
Assistant Attorney General, for the State of North Carolina. 

HUSKINS, Justice. 

Defendant's first, second and third assignments of error 
are based on the contention that the warrantless search of his 
automobile was illegal. Hence, defendant argues, the fruits of 
the search were tainted and inadmissible as evidence against 
him. 

[I, 21 Unreasonable searches and seizures are prohibited by 
the Fourth Amendment to the Constitution of the United 
States. Since the decision in Mapp u. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 6 L.Ed. 
2d 1081, 81 S.Ct. 1684 (1961), "all evidence obtained by searches 
and seizures in violation of the Constitution is, by that same 
authority, inadmissible in a state court." Thus, evidence un- 
constitutionally obtained is excluded in both state and federal 
courts as an essential to due process-not as a rule of evidence 
but as a matter of constitutional law. State u. Colson, 274 N.C. 
295, 163 S.E. 2d 376 (1968). Such was law in North Carolina 
long before the decision in Mapp. G.S. 15-27 and G.S. 15-27.1 
provide, inter alia, that no facts discovered or evidence obtained 
in the course of any search without a legal search warrant, 
made under conditions requiring the issuance of a search war- 
rant, shall be competent as evidence in the trial of any action. 
These statutes, in accord with constitutional requirements, ren- 
der incompetent all evidence obtained (1) in the course of a 
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search, (2) without a legal search warrant, (3) under condi- 
tions requiring a search warrant. State v. Coffey, 255 N.C. 293, 
121 S.E. 2d 736 (1961) ; State v. Stevens, 264 N.C. 737, 142 S.E. 
2d 588 (1965). 

[3] The Constitution does not prohibit all searches and seizures 
but only those which are unreasonable. Carroll v. United States, 
267 U.S. 132, 69 L.Ed. 543, 45 S.Ct. 280, 39 A.L.R. 790 (1925) ; 
Elkins v. United States, 364 U.S. 206, 4 L.Ed. 2d 1669, 80 ' 
S.Ct. 1437 (1960). An unreasonable search has been defined 
as "an examination or inspection without authority of law of 
one's premises or person, with a view to the discovery of . . . 
some evidence of guilt, to be used in the prosecution of a crimi- 
nal action." 47 Am. Jur., Searches and Seizures, Q 52. 

141 In recognition of the mobility of automobiles, a search of 
an automobile without a warrant is constitutionally permissible 
if there is probable cause to make the search. Carroll v. United 
States, supra; Brinegar v. United States, 338 U.S. 160, 93 
L.Ed. 1879, 69 S.Ct. 1302 (1949) ; Chime1 v. California, 395 
U.S. 752, 23 L.Ed. 2d 685, 89 S.Ct. 2034 (1969). The search 
of an automobile on probable cause proceeds on a theory entirely 
different from that justifying the search incident to an arrest. 
"The right to search and the validity of the seizure are not 
dependent on the right to arrest. They are dependent on the 
reasonable cause the seizing officer has for belief that the con- 
tents of the automobile offend against the law." Carroll v. 
United States, supra. "Automobiles, because of their mobility, 
may be searched without a warrant upon facts not justifying a 
warrantless search of a residence or office (citations omitted). 
The cases so holding have, however, always insisted that the 
officers conducting the search have 'reasonable or probable 
cause' to believe that they will find the instrumentality of a 
crime or evidence pertaining to a crime before they begin their 
warrantless search." Dyke v. Taylor Implement Manufacturing 
Co., 391 U.S. 216, 20 L.Ed. 2d 538, 88 S.Ct. 1472 (1968). 

[5] If there is probable cause to search an automobile, the 
officer may either seize and hold the vehicle before presenting 
the probable cause issue to a magistrate, or he may carry out 
an immediate search without a warrant. "For constitutional pur- 
poses we see no difference between on the one hand seizing and 
holding a car before presenting the probable cause issue to a 
magistrate and on the other hand carrying out an immediate 
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search without a warrant. Given probable cause to search, either 
course is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment." Chambers 
v. Maroney, 399 U.S. 42, 26 L.Ed. 2d 419, 90 S.Ct. 1975 (1970). 
See Note, Chambers v. Maroney: New Dimensions in the Law of 
Search and Seizure, 46 Ind. L. J. 257 (1971). Compare Coolidge 
v. N e w  Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 29 L.Ed. 2d 564, 91 S.Ct. 
2022, reh. den. 404 U.S. 874,30 L.Ed. 2d 120, 92 S.Ct 26 (1971). 

[6] Applying the foregoing legal principles to the facts in 
this case, we hold that Officer Hartley acted on reasonable 
grounds and with probable cause when he searched defendant's 
car on the spot. The officer observed defendant, apparently 
nude, in a parked car on the parking lot of a business establish- 
ment a t  midnight. Any alert officer under such circumstances 
would stop and investigate. When this officer stopped, defend- 
ant tried to drive away. Then he was seen brushing something 
out of his lap into the floorboard of the car. Then he appeared 
to kick something under the seat with his left leg and foot. 
Such suspicious, furtive conduct would alert any officer to 
the fact that defendant had something to hide. The totality of 
these exigent circumstances was sufficient to lead a man of 
prudence and caution to believe defendant's car contained 
contraband of some sort, and Officer Hartley was fully justified 
in the examination of the car which he made. He would have 
been remiss in the performance of his duties as a law enforce- 
ment officer had he done otherwise. Thus, given probable 
cause, the search which Officer Hartley made was reasonable 
by Fourth Amendment standards, and the fruits of the search 
were properly admitted in evidence. Chambers v. Maroney, 
supra; State  v. Hill, 278 N.C. 365, 180 S.E. 2d 21 (1971) ; 
State v. Dobbins, 277 N.C. 484, 178 S.E. 2d 449 (1971) ; State v. 
v. Jordan, 277 N.C. 341, 177 S.E. 2d 289 (1970). These assign- 
ments of error are overruled. 

The trial court, over defendant's objection, admitted for 
jury consideration the following statements made to Officer 
Hartley: (1) Defendant's statement that he had shot a woman 
out off Fisher Road; (2) defendant's statement that Officer 
Hartley was a cop and for him to find out for himself the 
location off Fisher Road where the shooting took place; and 
(3)  defendant's statement that Officer Hartley should t ry  to 
find the woman because she may not be dead and Hartley could 
be a hero. Defendant contends these statements were erroneously 
admitted because he was an indigent, charged with a capital 
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offense, undergoing in-custody interrogation by an officer, and 
was entitled to counsel during such interrogation under G.S. 
78-451, citing State v. Lynch, 279 N.C. 1, 181 S.E. 2d 561 
(1971), as authority for his position. Admission of these in- 
criminating statements constitutes defendant's fourth assign- 
ment of error. 

[7, 81 In our view, neither G.S. 7A-451 (1969) nor the de- 
cision of this Court in State v. Lynch, supra, have any applica- 
tion to the factual circumstances of this case. Furthermore, 
although the officer warned defendant of his constitutional 
rights and defendant stated he understood them, the decisions 
of the United States Supreme Court in Escobeclo v. Illinois, 
378 U.S. 478, 12 L.Ed. 2d 977, 84 S.Ct. 1758 (l964), and in 
Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436,16 L.Ed. 2d 694, 86 S.Ct. 1602 
(1966), have no application to the factual circumstances re- 
vealed by this record. Here, an officer on night patrol stopped 
to investigate the unusual circumstances of an apparently nude 
man in a parked car on the parking lot of a business establish- 
ment a t  midnight. In consequence of what the officer saw and 
his discovery of the pistol, he arrested defendant for carrying 
a concealed weapon, a violation of G.S. 14-269 (1969) and a 
petty misdemeanor. 

At all times pertinent to this case, an indigent charged 
with a petty misdemeanor was not entitled to the services of 
counsel a t  the State's expense. G.S. 78-451(1) (1969) ; State 
v. Morris, 275 N.C. 50,165 S.E. 2d 245 (1968). 

At the time Officer Hartley arrested defendant he had no 
knowledge that Marilyn Best had been murdered. He did not 
suspect defendant of murder. He had no reason to believe that 
defendant had committed a capital felony and did not interro- 
gate him with reference to such a crime. Even so, immediately 
upon informing defendant that he was under arrest for carry- 
ing a concealed weapon, the officer fully informed him of his 
constitutional rights and defendant said he understood them. 
His subsequent police-baiting conduct clearly indicated that he 
did understand them, that he answered only those questions he 
wanted to answer, and that he felt no compulsion to answer 
any of them. 

The conversation between Officer Hartley and defendant 
was not an in-custody interrogation of a murder suspect. While 
awaiting the wrecker which would take defendant's automobile 
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to the sheriff's office, Hartley "broke down" the pistol which 
defendant had concealed when the officer approached. When 
he observed that three of its nine chambers were empty, he 
asked defendant where he had been and what he had been 
shooting at. Considering the misdemeanor charge against de- 
fendant and his unusual attire for midnight travel, this off- 
hand inquiry was not illogical. Defendant's casual and astonish- 
ing reply was, "I just shot a woman." When the officer asked 
who and where the victim was, defendant replied that he did 
not know her name and that i t  was out on Fisher Road. The 
officer's attempt to get more definite information was un- 
successful. Defendant told him he was a cop and for him 
to find out. 

After that comment from defendant, Officer Hartley de- 
voted his attention to filling out a storage report to have defend- 
ant's automobile stored; and while thus engaged, defendant 
volunteered the information that the woman might not be 
dead and that Hartley could be a hero if he found her. 

At this disclosure i t  is rather apparent that Officer 
Hartley did not know whether he had on his hands a lunatic, 
a drug addict, a police baiter, a practical joker, or a felon. 
Obviously, the officer could not ignore the possibility that 
somewhere near Fisher Road the life of a wounded woman 
might depend on receiving immediate aid. He did what any 
officer and any other person of good will would have done 
when he tried to learn the woman's identity and where she 
could be found. To suggest that such inquiries must await a 
determination of indigency and appointment of counsel is un- 
realistic. 

To such inquiries by the officer, however, defendant, in 
obscene language, referred to the officer as a pig and refused 
any further information. At one time he said, "What if I told 
you her name began with the letter A ? What if I told you 
her name began with a B?" After thosebaiting questions from 
defendant Officer ~ a r t x ~  ceased his efforts to ascertain the 
woman's whereabouts. He went back to defendant's car where 
he found a hatchet on the floor of the back seat and a lady's 
necklace watch, which defendant said belonged to his wife, on 
the floor of the front seat. He also found three or four wet, 
folded dollar bills which he gave to defendant with an admoni- 
tion against leaving money in the car. 
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About this time the wrecker arrived and defendant in- 
quired whether Hartley was going to charge him with murder. 
Hartley told him he was under arrest for carrying a concealed 
weapon and he would not be arrested for murder until they 
found a body. Defendant said "that would be good, he could 
spend a lot of time in the penitentiary with some good cons 
and learn himself a trade like bank robbery or something of 
that nature." Hartley then asked defendant why he shot the 
woman and was informed, in vulgar language, that she would 
not consent to have intercourse with him. 

En  route to the jail defendant again told the officer that 
he should t ry  to find the woman. Then he added, "Oh, hell, I 
know she's dead because I shot her five times." At the police 
station, HartIey told defendant to tell Sergeant Norton what he 
had told him about shooting a woman and defendant said, "I 
didn't shoot a woman, I shot a man." 

The foregoing recital is a resume of the evidence which 
the judge heard on voir dire in the absence of the jury. Before 
the jury, with reference to his conversation with defendant, 
Hartley was permitted to say only that defendant told him he 
had shot a woman off Fisher Road; that Hartley was a cop 
and i t  was for him to find out where; and that he should t ry  
to find the woman because she might not be dead and he 
would be a hero. 

This narration of the questions put to defendant in the 
deserted parking lot depicts a situation entirely foreign to "in- 
custody interrogation" discussed and condemned in Escobedo 
and Miranda. I t  was no incommunicado interrogation of an  
individual in a police dominated atmosphere. After having 
volunteered the information that the woman he had shot 
might not be dead, he refused to give any additional informa- 
tion. His contention now that his conviction should be set 
aside because he was indigent and unrepresented by counsel 
must fall on deaf ears. Neither the law nor common sense 
permits or requires such a farcical result. Cf. People v. Modesto, 
62 Cal. 2d 436, 398 P. 2d 753, 42 Cal. Rptr. 417 (1965) ; com- 
mented upon in K. Graham, "What is 'Custodial Interroga- 
tion? " 14 U.C.L.A. Law Rev. 59,118 (1966). 

An officer does not question a misdemeanant a t  the risk of 
jeopardizing the prosecution of some felony he did not know 
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had been committed. Under the circumstances revealed by this 
record, we hold that the officer's questions were entirely proper 
and in nowise violated defendant's rights, either constitutional 
or statutory, and it was not error to admit for consideration 
by the jury the three statements which form the basis of 
defendant's fourth assignment of error. The first statement 
(that he had shot a woman) was a surprising and unexpected 
answer to a proper question. The second statement (that Hartley 
was a cop and i t  was for him to locate the vietim) was badger- 
ing language and does not amount to a confession. The third 
statement (that the woman might not be dead and Hartley could 
be a hero) was volunteered and its admission into evidence is 
not barred under any theory of the law. State v. Stepnezj, 280 
N.C. 306, 185 S.E. 2d 844 (1972). Defendant's fourth assign- 
ment of error is overruled. 

Other assignments relating to motion for nonsuit and for 
directed verdict are formal requiring no discussion. For the 
reasons stated the verdict and judgment of the trial court 
must be upheld. 

No error. 

Justice HIGGINS dissenting. 

Because of the suspicious behaviour of the accused, I am 
able to go along with the Court's holding that Officer Hartley 
had legal justification for searching the automobile, seizing the 
pistol, arresting the defendant for concealing i t  and there- 
after, to continue the search which produced the paper money, 
the necklace-type watch, and the military dependent's identifica- 
tion card issued to Marilyn Best. Although not without some 
misgivings, I agree that the State was entitled to introduce 
these articles in evidence against the defendant in his murder 
trial. 

Officer Hartley, alone in his officially marked automobile, 
was on highway patrol for the purpose of protecting persons 
and property. After midnight he saw a Thunderbird automobile 
parked adjacent to a mercantile building which was unlighted 
and apparently closed. As the officer entered the parking lot 
to investigate, he saw under the wheel a man apparently naked 
who, after seeing the officer enter, indicated an immediate 
desire to be elsewhere. The time, the place, and the behaviour 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 409 

State v. Ratliff 

of the occupant were sufficient to satisfy an alert officer that 
the driver should be questioned and the legality of his presence 
and purpose ascertained. The act of hiding something justified 
the officer in finding out what object the driver desired to 
conceal from the law. I believe the arrest and the search were 
warranted. State v. Hill, 278 N.C. 365, 180 S.E. 2d 21; State 
v. Jordan, 277 N.C. 341, 177 S.E. 2d 289; State v. McClozkd, 
276 N.C. 518, 173 S.E. 2d 753; Chambers v. Maroney, 399 U.S. 
42, 26 L.Ed. 2d 419. 

The majority opinion now approves Judge Bailey's con- 
clusions that the defendant's confession was admissible in 
evidence against him in his trial for murder in the first degree. 
Here are Judge Bailey's legal conclusions on the basis of which 
he ordered the confession admitted in evidence : 

" . . . . Let the record further show that a t  the time 
the defendant was not suspected of any crime which would 
involve a penalty of over six months; that he was not re- 
quired to waive his rights to an attorney or other consti- 
tutional rights in writing; and further there is no showing 
that the defendant was an indigent person a t  that time. 

"Therefore, the OBJECTION IS OVERRULED. The officer 
will be permitted to state what the defendant said to him 
in response to that question." 

Judge Bailey based his conclusions on two grounds: (1) 
The defendant was not entitled to counsel because he was being 
heId on a petty misdemeanor charge for which the punishment 
could not exceed six months; and (2) A failure to show the 
defendant was an indigent person a t  the time of the hearing. 
No doubt defense counsel in making up the case on appeal 
included only so much of the evidence as had bearing on the 
validity of the legal conclusion the defendant was not entitled 
to counsel. Totally absent is any conclusion that the defendant 
waived any rights. The conclusion is that a waiver was not 
required. 

The ruling was this: "The officer will be permitted to 
state what the defendant said to him in response t o  that  ques- 
tion." (Emphasis added.) There was discussion during the 
voir dire as to how much questioning by the officer brought 
forth the admission from the defendant that he had shot a 
woman on Fisher Road. 



410 IN THE SUPREME COURT 1281 

State v. Ratliff 

On the voir dire Officer Hartley testified after finding the 
pistol : 

4 6 . . . I asked Mr. Ratliff to take a seat in the rear 
of my car and I got into the front seat and I asked him 
further if he had any identification and he stated he did 
not. I asked him his name and he stated his name was 
John Ratliff and I then informed him he was under 
arrest for carrying a concealed weapon and I read him his 
constitutional rights. 

"I asked him if he understood them and he stated 
he did so." 

Before the jury Officer Hartley testified : 

"After I charged Mr. Ratliff with carrying a concealed 
weapon, I asked him where he had been and he said out 
off Fisher Road and I asked him where he shot out off 
Fisher Road and he said he had just shot a woman. 
Then I asked him who i t  was he shot . . . . I asked him 
what the location off Fisher Road this was where he had 
shot a woman." 

The Court attempts to say the defendant's admission that 
he shot a woman on Fisher Road did not result from interroga- 
tion. However, the record discloses that Judge Bailey, at  the 
conclusion of the voir dire, ruled the defendant's answer to 
Hartley's question was properly admissible and would be re- 
ceived in evidence. However, Judge Bailey was not willing to 
base his ruling solely on the ground that the defendant was 
not entitled to counsel, he being in custody on a petty charge, 
but added he was not entitled to counsel because he failed to 
show he was indigent. The officer's questions with reference 
to the shooting on Fisher Road and the defendant's answers 
thereto, had no bearing whatever on the charge of carrying a 
concealed pistol. The officer had seen the concealment. Obvious- 
ly, by his questions, he was seeking information as to any 
illegal use which had been made of the pistol. 

The defendant, after leaving Fisher Road, stopped in the 
parking lot. A search on the morning following his arrest dis- 
closed two empty twenty-two cartridge cases a t  the spot where 
his automobile had been parked. These had been fired from the 
High Standard pistol the officer seized. By no means improbable 
was the defendant's feeling that Hartley's questions were based 
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on the officer's knowledge that a woman had been shot on 
Fisher Road. Both Hartley and the defendant knew the ques- 
tions and answers involved something more than carrying 
a concealed pistol. As soon as the officer arrived a t  the sheriff's 
office after the arrest, Hartley requested the defendant to 
repeat what he had said about shooting a woman on Fisher 
Road. Hartley wanted another witness to the admission. This 
evidence was before Judge Bailey on the voir dire. 

While the admissions may have been proper on a charge 
of carrying a concealed weapon, before they could be used as 
evidence on a charge of murder in the first degree, they had 
to qualify under G.S. 78-457. This they could not do. Judge 
Bailey's petty misdemeanor test where no attorney is required, 
must fail. State v. Lynch, 279 N.C. 1, 181 S.E. 2d 561, required 
a written waiver. State v. Wright, 281 N.C. 38, 187 S.E. 2d 761, 
precluded any waiver either oral or written in a trial for mur- 
der in the first degree. The offense occurred and the admis- 
sions were made before the rewrite of G.S. 78-457 by Chapter 
1243, Session Laws of 1971, 

The applicable law in effect a t  the appropriate time is 
here quoted : 

"(a)  An indigent person who has been informed of 
his rights under this subchapter may, in writing, waive any 
right granted by this subchapter, if the court finds of rec- 
ord that a t  the time of the waiver the indigent person 
acted with full awareness of his rights and of the conse- 
quences of a waiver. In  making such a finding, the court 
shall consider, among other things, such matters as the 
person's age, education, familiarity with the English lan- 
guage, mental condition, and the complexity of the crime 
charged. A waiver shall not be allowed in a capital case." 
(Emphasis added.) 

Judge Bailey's conclusion a waiver was not required is not sus- 
tained. 

Sudge Bailey's second ground for admitting the confes- 
sion (lack of indigency) also must fail. The defendant had 
been declared to be indigent and counsel had been appointed 
for him long before Judge Bailey's hearing. Judge Bailey heard 
no evidence, made no findings with respect to indigency, and 
while the question of indigency may be raised a t  any time, 
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when once established, however, the finding continues until 
evidence is heard and the finding made that indigency no 
longer exists. 

The case on appeal recites : "ORDER DETERMINING INDIGENCY 
AND APPROVING ASSIGNMENT OF PUBLIC DEFENDER appears in 
the original transcript on file in the Office of the Clerk of the 
Supreme Court." This order bears the date of July 15, 1971. 

The trial judge did not hear evidence and did not make 
any finding on the question of indigency. Until the trial judge 
conducted a further inquiry and found facts showing lack of 
indigency, he could not ignore the former adjudication. The 
record does not permit assumption that indigency no longer 
existed. True, under G.S. 78-450 (c) , "The question of indigency 
may be determined or redetermined by the court a t  any stage 
of the action or proceeding at which an indigent is entitled to 
representation." This is so because an indigent may become 
solvent or a solvent person may become an indigent before the 
case is terminated. G.S. 78-450 (a) states : "An indigent person 
is a person who is financially unable to secure legal representa- 
tion and to provide all other necessary expenses of 'epresenta- 
tion in an action or proceeding enumerated in this subchapter." 

"Sec. 78-451 (b) In each of the actions and proceedings 
enumerated in subsection (a) of this Section, entitlement 
to the services of counsel begins as soon as feasible after 
the indigent is taken into custody or service is made upon 
him of the charge, petition, notice or other initiating 
process. Entitlement continues through any critical stage 
of the action or proceeding, including, if applicable : 

(1) An in-custody interrogation ; 

(2) A pre-trial identification procedure a t  which the 
presence of the indigent is required ; 

(3) A hearing for the reduction of bail, or to fix 
bail if bail has been earlier denied ; 

(4) A preliminary hearing ; 

(5) Trial and sentencing ; and 

(6) Direct review of any judgment or decree, includ- 
ing review by the United States Supreme Court of 
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final judgments or decrees rendered by the high- 
est court of North Carolina in which decision 
may be had." 

The foregoing requires counsel or a valid waiver through all 
stages of the proceeding and it is presumed assigned counsel 
will continue so long as the case is undecided by the courts. 
State v. Wright, supra. 

Judge Bailey did not find the defendant had waived coun- 
sel. He found defendant was not entitled to counsel. This Court, 
however, attempting to bolster Judge Bailey's conclusion, has 
attempted to add a finding (not made by him) that the con- 
fession was made voluntarily and not as a result of interroga- 
tion. Questioning by officers arouses the suspicions if the 
subject is under arrest or under any sort of official restraint. 
"We have concluded that without proper safeguards the process 
of in custody interrogation of persons suspected or accused of 
crime contains inherently compelling pressures which work to 
undermine the individual's wiIl to resist and to compel him to 
speak where he would not otherwise do so freely." Miranda u. 
Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 16 LEd.  2d 694, 719. As I read Miranda, 
any sort of in-custody interrogation "contains inherently com- 
pelling pressures." The result is any admissions'made as a 
result of in-custody questioning are inadmissible unless proper 
safeguards are provided. Counsel must be provided or legally 
waived. The Court's attempt to evade the rule by saying the 
defendant was in custody only on a minor charge is certainly 
not persuasive. If the Court is correct, the officers may arrest 
for speeding, find money in the automobile, and ask questions 
which result in the admission of a bank robbery. The con- 
fession could be admitted in a charge of bank robbery because 
it was obtained while the accused was under arrest only for a 
petty misdemeanor. Surely the rule requiring counsel may not 
be abrogated by a device quite so simple and transparent. 

This Court has said.: "Since defendant was then arrested 
and in custody, the testimony as to what defendant said on 
that occasion would be incompetent if defendant's statements 
were made in response to interrogation by officers." State v. 
Jackson, 280 N.C. 563, 187 S.E. 2d 27. " . . . (1)n-custody 
statements attributed to a defendant, when offered by the 
State and objected to by the defendant, are inadmissible fo r  
any purpose unless, after a voir dim hearing in the absence 
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of the jury, the court, based upon sufficient evidence, makes 
factual findings that such statements were voluntarily and 
understandingly made by the defendant after he had been 
fully advised as to his constitutional rights." State v. Catrett, 
276 N.C. 86, 171 S.E. 2d 398. For modification of the Catrett 
rule see State v. Bryant, 280 N.C. 551, 187 S.E. 2d 111; Harris 
v. New York, 401 U.S. 222, 91 S.Ct. 643, 28 L.Ed. 2d 1. There 
is no presumption a confession is voluntary. State v. McCloud, 
supra. 

This Court has made a frail attempt to say the defendant 
volunteered the confession and that it did not result from inter- 
rogation. What difference does it make if the confession results 
from a few or from many questions? The word interrogation 
comes to us from the Latin and is a combination of the prefix 
"inter" and the verb "rogare" which means to ask, to inquire, 
to question. Judge Bailey's reasons for admitting the defend- 
ant's confession made in response to Hartley's questions are not 
impressive. The Court's attempt to make them admissible as  
having been voluntary, does not appear to be an improvement. 
The Court seems to take the position the confession was not 
obtained by interrogation. The Court fails to advise how many 
questions and answers are required before the process amounts 
to interrogation. 

What is said herein is not intended as any criticism of 
Officer Hartley's interrogation of the accused. In my opinion, 
Hartley acted properly in attempting to find out what, if any, 
illegal use had been made of the pistol. But the constitutional 
prohibition against self-incrimination and G.S. 7A-457 made 
the confession inadmissible for the purpose of making out the 
State's case in chief. The evidence, however, might very well 
be pertinent in rebuttal, if the case reaches the rebuttal stage. 
State u. Bryant, supra; Harris v. New York, supra. The officer 
could make use of the admissions in pursuing his investigation, 
but this use did not make them admissible in the trial. 

In  civil cases a trial judge is clothed with both legal and 
equitable powers. In criminal cases he may "temper the wind 
to the shorn lamb" or he may "add heat in proper degree." He 
sees, hears, and evaluates. On the other hand, the appellate 
court acts on a cold record which it must interpret according 
to fixed rules and standards. Penal statutes must be construed 
strictly in favor of the accused. State v. Spencer, 276 N.C. 
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535, 173 S.E. 2d 765; State v. Ross, 272 N.C. 67, 157 S.E. 2d 
712. For stability, these rules and standards should remain con- 
stant. I complain that the Court's opinion in this case is trial 
court oriented. 

A defendant, regardless of guilt, is entitled to require the 
State to make out its case by competent evidence. If this Court 
permits the guilty to be convicted on incompetent evidence, the 
innocent will soon fall victim to the rule. 

I vote to award the defendant a new trial on the ground his 
confession was erroneously admitted over his objection. 

STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. WILLIAM HARRISON BOLIN 

No. 114 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Homicide 14- intentional shooting causing death-second degree 
murder 

If defendant intentionally shot decedent and thereby inflicted 
bullet wounds which proximately caused decedent's death, nothing 
else appearing, defendant would be guilty of murder in the second 
degree. 

2. Criminal Law 1 104- motion for nonsuit -consideration of evidence 
On a motion for judgment as in case of nonsuit, the evidence 

must be considered in the light most favorable to the State; contra- 
dictions and discrepancies, even in the State's evidence, are matters 
for the jury and do not warrant nonsuit. 

3. Criminal Law $0 90, 104- statement by defendant -introduction by 
State - showing that  facts are different 

The introduction in evidence by the State of a statement made 
by defendant which may tend to exculpate him does not prevent 
the State from showing that  the facts concerning the crime were 
different from what the defendant said about them. 

4. Homicide 14- self-defense -burden of proof 

If and when the jury found that  defendant intentionally shot 
decedent and thereby inflicted wounds which proximately caused 
his death, i t  was incumbent on defendant to show to the satisfaction 
of the jury that  he acted in self-defense and that  in doing so he 
used no more force than was or reasonably appeared necessary under 
the circumstances to protect himself from death or great bodily 
harm. 
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5. Homicide 9 21- self-defense as matter of law-insufficiency of evi- 
dence 

Written statement signed by defendant, which was offered into 
evidence by the State, to the effect that  defendant and his companion 
had an argument with decedent in a poolroom, that  decedent stated 
that he had a "forty-five and a thirty-two" in his car and threatened 
to shoot defendant, that  defendant went by his home and got a shot- 
gun, that  defendant and his conlpanion returned to the poolroom to 
offer an employee of the poolroom a ride home, that  the operator of 
the poolroom toid defendant that decedent was still there and that  
he had better watch out, that defendant parked in a nearby parking 
lot, that  decedent came out of the poolroom toward defendant's truck 
and said something like, "I'm going to teach you some manners," 
that defendant stuck his gun out the window and told decedent 
he had better look a t  what defendant had and stop, that  decedent 
put his hand in his pocket and defendant thought he was going to 
get a knife or gun, and that  defendant shot decedent when he kept 
coming and was about five feet away, held insufficient to establish 
as  a matter of law that  defendant aeted in self-defense, the question 
of self-defense being for the jury to determine. 

6. Criminal Law 9 46- evidence of flight 

Defendant's flight from the scene of a killing was competent 
for consideration by the jury in connection with other circumstances 
in passing upon whether defendant was guilty of unlawful homicide, 
but was not admissible to prove premeditation and deliberation. 

7. Homicide 3 21- first degree murder - sufficiency of evidence 

The State's evidence was sufficient to require the submission to 
the jury of an issue of defendant's guilt of first degree murder where 
i t  would support findings by the jury that  defendant and his com- 
panion had an argument with decedent in a poolroonl, that, contrary 
to defendant's contention, decedent did not threaten defendant or 
his companion with a deadly weapon of any kind and did not have 
such a weapon, that  defendant and his companion drove to defendant's 
home, got defendant's shotgun, returned to the poolroom area and 
parked in a nearby parking lot, that  defendant returned for the 
purpose of confronting decedent, that defendant, with the shotgun 
in his lap, waited until decedent emerged from the poolroom, that 
decedent, after going to his car, was prompted or induced in some 
manner to approach defendant's truck, that decedent had a beer can 
in his hand and no weapon on his person, and that  as  decedent 
walked toward defendant's truck, defendant shot him and immediately 
drove away. 

APPEAL by defendant from Long, J., November 22, 1971 
Session of FQRSYTH Superior Court. 

Defendant was indicted, in the form prescribed by G.S. 
15-144, for the murder of Buiel A. Wiles on September 9, 1971. 
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It was stipulated that Wiles died on September 9, 1971, 
as the result of a gunshot wound inflicted by defendant. 

The only evidence was that offered by the State. I t  con- 
sists of exhibits and the testimony of each of the following 
witnesses: Donald W. Allred (Allred) ; Roy Tinley Scales 
(Scales) ; Harold Gray Huff (Huff) ; James H. Teele (Teele) ; 
and C. E. Cherry (Cherry). Allred, Teele and Cherry are mem- 
bers of the Police Department of Winston-Salem. Scales is the 
owner of Stadium Drive Lunch. Huff works there as an em- 
ployee of Scales. Exhibits include (1) a statement signed by 
defendant, and (2) a diagram showing what the pathologist 
would testify as to "the point of injury and the angle trajectory 
after the pellets entered the body." 

There was evidence tending to show that Stadium Drive, 
Winston-Salem, North Carolina, runs north and south; that 
Stadium Drive Lunch and its unpaved parking lot are north 
of Kashway Food Store and its paved lot, all being on the 
west side of Stadium Drive; that a grass median which sepa- 
rates the parking lots is 18 feet wide and slopes toward the 
Stadium Drive Lunch parking lot; and that i t  is 86 feet 
from the north side of the median to the south side of the 
Stadium Drive Lunch building. 

The testimony of each witness, summarized except when 
quoted, is set forth below. 

In response to a call which he received a t  4:02 a.m., Allred 
(accompanied by J. C. Caudin, then a member of the Winston- 
Salem Police Department) went to the Stadium Drive Lunch 
(1716 Stadium Drive), arriving a t  4:05 a.m. Re found the 
lifeless body of Wiles lying on the southern edge of the grass 
median, 104 feet south of the Stadium Drive Lunch building 
and 20 feet west of the sidewalk along the west side of 
Stadium Drive. 

Allred searched Wiles's body and the adjacent "well- 
lighted" area. He found "a Budweiser beer can," containing 
approximately two ounces, a foot from Wiles's right arm. He 
found no knife or gun on Wiles or in the vicinity of his body. 
He also searched Wiles's Thunderbird car, including the trunk, 
but found no weapon. The Thunderbird was parked close to 
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the south side of the Stadium Drive Lunch building. The keys 
to the Thunderbird were in the ignition. 

Allred saw no people a t  the scene where Wiles's body was 
found except Scales, Huff and Ted Abrum Gerrey (Gerrey). 
When Allred arrived, Gerrey and Scales were inside the build- 
ing. Huff came out "of the drive" when Allred drove up. 

The Stadium Drive Lunch building fronts on Stadium 
Drive. It consists of two rooms. There are tables and a bar 
in the front room where beer and sandwiches are sold. There 
is a pool table in the back room. Scales and Huff, his employee, 
were operating this place of business on the night of September 
8th and during the early morning of September 9th. 

Defendant and Gerrey entered the Stadium Drive Lunch 
together. Wiles came in later. They played pool in the back 
room and stayed until all other customers had left. They played 
pool in the back room until Scales "told them [he] was closing" 
and "sent them off." Defendant and Gerrey left first. When they 
left the building, Scales went out "the back side door," which 
was between the south side of the poolroom and Stadium Drive 
Lunch parking lot, "to empty some trash." He saw defendant 
and Gerrey get in a truck and leave. Wiles stayed there "for 
a while" and talked to Scales and Huff while they were "clean- 
ing the place up." When Wiles left the building, Scales "closed 
the place up and locked the door." "A few minutes later" Scales 
"heard a shot." Huff opened the back side door and left the 
building. Upon his return, Huff told Scales that Wiles had 
been shot and Huff then "called the officers and ambulance." 
When the officers arrived, Scales "went down to where the 
body [of Wiles] was." Scales noticed that the left front door 
of Wiles's car was open. During the evening, Scales had been 
"up front most of the time," not paying "a great deal of atten- 
tion" to what was going on in the poolroom. He heard no argu- 
ment between defendant and Wiles. He did not hear Wiles say 
anything "about having a gun" or "about threatening to shoot 
the defendant Bolin a t  any time that evening or at  any other 
time." He heard no discussion between defendant and Wiles 
regarding a dollar bet on pool. At or about the time they 
were leaving, he heard them talking "about a shot that some- 
body had made," but knew of "no heated argument" between 
them. 
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Although admittedly uncertain as to the time (times) and 
time intervals, Scales testified that defendant and Gerrey 
came into his place between 9 :00 and 10:OO p.m. on September 
8th; that Wiles arrived shortly after midnight; that defendant 
and Gerrey left about 2:45 a.m.; that Wiles left from fifteen 
to forty-five minutes later; that he heard the shot from five 
to fifteen minutes later; and that Huff was gone from three 
to five minutes before returning to call the officers and ambu- 
lance. 

Bolin and Wiles "knew one another" and "always seemed 
to be friends." Huff "heard no argument between Wiles and 
Bolin" whenever he "went back into the pool area." When he 
went back "to start cleaning up," he heard a discussion over 
a shot on the pool table. Defendant and Wiles had a dollar bet 
on whether Wiles could make a certain shot, and Wiles missed 
the shot. There "wasn't a heated argument," hut "just poolroom 
talk is about all." " [Als a result of the argument," Wiles passed 
back to defendant a dollar which defendant had previous'iy given 
him. Defendant and Gerrey left the Stadium Drive Lunch to- 
gether. Wiles stayed inside the place approximately 10-20 
minutes and then left. Wiles had a Budweiser beer can in his 
hand "[wlhen he left the poolroom part of the place." "Some- 
thing like ten or fifteen minutes after [Wiles] left," Huff 
heard a shot and thereupon went out the side door. He did 
not see a vehicle of any kind except Wiles's Thunderbird. He 
noticed that "[tlhe door on the driver's side was open." Huff 
walked up to where Wiles's body was lying, saw that he was 
dead, and came back and called the police. Huff was outside 
"a minute, a minute and a half." 

Huff "did not hear any kind of threats a t  all that Wiles 
was going to shoot Bolin," and "did not hear any statements 
of whether or not [Wiles] had a forty-five or thirty-two in his 
car or anything like that." Huff did not hear Wiles "tell Bill 
Bolin he was going to shoot him," and "did not see any guns 
outside, inside, or anywhere else." Huff also testified that 
Gerrey was not in the Stadium Drive Lunch building when he 
heard the shot but was there when he returned. Scales had 
been taking Huff home whenever he helped him and Huff 
planned to go home with Scales that evening. 
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On September 9th, after 3:00 a.m., Teele was driving 
south on Stadium Drive a t  about ten miles an hour. In passing, 
he observed "a couple of cars" parked in the Stadium Drive 
Lunch parking lot and a '"light-colored pickup truck" parked 
in the Kashway Food Store parking lot. The headlights on the 
pickup were shining toward Stadium Drive. He observed that 
there were two people in the pickup but could not tell "whether 
they were black or white." Ten or fifteen minutes later, when 
he was approximately a mile away, Teele heard a radio broad- 
cast "of a shooting a t  the Stadium Street Lunch." He "turned 
around," drove back and pulled into the parking lot of the 
Stadium Drive Lunch. As he started to get out of his car, 
"a person" standing a t  or near the front door of Stadium Drive 
Lunch pointed toward Kashway Food Store and said, "It hap- 
pened up that way." He headed south again on Stadium Drive 
and started to pull into the parking lot at Kashway Food 
Store "when several other cars arrived at the scene." He had 
seen no one there when he arrived a t  Stadium Drive Lunch. 
He saw the body "on the north edge of the parking lot with 
the upper portion . . . turned to the north . . . into a grassy 
area and the lower part . . . extending onto the parking lot." 
(Note: Apparently, Teele left the scene without participating 
with other officers in the investigation.) 

At 4:30 a.m. on September 9th, Detective Sergeant Cherry 
was assigned to investigate the killing of Wiles. After talking 
with Scales and Huff, he attempted without success to locate 
defendant, checking a t  his home and 'kt the Post Office where 
he was employed." 

On Sunday, September 12th, about 2:00 a.m., a t  his resi- 
dence, Cherry received a telephone call from a man who identi- 
fied himself as defendant's brother. As a result, the sheriff 
met defendant, one of defendant's brothers and defendant's 
attorney, at  9:00 a.m. on Sunday, September 12th, in the office 
of the Detective Division. Defendant was advised fully of his 
constitutional rights and signed "a waiver of rights," which 
was witnessed by defendant's brother. Defendant then made a 
statement which was taken down in shorthand, transcribed, sub- 
mitted to defendant for corrections, then signed by defendant 
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and witnessed by Cherry and by defendant's brother. Defend- 
ant's statement, which was admitted in evidence without ob- 
jection, is quoted below. 

"I was leaving to go home. I was down a t  Southside with 
Mr. Yates in the six hundred block of Waughtown adjacent to 
McLean Trucking Company just to the east side. They have a 
shuffleboard game in there and I was playing a game of 
shuffleboard and one or two other people got in the game. I 
don't know their names, but one was a blond-headed girl and 
a man named Gene Dudley was watching. There were two more, 
but I don't know their names. This man that I know, Teddy 
Gerrey, he asked if I would give him a ride to Roy's Lunch on 
Stadium Drive, about the eight hundred block. I said, 'Yes, 
I will give you a ride,' so we arrived down there and I went in 
and sat down and was just sitting there and Ted asked if I 
would like to play a game of pool and I said, 'Yes, I'll play you 
a game,' so we went back to the poolroom to play a game of 
pool and some of the people that were there were Charlie 
Cryner and Gene Dudley. I played a couple of games and Ted 
left the poolroom and somebody said, 'Let's just play for a 
beer,' and I said, 'Okay, let's play and the loser will buy the 
beer,' so, I won a game or two and then Bill Wiles won a game. 
We played three or four games. 

"After nearly through the last game, I offered to bet Bill 
Wiles a dollar that he would not make the last ball and buy a 
beer. Bill Wiles was not going to win the game because this 
dark-haired guy about five feet seven inches or five feet eight 
inches about a hundred eighty-five or ninety pounds was going 
to win. He was a gentle acting man. This was about 12:30. I 
knew that I should have already been home. I wasn't paying 
any attention to the time. When Bill lost, he got awfully mad 
and he was going to jump all over me, and Ted Gerrey told 
him he heard what was going on and the man was right and 
to leave me alone. I said, 'Bill, listen to the man or ask this 
other fellow sitting here.' He said yes, he heard what was said 
and it was just like what he said and then Bill jumped on 
Ted. He didn't ever hit me. He jumped on Ted. Then, Bill 
Wiles said, 'If you people don't like what I do, I have got a 
forty-five and a thirty-two out in the car and I'll just blow your 
brains out.' Huff and Ted Gerrey heard Bill Wiles say this. Then, 
the dark-haired man pushed Bill Wiles out of the door and 



422 IN THE SUPREME COURT 1281 

State v. Bolin 

took him to the car. So, I walked up to the front and I said 
hello to Charlie Cryner. He works a t  McLean's and I was talking 
to him and he was kidding Harold Huff and I was going to ask 
Harold Huff if he wanted a ride home and Charlie said, 'Do you 
need to borrow any money,' and I said, 'No, I have got some 
money in my pocket.' So, I was going to see if Huff wanted a 
ride home, so I told Ted to come on and I would give him a 
way home. He said, 'That man is going to do what he says. 
Bill means what he says.' So, I went by my home and picked 
up my shotgun and Ted was with me. 

"So, I stopped by Roy's and parked out front and Roy 
walked out the front door and I said, 'Is Huff still there?' and 
Roy Scales said, 'Look out, that fellow is still in there and you 
had better watch out. You had better not park here.' So, I just 
pulled on down the street and stopped on the parking lot of 
Kashway Food Store and my truck was headed north of the 
luncheon. Just as  soon as I got stopped, Bill Wiles came tearing 
out that door and he came up the bank waiking south. He came 
out the side door and walked south towards my truck and he 
came up and looked at me and said something to me, I can't 
remember, but it was something like 'I'm going to teach you 
some manners,' and he kept on walking and he reached in his 
pocket and I thought he was going to get a knife or gun. I 
didn't know what he was doing. I thought about leaving, but 
I didn't know what he was going to do. I said, 'Bill, you better 
stop where you are,' and he was about four or five feet away 
from me. He was on the left side of my truck. I just told him 
he better stop, but he didn't stop. He just kept on coming and 
he just moved faster. I had my shotgun in my lap and I just 
raised my gun up and shot him. The first time I told him to 
stop, I stuck my gun out the window and told him he had better 
look a t  what I had and stop, but he didn't. He just put his hand 
in his pocket. I just cut loose when he kept on coming and he 
fell in front of my truck. He was about five feet away when 
I shot him. Ted Gerrey was in the truck at this time. He 
jumped out of the truck and ran in the luncheon in the back 
door and told me to go on so I did. 

"I don't know if anybody was drinking beer in there or 
not. Gerrey was present when Bill Wiles told me he had a 
thirty-two and a forty-five in his car and so was Huff. They 
heard Wiles say he would blow my brains out. After I left 
the parking lot a t  the luncheon, I went to Thomasville and 
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came back through High Point and stopped in High Point 
and cashed a check and got some gas a t  a service station and 
came back halfway between Winston-Salem and High Point 
and drove down Cumley Road and drove to a sawmill and got a 
hose and tried to commit suicide. I stayed there for two nights. 
Then, Saturday night, I came back home. I figured I had better 
get it straight.'' 

After signing the statement, defendant was "taken into 
custody and charged with the offense" for which he was tried. 

Cherry testified that defendant told him that Gerrey was 
in the truck when defendant shot Wiles; and that defendant 
had thrown the gun "in Salem Creek.'' 

Cherry also testified that i t  was exactly 2.2 miles from 
Stadium Drive Lunch to where defendant lived. 

In his cross-examination of Cherry, defendant's counsel 
elicited testimony which tended to show the following: Scales 
had told Cherry that Wiles and defendant "had started arguing 
after they started closing up and he [Scales] went back and 
told them he didn't want any trouble, they would have to leave." 
After defendant was "taken in custody," Gerrey was picked up 
and brought to the Police Department. After reading defend- 
ant's statement, Gerrey said "it was a true and accurate account 
of what had taken place" ; "that when they had left Roy's Lunch 
that he was planning to go home but that the defendant drove 
to his house instead and got the shotgun and came back." 

The jurors were instructed to return one of the following 
verdicts: "guilty of first degree murder; or guilty of first 
degree murder with a recommendation of life imprisonment; 
or guilty of second degree murder; or guilty of manslaughter; 
or not guilty." 

The jury returned a verdict of "guilty of first degree 
murder with a recommendation of life imprisonment." Where- 
upon, the court pronounced judgment which imposed a sentence 
of life imprisonment. Defendant excepted and appealed. 

Attorney General Morgan and Associate Attorney Sauls for 
the State. 

White, Crumpler & Pfefferkorn,  by  Fred G. Crumpler, Jr., 
Michael J. Lewis and G. Edgar Parker, for defendant appellant. 
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BOBBITT, Chief Justice. 

Defendant assigns as error (1) the court's denial of his 
motion under G.S. 15-173 for judgment as in case of nonsuit, 
(2) the court's denial of his motion as in case of nonsuit in 
respect of the charge of murder in the first degree, and (3) 
portions of the court's charge to the jury. 

The applicable substantive law is well settled and need 
not be restated. For the elements of murder in the first degree, 
see State v. Reams, 277 N.C. 391, 401-02, 178 S.E. 2d 65, 71 
(1970), and cases cited. For the elements of murder in the 
second degree and of voIuntary manslaughter, see State v. 
Duboise, 279 N.C. 73, 81-2, 181 S.E. 2d 393, 398 (1971), and 
cases cited. For the legal principles applicable to the right of 
self-defense, see State v. Wynn, 278 N.C. 513, 519, 180 S.E. 2d 
135, 139 (1971), and cases cited. Consideration of the charge 
shows that Judge Long instructed the jury in substantial accord 
with our decisions. 

[I] The evidence, inclusive of the stipulation and of portions 
of defendant's written statement of September 12th, was suf- 
ficient to support a finding that defendant intentionally shot 
Wiles and thereby inflicted bullet wounds which proximately 
caused Wiles's death. If so, nothing else appearing, defendant 
would be guilty of murder in the second degree. State v. Duboise, 
supra at  81-2, 181 S.E. 2d a t  398, and cases there cited. Defend- 
ant contends that this statement of September 12th discloses 
that he acted within his legal right of self-defense; and, hav- 
ing offered the statement in evidence, the State is bound by 
the portions thereof which are favorable to defendant. 

[2] On a motion for judgment as in case of nonsuit, the evi- 
dence must be considered in the light most favorable to the 
State. Contradictions and discrepancies, even in the State's evi- 
dence, are matters for the jury and do not warrant nonsuit. 
State v. Murphy, 280 N.C. 1, 7, 184 S.E. 2d 845, 849 (19711, 
and cases cited. 

[3] "When the State introduces in evidence exculpatory state- 
ments of the defendant which are not contradicted or shown to 
be false by any other facts or circumstances in evidence, the 
State is bound by these statements." State v. Carter, 254 N.C. 
475, 479, I19 S.E. 2d 461, 464 (1961), and cases cited. Accord: 
State v. Gaines, 260 N.C. 228, 232, 132 S.E. 2d 485, 487 (1963) ; 
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State v. Bruton, 264 N.C. 488, 499, 142 S.E. 2d 169, 176 (1965). 
The introduction in evidence by the State of a statement made 
by defendant which may tend to exculpate him, does not pre- 
vent the State from showing that the facts concerning the homi- 
cide were different from what the defendant said about them. 
State v. Cooper, 273 N.C. 51, 57, 159 S.E. 2d 305, 309 (1968), 
and cases cited. 

14-61 If and when the jury found that defendant intentionally 
shot Wiles and thereby inflicted bullet wounds which proxi- 
mately caused his death, i t  was incumbent on defendant to show 
to the satisfaction of the jury that he acted in self-defense and 
that in doing so he used no moye force than was or reasonably 
appeared necessary under the circumstances to protect himself 
from death or great bodily harm. Standing alone, the facts 
stated in defendant's statement of September 12th are in- 
sufficient to show as a matter of law that defendant was entitled 
to complete exoneration on the ground of self-defense. Con- 
sidered in the light most favorable to defendant, these facts 
were sufficient only to permit the jury to find to its satisfaction 
that defendant so acted. In any event, when the testimony of 
Allred, Scales, Huff, Teele and Cherry is considered, the court 
properly denied defendant's motion for judgment as in case 
of nonsuit. In this connection, we note that defendant's flight 
from the scene of the killing was competent for consideration 
by the jury in connection with other circumstances in passing 
upon whether defendant was guilty of unlawful homicide but 
was not admissible to prove premeditation and deliberation. 
State v. Payne, 213 N.C. 719, 723-24, 197 S.E. 573, 576 (1938), 
and cases cited. 

Having concluded that the facts narrated in defendant's 
statement of September 12th did not establish as a matter of 
law that he acted in self-defense, we turn now to consider 
whether the State's evidence was sufficient to require submis- 
sion of murder in the first degree as a permissible verdict. 
The answer to this question requires an analysis of the evidence 
offered by the State other than defendant's statement of Sep- 
tember 12th' with emphasis upon those portions which are in 
conflict, expressly or impliedly, with defendant's explanatory 
statement. 

Defendant's explanation of the incident in the poolroom 
when Wiles missed the shot and lost the bet and of his depar- 
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ture from Stadium Drive Lunch and his return is as follows: 
Wiles got awfully mad and was going to "jump all over" defend- 
ant until Gerrey spoke up and told Wiles he had heard what 
was going on and asked Wiles to leave defendant alone. There- 
upon, Wiles "jumped on" Gerrey. Then, according to defend- 
ant's statement, "Wiles said, 'If you people don't like what I do, 
I have got a forty-five and a thirty-two out in the car and 1'11 
just blow your brains out.' Huff and Ted Gerrey heard Bill 
Wiles say this." Thereupon, "the dark-haired man" pushed 
Wiles out of the door and took him to his car. Defendant then 
walked up to the front, talked with one Charlie Cryner, and 
"was going to ask Harold Huff if he wanted a ride home." 
He told Gerrey to come on and he would take him home. Gerrey 
said that Wiles was going to do what he said. Accompanied by 
Gerrey, defendant left Stadium Drive Lunch, went by his own 
home and picked up his shotgun. Defendant and Gerrey returned 
to the Stadium Drive area, first stopping in front of Stadium 
Drive Lunch. Scales walked out the front door and defendant 
asked, "Is Huff still there?" Whereupon, Scales told him: 
"Look out, that fellow is still in there and you had better 
watchout. You had better not park here." Defendant then 
pulled down the street, and stopped on the Kashway parking 
lot. 

The testimony of Scales and of Huff is in sharp conflict with 
the foregoing explanation of defendant. They testified that 
they did not hear Wiles say anything about having "a forty-five 
or thirty-two in his car" and did not hear him make threats of 
any kind. Too, they testified explicitly that defendant and Ger- 
rey left Stadium Drive Lunch first and that Wiles was the 
last customer to leave. Their testimony contains no reference 
to a departure by Wiles under escort of a "dark-haired man," 
prior to the departure of Cryner, Bolin and Gerrey. Nothing in 
defendant's explanation indicates that he in fact asked Huff if 
he wanted a ride home. Huff's testimony was that he planned 
for Scales to take him home as usual. No testimony of Scales 
or of Huff indicates that either of them saw defendant or Gerrey 
between the time defendant and Gerrey left in defendant's truck 
and the later time when Wiles left the Stadium Drive Lunch 
building. 

Defendant's explanation as to what occurred after he 
parked his truck on the Kashway parking lot was as follows: 
Just as soon as defendant stopped, Wiles came "tearing out" of 
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the side door and "came up the bank walking south" toward 
defendant's truck and said something like, "I'm going to teach 
you some manners." Wiles reached in his pocket and defendant 
thought Wiles "was going to get a knife or gun." Defendant 
thought "about leaving but . . . didn't know what [Wiles] was 
going to do." When Wiles was four or five feet away, defendant 
told Wiles he had "better stop" where he was. Wiles was on the 
left side of defendant's truck. Wiles did not stop but kept on 
coming, moving faster. When defendant first told Wiles to stop, 
defendant "stuck [his] gun out of the window and told [Wiles] 
he had better look a t  what [defendant] had and stop," but 
Wiles "just put his hand in his pocket." Defendant "just cut 
loose when [Wiles] kept on coming and [Wiles] fell in front 
of [defendant's] truck." Defendant shot Wiles when Wiles was 
"about five feet away." Gerrey was in the truck when defendant 
shot Wiles, but Gerrey "jumped out of the truck and ran in 
the luncheon in the back door and told [defendant] to go on 
so [defendant] did." 

Although Scales and Huff were present when Wiles left, 
nothing in the testimony of either suggests that Wiles went 
"tearing out" of Stadium Drive Lunch. Huff testified that when 
Wiles came out of the poolroom he had a Budweiser beer can 
in his hand. Allred testified that he found no weapon of any 
kind on or near Wiles's body but did find "a Budweiser beer 
can" near his right arm. The diagram, tending to show "the 
point of injury and the angle trajectory after the pellets entered 
the body," indicates the shot entered the right anterior wall 
of Wiles's chest and coursed downward. This evidence, defend- 
ant's statement that Wiles "came up the bank walking south," 
and Allred's testimony as to where Wiles's body was found, 
permitted the inference and a finding that Wiles was shot as  
he approached the top of the bank. 

Defendant's statement that Wiles came from his left is in 
accord with Teele's testimony that the lights of the truck on 
the Kashway lot were burning and headed toward Stadium 
Drive. Defendant's statement that Wiles came "tearing out" 
of the Stadium Drive Lunch "[jlust as soon" as he stopped on 
the Kashway parking lot is in conflict with Teele's testimony 
that defendant had been parked there when Teele passed, which 
was 10 or 15 minutes before Teele heard the radio broadcast 
"of a shooting a t  the Stadium Street Lunch." 
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Cherry testified that Gerrey told him that the statement 
made by defendant was correct. This included a statement that 
Gerrey was in the truck with defendant when defendant shot 
Wiles. Circumstances testified to by other witnesses permit 
contrary inferences. According to Huff, Gerrey was not in the 
Stadum Drive Lunch building when he left to go where Wiles's 
body was lying. The truck left during the brief interval between 
the firing of the shot and the times when Huff and Allred 
viewed Wiles's lifeless body. When Huff returned, he found 
Gerrey inside the Stadium Drive Lunch building. Too, Allred 
testified that Gerrey and Scales were in this building when he 
arrived upon the scene. 

There was evidence that the left door of the Thunderbird 
was open and that the car keys were in the ignition. I t  may 
be inferred from this evidence that Wiles, upon leaving the 
Stadium Drive Lunch, had gone first to the Thunderbird. 
Whatever may have induced him to leave the Thunderbird and 
approach defendant's truck, the fact that he had no weapon 
of any kind (unless a Budweiser beer can can be considered a 
weapon) and that defendant had and exhibited his shotgun 
negates rather than supports an inference that Wiles approached 
defendant's truck in a threatening and menancing manner. 

[7] The foregoing evidence would permit and support jury 
findings that there was an argument in the poolroom of the 
Stadium Drive Lunch between defendant and Gerrey on the 
one hand and Wiles on the other; that Wiles did not threaten 
defendant or Gerrey with a deadly weapon of any kind and 
did not have such a weapon; that defendant and Gerrey left 
in defendant's truck, leaving Wiles inside the Stadium Drive 
Lunch building; that, instead of taking Gerry home as originally 
planned, defendant drove to his own home, 2.2 miles away, and 
got his shotgun; that, armed with his shotgun, defendant and 
Gerrey returned to the Stadium Drive Lunch area and parked 
in the Kashway parking lot, with the truck headed toward the 
exit to Stadium Drive; that defendant returned to confront 
Wiles, not to offer Huff a ride; that defendant, with the shot- 
gun in his lap, waited until Wiles emerged from the building; 
that Wiles, after first going to his Thunderbird car, was 
prompted or induced in some manner to approach defendant's 
truck; that, when he approached defendant's truck, Wiles had 
"a Budweiser beer can" in his hand and no weapon on his 
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person ; that, as Wiles walked up the slope of the grassy median 
toward defendant's truck, defendant shot him and immediately 
drove away; that Gerrey was not in the truck when defendant 
drove away but shortly thereafter showed up inside the Stadium 
Drive Lunch building. We conclude that the evidence tending 
to show these facts was sufficient to require submission of 
guilty of murder in the first degree as a permissible verdict 
and to support such verdict. 

Since defendant was not a witness, there was no cross- 
examination as to what was said in his statement. True, when 
the State introduced his extra-judicial statement, it was bound 
by what he said except insofar as it was contradicted and shown 
to be false. It was contradicted in material respects. In deter- 
mining its credibility in these respects, the jury no doubt con- 
sidered the fact that defendant had had the opportunity to 
reflect for more than three days before he gave any explanation 
as  to what had occurred. 

We have considered carefully each of defendant's assign- 
ments of error to the court's charge. As indicated above, none 
discloses prejudicial error. Elaboration of well-settled princi- 
ples would serve no useful purpose. 

Defendant having failed to show prejudicial error, the 
verdict and judgment will not be disturbed. 

No error. 
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1. Municipal Corporations $ 30- comprehensive zoning ordinance- 
amendment 

A comprehensive zoning ordinance adopted by a municipality did 
not constitute a contract between the municipality and property 
owners which precluded the municipality from changing the boun- 
daries, nor did i t  vest in any property owner the right that  the 
restrictions imposed by i t  upon his property or the property of others 
should remain unaltered. 

2. Municipal Corporations § 30- amendment of zoning ordinance 
A comprehensive zoning ordinance may be amended or changed 

when the action is authorized by the enabling statute and does not 
contravene constitutional limitations on the zoning power; constitu- 
tional limitations, however, forbid arbitrary and unduly discrimina- 
tory interference with property rights in the exercise of such power. 

3. Municipal Corporations $ 30- amendment of zoning ordinance - pre- 
sumption of validity 

An amendment to a municipal zoning ordinance is  presumed to 
be valid and the burden is on the complaining party to show its 
invalidity. 

4. Municipal Corporations 5 30- rezoning - Community Shopping Dis- 
trict - validity 

The rezoning of a 25-acre tract from a Residential District to a 
Community Shopping District was not arbitrary and capricious and 
did not constitute spot zoning, where the evidence showed that  when 
the city's comprehensive zoning ordinance was adopted, the property 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 431 

Allgood v. Town of Tarboro 

was outside the city limits in an area of comparatively undeveloped 
farm land, served only by a two-lane road, that  when the property 
was rezoned i t  had been brought into the city limits, that  the property 
lies a t  the intersection of a four-lane highway and U. S. Highway 64 
Bypass, both heavily traveled highways, that  the city has installed 
water and sewer service in the area, that  24 multi-family apartment 
units have been constructed on adjoining property, and that  a zoning 
classification of Community Shopping District would have been 
justified when the zoning ordinance was originally adopted if the 
present conditions had existed a t  that time. 

5. Municipal Corporations § 30- rezoning - shopping center -market 
analysis 

Zoning ordinance requirement that  the "owner" of property 
sought to be rezoned to a Community Shopping Center classification 
furnish a market analysis prepared by an independent market 
analyst was complied with when the original individual owner filed 
such an  analysis in connection with his application for the rezoning, 
notwithstanding the property was conveyed to a corporation while 
the rezoning application was pending and the property was rezoned 
while owned by the corporation. 

6. Municipal Corporations Sj 30- zoning - shopping center -business 
permitted 

There is no merit in plaintiffs' contention that  a proposed shop- 
ping center is "regional" in character and therefore beyond the scope 
and size permitted by a Community Shopping District zoning classi- 
fication, the businesses carried on by the proposed tenants being 
within the uses permitted in a Community Shopping District, and 
there being no maximum area provided for such zoning classification. 

7. Municipal Corporations § 30- building permit - validity 
A building permit was not rendered invalid by the fact that the 

application listed the estimated cost of the building a t  $475,000 and 
the contractor named in the application had a license which limited 
i t  to construction not exceeding $300,000, where the permit was issued 
to the owner, not the building contractor, and the contractor obtained 
an  unlimited contractor's license prior to beginning construction of 
the building. 

APPEAL by plaintiffs from Cowper, J., a t  the 25 October 
1971 Civil Session of EDGECOMBE Superior Court, certified for 
initial appellate review by the Supreme Court under G.S. 7A- 
31 (b) (1) upon motion of all parties. . 

Civil action to declare an amendment to the comprehensive 
Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Tarboro void and of no effect. 

The complaint alleges three causes of action: (1) That the 
purported adoption of an amendment to the Zoning Ordinance 
of the Town of Tarboro by the Town Council on 11 January 
1971, by which the 25-acre tract in question was rezoned from 
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RA-12, Residential District, to B-3, Community Shopping Dis- 
trict, constituted "spot zoning"; and that this action was 
arbitrary, unreasonable, capricious, contrary to the Zoning 
Ordinance and pertinent laws, and therefore null and void; 
(2) that even if this zoning amendment is valid, the said B-3, 
Community Shopping District, does not permit the use for 
which the developer seeks to put the property; that the pro- 
posed use will be in violation of the zoning laws and will ir- 
reparably damage the value of the residential property of the 
plaintiffs and others in that vicinity; and (3) that the building 
permit issued by the Building Inspector for a building to be 
located upon this tract was not properly issued and therefore 
should be cancelled. 

Defendants. in their answers deny plaintiffs' allegations 
and allege that the amendment to the Zoning Ordinance is 
in all respects valid, that the proposed uses are permitted uses 
under the amendment, and that the building permit was 
properly issued. 

The uncontradicted facts in this case show the following: 
On 14 January 1963 the Town Council of Tarboro adopted a 
comprehensive Zoning Ordinance. When this ordinance was 
passed, the 25-acre tract in question was outside the city limits 
but within one mile of the city, and this tract and property 
owned by some of the plaintiffs was placed in Planning District 
17 and zoned RA-12, Residential District. 

On 12 July 1968, H. W. Hull and his wife acquired this 
25-acre tract and later that month filed a request to have three 
acres of the 25-acre tract rezoned from RA-12, Residential Dis- 
trict, to B-3A, Neighborhood Shopping District. On 9 September 
1968 the Zoning Ordinance was so amended by the Town Coun- 
cil. 

On 14 July 1969, Hull filed a request to rezone the entire 
25-acre tract to B-3, Community Shopping District. A public 
hearing was held on this request by the Town Council on 13 
October 1969. At that time statements were made in favor of 
and in opposition to the proposed shopping center. The matter 
was then referred to the Planning Board and Zoning Commis- 
sion of the Town of Tarboro and Its Environs (hereinafter re- 
ferred to as the Planning Board). The Planning Board met on 
24 November 1969, and on 1 December 1969 voted five to five 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 433 

AIlgood v. Town of Tarboro 

on the Hull request for a rezoning. The Town Council next 
met on 8 December 1969, heard arguments by proponents and 
opponents concerning the requested change, and then voted 
unanimously to rezone the entire 25-acre tract to B-3, Com- 
munity Shopping District. 

Some of the plaintiffs in the instant case brought suit 
on 2 March 1970 against the Town of Tarboro and others, 
alleging that the action of the Council was arbitrary, capricious, 
unreasonable, unlawful, and contrary to the Zoning Ordinance 
in various particulars. 

On 17 September 1970, while that action was pending, 
Hull and his wife conveyed the 25-acre tract to defendant- 
intervenor, Eastern Realty and Investment Corporation. This 
first action was heard by Judge Walter W. Cohoon without a 
jury a t  the October-November 1970 Session of Edgecombe 
Superior Court, and after finding the facts Judge Cohoon 
concluded as a matter of law : 

" (1) The Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance enacted 
by the Tarboro Town Council on December 8th, 1969, af- 
fecting the property of Defendants Null is not invalid for 
the reason that the Town Council acted arbitrarily and 
capriciously in adopting said Zoning Ordinance. 

"(2) That the Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance 
pertaining to the property of Defendants Hull which was 
enacted by the Town Council on December 8th, 1969, is 
invalid for the reason that the Notice of the Public Hear- 
ing was not properly published for the October 13th, 1969 
public meeting of the Town Council, and that said action 
taken by the Town Council with respect thereto is invalid." 

Judgment was entered in accordance with these conclusions on 
25 November 1970, and no appeal was taken by any of the 
parties. 

On 10 December 1970, Hull filed a new request to rezone 
the 25-acre tract to a B-3, Community Shopping District, in 
order that the proposed Park Hi11 Shopping Center might be 
constructed thereon. Eastern Realty and Investment Corpora- 
tion, as the new owner of the land in question, joined Hull in 
this request. 
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The Town Council on 14 December 1970 referred the re- 
quest to the Planning Board. At their 15 December 1970 meet- 
ing, the Planning Board recommended that the change be made 
and that the Town Council call a meeting for a public hearing 
on the matter. The Council held such hearing on 11 January 
1971, and after hearing witnesses and attorneys both for and 
against the proposal, voted unanimously to rezone the entire 
tract to B-3, Community Shopping District. 

Plaintiffs thereafter on 15 February 1971 brought this 
action against the Town of Tarboro, the Mayor, the members 
of the Town Council, and the Building Inspector. Eastern Realty 
and Investment Corporation filed a motion to intervene alleging 
that as the owner of the land in question i t  was a necessary 
party to the action and entitled to intervene by virtue of G.S. 
1A-1, Rule 24(a) (2) of the Rules of Civil Procedure. This 
motion was allowed by Judge Tillery on 4 May 1971. 

The case was heard before Judge Albert W. Cowper with- 
out a jury. After hearing the evidence and arguments of coun- 
sel, Judge Cowper found, among others, the following facts : 

"5. . . . The Land Development Plan dated 1963 was 
the basic study which led to the adoption on January 14, 
1963, by the Town Council of the Town of Tarboro of the 
Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Tarboro and Its Environs. 
This study or plan divided the Town of Tarboro and the 
area lying outside of but within one mile of the corporate 
limits into eighteen (18) planning districts. The property 
on which the Park Hill Shopping Center is proposed to be 
built was located in Planning District Seventeen (17) and 
all of said planning district was located outside of the 
corporate limits of the Town of Tarbor ,~ . . . . The existing 
land use in said planning district indicated by said Plan was 
a small residential subdivision located in the southeast 
corner of the Planning District on Howard Avenue (State 
Road 1211), a large area of undeveloped land extending 
westerly from the corporate limits of the Town of Tarboro 
to a larger residential subdivision known as Speight Forest 
and then another large area of essentially undeveloped 
land extending westerly to the western boundary of the 
Planning District. 

"The Plan indicated that except for the small sub- 
division referred to above and the Speight Forest Sub- 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 435 

Allgood v. Town of Tarboro 

division, the District was served neither by public water 
or sewerage service. The Speight Forest Subdivision had 
public water service but no sewerage service and only 
the small residential subdivision located in the southeast 
corner of the District adjacent to the corporate limits of 
the Town of Tarboro had both public water and sewerage 
service. At the time of the study and preparation of the 
Plan, there existed no school, park or recreational facili- 
ties in the District. The only major thoroughfare in the 
District was Howard Avenue (State Road 1211) which 
was the southern boundary of the District . . . . 

* * * 
"6. Some of the plaintiffs own and reside in homes 

located near or in the immediate neighborhood of the pro- 
posed location of the Shopping Center, but no plaintiff owns 
or resides in a home immediately adjacent to the location 
of the proposed Shopping Center. 

"21. The conditions existing in Planning District 
Seventeen, adjoining Planning Districts and the overall 
Planning Area of the Town of Tarboro a t  the time of the 
adoption of the zoning amendment in question on January 
11, 1971, differ from those conditions which existed a t  
the time of the 1963 Land Development Plan and the adop- 
tion on January 14, 1963 of the Zoning Ordinance of the 
Town of Tarboro in the following particulars : 

"A. Western Boulevard (U. S. Highway No. 64 
Bypass) had been constructed a t  its present location 
giving access to land on both sides thereof and a por- 
tion of this highway abuts the eastern line of the 
Shopping Center site and intersects Howard Avenue 
(State Road 1211) a portion of which abuts the 
southern line of the Shopping Center site. This boule- 
vard or highway was and is capable of handling high 
volumes of traffic and had become and is one of the 
major thoroughfares in the Town of Tarboro. While 
the construction of this boulevard or highway was 
contemplated by the 1963 Land Development Plan, it 
was not known a t  that time when said boulevard or 
highway would be constructed and a t  what precise 
location ; 
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"B. Howard Avenue (State Road 1211) had been 
widened from one lane of traffic in each direction to 
two lanes of traffic in each direction from its intersec- 
tion with Western Boulevard (U. S. Highway 64 By- 
pass) in an easterly direction towards Main Street and 
becomes a five lane highway before intersecting Main 
Street. This avenue or road was and is capable of 
handling high volumes of traffic both into and from 
Western Boulevard (U. S. Highway No. 64 Bypass) ; 

"C. The Shopping Center site, Speight Forest 
Subdivision and areas north and east of the Shopping 
Center site had been annexed into the corporate limits 
of the Town of Tarboro and the public water and 
sewer facilities had been extended to serve these and 
other surrounding areas ; 

"D. The Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Tar- 
boro had been amended to provide for a B-3, Com- 
munity Shopping District, and increasing the minimum 
size of such district ; 

"E. C. B. Martin Junior High School had been 
constructed and a Town Park developed north of the 
school property and on the east side of Western Bou- 
levard (U. S. Highway No. 64 Bypass) . . . . 

"F. Further development of Speight Forest Sub- 
division had occurred, apartment buildings had been 
constructed north of the Shopping Center Site, and 
in the general vicinity of the Shopping Center Site 
new subdivisions had been developed and old sub- 
divisions had been expanded and property in the 
adjoining planning districts and in the general vicinity 
of the Shopping Center Site had been reclassified from 
residential to other purposes and a portion of the 
Shopping Center site had been reclassified as B-3A, 
Neighborhood Shopping District. . . . " 

Based upon his findings of fact, Judge Cowper concluded 
as a matter of law that the Town Council had ample plausible 
basis for adopting the amendment in question; that the Council 
did not act arbitrarily or capriciously, but acted in good faith, 
reasonably and consistently with the comprehensive plan; that 
the rezoning did not constitute "spot zoning" ; that the commer- 
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cia1 uses indicated by the final plan are consistent with the 
B-3, Community Shopping District, purposes; and that any 
irregularity which occurred in the issuance of Building Permit 
No. 5721 was of form rather than substance and was rendered 
moot by subsequent events. 

Judge Cowper thereupon entered judgment for defendants 
and defendant-intervenor denying all relief prayed for by the 
plaintiffs and taxing plaintiffs with the costs. 

From this judgment plaintiffs appealed to the Court of 
Appeals. On 4 April 1972, at  the request of plaintiffs and de- 
fendants, this Court granted certiorari for appellate review 
by the Supreme Court without prior determination by the 
Court of Appeals. 

Bridgers & Horton by  H.  Vinson  Bridgers; Claude V .  
Jones for  plaintiff appellants. 

Taylor, Byinson & Aycock b y  2. Creighton Brinson for  
defendant  appellees. 

Weeks  & Muse b y  T .  Chand1e.r Muse for defendant- 
intervenor appellee. 

MOORE, Justice. 

Plaintiffs allege no procedural irregularity in the adoption 
of the 11 January 1971 amendment to the comprehensive Zon- 
ing Ordinance. They attack the amendment on the ground that 
the original classification of the property in 1963 as RA-12, 
Residential District, was sound; that there have been no 
changes in use or character in  Planning District 17 sufficient 
to legally support rezoning the 25-acre tract to B-3, Community 
Shopping District; and that the attempt to do so by the Town 
Council on 11 January 1971 constituted "spot zoning" and was 
illegal, unauthorized by law, arbitrary, and void. 

The original zoning.power of the State reposes in the Gen- 
eral Assembly. Marren v. Gamble, 237 N.C. 680, 75 S.E. 2d 
880 (1953). The General Assembly has delegated to the legis- 
lative body of a municipality the power to adopt zoning regula- 
tions "for the purpose of promoting health, safety, morals or 
the general welfare of the community." G.S. 160-172; Marren 
v. Gamble, supra. The legislative body in this case is the Town 
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Council of Tarboro. Keiger v. Boad of Adjustment, 278 N.C. 
17,178 S.E. 2d 616 (1971). 

G.S. 160-172 provided in part: 

"Grant of power.-For the purpose of promoting 
health, safety, morals or the general welfare of the com- 
munity, the legislative body of cities and incorporated towns 
is hereby empowered to regulate and restrict the height, 
number of stories and size of buildings and other struc- 
tures, the percentage of lot that may be occupied, the size 
of yards, courts and other open spaces, the density of 
population, and the location and use of buildings, struc- 
tures and land for trade, industry, residence or other 
purposes. . . . 9 7  

G.S. 160-173 provided : 

"Districts.-For any or all said purposes i t  may di- 
vide the municipality into districts of such number, shape 
and area as may be deemed best suited to carry out the 
purposes of this article; and within such districts i t  may 
regulate and restrict the erection, construction, reconstruc- 
tion, alteration, repair or use of buildings, structures or 
land. All such regulations shall be uniform for each class 
or kind of building throughout each district, but the regu- 
lations in one district may differ from those in other dis- 
tricts." 

G.S. 160-174 provided : 

"Purposes in view.-Such regulations shall be made 
in accordance with a comprehensive plan and designed to 
lessen congestion in the streets; to secure safety from fire, 
panic and other dangers ; to promote health and the general 
welfare; to provide adequate light and air ;  to prevent the 
overcrowding of land; to avoid undue concentration of 
population ; to facilitate the adequate provision of transpor- 
tation, water, sewerage, schools, parks and other public 
requirements. Such regulations shall be made with reason- 
able consideration, among other things, as to the character 
of the district and its peculiar suitability for particular 
uses, and with a view to conserving the value of buildings 
and encouraging the most appropriate use of land through- 
out such municipality." 
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(G.S. 160-172, G.S. 160-173, and G.S. 160-174, as 
amended in 1971, now appear as G.S. 1608-381, G.S. 160A- 
382, and G.S. 1608-383.) 

Pursuant to these statutory provisions, the Town of Tar- 
boro on 14 January 1963 adopted a comprehensive Zoning 
Ordinance setting up, among other districts, Planning District 
17, in which the property in question is located. This property, 
as well as some of the other property in District 17 was zoned 
RA-12, Residential District, for single-family residences. Other 
property in District 17 was zoned RA-20, Residential and Agri- 
cultural. In  an RA-20 zone, apartments, churches, sanatariums, 
fire stations, hospitals, kindergartens, and schools are per- 
missible. 

[I, 21 The comprehensive ordinance did not constitute a con- 
tract between the Town and property owners which precluded 
the Town from changing the boundaries if a t  a later date i t  
deemed a change to be desirable. Neither did this ordinance vest 
in any property owner the right that the restrictions imposed 
by i t  upon his property or the property of others shouId remain 
unaltered. Such regulations may be amended or changed when 
the action is authorized by the enabling statute and does not 
contravene constitutional limitations on the zoning power. 
Blades v. City  of Raleigh, 280 N.C. 531, 187 S.E. 2d 35 (1972) ; 
Allred v. City  of Raleigh, 277 N.C. 530, 178 S.E. 2d 432 
(1971) ; Z o p f i  v. City  o f  Wilmington, 273 N.C. 430, 160 S.E. 
2d 325 (1968) ; In re M a ~ k h a m ,  259 N.C. 566, 131 S.E. 2d 329 
(1963). See 1 Yokley, Zoning Law and Practice $ 7-3, p. 306 
(3d Ed. 1965). Constitutional limitations, however, forbid arbi- 
trary and unduly discriminatory interference with property 
rights in the exercise of such power. Heaton v. City  of Charlotte, 
277 N.C. 506,178 S.E. 2d 352 (1971). 

Plaintiffs do not attack the validity of the comprehensive 
ordinance. They only attack the 11 January 1971 amendment. 

G.S. 160-176 provided for amendments : "Such regulations, 
restrictions and boundaries may from time to time be amended, 
supplemented, changed, modified or repealed," and G.S. 160-175 
provided : "The legislative body of such municipality shall pro- 
vide for the manner in which such regulations and restrictions 
and the boundaries of such districts shall be determined, es- 
tablished and enforced, and from time to time amended, sup- 
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plemented or changed." (G.S. 160-176 and G.S. 160-175, as 
amended in 1971, now appear as G.S. 1608-385 and G.S. 160A- 
384). 

The comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of Tarboro provides 
(Section 14.1) : "The Town Council may, on its own motion or 
upon motion or upon petition by any person within the zoning 
jurisdiction of the Town of Tarboro, after public notice and 
hearing, amend, supplement, change, modify or repeal the 
regulations herein established or the maps which are a part of 
this Ordinance, subject to the rules prescribed in Subsections 
14.2 and 14.3 of this Section." Subsection 14.2 is not pertinent 
to this case. Subsection 14.3 provides that any such amendment 
shall be referred to the Planning Board for its recommendation 
and report prior to its adoption. 

In the original Zoning Ordinance the Town Council found 
(Section 2.2) : "In the creation, by this ordinance, of the re- 
spective districts, the Town Council of the Town of Tarboro 
has given due and careful consideration to the peculiar suit- 
ability of each and every district for the particular regulations 
applied thereto, and the necessary, proper and comprehensive 
groupings and arrangements of various uses and densities of 
population in accordance with a well-considered comprehensive 
plan for the physical development of the community." And, 
with specific reference to a B-3, Community Shopping District, 
the Town Council states (Section 9.7 (I) ) : "The Town Council 
and the Planning Board believe the current Zoning Map to be 
valid and proof of a need for amending it  shall be furnished 
by the proponents of a planned business center . . . . 9 9  

Plaintiffs contend that the property in question was prop- 
erly placed in a residential zone under the original ordinance; 
that i t  was stipulated by the parties that this property is still 
suitable for residential purposes; that no need for a change 
has been shown; and that the Town Council acted arbitrarily 
and capriciously in changing the property from residential to 
commercial. 

[3] The Planning Board, as required by the comprehensive 
Zoning Ordinance, examined the application of Hull and Eastern 
Realty and Investment Corporation to rezone the property in 
question and by a vote of eight to one recommended its approval. 
The Town Council, after giving the required notice, then held 
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a public hearing on 11 January 1971 on the proposed amend- 
ment and voted unanimously to adopt it. There is a presumption 
that the Town Council adopted this amendment in the proper 
exercise of its police power. Heaton v. City of Clzarlotte, supra; 
Raleigh v. Morand, 247 N.C. 363, 100 S.E. 2d 870 (1957). 
And the plaintiffs who assert its invalidity have the burden of 
proving its invalidity. Helms v. Charlotte, 255 N.C. 647, 122 
S.E. 2d 817 (1961). 

The facts in the case of Zopfi v. City of Wilmington, 273 
N.C. 430, 160 S.E. 2d 325 (1968), were strikingly similar to 
those in the instant case. In Zopfi the property involved was a 
60-acre tract which was triangular in shape with the apex of 
the triangle at  the intersection of two heavily traveled highways. 
The base of the triangle adjoined a residential subdivision. 
The tip of the apex was zoned C-1, Commercial, but the rest of 
the tract was zoned R-lAA, single-family residences only. The 
owners sought to have the twenty-seven and one-half acres 
nearest the apex zoned C-1, Commercial, for the construction 
of a shopping center; to have the next twelve acres zoned R-3, 
multiple-family apartment use; and to leave the remaining 
acreage, lying along the base of the triangle, R-PAA. The City 
Council so rezoned this property. The named plaintiffs, on 
behalf of themselves and others, instituted an action seeking 
a declaratory judgment to determine the validity of the 
ordinances rezoning the property. The trial judge heard the 
evidence, found the facts, and concluded as a matter of law 
that the rezoning ordinances were duly adopted and valid, 
and that in adopting them the City Council did not act arbi- 
trarily or capriciously but in good faith and in a reasonable 
manner consistent with its comprehensive zoning plan. The 
plaintiffs appealed and this Court affirmed. Justice Lake, 
speaking for the Court, stated : 

6 6 . . . (T)he amending ordinances before us do not 
fall into the category of spot zoning. They apply to approxi- 
mately forty acres constituting a triangle lying between 
two heavily traveled highways and separated from the 
property of the plaintiffs by a buffer strip of twenty 
acres of the Morton-Cocke tract still zoned for single family 
residences. There is ample support in the record for the 
conclusion that the rezoning of the Morton-Cocke tract 
was not arbitrary or discriminatory, may reasonably be 



442 IN THE SUPREME COURT [281 

Allgood v. Town of Tarboro 

deemed related to the public welfare and is not inconsistent 
with the purpose for which the city is authorized by the 
statute to enact zoning regulations. The conclusion of the 
trial judge that the City Council, in adopting the amend- 
ing ordinances, did not act arbitrarily or capriciously but 
acted in good faith, reasonably and consistent with its com- 
prehensive zoning plan, is supported by the court's find- 
ings of fact, which, in turn, are supported by competent 
evidence in the record." 

[4] In the present case, the uncontradicted evidence showed 
that in 1963 when the comprehensive ordinance was adopted, 
the property in question was outside the city limits in an area 
of comparatively undeveloped farm land, served only by Howard 
Avenue, a two-lane road. In 1971, when the amendment was 
adopted, the area had been brought into the city limits; a new 
school had been constructed; Howard Avenue had been four- 
laned to accommodate heavy traffic, and temporary U. S. High- 
way 64 Bypass constructed so that the 25 acres lay a t  the 
intersection of Howard Avenue and Highway 64 Bypass, both 
heavily traveled highways. The Town had installed water and 
sewer service in the area and 24 multi-family apartment units 
had been erected on the property adjoining the area in ques- 
tion. 

This evidence was ample to support Judge Cowper's con- 
clusion that the Town Council had reasonable grounds to 
believe that a shopping center on the 25 acres in question would, 
because of changed conditions, be in keeping with the com- 
prehensive plan to encourage the most appropriate use of 
land throughout the city. I t  was also sufficient to support his 
conclusion that if the 1971 conditions "had existed a t  the time 
o f  t he  1963 Land Development Plan and the  adoption of  t he  
Zoning Ordinance o n  January 14, 1963, the  T o w n  Council o f  
t h e  T o w n  o f  Tarboro would have been justified a t  tha t  time in 
zoning t h e  area in question B-3, Community  Shopping District," 
and the evidence further amply supported the court's con- 
clusion that such amendment did not constitute "spot zoning." 
(Emphasis added.) 

As stated in Walker u. Elkin,  254 N.C. 85, 118 S.E. 2d 1 
(1961) : 

"The term 'spot zoning' has frequently been used by 
the courts and text writers when referring to changes 
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limited to small areas. Different conclusions have been 
reached on seemingly similar factual situations. We think 
the basic rule to determine the validity of an amending 
ordinance is the same rule used to determine the validity 
of the original ordinance. Elizabeth Ci ty  v. Aydlett ,  201 
N.C. 602, 161 S.E. 78. The legislative body must act in 
good faith. It cannot act arbitrarily or capriciously. I f  the  
conditions existing a t  the time of the  proposed change are 
such as wozdd have originally justified the  proposed action, 
t h e  legislative body has the power to  act." (Emphasis 
added.) 

Changes which had taken place in and around Tarboro 
since 1963 were recognized and discussed in a study by the 
Community Planning Division of the North Carolina Depart- 
ment of Conservation and Development made for the Town of 
Tarboro in 1969. This study found that more property was 
needed in the Town of Tarboro for commercial purposes and 
that the west side of the Town held the greatest potential for 
commercial expansion. Concerning the property in question 
(which is located on the west side) the report stated: 

From an urban planning standpoint, the proposed 
location of Park Hill Shopping Center is one of the best 
areas within Tarboro. The site is on relatively flat, virgin 
land, and would not require the destruction and removal 
of existing structures, and the related social imbalance 
therefrom. 

The fact that Park Hill would be under the control of 
a single developer insures that such a development would 
have a unified architecture. This would not be the case 
under single tract ownership and development. 

An examination of data on Temporary 64 Bypass and 
Howard Avenue indicates that a t  peak shopping hours 
these two streets would probably not be operating at more 
than 80 percent of their peak capacity." 

Clearly, the changes which had occurred since 1963, to- 
gether with the report of the Community Planning Division, 
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furnished the Town Council with reasonable grounds and a 
plausible basis for adopting the amendment rezoning the 25 
acres in question. See Yokley, szcpra, p. 815. 

It is not for the Superior Court or for this Court to review 
the action of the Town Council for the purpose of substituting 
the judgment of the Court for that of the Council concerning 
the wisdom of permitting the proposed use of the 25-acre tract. 
Blades v. City of  Raleigh, sujwa; Zop f i  v. City of  Wilrnington, 
swpra. The courts will not interfere unless it appears that the 
Council acted arbitrarily and capriciously. The conclusion of 
the trial judge that the Town Council in adopting the amend- 
ing ordinance did not act arbitrarily or capriciously but acted 
in good faith, reasonably, and consistent with the comprehen- 
sive zoning plan, is supported by the court's findings of fact 
which are in turn supported by competent evidence in the 
record and are binding upon us. Zopf i  v. City of  Wilmington, 
supra. The plaintiffs' exceptions thereto are overruled. 

[5] Plaintiffs next contend that the defendant-intervenor did 
not furnish the market analysis as provided for by Section 
9.7(1) of the Zoning Ordinance. This section provides "that 
before an amendment to the Zoning Map providing for any 
future B-3 Community Shopping District is granted that the 
owner or owners (including optionees) shall present a valid 
market analysis for consideration by the Planning Board, pre- 
pared and signed by a recognized and independent market 
analyst, which indicates the economic feasibility of the pro- 
posed development." Plaintiffs contend that the analysis pre- 
sented to the Town Council was prepared for Hull prior to the 
time he conveyed the property in question to Eastern Realty 
and Investment Corporation, that i t  was not presented by the 
owner Eastern Realty and Investment Corporation, and that 
i t  was not prepared and signed by a recognized market analyst. 
These contentions are without merit. The petition for rezoning 
the property in question was filed by Hull on 14 July 1969. 
At that time he was the owner of the property. The market 
analysis prepared by Jerry Turner and Associates and John 
H. Voohrees was filed in connection with that application. 
Thereafter, a t  two public meetings of the Town Council the 
matter was fully debated, and the Town Council on 8 December 
1969 unanimously adopted the ordinance making the zoning 
change. Judge Cohoon on 25 November 1970 declared this ordi- 
nance invalid solely because the notice of the public hearing 
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was not properly published. Hull then filed a new request for 
rezoning, pointing out that his petition for rezoning was still 
pending but that the land had been transferred to Eastern 
Realty and Investment Corporation, a corporation wholly owned 
by the Hull family. This request was signed by Hull and by 
the Corporation. There was no attempt to show that this market 
analysis was out of date or that there had been any changes 
in the original plans as submitted. I t  was stipulated that the 
analysis was prepared by Turner and Associates and Mr. 
Voohrees, and the evidence fully supported the court's finding 
that Turner was a recognized market analyst. These assign- 
ments are overruled. 

161 Plaintiffs further contend that the uses as described in 
the plan submitted by the defendant-intervenor are not uses 
permitted in a B-3, Community Shopping District, for the 
reasons that the proposed shopping center is "regional" in 
character and therefore beyond the scope and size permitted 
by the Zoning Ordinance in a B-3, Community Shopping Dis- 
trict, and that the proposed use will irreparably damage the 
value of residential property of plaintiffs and others. The 
Development Plan of the developer submitted to and approved 
by the Planning Board indicates that the major tenants of the 
shopping center would be Belk-Tyler Department Store, which 
would also operate a separate Tire, Battery and Accessory 
Store; G. C. Murphy Department Store, which would also 
operate a restaurant; A & P Food Store, Peoples Drug Store, 
and Edgeeombe Bank and Trust Company, together with 
misceIlaneous small shops offering a variety of retail goods 
and services. The type of business carried on by each of these 
proposed tenants is within the permitted uses provided for in 
a B-3, Community Shopping District, by the Zoning Ordinance, 
which uses are, among others, banks, eating and drinking 
establishments, filling stations, food stores, and stores or shops 
for  the conduct of the retail businesses of drugs, dry goods, 
household goods, sporting goods, and variety stores. The B-3, 
Community Shopping District, classification provides for a 
minimum area of three acres, but does not provide for any 
maximum area. The Zoning Ordinance does not provide for a 
"regional" shopping center. The Town Council, in the exercise 
of its legislative functions and power, properly determined 
from the evidence before i t  on 11 January 1971 that the pro- 
posed deveIopment Plan submitted by the owner of the property 
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in question was within and would accomplish the general pur- 
poses and objectives of a B-3, Community Shopping District. 
The evidence does not disclose any pecuniary loss by plaintiffs, 
and when as here zoning regulations are adopted in the proper 
exercise of the police power, any resultant loss is a misfortune 
which they must suffer as members of society. Armstrong v. 
Mdnnis, 264 N.C. 616, 142 S.E. 2d 670 (1965) ; Schloss v. 
Jamism, 262 N.C. 108, 136 S.E. 2d 691 (1964) ; In  r e  Markham, 
supm; Kinney v. Suttolz, 230 N.C. 404, 53 S.E. 2d 306 (1949). 

[7] Plaintiffs finally contend that the building permit issued 
to defendant-intervenor is invalid. The permit in question was 
issued to the defendant-intervenor as owner and not as a licensed 
contractor. The application for the permit listed Commercial 
Builders as the name of the contractor, and gave an estimated 
cost of $475,000 for a Belk-Tyler Department Store. At the 
time of the issuance of the permit, Commercial Builders had a 
contractor's license which limited i t  to construction not exceed- 
ing $300,000. Prior to beginning construction on the Belk- 
Tyler building, Commercial Builders applied for and obtained 
an unlimited contractor's license and paid the requisite fees 
and taxes to the State of North Carolina and the Town of 
Tarboro. The trial judge on competent evidence found these to 
be the facts and concluded that the building permit was in all 
respects valid. We agree. 

We have carefully considered other assignments of error 
brought forward by the plaintiffs in their brief. We find no 
reversible error. For the reasons stated, the judgment of the 
Superior Court is affirmed. 

Affirmed. 
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. ROBERT LEE THACKER 

No. 112 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Criminal Law § 75- in-custody statements - absence of waiver of 
counsel 

Although defendant was given the full Miranda warning, defend- 
ant  understood his right to counsel and did not request the presence 
of an attorney during interrogation, a d  defendant's statement was 
freely and voluntarily made, the admission of defendant's inculpatory 
in-custody statement was erroneous where there was neither evidence 
nor findings that  defendant waived his right to counsel, either in 
writing as provided by [former] G.S. 7A-457, or orally as provided 
by Miranda, defendant's failure to ask for lawyer not constituting a 
waiver thereof. 

2. Assault and Battery 5 12- intent to kill 
Proof of an  assault with a deadly weapon inflicting serious 

injury not resulting in death does not, as a matter of law, establish 
a presumption of intent to kill; such intent must be found by the 
jury as a fact from the evidence. 

3. Assault and Battery § 5- inference of intent to kill 
An intent to kill may be inferred from the nature of the assault, 

the manner in which it was made, the conduct of the parties, and 
other relevant circumstances. 

4. Assault and Battery § 12- intent to kill - burden of proof 
An intent to kill is a matter for the State to prove and is 

ordinarily shown by proof of facts from which an  intent to kill 
may be reasonably inferred. 

5. Criminal Law § 167- test of harmless error 
The test of harmless error is whether there is a reasonable 

possibility that  the evidence complained of might have contributed 
to the conviction. 

6. Assault and Battery § 13; Criminal Law 8 75- in-custody statement - 
intent to  kill - prejudicial error 

In  this prosecution for assault with a deadly weapon with intent 
to kill inflicting serious injury not resulting in death, the erroneous 
admission of defendant's in-custody statement unequivocaIly express- 
ing his intent to kill the first person he caught alone constituted 
prejudicial error, notwithstanding there was ample evidence in the 
record, excluding defendant's statement, from which the jury might 
reasonably have inferred that defendant intended to kill the victim. 

7. Assault and Battery 8 4-- felony assaults -degrees, 
The crime defined by G.S. 14-32(b)-assault with a firearm or 

other deadly weapon per se inflicting serious injury-is a lesser 
degree of the offense of assault with a deadly weapon with intent 
to kill inflicting serious injury defined by G.S. 14-32 (a). 
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8. Criminal Law 8 115- failure to submit lesser degrees - guilty verdict 
Error in failing to submit the question of defendant's guilt of 

lesser degrees of the same crime is not cured by a verdict of guilty 
of the offense charged because, in such case, i t  cannot be known 
whether the jury would have convicted of a lesser degree if the 
different permissible degrees arising on the evidence had been 
correctly presented in the charge. 

9. Assault and Battery 8 16- error in failure to submit lesser felony - 
error in submission of misdemeanors 

In a prosecution for two offenses of assault with a deadly 
weapon with intent to kill inflicting serious injury wherein all the 
evidence showed that  a deadly weapon was used in both assaults and 
that  serious injury was inflicted on both victims, the trial court 
erred (1) in failing to submit defendant's guilt or innocence of assault 
with a deadly weapon per se inflicting serious injury, and (2) in 
subniitting the misdenleanors of assault inflicting serious injury and 
assault with a deadly weapon. 

10. Assault and Battery 8 5- knife - deadly weapon per se 
A knife with a six-inch blade is a deadly weapon per se. 

11. Assault and Battery 8 16- submission of misdemeanors - harmless 
error 

In a prosecution for assault with a deadly weapon with intent 
to kill inflicting serious injury, defendant was not prejudiced by 
the erroneous submission of the misdenleanors of assault inflicting 
serious injury and assault with a deadly weapon, since such action 
was favorable to defendant. 

12. Constitutional Law 3 32; Criminal Law 8 66- pretrial confrontation- 
right to counsel 

Confrontation for identification purposes is a critical stage of 
pretrial proceedings requiring the presence of counsel unless the 
right to counsel is voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently waived. 

13. Criminal Law 8 66- confrontation a t  hospital - absence of counsel - 
in-court identification - independent origin 

In-court identifications of defendant by two assault victims were 
competent regardless of the absence of counsel a t  a pretrial identifica- 
tion in a hospital emergency room, where the in-custody identifications 
had independent origins and were not based on the confrontation a t  
the hospital. 

ON certiorari to the Court of Appeals to review its decision, 
13 N.C. App. 299, upholding judgment of Hall, J., 21 June 
1971 Session, WAKE Superior Court. 

Defendant is charged in separate bills of indictment with 
a felonious assault on Brenda Gail Waddell and a felonious 
assault on S. Swain Pierce. Both assaults allegedly occurred on 
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10 March 1971 a t  the FCX Store in Raleigh. The cases were 
consolidated for trial without objection. 

The State's evidence tends to show that both victims 
worked a t  the FCX Store. Miss Waddell arrived there about 
7:40 a.m. on 10 March 1971, unlocked the door and prepared 
to open the files. In response to a knock she opened the side 
door and a man wearing a short green jacket and khaki 
trousers, later identified as defendant, asked to use the tele- 
phone. She invited him in and he dialed a number or two and 
said the line was busy. He then said, "There is someone at 
the door," and Miss Waddell opened the back door but found 
no one there. The man then thanked her profusely for letting 
him use the telephone, and she assumed he was leaving. How- 
ever, when she turned her back he grabbed her from behind 
with an arm around her neck. They struggled and fell to the 
floor. Miss Waddell was screaming incessantly and the man 
kept repeating, "Stop screaming or I will stab you." She saw 
the blade of a knife coming toward her body and put up her 
left hand to block the blow. Her left index finger was cut as 
the knife went into her right arm, and with the next blow 
she was stabbed in the stomach. The man then released her 
and left by the side door through which he had entered. Miss 
Waddell opened the door into the garage, saw Swain Pierce 
and called for help. Mr. Pierce was unable to render assistance 
because a t  that moment he was stabbed under his left arm 
by the same man who had assaulted Miss Waddell. The assail- 
ant then ran out of the building. Other employees of the FCX 
Store came to the assistance of Miss Waddell and Mr. Pierce. 
An ambulance was summoned and they were taken to Wake 
Memorial Hospital. Medical examinations disclosed that Mr. 
Pierce had suffered a punctured lung and Miss Waddell had 
three wounds: one over the medial aspect of her right upper 
arm; one in the center of her abdomen which had traversed 
the abdominal wall and entered the belly cavity; and a wound 
of the proximal phalanx of the left index finger, dividing a 
nerve. Miss Waddell remained under treatment in the hospital 
until the 116th of March, and Mr. Pierce remained there for 
five days. 

Meanwhile at  7:48 a.m. on 10 March 1971 defendant fell 
through a skylight on the roof of the H & H Tire Company 
which is located in the building adjacent to the FCX Store. 
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He landed on his feet and hands like a cat. Officers were sum- 
moned immediately and defendant was taken into custody. A 
knife scabbard covered with blood was found on the floor 
near the spot where defendant fell. A fire escape leads to the 
roof of the H & H Tire Company from an alley between the 
FCX building and the H & H Tire Company building. The 
officers searched the roof and found a green jacket stuffed 
under a platform about two feet from the skylight through 
which defendant had fallen. The officers took possession of 
the scabbard and the green jacket. 

The officers carried defendant to the hospital where he 
was exhibited to Miss Waddell and Mr. Pierce. Each identified 
defendant as the assailant. 

In response to a call, Officers Pegram and Benson went 
to the FCX but were stopped by an employee a t  H & H Tire 
Company. They saw defendant a t  that time. His hair was cut 
real short, "almost like it had been shaven and he had no mus- 
tache and he had no goatee.'' The officers were told what had 
happened. Officer Pegram warned defendant of his constitu- 
tional rights by reading them from a card, and defendant said 
he understood them. A voir dire examination was demanded a t  
this point in the trial, and, in the absence of the jury, Officer 
Pegram stated that defendant did not request counsel. He fur- 
ther stated that he did not threaten or attempt to coerce defend- 
ant in any way; that defendant said he came into the building 
"the night before that morning" to get out of the cold. The 
officer offered to carry defendant to the hospital for medical 
treatment, placed him in the police vehicle and took him to 
the hospital. However, defendant refused treatment although 
complaining of his wrists and knees and his eye and said he 
felt "like he had a tooth knocked out." Defendant was not 
under the influence of any alcoholic beverage and no pills or 
medicines were found on his person. Defendant was taken from 
the hospital to the interrogation room of the Municipal Build- 
ing where he was again advised of his rights by Officer Benson. 
He never a t  any time requested counsel. He made the follow- 
ing statement : 

"I was walking down Blount Street. I was mad about 
serving time and I wanted to get even with Mrs. Cash for 
putting me in prison. I decided to kill the first person I 
caught by theirself. I looked through the window and 
say the lady in the room by herself. I went and opened the 
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door and asked her was this the glass place. She said no 
and I asked her if I could use the telephone and she said 
yes. Then I went in and acted like I was using the tele- 
phone. She went to another room and when she came out 
I grabbed her and stabbed her with a knife that I had 
when I went in. She was screaming and then I left that 
office and on the way out I ran into another white man 
and I stabbed him. Then I ran out to the rear alley and 
through this alley and up some fire escapes upon the 
roof. I then lifted up a skylight and fell down through the 
skylight. I threw the knife and my coat under something on 
top of the building. When I fell through the skylight, I 
hurt my left eye, my forehead and both wrists. Then I 
was arrested." 

The officer further testified that he wrote down what de- 
fendant related and that defendant read the statement and 
signed it. Defendant told the officers that he put the knife 
in one of the chimneys on the roof, but the officers were 
unable to locate it. 

Defendant Thacker, testifying on voir dire, stated that he 
was never advised sf his rights; that he was taken to the 
hospital by two young policemen but was not offered and did 
not receive any medical treatment; that he was taken into 
the emergency room, required to put on a green coat while 
there and was observed by Miss Waddell and Mr. Pierce both 
of whom were lying on a table; that some of the officers were 
using sarcastic remarks ; that he requested an attorney when he 
was taken to the interrogation room, the request being made 
to Sergeant Denton; that he made the request twice to Sergeant 
Denton-once a t  the hospital and once a t  the police station- 
but was not allowed to make any telephone calls; that he was 
not advised of his rights when he was taken to the interroga- 
tion room; that he made no voluntary statement; that Sergeant 
Denton kicked him on the left leg and "said that I would talk" ; 
that he made a statement under coercion ; that Sergeant Denton 
forced him to make the statement by beating him and kicking 
him and stomping him while he was on the floor; that after 
the statement was written out he signed i t  under coercion; that 
he received other beatings, one by Officer F. D. Williams in a 
little room a t  the Magistrate's Office, and as a result of that 
beating he made a statement concerning the location of the 
knife. 
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The court found facts upon conclusion of the voir dire 
and concluded that the statement was admissible in evidence. 
The jury was recalled and, over defendant's objection, eviden- 
tiary matters elicited on the voir dire were offered for con- 
sideration by the jury, including the statement which defendant 
had signed. 

Both Miss Waddell and Mr. Pierce positively identified 
defendant as their assailant and each stated that the in-court 
identification was based on observation of the defendant a t  
the time of the assault a t  the FCX Store and not on observations 
of him at the hospital. 

Defendant offered no evidence. At the close of the State's 
evidence he moved to strike the testimony of the two victims 
on the ground that their in-court identification was based upon 
an illegal out-of-court confrontation a t  the hospital and on the 
further ground that he was required to put on a jacket "which 
was found in the vicinity where this incident occurred." This 
motion was denied and defendant then moved for judgment of 
nonsuit in both cases. Upon denial of the nonsuit motion, 
defendant requested the court to instruct the jury that defend- 
ant's failure to testify should not be considered against him, 
and the jury was so instructed in the charge of the court. 

In the Waddall case the jury convicted the defendant of 
assault with a deadly weapon with intent to kill inflicting 
serious injury, a felony, and for this offense he was sentenced 
to imprisonment for not less than nine nor more than ten 
years. In  the Pierce case the jury convicted the defendant of 
an assault inflicting serious injury, a misdemeanor, and for this 
offense defendant was sentenced to imprisonment for two years, 
this sentence to commence a t  the termination of the sentence 
pronounced in the Waddell case. Defendant appealed to the 
Court of Appeals where the foregoing judgments were upheld. 
We allowed certiorari to review the decision of that court. 

Boyce, Mitchell, Burm & Smith by Robert E. Smith, At- 
torneys for defendant appel1a"il.t. 

Robert Morgan, Attorney General, and Benjamin H. Bax- 
ter, Jr., Associate Attorney, for the State of North Carolina. 
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HUSKINS, Justice. 

Defendant assigns as error the admission of his inculpatory 
statement made during an in-custody interrogation without 
benefit of counsel. He contends the statement was tainted and 
inadmissible because he had not waived his right to counsel in 
writing. Admission of the statement over objection constitutes 
his first assignment of error. 

The record discloses that defendant was twice advised of 
his constitutional rights as required by Miranda v. Arixorta, 
384 U.S. 436, 16 L.Ed. 2d 694, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966), first by 
Officer Pegram a t  the H & H Tire Company shortly after his 
arrest and again by Officer Benson in the interrogation room 
a t  the Municipal Building. Each time defendant stated that he 
understood his rights, At no time did defendant request counsel 
according to the voir dire testimony of the officers; but ac- 
cording to defendant's testimony on voir dire he requested an 
attorney after he was taken to the police station and went to 
the interrogation room. Defendant further swore that his state- 
ments were coerced, while all the officers swore to the contrary. 
At the conclusion of the voir dire the court found facts as  
follows : 

"The Court finds from the evidence presented on 
voir dire that on the morning of March 10, 1971, while 
the defendant was in custody of the Raleigh Police he 
was questioned by Police Officer F. L. Benson a t  the 
Raleigh Police Station; that before any questions were 
asked the defendant was fully advised of his constitutional 
rights first by Police Officer James W. Pegram and again 
by Police Officer F. L. Benson. Each of these officers fully 
advised the defendant of his constitutional rights including 
his right to remain silent; that anything he said could be 
used in court against him ; that he had a right to have a law- 
yer present during the interrogation ; that he had a right to  
have counsel appointed if he could not hire a lawyer and 
that he could quit answering questions any time he desired 
to do so; that the defendant stated that he understood his 
rights and did not request counsel; that the defendant did 
in fact fully understand his rights; that the defend- 
ant had suffered some minor injuries earlier the same day 
for which he had been offered treatment a t  Wake Memorial 
Hospital and refused to accept treatment for said injury; 
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that the defendant was not under the influence of any 
intoxicant, was not in any severe pain or great discomfort, 
was in full and complete control of his mental and physical 
faculties and answered all questions freely, voluntarily and 
intelligently; that the defendant's statements were reduced 
to writing and the defendant read and signed the written 
statement freely and voluntarily; that neither Sergeant I?. I. 
Denton nor any of the other police officers made any 
threats, assaults, or threatened assaults against the defend- 
ant and none of said officers made any promises to the 
defendant. 

"The Court finds and concludes that the defendant's 
said written statement was in fact freely, voluntarily and 
understandingly made without any promise or threats and 
without any undue influence, compulsion or duress and 
that said statement is admissible in evidence." 

111 The trial court's findings of fact, supported by competent 
evidence, are conclusive on appeal. State v. McRae, 276 N.C. 308, 
172 S.E. 2d 37 (1970) ; State v. Gray, 268 N.C. 69, 150 S.E. 2d 
1 (1966). Consequently, we take it as established by those find- 
ings that defendant was given the full Miranda warning, that he 
understood his right to counsel, that he did not request the 
presence of an attorney during the interrogation, and that his 
statement was not coerced but was freely and voluntarily made. 
This, however, is not sufficient to render his statement admissi- 
ble in evidence. Admission of his inculpatory in-custody state- 
ment to Officer Denton, which was reduced to writing and 
signed by defendant, was erroneous because there is neither 
evidence nor findings to show that defendant waived his right 
to counsel, either in writing as provided by G.S. 78-457 (1969) 
on which Sta te  v. Lynch, 279 N.C. 1, 181 S.E. 2d 561 (1971), 
is based, or orally as provided by Miranda on which State v. 
Blaclcmon, 280 N.C. 42, 185 S.E. 2d 123 (1971), is based. "An 
individual need not make a pre-interrogation request for a law- 
yer. While such request affirmatively secures his right to 
have one, his failure to ask for a lawyer does not constitute a 
waiver. No effective waiver of the right to counsel during in- 
terrogation can be recognized unless specifically made after 
the warnings we here delineate have been given.'' Mirandu v. 
Arizona, supra. The erroneous admission of this in-custody 
incriminating statement requires a new trial unless its admis- 
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sion can be treated as harmless error. We now explore that 
alternative. 

[2-41 Proof of an assault with a deadly weapon inflicting 
serious injury not resulting in death does not, as a matter of 
law, establish a presumption of intent to kill. Such intent must 
be found by the jury as a fact from the evidence. State v. Fer- 
guson, 261 N.C. 558, 135 S.E. 2d 626 (1964). An intent to kill 
may be inferred from the nature of the assault, the manner in 
which it was made, the conduct of the parties, and other rele- 
vant circumstances. State v. Revels, 227 N.C. 34, 40 S.E. 2d 
474 (1946). An intent to kill is a matter for the State to prove, 
State v. Allen, 186 N.C. 302, 119 S.E. 504 (1923), and is 
ordinarily shown by proof of facts from which an intent to 
kill may be reasonably inferred. State v. Cadey, 244 N.C. 701, 
94 S.E. 2d 915 (1956). 

[5, 61 There is ample evidence in the record, excluding de- 
fendant's inculpatory statement, from which a jury may rea- 
sonably infer that defendant intended to kill Miss Wad- 
dell. Such evidence includes defendant's repeated stabbings 
of Miss Waddell in vital areas of her body with a six-inch 
knife blade, first severing an artery in her arm as she at- 
tempted to ward off the blows and then plunging the blade 
four inches deep into her abdomen, completely traversing the 
abdominal wall and entering the abdominal cavity-done with- 
out provocation and to a person who was a complete stranger 
to him. The viciousness of the assault and the deadly character 
of the weapon used constitute impelling proof from which 
defendant's intent to kill may be inferred. Even so, defendant's 
in-custody inculpatory statement unequivocally expressing his 
intent to kill the first person he caught alone is so overpowering 
on the question of intent that its erroneous admission cannot 
be considered harmless. The test of harmless error is whether 
there is a reasonable possibility that the evidence complained 
of might have contributed to the conviction. Fahy v. Connecti- 
cut, 375 U.S. 85, 11 L.Ed. 2d 171, 84 S.Ct. 229 (1963). On 
the facts before us we think the statement very likely con- 
tributed to the finding that defendant possessed the requisite 
intent to kill. Hence we are unable to declare a belief that its 
admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Chapman 
v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 17 L.Ed. 2d 705, 87 S.Ct. 824 (1967). 
Error in the admission of this evidence requires a new trial in 
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the Waddell case, No. 71-CR-12806. Defendant's f irst  assign- 
ment of error is sustained. 

In each of these cases defendant is charged with an assault 
with a deadly weapon with intent to kill inflicting serious 
injury not resulting in death, a felony the maximum punish- 
ment for which is ten years imprisonment under G.S. 14-32 (a)  
(1969). In each case the court limited the jury to one of four 
verdicts: (1) guilty as charged, (2) guilty of assault inflicting 
serious injury, (3) guilty of assault with a deadly weapon, 
or (4) not guilty. In the Waddell ease (No. 71-CR-12806) the 
jury found defendant guilty as charged. In the Pierce case (No. 
71-CR-12807) the jury found defendant guilty of an assault 
inflicting serious injury. Defendant contends the court erred 
in the Waddell case in failing to submit a lesser degree of the 
crime charged, to wit, assault with a firearm or other deadly 
weapon per se inflicting serious injury, a five-year felony under 
G.S. 14-32 (b) (1969). 

[7, 81 I t  suffices to say that the crime condemned by G.S. 
14-32(b) is a lesser degree of the offense defined in G.S. 
14-32(a), and a defendant is entitled to have the different per- 
missible verdicts arising on the evidence presented to the jury 
under proper instructions. State v. Keaton, 206 N.C. 682, 175 
S.E. 296 (1934) ; State v. Riera, 276 N.C. 361, 172 S.E. 2d 535 
(1970). Error in failing to submit the question of a defendant's 
guilt of lesser degrees of the same crime is not cured by a 
verdict of guilty of the offense charged because, in such case, 
i t  cannot be known whether the jury would have convicted of a 
lesser degree if the different permissible degrees arising on 
the evidence had been correctly presented in the charge. State 
v. Davis, 242 N.C. 476, 87 S.E. 2d 906 (1955). However, this 
principle applies when, and only when, there is evidence of 
the lesser degrees. State v. Smith, 201 N.C. 494, 160 S.E. 577 
(1931). "The presence of such evidence is the determinative 
factor." State v .  Ricks, 241 N.C. 156, 84 S.E. 2d 545 (1954). 
These principles were recently analyzed and applied in State v. 
Duboise, 279 N.C. 73, 181 S.E. 2d 393 (1971). Compare State 
v. Freeman, 275 N.C. 662,170 S.E. 2d 461 (1969). 

[9, 101 In limiting the jury to the four verdicts enumerated 
above, the trial judge committed two errors: (1) He failed to 
submit defendant's guilt or innocence of assault on Miss Waddell 
with a deadly weapon per se inflicting serious injury, a felony 
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punishable by a fine or imprisonment for not more than five 
years under G.S. 14-32 (b) ; and (2) he submitted defendant's 
guilt or innocence of an assault inflicting serious injury and 
an  assault with a deadly weapon, misdemeanors condemned by 
G.S. 14-33 the punishment for which is limited to two years. 
All the evidence tends to show that defendant wielded a knife 
with a six-inch blade inflicting serious injury on both Miss 
Waddell and Mr. Pierce. A knife with a six-inch blade is a 
deadly weapon per se, and there is no evidence showing only the 
commission of the misdemeanors which were submitted to the 
jury, and nothing more, because a deadly weapon was used 
in both assaults and serious injury mas inflicted on both victims. 
Therefore, these offenses are governed by G.S. 14-32(a) if 
committed with intent to kill, or by G.S. 14-32(b) absent such 
an intent. 

I ]  These errors may be corrected in the Waddell case a t  the 
next trial. They are now history in the Pierce case because 
defendant cannot be retried for either the ten-year felony with 
which he was charged or the five-year felony punishable under 
G.S. 14-32(b). In legal fiction, if not in fact, the jury has ac- 
quitted him on those charges. In the Pierce case, the erroneous 
submission of the misdemeanor charges in lieu of the felony 
charge condemned by G.S. 14-32 (b) was favorable to defend- 
ant, and he is in no position to complain. His conviction and 
sentence in that case will not be disturbed. 

Finally, defendant contends his in-court identification was 
tainted by the confrontation a t  the hospital when he was ex- 
hibited to the victims for identification purposes without benefit 
of counsel. Failure to suppress his in-court identification on 
that ground constitutes defendant's third assignment of error. 

[12,13] Confrontation for identification purposes is a critical 
stage of pretrial proceedings requiring the presence of counsel 
unless the right to counsel is voluntarily, knowingly and in- 
telligently waived. United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 18 
L.Ed. 2d 1149, 87 S.Ct. 1926 (1967) ; Gilbert v. California, 
388 U.S. 263, 18 L.Ed. 2d 1178, 87 S.Ct. 1951 (1967). Even so, 
each victim here testified that the in-court identification of 
defendant had an independent origin and was not based on 
the confrontation a t  the hospital. There was no evidence to 
the contrary. Thus, the in-court identification was competent 
regardless of the absence of counsel at  the hospital confronta- 
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tion. State v. Wright, 274 N.C. 84, 161 S.E. 2d 581 (1968) ; 
State v. Rogers, 275 N.C. 411, 168 S.E. 2d 345 (1969). At the 
next trial, upon objection, the origin of the in-court identifica- 
tion of defendant by each victim should be determined by the 
trial court on a voir dire examination with appropriate findings 
of fact and conclusions based thereon. The present record con- 
tains no such findings. 

In light of the foregoing facts, we do not decide whether 
defendant's constitutional rights were violated at the hospital 
emergency room confrontation. At the time of that confron- 
tation it should be noted that both victims had been stabbed 
and their chance of survival was uncertain and unknown. De- 
fendant had been immediately apprehended under circumstances 
strongly indicating guilt. The need for immediate action was 
apparent, and the police followed the most, and perhaps the 
only, feasible procedure when they took defendant to the hos- 
pital emergency room for immediate identification or exonera- 
tion. Under these circumstances defendant's claimed violation 
of due process by a "one-man lineup" and his claimed violation 
of Sixth Amendment rights to counsel a t  that confrontation are 
arguable matters, Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 18 L.Ed. 2d 
1199, 87 S.Ct. 1967 (1967) ; State v. McNeil, 277 N.C. 162, 176 
S.E. 2d 732 (1970), and resolution of them is not necessary 
to a decision in these cases. 

Inasmuch as the valid judgment of imprisonment for two 
years in Case No. 71-CR-12807 (Pierce) was specified to begin 
a t  the termination of the nine- to ten-year sentence imposed 
in Case No. 71-CR-12806 (Waddell), which is now vacated, 
Case No. 71-CR-12807 (Pierce) must be remanded to the 
Superior Court of Wake County to the end that the judgment 
may be modified so as to provide that the two-year sentence 
shall commence on the date defendant began serving the nine- 
to ten-year sentence in the Waddell case. The effect will be, 
and it is so intended, that defendant will receive credit in the 
Pierce case for all time heretofore served on the now vacated 
nine- to ten-year sentence in the Waddell case. A revised com- 
mitment shall issue accordingly. If defendant is again convicted 
in the Waddell case the sentence imposed therein may run con- 
secutively or concurrently with the time remaining to be served 
in the Pierce case, as the court in its discretion may determine. 

For the reasons stated, these cases are remanded to the 
Court of Appeals where they will be certified to the Superior 
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Court of Wake County for further proceedings in accord with 
this opinion. 

In  Case No. 71-CR-12806 (Waddei1)-New trial. 

In Case No. 71-CR-12807 (Pierce) -Remanded. 

N. C. STATE HIGHWAY COMMISSION V. FARM EQUIPMENT COM- 
PANY, INC.; ROBERT C. HALL, TRUSTEE; AND THE BANK O F  
ASHEVILLE 

No. 87 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Eminent Domain § 1; Highways § 5- substitute condemnation 
"Substitute condemnation" is a transaction in which the State 

or  an agency with the power of eminent domain takes land under 
an agreement to compensate its owner with land to be taken in con- 
demnation proceedings from a third person instead of with money. 

2. Eminent Domain § 3- public use 
Due process of law requires that  private property be taken under 

the power of eminent domain only for a public use. 

3. Eminent Domain § 7; Highways 5- condemnation proceedings- 
necessity and public purpose - substitute condemnation 

In  ordinary condemnation proceedings, the question whether 
the purpose for which private property is taken is a public one is  
judicial, but the question of necessity and proper extent of the taking 
is legislative and is subject to determination by the condemning 
agency and in such way as the legislature may designate; in con- 
troversies concerning substitute condemnation, however, necessity 
is  justiciable along with public purpose. 

4. Highways 5 5- railroad right-of-way - highway project - substitute 
condemnation 

Where par t  of a railroad right-of-way was condemned for a 
highway construction project, the Highway Commission had autho~i ty  
to condemn, for the purpose of exchange with the railroad, land of 
defendant which is required for the necessary relocation and up- 
grading of the railroad's tracks thereon. 

5. Railroads 3- power of eminent domain 
A railroad corporation has the power of eminent domain. G.S. 

40-2 (1) ; G.S. 40-5 ; G.S. 62-220 (2) .  

6. Railroads § 3- rights-of-way - purchase of fee - condemnation of 
easement 

A railway can acquire by purchase a fee in the land over which 
its tracks run;  however, when a railway obtains such land in con- 
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demnation proceedings i t  procures merely an  easement for railroad 
purposes which does not deprive the owner of the fee or its use for 
purposes not inconsistent with its use for railroad purposes. 

7. Eminent Domain § 3; Highways § 5- substitute condemnation 
Substitute condemnation is a valid exercise of the power of emi- 

nent domain only when the substitution of other property is the 
sole method by which the owner of land taken for a public use can 
be justly compensated, and the practical problems resulting from the 
taking can be solved. 

8. Eminent Domain 3; Highways $$ 5- substitute condemnation - effect 
of G.S. 136-18(16) 

The intent and effect of G.S. 136-18(16) is to require, as a con- 
dition precedent to substitute condemnation, (1) a written agreement 
binding the owner of the land to be used in highway construction to 
accept substitute property in exchange, and (2) a considered finding 
by the Highway Commission that  such an  exchange will save public 
funds and result in a safer and better highway. 

9. Eminent Domain § 5- compensation in money 

A condemnor cannot force a condemnee to accept compensation 
in any form other than money. 

10. Eminent Domain 3; Highways 8 5- substitute condemnation- pub- 
lic purpose - cost 

The condemnation of land for exchange can only be justified 
when the property for which i t  is substituted accomplishes the public 
purpose for which i t  was taken, and the cost is not disproportionate 
to the benefit derived. 

11. Eminent Domain 7; Highways 8 5- substitute condemnation-rail- 
road right-of-way - easement 

The Highway Commission is  without authority to condemn land 
in fee simple for the purpose of exchanging i t  for railroad right- 
of-way property to be used in a highway construction project, but 
may only condemn an easement to be used for railroad purposes. 

12. Railroads Fj 2- highway project -necessity for relocating railroad 
tracks - findings 

Trial court's finding that a highway project did not necessitate 
the relocation of a railroad's tracks across defendant's property out- 
side the railroad's existing right-of-way was unsupported by the evi- 
dence and ignored an uncontradicted affidavit to ' the contrary, as  
well as information disclosed by maps introduced in evidence. 

APPEAL by plaintiff from Judge Harry C. Martin, 1 March 
1971 Session of BUNCOMBE, transferred from the Court of 
Appeals for initial appellate review by the Supreme Court under 
its general order of 31 July 1970, entered pursuant to G.S. 
7A-31 (b) (4) (1969). 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 461 

Highway Comm. v. Equipment Co. 

As a part of State Highway Project No 8.3023203 (Proj- 
ect), the reconstruction of Highway No. 23, also known as 
Riverside Drive, the North Carolina State Highway Commis- 
sion (Commission) instituted this proceeding on 12 December 
1969 to condemn six separately described portions of an 8.61- 
acre tract of land belonging to Farm Equipment Company, Inc. 
(defendant). 

Of the six tracts sought to be condemned three are drainage 
easements totaling 0.13 acres, and one is a .Ol-acre, triangular 
tract which will be a part of the new right-of-way for Riverside 
Drive. Commission's right to condemn these four tracts is 
conceded, and is not involved in this appeal. The two tracts 
in dispute are separately described in the complaint as 
"Railway Exchange Area-Tract One" and "Tract Two." 

For the restricted purpose of description and location of 
the separate tracts sought to be condemned and of the railroad 
easement on the property, Commission attached to its complaint 
a map of defendant's property, made by J. H. Price, surveyor, 
on 30 October 1968. The complaint and map show, inter alia: 
Defendant's 8.61-acre tract is bounded on the east by Riverside 
Drive; on the north, south and west by other landowners. The 
French Broad River flows across the tract roughly along its 
western border. A spur track of the Southern Railway (South- 
ern) traverses the land on a curve from north to south over 
a 20-foot right-of-way. At defendant's north property line, 
the east line of this right-of-way is approximatetly 125 feet 
from the west line of Riverside Drive as i t  then existed; a t  
defendant's southern boundary, the east line of the right-of- 
way is approximately 35 feet from Riverside Drive. 

Tracts One and Two, which contain 0.35 acres and 0.15 
acres respectively, are narrow strips of land lying on each 
side of Southern's spur track right-of-way as i t  crosses de- 
fendant's property. The eastern line of Tract One is the western 
boundary of the right-of-way. At its north end, Tract One is 
20.9 feet wide; a t  the south end, 28.52 feet wide. The western 
line of Tract Two is the eastern line of the right-of-way. At 
the north end, it is 10.05 feet wide; a t  the south, 1.5 feet wide. 
See the composite, illustrative sketch map attached hereto. 

Upon allegations summarized below (our enumeration), 
Commission seeks to acquire the fee simple title to the two 
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tracts described above for the purpose of conveying them in 
fee to Southern : 

(1) Southern owns land which Commission must acquire 
for Project. Southern has agreed in writing to accept Tracts 
One and Two in lieu of a portion of its property which Com- 
mission requires. Commission has determined by resolution 
"that an economy in the expenditure of public funds and the 
improvement and convenience in safety of the highway can 
be effected through the condemnation and exchange of the 
property described herein." 

(2) Acting under G.S. 136-18 (16), and after having com- 
plied with its terms, Commission condemns the fee simple 
title to Tracts One and Two "solely for the purpose of convey- 
ing said areas to the Southern Railway Company. The Commis- 
sion condemns and appropriates no access to or from the above 
described railway exchange areas." 

Answering, defendant moved to dismiss the action upon 
the ground that the complaint failed to state a claim upon which 
relief could be granted and, as a second and third defense, 
alleged : 

(1) Southern's present easement over defendant's land 
is entirely sufficient for its legitimate purposes and neither 
Commission nor Southern has any necessity for Tracts One and 
Two ; 

(2) Commission's attempt to condemn these tracts for the 
purpose of conveying them to Southern is not for a public pur- 
pose ; 

(3) G.S. 136-18(16) does not authorize Commission to 
condemn land for the purpose of transferring i t  from one 
private owner to another under the circumstances of this case; 
if the statute does purport to authorize such a condemnation, 
to that extent i t  violates N. C. Constitution art. I, 5 19 and the 
Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United 
States. 

On 22 June 1971 Judge Martin conducted a pretrial hear- 
ing, presumably under G.S. 136-108. His judgment recites that, 
in ruling upon defendant's motion "to dismiss for failure to 
state a cause of action upon which relief can be granted," he 
considered the pleadings, briefs, and oral argument presented 
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by counsel for both parties as the basis for his findings of 
fact. The record and briefs of both appellant and appellee show 
that in addition to the pleadings, Commission presented to 
Judge Martin, and he did not exclude, the following documents : 

(1) Minutes of Commission's meeting on 5 February 1970, 
a t  which it adopted the resolution referred to in the complaint. 

(2) Written agreement between Commission and Southern, 
entered into 20 November 1968, with reference to the relocation 
of the spur track. 

(3) Affidavit of State Highway Engineer Joseph Buckner, 
made 12 March 1971. 

(4) Final plat showing "the property affected by the 
taking and superimposed thereon the nature and extent of 
the taking.'' This plat is the Price map. To it was appended 
Southern's Drawing No. 12-232 which showed the entire spur 
track system, a part of which traverses defendant's property. 
At the hearing these maps were introduced without restriction 
and without objection. From these maps it appears that the 
trackage on defendant's land, about 750 feet, is a small seg- 
ment of the spur track. 

Defendant presented no evidence. 

The minutes of Commission's meeting on 5 February 1970 
show that, in addition to the statement alleged in the com- 
plaint, the resolution adopted at this meeting also contained 
the following: For Southern's property, which Commission 
must acquire for Project, "Commission has agreed to furnish 
Southern Railway Company alternate property or pay the 
value of the property acquired as just compensation." 

The agreement referred to in the foregoing minutes is the 
contract which Southern and Commission executed on 20 No- 
vember 1968 as a part of the submission of Project as a Federal- 
aid highway. Commission agreed, inter alia (enumeration ours) : 

(1) In the construction of Project, Southern's tracks along 
Riverside Drive must be relocated. In connection therewith 
Southern and Commission will each perform certain specified 
work. Commission will reimburse Southern for the work i t  
performs. 
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(2) In consideration of a quitclaim deed from Southern 
for those portions of its right-of-way located within Project, 
Commission will acquire and convey to Southern, as partial 
payment, "an unencumbered fee simple title" to the strip of land 
outlined in orange (Tracts One and Two) on Drawing No. 
12-232. (Property lines are not shown on this drawing, but 
defendant's Tracts One and Two are a portion of the total land 
which Commission would convey to Southern.) 

(3) After its conveyance of the above described property 
to Southern, if any individual or company shall apply to 
Southern for a vehicular crossing a t  grade over the spur track, 
"Commission shall cause such applicant to enter into an agree- 
ment with Company concerning said grade crossings, said 
agreement to be in the usual form prepared by Company and 
to contain the Company's standard language, including, but 
not limited to, the obligation of such applicant to construct and 
maintain such crossings a t  the applicant's cost and expense, 
and in accordance with plans and specifications approved by 
Company, and the assumption by the applicant of all responsi- 
bility and liability resulting from the use of such crossing or 
from railroad operations a t  or in the vicinity thereof." (The 
source of Commission's power to comply with this require- 
ment after its conveyance in fee simple is not apparent.) 

In the affidavit of James Buckner, highway engineer re- 
siding in Buncombe County, it is averred (enumeration ours) : 

(1) The strip map (Drawing No. 12-232) correctly shows 
the location of those sections of Southern's tracks and right-of- 
way which Commission must appropriate in the construction of 
Project. It also shows the necessary relocation and additional 
lateral right-of-way required to upgrade the tracks for consid- 
eration of safety. 

(2) According to the Price map, the tracks over the right- 
of-way across defendant's property have been laterally relocated 
in a westerly direction 8.47 feet a t  Southern station 18+62.97, 
the point where defendant's south boundary line intersects 
Southern's present right-of-way. This westerly relocation con- 
tinues in a northerly direction, a distance of 130 feet to Southern 
station 19-l-91.26 and from there continues northerly "across 
said parcel of land directly on the 'Old' centerline." 
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(3) The relocated and upgraded tracks have been raised 
in elevation 6.9 feet at  defendant's south line and 3.3 feet a t  
the north line. 

(4) The additional right-of-way across defendant's prop- 
erty is necessary: (a) to provide for the westerly lateral re- 
location referred to above and to provide horizontal support 
for the eIevated tracks; and (b) to meet safety requirements 
for tracks paralleling the upgraded highway facility. 

Upon the pleadings, the foregoing documents, "briefs and 
oral argument of counsel," Judge Martin made findings of 
fact and conclusions of law. (Here we note that the briefs and 
oral arguments are not in the record for our consideration.) 
Judge Martin's findings of fact are summarized as follows 
(enumeration ours) : 

(1) Southern has a right-of-way for a spur track over 
defendant's land. The Price map accurately illustrates defend- 
ant's property, the various portions of i t  which Commission 
seeks to condemn, and Southern's existing right-of-way. 

(2) Southern's right-of-way over defendant's land is only 
an easement; Southern does not hold the right-of-way in fee 
simple. 

(3) Tracts One and Two lie on either side of the spur track 
across defendant's property. They are not within the right-of- 
way required for Project, and are not themselves essential 
for its construction. 

(4) Certain portions of the spur track located south of 
defendant's property do lie within the area required for Project, 
and those portions of the track must be relocated. 

(5) "[Plrior to the institution of this lawsuit . . . the 
general public has a right to cross Southern's right-of-way over 
defendant's land. . . . ' 9  

(6) Defendant's property is the last property served by 
the sidetrack and the public's interest in its maintenance will 
not be affected by the outcome of this lawsuit. The spur track 
in question "serves various customers of the railroad and the 
public in general, and the defendant does not utilize the side- 
track where i t  crosses its property." 



466 IN THE SUPREME COURT [281 

Highway Comm. v. Equipment Co. 

(7)  Project requires no relocation of the tracks outside 
of the pre-existing right-of-way on defendant's property. Under 
the contract between Southern and Commission i t  will not be 
necessary to relocate any portion of the railroad track outside 
the pre-existing right-of-way across defendant's property. Any 
work required by the contract between Commission and South- 
ern can be done within the existing right-of-way insofar as 
the track crossing defendant's property is concerned. 

(8) Commission can acquire Southern's tracks which lie 
within Project's right-of-way and effect their relocation with- 
out taking Tracts One and Two from defendant. 

(9) No facts substantiate Commission's findings in its min- 
utes of 5 February 1970 that "economy, convenience, and safety'' 
will be effected by the acquisition and exchange of defendant's 
property for the relocation of Southern's spur track south of 
defendant's property. 

(10) If Commission is permitted to condemn and convey 
the fee in Tracts One and Two to Southern the railway will 
then own in fee two parallel strips of land through defendant's 
property, one strip on each side of its easement which bisects 
defendant's property in a north and south direction, and de- 
fendant and the public will be deprived of access to and from 
the remaining portions of defendant's property except by per- 
mission of the railroad. 

Upon the foregoing facts Judge Martin concluded as a 
matter of law : 

(1) Commission cannot condemn Tracts One and Two 
and convey them in fee to Southern in exchange for its property 
utilized in Project, for such a taking in fee would constitute the 
appropriation of defendant's property for a private purpose of 
the railroad and would permit Southern to acquire a greater 
estate in the property than it could condemn. 

(2) G.S. 136-18(16), a valid statute when properly con- 
strued, would be unconstitutional if applied to the facts of this 
case. 

(3) "Although a general acquisition of the railray's ease- 
ment through one unified plan by substitute compensation of 
alternate right-of-way across third party's properties may be 
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proper," i t  is not necessary to take any part of defendant's 
property to carry out such unified plan, since there is no 
need to relocate the tracks outside the pre-existing easement on 
defendant's land. 

(4) The substitute condemnation of defendant's property 
would not result in "economizing public funds through a re- 
duction of the amount for all damage in completing the highway 
project"; nor does i t  appear (a)  that the taking of defendant's 
property would be the best means of compensating Southern 
for "the first taking" or (b) that the taking would benefit the 
public in any way. 

Based upon the foregoing conclusions, Judge Martin dis- 
missed the action with prejudice insofar as it related to Tracts 
One and Two. Commission excepted to each finding of fact and 
conclusion of law and appealed. 

Attorney General Morgan, Deputy Attorney General White, 
Assistant Attorney General Hart  for plaintiff. 

McGuire, Baley & Wood by Charles R. Worley for Farm 
Equipment Company, Inc., defendant appellee. 

SHARP, Justice. 

At the outset we note that it is immaterial whether the 
proceeding before Judge Martin be considered (1) a pre-trial 
hearing under G.S. 136-108 (1965) or (2) a motion to dismiss, 
converted under G.S. 1A-1, Rule 12(b) (1969) into a motion 
for summary judgment by the introduction of "matters outside 
the pleading." In either event, i t  was Judge Martin's function 
to decide all questions of fact and adjudicate Commission's 
controverted right to condemn Tracts One and Two for the 
purpose specified. If he concluded that Commission lacked the 
power i t  sought to exercise, i t  was his duty to dismiss the 
action as to Tracts One and Two. See Kaperonis v. Highway 
Commission, 260 N.C. 587,133 S.E. 2d 464 (1963). 

The basic questions presented by the exceptions and assign- 
ments of error which appellant brings forward are these: 

(1) Can Commission, in the exercise of its right to con- 
demn property for highway purposes, take from defendant 
Tracts One and Two, which will not be used in the construc- 
tion of Project itself, in order to exchange them for property 
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belonging to Southern which will be a part of Project's right-of- 
way? 

(2) If so, can Commission condemn Tracts One and Two 
in fee and convey them in fee to Southern? 

[I] These questions involve the principle of "substitute con- 
demnation," that  is, a transaction in which the State or an  
agency with the power of eminent domain, A, takes land 
under an agreement to compensate its owner, %-;-with land to 
be taken in  condemnation proceedings from a t E r d  person, C, 
instead of with money. The problem is well stated in 2A ~ i c h o T  
on Eminent Domain § 7.226 (3d Ed. 1970) : 

"Under certain extraordinary conditions the conventional 
method of compensating an owner whose property is taken 
by proceedings in eminent domain by paying him the value 
thereof is completely inadequate. To do complete justice to 
such an owner and, what is even more important, to meet the 
practical problems which arise by reason of the taking, i t  be- 
comes necessary to furnish such owner with other lands as  
a substitute for the lands which have been taken. The question 
then arises whether such substituted lands may be acquired 
by eminent domain by the original condemnor . . . for  the 
use of the owner who has been forced to give up his property 
for  a conceded public use. Is such secondary acquisition of 
property t o  be considered for a public use?" 

[2] Any exercise of the power of eminent domain is subject 
to the constitutional prohibition against the taking of property 
for  private uses. "Private property can be taken by the exercise 
of the power of eminent domain only where the taking is for 
a public use." Vance County v. Royster, 271 N.C. 53, 59, 155 
S.E. 2d 790, 795 (1967). Due process of law requires that 
private property be taken under the power of eminent domain 
only for  a public use. Fallbrook Irrigation District v. Bradley, 
164 U.S. 112, 161, 41 L.Ed. 369, 389, 1'7 S.Ct. 56, 64 (1896). 

In  controversies concerning substitute condemnation the 
ultimate condemnee, C, will usually contend, as defendant 
does here, that  his l and  is being taken for a private use and 
that  the taking is not necessary. See the excellent discussion of 
Substitute Condemnation in 54 Cal. L. Rev. 1097 (1966). See 
also Annot., 20 A.L.R. 3d 862 (1968). 
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131 In ordinary condemnation proceedings the questions of 
necessity and public use are separable. "Whether the purpose 
for which private property is taken is a public one is a judicial 
question, but the question of necessity and of the proper extent 
of a taking is legislative and is subject to determination by 
such agency and in such way as the State may designate." 
Htighway Commission v. Young, 200 N.C. 603, 607, 158 S.E. 
91, 94 (1931). See 26 Am. Jur. 2d Eminent Domain 5 114 
(1966). 

In  controversies concerning substitute condemnation, how- 
ever, the questions of public use and necessity are so entwined 
as to be inseparable. "Whether land has been taken for a public 
use in a substitute condemnation will depend on whether fair- 
ness requires that I3 [whose land has been taken for an un- 
disputed public purFose] be compensated in land and whether 
there is a close factual connection between the taking of B's 
and C's land. Whether it is necessary to exercise the pow% 
of emTent domain-the first concept of necessity-will turn 
on whether B can be fairly compensated only in land. Whether 
i t  is necessaFy to take C's property-the second concept--de- 
pends on whether t h e r e T  a close factual connection between 
the two takings. To argue that C's land has not been taken 
for a public use is to dispute the necessity of the taking, because 
the determinance of the two issues are the same." 54 Cal. L. Rev., 
supra a t  1116. In a substitute condemnation, therefore, neces- 
sity is justiciable along with public purpose. 

Courts have found no denial of due process or other consti- 
tutional infirmity in substitute condemnations where the owner 
of the land first taken (here, Southern) with whom the ultimate 
condemnee's land (here, defendant's) is to be exchanged, also 
has the power of condemnation and could itself have condemned 
the land. See Annot., 20 A.L.R. 3d 862, $ 5  4, 6 (1968). "Thus, 
where part of a railroad right of way is condemned for the 
purpose of widening a state highway, the state may also con- 
demn other property to be used by the railroad as a substituted 
right of way for the one originally taken." 2A Nichols on Emi- 
nent Domain 5 7.226 (3d Ed. 1970). See Dohany v. Rogers, 
281 U.S. 362, 74 L.Ed. 904, 50 S.Ct. 299 (1929) (facts parallel 
to those of this case) ; Tiller v. Railway Company, 201 Va. 222, 
110 S.E. 2d 209 (1959) (Plaintiff Railroad, seeking to acquire 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 471 

Highway Comm. v. Equipment Co. 

a portion of a highway agreed with State of Virginia that i t  
would condemn C's land for the highway's location.) ; Mfg. Co. 
v. Cleveland, 159O'hio St. 525, 112 N.E. 2d 658 (1953) (City 
transit system permitted to condemn C's land upon which to 
relocate railroad tracks removed fromTand City required.) ; 
Fitxsimom & Galvin, Inc. v. Roye~s ,  243 Mich. 649, 220 N.W. 
881 (1928) (facts parallel to those of this case). See also 
Brown v. United States, 263 U.S. 78, 68 L.Ed. 171, 44 S.Ct. 92 
(1923). 

In Austin v. Shaw, 235 N.C. 722, 71 S.E. 2d 25 (1952)) 
upon the rationale of the preceding decisions, this Court used 
the principle of "compensation by way of substitution," to 
justify the expenditure of city funds for extra-territorial con- 
struction. In  Highway Comm. v. School, 276 N.C. 556, 173 S.E. 
2d 909 (1970)) the Court permitted substitute condemnation 
in  order to provide access to private property which otherwise 
would have been landlocked by the construction of a non-access 
highway. The owner, whose access route had been taken as an 
incident to and a requirement for the construction of the high- 
way, could only be made whole by means of a substitute route. 
The decision was that the taking of defendant's property to 
provide i t  served a public purpose. 

[4] That the construction of Project affects Southern's entire 
spur track system along the western boundary of "old Riverside 
Drive,'' and requires the relocation of certain portions of i t  
south of defendant's property is not disputed. If any part of 
defendant's land is required for the necessary relocation and 
upgrading of the tracks thereon, the law permits Commission 
to condemn, for the purpose of exchange with Southern, that 
which is required for the purpose. I t  does not follow, however, 
that Commission can condemn defendant's land in fee for this 
purpose. 

[5] "[A] railroad corporation is without power to acquire and 
hold real estate except by statutory authority, either expressly 
conferred or necessarily implied from the powers contained in 
the charter or arising to i t  under the general laws." Wallace v. 
Moore, 178 N.C. 114, 115, 100 S.E. 237, 238 (1919). A railroad 
corporation has the power of eminent domain. G.S. 40-2 ( I ) ,  40-5 
(1966) ; G.S. 62-220 (2) (1965). 

[6] G.S. 40-5 (Supp. 1971) empowers any railroad doing busi- 
ness in this State, when i t  has been ordered by the Utilities 
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Commission to construct an industrial siding as provided in 
G.S. 62-232 (1965), to exercise the right of eminent domain in 
order to acquire such right-of-way as may be necessarg to carry 
out the orders of the Commission. G.S. 62-220(3) and (4) 
(1965) authorized every railroad corporation to take and hold 
by voluntary grants and by purchase real estate to aid in the 
construction and maintenance of its railroad and the stations 
and accommodations necessary to accomplish the objects of its 
incorporation. Real estate received by voluntary grant %hall 
be held and used for the purposes of such grant only." Thus, 
by purchase a railway can acquire a fee in the land over which 
its tracks run. See Craig v. R. R., 262 N.C. 538, 138 S.E. 2d 
35 (1964) ; McCotter v. Barnes, 247 N.C. 480, 101 S.E. 2d 330 
(1957). However, when a railroad corporation obtains such 
land in condemnation proceedings i t  procures merely an ease- 
ment to be used only for railroad purposes. Condemnation is 
not to be used as "a means of acquiring property for the benefit 
of the corporation." Shields v. R. R., 129 N.C. 1, 7, 39 S.E. 
582, 584 (1901). Accord, Griffith v. R. R., 191 N.C. 84, 87, 
131 S.E. 413, 415 (1926) ; Plzillips v. Telegraph Co., 130 N.C. 
513, 524, 41 S.E. 1022, 1025 (1902) ; R. R. v. Sturgeon, 120 
N.C. 225, 26 S.E. 797 (1897). It has "no right or authority to 
use or let the property for private or nonrailroad purposes." 
Sparrow v. Tobacco Co., 232 N.C. 589, 593, 61 S.E. 2d 700, 703 
(1950). Such a right-of-way is an easement for railroad pur- 
pose and does not deprive the owner of the fee or its use for 
purposes not inconsistent with its use for railroad purposes. 
Bivins v. R. R., 247 N.C. 711, 102 S.E. 2d 128 (1958) ; R. R. v. 
Manufacturing Co., 229 N.C. 695, 51 S.E. 2d 301 (1948) ; R. R. 
v. McLean, 158 N.C. 498,74 S.E. 461 (1912). 

The foregoing authorities notwithstanding, Commission 
contends that G.S. 136-18(16) empowers i t  to condemn Tracts 
One and Two in fee simple for the purpose of exchange with 
Southern solely upon its findings (1) that Southern has agreed 
in writing to accept these tracts "as a substantial portion of 
just compensation for the taking of its property" and (2) that, 
in Commission's opinion, an economy in the expenditure of 
public funds and highway improvement, safety and convenience 
will result. This section is quoted below: 

"The State Highway Commission shall have authority, un- 
der the power of eminent domain and under the same procedure 
as provided for the acquirement of rights of way, to acquire 
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title in fee simple to parcels of land for the purpose of exchang- 
ing the same for other real property to be used for the establish- 
ment of rights of way or for the widening of existing rights 
of way or the clearing of obstructions that, in the opinion of 
the Commission, constitute dangerous hazards a t  intersections. 
Real property may be acquired for such purposes only when 
the owner of the property needed by the Commission has agreed 
in writing to accept the property so acquired in exchange 
for that to be used by the Commission, and when, in the opinion 
of the Commission, an economy in the expenditure of public 
funds and the improvement and convenience and safety of the 
highway can be effected thereby." 

To accept Commission's interpretation of G.S. 136-18 (16) 
would require us to hold the act unconstitutional. As Johnson, J., 
well said in Bl*est v .  Jacksonville E x p w s s w a y  Authori ty ,  194 So. 
2d 658, 20 A.L.R. 3d 854 (Fla. App. 1967), aff'd. 202 So. 2d 
748 (Fla. 1967) : 

"To hold otherwise would open the door wide open for 
abuse and would permit a condemning authority to make a 
deal with the owner of private property to condemn a parcel 
of more desirable property, maybe in a better neighborhood or 
on a more economically strategic corner upon which to relocate 
the private owner's motel or building, in exchange for the 
parcel needed by the expropriating authority. This would be 
contrary . . . to both the Federal and State Constitutional pro- 
visions safeguarding property rights. 

"The Legislature cannot under the guise of exercising 
sovereign power of eminent domain, which can only be exercised 
for a public purpose, take a citizen's property without his con- 
sent and give it or sell it to another for private use, even 
though compensation is paid therefor, for to do so would be in 
violation of the Constitution of the United States Amendment 
14. Also the power to take private property is in every case 
limited to such and so much property as is necessary for the 
public use in question." Id. a t  661. 

[7, 81 We hold that substitute condemnation is a valid exer- 
cise of a power of eminent domain only when the substitution 
of other property is the sole method by which the owner of 
land taken for public use can be justly compensated, and the 
practical problems resulting from the taking can be solved. 
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The intent and effect of G.S. 136-18(16) is to require, as a 
condition precedent to substitute condemnation, (1) a written 
agreement binding the owner of the land to be used in highway 
construction to accept substitute property in exchange, and 
(2) a considered finding by Commission that such an exchange 
will save public funds and result in a safer and better highway. 
Obviously, however, the fact that an exchange of C's property 
for B's will be less expensive than paying B t h e f a i r  market - 
value of his land cannot be the test for determining whether 
the taking is necessary or for a public purpose. 

19, 101 Properly construed, the statute requires the Commis- 
sion to take sensible, preliminary steps before resorting to a 
condemnation which might otherwise turn out to have been a 
futile, expensive, and oppressive operation. It is well settled 
that a condemnor cannot force a condemnee to accept compensa- 
tion in any form other than money. 3 Nichols on Eminent 
Domain 5 8.2, and cases cited therein (3d Ed. 1965) ; 54 Cal. 
L. Rev., supra, 1107. Furthermore, the condemnation of land 
for exchange can only be justified when the property for 
which it is substituted accomplishes the public purpose for 
which it was taken, and the cost is not disproportionate to 
the benefit derived. 

[ I l l  We hold, therefore, that Commission is without authority 
to condemn any part of defendant's land in fee simple for the 
purpose of exchange with Southern. In this situation i t  may 
condemn no more land and no greater estate therein than 
Southern could condemn for itself. In short, it may only do for 
Southern what Southern itself could do. Southern will not be 
permitted to accomplish indirectly through Commission that 
which it could not do directly. 

To allow Southern to acquire in fee Trads  One and Two, 
a narrow strip on each side of its 20-foot easement across 
defendant's property, would divide the land into two separate 
tracts with no access to each other. Defendant would be placed 
a t  the mercy of the railroad and conceivably deprived of any 
access to its land west of the tracks except by way of the 
river. The law of this State is calculated to prevent such a sit- 
uation. 

[I21 The complaint does not specify the purpose for which 
Southern would use Tracts One and Two if and when Commis- 
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sion acquired and conveyed them to it. As to the tracks across 
defendant's property, however, in his finding of fact No. 7 
(our enumeration) Judge Martin found that no relocation out- 
side Southern's existing right-of-way was necessitated by 
Project and that any work required under the contract between 
Southern and Commission could be done within that easement. 
This finding, however, cannot be sustained on this record. I t  
is unsupported by the evidence and ignores the uncontradicted 
Buckner affidavit to the contrary, as well as information dis- 
closed by the two maps. 

Buckner asserted that the reIocationi of certain portions of 
the track required (1) the upgrading of the entire spur-track 
system and additional lateral right-of-way on either side of the 
present right-of-way; and (2) the relocation laterally in a 
westerly direction 8.47 feet from defendant's south property 
line to Station 19+91.26, a distance the Price map shows to 
be 130 feet north of the southern line. From the map i t  appears 
that a t  defendant's southern boundary the western rail of the 
relocated track is, or will be, outside the right-of-way. However, 
for an exact interpretation of the map, and a complete under- 
standing of the actual relocation of the tracks on the ground, 
the testimony of the engineer himself is required. In his affi- 
davit, Buckner says that the entire track across defendant's 
property has been, or will be, elevated from 3.3 feet a t  the 
north end to 6.9 feet a t  the south end; that "the additional 
right-of-way" across defendant's property is necessary to pro- 
vide for the westerly lateral relocation of the tracks; to provide 
horizontal support required by the elevation of the tracks; and 
to meet safety standards for tracks paralleling a highway. 

Although the judge was not required to  accept the Buckner 
affidavit, he couId not ignore its uncontradicted assertions and 
make contrary findings with no evidence to support them. 
Neither could he ignore the maps which provided the only 
evidence as to the relocation of the tracks. 

Judge Martin's findings of fact (our enumeration) Nos. 1 
through 4 are not controverted on appeal. As to findings Nos. 
5 and 6, we find no evidence in the record to support them. 
However, we deem them immaterial to decision here. Findings 
Nos. 8 and 10 are conclusions of law. Finding of fact No. 9 
relates to Commission's opinion with reference to the con- 
demnation of the fee in Tracts One and Two, and this decision 
renders those opinions irrelevant. 
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Judge Martin's conclusions of law Nos. (1) and (2) (our 
enumeration) are correct. Conclusions Nos. (3) and (4) are 
based upon factual findings not substantiated by the record and 
are, therefore, not correct. However, the proper disposition of 
this case requires that the judgment entered be vacated in its 
entirety and the case remanded to the Superior Court for a 
hearing de novo, and it is so ordered. 

If, in consequence of Project's construction, additional 
right-of-way has been, or will be, required for Southern's tracks 
across defendant's land, and Commission desires to condemn the 
necessary easement for Southern, it may do so in accordance 
with the principles of law enunciated in this opinion. That 
course will necessitate compliance with G.S. 136-18 (16), appro- 
priate amendments to the pleadings and-thereafter-a hear- 
ing de novo under G.S. 136-108. 

Judgment vacated and cause remanded. 

BOBBY L. SKINNER, ADMINISTRATOR O F  THE ESTATES OF 
BEVERLY KAY SKINNER, DECEASED, AND SANDRA GAIL SKIN- 
NER, DECEASED V. JOHN L. WHITLEY, ADMINISTRATOR O F  
THE ESTATE OF CLYDE WESLEY SKINNER, DECEASED 

No. 97 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Death § 3- wrongful death action - statutes 
A right of action for wrongful death exists only by virtue of 

G.S. 28-173 and G.S. 28-174. 

2. Parent and Child 3 2- wrongful death of child- action against de- 
ceased parent's administrator 

The administrator of an unemancipated minor child may not 
bring an  action against the administrator of its father for damages 
for the wrongful death of such child caused by the ordinary negligence 
of the deceased father in the operation of an  automobile. 

PLAINTIFF appeals from judgment of Cowper, J., 16 No- 
vember 1971 Civil Session, WILSON Superior Court. 

On 26 April 1970 the motor vehicle owned and operated 
by Clyde Wesley Skinner, deceased, along Highway 264 west 
of Wilson, North Carolina, skidded into the path of an oncoming 
motor vehicle. The collision resulted in the death of Clyde Wes- 
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ley Skinner and his two daughters, Sandra Gail Skinner and 
Beverly Kay Skinner. This action is brought by the administra- 
tor of the estates of the two deceased daughters against the 
administrator of the estate of their deceased father. 

Plaintiff administrator alleges that Clyde Wesley Skinner, 
deceased, was negligent in that he operated his motor vehicle 
a t  an excessive speed, failed to keep it under control, drove i t  
with worn and defective tires which he knew would be unsafe, 
and operated his vehicle without due caution and circumspection 
and in a manner likely to endanger others. Plaintiff alleges 
that the negligence of defendant's intestate was the proximate 
cause of the death of Beverly Kay Skinner and Sandra Gail Skin- 
ner, seventeen and thirteen years of age respectively. Plaintiff 
demands judgment against defendant in the sum of $80,000 and 
cost of the action. 

In his answer the defendant John L. Whitley, Administra- 
tor, denies all allegations of negligence on the part of Clyde 
Wesley Skinner, deceased, and further pleads, among other 
things, that plaintiff cannot legally prosecute this action against 
defendant by reason of the admitted parent-child relationship 
between Clyde Wesley Skinner and his daughters Beverly Kay 
Skinner and Sandra Gail Skinner. 

In response to defendant's request for admission of facts, 
plaintiff admitted that Beverly Kay Skinner and Sandra Gail 
Skinner were the natural daughters of Kathleen Skinner (their 
mother) and defendant's intestate, Clyde Wesley Skinner (their 
father), and that said daughters lived in the home of their par- 
ents and under their care, custody, supervision and control until 
the time of the automobile accident which resulted in the 
deaths of plaintiff's intestates and defendant's intestate. 

The defendant moved for summary judgment under Rule 
56(b) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, and the trial court, being 
of the opinion that the deceased unemancipated minor children, 
had they lived, could not have maintained an  action for dam- 
ages against their father or his personal representative as a 
matter of law and therefore plaintiff administrator is not en- 
titled to maintain this action, allowed the motion and dismissed 
the action. Plaintiff appealed to the Court of Appeals, peti- 
tioned this Court to certify the cause for initial appellate review 
by the Supreme Court, and the petition was allowed. 
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Narron, Holdford and Babb by Henry C. Babb, Jr., Attor- 
neys for plaintiff appellant. 

Lucas, Rand, Rose, Meyer, Jones & Orcutt by Louis B. 
Meyer, Attorneys for defendant appellee. 

HUSKINS, Justice. 

May the administrator of an unemancipated minor child 
bring an action against the administrator of its father for 
damages for the wrongful death of such child caused by the 
ordinary negligence of the deceased father? Answer to this 
question determines this appeal. 

[I] A right of action for wrongful death did not exist a t  com- 
mon law. Broadnax v. Broaclnax, 160 N.C. 432, 76 S.E. 216 
(1912). In North Carolina such right of action is conferred by 
statute and exists only by virtue of G.S. 28-173 and G.S. 28-174. 
Horney v. Pool Co., 267 N.C. 521, 148 S.E. 2d 554 (1966) ; 
Graves v. Welborn, 260 N.C. 688, 133 S.E. 2d 761 (1963). Under 
these statutes the personal representative of a deceased person 
has a right of action only when the death of his intestate is 
caused by the wrongful act, neglect or default of another, 
"such as would, if the injured party had lived, have entitled 
him to an action for damages therefor." G.S. 28-173; Lewis v. 
Insurance Co., 243 N.C. 55,89 S.E. 2d 788 (1955). 

In North Carolina and the great majority of other states, 
the rule is that "an unemancipated minor child cannot maintain 
a tort action against his parent for personal injuries, even 
though the parent's liability is covered by liability insurance. 
This rule implements a public policy protecting family unity, 
domestic serenity, and parental discipline. . . . Upon the same 
theory, an overwhelming majority of jurisdictions likewise 
hold that neither a parent nor his personal representative can 
sue an unemancipated minor child for a personal tort. . . . 
'The child's immunity is said to be reciprocal of the parent's 
immunity.' " Gillikin v. Burbage, 263 N.C. 317, 139 S.E. 2d 
753 (1965). 

[2] Therefore, under the foregoing legal principles, the un- 
emancipated minor daughters of Clyde Wesley Skinner, had they 
lived, could not have maintained an action against their father 
to recover damages for injuries caused by his ordinary negli- 
gence. Watson v. Nichols, 270 N.C. 733, 155 S.E. 2d 154 (1967) ; 
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Redding v. Redding, 235 N.C. 638, 70 S.E. 2d 676 (1952) ; 
Small v. Morrison, 185 N.C. 577, 118 S.E. 12 (1923) ; Annot., 
19 A.L.R. 2d 423. Having died as a result of their injuries, their 
personal representative could not have maintained an action 
for their wrongful death against their father had he survived 
the accident. Capps v. Smith, 263 N.C. 120, 139 S.E. 2d 19 
(1964) ; Lewis v. Insurance Co., supra; Goldsmith v. Samet, 
201 N.C. 574, 160 S.E. 835 (1931). Their father having also died 
as  a result of the accident, the personal representative of these 
children cannot maintain this wrongful death action against 
their father's personal representative. Cox v. Shaw, 263 N.C. 
361, 139 S.E. 2d 676 (1965). This conclusion follows as a matter 
of law unless the reciprocal immunity rule between parent and 
unemancipated minor child is repudiated or modified in this 
jurisdiction. 

Plaintiff concedes the law to be as above outlined but urges 
us to abandon the parent-child immunity doctrine in North Car- 
olina and allow the minor children of this State "to plead their 
wrongs a t  her altar" of justice. Plaintiff argues that the ration- 
ale for the immunity rule-the maintenance of family harmony 
and parental discipline-cannot be applied to the facts here 
since, by reason of the death of the daughters and their father, 
there no longer exists a parent-child or other family relationship 
that may be disturbed by this action. For this reason plaintiff 
contends the immunity doctrine has no application and, should 
we decline to abrogate the doctrine completely, we should refuse 
to  apply i t  to the facts of this case. 

The doctrine of parental immunity in this country origi- 
nated with Hewlett v. George, 68 Miss. 703, 9 So. 885 (1891), 
in which it was held that a daughter could not sue the estate 
of her deceased mother for damages resulting from the wrongful 
commitment of the daughter to an insane asylum. The immunity 
rule was expressed by the Mississippi Court in the following lan- 
guage: "[S] o long as the parent is under obligation to care for, 
guide, and control, and the child is under reciprocal obligation 
to aid and comfort and obey, no such action as this can be 
maintained. The peace of society, and of the families composing 
society, and sound public policy, designed to subserve the repose 
of families and the best interests of society, forbid to the minor 
child a right to appear in court in the assertion of a claim to 
civil redress for personal injuries suffered at the hands of 
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the parent. The state, through its criminal laws, will give the 
minor child protection from parental violence and wrong-doing, 
and this is all the child can be heard to demand." 

Hewlett was followed by McKelvey u. McKelvey, 111 Tenn. 
388, 77 S.W. 664 (1903), in which a child sued for damages for 
cruel and inhuman treatment allegedly inflicted upon her by 
her stepmother with the consent and approval of her father. 
It was held that such action could not be maintained. Two 
years later the Supreme Court of Washington held that a 
daughter could not sue her father for damages for raping her 
because "there is no practical line of demarcation which can 
be drawn, for the same principle which would allow the action 
in the case of a heinous crime, like the one involved in this case, 
would allow an action to be brought for any other tort." Roller 
v. Roller, 37 Wash. 242, 79 P. 788 (1905). Other states con- 
sistently adopted the rule announced in these cases, and in due 
course practically all the states of the Union had joined the 
parental immunity club. See Parental Immunity: Mississippi's 
Gift to the American Family, 7 Wake Forest L. Rev. 597 a t  
602, fn. 27, where cases are listed from more than forty states. 
See also cases collected a t  19 A.L.R. 2d 423 (1951). 

An examination of cases applying the parental immunity 
doctrine reveals five policy reasons primarily relied on to sup- 
port i t :  (1) disturbance of domestic tranquility, (2) danger of 
fraud and collusion, (3) depletion of the family exchequer, (4) 
the possibility of inheritance, by the parent, of the amount 
recovered in damages by the child, and (5) interference with 
parental care, discipline and control. However, domestic tran- 
quility and the discipline and control of the family's children 
are the policy reasons most frequently offered. 

Insofar as our research discloses, no state has totally 
abrogated parental immunity. However, a growing minority 
of states have reexamined and modified the doctrine. Such 
modifications are expressed as exceptions to the immunity 
rule. Some courts hold that where death has terminated the 
parent-child relation there is no longer any basis for applying 
the parental immunity rule. Dean v. Smith, 106 N.H. 314, 211 
A. 2d 410 (1965) ; Brenneclce v. Kilpatrick, 336 S.W. 2d 68 (Ms. 
1960) ; Hale v. Hale, 312 Ky. 867, 230 S.W. 2d 610 (1950). 
Compare Bank v. Hackney, 266 N.C. 17, 145 S.E. 2d 352 
(1965) (administrator of the wife's estate may sue the estate 
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of the husband for damages for wrongful death even though 
the recovery will be distributed to the surviving minor chil- 
dren.) There is no uniformity, however, with respect to this 
exception. Many jurisdictions still apply the immunity rule 
even though the parent or child may be dead. Durham v. Dur- 
ham, 227 Miss. 76, 85 So. 2d 807 (1956) ; Owens v. Auto Mut. 
Indemnity Co., 235 Ala. 9,177 So. 133 (1937). 

Outrageous conduct on the part of the parent which in- 
vades the child's rights and brings discord into the family 
has been held sufficient to lift the immunity. Oldman v. Bart- 
she, 480 P. 2d 99 (Wyo. 1971) ; Hoffman v. Tracy, 67 Wash. 
2d 31, 406 P. 2d 323 (1965) ; Mahnke v. Moore, 197 Md. 61, 77 
A. 2d 923 (1951). 

Willful and intentional injury of the child has been held to 
terminate the parent-child relation and thus avoid application 
of the parental immunity rule. RodebaugI~ v. Grand Trunk 
Western Railway Co., 4 Mich. App. 559, 145 N.W. 2d 401 
(1966) ; Cowgill v. Boock, 189 Ore. 282, 218 P. 2d 445 (1959) ; 
Nudd v. Matsoukas, 7 111. 2d 608, 131 N.E. 2d 525 (1956) ; 
Emery v. Emery, 45 Cal. 2d 421, 289 P. 2d 218 (1955) ; Aboussie 
v. Aboussie, 270 S.W. 2d 636 (Tex. 1954) ; Wright v. Wright, 
85 Ga. App. 721,70 S.E. 2d 152 (1952). 

Where a dual relationship exists between parent and child, 
such as master and servant or carrier and passenger, the domes- 
tic relationship has been described as merely incidental, afford- 
ing no immunity. Teramano v. Teramano, 6 Ohio St. 2d 117, 
216 N.E. 2d 375 (1966) ; Trevarton v. Trevarton, 151 Colo. 
418, 378 P. 2d 640 (1963) ; Signs v. Signs, 156 Ohio St. 566, 
103 N.E. 2d 743 (1952) ; Borst v. Borst, 41 Wash. 2d 642, 251 
P. 2d 149 (1952) ; Worrell v. Worrell, 174 Va. 11, 4 S.E. 2d 
343 (1939) ; Lusk v. Lusk, 113 W.Va. 17, 166 S.E. 538 (1932) ; 
Dunlap v. Dunlap, 84 N.H. 352,150 A. 905 (1930). 

Where the child is injured by the negligence of the parent 
while the parent is acting within the scope of his employment, 
i t  has been held that an infant may recover from the parent's 
employer on the principle of respondeat superior. It is said 
that immunity to suit for tort is personal to the parent and 
cannot be asserted by the employer. Stapleton v. Stapleton, 
85 Ga. App. 728, 70 S.E. 2d 156 (1952) ; Foy v. Electric Co., 231 
N.C. 161, 56 S.E. 2d 418 (1949) ; Wright v. W i g h t ,  229 N.C. 
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503, 50 S.E. 2d 540 (1948) ; Mi-Lady Cleaners v. MeDaniel, 235 
Ala. 469, 179 So. 908 (1938) ; O'Connor v. Benson Coal Co., 301 
Mass. 145, 16 N.E. 2d 636 (1938) ; 59 Am. Jur. 2d, Parent and 
Child, 5 162; 1 A.L.R. 3d 677, 702, § 9 (1965). Other courts 
have held to the contrary, applying parental immunity. See 
1 A.L.R. 3d 677, 700, § 8 (1965), where the cases are collected. 

In Goller v. White, 20 Wis. 2d 402, 122 N.W. 2d 193 
(1963), Wisconsin abrogated the parental immunity rule except 
in the following situations: "(1) where the alleged negligent 
act involves an exercise of parental authority over the child; 
and (2) where the alleged negligent act involves an exercise 
of ordinary parental discretion with respect to the provision of 
food, clothing, housing, medical and dental services, and other 
care." Wisconsin's solution to the problem has been substantially 
followed in Silesky v. Kelman, 281 Minn. 431, 161 N.W. 2d 
631 (1968) ; Schenk v. Schenk, 100 Ill. App. 2d 199, 241 N.E. 
2d 12 (1968) ; Streem v. Streenx, 106 Ariz. 86, 471 P. 2d 282 
(1970) ; Rigdon v. Rigdon, 465 S.W. 2d 921 (Ky. 1971). 

Several states have abrogated the immunity rule to allow 
a child to sue his parent for damages for injuries caused by the 
negligent operation of a motor vehicle. Johnson v. Myers, 2 Ill. 
App. 3d 844, 277 N.E. 2d 778 (1972) ; Falco v. Pados, 444 Pa. 
372,282 A. 2d 351 (1971) ; Smith v. Kauffman, 212 Va. 181, 183 
S.E. 2d 190 (1971) ; Gelbman, v. Gelbman, 23 N.Y. 2d 434, 245 
N.E. 2d 192 (1969) ; Hebel v. Hebel, 435 P. 2d 8 (Alaska 1967) ; 
Nuelle v. Wells, 154 N.W. 2d 364 (N.D. 1967) ; Briere v. 
Br ie~e ,  107 N.H. 432, 224 A. 2d 588 (1966) ; Balts v. Balts, 
273 Minn. 419,142 N.W. 2d 66 (1966). 

For more extreme departures from the parental immunity 
rule, see Gibson v. Gibson, 3 Cal. 3d 914, 479 P. 2d 648 (1971) ; 
and Petersen v. City and County of Honolulu, 51 Hawaii, 484, 
462 P. 2d 1007 (1970). 

Despite the foregoing exceptions and modifications, a 
great majority of jurisdictions still hold that an unemancipated 
minor cannot maintain an action against his parent for ordi- 
nary negligence. 59 Am. Jur. 2d, Parent and Child, $ 152. 

The foregoing discussion illustrates the troublesome diffi- 
culties encountered by those who seek to modify, but not re- 
pudiate, the parent-child immunity rule. Generally speaking, all 
seem to agree that the immunity of a parent for torts corn- 
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mitted in and around the home by acts involving an exercise of 
parental authority or involving ordinary parental discretion 
should be maintained, but recovery should be allowed under a 
variety of circumstances for torts committed elsewhere. 

Plaintiff in this case urges us to reverse precedents of long 
standing in order to eliminate immunity in one particular class 
of cases involving ordinary negligence in the operation of a 
motor vehicle. Plaintiff does not suggest the scope of such an 
exception to the immunity rule, but obviously i t  would encom- 
pass any number of alternatives: (1) all injuries arising out 
of the negligent operation of a motor vehicle; (2) only cases 
in which the negligent parent was killed and his child injured 
and (a) the parent had liability insurance or (b) regardless 
of liability insurance; or (3) only cases in which both parent 
and child are killed by the parent's negligence and (a) the 
parent had liability insurance or (b) regardless of liability 
insurance. Of course there are other alternatives. 

Regardless of the alternative adopted, the course plaintiff 
urges would create more problems and inequities than it cures. 
If suit is allowed only in motor vehicle cases, by what logic is 
the right to sue denied for injury to the child incurred by the 
parent's negligence in operating a golf cart or a motor boat or 
a lawn mower or a power saw? If suit is allowed only in motor 
vehicle cases in which either the child or parent or both are 
killed by the negligent parent, what justification is there for 
the discrimination thus created between the injured child whose 
parent died, as distinguished from the injured child whose 
parent survived, the accident? Both reason and common sense 
dictate that an unemancipated child's right to sue its parent 
should not be contingent upon the death of the parent or the 
child. 

Moreover, conditioning the right to sue upon the existence 
of liability insurance is equally tenuous. Such a rule would not 
only extend existing insurance contracts to coverage not contem- 
plated when the policies were written but also would create a 
preferred class of minor unemancipated children-those injured 
in a motor vehicle accident by a negligent father who carried 
liability insurance. We have heretofore held that the existence 
of liability insurance is not a valid reason to abolish the im- 
munity doctrine. Gillikin v. Bwbage,  supra; Small v. Morrison, 
supra; 3 Lee, North Carolina Family Law, 5 248 (1963). 
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Yet total abrogation of the immunity rule would lead to 
judicial supervision over the conduct of parent and child in the 
ordinary operation of the household. This should never be done 
so long as the law imposes on the parents the duty and obliga- 
tion to support, control and discipline their children. 

Piecemeal abrogation of established law by judicial decree 
is, like a partial amputation, ordinarily unwise and usually 
unsuccessful. When the question of parental immunity was first 
presented to this Court nearly fifty years ago in Small v .  Mor- 
rison, supra [I85 N.C. 577, 118 S.E. 12, 31 A.L.R. 1135 (1923)], 
we expressed the view that the government of the home was 
the surest bulwark against social disorder and civic decay. We 
based the immunity rule on the basic principle that parents and 
unemancipated children in the home constitute a social unit 
different from all other groups so as to make suits by the one 
against the other for negligent injury most unseemly and pro- 
ductive of great mischief. Our decision there was grounded 
on considerations of broad public policy, and in our view those 
considerations still outweigh the arguments for change in 
cases involving ordinary negligence resulting in unintended per- 
sonal injury or death. Of course, the question raised by an 
intentional, willful or malicious tort inflicted on a child by a 
parent or person in loco parentis is not presented on this appeal. 
We will pass on that question when i t  arises in a case properly 
before us. 

If the immunity rule in ordinary negligence cases is no 
longer suited to the times, as some decisions suggest, we think 
innovations upon the established law in this field should be 
accomplished prospectively by legislation rather than retro- 
actively by judicial decree. Such changes may be accomplished 
more appropriately by legislation defining the areas of non- 
immunity and imposing such safeguards as may be deemed 
proper. Certainly that course is much preferred over judicial 
piecemeal changes in a case-by-case approach. A similar con- 
clusion has been reached by others. "The simplest way to ef- 
fectuate a change in the law is to enact a statute doing so. The 
courts have frequently said that the question of public policy 
is to be determined by the legislature and not by the court." 3 
Lee, North Carolina Family Law, 5 248. Accord, Downs v. 
Poulin, 216 A. 2d 29 (Me. 1966) ; Castellucci v. Castellz~cci, 94 
R.I. 34,188 A. 2d 467 (1963). 
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For the reasons stated, defendant's motion for summary 
judgment was properly allowed. The judgment of the trial court 
must therefore be upheld. 

Affirmed. 

YOUNG WOMEN'S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION O F  ASHEVILLE, 
NORTH CAROLINA, INC. v. ROBERT MORGAN, ATTORNEY GEN- 
ERAL, STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 

No. 125 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Trusts 5 4- charitable trusts - cy pres doctrine -statute 
When there is a charitable trust, bequest or devise evidencing a 

general charitable intent by the grantor, and the specific, express pur- 
pose cannot be fulfilled because of illegality, impossibility or  impracti- 
cability, the Charitable Trust Administration Act empowers the court, 
in the absence of an alternative disposition, to modify the trust so 
as to apply the fund to a purpose as  nearly as  possible like the 
originally expressed purpose. G.S. 36-23.2. 

2. Trusts 9 4- charitable trusts 
Generally, when a trust has been created for any lawful purpose 

which promotes the well-being of mankind and does not contravene 
public policy, i t  is charitable in its purpose. 

3. Trusts 3 1- creation of trust 
While a trust  is based upon a direct declaration or expression 

of intent, no particular words are necessary to create a trust  if the 
purpose to create is evident. 

4. Wills 5 28- intent of testatrix 
In construing a will, the intent of the testatrix must be given 

effect unless contrary to public policy or some rule of law; such 
intent is determined by examining the will in the light of all sur- 
rounding facts and circumstances known to the testatrix. 

5. Wills 9 34- presumption of devise in fee - personalty 
The statutory presumption that  a devise is  in fee applies to the 

disposition by will of both real and personal property. G.S. 31-38. 

6. Trusts 5 4- conveyance to trustee for charitable purpose - conveyance 
to  charitable corporation - uses 

Property conveyed to a trustee for a charitable purpose is limited 
to the uses set forth in the terms of the trust, and property conveyed 
to a charitable corporation, free of a trust, is limited to the purposes 
set forth in the corporation's charter. 
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7. Trusts 8 4- charitable trusts - enforcement by State 
The State, through its Attorney General, may institute proceed- 

ings for the enforcement of charitable trusts or gifts. G.S. 36-20; 
G.S. 55A-50. 

8. Trusts 5 4; Wills @ 34, 38- bequest -absolute gift or trust 
An absolute gift was made, and no trust was created, by a be- 

quest of personal property "to the Young Women's Christian Associa- 
tion of Asheville, North Carolina, to be used by i t  exclusively for 
the upkeep and maintenance of Moorhead House," a boarding house 
for women, the expression as  to use of the property being merely a 
statement of motive in making the gift. 

APPEAL by Attorney General from Martin (Harry) J., a t  
the 3 March 1972 Session of BUNCOMBE Superior Court. 

Plaintiff instituted a declaratory judgment action seeking 
determination as to the extent of its title and rights in regard 
to property received from three sources. 

Plaintiff received a $100,000 bequest under the will of 
S. E. Moorhead, which provided : 

"ITEM 9th-I give and bequeath to Young Women's 
Christian Association of Asheville, North Carolina, the sum 
of ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND ($100,000.00) DOLLARS, as  a 
building fund to be used for the erection of such building 
or buildings or for the acquisition of such real estate as may 
be approved in writing by my Executors." 

Plaintiff used the proceeds of this bequest to purchase 
property and to erect a building in Asheville, North Carolina, 
known as the "Moorhead House," which was used as a boarding 
house for young women. 

Later, in 1943, plaintiff received personal property from 
the estate of Anna Johnson Moorhead pursuant to the follow- 
ing bequest : 

"ITEM 7th-I direct my Executors hereinafter named 
to divide all the rest, residue and remainder of my estate, 
both real and personal and whatsoever kind, nature or de- 
scription and wheresoever the same may be situated or 
located into FOUR (4) equal parts, and I give, devise and 
bequeath such four equal parts of my residuary estate as  
follows :" * * * * 

(C) Two such parts to the YOUNG WOMEN'S CHRIS- 
TIAN ASSOCIATION OF ASHEVILLE, NORTH CAROLINA, to be 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 487 

Y.W.C.A. v. Morgan, Attorney General 

used by i t  exclusively for the upkeep and maintenance of 
the MOORHEAD HOUSE. 

On 21 November 1963, Edith Moorhead Bryant, the daugh- 
ter of S. E. Moorhead and Anna Johnson Moorhead, assigned a 
certain fund to plaintiff by the following language : 

(6 . . . . EDITH MOORHEAD BRYANT, . . . does hereby 
sell, assign, set over and transfer unto YOUNG WOMEN'S 
CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION OF A S H ~ I L L E ,  NORTH CAROLINA, 
INC., . . . a certain trust fund . . . [which] when received by 
the Assignee from the Trustee, will be held by the Assignee 
as a separate fund, to be invested in such manner as i t  may 
deem appropriate, and the income thereof, and principal 
to the extent that its Board of Directors shall deem neces- 
sary, be used for the operation, upkeep, maintenance and 
improvement of Moorhead House, one of the units operated 
in Asheville, North Carolina, by the Assignee." 

These funds have been exclusively used by plaintiff for 
the upkeep and maintenance of the Moorhead House. There 
remains in the fund received from Anna Johnson Moorhead 
the following property: 400 shares of common stock of Liggett 
& Myers, and 100 shares of common stock of Cannon Mills. 

The parties through counsel stipulated : 

1. At the time the bequests of S. E. Moorhead, Anna 
Johnson Moorhead, and the assignment by Edith Moorhead 
Bryant were received by the plaintiff, i t  was a religious 
and charitable corporation. 

2. At the time said bequests and assignment were 
received by the plaintiff, the object for which it was char- 
tered was "to establish and maintain in Asheville, North 
Carolina, a boarding house or boarding houses for the 
exclusive use and benefit of local and transient self-support- 
ing women of good character, and to promote the spiritual, 
mental, moral and physical well-being of such women and 
of the women of Asheville generally." 

3. The corporate purposes were amended in September 
1971 as follows: "The object for which this corporation is 
formed is to establish and maintain in Asheville facilities 
for the promotion of the spiritual, mental, moral and physi- 
cal well-being of the community and its members." 
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On 1 July 1950 the plaintiff's Board of Directors termi- 
nated the function of housing young women a t  the Moorhead 
House because such a small number used the facility that large 
financial losses were being incurred from its operation. Plain- 
tiff's Board of Directors also determined that Moorhead House 
was in excess of its needs and that it should be disposed of. 
Other properties adjoining Moorhead House, which were used 
for different purposes, have been sold because of obsolescence. 

Plaintiff contended that all assets from these funds are 
owned by it in fee simple, and defendant, R.obert Morgan, Attor- 
ney General, asserted that the assets were received by plaintiff 
in trust and that any relief granted should be by application of 
the cy pres doctrine. 

The cause was heard by Judge Martin on an agreed state- 
ment of facts, and upon his conclusion that as a matter of law 
plaintiff is the owner of all the properties and funds, free from 
any trust, judgment was accordingly entered. 

Defendant appealed only as to the fund created by the will 
of Anna Johnson Moorhead. 

Defendant petitioned for writ of certiorari to North Caro- 
lina Court of Appeals prior to determination. We allowed this 
petition on 12 April 1972. 

Riddle and Shackelford, by John E. Shackelford, for plain- 
tiff. 

Attorney General Morgan, and Assistant Attomey General 
Christine Y. Denson for defendant. 

BRANCH, Justice. 

Defendant, Attorney General, contends that the trial judge 
erred in holding that the assets received from the estate of 
Anna Johnson Moorhead are held by plaintiff in fee simple, 
discharged of any trust. He argues that the assets are held in 
trust and that any relief granted should be by application of 
the cy pres doctrine. 

This Court has consistently rejected application of the 
cy pres doctrine, as such. However, it has long recognized that 
the courts may exercise their equitable power, in proper cases, 
to modify a charitable trust so as to prevent its failure and so 
as to effectuate the primary purpose of the trustor. Trust Co. 
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v. Comtruction Co., 275 N.C. 399, 168 S.E. 2d 358 ; Brooks v. 
Duckworth, 234 N.C. 549, 67 S.E. 2d 752; Woodcoclc v. Trust 
Co., 214 N.C. 224,199 S.E. 20. 

The cy pres doctrine derives its meaning from the Anglo- 
French phrase cy pres comme possible, meaning "near as possi- 
ble." Thus, when a particular purpose set forth in a charitable 
trust becomes impossible, illegal or impracticable, the courts 
exercise their equitable powers to select a purpose as near as 
possible to that originally selected by the testator or trustor. 
Bogert, Law of Trusts and Trustees (2d ed, 1965) 5 431; IV 
Scott, Law of Trusts (3d ed. 1967) § 399. 

[l] The 1967 General Assembly enacted the Charitable Trust 
Administration Act, which expressly gave the courts the power 
to apply the cy pres doctrine to charitable trusts. When there 
is a charitable trust, bequest, or devise evidencing a general 
charitable intent by the grantor, and the specific, express pur- 
pose cannot be fulfilled because of illegality, impossibility or 
impracticability, this act specifically empowers the court, in 
the absence of alternate disposition, to modify the trust so as 
to apply the fund to a purpose as nearly as possible like the 
originally expressed purpose. G.S. 36-23.2. Note : "Trusts- 
Cy Pres Enacted in North Carolina," 46 NCLR 1020. The 
doctrine of cy pres applies only to charitable trusts. Bogert, 
Law of Trusts and Trustees (2d ed. 1965) 5 431. 

121 Generally, when a trust is created for any lawful purpose 
which promotes the well-being of mankind and does not contra- 
vene public policy, i t  is charitable in its purpose. Woodcock v. 
Trust  Co., supm. A charitable trust has also been defined as 
" . . . a fiduciary relationship with respect to property, arising 
as a result of a manifestation of an intent to create it, and sub- 
jecting the person by whom the property is held to equitable 
duties to deal with the property for a charitable purpose." 
Restatement (Second) of Trusts, 5 348. 

The parties stipulated that plaintiff was a charitable cor- 
poration a t  the time i t  received the fund, and that one of its 
corporate purposes was to establish and maintain a boarding 
house for young women. This corporate purpose was manifestly 
charitable. Thus, we need to decide only whether the will of 
Anna Johnson Moorhead created a trust. 
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[3, 41 A trust is based upon a direct declaration or expression 
of intent (Bowen v. Darden, 241 N.C. 11, 84 S.E. 2d 289), yet 
no particular words are necessary to create a trust if the pur- 
pose to create is evident. Morris v. Morris, 246 N.C. 314, 98 S.E. 
2d 298; Stephens v. Clark, 211 N.C. 84, 189 S.E. 191. Therefore, 
we must ascertain the intent of the testatrix, for her intent 
must be given effect unless contrary to public policy or some 
rule of law. The intent of the testatrix is in reality her will. 
Such intent is to be determined by examining the provisions 
of the will in light of all surrounding facts and circumstances 
known to the testatrix. Bank v. Home for Children, 280 N.C. 
354, 185 S.E. 2d 836; Campbell v. Jordan, 274 N.C. 233, 162 
S.E. 2d 545; McCain v. Womble, 265 N.C. 640, 144 S.E. 2d 
857; I n  r e  Will of Wilson, 260 N.C. 482, 133 S.E. 2d 189. 

If the whole instrument discloses an intent by the testatrix 
to convey the legal title to the property or fund to plaintiff, 
Young Women's Christian Association of Asheville, North Caro- 
lina, to hold the property and deal with i t  for the benefit of 
another, the property will be affixed with a charitable trust, 
and, correspondingly, equitable duties will be placed on plain- 
tiff as holder of the legal title. King v. Richardson, 46 F. Supp. 
510, (M.D.N.C.) ; Thomas v. Clay, 187 N.C. 778, 122 S.E. 852; 
Laws v. Christmas, 178 N.C. 359, 100 S.E. 
be not disclosed, plaintiff will be declared 
the fund, free of any trust. 

587.- If such intent 
absolute owner of 

G.S. 31-38 provides : 
"Sec. 31-38. Devise presumed to be 

estate shall be devised to any person, 
held and construed to be a devise in fee 
devise shall, in plain and express words, 
plainly intended by the will, or some part'thereof, that 
the testator intended to convey an estate of less dignity." 

in fee.-When real 
the same shall be 
simple, unless such 
show. or i t  shall be 

[5] The provisions of this statute have been held to apply to 
the disposition by will of both real and personal property. 
Worsley v. Worsley, 260 N.C. 259, 132 S.E. 2d 579; Heefner v. 
Thornton, 216 N.C. 702, 6 S.E. 2d 506; Barco v. Owens, 212 
N.C. 30, 192 S.E. 862. 

In  Brinn v. Brinn, 213 N.C. 282, 195 S.E. 793, this Court, 
speaking through Barnhill, J. (later C. J.) stated : 

"A consideration of the decisions in this jurisdiction 
discloses that i t  is now a well-established rule in this State 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 491 

Y.W.C.A. v. Morgan, Attorney General 

that where an estate is given to a person generally or in- 
definitely i t  is construed to be a devise in fee simple, unless 
such devise shall, in plain and express words, show or i t  
shall be plainly indicated by the will, or some part thereof, 
that the testator intended to convey an estate of less dignity. 
It is so provided by our statute.--C.S., 4162 [now G.S. 
31-38]. Springs v. Springs, 182 N.C. 484 ; Hayes v. Frank- 
lin, 141 N.C. 599; Carter v. St.rickland, 165 N.C. 69 ; Hardy 
v. Hardy, supra [I74 N.C. 5051 ; Barco v. Owens, 212 N.C. 
30; Peyton v. Smith, ante, 155. Carter v. Strickland, supra, 
is reported and annotated in Ann. Cases, 1915D, a t  p. 416." 

It is seldom that we find aid in prior decisions when we 
seek to determine the intent of a testator. Although the North 
Carolina authority on the question here presented deals with 
real property, these cases offer guidance in reaching our de- 
cision as to the intent of the testatrix in bequeathing her per- 
sonal property. 

This Court considered a conveyance of real estate by deed 
to a religious corporation in St. James v. Bagley, 138 N.C. 384, 
50 S.E. 841. There Dr. A. J. DeRosset and wife executed a deed 
to the Vestry and Wardens of St. James Church, which deed 
contained the following recital : 

(6  . . . that the said parties of the first part, for the 
purpose of aiding in the establishment of a Home for Indi- 
gent Widows or Orphans or in the promotion of any other 
charitable or religious objects to which the property here- 
inafter conveyed may be appropriated by the said parties 
of the second part, and in further consideration of $1 to 
them in hand paid by the parties of the second part, the 
receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, have granted, bar- 
gained, and sold, and do by these presents grant, bargain, 
and sell to the said parties of the second part, . . . . ,, 

The Court, in holding that no trust was created, stated: 
6' . . . 'The effect of a deed must depend upon the 

effect of the language used. A grantor can impose condi- 
tions and can make the title conveyed dependent upon 
their performance. But if he does not make any condition, 
but simply expresses the motive which induces him to 
execute the deed, the legal effect of the granting words 
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cannot be controlled by the language indicating the grant- 
or's motive.' . . . . 9 9 

* * * * 
6 6 . . . By all of the canons of construction and the 

rules laid down by the courts for ascertaining the intention 
of the donor, we are brought to the conclusion that no trust 
is created by the language in this deed. In saying that 
no trust is created, we, of course, mean no other trust than 
is imposed upon all property held by the trustee or official 
body representing a religious society pursuant to the pro- 
visions of section 3665 of the Code. [now G.S. 61-31 The 
plaintiff held the property for the use of the congregation, 
consisting of the members of the church organized as St. 
James Parish, with the right and power to appropriate i t  
to such uses and purposes as the said congregation, acting 
through its organized agencies, may direct . . . . While  
t h e  language used b y  t h e  donor i s  no t ,  strictly speaking, 
precatory, but rather  expressive o f  mot ive ,  t h e  same inter- 
pretation should be g iven  it. . . . (Emphasis ours.) 

6 6 . . . We simply decide that there is no declaration 
of trust in the deed made by Dr. DeRosset to the plaintiff, 
that the language sought to be construed into a trust is 
expressive only of his motive and purpose in conveying 
the property to the plaintiff, and, in our opinion, expressly 
excludes the idea of attaching a trust thereto." 

A will was construed in order to determine title to real 
estate in the case of Will iams v. Thompson,  216 N.C. 292, 4 
S.E. 2d 609. The pertinent clause of the will provided : 

"Item I: I leave to by niece Clarentine F. Clift lot 
No. 108, in the Town of Plymouth during her natural life, 
and after her death, I give and bequeath the said lot with 
all improvements and hereditaments to  the Methodist 
Episcopal Church in this place, t o  be m e d  b y  t h e  stewards 
or  legal representatives of the  said church in t h e  T o w n  o f  
Plymouth,  as a parsonage for the  min i s ter  and f o r  n o  other 
purpose, in order to secure the possession of my burying 
ground to the aforesaid Church and to its keeping and 
care." (Emphasis ours.) 

In holding that the will devised a fee in the land, this Court 
said : 

"The language contained in the will, indicating that 
the property was to be used as a parsonage for the minis- 
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ter of the church in order to secure the possession of the 
burying ground to the church and to its keeping and care, 
cannot be held to have the effect of impressing a trust upon 
the legal title (St. James v. Bagley, 138 N.C. 384, 50 S.E. 
841) . . . . the will expresses the wish of the testatrix as to 
future use of the land, but i t  cannot be given the legal effect 
of creating a trust such as to require the aid of a court of 
equity to enforce its administration." 

See also : Hall v. Quinn, 190 N.C. 326, 130 S.E. 18; Hass v. Hass, 
195 N.C. 734, 143 S.E. 541; Tucker v. Smith, 199 N.C. 502, 
154 S.E. 826; Church v. Refining Co., 200 N.C. 469, 157 S.E. 
438. 

We note cases from other jurisdictions which consider the 
question of whether devises and bequests to charitable corpora- 
tions created trusts or vested unencumbered fees. 

The Supreme Court of Kansas in Bradley v. Hill, 141 Kan. 
602, 42 P. 2d 580, considered a devise in which testator gave to 
the Grand Lodge of the Independent Order of Odd Fellows 
real and personal property to be held "for the use only in main- 
taining the Old Folks Home for Odd Fellows . . . . " The Court 
reasoned that designation of purpose for which the legacy 
was to be used did not necessarily indicate an intention to 
create a trust and that where a gift is made to a charitable 
corporation charging it  to use the gift for a purpose for which 
the corporation was formed, the gift should be construed to 
be absolute. The Court, upon this reasoning, held that no trust 
was created. 

The same court in Zabel v. Stewart, 153 Kan. 272, 109 P. 
2d 177, considered the provisions of a bequest to a religious cor- 
poration "for the purpose of building a church building . . . 
and for the purpose of furnishing said church," and held that 
this gift to a charitable organization was to aid in carrying out 
the purposes for which i t  was founded and did not create a 
trust in any legal sense. 

In the case of Sands v. Church of Ascension, Etc., 181 
Md. 536, 30 A. 2d 771, two members of the Vestry gave to the 
Vestry $20,000 in bonds which were accompanied by a letter 
stating, in part: "These bonds are to be deposited in a box in 
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the Mercantile Trust & Deposit Company in the name of the 
Vestry. . . . I t  is our wish that the income from these bonds be 
used only for the payment of the Ground Rent as i t  becomes due 
and said income is not to be used for any other purpose what- 
soever. . . . " The Church of Ascension united with another 
church and suit was brought to determine the ownership of the 
bonds. The court held that the united churches held the bonds 
absolutely and that no trust had been created. In so holding, the 
court stated: " . . . [Tlhat a person cannot be both the trustee 
and the cestui que trust. It is obvious that in order to create 
a trust  the legal estate must be separated from the beneficial 
enjoyment and therefore a trust cannot exist where the same 
person possesses both. . . . Where property is given to a corpora- 
tion for such uses as are within the scope of its corporate 
powers, the conveyance does not create a trust." Accord: 
Baltxell v. Chz~rch Home and Infi?"mary, 110 Md. 244, 73 
A. 151; Board of Trustees o f  Ruston Circuit, Etc. v. Rudy, 192 
La. 200, 187 So. 549; Prettyman v.  Baker, 91 Md. 539, 46 A. 
1020; Rohlff v. German Old People's Home, 143 Neb. 636, 10 
N.W. 2d 686 ; First National Bank v.  Trinity Protestant Episco- 
pal Church of Galveston, 219 S.W. 2d 828 (Tex. Civ. App. 1949). 

In Bogert, Law of Trusts and Trustees (2d ed. 1965) $ 46, 
i t  is stated: 

"The mere statement of the purpose for which a gift 
is made does not per se show an intent to make the donee a 
trustee to accomplish that purpose. The donee may be 
expected to accomplish the named object through his 
own voluntary action as absolute owner." 

[6, 71 It should be noted, however, that property conveyed 
to a trustee for a charitable purpose is limited to the uses set 
forth in the terms of the trust, and that property conveyed to 
a charitable corporation, free of a trust, is limited to the pur- 
poses set forth in its corporate charter. St .  James v. Bagley, 
supra; Bogert, Law of Trusts and Trustees (2d ed., 1965) $ 324. 
The State, through its Attorney General, may institute pro- 
ceedings for the enforcement of charitable trusts or gifts. 
Sternberger u. Tannenbaum, 273 N.C. 658, 161 S.E. 2d 116; 
G.S. 36-20 ; G.S. 558-50. 

In support of his contention that a trust was created and 
that the doctrine of cy pres should be applied, the Attorney 
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General cites Stephens v. Clark, et al, supra; Young v. Young, 
68 N.C. 309 (1873) ; Crudwp v. Holding, 118 N.C. 222, 24 S.E. 
7 (1896) ; Jarrell v. Dyer, 170 N.C. 177, 86 S.E. 1031 (1915) ; 
Morris v. Morris, supra. None of these cases refer to charitable 
trusts. Although they stand for the proposition that a trust 
may be created without the use of any particular words, the 
cases are readily distinguishable from instant case in that each 
of the cases cited by the Attorney General a person is named to 
hold the legal title for the equitable use or benefit of another, 
thereby evidencing a clear intent to create a trust. 

[8] Decision of the question here presented requires that we 
now consider the language of the will in connection with cir- 
cumstances known to Anna Johnson Moorhead a t  the time she 
executed that instrument. Plaintiff held Moorhead House in 
fee simple a t  the time the bequest was made. At that time 
Moorhead House was being used for the principal purpose set 
forth in plaintiff's charter. The will was drawn by a skilled 
lawyer. The words of the conveyance, to wit, "I give, devise and 
bequeath" are unequivocal and in no manner limit the convey- 
ance or passage of the fund. The bequest was made to the 
Young Women's Christian Association of Asheville, North 
Carolina, and not to another to hold or to be dealt with for 
the benefit of the Young Women's Christian Association. The 
will contained no provision for reverter o r  payment over in 
event the fund was not used for maintenance of the Moorhead 
House. Nor is there any limitation as to the expenditure of 
the principal of the fund. The expression relied upon by de- 
fendant to limit the operative words "will, devise and bequeath" 
relates only to the management of the property rather than 
to the estate or interest bequeathed. The expression as to use 
is merely a statement of motive in making the bequest. There 
is no division of equitable and legal estates. The testatrix un- 
equivocally gave the fund to the charitable corporation, to be 
used for its charitable purposes. We find nothing in the lan- 
guage of the bequest or any circumstances known to the testatrix 
which limits the operative words of the bequest. 

The trial court correctly adjudged and declared plaintiff 
to be the owner in fee simple, free of any trusts, of the property 
and fund set forth in the complaint. 

The judgment of the Superior Court is 

Affirmed. 



IN THE SUPREME COURT 

Calloway v. Motor Co. 

CHARLES E. GALLOWAY v. FORD MOTOR COMPANY 
AND MATTHEWS MOTORS, INC. 

No. 64 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Pleadings 8 32- motion to amend - discretion of court - review 
After the time for answering a pleading has expired, a motion 

to amend the answer is addressed to the discretion of the court, and 
its decision thereon is not subject to review except in case of mani- 
fest abuse. 

2. Courts $j 9- orders of one judge-authority of another judge 
No appeal lies from one superior court judge to another; one 

superior court judge may not correct another's errors of law; and 
ordinarily one judge may not modify, overrule or change the judg- 
ment of another superior court judge previously made in the same 
action. 

3. Judgments 8 5 ;  Pleadings 8 32- denial of motion to amend-inter- 
locutory order 

An order denying a motion to amend pleadings is an interlocutory 
order. 

4. Judgments 8 35- res judicata -motions 
The doctrine of res judicata does not apply to decisions upon 

ordinary motions incidental to the progress of the trial with the 
same strictness as to a judgment. 

5. Courts 9 9; Judgments $5 5, 37- interlocutory orders - modification 
A judge has the power to modify an interlocutory order made by 

another whenever there is a showing of changed conditions which 
warrant such action. 

6. Pleadings 8 42- motion to strike - matter of law 
When a judge rules upon a motion to  strike an averment from 

a pleading on the ground that  i t  is irrelevent, improper or prejudicial, 
he rules as a matter of law whether he allows or disallows the motion; 
no discretion is involved and his ruling finally determines the rights 
of the parties unless i t  is reversed on appeal. 

7. Courts 8 9 ;  Pleadings 8 35- allowance of motion to amend -striking 
of amendment by another judge. 

When one judge allows a motion to amend a pleading in his dis- 
cretion and the amendment is made in accordance with the authority 
granted, a second judge may not strike i t  on the ground that the 
first erred in allowing it. 

8. Courts 5 9; Pleadings 8 32- denial of motion to amend-renewal of 
motion- authority of another judge 

When one superior court judge, in the exercise of his discretion, 
has made an order denying a motion to amend, absent changed con- 
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ditions, another superior court judge may not thereafter allow the 
motion. 

9. Courts 8 9; Pleadings § 32- denial of motion to amend-changed 
conditions - allowance of motion by another judge. 

In an action against the nlanufacturer and the retailer of an  
autoniobile based upon alleged negligence and breach of warranty 
wherein one superior court judge, in the exercise of his discretion, 
had denied a motion by the retailer to amend its answer to plead 
the statute of liniitations, the fact that the manufacturer was there- 
after allowed to amend its answer to plead the statute of limitations 
and that the manufacturer's motion for summary judgment was 
allowed and the action against the manufacturer was dismissed, held 
to constitute a material change in conditions which gave another 
superior court judge the authority to allow the retailer's renewed 
motion to plead the statute of limitations. 

10. Appeal and Error 8 54- discretionary matters - denial as  a matter 
of law - review 

When a mdtion addressed to the discretion of the court is denied 
upon the ground that  the court has no power to grant the motion in 
its discretion, the ruling is reviewable. 

11. Appeal and Error § 63- denial of motion to amend - remand - allow- 
ance of motion 

Ordinarily, when the court denies a discretionary motion to 
amend as  a matter of law, without the exercise of discretion, the 
cause is remanded to the superior court for reconsideration as a dis- 
cretionary matter; however, where i t  affirmatively appears from 
the court's judgment that  i t  would have allowed the amendment in 
its discretion, the cause will be remanded for entry of an order allow- 
ing the amendment. 

Justice HIGGINS concurs in the result. 

APPEAL by defendant Matthews Motors, Inc., pursuant to 
G.S. 7A-30(2) from the decision of the Court of Appeals, re- 
ported in 11 N.C. App. 511, 181 S.E. 2d 764, affirming the 
order of Ervin, J., at the November 1970 Session of BUNCOMBE. 
This appeal was docketed and argued a t  the Fall Term as 
No. 80. 

Action for personal injuries. 

These facts are alleged in the pleadings: Plaintiff is a 
police officer of the City of Asheville (City). On 24 February 
1965 City purchased from defendant Matthews Motors, Inc. 
(Matthews) , a certain automobile (vehicle) manufactured by 
defendant, Ford Motor Company (Ford), which had equipped 
it with seat belts bearing the notation that all GSA safety re- 
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quirements had been met. On 1 October 1965 plaintiff was 
operating the vehicle in the performance of his duties as a 
patrolman. While pursuing a suspected wrongdoer the vehicle 
skidded across the wet pavement of Tunnel Road into a power 
pole. Plaintiff's seat belt, which he had securely fastened, be- 
came disengaged from the floorboard attachment, and he was 
thrown into the windshield. The impact caused him serious and 
permanent injury. 

In his complaint, filed 9 August 1968, plaintiff alleges that 
his injuries were proximately caused (1) by the negligence of 
Ford and Matthews in that Ford had improperly installed in 
the vehicle a seat belt which failed to meet either GSA or statu- 
tory standards and that Matthews had failed to inspect and 
discover the defective belt and its careless installation; and 
(2) by defendants' breach of both an express and implied 
warranty that the seat belt was reasonably fit  for the general 
purpose for which it was manufactured and that it met specifi- 
cations and the requirements of G.S. 20-135.2. Plaintiff seeks 
to recover in the sum of $100,000.00. 

In an answer filed 8 November 1968 Matthews denied any 
liability for plaintiff's injuries and, as a further defense, alleged 
his contributory negligence. Ford filed a similar answer on 29 
November 1969 and, as an additional defense, i t  alleged that 
there had been no contractual relationship between Ford and 
plaintiff and therefore no warranty existed between Ford and 
plaintiff. 

In their answers neither defendant pled any statute of 
limitations. 

On 27 March 1970 Matthews moved the court for permis- 
sion to amend its answer in order to plead in bar of plaintiff's 
action his failure to institute the action within three years from 
the date City purchased the vehicle from Matthews. On 4 May 
1970 Judge Hasty signed an order denying the requested per- 
mission. 

On 8 May 1970, four days thereafter, Ford filed an amended 
answer, which began with the declaration that i t  was filed "by 
leave of Court granted by the Honorable Fred H. Hasty, Judge 
holding the Courts of the 28th Judicial District." However, no 
order permitting the amendment appears in the record. 
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Ford's amended answer made no material change in the 
original through the third answer and defense. However, the 
fourth further answer substituted for an allegation that plain- 
tiff's negligence had insulated any negligence of Ford, a plea 
that plaintiff's right to recover was barred by the three-year 
statute of limitations-the same plea which Judge Hasty had 
denied Matthews permission to plead. Ford also pled the 
statute of limitations in bar of the right of City, as plaintiff's 
employer, to recover any sums paid by it as compensation bene- 
fits to plaintiff. Fifth and sixth further answers are not ma- 
terial on this appeal. 

On 14 May 1970 Mattnews filed an amended answer using 
a preamble identical with Ford's. This amended answer, like 
Ford's, is supported by no order in the record. In it Matthews 
added a second further defense in which it alleged that no war- 
ranty existed between Matthews and plaintiff. In a third defense 
it pled the specific dates of the sale of the vehicle to City, the 
collision in which plaintiff was injured, and the suit instituted. 
Following the last, these words appeared in parentheses " (more 
than three years from the date of sale to the City of Asheville.)" 
These followed the allegation that City had paid workmen's com- 
pensation benefits and its failure "to institute this action within 
three years is pleaded in bar of its subrogation rights to any 
recovery had by the plaintiff against this answering defendant." 

On 20 May 1970 plaintiff moved to strike Matthews' 
amended answer on the ground that on 4 May 1970 Judge Hasty 
had denied Matthews' motion (filed 27 March 1970) to amend 
its answer. On the margin of this motion appears the following 
undated handwritten notation: "Motion ruled on and language 
deleted as marked on lines 5 and 6 of page 5 of amended answer. 
Fate J. Beal, Judge Presiding." An examination of a photo- 
static copy of the original amended answer shows the words 
within the parentheses, quoted in the preceding paragraph, are 
contained within lines 5 and 6 on page 5 of the amended answer. 
(This informal and confusing method of ruling upon a motion 
is expressly disapproved.) 

On 17 July 1970 Matthews filed a motion to amend its 
amended answer by pleading that the negligence of Ford was 
primary and active; that its negligence, if any, was passive and 
secondary; and that it was "entitled to have indemnity over 
against the co-defendant, Ford." Judge Ervin allowed this 
motion, and the amendment was made. 
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On 20 October 1970 Matthews again moved the court "in 
the exercise of its sound discretion," for permission to amend 
its amended answer by pleading the three-year statute of limi- 
tations as a defense to plaintiff's right to recover for that Ford 
had asserted this defense and to allow Matthews "to enter the 
same plea would be just and equitable." 

On 22 October 1970 Ford moved for summary judgment on 
the ground that plaintiff's complaint affirmatively revealed 
that City purchased the vehicle in which plaintiff was injured 
more than three years prior to the institution of the suit and 
that his action was barred by G.S. 1-52. 

On 5 November 1970 plaintiff moved to strike the amended 
answer which Ford had filed on 8 May 1970 for that, inter 
alia, it had been filed without the court's permission. On the 
same day Judge Ervin denied plaintiff's motion to strike and 
entered summary judgment dismissing plaintiff's action against 
Ford with prejudice. Plaintiff gave notice of appeal but there- 
after withdrew it. 

On 12 November 1970 Judge Ervin entered an order deny- 
ing Matthews' motion to be allowed to plead the three-year 
statute of limitations in bar of plaintiff's right to recover. His 
order recited that he was "inclined to grant this motion of 
Matthews" but that since Judge Hasty, in his discretion, had 
previously denied the same motion and Judge Beal had "made 
an entry on the pleadings in this cause," he lacked authority to 
exercise his discretion and he "must rule as a matter of law." 

Matthews appealed to the Court of Appeals assigning as 
error (1) Judge Hasty's discretionary order of 4 May 1970 
denying i t  permission to amend its answer by pleading the 
statute of limitations; and (2) Judge Ervin's ruling that he 
lacked authority to allow its motion of 20 October 1970. The 
Court of Appeals, after treating the appeal as a petition for 
certiorari and allowing the petition, affirmed the orders of the 
Superior Court, one judge dissenting. Matthews appealed to 
this Court as a matter of right. 

Plaintiff made no appearance in the Court of Appeals or 
in this Court. 

No counsel for plai~t i f f  appellee. 

Van Winkle, Buck, Wall, Starnes & Hyde for defendant 
appellant. 
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SHARP, Justice. 

[I] This Court has consistently held that "after the time for 
answering a pleading has expired," an answer may not be 
amended as of right. A motion to amend is addressed to the 
discretion of the court, and its decision thereon is not subject 
to review except in case of manifest abuse. Vending Co. v. Tur- 
ner, 267 N.C. 576, 148 S.E. 2d 531 (1966) ; Hardy v. Mayo, 
224 N.C. 558, 31 S.E. 2d 748 (1944) ; Osborne v. Canton and 
Kinsland v. Mackey, 219 N.C. 139, 13 S.E. 2d 265 (1941) ; 6 
N. C. Index Pleadings 5 32 (1968). Although these cases were 
decided prior to the adoption of the new Rules of Civil Pro- 
cedure, G.S. 1A-1 (19691, the rule they enunciate remains 
applicable today. 

When Matthews moved under Rule 15 (a) for permission 
to amend its answer by pleading the statute of limitations, 
G.S. 1-52(1) (5) (l969), the motion was addressed to Judge 
Hasty's discretion, to be exercised as justice requires "in view 
of the attendant circumstances." 51 Am. Jur. 2d Limitation of 
Action $ 471 (1970). At  that time the answers of both Matthews 
and Ford had been filed for more than one year and five months, 
and neither contained a plea of the statute. Clearly, a t  the 
time Judge Hasty denied Matthews' motion to amend, there was 
no basis for any contention that he had abused his discretion. 

The question presented by this appeal is whether Judge 
Ervin, in his discretion, had authority to permit an amendment 
which Judge Hasty, in his discretion, had denied earlier. 

[2] The well established rule in North Carolina is that no 
appeal lies from one Superior Court judge to another; that 
one Superior Court judge may not correct another's errors of 
law; and that ordinarily one judge may not modify, overrule, 
or change the judgment of another Superior Court judge 
previously made in the same action. 2 N. C. Index 2d Courts 
5 9 (1967) and cases cited in footnote 50. 

13-51 An order denying a motion to amend pleadings is an in- 
terlocutory order, that is, "[olne given in the progress of a 
cause upon some plea, proceeding, or default which is only 
intermediate and does not finally determine or complete the 
suit." Black's Law Dictionary, p. 979 (1951) ; Greene v. Lab- 
oratories, Inc., 254 N.C. 680, 120 S.E. 2d 82 (1961). See 50 
C.J.S. Judgments § 620 (1938). The doctrine of res judicata 
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does not apply to decisions upon ordinary motions incidental 
to the progress of the trial with the same strictness as to a 
judgment. See 56 Am. Jur. 2d Motions, Rules and Orders 
8 30 (1971). It is frequently said that the doctrine does not 
apply unless the order involves "a substantial right." Temple 
v. Telegraph Co., 205 N.C. 441, 442, 171 S.E. 630 (1933). See 
5 N. C. Index 2d Judgments 5 37 (1968). Accordingly, the . 
rule is that a judge has the power to modify an interlocutory 
order made by another whenever there is a showing of changed 
conditions which warrant such action. Interlocutory orders are 
subject to change "at any time to meet the justice and equity 
of the case upon sufficient grounds shown for the same. Mil- 
ler' v. Justice, 86 N.C. 26, 30 (1882). See Bland v. Fazdkner, 
194 N.C. 427, 139 S.E. 835 (1927). For example, when a 
judge denies a motion for a change of venue upon the basis 
of his findings of crucial facts, his order denying the motion 
is conclusive of the right to remove on the facts found. How- 
ever, because of events intervening thereafter the ends of 
justice might then require removal of the action. Rutherford 
College v. Payne, 209 N.C. 792,184 S.E. 827 (1936). 

161 When a judge rules upon a motion to strike an averment 
from a pleading on the ground that i t  is irrelevant, improper or 
prejudicial he rules as a matter of law, whether he allows or 
disallows the motion. No discretion is involved and his ruling 
finally determines the rights of the parties unless it is re- 
versed upon appeal. Greene v. Laboratories, Inc., supra; Wall 
v. England, 243 N.C. 36, 89 S.E. 2d 785 (1955) ; Bank v. Dan- 
iel, 218 N.C. 710,12 S.E. 2d 224 (1940). 

[7] Likewise, when one judge allows a motion to amend a 
pleading in his discretion and the amendment js made in ac- 
cordance with the authority granted, a second judge may not 
strike it on the ground that the first erred in allowing it. He 
is "under the necessity of observing the terms of the judgment 
allowing the [party] to amend. State v. Oil Co., 205 N.C. 123, 
126, 170 S.E. 134, 135 (1933). Accord, Dockery v. Fairbanks, 
172 N.C. 529, 90 S.E. 501; 29 N. C. L. Rev. 3, 20 (1950). In 
Hardin v. Greene, 164 N.C. 99, 80 S.E. 413 (1913), a t  the Fall 
Term 1912, the presiding judge made an  order granting de- 
fendant an unrestricted right to file an amended answer. 
Defendant amended by pleading the statute of limitations. At 
the Spring Term 1913, the succeeding judge struck the plea. 
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On appeal i t  was held that the judge a t  a subsequent term 
was without authority to strike the plea. 

Several decisions of this court indicate that when a judge 
in his discretion denies a motion to amend pleadings, or for a 
bill of particulars, his order of denial is no bar to a subsequent 
motion or application for the same relief to another judge. 

In  Townsend v. Williams, 117 N.C. 330,23 S.E. 461 (1895), 
the defendant appealed to the judge's refusal to allow his motion 
for a bill of particulars. The Supreme Court declined to reverse 
the discretionary order but in finding "no error," said, "As its 
refusal was a matter of discretion and therefore not res judicata, 
i t  is open to the Judge below in his discretion to grant the mo- 
tion now if renewed in time to avoid delay in the trial." Id. a t  
337, 23 S.E. a t  463. 

In Revis v. Ramsey, 202 N.C. 815, 164 S.E. 358 (1932), 
an  action on a note, a t  the October 1931 Term the defendant 
Zade Ponder moved to amend his answer by alleging that he 
signed the note as a surety and that the action against him was 
barred by the three-year statute of limitations. Judge Stack 
denied the motion. At the February 1932 Term defendant re- 
newed the same motion, and Judge Sink allowed it. Plaintiff 
appealed "upon the theory that the matter was then res judicata 
and no appeal lies from one Superior Court judge to another." 
The appeal was dismissed as premature, but Chief Justice 
Stacy pointed out that the "principle of res judicata does not 
extend to  ordinary motions incidental to the progress of a 
cause but only to those involving substantial rights." Id. at 817, 
164 S.E. a t  358. 

Overton u. Overton, 259 N.C. 31, 129 S.E. 2d 593 (1963), 
began as  a special proceeding for the allotment of a year's allow- 
ance and dower. Petitioner had dissented to the decedent's will 
six months and six days after its probate. Respondents' answer 
was a general denial which did not plead ths six-months' statute 
of limitations. G.S. 30-1 (1950). At the trial respondents' mo- 
tion to amend by pleading the statute was denied. Disregarding 
the jury's verdict in favor of petitioner the judge erroneously 
entered judgment for respondents. On appeal the Supreme 
Court reversed and remanded the case for the entry of judg- 
ment for petitioner. From the judgment so entered respondents 
immediately appealed. Upon the second appeal, a new trial was 
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ordered for errors in the judge's charge a t  the trial. In its opin- 
ion the court specifically authorized respondents to renew their 
motion to amend in the Superior Court. Citing Revis v. Ramsey, 
supra, the Court said: "It lies within the sound discretion of 
the court to allow or deny such motions. I t  is pointed out that 
prior rulings on motions to amend are not necessarily res judi- 
cata. The doctrine of res judicata does not apply to ordinary 
motions incidental to the progress of the trial, but only to those 
involving a substantial right." Overton v. Overton, 260 N.C. 
139,146,132 S.E. 2d 349,354 (1963). 

In Casualty Co. v. Oil Co., 265 N.C. 121, 143 S.E. 2d 279 
(1965), the judge presiding a t  the January 1965 Session denied 
the plaintiff's motion to amend the complaint to allege negli- 
gence and proximate cause with more particularity. At the next 
term another judge sustained defendant's demurrer to the 
complaint for that it failed to allege actionable negligence. In 
the opinion reversing the judgment sustaining the demurrer 
this Court said: "The ruling of the court on plaintiff's motion 
to amend the complaint is not res judicaata. If so advised, any 
of the parties may hereafter move in superior court for leave 
to amend the pleadings." Id. a t  130, 143 S.E. 2d a t  286. 

The records in the preceding four cases impel the con- 
clusion that the ends of justice required that the requested 
amendments be made and that this Court thought the judge 
below had abused his discretion in denying the motion. In 
actuality these decisions authorizing the movant to renew his 
motion in the Superior Court were an exercise of this Court's 
supervisory powers. If, upon remand, the motions were renewed 
and allowed, the judges who allowed the motions acted upon 
authority specifically granted by the Supreme Court. No judge, 
ex mero motu, substituted his discretion for that of another 

. judge of coordinate and equal jurisdiction. 

We do not believe that in the foregoing cases the court 
intended to lay down the incongruous rule that when a judge in 
his discretion allows a motion to amend his order binds another 
Superior Court judge, but when he denies the motion in his dis- 
cretion another may allow the motion irrespective of any 
change in conditions. Such a rule is logically indefensible and 
could serve only to undermine the considerations of orderly 
procedure, courtesy and comity, which engendered the rule 
that one judge may not overrule or modify the judgment of 
another. See Annot., 132 A.L.R. 14 (1941). 
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[a, 91 We hold that when one Superior Court judge, in the 
exercise of his discretion, has made an order denying a motion 
to amend, absent changed conditions, another Superior Court 
judge may not thereafter allow the motion. See Dockery v. 
Fairbanks, supra. I t  does not necessarily follow, however, that in 
this case Judge Ervin correctly ruled that he had no authority 
to permit the amendment which Judge Hasty had denied. The 
question arises whether there had been a material change in 
conditions between the date of Judge Hasty's order and 12 
November 1970, the date on which Judge Ervin denied Mat- 
thews' renewed motion for permission to plead the statute of 
limitations. Obviously, the intervention of new facts which 
would bear upon the propriety of allowing a previously dis- 
allowed motion to plead a statute of limitations wiIl not often 
occur. However, in this case, such new facts did intervene. 

On 5 May 1970, a t  the time of Judge Hasty's order, both 
Ford and Matthews were on the same footing with reference 
to a plea of the statute, but thereafter, on 5 November 1970, 
Judge Ervin permitted Ford to plead the statute by refusing 
to strike the amended answer which Ford had filed without 
permission. Furthermore, on the same day, he allowed Ford's 
motion for summary judgment and dismissed plaintiff's action 
against Ford. On this record we perceive no reason why Ford 
should have been allowed the permission which was denied 
Matthews, and neither did Judge Ervin. The recitals in his 
order make it quite clear that he refused Matthews permission 
to plead the statute only because he thought he was powerless 
to grant permission. 

[lo, 111 When a motion addressed to the discretion of the 
court is denied upon the ground that the court has no power 
to grant the motion in its discretion, the ruling is reviewable. 
Highway Commission v. Hemphill, 269 N.C. 535, 153 S.E. 2d 
22 (1967) ; Gilchrist v. Kitchen, 86 N.C. 20 (1882). Ordinarily, 
when the court denies such a motion as a matter of law, without 
the exercise of discretion, the case is remanded to the Superior 
Court for reconsideration as a discretionary matter. Tickle v. 
Hobgood, 212 N.C. 762, 194 S.E. 461 (1938). However, in this 
case, since the manner in which Judge Ervin would have exer- 
cised his discretion affirmatively appears from his judgment, 
such reconsideration will not be necessary. 

The judgment of Ervin, J., denying Matthews' motion that 
it be allowed to amend its pleadings to allege the three-year 
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statute of limitations against plaintiff's cause of action is va- 
cated; and the cause will be remanded to the Superior Court 
for entry of an order allowing the amendment. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is reversed with 
instructions that i t  remand this cause to the Superior Court 
for the entry of judgment in accordance with this opinion. 

Reversed. 

Justice HIGGINS concurs in the result. 

DOUGLAS 0. WILSON, PLAINTIFF V. E-Z FLO CHEMICAL COMPANY, 
A DIVISION OF GROWERS SERVICES CORPORATION, DEFENDANT AND THIRD 
PARTY PLAINTIFF 

v. 
UNIROYAL CHEMICAL, A DIVISION OF UNIROYAL, INCORPORATED, 

THIRD PARTY DEFENDANT 

No. 119 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Sales 85 17, 2%- damage to squash crop - use of herbicide - liability 
of distributor 

The trial court properly determined that  the distributor of a 
pre-emergent herbicide, Alanap, was liable for damages to plaintiff's 
squash crop caused by use of the herbicide, where the evidence tended 
to show that  plaintiff's squash crop was destroyed by use of the 
herbicide on March 20 while the weather was still cold, that  defendant 
distributor had recommended the herbicide for immediate use, and 
that  the distributor failed to give plaintiff the warning furnished by 
the manufacturer in its herbicide marketing manual against use of 
the product in early spring when the weather is wet and cold. 

2. Sales 8 17- damage to squash crop -use of herbicide-liability of 
manufacturer 

The manufacturer of a pre-emergent herbicide is not liable upon 
its implied warranty of fitness for damages to plaintiff's squash 
crop caused by use of the herbicide on March 20 while the weather 
was still cold, where the manufacturer had warned the distributor 
against use of the herbicide in early spring when the weather is 
wet and cold, but the distributor failed to warn plaintiff of such 
limitation on use of the herbicide. 
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ON certiorari to the Court of Appeals to review its decision 
affirming the judgment, in favor of the plaintiff, entered a t  
the April, 1971 Session, SAMPSON Superior Court. 13 N.C. App. 
610, 186 S.E. 2d 679. 

The plaintiff, Douglas 0. Wilson, prior to and during the 
year 1969, operated a truck farm four miles from Clinton in 
Sampson County. On March 19, 1969, he completed the planting 
of yellow squash on eighteen and one-half acres of carefully 
prepared land. On that day he requested an agent of the defend- 
ant, E-Z Flo Chemical Company, a distributor in Clinton, to 
recommend and to supply a pre-emergent herbicide for control 
of weeds and grass on the eighteen and one-half acres just 
planted to squash. Mr. Daughtry, an agent for E-Z Flo with 
whom the plaintiff was well acquainted, delivered two drums 
of Alanap which he recommended for immediate use. Each 
drum contained thirty gallons of liquid Alanap with proper 
instructions on the drums as to water dilution and proper 
amount per acre. The treatment was applied on March 20, the 
day following the planting. There was no warning on the 
drums or transmitted orally or otherwise to the grower re- 
stricting the use of Alanap. 

The plaintiff applied the chemical to his entire crop except 
four rows near the middle of the field. He offered ample tes- 
timony that d l  of the crop except the four rows was destroyed. 
However, the four rows on which Alanap was not applied pro- 
duced a fine crop of squash. The evidence permitted a legitimate 
inference the use of Alanap so early in spring caused the plain- 
tiff's loss. He brought suit against E-Z Flo Chemical Company 
for having sold and recommended the use of Alanap which 
destroyed his crop. He offered evidence of damages in the 
amount of $9,025.88. 

E-Z Flo Chemical Company filed answer to plaintiff's 
complaint and a cross-action against Uniroyal Chemical alleging 
i t  sold the Alanap to plaintiff and delivered i t  in the sealed 
containers exactly as received from Uniroyal, the manufacturer. 
E-Z Flo alleged i t  was only a conduit for the manufacturer who 
was primarily liable and demanded that i t  have judgment over 
against Uniroyal indemnifying it in the amount it was required 
to pay the plaintiff. 

Uniroyal answered alleging it sold the Alanap to E-Z Flo 
and delivered a t  the same time its "Herbicide Marketing Man- 
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ual 1969" which contained a detailed description of the quantity, 
uses, purposes, and dangers incident to the use of Alanap. The 
instructions contained the following: "Do not use ALANAP on 
vine crops of any kind when growing conditions are very ad- 
verse; namely in early spring when weather is cold and wet." 
The third party defendant contends that Alanap is harmful 
only in the unlikely situation where some grower used i t  before 
the growing season actually begins-a very unusual situation, 
but even so, it cautioned the distributor against such use. 

Uniroyal as a further defense denied any express warranty 
and alleged: "That if 'the original plaintiff sustained any loss 
or damage to his squash crop in 1969, it was not due to any 
breach of warranty on the part of the third party defendant, 
but was caused solely by the sale of the product by the third 
party plaintiff to the original plaintiff, and its use by the 
original plaintiff contrary to the warnings and instructions 
given by the third party defendant in its books and informa- 
tion." The third party defendant alleged that any damage the 
plaintiff sustained resulted from the failure of E-Z Flo to 
advise the plaintiff of the danger incident to the use in spring 
when weather conditions were adverse. 

At the trial the plaintiff testified he had no knowledge of 
the warnings against the use of Alanap except what appeared 
on the drums. The drums contained a recommendation as to 
the proper amount of chemical to be used per acre for squash. 
The plaintiff testified: "I had dealt with Mr. Daughtry and 
E-Z Flo . . . I had complete confidence in E-Z Flo Chemical 
Company and relied upon their recommendations." The grower 
did not order Alanap. He ordered something to kill weeds and 
grasses and E-Z Flo selected and delivered Alanap. 

After the plaintiff discovered the damage to his crop, he 
notified E-Z Flo Chemical Company and Mr. Daughtry came to 
inspect the damage. Then for the first time E-Z Flo disclosed 
the manufacturer's warning against use when growing condi- 
tions were very adverse. The plaintiff did not see or know of 
the marketing manual or of any warning against the use of 
Alanap until a copy of the manual was shown him by Mr. 
Daughtry. 

With respect to weather conditions, the grower testified: 
"I do not recollect whether or not heavy rains or cold weather 
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occurred within a short period of time after the application of 
Alanap." Two growers living nearby, however, testified that in 
1969 the spring weather was normal. The parties stipulated 
the high and low temperatures for each day between March 20 
and April 1, inclusive. On each of eight days during the period, 
the low temperature was in the thirties or below. On three 
days the temperature was below freezing. On March 23 the 
temperature was five degrees below freezing and on March 28 
was four degrees below. There was neither stipulation nor 
evidence as to rainfall. 

The parties waived a jury trial and consented that the 
judge find the facts, answer issues, and enter judgment. The 
court answered issues and entered judgment as follows : 

"(a) Was the plaintiff damaged by the alleged breach 
of warranty on the part of the original defendant as set 
forth in the complaint? 

ANSWER : 'Yes'. 

" (b) What amount, if any, was the plaintiff damaged 
by the alleged breach of warranty on the part of the origi- 
nal defendant? 

"(c) Is the third party defendant primarily liable to 
the plaintiff by virtue of a breach of warranty in its manu- 
facture and distribution of a product known as liquid 
Alanap ? 

ANSWER : 'Yes'. 

''NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DE- 
CREED that the plaintiff, Douglas 0. Wilson, recover of the 
original defendant and third party plaintiff, E-Z Flo 
Chemical Company, Division of Growers Services Corpora- 
tion, Seven Thousand Six Hundred Twenty Dollars 
($7,620.00)) and the costs of this action to be taxed by 
the Clerk; and i t  is 

"FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the 
original defendant and third party plaintiff, E-Z Flo Chemi- 
cal Company, Division of Growers Services Corporation, re- 
cover of the third party defendant, Uniroyal Chemical, a 
Division of Uniroyal, Incorporated, the sum of Seven 
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Thousand Six Hundred Twenty Dollars ($7,620.00), to- 
gether with sum taxed as costs in favor of the plaintiff, 
Douglas 0. Wilson, against the original defendant and 
third party plaintiff; . . . " 
After judgment was entered, E-Z Flo paid the plaintiff the 

amount of the award and Uniroyal appealed from the judgment 
decreeing that i t  repay E-Z Flo. 

Chambliss, Paderick & Wayrick by Joseph B. Chambliss 
for Original defendant and Third Party Plainti f f .  

Smith,  Anderson, Blount & Mitchell by John L. Jernigan 
for Third Party Defendant. 

HIGGINS, Justice. 

[I] The facts in this case are not in dispute. The evidence is 
free of any contradiction. The parties admit the plaintiff, a 
truck farmer, properly prepared his soil and on March 19, 1969, 
planted eighteen and one-half acres of squash. That day he 
consulted Mr. Daughtry, an agent of E-Z Flo, stating he needed 
a pre-emergent herbicide to kill weeds and grass and requested 
that Mr. Daughtry recommend and supply him with a chemical 
suitable for immediate use on yellow squash. 

E-Z Flo Chemical Company was not an agent of Uniroyal, 
but carried Alanap and another herbicide in stock. Mr. Daugh- 
t ry  recommended Alanap and immediately delivered two thirty- 
gallon sealed drums to the plaintiff. 

The grower opened the drums, followed directions as to the 
dilution with water, and on March 20 sprayed his entire crop 
with the exception of four rows near the middle of the field. 
The crop, except the four rows, turned out to be a total loss. 
The four rows produced a normal crop. The evidence points to 
Alanap as the culprit. 

The evidence is undisputed that a t  the time the original 
defendant (present third party plaintiff) recommended and 
sold the Alanap, it had in its possession the third party defend- 
ant's sales and use manual which contained the following: "Do 
not use ALANAP on vine crops of any kind when growing con- 
ditions are very adverse; namely in early spring when weather 
is cold and wet." It seems obvious that had the plaintiff known 
of the warnings, he would not have purchased Alanap, even 
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though E-Z Flo recommended it, for use on the last day of 
winter. He knew in all probability there would be cold and wet 
weather conditions sometime after March 20. The warning 
was sufficient notice to those who saw i t  that Alanap should 
not be used in Piedmont, North Carolina, as early as March. 
According to the stipulations, on eight days in the ensuing 
two and one-half weeks the temperature was in the thirties or 
below. On three days it was below freezing. 

The evidence indicates at  the time of its use by the plaintiff, 
Alanap was a relatively new product. Obviously, any substance 
which is harmless to vine crops, but deadly as to grasses and 
weeds, must be treated with a degree of respect and used cau- 
tiously. Warning against use when weather is cold and wet 
should be heeded. In such weather i t  will turn killer on vine 
crops as well as on weeds and grasses. The dealer, E-Z Flo, 
recommended and sold without caution. It knew, or should 
have known, whether any warnings were placed by the manu- 
facturer on the sealed containers. I t  knew, or should have 
known, that the warning as to the dangers of use in cold wet 
weather was not attached to the containers and, therefore, un- 
known to the grower. The dealer knew the Alanap was to be 
applied on March 20 and the grower was relying on the rec- 
ommendation. 

Actually, no one is able to tell with any degree of certainty 
what next week's weather will be, especially beginning on 
March 20. The common sense of the warning is this: Alanap 
should not be used on vine crops until the danger of cold wet 
weather is over. In no event is the danger over in Sampson Coun- 
ty, North Carolina, until somewhat later than the last day of 
winter. 

The grower did not select Alanap. He applied for a pre- 
emergent herbicide which would kill weeds and grasses, but 
would not harm squash. He accepted Alanap on the recommen- 
dation of E-Z Flo which knew of the dangers, but failed to 
acquaint the plaintiff with them. 

The trial court properly concluded from the evidence that 
the grower is entitled to recover from E-Z Flo. The decision 
of the Court of Appeals as to E-Z Flo's liability to the plain- 
tiff is affirmed. See Branco Eastern Company v. Leffler, 
(Colo.), 482 Pac. 2d 364. 
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[2] The stipulation and the evidence being free from contra- 
diction, the conclusions to be drawn are matters of law. The 
conclusion of law from the evidence is that the distributor had 
ample notice of the warning which was a limitation (as be- 
tween the manufacturer and the dealer) on the manufacturer's 
implied warranty of fitness. I t  knew the containers which it 
delivered did not disclose any warning of danger in the use 
of Alanap. At the same time it  knew, or should have known, 
that Alanap would or might turn killer on vine crops, depend- 
ing on the weather. As between the distributor who knew of 
the danger and failed to warn the grower, and the manufacturer 
who had amply warned the distributor of the danger, the pri- 
mary liability must rest on the distributor. 

The trial court and the Court of Appeals based decision on 
our cases which hold: "The supplier of a chattel (especially 
food or drink for human consumption) is subject to liability 
for injury in its use by another when the supplier knows, or 
should know, that its use is or is likely to be dangerous and 
when there is no reason to believe that the user will realize 
this, if, further, he (the supplier) fails to use reasonable care 
to warn." Corprezu v. Chemical Gorp., 271 N.C. 485, 157 S.E. 
2d 98. (Citing many cases.) The basis of liability on the part 
of the manufacturer and the distributor is the express war- 
ranty of fitness to the ultimate consumer appearing on the 
container, or the implied warranty when the product is sup- 
plied for a known use. Simpson v. Oil Co., 217 N.C. 542, 8 S.E. 
2d 813. 

Where the retailer purchases personal property from the 
manufacturer or wholesaler for resale with implied or express 
warranty of fitness and the retailer resells to the consumer 
with the same warranty and the retailer has been compelled to 
pay for breach of warranty, he may recover his entire loss from 
the manufacturer. Service Co. v. Sales Co., 261 N.C. 660, 136 
S.E. 2d 56; G.S. 25-2-314-315. The foregoing rule is not applica- 
ble as between the manufacturer who warned and the distribu- 
tor who has been warned, but fails to pass on the warning to 
the user. E. I. Du Pont De Nemours & Co. v. Ladner, 221 
Mis. 378, 73 So. 2d 249. 

This is not a case of the manufacturer's liability to the 
ultimate consumer. Here involved is the liability of the manu- 
facturer who gave ample warning to the distributor who failed 
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to pass i t  on to the consumer. The distributor selected the 
product, unqualifiedly recommended it, and sold it for its im- 
mediate use (March 20). In the absence of express warranty on 
the part of the manufacturer, its implied warranty of limited 
fitness, as between the manufacturer and the distributor, 
placed the primary responsibility on the disitributor to notify 
the user of the limitation on fitness. 

The manufacturer in this case serves a wide market area 
in which weather conditions vary greatly. To devise a weather 
warning suitable to all sections and attach i t  to each container 
would present some problem to the manufacturer. In this case 
Uniroyal attempted to solve the problem by issuing to the dis- 
tributor a detailed marketing manual in which the uses and 
dangers of Alanap are explained in detail, trusting to the 
distributor to warn any grower known to contemplate use so 
early in the season. Surely the original defendant, a chemical 
company, should not recommend and sell to an unsuspecting 
grower a product without explaining the dangers of which i t  
had knowledge. The grower trusted E-Z Flo which in turn 
relied on warm, dry weather in March. 

The record fails to disclose any factual basis which would 
justify the court in requiring the manufacturer (who gave 
notice) to reimburse the distributor (who failed to give notice), 
which failure in all likelihood caused the plaintiff's loss. In a 
somewhat similar case, the Supreme Court of Mississippi held 
the manufacturer was not liable to the distributor. E. I. Du Pont 
De Nernours & Co. v. Ladner, supra. This is not a case involving 
the sale of food or drink for human consumption which requires 
a high degree of responsibiljty on the part of the packager to 
the consumer. Terrz~ v. Bottling Co., 263 N.C. 1, 138 S.E. 2d 
753. The manufacturer's implied warranty is that the product 
is merchantable. Uniform Commercial Code, G.S. 25-2-314-315. 
The product here involved met the requirement of merchanta- 
bility. The caution against an out of the ordinary use does not 
render i t  nonmerchantable. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals holding the manu- 
facturer liable to the distributor is without support in the 
record. The decision of the Court of Appeals in that respect is 

Reversed. 
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Appeals denied 16 June 1972. 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 515 

DISPOSITION OF PETITIONS FOR CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS 

STATE v. CRUSE 
No. 99 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 295. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to  North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 13 June 1972. 

STATE v. GRIFFITH 
No. 106 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 177. 
Petition for writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 13 June 1972. 

STATE V. ROYALL 
No. 94 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 214. 
Petition for  writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 13 June 1972. 

STATE v. SUTTON. 
No. 76 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 161. 
Petition for  writ  of certiorari to  North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 13 June 1972. 

WALTON v. MEIR 
No. 100 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 183. 
Petition for  writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 13 June 1972. 



516 IN THE SUPREME COURT [281 

DISPOSITION OF PETITIONS FOR CERTIORARI TO THE COURT O F  APPEALS 

PETITIONS TO REHEAR 

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES v. ALLEN 
No. 94. 
Reported: 281 N.C. 174. 
Petition by Allen to rehear allowed 28 June 1972. 

KOONTZ V. CITY OF WINSTON-SALEM 
No. 76. 
Reported: 280 N.C. 513. 
Petition by City of Winston-Salem to rehear denied 15 June 

1972. 

OSBORNE v. TOWN OF NORTH WILKESBORO 
No. 62. 
Reported: 280 N.C. 696. 
Petition by Town of North Wilkesboro to rehear denied 

15 June 1972. 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 

State v. Vestal 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. H. R. VESTAL 

No. 108 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Indictment and Warrant 1 14- motion to  quash - question presented 
Defendant's motion to quash the warrant raises the question of 

the sufficiency of the warrant to charge the commission of a criminal 
offense. 

2. Criminal Law Q 13; Indictment and Warrant Q 14- jurisdiction - valid 
warrant or indictment 

I t  is essential to jurisdiction that  a criminal offense be charged 
in the warrant or indictment upon which defendant is tried; if the 
only charge therein is that  the defendant violated a statute or an  
ordinance which is unconstitutional, a motion to quash the warrant 
or  indictment must be allowed. 

3. Indictment and Warrant Q 14- motion to quash -extraneous evidence 
In passing upon defendant's motion to quash a warrant charging 

him with violating a county zoning ordinance by failing to erect a 
fence along boundaries of an automobile wrecking yard adjoining 
public highways, the trial court properly refused to permit the State 
to introduce evidence of the manner in which defendant actually 
operates his wrecking yard, since in ruling on such motion the trial 
court treats the allegations of the warrant as  true and considers 
only the record proper and the provisions of the ordinance. 

4. Counties Q 5; Municipal Corporations 8 30- county zoning ordinance- 
fencing of automobile wrecking yard - unconstitutionality 

Provision of a county zoning ordinance requiring that "a solid 
fence or wall not less than 6 feet in height shall be erected not less 
than 50 feet from the edge of any public road adjoining" an  automo- 
bile wrecking yard in a rural, "general industrial district" of the 
county is unconstitutionally vague in failing to define the term 
"the edge of any public road," and has no relation to  the public 
health, morals or safety such as  will sustain i t  as a legitimate exer- 
cise of the police power. 

Constitutional Law Q 13- police power - restriction on land use - 
public safety 

While a reasonable restriction upon the use which a landowner 
may make of his property may be imposed under the police power 
in the interest of public safety, there must be a reasonable basis 
for supposing that  the restriction imposed will promote such safety, 
otherwise the restriction is a deprivation of property without due 
process of law. 

Counties Q 5; Eminent Domain Q 2- county zoning ordinance - fencing 
of automobile wrecking yard - taking without compensation 

If the proper construction of a county ordinance requiring a 
fence "not less than 50 feet from the edge of any public road ad- 
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joining" an automobile wrecking yard is that  the fence must be 
built substantially within the boundaries of the lot on which the yard 
is located, the ordinance requirement constitutes a taking of the lot 
owner's property for a public use without compensation in violation 
of both the Federal and State Constitutions. 

APPEAL by the State from Kivett, J., a t  the 6 December 
1971 Schedule "B" Session of FORSYTH, heard prior to determi- 
nation by the Court of Appeals. 

The Board of Commissioners of Forsyth County adopted a 
comprehensive zoning resolution dividing the entire county, 
outside the corporate limits of the City of Winston-Salem, the 
Town of Kernersville and the adjacent areas within one mile 
thereof, into seven use districts, specifying the uses which may 
be made of land in each such district and imposing special 
requirements with reference to certain such uses. 

The resolution establishes a "general industrial district," 
designated 1-3, "to provide for industries which generally re- 
quire specially selected locations in the community." Auto 
wrecking yards, building material salvage yards, general sal- 
vage yards and scrap metal processing yards are permitted 
in an 1-3 district only. Such yard, within an 1-3 district, must 
be operated in conformity to certain requirements. One of 
these, the validity of which is here in question, is : 

"A solid fence or wall not less than 6 feet in height 
shall be erected not less than 50 feet from the edge of any 
public road adjoining the yards, and a screen of evergreen 
shrubs or trees not less than 8 feet in height a t  maturity 
shall be planted on the other boundaries of the prop- 
erty * * * . Any such fence shall be painted, unless the 
fence is made of aluminum or rust-proof metal or other 
prefinished material, and any fence or shrubs or trees 
shall be maintained in sound condition. No such fence shall 
contain advertising other than lettering which identifies 
the operation carried on within the enclosure. * * * Such 
uses existing a t  the time of the adoption of this resolution 
shall be provided with screening, as herein specified, with 
[sic] a period of three years after the date of adoption of 
this Resolution." 

The resolution declares that the purpose of special condi- 
tions so imposed upon the operation of these and other types 
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of businesses is "to insure reasonable standards of community 
safety and acceptability consistent with advanced industrial 
practices." 

The resolution further provides that the violation of any 
of its provisions after the expiration of ten days following 
the service of notice upon the violator shall be a misdemeanor 
punishable by a fine not to exceed fifty dollars or imprisonment 
for not more than thirty days, or both, each day of the con- 
tinuance of such violation beyond such ten day period to be 
deemed a separate offense. 

A Misdemeanor Summons, or warrant, was issued and 
served upon the defendant, charging : 

"[Tlhe defendant * * * did unlawfully, and wilfully 
fail to erect on the boundaries of his real property that 
adjoin public roads a solid fence or wall not less than 
6 feet in height not less than 50 feet from the edge of the 
public roads (said roads being State Road No. 1448 of 
the State Highway System and Old 421 Highway) adjoin- 
ing the real property owned and operated by the defendant 
as  an auto-wrecking yard, said auto-wrecking yard owned 
and operated by the defendant being known as Westside 
Motors, said failure to erect said solid fence or wall being 
in violation of an ordinance of Forsyth County bearing the 
caption 'Zoning Resolution, Forsyth County, North Caro- 
lina' and enacted by the Board of Commissioners of Forsyth 
County on April 3, 1967, as amended from time to 
time. * * * " 
In the district court the defendant moved to quash the 

warrant, which motion the district court allowed on the ground 
that the provisions of the zoning resolution pertaining to fenc- 
ing or screening of the boundaries of an auto wrecking yard 
are unconstitutional in that they are based purely on aesthetic 
grounds, without any real or substantial relationship to the 
public health, safety, or welfare. 

The State appealed to the superior court. There the defend- 
ant again moved to quash the warrant on the ground that the 
zoning resolution is in violation of Art. I, $8 1 and 17, now 
$ 19, of the North Carolina Constitution and of the Fourteenth 
Amendment to the Constitution of the United States, he con- 
tending that i t  is an arbitrary deprivation of liberty, bearing 
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no reasonable relation to the public health, morals, order or 
safety or to the general welfare, being based solely upon 
aesthetic considerations and being an arbitrary discrimination 
against operators of a wrecking yard on property adjoining 
a public road. The superior court allowed the motion to quash 
on the ground that the above quoted requirement is based solely 
upon aesthetic grounds, without any real or substantial rela- 
tionship to the public health, safety or general welfare, and is, 
therefore, in violation of the above mentioned constitutional 
provisions. 

From this decision the State appeals, assigning as error: 
(1) The refusal of the court to permit the State to introduce 
the testimony of three witnesses concerning the manner of 
operation of the defendant's auto wrecking yard; and (2) the 
entry of the order quashing the warrant. The State contends 
that the requirement of the resolution, here in question, was 
"neither solely nor predominantly based upon aesthetics or 
aesthetic consideration," but bears a real and substantial rela- 
tion to the public health, safety and welfare. 

Attorney General Morgan, P. Eugene Price, Jr., County 
Attorney, and Robert K. Leomrd, Assistant County Attorney, 
for the State. 

White, Crumpler and Pfefferkorn, by Fred G. Crumpler, 
Jr., iMichael J. Lewis and G. Edgar Parker for defendant. 

LAKE, Justice. 

[I,  21 The defendant's motion to quash raises the question of 
the sufficiency of the summons, or warrant, to charge the com- 
mission of a criminal offense. State v. Brewer, 258 N.C. 533, 
129 S.E. 2d 262, 1 A.L.R. 3rd 1323, app. dism., 375 U.S. 9 ;  
State v. Walker, 249 N.C. 35, 105 S.E. 2d 101 ; State v. Glidden 
Co., 228 N.C. 664, 46 S.E. 2d 860. It is essential to jurisdiction 
that a criminal offense be charged in the warrant or indictment 
upon which the State brings the defendant to trial. State v. 
Guffey, 265 N.C. 331, 144 S.E. 2d 14. If the only charge therein 
is that the defendant violated a statute or an ordinance which 
is unconstitutional, the motion to quash must be allowed. 

[3] I n  passing upon such motion, the court treats the allega- 
tions of fact in the warrant, or indictment, as true and con- 
siders only the record proper and the provisions of the statute 
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or ordinance. State v. Lee, 277 N.C. 242, 176 S.E. 2d 772; 
Sta te  v. McBane, 276 N.C. 60, 170 S.E. 2d 913; State v. Cooke, 
248 N.C. 485, 103 S.E. 2d 846; State v. Andrews,  246 N.C. 
561, 99 S.E. 2d 745. There was, therefore, no error in the 
refusal of the superior court to permit witnesses for the State 
to testify as to the manner in which the defendant actually 
operates his business. The State's Assignment of Error No. 1 
is, therefore, overruled. 

The summons, or warrant, in the present case charges the 
defendant with violation of the requirement of the ordinance 
that "a solid fence or wall not less than 6 feet in height shall 
be erected not less than 50 feet from the edge of  any puhlic road 
adjoining the 'yards." (Emphasis added.) As Justice Parker, 
later Chief Justice, speaking for this Court in State v. Brewer, 
supra, said, "The books are filled with statements by the Courts 
of the rule that a crime must be defined in a penal statute 
with appropriate certainty and definiteness.?' In Connally v. 
General Construction Co., 269 U.S. 385, 46 S.Ct. 126, 70 L.Ed. 
322, i t  is said, "[A] statute which either forbids or requires 
the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common in- 
telligence must necessarily guess a t  its meaning and differ as 
to its application violates the first essential of due process.'' To 
the same effect, see: Sta te  v. Furio, 267 N.C. 353, 148 S.E. 2d 
275; State v. Lowry and State v. Mallory, 263 N.C. 536, 139 
S.E. 2d 870; State v. Hales, 256 N.C. 27, 122 S.E. 2d 768; 
Sta te  v. Morrison, 210 N.C. 117,185 S.E. 674. 

[4] The ordinance contains no definition of the term "the 
edge of any public road." The term "public road" includes, of 
course, both paved and unpaved roads. In oral argument, coun- 
sel for the State suggested that the edge of a road is the edge 
of the traveled portion thereof. In the case of an unpaved road, 
however, this will vary from time to time. Other possible inter- 
pretations include : the outer edge of the shoulder, the outer edge 
of the side ditch, the edge of the pavement in the case of a 
paved road, the outer boundary of the right of way. Between 
these possible constructions, the court is not permitted to make 
a selection. State v. Mow-ison, supra; State v. Partlow, 91 
N.C. 550, 553. The operator of an automobile wrecking yard 
may not be required to guess a t  the required location of his 
fence a t  the risk of a fine or imprisonment if he guesses wrong 
as to the location which the court says was the one intended by 
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the legislative body. The provision of the ordinance here in 
question must be deemed unconstitutionally vague and for this 
reason, if for no other, the motion to quash was properly al- 
lowed. 

The ordinance does not require, and would not necessarily 
be satisfied by, the erection of a fence upon the boundary of 
the lot whereon the automobile wrecking yard is located. I t  
may well be that the right of way for the road may not extend 
as  fa r  as  50 feet from "the edge of the road," assuming that to 
be capable of location. In t h a t  situation, the ordinance would 
require the erection of a solid fence a t  a point which would 
render virtually unusable a portion of the land of the operator 
of the yard. 

[5] The State, on behalf of the county, contends that the pur- 
pose of the requirement is not aesthetics but highway safety. 
It says that the lot of this defendant lies in the corner of an 
intersection of two public roads and contends that, without 
such a fence, junked automobiles, awaiting dismantling or 
other disposition by the defendant, will be stored so near the 
roads as to block the view of the drivers, thus increasing the 
danger of collisions in the intersection. While a reasonable re- 
striction upon the use which a landowner may make of his 
property may be imposed under the police power in the interest 
of public safety, there must be a reasonable basis for supposing 
that the restriction imposed will promote such safety, other- 
wise the restriction is a deprivation of property without due 
process of law. See: State v. Warren, 252 N.C. 690, 694, 114 
S.E. 2d 660; Winsto%-Salem v. R. R., 248 N.C. 637, 642, 105 
S.E. 2d 37; State v. Ballame, 229 N.C. 764, 769, 51 S.E. 2d 
731; Skinner v. Thomas, 171 N.C. 98,87 S.E. 976. 

It is obvious that a solid fence, 6 feet high, upon, or ap- 
proximately upon, the boundaries between the wrecking yard 
and the rights of way of two intersecting roads, would be more 
of an obstruction to the view of drivers than would junked 
automobiles, parked near but within the boundaries of the yard. 
Furthermore, the requirement of the ordinance is not limited to  
yards lying at an intersection of roads. I t  applies where a 
single road runs along one side of the automobile wrecking 
yard. Clearly, automobiles stored within the boundaries of 
such a yard will not obstruct the view of drivers of vehicles on 
the road. I t  is utterly unrealistic to suppose that the sights ob- 
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servable in the yard will distract drivers from attention to traf- 
fic on the highway. Consequently, we see no reasonable basis 
for supposing that the construction of such a fence along the 
boundary of the automobile wrecking yard will promote safety 
on the adjacent roads. 

[6] If the proper construction of the ordinance is that the 
fence must be built substantially within the boundaries of the 
lot in which the automobile wrecking business is located, then 
the ordinance encounters the further difficulty that i t  is a 
taking of the lot owner's property for a public use without com- 
pensation, which both the Federal and State Constitutions forbid. 
Del., L.62.W. R. R. v. Morristozun, 276 U.S. 182, 48 S.Ct. 276, 
72 L.Ed. 523; Penna. Coal Co. v. Mahon, 260 U.S. 393, 43 S.Ct. 
158, 67 L.Ed. 322; DeBruhl v. Highway Commission, 247 N.C. 
671, 102 S.E. 2d 229. If, in the interest of public safety at  an 
intersection of highways, greater visibility is required than is 
afforded by removing obstructions from existing rights of way, 
land necessary to afford such increased view of approaches to 
the intersection may be taken by the appropriate public authori- 
ties under the power of eminent domain, but just compensation 
for the land so taken must be paid to the property owner. His 
property may not be taken for such purpose, without compen- 
sation, under the guise of a regulation of his business pursuant 
to the police power. 

We do not have before us in the present case a charge that 
the defendant obstructed the right of way of either of the roads 
abutting his lot, by storing material thereon or by permitting 
material to spill over from his property onto such right of 
way. Nothing in this opinion is to be deemed to restrict the 
right of the State, or of the local authorities, to take appropri- 
ate action against such practices when and where they may 
occur. 

[4] The requirement that the owner of an automobile wreck- 
ing yard, located in a rural, "general industrial district" of 
Forsyth County, erect a solid fence 6 feet high a t  least 50 feet 
from the edge of any public road adjoining the yard, has no 
substantial relation to the public health, morals or safety such 
as will sustain the requirement as a legitimate exercise of the 
police power of the State for any of these purposes. In this 
respect the present case is distinguishable from decisions in 
other jurisdictions sustaining city ordinances requiring fencing 
of junk yards. See: Rotenberg v. City of Fort Pierce, 202 So. 
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2d 782 (Fla. App.) ; City of Shreveport v. Brock, 230 La. 651, 
89 So. 2d 156; City of New Orleans v. Southern Auto Wreckers, 
193 La. 895, 192 So. 523; Lachapelle v. Town of Goffstown, 
107 N.H. 485, 225 A. 2d 624; Vermont Salvage Corp. u. Village 
of St. Johnsbury, 113 Vt. 341, 34 A. 2d 188. Even in an indus- 
trial or commercial area of a city or town, the safety of pedes- 
trians upon adjoining sidewalks, the fire hazard inherent in an 
accumulation of junk, the threat to the public health incident 
to the attraction of such yards for rats, the possible use of 
such yards as hiding places for criminal activities and the 
attraction of materials stored therein for playing children, 
offer reasonabIe basis for the requirement that junk yards main- 
tained in cities or other heavily populated areas be securely 
fenced. 

The State does not contend upon this appeal that aesthetic 
considerations alone will support an exercise of the police power 
to impose a regulation upon the manner in which a landowner 
may use his property for the conduct of an otherwise lawful 
business. Its contention is that the requirement of fencing, im- 
posed by the ordinance before us, is valid because reasonably 
related to public safety. We, therefore, do not have before us 
the question presented to this Court in State v. Brown and 
State v. Narron, 250 N.C. 54, 108 S.E. 2d 74, concerning the 
validity of such a requirement, based upon aesthetic considera- 
tions alone. We express no opinion thereon, though we note the 
growing body of authority in other jurisdictions to the effect 
that the police power may be broad enough to include reason- 
able regulation of property use for aesthetic reasons only. See: 
Berman v. Parker, 348 U.S. 26, 75 S.Ct. 98, 102, 99 L.Ed. 27; 
E. B. Elliott Adv. Co. v. Metropoiitan Dade County, 425 F. 2d 
1141 (5th Circuit, applying the law of Florida) ; Murphy v. 
Town of Westport, 131 Conn. 292, 40 A. 2d 177; Rotenberg v. 
City of Fort Pierce, supra; City of Shreveport v. Brock, supra; 
Lachapelle v. Town of Goffstown, supra; Naegele Outdoor Ad- 
vertising Co. v. Village of Minnetonka, 281 Minn. 492, 162 
N.W. 2d 206; People v. Stover, 12 N.Y. 2d 462, 240 N.Y.S. 2d 
734, 191 N.E. 2d 272, app. dism., 375 U.S. 42; Annot., 21 
A.L.R. 3rd 1222, 1225. 

The provision of the Forsyth County ordinance which the 
defendant is charged with violating being invalid for the rea- 
sons above stated, the motion to quash was properly granted. 

Affirmed. 
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SECURITY MILLS O F  ASHEVILLE, INC., RESPONDENT V. WACHOVIA 
BANK & TRUST COMPANY, N.A., PETITIONER 

No. 102 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Banks and Banking 5 10; Venue 5 2- action against national bank- 
venue 

A transitory action against a national bank may be maintained 
only in a court designated in 12 USC $ 94 in the absence of a waiver, 
express or implied, by the bank of its immunity from suit in other 
courts. 

2. Banks and Banking 5 10; Venue 5 2- action against national bank- 
venue - waiver 

A national bank's waiver of immunity from suit in a court not 
designated in 12 USC $ 94 may be implied from conduct of the bank 
prior to the institution of the action. 

3. Banks and Banking 5 10; Venue 8 2- action against national bank- 
venue - federal court - state court 

An action or proceeding brought against a national bank in a 
federal court must be brought in the district in which such bank is  
"established;" a suit brought against such bank in a state court 
must be brought in the county or city in  which the bank is "located." 

4. Banks and Banking 5 10; Venue 3 2- action against national bank- 
venue - federal court 

An action or proceeding brought in a federal district or terri- 
torial court against a national bank must be brought in the district 
wherein the bank was founded, this being the district in which its 
charter states i t  has its principal office. 

5. Banks and Banking 5 10; Venue § 2- action against national bank- 
branch bank transaction - venue 

When a national bank, "established" in this State, operates and 
maintains in counties other than the county of its principal office 
branches a t  which i t  conducts its general banking business, the 
corporation is present a t  all times in each such branch and is "located" 
therein within the meaning of 12 USC $ 94; consequently, i t  is  sub- 
ject to suit in a state court in such county, otherwise having jurisdic- 
tion, just as  i t  is in the county wherein its principal office is located. 

6. Banks and Banking 8 10; Venue 5 2- national bank-branch bank- 
venue - waiver by operation of branch bank 

Even if a national bank is not "located" in a county within the 
meaning of 12 USC $ 94, by maintaining and operating in the 
county a branch wherein it conducts i ts  general banking business, 
the bank waives its privilege against being sued in such county in 
an action arising out of its banking activities a t  such branch. 
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ON certiorari to review the decision of the Court of Ap- 
peals, reported in 13 N.C. App. 332, 185 S.E. 2d 434, vacating 
the denial by the District Court of BUNCOMBE County (Allen, J.) 
of the defendant's motion for change of venue and remanding 
the matter to the district court for further consideration. 

The plaintiff instituted this action in the District Court 
of Buncombe County. The complaint alleges: (1) Plaintiff is 
a North Carolina corporation with its principal office and 
place of business in Buncombe County; (2) defendant is a 
national banking corporation "with an office in Asheville, 
Buncombe County, North Carolina"; (3) the defendant care- 
lessly and negligently paid and cashed checks drawn payable to 
the plaintiff and presented, without authority, to the defendant 
by Joe P. Morris, the total amount of such checks being 
$5,301.96; (4) Morris had no authority, real or apparent, 
to endorse or cash checks payable to the plaintiff and the 
defendant knew or should have known of such lack of authority; 
(5) the defendant was negligent in that it cashed the checks 
though i t  knew or should have known that such checks had 
not been endorsed or presented by the plaintiff, or by one of 
its duly authorized agents; and (6) thereby the plaintiff has 
been damaged in the amount of $5,301.96 for the recovery of 
which sum, together with interest and costs, the plaintiff prays 
judgment. 

In due time the defendant moved that the action be removed 
to the Superior Court of Forsyth County, North Carolina, for 
the reason that the defendant is a national banking association, 
chartered under the laws sf the United States and is "located in 
the City of Winston-Salem, County of Forsyth, North Carolina." 
The defendant contends that 12 USC 3 94 requires the granting 
of its motion. 

At the hearing upon the motion, the defendant offered in 
evidence a certified copy of its charter as a national banking 
association. The charter provides : 

"SECOND. The main offices of the Association shall 
be in Winston-Salem, County of Forsyth, State of North 
Carolina. The general business of the Association shall be 
conducted a t  its main office and its branches. 

"SEVENTH. The Board of Directors shall have the 
power to change the location of the main office to any 
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other place within the limits of Winston-Salem, North Car- 
olina, without the approval of the shareholders but subject 
to the approval of the Comptroller of the Currency; and 
shall have the power to establish new branches or change 
the location of any branch or branches of the Association 
to any other location, without the approval of the share- 
holders but subject to the approval of the Comptroller of 
the Currency." 

From the order of the district court denying the motion 
for change of venue, the defendant appealed to the Court of 
Appeals which, treating the appeal as a petition for certiorari, 
allowed the petition. The Court of Appeals vacated the order 
of the district court and remanded the matter to the district 
court for a new hearing upon the motion on the ground that 
the district court had failed to make a finding as to whether 
the branch of the defendant a t  which the business complained 
of was transacted is located in Buncombe County. The Court 
of Appeals held that a banking institution is located in each 
county in which it maintains a branch for conducting business 
and that 12 USC 5 94 permits an action against a national 
banking association to be prosecuted in the appropriate court 
in the county in  which is located the branch office a t  which 
the business giving rise to the action is located. 

Upon the petition of the defendant, certiorari was granted 
to review the decision of the Court of Appeals. 

Following the decision of the Court of Appeals, the parties 
stipulated that the defendant "maintains in Asheville, Buncombe 
County, the branch bank which transacted the business com- 
plained of in the plaintiff's complaint," the defendant neither 
admitting nor denying the truth or falsity of any allegation in 
the plaintiff's complaint. 

By affidavit of its assistant vice president, set forth in 
the record, the defendant states that it "operates branch offices 
in 63 towns and cities in the State of North Carolina." 

Van Winkle, Buck, Wall, Starnes and Hyde, by Emerson 
D. Wall, for defendant. 

Hendon and Carson, by George Ward Hendon, for plaintiff. 
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LAKE, Justice. 

The venue of suits against national banks is governed by 
12 USC 5 94, which provides: 

"Actions and proceedings against any association un- 
der this chapter may be had in any district or Territorial 
Court of the United States held within the district, in 
which such association may be estabtished, or in any State, 
county, or municipal court in the county or city in which 
said association is located having jurisdiction in similar 
cases." (Emphasis added.) 

[I] It is now settled that this statute is mandatory, not per- 
missive as was supposed by this Court in Cudee v. National 
Bank, 187 N.C. 119, 121 S.E. 194, and that, in the absence of 
a waiver by the bank, a suit against a national bank may be 
maintained only in a court designated in this statute. Mercantile 
National Bank v. Langdeau, 371 U.S. 555, 83 S.Ct. 520, 9 L.Ed. 
2d 523. Thus, Curlee v. National Bank, supra, which was decided 
prior to this determination by the Supreme Court of the 
United States in the Langdeau case, is no longer authoritative 
and is overruled, insofar as i t  relates to the proper venue of 
an action against a national bank which has not waived its 
immunity under the above quoted Act sf Congress. 

[I, 21 It is equally well settled that this statutory provision 
applies to transitory actions only, Casey v. Adams, 102 U.S. 66, 
26 L.Ed. 52, and that the national bank may waive its immunity 
from suit in other courts, which waiver may be express or 
implied. First National Bank of Charlotte v. Morgan, 132 U.S. 
141, 10 S.Ct. 37, 33 L.Ed. 282. Such waiver may be implied 
from the conduct of the bank prior to the institution of the 
action. Lichtenfels v. Bank, 260 N.C. 146, 132 S.E. 2d 360; 
Annot., 1 A.L.R. 3rd 904. The present action is, of course, 
transitory. 

The questions presented by this appeal are, therefore: (1) 
Is the defendant bank "located" in Buncombe Co~~nty ,  where 
i t  maintains a branch and conducts a general banking busi- 
ness, within the meaning of the Act of Congress? (2) If not, 
has the defendant, by maintaining such branch in Buncombe 
County, waived its statutory immunity to suit in the court of 
the county otherwise having jurisdiction of the action, the 
suit arising out of business transacted at such branch bank? 
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Our attention has been directed to no decision of the Su- 
preme Court of the United States which determines either of 
these questions. Decisions of the lower federal courts, constru- 
ing this Act of Congress, are not binding upon us, notwithstand- 
ing our respect for the tribunals which rendered them, and 
their decisions with reference to the proper venue as between 
the several federal courts are not in point because of the lan- 
guage of the statute. We must, therefore, construe this Act of 
Congress ourselves and determine whether the defendant is 
"located" in Buncombe County, within the meaning of the Act. 

[3J I t  is to be noted that an action or proceeding brought 
against a national bank in a federal court must be brought in the 
district in which such bank is "established." On the other hand, 
a suit against such bank in a state court must be brought in 
the county or city in which the bank is "located." Each of 
these words, "established9' and "located," has severaI connota- 
tions. Some of the connotations of "established" overlap those 
of "located," but the words are not synonymous. I t  is not 
lightly to be supposed that Congress used both words in the 
same sentence carelessly or inadvertently. The presumption is 
that it used them deliberately, having in view their different 
connotations. 

[4J The definition of "establish" in Webster, New International 
Dictionary, Second Edition, most applicable to the use of the 
word in this statute is: "To o r i g i n a t e  and secure the permanent 
existence of; t o  f ound ;  to institute; to create and regulate; said 
of a colony, a state, or o t h e r  ins t i tu t ion . "  (Emphasis added.) 
To the same effect, see: Webster, Seventh New Collegiate Dic- 
tionary; Century Dictionary (1889 Edition) ; Black's Law Dic- 
tionary. By the terms of the Act of Congress, therefore, an 
action or proceeding brought in a federal district or territorial 
court against a national bank must be brought in the district 
wherein the bank was founded, this being the district in which 
its charter states it has its principal office. 

Obviously, a bank is "located9' where it is "established," 
but this does not preclude the possibility that i t  may also be 
located elsewhere. Webster, New International Dictionary, Sec- 
ond Edition, defines "locate" to mean "to set or establish in a 
particular spot or position; to station." Webster's Seventh New 
Collegiate Dictionary defines "locate" to mean "to establish one- 
self or one's business: SETTLE." The Century Dictionary (1889 
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Edition) defines "locate" to mean "to fix in a place; establish in 
a particular spot or position; place; settle: as to locate one's 
self in a certain town or street." (Emphasis added.) Black's 
Law Dictionary does not define "located" but cites Raiola v. 
Los Angeles First Natiomal Trust & Savings Bank, 233 N.Y.S. 
301, 304, as holding that a bank is "located" in the place 
specified in its original certificate, which it obviously is, the 
question being whether it can be located elsewhere also. Black's 
Law Dictionary also cites Dairg Sealed v. Telz Eyck ,  288 N.Y.S. 
641, 649, as holding, "Commissioner of Agriculture and Markets 
or any head of bureau is 'located' not only in principal office, 
but in authorized branch office." Thus, the word "located" 
does not point exclusively to the birthplace of an institution as 
does the word "established." Congress having used the one word 
with reference to suits in federal courts and the other word 
with reference to suits in state courts must have intended to 
draw this distinction. 

Another definition of "locate" given by Webster's New 
International Dictionary, Second Edition, is "to search for and 
discover the position of; as to locate an enemy; to locate a fire." 
This element of discovery, inherent in the word "locate" but 
not in the word "establish," appears to have been in the mind 
of the Court in Lapinsohn v. Lewis Charles, Inc., 212 Pa. 
Super. 185, 240 A. 2d 90, cert. den., 393 U.S. 952, when it said 
a national bank, by setting up a branch to conduct a general 
banking business, manifested an intent "to be found" in that 
jurisdiction and so had waived its statutory immunity to suit 
there. 

We do not overlook the fact, noted in Mercantile National 
Bank v. Langdeau, supra, that the original National Banking 
Act of 1863 did not make mention of suits against such banks 
in state courts. Though the provision of the Act, relating to 
suits in state courts, came into it by later legislation, we must 
conclude that Congress intended a somewhat different rule 
to apply as  between suits brought in federal courts and suits 
brought in state courts. Otherwise, i t  would hardly have 
switched from "established" to "located." 

Cases in which a national bank was sued in a court of a 
state where i t  was not "established," in which it maintained no 
branch and in which i t  carried on no banking business, are 
distinguishable from the matter before us and broad statements 
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therein to the effect that a national bank may be sued only in 
the judicial district in which it is "established" are not con- 
vincing in the present connection. See Michigan National Bank 
v. Robertson, 372 U.S. 591, 83 S.Ct. 914, 9 L.Ed. 2d 961; 
Schmitt v. Tobin, 15 F.  Supp. 35 (D.C. Nevada) ; Cadle v. Tracy, 
Fed. Case No. 2279 (S.D.N.Y.) ; Crocker et al. v. Marine Na- 
tional Bank of New York,  101 Mass. 240. Similarly distinguish- 
able are cases in which a national bank was sued in a state 
court, within the state where it was "established" but in a coun- 
ty other than that of its principal office, there being nothing to 
indicate the maintenance of a branch in the county in which 
suit was brought. Monarch Wine Co. v. Butte, 249 I?. 2d 291 
(Cal. App.) ; Richter v. Plakrzs National Bank of Lubbock, 440 
S.W. 2d 76 (Tex. Civ. App.). Also distinguishable is Leonardi 
v. Chase National Bank, 81 F. 2d 19, cert. den. 298 U.S. 677, 
in which the defendant's principal office was in the Southern 
District of New York, suit being brought in the United States 
District Court for the Eastern District of New York, in which 
latter district it maintained a branch. The court held that a 
national bank is not "established" within each district in which 
it operates a branch, but is "established" only in the district 
wherein its principal office, as stated in its charter, is located. 
Since the bank could be sued in a federal court only in the dis- 
trict where it was "established," the dismissal of the action 
brought in a different district was proper. 

We are not inadvertent to the case of Gregor J. Schaefer 
Sons, I w .  v. Watson, 272 N.Y.S. 2d 790, in which the Appellate 
Division, in a memorandum opinion, stated, "For the purposes 
of venue under the statute [12 USC 8 941, a national bank is 
located a t  the place listed in its certificate of incorporation as 
its principal place of business or main office, even though it 
maintains branches in other counties of the state." See also, 
Tuthill v. George S.  May International Co., et al, 285 N.Y.S. 
2d 317 (Supreme Court). The only authorities cited by the 
Appellate Division in support of its decision are federal cases 
hereinabove cited and distinguished. In our opinion, the better 
view is thus stated in the dissenting opinion of Beldock, P. J., 
and Christ, J.: "In our opinion, i t  is unreasonable to hold 
that this appellant with 15 branches in Suffolk County is not 
located in Suffolk County. The cases dealing with venue in 
Federal Courts are not in point. The statute provides that such 
suits must be brought in the district in which the bank is 
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'established,' which means where the principal place of busi- 
ness of the bank is located." 

[5] We conclude that when a national bank, "established" in 
this State, operates and maintains in counties, other than the 
county of its principal office, branches a t  which i t  conducts its 
general banking business, the corporation is present a t  all 
times in each such branch and is "located" therein within the 
meaning of this Act of Congress. Thus, i t  is subject to suit in 
a state court in such county, otherwise having jurisdiction, just 
as i t  is in the county wherein its principal office is located. 

161 If, however, the defendant bank is not "located" in Bun- 
combe County within the meaning of this Act of Congress, we 
hold that by maintaining and operating in Buncombe County 
a branch wherein it conducts its general banking business, the 
defendant has waived its privilege against being sued in Bun- 
combe County in an action arising out of its banking activities 
a t  such branch. In Lapinsohn v. Lewis Charles, Inc., supra, 
after holding that a national bank is not "located" in a county 
other than that of its principal office, though it maintains 
a branch therein, the Pennsylvania Court said, "If a national 
bank avails itself of a jurisdiction by setting up a branch to 
conduct general banking business, i t  has manifested an intent to 
be found in that jurisdiction for purposes of suits arising out 
of any business conducted there." To the same effect are: 
Helco, Inc. v. Fimt City Natimzal Bank, 333 F. Supp. 1289 
(D.C. Virgin Islands), and Frankford Supply Co., Znc. v. Matteo, 
305 F. Supp. 794 (E.D. Pa.). 

The defendant operates 63 branches scattered throughout 
North Carolina. It has opened and operates these branches vol- 
untarily for the purpose of competing with other banks in this 
State for the deposits and other banking business of the public. 
I t  may, and frequently does, institute suits in the counties where 
it operates such branches. I t  is not unreasonable to conclude 
that, by so doing, i t  has consented to being sued in the county 
wherein each such branch is maintained in any controversy 
arising out of a transaction in, the operation of such branch, 
notwithstanding any immunity i t  may be given to such suits 
by 12 USC § 94. 

To require a depositor, or other customer, of one of the 
defendant's branches to incur the expense and inconvenience of 
going to  Forsyth County to maintain such action would be a 
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gross injustice. In the case of the small depositor, the hardship 
could well preclude his resort to the courts despite the justice 
of his cause. We decline to give an ambiguous Act of Congress 
such a construction in the absence of a decision by the Supreme 
Court of the United States clearly so requiring. 

The parties having stipulated in this Court, subsequent to 
the decision of the Court of Appeals, that the defendant main- 
tains a branch bank in Buncombe County and that this action 
arises out of transactions therein, the remand and further 
hearing directed by the Court of Appeals would now serve no 
useful purpose. The matter is, therefore, remanded to the Court 
of Appeals for the entry by i t  of a judgment affirming the 
judgment of the District Cofirt of Buncombe County. 

Reversed and remanded. 

I N  THE MATTER OF: THE APPEAL OF W. E. KING, EDWARD 
A. GLASGOW, W. EARL PRIDGEN AND WALKER MATHIS, 
ALL OF ROCKY MOUNT, NASH COUNTY, N. C., FROM THE 
NASH COUNTY BOARD OF EQUALIZATION AND REVIEW 
FOR 1971, ALLEGING THAT THE SCHEDULES OF VALUE 
ADOPTED BY THE NASH COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSION- 
ERS ON DECEMBER 6,1968, AND APPLIED IN THE APPRAISAL 
OF ALL REAL PROPERTY I N  NASH COUNTY AS OF JANUARY 
1, 1969, RESULTED I N  INEQUALITY OF ASSESSMENT BE- 
TWEEN RURAL AND URBAN PROPERTY OWNERS IN NASH 
COUNTY 

No. 28 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Taxation 8 25- ad valorem taxes - value of property 
For purposes of taxation, all property, real and personal, is 

required to be appraised, as  f a r  as  practicable, a t  its true value 
in money, which means the amount for which such property can be 
sold in the usual manner of sale. G.S. 105-294. 

2. Taxation 8 25- ad valorem taxes - farmland -tobacco and peanut 
allotments 

Tobacco and peanut allotments, held as incidents of the owner- 
ship of farmland, are among the factors to be considered in appraising 
such land for ad valorem taxation. 

3. Taxation 8 25- duties of County Board of Equalization and Review - 
appeal to State Board of Assessment 

I t  is the duty of the County Board of Equalization and Review, 
when so requested, to hear any taxpayer owning taxable property in 
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the county with respect to the valuation of his property or of the 
property of others and to eliminate unlawful discriminations in the 
valuations of all properties in the county, G.S. 105-327(g) ; any tax- 
payer aggrieved by the order of the County Board of Equalization 
and Review may appeal to the State Board of Assessment. G.S. 
105-329. 

4. Taxation 8 25- ad valorem taxes - State Board of Assessment 
The State Board of Assessment is given the general supervisory 

power over the valuation and taxation of property throughout the 
State and authority to correct improper assessments. G.S. 105-275. 

5. Taxation 8 25- order of State Board of Assessment - judicial review 
Upon appeal from the County Board of Equalization and Review, 

the State Board of Assessment has full authority to determine prop- 
erty valuations, including the standard uniform schedules of values 
required by G.S. 105-295 to be used in the appraisal of real property 
within the county, and its orders with reference to such valuations 
and standards of value are final and conclusive, subject only to 
judicial review for errors of law or abuse of discretion. 

6. Taxation 5 25- State Board of Assessment-ad valorem taxes on 
farmlands - increase in valuation of tobacco and peanut allotments 

The superior court did not e r r  in overruling a county's exceptions 
to an order of the State Board of Assessment revising the ad valorem 
taxation schedule for farmlands in Nash County by increasing the 
valuation of tobacco allotments from 40 cents per pound to 80 cents 
per pound and peanut allotments from $150 per acre to $300 per 
acre. 

7. Costs 8 1- attorneys' fees as  part of costs 

In the absence of statutory authority therefor, a court may not 
include an allowance of attorneys' fees as part  of the costs recover- 
able by the successful party to an action or proceeding. 

8. Costs 8 1; Taxation 3 25- tobacco and peanut allotments-proceed- 
ing before State Board of Assessment - increase in valuation - costa - 
attorneys' fees 

The superior court properly denied taxpayers' motion for an 
allowance of their attorneys' fees as par t  of the costs of their SUC- 
cessful action before the State Board of Assessment to increase for 
ad valorem taxation the valuation of tobacco allotments from 40 
cents per pound to 80 cents per pound and the valuation of peanut 
allotments from $150 per acre to $300 per acre. 

Justice MOORE did not participate in the consideration or decision 
of this case. 

CROSS appeals by Nash County and by the named taxpayers 
from Cowper, J., a t  the October 1971 Civil Session of NASH, 
heard prior to  determination by the Court of Appeals. 
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Under the Machinery Act, Nash County was required to 
revalue for taxation all real property in the county as of 1 Jan- 
uary 1969. The Board of Commissioners empIoyed the appraisal 
firm of Carroll-Phelps Company to assist in the revaluation. 
The work of appraisal began in November 1967. At a public 
meeting on 15 November 1968, the Board of Commissioners 
approved schedules of values recommended by the appraisal 
firm and by the Tax Supervisor for use in the appraisal of all 
real property in the county. These schedules included base 
acreage values for the various types and qualities of farmland. 
In addition, tobacco allotments were valued a t  80# per pound 
and peanut allotments at  $300 per acre. Thus, under these sched- 
ules, farmland would be appraised for taxes by applying to the 
several classifications of land contained in the farm the respec- 
tive base acreage values and then adding the value of the 
tobacco allotment, or the peanut allotment, in accordance with 
such value schedules therefor. To such appraisals the assess- 
ment ratio would be applied. The result would be the tax valu- 
ation to which the county tax rate would be applied. 

Following widespread protests by the owners of farmlands, 
the Board of Commissioners again met on 6 December 1968. 
After hearing statements by those in attendance, the Board 
rescinded its resolution of 15 November 1968 and adopted a 
revised schedule for farmland. The revised schedule contained 
the same base acreage values for the various types and quali- 
ties of farmland but reduced the value of tobacco allotments 
to 40$ per pound and the value of peanut allotments to $150 
per acre. 

On 31 December 1968, the named taxpayers who are 
parties to the present appeal, owners of urban property in the 
county, brought an action in the superior court alleging that 
the revised schedule, so adopted by the Board of Commissioners 
on 6 December 1968, would result in the gross undervaluation 
of farmland in Nash County and would discriminate against 
the owners of urban property in the county. In that action 
they sought and obtained from the superior court a writ of 
mandamus directing the Board of Commissioners and the Tax 
Supervisor to revalue all real property in the county a t  its true 
value in money, and an injunction to restrain them from as- 
sessing property for taxation according to the schedule of 
values so adopted by the Board on 6 December 1968. On appeal, 
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the Supreme Court reversed on the ground that the plaintiff 
taxpayers had not exhausted the administrative remedy pro- 
vided by G.S. 105-327, G.S. 105-329 and G.S. 105-275(3). 
King v. Baldwin, 276 N.C. 316, 172 S.E. 2d 12. In so ruling, the 
Supreme Court stated that if the Board of Commissioners had 
failed to value rural land in Nash County a t  its true value in 
money, the proper procedure to be pursued by the plaintiff 
taxpayers was to complain to and request a hearing by the 
County Board of Equalization and Review and, if dissatisfied 
with the action taken by it, to appeal to the State Board of 
Assessment. 

Pursuant to the direction so given by the Supreme Court, 
the named taxpayers, in due time, filed their complaint with 
the Nash County Board of Equalization and Review. From 
its decision that no changes should be made in the property 
valuations, they appealed to the State Board of Assessment 
which heard the matter for three days in March 1971. The 
evidence presented a t  that hearing was essentially the same 
as that presented to the superior court in the former action, 
which is summarized in detail in the opinion of the Supreme 
Court in King v. Baldwin, supra, and will not be repeated here. 

On 24 June 1971, the State Board of Assessment entered 
its decision setting forth its findings of fact and conclusions 
of law, including the following : 

"(9)  That the farmland schedule adopted by the 
Board of Commissioners on December 6, 1968, provided for 
the valuation of mral  property in accordance with the 
same base acreage values as the schedule approved on 
November 15, 1968, but reduced the valuation of tobacco 
allotments from 80# per pound to 40$ per pound and peanut 
allotments from $300 per acre to $150 per acre. 

"(10) That the application of the farmland schedule 
adopted by the Board of Commissioners on December 6, 
1968, resulted in the valuation of rural land in the County 
a t  approximately 65% of its value, based on the fourteen 
sales. [These were fourteen bona fide farmer to farmer 
sales studied by the appraising company in arriving a t  its 
schedule of values.] 
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"(11) That with respect to urban, residential, com- 
mercial and industrial land and improvements, the appli- 
cation of the schedule of values recommended by the tax 
supervisor and the appraisal firm and adopted by the Board 
of Commissioners on November 15, 1968, resulted in the 
valuation of such properties in the range of 85% to 90% 
of their value based on sales of comparable properties. 

* * * 
"(13) That from November 15, 1968, to December 6, 

1968, when the farmland schedule was reduced as aforesaid, 
neither the tax supervisor nor the appraised [sic] firm 
furnished any additional information to the Board of Com- 
missioners. 

* * * 
"(17) That the action of the Board of Commissioners 

in reducing the farmland schedule previously adopted was 
based primarily upon their concern for the unfavorable 
outlook for tobacco farming and also on the ability of 
farm owners to pay their taxes. 

* * * 

" (6) There is no evidence before this Board to support 
a conclusion that the decision of the Board of Commission- 
ers on December 6, 1968, was based upon any reliable in- 
formation which they had not considered when they 
approved the recommended schedule on November 15, 1968. 

"(9) There was some disparity between the levels of 
appraisal in the urban and rural schedules approved by 
the Board of Commissioners on November 15, 1968, if 
sales prices alone were to be considered. Taking all of the 
factors into account, however, we conclude that the appli- 
cation of the schedules approved on November 15, 1968, 
would have resulted in a reasonable degree of uniformity 
in the appraisal of all types of property in the County. 
We conclude that this is not true of the reduced schedules 
adopted on December 6, 1968." 

The decision and order of the State Board of Assessment 
was that the Nash County Board of Commissioners revalue all 
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farmland in the county a t  its true value in money as of 1 Jan- 
uary 1969 by applying the schedules approved by the Board 
of Commissioners a t  its meeting on 15 November 1968. That 
is, the State Board of Assessment ordered the Board of Com- 
missioners to increase the valuation of tobacco allotments from 
40$ to 80C per pound and the valuation of peanut allotments 
from $150 to $300 per acre, the said order to take effect as of 
1 January 1972. 

Both the county and the complaining taxpayers filed peti- 
tions for judicial review in the Superior Court of Nash County, 
the purpose of the petition of the complaining taxpayers, as 
modified in the superior court, being to procure from the court 
an order directing that they recover, as part of the costs in 
this matter, reasonable counsel fees. 

The superior court being of the opinion that "the Findings 
of Fact and Conclusions of Law by the North Carolina State 
Board of Assessment are correct and based upon competent, 
material and substantial evidence in view of the entire record 
as submitted," affirmed the order of the State Board of As- 
sessment, after making a modification therein not pertinent to 
this appeal, and denied the motion of the complaining taxpayers 
for an allowance of their attorneys' fees as part of the court 
costs. From the judgment so entered, both the county and the 
complaining taxpayers appealed. 

Upon motion of the county, the superior court entered a 
further order staying its judgment and the order of the State 
Board of Assessment pending the review of the matter on 
appeal. The said stay order was vacated by the Supreme Court 
on 7 January 1972 and the appeal was transferred from the 
Court of Appeals to the Supreme Court for initial appellate 
review. 

Keel & Lamar, by James W. Keel, Jr., for Nash County. 

Battle, Winslow, Scott & Wiley, P.A., by Robert M. Wiley; 
and Biggs, Meadows & Batts, by Frank P. Meadozos, Jr., for 
taxpayers. 

Attorney General Morgan and George W. Boylan, Associate 
Attorney, Amicus Curiae. 
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LAKE, Justice. 

Appeal By The Couvlty 

References herein to the General Statutes relate, both 
as to section number and as to content, to statutes in effect 
prior to the 1971 revision of the Machinery Act. 

[I, 21 For purposes of taxation, all property, real and per- 
sonal, is required to be appraised, as far  as practicable, a t  its 
true value in money, which means the amount for which such 
property can be sold in the usual manner of sale. G.S. 105-294. 
The date of valuation of the property here in question is 1 Jan- 
uary 1969. G.S. 105-278, G.S. 105-280. In the case of farmland, 
the property to be appraised is the tract of land but, in making 
such appraisal, all of its attributes and appurtenant rights are 
to be considered, together with other factors which may affect 
its value. G.S. 105-295. These include the allocations to such 
land of rights to produce thereon crops, the production of 
which is restricted by law. Thus, the tobacco and peanut allot- 
ments, held as incidents of the ownership of farmland in Nash 
County, are among the factors to be considered in appraising 
such land for ad valorem taxation. 

[3] The purpose of the statutory requirement that all property 
be appraised a t  its true value in money is to assure, as far  as 
practicable, a distribution of the burden of taxation in propor- 
tion to the true values of the respective taxpayers' property 
holdings, whether they be rural or urban. I t  is the duty of the 
County Board of Equalization and Review, when so requested, 
to hear any taxpayer owning taxable property in the county 
with respect to the valuation of his property or of the property 
of others and to eliminate unlawful discriminations in the 
valuations of all properties in the county. G.S. 105-327 (g). If 
such taxpayer is aggrieved by the order of the County Board 
of Equalization and Review, he may appeal to the State Board 
of Assessment. G.S. 105-329. 

[4] Upon such appeal, the State Board of Assessment "shall 
hear all the evidence or affidavits offered by the appellant, 
appellee and the board of county commissioners, shall reduce, 
increase, or confirm the valuation fixed by the board of equaliza- 
tion and review and enter it accordingly and shall deliver to 
the clerk of the board of county commissioners a certified 
copy of such order, which valuation shall be entered upon the 
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fixed and permanent tax records and shall constitute the val- 
uation for taxation." (Emphasis added.) G.S. 105-329; King 
v. Baldwin, supra. The State Board of Assessment is given gen- 
eral supervisory power over the valuation and taxation of prop- 
erty throughout the State and authority to correct improper 
assessments. G.S. 105-275. 

[5] Thus, upon appeal from the County Board of Equalization 
and Review, the State Board of Assessment has full authority 
to determine property valuations, including the standard uni- 
form schedules of values required by G.S. 105-295 to be used in 
the appraisal of real property within the county. Its orders 
with reference to such valuations and standards of value are 
final and conclusive, subject only to judicial review for errors 
of law or abuse of discretion. G.S. 143-315; King v. Baldwin, 
supra; I n  Re Appeal of  Broadcasting Cow., 273 N.C. 571, 160 
S.E. 2d 728. 

[6] The county assigns as error the overruling by the superior 
court of its several exceptions to the order of the State Board 
of Assessment. We have considered each of these and find 
therein no basis for reversal of the order of the Board, pursuant 
to G.S. 143-315. No useful purpose would be served by a dis- 
cussion of these exceptions individually. 

Appeal B y  The  Complaining Taxpayers 

[7] The general rule in this State is that, in the absence of 
statutory authority therefor, a court may not include an allow- 
ance of attorneys' fees as part of the costs recoverable by the 
successful party to an action or proceeding. Hoskins v. Hoskins, 
259 N.C. 704, 131 S.E. 2d 326; Rider v. Lenoir County, 238 
N.C. 632, 78 S.E. 2d 745; H m e r  v. Chamber of Commerce, 
236 N.C. 96, 72 S.E. 2d 21; Trust  Co. v. Schneider, 235 N.C. 
446, 70 S.E. 2d 578. G.S. 6-21 and G.S. 6-21.1 provide for the 
allowance for attorneys' fees as part of the costs in certain 
types of actions or proceedings. The present proceeding is not 
one of those. 

The complaining taxpayers reIy upon Horner v. Chamber 
of  Commerce, supra. In that case, the plaintiff, a taxpayer of the 
City of Burlington, on behalf of himself and other taxpayers, 
brought suit to compel repayment to the city of funds unlawfully 
contributed by it to the Chamber of Commerce. The action was 
successful and the funds were repaid into the city treasury. 
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This Court held that, under those circumstances, the superior 
court "has implied power in the exercise of a sound discretion 
to make a reasonable allowance, from the fun& actually re- 
covered, to be used as compensation for the plaintiff taxpayers' 
attorney fees." (Emphasis added.) 

In Rider v. Lenoir County, supra, this Court, speaking 
through Justice Barnhill, later Chief Justice, concerning the 
decision in Horner v. Chamber of Commerce, supra, said: 

"The rule as there stated comes to this: When, in an 
action instituted by a taxpayer to recover a fund which 
has been unlawfully or wrongfully expended by a munici- 
pality, i t  is made to appear that (1) the fund was in fact 
wrongfully expended, (2) the governing board of the 
municipality refused, on demand, to institute an action 
to recover the same, (3)  as a result of which the taxpayer 
instituted his action to recover for the benefit of the citi- 
zens of the municipality, and (4) obtained judgment (5) 
which has been paid, in whole or in part, and the fund 
is thus restored to the public treasury, the court may 
allow plaintiff expense money to the extent of reasonable 
attorney fees, to be paid out of the fund so recovered." (Em- 
phasis added.) 

In the Horner Case, supra, the Court, speaking through 
Justice Johnson, said : 

" [W] hile ordinarily attorney fees are taxable as costs 
only when expressly authorized by statute [citations omit- 
ted], nevertheless, the rule is well established that a court 
of equity, or a court in the exercise of equitable jurisdiction, 
may in its discretion, and without statutory authorization, 
order an allowance for attorney fees to a litigant who a t  
his own expense has maintained a successful suit for the 
preservation, protection, or increase of a common fund or 
of common property, or who has created a t  his own ex- 
pense or brought into court a fund which others may 
share with him. * * * 

"This 'rule rests upon the ground that where one 
litigant has borne the burden and expense of the litigation 
that has inured to the benefit of others as well as to him- 
self, those who have shared in  its benefits should contribute 
to the expense.' 14 Am. Jur., Costs, Sec. 74." (Emphasis 
added.) 
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[8] The present proceeding is clearly distinguishable from 
the Horner case. First, in this matter no fund has been re- 
covered for the benefit of the county. While the total valuation 
of taxable property in the county has been increased, this 
does not necessarily mean that more funds will be paid into 
the county treasury. The Board of County Commissioners may 
elect to reduce the tax rate. Presumably, this is the result 
which the complaining taxpayers hoped to achieve by this pro- 
ceeding. Second, the proceeding has resulted in no benefits to a 
large segment of the taxpayers of Nash County, namely, the 
owners of farmlands. On the contrary, their taxes will be in- 
creased as a result of the complainants' victory in this proceed- 
ing. Those who will share in the benefits are the owners of 
urban property in the county. But they are not, as such, parties 
to this proceeding and to order the county to pay a fee to the 
complainants' attorneys as part of the court costs would impose 
the burden thereof not upon owners of urban property only but 
upon all taxpayers. 

The denial of the motion for allowance of attorneys' fees 
was, therefore, proper. 

Affirmed. 

Justice MOORE did not participate in the consideration 
or decision of this case. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. WILLIE JACKSON HARRIS 

No. 99 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Constitutional Law § 29; Grand Jury 5 3- grand jury -absence of 
persons 18 to 21 years old 

The absence from the jury list of the names of persons between 
the ages of 18 and 21 during the period from 21. July 1971, the 
effective date of the amendment of G.S. 9-3 lowering the age re- 
quirement for jurors from 21 years to 18 years, and 7 September 1971, 
the date the indictment against defendant was returned, does not con- 
stitute systematic exclusion of this age group from grand jury 
service. 
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2. Robbery § 4- armed robbery - weapon within reach 
Evidence that  defendant had a pistol within easy reach while 

he took the prosecutrix' money, that  defendant had threatened the 
prosecutrix with it, and that  she was in fear of her life when defend- 
ant  took her money, held sufficient to be submitted to the jury in a 
prosecution for robbery with firearms. 

3. Criminal Law 8 89- cross-examination of defendant - indictments for 
other crimes - nonretroactivity of new rule 

The rule that  a witness, including the defendant in a criminal 
case, may no longer be cross-examined for impeachment purposes as  
to whether he has been indicted or is under indictment for a criminal 
offense other than that  for which he is then on trial applies only 
to  trials begun after 15 December 1971, the date of the decision of 
State v. Williams, 279 N.C. 663. 

APPEAL by defendant from McLean, J., a t  the 28 October 
1971 Criminal Session of MECKLENBURG Superior Court. 

Defendant was tried and convicted on separate bills of in- 
dictment for the rape and armed robbery of Evelyn Louise 
Jones. On the rape charge the jury recommended that defend- 
ant's punishment be imprisonment for life. From sentences of 
life imprisonment for the rape and 30 years' imprisonment for 
the armed robbery, defendant appealed to this Court under 
G.S. 7A-27 (a). 

The prosecutrix testified that about 4 p.m. on 11 June 
1971 she left work and was standing a t  a bus stop on Newland 
Road. A car driven by defendant stopped on the other side of 
the street. The driver, who was alone, called her. Thinking that 
she recognized him, she approached the car. When she drew 
nearer, she realized that she did not know him. At that point 
defendant pulled out a pistol and ordered her to get into the 
car. Defendant then drove her to a new housing development, 
threatened to shoot her if she did not cooperate, and forced 
her a t  gunpoint to undress and have intercourse with him twice. 
The prosecutrix testified that defendant was driving a Plym- 
outh Fury, that she recognized the name "Willie" on a piece 
of paper attached to the steering wheel, and that she also saw 
something hanging from the dashboard in the shape of a small 
pine tree. After defendant completed the acts of intercourse, 
he wiped himself with a handkerchief and threw i t  out the 
window of the car. Defendant and the prosecutrix then got 
out of the car. Defendant placed his pistol on the roof of the 
car, took the prosecutrix' pocketbook from the back seat and 
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removed fourteen dollars and some change from it. Defendant 
told the prosecutrix that he was a dope addict and had to have 
money to support this habit. 

After threatening to disfigure the prosecutrix if she told 
anyone what had happened, defendant drove the prosecutrix 
to a place near her home and let her out. She stayed away 
from home for awhile fearing that the defendant would return. 
When she finally went home, she called the police. 

Officer S. E. Jolley testified that on 11 June 1971 he 
drove to the home of the prosecutrix in response to a call about 
an alleged rape. He accompanied the prosecutrix to a spot in a 
relatively uninhabited residential development where the prose- 
cutrix stated the rape occurred. Officer Jolley found a fresh 
set of tire tracks and a handkerchief nearby. The officer then 
drove the prosecutrix to Charlotte Memorial Hospital where 
she was examined by Dr. James 0. Johnson about 9:30 that 
night. Dr. Johnson testified that the prosecutrix was visibly 
upset, though not hysterical; that his examination of her vagina 
revealed the presence of non-moving or dead male sperm, and 
that in his opinion the prosecutrix had engaged in sexual inter- 
course within the previous twenty-four hours. 

The prosecutrix gave Officer Jolley a description of her 
assailant and the car he drove. Defendant was arrested on 17 
June 1971 by Officer D. T. Jones. When arrested defendant 
was driving a Plymouth Fury which matched the description 
given by the prosecutrix in color and design. On the steering 
column of the car was the automobile registration with defend- 
ant's name "Willie Harris" printed on it, and a small air 
freshener in the shape of a pine tree was hanging from the 
dashboard. 

The evidence for the defendant tended to establish an  
alibi. Defendant testified that on the day and at the time of 
the alleged offenses, he was working in his sister's store and 
that he did not know the prosecutrix, nor did he rape or rob 
her. Defendant further testified that earlier that same day 
he had been to see a doctor a t  the Nalle Clinic and had been 
treated for an injury to his instep caused by slamming a car 
door on his foot, and that blecause of swelling the doctor had 
wrapped it. 
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Pauline Pharr, sister of the defendant, corroborated his 
testimony that on the date in question the defendant arrived 
a t  her grocery store about 2 p.m. and stayed until 7 p.m. She 
further testified that defendant's foot was bandaged, and that 
he was limping, though not in pain. 

Carolyn Jordan, the supervisor of the record room a t  the 
, Nalle Clinic, testified that the records of the Clinic showed 
that on 11 June 1971 a patient named Willie Jackson Harris 
was treated for a foot injury. The patient had the same date of 
birth and gave the same address as the defendant. 

A t t o r n e y  General Robert  M w g a n  and Assis tant  A t torney  
General Millard R. Rich,  Jr., f o r  t h e  State .  

Plumides  & Plumides b y  J o h n  G. Plumides  f o r  defendaat  
appellant. 

MOORE, Justice. 

[I] Defendant first assigns as error the refusal of the trial 
court to quash the bill of indictment for the reason that the 
grand jury panel and the trial jury panel excluded persons be- 
tween the ages of eighteen and twenty-one. Defendant did not 
offer any evidence to show a systematic exclusion from the 
jury panel of persons falling within this age group. From the 
record we do not know that they were excluded. Sta te  v. Brivzc 
son, 277 N.C. 286, 177 S.E. 2d 398 (1970) ; Sta te  v. Spencer,  
276 N.C. 535, 173 S.E. 2d 765 (1970). Assuming however that 
they were excluded, prior to 21 July 1971, G.S. 9-3 provided 
that only those persons twenty-one years of age or over were 
qualified to serve as jurors. G.S. 9-3 was amended by the 1971 
General Assembly changing the age from twenty-one years of 
age or over to eighteen years of age or over, effective 21 July 
1971. At the time the jury list in question was prepared, the 
jury commissioners were precluded by the provisions of G.S. 
9-3 from placing the names of any person under twenty-one 
years of age on the jury list. G.S. 9-2 required that the jury 
commissioners "at least 30 days" prior to 1 January 1972 begin 
preparation of a new jury list for the ensuing biennium. 

The bill of indictment in this case was returned on 7 Sep- 
tember 1971. Thus, if there was any discrimination against the 
age group under twenty-one, it must have resulted from the 
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failure of the jury commissioners to place names representing 
such group on the jury list during the period from 21 July 1971 
to 7 September 1971. 

In State v. Cornell, 281 N.C. 20, 187 S.E. 2d 768 (1972), 
Justice Branch, with reference to a similar motion to quash 
a bill of indictment returned by the grand jury in Forsyth 
County on 21 September 1971, stated : 

"We know of no reasonable method by which the 
Forsyth County Jury Commission could have obtained a 
fair cross-section of the age group in question within a 
period of two months and one day. None of the names of 
this age group appeared on the voter registration records; 
very few of such names appeared on the tax lists; a large 
number of this group would have been in school, and 
many of them, being still dependent upon their parents, 
would not have established an independent address. 

"The absence from the jury list of the names of per- 
sons between the ages of eighteen and twenty-one for the 
short period of time here complained of [21 July 1971 to 
21 September 19711 is not unreasonable, and does not con- 
stitute systematic and arbitrary exclusion of this age group 
from jury service.'' 

In the present case an even shorter period of time inter- 
vened between 21 July 1971 and the date of the indictments. 
For the reasons stated by Justice Branch in Cornell, this assign- 
ment is overruled. 

Defendant next assigns as error the denial of his motion 
for judgment as of nonsuit on the armed robbery charge. De- 
fendant contends that there was no evidence to indicate that 
a gun was present or used during the time the alleged armed 
robbery occurred. The record does not sustain this contention. 
The prosecutrix testified : 

"At the time the defendant, Willie Harris, was taking 
my money from my pocketbook, the gun that I have been 
describing was sitting on top of the car, he had i t  up on 
the top of the roof. We were standing on the outside. The 
gun was on the roof of the car. I was standing right there. 
I was standing right there a t  him in relation to the defend- 
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ant, Willie Harris. I did not a t  any time reach for the 
gun. I have not ever recovered the money that Mr. Harris 
took." 

G.S. 14-87 states: 

"Robbery with firearms or other dangerous weapons.- 
Any person or persons who, having in possession or with 
the use or threatened use of any firearms or other danger- 
ous weapon, implement or means, whereby the life of a per- 
son is endangered or threatened, unlawfully takes or at- 
tempts to take personal property from another or from 
any place of business, residence or banking institution or 
any other place where there is a person or persons in at- 
tendance, at  any time, either day or night, or who aids or 
abets any such person or persons in the commission of 
such crime, shall be guilty of a felony and upon conviction 
thereof shall be punished by imprisonment for not less 
than five nor more than thirty years." 

[2] In the instant case, defendant threatened the prosecutrix 
with his pistol when he ordered her to get into his car and when 
he forced her to have intercourse with him. The prosecutrix 
testified that a t  all times she was in fear for her life and that 
although defendant placed his pistol on top of the car while 
he took her money, the weapon was easily within defendant's 
reach. The gist of the offense of robbery with firearms is 
the accomplishment of the robbery by the use or threatened 
use of firearms or other dangerous weapons whereby the life 
of a person is endangered or threatened. State v. Swamy, 277 
N.C. 602, 178 S.E. 2d 399 (1971) ; State v. Rogers, 273 N.C. 
208, 159 S.E. 2d 525 (1968) ; State v. Williams, 265 N.C. 446, 
144 S.E. 2d 267 (1965). The evidence that defendant had a pis- 
tol within easy reach, that he had threatened the prosecutrix 
with it, and that she was in fear for her life when he took 
her money, was sufficient to go to the jury on the robbery with 
firearms charge. This assignment is overruled. 

Defendant next contends that the trial court erred when 
i t  charged the jury on the issue of armed robbery. This assign- 
ment does not challenge the content of the charge; rather de- 
fendant contends that there was not sufficient evidence to 
submit to the jury the issue of armed robbery and that to 
charge on this offense was error. For the reasons stated above, 
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the trial court was correct in submitting the issue of armed 
robbery to the jury and in charging the jury on this issue. 
G.S. 1A-1, Rule 51. 

Finally, the defendant contends that the trial court erred 
in overruling his objections to the following questions: 

"Q. That would be it. What else at  this time, Mr. 
Harris, are you presently under indictment for? 

"MR. BELL : Objection. 

"COURT : Overruled, exception. 

"I'd rather not say. 

"Q. Answer the question. 

"A. Do I have to answer? 

"COURT : Yes. 

"I have been indicted for rape. I have been indicted 
for rape in another case. 

"Q. And that was alleged to have occurred on June 16, 
1971, wasn't i t ?  

"MR. BELL : Objection. 

"COURT : Overruled, exception. 

"I wouldn't know the exact date that the bill of indict- 
ment that charges me with rape is. 

"Q. If I hand you the warrant in the case that was 
served on you, would i t  refresh your recollection? 

"MR. BELL : Objection. 

"COURT : Overruled, exception. 

"That is what they have me charged for. 

"Q. And you were indicted in that matter for the 
rape on June 16, 1971, on the body of one Ramona Lisa 
Spencer, is that not correct? 

"MR. BELL : Objection. 

"COURT : Overruled, exception. 
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"I was indicted for the rape on June 16, 1971, on the 
body of Ramona Lisa Spencer. 

"Q. That lady seated out there in the audience today 
in the red coat in the first row, is that not correct? 

"MR. BELL : Objection. 

"COURT : Overruled, exception. 

"Q. Do you deny raping the woman in the red coat 
who just stood up in the first row on June 16, 1971? 

"A. Yes, I (sic) have. 

The recent case of State v. Williams, 279 N.C. 663, 185 
S.E. 2d 174 (1971), reversed the long-standing rule as set 
forth in State v. Maslin, 195 N.C. 537, 143 S.E. 3 (1928), 
which, for the purpose of impeachment, permitted a defendant 
testifying as a witness in his own defense to be questioned 
concerning other indictments against him. In Williams, Chief 
Justice Bobbitt, speaking for the Court, stated: 

"We now hold that, for purposes o f  impeachment, a 
witness, including the defendant in a criminal case, may 
not be cross-examined as to whether he has been indicted 
or is under indictment for a criminal offense other than 
that for which he is then on trial. In respect of this point, 
we overrule State v. Maslin, supra [I95 N.C. 537, 143 
S.E. 3 (1928)], and decisions in accord with Maslin, 
on the basic ground that an indictment cannot rightly be 
considered as more than an unproved accusation." 

Defendant in this case was tried before the decision in 
Williams. Defendant contends, however, that the rule adopted 
in Williams should be applied retroactively and that defendant 
should be granted a new trial for the error committed by the 
trial court in overruling his objections to questions concerning 
other indictments. We disagree. The change in the law that 
resulted from the Williams case was a change in a rule of evi- 
dence and affected no contractual or vested right of defendant. 
Spencer v. Motor Co., 236 N.C. 239, 72 S.E. 2d 598 (1952). The 
Court merely altered a rule of evidence which i t  had adopted 
some forty-four years ago in State v. Maslin, supra. The Court 
can apply this new rule of evidence prospectively or retro- 
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actively as it sees fit. See Rabon v. Hospital, 269 N.C. 1, 152 
S.E. 2d 485 (1967) ; Mason v. Cotton Co., 148 N.C. 492, 62 
S.E. 625 (1908) ; State v. Bell, 136 N.C. 674, 49 S.E. 163 
(1904). 

The United States Supreme Court, in dealing with recent 
developments in constitutional law, has been called on frequently 
to decide whether or not a new case will be given retroactive 
effect. See, e.g., Adams v. Illifio-is, 405 U.S. 278, 31 L.Ed. 2d 
202, 92 S.Ct 916 (1972) ; Williams v. United States, 401 U.S. 
646, 28 L.Ed. 2d 388, 91 S.Ct. 1148 (1971) ; Stovall v. Denno, 
388 U.S. 293, 18 L.Ed. 2d 1199, 87 S.Ct. 1967 (1967) ; Johnson 
v. New Jersey, 384 U.S. 719, 16 L.Ed. 2d 882, 86 S.Ct. 1772 
(1966) ; Linklette~ v. Walker, 381 U.S. 618, 14 L.Ed. 2d 601, 
85 S.Ct. 1731 (1965). 

In Linkletter v. Walker, supra, the supreme Court stated: 
'6 . . . (W)e believe that the Constitution neither prohibits nor 
requires retrospective effect." In determining when to grant 
retroactive effect to new standards in these recent cases, the 
Supreme Court has used three basic criteria: " . . . (a) the 
purpose to be served by the new standards, (b) the extent of 
the reliance by law enforcement authorities on the old stand- 
ards, and ( c )  the effect on the administration of justice of a 
retroactive application of the new standards." Stovall v. Denno, 
supra. In Stovall, the Supreme Court refused to accord retro- 
active effect to United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 18 L.Ed. 
2d 1149, 87 S.Ct. 1926 (1967) and Gilbert v. California, 388 
U.S. 263, 18 L.Ed. 2d 1178, 87 S.Ct. 1951 (1967). Those cases 
required the exclusion of identification evidence that had been 
tainted by exhibiting the accused to identifying witnesses before 
trial. The Court, per Mr. Justice Brennan, stated: 

" . . . We have also retroactively applied rules of crimi- 
nal procedure fashioned to correct serious flaws in the fact- 
finding process a t  trial. See for example Jackson v. Denno, 
378 U.S. 368. Although the Wade and Gilbert rules also are 
aimed a t  avoiding unfairness at  the trial by enhancing the 
reliability of the fact-finding process in the area of iden- 
tification evidence, 'the question whether a constitutional 
rule of criminal procedure does or does not enhance the 
reliability of the fact-finding process a t  trial is necessarily 
a matter of degree.' Johnson v. New Jersey, supra [384 
U.S.], a t  728-729. The extent to which a condemned prac- 
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tice infects the integrity of the truth-determining process 
a t  trial is a 'question of probabilities.' 384 U.S., a t  729. 
Such probabilities must in turn be weighed against the 
prior justified reliance upon the old standard and the im- 
pact of retroactivity upon the administration of justice." 

[3] Applying this language to the instant case, since State v. 
Maslin, supra, i t  has been an approved practice to cross-examine 
defendants as to prior or pending indictments, and no doubt 
such questions have been allowed in many trials which have 
resulted in guilty verdicts. To give Williams retroactive effect 
could easily disrupt the orderly administration of our criminal 
law. Doubt would be cast upon verdicts of guilty returned in 
those cases where such questions were asked and answered over 
objection. Prisoners convicted in such trials could seek release 
or new trials in post-conviction proceedings. See Johnson v. 
New Jersey, 384 U.S. a t  731, 16 L.Ed. 2d a t  891, 86 S.Ct. a t  
1780 (1966). Accordingly, we hold that the rule announced in 
Williams applies only to those trials begun after 15 December 
1971, the date of the filing of the opinion in that case. Johnson 
v. New Jersey, SU~TCL. It should also be noted that in the present 
case the defendant's attorney, in cross-examining the arresting 
officer D. T. Jones, brought out the fact, without objection, 
that the officer had two warrants which he served on the 
defendant charging him with two separate crimes of rape and 
that Officer Jones had talked with defendant about the other 
rape charge. Had there been error in allowing the questions 
concerning the indictment in the other rape case, such error 
would not have been prejudicial. State v. Wright, 270 N.C. 158, 
153 S.E. 2d 883 (1967) ; Stansbury, N. C. Evidence 8 30 (2d 
Ed. 1963) ; 3 Strong, N. C. Index 2d, Criminal Law 5 169. 

Defendant having failed to show prejudicial error, the 
verdicts and judgments will not be disturbed. 

No error. 
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IN THE MATTER OF JOHN B. DICKINSON, JR., SURF SONG 
COTTAGE, ROUTE 1, MOREHEAD CITY, NORTH CAROLINA, 
ASSESSMENT OF ADDITIONAL INCOME TAXES FOR THE 
YEAR 1967 

No. 73 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Taxation § 28- income tax - multistate partnership - resident part- 
ner - income earned in other states 

A resident partner of a partnership which has one or more non- 
resident partners and which operates in North Carolina and also 
in one or more other states is required to include in his gross income, 
for North Carolina income tax purposes, his distributive share of the 
net income of the partnership earned in states other than North 
Carolina; however, the resident partner is allowed a credit against 
his North Carolina tax for the amount of the tax paid to another 
state on the same income. 

2. Taxation 9 28- partnership income derived from other states -resi- 
dent partner - income taxation 

The proviso of G.S. 105-142(c) does not exempt from North 
Carolina income taxation a resident partner's share of the net income 
of the partnership which is derived from sources other than North 
Carolina, the sole purpose of the proviso being to provide a method 
for determining the portion of the net income attributable to North 
Carolina of a multistate partnership with nonresident members. 

Justice LAKE did not participate in the consideration or decision 
of this case. 

APPEAL by John B. Dickinson, Jr., from Clark, J., May 31, 
1971 Civil Session of WAKE Superior Court, certified, pursuant 
to G.S. 7A-31, for initial appellate review by the Supreme Court, 
docketed and argued as No. 118 a t  Fall Term 1971. 

This is an appeal by John B. Dickinson, Jr., hereafter 
called taxpayer, from a judgment entered June 17, 1971, which 
affirmed "Administrative Decision No. 112 of the Tax Review 
Board entered January 26, 1970." The Tax Review Board had 
affirmed the "Final Decision of Commissioner of Revenue" 
entered October 1, 1968. This decision by the Commissioner 
was made after a hearing on taxpayer's protest of the proposed 
additional assessment of North Carolina Income Tax for the 
taxable year 1967. 

Taxpayer is and was during the year 1967 a resident of 
North Carolina. During the income year 1967, he was a partner 
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in the firm of A. M. Pullen and Company, Certified Public 
Accountants, and engaged in practice as a certified public 
accountant. At  the time here involved, the firm of A. M. Pullen 
and Company had offices in the District of Columbia and in the 
states of New York, Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, 
Tennessee and Georgia. 

Taxpayer timely filed an income tax return for 1967 which 
showed he was due a refund of $302.98. The gross income re- 
ported therein as being taxable by North Carolina did not in- 
clude taxpayer's share of the partnership net income from 
A. M. Pullen and Company earned in the District of Columbia 
and states other than North Carolina. As a result of a pre- 
refund audit an adjustment was made in taxpayer's return to 
include in the gross income reported to North Carolina tax- 
payer's share of the net partnership income of A. M. Pullen and 
Company earned in the District of Columbia and in states other 
than North Carolina. On the basis of this adjustment, an assess- 
ment of additional income tax of $985.20 plus interest for the 
taxable year 1967 was made against taxpayer by the Individual 
Income Tax Division of the North Carolina Department of 
Revenue. 

Taxpayer excepted to and appealed from Judge Clark's 
judgment. In a separate order, Judge Clark stayed the decision 
of the Tax Review Board "pending the outcome of the appeal 
to the Court of Appeals of North Carolina." On September 7, 
1971, a t  the request of taxpayer and of Commissioner, this 
Court granted certiorarui for appellate review by the Supreme 
Court without prior determination by the Court of Appeals. 

McLendon, Brim, Brooks, Pierce & Daniels, by Claude C. 
Pierce, Charles B. Robson, Jr., and E. Norman Graham, for 
petitioner appellant. 

Attorney General Morgan and Assistant Attorney General 
Lake for Commissioner of Revenue, appellee. 

BOBBITT, Chief Justice. 

[I] The question for decision is whether a resident partner of 
a partnership, which has one or more nonresident partners 
and which operates in North Carolina and also in one or more 
other states, is required to include in his gross income, for 
North Carolina income tax purposes, his distributive share of 
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the net income of that partnership earned in states other than 
North Carolina. 

The statutory provisions quoted below are applicable to 
the income tax year beginning January 1, 1967. Chapter 1110, 
$3 3 and 18, Session Laws of 1967, hereafter referred to as 
the 1967 Act. They are included in the "Individual Income Tax 
Act" (G.S. 105-133), which is Division I1 (Individual Income 
Tax) of Schedule D (Income Tax) of G.S. Chapter 105 (Re- 
placement 1972). 

G.S. 105-136 imposes a tax "upon every resident of this 
State which shall be levied, collected, and paid annually, with 
respect to the net income of the taxpayer as herein defined, and 
upon the net income derived from North Carolina sources of 
every nonresident individual which is attributable to the owner- 
ship of any interest in real or tangible personal property in this 
State or which is from a business, trade, profession, or occupa- 
tion carried on in this State, . . . . 2 9  

G.S. 105-140 provides that " [t] he words 'net income' mean 
the gross income of a taxpayer, less the deductions allowed by 
this Division." 

G.S. 105-141 (a) provides in pertinent part that " 'gross in- 
come' for purposes of this Division shall mean all income in what- 
ever form and from whatever sou9"ce derived, including (but 
not limited to) the following items: . . . (13) Distributive share 
of partnership income subject to the provisions of G.S. 105- 
142(c) ; . . . . " (Our italics.) 

Until rewritten by the 1967 Act, G.S. 105-141 (a) ,  which 
defined "gross income," contained no specific reference to a 
distributive share of partnership income. (G.S. Vol. 2D, Re- 
placement 1965.) 

G.S. 105-136 imposes a tax on all of a resident's net income. 
It imposes a tax only on that portion of the net income of a 
nonresident which is derived from North Carolina sources. 

In fact, taxpayer's gross income included all of his share 
of the net partnership income of A. M. Pullen and Company, 
whether earned in North Carolina or elsewhere. His entire 
share, whether derived from North Carolina or other sources, 
was included in "gross income" as  defined in G.S. 105-141(a) 
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unless some statutory provision exempted the portion derived 
from sources other than North Carolina. 

G.S. 105-151(a) provides, subject to the conditions set 
forth therein, that "[i]ndividuals who are residents of this 
State shall be allowed a credit against the taxes imposed by 
this division for income taxes imposed by and paid to another 
state or country on income taxed under this division, . . . . 19 

"[Alnother state or country" could lawfully impose an income 
tax only on that portion of the income of a resident of North Car- 
olina derived from sources in that "state or country." G.S. 105- 
151(a) implies that such income is to be taxed by North 
Carolina, but allows a credit on the North Carolina income tax 
for payments, if any, to "another state or country.'' 

Taxpayer does not seek a credit on his North Carolina in- 
come tax under G.S. 105-151(a). He contends that the portion 
of his share of the net income of the partnership which is 
derived from sources other than North Carolina is exempt 
from North Carolina income tax. 

"Taxation is the rule; exemption the exception." Odd FeF 
lows v. Swain, 217 N.C. 632, 637, 9 S.E. 2d 365, 368 (1940). 
" [S] tatutes providing exemption from taxation are strictly con- 
strued." Sale v. Johnson, Commissioner of Revenue, 258 N.C. 
749, 755, 129 S.E. 2d 465, 469 (1963), citing prior decisions. 

Since taxpayer relies largely upon G.S. 105-142 (c), particu- 
larly the proviso, we quote the provisions thereof in full with 
our capitalization (for convenient reference) of the first words 
in each of the first three sentences and of the word "Provided" 
following the third sentence. 

G.S. 105-142 ( c )  provides : "AN INDIVIDUAL carrying on 
the business in partnership shall be liable for income tax only 
in his individual capacity, and shall include in his gross income, 
whether distributed or not, his distributive share of the net 
income of the partnership and dividends from foreign corpora- 
tions for each income year. IF AN ESTABLISHED BUSINESS in 
this State is owned by a nonresident individual or by a partner- 
ship having one or more nonresident members, the manager of 
the business in this State shall report the earnings of such ' 

business in this State, and the distributive share of the income 
of each nonresident owner or partner and pay the tax as levied 
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on individuals in this division for  each such nonresident owner 
or  partner. THE INDIVIDUAL OR PARTNERSHIP business carried 
on in this State may deduct the payment required to be made 
for such nonresident individual or partner or partners from 
their distributive share of the profits of such business in this 
State : PROVIDED, that  if an established unincorporated business 
owned by a nonresident individual or a partnership having one 
or  more nonresident members is operating in  one or more 
other states the net income of the business attributable to  
North Carolina shall be determined by multiplying the total 
net income of the business by the ratio ascertained under the 
provisions of G.S. 105-130.4, and shall be entitled to the rights 
and privileges accorded corporations therein. Total net income 
shall be the entire gross income of the business less all expenses, 
taxes, interest and other deductions allowable under this division 
which were incurred in the operation of the business." 

The first  sentence of G.S. 105-142 (c) requires any partner 
to report "his distributive share of the net income of the part- 
nership." The next two sentences relate to partnerships with 
nonresident members. The second sentence requires the manager 
of a partnership with nonresident members to report i ts  North 
Carolina earnings and the share of each nonresident partner, 
and to pay the nonresidents' taxes thereon. The third sentence 
permits the partnership to deduct such payment from each 
nonresident's share of the partnership's North Carolina net 
income. The third sentence is followed by a proviso which is 
specifically applicable to a multistate partnership with non- 
resident members which has merations in North Carolina as  
well as in other states. According to  the proviso, "the net in- 
come of [such partnershin1 attributable to North Carolina 
shall be determined by mut;nlx~;nq the total net income of the 
business by the ratio ascerta:ned under the provisions of G.S. 
105-130.4, and shall be entitled to the rights and privileges 
accorded corporations therein." The proviso to  the third sen- 
tence prescribes the method for determining the portion of the 
net income attributable to North Carolina of a multistate part- 
nership with nonresident members. Since there is no controversy 
with reference to the portion of the net income of A. M. Pullen 
and Company for 1967 attributable to North Carolina, i t  i s  
unnecessary to discuss the provisions of G.S. 105-130.4. 

[2] We hold that  the proviso relates solely to  the second and 
third sentences of G.S. 105-142(c) and that  i ts  sole purpose is  
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to provide how the net income of such multistate partnership 
attributable to North Carolina is to be determined. When de- 
termined, this is the basis on which G.S. 105-136 levies an 
income tax on a nonresident partner, the amount thereof to be 
reported and paid as provided in the second and third sen- 
tences of G.S. 105-142 (c) . 

G.S. 105-147 (G.S. 143, Vol. 2, 1955 Cumulative Supple- 
ment) in part provided: "In computing net income there shall 
be allowed as deductions the following items: . . . (10) Income 
earned i11 another state, nation, territory or possession (here- 
inafter referred to as 'state') by resident individuals and do- 
mestic corporations to the extent hereinafter provided. . . . (b) 
Resident individuals having an established business or an invest- 
ment in real or tangible property in another state or other 
states may deduct the net income from such business or property 
but only to the extent that such income is in fact reported for 
taxation in such other state or states which levies or levy a 
net income tax . . . . " Based on the quoted portion of (b),  in 
1947 the Attorney General expressed this opinion : "[I] f [a resi- 
dent] taxpayer earns income through a partnership which has 
an established business in the State of Alabama and she reports 
that income to the State of Alabama for income taxation, she 
is entitled to the deduction provided for in Paragraph (b) of 
subsection 10 of Section 322 of the Revenue Act [G.S. 105- 
147 (10) (b) ] ." 29 Biennial Report of the Attorney General of 
the State of North Carolina 220 (1946-48). 

The former statute referred to above as G.S. 105- 
147 (10) (b) was repealed by Subsection (d),  Section 4, Chapter 
1340, of the Session Laws of 1957, p. 1343. The proviso of the 
statute now codified as G.S. 105-142 (c) was enacted by Subsec- 
tion (v), Section 4, Chapter 1340, of the Session Laws of 
1957, p. 1352. Taxpayer's contention that the proviso of G.S. 
105-142(c) was enacted in substitution for former G.S. 105- 
147(10) (b) is without substance. As stated above, the proviso 
of G.S. 105-142(c) relates solely to the method for determining 
the portion of the net income attributable to North Carolina of 
a multistate partnership with nonresident members. 

[I] Former G.S. 105-147(10) (b) allowed a resident taxpayer, 
when computing his net income, to deduct his net income earned 
in another state or states "but only to the extent that such 
income [was] in fact reported for taxation in such other state 
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or states which levies or levy a net income tax." Now, under 
G.S. 105-151 (a ) ,  instead of allowing such a deduction in com- 
puting taxable net income, the income tax of a resident is 
computed on the basis of his entire net income and he is allowed 
a credit against his North Carolina tax for the amount of the 
tax paid to another state or country on the same income. 

Taxpayer cites G.S. 105-149(b), which relates to personal 
exemptions. After full consideration, we find nothing therein 
which supports taxpayer's contention on this appeal. 

For the reasons stated, the judgment of the court below, 
which affirmed "Administrative Decision No. 112 of the Tax 
Review Board entered January 26, 1970," is affirmed. 

Affirmed. 

Justice LAKE did not participate in the consideration or 
decision of this case. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. LEWIS PIERSON WILLIS 

No. 48 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Constitutional Law 8 29; Jury 8 6- prospective jurors-solicitor's 
questions -death penalty 

In  a prosecution for first degree murder, questions which the 
solicitor asked prospective jurors on voir dire were proper for  the 
purpose of determining whether such jurors could, under any cir- 
cumstances, vote for a verdict which would require imposition of the 
death penalty. 

2. Homicide 8 20- photograph of body - identification 
In  this homicide prosecution, the trial court properly allowed 

the victim's sister to identify the victim by use of a duly authenticated 
photograph of the victim's body. 

3. Criminal Law 9 61- casts of tire tracks - competency 
Evidence relating to casts made of automobile tracks a t  the 

place where a homicide victim's body was found was competent to iden- 
tify the tracks as having been made by an automobile owned by defend- 
ant's accomplice and to  corroborate the accomplice's testimony that 
he and defendant had transported the body to the place where it 
was found; discrepancies as  to the dates on which the comparisons 
were made had bearing on the weight and not the competency of 
the evidence. 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 559 

State v. Willis 

4. Criminal Law 8 87- leading questions -discretion of court 
The allowance of leading questions rests in the sound discretion of 

the presiding judge and will not be reviewed on appeal absent a 
showing of prejudice. 

APPEAL by defendant from Rowe, J., September 13, 1971 
Session, CARTERET Superior Court. 

In  this criminal prosecution, Lewis Pierson Willis was 
charged by bill of indictment with the capital offense of murder 
in the first degree in the killing of Eugene Thomas Givens. 
According to the bill of indictment, proper in form, the offense 
occurred in Carteret County on April 10,1971. 

At the formal arraignment the defendant, through court- 
appointed counsel, entered a plea of not guilty. The court direct- 
ed that the jury selection be conducted in the manner approved 
by this Court in State v. McNeil, 277 N.C. 162, 176 S.E. 2d 
732. After twelve veniremen were called, seated, and sworn 
to speak the truth concerning their fitness and competency to 
serve on the jury, the solicitor addressed his inquires to each 
juror and his replacement. The record does not indicate which 
side excused which juror. The record does disclose the defend- 
ant objected to the solicitor's examinations of all who were 
called and examined. Altogether 178 veniremen were so exam- 
ined. It is obvious the solicitor by his questions sought to obtain 
a jury which was not opposed to capital punishment. 

The State's evidence is here given in short summary. On 
and prior to April 10, 1971, Joseph Dennis Merrill operated 
The Village Shoppe in Ho Ho Village near Morehead City in Car- 
teret County. Marine Sergeant Eugene Thomas Givens and his 
wife lived in a house trailer across the road from the Merrill 
store. Merrill conceived a plan to  "eliminate" Givens. He contact- 
ed his friend Stroud who made arrangements with the defendant, 
Lewis Pierson Willis, to do the eliminating. The defendant agreed 
to kill Givens for $5,000.00 in cash. Merrill borrowed the 
$5,000.00 from the bank and delivered it to Stroud who notified 
the defendant the money was ready. The defendant accepted 
$200.00 from Stroud as a down payment and apparently called 
his friend, John Braxton Richardson from Norfolk, Virginia, to 
assist in executing the plan. Richardson came from Norfolk di- 
rectly to the Willis home, arriving April 9th. Willis identified 
Givens as the person to be killed. 
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On the night of April 10, 1971, Mewill invited Givens to 
visit the rear room of the store after closing time for the pur- 
pose of joining him in a drink. Merrill had alerted the defend- 
ant, advising him that the rear door would be unlocked and 
that he (Merrill) would leave the store by way of the front 
door. Soon after 10 o'clock, Mewill left the store by way of 
the front door, tipping off the defendant and Richardson that 
Givens was inside. Willis and Richardson were parked near 
the store in Richardson's automobile. The defendant entered 
the store from the rear and in a few minutes returned, saying 
he had shot Givens four or five times in the head. 

The defendant and Richardson placed the body on the 
automobile which Richardson drove to a dirt road (Merrill's 
Boulevard) where they dumped i t  on the side of the road. This 
occurred just before 11 o'clock. After the body was removed, 
Merrill returned to the room and attempted to remove the 
blood stains by scrubbing. Richardson attempted to remove the 
blood stains from the automobile by washing. Neither was en- 
tirely successful because human blood stains were disclosed 
both on the floor of the room and on the rear of the automobile. 

As Marine Lieutenant Michael Green and another officer 
were returning to their base from Morehead City shortly after 
11:30 p.m., they observed the body on the side of the road. 
Green left his companion, Lieutentant Fredburg, at  the body 
and went to Merrill's store nearby to call officers. A light in 
the back room of the store was on, but no one answered his 
knock. From a telephone booth outside, Lieutenant Green called 
the rescue squad, the Marine Corps, and county officials. One 
of the officers removed Givens' identification card from the 
dead body. 

The officers made plaster casts of the automobile tire 
tracks near the body. The autopsy disclosed Givens had died 
as a result of four bullet wounds in the head. The recovered bul- 
lets disclosed they were of thirty-eight caliber. 

After the defendant and Richardson left the body, they 
threw the pistol into the water from a causeway. Richardson 
returned to Norfolk after receiving $500.00 for his part in the 
killing. Most of this was recovered when he was arrested on 
April 11th. $4,800.00 of the money paid to Stroud for Willis 
was also recovered by the officers. Merrill admitted he bor- 
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rowed $5,000.00 from the bank in Morehead City and gave i t  
to Stroud to be used in the payoff. The evidence indicated 
Merrill had an affair with Givens' wife. Merrill, however, 
claimed his differences related to business matters. 

The incriminating evidence came from the witnesses, Virgil 
Stroud, John Braxton Richardson, and Joseph Dennis Merrill, 
all of whom were under indictment and awaiting trial for 
participating in the killing. The defendant did not testify and 
did not offer evidence in his defense. 

The jury returned a verdict finding the defendant guilty 
of murder in the first degree and as a part of the verdict, rec- 
ommended the punishment be imprisonment for life in the 
State's prison. From the judgment accordingly, the defendant 
appealed assigning errors. 

Robert Morgan, At torney General, by  Christine A. Witcover, 
Associate Attorney,  and James F. Bzdlock, Deputy Attorney 
General, for  the  State. 

Wheat ly  & Mason by C. R. Wheatly ,  Jr., for  defendant 
appellant. 

HIGGINS, Justice. 

The State's evidence in this case shows a planned gangster 
type murder in which three of the four involved testified for 
the State against the fourth who did the actual killing. The alert 
trial lawyer, who represented the defendant a t  the trial and 
argued the case here, entered 264 exceptions. However, the only 
assignments of error discussed in the brief here are quoted in 
full : 

"1. Did the Court commit error in permitting the 
solicitor to question the jury on his voir dire examination? 

a)  To such an extent that he created the impression 
that the sole issue for the jury was punishment rather 
than guilt or innocence ? 
b) By describing a case to be considered as being 
'bad', 'horrible' ? 
"2. Did the Court commit error on the evidentiary. 

rulings in : 

a)  Permitting testimony as to the identity of an auto- 
mobile tire track without proper connecting evidence? 
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b) Permitting the solicitor to elicit testimony by the 
constant use of leading questions? 

c) The use of a photograph and other evidence which 
served no evidentiary purpose and was used solely to 
inflame the passions of the jury against the defend- 
ant ?" 

The statement in the brief as to the questions involved may 
be treated as the abandonment of all others. "Exceptions in the 
record not set out in appellant's brief, or in support of which 
no reason or argument is stated or authority cited, will be taken 
as abandoned by him." Rule 28, Rules of Practice in the Supreme 
Court, 254 N.C. 783, page 810. State v. Clayton, 251 N.C. 261, 
111 S.E. 2d 299. 

[I] After the arraignment, the court announced the jury selec- 
tion would proceed in the manner approved in the case of 
State v, McNeil, supra; State v. Perry, 277 N.C. 174, 176 S.E. 
2d 729. However, the solicitor addressed his questions to each 
juror individually. The following is typical : 

"Q  . . . I'll ask you if you should be chosen to sit on 
the jury in a murder case-not this case, but a homicide 
case-I ask you if you could listen to the evidence that 
comes from the mouths of the witnesses on the witness 
stand, and the Judge's charge, and then retire to the jury 
room and the twelve jurors should consider the evidence 
and find from the evidence and beyond a reasonable doubt 
that the defendant is guilty, I'll ask you, sir, if then you 
could consider voting to bring in a verdict that would 
require the Judge to sentence the defendant to the death 
penalty? 

Objection - Overruled. 

"A No, sir. 

"Q . . . I'll ask you: Can you imagine a case in which 
the circumstances are so bad, not this case, and the jury, 
after having heard the evidence, goes into the jury room 
and then they find from the evidence and beyond a reason- 
able doubt that the defendant is guilty, I'll ask you could 
you then consider voting to bring in a verdict that would 
require the Judge to sentence the defendant to the gas 
chamber ?" 
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The solicitor's usual questions ended with that which pre- 
ceded the answer, "No, sir." However, in a few instances the 
second question (in substance) was added. The solicitor's exami- 
nation of the jurors covers ninety-six pages of the record. All 
questions by defense counsel are omitted. Except in a few in- 
stances, the jurors' answers to the questions are also omitted. 
The solicitor's questions indicate his purpose was to find a 
jury which was not opposed to capital punishment. Nothing 
objectionable on the question of guilt or innocence is alleged or 
discovered. Notwithstanding the solicitor's effort to obtain a 
jury which would vote for capital punishment, the jury by 
unanimous agreement fixed the punishment a t  life imprison- 
ment. 

The defendant does not assign as error the selection of any 
particular juror. The parties stipulated the State exhausted its 
eight peremptory challenges. The defendant exhausted only 
thirteen of its fourteen peremptories. The solicitor's questions 
were intended to determine whether the prospective jurors were 
qualified in the light of the rules discussed in Witherspoon v. 
Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 20 L.Ed. 2d 776 ; State v. Doss, 279 N.C. 
413, 183 S.E. 2d 671; State v. Atkinson, 275 N.C. 288, 167 S.E. 
2d 241; State v. Spence, 274 N.C. 536, 164 S.E. 2d 593. 

12, 31 We have reviewed the evidence which the court ad- 
mitted over objection. The review fails to disclose prejudicial 
error. The defendant's plea of not guilty required the State to 
prove all material elements of the offense charged, including 
the identity of the victim. The identification card found on 
the body was the first step in the identification procedure. The 
sister of the victim, by the use of a duly authenticated photo- 
graph of the body, completed the identification. State v. Doss, 
supra; State v. Cutshall, 278 N.C. 334, 180 S.E. 2d 745; State 
v. Atkinson, supra; State v. Porth, 269 N.C. 329, 153 S.E. 2d 
10. The use of casts made of automobile tracks a t  the place in 
the highway where the body was found was competent to iden- 
tify the tracks as having been made by Richardson's automobile. 
State v. Westbrook, 279 N.C. 18, 181 S.E. 2d 572; State v. 
Palmer, 230 N.C. 205, 52 S.E. 2d 908. The discrepancies as  
to the dates on which the comparisons were made had bearing 
on the weight and not on the competency of the evidence. Ac- 
tually, the State's witness Richardson testified without equivoca- 
tion that he and the defendant transported the body from the 
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store to Merrill's Boulevard. The tire tracks a t  the scene cor- 
roborated Richardson's testimony. 

[4] The claim of error based on the solicitor's leading ques- 
tions is not well founded. The few leading questions which the 
court permitted were intended as time saving or as an indication 
whether further inquiry should be pursued. Leading questions, 
especially in a long trial, may be time saving and the judge 
should be trusted to sustain objection if the question and answer 
appear in any wise prejudicial. Leading questions may be left 
to the sound discretion of the presiding judge and are not re- 
viewable absent a showing of prejudice. State v. Doss, supya; 
State v. Clanton, 278 N.C. 502, 180 S.E. 2d 5 ;  State v. Johnson, 
272 N.C. 239, 158 S.E. 2d 95; State v. Pearson, 258 N.C. 188, 
128 S.E. 2d 251. 

The evidence of guilt was overwhelming. The direct evi- 
dence was buttressed all along the line by proof of strongly 
corroborating circumstances. 

This Court has reviewed all assignments of error which 
counsel has discussed in the brief and in the argument. Nothing 
appears which could have influenced the jury to the prejudice 
of the defendant. Hence, in the trial, verdict, and judgment, 
we find 

No error. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. ELDON BOBBY LEWIS 

No. 39 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Larceny 5 5- possession of recently stolen property 
To give rise to the presumption that  one found in the unexplained 

possession of recently stolen property is the thief, it  is not necessary 
that  the stolen property be found actually in the hands of or on the 
person of the accused, i t  being sufficient if i t  was found in a container 
or  place of deposit under his exclusive personal control. 

2. Burglary and Unlawful Breakings 3 5; Larceny 3 5- possession of 
recently stolen property - breaking and entering - presumptions 

When it is established that a store or warehouse has been broken 
into and entered and that  merchandise has been stolen therefrom, the 
discovery of the stolen articles in the possession of defendant soon 
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after the theft raises a presumption that  he is  guilty both of the 
breaking and entering and of the larceny. 

3. Larceny 57- possession of recently stolen property -tools in car 
trunk 

The evidence was sufficient to support a finding that  stolen tools 
found in a tool box in the trunk of a car in which defendant was 
sitting in the back seat were in the possession of defendant, where a 
police officer testified that  the car was defendant's car, defendant's 
wife testified on cross-examination that defendant kept his tool box 
in the trunk of the car and that  he was the individual who "had 
the key for the car," an officer testified that  the defendant gave 
permission for the opening of the trunk of the car and actually 
opened it, and defendant's wife testified that  the driver was de:'end- 
ant's friend. 

4. Trial § 15- waiver of objection 
An objection to evidence not taken in apt time is waived. 

5. Criminal Law 3 169- erroneous admission of evidence - admission of 
similar testimony without objection 

Admission of testimony by a police officer that  a representative 
of a builders supply company came to the city in which defendant 
was arrested and identified tools found in the trunk of defendant's 
car, and that  the tools were thereupon delivered to the sheriff of 
the county in which the builders supply company was located, if 
error, was rendered harmless when the tools in question were there- 
after identified by an employee of the builders supply company as  
having come from its stock of merchandise. 

6. Criminal Law 3 60- footprints - non-expert testimony - harmless 
error - expert testimony 

The trial court did not err in permitting a non-expert witness, 
a policeman, to testify that  he compared defendant's shoes with a 
shoe print on a ledger found near a rifled safe and that "it was the 
shoes I was looking for to the best of my knowledge;" even if the 
admission of such testimony constituted error, i t  would be harmless 
in view of the competent opinion testimony of an expert in the 
identification of footprints that  defendant's left shoe made tbe print 
on the ledger. 

APPEAL by defendant from Bailey, J., a t  the 4 Octoker 1971 
Criminal Session of CUMBERLAND. 

By indictment, proper in form, the defendant was charged 
with felonious breaking and entering, felonious larceny after 
breaking and entering, and safecracking. R e  was found guilty 
of each of the  offenses so charged and was sentenced to im- 
prisonment for  10 years upon each of the f irst  two c'larges, 
these sentences t o  run consecutively, and to imprisonment for  
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life upon the charge of safecracking, this sentence to run con- 
currently with the other two. 

The evidence on behalf of the State was to the following 
effect : 

The place of business of Builders Wholesale Supply of 
Fayetteville, Inc., was closed and its employees left a t  noon on 
Saturday, 30 January 1971. At that time a ledger of the com- 
pany was put in its safe in the office and the safe was locked. 

At approximately 11 a.m. on Sunday, 31 January 1971, 
employees of the company and Deputy Sheriff Martin went to 
the company's place of business. They found that a corner of 
the building, constructed a t  that point of corrugated metal, had 
been ripped open sufficiently to permit a person to enter. The 
large safe had been overturned and forced open by the use of 
chisels and a sledge hammer. On the floor of the office lay 
the ledger. On the outside cover of the ledger was the print of 
a shoe with semicircular ridges or lines across the sole. Ap- 
proximately $1,500 in money and a large number of tools, in- 
cluding screwdrivers, chisels, and a sledge hammer were missing. 

Shortly after midnight of 31 January 1971, Harold Priest, 
a police officer in Elizabethtown, observed the defendant and 
another man in a 1960 Ford automobile, the defendant being in 
the back seat, the other man driving. The defendant opened the 
trunk of the car and permitted Officer Priest to examine it. 
In the trunk were approximately 50 tools, including a large 
sledge hammer, hand saws, crow bars, screwdrivers, tin snips, 
and cold chisels, together with a metal tool box. An unusually 
large cold chisel, a sledge hammer, a crow bar and a nail 
puller so found in the trunk of the automobile were identified 
in court by an employee of Builders Wholesale Supply as  having 
been part of its stock of merchandise. The identifications were 
made by inventory and cost marks placed on the items by the 
witness and, in the case of the chisel, by his personal recollec- 
tion of having attempted, unsuccessfully, to sell it to a customer 
on the day prior to the break-in. Other tools so found in the 
trunk of the automobile were of the same brands as those sold 
by Builders Wholesale Supply and were new but bore no 
identifying marks. 

The ledger had no footprint on its cover when i t  was 
locked in the company's safe a t  closing time prior to the break- 
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in. The shoes worn by the defendant a t  the time of his arrest 
in Elizabethtown bore the same type of ridges on the sole as 
those observed in the shoe print on the cover of the ledger. 
In  the opinion of an expert witness in the realm of footprint 
identification, based upon these markings and upon others 
made by scratches and cuts, the print on the ledger cover was 
made by the left shoe worn by the defendant a t  the time of 
his arrest. The ledger, the shoes and the above mentioned 
tools were introduced in evidence. 

The defendant was not an employee of Builders Wholesale 
Supply and was not its regular customer. 

The evidence for the defendant, who did not testify, tended 
to establish an alibi, being to the effect that he was in the 
company of his wife from noon until shortly after midnight 
on Saturday, 30 January 1971, and immediately thereafter en- 
tered into an all-night poker game, which he did not leave until 
after the break-in was discovered. Upon cross-examination, 
the defendant's wife testified that he customarily kept his tool 
box and work shoes in the trunk of his car and he was the 
individual who had the key for the car. 

Attorney General Molrgan and Associate Attorney Ricks 
for  the State. 

Sol G. Cherry, Public Defender, and James R. Nance, of 
Counsel, for defendant appellant. 

LAKE, Justice. 

[I, 21 "It is the general rule in this State that one found in 
the unexplained possession of recently stolen property is pre- 
sumed to be the thief. This is a factual presumption and is 
strong or weak depending on circumstances-the time between 
the theft and the possession, the type of property involved, and 
its legitimate availability in the community." State v. Raynes, 
272 N.C. 488, 158 S.E. 2d 351; State v. Allison, 265 N.C. 512, 
144 S.E. 2d 578; Strong, N. C. Index, 2d, Larceny, § 5. To give 
rise to this presumption, i t  is not necessary that the stolen 
property be found actually in the hands of or on the person of 
the accused, i t  being sufficient if it was found in a container 
or place of deposit under his exclusive personal control. State 
v. Foster, 268 N.C. 480, 487, 151 S.E. 2d 62. When i t  is estab- 
lished that a store or warehouse has been broken into and 
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entered and that merchandise has been stolen therefrom, the 
discovery, soon after such theft of articles, so stolen, in the 
possession of the defendant raises a presumption that he is 
guilty both of the breaking and entering and of the larceny. 
State v. Allison, supra. 

131 The court so instructed the jury in the present case. The 
defendant assigns this as error. He contends that there was 
no sufficient evidence that the tools, identified as having been 
stolen from the place of business of Builders Wholesale Supply 
and as having been found in the tool box in the trunk of the 
car in which the defendant was sitting, were in the possession 
of the defendant. There is no merit in this contention. While 
the defendant was not the driver, Officer Priest testified, with- 
out objection, that the car was "Mr. Lewis' car." He further 
testified that the tools, identified by the employee of Builders 
Wholesale Supply as having been stolen from its place of busi- 
ness, were found by him in the tool box in the trunk of the 
car. On cross-examination, the defendant's wife testified that 
the defendant kept his tool box in the trunk of the car and 
that he was the individual who "had the key for the car." Offi- 
cer Priest testified that the defendant gave permission for the 
opening of the trunk of the car and actually opened it, where- 
upon the tools and tool box were observed by the officer. The 
defendant's wife testified that the driver was the defendant's 
friend. The evidence is ample to support a finding that the tools 
were in the possession of the defendant when discovered by 
Officer Priest. His unexplained possession of the stolen mer- 
chandise raised the presumption that the defendant was guilty 
both of the breaking and entering and of the larceny of the 
tools. 

The defendant does not contend that the presence of the 
tools in the trunk of the car was discovered in the course of 
an unlawful search. The testimony of Officer Priest that the 
defendant not only consented to the search but actually opened 
the trunk, himself, is uncontradicted. The record does not dis- 
close that the defendant was under arrest a t  the time. 

[4, 51 The defendant contends that the court erred in failing 
to strike the testimony of Officer Priest to the effect that a 
representative of Builders Wholesale Supply came to Elizabeth- 
town and identified the tools in question and that, thereupon, 
Officer Priest delivered the tools to Sergeant Frye of the Cum- 
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berland County Sheriff's Department. He contends that this 
was incompetent as hearsay. There was no objection to the 
question which elicited this testimony. To some extent, the 
answer was not responsive to the question but there was no 
motion to strike until after a further question was propounded 
to the witness. The court overruled the motion to strike, saying, 
"It comes too late." In this there was no error. An objection to 
evidence not taken in apt time is waived. State v. Hunt, 223 
N.C. 173, 25 S.E. 2d 598 ; Strong, N. C. Index, 2d, Trial, 5 15 ; 
Stansbury, North Carolina Evidence, 2d Ed, 5 27. Furthermore, 
had there been error in this ruling it would have been harmless 
since, thereafter, without objection, the tools in question were 
positively identified by Witness Hardison, an employee of 
Builders Wholesale Supply, as having come from its stock of 
merchandise. 

[6] Detective Sergeant Frye, an employee of the Cumberland 
County Sheriff's Department, testified, without objection, that 
following the defendant's arrest by Officer Priest, he observed 
the shoes worn by the defendant and could see that they were 
the same kind of shoes he was looking for in relation to the 
shoe print which he had observed on the ledger found near the 
rifled safe. He testified that he then asked the defendant for 
his shoes and the defendant gave them to him. The shoes so 
received from the defendant, having been identified by Ser- 
geant Frye, and the ledger were admitted in evidence as exhibits 
of the State. Sergeant Frye then testified that he made a "visual 
comparison" between the shoes and the shoe print on the 
ledger. He was then asked, "What were your observations con- 
cerning [the ledger] and any comparison you made between 
the three items [the ledger and the shoes] ?" Over objection, 
the witness testified, "From the best I can tell, i t  was the 
shoes I was looking for to the best of my knowledge." There 
was no error in the admission of this testimony. State v. Warren, 
228 N.C. 22, 44 S.E. 2d 207. Had there been error, Sergeant 
Frye not being qualified as an expert in the identification of 
footprints, it would be harmless in view of the subsequent de- 
tailed testimony by Special Agent Jones of the State Bureau 
of Investigation, a qualified expert in that field. Mr. Jones tes- 
tified in detail as to identifying marks upon the defendant's 
left shoe, in relation to the print on the ledger, and stated his 
opinion to the effect that this shoe made the print. His testi- 
mony was cIearly competent under the test laid down in State 
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v. Palmer, 230 N.C. 205, 52 S.E. 2d 908, and applied in State v. 
Pinyatello, 272 N.C. 312, 158 S.E. 2d 596, the latter case having 
a striking similarity to the present one. 

Obviously, there was ample evidence to require the sub- 
mission to the jury of the question of the defendant's guilt on 
each of the charges. There was no error in the denial of his 
motions for judgment of nonsuit. 

We have considered each of the other assignments of error 
by the defendant and find no merit therein. No useful purpose 
would be served by a detailed discussion of any of them. 

The defendant does not assign as error the imposition of 
the sentence of life imprisonment on the charge of safecrack- 
ing. We nevertheless observe that G.S. 14-89.1 provides that 
the punishment for this offense is "a sentence, in the discretion 
of the trial judge, of from ten years to life imprisonment in 
the State penitentiary." There was, therefore, no error of law 
in the imposition of the sentence to life imprisonment. The 
sentence having been lawfully imposed in the discretion of the 
trial judge, this Court has no authority to modify it. The trial 
judge in this, as in other criminal cases, has the opportunity to 
observe the defendant and to consider his former record of 
criminal convictions, if any, which the appellate court, being 
limited to the printed record before it, does not have. If the 
sentence imposed is unduly severe, the proper authorities from 
which to seek relief on that count is the Board of Paroles. 

No error. 

RUTH P. ROSS v. SEBORN PERRY 

No. 74 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Brokers and Factors 5 6- real estate broker-right to commission 

A real estate broker, employed by the owner to sell or  lease 
designated property, is  entitled to his commission when he negotiates 
a sale or lease within the terms of his authority; and his right is 
not affected if the principal voluntarily cancels the contract which 
the broker negotiated. 
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2. Brokers and Factors § 6- lease of property - realtor's commission - 
condemnation of the property 

Where an agreement entered into by the lessor of hotel property 
and a realtor provided that, as  compensation for the realtor's services 
in procuring a 50-year lease of the property, the lessor would pay 
the realtor "570 of the rent received from" the lessee, that  the 
lessor was to send the realtor a check for his 5% within five to 
fifteen days from the time the lessor received the lessee's check, 
and that  the lessee "will continue to do this as long as the lease is  
in force. No longer," it was held that  the lessor's obligation to pay 
the 5% commission terminated when a municipal redevelopment com- 
mission condemned and took possession of the property. 

3. Eminent Domain § 5- condemnation of rental property -value - 
rent or income 

When rental property is  taken for a public use, the owner is 
entitled to recover only the fair market value of the property; in 
determining its fair market value, the rental value, or income, of 
the property is merely one of the factors to be considered. 

4. Eminent Domain 8 16- condemnation of rental property - award - 
rights of lessee 

When condemned land is subject to a leasehold estate the tenant 
is entitled to share in the award since the value of his interes.t is a 
part of the value of the fee; ordinarily the value of the lease is  
the difference between the rental value of the unexpired term and 
the rent reserved in the lease. 

5. Eminant Domain 85 5, 16- condemnation of rental property - award - 
rent 

When the owner of the fee is required to divide a condemnation 
award with the owner of the leasehold, he is not receiving rent from 
the lease but is, in effect, paying a penalty for it. 

6. Brokers and Factors § 6; Eminent Domain 8 5- condemnation of rental 
property - unaccrued rents - realtor's commissions 

Where, as  compensation for the procurenlent of a 50-year lease 
of hotel property, a realtor was to receive a commission each month 
as  long as  the lease continued and rents were collected from the 
tenant, the realtor cannot base a claim for commissions on an award 
to the owner for condemnation of the property by a municipal re- 
development commission, since the award was not a payment of 
unaccrued rentals but was the fair market value of the hotel property 
in cash. 

APPEAL by plaintiff pursuant to G.S. 7A-30(2 )  (1969)  
from the decision of the Court of Appeals, reported in 12 N.C. 
App. 47, 182 S.E. 2d 655 (1971) ,  affirming the judgment of 
Exum, J., a t  the 26 October 1970  Session of GUILFORD. This 
appeal was docketed and argued at  the Fall Term as.No. 119. 



572 IN THE SUPREME COURT [281 

Ross v. Perry 

Action to recover a brokerage commission. 

Without a jury Judge Exum heard this case upon the ad- 
missions and stipulations of the parties, documentary evidence, 
and the testimony of defendant, who was examined by plaintiff 
as an adverse witness. All the evidence. supports the facts 
found by Judge Exum and stated in his judgment. These find- 
ings are set out in full in the opinion of the Court of Appeals, 
to which reference is made. The pertinent facts are summarized 
as follows : 

In 1943 defendant and his wife, who is now dead, owned 
the property known as the Elwood Hotel in High Point. A 
part of the building was located on the right-of-way of the 
Southern Railway Company. As defendant's broker, on 31 July 
1943 plaintiff's husband, W. F. Ross, a realtor, negotiated a 
fifty-year lease of the property to Arthur M. Lee. The stip- 
ulated rental was $18,000.00 annually for ten years from 1 
September 1943; $20,000.00 for the next ten years; and 
$25,000.00 for the following thirty years. Lee's lease was made 
subject to a lease from the Railway Company to defendant. 

After the execution of the lease to Lee, Ross submitted to 
defendant a proposed contract for the payment of his com- 
missions, which defendant rejected. Inter din,  the proposal con- 
tained a provision which would have permitted defendant a t  
any time to discharge his obligation to Ross in connection with 
the lease by paying him in cash 2$$ percent of the unaccrued 
rental stipulated therein. The agreement reached between the 
two was contained in the body sf the following letter, dated 
20 September 1943, from defendant to Ross : 

"Having read carefully the contract you gave me concern- 
ing the commissions and rent of the Elwood Property will say 
that I do not care to enter into any more contract than the one 
we have-i.e., that I am to pay you 5% of the rent received 
from Arthur Lea (sic) of William Street NYC, for acting as 
my agent in making this lease. 

"Your check for five percent will be sent to you within 
five to  fifteen days from the time I receive Mr. Lea's (sic) 
check-and I will continue to do this as long as the lease is in 
force. No longer; and there are no other obligations on either 
of us, regarding this particular matter." 
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Ross is now dead, and plaintiff has succeeded to all his 
rights under the foregoing agreement. Defendant has paid to 
Ross and to plaintiff five percent of all rents which accrued 
between 1 September 1943 and 1 February 1967. On the latter 
date the Redevelopment Commission of the City of High Point 
condemned the Elwood Hotel property. The tenant under the 
lease gave up the occupancy, and the hotel was subsequently 
demolished. After 1 February 1967 defendant received no rent 
from the property. The total fair market value of the property 
was assessed in the Superior Court a t  $942,500.00. Of this sum 
defendant received 71% for his reversionary interest in the 
land ; the tenant, 29 % for his leasehold estate. 

After 1 February 1967 defendant discontinued his monthly 
payments of $104.16 and disclaimed any further obligation to 
plaintiff. On 11 March 1969, alleging that she was entitled to 
recover "the present cash value of 5% of all unpaid rentals 
provided for in the lease between defendant and Lee," plaintiff 
instituted this action. Her prayer for relief was that she recover 
commissions a t  the rate of $104.16 per month from 1 February 
1967 through 31 August 1993 ($33,217.04). 

Judge Exum concluded as a matter of law: (1) The con- 
tinued existence of the lease and the receipt of rentals under i t  
were conditions precedent to defendant's obligation to pay 
commissions to plaintiff. (2) The condemnation of the hotel 
property terminated both the lease and plaintiff's right to re- 
ceive commissions from defendant. (3) No part of the award 
of $942,500.00 was a payment of rentals under the lease. He 
entered judgment decreeing that defendant's obligation to 
plaintiff terminated as of 1 February 1967. Plaintiff appealed 
to the Court of Appeals, assigning as error the entry of judg- 
ment in favor of defendant. The Court of Appeals affirmed the 
judgment, one judge dissenting, and plaintiff appealed as a 
matter of right. 

McLendon, Brim, Brooks, Pierce & Daniels and E. Norman 
Graham and C. Allen Foster for plaintiff appellant. 

Jordan, W?%ght, Nichols, Caffrey & Hill and William L. 
Stocks for defendant appellee. 
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SHARP, Justice. 

The question presented is: What effect did the unantici- 
pated condemnation of defendant's property have upon the 
right of Ross' successor to continue to receive the commissions 
stipulated in defendant's letter of 20 September 1943 to Ross? 

[I] The rule is that a real estate broker, employed by the 
owner to sell or lease designated property, is entitled to his 
commission when he negotiates a sale or lease within the terms 
of his authority; and his right is not affected if the principal 
voluntarily cancels the contract which the broker negotiated. 
Bonn v. Summers, 249 N.C. 357, 106 S.E. 2d 470 (1958) ; 
House v. Abell, 182 N.C. 619, 109 S.E. 877 (1921). Relying 
upon this rule, plaintiff contends that she is entitled to the 
commissions for which she has sued because "defendant, as 
lessor, and his lessee entered into a mutual cancellation of the 
lease." This contention, however, is without merit and finds 
no support in the record. 

121 The lease was terminated on 1 February 1967 when the 
City of High Point took the hotel property in condemnation 
proceedings. While it might reasonably be argued that all par- 
ties contemplated the possibility that the lease might terminate 
before its expiration date because of the hotel's encroachment 
on the Railroad right-of-way, plaintiff concedes that condemna- 
tion by the City was a contingency which neither defendant nor 
Ross envisioned on 20 September 1943. Notwithstanding, their 
agreement on that date specifically provided that defendant 
would pay Ross commissions only as long as the lease continued 
and rents were collected from the tenant. 

The contract between defendant and Ross is too clear to 
permit interpretation. "If there be no dispute in respect to the 
terms of the contract, and they are plain and unambiguous, 
there is no room for construction. The contract is to be inter- 
preted as written." Jones v. Realtzj Co., 226 N.C. 303, 305, 37 
S.E. 2d 906, 907 (1946). Accord, Barham v. Davenport, 247 
N.C. 575,101 S.E. 2d 367 (1957). 

Defendant's agreement was not an unconditional promise 
to pay monthly commissions for fifty years on the rent stip- 
ulated in the lease. Ross' right to commissions was expressly 
conditioned upon (1) the tenant's payment of rent and (2) the 
continuation of the lease "in force." Therefore, in the absence 
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of a voluntary cancellation of the lease by defendant, or some 
arbitrary, capricious, unreasonable or wrongful act on his 
part, plaintiff's right to commissions ended with the termina- 
tion of the lease on 1 February 1967. See Jones v. Realty Co., 
supra; Segal Brokerage Co. v. Lloyd L. Hughes, Inc., 96 F. 2d 
208 (9th Cir. 1938) ; Dallas Dome Wyoming Oil Fields Co. v. 
Brooder, 55 Wyo. 109, 97 P. 2d 311 (1940) ; Lind v. Huene, 
205 Cal. 569, 271 P. 1087 (1928). See annot., 74 A.L.R. 2d 
437 9s 12, 19(a) (1960) ; 12 Am. Jur. 2d Brokers 85 195, 
199 (1964). Certainly, no voluntary or wrongful act by defend- 
ant put an end to the lease; defendant neither instigated the con- 
demnation nor could he have prevented it. 

Lest i t  be thought they were overlooked, we mention cer- 
tain additional contentions and assertions made by plaintiff. 
Before doing so, however, we observe that they are without 
merit. Plaintiff contends that in the division of the compensa- 
tion award the lessee received the value of his lease less the 
rents defendant would have received for the remaining 26 years 
and 7 months of the lease, and "thus the lease was 'in force' 
between the parties to the lease." Plaintiff asserts that defend- 
ant "not only received the benefit of the remaining rental pay- 
ments due him under the lease but he received the benefit of the 
remaining 26v2 years of rent telescoped into one lump sum." On 
this assumption she says she asks "only for the commuted value, 
and in a case where the lessor has received full payment for 
rents due to the end of the lease." 

Plaintiff's assumption finds no support in the record or 
the law. The jury's verdict was a sum of money which could 
only be construed to represent the full and fair market value 
of the hotel property as of 1 February 1967. 

[3] When an entire tract is taken for public use the owner 
is entitled to recover only the fair market value of the property. 
His award is the purchase price which the condemnor pays for 
the fee simple title to the land. In determining its fair market 
value the rental value, or income, of the property is merely one 
of the factors to be considered. Income from the property is 
material only insofar as i t  throws light upon its market value. 

"When rental property is condemned the owner may not 
recover for lost rents, but rental value of property is competent 
upon the question of the fair market value of the property a t  
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the time of the taking." Ki?-kman v. Highway Commission, 257 
N.C. 428, 432, 126 S.E. 2d 107, 110 (1962). See 27 Am. Jur. 
2d Eminent Domain 8 433 (1966). 

[4, 51 When condemned land is subject to a leasehold estate 
the tenant is entitled to share in the award since the value of 
his interest is a part of the value of the fee. See 27 Am. Jur. 
2d Eminent Domai~ $ 250 (1966) ; 29A C.J.S. Eminent Domain 
5 198 (1965). "As a consequence, the owner is required to 
account to his Iessee for the value of his lease." Durham v. 
Realty Co., 270 N.C. 631, 635, 155 S.E. 2d 231, 234 (1967). 
Ordinarily the value of a lease is the difference between the 
rental value of the unexpired term and the rent reserved in 
the lease-29A C.J.S. Eminent Domain 5 143 (b) (1965). If a 
forfeited lease is worth nothing more than the stipulated rent, 
the lessee has sustained no damage. He suffers a loss only when 
his lease is worth more than the rent he pays, that is, only 
when his lease is a bargain. Thus, when the owner of the fee 
is required to divide a compensation award with the owner of 
the leasehold he is not receiving rent from the lease but is, in 
effect, paying a penalty for it. 

161 The record before us contains no explanation, or even a 
suggestion, of the method by which defendant and his lessee 
arrived a t  the value of the lease or the apportionment of the 
award between them. Nor does the record provide any clue 
as to what influence the lease may have had upon the evaluation 
of defendant's property in the condemnation proceeding. Wheth- 
the lease was in evidence, whether the tenant participated in 
the trial, whether stipulations were made, we do not know. 
However, in no view of this case can plaintiff base a claim 
for commissions upon defendant's award. I t  was not a payment 
of unaccrued rentals; i t  was the fair market value of the hotel 
property in cash, capital which had to be invested to earn 
income in lieu of the forfeited rents. Finally, defendant had 
agreed to pay commissions only as long as the lease remained 
in force and upon the rent paid by the tenant. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is 

Affirmed. 
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MACON GOWER, JR. v. AETNA INSURANCE COMPANY 

No. 104 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Courts 8 2; Process § 2- determination of jurisdiction- appeal - 
collateral attack 

When a defendant challenges the authority of a court on the 
ground i t  has not acquired personal jurisdiction, the court's determina- 
tion of its own jurisdiction may be questioned only by appeal and 
not collaterally. 

2. Courts $j 2; Rules of Civil Procedure § 41- dismissal without 
barring litigation on merits -determination of authority -appeal - 
collateral attack. 

A judgment by a court determining its statutory authority to 
dismiss an action in such way as  not to bar further litigation on the 
merits therein may be questioned only by appeal and not collaterally. 

3. Judgments 8 36; Rules of Civil Procedure 9 41- dismissal of action- 
extension of statute of limitations - failure to appeal - estoppel 

Where defendant insurer failed to seek appellate review of a 
judgment which dismissed without prejudice plaintiff's former action 
on a fire policy on account of defective service of process and granted 
plaintiff the right to commence a new action after expiration of the 
one-year limitation period specified in the policy, the insurer is 
estopped to attack in plaintiff's new action that portion of the judg- 
ment in the former action which granted plaintiff the right to com- 
mence a new action after the one-year limitation period had expired. 

Justice LAKE dissenting. 

ON certiorari to review decision of the Court of Appeals, 
which affirmed the order denying defendant's motion for sum- 
mary judgment entered by Bone, E. J., at July 12, 1971 Civil 
Session of WAKE Superior Court. 

I n  the present action, the complaint was filed and the sum- 
mons was issued on November 5, 1970. Plaintiff alleged loss by 
fire on June 7, 1969, of merchandise and other property in- 
sured under a described policy issued to him by defendant; that 
he gave defendant notice of his loss "immediately after June 7, 
1969"; and that defendant denied liability under the policy 
and refused to pay any part of plaintiff's loss. In an answer 
filed December 2, 1970, defendant admitted its refusal to pay 
any part of plaintiff's loss and denied liability under the policy. 
Defendant alleged, as a "Fifth Defense," plaintiff's failure to  
commence this action within twelve months next after inception 
of the loss. 
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The hearing below was on defendant's motion for summary 
judgment. Judge Bone's order recites that "[n] o affidavits were 
offered by either side and no oral evidence was offered by either 
side" and that motion was heard "upon the undisputed facts" 
enumerated in his order. For the full provisions of Judge Bone's 
order, reference is made to the opinion of the Court of Appeals. 
13 N.C. App. 368, 185 S.E. 2d 722. The facts stated therein 
pertinent to decision on this appeal are narrated below. 

Irz the prior action by plaintiff against defendant upon the 
same claim as that involved in the present action, the complaint 
was filed and the summons was issued on April 7, 1970. On 
May 13, 1970, "judgment by default and inquiry" was rendered 
by the clerk in favor of plaintiff and against defendant. On 
May 15, 1970, the clerk entered an order setting aside the de- 
fault judgment; also, on May 15, 1970, defendant filed an 
answer in which it alleged, as one of its defenses, "that the court 
lacked jurisdiction over the person of the defendant and the 
process and service of same in said action [were] insufficient." 

On October 15, 1970, after a hearing on a motion by defend- 
ant "for a dismissal of said former action, on the ground that 
the court lacked jurisdiction over the person of the defendant 
and that the process and service of process were insufficient," 
Judge Hall signed a judgment containing the following pro- 
vision: "That the purported service of process in this action be, 
and the same is hereby, quashed, this action being discontinued 
and this action is hereby dismissed pursuant to Rule 41(b),  
without prejudice; provided, however, that any new action 
by plaintiff may be commenced within thirty days of the date 
of this order." 

The insurance policy issued by defendant to plaintiff is a 
standard fire insurance policy issued pursuant to the provisions 
(then in effect) of G.S. 58-176. I t  contains the following re- 
quired provision: "Suit: No suit or action on this policy for 
the recovery of any claim shall be sustainable in any court of 
law or equity unless all the requirements of this policy shall 
have been complied with, and unless commenced within twelve 
months next after inception of the loss." (Note: Effective Jan- 
uary 1, 1972, as to fire insurance policies issued thereafter, 
Chapter 476, Session Laws of 1971, amended G.S. 58-176(c) 
by substituting "three years'' for "twelve months" in line 161 
of the Standard Fire Policy.) 
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Plaintiff commenced the present action on November 5, 
1970, which is more than twelve months after June 7, 1969, 
the date of inception of the loss, but less than thirty days from 
October 15,1970, the date of Judge Hall's judgment. 

Upon the foregoing facts, Judge Bone "ORDERED, ADJUDGED 
AND DECREED that the said motion of defendant for a summary 
judgment in its favor dismissing this action be, and the same 
is hereby, DENIED." Defendant excepted. 

The Court of Appeals allowed defendant's application for 
certiorari,  and, after hearing, affirmed Judge Bone's order. On 
March 7, 1972, this Court allowed defendant's petition for 
certiora.ri. 280 N.C. 721,186 S.E. 2d 923. 

Ear le  R. Purser  and D a n  L y x n  for p la in t i f f  appellee. 

Y o u n g ,  Moore & Henderson, by  J .  C. Moore and Joseph W. 
Y a t e s ,  III, f o r  de fendant  appellant. 

BOBBITT, Chief Justice. 

Since neither party appealed, the judgment entered by 
Judge Hall in plaintiff's former action against defendant on 
the same claim became the law of the case and established the 
respective rights of the parties to that action. This appeal is 
from the order of Judge Bone. Judge Hall's judgment in the 
former action was not reviewable and was not reviewed by 
Judge Bone in this action. Since plaintiff had commenced the 
present action within the time permitted by Judge Hall's judg- 
ment, Judge Bone simply denied defendant's motion for sum- 
mary judgment. 

The record on this appeal does not disclose the factual 
basis upon which Judge Hall quashed "the purported service of 
process" and "discontinued" and "dismissed" the action. The 
record before us does not contain the summons in the former 
action or any evidence or stipulation as to when and under 
what circumstances '"the purported service of process" was 
made. It does appear that the clerk entered a "judgment by 
default and inquiry9' in the former action on May 13, 1970, 
which he set aside by further order on May 15, 1970. I t  does 
not appear whether the "judgment by default and inquiry" 
entered by the clerk on May 13, 1970, was vacated by him on 
his own motion, on motion of defendant or by consent. Whether 
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Judge Hall's ruling was correct or erroneous, plaintiff is bound 
by that portion of the judgment which discontinued and dis- 
missed the former action. 

In plaintiff's former action, in its answer to the complaint 
therein, defendant alleged, as one of its defenses, "that the 
court lacked jurisdiction over the person of the defendant and 
the process and service of same in said action [were] insuffi- 
cient." This answer was filed on May 15, 1970, which was with- 
in twelve months next after the inception of the loss. This plea 
of lack of personal jurisdiction was heard on October 15, 1970, 
and decided in defendant's favor. Under these circumstances, 
the question arose : In dismissing the action, did Judge Hall have 
discretionary authority under the last sentence of Rule 41 (b) 
to authorize plaintiff to commence a new action? 

[l, 21 By dismissing plaintiff's former action on account of 
defective service of process, Judge Hall in effect determined that 
the court, because it lacked personal jurisdiction of defendant, 
was unable to proceed to the merits of the case. However, in 
the very same judgment he also determined that Rule 41(b) 
gave him authority to extend the one-year limitation period 
and thereby give plaintiff a chance to get to the merits. Defend- 
ant contends that the second portion of the judgment is void 
and should be disregarded. I t  seeks to accept the portion of 
the judgment in its favor and to reject the portion thereof in 
plaintiff's favor. We hold that just as plaintiff is bound by 
his failure to appeal, so must defendant be bound by its failure 
to appeal. When a defendant challenges the authority of a court 
on the ground i t  has not acquired personal jurisdiction, the 
court's determination of its own jurisdiction may be questioned 
only by appeal and not collaterally. Baldwin v. Traveling Men's 
Assn., 283 U.S. 522, 75 L.Ed. 1244, 51 S.Ch 517 (1931) ; 
Phillips, 1970 Supplement 5 939.20, to 1 McIntosh, North Caro- 
lina Practice and Procedure (2d ed.). A necessary corollary is 
that a judgment by a court determining its statutory authority 
to dismiss an action in such a way as not to bar further litiga- 
tion on the merits therein may be questioned only by appeal 
and not collaterally. In both instances the court is specifically 
determining the extent of its powers. Absent appeal, all pro- 
visions of Judge Hall's judgment are determinative as between 
plaintiff and defendant. 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 581 

Gower v. Insurance Co. 

Treating the provisions of Rule 4(e) and the last sentence 
of Rule 41 (b) in pari materia, the Court of Appeals held that 
Judge Hall was authorized, when dismissing plaintiff's former 
action, to specify that the dismissal was without prejudice and 
to specify in his order "that a new action based on the same 
claim may be commenced within one year or less after such 
dismissal." Reasons tending to support this view are set forth 
forcefully in the opinion of Chief Judge Mallard. 

On this appeal, we find i t  unnecessary to approve or dis- 
approve the decision of the Court of Appeals with reference to 
the authority of Judge Hall under the last sentence of Rule 
41(b) to extend the time within which an action to recover on 
the insurance contract may be brought. On this appeal, it is un- 
necessary to attempt to reconcile the apparent conflict between 
Rule 4(e) and the last sentence of Rule 41(b). Legislative 
clarification seems desirable. 

[3] On this appeal, we hold that defendant, having failed to 
seek appellate review, is estopped to attack in the present action 
that portion of Judge Hall's judgment which granted plaintiff 
the right to commence a new action within thirty days. 

Although based on a different ground, the decision of the 
Court of Appeals, which affirmed Judge Bone's order, is af- 
firmed. 

Affirmed. 

~us t i ce  LAKE dissenting. 

The loss by fire occurred 7 June 1969. The policy issued 
by the defendant, in the form prescribed by G.S. 58-176, pro- 
vides that no suit on the policy shall be sustainable in any 
court of law unless commenced within twelve months next after 
inception of the loss. The former suit was instituted 7 April 
1970. It was dismissed on the ground that the court lacked 
jurisdiction over the person of the defendant due to defective 
service of process. In the judgment dismissing the former action 
for that reason, Judge Hall undertook to allow the plaintiff to 
commence a new action within thirty days from the date of 
his judgment, which was 15 October 1970. Within such thirty 
days, but more than a year after the loss by fire, the plaintiff 
brought the present action. 
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It is my view that Judge Hall could not, by his judgment, 
alter the terms of the contract between the parties so as to 
enlarge the time for the bringing of a suit on the policy, and 
certainly could not do so in a proceeding in which the court, 
over which he was presiding, had no jurisdiction over the person 
of the defendant. The only thing which Judge Hall could do 
in that situation was to dismiss the action then before him. I, 
therefore, dissent from the majority opinion. 

MILDRED H. YOUNTS v. STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE 
INSURANCE COMPANY 

No. 96 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Rules of Civil Procedure 8 50- motion for directed verdict - considera- 
tion of evidence 

On a motion for a directed verdict by the defendant, the court 
must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiff 
and may grant the motion only if, as  a matter of law, the evidence 
is insufficient to justify a verdict for the plaintiff. G.S. 1A-1, Rule 
50 (a) .  

2. Insurance $ 106- automobile liability policy - action by injured third 
party - burden of proof 

In an  action by an injured person to recover under an owner's 
automobile liability policy issued to the negligent driver, the injured 
person has the burden of alleging and proving that the negligent 
driver was insured under such policy a t  the time of the accident. 

3. Insurance § 88- owner of aut~mobile 
Under the Motor Vehicle Responsibility Act of 1953, the "owner" 

of a vehicle includes the holder of title and a mortgagor, conditional 
vendee or lessee having the right of purchase and the right of posses- 
sion. 

4. Evidence 8 31- best evidence rule 
Ordinarily, a document is the best evidence of its own contents, 

and before parol testimony is  competent to prove the contents, the 
party offering such testimony must first account satisfactorily for 
his failure to produce the original, such as  proof of loss or destruction 
of the original. 

5. Evidence $ 31- best evidence rule-contents of automobile title 
certificate 

The trial court properly excluded parol testimony as  to the 
contents of an automobile title certificate where there was no evi- 
dence that  the title certificate had been lost or destroyed, the certifi- 
cate itself being the best evidence of its contents. 
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6. Insurance 9 106- automobile owner's liability policy - action by in- 
jured third party - insured not owner of the automobile 

The trial court properly allowed defendant insurer's motion for 
directed verdict in an  action by an injured third party to recover 
under a n  owner's automobile liability policy issued to the negligent 
driver, against whom plaintiff had previously obtained a judgment, 
where the evidence showed that on the date the accident occurred * 

the registered title holder of the automobile in question was a person 
other than the insured, and there was no attempt to show that the 
registered title holder had transferred title in the manner prescribed 
by G.S. 20-72(b), or that the lienholder which purportedly transferred 
title to the insured had foreclosed its lien or complied with G.S. 
20-77 in order to procure a new title certificate. 

APPEAL by plaintiff pursuant to G.S. 7A-30(2) from the 
decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the judgment of 
Bed,  S.J., a t  the 4 January 1971 Session of RANDOLPH Superior 
Court, reported in 13 N.C. App. 426, 185 S.E. 2d 730 (1972).  

On 1 June 1962 defendant State Farm Mutual Automobile 
Insurance Company issued an owner's automobile liability 
policy to Donald Joe Myers covering a 1953 Oldsmobile. There- 
after, on 3 November 1962, while driving the 1953 Oldsmobile, 
Myers was involved in an accident with the plaintiff Mildred 
H. Younts. Plaintiff subsequently instituted suit against Myers 
for injuries sustained in this accident and recovered a default 
judgment against him in the amount of $6,500. In January 
1967 plaintiff instituted this suit against State Farm to recover 
the sum of $6,500, the amount of the default judgment against 
Myers, alleging that the policy of 1 June 1962 was in force on 
the date of the accident and that her injuries were caused by 
the negligence of Myers. 

Defendant in its answer admitted the issuance of the policy 
to Myers, but denied that Myers was the owner of the 1953 
Oldsmobile or had any insurable interest therein, and further 
alleged that the policy in question had been canceled some 
months before the accident. 

Plaintiff sought to introduce the testimony of Billy Joe 
Wright to the effect that he a t  one time owned a 1953 Olds- 
mobile, serial No. 1546464; that he sold this automobile and 
executed a North Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles title 
certificate for i t  to Arthur Lee Charles; that the Lexington 
State Bank had a lien against the automobile; and that in May 
or June of 1962 he saw Donald Joe Myers sign an application 
for a title certificate for this car and saw a representative of 
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the Lextington State Bank sign a transfer of title for this car 
to Myers. The trial judge excluded this evidence. 

At the close of plaintiff's evidence, defendant's motion for 
a directed verdict was allowed. 

Plaintiff appealed to the Court of Appeals. That court, in 
an opinion written by Judge Brock, concurred in by Judge 
Graham, affirmed. Judge Vaughn dissented. 

J o h n  Randolph I n g r a m  f o r  plaint i f f  appellant. 

E d w i n  T. Pul len for  defendant  appellee. 

MOORE, Justice. 

Plaintiff contends the trial court erred in granting defend- 
ant's motion for a directed verdict a t  the close of plaintiff's 
evjdence. 

[I] On a motion for a directed verdict by the defendant, the 
court must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to 
the plaintiff, and may grant the motion only if, as a matter 
of law, the evidence is insufficient to justify a verdict for the 
plaintiff. G.S. 1A-1, Rule 50 (a ) ,  Rules of Civil Procedure ; 
Adler  v. Insurance Co., 280 N.C. 146, 185 S.E. 2d 144 (1971) ; 
Kelly v. Harvester  Co., 278 N.C. 153, 179 S.E. 2d 396 (1971) ; 
5A Moore's Federal Practice 5 50.02 [I] (2d Ed. 1969). 

The motion presents substantially the same question for 
sufficiency as did a motion for an involuntary nonsuit under 
former G.S. 1-183. As to the rules which governed the motion 
for an involuntary nonsuit under G.S. 1-183, see Bowen v. 
Gardner,  275 N.C. 363, 168 S.E. 2d 47 (1969). See also Com- 
ment by Phillips in 1969 Pocket Par t  to McIntosh, North Caro- 
lina Practice and-Procedure $ 1488.15 (2d Ed. 1969). 

[2] The insurance policy on which plaintiff seeks to recover 
is an owner's liability policy covering a 1953 Oldsmobile, serial 
No. R546464, issued by defendant to Myers as owner on 1 
June 1962. G.S. 20-279.21(a) (b).  In order for the plaintiff to 
recover on this policy, the burden is on plaintiff to allege and 
prove that Myers was insured under this policy on 3 November 
1962, the date of the accident in which plaintiff was injured. 
Brevard v. Insurance Co., 262 N.C. 458,137 S.E. 2d 837 (1964) ; 
4 Strong, N. C. Index 2d, Insurance 106. Defendant is liable 
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to the plaintiff only if its liability accrues under the provisions 
set out in the contract of insurance between defendant and its 
insured, Myers. Kirk v. Inszcrance Co., 254 N.C. 651, 119 S.E. 
2d 645 (1961). The policy provides that State Farm shall 
" . . . pay on behalf of the insured all sums which the insured 
shall become legally obligated to pay. . . arising out of the 
ownership, maintenance or use of the owned automobile. . . . 9 ,  

(Emphasis added.) In the absence of any provision in the 
Financial Responsibility Act broadening the liability of the 
insurer, such liability must be measured by the terms of the 
policy as written. In Unde~wood v.  Liability Co., 258 N.C. 211, 
218, 128 S.E. 2d 577, 582 (1962), this Court quotes with ap- 
proval : 

" 'As is said in Byrd v. American Gmrantee & Liability 
Ins. Co., supra, 180 F. 2d 249, "There is no insurance 
separate and distinct from the ownership of the car." This 
is so because an  owner's motor vehicle liability policy is 
a contract between the insurance company and the owner.' " 

Accord: Howell v. Indemnity Co., 237 N.C. 227, 74 S.E. 2d 
610 (1953). 

The question presented then is: Who, within the purview 
of the Motor Vehicle Financial Responsibility Act of 1953 
(Chapter 20, Article 9A), was the owner of the 1953 Oldsmobile 
on 3 November 1962? 

[3] G.S. 20-279.1 (9) defines "owner" as "A person who holds 
the legal title of a motor vehicle, or in the event a motor 
vehicle is the subject of an agreement for the conditional sale 
or lease thereof with the right of purchase upon performance 
of the conditions stated in the agreement and with an immedi- 
ate right of possession vested in the conditional vendee or 
lessee, or in the event a mortgagor of a vehicle is entitled to 
possession, then such conditional vendee or lessee or mortgagor 
shall be deemed the owner for the purposes of this article." 
Under this definition the word "owner" embraces the holder 
of title and a mortgagor, conditional vendee or lessee having 
the right of purchase and the right of possession. See Insurance 
Co. v. Hayes, 276 N.C. 620,174 S.E. 2d 511 (1970). 

The evidence in this case shows that on the date the acci- 
dent occurred, 3 November 1962, the registered title holder of 
the 1953 Oldsmobile in question was Arthur Lee Charles, not 



586 IN THE SUPREME COURT [281 

Younts v. Insurance Co. 

the insured Myers. In order to transfer title, G.S. 20-72(b) as  
amended by the General Assembly in 1961 provided that the 
owner shall " . . . endorse an assignment and warranty of title, in- 
cluding in such endorsement the name and address of the trans- 
feree and the date of transfer, in form approved by the Depart- 
ment upon the reverse side of the certificate of title or execute 
an assignment and warranty of title of such vehicle and a 
statement of all liens or encumbrances thereon, which state- 
ment shall be verified under oath by the owner, who shall 
deliver the certificate of title to the purchaser or transferee a t  
the time of delivering the vehicle. . . . Transfer of ownership in a 
vehicle by an owner is not effective until the provisions of this 
subsection have been complied with." 

In Insurance Co. v.  Insurance Co., 276 N.C. 243, 172 S.E. 2d 
55 (1970), Justice Huskins, in construing G.S. 20-72 (b), said : 

"We hold therefore that after 1 July 1961, the effec- 
tive date of the amendments, no title passed to the pur- 
chaser of a motor vehicle until (1) the certificate of title 
has been assigned by the vendor, (2) delivered to the 
vendee or his agent, and (3) application made for a new 
certificate of title. This accords with prior decisions in 
Bank v. Motor Co., supra 1264 N.C. 568, 142 S.E. 2d 1661, 
and Credit Co. v. Norwood, supra [257 N.C. 87, 125 S.E. 2d 
3691.'' (The accident in the present case occurred 3 No- 
vember 1962.) 

See Insurance Co. v. Insurance Co., 279 N.C. 240, 182 S.E. 
2d 571 (1971), and Insurance Co. v. Hayes, supra, for cases 
construing this statute subsequent to the 1963 amendment. 

In this case, there is no evidence that Myers was the holder 
of a legal title to the Oldsmobile in question or that he was a 
mortgagor, conditional vendee, o r  lessee, having the right of 
purchase and the right of possession. Insurance Co. v. Hayes, 
supra. The only evidence offered by plaintiff concerning the 
ownership of the 1953 Oldsmobile was the testimony of one 
Billy Joe Wright. Wright testified that he had been the owner 
of a 1953 Oldsmobile, serial No. 1546464. ( I t  is noted that 
the insurance policy in question described the insured automo- 
bile as a 1953 Oldsmobile, serial No. R546464.) Wright under- 
took to testify that he sold this automobile and transferred 
the title to Charles; that during the latter part of May 1962 he 
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saw Myers sign on the Charles title certificate a purchaser ap- 
plication for a new certificate of title to that vehicle; and that 
lie also saw a representative of the Lexington State Bank sign 
this title certificate to Myers. Eoth the application and the title 
certificate were signed before a notary public. Wright further 
undertook to testify that his sale of the automobile to Charles 
had been financed by the Lexington State Bank and that when 
Charles failed to pay the bank lie (Wright) paid the note and 
the bank transferred title to Myers. Wright further testified 
that he took a personal lien on the car, the bank gave him the 
title certificate which he gave to Myers so that Myers could 
get his insurance, and that was the last he ever saw of this 
certificate. The court sustained defendant's objection to 
Wright's testimony concerning the title certificate. Plaintiff 
assigns this as error. 

[4, 51 Neither Myers nor his wife testified concerning the title 
to the car although the attorney for the plaintiff stipulated a t  
a pretrial conference that both were available and would testify. 
Ordinarily, a document is the best evidence of its own contents, 
and before parol testimony is competent to prove the contents 
the party offering such testimony must first account satisfac- 
torily for his failure to produce the original-such as, proof 
of the loss or destruction of the original. Orr v. Twiggs, 210 
N.C. 578, 187 S.E. 791 (1936) ; Dumas v. Powell, 14 N.C. 103 
(1831) ; 3 Strong, N. C. Index 2d, Evidence $ 31; Stansbury, 
N. C. Evidence §§ 190-192 (2d Ed. 1963). Until plaintiff offered 
some testimony to the effect that the title certificate in this case 
had been lost or destroyed, the certificate itself was the best 
evidence of its contents, and, in the absence of such testimony, 
the parol testimony of the witness Wright as to its contents was 
properly excluded by the trial judge. 

161 There was no attempt to show that the registered title 
owner Charles had transferred title in the manner prescribed by 
G.S. 20-72 (b) or that the Lexington State Bank, if i t  had a lien, 
had foreclosed this lien or complied with G.S. 20-77 in order to 
procure a new title certificate. Under these circumstances, 
Charles was still the owner of the vehicle on the date of the 
accident in question. Insurance Co. v. Hayes, supra; Insurance 
Co. u. Insurance Co., 276 N.C. 243, 172 S.E. 2d 55 (1970). Since 
Myers was not the owner of the 1953 Oldsmobile a t  the time 
of the collision, Myers was not insured under the owner's policy 
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issued by the defendant to Myers on 1 June 1962. Therefore, 
plaintiff is not entitled to recover on this policy and the trial 
court correctly allowed defendant's motion for a directed verdict. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is affirmed. 

Affirmed. 

STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. LEONARD H. CUTSHALL 

No. 53 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Jury 2-- jurors drawn from another county -discretion of court 

Where there had been two .prior trials and widespread publicity 
of this f irst  degree murder case, the trial court acted within its 
discretion in allowing the State's motion that  the jury be drawn from 
another county. G.S. 9-12. 

2. Jury $ 5- jury selection 

The trial court in this first degree murder prosecution did not 
e r r  in ordering that  the jury be selected by the "whole panel" method. 

3. Criminal Law $ 153- motion to set aside verdict - appeal pending 

The trial judge properly held that  he was without jurisdiction to 
hear defendant's motion to set aside the verdict and for a new trial 
based upon the method of drawing and summoning jurors from an- 
other county which was made before the trial judge in his office 
after defendant had given notice of appeal and court had adjourned. 

APPEAL by defendant from Grist, J., September 27, 1971 
Criminal Session, MADISON Superior Court. 

The defendant, Leonard H. Cutshall, by bill of indictment, 
proper in form, was charged with the first degree murder of 
Richard Jack Reeves. The offense occurred in Madison County 
on January 30,1970. 

The defendant entered a plea of not guilty a t  his arraign- 
ment during the May 25, 1970 Criminal Session, Madison Su- 
perior Court. A jury was selected and empaneled. Both the 
State and the defendant introduced evidence. Before verdict, 
however, the presiding judge was advised that one of the jurors 
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had been approached about the case. He conducted a hearing, 
found facts, and based thereon, adjudged the defendant had 
tampered with a juror. Thereupon, he withdrew the juror from 
the panel, declared a mistrial, and continued the case for the 
term. 

At the September 1970 Criminal Session, Judge McLean 
ordered a special venire from the adjoining County of Bun- 
combe for the trial of the case. At the conclusion of the trial 
the jury returned a verdict finding the defendant guilty of 
murder in the first degree and recommended his punishment be 
imprisonment for life. From the verdict and judgment the de- 
fendant appealed. 

This Court in an opinion reported in 278 N.C. 334, 180 S.E. 
2d 745, reviewed the trial in detail, summarized the material 
evidence both for the State and the defendant, and ordered a 
new trial upon the ground the State was erroneously permitted 
to offer evidence impeaching the testimony of a defense wit- 
ness on a collateral matter. 

At the new trial the court, on the ground of widespread 
publicity, ordered a special venire from Avery County. The 
officers of Avery County, in the short time allowed, had diffi- 
culty in locating and serving the veniremen whose names were 
drawn from the jury box. When it appeared that the venire 
ordered might not be filled from the members summoned 
from Avery County, the court entered an additional writ direct- 
ing a venire of twenty-five men be drawn from Mitchell County. 

The court ordered that the selection of the jury be made 
in the manner approved by this Court in State v. McNeil, 277 
N.C. 162, 176 S.E. 2d 732, and State v. Perry, 277 N.C. 174, 
176 S.E. 2d 729. The twelve regular jurors were selected from 
the Avery County list. Four alternate jurors were selected 
from the Mitchell County venire. The alternates, however, were 
excused after the evidence and the court's charge. The alter- 
nates did not participate in the verdict. 

The State's evidence a t  the trial now under review was 
essentially the same as the competent evidence offered a t  the 
previous trial and summarized in this Court's opinion on the 
first review. 

The defendant's evidence was also essentially the same as 
that summarized in this Court's opinion, with this exception: 



590 IN THE SUPREME COURT [ZSl 

State v. Cutshall 

He offered the testimony of additional witnesses tending to 
support his alibi. The defendant did not testify in either trial. 

After the argument and the charge, the court excused the 
alternate jurors and the twelve regulars (all from Avery Coun- 
ty) returned into court a verdict finding the defendant guilty 
of murder in the first degree and recommended life imprison- 
ment. From the judgment according to the jury's finding and 
recommendation, the defendant appealed, assigning errors. 

Rober t  Morgan, A t t o r n e y  General, b y  E d w i n  M.  Speas,  Jr., 
Associate A t torney ,  f o r  t h e  State .  

Ronald W. Howell  A t t o r n e y  f o r  defendant .  

HIGGINS, Justice. 

The Court is now reviewing a case in which the evidence 
has been heard by three juries. The first jury was discharged 
by the trial judge before verdict, upon a finding that the defend- 
ant had tampered with one of the jurors. At the next term a 
jury summoned from Buncombe County heard the evidence, 
returned a verdict finding the defendant guilty, and recommend- 
ed his punishment be imprisonment for life. This Court granted 
a new trial because of error in permitting the State to impeach 
a defendant's witness by showing he had made contradictory 
statements on a collateral matter. This Court is now conducting 
its second review. The former opinion settled all except a few 
new questions which arose a t  the last trial. 

The record of the case on appeal contains three hundred 
and seventy-five pages. The defendant entered three hundred 
and fifty-six exceptions and brings them here for review under 
forty-three assignments of error. 

The evidence, in short summary, disclosed that about 11 :30 
p.m. on January 30, 1970, Blanche Gentry Cutshall, the divorced 
wife of the defendant Leonard H. Cutshall, had been to Greene- 
ville, Tennessee, with her friend, the deceased Richard Jack 
Reeves. The two were riding in the Ford automobile owned 
by the deceased but being driven by the witness. The deceased 
was on the passenger side of the front seat. As the witness and 
the deceased approached the home of the deceased, the witness 
observed that the lights of an automobile had been following 
them for some distance. She stopped on the side of the road, 
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the following car (a 1964 black Oldsmobile) drove alongside, 
and the driver who was alone in the Oldsmobile fired a number 
of gunshots, killing Reeves instantly. The automobile sped 
away. The witness identified the defendant as the lone occupant 
of the Oldsmobile and the one who fired the fatal shots. The 
pathologist testified that death was caused by gunshot wounds. 
The corroborating evidence disclosed the defendant owned a 
1964 black Oldsmobile and a repeating rifle of the caliber match- 
ing the bullets found in the Ford automobile and the empty 
shells found beside i t  which apparently were ejected as the shots 
were fired. 

Only three persons were a t  the scene-the witness, the de- 
ceased, and the defendant. The witness gave evidence clearly 
identifying the accused as having fired the fatal shots. The 
defendant did not testify. He did, however, offer two or three 
additional witnesses not heard in the former trials whose evi- 
dence tended, albeit somewhat loosely, to corroborate his evi- 
dence of alibi. 

Although many exceptions and assignments of error were 
entered, the defendant simplifies our task by the two conclud- 
ing sentences from his lengthy brief. "If the evidence for the 
State is taken a s  true and all inconsistencies resolved in its 
favor, then there would obviously be enough evidence to go to 
the jury. The defendant does contend, however, that the errors 
herein above discussed with respect to the admission of the 
evidence, and the selection of the jury constitute prejudicial 
error and demand that the defendant be given a new trial." 

[I, 21 Due to the prior trials and the widespread publicity, 
the court on motion of the State was justified in ordering the 
trial jury drawn from another county. G.S. 9-12. So the writ 
of venire facias to Avery County was within the sound discre- 
tion of the trial judge. State v. Blackmon, 280 N.C. 42, 185 
S.E. 2d 123; State v. Chilh, 269 N.C. 307, 152 S.E. 2d 453. 
The court ordered the "whole panel" method of selecting the 
jury. The defendant's objections thereto are not sustained. 
State v. Atkinson, 278 N.C. 168, 179 S.E. 2d 410; State v. 
McNeil, supra; State v. Perry, supra. 

131 The trial jury was selected, empaneled, heard the evidence, 
the argument, the court's charge, returned its verdict, and was 
discharged. The court imposed judgment, the defendant gave 



592 IN THE SUPREME COURT [281 

State v. Daye 

notice of appeal, and the court adjourned. Thereafter, defense 
counsel attempted to raise some question with respect to the 
method of drawing and summoning the jurors from Avery 
County. The defense counsel filed affidavits and moved before 
the trial judge at his office in Charlotte that the verdict be set 
aside and a new trial be ordered. Judge Grist held, and we think 
properly so, that he was without jurisdiction to hear the motion. 
State v. Atkinson, 275 N.C. 288, 167 S.E. 2d 241; State v. 
Grundler, 251 N.C. 177, 111 S.E. 2d 1 ;  State v. Arthur, 244 
N.C. 586, 94 S.E. 2d 648 ; State v. McLamb, 208 N.C. 378, 180 
S.E. 586. 

We have examined the court's rulings on evidence and the 
charge to the jury. Nowhere do we find any ground which 
would justify another trial. 

No error. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. BONNIE LEE DAYE 

No. 42 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Criminal Law 1 162- admission of evidence- assignment of error 

An assignment of error to the admission of evidence must set out 
the evidence which defendant contends should not have been admitted. 
Supreme Court Rule 19 (3) .  

2. Criminal Law 3 162- waiver of objection 

Defendant waived objection to questions asked by the solicitor 
by failing to object thereto. 

3. Criminal Law 1 88- cross-examination of defense witnesses-insult- 
ing or impertinent questions 

While a solicitor may ask a defendant or  his witness questions 
tending to discredit his testimony, no matter how disparaging the 
questions may be, the solicitor may not needlessly badger or humiliate 
a witness by asking insulting or impertinent questions which he 
knows will not elicit competent or relevant evidence. 

4. Criminal Law 1 88- scope of cross-examination - discretion of court 
The trial judge, who sees and hears the witnesses and knows the 

background of the case, has wide discretion in controlling the scope 
of cross-examination. 
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5. Criminal Law § 128- mistrial - discretion of court 
A motion for mistrial in cases less than capital is addressed to 

the trial judge's sound discretion, and his ruling thereon (without 
findings of fact) is  not reviewable without a showing of gross abuse 
of discretion. 

6. Criminal Law $5 89, 169- cross-examination of defendant - acquaint- 
ance with other persons on trial calendar 

In  a prosecution for possession and sale of heroin, the trial court 
did not commit prejudicial error in permitting the solicitor to cross- 
examine defendant by reading from the trial calendar numerous 
names of persons charged with violating narcotic laws and asking 
defendant questions concerning his acquaintance and association 
with each of them, such evidence not being so material and prejudicial 
to defendant's rights in light of defendant's past record, his answers 
to the questions and the State's compelling eyewitness testimony that  
a different result would have likely ensued. 

7. Criminal Law 8 89- cross-examination of defendant - indictments for 
other crimes - nonretroactivity of new rule 

The rule that  a witness, including the defendant in a criminal 
case, may no longer be cross-examined for impeachment purposes 
as  to whether he has been indicted or is under indictment for a 
criminal offense other than that  for which he is then on trial applies 
only to trials begun after 15 December 1971, the date of the decision 
of State v. Williams, 279 N.C. 663. 

ON Certiorari to the North Carolina Court of Appeals to 
review its decision (13 N.C. App. 435) finding no error in the 
trial before Hobgood, J., a t  12 April 1971 Session of DURHAM 
Superior Court. 

Defendant was charged in a bill of indictment with the 
felonious possession of heroin, and in a separate bill of indict- 
ment he was charged with the felonious sale of heroin. The 
charges, to which he entered pleas of not guilty, were consoli- 
dated for trial. 

The State's evidence tended to show that on 16 February 
1971 police officer S. H. Conant, while working as an "under- 
cover agent" for the Narcotics Squad of the Durham Police 
Department, purchased 13 bindles of white powder from defend- 
ant. A chemist employed by the State Bureau of Investigation 
testified that the white powder contained heroin. 

Defendant testified and denied that he had ever possessed 
or  sold heroin to anyone and, particularly, that he had never 
sold heroin to Officer S. H. Conant. On direct examination 
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defendant testified that he had been convicted of numerous 
crimes. 

Danny Gilbert Barbee, testifying for defendant, stated that 
he was, a t  that time, in jail awaiting trial on charges of posses- 
sion and sale of narcotics. He stated that upon his arrest his 
bond was set a t  $10,000.00, and that thereafter Durham police 
officers had released him for the purpose of "setting up" Bonnie 
Lee Daye by putting dope in his house. Barbee was brought 
back to jail because he failed to "bust Bonnie Daye." Cross- 
examination of defendant and his witness will hereinafter be 
more fully considered. 

The jury returned verdicts of guilty to both charges, and 
defendant appealed from judgment imposing prison sentences 
of five years on each charge, to run consecutively. We allowed 
defendant's petition for certiorari to the North Carolina Court 
of Appeals on 7 March 1972. 

A t t o r n e y  General Morgan,  D e p u t y  A t t o r n e y  General Bul-  
lock,  and Associate  Attorl-ney Conely  f o r  t h e  S ta te .  

A. H. Borland and Ronald H. Ruis f o r  de fendan t .  

BRANCH, Justice. 

Defendant's first assignment of error is that the trial court 
erred in allowing impeachment of defendant and defendant's 
witness by reference to the week's trial calendar on which the 
name of the witness appeared. 

On direct examination defendant testified concerning nu- 
merous arrests and convictions resulting from violations of the 
liquor and motor vehicle laws. He stated that he had served 
time in federal prisons on three occasions, and in the State's 
prisons on two occasions. He further stated: "I have never 
messed with dope. Naw, Sir, I have never sold anybody any 
dope." 

On cross-examination the Solicitor, w i t h o u t  objection,  read 
from the trial calendar numerous names of persons charged 
with violating narcotic laws, and questioned defendant concern- 
ing his acquaintance and association with each of them. One 
typical example of these exchanges is as follows: 
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Q. . . . Now, you know a young man "Tramp"? 

A. Yes sir. 

Q. What is his real name? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Harry Gulledge, that sound familiar to you? 

A. Naw. 

Q. How far does he live from you? 

A. About a block. 

Q. Right down the way from you, right down a little 
old dirt path, isn't it, right on down from your house? 

A. Oh, you can go down it. 

Q. -right on down through the dirt path? 

A. Uh huh. 

Q. And how old is Tramp? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. He is about 21 or so, isn't he? 

A. I don't know. I guess so, looks like he might have 
been like that. 

Q. All these folks live right around you, right within a 
block of you, don't they? 

A. That is right. 

Q. Of course, you are aware that all of them too have 
been arrested this year for selling heroin, aren't you? 

A. Yes sir. 

Throughout this interrogation defendant did not admit 
that any of these persons worked for him or were associated 
with him in the handling of narcotics. 

Defendant further stated that his means of livelihood for 
the past twelve months had been gambling. He admitted that 
several automobiles which he drove, and which were titled in 
other persons' names, belonged to him. It was only after the 
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Solicitor began to examine defendant as to his income tax that 
his counsel interposed objection. This objection was sustained, 
and thereafter defendant's counsel requested that the jury be 
excused. Defendant's counsel, in the absence of the jury, made 
a motion for mistrial based on the questions directed to defend- 
ant's having a retained lawyer and to defendant's income tax. 
The motion was denied. 

[I, 21 Defendant's assignments of error are not in accord with 
our rules and decisions, in that they do not set out within the 
assignment the evidence which he contends should not have been 
admitted. North Carolina Supreme Court Rules of Practice 
19(3) ; State v. Box, 277 N.C. 1, 175 S.E. 2d 561; S. v. Kirby, 
276 N.C. 123, 171 S.E. 2d 416. Furthermore, defendant failed to 
object to the questions relating to the trial calendar and thereby 
waived his objections. State v. Blackwell, 276 N.C. 714, 174 S.E. 
2d 534; State v. Sanders, 276 N.C. 598, 174 S.E. 2d 489. Mow- 
ever, we do not choose to dispose of this assignment of error 
because of failure to observe the rules of this Court. 

[3-51 A Solicitor may ask a defendant or his witness questions 
tending to discredit their testimony, no matter how disparaging 
the question may be. Nevertheless, the Solicitor may not need- 
lessly badger or humiliate such witnesses by asking insulting 
and impertinent questions which he knows will not elicit com- 
petent or relevant evidence. State v. Wyatt, 254 N.C. 220, 118 
S.E. 2d 420; State v. Phillips, 240 N.C. 516, 82 S.E. 2d 762. 
It  is well recognized, however, that the trial judge, who sees 
and hears the witnesses and knows the background of the case, 
has a wide discretion in controlling the scope of cross-examina- 
tion. State v. McPhemon, 276 N.C. 482, 172 S.E. 2d 50; State v. 
Ross, 275 N.C. 550, 169 S.E. 2d 875. Likewise, a motion for 
mistrial in cases less than capital is addressed to the trial 
judge's sound discretion, and his ruling thereon (without find- 
ings of fact) is not reviewable without a showing of gross abuse 
of discretion. State v. Battle, 267 N.C. 513, 148 S.E. 2d 599; 
State v. Pfeifer, 266 N.C. 790, 147 S.E. 2d 190; State v. Birck- 
head, 256 N.C. 494,124 S.E. 2d 838. 

[6] We are unable, from the cold record, to determine the 
impact upon the jury of the questions directed to defendant 
concerning people whose names appeared on the trial calendar. 
Its force is made very questionable by the very fact that i t  did 
not stir the defendant's experienced trial lawyer to interpose ob- 
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jection. In light of defendant's past record, defendant's answers 
and the State's compelling eyewitness testimony, we do not think 
that the evidence towards which this assignment of error was 
aimed was so material and prejudicial to defendant's rights 
that a different result would have likely ensued. State v. Swaney, 
277 N.C. 602, 178 S.E. 2d 399 ; State v. Brinson, 277 N.C. 286, 
177 S.E. 2d 398; State v. Sanders, supra. Certainly, this record 
does not disclose that the trial judge's ruling or failure to act 
ex mero motu constituted an abuse of his discretion. 

For reasons stated, this assignment of error is overruled. 

[7] Defendant next contends that the impeachment of defend- 
ant and his only witness by questions showing prior arrests 
and indictments for criminal offenses by each of them, con- 
stituted prejudicial error. 

In this connection we note that defendant abandoned this 
assignment of error in the Court of Appeals in light of the 
weight of authority contrary to his contention. However, on 
15 December 1971 this Court handed down the opinion in the 
case of State v. Williams, 279 N.C. 663, 185 S.E. 2d 174, which, 
inter alia, states : 

"We now hold that, for purposes of impeachment, a 
witness, including the defendant in a criminal case, may 
not be cross-examined as to whether he has been indicted 
or is under indictment for a criminal offense other than 
that for which he is then on trial. In respect of this point, 
we overrule State v. Maslin, supra El95 N.C. 537, 143 S.E. 
31, and decisions in accord with Maslin, on the basic 
ground that an indictment cannot rightly be considered 
as more than an unproved accusation." 

Defendant, relying on the holding in State v. Williams, 
supra, petitioned this Court for certiorari, and this Court al- 
lowed certiorari. The Court in Williams did not decide whether 
its holding would be applied retroactively. However, in State 
v. Harris, (filed this day) this Court determined that the hold- 
ing in Williams should be applied prospectively only. The Court 
noted that the change accomplished in Williams affected only 
a rule of evidence, and did not affect a contractual or a vested 
right. In reaching the conclusion that the decision in Williams 
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should be applied prospectively, Moore, J., speaking for the 
Court, stated : 

" . . . To give Williams retroactive effect could easily 
disrupt the orderly administration of our criminal law. 
Doubt would be cast upon verdicts of guilty returned in 
those cases where such questions were asked and answered 
over objection. Prisoners convicted in such trials could 
seek release or new trials in post-conviction proceedings. 
See Johnson v. New Je r sey ,  384 U.S. at 731, 16 L.Ed. 2d 
a t  891, 85 S.Ct. a t  1780 (1966) .  Accordingly, we hold that  
the rule announced in Williams applies only to those trials 
begun after 15 December 1971, the date of the filing of 
the opinion in that  case. . . . " 
Here, the trial commenced on 14 April 1971. State v. Wil- 

liams, supra, does not apply, and this assignment of error is 
overruled. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals i s  

Affirmed. 

I N  THE MATTER OF GENEVA H. THOMAS, AND DY-DEE SUPPLY 
COMPANY, INC. AND EMPLOYMENT SECURITY COMMISSION 
OF NORTH CAROLINA 

No. 116 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Master and Servant 5 108- unemployment compensation - availability 
for work - quantum of proof 

The Employment Security Commission erred in requiring a 70- 
year-old claimant for unemployment compensation to show by clear, 
cogent and convincing evidence that  she had re-entered the labor 
force after having voluntarily retired from her job as a laundry 
worker, the claimant having the burden to show that she was "avail- 
able for work" only by the greater weight of the evidence. G.S. 143- 
318 (1). 

2. Master and Servant 9 111- Employment Security Commission - find- 
ings - appellate review 

Findings by the Employment Security Commission are conclusive 
on appeal if supported by competent evidence. 

APPEAL by the Employment Security Commission from the 
decision of the Court of Appeals reported in 13 N.C. App. 
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513, 186 S.E. 2d 623. The decision purports to reverse the judg- 
ment entered by Kivett, J. a t  the June 7, 1971 Session, FQRSYTH 
Superior Court. The case is here for review by reason of the 
dissent in the Court of Appeals. 

The proceeding originated by claims for unemployment 
benefits filed by Geneva H. Thomas before the North Carolina 
Employment Security Commission under G.S. 96-1 to 96-27, in- 
clusive. 

The claimant, Geneva H. Thomas, was employed as a laundry 
worker by Dy-Dee Supply Company in Winston-Salem. She 
voluntarily retired on June 10, 1970, at  the age of seventy 
years, after having completed twenty years of service with the 
same employer. The employer did not provide retirement pay 
for its employees. At the end of the first week following her 
retirement, Mrs. Thomas began filing with the Employment 
Security Commission weekly claims for unemployment benefits. 
After full hearing, the Commission on March 9, 1971, by 
Decision No. 4300 denied the claims on the ground the claimant 
had not shown her eligibility to receive them. 

In support of her claims, Mrs. Thomas testified she worked 
as a laundry hand in Dy-Dee Supply Company for twenty 
years. In 1962 she became eligible for and received Social Se- 
curity payments of $89.00 per month. She worked a t  her job 
only a sufficient number of hours so that her regular pay did 
not exceed $1,680.00 annually. Hence she was eligible for the 
full annual payment of Social Security benefits. She retired 
voluntarily because she was seventy years o!d although at the 
time she was in good health which has continued to the present 
time. 

At the conclusion of the hearings the Commission entered 
among others the following findings : 

"4. The claimant is 70 years old, has a fifth grade 
education and her work history indicates that she has 
worked as a laundry hand the past twenty years. Prior 
thereto, she had some experience as a worker in a tobacco 
factory. She has no other work experience. The claimant 
lives with and cares for a 54 year old retarded daughter. 
The claimant is not altogether certain she can arrange 
care for her daughter should she find employment. 
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"5. The claimant earned $1.45 per hour a t  the laundry 
a t  the time of her retirement. Additionally, since 1962, the 
claimant has received social security (OASI) benefits and 
the current monthly benefit is $89.00. Under social security 
regulations, pensioners under 72 years of age are permitted 
to earn a maximum of $1,680.00 annually without having 
their monthly benefits reduced. The claimant testified that 
she has not earned more than $1,680.00 in any year since 
1962. 

"6. Due to the claimant's advanced age, limited skills, 
and fifth grade education, the likelihood of her obtaining 
employment is reduced by about 95 percent. In the Winston- 
Salem area, employers do not customarily employ persons 
70 years of age." 

Among the Commission's conclusions were the following: 

"In the instant case, the record indisputably shows that 
the claimant became unemployed voluntarily; that she vol- 
untarily quit her job in order to retire on June 10, 1970. 
Insofar as the record shows, she could have continued 
working for her last employer had she desired further em- 
ployment. This notwithstanding, on June 17, 1970, precisely 
one week after her retirement on June 10, 1970, the claim- 
ant filed a claim for unemployment insurance benefits. 
It is difficult to reconcile the claimant's alleged availability 
in the labor market on June 17, 1970, (as indicated by her 
filing of the claim) with the fact that she voluntarily quit 
her employment on June 10, 1970, for the avowed purpose 
of retirement. 

"The claimant received no retirement pay or pension 
from her last employer, but she has been receiving monthly 
social security (OASI) benefits in the sum of $89.00 since 
1962, some eight years prior to her retirement. Under 
the laws and regulations governing the payment of these 
benefits, the recipient under the age of 72 years is per- 
mitted to earn a maximum annual wage of $1,680 before 
her monthly benefit amount is reduced. In this case, the 
claimant has testified under oath that she has not earned 
in excess of $1,680 per year in any year since 1962. She 
has further testified that she earned $1.45 per hour a t  
her last employment prior to her retirement. 
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"Assuming a normal forty hour work week for fifty 
weeks a t  $1.45 per hour, the claimant would have earned ap- 
proximately $2,900 per annum from her last employer. In- 
ferentially, then, the claimant was a part-time or seasonal 
worker. Since the claimant apparently has worked under 
such an arrangement since 1962, i t  challenges credulity 
to assume that the claimant has, a t  age 70, made herself 
available for FULL-TIME work, a prime requisite of eligi- 
bility. * * * * * * * * * * *  

"The claimant's act of voluntarily retiring from gain- 
ful employment raises a strong presumption that she is no 
longer in the labor market. It must be shown by clear, 
cogent, and convincing evidence that she is available for 
work under the law. This has not been done in this case. 

"Considering the fact that the claimant voluntarily 
relinquished her employment to retire when she could have 
continued working, it is concluded that the claimant is not 
realistically an active member of the labor force. She is 
therefore not available for work and is ineligible for bene- 
fits. 

"DECISION: I t  is now, therefore, ordered, adjudged, and 
decreed that : 

"(1) The claimant is ineligible for benefits from No- 
vember 4, 1970, through January 19, 1971; . . . > f  

Upon the claimant's appeal to the superior court, Judge 
Kivett affirmed the decision of the Commission. The claimant 
appealed to the North Carolina Court of Appeals. 

The panel of the Court of Appeals which heard the case 
filed three separate opinions. What purported to be the decision 
of the Court written by Judge Hedrick recites : 

"For the reasons stated, the judgment of the superior 
court affirming the decision of the Employment Security 
Commission is reversed and the case is remanded to the 
superior court for the entry of an order remanding the 
proceeding to the Employment Security Commission with 
directions that the Commission make a conclusion with 
respect to whether the claimant was available for work from 
4 November 1970 through 19 January 1971, based on the 
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facts already found and not inconsistent with the principles 
expressed in this opinion." 

Judge Hedrick's opinion ordered the judgment of the 
superior court reversed and remanded for decision in accordance 
"with the principles expressed in this opinion." The Commis- 
sion appealed. 

Thorns Craven The Legal Aid Society of Forsyth Coun.ty 
for claimant appellee. 

D. G. Ball, Garland Crenshaw, Howard G. Doyle, H. D. 
Harrison, Jr. for appellant. 

Moore and V a n  Allen by  William K. V a n  Allen and R. 
Michael Childs, Attorneys for Associated General contractors 
of the Carolinas, Associated Industries, Cap.ital Associatsd 
Industries, Central Piedmont Industries, North  Carolina Textile 
Manufacturers Association, Piedmont Associated Industries, 
Western Carolina Industries, Inc., and Western Carolina M a w  
ufacturers Associatiom, Amici Curiae. 

HIGGINS, Justice. 

Judge Hedricli's opinion, and the partial dissents by Judge 
Graham and by Chief Judge Mallard, are before us. Judge Gra- 
ham dissented from the Hedrick opinion "which directs the 
Commission to enter an order awarding benefits." With respect 
to the claimant's rights, Judge Graham concluded: "When she 
quit her job to retire, claimant removed herself from the labor 
market. Whether she thereafter re-entered the labor market 
and became 'available for work' is a question which still must 
be determined by the Commission." This is apparently so be- 
cause of the quantum of proof required. 

Chief Judge Mallard concurring in part and dissenting in 
part, expressed the view the Employment Security Commis- 
sion's findings and conclusions are correct except in one par- 
ticular : 

"The Commission, however, in its 'conclusions of law,' 
stated the degree of proof i t  used in finding the facts, as 
follows: 'It must be shown by clear, cogent, and convincing 
evidence that she (claimant) is available for work under 
the law. This has not been done in this case.' This was 
error. The degree of proof required is by the greater 
weight of the evidence. See G.S. 143-318 (1). 
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"Had the Commission found the facts by the greater 
weight of the evidence, it is my opinion that its legal 
conclusions are correct and that the claimant 'is not real- 
istically an active member of the labor force,' and '(s)he 
is therefore not available for work and is ineligible for 
benefits.' " 

To what extent Judge Hedrick's opinion is a majority 
opinion of the panel seems open to some question. I t  does appear 
from the separate opinions of Judge Graham and Chief Judge 
Mallard that an order reversing the superior court and directing 
that judgment be entered as directed in the opinion is not war- 
ranted. 

[I] The record before us, in our opinion, discloses the Com- 
mission committed error of law in requiring the claimant to 
show by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that she had re- 
entered the labor force after having voluntarily retired. The 
question before the Commission was whether the claimant a t  
the times covered by her claims for benefits was "available for 
work" and the burden was on her to show such availability, but 
only by the greater weight of the evidence. The Commission's 
requirement, therefore, placed too great a burden on her. As 
pointed out by Chief Judge Mallard, G.S. 143-318(1) requires 
the State agencies and boards charged with the duty of finding 
facts to observe the rules of evidence "as applied in the superior 
and district courts." In the superior court, except in extraor- 
dinary cases, the burden of proof is by the greater weight of 
the evidence. Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is confined to 
criminal offenses. Proof by clear, cogent, and convincing evi- 
dence is required to establish parol trusts, contents of lost 
documents, and such matters. McCorkle v. Beat ty ,  226 N.C. 
338, 38 S.E. 2d 102; Will iams v. Building and L o a n  Asso., 207 
N.C. 362,177 S.E. 176. 

[2] After a careful review of the record we conclude that the 
hearing and decision of the case by the Employment Security 
Commission and by the Superior Court of Forsyth County were 
in accordance with law and were free from error save and ex- 
cept the placing of an undue burden on the claimant, Mrs. 
Thomas, to show by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence 
that she has become "available for work under the law." The 
Commission's error, in the quantum of proof required, is directly 
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challenged by Assignment of Error No. 5. Because of the error 
in so placing too great a burden upon her, the Employment 
Security Commission will review the proceeding and determine 
by the greater weight of the evidence whether the claimant has 
established the fact that she is available for work. The Com- 
mission will make disposition of the claims for benefits in ac- 
cordance with the findings. I n  re  Watson, 273 N.C. 629, 161 
S.E. 2d 1 ;  Dwyer v .  Appeal Board o f  Michigan Unemp. Comp. 
Com'n., 321 Mich. 178, 189, 32 N.W. 2d 434, 438; Weiner v. 
D i r e c t o ~  o f  Division o f  Employment  Sec., 327 Mass. 360, 99 
N.E. 2d 57; Mohler v .  Department of Labor, 409 111. 79, 97 
N.E. 2d 762. The Commission's findings if supported by com- 
petent evidence are conclusive on appeal. I n  re Steelman, 219 
N.C. 306, 13 S.E. 2d 544; Unemployment Comp. Corn. v .  Willis, 
219 N.C. 709, 15 S.E. 2d 4 ;  Employment  Security Comm. v. 
Freight Lines, 248 N.C. 496,103 S.E. 2d 829. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals, to the extent it con- 
flicts with the disposition herein directed, is reversed and the 
cause will be remanded to the North Carolina Employment Se- 
curity Commission for further hearing and disposition as herein 
directed. 

Reversed and remanded. 

SYLVIA ANNE COLLINS SCHOOLFIELD AND HUSBAND, JAMES 
NORMAN SCHOOLFIELD, PETITIONERS V. WANDA LOUISE COL- 
LINS (SINGLE) ; JOHN W. COLLINS AND WIFE, MYRTLE COLLINS; 
NASH R. COLLINS AND WIFE, ANN COLLINS; STEVE C. COLLINS 
AND WIFE, FREDA SINK COLLINS; ALICE COLLINS MAYS AND 
HUSBAND, GARLAND D. MAYS; DORA LUCILLE COLLINS (SIN- 
GLE); HAZEL COLLINS THOMPSON AND HUSBAND, WADE 
THOMPSON; FLEET M. COLLINS AND WIFE, CAROLYN COL- 
LINS; AND RAYMOND COLLINS AND WIFE, JUANITA COLLINS, 
RESPONDENTS 

No. 80 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

1. Evidence 5 28.5; Rules of Civil Procedure 3 56- affidavit defined 
An affidavit is a written or printed declaration or statement of 

facts which was made voluntarily and confirmed by the oath o r  affir- 
mation of the party making i t  before an officer having authority to 
administer such oath. 
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2. Rules of Civil Procedure Q 56- motion for summary judgment -veri- 
fied pleading - consideration as affidavit 

A properly verified pleading which meets all the requirements 
for affidavits may be considered as an affidavit in support of or  in 
opposition to a motion for summary judgment. 

3. Evidence $0 11, 33- parol trust - hearsay -dead man's statute 
Testimony as to statements made by respondent's mother, now 

deceased, is hearsay and therefore incompetent to show an  alleged 
parol agreement that  respondent's brother would hold title to real 
property in trust for respondent and her mother, and respondent is  
precluded by G.S. 8-51 from testifying to such personal transaction 
with her brother, who is also deceased. 

4. Trusts Q 13- resulting trust-pro tanto payment of purchase price 
Respondent's contribution of approximately $100.00 toward the 

down payment of $310.00 on a house and lot, with no obligation to 
make further payments of any kind, was insufficient to establish in 
favor of respondent any ascertainable trust interest in the house and 
lot based on pro tanto payment of the purchase price. 

5. Trusts Q 13- resulting trust -insufficiency of assertions 
Where respondent's assertions were insufficient to show what 

amounts, if any, were paid by respondent's mother to the seller of 
property conveyed to respondent's mother and brother, such asser- 
tions were insufficient to establish a resulting trust in favor of 
respondent's mother in the one-half undivided interest in the property 
to which respondent's brother held legal title. 

6. Wills 8 2- contract to devise- trust in favor of promisee 
A written contract executed by respondent, her mother and her 

brother, whereby real property in which the three parties had a n  
interest was to go to respondent upon the prior death of her mother 
and brother was a contract to devise, and, upon the prior death of 
respondent's brother without devising his interest in the property to 
respondent, the court will fasten a trust on such interest in favor 
of respondent. 

7. Wills § 2- implied promise to devise 

An agreement that  a third party beneficiary shall have land a t  
the death of the promisor implies his promise to devise or convey 
the property so as  to effectuate the contract between the promisor 
and the promisee. 

8. Rules of Civil Procedure Q 38- proceeding commenced prior to new 
Rules - last pleading after new Rules - failure to demand jury trial 
in apt time 

Where a proceeding was commenced prior to the effective date 
of the new Rules of Civil Procedure, but the last pleading was filed 
on 13 January 1970 after the new Rules had become effective, both 
parties were precluded from demanding a jury trial ten days after  
the last pleading was filed, and the denial of respondent's belated 



606 IN THE SUPREME COURT 1281 

Schoolfield v. Collins 

demand for a jury trial filed on 18 February 1970 was within the 
discretion of the trial judge. G.S. 18-1, Rules 38(b) and (d).  

ON certiorari granted on petition of respondent Dora Lucille 
Collins to  review decision of the Court of Appeals affirming 
judgment entered by Johnston,  J., a t  June 1, 1970 Civil Session 
of GUILFORD Superior Court, docketed and argued in the Supreme 
Court as No. 144 a t  Fall Term 1971. 

Petitioners instituted this special proceeding on October 15, 
1969, for the partition sale of a house and lot at 1213 Westside 
Drive, Greensboro, N. C., referred to hereafter as the subject 
property. 

The petition and the answer of respondent Dora Lucille 
Collins, who is referred to hereafter as respondent, constitute 
the pleadings. None of the other persons named as respondents 
filed an  answer or other pleading. Guilford County was per- 
mitted to intervene solely to assert i ts  lien fo r  unpaid taxes. 

Alma C. Collins, a widow, died in Guilford County on 
March 24, 1963, survived by eight children, namely, respondents 
John W. Collins, Nash R. Collins, Steve C. Collins, Alice Collins 
Mays, Dora Lucille Collins, Hazel Collins Thompson, Fleet M. 
Collins and Raymond Collins. She was survived also by petition- 
e r  Sylvia Anne Collins Schoolfield and respondent Wanda Louise 
Collins, who are  children of Robert W. Collins, a deceased son 
of Alma C. Collins. 

Petitioners alleged that  Alma 6. Collins died intestate; 
that  Sylvia Anne Collins Schoolfield and Wanda Louise Collins 
each owned a 5/18th undivided interest in the subject property; 
and tha t  each of the surviving children of Alma C. Collins 
owned a 1/18th undivided interest therein. Respondent denied 
these allegations. 

Petitioners alleged that  Cone Milk Corporation, by warran- 
t y  deed dated January 14, 1963, conveyed a n  undivided one- 
half i ~ t e r e s t  in the subject property to Alma C. Collins (widow) 
and a n  undivided one-half interest therein to Louise G. Collins, 
Wanda Louise Collins and Sylvia Anne Collins; and that, by 
a quitclaim deed dated January 14, 1963, Louise G. Collins con- 
veyed her entire interest in the subject property to Wanda 
Louise Collins and Sylvia Anne Collins. 
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Respondent admitted that Cone Mills Corporation signed 
the "paper writing" referred to by petitioners but "specifically 
denied that said paper writing constitutes a valid conveyance 
of said property to the persons named in that paper writing, 
because then, as now, the legal and beneficial interest to the 
entirety of said property was vested in the answering respond- 
ent, Dora Lucille Collins." Respondent admitted that Lucille 6. 
Collins signed the "quitclaim deed" referred to by petitioners 
but "specifically denied that said paper writing conveyed any 
interest in this property whatever." 

After answering petitioners' allegations, respondent alleged 
as further answers and defenses the matters set forth below. 

In her "FIRST FURTHER ANSWER AND DEFENSE" respondent 
alleged the following: She and Alma purchased the property, 
furnishing all consideration (down payment, monthly payments, 
and mortgage insurance premiums). She was not named in the 
contract of sale, dated May 26, 1958, "for the reason that a t  
the time of its execution she was an invalid confined to the 
home and could not appear with the other parties before a 
notary public a t  the Cone Mills office.'' Robert W. Collins, 
through whom feme petitioner claims, was named in the con- 
tract "for the sole purpose of obtaining mortgage life insurance 
on the contract, since Alma C. Collins was a t  that time un- 
insurable." A copy of the contract of sale was attached to the 
answer. Robert, Alma and respondent agreed from the begin- 
ning that Robert was to hold the property only as "a trustee 
for Alma C. Collins and the respondent." Alma died on March 
24, 1963, leaving a will, dated February 8, 1959, probated Jan- 
uary 5, 1970, leaving the contested property to respondent. A 
copy of the will was attached to the answer. On April 4, 1959, 
Robert, Alma and respondent entered into a written contract 
whereby the property was to go to respondent upon the death 
of Alma and Robert. A copy of this contract was attached to 
the answer. Respondent was in possession of the property on 
May 26, 1958, and has been ever since. Alma was also in posses- 
sion until her death. Robert was also in possession, "with the 
express permission" of Alma and respondent, until his death 
on December 21, 1962. Respondent received no notice of any 
efforts by anyone to interfere with her possession until the com- 
mencement of this proceeding on October 15,1969. 
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I n  the succeeding further answers and defenses, respondent 
alleged: (1) In  respect of the subject property, Robert was 
the  trustee of a resulting trust  in favor of respondent and 
Alma; (2) respondent, as sole devisee under her will, became 
the owner of the undivided one-half interest of Alma; (3) 
feme petitioner and Wanda Louise Collins hold legal title to  
the subject property in constructive trust  for respondent by 
virtue of the contract of April 4, 1959, entered into by Alma, 
Robert and respondent; (4) the  claim of petitioners is barred by 
the statute of limitations on account of respondent's adverse 
possession of the subject property. 

The purchase contract of May 26, 1958, designated Cone 
Mills Corporation as "Seller" and "Alma C. Collins (Widow) 
and son, Robert W. Collins," a s  "Purchaser." It provides that, 
a s  purchase price for  the subject property, the "Purchaser" 
agrees to pay the principal sum of $6,200.00, consisting of a 
down payment of $310.00 and monthly payments of $52.43; 
and that  the necessary portion of each installment payment shall 
be applied by the  seller to the payment of interest, insurance 
premiums and ad valorem taxes. 

The will of Alma C. Collins provides in par t :  "I want all 
my household good[s] to go to Lucille Collins and my house to  
go to Lucille Collins a t  my Death. . . . " 

The contract of April 4, 1959, is quoted in full below. 

To WHOM IT MAY CONCERN : 

Re: Alma C. Collins and Robert W. Collins - 
One house located a t  1213 Westside Drive 
Greensboro, North Carolina 

If the death of Mrs. Alma C. Collins should occur before 
Lucille Dora Collins, her interest in the above mentioned 
property shall go to Lucille Dora Collins. I[n] case of death 
of Lucille Dora Collins before the death of Alma C. Collins 
her interest in the above mentioned property shall go to  
Robert W. Collins. I n  case of death of Robert W. Collins 
before the death of Lucille Dora Collins his interest in 
the above mentioned property shall go to Lucille Dora 
Collins. In  case of death of Alma C. Collins before Lucille 
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Dora Collins all personal belongs [s ic]  shall go to Lucille 
Dora Collins. 

Given this the 4th day of April under our hands and - - 
seals. 

Robert W. Collins (SEAL) 
Lucille Dora Collins (SEAL) 
Mrs. Alma C. Collins (SEAL) 

Witness : 

Ralph J. Ritter 

North Carolina 
Guilford County 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this the 4th day of - 
April 1959. - 

Ruth L. Pritchett 
Notary Public 

My Commission expires 7-18-60 

We note that respondent is designated in the caption and 
pleadings as "Dora Lucille Collins," in Alma's will as "Lucille 
Collins," and in the contract of April 4, 1959, as "Lucille Dora 
Collins." 

Respondent prayed that the petition be dismissed and that 
the costs of the proceedings be taxed against petitioners. 

Petitioners did not reply to the allegations of respondent's 
further answers and defenses. 

Pursuant to Rule 33, G.S. PA-I, petitioners filed "Interroga- 
tories" on March 12, 1970. In her answers thereto, respondent 
asserted facts set forth in the opinion. 

On June 1, 1970, petitioners filed a motion for summary 
judgment in their favor upon all issues arising in this cause, 
asserting "that the pleadings, together with the answers to in- 
terrogatories, show that there is no genuine issue as to material 
fact and that they are entitled to judgment as a matter of 
law." 

Petitioners' motion for summary judgment was heard on 
June 10, 1970, a t  which time, as recited in the judgment, Judge 
Johnston "read the pleadings, the interrogatories, the answers 
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to the interrogatories," and an affidavit of Henry N. Patterson, 
Jr., an attorney for respondent. 

In accordance with the allegations in respondent's first 
further answer and defense, the court found as a fact that on 
January 5, 1970, which was after the filing of petitioners' 
(amended) petition, "a holographic will of Alma Collins, de- 
ceased, was probated in common form in the Estates Division 
of this Court," and that counsel for petitioners and respondent 
had stipulated "that said will is now binding on the parties for 
purposes of this action; that under the terms of said will, 
Dora Lucille Collins is the sole devisee of the real property of 
Alma Collins, deceased, who was the owner of an undivided one- 
half interest in said real property. . . . " 

Based upon this stipulation and the documents referred to 
above, the court entered summary judgment which adjudged 
that, subject to the lien in favor of Guilfsrd County for taxes, 
petitioner Sylvia Anne Collins Schoolfield and respondent Wan- 
da Louise Collins each owned an undivided one-fourth interest 
in the subject property and that respondent Dora Lucille Collins 
owned an undivided one-half interest therein. 

(Note: Prior to the hearing on petitioners' motion for 
summary judgment, respondent's motiom for a jury trial of 
the issues arising on the pleadings had been denied. The facts 
pertinent to respondent's exception to this order will be stated 
in the opinion.) 

Upon respondent's appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed 
Judge Johnston's judgment. 12 N.C. App. 106, 182 S.E. 2d 
648 (1971). On October 5, 1971, this Court granted respondent's 
petition for certiorari. 

Turner, Rollins & Rollins, by Elizabeth 0. Rollins, for pe- 
titioner appellees. 

Smith & Patterson, by Henry N.  Patterson, Jr., for re- 
spondent appellant. 

BOBBITT, Chief Justice. 

Rule 56, G.S. 1A-1, which became effective on January 1, 
1970, has been considered in Kessing v. Mortgage Cow., 278 
N.C. 523, 180 S.E. 2d 823 (1971) ; Harrison Associates v. State 
Ports Authority, 280 N.C. 251, 185 S.E. 2d 793 (1972) ; Single- 
ton v. Stewart, 280 N.C. 460, 186 S.E. 2d 400 (1972) ; Koontx v. 
City of Winston-Salem, 280 N.C. 513, 186 S.E. 2d 897 (1972) ; 
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Blades v. City of Raleigh, 280 N.C. 531, 187 S.E. 2d 35 (1972). 
The general rules applicable to summary judgment under Rule 
56 as laid down in Kessing are approved and applied in the 
later cases. In each of these cases, summary judgment was 
held to be proper under the circumstances of the particular 
case. 

The Court of Appeals held that respondent's answers to 
the interrogatories failed "to disclose competent evidence of 
facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial"; that the 
"answers to the interrogatories reveal that no genuine issue as 
to a material fact exists"; and that "upon the facts established 
petitioner was entitled to judgment as a matter of law." The 
opinion does not set forth what facts the court considered estab- 
lished or the reasons for its conclusion that petitioners were 
entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 

As noted in our preliminary statement, respondent made a 
part of her answer a copy of the purchase contract of May 26, 
1958, in which Cone Mills Corporation was designated as 
"Seller7' and "Alma C. Collins (Widow) and son, Robert W. 
Collins," were designated "Purchaser." She alleged that Robert 
W. Collins died on December 21, 1962. She admitted that Cone 
Mills Corporation had executed the deed dated January 14, 
1963, which, in terms, conveyed an undivided one-half interest 
in the subject property to Alma C. Collins (widow) and an  un- 
divided one-half interest to Louise G. Collins, Wanda Louise 
Collins and Sylvia Anne Collins. She also admitted that Louise 
G. Collins had executed a quitclaim deed dated January 14, 1963, 
which, in terms, conveyed her entire interest in the subject 
property to Wanda Louise Collins and Sylvia Anne Collins. 
(Note : Respondent's petition for certiorari, which is verified 
by respondent, asserts (1) that "the mortgage life insurance 
on the life of Robert Collins paid the balance due on the land 
contract" and (2) that Louise G. Collins was the estranged wife 
of Robert W. Collins.) 

Upon the admitted facts stated in the preceding paragraph, 
nothing else appearing, feme petitioner and respondent Wanda 
Louise Collins, as heirs of Robert W. Collins, would own an 
undivided one-half interest in the subject property and sum- 
mary judgment in their favor would be correct. Any genuine 
issue as to a material fact must relate to facts alleged as the 
basis for respondent's asserted further answers and defenses. 
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Under Rule 56(c) the absence or presence of a genuine 
factual issue may be shown by "the pleadings, depositions, 
answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with 
the affidavits, if any." (Our italics.) While the object of the 
last two sentences of Rule 56 (e) is to pierce general allegations 
in the non-movant's pleadings, Rule 56(e) does not deny that 
a properly verified pleading which meets all the requirements 
for affidavits may effectively "set forth specific facts showing 
that there is a genuine issue for trial." 

11, 21 In her pleading, respondent alleged specific facts within 
her personal knowledge. Her pleading was verified in the man- 
ner prescribed by Rule 11 (b),  sworn to and subscribed before 
a notary public. An affidavit is "[a] written or printed declara- 
tion or statement of facts, made voluntarily, and confirmed by 
the oath or affirmation of the party making it, taken before 
an officer having authority to administer such oath." Black's 
Law Dictionary, 80 (Rev. 4th ed. 1968) ; Ogburn v. Sterchi 
Brothers Stores, Inc., 218 N.C. 507, 11 S.E. 2d 460 (1940). 
Respondent's pleading meets all of these requirements; and, 
in respect of the specific facts stated therein, is an affidavit. 
"[Tlhere is nothing in the rules which precludes the judge 
from considering a verified answer as an affidavit in the 
cause." Fletcher v. Norfolk Newspapers, 239 F. 2d 169 (4th 
Cir. 1956). "To the extent that a verified pleading meets [the 
requirements of Rule 56 (e)] then i t  may properly be considered 
as equivalent to a supporting or opposing affidavit, as the case 
may be." 6 Moore's Federal Practice, par. 56.11[3], a t  2176 
(2d ed. 1965). 

[3] We consider first respondent's allegation that "[ilt was 
initially and always the agreement among respondent Dora 
Lucille Collins and Alma C. Collins and Robert W. Collins, that 
the interest of Robert W. Collins in said property was that only 
of a trustee for Alma C. Collins and the respondent Dora Lucille 
Collins." As to whether this allegation, if supported by compe- 
tent evidence, would defeat petitioners' claim, see B ~ y a n t  v. 
Kelly, 279 N.C. 123, 181 S.E. 2d 438 (1971). In her answer, 
respondent asserted she had knowledge of the alleged agree- 
ment. In her answers to interrogatories, she asserted that three 
named persons had knowledge of statements made to them by 
Alma C. Collins which tended to support respondent's said 
general allegation. Testimony as to statements made by Alma 
would be incompetent as hearsay and G.S. 8-51 would preclude 
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respondent from testifying to such personal transaction with 
Robert. In short, respondent's answers to the interrogatories 
fail to show the existence of competent evidence to support her 
general allegations in reference to the alleged parol trust. 

[4] Independently of the alleged parol trust agreement, re- 
spondent alleges that she and Alma together "furnished all of 
the consideration for the down payment and for all of the 
monthly payments, including mortgage insurance premiums, 
until the property was paid for in full." Answering interroga- 
tories pertinent to this allegation, respondent asserted that 
she personally "provided approximately one hundred dollars 
toward the down payment" for the subject property. She as- 
serted that she observed Alma take funds which she (Alma) had 
received from the Social Security Administration and funds 
which were given her by respondent "when she went to the 
Cone Mills office to make the down payment" on the subject 
property. Respondent's contribution of approximately $100.00 
toward the down payment, with no obligation to make further 
payments of any kind, is insufficient to establish in favor of 
respondent any ascertainable trust interest in the subject 
property based on pro tanto payment of the purchase price. 
Rhodes v. Raxter, 242 N.C. 206, 208, 87 S.E. 2d 265, 267 (1955). 

[S] Alternatively, respondent asserts ownership of the sub- 
ject property as beneficiary under Alma's will. This contention 
presupposes that Alma became sole owner because of contribu- 
tions she made toward the purchase thereof. 

With reference to payments subsequent to the down pay- 
ment, respondent asserted that she "observed Alma Collins each 
month take funds derived from her social security check to 
make the monthly payments on the land contract and send this 
money by different individuals to the Cone Mills Plant." Al- 
though she asserted that "receipts for the monthly payments 
state that they were received of Alma Collins," no receipts 
were produced and identified. Garland C. Mays was identified 
as a person to whom "Alma Collins on a number of occasions 
gave money . . . to take to the Cone Mills Proximity Plant to 
make the monthly payments on the land contract." No affidavit 
of Garland Mays was presented. Respondent did not identify 
any other individual to whom Alma gave money to be taken 
to Cone Mills Corporation to make the monthly payments on 
the purchase contract. 
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Cone Mills Corporation acknowledged receipt of the down 
payment of $310.00 from the "Purchaser." Alma and Robert 
became equally obligated for the payment of the balance of 
$5,890.00 plus interest, taxes and insurance premiums. Respond- 
ent's assertions, although competent, were insufficient to show 
what amounts, if any, were paid to Cone Mills Corporation by 
Alma. When Robert died, the unpaid balance was paid from 
the insurance on his life. 

Absent affidavits disclosing competent evidence of the 
existence of the express par01 trust alleged by respondent, re- 
spondent's assertions were not sufficient to establish that Robert 
held the legal title to an undivided one-half interest in the 
subject property as trustee for Alma. With reference to result- 
ing trusts, see Waddell v. Carson, 245 N.C. 669, 97 S.E. 2d 
222 (1957), and cases cited; also, Bryant v. Kelly, supra. 

Even so, for the reasons stated below, the court erred in 
granting petitioners' motion for summary judugment. The facts 
asserted by respondent in her verified pleading and in her 
answers to interrogatories which, for present purposes, must 
be accepted as true, include those narrated below. 

On April 4, 1959, Robert, Alma and respondent executed 
the contract quoted in full in our preliminary statement. This 
contract provides for the disposition of the subject property 
upon the death of the three persons having an interest therein. 
One provision states : "I [n] case of death of Lucille Dora Col- 
lins before the death of Alma C. Collins, her interest in the 
above mentioned property shall go to Robert W. Collins." (Our 
italics.) Robert W. Collins died December 21, 1962. The con- 
tract further provides: "In case of death of Robert W. Collins 
before the death of Lucille Dora Collins his interest in the 
above mentioned property shall go to Lucille Dora Collins." (Our 
italics.) The contract also provides: "If the death of Mrs. Alma 
C. Collins should occur before Lucille Dora Collins, her interest 
in the above mentioned property shall go to Lucille Dora Col- 
lins." (Our italics.) 

In May, 1958, respondent was completely disabled and 
confined to a wheel chair. She had been disabled since about 
1950 and was receiving social security benefits as a dependent 
child of her father who died in 1956. Alma, her mother, also 
was receiving social security benefits. The amounts which Alma 
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sent to Cone Mills Corporation in payment of monthly install- 
ments for the subject property were derived from Alma's social 
security benefits. Respondent contributed her social security 
benefits to pay for household expenses of the family. Robert 
Collins helped buy some groceries and small household items 
which constituted his contribution to the operation of the house- 
hold on Westside Drive during the period from May, 1958, 
until he became disabled. Robert Collins's two children, Wanda 
and Sylvia, resided in the household. 

Respondent was in possession of the subject property on 
May 26, 1958, and since then has been in continuous actual 
possession of the property. She shared the possession of the 
property with her mother, Alma C. Collins, until her death on 
March 24, 1963. Robert W. Collins lived there from May 26, 
1958, until his death on December 21, 1962. 

The affidavit of Henry N. Patterson, Jr., states that on 
June 5, 1970, he examined records in the Guilford County De- 
partment of Social Services pertinent to the present proceeding; 
that "[t] hese records contain a signed admission by Robert W. 
Collins that he was purchasing the property which is the subject 
of this proceeding along with his mother (Alma Collins) and 
his sister (Dora Lucille Collins)"; and that these records had 
been subpoenaed for production in evidence. However, i t  does 
not appear that these records were produced for consideration 
by Judge Johnston. They are not in the record before us and 
are not necessary to decision on this appeal. 

[6] Respondent's contention that she is the beneficiary of a 
trust created by the contract of April 4, 1959, is supported by 
our decisions. The contract is a contract to devise even though 
i t  is not expressly so termed. 

[7] "An agreement that a third-party beneficiary shall have 
land a t  the death of the promisor implies his promise to devise 
or convey the property so as to effectuate the contract between 
the promisor and the promisee. Ledingham v. Bayless, 218 Md. 
108, 145 A. 2d 434, and the authorities cited therein a t  116, 
145 A. 2d a t  439." Wells v. Dickens, 274 N.C. 203, 211, 162 
S.E. 2d 552, 557 (1968). 

In the cited Maryland case of Ledingham v. Bayless, this 
statement appears: "The authorities make it plain that if there 
is a contractual obligation under which property is to pass a t  
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the death of the promisor, a contract to bequeath or devise will 
be implied, although there is no express undertaking by the 
promisor to execute a will. A promise that the promisee shall 
receive the property, or that it shall be his a t  the death of the 
promisor, is sufficient and it is not necessary that the means 
by which title is to pass shall be spelled out. Page [Wills, Life- 
time Edition], Sec. 1710; 94 C.J.S. Wills §$ 111, 112, pp. 863, 
865-866." Decisions cited in support of this statement include 
Stockard v. Warren, 175 N.C. 283, 95 S.E. 579 (1918), in 
which this Court declared a trust was created when the land- 
owner promised his nephew that if he would come and take 
care of the farm and stock, a t  the death of the landowner and 
his wife, "alI the stock and 200 acres of land on home place 
shall be yours to have and hold forever in fee-simple." 

An annotation following Naylor v. Sheltorz, 102 Ark. 30, 
143 S.W. 117, Ann. Cas. 1914A 394 (1912), contains this state- 
ment : " [W] hile a court of chancery is without power to compel 
the execution of a will, and therefore the specific execution of 
an agreement to make a will cannot be enforced, yet if the con- 
tract is sufficiently proved and appears to have been binding 
on the decedent, and the usual conditions relating to specific 
performance have been complied with, then equity will spe- 
cifically enforce i t  by seizing the property which is the subject 
matter of the agreement, and fastening a trust on i t  in favor 
of the person to whom the decedent agreed to give i t  by his 
will." Ann. Cas. 1914A a t  399. This statement is quoted with 
approval in Stockard v. War~en ,  supra a t  285, 95 S.E. a t  580, 
and in Clark v. Butts, 240 N.C. 709, 714, 83 S.E. 2d 885, 
889 (1954). 

Specific facts set forth by respondent, with special empha- 
sis on the contract of April 4, 1959, are sufficient to defeat 
petitioners' motion for summary judgment. These specific facts 
have not been controverted affirmatively by reply, affidavits or 
otherwise. Whether respondent's pleading be deemed an affirma- 
tive defense or a counterclaim not denominated as such, no re- 
sponsive pleading was required and respondent's allegations 
of specific facts are to be taken as denied by petitioners. Rule 
8(d) .  Such denial is sufficient to raise issues of fact to be 
determined a t  trial. 

[8] Respondent's appeal also presents the question whether 
the court erred in denying her motions for a jury trial. 
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The original petition was filed October 15, 1969. An amend- 
ment thereto was filed December 18, 1969. Respondent's answer 
was filed January 13, 1970. It contained no demand for a jury 
trial. On February 18, 1970, respondent filed a one-sentence 
"DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL." On March 13, 1970, respondent filed 
a "MOTION FOR JURY TRIAL," wherein respondent requested the 
trial court in its discretion to order a jury trial under Rule 
39(b).  On March 19, 1970, Judge Crissman, in the exercise of 
his discretion, denied this motion. 

The new Rules of Civil Procedure went into effect on 
January 1, 1970. Chapter 803, Session Laws of 1969. Under 
prior North Carolina law, a request for jury trial was not 
required. G.S. 1-172 (Recompiled 1953) provided, "An issue of 
fact must be tried by a jury, unless a trial by jury is waived 
or a reference ordered." G.S. 1-184 (Recompiled 1953) provided 
that the means for waiver of jury trial were default or consent. 
However, Rule 38 (d) of the new Rules provides that "the fail- 
ure of a party to serve a demand as required by this rule . . . 
constitutes a waiver by him of trial by jury." 

Rule 38(b) provides, "Any party may demand a trial by 
jury of any issue triable of right by a jury by serving upon 
the other parties a demand therefor in writing a t  any time 
after commencement of the action and not later than 10 days 
after the service of the last pleading directed to such issue . . . ." 

Section 10 of Chapter 954, Session Laws of 1967, provided: 
"This Act shall be in full force and effect on and after July 
1, 1969, and shall apply  to  actions and proceedings pending o n  
that  date as well as  to actions and proceedings commenced on 
and after that date." (Our italics.) Chapter 803 of the Session 
Laws of 1969 repeated this provision in its entirety, except 
that the effective date was changed to January 1, 1970. The 
clear intent of the General Assembly was to apply the new 
Rules from the effective date to all civil cases, and not to 
permit the confusion which would be attendant upon trying to 
apply different procedures to cases begun before and to cases 
begun after the effective date. 

The denial of respondent's belated demand for a jury 
trial was within the discretion of Judge Crissman. No abuse of 
discretion or error of law is involved. 

No constitutional question is presented. Petitioners and 
respondent are equally denied a jury trial. The last pleading 
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was filed on January 13, 1970. Ten days from that date both 
parties were precluded from demanding a jury trial. Rules 
38(b) and (d). 

The foregoing leads to this conclusion: The decision of 
the Court of Appeals is reversed. The cause is remanded to that 
court with direction to vacate the summary judgment and to 
remand the cause to the Superior Court for trial in accordance 
with Rule 52 (a) (1). 

Reversed and remanded. 

STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. HUGH McDONALD KELLY 

No. 121 

(Filed 16 June 1972) 

Narcotics $ 5; Criminal Law § 138- possession of hypodermic needle and 
syringe - offense changed to misdemeanor pending appeal 

A defendant whose conviction of felonious possession of a hypo- 
dermic needle and syringe for the purpose of administering habit- 
forming drugs was pending on 1 January 1972, the effective date 
of the Controlled Substances Act which reduced that offense to the 
grade of general misdemeanor, is not entitled to have his sentence 
of not less than two nor more than three years reduced to a maximum 
of two years, since provisions of the Controlled Substances Act are  
prospective only. 

ON certiorari to the North Carolina Court of Appeals to 
review its decision (13 N.C. App. 588) modifying and affirm- 
ing judgment of Fomtain, J., a t  1 March 1971 Session of NEW 
HANOVER Superior Court. 

Defendant was tried on a bill of indictment which charged: 

"That Hugh McDonald Kelly late of the County of 
New Hanover on the 29th day of January 1971 with force 
and arms, a t  and in the County aforesaid, did unlawfully, 
wilfully and feloniously have in his possession a hypo- 
dermic syringe or needle for the purpose of administering 
habit-forming drugs, and he, the said Hugh McDonald 
Kelly, did not have a valid certificate of a physician issued 
within the preceding year authorizing such possession, 
against the form of the statute in such case made and 
provided and against the peace and dignity of the State." 
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The indictment was drawn pursuant to G.S. 90-108 which 
a t  that time provided, inter  alia: 

"No person except a manufacturer or a wholesaler or 
a retail dealer in surgical instruments, pharmacist, physi- 
cian, dentist, veterinarian, nurse or interne shall a t  any 
time have or possess a hypodermic syringe or needle or 
any instrument or implement adapted for the use of habit- 
forming drugs by subcutaneous injections and which is 
possessed for the purpose of administering habit-forming 
drugs, unless such possession be authorized by the cer- 
tificate of a physician issued within the period of one 
year prior thereto ; . . . " 
The jury returned a verdict of "guilty of the offense of 

possession of hypodermic needle and syringe." A prison sen- 
tence of not less than two years nor more than three years was 
imposed. Defendant moved to arrest judgment on the ground 
that the bill of indictment was insufficient. The motion was 
denied, and defendant appealed to the North Carolina Court 
of Appeals. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial judge's denial of 
the motion in arrest of judgment. However, the Court of Ap- 
peals noted that while the case was on appeal the General 
Assembly enacted "The Controlled Substances Act," effective 
1 January 1972, which reduced the charge for which defendant 
was convicted to a general misdemeanor [G.S. 90-113.4 (b) ] and 
thereupon modified the judgment "to reflect the grade of 
offense as that of a misdemeanor and by striking the portion 
providing 'nor more than three (3) years,' thereby reducing the 
maximum period of defendant's sentence to  two years im- 
prisonment." 

We allowed the Attorney General's petition for certiorari 
on 4 April 1972. 

At torney  General Morgan and Associate Attorney Henry 
E. Posle f o r  t he  State. 

H. P. Laing for  defendant.  

The Attorney General's petition for certiorari is directed 
only to the modification of the trial court's judgment as to 
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punishment. Defendant does not bring forward and argue in 
his brief any other assignment of error as required by the 
Rules of Practice in the Supreme Court, Supplementary Rule 7. 
Thus, the sole question presented by this appeal is whether the 
North Carolina Court of Appeals erred by modifying the judg- 
ment so as to reduce the grade of offense to a misdemeanor 
and so as to reduce the maximum period of defendant's sentence 
to two years' imprisonment. This question is squarely controlled 
by the holdings in State v .  Harveg, 281 N.C. 1, 187 S.E. 2d 
706, and Sta te  v. McIntyre, 281 N.C. 304, 188 S.E. 2d 304. 

Defendant argues that his case does not come within the 
holdings of Harvey and M d n t y r e  because the Controlled Sub- 
stances 4 c t  unqualifiedly reduced the offense of which he stands 
convicted to a misdemeanor. The Act, on the other hand, cre- 
ated a presumption of the felony of possession of marijuana for 
purpose of sale when the accused, as in H a m e y  and McIntyre, 
possesses more than five grams of marijuana. This distinction is 
invalid because i t  relates to degree of crime and punishment, 
rather than to the question of whether the Act is prospective. The 
expressed intent of the General Assembly that the provision of 
the Controlled Substances Act be prospective relates to the 
entire Act (G.S. 90-113.7). There is no indication in the Act 
that any particular provision shall be otherwise treated. 

The decisions in State v. Harvey, supra, and State v. 
McIntyre, supra, require that the modification of the trial 
court's judgment be reversed. This cause is remanded to the 
North Carolina Court of Appeals with direction that the judg- 
ment of the Superior Court be reinstated and affirmed. 

Reversed. 
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CONSTRUCTION CO. v. HAMLETT 
No. 70 PC. 
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CONSTRUCTION CO. v. HOLIDAY INNS 
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STATE v. ANDREWS 
No. 16. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 662. 
Motion of Attorney General to dismiss appeal for lack of 

substantial constitutional question allowed 1 August 1972. 

STATE v. BLACK 
No. 30. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 373. 
Motion of Attorney General to dismiss appeal for lack of 

substantial constitutional question allowed 31 July 1972. 

STATE v. CAMPBELL 
No. 118 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 493. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 July 1972. Appeal dismissed 31 July 1972. 

STATE v. CAMPBELL 
No. 14. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 493. 
State's petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina 

Court of Appeals allowed 31 July 1972. 

STATE V. COFFEY 
No. 148 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 642. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 July 1972. 
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STATE v. EPPLEY 
No. 22. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 314. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals allowed 31 July 1972. 

STATE v. GIBSON 
No. 23. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 594. 
Motion of Attorney General to dismiss appeal for lack of 

substantial constitutional question allowed 1 August 1972. 

STATE v. HAIGLER 
No. 133 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 501. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 July 1972. 

STATE v. HARRISON 
No. 124 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 450. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 July 1972. 

STATE V. HART 
No. 111 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 120. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied for lack of merit 31 July 1972. 
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STATE V. HINTON 
No. 122 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 564. 

Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 
Appeals denied 31 July 1972. 

STATE v. JORDAN 
No. 107 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 453. 

Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 
Appeals denied 31 July 1972. 

STATE v. KILLIAN 
No. 119 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 446. 

Petition for writ of certiorari is treated as an appeal by 
reason of the dissent in the Court of Appeals decision. Appeal 
allowed 1 August 1972. 

STATE v. MOFFITT 
No. 183 PC. 
Case below: 9 N.C. App. 694. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 1 August 1972. 

STATE V. NOBLES 
No. 137 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 340. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 1 August 1972. 
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STATE V. ROMES 
No. 131 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 602. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 July 1972. 

STATE V. WADE 
No. 125 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 414. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 July 1972. 

STATE v. WILLIAMS 
No. 117 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 431. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 1 August 1972. 

STATE v. WILSON 
No. 121 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 399. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 1 August 1972. 

STATE v. WRIGHT 
No. 145 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 675. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 1 August 1972. 
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STATE V. YARBOROUGH 
No. 138 PC. 
Case below: 5 N.C. App. 207. 
Motion of Attorney General to dismiss petition for writ of 

certiorari to North Carolina Court of Appeals allowed 31 July 
1972. 

STEINER v. STEINER 
No. 112 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 657. 
Petition for  writ  of certiorari to  North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 July 1972. 

TAYLOR v. CASUALTY CO. 
No. 129 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 418. 
Petition for  writ  of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 1 August 1972. 
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KENNETH GLUSMAN, PETITIONER V. THE TRUSTEES OF THE 
UNIVERSITY OF NORTH CAROLINA, RESPONDENTS 

-AND - 
ANTHONY B. LAMB, PETITIONER V. THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF 

THE UNIVERSITY OF NORTH CAROLINA, RESPONDENT 

No. 113 

(Filed 31 July 1972) 

Domicile Q 1- nonresident student - presumption 
A nonresident who enrolls in an  institution of higher education 

in this state and continues his studies in such institution is presumed 
to be in this state primarily for educational purposes. 

Colleges and Universities- in-state tuition - regulations - test of 
validity 

The validity of regulations relating to eligibility for in-state 
tuition a t  an institution of higher education is to be tested by tradi- 
tional equal-protection standards, not by the more stringent standard 
of whether they were necessary to promote a compelling state interest. 

Constitutional Law $ 20- equal protection - classifications 
The traditional equal-protection test does not require the very 

best classification in the light of a legislative or regulatory purpose; 
i t  does require that such classification in relation to such purpose 
attain a minimum (undefined and undefinable) level of rationality. 

Colleges and Universities; Constitutional Law Q 20- in-state tuition - 
regulations - residence requirements - constitutionality 

Regulations of the Board of Trustees of the University of North 
Carolina which require, as prerequisites for eligibility for in-state 
tuition, that the student be domiciled in this state and in addition 
have been so domiciled without being enrolled in an institution of 
higher education for a t  least the six months preceding the date of 
first enrollment or re-enrollment in such an  institution, held not 
violative of equal protection as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amend- 
ment of the U. S. Constitution. 

Colleges and Universities; Domicile Q 2- married female student- 
domicile - standing to object to regulation 

A male student whose domicile in this state was stipulated does 
not have standing to object to a regulation which automatically 
bestows domicile on a nonresident female student who marries a 
North Carolina domiciliary, but which does not confer such status 
on a male student who marries a domiciliary of this state. 

Colleges and Universities- domicile -woman who marries N. C. resi- 
dent -, regulation - equal protection 

A regulation providing that the legal residence of a wife follows 
that  of her husband does not grant in-state tuition to a nonresident 
woman who marries a North Carolina domiciliary solely on account 
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of her sex and thus deny to men similarly situated a benefit in viola- 
tion of the Equal Protection Clauses of the North Carolina and 
United States Constitutions, since domiciliary status is  not equivalent 
to in-state tuition status under the regulations, and the regulations 
place upon all students domiciled in North Carolina, regardless of 
sex, the burden of showing that  they have been domiciled in this 
state for six months while not in attendance a t  an institution of 
higher education in order to qualify for in-state tuition. 

Justice HIGGINS dissenting. 

APPEAL by respondent, Board of Trustees of the University 
of North Carolina, from Braswell, J., January 10, 1972 Civil 
Session of WAKE Superior Court, certified, pursuant to G.S. 
7A-31, for initial appellate review by the Supreme Court. 

Kenneth Glusman (Glusman) seeks to recover a judgment 
for $1,407.50, the asserted difference between in-state and 
out-of-state tuition fees in the Law School of the University 
of North Carolina a t  Chapel Hill (Law School) for the academic 
years 1969-1970 and 1970-1971, contending that he established 
his domicile in North Carolina on February 1, 1969. Anthony 
B. Lamb (Lamb) seeks an order classifying him as eligible for 
in-state tuition status in the Law School as of January, 1970, 
contending that he established his domicile in North Carolina 
a t  that time. Petitioners assert as ground for their claims that 
the regulations of the Board of Trustees on resident status for 
tuition payment deny to them the equal protection of the laws 
guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution 
of the United States. 

In their petitions for review filed in July, 1971, under 
G.S. 143-307, Glusman and Lamb alleged that their applications 
to respondent for change of tuition status had been denied. 
These allegations were admitted in respondent's answers. (Note : 
Neither the date nor the contents of petitioners' applications to 
respondent or of respondent's decisions with reference thereto 
appear in the record before us.) 

The two proceedings were heard together by Judge Bras- 
well upon the following 

"I. That the tuition regulations under consideration were 
adopted by the Board of Trustees of the University of North 
Carolina on November 10,1967, and read as follows : 
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'1. General: The tuition charge for legal residents of North 
Carolina is less than for nonresidents. To qualify for in- 
state tuition, a legal resident must have maintained his 
domicile in North Carolina for a t  least the six m o ~ t h s  
preceding the date of first enrollment or re-enrollment in 
an  institution of higher education in this State.' 

'3. Adults: A person twenty-one years of age or older is 
eligible for in-state tuition if he has maintained continuous 
domicile in North Carolina for the six months next preced- 
ing the date of enrollment or re-enrollment, exclusive of 
any time spent in attendance at any institution of higher 
education. An in-state student reaching the age of twenty- 
one is not required to re-establish residence provided that 
he maintains his domicile in North Carollina.' 

'4. Married Students: The legal residence of a wife follows 
that of her husband, except that a woman currently en- 
rolled as an  in-state student in an  institution of higher 
education may continue as a resident even though she mar- 
ries a nonresident. If the husband is a nonresident and 
separation or divorce occurs, the woman may qualify for 
in-state tuition after establishing her domicile in North 
Carolina for a t  least six months under the same conditions 
as she could if she were single.' 

'8. Change of Status: The residence status of any student 
is determined as of the time of his first enrollment in an 
institution of higher education in North Carolina and may 
not thereafter be changed except: (a) in the case of a non- 
resident student a t  the time of his first enrollment who, or 
if a minor his parents, has subsequently maintained a legal 
residence in North Carolina for a t  least six months, and 
(b) in  the case of a resident who has abandoned his legal 
residence in North Carolina for a minimum period of 
six months. In  either case, the appropriate tuition rate 
will become effective a t  the beginning of the term follow- 
ing the six-month period.' 
"11. That petitioner Glusman came to North Carolina in 

September of 1968 and within a few days of his arrival began 
attending the School of Law of the Universitiy of North Caro- 
lina a t  Chapel Hill and attended the School of Law from Sep- 
tember 1968 until June 1969; from September of 1969 until 
June of 1970; and from September of 1970 until June of 1971. 
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At the time petitioner Glusman came to North Carolina he had 
the intent of remaining in the State for an indefinite period 
of time and a t  all times involved petitioner Glusman was charged 
nonresident tuition as  required by the regulations adopted by 
the Board of Trustees of the University of North Carolina on 
November 10, 1967. 

"111. That petitioner Lamb came to North Carolina in Sep- 
tember of 1969 and began attending the School of Law of the 
University of North Carolina a t  Chapel Hill and attended the 
School of Law from September of 1969 until June of 1970; 
from September of 1970 until June of 1971; and from Septem- 
ber of 1971 until December of 1971. At the time petitioner Lamb 
came to the State of North Carolina he had the intention of 
remaining in the State for an indefinite period of time and 
a t  all times involved the petitioner Lamb was charged nonresi- 
dent tuition. 

"IV. That the Board of Trustees Regulations in  question 
do not impede inter-state travel and that all times in  question 
there were numerous nonresident students enrolled in the School 
of Law of the University of North Carolina a t  Chapel Hill. 

"V. That a t  all times involved nonresident students enrolled 
in the School of Law of the University of North Carolina were 
charged higher rates of tuition than were charged of the resi- 
dent students enrolled. That for the years designated below, 
the tuition charged both resident and nonresident students 
enrolled in the School of Law of the University of North Caro- 
lina were as follows : 

Resident Nonresident 

1968-69 $175.00 $700.00 
1969-70 $175.00 $850.00 
1970-71 $225.00 $950.00 

"VI. That for the 1969-70 school year, the Generd As- 
sembly of North Carolina appropriated from State funds to 
the University of North Carolina a t  Chapel Hill $1,540.00 for 
the costs per capita student per annum; that the General As- 
sembly of North Carolina appropriated from State funds to  
the University of North Carolina a t  Chapel Hill for  the 1970-71 
school year, $1,584.00 costs per student per annum. That these 
figures are reflected from the current operations appropriation 
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advice prepared by the Budget Division, Department of Admin- 
istration, State of North Carolina, which advice is attached 
hereto as Exhibit 1. 

"VII. That during the period of time in question, both 
petitioners Glusman and Lamb have established residence in 
the State of North Carolina for the purposes of voting and 
payment of taxes. That the only reason why both were denied, 
after six months had elapsed, reclassification for tuition pur- 
pose to that of resident is that neither maintained a residence 
in the State for six continuous months exclusive of time spent 
while in attendance a t  the University of North Carolina School 
of Law. 

"VIII. That the Board of Trustees Regulation No. 4, set 
forth in I of the Stipulations permits a nonresident female to 
acquire a residence through marriage but does not give a non- 
resident male the same opportunity." 

The portion of Judge Braswell's judgment denominated 
findings of fact consists of the facts set forth in the agreed 
statement and in addition thereto the following : 

"Virtually all the time spent [by Glusman] in Chapel 
Hill has coincided with his enrollment in the University of 
North Carolina. At the time of initiating the proceedings for 
administrative relief Mr. Glusman was twenty-four years of 
age, married, and living in Chapel Hill." 

"At the time of initiating his administrative petition for 
relief, Mr. Lamb was twenty-nine years of age, married to a 
person who has heretofore been classified by the Board of Trus- 
tees as a resident of the State of North Carolina. He has lived 
in Carrboro since September, 1969. Virtually all of the time 
spent in North Carolina has coineided with his enrollment in an  
institution of higher education, the University of North Caro- 
lina." 

"[TI he Residence Status Committee of the University of 
North Carolina, and the Board of Trustees of the University 
of North Carolina, have not given either petitioner a hearing to 
listen to the alleged facts of a bona fide change in residence, 
since the time of first enrollment in an institution of higher 
education in North Carolina ; but the administrative procedures 
and review prior to reaching Superior Court did determine 
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that neither student dropped o~ut of enrollment a t  any time, 
and neither student re-enrolled after a lapse of six months and 
that each re-enrollment was a continuing thing in the normal 
academic year of the University of North Carolina." 

Lamb "became a married man after his initial enrollment. 
His wife was a legal resident of the State of North Carolina. 
She was entitled to a lower tuition rate than her husband." 

After the portion thereof denominated conclusions of law, 
the judgment entered by Judge Braswell provides: 

"NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND' DECREED, 
that the tuition regulations which provide that the residence 
status of any student is forever to be determined as of the time 
of his first enrollment in an institution of higher education in  
North Carolina, and that residence status may not thereafter 
be changed if he continues re-enrollment without first having 
dropped out of school for at  least a six-months' period, is de- 
clared unconstitutional. 

"The cases of Kenneth Glusman, petitioner, and Anthony 
B. Lamb, petitioner, are each, hereby remanded to the Residence 
Status Committee of the University of North Carolina a t  Chapel 
Hill; which Committee shall conduct a hearing, after notice, 
and it shall make a determination of residence of each petitioner 
during the period involved in each petition; and i t  shall make 
such ruling and order as  the true facts warrant. 

"In its determination of residence status of each petitioner 
the respondent shall not apply its regulations so as to discrimi- 
nate against a male student who, being married, has since his 
first enrollment established a bona fide residence in North 
Carolina, and whose wife would be qualified to be enrolled as an 
in-state resident by virtue of the husband being then a legal 
resident of the State of North Carolina. 

"Court costs are taxed against the respondent." 

Respondent excepted "[tlo the foregoing findings of fact 
and conclusions of law, and entry of judgment," and gave 
notice of appeal. By supplemental order under G.S. 143-316, 
Judge Braswell stayed the foregoing judgment pending the 
outcome of respondent's appeal. 
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At torney  General Morgan and Deputy Attorney General 
Vanore for  respondent appellant. 

Kenneth Glusman for  petitioner appellees. 

BOBBITT, Chief Justice. 

The regulations governing tuition status at the time peti- 
tioners were enrolled in the Law School established certain 
requirements for eligibility for in-state tuition. To be eligible, 
a prospective student (1) must have lived in this state, (2) 
with intent to make i t  a home, (3) for at least six months, and 
(4) without being enrolled in an institution of higher education 
during the six-month period. Thus, to qualify for in-state 
tuition, the regulations required that the student be domiciled 
in  this state and in addition have been so domiciled without 
being enrolled in  an institution of higher education for a t  least 
the six months preceding the date of first enrollment or re- 
enrollment in such institution. For full discussion of domicile, 
see Hall v. Board o f  Elections, 280 N.C. 600, 187 S.E. 2d 52 
(1972). 

Petitioners do not contest the validity of Regulation No. 1, 
which provides that "[tlhe tuition charge for legal residents 
of North Carolina is less than for nonresidents" and that "[tlo 
qualify for in-state tuition, a legal resident must have main- 
tained his domicile in North Carolina for a t  least the six months 
preceding the date of first enrollment or re-enrollment in an 
institution of higher education in this State." (Our italics.) 
The State's right to charge nonresidents higher tuition than 
residents is not challenged and has been repeatedly upheld as 
reasonably related to the State's legitimate interest in operat- 
ing, maintaining and financing its educational institutions. 
Johns v .  Redeker, 406 F. 2d 878 (8th Cir.), cert. den. sub nom. 
Twi s t  v .  Redeker, 396 U.S. 853, 24 L.Ed. 2d 102, 90 S.Ct. 113 
(1969). See also, Bryan  v .  Regents o f  University o f  California, 
188 Cal. 559, 205 P. 1071 (1922) ; Landwehr v. Regents of 
University of  Colorado, 156 Colo. 1, 396 P. 2d 451 (1964) ; 
Clarke v .  Redeker, 259 F. Supp. 117 (S.D. Iowa 1966) ; Clarke 
v. Redeker, 406 F. 2d 883 (8th Cir.), cert. den. 396 U.S. 862, 
24 L.Ed. 2d 115, 90 S.Ct. 135 (1969) ; Kirk  v .  Board o f  Regents 
of Univ.  o f  California, 273 Cal. App. 2d 430, 78 Cal. Rptr. 
260 (1st Dist. Ct. App. 1969), app. dism. 396 U.S. 554, 24 
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L.Ed. 2d 747, 90 S.Ct 754 (1970) ; Starns v. Malkersorz, 326 
F. Supp. 234 (ID. Minn. 1970), aff'd without opinion, 401 
U.S. 985, 28 L.Ed. 2d 527, 91 S.Ct. 1231 (1971) ; Thompson u. 
Board of Regents of University of Neb., 187 Neb. 252, 188 
N.W. 2d 840 (1971) ; Spencer, "The Legal Aspects of the Non- 
resident Tuition Fee," 6 Ore. L. Rev. 332 (1927) ; Note, "The 
Constitutionality of Nonresident Tuition," 55 Minn. L. Rev. 
1139 (1971) ; Note, 8 Wake For. L. Rev. 265 (1972). 

Petitioners were nonresidents, 21 years of age or more, 
when they first enrolled in the Law School of the University 
of North Carolina. It was stipulated that each petitioner had 
the intention of remaining in North Carolina indefinitely when 
he came into this state; that, "during the period of time in 
question,'' each petitioner "established residence in the State of 
North Carolina for the purposes of voting and payment of 
taxes"; and that "the only reason why both were denied, after 
six months had elapsed, reclassification for tuition purpose[s] 
to that of resident is that neither maintained a residence in 
the State for six continuous months exclusive of time spent 
while in attendance a t  the IJniversity of North Carolina School 
of Law." 

[I] Petitioners concede that respondent could by regulation 
provide that a nonresident who enrolls in an institution of high- 
er  education in this state and continues his studies in such 
institution is presumed to be in this state primarily for educa- 
tional purposes. Clarke v. Redeker, 259 F. Supp. at  122; 55 
Minn. L. Rev. a t  1158-59. Such a presumption is part of our 
law, aside from the regulations involved in this case. Hall v. 
Board of Elections, supra a t  608, 187 S.E. 2d a t  57. Petitioners 
contend that the absolute requirement that they reside in  this 
state for at  least six months preceding the date of their re- 
enrollment exclusive of any time spent in attendance in any 
institution of higher education, notwithstanding they have be- 
come domiciliaries, unconstitutionally denied to them rights 
accorded other domiciliaries of North Carolina. 

Petitioners stress Carrington v. Rash, 380 U.S. 89, 13 
L.Ed. 2d 675, 85 S.Ct. 775 (1965). In that case the United 
States Supreme Court invalidated a provision of the Texas 
Constitution prohibiting any member of the Armed Forces 
who moved his home to Texas during the course of his military 
duty from ever voting in any election in that state so long as  



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 637 

Glusman v. Trustees and Lamb v. Board of Trustees 

he was a member of the Armed Forces. It was held that this 
provision established an  "incontrovertible presumption of non- 
residence," and, as applied to a bona fide domiciliary of Texas, 
violated the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amend- 
ment. The real holding in Carrington was that a burden may 
not be imposed on, or a right denied to, a group labeled "non- 
resident," when such labeling, with such attendant imposition 
or denial, is not reasonably related to the state interest i t  seeks 
to protect. In the present case, petitioners are not labeled as  
"nonresidents." Whether the denial of a benefit to a certain 
class of residents (domiciliaries) in the present case, with its 
peculiar facts, is reasonably related to the state interest the 
classification is meant to protect, is not determined by the 
holding in Carrington, involving an entirely different set of 
facts. 

In  Shapiro v. Thompson,  394 U.S. 618, 22 L.Ed. 2d 600, 
89 S.Ct. 1322 (1969), the Supreme Court held that state dura- 
tional residence requirements penalized the exercise of a per- 
son's basic constitutional right to travel freely from one state 
to another by rendering him ineligible for welfare assistance, 
thereby depriving him of a right secured by the Equal Protec- 
tion Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. In D u n n  v. Blum- 
stein ,  405 U.S. 330, 31 L.Ed. 2d 274, 92 S.Ct. 995 (l972), the 
Supreme Court considered Tennessee constitutional and statu- 
tory provisions which required residence in the state for one 
year for eligibility to vote in a state election. It was held that 
these provisions, as applied to a bona fide resident of Tennes- 
see for less than one year, deprived such a resident of the rights 
to vote and to freedom of interstate travel in violation of the 
Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

In  Shapiro and in Dunn,  the state durational residence re- 
quirements were subjected to the most stringent test, namely, 
whether they were necessary to promote a compelling state 
interest. 

[2] A person's right to eligibility for in-state tuition is quite 
different from his basic constitutional right to travel freely from 
one state to another (Shapiro and D u n n )  or his basic constitu- 
tional right to vote (Dwnn).  We take notice of the stipulation 
that the regulations in the present case "do not impede inter- 
state travel." Since they do not relate to basic constitutional 
rights, the regulations are to be tested by the less stringent 
traditional equal-protection standards. 
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[3] The traditional equal-protection test does not require the 
very best classification in the light of a legislative or regulatory 
purpose; i t  does require that such classification in relation to 
such purpose attain a minimum (undefined and undefinable) 
level of rationality. "In the area of economics and social wel- 
fare, a state does not violate the Equal Protection Clause merely 
because the classifications made by its laws are imperfect. If 
the classification has some 'reasonable basis,' i t  does not offend 
the Constitution simply because the classification 'is not made 
with mathematical nicety or because in practice i t  results in 
some inequality.' " Dandridge v.  Williams, 397 U.S. 471, 485, 
25 L.Ed. 2d 491,501-02,90 S.Ct. 1153,1161 (1970). 

In Landwehr v. Regents of University of Colorado, supra, 
and in Thompson v.  Board of Regents o f  University of Neb., 
supra, statutory provisions requiring as prerequisites for eligi- 
bility for in-state tuition, domiciliary status and actual 
residence within the state for a specified period exclusive of 
time spent in any institution of higher education, were upheld 
as reasonably related to a legitimate state objective. In  Newman 
v. Graham, 82 Idaho 90, 349 P. 2d 716, 83 A.L.R. 2d 492 (1960), 
a similar requirement was held to be unconstitutional on the 
ground that i t  was "arbitrary, capricious and unreasonable." 

In the establishment and operation of its institutions of 
higher education, North Carolina's obligation and primary pur- 
pose is to provide opportunities to citizens of this state. In fur- 
therance thereof, in-state students are not required to pay tuition 
fees equivalent to the per capita cost but may enroll upon 
payment of the low in-state tuition. North Carolina is not in  a 
position to provide opportunities to citizens of other states on 
this low-cost basis. Indeed, in view of present crowded condi- 
tions, only a limited number of persons domiciled in other 
states may be enrolled in our institutions of higher education. 

[4] North Carolina's right to require a domiciliary of another 
state to pay the higher out-of-state tuition fees upon his initial 
enrollment in an institution of higher education is not in  dispute. 
The question is whether i t  is reasonable for the State to require 
that such person, in addition to being domiciled in North Caro- 
lina, be so domiciled while not in attendance a t  an institution of 
higher education for a six-month period, before he may qualify 
for in-state tuition. 
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We hold that such requirement is reasonable. The object is 
to assure that students who benefit from the in-state tuition 
subsidy the State provides for its citizens are in fact its own 
citizens. The Board of Trustees has determined that domicile 
alone is insufficent for this purpose. Domicile is solely a matter 
of physical presence plus the intent to make a home. All stu- 
dents enrolled in our institutions of higher education visibly 
meet the first requirement of domicile. The second requirement, 
however, is a concept in the mind of a particular student. It is 
true, as this Court emphasized in Hall v. Boa& of Elections, 
supra, that there are objective indicia by which a person's 
statement of intent may be tested. Even so, a statement of 
intent is usually difficult to disprove; and the determination 
of a student's domicile is especially difficult and subject to 
doubt. Ordinarily, whatever plans students may have with 
reference to where they will locate when they complete their 
attendance in an institution of higher education are  in flux, 
frequently changed as  unforeseeable circumstances and oppor- 
tunities influence their future careers. Hence, the Board of 
Trustees has determined that domicile is only one of the pre- 
requisites for in-state tuition status. 

The State has no obligation to provide educational oppor- 
tunities to noncitizens. Its interests require that i t  subsidize 
only those students whom i t  may be certain are North Carolina 
citizens. Moreover, uncertainty as to the circumstances under 
which the tuition status of students may change is fiscally and 
administratively undesirable. 

The six-month nonattendance requirement adds objectivity 
and certainty to the requirement of domicile. I t  is a certainty 
not obtained by placing an unreasonable burden on students. 
Petitioners were not barred by respondent's regulations from 
becoming domiciliaries of North Carolina. Nor were they barred 
from becoming eligible for in-state tuition. Rather, they were 
only required, if they wanted that status, to be domiciled in 
North Carolina for six months while not in the Law School. 
They must be deemed to have enrolled in the Law School with 
full knowledge of the tuition-status requirements. If they had 
complied with the requirements for eligibility for in-state 
tuition, their statement of intent to make North Carolina their 
home would have been borne out by an objective indication of 
their earnestness. That the Board of Trustees might have 
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chosen other objective indicators to test the domiciliary intent 
of applicants for in-state tuition is not to say the one chosen 
was unreasonable. That there may be hardship cases resulting 
from the enforcement of these regulations is also not to say 
they are unreasonable. The constitutional test is whether the 
regulations have tended in general to assure that only North 
Carolina citizens get the benefit of in-state tuition. We hold that 
they have. 

[6] Apart from the foregoing, petitioner Lamb contends he 
became eligible for in-state tuition status as of January, 1970, 
under Regulation No. 4, because of his marriage to a North 
Carolina domiciliary. Regulation No. 4 provides : "4. Married 
Students: The legal residence of a wife follows that of her 
husband, except that a woman currently enrolled as an in- 
state student in an institution of higher education may continue 
as a resident even though she marries a nonresident. If the 
husband is a nonresident and separation or divorce occurs, the 
woman may qualify for in-state tuition after establishing her 
domicile in North Carolina for a t  least six months under the 
same conditions as she could if she were single." Lamb contends 
that Regulation No. 4 grants in-state tuition to a nonresident 
woman who marries a North Carolina domiciliary solely on ac- 
count of her sex and thus denies to men similarly situated a 
benefit in violation of the Equal Protection Clauses of the 
North Carolina and United States Constitutions. 

Paragraph VIII of the AGREED STATEMENT OF FACTS pro- 
vides "[t] hat the Board of Trustees Regulation No. 4 . . . permits 
a nonresident female to acquire a residence through marriage 
but does not give a nonresident male the same opportunity." 
Although not included in the stipulations, the court found that 
Lamb "became a married man after his initial enrollment"; 
that "[hlis wife was a legal resident of the State of North 
Carolina" ; and that "[s] he was entitled to a lower tuition rate 
than her husband." The date of Lamb's marriage is undisclosed. 
Presumably, since the court found that "[slhe was entitled to 
a Iower tuition rate than her husband," Mrs. Lamb had been a 
domiciliary for a t  least six months exclusive of any time spent 
in attendance a t  any institution of higher education. The record 
indicates she had not enrolled in any institution of higher edu- 
cation but was employed a t  the Research Triangle Institute. 
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The foregoing constitutes the only pertinent factual data 
before us with reference to Lamb's claim to in-state tuition 
status on account of his marriage. 

Regulation No. 4 makes no provision for a change in the 
"legal residence9' (domicile) of a nonresident man upon his 
marriage with a resident woman. The difference in the treat- 
ment of the sexes is this: When the nonresident woman marries 
the resident man, ips0 facto she becomes a domiciliary of this 
state from the date of her marriage. K i ~ k  v. Board o f  Regen t s  
o f  Univ. o f  California, supra. When the nonresident man mar- 
ries the resident woman, he does not automatically become a 
domiciliary of this state but must establish that he has become 
a domiciliary by traditional proofs. For the reasons stated 
below, we need not consider whether this difference constitutes 
unreasonable discrimination. 

[5] Independent of his marriage to a North Carolina resident, 
the stipulations establish that Lamb became a domiciliary of 
North Carolina as sf a date prior to completion of his attend- 
ance in the Law School. Since Lamb's domiciliary status has 
never been in question in this case, Lamb does not have standing 
to object to the automatic bestowal of domicile on a nonresident 
woman who marries a North Carolina domiciliary. 

[6] As stated above, the regulations required that Lamb, to 
be eligible for in-state tuition status, show not only (1) that 
he was a domiciliary of North Carolina, but also (2) that he 
was a domiciliary of North Carolina for six continuous months 
exclusive of time spent while in attendance a t  the Law School. 
Under the regulations, domiciliary status was not equivalent to 
in-state tuition status. Although a woman was deemed a domi- 
ciliary of North Carolina from the date of her marriage, to be- 
come eligible for in-state tuition a married woman, just 
as  Lamb or any other student, had to establish actual residence 
in this state for six continuous months exclusive of the time 
spent while in attendance a t  an institution of higher education. 
The regulations, including Regulation No. 4, placed upon all 
students domiciled in North Carolina, regardless o f  sez ,  the 
burden of showing that they had been domiciled in North Caro- 
lina for six months while not in attendance a t  an institution of 
higher education, to qualify for in-state tuition. Therefore, 
Lamb's equal-protection argument fails. 
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Only two cases have come to our attention which involve 
regulations similar in some respects to Regulation No. 4. 

In  Kirk v. Board of Regents of Univ. of California, supra, 
the regulation provided that "[t] he residence of the husband is 
the residence of the wife . . . . " The petitioner (wife), a resi- 
dent of Ohio, married a California resident on July 1, 1967, and 
became a resident of California as of that date. The denial of 
her right to enroll in the University of California in September, 
1967, as an in-state student was upheld because she was not "a 
resident student," a term defined in the regulations as "any 
person who has been a bona fide resident of the State for 
more than one year immediately preceding the opening day 
of a semester during which he proposes to attend the univer- 
sity." The court rejected the petitioner's contention that the 
period of her husband's residence in California preceding the 
marriage should be retroactively "tacked" to the period of her 
residence after the marriage. 

In Clarke v. Redeker, 259 F. Supp. 117, a three-judge fed- 
eral court upheld a regulation which provided: "The residence 
of a wife is that of her husband. A nonresident female student 
may attain residence through marriage, and correspondingly, a 
resident female student may lose residence by marrying a non- 
resident." 

We hold that the regulations as interpreted herein are 
valid and are not subject to successful attack by petitioners. 
Accordingly, the judgment of the court below is reversed. 

Reversed. 

Justice HIGGINS dissenting. 

In the short time a t  my disposal and before the majority 
opinion becomes the law of this case, I have prepared and now 
record my dissent. The trustees, I think, have authority to fix 
a higher tuition rate for nonresident students than required of 
resident students for the same course of study. In my opinion, 
they do not have authority to fix a different rate for resident 
students. 

The record indicates that all students are required to reg- 
ister and pay tuition in advance a t  the beginning of each school 
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year. If a nonresident student becomes a resident of North Caro- 
lina during a school term, in my opinion, thereafter he is en- 
titled to register and pay tuition according to his actual resi- 
dential status. Any other rule would be discriminatory and the 
denial of equal protection of the laws. 

In order to prevent false claims of change in residence, the 
trustees require that when a nonresident student registers he 
continues to be a nonresident continually thereafter so long as 
he remains a student. He cannot raise the question of his actual 
residence until he quits school for a t  least six months and then 
re-enters. Hence the rule for all practical purposes raises a 
conclusive, irrebuttable presumption that he has not changed 
in fact, but continues a nonresident. The trustees say any other 
rule would permit false claims. However, the purpose of the 
hearing is to determine the bona fides of a claim rather than 
conclusively to presume i t  to be false. That a rule may on occa- 
sion be violated is not just cause for abrogation. An occasional 
violation is not the test either of its validity or its wisdom. The 
fact that false claims may be filed is not ground to deny just 
ones. 

In this case, Glusman and Lamb each registered as  a non- 
resident and paid the required nonresident tuition fees. Before 
they completed their courses of study they alleged they became 
residents of North Carolina, registered, voted, and paid taxes 
as such. 

At the beginning of the next school year, they sought to 
register as residents of North Carolina and to be admitted on 
the payment of tuition fees charged other residents. Their claims 
were denied on the ground the first registration froze their 
status and they could not thereafter raise the question of their 
actual residence. At registration they were required to pay non- 
residence fees approximately four times the amount charged 
other residents of the State. They filed claims for refund which 
the committee of the trustees denied; thereupon, they filed this 
action in the Superior Court of Wake County for review of the 
administrative decision denying their claims. 

After hearing in the Superior Court, Judge Braswell en- 
tered judgment of which the following is a part: 

"2. That the tuition regulations of November 10, 1967, 
do establish an irrebuttable presumption of nonresidence 
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for all students twenty-one years of age or over who first 
enroll as a nonresident. Each petitioner is over twenty- 
one years of age. Each petitioner first enrolled as a non- 
resident. 

"3. The Board of Trustees of the University of North 
Carolina may not establish an irrebuttable presumption of 
nonresidence upon the basis that a student once enrolled 
as a nonresident, paying nonresident tuition fees, cannot 
thereafter become a bona fide resident, short of dropping 
out of enrollment in an institution of higher education in 
North Carolina for a t  least six months before re-enroll- 
ment as a student. This irrebuttable presumption denies 
each petitioner the equal protection of the law. The peti- 
tioners should have the opportunity to present their facts 
before the Residence Status Committee of the University. 

"5. There is no rational or reasonable basis on which 
an individual who has been a bona fide resident of and 
domiciled in the State of North Carolina for the initial 
time period required by law, why he should be denied the 
right to prove the fact of bona fide domiciled resident 
simply because he was in attendance of an institution of 
higher education in this State. 

"NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DE- 
CREED, that the tuition regulations which provide that the 
residence status of any student is forever to be determined 
as of the time of his first enrollment in an institution of 
higher education in North Carolina, and that residence 
status may not thereafter be changed if he continues re- 
enrollment witholut first having dropped out of school for 
a t  least a six-months' period, is declared unconstitutional." 

Judge Braswell ordered the case remanded to the proper 
committee of the trustees for determination of the citizenship 
status of the students a t  the time they registered and paid the 
fees now involved in this proceeding. 

Judge Braswell refused to recognize the validity of the 
trustees' claims that a student's residential status is fixed for 
all years following his registration unless he quits school and 
remains absent for a t  least six months. For all intents and pur- 
poses the rule creates a conclusive, irrebuttable presumption 
against any change of residential status. 
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The foregoing is contrary to our rule which is succinctly 
stated by a great lawyer who graced this Court during the 
present generation. In Trust Company v. Andrews, 264 N.C. 
531, 142 S.E. 2d 182, Justice William B. Rodman, Jr. stated 
the rule: "The power to create a presumption cannot be made 
a device to short-circuit constitutional prohibitions." A student, 
or any other person who becomes of age, has a right to change 
his residence. The denial of this right, or its lawful exercise, 
is a denial of a constitutional guarantee. Newrnan v. Graham, 
349 P. 2d 716; Carrington v. Rash, 380 U.S. 89, 13 L.Ed. 2d 
675. 

The motif of the Court's opinion in this case is political 
rather than judicial and denies to the claimants the right to be 
heard on the bona fides of their claims. 

I vote to affirm the judgment of the Superior Court. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. CEPHUS JEROME DAWSON, 
NATHANIEL SMITH, AND SAMUEL VEREANELL ROSEBORO 

No. 36 

(Filed 31 July 1972) 

1. Criminal Law 5 92- denial of motion for severance 
The trial court did not err  in the denial of defendants' motion for 

severance of their rape trial where defendants were jointly indicted 
for the rape of the same person, and the evidence upon which the 
State relied for conviction of each relates to a single transaction and 
involves all defendants, notwithstanding the State's evidence tended 
to show that only one defendant had sexual intercourse with the 
victim and the guilt of the other two defendants, if any, rested on 
evidence that they aided and abetted the first defendant in the com- 
mission of the crime. 

2. Jury § 5- jury selection-questioning conducted by court 
Although G.S. 9-16(a) assures a defendant of the right to have 

due inquiry made as to the competency and fitness of any person to 
serve as a juror, the actual questioning of prospective jurors to 
elicit the pertinent information may be conducted either by the court 
or  by counsel for the State and counsel for the defendant; the trial 
judge, in his discretion, may decide which course to pursue in a 
particular case. 

3. Rape § 5- principals in second degree- sufficiency of evidence 
The State's evidence was sufficient to support a conviction of 

two defendants for the crime of rape as principals in the second 
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degree where it tended to show that such defendants were standing 
by while a third defendant committed a rape, that  they were under- 
taking to protect the third defendant from interference, that  each 
of them obstructed the attempts of two witnesses to rescue the 
victim from the third defendant, and that  the three defendants to- 
gether fled from the scene while a witness was trying to call the 
police. 

4. Criminal Law § 99- ejectment of spectators 
The trial court in a rape prosecution did not er r  in ejecting two 

black girls from the courtroom for disrupting the trial and in in- 
structing them not to return to the courtroom until they decided to 
behave themselves. 

5. Rape (5 6- failure to submit lesser degrees 
In  this rape prosecution, the trial court did not e r r  in failing to 

submit lesser included offenses to the jury where the State's evidence 
tended to show that  one defendant was guilty of rape as principal 
in the first degree and that the two remaining defendants were 
guilty a s  principals in the second degree of the crime committed 
by the first defendant, and there was no evidence from which the 
jury could find that  any defendant committed an  included crime of 
lesser degree. 

Justice LAKE concurring in result. 

APPEAL by defendants from Cooper, J., August-September 
1971 Criminal Session of COLUMBUS. 

Defendants, Cephus Jerome Dawson (Dawson) , Nathaniel 
Smith (Smith) and Samuel Vereanell Roseboro (Roseboro) , 
were jointly indicted for the rape of one Edell Hughes on July 
18, 1971. 

Upon arraignment on September 2, 1971, each defendant, 
through Edward L. Williamson, Esquire, his court-appointed 
counsel, pleaded not guilty. Defendants' motions for severance 
of the cases were denied and each defendant excepted. There- 
upon, a jury was selected, sworn and empaneled. Evidence was 
offered by the State and in behalf of defendants. None of de- 
fendants testified. 

STATE'S EVIDENCE 
Testimony of Mrs. Edell Hughes 

Mrs. Edell Hughes testified that she left home about 10:30 
or 1 1 : O O  p.m. on the night of Saturday, July 17, 1971, and 
started walking toward Whiteville, N. C., where she was em- 
ployed a t  the Whiteville Convalescent Center. Ordinarily, she 
went to work by car, a distance of a mile and a quarter; but 
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her husband had left in their car and was not expected back 
that night. Mrs. Hughes had to be a t  work a t  6 :00 a.m. Sunday 
morning, July 18th. Since she "didn't have any transportation 
to work the next morning," she decided to  go to Whiteville and 
spend the night there with a friend or a t  the hotel. 

When attacked, Mrs. Hughes was in the middle of Pine Log 
Road, walking toward U. S. Highway 701 By-Pass. As she 
"neared" the Sherwood Drive-In and Sellers Service Station, 
three or four "colored" surrounded and "grabbed hold of her" 
and "started taking her off of the street." When she begged 
them to leave her alone, they would not listen but told her they 
would kill her "if she didn't stop that noise." They carried her 
"off the street." Her slacks were torn off. She was hit on the 
side of her head. Somebody "got on top of her and proceeded 
to have intercourse." She did not recognize any of them. 

The "next thing she knew," she heard someone say, "Get 
off that white woman and leave her alone." A boy and a girl 
had come to her rescue. Both were colored. Mrs. Hughes did 
not know them and had never seen them. After the girl had 
helped Mrs. Hughes get her clothes on, the boy and girl took 
Mrs. Hughes to the police station. 

Testimony of Viola Collins 

Viola Collins testified that she was a t  the Sherwood Drive- 
In between 12:30 and l:00 a.m. on Sunday, July 18th. A "boy 
named Dennis," with whom she had come to the Sherwood 
Drive-In, had gone "around to the back" and, upon his return, 
he "told her not to go around there because they had a white 
woman around there." Contrary to Dennis's advice, she "went 
on around behind the building, a distance of about the length 
of the courtroom to a point behind Pridgen's Refrigerator Serv- 
ice and Sellers Gas Station, a vacant lot." She then saw Daw- 
son on top of the lady later identified as Mrs. Hughes. Four 
or five other people were there but she heard no one say any- 
thing to Dawson. 

Dawson was "on top [of Mrs. Hughes] having intercourse 
with her." Smith and Roseboro were "standing there.'' Viola 
Collins told Dawson "to get up" and pulled "a towel or some- 
thing" from Mrs. Hughes's face and got her by the arm. Mrs. 
Hughes, who seemed to  have been "asleep or something," then 
"woke up," grabbed Viola Collins by the arm and asked for 
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help. Viola Collins tried to pull Dawson off of Mrs. Hughes, 
but he would not get up and told her to wait until he had 
finished. She then told him: "[Ylou stay there until you finish 
and I am going to call a cop." While she was trying to get Daw- 
son off of Mrs. Hughes, Smith, who "was standing a foot 
from [Dawson]," told her to leave Dawson alone. Roseboro 
"told her to shut up and get away or they would get her down." 

After Dawson had refused to get off of Mrs. Hughes, Viola 
Collins then went to the Sherwood Drive-In for some change 
and then went to the phone booth. She "didn't know the num- 
ber" and could not get the operator. She then "went back around 
there" and found that "all of them had gone." Mrs. Hughes's 
face was bruised on the side. She helped Mrs. Hughes get her 
clothes on and then she and Larry McMillan took Mrs. Hughes 
to the police station. 

On cross-examination, Viola Collins testified that Mrs. 
Hughes said something about having had a quarrel with her 
husband; that Mrs. Hughes said that, after she had left home, 
some white boys picked her up and put her out down by Sellers 
Service Station; and that Mrs. Hughes had been drinking but 
she (Viola Collins) "didn't know about her being drunk." 

Tes t imony  o f  Larry McMillan 

Larry McMillan testified that he knew Dawson, Smith and 
Roseboro and that he was a t  Sherwood Drive-In between 12:30 
and 12:40 a.m. on July 18th. As a result of what "a guy" said, 
he "went around there" and saw Dawson "having intercourse 
with the lady." Dawson had his pants down to his ankles. He 
heard Roseboro tell Dawson "that he was greedy" and he heard 
Smith say something to Viola Collins but "didn't know what i t  
was." He tried to make Dawson "get up off the Iady." Dawson 
swung his left arm back but did not hit McMillan. While Daw- 
son "was on her," Smith was standing about two feet from 
Dawson's head and Roseboro was standing about two feet to 
the right of Smith. Viola Collins ran to call the police. The 
three defendants left together, running. Viola Collins returned 
and "helped the lady" find her clothes. He and Viola Collins 
helped Mrs. Hughes put her clothes on and stood her up. Mrs. 
Hughes fell back when she attempted to stand alone and they 
helped her up again. 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 649 

State v. Dawson 

Larry McMillan further testified that "he heard Mrs. 
Hughes say please get up, and Viola turned to Dawson and told 
him to get off." 

Test imony of  Dr. F. M.  Carroll 

I?. M. Carroll, a medical doctor, testified that on July 18, 
1971, about 1 :25 a.m., he made an  examination of Mrs. Hughes 
"and in particular the pelvis examination." Re observed that 
there was a bruise and abrasion on the left side of her face 
and left shoulder and some bruises on her back, mostly on the 
left side. She was "dirty and a lot of dirt and grass were on 
her clothes." " [Hler back and external female parts were dirty 
with grass and dirt about this area." "[Slhe was undergoing 
a menstrual period." A microscopic examination of secretion 
taken from her vagina disclosed that sperm were present, and 
in  his opinion she had had intercourse with someone within 
three or four hours. On the occasion of his examination, "in- 
toxication was not noticeable." 

Test imony of George Dudley 

George Dudley testified that he is a Sergeant in the White- 
ville Police Department and that he investigated the alleged 
rape of Edell Hughes on July 18, 1971. Each of the defendants 
made a statement to him. The court sustained defendants' ob- 
jections to statements, if any, made by them to Sgt. Dudley. 

DEFENDANTS' EVIDENCE 
Test imony of Tony  H. Shipman 

Tony H. Shipman testified that he is 14 years of age. About 
11 :30 p.m., when walking in "the most direct route" from the 
bowling alley on U. S. 701 By-Pass to the Sherwood Drive-In 
he saw the lady later identified as Mrs. Hughes. She was lying 
on the grass, with her head resting on a suitcase, "between 
Pridgens and Sellers," about 50 yards off the paved sidewalk 
that ran along the edge of Powell Boulevard. She "had on pants, 
blouse, and shoes." He "ran to the Sherwood and told someone 
she was there." He "went back there with someone" and "the 
lady was still there, lying in about the same position." She 
was "not awake," and made no response when he tried to talk 
to her. She "did not ever say anything in  his presence and she 
did not get up." Defendant Smith was one of "a lot of people" 
who went back there with him. Shipman did not see Roseboro 



650 IN THE SUPREME COURT [281 

State v. Dawson 

or Dawson. He Ieft for his home in a friend's car and he did 
not know whether defendant Smith was still there when he left 
to go home. Shipman did not attempt to help the lady, "just 
glanced a t  her and left." 

Testimony of Sylvester Baldwin 

Sylvester Baldwin testified that he operates the Sherwood 
Drive-In. He was a t  his place of business from about 7:00 p.m. 
on Saturday, July 17th, until about 2:00 a.m. on Sunday, July 
18th, "waiting on customers." He went outside the building 
several times that night. There were "several people," "quite a 
crowd," out in front. He did not recall having seen a white 
woman on Pine Log Road in front of his place of business at 
any time that night. He did not learn of the aIIeged offense 
until about 2 :00 a.m. "[HI e did not go back there behind the 
Drive-In nor did anyone come in and tell him about what was 
going on." He had known defendant Dawson well since he was 
about nine years old but did not know the other two defend- 
ants. 

Testimoxy of Bobby Randall 

Bobby Randall testified that he lives in Whiteville, is 23 
years of age, and has known the defendants a long time. On 
the night of July 17, 1971, he "was down [at Sherwood Drive- 
In] from about 9 :00 to 11 :30, just sitting around drinking beer 
and talking." He left "about 11:3OV but "went back to Sher- 
wood about 12 :00 or 12 :15." " [HI e did not recall seeing a white 
woman walking down the road with a suitcase." "[Hle was 
sitting out in front of Sherwood before he Ieft a t  about 11:30 
and quite a few people were sitting in cars." " [Hle was in front 
of Sherwood when Viola Collins came around the building." 
She asked him to take her and her father across town, and he 
agreed. "[Wlhen he started out, someone from behind the 
building came and told us that they got a woman back there." 
"[Hie also went back there, in the area where the activity was 
taking place and there were quite a few back there when he 
got there," "between seven and ten people." "[HI e did not know 
about what happened back there in the lot and did not know 
whether or not Mrs. Hughes walked down the road with a suit- 
case." 

CHARACTER WITNESSES 
Annie P. Shipman, age 72, and Mrs. J. E. Baldwin, age 70, 

and Mamie Maultsby, age 81, testified with reference to the 
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general reputation of Roseboro. John Bennett testified with 
reference to the general reputation of Dawson. Freddie Barkley 
testified with reference to the general reputation of Smith. 

(Note: When referring to events which occurred on Satur- 
day, which was July 17, 1971, certain witnesses erroneously re- 
ferred to such events as having occurred on July 18, 1971, which 
was Sunday.) 

As to each of the three defendants, the jury returned a 
verdict of guilty of rape with a recommendation of life im- 
prisonment. Thereupon the court, in separate judgments, sen- 
tenced each defendant to life imprisonment. 

Each defendant excepted and appealed. 

An order entered by the trial judge extended the time for 
docketing the record on appeal in the Appellate Division. 

Attorney General Morgan and Associate Attorney Lloyd for  
the State. 

Edward L. Williamson for  defendant appellants. 

BOBBITT, Chief Justice. 

111 Defendants' assignments of error based on exceptions to 
the denial of their motions for severance are without merit. 
Defendants were jointly indicted in a single bill for the rape of 
Mrs. Edell Hughes on July 18, 1971. The evidence upon which 
the State relied for the conviction of each relates to a single 
transaction and involves all defendants. 

The record does not disclose what reason, if any, was ad- 
vanced in the trial court in  support of the motions for severance. 
In  this Court, Smith and Roseboro assert that they were preju- 
diced by their trial with Dawson because the State's evidence 
tended to show Dawson had actual sexual intercourse with Mrs. 
Hughes but that their guilt, if any, rested on evidence tending to 
show that they aided and abetted Dawson in his commission 
of the crime of rape. 

It was proper and appropriate for the three defendants to 
be tried together. The court properly instructed the jury that 
they would return verdicts of not guilty as to Smith and Rose- 
boro if they failed to  find beyond a reasonable doubt that Daw- 
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son committed the actual completed crime of rape. Too, the 
court properly instructed the jury that, if they found Dawson 
guilty of rape, they would consider and determine separately 
whether Smith was guilty of rape as an aider and abettor and 
whether Roseboro was guilty of rape as an  aider and abettor. 
Properly, the court gave a separate charge or mandate as to 
each defendant in respect of the essential findings necessary to 
warrant a verdict of guilty as to that defendant. 

Defendants have failed to show prejudice on account of the 
denials of their motions for severance. No evidence of any state- 
ment made by any defendant was admitted which tended to in- 
criminate or prejudice any other defendant. 

The jury was selected in the manner described and ap- 
proved in State v. Perry, 277 N.C. 174, 176 S.E. 2d 729 (1970), 
and approved in State v. McNeil,  277 N.C. 162, 176 S.E. 2d 
732 (1970), and in State v. Willis, ante 558, 189 S.E. 2d 190 
(1972). There is no* merit in defendants' assignment of error 
challenging this jury selection procedure. 

121 Defendants assign as error the denial of their counsel's 
request that he be permitted to question the prospective jurors 
as to their fitness and competency to serve as jurors. 

The agreed case on appeal contains the following: "After 
the selection of the twelve jurors had been completed for the 
State, the attorney for the defendants requested permission 
of the presiding Judge that he be permitted to ask questions 
of the jurors on behalf of the defendants in the selection of 
the jury. The Court denied the request of the attorney for the 
defendants and informed counsel for the defendants that said 
counsel will not direct their own questions to the jury. Counsel 
for the Defendants thereupon made a request of the presiding 
Judge that he be allowed to conduct personal interrogation of 
each of the jurors, please. The presiding Judge denied the re- 
quest and required counsel for the defendants to present the 
questions to the presiding Judge who would conduct his own 
voir dire. DEFENDANTS' EXCEPTION NO. 3." 

A motion by the Attorney General suggesting diminution 
of the record was allowed by this Court. Defendants interposed 
no objection. Pursuant thereto an addendum was filed which 
contains a full transcript of the jury selection proceedings. The 
transcript discloses the following : 
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After twelve persons were called and seated in the jury 
box, the presiding judge proceeded to question these prospec- 
tive jurors as  to whether any of them knew (1) any of the de- 
fendants, (2) defendants' counsel, (3) the solicitor, (4) Mrs. 
Hughes, (5) Viola Collins, (6) Larry McMillan or (7) George 
Dudley. Each prospective juror who gave an affirmative re- 
sponse was then questioned closely by the court with reference 
to whether his (her) relationship would affect his (her) ability 
to base his (her) verdict solely on the evidence. Each juror 
stated his (her) name, address, and place of employment. In 
response to the court's inquiry, the sdicitor announced that the 
State did not wish to challenge any of the jurors but was satis- 
fied with those then seated in the jury box. 

After the State had accepted the original twelve, the court 
asked defendants' counsel if he wished "the Court to ask any 
additional questions." Defendants' counsel stated that he "would 
like permission to ask questions on behalf of the defendants 
[himself], if the Court would permit it." To this request, the 
presiding judge replied that he would be happy to ask any ques- 
tions defendants' counsel wanted him to ask, but that under 
the procedure they were using counsel "will not direct their 
own questions to the jury." Thereafter, the judge did ask all 
questions he was requested to ask by defendants' counsel, in- 
cluding questions addressed to particular prospective jurors 
as well as to those addressed to all. At the conclusion of this 
further questioning by the court, defendants' counsel challenged 
peremptorily four of the prospective jurors and accepted eight 
of them. The State accepted all the four prospective jurors called 
to replace the four challenged peremptorily by defendants. This 
procedure continued until the twelve who were sworn and em- 
paneled had been accepted by the State and by defendants. 

The transcript contains no entry of an  objection or excep- 
tion by defendants' counsel to the jury selection procedure. 

Prior to final acceptance, the State had used only one of 
the twenty-seven peremptory challenges to which i t  was entitled 
under G.S. 9-21 (b), and defendants had used only eight of the 
forty-two peremptory challenges to which they were entitled 
under G.S. 9-21 (a) .  

G.S. 9-15(a) provides: "The court, or any party to an 
action, civil or criminal, shall be allowed, in selecting the jury, 
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to make inquiry as to the fitness and competency of any person 
to serve as a juror, without having such inquiry treated as a 
challenge of such person, and i t  shall not be considered by the 
court that any person is challenged as a juror until the party 
shall formally state that such person is so challenged." 

In State v. Allred, 275 N.C. 554, 558-59, 169 S.E. 2d 833, 
835 (1969), we quoted with approval the following from State 
v. Brooks, 57 Mont. 480, 486, 188 P. 942, 943 (1920), vix: "The 
voir dire examination of jurors is a right secured to the defend- 
ant by the statutes and has a definite double purpose: First, to 
ascertain whether there exist grounds for challenge for cause; 
and, second, to enable counsel to exercise intelligently the 
peremptory challenges allowed by law." 

Although G.S. 9-15 (a) assures a defendant of the right to 
have due inquiry made as to the competency and fitness of 
any person to serve as  a juror, the actual questioning of pros- 
pective jurors to elicit the pertinent information may be con- 
ducted either by the court or by counsel for the State and coun- 
sel for the defendant. The trial judge, in his discretion, may 
decide which course to pursue in a particular case. If the court, 
when i t  conducts the questioning, declines to ask a question 
requested by the defendant's counsel, an exception may be noted 
so that an appellate court can consider the propriety, perti- 
nence and substance of such question. The procedure followed 
in the present case avoided repetitive questioning without pre- 
cluding or restricting any inquiry suggested and requested by 
defendants' counsel. The procedure followed was not violative 
of G.S. 9-15 (a) or otherwise objectionable, and defendants have 
failed to show any prejudice on account thereof. Hence, the 
assignment based on what appears in the record a s  "DEFEND- 
ANTS' EXCEPTION NO. 3" is without merit. 

Each defendant assigns as error the denial of his motion 
for judgment as  in  case of nonsuit. In testing its sufficiency, 
the evidence must be considered in the light most favorable to 
the State. Contradictions and discrepancies, even in the State's 
evidence, are matters for the jury and do not warrant nonsuit. 
State v. Murphy, 280 N.C. 1, 7, 184 S.E. 2d 845, 849 (1971), 
and cases cited. 

Although the State's evidence strongly suggests that Mrs. 
Hughes, while walking along Pine Log Road, was grabbed, 
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struck, and taken from the road, and that defendants or one or 
more of them were involved in these events, there was no evi- 
dence sufficient to identify any of defendants until the testi- 
mony of Viola Collins and Larry McMillan was introduced, in- 
dicating that they observed the three defendants in the area 
behind the Sherwood Drive-In. The State's case against defend- 
ants rests upon what happened there, not upon whether defend- 
ants or any of them were involved in taking her to that loca- 
tion. 

There was plenary evidence that Dawson raped Mrs. 
Hughes and is guilty as principal in the first degree. The guilt 
of Smith and Roseboro turns on the application of the legal 
principles quoted in the following paragraph: 

"All who are present a t  the place of a crime and are either 
aiding, abetting, assisting, or advising in its commission, or 
are present for such purpose to the knowledge of the actual 
perpetrator, are principals and equally guilty. [Citations.] An 
aider and abettor is one who advises, counsels, procures, or en- 
courages another to commit a crime. [Citations.] To render one 
who does not actually participate in the commission of a crime 
guilty of the offense committed there must be some evidence 
tending to show that he, by word or deed, gave active encour- 
agement to the perpetrator of the crime or by his conduct made 
i t  known to such perpetrator that he was standing by to lend 
assistance when and if i t  should become necessary. [Citation.]" 
Sta te  v. Ham, 238 N.C. 94, 97, 76 S.E. 2d 346, 348 (1953). De- 
cisions in accord are cited in State v. Aycoth, 272 N.C. 48, 51, 
157 S.E. 2d 655, 657 (1967). 

131 There was evidence tending to show that Smith and Rose- 
boro were standing by while Dawson was raping Mrs. Hughes; 
that they were undertaking to protect Dawson from interfer- 
ence; that each of them obstructed the attempts of Viola Col- 
lins and of Larry McMillan to rescue Mrs. Hughes from Daw- 
son; and that the three defendants, together, fled from the 
scene while Viola Collins was trying to telephone the police. 
Our preliminary statement sets forth the evidence in detail. 
When considered in the light most favorable to the State, i t  was 
sufficient to support the conviction of Smith and of Roseboro 
of the crime of rape as principals in the second degree. 
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141 Defendants assign as error the conditional exclusion of 
two black girls from the courtroom, contending the incident 
was prejudicial to defendants. 

The record shows that immediately after Viola Collins testi- 
fied that she saw Dawson "on top of Mrs. Hughes," the follow- 
ing occurred : "AT THIS point, the proceedings were interrupted 
by conduct in the Courtroom. The presiding Judge stopped the 
cross-examination and called two black girls who were sitting 
in the Courtroom. One in a green dress and the one next to her 
and told them to get up and get out of the Courtroom and when 
you decide to behave yourselves, you may come back. That either 
one or both of the girls laughed and the Judge said wait just 
a minute, what do you think is so funny. Whereupon the girl 
in the green dress said, 'I don't know.' Thereupon the Court 
called the girls up to the area between counsel table and the 
bench and asked them what is so funny. The girl in the green 
dress answered, 'Nothing.' The Court told her not to lean against 
the bench and instructed both girls to get out of the Courtroom 
and told them that when they decided to behave themselves, 
they could come back." 

In view of the disruptive and unseemly conduct of the two 
girls, the requirement that they leave the courtroom until they 
decided to behave themselves was necessary if the trial was to 
continue under circumstances of judicial decorum and fairness 
to all concerned. Assuming the girls left the courtroom, i t  does 
not appear whether they or either of them returned and be- 
haved themselves. We find no prejudicial error in the manner 
in which the presiding judge dealt with the inexcusable conduct 
of the two girls. 

[5] Each defendant assigns as error the court's failure to 
charge the jury "on a lesser crime" and to submit guilt of "a 
lesser offense" as a permissible verdict. 

The State's evidence tended to show that Dawson was 
guilty of rape as principal in the first degree. There was no 
evidence from which the jury could find that Dawson commit- 
ted any included offense of lesser degree. Smith and Roseboro, 
if guilty a t  all, were guilty as principals in the second degree 
of the crime committed by Dawson. There was no evidence that 
Smith or Roseboro was guilty as a principal in the second de- 
gree of any crime except that of rape. Since there was no evi- 
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dence from which the jury could find that any defendant com- 
mitted an included crime of Iesser degree, defendants' assign- 
ments of error are without merit. For decisions supporting this 
conclusion, see the majority and dissenting opinions in State v. 
Brgant, 280 N.C. 551, 187 S.E. 2d 111 (1972). 

Defendants' other assignments of error have been fully 
considered. None discloses prejudicial error or requires discus- 
sion. 

The evidence discloses that Viola Collins and Larry Mc- 
Millan acted with courage and compassion when they came to 
Mrs. Hughes's rescue and prevented the further exploitation 
and sexual abuse of this helpless woman. Their conduct deserves 
appreciation and commendation. Apparently, there were others 
who "passed by on the other side." 

Each defendant has failed to show prejudicial error. There- 
fore, the verdicts and judgments will not be disturbed. 

No error. 

Justice LAKE, concurring in result. I concur in  the result 
reached by the majority opinion and in all parts of that opinion 
except the approval of the trial court's denial of the request by 
counsel for the defendant that he, himself, be permitted to ad- 
dress questions to prospective jurors individually. In  my opin- 
ion, this was error but, since the defendant did not exhaust 
his peremptory challenges, no prejudice to the defendant has 
been shown in this case. 

As the majority opinion states, G.S. 9-15 (a) provides : "The 
court, or any party to an  action, civil or criminal, shall be 
allowed, in selecting the jury, to make inquiry as to the fitness 
and competency of any person to serve as  juror * * *." (Em- 
phasis added.) In  State v. Allred, 275 N.C. 554, 558, 169 S.E. 
2d 833, this Court said: 

"In selecting the jury, the court, or any party to an  
action, civil or criminal, has the right to  make inquiry as 
to the fitness and competency of any person to serve as a 
juror. G.S. 9-15(a). 'The voir dire examination of jurors 
is a right secured to the defendant by the statutes and has 
a definite double purpose: First, to ascertain whether there 
exist grounds for challenge for cause; and, second, to enable 
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counsel to exercise intelligently the peremptory challenges 
allowed by law.' State v. Brooks, 57 Mont. 480, 188 P. 942." 

Unquestionably, the trial judge has wide discretion in the 
conduct of the interrogation of prospective jurors so as to avoid 
needless repetition and waste of time. The requirement, how- 
ever, that counsel relay through the court all questions to pros- 
pective jurors does not have the virtue of saving time except 
insofar as i t  may discourage inquiry by making i t  a tedious 
and laborious process. The statute seems to contemplate that 
a party may propound his own questions directly to the jury, 
assuming the propriety of the question. Such has been the pre- 
vailing, if not the universally accepted, practice under the stat- 
ute in the courts of this State. I see no virtue and some danger 
in departing from it. 

STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. CHARLES E. MEMS 

No. 2 

(Filed 31 July 1972) 

1. Criminal Law 9 146- unconstitutionality of statute - issue raised first 
time on appeal 

Where defendant relies on a statute for the first time on appeal, 
the State is not precluded from raising the issue of the constitution- 
ality of the statute for the first time on appeal. 

2. Criminal Law § 146- constitutionality of statute - grounds of appeal 
A statute will not be declared unconstitutional if the appeal can 

be determined on another ground. 

3. Criminal Law § 162-- incompetent evidence - admission with no ob- 
jection 

Admission of incompetent evidence, without objection, is not 
ground for a new trial, except when use of the evidence is  precluded 
by a statute enacted in furtherance of public policy. 

4. Criminal Law 9 162- in-court identification of defendant-objection 
- voir dire - failure to  renew objection 

When defendant objected to a proposed in-court identification of 
himself, a voir dire examination was conducted, with the court hold- 
ing that  such testimony would be competent, whereupon defendant 
excepted; however, when the jury returned and the testimony was 
heard, defendant did not renew his objection, but such renewal 
was not necessary to preserve the question for appellate review, 
though renewal would have been the better practice. 
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5. Constitutional Law 8 32- right to counsel - when i t  attaches 
A person's right to counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth 

Amendments attaches only after adversary judicial proceedings have 
been initiated against him. 

6. Constitutional Law 5 32- right to counsel - police lineup - waiver of 
counsel 

Where a lineup is held only two or-three hours after an  offense 
is committed and no indictment has been sought or returned, no 
formal charge has been made, no warrant has been issued and no 
preliminary hearing has been set, a lineup which is not unnecessarily 
suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification is 
merely a step in the police investigatorial process and a defendant, 
having been given a full Miranda, warning, may voluntarily waive his 
Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel. 

7. Constitutional Law 5 4- standing to  challenge constitutionality of 
statute 

The unconstitutionality of a statute may be asserted only by a 
litigant adversely affected by the statute, but the State is such a 
litigant when the declaration of the validity of a statute will defeat 
the State's right to introduce otherwise competent and vitally impor- 
tant  evidence, and so, its right to carry out the judgment which i t  
has obtained against the defendant in the superior court. 

8. Criminal Law 5 66- findings of fact conclusive 
Findings of fact made by the trial judge, being fully supported 

by the evidence on voir dire, are conclusive. 

9. Constitutional Law 5 32- right to counsel -waiver 
The defendant in a criminal proceeding, whether i t  is a trial or 

pre-trial police lineup, has a right to handle his own case without 
interference by, or the assistance of, counsel forced upon him against 
his wishes. 

10. Constitutional Law 59 20, 32- equal protection - waiver of counsel - 
discrimination between indigent and affluent 

G.S. 7A-457(a) makes an  unconstitutional discrimination between 
indigent defendants and defendants having enough funds to pay for 
counsel, as it forbids waiver of counsel by an indigent, but leaves 
untouched the right of one who is affluent to waive counsel. 

11. Constitutional Law 00 20, 32- equal protection- waiver of connsel- 
basis for classification 

Indigency is a sufficient basis for classification with reference 
to the right to court appointed? publicly paid counsel, but i t  is not a 
reasonable basis for classification as to the right to represent one's 
self. 

12. Constitutional Law 5 20- equal protection - reasonableness of classifi- 
cation 

When a special class of persons is singled out by the Legislature 
for special treatment, there must be a reasonable relation between 
the classification and the object of the statute. 
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13. Constitutional Law 5 32-- right to counsel - indigent defendant - 
waives of counsel 

G.S. 7A-457(a), the statutory provision in effect a t  the time 
of defendant's trial, prohibiting an indigent from making any waiver 
of counsel in a capital case, is  unconstitutional. 

Chief Justice BOBBITT concurring in result. 

Justices HIGGINS and SHARP join in concurring opinion. 

APPEAL by defendant from Godwin, J., a t  the 26 April 1971 
Criminal Session of CUMBERLAND. 

By an  indictment, proper in form, the defendant was 
charged with the rape of Mrs. Sharon Machamer. The jury re- 
turned a verdict of guilty with a recommendation that the de- 
fendant's punishment be imprisonment for life. From a sentence 
imposed in accordance with the verdict, the defendant appeals. 
He was represented a t  the trial and on appeal by the Public 
Defender. 

Mrs. Machamer testified concerning the details of the 
offense, which occurred a t  her trailer home in Fayetteville 
shortly after 12:30 p.m. on 2 March 1971. At  the time, she was 
alone in her home save for her two infant children, her husband 
having gone to work in the early morning. Her assailant, whom 
she had observed in the vicinity about an  hour earlier, entered 
her home and, upon being ordered by her to leave, struck her 
several times about the head and arms as she resisted him, 
then forced her into the bedroom, bound her hands and twice 
committed the offense, together with an  unnatural sexual act, 
stating that he would not kill her and the children if she did 
what he wanted her to do. He was a Negro, about six feet in 
height and in his early twenties, dressed in dark colored pants 
and a navy blue "sweat type jacket" with the hood pulled up 
so that his eyes, nose and mouth alone were visible. Upon his 
departure she notified the police. Upon their arrival she de- 
scribed her assailant to them. At the trial she identified a blue 
sweat shirt (State's Exhibit 1) and a pair of green trousers 
(State's Exhibit 2) as those worn by her assailant. At the time 
of the offense, and for a considerable period prior thereto, a 
steady rain was falling. 

Early in Mrs. Machamer's testimony the defendant ob- 
jected to a proposed in-court identification by her of the de- 
fendant as her assailant. The court thereupon conducted an ex- 
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tensive voir dire. At  its outset defendant's counsel suggested 
to the court that two other witnesses for the State, Mrs. Lora 
Boras and Mrs. Josefa Williams, might be asked by the solicitor 
to  make in-court identifications of the defendant as the man 
they had seen in the vicinity of the Machamer trailer a t  the 
time of the offense and, if so, the defendant would object on the 
ground that their identifications, like that of Mrs. Machamer, 
were tainted by a prior unlawful lineup, this being a different 
lineup from that in  which Mrs. Machamer made her identifica- 
tion. The court thereupon, on voir dire, heard evidence as to the 
competency of in-court identifications by all three of these wit- 
nesses. 

At the conclusion olf the voir dire, the court made full find- 
ings of fact and ordered: 

"1. That defendant's objection to an in-court identifi- 
cation of the defendant by Mrs. Machamer as her assailant 
be, and the same is, sustained. 

"2. That the defendant's objection to an in-court 
identification of the defendant by Mrs. Boras and Mrs. Wil- 
liams, as the man they saw walking along the street in the 
rain in the neighborhood of their home and that of Mrs. 
Machamer, about mid-day on March 2, 1971, will be over- 
ruled and that such evidence will, if ordered, be received 
in evidence in defendant's trial." 

To this order the defendant excepted. Thereupon, the jury 
returned to the courtroom and Mrs. Machamer's testimony, as 
above related, proceeded without objection. Mrs. Boras and Mrs. 
Williams then testified, without further objection. 

Mrs. Boras and Mrs. Williams each identified in court the 
defendant as the Negro man she saw walking about her own 
trailer home, across the street from that of Mrs. Machamer, 
immediately prior to and after the assault. Each testified that, 
a t  a lineup conducted by the police on the afternoon of the 
offense, she observed and identified the defendant as the man 
she had so seen. The six men in the lineup were Negroes of 
about the same size and age. None of them was then wearing 
either a blue hooded sweat shirt or green pants such as those 
worn by the man she observed in the vicinity of the Machamer 
trailer. Each witness identified the hooded sweat shirt (State's 
Exhibit 1) as the one worn by the man so observed by her a t  
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the trailer. Mrs. Williams likewise identified the green pants 
(State's Exhibit 2) .  These were the same garments identified 
by Mrs. Machamer as those worn by her assailant and by police 
officers as those taken by them from the defendant. Both Mrs. 
Boras and Mrs. Williams also identified shoes (State's Exhibit 
3),  taken from the defendant a t  the time of his arrest, as those 
worn by the man observed by them in the vicinity of the 
Machamer trailer. Mrs. Williams testified that she saw the 
man enter the Machamer trailer and leave it approximately 
half an hour later, that she followed him in her automobile after 
he left the Machamer trailer and, upon the arrival of the police 
a few minutes later, told them what she had seen. 

Approximately one hour after the offense, police officers 
went to the home of the defendant and found him there with 
his mother. They arrested him "for investigation of rape," giv- 
ing him the full Miranda warning. At  that time the defendant 
was wearing the pair of green pants and the shoes identified 
by the women (State's Exhibits 2 and 3) .  The pants were quite 
wet. He told the officers he had been out of the house approxi- 
mately one hour before their arrival and had then been wearing 
a pair of brown pants and a dark blue sweat shirt, both of which 
he handed to the officers, the sweat shirt being the one identi- 
fied by Mrs. Machamer, Mrs. Boras and Mrs. Williams (State's 
Exhibit 1 ) .  It was "soaking wet" when handed to the officers 
by the defendant in his home, but the brown pants were dry. 

The defendant did not testify. He offered witnesses in 
his behalf whose testimony was to the effect that he was at  a 
Fort Bragg field house four or five miles from the Machamer 
trailer a t  the time Mrs. Machamer's assailant was observed 
walking about and entering her trailer. One of them testified 
that he then saw the defendant playing baseball, the other that 
he then saw him playing basketball and that the defendant, be- 
tween 12 :30 p.m. and 12 :45 p.m., "signed out" from the wit- 
ness a pair of basketball shoes. The second man was not called 
a t  the trial to testify in  person and so was not cross-examined. 
Due apparently to his absence on military duty, his affidavit, 
dated 9 March 1971, was received in evidence, i t  being stipulated 
that he would so testify if present. 

The defendant did not offer in evidence any document 
showing such "signing out" of the shoes by him on 2 March 
1971 and there is nothing in the record to indicate that, at the 
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time of his arrest (less than two hours after he was so said 
to  have been playing either baseball or basketball a t  the field 
house), he mentioned this circumstance to the arresting officers 
or that he otherwise called i t  to the attention of the police or 
of the solicitor prior to the introduction of the evidence a t  his 
trial. 

The defendant's mother and his girl friend testified that, 
approximately an hour before Mrs. Machamer's assailant was 
observed walking about the trailers, the defendant left home 
wearing "brownish" or "goldish-tan" pants. His mother testi- 
fied that he was still wearing these when he returned home 
shortly before the arrival of the officers, that he did not again 
go out because of the rain, and that the green pants he was 
wearing when the officers arrived were dry. 

The State offered in rebuttal two witnesses who lived in 
the vicinity of the defendant. The first testified that she saw 
him with his girl friend a t  the bus stop approximately an  hour 
before the offense. He was then wearing dark green pants and 
a blue jacket with a hood, these being similar in appearance 
to the State's Exhibits 1 and 2. She again saw him walking 
along the street in front of her home "heading toward town," 
about 12:30 p.m., this being the same time his witnesses said 
he was playing either baseball or basketball a t  the field house 
four or five miles away. He then had the hood of the jacket 
pulled up around his head, just as did Mrs. Machamer's assail- 
ant. The other rebuttal witness testified that she, too, saw the 
defendant a t  approximately 12:30 p.m. walking along the 
street near her home with the hood of his sweat shirt pulled up 
over his head. 

After all the evidence was in, on motion of the defendant, 
the voir dire examination into the question of the lineup, a t  
which Mrs. Boras and Mrs. Williams identified the defendant, 
was reopened. Upon the original voir dire hearing, a t  which 
the defendant elected not to testify, the evidence was that, 
prior to the lineup, the defendant was fully advised of his con- 
stitutional rights. He having said he wanted a lawyer at the 
lineup, the officers sent for one, but, prior to the lawyer's 
arrival, the defendant voluntarily signed a written waiver of 
counsel and the lineup proceeded without the presence of coun- 
sel. 



664 IN THE SUPREME COURT [28l 

State v. Mems 

Upon the reopening of the voir dire, the defendant called 
Attorney Joe Brown Chandler, Jr., who testified that he was in 
the district courtroom when the sheriff advised him there was 
a man in the Detective's Bureau in the basement of the court- 
house who was requesting an attorney. Thereupon Mr. Chand- 
ler went to the Detective's Bureau. Upon his arrival the lineup 
was in progress. He was immediately informed by the officers 
that the suspect, the defendant, had changed his mind and did 
not want the services of an attorney. Thereupon, Mr. Chandler 
took no part  in the lineup procedure but observed that all the 
persons in the lineup were Negro males of about the same 
weight and height, all were dressed in  casual clothing with 
nothing remarkable about their dress and that nothing abnormal 
or constituting an infringement of the defendant's rights in 
the formation of the lineup was apparent. 

The defendant's counsel then stated his desire to call the 
defendant for the purpose of testifying on this resumption of 
the voir dire. The court refused to permit the defendant to so 
testify for the reason that he had been present a t  the original 
voir dire hearing and had then chosen not to testify. 

At the conclusion of this resumption of the voir dire, the 
court stated i t  would not disturb its former ruling. To this the 
defendant objected and excepted. 

Following the charge by the court, to which the defendant 
took no exception, the jury returned and announced its verdict. 
Thereupon, the defendant's counsel announced that he desired 
to make a motion "before the verdict is finally received.'? The 
motion was one for a mistrial on the ground of alleged impro- 
prieties by members of the jury during the course of the trial. 
The court immediately conducted an  extensive hearing and, 
finding there had been no such irregularities, denied the mo- 
tion. The court then polled the jury. Each juror having replied 
that he or she still assented to the verdict of guilty with the 
recommendation that the punishment be life imprisonment, the 
court accepted the verdict and imposed sentence accordingly. 

At torney  General Morgan, Deputy At torney  General BuL. 
lock, and Associate Attorney Conely f o r  t h e  State. 

James Godwin Taylor, Assistant Public Defender, for de- 
f endant. 
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LAKE, Justice. 

The defendant has argued upon his appeal eight assign- 
ments of error. We have considered each carefully and find 
no merit in any of them. The only one meriting detailed dis- 
cussion is that the trial judge erred in  failing to grant the 
defendant's motion to suppress the in-court identifications of 
the defendant by Mrs. Boras and Mrs. Williams. 

In his brief, the defendant asserts : 

"Under North Carolina law in effect a t  the time of 
the present lineup the defendant was clearly, unequivocally 
entitled to the services of counsel a t  the lineup. He was 
guaranteed this right by Article 36 of Chapter 7A of the 
General Statutes of North Carolina and could not waive this 
right. The provisions of NCGS 7A-457(a) prohibit his 
waiver of right to counsel a t  any critical stage of the pro- 
ceedings in a capital case. A lineup such as that conducted 
here is such a critical stage of the proceedings. NCGS 
78-451 (b) (1). See State v. L p c h ,  279 N.C. 1, 181 S.E. 2d 
561 (1971) and State v. Chance, 279 N.C. 643 (1971) ." 

[I] Nothing in the record indicates that in the superior court 
the defendant relied upon the provision in G.S. 78-457(a), "A 
waiver shall not be allowed in a capital case." On the contrary, 
all the examination on voir dire related only to whether the 
lineup was impermissibly suggestive and to whether his written 
waiver of counsel was made with full knowledge of the sur- 
rounding circumstances. I t  was not until the defendant filed 
his brief in this Court that he advanced the contention that 
his waiver sf counsel a t  the lineup was ineffective by reason 
of this provision in G.S. 7A-457(a). The State, in its brief, 
asserts that this attack must fail because this provision of the 
statute is unconsitutional. 

The State had no opportunity to attack the constitutionality 
of this statutory provision in the lower court. Its evidence was 
admitted by the lower court. There was no contention therein 
that this provision of the statute made the evidence incompe- 
tent. Thus, the State's contention as to its invalidity is not 
barred from our consideration by the familiar rule t o  the effect 
that a question as to the constitutionality of a statute may not 
be raised for the first time in this Court when the party raising 
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i t  could have done so in the lower court. See: Lane v. Insurance 
Co., 258 N.C. 318, 128 S.E. 2d 398; Pinnix v. Toomey, 242 N.C. 
358, 87 S.E. 2d 893 ; Baker v. Varser, 240 N.C. 260, 82 S.E. 2d 
90; Phillips v. Shaw, Comr. of Revewe, 238 N.C. 518, 78 S.E. 
2d 314; 16 AM. JUR. 2d, Constitutional Law, $ 115; 16 C.J.S., 
Constitutional Law, § 96b. The reason for this rule is that a 
litigant's failure to make a timely assertion of his constitutional 
right is deemed a waiver of it. See: Yakus v. United States, 321 
U.S. 414, 64 S.Ct 660, 88 L.Ed. 834; Oklahoma v. Civil Service 
Commission, 330 U.S. 127, 67 S.Ct 544, 91 L.Ed. 794 ; State v. 
Gaiten, 277 N.C. 236, 176 S.E. 2d 778. I t  has no application 
where, as here, the statutory provision in question is injected 
into the litigation for the first time in the appellate court. 

[2] The State also contends in its brief that the defendant 
failed to object to the testimony in question when i t  was offered 
before the jury and, therefore, may not now assert that its 
admission constituted reversible error. If this were correct, we 
would not reach on this appeal the constitutional question raised 
by the State, for i t  is also a well established rule that a statute 
will not be declared unconstitutional if the appeal can be deter- 
mined on another ground. State v. Blackwell, 246 N.C. 642, 99 
S.E. 2d 867; Fox v. Commissioners of Durham, 244 N.C. 497, 
94 S.E. 2d 842; State v. Jones, 242 N.C. 563, 89 S.E. 2d 129; 
I n  Re Parker, 209 N.C. 693, 184 S.E. 532; 16 AM. JUR. 2d, 
Constitutional Law, 8 113. 

[3, 41 The admission of incompetent evidence, without objec- 
tion, is not ground for a new trial, except when use of the 
evidence is precluded by a statute enacted in furtherance of 
public policy. Reeves v. Hill, 272 N.C. 352, 158 S.E. 2d 529; 
Stansbury, North Carolina Evidence 2d, $ 27. We do not 
now need to determine whether, by reason of G.S. Chapter 7A, 
Article 36, the testimony of the witnesses here in question falls 
within the exception to this rule. While there was no objection 
made a t  the moment that Mrs. Boras and Mrs. Williams testi- 
fied before the jury, the record shows clearly that, in the course 
of the voir dire examination resulting from his objection to a 
proposed in-court identification of him by Mrs. Machamer, the 
defendant also brought to the attention of the court his objec- 
tion to any testimony by Mrs. Boras and Mrs. Williams identify- 
ing him as the man seen by them. Thereupon, the voir dire 
examination was expanded and the court ruled that such testi- 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 667 

State v. Mems 

mony would be competent. The defendant excepted. The jury 
then returned to the courtroom and the testimony was immedi- 
ately offered and received. While i t  would have been the 
better practice for the defendant then to have renewed his 
objection, we think that, under these circumstances, i t  was not 
necessary for him to do so in order to preserve the question for 
appellate review. 

[S, 61 There is nothing in the record to indicate a violation of 
the defendant's constitutional rights in the admission of this 
evidence. It is now established that "a person's Sixth and Four- 
teenth Amendment right to counsel attaches only a t  or after the 
time that adversary judicial proceedings have been initiated 
against him," and the rule of United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 
218, 87 S.Ct 1926, 18 L.Ed. 2d 1149, and Gilbert v. California, 
388 U.S. 263, 87 S.Ct. 1951, 18 L.Ed. 2d 1178, is limited to 
lineups conducted after "the onset of formal prosecutorial pro- 
ceedings." Kirby v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 682, 92 S.Ct. 1877, 32 L.Ed. 
2d 411, 40 Law Week 4607. The lineup here in question was held 
only two or three hours after the offense was committed. The 
defendant was in custody "for investigation of rape," but no 
indictment had been returned or even sought, no formd charge 
had been lodged against him, no warrant had been issued and 
no preliminary hearing had been set. The lineup was merely 
a step in the police investigatorial process. All of the evidence 
compels the finding that there was nothing in the lineup pro- 
cedure which made i t  "unnecessarily suggestive and conducive 
to irreparable mistaken identification" so as to violate the 
defendant's rights under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth 
and Fourteenth Amendments, as  construed in Stovall v. Denno, 
388 U.S. 293, 87 S,Ct. 1967, 18 LoEd. 2d 1199, and Foster v. 
California, 394 U.S. 440, 89 S.Ct. 1127, 22 L.Ed. 2d 402. Fur- 
thermore, the record shows clearly that the defendant, after 
being given the full warning required by IMirancla v. Arizona, 
384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct 1602, 16 L.Ed. 2d 694, with full under- 
standing of his constitutional right to counsel, waived i t  volun- 
tarily. This he may do. Miranda v. Arizona, supra. 

The defendant's assignment of error must, therefore, fail 
unless i t  is supported by Article 36, Chapter 7A of the General 
Statutes. G.S. 78-451, which is part of that article, provides 
that an indigent person is entitled to services of counsel in 
"any felony case," which entitlement begins as soon as feasible 
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after he is taken into custody and "continues through any 
critical stage of the action or proceeding, including * * * a 
pretrial identification procedure a t  which the presence of the 
indigent is required * * *." (Emphasis added.) G.S. 78-452 
provides, "Counsel for an indigent person shall be assigned by 
the court," except that a public defender may tentatively assign 
himself or his assistant to represent an indigent person, sub- 
ject to subsequent approval by the court. G.S. 78-453 provides 
that if a defendant, taken into custody in a district which has 
a public defender, "states that he is indigent and desires coun- 
sel, the authority having custody shall immediately inform the 
defender" who shall make a preliminary determination as to the 
person's entitlement to his services, and "proceed accordingly." 
G.S. 7A-457(a), prior to the 1971 Amendment which has no 
application to this appeal, provided : 

"(a) An indigent person who has been informed of 
his rights under this subchapter may, in writing, waive 
any right granted by this subchapter, if the court finds of 
record that a t  the time of the waiver the indigent person 
acted with full awareness of his rights and of the con- 
sequences of a waiver. In making such a finding, the court 
shall consider, among other things, such matters as the 
person's age, education, familiarity with the English lan- 
guage, mental condition, and the comp!exity of the crime 
charged. A waiver shall no t  be allowed in a capital case." 
(Emphasis added.) 

This was a capital case. The trial court found: 

"16. That a t  the time of his arrest a t  his home in 
Fayetteville during the afternoon of March 2, 1971, the 
defendant was advised of his constitutional rights as re- 
quired by Miranda. 

"17. That after he reached the courthouse in custody 
of Sheriff's Officers, following his arrest, he was advised 
that Sheriff's Officers desired to establish a lineup of sev- 
eral men to be viewed by Mrs. Machamer and other wit- 
nesses in order that they might determine if they could 
identify the defendant as a person seen by them earlier 
that day in the neighborhood of the Machamer mobile home, 
and that he was entitled to be represented by counsel in con- 
nection with the lineup; that if he was unable to employ 
counsel, counsel would be appointed for him without ex- 
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pense to him; that thereupon the defendant advised the 
Sheriff's Officer that he wished to have counsel present 
with him a t  the time of the lineup; 

"18. That Sheriff's Officers agreed to see that legal 
counsel was furnished to him without expense to him, and 
that they began to search for an attorney to be present and 
represent the defendant in connection with the lineup; 

"19. That before the arrival of counsel and before the 
lineup was made up, the defendant changing his mind, ad- 
vised Sheriff's Officers that he did not desire to be repre- 
sented by counsel in connection with the lineup and that 
he waived his right to counsel in writing." 

The trial court thereupon concluded : 

"4. That the defendant knowingly and intentionally 
waived his right to be represented by legal counsel in con- 
nection with the aforesaid lineup." 

These findings and this conclusion of the trial court com- 
ply with the requirements of G.S. 78-457. The competency of 
the testimony, therefore, turns upon the validity of the pro- 
vision in G.S. 7A-457(a), " A  waiver shall not be allowed in a 
capital case." (Emphasis added.) 

Effective 30 October 1971, subsequent to the trial of this 
defendant, the Legislature rewrote Section 7A-457 and elimi- 
nated therefrom the provision prohibiting waiver of counsel by 
an indigent defendant in a capital ease, insofar as out-of-court 
proceedings are concerned. Such rewriting of the statute has no 
effect upon this appeal and we are not here concerned with the 
validity of any provision of the statute as rewritten. 

[7] It is well settled that the unconstitutionality of a statute 
may be asserted only by a litigant who is adversely affected 
by the statute. Nicholson v. Education Assistance Authority, 
275 N.C. 439, 168 S.E. 2d 401; D&W, Inc. v. Charlotte, 268 N.C. 
577, 151 S.E. 2d 241; Chwles Stores v. Tucker, 263 N.C. 710, 
140 S.E. 2d 370. In this case, the State is a party litigant. Its 
right to introduce evidence, otherwise competent and vitally 
important to its case, and so, its right to carry out the judg- 
ment which i t  has obtained against the defendant in the superior 
court will be defeated if this provision of G.S. 7A-457 (a), be- 
fore the 1971 revision, is valid and is given the effect for which 
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the defendant contends. Thus, the State has standing to raise 
the question of the constitutional validity of this statutory pro- 
vision. 

181 The findings of fact made by the trial judge, being fully 
supported by the evidence on voir dire, are conclusive. State v. 
Gray, 268 N.C. 69, 150 S.E. 2d 1, cert. den., 386 U.S. 911; State 
v. Barnes, 264 N.C. 517, 142 S.E. 2d 344; State v. Chamberlain, 
263 N.C. 406, 139 S.E. 2d 620; State v. Outing, 255 N.C. 468, 
121 S.E. 2d 847, cert. den., 369 U.S. 807, 82 S.Ct 652, 7 L.Ed. 
2d 555. I t  is, therefore, established, for the purposes of this 
appeal, that the defendant, after being fully advised of his right 
to counsel a t  the lineup, knowingly, understandingly and volun- 
tarily waived that right in writing. Unless the above quoted 
prohibition of such waiver in G.S. 78-457 requires a different 
conclusion, he may not now assert the absence of counsel at the 
lineup as ground for a new trial. If that provision of the stat- 
ute, in effect a t  the time of his trial, was valid, he must be 
given a new trial. The admission of the testimony of Mrs. Boras 
and Mrs. WilIiams positively identifying him as the man they 
saw walking about and entering the Machamer trailer irnmedi- 
ately prior to the offense cannot be deemed harmless, notwith- 
standing the presence of other testimony sufficient to  support 
the jury's verdict. 

Under the circumstances of this case, i t  would make no 
difference had the attorney summoned by the sheriff actively 
participated in and approved the manner of conducting the 
lineup. This attorney was not chosen or accepted by the defend- 
ant. He was not appointed by the court. Nothing in the record 
indicates that he was a member of the staff of the Public De- 
fender. He was not designated by the Public Defender to repre- 
sent the defendant. He was simply selected by the police officers 
who had no authority, by statute or otherwise, to select an attor- 
ney for the defendant in the absence of the defendant's acquies- 
cence in the selection. 

The defendant's statutory right to have the services of duly 
appointed counsel a t  this lineup conducted prior to the incep- 
tion of prosecutorial proceedings is not here in question. He 
voluntarily and understandingly waived that right in writing. 
The only question for us to determine is the validity of the stat- 
utory provision denying him the right to  waive it. 

[9] This Court has repeatedly held that the defendant in a 
criminal proceeding has a right to  handle his own case without 
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interference by, or the assistance of, counsel forced upon him 
against his wishes. 

In  State v. McNeil, 263 N.C. 260, 267-268, 139 S.E. 2d 667, 
Justice Parker, later Chief Justice, said : 

"The United States Constitution does not deny to a de- 
fendant the right to defend himself. Nor does the constitu- 
tional right to assistance of counsel justify forcing counsel 
upon a defendant in a criminal action who wants none. 
Moore v. Michigan, 355 U.S. 155, 2 LEd.  2d 167; Carter v. 
Illinois, 329 U.S. 173, 91 L.Ed. 172; United States v. John- 
son, 6 Cir. (June 1964), 333 F. 2d 1004." 

In State v. Bines, 263 N.C. 48, 138 S.E. 2d 797, Justice 
Higgins said : 

" 'The constitutional right (to counsel), of course, does 
not justify forcing counsel upon an  accused who wants 
none.' Moore v. Michigan [supra] ; Herman v. Claudy, 350 
U.S. 116, 76 S.Ct. 223, 100 L.Ed. 126." 

In State v. Morgan, 272 N.C. 97, 157 S.E. 2d 606, this 
Court said: 

"Having been fully advised by the court that an attor- 
ney would be appointed to represent him if he so desired, 
he [the defendant] had the right to reject the offer of such 
appointment and to represent himself in the trial and dis- 
position of his case." 

In State v. Williams, 276 N.C. 703, 174 S.E. 2d 503, this 
Court affirmed a death sentence imposed for  murder in the first 
degree upon a defendant who was tried without counsel, pur- 
suant to his declaration that he did not want counsel. Our de- 
cision was reversed by the Supreme Court of the United States, 
but upon another ground and without mention of the defend- 
ant's having been tried without counsel. 

In United States v. Plattner, 330 F. 2d 271 (2nd Circuit 
1964), the judgment of the trial court was reversed and the 
matter remanded because the defendant "expressed the desire 
to be his own counsel," but the trial court "thereupon appointed 
counsel from Legal Aid to represent him because petitioner 
was not schooled in the law." The Court of Appeals, speaking 
through Circuit Judge Medina, said : 
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"As we hold that a defendant on the trial of a criminal 
case, including a coram nobis proceeding a t  which the de- 
fendant is present and witnesses are to be examined and 
cross-examined, has a right to conduct and manage his own 
case pro se, we reverse the order appealed from and re- 
mand the case. Moreover, we hold the right to act pro se 
as above stated is a right arising out of the Federal Con- 
stitution and not the mere product of legislation or judicial 
decision. * * * 

"Under the Fifth Amendment, no person may be de- 
prived of liberty without due process of law. Minimum re- 
quirements of due process in federal criminal trials are 
set forth in the Sixth Amendment. * * * Implicit in both 
amendments is the right of the accused personally to man- 
age and conduct his own defense in a criminal case." 

Also declaring that the right of a defendant to represent 
himself in a criminal proceeding is a constitutional right are: 
Lowe v. United States, 418 F. 2d 100 (7th Circuit 1969), cert. 
den., 397 U.S. 1048, and United States v. Sternman, 415 F. 2d 
1165 (6th Circuit 1969), cert. den., 397 U.S. 907, rehear. den., 
397 U.S. 1081. 

191 It not infrequently happens that a defendant is dissatis- 
fied with the counsel appointed for him by the court. While 
he may not insist that the court appoint a different counsel to 
represent him, the defendant has the right to insist that his 
case not be handled by an attorney in whom he has no confi- 
dence. If he so desires, he has the right, in that situation, to 
represent himself. In this there is no distinction between a 
capital case and any other case. See State v. Williams, supra. 
If he may represent himself, as we there held, through the 
intricacies of an  actual trial, he surely has the right to look 
after his own interest a t  a police lineup free from threats, 
duress and unduly suggestive indications that be is the person 
the police desire to have selected by the viewer. This right the 
Legislature may not deny a defendant, be he indigent or 
affluent. 

EIQ] Furthermore, G.S. 78-457 makes an unconstitutional dis- 
crimination between indigent defendants and defendants hav- 
ing enough funds to pay for counsel. The statute forbids waiver 
of counsel by an indigent, but leaves untouched the right of 
one who is affluent to waive counsel in any case, capital or 
otherwise. 
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Let us suppose that two individuals are arrested jointly 
by the police under suspicion that together they committed a 
capital crime. One is indigent, the other affluent. The arrest 
occurs late in the evening. Both protest their innocence. Both 
are transients, passing through the community. The officers 
offer them the opportunity to appear in a lineup conducted 
without any unduly suggestive procedures. With the above 
quoted provision of G.S. 7A-457(a) in effect, the suspect with 
enough money in his pocket to employ counsel may, if he so 
desires, accept the offer and, if not identified, proceed on his 
way. The indigent suspect, equally willing, must remain in cus- 
tody until counsel can be appointed by the court or the Public 
Defender, if any, can be located and brought to observe the 
lineup. Neither the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 
Amendment to the Constitution of the United States, Article I, 
Section 19 of the present Constitution of North Carolina, nor 
Article I, Section 17 of the Constitution of North Carolina, as 
i t  read a t  the time of this defendant's trial, permit such dis- 
crimination. 

[11, 121 Indigency is obviously a sufficient basis for classifica- 
tion with reference to the right to court appointed, publicly paid 
counsel, but i t  is not a reasonable basis for classification as  
to the right to represent one's self. Poverty is not synonymous 
with lack of intelligence or even with limited education, and 
possession of funds does not necessarily mean possession of 
good judgment or of knowledge of legal procedure. When a 
special class of persons, such as indigents, is singled out by the 
Legislature for special treatment, there must be a reasonable 
relation between the classification and the object of the stat- 
ute. Quaker City Cab Co. v.  Pe?znsylvania, 277 U.S. 389, 48 
S.Ct 553, 72 L.Ed. 927; Power Manufacturing Co. v. Saunders, 
274 U.S. 490, 47 S.Ct 678, 71 L.Ed. 1165; State v.  Glidden Go., 
228 N.C. 664, 46 S.E. 2d 860; 16 AM. JUR. 2d, Constitutional 
Law, § 501. The purpose of the statutory provision for appoint- 
ment of counsel, a t  public expense, for indigent defendants is 
to put indigent defendants on an equality with affluent defend- 
ants in trials upon criminal charges. To deny, or to restrict the 
right of the indigent to waive counsel, i.e., to represent him- 
self, while permitting the affluent defendant to exercise such 
right, has no reasonable relation to the objective of equal oppor- 
tunity to prevail a t  the trial of the case. Such classification 
is beyond the power of the Legislature. 
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[I31 We, therefore, hold that the provision which appeared in 
G.S. 7A-457(a) a t  the time of the defendant's trial, "A waiver 
shall not be allowed in a capital case," is unconstitutional and 
of no effect. It follows that the defendant's Assignment of Error 
No. 1, to the failure of the court to grant his motion to suppress 
the in-court identifications by Mrs. Boras and Mrs. Williams, 
is without merit and must be overruled. 

No error. 

Chief Justice BOBB~TT concurring in result. 

The court found that defendant had knowingly and inten- 
tionally waived in  writing his right to be represented by coun- 
sel a t  the lineup a t  which Mrs. Boras and Mrs. Williams identi- 
fied him. 

The lineup was on March 2, 1971, the date the crime was 
committed. G.S. 7A-457(a) then provided that waiver of coun- 
sel by an indigent person "shall not be allowed in a capital 
case." 

Whether a nonindigent person could have successfully con- 
tended that he was entitled to the same protection it purported 
to confer on an indigent person is not presented. I do not share 
the view that the State's counsel have standing to challenge 
as  unconstitutional a right which the General Assembly saw 
f i t  to confer on an indigent person. 

Defendant, an indigent, relies upon this provision of G.S. 
7A-457(a) and was in fact represented by counsel in all in- 
court proceedings. I do not share the view that the State's 
counsel have standing to challenge this statutory provision as 
unconstitutional on the ground that some other indigent de- 
fendant mav assert his constitutional right to refuse representa- 
tion by counsel. This case involves a waiver of the right to 
counsel, not the right t o  refuse representation by counsel. 

My concurrence in result is on a different basis. As used 
in G.S. 7A-457(a), a "capital case" is a criminal prosecution 
for a crime which is or may be punished by death. Under the 
June 29, 1972, decision of the Supreme Court of the United 
States in Furrnan v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 33 L.Ed. 2d 346, 
92 S.Ct. 2726, punishment by death is not permissible under 
statutory provisions such as those incorporated in North Caro- 
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lina statutes. By its decision in Furman, the Supreme Court 
invalidated and rendered obsolete that portion of G.S. 7A-457 (a) 
which related solely to a "capital case." 

Justices HIGGINS and SHARP join in this concurring in re- 
sult opinion. 

STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. ROY ARTHUR HADDOCK 

No. 101 

(Filed 31 July 1972) 

1. Criminal Law 5 75- voluntariness of in-custody statement 
Where defendant was twice advised of his constitutional rights, 

stated each time that he knew his rights and fully understood them, 
then freely, knowingly and understandingly signed a written waiver 
of his right to the presence of counsel, the requirements of Miranda 
were fully met, and defendant's statement was competent as f a r  a s  
federal constitutional standards are concerned. 

2. Constitutional Law 1 32- right to counsel -indigent defendant - in- 
custody interrogation - waiver of counsel 

Where an  indigent defendant charged with a capital offense makes 
a statement competent under Miranda, the statement may still be ren- 
dered incompetent by reason of G.S. 7A-457(a) which provides that a 
waiver of counsel shall not be allowed in a capital case; but i t  is only in 
those instances where defendant's statement is the result of a cus- 
todial interrogation that such statement is incompetent. 

3. Criminal Law 8 75- in-custody statement - waiver of counsel - indi- 
gent defendant charged with capital offense 

An indigent defendant's statement with respect to his commis- 
sion of a capital crime was admissible, though made without benefit 
of counsel, because the statement was not the result of an  in-custody 
interrogation, but was defendant's own voluntary narration. 

4. Constitutional Law 8 32- right to counsel-indigent defendant- 
in-custody interrogation - waiver of counsel 

Under former G.S. 7A-457(a), an indigent defendant in a capital 
case could not waive the right to counsel either orally or in writing; 
however, the statute so providing had no application to volunteered 
statements. 

5. Criminal Law 3 75- voluntary statements - admissibility 
Volunteered statements are competent evidence, and their admis- 

sion is not barred under any theory of the law, state or federal. 

6. Criminal Law 3 75- in-custody statement - questioning by officers 
A voluntary in-custody statement does not become the product of 

an  "in-custody interrogation" simply because an  officer, in the 
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course of defendant's narration, asks defendant to explain or clarify 
something he has already said voluntarily. 

Chief Justice BOBBITT concurring in result. 

Justices HIGGINS and SHARP join in concurring opinion. 

APPEAL by defendant from Seay, J., 23 August 1971 Crimi- 
nal Session, GUILFORD Superior Court. 

Defendant was tried upon a bill of indictment charging 
him with the murder of Robert Earl DeShazo in Guilford 
County on 19 April 1971. 

The State's evidence tends to show that about 3 a.m. on 
19 April 1971 Robert Earl DeShazo, an attendant a t  a Kayo 
Service Station near Greensboro, North Carolina, was shot and 
killed. His body was found on the service station driveway. Near 
his right hand was a .32 caliber snub-nosed revolver containing 
two spent cartridges and five live rounds in the chamber. 

Policeman R. L. Grogan had stopped defendant earlier that 
night, before the murder, and given him a traffic ticket. At 
that time defendant was driving a light-colored Plymouth bear- 
ing North Carolina License No. FR-9702. Between 2 :00 and 2 :30 
a.m. two men in a white Plymouth drove into the Gate Service 
Station located one-half mile from the Kayo Service Station 
where DeShazo was killed, and asked for a Coke. The attendant 
was suspicious and told the men to get the Cokes themselves, 
whereupon they drove rapidly away. The attendant noted the 
license number of the vehicle was FR-9702. A short time later 
he saw the car heading in the direction of the Kayo Service 
Station. 

Eugene Porterfield operates a cafe on Highway 49 near 
Roxboro and during the day of 19 April 1971 observed a light- 
colored 1967 Plymouth parked near his place of business. Its 
left front window was shot out and there was blood on the front 
seat of the car. Porterfield notified the highway patrol, and 
Patrolman A. J. Johnson investigated. He found the left front 
window of the car broken out and scattered pieces of glass 
in the car. He noticed bloodstains on the driver's seat. He dis- 
covered on the front seat, in plain view, the traffic citation 
which had been issued to the defendant by Policeman Grogan 
on the 18th of April. This citation was offered in evidence as 
State's Exhibit No. 6. 
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Doctor S. V. Hulbanni testified that on the 19th of April 
he removed a bullet from the left arm of the defendant in the 
Norfolk General Hospital in Norfolk, Virginia. There was no 
infection, indicating the defendant's wound was fresh. 

As a result of information received, SBI Agent Henry Poole 
went to Danville, Virginia, with Deputy Sheriff Worrell. There 
they obtained a fugitive warrant for defendant's arrest. The 
officers then proceeded to the Danville bus station where they 
met Bus No. 3114 upon its arrival. They boarded the bus and 
found the defendant asleep. He was placed under arrest by 
Sergeant Wyatt of the Danville Police Department and fully 
advised of his constitutional rights by SBI Agent Poole. De- 
fendant was then taken to the Danville Police Station. Upon 
entering an office which had been furnished to Agent Poole, 
the defendant indicated he wanted to make a statement. Mr. 
Poole advised the defendant to wait but defendant spoke any- 
way and said he was coming to turn himself in. At  that point 
Mr. Poole again advised defendant of his constitutional rights. 
Defendant indicated he understood those rights and signed a 
written "Waiver of Rights." He then reiterated that he was 
coming to turn himself in and said, "The hardest thing I ever 
did was to pull that trigger." Officer Poole asked him to ex- 
plain that statement and he said: "I pulled in the service station 
to rob the man. He had his hand in his pocket. I told him to 
take his hand out of his pocket. When he did, he had a gun in 
it." Defendant then stated that the man shot him in the arm 
and that he shot the man; that he got back into his car and 
the man shot a second time, shooting out the glass in the car. 
Defendant said he then "sort of laid down" in the front seat 
of the car and drove away as quickly as he could. 

Defendant further related to Officer Poole that prior to 
the shooting incident he had been to the Kayo Station and had 
pulled into a Gate Service Station and asked for directions; 
that he had been engaged in a fight with some Negroes and 
had gone to Burlington where he obtained his shotgun; that he 
purchased two dollars' worth of gas a t  the Kayo Station on his 
return trip to Greensboro; that after purchasing the gas he went 
to look for the Negroes but was unable to find them and decided 
to return to the Kayo Station to rob the man. 

Defendant further stated that he had been to a doctor in 
Norfolk, Virginia, who removed a bullet from his arm. Defendant 
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thereupon took a bullet from his wallet, identifying i t  as the 
one removed from his arm by the doctor, and gave i t  to the 
officer. He told the officer that he had thrown the shotgun 
with which he shot DeShazo into a creek near Greenville and 
gave minute directions leading to a bridge on a dirt road from 
which he had thrown the weapon. Those directions were fol- 
lowed and the weapon was recovered from the creek. This 
weapon, a sawed-off shotgun, was offered in evidence over de- 
fendant's objection. 

E. B. Pearce, a specialist in firearms identification with 
the State Bureau of Investigation, testified that he compared 
the bullet removed from defendant's arm with a bullet he test 
fired from the .32 caliber pistol found on the service station 
driveway near the right hand of Robert Earl DeShazo, the 
deceased, and found many identical characteristics; that in his 
opinion the bullet taken from defendant's arm was fired from 
State's Exhibit 5, the .32 caliber revolver. The bullet was of- 
fered in evidence over defendant's objection. 

Upon defendant's timely objection the jury was excused 
and a voir dire conducted with respect to the foregoing inculpa- 
tory statements made to SBI Agent Poole and other officers. 
Both the State and the defendant offered evidence on the voir 
dire, a t  the conclusion of which the court made findings of fact 
and concluded that defendant's statement to the officers "was 
made freely, voluntarily and understandingly, after the defen- 
dant had been warned as per the Miranda decision and his con- 
stitutional rights explained to him." Defendant's motion to sup- 
press the evidence was denied; and the bullet taken from his 
arm, the shotgun recovered from the creek, and defendant's 
statement to Officer Poole were admitted in evidence before 
the jury over defendant's objection. . 

Defendant offered no evidence before the jury. The jury 
convicted him of murder in the first degree and recommended 
life imprisonment. Judgment was pronounced accordingly, and 
the defendant appealed to the Supreme Court assigning errors 
noted in the opinion. 

Wallace C. Hawelson, Public Defender, and Dale Shepherd, 
Assistant Public Defewder, for  the defendant appellant. 

Robert Morgan, At torney General, and Roy  A. Giles, Jr., 
Assistant At torney General, for the  State  of  Nor th  Carolina. 
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HUSKINS, Justice : 

Defendant assigns as error the admission of his inculpatory 
statements to SBI Agent Poole, made while in custody and with- 
out benefit of counsel. He contends the incriminating state- 
ments are tainted and inadmissible because he was indigent 
a t  the time, charged with a capital offense, and incapable of 
waiving his right to counsel by the express language of G. S. 
7A-457(a). He relies on that statute and on State v. Lynch, 
279 N.C. 1, 181 S.E. 2d 561 (1971), and State v. Bass, 280 N.C. 
435, 186 S.E. 2d 384 (1972), in support of his position. 

[I, 21 The record discloses that defendant was twice advised 
of his constitutional rights as required by Miranda v. Arizona, 
384 U.S. 436, 16 L.Ed. 2d 694, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966). Each time 
defendant said he knew his rights and fully understood them. 
He then freely, knowingly and understandingly signed a written 
waiver of his constitutional right to the presence of counsel. 
Thus the requirements spelled out in Miranda were fully met, 
and defendant's entire statement was competent insofar as 
federal constitutional standards are concerned. Miranda v. Ari- 
xma,  supra. If defendant's statement, or any part of it, was 
incompetent, its incompetency arises solely by reason of G.S. 
7A-457(a) (1969) which a t  that time provided, inter alia: "A  
waiver shall not be allowed in a capital case." The State con- 
tends defendant's statement was volunteered and not the result 
of a custodial interrogation. This requires a review of the setting 
and the circumstances under which defendant's incriminating 
statement was made. 

The record reveals that upon his arrival a t  the Danville 
Police Station defendant had indicated he wanted to make a 
statement. He had already been given the Miranda warning 
when he was removed from the bus. Officer Poole "asked him 
to wait just a moment" and again advised him of his rights as  
follows : 

"Before we ask you any questions, you must under- 
stand your rights. You have the right to remain silent. 
Anything you say can be used against you in court. You 
have the right to talk to a lawyer for advice before we ask 
you any questions and to have him with you during ques- 
tioning. If you cannot afford a lawyer, one will be appointed 
for you before any questions, if you wish. If you decide to 
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answer questions now without a lawyer present, you will 
still have the right to stop answering a t  any time. You 
also have the right to stop answering a t  any time until you 
talk to a lawyer." 

Officer Poole thereupon handed defendant the paper from 
which the M i r m d a  warnings had been read. Defendant read the 
warnings himself and stated that he understood his rights. The 
paperwriting contained a Waiver of Rights a t  the bottom of 
the page in the following language: 

"I have read this statement of my rights, and I un- 
derstand what my rights are. I am willing to make a state- 
ment and answer questions. I do not want a lawyer a t  
this time. I understand and know what I am doing. No 
promises or threats have been made to me, and no pres- 
sure or coercion of any kind has been used against me." 

Defendant then signed the waiver. Then, without any questions 
on the part of the officers, defendant reiterated his earlier 
statement that he was coming to turn himself in and added, 
"The hardest thing I ever did was to pull that trigger." When 
Officer Poole asked him to explain that statement defendant 
said: "I pulled in the service station to rob the man. He had 
his hand in his pocket. I told him to take his hand out of his 
pocket. When he did, he had a gun in it." He said the man shot 
him in the arm and he then shot the man after which he got 
back into his car and the man shot a second time, shooting out 
the glass in the car. Defendant then said he "sort of laid down 
in the front seat of the car and drove away as quickly as he 
could." He said that prior to this incident he had been to the 
Kayo Station once before that morning, awakened the attend- 
ant, purchased two dollars' worth of gas, and departed. He 
said there was another party with him a t  that time and that 
earlier that night they had had a fight with some Negro males 
as a result of which he had gone to Burlington and obtained his 
shotgun and returned to Greensboro; that after purchasing 
the gas he went looking for the Negro males, couldn't find them, 
and returned to the Kayo Station to rob the man. 

Defendant further stated that he had been to a doctor in 
Norfolk, Virginia, and had a bullet removed from his arm. 
Officer Poole asked him if he had the bullet and defendant 
took it from his wallet and handed it to the officer. Officer 
Poole asked defendant where the shotgun was and defendant 
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stated he had thrown it in a creek near Greenville. Officer Poole 
asked him where this creek was located and defendant stated 
that "as you go out of Greenville on Highway 264, you take the 
right road toward the Bel Arthur section. That, after you take 
the right-hand road to the Be1 Arthur section, you would turn 
left on the first dirt road; that approximately a quarter of a 
mile down this dirt road there was a bridge; that he threw this 
weapon off the left-hand side of the bridge." These directions 
were later followed and the weapon was found a t  that exact 
spot in  the creek. 

Is the foregoing narration of events the result of "cus- 
todial interrogation" and its admissibility prohibited by G.S. 
7A-457 (a) due to absence of counsel? We think not. 

[3] The United States Supreme Court said in Miranda v. Ari- 
zona, supra: "By custodial interrogation, we mean questioning 
initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been 
taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of 
action in any significant way. . . . Any statement given freely 
and voluntarily without any compelling influence is, of course, 
admissible in evidence. The fundamental import of the privi- 
lege while an individual is in custody is not whether he is 
allowed to talk to the police without the benefit of warnings 
and counsel, but whether he can be interrogated. . . . Volun- 
teered statements of any kind are not barred by the Fifth 
Amendment and their admissibility is not affected by our hold- 
ing today." Thus, assuming defendant's indigency, the presence 
of counsel was not required because defendant's statement at 
the police station in Danville was not the result of an in-custody 
interrogation initiated by the officers. Rather, i t  was defend- 
ant's own voluntary narration, freely and understandingly re- 
lated. It is perfectly apparent that from the moment defendant 
was removed from the bus he was anxious to talk and that his 
entire narration of events is properly classified as a volunteered 
statement. In fact, the officers would not allow him to talk until 
he had twice been advised of his constitutional rights and had 
freely, knowingly and understandingly waived those rights, 
including the right to counsel, in wri t ing.  Defendant's volun- 
teered confession would have been admissible by constitutional 
standards even in the absence of warning or waiver of his 
rights. By the same token they were admissible in the trial of 
this case notwithstanding the provision in G.S. 7A-457 (a) 
(1969) that "[a] waiver shall not be allowed in a capital case." 
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No waiver is involved with respect to volunteered statements, 
and the quoted language defendant relies on has no application 
to the factual situation depicted by the setting and circum- 
stances under which defendant's incriminating statement was 
made. Officers are not required to gag the guilty who want to 
confess. 

State v. Lynch, supra, was not a capital case and is not 
authority for defendant's position here. In Lynch defendant was 
fully advised of his constitutional rights, stated he did not want 
a lawyer, but did not sign a written waiver as then required by 
G.S. 78-457 (a) (1969). Even so, i t  was held that Lynch's volun- 
tary narrative statement was not the result of an in-custody 
interrogation and was therefore admissible in evidence even 
though the statement was given in the absence of counsel. Only 
certain tape recorded statements in response to in-custody inter- 
rogation by the officers were held inadmissible because defend- 
ant's waiver of counsel was not in writing. Thus Lynch, in these 
respects, supports our conclusion that defendant's narration of 
events which occurred the night DeShazo was killed is properly 
classified as a volunteered statement. 

141 We said in State v. Bass, 280 N.C. 435, 186 S.E. 2d 384 
(1972) : "At all times pertinent to this case, an indigent defend- 
ant in a capital case could not waive the right to counsel either 
orally or in writing," citing G.S. 78-457 and State v. Lynch, 
swpra. The quotation has no application to volunteered state- 
ments. 

15, 61 Volunteered statements are competent evidence, and 
their admission is not barred under any theory of the law, state 
or federal. State v. Stepney, 280 N.C. 306, 185 S.E. 2d 844 
(1972) ; State v. Ratliff, 281 N.C. 397, 189 S.E. 2d 179 (1972) ; 
State v. Chance, 279 N.C. 643, 185 S.E. 2d 227 (1971) ; Miranda 
v. Arizona, supra. And a voluntary in-custody statement does 
not become the product of an "in-custody interrogation" simply 
because an officer, in the course of defendant's narration, asks 
defendant to explain or clarify something he has already said 
voluntarily. 

We hold that defendant's statement to the officers was 
truly the product of free choice, entirely devoid of physical or 
mental intimidation, and without the slightest compulsion of in- 
custody interrogation procedures. The sturdy pillar of Fifth 
Amendment rights against self-incrimination so forcefully up- 
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held in Miranda would be subverted by a contrary view. Defend- 
ant spoke in the unfettered exercise of his own will, and his 
statements may not now be distorted into something they never 
were. 

The constitutionality of the no-waiver sentence in G.S. 
7A-457 was not raised in Lynch, Bass, Chance, or in this case. 
It should be noted, however, that the sentence in that statute 
which forbids an indigent to waive counsel in a capital case was 
held unconstitutional in State v. Merns, 281 N.C. 658, 190 S.E. 
2d 164 (filed 31 July 1972). 

Defendant's first assignment of error is overruled. 

Other assignments relating to admissibility of the bullet, 
the sawed-off shotgun defendant used to kill DeShazo, and 
defendant's statements concerning them, lose their vitality in  
light of our holding that defendant's narration of events on 
the night of the murder was volunteered and not the result 
of questioning initiated by the officers. 

Evidence of defendant's guilt is overwhelming. His con- 
viction results from a trial free from prejudicial error. The 
verdict and judgment of the trial court must therefore be 
upheld. 

No error. 

Chief Justice BOBBITT concurring in result. 

I concur in the result on these grounds: (1) Defendant's 
statements to Officer Poole were made voluntarily and were 
not the product of an "in-custody interrogation." (2) By its 
decision in Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 33 L.Ed. 2d 
346, 92 S.Ct 2726, decided June 29, 1972, the Supreme Court 
of the United States, holding that punishment by death is not 
permissible under statutory provisions such as those incorporat- 
ed in present North Carolina statutes, has invalidated and ren- 
dered obsolete that portion of G.S. 7A-457(a) which relates 
solely to a "capital case." 

As stated in my concurring in  result opinion in State v. 
Mems, ante 674, 190 S.E. 2d 174, I do not share the view 
that the State's counsel have standing to  challenge the consti- 
tutionality of G.S. 7A-457 (a).  Surely, the General Assembly 
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has greater authority to declare and determine the State's policy 
and position than the State's prosecuting attorneys. 

Justices HIGGINS and SHARP join in this concurring in 
result opinion. 

CITY OF CHARLOTTE, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, PETITIONER V. MAR- 
GARET C. McNEELP AND HUSBAND, SAM S. McNEELY, JR., 
RESPONDENTS 

No. 82 

(Filed 31 July 1972) 

1. Eminent Domain § 3- public purpose 
In any condemnation proceeding the question of what is a public 

purpose is one for the court. 

2. Eminent Domain § 3- public purpose - construction or enlargement 
of street 

The taking of property to construct or enlarge a public street 
is, as a matter of law, a taking for a public purpose, and the ad- 
visability of widening a public street is a matter within the dis- 
cretion of a city's governing body. 

3. Eminent Do5ain 5 1- choice of route - review 
A city council's choice of a route, or the land to be condemned' 

for a street, will not be reviewed on the ground that  another route 
may have been more appropriately chosen unless i t  appears that  
there has been an abuse of discretion. 

4. Eminent Domain 3 1- abuse of discretion- allegations - question of 
fact 

Upon specific allegations tending to show bad faith, malice, 
wantonness, or oppressive and manifest abuse of discretion by the 
condemnor, the issue raised becomes a question of fact to be determined 
by the judge. 

5. Costs 3 1- statutory authority 
Costs may be taxed solely on the basis of statutory authority. 

6. Costs § 4- unnecessary expenses 
Even when allowed by statute, costs and expenses unnecessarily 

incurred by the prevailing party may not be taxed against the un- 
successful party. 

7. Costs 8 4- expense of surveys, maps, etc. 
The expense of procuring surveys, maps, plans, photographs and 

documents are not taxable as costs unless there i s  clear statutory 
authority therefor or  they have been ordered by the court. G.S. 38-4. 
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8. Costs § 4- witness fees 
Unless authorized by statute, witness fees cannot be allowed 

and taxed for a party to the action. 

9. Costs 9 4- witness fees - expert witness fees - party's own testimony 
A successful party is not entitled to have either a witness fee 

or an  expert witness fee for his own testimony taxed against his 
losing adversary. 

LO. Costs 5 4- time spent in hearing 
A party is not entitled to recover as costs either the statutory 

compensation for witnesses or an hourly wage or per diem for time 
such party spent in attending hearings and securing evidence. 

11. Costs 5 4- attending hearings and securing evidence - mileage, meals, 
and hotel 

A party is not entitled to recover as costs an  allowance for 
mileage and for meals and hotel bills expended in securing evidence 
and attending hearings. 

12. Costs 9 4- expert witness fees - competency of testimony 

Expert witness fees can be taxed against an adverse party only 
when the testimony of the witness examined (or tendered) was (or 
would have been) material and competent. 

13. Costs 4- engineering expenses - expert witness fee -irrelevancy 
of evidence 

Where a proceeding instituted by a city to condemn a right-of- 
way over respondents' land for the purpose of widening a street 
was dismissed without prejudice because the city had not complied 
with statutory procedural requirements, the respondents are not en- 
titled to recover as costs taxable against the city (1) engineering 
expenses incurred for the purpose of showing that public con- 
venience did not require the city to widen the street and that another 
plan more acceptable to respondents was as good as the city's plan, 
or  (2)  an expert witness fee for testimony by a civil engineer that  
the plan favored by respondents was as good as the city's plan, since 
such evidence was totally irrelevant to the question of the city's 
right to condemn the property in question. 

14. Costs 8 4- attorneys' fees 

In the absence of express statutory authority, attorneys' fees 
are not allowable as part  of the court costs in civil actions. 

15. Costs 5 4- condemnation proceeding - counsd fees - taxation a s  costs 

Unless the petitioner in a condemnation proceeding submits to a 
voluntary nonsuit or otherwise abandons the proceeding, the court 
is authorized to tax counsel fees as a part  of the costs of such pro- 
ceeding only for an  attorney appointed by the court to appeal for and 
protect the rights of any party in interest who is unknown or whose 
residence is unknown. G.S. 40-2; G.S. 40-24. 
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16. Costs § 4- interest on costs 
Interest on costs properly assessed may not be allowed without 

statutory authority, and such interest is expressly disallowed by stat- 
ute in this State. G.S. 24-5. 

APPEAL by respondents from Thornburg, S. J., 15 March 
1971 Civil Non-jury Session of MECKLENBURG; transferred from 
the Court of Appeals for initial appellate review by the Supreme 
Court under its general order of 31 July 1970, entered pursuant 
to G.S. 7A-31(b) (4) ; docketed and argued a t  the Fall Term 
1971 as Case No. 147. 

This was a condemnation proceeding which was dismissed 
by the court without prejudice. The appeal stems from respond- 
ents' petition for the allowance of additional costs. 

On 2 April 1965, the City of Charlotte (City), acting un- 
der a charter provision authorizing i t  to condemn property as 
provided "by the Public Laws of North Carolina," instituted 
this proceeding to condemn a 20-foot right-of-way over re- 
spondents' land for the purpose of widening Alleghany Street. 

City alleged that the public necessity for condemning 
respondents' land had been "duly determined" by the City Coun- 
cil and that City had attempted, without success, to buy the 
property. Answering, respondents admitted their refusal to 
negotiate with City for the sale of any part of their land and 
alleged that City, in bad faith, and pursuant to "a diabolical 
and reprehensible scheme," was attempting to appropriate their 
property without due process of law when there was no public 
necessity for the taking. 

After "some eleven hearings" during which "nine books of 
testimony was taken'' the Clerk made thirty findings of fact, 
the twenty-fourth being as follows: "There is no evidence that 
the City Council has officially or specifically authorized the 
widening and paving of Alleghany Street between Wilkinson 
Boulevard and Denver Avenue, but did approve condemnation 
proceedings to take the Respondents' land for that purpose." 
Upon his findings the clerk concluded as a matter of law that 
public convenience and necessity did not require the condemna- 
tion of respondents' land; that City had acted arbitrarily and 
abused its legal discretion; and that City was not entitled to 
condemn the property in suit. On 2 August 1966 he signed an 
order dismissing the proceeding, and City appealed to the judge. 
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On 11 August 1969 Judge Bryson adopted each of the 
clerk's findings of fact and conclusions of law, and affirmed his 
order dismissing the proceeding. City appealed to the Court 
of Appeals. 

The Court of Appeals, in an opinion by Judge Parker, re- 
ported in 8 N.C. App. 649, 175 S.E. 2d 348, held: (1) The rec- 
ord failed to  show City's compliance with G.S. 160-207, which 
required City's governing body (a) to pass a resolution de- 
scribing generally the nature of the proposed street improve- 
ment for which land must be condemned; and (b) to hold a 
public hearing after ten days published notice of time, place, 
and purpose, at which reasons for or against the proposed im- 
provements may be voiced. (2) City's failure to comply with 
G.S. 160-207 supports the trial court's Finding of Fact No. 24 
and supports the judgment dismissing this proceeding. (3) Cer- 
tain other findings of fact made by the court are irrelevant and 
may be treated as surplusage. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment of the Su- 
perior Court but specifically pointed out that "[d]ismissal of 
the present proceeding in no way bars the City, if it is so ad- 
vised, from widening Alleghany Street or any other street in 
the City as the City's governing body may decide, and for such 
purpose the City may institute new condemnation proceedings 
in compliance with currently applicable charter and statutory 
procedural requirements." 

On 11 August 1970 respondents filed with the clerk of the 
Superior Court a "petition for allowance of respondents' court 
costs." In brief summary, they allege that in consequence of the 
"illegal nature" of this proceeding and the "irresponsible aban- 
don" with which the City pursued it, in the defense of their 
property respondents incurred the following costs, which they 
are entitled to recover from City (enumeration ours) : 

1. Miscellaneous Maps, Document Reproductio'ns 
and Ordinances .................................................... $ 80.44 

2. Hearings and Transcript Records .................... 546.10 
3. (a) Compensation of respondent Sam Mc- 

Neely, Jr., a t  $10 per hr. for 1,363.5 hrs. 
consumed in attending hearings and se- 
curing evidence, etc. .................................... 13,635.00 

(b) Margaret C. McNeely, 777 hrs. a t  $3.00 
per hour ...................................................... 2,331.00 
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Travel Expenses 

(a) Mileage, 2,096 miles a t  -10 in 
securing evidence and attending 
hearings ....................................... $206.90 

(b) Meals and hotel bills .................. 55.77 262.67 
Engineering Costs and Testimony 
(a) I?. N. Cunningham ...................... 55.50 
(b) Spratt-Seaver, Inc. ................... 60.00 
(c) Ralph Whitehead & Associ- 

ates Three invoices of $25.00, 
$360.18, and $423.52, respec- 
tively ............................................ 808.70 924.20 

Legal Expenses ..................................................... 2,250.00 

.......... Interest on Principal (the above items) 5,500.00 

Zerox copies of Invoice No. A 920390 obtained 
........ from the Cl'erk of Superior Court 4-27-70 6.50 

................... Copy of Court of Appeals op'inio'n 2.50 
FINAL TOTAL .............................................. $25,538.41 

The clerk heard respondents' petition and found that their 
legal fees were "exceptionally reasonable" ; that a t  the hearings 
only two witnesses, both offered by respondents, were found to 
be experts: Ralph Whitehead in civil engineering and respond- 
ent Sam S. McNeely, Jr., in map reading and map making; that 
respondents had "put aside their business pursuits and spent 
practically full time" for nine months working on this pro- 
ceeding to "irreparable damage of their general insurance 
agency." He concluded as a matter of law that City had "acted 
in abuse of discretion and without adequate determining prin- 
cipal" in attempting to condemn respondents' property, and 
equity and good conscience require that respondents' "direct 
costs" in the amount of $25,535.91 be taxed against City (the 
total of the items set out in respondents' petition less Item 9, 
the cost of a copy of the opinion of the Court of Appeals, in the 
amount of $2.50). 

On 16 September 1970, "in the discretion of this court," the 
clerk taxed the sum of $25,535.91 against City and directed its 
disbursement to respondents immediately upon payment. City 
moved the clerk to retax the costs except as to Item 2 ($546.10 
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for transcripts of the various hearings). The clerk denied the 
motion and City appealed to the judge. 

Judge Thornburg heard City's appeal and entered his judg- 
ment on 18 March 1971. In i t  he approved the assessment of 
items 1 and 2, and disapproved in toto items 3 (b),  4, 5 (a) and 
(b), 6,  7 and 9. As to Item 5(c) he held that the findings did 
not support the assessment but ruled that, if the clerk should 
find "that Ralph L. Whitehead testified as an expert witness, 
he may be paid a reasonable expert witness fee" for so testi- 
fying. Item 3(a)  was disapproved "except insofar as the Clerk 
may determine said party [Sam F. McNeely, Jr.,] has testified 
as an expert witness, in which event reasonable payment shall 
be allowed for this service only." Item 9 was disallowed by the 
clerk, and the judge seems to have overlooked Item 8 as his 
judgment contains no reference to it. 

Judge Thornburg overruled the clerk's conclusion of law 
and noted that neither he nor the clerk made any finding that 
City had abandoned its efforts to condemn respondents' prop- 
erty. His judgment remanded the proceeding to the clerk "for 
proceedings consistent with this order and for the assessment 
of proper costs." 

Respondents excepted "to the signing and entry of this 
order" and gave notice of appeal. 

W. A. W a t t s  f o r  petitioner-appellee. 

S a m  S. McNeely,  Jr., in propria persona f o r  respondent- 
appellants. 

SHARP, Justice. 

Appellants' statement of case on appeal, assignments of 
error, and brief do not comply with the rules of the Appellate 
Division, and are rife with extraneous matter which serve 
only to multiply pages and increase the costs of this appeal. The 
only question which arises on this record is whether respondents 
are  entitled to have certain of the items allowed by the clerk, 
and disallowed by the judge, taxed against City as a part of 
their recoverable costs in this proceeding. Despite respondents' 
failure to comply with the rules of appellate procedure, because 
they are laymen appealing without counsel, and because of the 
extraordinary nature of the bill of costs taxed by the clerk, we 
have decided to answer the questions presented. 
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At the outset it is emphasized that the Court of Appeals 
affirmed the dismissal of this proceeding upon the sole ground 
that City had failed to comply with certain procedural statutory 
requirements, and that the dismissal was without prejudice to 
its right to reinstitute the proceeding upon compliance with the 
conditions. Neither party attempted to have this ruling reviewed, 
and the decision of the Court of Appeals became the law of the 
case. 

It is also noted that, from the beginning, respondents have 
contended that City's governing body abused its discretion when 
i t  decided to widen Alleghany Street and to take a right-of-way 
over their property for that purpose. The Court of Appeals 
properly held that, on the record, the findings of clerk and 
judge in accordance with these contentions by respondents were 
immaterial and surplusage. The applicable principles of law are 
these : 

11-41 In any condemnation proceeding the question of what is 
a public purpose is one for the court. The taking of property 
to construct or enlarge a public street is, as a matter of law, a 
taking for a public purpose. The public purpose being estab- 
lished, "the question as to the necessity or expediency of de- 
voting the property to the public use is one which must be left to 
the legislative department." Je f f r e s s  v .  Greenville, 154 N.C. 490, 
498, 70 S.E. 919, 922 (1911). Thus, the advisability of widening 
a public street is a matter within the discretion of a city's gov- 
erning body. When the applicable statutes have been followed, 
neither the landowner affected nor the court can interfere with 
the exercise of this power until the question of compensation 
is reached. Durham v .  Rigsbee, 141 N.C. 128,53 S.E. 531 (1906). 
See Morganton v. Hut tor~  & Bourbonnais Company, 251 N.C. 
531,112 S.E. 2d 111 (1959) ; Highway Commission v. Young,  200 
N.C. 603, 158 S.E. 91 (1931). Further, a city council's choice 
of a route, or the land to be condemned for a street, "will not 
be reviewed on the ground that another route may have been 
more appropriately chosen unless i t  appears that there has been 
an abuse of the discretion." Charlotte v. Heath, 226 N.C. 750, 
754, 40 S.E. 2d 600, 603 (1946). Upon specific allegations tend- 
ing to show bad faith, malice, wantonness, or oppressive and 
manifest abuse of discretion by the condemnor, the issue raised 
becomes the subject of judicial inquiry as a question of fact to 
be determined by the judge. I n  re  Housing Authori ty ,  235 N.C. 
463, 70 S.E. 2d 500 (1952) ; Selma v .  Nobles, 183 N.C. 322, 111 
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S.E. 543 (1922) ; Power Co. v. Wissler, 160 N.C. 269, 76 S.E. 
267 (1912) ; Jeffress v. Greenville, supra. See Kapero~is  v. 
Highway Commission, 260 N.C. 587, 133 S.E. 2d 464 (1963). 

,151 In considering any question involving court costs the fol- 
lowing principles are pertinent: At common law neither party 
recovered costs in a civil action and each party paid his own 
witnesses. Chadwick v. Insurance Co., 158 N.C. 380, 74 S.E. 
115 (1912). Today in this State, "all costs are given in a court 
of law in virtue of some statute." Costin v. Baxter, 29 N.C. 111, 
112 (1846). The simple but definitive statement of the rule is: 
" [C] osts in this State, are entirely creatures of legislation, and 
without this they do not exist." Clerk's Office v. Commissioners, 
121 N.C. 29, 30, 27 S.E. 1003 (1897). See 2 McIntosh, N. C. 
Practice and Procedure 5 2538 (1956). 

[6] Since costs may be taxed solely on the basis of statutory 
authority, it follows a fortiori that courts have no power to 
adjudge c o ~ t s  "against anyone on mere equitable or moral 
grounds." 20 C.J.S. Costs 5s 1, 2 (1940). Furthermore, even 
when allowed by statute, "[c]osts and expenses unnecessarily 
incurred by the prevailing party will not be taxed against the 
unsuccessful party." 20 C.J.S. Costs § 256 (1940). See Chad- 
wick v. Insurance Co., supra. 

City properly concedes that respondents, to whom judg- 
ment was given, are entitled to recover their actual costs rea- 
sonably incurred and specifically authorized by statutes. Clearly, 
however, such reimbursement is the limit of their entitlement. 
See G.S. 6-1, G.S. 6-23 (1964) ; Whaley v. Taxi Co., 252 N.C. 
586, 114 S.E. 2d 254 (1960). 

In  Morris, Solicitor v. Shinn, 262 N.c. 88, 89, 136 S.E. 2d 
244, 245 (1964), this Court said: "An award of costs i s  an exer- 
cise of statutory authority; if the statute is misinterpreted, the 
judgment is erroneous." Therefore, we consider the legality of 
the various items which appellants seek to have taxed as costs. 

Items 1, 2, 8 and 9 

[a Item 1. Judge Thornburg allowed Item 1, the cost of un- 
identified "miscellaneous maps, document reproductions and 
ordinances" in the amount of $80.44. Since City did not appeal, 
the allowance of this charge is res judicata. We note, however, 
the expense of procuring surveys, maps, plans, photographs and 
"documents" are not taxable as  costs unless there is clew statu- 
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tory authority therefor or they have been ordered by the court. 
20 C.J.S. Costs $5 219, 220 (1940). See G.S. 38-4 (1966) and 
cases cited in the annotation thereunder. 

Item 2. On the hearing before Judge Thornburg City did , 

not contest its liability for this item, the cost of transcripts of 
the hearings in the amount of $546.10. 

Item 8. City's liability for this item, $6.50 to  the clerk 
for Xerox copies of an invoice, cannot be adjudicated on this 
appeal since the judge did not rule upon it and no hint of its 
purpose appears in the record. 

Item 9. This charge of $2.50, the "expense of obtaining 
copy of Court of Appeals opinion," is res judicata. It was the 
one item in respondents' petition which the clerk disallowed. 

Items 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 

[8] Item 3, Compensation to Respondents for Time Spent in 
Preparing for and Attending Heamhgs. The general rule is that, 
unless authorized by express statute provision, witness fees can- 
not be allowed and taxed for a party to the action. 20 C.J.S. 
Costs 5 222 (1940) ; Hopkins v. General Electric Co., 93 I?. Supp. 
424 (D. Mass. 1950) ; Shepherd v. Morrison's Cafeteria Go., 29 
Ala. App. 189, 194 So. 427 (1940) ; Leonard v. Bottomley, 210 
Wis. 411, 245 N.W. 849 (1932) ; Bostrom v. Duffield, 28 S.W. 
2d 610 (Tex. Civ. App. 1930). Our statute, G.S. 6-1 (1969), in 
pertinent part, provides: "To either party for whom judgment 
is given there shall be allowed as costs his actual disbursements 
for fees to the officers, witnesses, and other persons entitled to 
receive the same." 

Since the right to tax costs did not exist a t  common law 
and costs are considered penal in their nature, "[sltatutes re- 
lating to costs are strictly construed." 20 Am. Jur. 2d Costs 
5 6 (1965). However, in construing G.S. 6-1, i t  is not necessary 
to resort to rules of construction. Clearly, the legislature did 
not contemplate that a party would disburse or become liable to 
himself for a fee when he testified as a witness for himself in 
his own case. Neither did i t  contemplate that a party would 
pay an officer to subpoena himself as a witness. The losing 
party is taxed with the costs of his adversary's witness only 
if the witness was subpoenaed and examined or tendered. G.S. 
6-53. Chadwick v. Insurance Co., supra; 2 McIntosh, N. C. Prac- 
tice and Procedure 5 2538 (1) (1956). 
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The following quotation contained in Hinton v. Sclzarozcn 
Industries, 41 N.Y.S. 2d 595, 596 (1943) is applicable to this 
case: "The legislature never intended, I think, in allowing par- 
ties to be witnesses for themselves, to put them on a par with 
other witnesses in respect to witness fees, when they attend 
the trial to give evidence in their own favor. This would open 
a door to much abuse, which I should be unwilling to sanction 
till the legislature so commands." 

191 A fortiori, if a successful party is not entitled to have a 
witness fee for himself taxed against his losing adversary he 
is not entitled to have taxed an expert witness fee for himself. 
Therefore, Judge Thornburg erred in authorizing the clerk, 
upon retaxing the costs to allow respondent Sam S. McNeely, 
Jr., "reasonable payment" for his testimony as  an  expert wit- 
ness. Although this error was against City, which did not ap- 
peal, public policy requires that such a practice not be initiated. 
Therefore, in the exercise of our supervisory powers, N. C. 
Const. art. IV, 5 12(1) (1970) ; G.S. 7A-32 (1969), this ruling 
is vacated. 

[ lo] Respondents are entitled to recover neither the statutory 
compensation for witnesses nor an hourly wage or per diem for 
the time they expended in "attending hearing, securing evi- 
dence, exhibits, et cetera." In Horner v. Chamber o f  Commerce, 
236 N.C. 96, 72 S.E. 2d 21 (1952), a case in which attorney's 
fees were held properly allowable as costs to a plaintiff who 
had recovered public funds in an action the City of Burlington 
had refused to bring, this Court said: "We are not unmindful 
that the power to make an allowance of counsel fees from a 
fund brought into court is susceptible of great abuse, and should 
be exercised with jealous caution. . . .[but] with the power 
of award being limited to items of reasonable attorney fees 
and expenses, so as t o  exclude compensation or allowance of  
any  kind for  the t ime and e f f o r t  o f  the  suing taxpayer, t hus  
fixing it so the taxpayer mag not  capitalize on  the  suit, we see 
no real danger of abuse." (Emphasis Ldded.) Id. a t  101, 72 
S.E. 2d a t  24-25. The foregoing statement recognizes the well 
established rule, and the reason for it, that a party is not en- 
titled to compensation for the time and effort he devotes to 
the litigation. Respondents' bills, $13,635.00 for Sam McNeely, 
Jr., and $2,331.00 for Margaret C. McNeely, seem to demon- 
strate the wisdom of the rule. 
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Judge Thornburg properly disallowed in its entirety Item 
3 (b), and he erred in not disallowing Item 3 (a) in its entirety. 

[Ill I tem 4 Travel Expenses. As to this item, an allowance to 
respondents of $206.90 for mileage and $55.77 for meals and 
hotel bills expended "in securing evidence and attending hear- 
ings," the exposition on Item 3 is equally applicable here. No 
statute authorizes the inclusion of such expenses in court costs, 
and Judge Thornburg properly disallowed them. 

1121 I tem 5, Engineering Costs and Testimony. From the en- 
tire record of this proceeding, from respondents "Statement of 
the Case" incorporated therein, and from their brief, it is  quite 
clear that respondents incurred these costs solely for the pur- 
pose of showing (1) that public necessity and convenience did 
not require City to expand Alleghany Street (a thoroughfare 
leading to Harding High School) into four lanes; and (2) that, 
in any event, another plan prepared by Ralph L. Whitehead, 
professional engineer, was equally as good as City's and more 
acceptable to respondents since it would require only a 10-foot 
right-of-way over their land. Such evidence was irrelevant to 
the question before the clerk and Judge Bryson. As earlier noted 
the law left these matters to the judgment of City's governing 
body. As the Court of Appeals held, the only question properly 
before the clerk and Judge Bryson was whether City had fol- 
lowed statutory requirements before instituting the proceed- 
ing. 

Because City had not complied with the statutory require- 
ments the Court of Appeals held that the proceeding must be 
dismissed, but i t  also held that the dismissal was without preju- 
dice to City's right to condemn the property upon compliance 
with the applicable statutory provisions. It also specifically 
noted that the clerk's other findings, which Judge Bryson 
adopted, were irrelevant and to be treated as surplusage. 

[I31 As previously pointed out, under Item 1, unless specifi- 
aally authorized by stitute, or by an  order of the court in a 
proper case, the cost of obtaining maps, surveys, and plats for 
use on trial are not allowed as  taxable costs. Further, expert 
witness fees can be taxed against an adverse party only when 
the testimony of the witness examined (or tendered) was (or 
would have been) material and competent. Chadwick v.  Imur-  
ance Co., supra; 20 C.J.S. Costs § 244 (1940). Conceding, as 
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the clerk found, that Ralph L. Whitehead is an expert civil 
engineer, his testimony that his plan for widening Alleghany 
Street was as  good as City's, was totally irrelevant to the ques- 
tion of City's right to condemn the property in question. The 
record discloses no facts which would justify taxing, as a part 
of the costs for which City is liable, an expert witness fee for 
Mr. Whitehead. If one is to be taxed, as permitted by Judge 
Thornburg's order, i t  must be taxed against respondents, whose 
witness he was. As against City, Item 5 must be disallowed in 
toto. 

114, 151 Item 6, Legal Expenses. In this jurisdiction, in the 
absence of express statutory authority, attorneys' fees are not 
allowable as part of the court costs in civil actions. Bowman v. 
Chair Co., 271 N.C. 702, 157 S.E. 2d 378 (1967), and cases cited 
therein. See Trust Co. v. Schneider, 235 N.C. 446, 70 S.E. 2d 
578 (1952) ; 2 McIntosh, N. C. Practice and Procedure 5 2538 
(2) (1956). With one exception, in eminent domain proceed- 
ings the court is authorized to tax counsel fees as a part of the 
costs only for an attorney appointed by the court "to appeal 
for and protect the rights of any party in interest who is un- 
known or whose residence is unknown." G.S. 40-24 (1966). I t  
is counsel appointed under G.S. 40-24 (1966) to which G.S. 
40-19 (1966) refers in providing that a landowner is divested 
of title when the condemnor pays into court the sum assessed 
as  damages for the taking of his property, "together with costs 
and counsel fees allowed by the court." Light Company v. Creas- 
man, 262 N.C. 390, 137 S.E. 2d 497 (1964) ; Durham v. Davis, 
171 N.C. 305, 88 S.E. 433 (1916) ; R. R. v. Goodwin, 110 N.C. 
175, 14 S.E. 687 (1892). 

The one exception referred to above is contained in G.S. 
1-209.1 (1969), which provides : "In all condemnation proceed- 
ings authorized by G.S. 40-2 or by any other statute, all clerks 
of the superior courts are authorized to fix and tax the peti- 
tioner with a reasonable fee for respondent's attorney in cases 
in  which the petitioner takes or submits to a voluntary nonsuit 
or otherwise abandons the proceeding." This section, as Judge 
Thornburg noted, has no application to the facts of this case. 
(Although not pertinent to decision here, City's brief asserts 
that i t  has proceeded with a new action, which is now pending.) 

The statutes cited by respondents in support of their con- 
tention that they should allowed counsel fees-G.S. 6-21 ( 5 ) ,  
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G.S. 21.1, G.S. 21.2 (1969) ; G.S. 136-114, G.S. 136-119 (1964) ; 
G.S. 40-19 (1966)-have no application to this proceeding. 
Judge Thornburg correctly disallowed Item 4. 

1161 Item 7, Interest on Costs. Since the greater portion of 
this item of $5,500.00 is interest calculated on items of dis- 
allowed costs, it could not be sustained in any event. However, 
i t  is the general rule that interest on costs properly assessed 
may not be allowed without statutory authority. 20 C.J.S. 
Costs 5 190 (1940). In  this State, interest on costs is expressly 
disallowed by statute. G.S. 24-5 (1965)) provides, inter alia, 
that "the amount of any judgment or decree, except the costs, 
rendered or adjudged in any kind of action, though not on con- 
tract, shall bear interest till paid, and the judgment or decree 
of the court shall be rendered according to this section." The 
judge properly disallowed Item 7. 

I t  is obvious that from the beginning respondents have 
contested this proceeding upon a misapprehension of City's legal 
rights. They were entitled, if so advised, to require City to  com- 
ply strictly with all statutory procedures. However, after hav- 
ing done so, on the facts disclosed, City would be entitled to 
reinstitute the proceeding and proceed with the condemnation 
as originally planned. 

It is a matter of regret that in a condemnation proceeding 
involving a 20-foot right-of-way over land, which commissioners 
assessed a t  $4,071.00 in April I965 (according to City's brief), 
respondents have expended in time or money (according to 
their calculations) $25,538.41. However, they made a judgment 
decision and must abide the consequences. 

Judge Thornburg correctly vacated the clerk's order allow- 
ing respondents to recover from City court costs in the amount 
of $25,538.41, less $2.50. However, that portion of his judgment 
remanding the cause to the clerk for the assessment of proper 
costs in conformity with his order is vacated. The cause will 
be remanded to the clerk for the assessment of costs in accord- 
ance with this opinion. This means that of the items claimed 
by respondents in their petition for allowance of court costs, 
the clerk will tax against City only items 1 and 2, miscellaneous 
maps, document reproductions and ordinances ($80.44) and 
hearing and transcript recordings ($546.10), a total of $626.54. 

Respondents will pay the costs of this appeal. 

Modified and affirmed. 
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CATHERINE D. PAGE, ADMINISTRATRIX C.T.A. OF THE ESTATE OF 
CHANNING NELSON PAGE, DECEASED V. GEORGE SLOAN AND 
HIS WIFE, REA SLOAN, CO-PARTNERS, TRADING AND DOING BUSINESS 
AS OCEAN ISLE MOTEL 

No. 10 

(Filed 31 July 1972) 

1. Negligence 8 53; Innkeepers § 5- motel owner -liability to guests- 
negligence of independent contractor 

An innkeeper's duties to exercise due care to keep his premises 
in a reasonably safe condition and to warn guests of any hidden 
peril are nondeiegable, and liability cannot be avoided on the ground 
that  their performance was entrusted to an independent contractor. 

2. Negligence § 53; Innkeepers 8 5- motel owner - liability to guests - 
nondelegability of duty to use due care 

The rule of nondelegability is grounded on the premise that  an  
innkeeper's duty to use due care for the safety of his guests is a 
responsibility so important to the public that  he should not be per- 
mitted to transfer i t  to another. 

3. Master and Servant § 21; Innkeepers 5 5- torts of independent con- 
tractor - liability of employer of the contractor - negligence of motel 
owner - application of res ipsa loquitur to explosion of water heater 

Where plaintiff's testator was killed while a paying guest in 
defendants' motel as a result of the explosion of a water heater in- 
stalled on the premises by an independent contractor, defendants 
could be liable on one of three bases: (1) failure to use due care for 
safety of their guests by employing a plumber instead of an electrician 
to repair the electrical heating element on the water heater; (2) 
since innkeepers' duties are nondelegable, liability for an injury or 
death caused by the plumber's negligent failure properly to repair 
the water heater as if they had made the repairs themselves; (3) 
application of res ipsa loquitur. 

4. Rules of Civil Procedure § 56- summary judgment - requisites 

On motion for summary judgment, the moving party has the 
burden of showing that there is no genuine issue as to any material 
fact and that he is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. 

5. Rules of Civil Procedure 8 56- summary judgment - necessity of 
counter-affidavits - verified complaint as affidavit 

Upon plaintiff's failure to file counter-affidavits to defendants' 
motion for summary judgment, plaintiff could not have her verified 
complaint treated as an affidavit to defeat defendants' motion unless 
the complaint was made on personal knowledge, set forth facts a s  
would be admissible in evidence and showed affirmatively that  the 
affiant was competent to testify as to the matters stated therein; 
however, failure of plaintiff to file affidavits and failure of her 
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complaint to meet these requirements did not shift from defendants 
the burden of proving themselves entitled to  summary judgment. 

6. Rules of Civil Procedure § 56- summary judgment -negligence case 
I t  is only in exceptional negligence cases that  summary judgment 

is appropriate because the rule of the prudent man (or other applica- 
ble standard of care) must be applied, and ordinarily the jury should 
apply it under appropriate instructions from the court. 

7. Rules of Civil Procedure 9 56- summary judgment - material issue of 
fact 

Where evidentiary material offered by defendants to support 
their motion for summary judgment presented material issues of 
fact on which reasonable men could reach different conclusions, sum- 
mary judgment was not properly entered. 

8. Rules of Civil Procedure 56; Negligence $5 6, 31- summary judg- 
ment - judgment as  a matter of law - applicability of res ipsa loqui- 
tur  

On motion for summary judgment, defendants failed to show 
that  they were entitled to judgment as  a matter of law in that  they 
did not clearly establish the inapplicability of the doctrine of res 
ipsa loquitur to the death of plaintiff's testator as  the result of an 
explosion of defendant innkeepers' water heater. 

ON certiorari to the Court of Appeals to review its decision 
reversing judgment of Long, J., 18 January 1971 Session, 
MOORE Superior Court. 

Plaintiff brought this action to recover for the wrongful 
death of Channing Nelson Page. She alleged in her complaint 
that defendants owned and operated the Ocean Isle Motel in 
Brunswick County, North Carolina. On and prior to 29 August 
1964 Channing Nelson Page was a paying guest in said motel, 
assigned to a room adjoining the utility room which contained 
the motel's 82-gallon electric water heater. The heater exploded 
about 6:30 a.m. on 29 August 1964 resulting directly and proxi- 
mately in the death of plaintiff's testator. She further alleged 
that said electric water heater was in the exclusive possession 
and control of the defendants and its explosion was caused by, 
or due to, the actionable negligence of the defendants in that: 
(1) they failed to equip the heater with proper and adequate 
safety valves, electrical controls and thermostat devices which 
would have prevented the accumulation of steam pressure in 
the heater; (2) they failed to keep the heater in a proper state 
of repair; (3) they failed to have the heater inspected as re- 
quired by the North Carolina Boiler Law, Rules and Regula- 
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tions; (4) they used a plastic dip tube in the water heater when 
they knew, or should have known, that if the water in the heater 
became too hot i t  would cause the plastic dip tube to melt and 
flow into the outlet pipes completely plugging them, thereby 
permitting extremely high pressure to develop; (5) they failed 
to maintain a proper adapter and used a non-approved type 
relief valve; and ( 6 )  they failed to keep the relief valve in a 
proper state of repair so as to avoid the accumulation of ex- 
tremely high pressure in the water heater. Plaintiff says that 
by reason of the death of her testate, proximately caused by 
the joint and concurrent negligence of the defendants as alleged, 
she is entitled to recover $75,000.00. She prays judgment in 
that amount. 

In  their answer, defendants admit (1) the death of Chan- 
ning Nelson Page a t  the time and place mentioned in the com- 
plaint; (2) their ownership and operation of Ocean Isle Motel; 
(3) that Page was a paying guest and occupied a room adjoin- 
ing the utility room; and (4) that the electric water heater 
exploded a t  the time and place alleged in the complaint. 
Defendants specifically deny each and every allegation of negli- 
gence on their part and aver that the explosion of the water 
heater was due to  causes beyond their control and amounted 
to an unavoidable accident; that any defects that might have 
existed in the water heater resulted from the negligence of oth- 
ers, which was the proximate cause of the explosion, and not 
from any negligence on the part of the defendants. Defendants 
further assert in their answer that if the electric water heater 
had any defects in its manufacture, installation, or  servicing, 
such defects were not known to defendants and could not have 
been known to them prior to the explosion by reason of the 
fact that the electric water heater was in a sealed container with 
no external controls. Defendants aver that they acted a t  all 
times as reasonable and prudent persons similarly situated 
would have acted. Defendants pray that the action be dismissed. 

The pretrial stipulations of the parties tend to show the 
facts set out in the numbered paragraphs which follow: 

1. Plaintiff is the duly appointed, qualified and acting ad- 
ministratrix C.T.A. of the Estate of Channing Nelson Page who 
died testate on 29 August 1964. 

2. The defendants George Sloan and Rea Sloan are the 
owners and operators of the Ocean Isle Motel a t  Ocean Isle, 
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Brunswick County, North Carolina, and were the owners and 
operators of said motel a t  all times pertinent to this case. 

3. On 27 August 1964 plaintiff's testator, Channing Nel- 
son Page, was accepted as a paying guest a t  the Ocean Isle 
Motel and assigned a corner room which adjoined the utility 
room in which an electric water heater was located. At about 
6:30 a.m. on 29 August 1964 said water heater exploded with 
tremendous force and violence and the explosion resulted in 
the death of Channing Nelson Page. 

4. The original units of Ocean Isle Motel were constructed 
by George Sloan and Rea Sloan in 1957, and the water heater 
for these original units was installed by a plumber named Olaf 
Thorsen. 

5. Five additional units were constructed as a separate 
building a t  Ocean Isle Motel in 1962, and the plumbing work 
was done by Shallotte Hardware Company, including the fur- 
nishing and installation of the electric water heater in question. 
The explosion involved in this case occurred in one of these 
additional rooms, used as a utility room, where Shallotte Hard- 
ware Company had installed the water heater in April 1962. 
It was an eighty-two gallon electric water heater manufactured 
by State Stove and Manufacturing Company. As thus installed 
i t  remained in operation and use in the five additional units 
from about April 1962 until the explosion on 29 August 1964. 
George Sloan and Rea Sloan added four more rooms in April 
1964 with hot water to be furnished to these four additional 
units by this same eighty-two gallon electric water heater. 
Olaf Thorsen performed the plumbing work in April 1964 
with respect to these four additional units. 

6. In  June or July 1964, due to a complaint of insufficient 
hot water by motel guests, George Sloan and Rea Sloan called 
plumber Olaf Thorsen to check the water heater. This water 
heater was rated by an inscription on a plate attached thereto at 
3000 watts for the upper heating element, 2500 watts for the low- 
er  heating element, and at 3000 watts maximum. When manufac- 
tured and assembled a t  State Stove and Manufacturing Com- 
pany it was equipped with two thermostats and wiring between 
the two thermostats and the two heating elements, but was not 
equipped with any additional electrical wiring, any plumbing 
fixtures, or any relief valve of any type. I t  had holes for two 
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pipes a t  the top of the tank, one for a hot water pipe and the 
other for a cold water pipe, with the pipes to be furnished by 
the installer. The hot water unit was a sealed container with 
no external controls. The thermostats were covered by a shield 
which was screwed onto the sealed container. Shallotte Hard- 
ware Company had furnished and installed a one-half inch 
pressure relief valve set to work a t  125 p.s.i. by its manufacturer; 
and Alton Millikan, a partner of Shallotte Hardware Company, 
was in charge of the installation work and supplied the electri- 
cal and plumbing connections. 

7. Olaf Thorsen was a licensed plumber, and Alton Millikan 
was a licensed electric and plumbing contractor. When the 
eighty-two gallon electric water heater in question was installed 
a t  the Ocean Isle Motel in April 1962 by Shallotte Hardware 
Company, i t  was not inspected by the Boiler Inspection Division 
of the North Carolina Department of Labor as required by 
G.S. 95-54 et seq; but the installation was inspected by the 
Brunswick County Inspector. 

8. When Olaf Thorsen checked the water heater in ques- 
tion in June or July 1964 a t  the request of George Sloan and 
Rea Sloan, due to complaints by motel guests of insufficient 
hot water as set out in paragraph No. 6 above, he removed 
the lower heating element of the water heater (2500-watt size), 
obtained a replacement from Shallotte Hardware Company 
(4500-watt size), and installed same. After the explosion on 
29 August 1964, i t  was determined that the lower heating ele- 
ment in the water heater a t  the time of the explosion was an 
element of 4500-watt size. 

Defendants moved for summary judgment under Rule 56 of 
the Rules of Civil Procedure, with supporting affidavit and 
depositions, contending there was no genuine issue of fact for 
trial. Plaintiff filed no opposing affidavits. Upon consideration 
of the pleadings, affidavit, depositions and stipulations, the 
trial judge, being of the opinion that there was no genuine issue 
of any material fact, allowed the motion and entered summary 
judgment for the defendants. Plaintiff appealed, and the Court 
of Appeals reversed for reasons stated in its decision, 12 N.C. 
App. 433. We allowed certiorari. 
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Anderson,  Nimocks  & Broadfoot  b y  H e n r y  L. Anderson, 
A t t o r n e y s  f o r  defendant  appellants. 

W. D. Sabiston, Jr., and Tharr ing ton  & S m i t h ,  A t torneys  
f o r  plaint i f f  appellee. 

HUSKINS, Justice. 

Did the Court of Appeals err in reversing summary judg- 
ment entered by the trial court in  favor of defendants? Answer 
depends upon whether defendants, in light of an innkeeper's 
duty to a guest, have borne the burden which the law places 
upon a movant for summary judgment. 

What standard of care is required of innkeepers with re- 
spect to their guests? 

[I] An innkeeper is not an insurer of the personal safety of 
his guests. He is required to exercise due care to keep his prem- 
ises in a reasonably safe condition and to warn his guests of 
any hidden peril. Barnes v. Hotel Corp., 229 N.C. 730, 51 S.E. 
2d 180 (1949). The duties thus imposed upon an innkeeper for 
the protection of his guests "are nondelegable, and liability can- 
not be avoided on the ground that their performance was en- 
trusted to an independent contractor." 40 Am. Jur. 2d, Hotels, 
Motels and Restaurants 5 81. Compare the English rule, Chap 
man, Liability for the Negligence of Independent Contractors, 
50 L.Q. Rev. 71 (1934). See Prosser on Torts (4th ed. 1971), 
5 71 a t  p. 470. 

[2] The rule of nondelegability is grounded on the premise that 
an innkeeper's duty to use due care for the safety of his guests 
is a responsibility so important to the public that he should not 
be permitted to transfer it to another. The Restatement of the 
Law of Torts expresses and illustrates the rule as follows : "One 
who employs an independent contractor to maintain in safe 
condition land which he holds open to the entry of the public 
as his place of business, or a chattel which he supplies for others 
to use for his business purposes or which he leases for immedi- 
ate use, is subject to the same liability for physical harm caused 
by the contractor's negligent failure to maintain the land or 
chattel in reasonably safe condition, as though he had retained 
its maintenance in his own hands." Restatement of Torts 
2d, § 425. The second illustration following this section is 
especially pertinent: "2. A operates a hotel. He employs B as a 
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plumber to install a shower bath. B negligently transposes the 
handles so that the hot water pipe is labeled cold. C, a guest, 
deceived by the label, turns on the hot water and is scalded. A 
is subject to liability to C." 

The rule of nondelegability has been applied where plain- 
tiff was injured by the negligent operation or maintenance of 
an elevator located in defendant's premises. Stott v. Churchill, 
36 N.Y.S. 476 (1895), aff'd 157 N.Y. 692, 51 N.E. 1094; Brown 
v. George Pepperdine Foundation, 23 Cal. 2d 256, 143 P. 2d 929 
(1943). Even where the company which manufactured and in- 
stalled the elevator had by contract assumed responsibility for the 
inspection, repair and maintenance of the elevator, the rule was 
applied and defendant owner of the premises was held liable. 
Otis Elevator Co. v. Bond, 373 S.W. 2d 518 (Tex. Civ. App. 
1963). A like result is reached in Blackhawk Hotels Co. v. Bon- 
foey, 227 F. 2d 232 (C.A. 8th 1955). Accord, Friedman v. 
Schindler's Prairie House, 230 N.Y.S. 44, aff9d, 250 N.Y. 574, 
166 N.E. 329 (l929). 

[3] Thus, depending on the evidence offered a t  the trial, de- 
fendants in this case could be liable on any of the following 
bases : 

(1) Failure to use due care for the safety of their 
guests by employing a plumber instead of an  electrician 
to repair the electrical heating element on the water heater, 
thereby failing "to exercise reasonable care to employ a 
competent and careful contractor (a) to do work which 
will involve a risk of physical harm unless it is skillfully 
and carefully done, or (b) to perform any duty which the 
employer owes to third persons." Restatement of Torts 2d, 
§ 411. While making repairs to the heating element of an 
electric water heater is not "inherently" or "intrinsically" 
dangerous work, i t  involves work which will likely cause 
injury if proper safety precautions are not observed. 
Compare Evans v. Rockingham Homes, Inc., 220 N.C. 
253, 17 S.E. 2d 125 (1941). If defendants knew, or in  the 
exercise of due care should have known, that a plumber 
was not competent to do such work and if the plumber's 
negligence was a proximate cause of the explosion and 
ensuing death of plaintiff's testate, defendants would be 
liable. 
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(2) Since the duties imposed upon an innkeeper for 
the protection of his guests are nondelegable and liability 
cannot be avoided on the ground that their performance 
was entrusted to an independent contractor, defendants 
would be subject to the same liability for an injury or 
death caused by the plumber's negligent failure properly 
to repair the electrical heating element on the water 
heater as if they had made the repairs themselves. 

(3) Application of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur. 

We now turn to the propriety of summary judgment for 
the defendants. 

Guiding principles applicable t o  summary judgment under 
Rule 56 are detailed in Kessing v. Mortgage Corp., 278 N.C. 
523, 180 S.E. 2d 823 (1971), and have since been appIied in 
various cases by this Court, including Harrison Associates u. 
State Ports Authority, 280 N.C. 251, 185 S.E. 2d 793 (1972) ; 
Singleton v. Stewart, 280 N.C. 460, 186 S.E. 2d 400 (1972) ; 
Koontx v. City of Winston-Salem, 280 N.C. 513, 186 S.E. 2d 
897 (1972) ; Blades v. City of  Raleigh, 280 N.C. 531, 187 
S.E. 2d 35 (1972) ; Schoolfield v. Collins, 281 N.C. 604, 189 
S.E. 2d 208 (1972). 

[4] Our Rule 56 and its federal counterpart are practically 
the same. Authoritative decisions both state and federal, inter- 
preting and applying Rule 56, hold that the party moving for 
summary judgment has the burden of "clearly establishing the 
lack of any triable issue of fact by the record properly before 
the court. His papers are carefully scrutinized; and those of 
the opposing party are on the whole indulgently regarded." 6 
Moore's Federal Practice (2d ed. 1971) 5 56.15[8], a t  2439; 
Singleton v. Stewart, supra. Rendition of summary judgment is, 
by the rule itself, conditioned upon a showing by the movant 
(1) that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, and 
(2) that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter 
of law. G.S. 1A-1, Rule 56(b) ; Kessing v. Mortgage Corp., 
swpra. 

[5] Have defendants carried the burden of proof so as to entitle 
them to summary judgment? We first note that plaintiff filed 
no counter-affidavits. Rule 56 (e) provides, inter alia: "When 
a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as pro- 
vided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the 
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mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, 
by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set 
forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for 
trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropri- 
ate, shall be entered against him." Thus plaintiff cannot rely 
on her verified complaint to defeat defendants' motion, accom- 
panied, as i t  is, by competent affidavits and depositions. 

A verified complaint may be treated as an affidavit if it 
(1) is made on personal knowledge, (2) sets forth such f a d s  
as would be admissible in evidence, and (3) shows affirmatively 
that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated 
therein. Rule 56(e) ; Williams v. Kolb, 145 F. 2d 344 (D.C. 
App. 1944) ; Fletcher v. No~folk Newspapers, Inc., 239 F. 2d 169 
(C.A. 4th 1956). Plaintiff's complaint here meets neither the 
first  nor the third requirements of the rule for affidavits and 
therefore may not be considered. 

Even so, defendants still have the burden of showing that , 
there is no triable issue of fact and that they are entitled to 
judgment as a matter of law. Hence plaintiff may yet succeed 
in defending against the motion for summary judgment if the 
evidence produced by the movant and considered by the court 
is insufficient to satisfy the burden. Walling v. Fairmont Cream- 
ery Go., 139 F. 2d 318 (C.C.A. 8th 1943) ; Griffith v. William 
Penn Broadcasting Co., 4 F.R.D. 475 (E.D. Pa. 1945). "Where 
by the nature of things, the moving papers themselves demon- 
strate that there is inherent in the problem a factual controversy 
then, while i t  is certainly the part of prudence for the advocate 
to file one, a categorical counter-affidavit is not essential." 
Inglett & Company v. Everglades Fertilizer Co., 255 F. 2d 
342 (C.A. 5th 1958). To the same effect but stated somewhat 
differently : "Where the moving papers affirmatively disclose 
that the nature of the controversy presents good faith, actual, 
as distinguished from formal, dispute on one or more material 
issues, summary judgment cannot be used." Murphy v. LLght, 
257 F. 2d 323 (C.A. 5th 1958). 

Thus we consider only the supporting documents presented 
by defendants together with the stipulations of the parties 
contained in the Order on Final Pre-trial Conference, filed 28 
January 1971. The stipulations of fact contained therein will be 
considered as admissions. 6 Moore's Federal Practice (1971 
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Supp.) 5 56.11 [I.-51 at 100 ; Stubblefield v. Johnson-Fagg, Inc., 
379 F. 2d 270 (C.A. 10th 1967). 

Due consideration of the supporting documents and ma- 
terials presented by defendants leads us to the conclusion that 
the granting of summary judgment by the trial court was er- 
roneous. We hold that defendants have failed to carry the 
movant's burden of proof. 

[6] While our Rule 56, like its federal counterpart, is available 
in all types of litigation to both plaintiff and defendant, "we 
start with the general proposition that issues of negligence . . . 
are ordinarily not susceptible of summary adjudication either 
for or against the claimant, but should be resolved by trial in 
the ordinary manner." 6 Moore's Federal Practice (2d ed. 
1971) 5 56.17[42] a t  2583; 3 Barron and Holtzoff, Federal 
Practice and Procedure (Wright ed. 1958) 8 1232.1, at  106. 
It is only in exceptional negligence cases that summary judg- 
ment is appropriate. Rogers v. Peabodg Coal Co., 342 I?. 2d 749 
(C.A. 6th 1965) ; Stace v. Watson, 316 F. 2d 715 (C.A. 5th 
1963). This is so because the rule of the prudent man (or other 
applicable standard of care) must be applied, and ordinarily 
the jury should apply it under appropriate instructions from the 
court. Gordon, The New Summary Judgment Rule in North 
Carolina, 5 Wake Forest Intra. L. Rev. 87 (1969). 

Moreover, the movant is held by most courts to a strict 
standard in all cases; and "all inferences of fact from the 
proofs proffered a t  the hearing must be drawn against the 
movant and in favor of the party opposing the motion.'' 6 
Moore's Federal Practice (2d ed. 1971) 3 56.15[3], a t  2337; 
United States v. Diebold, Inc., 369 U.S. 654, 8 L.Ed. 2d 176, 
82 S.Ct 993 (1962). 

Application of these rules to the evidentiary material dem- 
onstrates the impropriety of summary judgment in this case. 

The material offered by defendants in support of their 
motion for summary judgment contains the following sworn 
statements by Olaf Thorsen, the plumber selected by defendants 
to  repair the electric water heater : 

"I don't know what the wattage was on the old element 
I removed or on the new element I purchased from Shallotte 
Hardware. . . . I did not know up to the time of the 
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explosion I had installed a 4500 watt element. . . . I have 
had some education and can read. . . . I didn't pay enough 
attention to this particular one to notice the wattage 
stamped on the side of it." 

The material offered by defendants in support of their 
motion includes the deposition of Alton Millikan, a duly licensed 
plumber and electrician. The following sworn statements appear 
in his deposition : 

"When your wattage goes up, your current goes up, 
and so does the arc that the thermostat draws. Each time 
i t  breaks i t  makes a bigger arc, and I never had any trouble 
with water heaters under 4500 watts. All the trouble we 
have encountered had 4500 watts on it. The function of a 
4500 watt heating element would be to just heat the water 
quicker. The thermostat is rated 6,000 watts which should 
normally interrupt this current, but on all problems I 
ever encountered in heaters, i t  had 4500 watt. . . . If the 
thermostat is designed to and has operated with 3,000 
watt element or 2500 watt element, and a 4500 watt element 
is thrown in and used, the thermostat could or might have 
trouble in cutting off that current because of i t  being 
additional wattage. . . . The current that gets to the ele- 
ment has to go through the thermostat, and by having 
increased the wattage, that is a larger arc of electricity. 
That extra arc could or might have damaged the points on 
the thermostat. It will tend to weld them quicker than a 
smaller load. When I say weld them, that means that the 
arc or current softens materials on the contact, and sticks 
together. That could or might cause the points to stick 
and hang. If that occurs the thermostat would freeze so 
that i t  would no longer control the temperature. . . . After 
an element is installed with increased wattage up to 4500 
watts, i t  could or might operate for some period of time 
before it is damaged to the point of sticking. . . . That 
damage is simply the increased current damaging the metal 
points. . . . Any time you alter whatever was shipped with 
the unit, you should add additional safety devices. . . . 
Other factors that would cause the thermostat to become 
inoperative is lightning, but mostly lightning is pressure, 
and i t  tends to blow out rather than melt the thing to- 
gether." 
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171 In our opinion reasonable men could reach different con- 
clusions on the evidentiary material offered by defendants to 
support their motion for summary judgment. Were defendants 
negligent in selecting a plumber instead of an electrician to 
repair an electrical element on the water heater? See Restate- 
ment of Torts 2d, $ 425 a t  412, Appendix, $ 425 a t  71;  Prosser 
on Torts (4th ed. 1951), pp. 470 et seq. Was the plumber negli- 
gent in making the repairs? Was his negligence a proximate 
cause of the explosion and ensuing injury? The evidentiary 
material offered by defendants would permit a jury to answer 
all these questions in the affirmative as well as the negative. 
These are material issues of fact and demonstrate that the mov- 
ants have failed to satisfy the burden of "clearly establishing the 
lack of any triable issue of fact by the record properly before 
the court." 

[%I Moreover, defendants have not shown that they are entitled 
to a judgment as a matter of law. The evidentiary materials of 
record do not clearly establish the inapplicability of the doctrine 
of res ipsa loquitw because these materials tend to show that 
the water heater in question was under the exclusive control 
and management of the defendants; and explosion of a water 
heater is something which, in the ordinary course of events, 
does not happen if those who have the management of i t  use 
proper care. Under those circumstances the explosion itself 
would be some evidence of negligence on the part of those in 
control and would tend to establish a prima facie case requiring 
its submission to the jury. Evidence tending to explain the 
cause of the explosion merely accentuates the jury's role in this 
controversy and the unwisdom of summary judgment. 

Whether r es  ipsa loqzcitw applies and whether this case 
should be submitted to the jury under that doctrine or under 
some other theory of law, or dismissed, are questions for deter- 
mination by the trial judge a t  the close of the evidence. It 
would be inappropriate a t  this juncture, upon affidavits, to 
determine any of those matters. Our comments are intended 
merely to demonstrate defendants' failure to carry the burden 
of showing they are entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 

"If there is to be error a t  the trial level i t  should be in 
denying summary judgment and in favor of a full live trial. And 
the problem of overcrowded calendars is not to be solved by 
summary disposition of issues of fact fairly presented in an  
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action." 6 Moore's Federal Practice (2d ed. 1971) 5 56.15 [I.-121, 
a t  2316. 

For  the reasons stated the decision of the Court of Appeals 
reversing the  entry of summary judgment in favor of defend- 
ants is 

Affirmed. 

IN THE MATTER OF THE FORECLOSURE OF THE DEED OF 
TRUST OR MORTGAGE OF CASTILLIAN APARTMENTS, INC. 

No. 105 

(Filed 31 July 1972) 

1. Mortgages and Deeds of Trust § 33- surplus from foreclosure sale- 
attachment of junior lien 

A second lien deed of trust attached to the surplus arising from 
a foreclosure sale under the first lien deed of trust. 

2. Usury § 1- effect of usury 
Where a loan evidenced by a note has been held usurious, the 

usury invalidated only those provisions of the note providing for 
the payment of interest. 

3. Mortgages and Deeds of Trust $j 33- foreclosure sale-surplus- 
right of holder of junior lien 

Where a note secured by a second lien deed of trust does not 
bear interest because the loan evidenced by the note has been de- 
clared usurious, and monthly payments on the principal are not 
in default, the holder of the note secured by the second lien deed of 
trust  is not entitled to have the surplus arising from a foreclosure 
sale under the first lien deed of trust  immediately disbursed to it 
for application and credit on the principal of the note. 

4. Mortgages and Deeds of Trust § 10- waste-default on senior lien 
A default on which the foreclosure of a first lien deed of trust 

was based does not constitute "waste" within the meaning of a pro- 
vision of a second lien deed of trust that  the indebtedness secured 
thereby is due and payable if the debtor permits "any waste or injury 
to such extent as to impair the value of the premises as security," 
since the word "waste" refers to destruction, impairment or injury 
to the property itself. 

APPEAL by National Mortgage Corporation from Long, J., 
November 15, 1971 Civil Session of ORANGE Superior Court, 
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certified, pursuant to G.S. 78-31, for initial appellate review by 
the Supreme Court. 

This special proceeding was instituted by petitioner, Na- 
tional Mortgage Corporation (Mortgage Corporation), before 
the Clerk of the Superior Court of Orange County under G.S. 
45-21.32 to recover surplus funds paid into the office of the 
clerk as the result of the foreclosure of a deed of trust. The 
respondents are Jonas W. Kessing Company (Kessing Com- 
pany), Jonas W. Kessing (Kessing) and Alice H. Kessing 
(Mrs. Kessing) . 

The subject of controversy is $118,659.98 deposited with 
the clerk as authorized by G.S. 45-21.31 (b) ,  this being the sur- 
plus realized from the foreclosure of a f i r s t  l ien deed of trust 
on certain real estate in the Town of Chapel Hill, Orange Coun- 
ty, N. C., referred to hereafter as the Castillian Apartments 
property. 

Mortgage Corporation is the owner and holder of a note 
for $250,000.00, which was executed by Kessing Company as 
maker and by Kessing and Mrs. Kessing as endorsers and se- 
cured in part by a second l ien deed of trust on the Castillian 
Apartments property. The principal of this $250,000.00 note is 
payable in monthly installments of $500.00, beginning May 1, 
1970, and continuing until June 30, 1974, when the balance 
of principal is payable. 

In  Kessing v. Mortgage C o ~ p . ,  278 N.C. 523, 180 S.E. 2d 
823 (1971), this Court held that the loan evidenced by the 
$250,000.00 note was usurious; that all interest thereon was 
forfeited; and that, on account of payments theretofore made 
as interest, $25,000.00 was to be credited on principal. 

There has been no default in respect of the payment of any 
monthly installment of principal. Neither the $250,000.00 note 
nor the deed of trust constituting security therefor contains 
any provision for the accelleration of the maturity date of the 
indebtedness because of foreelosure of the f i r s t  l ien deed of 
trust or default in the payment of any obligation which i t  
secured. 

The present unpaid principal balance on the $250,000.00 
note substantially exceeds the $118,659.98 deposited with the 
clerk. 
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The court below denied Mortgage Corporation's petition 
that the $118,659.98 be disbursed to i t  forthwith for application 
and credit on the principal of the $250,000.00 note. It further 
ordered the Clerk of the Superior Court, pursuant to G.S. 
2-55(6), to invest the net surplus foreclosure fund of $118,- 
659.98, after payment of an attorney's fee of $300.00 to counsel 
for respondents as authorized by G.S. 45-21.32 (d) ,  in a certifi- 
cate of deposit, consistent with the stipulation of colunsel filed 
herein; and, until otherwise ordered by the court, to transmit 
to Kessing Company all interest income realized therefrom. 
The court taxed the costs of this proceeding against Mortgage 
Corporation. 

A stipulation was entered as to what would constitute a 
proper investment by the clerk of the surplus fund. 

Mortgage Corporation excepted to the judgment and ap- 
pealed. 

Manning, Allen & Hudson, by James Allen, Jr., and Bryant, 
Lipton, Bryant & Battle, by Donald G. Lawrence, for appellant. 

Newsom, Graham, Strayhorn, Hedrick & Murray, by Josiah 
S. Murray 111, for appellees. 

BOBBITT, Chief Justice. 

"Surplus money arising upon a sale of land under a decree 
of foreclosure stands in the place of the land itself in respect to 
liens thereon or vested rights therein. They are constructively, 
a t  least, real property, and belong to the mortgagor or his 
assigns." 3 Jones on Mortgages 685, 5 2164 (8th ed., 1928). 
Accord: 59 C.J.S. Mortgages 1032, $ 596; 55 Am. Jur. 2d 
Mortgages 808, 5 931. 

[I] Mortgage Corporation's second lien deed of trust attached 
to the surplus arising from the foreclosure sale under the first 
lien deed of trust. Markey v. Langley, 92 U.S. 142, 155, 23 
L.Ed..701, 705 (1876) ; W. A. H. Church, Inc. v. Holmes, 60 
App. D.C. 27, 46 I?. 2d 608 (1931) ; Cowan v. Stoker, 100 Utah 
377, 115 P. 2d 153 (1941) ; Par0n.i v. Quick, 211 A. 2d 765 
(D.C. App. 1965). 

The surplus fund of $118,659.98 takes the place of the 
second lien deed of trust as security for the $250,000.00 note. 
Respondents concede that Mortgage Corporation has and will 
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continue to have an equitable lien on the principal of this sur- 
plus fund until the debt due Mortgage Corporation has been 
paid. However, the $250,000.00 note does not bear interest and 
no monthly installment of principal is in default. 

[2] Usury invalidated only those provisions of the $250,000.00 
note providing for the payment of interest. Wilkins v. Finance 
Co., 237 N.C. 396, 403, 75 S.E. 2d 118, 123 (1953). According 
to the note and deed of trust, no portion of the principal be- 
comes due prior to June 30, 1974, except the monthly install- 
ments of $500.00 each. 

[3] Ordinarily, the impounding of the surplus pending the 
maturity of a second lien deed of trust would be of no benefit to 
the persons obligated to pay the debt secured thereby. The inter- 
est received on a certificate of deposit would be insufficient to 
cover the interest on the note. The unique feature of the present 
case is that the $250,000.00 note has been stripped of all obliga- 
tions relating to payment of interest. Under present conditions, 
the income on a certificate of deposit for the amount of the 
surplus fund would exceed the amount necessary to make the 
monthly payments on principal. More important, the crediting 
of these monthly payments on the principal will reduce sub- 
stantially the amount of the unpaid principal on June 30, 1974. 
The receipt by Mortgage Corporation of the surplus fund prior 
to the maturity of respondents' obligations in respect of the 
payment of principal would nullify substantially the adverse 
consequences of its usurious transaction. 

Mortgage Corporation cites Fagan v. People's Sav. & Loan 
Ass'n, 55 Minn. 437, 57 N.W. 142 (1893), which involved the 
following: One Haugen executed two mortgages on the same 
real estate, a first mortgage to the defendant (People's Savings 
& Loan Association) and a second mortgage to the plaintiff 
(Fagan). Default having been made in the conditions thereof, 
the first mortgage was foreclosed and the defendant became 
the purchaser. The plaintiff alleged that the purchase price 
exceeded the amount due on the first mortgage debt and that 
the amount of this excess should be paid to it for application on 
the second mortgage debt. The court determined that there was 
an excess and that Fagan was entitled thereto notwithstanding 
his mortgage debt was not then due. The court called attention 
to a Minnesota statute (Minn. Gen. Stats. of 1878, Ch. 81, § 4) 
which provided in part that, upon foreclosure of a real estate 
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mortgage which secured a debt payable in installments, some 
due and others not due, "the proceeds of such sale shall, after 
satisfying the interest, portion or instalment of the principal 
due, with interest and costs of sale, be applied towards the 
payment of the residue of the sum secured by said mortgage, 
and not due and payable a t  the time of such sale; and if such 
residue does not bear interest, such application shall be made 
with a rebate of the legal interest for the time during which 
the residue shall not be due and payable; and the surplus, 
if any, shall be paid to the mortgagor, his legal representatives 
or assigns." The court held that this statutory principle applied 
to the disbursement of the surplus resulting from the foreclos- 
ure of the first mortgage to the payment of a second mortgage 
debt which was not due. These factual distinctions are noted: 
(1) Nothing suggests that the second mortgage debt did not 
bear interest; and (2) the owner of the equity of redemption 
was not a party. The controversy was between the defendant, 
the first mortgagee, who had no pretense of right to retain the 
excess, and the plaintiff, the second mortgagee. 

Mortgage Corporation cites Nielsen, v. Heald, 151 Minn. 181, 
186 N.W. 299 (1922), where the subject property was subject 
to the lien of first and second mortgages and also asserted lien 
claims in connection with the construction of an apartment 
building. Default had occurred in the payment of the debts 
secured by both martgages. The evidence disclosed that the debts 
secured by the mortgages plus the amount of the undetermined 
lien claims exceeded the value of the mortgaged property, Under 
these circumstances the Supreme Court of Minnesota upheld 
the appointment of a receiver to take charge of the property 
and collect the rents and profits during the pendency of the 
action. 

Mortgage Corporation cites Pioneer Credit Corporation v. 
Bloomberg, 323 F. 2d 992 (1st Cir. 1963), where a surplus fund 
resulting from the foreclosure of a senior mortgage was the 
subject of conflicting claims by the mortgagor and by the holder 
of a junior mortgage. Each claimed the entire fund, the mort- 
gagor basing his claim on the ground that the debt secured by 
the second mortgage debt was not due. In rejecting this con- 
tention, the court held, based on, a Massachzlsetts statute (Mass. 
Gen. Laws 1958, Ch. 183, § 20), that the entire indebtedness 
secured by the junior mortgage had become due because of 
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the mortgagor's failure to perform conditions of the prior mort- 
gage. If the court had allowed the mortgagor's claim, the owner 
of the indebtedness secured by the second mortgage would have 
lost his security. Nothing suggests that the second mortgage 
debt did not bear interest. 

Although cited by Mortgage Corporation, we find nothing 
in Gorrin v. Higgins,  73 N.J. Super. 243, 179 A. 2d 554 (1962), 
which significantly supports its present contention. 

[4] Mortgage Corporation's second lien deed of trust provides 
in substance that the indebtedness secured thereby is to become 
due and payable if Kessing Company permits "any waste or 
injury to such extent as to impair the value of the [premises] 
as security." We have not overlooked Mortgage Corporation's 
contention that the default on which the foreclosure of the first 
lien deed of trust was based constituted "waste" within the 
meaning of this provision. However, we think the word "waste" 
refers only to waste in the traditional sense of destruction, im- 
pairment or injury to the property itself. Thomas v. Thomas, 
166 N.C. 627, 629, 82 S.E. 1032, 1033 (1914), and cases cited. 

The record contains no evidence of the identity of the pur- 
chaser of the Castillian Apartments property a t  the foreclosure 
sale under the first lien deed of trust or of the value of the 
Castillian Apartments property when the foreclosure sale was 
made. Assuming the price paid by the purchaser was the fair  
market value of the property, Mortgage Corporation's position 
in respect of security has not been impaired by the foreclosure. 
After June 30, 1974, or earlier if respondents default in the pay- 
ment of any monthly installment of principal, i t  may proceed 
against respondents personally and against any security it may 
have. 

[3] Having concluded that Mortgage Corporation is not a t  
present entitled to the principal of the surplus fund of $118,- 
659.98, the order of the court below is affirmed. 

Affirmed. 
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CHARLES F. KEIGER AND MAMILEE ENTERPRISES, INC. v. THE 
WINSTON-SALEM BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT; J. A. HANCOCK, 
ROY SETZER, C. C. SMITHDEAL, JR., JOHN MANNING, WIL- 
LIAM F. THOMAS, SAM OGBURN AND MRS. MARTHA CATES, 
AND THE WINSTON-SALEM-FORSYTH COUNTY PLANNING 
BOARD; F. GAITHER JENKINS, ZEB B. STEWART, A. L. 
EVANS, HAMPTON D. HAITH, CLIFTON E. PLEASANTS, H. C. 
PORTER, J. C. SMITH, M. C. BENTON, JR., DAVID W. DARR 

No. 40 

(Filed 31 July 1972) 

1. Municipal Corporations § 30- building permit - subsequent ordinance 
- good faith expenditures 

The issuance of a building permit, to which the permittee is 
entitled under the existing zoning ordinance, creates no vested right 
to build contrary to the provisions of a subsequently enacted ordinance 
unless the permittee, acting in good faith, has made substantial ex- 
penditures in reliance upon the permit a t  a time when they did not 
violate declared public policy. 

2. Municipal Corporations § 30- building permit - knowledge of pend- 
ing ordinance - nonconforming use - expenditures 

When, a t  the time a builder obtains a permit, he has knowledge of 
a pending ordinance which would make the authorized construction 
a nonconforming use and thereafter hurriedly makes expenditures 
in an  attempt to acquire a vested right before the law can be changed, 
he does not act in good faith and acquires no rights under the permit. 

3. Municipal Corporations § 30- rezoning ordinance - notice 
A rezoning ordinance adopted by a municipal governing body 

without compliance with the notice provisions of G.S. 160-176 and 
the municipal code is invalid and ineffective. 

4. Municipal Corporations 5 30- special use permit - void rezoning 
ordinance 

An applicant's right to a special use permit for construction 
of a mobile home park, denied under an  existing valid zoning ordi- 
nance which entitled him to it, may not be defeated by a purported 
amendment of the zoning ordinance which was void ab initio because 
i t  was not adopted as required by the enabling statute. 

APPEAL by respondents from Kivett, J., 26 July 1972 Civil 
Session of FORSYTH, transferred to this Court for initial appel- 
late review under G.S. 7A-31 (a). 

This proceeding, which is now before us for the second time, 
involves petitioners' application to the Winston-Salem Board of 
Adjustment (Board) for a special use permit to construct a 
mobile home park. The following facts are pertinent to this 
appeal : 
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On 20 August 1969 Charles F. Keiger and Mamilee Enter- 
prises, Inc. (petitioners), applied to the Board for a special 
use permit to build a 102-unit mobile home park upon a 14.5-acre 
site, a part of a larger tract of about 50 acres zoned B-3 (High- 
way Business). In such a district mobile home parks are allowed 
upon a special use permit issued by the Board. Petitioners' plans 
met every ordinance standard and site requirement for a mobile 
home park. Notwithstanding, on 4 September 1969, after a 
duly advertised public hearing, the Board denied the permit. 

Thereafter petitioners duly applied to the Superior Court 
for a writ of certiorari to review the Board's action. The peti- 
tion was granted and, on 28 October 1969, the record and 
transcript of proceedings before the Board were filed in the 
Superior Court. 

Prior to review by the Superior Court, on 14 January 1970, 
respondents filed a "motion to dismiss," in which they asserted 
that petitioners' application for a special use permit had been 
rendered moot on 3 November 1969 when the Winston-Salem 
Board of Aldermen enacted an ordinance rezoning a portion of 
their property from B-3 to R-4 (single-family residences), a 
category in which mobile home parks are not allowed. Attached 
to the motion was a copy of a purported ordinance describing 
two tracts of land by metes and bounds. 

Judge Exum denied the motion to dismiss and-without 
regard to the alleged ordinance-entered judgment affirming 
the Board's denial of the permit. 

Petitioners appealed and the Court of Appeals affirmed the 
judgment of the Superior Court. Keiger v. Board of Adjustment, 
8 N.C. App. 435, 174 S.E. 2d 852 (1970). Upon petitioners' 
appeal to this Court that decision was reversed. In  an opinion 
written by Chief Justice Bobbitt this Court held that the Board's 
denial of petitioners' application was unlawful and in violation 
of petitioners' constitutional rights. Because the record con- 
tained no stipulation, finding or evidence with reference to the 
adoption of the purported ordinance attached to respondents' 
motion to dismiss, and no stipulation that any of petitioners' 
property was included in the land described therein, the pro- 
ceeding was ordered remanded to the Superior Court with 
instructions that, after considering the effect, if any, of the 
rezoning ordinance allegedly enacted after the Board's denid 
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of the permit, i t  enter judgment consistent with the law as 
stated in the opinion. Specifically the mandate was: "Upon fur- 
ther consideration in the Superior Court, all parties should 
be afforded an opportunity to develop all pertinent facts with 
reference to the adoption of the alleged rezoning ordinance on 
November 3, 1969, and its effect, if any, upon petitioners' 
asserted right to construct a mobile home park on the 14.5-acre 
site. Unless precluded by such rezoning ordinance, petitioners 
are entitled to have issued the special permit for which they 
have applied." Keiger v. Board of Adjustment, 278 N.C. 17, 
25,178 S.E. 2d 616,621 (1971). 

After the case was returned to the Superior Court the 
parties stipulated the following facts (enumeration ours) : 

1. On 26 September 1969 the developers of the Country 
Club Loggia, Inc., and others petitioned the Board of Alder- 
men to rezone a portion of petitioners' 14.53 acres from B-3 
to R-4. As required by Winston-Salem Code Section 29-20, the 
petition was referred to the City-County Planning Board for 
its review and recommendation. 

2. Thereafter (time not specified) the Superior Court 
denied petitioners' application for an injunction "to stay the 
proposed rezoning" until its right to the special use permit had 
heen judicially determined. 

3. After due advertisement, as required by Section 29- 
20(A) (6) of the Winston-Salem Code, on 16 October 1969, the 
Planning Board conducted a public hearing on the proposal to 
rezone petitioners9 property. The minutes of the hearing, at- 
tached to the stipulation, disclose that adjacent landowners in 
R-4 zones sought to insulate their property from a mobile 
home park by a strip of land zoned R-4 along petitioners' east- 
ern and northern boundary lines. Petitioners and their attor- 
ney were present and were heard in opposition to the change. 
Petitioners stated that the proposed buffer zone was approxi- 
mately 270 feet wide across the north side of the property and 
300 feet along the east side. 

4. On Friday, 31 October 1969, the Planning Board filed 
its report with a recommendation that the Board of Aldermen 
approve the requested rezoning. Winston-Salem Code 5 29- 
20(A) (7) required the Planning Board, a t  the time of filing 
its report, to mail or deliver a copy to the persons requesting 
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the zoning change "and also to the opponent, if any." Any per- 
son desiring to be heard in opposition to the report was required 
to notify the city manager within ten days after a copy of the 
report was mailed, or delivered, to him. 

5. Petitioners, who were entitled to the report, contend 
that the Planning Board neither mailed nor delivered them a 
copy. "The records of the Planning Board do not indicate 
whether or not such a report was mailed." 

6. On Monday, 3 November 1969, three days following the 
submission of the Planning Board's report, the Board of Alder- 
men passed an ordinance purporting to rezone petitioners' land 
as recommended. No notice that action would be taken on the 
report, or of any hearing before the Board of Aldermen, had 
been published. Petitioners, however, appeared and were given 
an opportunity to oppose the rezoning. Three days thereafter, 
on 6 November 1969, a copy of the report of the Planning Board 
was mailed to petitioners' attorney. (Petitioners' attorney, in 
an affidavit which is a part of the record, avers that this was 
the only copy of the report ever made available to him or his 
clients ; that a t  the hearing before the aldermen on 3 November 
1969 he was unaware of the contents of the report; that with- 
out i t  he was unable to make adequate preparation for the 
hearing; and that his clients were prejudiced in consequence.) 

On 7 September 1971 this proceeding came on to be heard 
before Judge Kivett upon the mandate of this Court quoted 
above. After considering "stipulated facts, oral arguments of 
counsel, and briefs filed by both the petitioners and the re- 
spondents," Judge Kivett adjudged "that the action of the Board 
of Aldermen on 3 November 1969 in which property of the peti- 
tioners is allegedly rezoned" has no legal effect upon petitioners' 
right to the special use permit requested because the rezoning 
occurred, and "the rezoning machinery instituted," after the 
unlawful denial of the permit. Whereupon he remanded the pro- 
ceeding to the Board with orders that it issue the permit. 

R. Kason Keiger for petitioner appellees. 

Roddey M. Ligon, Jr., and Zeb E. Barnhardt, Jr., fou. re- 
spondent appellants. 

SHARP, Justice. 

The trial judge concluded that a rezoning ordinance, in- 
stigated after petitioners' application for a permit to construct 
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a mobile home park on their 14.5-acre site, could have no effect 
whatever upon their right to the permit. Therefore, he did not 
adjudicate the validity or invalidity of the ordinance purport- 
ing to change the classification of petitioners' property. 

[I,  21 It is the rule in this State that the issuance of a build- 
ing permit, to which the permittee is entitled under the exist- 
ing ordinance, creates no vested right to build contrary to the 
provisions of a subsequently enacted zoning ordinance, unless 
the permittee, acting in good faith, has made substantial ex- 
penditures in reliance upon the permit a t  a time when they 
did not violate declared public policy. Warner v. W & 0, Inc., 
263 N.C. 37, 138 S.E. 2d 782 (1964). See I n  Re Appeal of Sup- 
ply Co., 202 N.C. 496, 163 S.E. 462 (1932). See 101 C.J.S. 
Zoning § 243 (1958) ; 58 Am. Jur. Zoning 5 185 (1948). When, 
a t  the time a builder obtains a permit, he has knowledge of a 
pending ordinance which would make the authorized construc- 
tion a nonconforming use and thereafter hurriedly makes ex- 
penditures in an attempt to acquire a vested right before the 
law can be changed, he does not act in good faith and acquires 
no rights under the permit. Town of Hillsborough v. Smith, 
276 N.C. 48, 170 S.E. 2d 904 (1969) ; Stowe v. Burke, 255 N.C. 
527, 122 S.E. 2d 374 (1961). 

The foregoing rule determines the effect of a rezoning 
ordinance upon a permit previously issued in conformity with 
the applicable law. This case, however, involves the right to a 
permit which was never issued, a permit which was unlawfully 
refused a t  a time when no zoning change affecting the property 
was impending. Thereafter-within the time the law allowed 
petitioners to apply to the court for a review of the Board's 
refusal-owners of land adjacent to petitioners' 14.5 acres filed 
a request for the rezoning of a substantial part of the property. 
While petitioners awaited judicial review by the Superior Court 
of the Board's refusal to issue the permit they could not, of 
course, make "substantial expenditures" or otherwise change 
their position in reliance upon a permit they did not have. In  
the meantime, the Planning Board reviewed the proposed 
amendment to the zoning ordinance and recommended its pas- 
sage. Three days after that report and recommendation was 
filed, on 3 November 1969, the Board of Aldermen purported 
to adopt the requested amendment in a manner which ignored 
the law applicable to changes in the zoning ordinance. 



720 IN THE SUPREME COURT 1281 

Beiger v. Board of Adjustment 

G.S. 160-176 (1964) provides that a zoning ordinance may, 
from time to time, be "amended, supplemented, changed, modi- 
fied or repealed" upon compliance with the requirements of 
G.S. 160-175 (1964) "relative to public hearings and official 
notice." G.S. 160-175 provides that no zoning regulation, re- 
striction or boundary-or change therein-shall become effec- 
tive until after a public hearing of which notice "shall be given 
once a week for two successive calendar weeks in a newspaper 
pubIished in such municipality, or, if there be no newspaper 
published in the municipality, by posting such notice a t  four 
public places in the municipality, said notice to be published 
the first time or posted not less than fifteen days prior to the 
date fixed for said hearing." 

Winston-Salem Code, Section 29-20 AMENDMENTS provides : 
"In no ease shall final action by the Board of Aldermen be taken 
amending, changing, supplementing, modifying, or repealing 
the regulations established by this ordinance or changing the 
district boundaries hereby established until a public hearing 
has been held by the Board of Aldermen a t  which parties in 
interest and citizens shall have an opportunity to be heard. A 
notice of such public hearing shall be given once a week for 
two successive calendar weeks in a newspaper published in 
Winston-Salem, the first publication of said notice being not 
less than ten (10) days prior to the date fixed for the hear- 
ing." 

131 Since the ordinance of 3 November 1969 was passed within 
three days after the Planning Board filed its recommendation 
with the Board of Aldermen, that board obviously made no pre- 
tense of complying with the notice provisions of G.S. 160-175 
or its own Code Section 29-20. 

A municipality's authority to enact and amend zoning 
ordinances "is subject to the limitations imposed by the en- 
abling statute and by the Constitution. These limitations forbid 
arbitrary and unduly discriminating interference with property 
rights in the exercise of such power. . . . Thus, a zoning ordi- 
nance or an amendment thereto which is not adopted in ac- 
cordance with the enabling statute is invalid and ineffective." 
Heaton v. City of Charlotte, 277 N.C. 506, 513, 178 S.E. 2d 352, 
356 (1970). Accord, Walker v. Elkin, 254 N.C. 85, 118 S.E. 2d 
1 (1960) ; Kass v. Hedgpeth, 226 N.C. 405, 38 S.E. 2d 164 
(1946). 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 72 1 

Keiger v. Board of Adjustment 

The stipulated facts clearly prove the invalidity and in- 
effectiveness of the ordinance of 3 November 1969. 

Where a permit has been illegally withheld from an appli- 
cant entitled to i t  under the existing zoning law, the effect of 
a subsequently enacted restrictive amendment upon the appli- 
cant's right to the permit varies from state to state. The de- 
cisions are conflicting; the situations and solutions are many 
and varied. See 101 C.J.S. Zoning S 221 (1958) and (Supp. 
1972) ; 58 Am. Jur. Zoning $ 182 (1948) and (Supp. 1972) ; 
3 Anderson, Am. Law of Zoning § 21.22 (1968) ; 8 McQuillin, 
Mzm. Corp. 5 25.155 (3d Ed. 1965) ; Annot., 75 A.L.R. 2d 
168, 236 (1961) ; Annot., 169 A.L.R. 584 (1947) ; Annot., 138 
A.L.R. 500, 505 (1942) ; Annot., 40 A.L.R. 928, 934 (1926). 
For an  opinion collecting authorities and discussing the effect 
of a rezoning ordinance, instigated and passed after the unlaw- 
ful denial of a permit, upon applicant's rights see B e n  Lomond, 
Inc. v. City  of Idaho Falls, 92 Idaho 595, 448 P. 2d 209 (1968). 

141 In this case we do not reach the question of what effect a 
validly enacted rezoning ordinance would have had on peti- 
tioners' right to construct the mobile home park. For decision 
here it suffices to say that an applicant's right to a permit, 
denied under an  existing valid ordinance which entitled him to 
it, may not be defeated by a purported amendment which was 
void ab iwitio because it was not adopted as required by the 
enabling statute. We hold that petitioners are entitled to the 
permit for which they applied. Accordingly, the judgment of the 
Superior Court is 

Affirmed. 
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WALTER PLEMMER, JR., MARTHA PLEMMER, ASBURY BATCHE- 
LOR, ARTHUR REYNOLDS, ROBERT BRIDGERS, E. C. DAIL, 
JAMES C. POWELL, LUTHER RUFFIN, JR., CAROLYN POWELL, 
MAIZE W. FREEMAN, JOHNNY HOWELL AND MAGGIE PER- 
KINS, ON BEHALF OF THEMSELVES AND SUCH OTHER CITIZENS OF 
EDGECOMBE COUNTY AS MAY CARE TO JOIN V. W. RAY MATTHEW- 
SON, MAYOR, DAVID PITTMAN, DAVID TYSON, ALONZA 
WHITEHEAD AND LEONARD JONES, MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS OF THE TOWN OF PRINCEVILLE, NORTH CAROLINA AND 
THE TOWN OF PRINCEVILLE, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE STATE 
OF NORTH CAROLINA 

No. 106 

(Filed 31 July 1972) 

1. Appeal and Error 5 2- contention not raised below 
A contention not raised in the court below may not be raised 

for the first time on appeal. 

2. Municipal Corporations 5 2- enlargement of corporate boundaries - 
power of legislature 

The General Assembly, by a special act, may constitutionally en- 
large the boundaries of a town which i t  has created, and may also 
provide statutory procedures for extending the corporate limits of 
a municipality organized and existing under the laws of the State. 

3. Municipal Corporations 8 2- annexation - special legislative act - 
delegation of legislative authority 

The General Assembly did not delegate legislative authority in 
violation of Art. I, § 6 or Art. 11, 5 1 of the N. C. Constitution by a 
special act delegating to the commissioners of Princeville the discre- 
tionary right to  decide whether to enlarge the corporate limits as  
specified in the act. 

4. Municipal Corporations 5 2- annexation-special legidative act - 
statutory procedures 

Where the General Assembly passed a special act authorizing 
the commissioners of Princeville to annex a specified area, i t  was not 
necessary for the town commissioners to follow the procedures set 
forth in G.S. Ch. 160, Art. 36, Pa r t  1, in order to annex such area, 
since the General Assembly did not render itself powerless to extend 
corporate limits when i t  enacted statutory procedures by which munici- 
palities may annex territory without a special act of the legislature. 

APPEAL by plaintiffs from Cowper, J., 2 November 1971 
Session of EDGECOMBE, certified for initial appellate review by 
the Supreme Court under G.S. 7A-31(b) upon motion of de- 
fendants. 

Plaintiffs are residents of an area adjacent to  the town 
of Princeville which the town seeks to annex. Defendants are 
the town's mayor and board of commissioners. 
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On 8 July 1971, the General Assembly enacted Chapter 801 
of the Session Laws of 1971, entitled "AN ACT TO ENABLE THE 
COMMISSIONERS O F  THE TOWN O F  PRINCEVILLE TO ANNEX A 
CERTAIN AREA SERVED BY THE WATER SYSTEM" (the Act). I t  
authorized the commissioners, by a majority vote within sixty 
days of 8 July 1971, to extend the corporate limits of the town. 
Upon such a vote the Act provided that the limits would be as 
described by metes and bounds therein. 

On 29 July 1971, the commissioners adopted a resolution 
stating their intent to consider the authorized annexation. I t  
also gave notice that a public hearing on the question would 
be held 9 August 1971 and that final action would be taken 
16 August 1971. This resolution, together with the description 
of the proposed new boundaries of the town, was published 
in a newspaper of general circulation in Edgecombe County. 

Sometime between 29 July and 9 August 1971 plaintiffs 
filed with the town clerk a petition requesting that the question 
be submitted to the residents of the area in a referendum called 
in accordance with G.S. 160-445 to -453. The petition was pur- 
portedly signed by more than fifteen percent of the qualified 
voters of the area being considered for annexation. 

At the hearing on August 9th, approximately two hundred 
residents of the area appeared and voiced their opposition to its 
annexation. The mayor informed the protestants that a referen- 
dum was not a condition precedent to annexation ; that the hear- 
ing was being conducted only as a courtesy to the citizens ; that 
the only action required was an  affirmative vote by a majority 
of the town commissioners, "which action would be taken by 
said board on the 16th day of August 1971.'' 

The board of commissioners met on 16 August 1971 and 
enacted an ordinance entitled, "A VOTE AND ENACTMENT TO 
EXTEND THE CORPORATE LIMITS O F  THE TOWN O F  PRINCEVILLE 
UNDER THE AUTHORITY GRANTED BY CHAPTER 801 OF THE 1971 
SESSION LAWS O F  THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY O F  NORTH CARO- 
LINA" (the Ordinance). It recited that the board had "taken 
into full consideration the statements presented a t  the public 
hearing held on the 9th day of August, 1971," but had concluded 
that "amendment of the charter and annexation of the area de- 
scribed herein is necessary to the orderly growth and develop- 
ment of the Town of Princeville." As provided in the Act the 
town charter was declared amended to show the corporate limits 
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to be those set out therein and to add a fifth ward to the town 
for the purpose of the election of commissioners. At this meet- 
ing the commjssioners rejected plaintiffs' request for a referen- 
dum. 

On 19 August 1971 plaintiffs brought this action to re- 
strain defendants from exercising any governmental control 
over the area "purportedly annexed" and to have the annexation 
ordinance declared invalid. They alleged the ordinance is in 
contravention "of Article 36, Part  1 of G.S. 160-445 et seq.," 
N. C. Const. art. I, 8 19, and the Fourteenth Amendment to the 
Constitution of the United States. On the same day Judge Cow- 
per issued a temporary restraining order enjoining defendants 
from exercising jurisdiction over the area. Thereafter defend- 
ants filed answer in which they admitted defendants' factual 
allegations and denied their legal conclusions. 

Judge Cowper heard the matter and rendered final judg- 
ment on 8 November 1971. He found that defendants, in an- 
nexing the area, acted In full compliance with Chapter 801 of 
the 1971 Session Laws of North Carolina and did not purport 
to follow the procedures specified in Article 36, Chapter 160 of 
the General Statutes. He concluded as a matter of law that the 
Act enabled the commissioners to annex the area "solely by its 
own terms, and without compliance with any provisions of Ar- 
ticle 36 of Chapter 160 of the General Statutes." He thereupon 
dismissed the action a t  the cost of plaintiffs. 

Plaintiffs gave notice of appeal and the restraining order 
was continued in effect pending the appeal. 

Pearson, Malone, Johnson & Dejarmon f o r  petitioner ap- 
pellants. 

M. L. Cromartie,  JT., Ball, Coley & S m i t h  for  respondent 
appellees. 

SHARP, Justice. 

Plaintiffs allege-and have contended both in the lower 
court and on appeal-that the Ordinance is invalid because the 
board of csmmissioners did not comply with the annexation 
procedures specified in N. C. Gen. Stats., Ch. 160, Art. 36, 
Par t  1. Plaintiffs also alleged in their complaint that the en- 
actment of the Ordinance violated the equal protection clauses 
of the North Carolina and United States Constitutions. The latter 
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contention does not appear to have been made in the court be- 
low, and i t  is not made in the brief filed in this Court. It is, 
therefore, deemed abandoned. Railroad v. Beaufort County, 224 
N.C. 115, 29 S.E. 2d 201 (1944) ; 1 N. C. Index 2d Appeal and 
Error $ 45 (1967). 

Plaintiffs now contend (1) that the Act violates N. C. 
Const., a r t  11, $ 1, in that it delegates legislative authority with- 
out sufficient guidelines, and (2) that "the legislature must 
have intended that the Commissioners comply with the stand- 
ards set out . . . in Chapter 160 of the General Statutes of 
North Carolina" and, since they failed to do so, the Ordinance is 
invalid. 

[I, 21 Since plaintiffs' first contention was not made in the 
court below i t  may not be raised for the first time on appeal. 
Bland v. City of Wilmington, 278 N.C. 657, 180 S.E. 2d 813 
(1971). However, even if it were properly before this Court, 
this contention would be without merit. There is no constitu- 
tional provision prohibiting the creation of a municipality by 
an  act of the General Assembly, Chimney Rock Co. v. Lake Lure, 
200 N.C. 171, 156 S.E. 542 (1931). A fortiori, by a special 
act, it may constitutionally enlarge the boundaries of a town 
which it has created. It may also provide statutory procedures 
for extending the corporate limits of a municipality organized 
and existing under the laws of the State. In  re Annexation 
Ordinances, 253 N.C. 637, 117 S.E. 2d 795 (1961) ; Highlands 
v. Hickory, 202 N.C. 167, 162 S.E. 471 (1932). 

This Court has frequently held that the enlargement of 
municipal boundaries by the annexation of new territory, re- 
sulting in the extension of municipal corporate jurisdiction, is 
a legitimate subject of legislation. "In the absence of ccnstitu- 
tional restriction, the extent to which such Legislation shall be 
enacted, both with respect to the terms and circumstances un- 
der which the annexation may be had, and the manner in which 
i t  may be made, rests entirely in the discretion of the Legis- 
lature. With its wisdom, propriety or justice we have naught 
to do. It has, therefore, been held that an act of annexation 
is valid which authorized the annexation of territory, without 
the consent of its inhabitants . . . ." Lutterloh v. Fayetteville, 
149 N.C. 65, 69, 62 S.E. 758, 760 (1908). Accord, Dunn v. 
Tew, 219 N.C. 286, 13 S.E. 2d 536 (1941) ; Matthews v. Blowing 
Rock, 207 N.C. 450, 177 S.E. 429 (1934). Cf. Cox v. Kinston, 
217 N.C. 391, 8 S.E. 2d 252 (1940). 
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[3] In delegating to the town commissioners the discretionary 
right to decide whether to enlarge the corporate limits as speci- 
fied in the Act, the General Assembly did not delegate legisla- 
tive authority in violation of N. C. Const. art. 11, 5 1, or art. I, 
§ 6. Except for approval by the town's board of commissioners, 
the Act was complete in every respect at  the time of its ratifica- 
tion. The only discretion given the commissioners was to decide 
whether or not to annex the territory specified in the Act, a de- 
termination they were required to make within sixty days. In 
authorizing the annexation, the General Assembly determined 
that the annexation was suitable and proper. 

In I n  r e  Annexa t ion  Ordinances, supra, this Court upheld 
the authority of the General Assembly to authorize the govern- 
ing bodies of municipalities to annex territory upon meeting 
the requirements of N. C. Gen. Stats., Ch. 160, art. 36, Part  3. 
The Court made the following statements which are equally 
applicable here: "The only discretion given to the governing 
boards of such municipalities is the permissive or discretionary 
right to use this new method of annexation provided such boards 
conform to the procedure and meet the requirements set out 
in the Act as a condition precedent to the right to annex." Id. 
a t  647, 117 S.E. 2d a t  802. 

"The decisions of this Court support the view that ordi- 
nary restrictions with respect to the delegation of power to an  
agency of the State, which exercises no function of govern- 
ment, do not apply to cities, towns, or counties." Id .  a t  649, 
117 S.E. 2d a t  803-04. See also Jackson v. Board o f  Ad jus tment ,  
275 N.C. 155, 162, 166 S.E. 2d 78, 83 (1969). 

[4] Plaintiffs' second contention is, in effect, that Princeville 
could only annex the area in question by complying with N. C. 
Gen. Stats., Ch. 160, art. 36, Par t  1. (Part  2, which applies t o  
municipalities of less than 5,000, exempts Edgecombe County 
from its application and provides that Part  1 shall apply to that 
county. G.S. 160-453.12.) This contention assumes that, by the 
enactment of statutory procedures by which municipalities may 
annex territory without a special act of the legislature, the 
General Assembly rendered itself powerless to extend corporate 
limits. This contention is untenable. An act of the General 
Assembly is legal unless the Constitution contains a prohibi- 
tion against it. Mcln tyre  v. Clarrksm, 254 N.C. 510, 119 S.E. 
2d 888 (1961). " [Olne Legislature cannot restrict or limit by 
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statute the right of a succeeding Legislature to exercise its 
constitutional power to legislate in its own way." State v. Nor- 
man, 237 N.C. 205, 211, 74 S.E. 2d 602, 607 (1953) .  Accord, 
State v. Wall, 271 N.C. 675, 157 S.E. 2d 363 (1967) .  Since de- 
fendants proceeded under the Act they did not comply with 
N. C. Gen. Stats., Ch. 160, art. 36, Part  1, nor as Judge Cowper 
correctly held, were they required to do so. 

The judgment of the Superior Court, which dissolved the 
restraining order and dismissed the action, is 

Affirmed. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JAMES RAY HOFFMAN 

No. 93 

(Filed 31 August 1972) 

1. Criminal Law 9 106- motion for nonsuit - sufficiency of evidence 
Defendant's motion for nonsuit was properly overruled where 

there was substantial evidence of all material elements constituting 
the offense of first degree murder for which the accused was tried. 

2. Bill of Discovery 9 1- criminal prosecution - common-law right of 
discovery -list of State's witnesses 

In the absence of a statute requiring the State to furnish it, the 
defendant in a criminal case is not entitled to a list of the State's 
witnesses who are to testify against him; there is no such statute in 
North Carolina. 

3. Bill of Discovery § 1- criminal prosecution - statutory discovery pro- 
cedures - list of State's witnesses 

G.S. 8-74 providing for taking the deposition of an incapacitated 
defense witness whose name must be given to the court does not en- 
title defendant in a criminal case to a list of all the State's witnesses. 

4. Criminal Law 5 91- continuance - witnesses' names omitted from 
State's list - claim of surprise 

Where defendant claims surprise by reason of the testimony of 
four witnesses he did not expect to appear, his proper motion is one 
for continuance and not one to suppress the testimony. 

5. Criminal Law 9 87; Witnesses 9 1- list of State's witnesses-com- 
petency of testimony by witness not listed 

In  a first degree murder prosecution wherein the State furnished 
defense counsel a list of State's witnesses before trial, the trial court 
did not abuse its discretion in allowing four witnesses whose names 
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did not appear on the list to  testify on behalf of the State, as the 
testimony of these four could not have taken defendant by surprise, 
and hence prejudiced him. 

6. Searches and Seizures 1- search without warrant - reasonable belief 
that felon concealed in premises - admittance demanded 

Officers' entry and seizure of "plain-view" items from the home 
of a suspected felon when there are reasonable grounds to believe the 
felon is concealed therein are not illegal after admittance has been 
demanded and there has been no response. G.S. 15-44. 

7. Arrest and Bail § 3- arrest without warrant -reasonable grounds- 
reliable hearsay 

Reasonable grounds for belief can be based upon information 
given to an officer by another, the source of such information being 
reasonably reliable. 

8. Searches and Seizures § 1- search without warrant - articles in plain 
view 

Since officers were lawfully in defendant's home, observation and 
seizure of a rifle and cartridges in plain view were not in thenlselves 
unlawful. 

9. Constitutional Law 9 32; Criminal Law 5 76- confession-capital 
crime - right to counsel - determination of indigency 

For purposes of G.S. 7A-457(a) providing that  an indigent de- 
fendant cannot waive counsel in a capital case, an indigent is defined 
as  one who does not have available, a t  the time they are required, 
adequate funds to pay a necessary cost of his defense; hence, defend- 
ant's claim that  he was an indigent when he waived counsel a t  the 
time of his interrogation was untenable as  his sworn statement indi- 
cated that  he had $160.00 in the bank, an amount more than necessary 
to obtain counsel for defendant's immediate need. G.S. 7A-450 (a). 

Justice HIGGINS concurring in result. 

APPEAL by defendant from Godwin, S. J., 10 May 1971 
Special Session of LENOIR. 

Defendant was indicted and convicted of the murder of 
Gene Autry Stocks on 21 October 1970. He appeals the life sen- 
tence imposed upon the verdict. 

The State's presentation of evidence before the jury was 
several times interrupted by lengthy vo ir  dire hearings before 
the judge. Testimony tending to show the facts hereinafter set 
out within brackets was heard by the judge on vo ir  dire in the 
absence of the jury. In each instance the same testimony, in 
substance, was thereafter heard by the jury. 

Defendant offered no evidence, either on vo ir  dire  or be- 
fore the jury. The evidence for the State, summarized insofar 
as possible in chronological order, tended to show: 
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On 21 October 1970 defendant and his wife were separated. 
She was living in the home of her daughter, the wife of de- 
ceased (Stocks). Earlier in the year, before the Hoffmans sepa- 
rated, in the presence of Mr. and Mrs. Stocks and Mrs. Thelma 
Barfield, Stocks's mother, defendant accused his wife of having 
met a man on a trip she had made with the Stocks and Mrs. 
Barfield. When they all denied this accusation, defendant called 
them liars and said he was going to kill Stocks. Thereafter, dur- 
ing the following August, defendant told the Stocks and Mrs. 
Barfield they were "all going to die one of these days in a 
pile." 

On 28 September 1970 defendant followed his wife to the 
Stocks's home from her work. There he called the women "ugly 
names" and ignored Mrs. Stocks's request to leave until she 
called Stocks to come home. Defendant soon returned, how- 
ever. This time Stocks ordered him away. Defendant told Stocks 
that he was capable of killing anybody and if Stocks did not 
stay out of his affairs he was liable to be the next. As he left, 
defendant said to Stocks, "I'll get you if i t  is the last thing I 
ever do." Mrs. Bertie Croombs, a friend of both the Hoffmans 
and Stocks families, was present and heard this threat. 

On the morning of 21 October 1970, Stocks drove Mrs. 
Hoffman and her daughter, Mrs. Rebecca Moore, to their work 
at the Dover Garment Factory. Defendant pulled in  behind 
them driving his green 1970, two-door Chevrolet Nova. After 
telling his wife she would not live to see the next morning, and 
neither would anyone else who got in his way, he sped away 
without speaking to Stocks. 

Thereafter, sometime after 10:OO a.m., defendant pur- 
chased from the Woolco Department Store a 22-caliber Rem- 
ington rifle, serial No. 2129176, and two boxes of ammunition. 
The saleslady testified that defendant appeared to be normal 
in every respect. 

About 12 :15 p.m. that day, James Foyles, while driving on 
Dover Road, saw two similar automobiles stopped ahead of 
him a t  an intersection, one car about six feet behind the other. 
A man with a rifle was standing by the left door of the rear 
car. Foyles saw this door open, a man emerge, take several 
steps, go into a spin, and fall. This man was Stocks. The man 
with the rifle then ran to the front car and drove hurriedly 
away. 
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Responding to a call instigated by Foyles, the sheriff and 
other officers arrived at the scene between 12:20 and 12:30 
p.m. It was raining a t  the time. The officers found the door 
of Stocks's 1969 green Chevrolet Nova open, the motor running, 
and the windshield wipers operating. There were three bullet 
holes in the windshield directly in front of the steering wheel, 
one through the left headlight, one in the driver's headrest, and 
one had broken the back glass. Stocks, who was lying near the 
center of the highway, apparently dead, had been shot in the 
chin, hand, on the left side of his chest, and over the right 
eye. His shirt was wet with rain and blood. 

When the coroner arrived a t  1 :00 p.m. he pronounced 
Stocks dead. The body was taken to the morgue a t  Lenoir 
Memorial Hospital. Here a .22-caliber bullet was taken from i t  
and, in due course, delivered to the SBI Laboratory in Raleigh. 
A search of his car and of his person revealed no weapons of 
any kind on Stocks. Scattered around the automobile the offi- 
cers found eight empty .22-caliber long-rifle cartridges and 
one which had not been fired. These bullets, in due course, were 
also delivered to the SBI Laboratory. 

From the scene of the shooting the officers went to Stocks's 
home, approximately 1.5 miles away. In consequence of infor- 
mation obtained from Mrs. Stocks, about 1 :15 p.m., the officers 
went to defendant's home. Getting no response to their knocks, 
they left without entering the house. 

After further conversations with Mrs. Stocks and Mrs. 
Hoffman defendant became the prime suspect. From them they 
learned that defendant was living alone and that his automo- 
biIe looked to be almost identical with Stocks's. An All Points 
Bulletin (APB) was issued for defendant and his automobile. 

[On the afternoon of 21 October 1970, E. E. Whaley, the 
owner of the Coastal Plain Detective Agency and Stocks's em- 
ployer, a t  their request, was assisting the officers in their search 
for defendant and his automobile. The road by defendant's 
house was being patroled periodically, but the house was not 
under constant surveillance. Between 3:30 and 4:00 p.m., as  
Whaley drove past defendant's home, he saw a "swishing move- 
ment" of the curtains a t  a back window. They were "going to- 
gether and dangling." He immediately radioed this informa- 
tion to the Sheriff's Department, and, in about five minutes, 
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the sheriff, two of his deputies, and SBI Agent Campbell 
arrived.] 

[About 4:00 p.m., after knocking loudly and "hollering" 
to defendant to come out, the sheriff entered by the unlocked 
back door as his Deputy Garris entered by the front door, also 
unlocked.] 

[While searching for defendant, in plain view in the kitchen 
the officers saw a Remington carton such as would encase a new 
rifle and several unused .22-caliber, long-rifle cartridges. In- 
side the front bedroom, also in plain sight they observed stand- 
ing in the corner a .22-caliber Remington semi-automatic rifle, 
serial No. 2129176. From the rifle SBI Agent Campbell removed 
five cartridges. A thorough search of the house and grounds 
satisfied the officers that defendant was not there. As they left 
they saw 15-20 spent cartridges in the backyard.] 

Defendant was arrested between 8 :30 and 9 :00 a.m. on the 
morning of 22 October 1970 by a highway patrolman, and 
Officer Garris promptly obtained and served upon defendant 
a warrant charging him with the murder of Stocks. A search 
of defendant's person disclosed a sales slip from Woolco De- 
partment Store showing a purchase in the amount of $59.08. 
[Thereafter, between 9 :00 and 11 :00 a.m. Deputy Sheriff Gar- 
ris and SBI Agent Campbell each talked separately to defend- 
ant. Before doing so, each advised defendant he had the right 
to remain silent and make no statement whatever; that any- 
thing he said could, and would be, used against him in court; 
that he had the right to talk to a lawyer and secure his advice 
before he was questioned and to have him, or anyone else he 
wanted, present while he was being questioned; that if he was 
unable to employ a lawyer before he was questioned one would 
be appointed to represent him a t  State expense; that he could 
exercise his rights at  any time and refuse a t  any time to answer 
any question or make any statement. Defendant told both Gar- 
ris and Campbell that he understood his rights; that he wished 
to talk. When asked specifically if he wanted a lawyer he said 
he did not and was ready to talk without one. Neither Garris 
nor Campbell threatened defendant nor offered him any induce- 
ment to talk. He appeared to each to be sober and in possession 
of all of his faculties, and he made intelligent and coherent re- 
plies. At no time during questioning did he indicate a desire 
to remain silent or request counsel.] 
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In substance, defendant made the following statement to 
Garris and Campbell: On 21 October 1970, after a beer for 
breakfast a t  6:30 a.m., he reported to the construction com- 
pany for which he worked but, because of rain, there was no 
work. About 7:30 am,,  he drove to the Dover Garment Factory 
where he talked momentarily with his wife in the presence of 
Stocks and another person. He told her she was going to get 
killed if she kept on living the life she was, and from there he 
went to his residence, where he stayed until 9:00 a.m. and then 
went to Woolco Shopping Center. After cashing a check for 
$100.00 a t  the Wachovia Bank he went to Woolco Department 
Store where he bought a 22-caliber rifle and two boxes of 
22-caliber ammunition shortly after the store opened. Return- 
ing to his residence he made practice shots a t  pine cones in 
the backyard with the rifle he had purchased. He then set 
the weapon behind the bed, took two beers from the refrigera- 
tor, got into his car and set out for Oriental. He ate lunch at a 
cafe about ten miles from Bridgeton. At Oriental he failed to 
find the paving crew which was supposed to be working there; 
so he went to a motel on Highway 17, where he spent the night. 
The next morning, about 7:00 a.m., he learned from the radio 
that he was wanted for murder. While driving back to Kinston 
on Highway No. 11, he was stopped by a State trooper, who 
brought him to the Lenoir County Sheriff's Department. 

At no time did defendant tell the officers he shot Stocks. 
He said that if he shot Stocks he should be punished for it, but 
he didn't recall shooting anyone that day. 

Testimony by SBI agents tended to show that the rifle, 
the eight spent cartridges which the officers found a t  the 
scene of the shooting, the shirt Stocks was wearing a t  the time 
he was shot, and the bullet removed from the body of deceased 
were, in due course, all delivered to the SBI Laboratory in 
Raleigh. There they were examined by ballistics expert E. P. 
Pierce. In his opinion the bullet removed from Stocks's shoulder 
had been fired from the rifle and seven of the eight bullets 
which Deputy Sheriff Garris had found beside Stocks's auto- 
mobile had also been fired from that rifle. (The eighth bullet 
showed insufficient markings to make an identification.) In 
addition, his microscopic and chemical examination of the shirt 
Stocks was wearing a t  the time he was shot revealed a concen- 
tration of powder around the hole on the left pocket similar to 
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the concentration left by that same rifle when it fired a .22- 
caliber, long-rifle ammunition into blotters. 

Further facts pertinent to this decision will be discussed in 
the opinion. 

Robert  Morgan, A t t o r n e y  General, Charles A. Lloyd, A s -  
sociate A t torney ,  for  the  State .  

Hodges & Rochelle b y  James A. Hodges, JY., f o r  de fendant  
appellant. 

SHARP, Justice. 

Defendant brings forward four assignments of error. The 
first is to the court's refusal to grant his motion for nonsuit 
made a t  the conclusion of the State's evidence. The rule, 
succinctly stated by Justice Higgins in Sta te  u. Stephens,  244 
N.C. 380, 383, 93 S.E. 2d 431, 433 (1956), is as follows: 

"Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the 
State, if the record here discloses substantial evidence of all 
material elements constituting the offense for which the accused 
was tried, then this court must affirm the trial court's ruling 
on the motion. The rule for this and for the trial court is the 
same whether the evidence is circumstantial or direct, or a 
combination of both." 

[I] The record here contains plenary evidence that defendant, 
after threatening to do so, and procuring a rifle for the pur- 
pose, on 21 October 1970 shot and killed Stocks with malice, 
premeditation, and deliberation. His motion for nonsuit was, 
therefore, properly overruled. S t a t e  v. Walters ,  275 N.C. 615, 170 
S.E. 2d 484 (1969). 

The second assignment which defendant argues is that 
the judge erred in denying defendant's motion to suppress the 
testimony of Mrs. Gene Autry Stocks, Mrs. Thelma Barfield, 
Mrs. Bertie Croombs, and Mrs. Rebecca Moore. Defendant 
based his motion on the following facts : 

On or about 15 March 1971 counsel for defendant moved in 
writing before Judge Cohoon that the solicitor be directed to 
furnish defendant's attorney a list of all witnesses whom the 
State intended to produce a t  defendant's trial. Judge Cohoon, 
after ascertaining that the solicitor had no objection to furnish- 
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ing the names of the persons the State then proposed to call 
as witnesses, orally directed that he give defendant the requested 
information. Deputy Sheriff Garris immediately prepared and 
delivered to defendant's attorney a handwritten list which 
omitted the names of Mrs. Stocks, Mrs. Barfield, Mrs. Moore, 
and Mrs. Croombs. 

At  the beginning of the trial the State called Mrs. Stocks 
as its first witness. Defendant moved to suppress her testimony 
and that of any other person called whose name had not been 
on the list. After hearing the motion, Judge Godwin entered 
an order in which he found, in addition to the facts set out in 
the preceding paragraph, that the State now proposed to call, 
inter alia, Mesdames Stocks, Barfield, Moore and Croombs; 
that defendant's motion before Judge Cohoon was not made 
under G.S. 8-74; that the State's failure to furnish defendant 
with the name of every person sworn as  a witness when the 
case was called for trial, and whose testimony it then proposed 
to use, had not prevented defendant from making full and 
proper preparation for his trial. Whereupon he denied defend- 
ant's motion to suppress, and thereafter the four women above 
named testified. Defendant excepted but did not move to con- 
tinue the case. 

[2] "The common law recognized no right of discovery in 
criminal cases." State v. Goldberg, 261 N.C. 181, 191, 134 S.E. 
2d 334, 340 (1964). In the absence of a statute requiring the 
State to furnish it, the defendant in a criminal case is not en- 
titled to a list of the State's witnesses who are to testify against 
him. McDaniel u. State, 191 Miss. 854, 4 So. 2d 355 (1941) ; 
Padgett v. State, 64 Fla. 389, 59 So. 946 (1912) ; State u. 
Matejousky, 22 S.D. 30, 115 N.W. 96 (1908) ; 21 Am. Jur. 2d 
Criminal Law 5 328 (1965) ; 16 C.J.S. Criminal Law 5 2030 
(1938). There is no such statute in this State. 

[3] Defendant, however, claims that G.S. 8-74 gives him the 
right to a list of the State's witnesses. This statute, however, 
provides for taking the deposition of an incapacitated defense 
witness, "whose name must be given" to the court. Patently 
this section has no application to defendant's motion. 

Although defendant was not entitled to the list as a matter 
of right, Judge Godwin found that an order to furnish i t  had 
been made and that the State had purported to comply with it. 
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Thus, the question presented is whether the omission of the 
names of Mrs. Stocks, Mrs. Barfield, Mrs. Moore and Mrs. 
Croombs prejudiced defendant's defense and deprived him of 
a fair trial. 

Defendant contends that he was prejudiced because the 
testimony of these four witnesses supplied the sole evidence 
of motive, premeditation and deliberation. Certainly these wit- 
nesses gave material evidence tending to show essential ele- 
ments of the crime with which defendant was charged. 
Notwithstanding, a defendant is not legally prejudiced merely 
because the State proves its case against him. 

As stated by the Kentucky Court of Appeals in Evans v. 
Commonwealth, 230 Ky. 411, 19 S.W. 2d 1091 (1929), prej- 
udicial surprise results from events "not reasonably to be 
anticipated or perhaps testimony contrary to a prior under- 
standing between the parties or something resulting from fraud 
or deception." Id. at 415-16, 19 S.W. 2d a t  1093. Neither the 
presence nor testimony of these four women-the wife of de- 
ceased, his mother, his sister-in-la,w, and a family friend of 
both defendant and deceased-could have taken defendant by 
surprise. 

141 Defendant suggests, however, that had he known the 
ladies were to testify, he might have found "possible rebuttal 
witnesses" or searched for ground upon which to impeach their 
credibility. Had there been a reasonable probability of finding 
such witnesses or grounds, a motion for a continuance would 
have been appropriate. Defendant's motion, however, was to 
suppress the testimony of the witnesses, whatever i t  might be, 
and not to continue the trial so that he would have an appor- 
tunity to disprove it. 

[5] The record fails to show that defendant's defense was 
prejudiced by the omission of the four names from the list 
furnished him, Permitting these witnesses to testify was a mat- 
ter in the discretion of the trial judge, not reviewable on appeal 
in the absence of a showing of abuse. State u. Anderson, 281 
N.C. 261, 188 S.E. 2d 336 (1972). No abuse of discretion 
appears. 

[6] The third question raised by defendant's assignments of 
error is the legality of the officers9 entrance into his residence 
during the late afternoon of 21 October 1970 and the seizure 
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of the .22-caliber rifle found therein. He contends that both 
the entry and seizure were unlawful and, in consequence, 
neither the rifle nor the ballistic tests made with i t  were admis- 
sible in evidence. Upon defendant's objection to any testimony 
involving the rifle, Judge Godwin held a voir dire in which he 
heard the evidence summarized within the brackets and also a 
substantial portion of the applicable testimony which was later 
given in the presence of the jury. He then found facts in 
accordance with the evidence and concluded that the officers 
had reasonable grounds to believe defendant was concealed 
in the house. He held that their entry and subsequent seizure of 
"plain-view" items were legal and overruled defendant's objec- 
tion in the evidence. In this ruling we find no error. 

G.S. 15-44 (1965) provides: "If a felony . . . has been 
committed, or a dangerous wound has been given and there is 
reasonable ground to believe that the guilty person is concealed 
in a house, it shall be lawful for any sheriff. . . or police officer, 
admittance having been demanded and denied, to break open 
the door and enter the house and arrest the person against whom 
there shall be such ground of belief." 

16, 71 Indubitably Stocks had been murdered and the officers 
had reasonable grounds to believe that defendant had committed 
the murder. About 1 :15 p.m. on the day of the murder, officers 
had gone to defendant's home, but when he did not answer 
their calls, they had left without entering. The thrust of defend- 
ant's argument is that Judge Godwin should not have beIieved 
Whaley's testimony that between 3:30 and 4:00 p.m. he saw 
the kitchen curtains move. This testimony was not inherently 
incredible and was sufficient to support the court's findings. 
They are, therefore, binding on appeal. State v. Roseman+ 279 
N.C. 573, 184 S.E. 2d 289 (1971). Reasonable grounds for 
belief can be based upon information given to an officer by 
another, "the source of such information being reasonably re- 
liable." State v. Roberts, 276 N.C. 98, 107, 171 S.E. 2d 440, 
445 (1969). Further, the fact that silence greeted the officers' 
demands for entrance and that defendant was not found in the 
house did not make their entry illegal. 

181 Being lawfully in defendant's residence, the officers could 
examine and, without a warrant, seize " 'suspicious objects in 
plain sight' . . . . If the officers' presence was lawful the obser- 
vation and seizure of what was then and there apparent could 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 737 

State v. Hoffman 

not in itself be unlawful." State v. Howard, 274 N.C. 186, 
202, 162 S.E. 2d 495, 505-06 (1968) ; Accord, State v. Harvey, 
281 N.C. 1, 187 S.E. 2d 706 (1972) ; State v. Virgil, 276 N.C. 
217, 172 S.E. 2d 28 (1970) ; State v. Colson, 274 N.C. 295, 163 
S.E. 2d 376 (1968). The rifle, the bullet which was removed 
from Stocks's body, and the testimony of ballistics expert Pierce 
that in his opinion the bullet was fired from the rifle were, 
therefore, properly admitted in evidence. The assignments of 
error upon which defendant bases his third proposition are over- 
ruled. 

Defendant's final assignment of error is that the court 
erred in admitting the statements which he made to Deputy 
Sheriff Garris and SBI Agent Campbell as a result of their in- 
custody interrogation of him. 

On voir dire, upon plenary supporting evidence, Judge 
Godwin found facts which show that both Garris and Campbell 
fully advised defendant of all his constitutional rights in  strict 
compliance with all Mi~anda  requirements; that after being 
thus warned defendant freely, voluntarily, understandingly, 
and without being induced by threats or promises, specifically 
waived his constitutional right to remain silent and to have 
counsel present when he talked to the officers. Upon these 
findings, Judge Godwin overruled defendant's objections, and 
admitted his statements to the officers in evidence. 

On appeal, defendant makes no contention that he did not 
orally waive the presence of counsel a t  his interrogation, or 
that he did not voluntarily submit to the officers' questioning. 
The evidence shows that he did both. Thus, the admission of his 
statements involves no federal constitutional question. See State 
v. Lynch, 279 N.C. 1, 13-14, 181 S.E. 2d 561, 569 (1971) ; State 
v. Chance, 279 N.C. 643, 185 S.E. 2d 227 (1971) ; State v. Black- 
mm, 280 N.C. 42,185 S.E. 2d 123 (1971). 

[9] Defendant's contention is that a t  the time of his interroga- 
tion he was an indigent, in custody on a capital charge; and 
that, under G.S. 7A-457(a) (19691, as i t  read on 22 October 
1970, he could not waive his right to counsel a t  an in-custody 
interrogation either orally or in writing. This contention is 
untenable, for the record affirmatively discloses that a t  the 
time of his interrogation defendant had funds, immediately 
available and adequate, with which to employ counsel to provide 
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the legal advice he then needed. The admissibility of defendant's 
statements to the officers was not, therefore, affected by G.S. 
7A-450 to -459 (1969). The statements were competent evidence 
and defendant's assignments of error relating to their admis- 
sion are overruled. 

An indigent person for whom the State must provide 
counsel is defined by G.S. 7A-450(a) as "a person who is 
financially unable to secure legal representation and to provide 
all other necessary expenses of representation in an action or 
proceeding enumerated in this subchapter." Section (c) of this 
same statute provides: "The question of indigency may be 
determined or redetermined by the court a t  any stage of the 
action or proceeding a t  which an indigent is entitled to repre- 
sentation." G.S. 7A-455(a) (1969) requires the court, if i t  is 
of the opinion that "an indigent person is financially able to 
pay a portion, but not all, of the . . . necessary expenses of 
representation (to) order the partially indigent person to pay 
such portion to the clerk of superior court for transmission to 
the State treasury." 

The foregoing statutes clearly manifest the legislative in- 
tent that every defendant in a criminal case, to the limit of his 
ability to do so, shall pay the cost of his defense. It is not the 
public policy of this State to subsidize any portion of a defend- 
ant's defense which he himself can pay. An indigent is not one 
who lacks sufficient funds over and above his homestead and 
personal property exemptions and his pre-existing debts and 
obligations to pay the total costs of his defense from begin- 
ning to end. An indigent is one who does not have available, 
a t  the time they are required, adequate funds to pay a necessary 
cost of his defense. 

At the time of defendant's arrest, according to his sworn 
statement, he had $160.00 in the bank. He owed no debts except 
the monthly payments on his 1971 Chevrolet Nova. We take 
judicial notice that for a fee of less than $160.00 defendant 
could have obtained counsel for the purpose of advising him 
with reference to the course of conduct which would serve his 
best interest a t  that time. In short, he could pay for the legal 
services he needed on the morning of his arrest. His ability to 
pay the costs of subsequent proceedings was not then a ques- 
tion. That was a matter to be determined when that question 
arose. 
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Upon defendant's request for counsel and his affidavit of 
indigency, the district court assigned counsel, who represented 
him a t  his preliminary hearing and a t  his trial in the superior 
court, and the State paid counsel's fee. We note, however, that 
this appeal is not at State expense and that defendant was able 
to post bond for the costs. Prima facie, i t  was for such situations 
as this that G.S. 78-450 (c) was enacted. 

The decision here is not in conflict with State v. Wright, 
281 N.C. 38, 187 S.E. 2d 761 (1972). In  that case, a t  the time 
of his arrest, the defendant had $5.00 in cash, an automobile on 
which he was paying $56.00 per month, and two recently pur- 
chased government bonds. These bonds, which had cost $18.75 
each, were in his mother's possession in Ohio, unavailable even 
if adequate. The amount of his equity in the automobile was 
not disclosed, and it was immaterial a t  that time. The defendant, 
under arrest for three serious felonies, one of which was rape, 
was in no position to negotiate either a mortgage or a sale of 
his automobile. As a practical matter he had only $5.00 with 
which to meet the immediate emergency, and that was not 
enough to secure the advice of counsel which he needed then and 
there. At  the time the defendant Wright was interrogated he 
was, in truth and in fact, an indigent; defendant Hoffman was 
not. 

In the trial below we find 

No error. 

Justice HIGGINS concurring in result. - 

I cannot agree with that part of the opinion which intimates 
that if a defendant is able to employ counsel for the purpose 
of advising him, or being with him a t  the interrogation, that 
he is not an indigent within the meaning of § 78-451 of the 
General Statutes. 

The entitlement begins when the defendant is taken into 
custody or served with initiating process and continues through 
all critical stages including reviews by appeal. The statute does 
not contemplate that separate counsel may be appointed for 
each successive step in the trial, but I think contemplates that 
the same counsel will continue from beginning to end subject 
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to the right of the court to excuse or allow substitution of coun- 
sel a t  any proper state. 

"Entitlement continues through any critical stage of the 
action or proceeding including identification procedure, pre- 
liminary hearing, trial, sentencing, and review." These are 
specifically stated in 5 7A-451. 

I concur in result. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. ROGER 

No. 132 

(Filed 31 August 1972) 

VER ON MILLER 

Homicide § 31; Criminal Law 9 135- first degree murder -death sentence 
-remand for sentence of life imprisonment 

Pursuant to a mandate of the Supreme Court of the United States 
vacating the death penalty imposed upon defendant for first degree 
murder, the case is remanded to the superior court for imposition of 
a sentence of life imprisonment. 

ON remand from the Supreme Court of the United States. 

HIGGINS, Justice. 

At  the September 8, 1969 Session, DUPLIN Superior Court, 
the defendant, Roger Vernon Miller, was tried and convicted 
of the crime of murder in the first degree and sentenced to 
death. Upon defendant's appeal this Court found no error in 
the verdict and judgment of the Superior Court. State v. 
Miller, 276 N.C. 681, 174 S.E. 2d 481. The defendant then filed 
a petition for writ of certiorari to the Supreme Court of the 
United States. On June 29, 1972, this Court received from the 
Supreme Court of the United States the following mandate: 

"THE PRESIDENT O F  THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

"To the Honorable the Judges of the Supreme Court of the 
State of North Carolina, 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 741 

State v. Miller 

"WHEREAS, lately in the Supreme Court of the State of 
North Carolina, _._._._._ .._.__. ...... ........ there came before you a 
cause between the State of North Carolina and Roger Vermon 
Miller, No. 14, Spring Term, 1970, wherein the judgment of the 
said Supreme Court was duly entered on the Twelfth day of 
June A.D. 1970, as appears by an inspection of the petition 
for  writ of certiorari to the said Supreme Court and the re- 
sponse thereto. 

"AND WHEREAS, in the 1971 Term, the said cause having 
been submitted to the SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES on 
the said petition for writ of certiorari and response thereto, and 
the Court having granted the said petition : 

"ON CONSIDERATION WHEREOF, it was ordered and adjudged 
on June 29, 1972, by this Court that the judgment of the Su- 
preme Court of North Carolina in this cause be vacated insofar 
as  i t  leaves undisturbed the death penalty imposed, and that this 
cause be remanded to the Supreme Court of the State of North 
Carolina for further proceedings. See Stewart v. Massachusetts, 
408 U.S. 845 (1972). 

"NOW, THEREFORE, THE CAUSE IS REMANDED to you in 
order that such proceedings may be had in the said cause, in con- 
formity with the judgment of this Court above stated, as accord 
with right and justice, and the Constitution and laws of the 
United States, the said writ of certiorari notwithstanding. 

"Witness the Honorable WARREN E. BURGER, Chief Justice 
of the United States, the twenty-sixth day of July in  the year of 
our Lord one thousand nine hundred and seventy-two. 

MICHAEL RODAK, JR. 
Clerk of the Supreme Court of the 

United States 

Roger Vermon Miller, 

v. 
North Carolina" 

The opinion in Stewart v. Massachusetts, referred to in  the 
foregoing mandate, is as follows : 

"PER CURIAM. 
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The appellant in this case was sentenced to death. The 
imposition and carrying out of that death penalty constitutes 
cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth and 
Fourteenth Amendments. Fwman v. Geo~gia, 408 U.S. 238 
(1972). The motion for leave to proceed in, forma pauperis is 
granted. The judgment is therefore vacated insofar as i t  leaves 
undisturbed the death panalty imposed, and the case is remanded 
for further proceedings." 

Pursuant to the foregoing mandate of the Supreme Court 
of the United States vacating the death penalty imposed on the 
defendant, this cause is remanded to the Superior Court of 
Duplin County with directions to proceed as follows: 

1. The presiding judge of the Superior Court of Duplin 
County will cause to be served on the defendant, Roger Vernon 
Miller, and on his attorneys of record, notice to  appear during 
a session of said Superior Court authorized to  hear criminal 
cases a t  a designated time not less than ten days from the date 
of the order, a t  which time, in open court, the defendant being 
present in person and being represented by his attorneys, the 
presiding judge, based on the verdict of guilty of murder in 
the first degree returned by the jury at the September 8, 1969 
Session, Duplin Superior Court, will pronounce judgment that 
the defendant be imprisoned for life in the State's prison. 

2. The presiding judge of the Superior Court of Duplin 
County will issue a writ of habeas corpus to  the official having 
custody of the defendant, Roger Vernon Miller, to produce him 
in open court a t  the time and for the purpose of being present 
when the judgment imposing life imprisonment is pronounced. 

The foregoing accords with our previous orders entered in  
the following cases: State v. Hill, 279 N.C. 371, 183 S.E. 2d 97; 
State v. Atkinson, 279 N.C. 385,183 S.E. 2d 105; State v. Atkin- 
son, 279 N.C. 386, 183 S.E. 2d 106; State v. Williams, 279 
N.C. 388, 183 S.E. 2d 106; State v. Sanders, 279 N.C. 389, 
183 S.E. 2d 107; State v. Roseboro, 279 N.C. 391, 183 S.E. 
2d 108 (1971) ; State v. Childs, 280 N.C. 576, 187 S.E. 2d 78 
(1972). 

Remanded for judgment. 
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. RAY HAMBY 
- AND - 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. CRAIG BARRY CHANDLER 

No. 129 

(Filed 31 August 1972) 

Homicide $ 31; Criminal Law $ 135- first degree murder -death penalty 
-remand for sentence of life imprisonment 

Pursuant to a mandate of the Supreme Court of the United States 
vacating sentences of death imposed upon defendants for first degree 
murder, the case is remanded to the superior court for imposition of 
sentences of life imprisonment. 

ON remand from the Supreme Court of the United States. 

SHARP, Justice. 

At  the 8 September 1969 Session of the Superior Court of 
LINCOLN County defendants were tried and convicted of the 
crime of murder in the first degree, and each was sentenced to 
death. Upon defendants' appeal this Court found no error in 
the verdicts and judgments of the Superior Court. State v. 
Hamby and State v. Chandler, 276 N.C. 674, 174 S.E. 2d 385 
(1970). Defendants then filed a petition for writ of certiorari 
in the Supreme Court of the United States. On 29 July 1972 
this Court received from the Supreme Court of the United 
States the following mandate : 

"UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, SS: 

"THE PRESIDENT O F  THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

"To the Honorable the Judges of the Supreme Court of the 
State of North Carolina, 

"WHEREAS, lately in the Supreme Court of the State of 
North Carolina, ....- _. ... ... . .... there came before you a 
cause between the State of North Carolina and Ray Hamby and 
Craig Barry Chandler, No. 4, Spring Term, 1970, wherein the 
judgment of the said Supreme Court was duly entered on the 
twelfth day of June A.D. 1970, as appears by an inspection of 
the petition for writ of certiorari to the said Supreme Court 
and the response thereto. 
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"AND WHEREAS, in the 1971 Term, the said cause having 
been submitted to the SUPREME COURT O F  THE UNITED STATES 
on the said petition for writ of certiorari and response thereto, 
and the Court having granted the said petition : 

"ON CONSIDERATION WHEREOF, i t  was ordered and adjudged 
on June 29, 1972, by this Court that the judgment of the Su- 
preme Court of North Carolina in this cause be vacated insofar 
as i t  leaves undisturbed the death penalty imposed, and that 
this cause be remanded to the Supreme Court of the State of 
North Carolina for further proceedings. See Stewart v. Massa- 
chusetts, 408 U.S. 845 (1972). 

"NOW, THEREFORE, THE CAUSE IS REMANDED to you in order 
that such proceedings may be had in the said cause, in con- 
formity with the judgment of this Court above stated, as accord 
with right and justice, and the Constitution and laws of the 
United States, the said writ of certiorari notwithstanding. 

"Witness the Honorable WARREN E. BURGER, Chief Justice 
of the United States, the twenty-sixth day of 
July in the year of our Lord one thousand nine hundred and 
seventy-two. 

MICHAEL RODAK, JR. 
Clerk of the Supreme Court of the 

United States 

NO. 70-5006 
Ray Hamby and Craig Barry 

Chandler 

North Carolina" 
The opinion in Stewart v. Massachusetts, referred to in 

the foregoing mandate, is as  follows : 

The appellant in this case was sentenced to death. The 
imposition and carrying out of that death penalty constitutes 
cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth and 
Fourteenth Amendments. Fzwmafi v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 
(1972). The motion for leave to proceed in forma pauperis is 
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granted. The judgment is therefore vacated insofar as i t  leaves 
undisturbed the death penalty imposed, and the case is re- 
manded for further proceedings." 

Pursuant to the foregoing mandate of the Supreme Court 
of the United States vacating the death penalty imposed upon 
defendants, this cause is remanded to the Superior Court of 
Lincoln County with directions to proceed as follows: 

1. The presiding judge of the Superior Court of Lincoln 
County will cause to be served on the defendants, Ray Hamby 
and Craig Barry Chandler, and on their attorneys of record, 
notice to appear a t  a designated time during a session of said 
Superior Court authorized to hear criminal cases. The time 
fixed shall not be less than ten days from the date of the order. 
At that time, defendants being present in open court and repre- 
sented by their attorneys, based on the verdicts of guilty of 
murder in the first degree returned by the jury a t  their trial 
a t  the 8 September 1969 Session, the presiding judge will pro- 
nounce judgment that each defendant be imprisoned for life 
a t  the State's prison. 

2. The presiding judge of the Superior Court of Lincoln 
County will issue a writ of habeas corpus to the official having 
custody of the defendants Hamby and Chandler to produce 
them in open court a t  the time and for the purpose of being 
present when the judgment imposing life imprisonment is pro- 
nounced. 

The foregoing is in accordance with our previous orders 
entered in the following cases: State v. Hill, 279 N.C. 371, 183 
S.E. 2d 97; State v. Atkinson, 279 N.C. 385, 183 S.E. 2d 105; 
State v. Atkinson, 279 N.C. 386, 183 S.E. 2d 106; State v. Wil- 
liams, 279 N.C. 388, 183 S.E. 2d 106; State v. Sanders, 279 
N.C. 389, 183 S.E. 2d 107; State v. Roseboro, 279 N.C. 391, 
183 S.E. 2d 108 (1971) ; State v. Childs, 280 N.C. 576, 187 
S.E. 2d 78 (1972). 

Remanded for judgment. 
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STATE O F  NORTH CAROLINA v. DANNY CHANCE 

No. 133 

(Filed 31 August 1972) 

Rape § 7; Criminal Law 5 135-rape - death sentence-remand for 
sentence of life imprisonment 

Pursuant to a mandate of the Supreme Court of the United States 
vacating the death penalty imposed upon defendant for the crime of 
rape, the case is remanded to the superior court for  imposition of a 
sentence of life imprisonment. 

ON remand from the Supreme Court of the United States. 

BRANCH, Justice. 

At the 29 March 1971 Session of the Superior Court of 
CUMBERLAND County, North Carolina, defendant was tried and 
convicted of the crime of rape and sentenced to  death. Upon 
defendant's appeal, this Court found no error in the trial and 
judgment. State v. Chance, 279 N.C. 643,185 S.E. 2d 227 (1971).  
Defendant then filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the Su- 
preme Court of the United States. On 29 July 1972 this Court 
received from the Supreme Court of the United States the fol- 
lowing mandate : 

"THE PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES O F  AMERICA 

"To the Honorable the Judges of the Supreme Court of the 
State of North Carolina, 

"WHEREAS, lately in the Supreme Court of the State of 
North Carolina, ... . .. .___ there came before you a 
cause between the State of North Carolina and Danny Chance, 
No. 78, Fall Term, 1971, wherein the judgment of the said Su- 
preme Court was duly entered on the fifteenth day of December 
A.D. 1971, as appears by an inspection of the petition for writ 
of certiorari to the said Supreme Court and the response 
thereto. 

"AND WHEREAS, in the 1971 Term, the said cause having 
been submitted to the SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES 
on the said petition for writ of certiorari and response thereto, 
and the Court having granted the said petition : 
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"ON CONSIDERATION WHEREOF, i t  was ordered and adjudged 
on June 29, 1972, by this Court that the judgment of the said 
Supreme Court of North Carolina in this cause be vacated in- 
sofar as  i t  leaves undisturbed the death penalty imposed, and 
that this cause be remanded to the Supreme Court of the State 
of North Carolina for further proceedings. See Stewart  v. 
Massachusetts, 408 U.S. 845 (1972). 

"NOW, THEREFORE, THE CAUSE IS REMANDED to you in order 
that such proceedings may be had in the said cause, in con- 
formity with the judgment of this Court above stated, as  accord 
with right and justice, and the Constitution and laws of the 
United States, the said writ of certiorari notwithstanding. 

"Witness the Honorable WARREN E. BURGER, Chief Justice 
of the United States, the twenty-sixth .._..-..___.._..-_-- day of July 
.._-...__..._._-_.._ in the year of our Lord one thousand nine hundred 
and seventy-two. 

MICHAEL RODAK, JR. 
Clerk of the Supreme Court of the 

United States 

Danny Chance 

North Carolina" 

The opinion in Stewart  v. Massachwetts,  referred to in 
the foregoing mandate, is as follows : 

The appellant in this cause was sentenced to death. The 
imposition and carrying out of that death penalty constitutes 
cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth and 
Fourteenth Amendments. Furman  v. Geovgia, 408 U.S. 238 
(1972). The motion for leave to proceed in f orma pauperis is 
granted. The judgment is therefore vacated insofar as i t  leaves 
undisturbed the death penalty imposed, and the case is re- 
manded for further proceedings." 

Pursuant to the foregoing mandate of the Supreme Court 
of the United States vacating the death penalty imposed upon 
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defendant, this cause is remanded to the Superior Court of 
Cumberland County with directions to proceed as follows: 

(1) The presiding judge of the Superior Court of Cumber- 
land County shall cause to be served on the defendant, Danny 
Chance, and on his attorneys of record, notice to appear a t  a 
designated time during a session of said Superior Court au- 
thorized to hear criminal cases. The time fixed shall not be 
less than ten days from the date of the order. At that time, 
defendant being present in open court and represented by his 
attorneys, based on the verdict of guilty of rape returned by 
the jury a t  his trial a t  the 29 March 1971 Session, the presid- 
ing judge will pronounce judgment that defendant be im- 
prisoned for life in the State's prison. 

( 2 )  The presiding judge of the Superior Court of Cum- 
berland County will issue a writ of habeas corpus to the official 
having custody of the defendant, Danny Chance, to produce 
him in open court a t  the time and for the purpose of being 
present when the judgment imposing life imprisonment is pro- 
nounced. 

The foregoing is in accordance with our previous orders 
entered in the following cases: State v. Hill, 279 N.C. 371, 183 
S.E. 2d 97; State v. Atkinson, 279 N.C. 385, 183 S.E. 2d 105; 
State v. Atkinson, 279 N.C. 386, 183 S.E. 2d 106; State v. Wil- 
liams, 279 N.C. 388, 183 S.E. 2d 106; State v. Sanders, 279 
N.C. 389, 183 S.E. 2d 107; State v. Roseboro, 279 N.C. 391, 
183 S.E. 2d 108 (1971) ; State v .  Childs, 280 N.C. 576, 187 
S.E. 2d 78 (1972). 

Remanded for judgment. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JAMES NATHANIEL 
WESTBROOK, JR. 

No. 130 

(Filed 31 August 1972) 

Homicide § 31; Criminal Law § 135- first degree murder - death sentence 
-remand for sentence of life imprisonment 

Pursuant to a mandate of the Supreme Court of the United States 
vacating the death penalty imposed upon defendant for first degree 
murder, the case is remanded to the superior court for imposition of a 
sentence of life imprisonment. 
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On remand from the Supreme Court of the United States. 

HUSKINS, Justice. 

At the 2 November 1970 Criminal Session of the Superior 
Court of MECKLENBURG County defendant was tried and con- 
victed of the crime of murder in the first degree and sentenced 
to  death. Upon defendant's appeal this Court found no error in  
the verdict and judgment of the superior court. State v. West- 
brook, 279 N.C. 18, 181 S.E. 2d 572 (1971). Defendant then 
filed a petition for writ of certiorari to the Supreme Court of 
the United States, and on 29 July 1972 this Court received from 
the Supreme Court of the United States the following mandate: 

"UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, SS: 

"THE PRESIDENT O F  THE UNITED STATES O F  AMERICA 

"To the Honorable the Judges of the Supreme Court of the 
State of North Carolina, 

"WHEREAS, lately in the Supreme Court of the State of 
North Carolina, . . there came before you a cause 
between the State of North Carolina and James Nathaniel West- 
brook, Jr., No. 94, Fall [sic] Term, 1971, wherein the judgment 
of the said Supreme Court was duly entered on the tenth day 
of June A.D. 1971, as appears by an inspection of the petition 
for writ of certiorari to the said Supreme Court and the re- 
sponse thereto. 

"AND WHEREAS, in the 1971 Term, the said cause having 
been submitted to the SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES 
on the said petition for writ of certiorari and response thereto, 
and the Court having granted the said petition : 

"ON CONSIDERATION WHEREOF, it was ordered and adjudged 
on June 29, 1972, by this Court that the judgment of the Su- 
preme Court of North Carolina in this cause be vacated insofar 
as it leaves undisturbed the death penalty imposed, and that this 
cause be remanded to the Supreme Court of the State of North 
Carolina for further proceedings. See Stewart v. Massachusetts, 
408 U.S. 845 (1972). 

"NOW, THEREFORE, THE CAUSE IS REMANDED to you in order 
that such proceedings may be had in the said cause, in con- 
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formity with the judgment of this Court above stated, as ac- 
cord with right and justice, and the Constitution and laws of 
the United States, the said writ of certiorari notwithstanding. 

"Witness the Honorable WARREN E. BURGER, Chief Justice 
of the United States, the twenty-sixth ............___._._. day of July 
in the year of our Lord one thousand nine hundred and seventy- 
two. 

MICHAEL RODAK, JR. 
Clerk of the Supreme Court of the 

United States 

James Nathaniel Westbrook, Jr., 

v. 

North Carolina" 

The opinion in Stewart v. Massachusetts, referred to in the 
foregoing mandate, is as follows : 

"PER CURIAM. 

The appellant in this case was sentenced to death. The 
imposition and carrying out of that death penalty constitutes 
cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth and 
Fourteenth Amendments. Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 
(1972). The motion for leave to proceed in forma pauperis is 
granted. The judgment is therefore vacated insofar as i t  leaves 
undisturbed the death penalty imposed, and the case is remanded 
for further proceedings." 

Pursuant to the foregoing mandate of the Supreme Court 
of the United States vacating the death penalty imposed upon 
defendant, this cause is remanded to the Superior Court of 
Mecklenburg County with directions to proceed as  follows: 

1. The presiding judge of the Superior Court of Mecklen- 
burg County will cause to be served on the defendant, James 
Nathaniel Westbrook, Jr., and on his attorneys of record, notice 
to appear during a session of said superior court a t  a designated 
time, not less than ten days from the date of the order, a t  which 
time, in open court, the defendant, being present in person and 
being represented by his attorneys, the presiding judge, based 
on the verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree returned 
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by the jury a t  the trial a t  the 2 November 1970 Criminal Ses- 
sion, will pronounce judgment that defendant be imprisoned 
for life in the State's prison. 

2. The presiding judge of the Superior Court of Mecklen- 
burg County will issue a writ of habeas corpus to the official 
having custody of the defendant, James Nathaniel Westbrook, 
Jr., to produce him in open court a t  the time and for the 
purpose of being present when the judgment imposing life 
imprisonment is pronounced. 

The foregoing accords with our previous orders entered 
in the following cases: State v. Hill, 279 N.C. 371, 183 
S.E. 2d 97; State v. Atkinson, 279 N.C. 385, 183 S.E. 2d 105 ; 
State v. Atkinson, 279 N.C. 386, 183 S.E. 2d 106; State v. Wil- 
liams, 279 N.C. 388, 183 S.E. 2d 106; State v. Sanders, 279 
N.C. 389, 183 S.E. 2d 107; State v. Roseboro, 279 N.C. 391, 
183 S.E. 2d 108 (1971) ; State v. Child,,  280 N.C. 576, 187 
S.E. 2d 78 (1972). 

Remanded for judgment. 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. OWEN SW. 

No. 131 

(Filed 31 August 1972) 

ANSON DOSS 

Homicide 1 31; Criminal Law 1 135- first degree murder -death sentence 
-remand for sentence of life imprisonment 

Pursuant to a mandate of the Supreme Court of the United States 
vacating the death penalty imposed upon defendant for first degree 
murder, the case is remanded to the superior court for imposition of 
a sentence of life imprisonment. 

On remand from the Supreme Court of the United States. 

MOORE, Justice. 

At the 30 November 1970 Special Criminal Session of the 
Superior Court of PITT County, North Carolina, defendant was 
tried and convicted of the crime of murder in the first degree 
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and sentenced to death. Upon defendant's appeal, this Court 
found no error in the trial and judgment. State v. Doss, 279 
N.C. 413, 183 S.E. 2d 671 (1971). Defendant then filed a peti- 
tion for writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court of the United 
States. On 29 July 1972 this Court received from the Supreme 
Court of the United States the following mandate: 

"UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, SS: 

"THE PRESIDENT O F  THE UNITED STATES O F  AMERICA 

"To the Honorable the Judges of the Supreme Court of the 
State of North Carolina, 

"WHEREAS, lately in the Supreme Court of the State of 
North Carolina, _....._.._..__----...... there came before you a cause 
between the State of North Carolina and Owen Swanson 
Doss, No. 1, Fall Term, 1971, wherein the judgment of the 
said Supreme Court was duly entered on the thirteenth day 
of October A.D. 1971, as appears by an inspection of the peti- 
tion for writ of certiorari to the said Supreme Court and the 
response thereto. 

"AND WHEREAS, in the 1971 Term, the said cause having 
been submitted to the SUPREME COURT O F  THE UNITED STATES 
on the said petition for writ of certiorari and response thereto, 
and the Court having granted the said petition: 

"ON CONSIDERATION WHEREOF, i t  was ordered and adjudged 
on June 29, 1972, by this Court that the judgment of the said 
Supreme Court of North Carolina in this cause be vacated in- 
sofar as i t  leaves undisturbed the death penalty imposed, and 
that this cause be remanded to the Supreme Court of the State 
of North Carolina for further proceedings. See Stewa,rt v. Mas- 
sachusetts, 408 U.S. 845 (1972). 

"NOW, THEREFORE, THE CAUSE IS REMANDED to YOU in order 
that such proceedings may be had in the said cause, in con- 
formity with the judgment of this Court above stated, as 
accord with right and justice, and the Constitution and laws 
of the United States, the said writ of certiorari notwithstanding. 
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"Witness the Honorable WARREN E. BURGER, Chief Justice 
of the United States, the twenty-sixth ....__.__._..._-___.---- day of July 
in  the year of our Lord one thousand nine hundred and seventy- 
two. 

MICHAEL RODAK, JR. 
Clerk of the Supreme Court of the 

United States 

NO. 71-6001 

Owen Swanson Doss, 

North Carolina" 

The opinion in Stewart u. Massachusetts, referred to in the 
foregoing mandate, is as follows : 

The appellant in  this case was sentenced to death. The im- 
position and carrying out of that death penalty constitutes .cruel 
and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth and Four- 
teenth Amendments. Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972). 
The motion for leave to proceed in folrma pauperis is granted. 
The judgment is therefore vacated insofar as it leaves undis- 
turbed the death penalty imposed, and the case is remanded 
for further proceedings." 

Pursuant to the foregoing mandate of the Supreme Court 
of the United States vacating the death penalty imposed upon 
defendant, this cause is remanded to the Superior Court of Pitt  
County with directions to proceed as follows : 

(1) The presiding judge of the Superior Court of Pi t t  
County shall cause to be served on the defendant, Owen Swanson 
Doss, and on his attorneys of record, notice to  appear a t  a desig- 
nated time during a session of said Superior Court authorized 
to hear criminal cases. The time fixed shall not be less than 
ten days from the date of the order. At that time, defendant 
being present in open court and represented by his attorneys, 
based on the verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree 
returned by the jury a t  his trial a t  the 30 November 1970 
Special Criminal Session, the presiding judge will pronounce 
judgment that the defendant be imprisoned for life in the 
State's prison. 
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State v. Doss 

(2) The presiding judge of the Superior Court of Pitt 
County will issue a writ of habeas corpus to the official having 
custody of the defendant, Owen Swanson Doss, to produce him 
in open court a t  the time and for the purpose of being present 
when the judgment imposing life imprisonment is pronounced. 

The foregoing accords with our previous orders entered in 
the following cases: State v. Hill, 279 N.C. 371, 183 S.E. 2d 
97; State v. Atkinson, 279 N.C. 385, 183 S.E. 2d 105; State v. 
Atkinson, 279 N.C. 386, 183 S.E. 2d 106; State v. Williams, 
279 N.C. 388, 183 S.E. 2d 106; State v. Sanders, 279 N.C. 
389, 183 S.E. 2d 107; State v. Roseboro, 279 N.C. 391, 183 
S.E. 2d 108 (1971) ; State v. Childs, 280 N.C. 576, 187 S.E. 
2d 78 (1972). 

Remanded for judgment. 
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DISPOSITION OF PETITIONS FOR CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS 

BARNEY v. HIGHWAY COMM. 
No. 155 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 740. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals allowed 31 August 1972. 

BASS v. MOORESVILLE MILLS 
No. 151 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 206. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

BATTLE v. ELECTRIC CO. 
No. 197 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 246. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

BEASLEY v. FOOD FAIR 
No. 7 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 323. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals allowed 14 September 1972. 

BERGOS v. BOARD OF ALCOHOLIC CONTROL 
No. 168 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 169. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 
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CHRISTIE v. POWELL 
No. 16 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 508. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 14 September 1972. 

ELECTRICAL WORKERS UNION v. COUNTRY CLUB EAST 
No. 182 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 744. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals allowed 31 August 1972. 

FAGGART V. FAGGART 
No. 176 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 214. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

GAY v. SUPPLY CO. 
No. 158 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 240. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

GOARD v. BRANSCOM 
No. 159 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 34. 
Petition for writ of certio'rari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 
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DISPOSITION OF PETITIONS FOR CERTIORARI TO rHE COWT OF APPEALS 

HARRISON v. LEWIS 
No. 146 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 26. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals allowed 31 August 1972. 

HAYMORE v. HIGHWAY COMM. 
No. 154 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 691. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

HUDSON v. STEVENS AND CO. 
No. 153 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 190. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

IN  RE ESTATE O F  OVERMAN 
No. 171 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 712. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

LINDSTROM v. CHESNUTT 
No. 180 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 15. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 14 September 1972. 
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DISPOSITION OF PETITIONS FOR CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS 

MARKHAM v. JOHNSON 
No. 175 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 139. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

MAY0 v. CASUALTY CO. 
No. 8 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 309. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals allowed 14 September 1972. 

PAYSEUR v. RUDISILL 
No. 164 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 57. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

REEVES BROTHERS, INC. v. TOWN OF RUTHERFORDTON 
No. 1 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 385. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals allowed 14 September 1972. 

RICH v. CITY OF GOLDSBORO 
No. 5 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 534. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals allowed 14 September 1972. 
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SAVAGE v. SAVAGE 
No. 169 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 123. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

SIMMONS v. TEXTILE WORKERS UNION 
No. 152 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 220. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

STATE v. ALTMAN 
No. 2 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 257. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 14 September 1972. 

STATE v. BANDY 
No. 36. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 175. 
Motion of Attorney General to dismiss appeal for lack of 

substantial constitutional question allowed 31 August 1972. 

STATE V. BANDY 
No. 177 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 188. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 
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DISPOSITION OF PETITIONS FOR CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS 

STATE V. BARR 
No. 179 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 116. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

STATE v. CROUCH 
No. 160 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 172. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

STATE v. DAMERON 
No. 172 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 84. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. Appeal dismissed ex mero motu 
for lack of substantial constitutional question 31 August 1972. 

STATE V. FLOYD 
No. 9 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 438. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 14 September 1972. 

STATE v. HAILSTOCK 
No. 11 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 556. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 14 September 1972. 
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DISPOSITION OF PETITIONS FOR CERTIORARI TO THE 'COURT OF APPEALS 

STATE V. HEGLER 
No. 161 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 51. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

STATE v. JOHNSON 
No. 54. 
Case below: 13 N.C. App. 323. 
Motion of Attorney General to dismiss appeal for failure 

to file appeal bond allowed 15 September 1972. 

STATE v. KIRBY 
No. 49. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 480. 
Motion of Attorney General to dismiss appeal for lack of 

substantial constitutional question allowed 14 September 1972. 

STATE v. LASSITER 
No. 198 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 265. 
Petition for  writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

STATE v. MARTIN 
No. 32. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 132. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. Appeal dismissed for failure 
to comply with rules of Supreme Court 31 August 1972. 
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DISPOSITION OF PETITIONS FOR CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS 

STATE v. MELTON 
No. 173 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 198. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

STATE v. PHILLIPS 
No. 178 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 74. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

STATE v. PRICE 
No. 46. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 599. 
Motion of Attorney General to dismiss appeal for lack of 

substantial constitutional question allowed 15 September 1972. 

STATE v. ROBINSON 
No. 6 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 362. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 14 September 1972. 

STATE v. SUMMERS 
No. 191 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 282. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 



N.C.] SPRING TERM 1972 763 

STATE V. TAYLOR 
No. 170 PC. 
Case below: 14 N.C. App. 703. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

STATE v. THOMAS 
No. 195 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 289. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

STATE v. WESTRY 
No. 157 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 1. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina C'ourt of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 

STATE v. WOOTEN 
No. 35. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 193. 
Motion of Attorney General to dismiss appeal for lack of 

substantial constitutional question allowed 31 August 1972. 

THOMPSON V. COBLE 
No. 165 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 231. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 
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- ---- 

DISPOSITION OF PETITIONS FOR CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS 

WYCHE V. ALEXANDER 
No. 166 PC. 
Case below: 15 N.C. App. 130. 
Petition for writ of certiorari to North Carolina Court of 

Appeals denied 31 August 1972. 
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RULES GOVERNING ADMISSION 
TO THE PRACTICE OF LAW 

The attached amendments to the Rules Governing Admis- 
sion to the Practice of Law in the State of North Carolina 
were duly adopted a t  a regular quarterly meeting of the Council 
of The North Carolina State Bar. 

BE IT RESOLVED that the Rules Governing Admission 
to the Practice of Law in the State of North Carolina be and 
the same are hereby amended by rewriting the Rules as appear 
in 279 N. C. 734 and 790 as follows: 

RULE V 
Applications of General Applicants 

Section 3. Every application by a general applicant who is 
a resident of the State of North Carolina shall be accom- 
panied by a fee of $100.00. Every application by a general 
applicant who is not a resident of the State of North Car- 
olina shall be accompanied by a fee of $100.00 plus such 
fee as the National Conference of Bar Examiners or its 
successors may charge from time to time for processing 
an application of a nonresident. 

RULE XI 
Examinations 

Section 2. The examination shall be held in the City of 
Raleigh between July 1 and August 31 on such dates as  
the Board may set from time to time. 

NORTH CAROLINA 
WAKE COUNTY 

I, B. E. James, Secretary-Treasurer of The North Carolina 
State Bar, do hereby certify that the foregoing amendments to 
the Rules Governing Admission to the Practice of Law in the 
State of North Carolina and Rules and Regulations of The North 
Carolina State Bar have been duly adopted by the Council of 
The North Carolina State Bar a t  a regular quarterly meeting 
of said Council. 

Given over my hand and the Seal of The North Carolina 
State Bar, this the 24th day of July, 1972. 

B. E. JAMES, Secretary-Treasurer 
The North Carolina State Bar 
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After examining the foregoing amendments of the Rules 
of the Board of Law Examiners as adopted by the Council of 
The North Carolina State Bar, i t  is my opinion that the same 
are not inconsistent with Article 4, Chapter 84 of the General 
Statutes. 

This the 31st day of July, 1972. 

WILLIAM H. BOBBITT, Chief Justice 
Supreme Court of North Carolina 

Upon the foregoing certificate, i t  is ordered that the fore- 
going amendments of the Rules of the Board of Law Examiners 
and the Rules and Regulations of The North Carolina State 
Bar be spread upon the minutes of the Supreme Court and 
that they be published in the forthcoming volume of the Re- 
ports as provided by the Act incorporating The North Carolina 
State Bar. 

This the 31st day of July, 1972. 

MOORE, J. 
For the Court 

AMENDMENT TO STATE BAR RULES 

The following amendment to the Rules and Regulations of 
The North Carolina State Bar was duly adopted a t  a regular 
quarterly meeting of the Council of The North Carolina State 
Bar. 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of The North Carolina 
State Bar, that Article X of the Certificate of Organization of 
The North Carolina State Bar be and the same is hereby amend- 
ed by striking from Canon 12 as  appears in 221 N. C. 596 as 
follows : 

Paragraph three (3) of Canons of Ethics number twelve 
(12) which reads : 

"In determining the customary charges of the Bar for 
similar services, i t  is proper for a lawyer to consider a 
schedule of minimum fees adopted by a Bar Association, 
but no lawyer should permit himself to be controlled there- 
by or to follow i t  as his sole guide in determining the 
amount of his fee." 

N.C.] BAR 

NORTH CAROLINA 
WAKE COUNTY 

I, B. E. James, Secretary-' 
State Bar, do hereby certify t 
the Rules and Regulations of 
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NORTH CAROLINA 
WAKE COUNTY 

I, B. E. James, Secretary-Treasurer of The North Carolina 
State Bar, do hereby certify that the foregoing amendment to 
the Rules and Regulations of The North Carolina State Bar 
has been duly adopted by the Council of The North Carolina 
State Bar a t  a regular quarterly meeting of said Council. 

Given over my hand and the Seal of The North Carolina 
State Bar, this the 24th day of July, 1972. 

B. E. JAMES, Secretary-Treasurer 
The North Carolina State Bar 

After examining the foregoing amendment to the Rules 
and Regulations of The North Carolina State Bar as adopted 
by the Council of The North Carolina, State Bar, it is my 
opinion that the same is not inconsistent with Article 4, Chapter 
84 of the General Statutes. 

This the 31st day of July, 1972. 

WILLIAM H. BOBBITT, Chief Justice 
Supreme Court of North Carolina 

Upon the foregoing certificate, i t  is ordered that the fore- 
going amendment to the Rules and Regulations of The North 
Carolina State Bar be spread upon the minutes of the Supreme 
Court and that they be published in the forthcoming volume 
of the Reports as provided by the Act incorporating The North 
Carolina State Bar. 

This the 31st day of July, 1972. 

MOORE, J. 
For the Court 
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AMENDMENT TO 
NORTH CAROLINA SUPREME COURT 

LIBRARY RULES 

Pursuant to Section 7A-13 of the General Statutes of 
North Carolina, the following amendment and appendix to  the 
North Carolina Supreme Court Library Rules as promulgated 
December 20, 1967, have been approved by the Library Com- 
mittee and hereby are promulgated : 

Section 1. Subsection "f" of Rule 2 is amended to read as 
follows : 

(f)  "Official Register" means that list of positions of 
the State of North Carolina that is appended to these 
Rules as Appendix I. 

Section 2. Appended a t  the end of these Rules shall be the 
following : 

APPENDIX I 

OFFICIAL REGISTER 
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 

The Senators, Representatives, Principal Clerks, 
Reading Clerks, Sergeants-at-Arms, Legislative Serv- 
ices Officer, and Director of Research of the General 
Assembly. 

The Governor, Lieutenant Governor, Secretary of 
State, Auditor, Treasurer, Superintendent of Public 
Instruction, Attorney General, Commissioner of 
Agriculture, Commissioner of Labor, and Commis- 
sioner of Insurance. 

The Secretary of the Department of Administration; 
Secretary of Transportation and Highway Safety; 
Secretary of the Department of Natural and Economic 
Resources ; Secretary of Human Resources ; Secretary 
of Social Rehabilitation and Control; Secretary of 
Commerce; Commissioner of Revenue; Secretary of 
Art, Culture and History; and Secretary of Military 
and Veterans' Affairs. 

The Judges of the Superior Court and the Judges 
of the District Court. 

The Solicitors and the Public Defenders. 

N.C.] LIBRAS 

(6) The State Librarian 

(7) The Director of the 

(8) The Director, Ass 
Counsel of the Adm 

(9) The Secretary-Trea 
State Bar. 

This the 28th day of No. 

APPROVED : 
SUSIE SHARP 
Chairman, For the Library C 
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(6) The State Librarian. 

(7) The Director of the Office of Archives and History. 

(8) The Director, Assistant Director, and Assistant 
Counsel of the Administrative Office of the Courts. 

(9)  The Secretary-Treasurer of The North Carolina 
State Bar. 

This the 28th day of November, 1972. 

RAYMOND M. TAYLOR 
Librarian 

APPROVED : 
SUSIE SHARP 
Chairman, For the Library Committee 

the Public Defenders. 
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ANALYTICAL INDEX 
Titles and section numbers in this index, e.g. Appeal and Error 

3 1, correspond with titles and section numbers in N. C. Index 2d. 

TOPICS COVERED IN THIS INDEX 

APPEAL AND ERROR 
ARREST AND BAIL 
ASSAULT AND BATTERY 
ATTORNEY AND CLIENT 

BAILMENT 
BANKS AND BANKING 
BILL OF DISCOVERY 
BROKERS AND FACTORS 
BURGLARY AND UNLAWFUL 

BREAKINGS 

LANDLORD AND TENANT 

MASTER AND SERVANT 
MORTGAGES AND DEEDS OF TRUST 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATIONS 

CANCELLATION AND RESCISSION OF 
INSTRUMENTS 

COLLEGES AND UNIVERSITIES NARCOTICS 
CONSTITUTIONAL LAW NEGLIGENCE 
CONTRACTS 
CONVICTS AND PRISONERS 
COSTS PARENT AND CHILD 

COUNTIES PLEADINGS 
COURTS PRINCIPAL AND AGENT 

DEATH 
DIVORCE AND ALIMONY 
DOMICILE 

SALES 
SEARCHES AND SEIZURES 

TAXATION 
TELEPHONE AND TELEGRAPH 

COMPANIES 
TRIAL 
TRUSTS 

VENUE 
INDICTMENT AND WARRANT 
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APPEAL AND ERROR 

§ 31. Assignment of Error to Charge 
Assignment of error to the charge as a whole that specifies no 

portion of the charge deemed erroneous and no additional instructions 
deemed to be required is broadside and ineffective. Investment Proper- 
ties v. Allen, 174. 

8 54. Review of Discretionary Matters 
When a motion addressed to the discretion of the court is denied 

on the ground the court has no power to grant the motion in its dis- 
cretion, the ruling is reviewable. Calloway v. Motor Go., 496. 

ARREST AND BAIL 

8 5. Method of Making Arrest 
There was sufficient compliance with requirement that entrance be 

demanded and denied before a police officer can forcibly enter a dwelling 
for the purpose of making an arrest. S.  v. Haruey, 1. 

Although defendant had been erroneously identified as  the person 
who sold heroin to an SBI agent, defendant's arrest under a warrant 
charging the sale of heroin to the SBI agent was lawful. Ibid. 

ASSAULT AND BATTERY 

9 4. Criminal Assault in General 
The crime defined by G.S. 14-32(b)-assault with a firearm or 

other deadly weapon per se inflicting serious injury-is a lesser degree 
of the offense of assault with a deadly weapon with intent to kill 
inflicting serious injury defined by G.S. 14-32 (a) .  State v. Thacker, 447. 

§ 5. Assault with a Deadly Weapon 
An intent to kill may be inferred from the nature of the assault, 

the manner in which i t  was made, the conduct of the parties, and other 
relevant circumstances. S.  v. Thacker, 447. 

A knife with a six-inch blade is a deadly weapon per se. Ibid. 

§ 12. Presumptions 
Proof of an assault with a deadly weapon inflicting serious injuries 

not resulting in death does not establish a presumption of intent to kill. 
S. v. Thacker, 447. 

§ 13. Competency of Evidence 
In a prosecution for felonious assault, the erroneous admission of 

defendant's in-custody statement unequivocally expressing his intent to 
kill the first person he caught alone constituted prejudicial error, notwith- 
standing there was ample additional evidence in the record from which the 
jury could have inferred that  defendant intended to kill the victim. S. v. 
Thacker, 447. 

§ 16. Submission of Lesser Degrees 
In a prosecution for two offenses of assault with a deadly weapon 

with intent to kill inflicting serious injury, the trial court erred (1) in 
failing to submit defendant's guilt or innocence of assault with a deadly 
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ASSAULT AND BATTERY - Continued 

weapon per se inflicting serious injury and (2) in submitting the mis- 
demeanors of assault inflicting serious injury and assault with a deadly 
weapon. S .  v. Thacker, 447. 

ATTORNEY AND CLIENT 

3 9. Persons Liable for Compensation of Attorney 
Where a promissory note contains provision requiring the debtor to 

pay attorneys' fees of the creditor in collection of the note, but guaranty 
of payment of the note contains no such provision, guarantors are not 
liable for attorneys' fees of the creditor in an action on the guaranty 
contract. Credit Corp. v. Wilson, 140. 

BAILMENT 

1 6. Liabilities of Bailor to Bailee 
I t  is the duty of a bailor for hire of a vehicle to see that  the vehicle 

is  in good condition. Roberts v. iMemoria1 Park, 48. 
In  an action to recover for injuries received when a golf cart plaintiff 

had rented from defendants overturned, the pleadings were amended 
by implied consent to conform to the evidence and broaden the issue of 
negligence so the jury could consider whether defendants breached a duty 
by furnishing a golf cart which they knew had no brakes on it when 
going backwards. Zbid. 

BANKS AND BANKING 

3 1. Control and Regulation in General 
While two applications by a bank to establish two branches in the 

same city may be consolidated for hearing, each application must be 
treated as a separate application and be approved or denied on the basis 
of evidence relating thereto. Banking Comm. v. Bank,  108. 

Solvency provisions of G.S. 53-62 for establishment of a branch 
bank are not nzet by the fact that  the parent bank and all its branches 
together meet the solvency test. Zbid. 

5 10. Paying Checks of Depositor; Liability in General 
A national bank established in this State is subject to suit in a 

State court in a county in which it maintains a branch bank in an action 
arising out of its banking activities a t  such branch. Security Mills v. 
Trus t  Co., 525. 

BILL OF  DISCOVERY 

3 1. Examination of Adverse Party 
In  the absence of a statute requiring the State to furnish it, the 

defendant in a criminal case is not entitled to a list of State's witnesses 
who are to testify against him. 5'. v. H o f f m a n ,  727. 

Where the State furnished defense counsel a list of the State's 
witnesses before trial, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in 
allowing witnesses whose names did not appear on the list to testify 
on behalf of the State. Zbid. 
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BROKERS AND FACTORS 

5 6. Right to Commissions 
Obligation of an  owner of a hotel to pay a realtor a monthly 5% 

commission as compensation for the realtor's services in procuring a 50-year 
lease of the hotel property terminated when a municipal redevelopment 
commission condemned and took possession of the property. Ross v. Perry, 
570. 

BURGLARY AND UNLAWFUL BREAKINGS 

§ 4. Competency of Evidence 
When i t  is  established that  a store or warehouse has been broken 

into and merchandise has been stolen therefrom, possession of the stolen 
articles by defendant soon after the theft raises a presumption that he 
is guilty both of breaking and entering and larceny. S. u. Lewis, 564. 

5 5. Sufficiency of Evidence and Nonsuit 
State's evidence was sufficient for the jury in prosecution for first 

degree burglary. S. v. Miller, 70. 
Defendant's conviction of second degree burglary cannot stand where 

all the State's evidence tends to show that  the crime occurred in the day- 
time; and jury verdict is treated as a verdict of guilty of felonious break- 
ing and entering. S. v. Cox, 131. 

CANCELLATION AND RESCISSION OF INSTRUMENTS 

§ 8. Pleadings 
Under Rule 9(b),  facts relied upon to establish fraud, duress or mis- 

take must be alleged. Mangum v. Surles, 91. 
Where defendants failed to object to plaintiff's evidence not supported 

by the pleadings that  defendants fraudulently induced her to sign a deed 
by representing the instrument to be a note, plaintiff is  entitled to have 
the issue of fraud submitted to the jury and to amend her complaint to 
conform her pleadings to the evidence. Zbid. 

10. Sufficiency of Evidence and Nonsuit 
Plaintiff's evidence was sufficient to make out a prima facie case of 

fraud in the factum in inducing plaintiff to sign a deed by telling her i t  
was a note. Mangum v. Surles, 91. 

COLLEGES AND UNIVERSITIES 

Regulations of Board of Trustees of University of N.C. which require, 
as prerequisites for eligibility for in-state tuition, that  the student be 
domiciled in this State and have been so domiciled without being enrolled 
in an institution of higher education for a t  least six months preceding the 
date of first enrollment or re-enrollment, held constitutional. Glusman v. 
Trustees, 629. 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW 

20. Equal Protection 
Indigency is sufficient basis for classification with reference to the 

right to court appointed, publicly paid counsel, but i t  is not a reasonable 
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basis for classification as  to the right to represent one's self. S. v. Mems, 
658. 

Regulations of Board of Trustees of University of N. C. which re- 
quire, as  prerequisites for eligibility for in-state tuition, that  the student 
be domiciled in this State and have been so domiciled without being en- 
rolled in an institution of higher education for a t  least six months pre- 
ceding the date of f irst  enrollment or re-enrollment, held constitutional. 
Glusman v. Trustees, 629. 

§ 29. Right to Indictment and Trial by Duly Constituted Jury 
Defendant's evidence that  the black adult population of the county 

amounted to 20% of the total county population and that  beginning Jan- 
uary 1970 approximately 10% of the petit jurors were Negroes, held in- 
sufficient to make out a prima facie case of racial discrimination; even 
if a prima facie case was shown, defendant's evidence relieved the State 
of the burden of going forward. S. v. Cornell, 20. 

Testimony by jury commissioners that, in some instances, they could 
determine from the address shown on the raw jury list card that  the 
person named thereon lived in a predominantly black or predominantly 
white neighborhood was insufficient to make out a prima facie case of 
racial discrimination. Ibid. 

A jury list is not discriminatory or unlawful because i t  is drawn 
from the tax list of the county, and the jury commission is  not limited 
to the sources specifically designated by the statute. Ibid. 

Trial court properly allowed State's challenges for cause to prospec- 
tive jurors who stated that  under no circun~stances would they return a 
verdict which would result in the death penalty. S. v. Watson, 221; S. v. 
Anderson, 261. 

Sentences of death could not constitutionally be imposed on defendant 
for crimes of first degree murder committed while the statute allowing 
a defendant to plead guilty to a capital crime and receive a life sentence 
was in effect. S. v. Anderson, 261. 

Questions which the solicitor asked prospective jurors were proper for 
the purpose of determining whether such jurors could, under any circum- 
stances, vote for a verdict which would require imposition of the death 
penalty. S. .v. Willis, 558. 

Absence from the jury list of names of persons 18 to 21 years old did 
not constitute systematic exclusion of this age group from grand jury 
service. S. v. Cornell, 20; S. v. Harris, 542. 

8 30. Due Process 
Defendant was not denied his constitutional right to  a speedy trial 

by the delay between his appeal from recorder's court on 24 September 
1968 and his trial de novo in superior court in June 1971. S. v. Harrell, 
111. 

Defendant was not denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial 
by a delay of ten months between his arrest and trial on charges of pos- 
sessing and growing marijuana. S. v. Spencer, 121. 

Defendant was not denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial 
by the delay between the issuance of a warrant charging him with homi- 
cide on 19 July 1969 and his trial a t  the 19 April 1971 session of court. 
S. v. Watson, 221. 
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$ 31. Right of Confrontation, Time to Prepare Defense, and Access to  
Evidence 

Trial court properly denied defendant's motion that  the solicitor 
furnish defendant (1) the names and addresses of all witnesses known 
to the State who might offer testimony favorable to defendant and (2) 
copies of written statements or transcripts of oral statements made by 
any witness. S. v. Peele, 253. 

Defendant's rights of confrontation and effective assistance of counsel 
were not violated by the denial of a motion for continuance made on the 
ground that  defendant needed to get information from her home in order to 
know what witnesses she wanted subpoenaed. S. v. Cradle, 198. 

In a homicide prosecution, defendant's right to confrontation and 
right to due process were violated by admission of statement in the vic- 
tim's death certificate as to the cause of death; however, the admission 
of such evidence was harmless error. S. v. Watson, 221. 

§ 32. Bight to  Counsel 
Trial court erred in finding that  defendant was not an indigent and 

in refusing to appoint counsel to represent her a t  her preliminary hearing 
on a felony charge; however, such error was harmless beyond a reason- 
able doubt. S. v. Cradle, 198. 

The right to assistance of counsel includes the right of counsel to 
confer with witnesses, to consult with the accused and to prepare his de- 
fense. Ibid. 

Right to counsel attaches only after adversary judicial proceedings 
have been initiated. S. v. Mems, 658. 

Defendant in a criminal proceeding has a right to handle his own 
case without interference by or the assistance of counsel. Zbid. 

G.S. 7A-457(a) prohibiting an indigent from making waiver of coun- 
sel in a capital case is unconstitutional. Zbid. 

Where evidence indicated that  defendant had adequate funds to obtain 
counsel prior to interrogation, defendant could not complain that  he was 
an indigent as that  term refers to one who does not have available a t  the 
time they are required adequate funds to pay a necessary cost of his 
defense. S. v. Hoffman, 727. 

5 36. Cruel and Unusual Punishment 
A sentence of seven to ten years for uttering a forged check in the 

sum of $50 is not cruel and unusual punnishment. S. v. Cradle, 198. 

CONTRACTS 
§ 4. Consideration 

A consideration moving directly to the guarantor is not essential in 
a guaranty contract, but the promise is enforceable if a benefit to the 
principal debtor is shown or if detriment or inconvenience to the promisee 
is disclosed. Investment Properties v. Norburn, 191. 

§ 28. Instructions 
Trial court erred in giving the jury instructions to the effect that  

it was necessary for the guarantor to have received something of value 
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himself in order to provide the legal consideration to support the contract 
of guaranty. Investment Properties v. Norburn, 191. 

§ 29. Measure of Damages for Breach 
In  an action on a contract to recover actual cost of grading and im- 

provements performed on defendant's property, trial court properly allowed 
plaintiffs to recover interest upon the verdict in their favor from the 
date plaintiffs forwarded to defendant statement itemizing the work per- 
formed and the actual cost thereof. Investment Properties v. Allen, 174. 

CONVICTS AND PRISONERS 

§ 2. Discipline and Management 
A prison inmate has no right to examine the contents of his prison 

file and offer commentary on items which may adversely affect his oppor- 
tunities for honor grade status, work release or parole. Goble v. Bounds, 
307. 

COSTS 

8 1. Recovery as  Matter of Right by Successful Party 
Superior court properly denied taxpayers' motion for an allowance 

of their attorneys' fees as  part of the costs of their successful action 
before the State Board of Assessment to increase ad valorem t ax  valua- 
tion of tobacco and peanut allotments. In  r e  King, 533. 

5 4. Items of Costs and Amount of Allowance 
Expense of procuring surveys, maps, plans, photographs and docu- 

ments are not taxable as costs unless there is a clear statutory authority 
therefor or  they have been ordered by the court. City of Charlotte v. Mc- 
Neely, 684. 

A successful party is  not entitled to have either a witness fee or an 
expert witness fee for his own testimony taxed against his losing adver- 
sary Zbid. 

A party is not entitled to recover as costs either the statutory com- 
pensation for witnesses or an hourly wage or per diem for time such 
party spent in attending hearings and securing evidence. Zbid. 

Attorneys' fees were not allowable as  part  of the costs in a condemna- 
tion proceeding. Ibid. 

Expert witness fees can be taxed against an adverse party only when 
the testimony of the witness was material and competent. Zbid. 

Interest may not be allowed on costs properly assessed. Zbid. 

COUNTIES 
5 5. Zoning 

Provision of a county zoning ordinance requiring that  a fence be 
erected not less than 50 feet from the edge of any public road adjoining 
an  automobile wrecking yard is unconstitutionally vague in failing to 
define the term "edge of any public road," and has no reasonable relation 
to  the public health, morals or safety. S. v. Vestal, 517. 
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8 2. Jurisdiction in General 
A judgment by a court determining its statutory authority to dismiss 

an action in such way as  not to bar further litigation on the merits therein 
may be questioned only by appeal and not collaterally. Gower v. Insurance 
Go., 577. 

8 9. Jurisdiction of Superior Court After Orders of Another Superior 
Court Judge 

A judge has the power to modify an interlocutory order made by 
another whenever there is a showing of changed conditions which warrant 
such action. Calloway v. Motor Co., 496. 

When one superior court judge, in the exercise of his discretion, has 
made an order denying a motion to amend, absent changed conditions, 
another superior court judge may not thereafter aIlow the motion. Ibid. 

CRIMINAL LAW 

8 21. Preliminary Proceedings 
Trial court erred in finding that  defendant was not an indigent and 

in refusing to appoint counsel to represent her a t  her preliminary hearing 
on a felony charge; however, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable 
doubt. S. v. Cradle, 198. 

The district judge, when sitting as a committing magistrate, does not 
render a verdict but passes only on the narrow question of whether proba- 
ble cause exists and, if so, the fixing of bail if the offense is bailable; and 
a discharge of the accused is not an acquittal and does not bar a later 
indictment. Ibid. 

Counsel's ability a t  the preliminary hearing to "fashion a vital im- 
peachment tool for use in cross-examination of the State's witnesses a t  
trial" or  to "discover the case the State has against his client" 
is  greatly diminished by the authority of the court to terminate the pre- 
liminary hearing once probable cause is established. Ibid. 

8 23. Plea of Guilty 
A plea of guilty or nolo contendere may not be considered valid unless 

it appears affirmatively that i t  was entered voluntarily and understand- 
ingly. S. v. Ford, 62. 

§ 25. Plea of Nolo Contendere 
Evidence as to what occurred when defendant was arraigned and 

entered a plea of nolo contendere will be considered by the appellate court 
in determining if the plea was entered voluntarily and understandingly. 
S. v. Ford, 62. 

Although inquiries addressed by the court to defendant and his 
counsel fell short of approved practice with reference to the acceptance of 
plea of nolo contendere, deficiencies in the court's inquiries and in defend- 
ant's responses were cured by defendant's testimony on the occasion of 
his arraignment and plea which discloses affirmatively that  he has no 
defense to the crime of felonious escape for which he was indicted. Ibid. 

8 26. Plea of Former Jeopardy 
Where defendant's conviction of felony-murder was based upon a 

jury finding that the murder was committed in the perpetration of an 
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armed robbery, no separate punishment can be imposed for the armed 
robbery. S. v. Peele, 253. 

8 34. Evidence of Defendant's Guilt of Other Offenses 
Portion of defendant's confession which related to his intent to com- 

mit other robberies prior to the commission of the crime for which he is 
charged, held competent to show defendant's intent. S. v. Jenerett, 81. 

Evidence that  defendants had pleaded guilty in federal court to the 
armed robbery of a bank was properly admitted in the trial of defendants 
for kidnapping an employee of the bank. S. v. Cox, 275. 

8 36.1 Evidence of Alibi 
Defendants were not prevented from developing an alibi by the fact 

that  the indictment charged them with kidnapping on 17 December 1970 
and the evidence showed the crime occurred on 10 December 1970. S. u. 
Cox, 275. 

8 46. Flight of Defendant as  Implied Admission 
Defendant's flight from the scene of a killing was competent on the 

question of defendant's guilt. S. v. Eolin, 415. 

8 51. Qualification of Experts 
Trial court properly allowed a police officer to give an  opinion a s  to 

the caliber of a bullet removed from the body of deceased, although the 
court did not specifically find that  the officer was an expert in ballistics. 
S. v. Jenerett, 81. 

§ 60. Evidence in Regard to Footprints 
Trial court did not e r r  in permitting a nonexpert witness, a policeman, 

to testify that  he compared defendant's shoes with a shoe print on a 
ledger found near a rifled safe and that  "it was the shoes I was looking 
for to the best of my knowledge." S. v. Lewis, 564. 

8 61. Evidence as to Tire Tracks 
Evidence relating to casts made of automobile tracks a t  the place 

where a homicide victim's body was found was competent to identify the 
tracks as having been made by an  automobile owned by defendant's acconi- 
plice and to corroborate the accomplice's testimony. S. v. Willis, 558. 

§ 66. Evidence of Identity by Sight 
Trial court properly found that  pretrial photographic procedure was 

not unnecessarily suggestive and that  the prosecuting witness' identification 
testimony a t  the trial was based solely on her observations of the person 
in her room on the night of the burglary. S. v. Miller, 70. 

Evidence was sufficient to support trial court's findings that  in-court 
identifications of defendants were independent of a preview of illeaalls - - 
obtained photographs. S. v. Accor, 287. 

Trial court did not e r r  in failure to hold voir dire hearing to determine 
admissibility of police officer's identification testimony where there was no 
evidence that the officer had identified defendants in a pretrial lineup or 
confrontation. S. v. Cox, 275. 

The decisions relating to right to counsel a t  a lineup do not apply to 
police officer's identification of defendants a t  the scene of their arrest by 
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other police officers as the persons who a few hours before had eluded 
pursuit and arrest by the identifying officers. Ibid. 

In-court identifications of defendant by two assault victims were 
competent regardless of the absence of counsel a t  a pretrial identification 
in a hospital emergency room, where the in-court identifications had in- 
dependent origins. S. v. Thacker, 447. 

8 68. Other Evidence of Identity 
Testimony by two bank employees referring to "he" and "they" was 

competent when considered in connection with other State's evidence 
identifying defendants. S. v. Cox, 275. 

§ 75. Confession-Tests of Voluntariness; Admissibility in General 
Trial court erred in the admission of in-custody incriminating state- 

ments made by defendant without benefit of counsel where there was 
neither evidence nor finding that  defendant specifically waived the right 
to counsel. S. v. Turner ,  118. 

Error in admisison of inculpatory statement without evidence or find- 
ings that  defendant waived his right to counsel was harmless. S. v. Hudson, 
100. 

Trial court committed harmless error in admitting in-custody in- 
criminating statements made by defendant where the State failed to 
produce and offer in evidence a t  the voir dire hearing a written waiver 
of counsel executed by defendant in compliance with the statute then 
in effect. S. v. Cox, 275. 

Former G.S. 74-451 did not render inadmissible in a first degree 
murder prosecution statements made by an indigent defendant to the 
arresting officer without benefit of counsel, where defendant had been 
arrested only for the petty misdemeanor of carrying a concealed weapon 
when the statements were made and the officer had no knowledge that  a 
capital felony had been committed. S. v. R a t l i f f ,  397. 

Defendant's unexpected statement to an officer, after he had been 
arrested for a petty misdemeanor, that  he had shot a woman, defendant's 
further statement that the officer was a cop and i t  was for him to locate 
the victim, and defendant's volunteered statement that  the woman might 
not be dead and the officer could be a hero, held not the result of "in- 
custody interrogation." Ibid. 

Admission of defendant's inculpatory in-custody statement was errone- 
ous where there was neither evidence nor findings that  defendant waived 
his right to counsel, either in writing as provided by former G.S. 7A-457 or 
orally as  provided by the Miranda decision. S. v. Thacker, 447. 

In  a prosecution for felonious assault, the erroneous admission of 
defendant's in-custody statement unequivocally expressing his intent to 
kill the first preson he caught alone constituted prejudicial error, not- 
withstanding there was ample additional evidence in the record from which 
the jury could have inferred that  defendant intended to kill the victim. Ibid. 

Volunteered statements are competent evidence and their admission 
is  not barred under any theory of law, state or federal. S. v. Haddock, 675. 

A voluntary in-custody statement does not become the product of an 
in-custody interrogation when an  officer asks defendant to explain some- 
thing he has already said voluntarily. Ibid. 
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$ 76. Confession-Determination and Effect of Admissibility 
Trial court in prosecution for the capital crime of rape erred in find- 

ing tha t  defendant was not indigent a t  the time he confessed and that 
he, therefore, could not invoke the provision of former G.S. 7A-457 that 
counsel could not be waived in a capital case. S. v. Wright, 38. 

9 80. Books, Records and Private Writings 
In  a homicide prosecution, defendant's right to confrontation and 

right to due process were violated by admission of statement in the victim's 
death certificate as to the cause of death; however, the admission of such 
evidence was harmless error. S. v. Watson, 221. 

Trial court properly denied defendant's motion that the solicitor fur- 
nish defendant (1) the names and addresses of all witnesses known to the 
State who might offer testimony favorable to defendant and ( 2 )  copies 
of written statements or transcripts of oral statements made by any wit- 
ness. S. v. Peele, 253. 

Trial court in an armed robbery and homicide prosecution properly 
excluded as  irrelevant a letter written to defendant by an employment 
agency in New York. Ibid. 

9 84. Evidence Obtained by Unlawful Means 
Police officer did not need a search warrant to seize marijuana seed 

lying in plain view on a freezer top or marijuana which was inside a 
plastic ja r  which he picked up to use as a container for the seized mari- 
juana seed. S. v. Harvey, 1. 

Right to search automobile without warrant does not depend on the 
right to arrest but depends on the existence of probable cause to make 
the search. S. v. Ratliff, 397. 

An officer had probable cause to believe that defendant's car contained 
contraband of some sort, and a search of the car without a warrant was 
lawful. Ibid. 

If there is  probable cause to search an automobile the officer may 
either seize and hold the vehicle before presenting the probable cause 
issue to a magistrate, or he may carry out an  immediate search without 
a warrant. Zbid. 

5 86. Credibility of Defendant 
For the purpose of impeachment, i t  is permissible to cross-examine a 

juvenile defendant with reference to his prior convictions or adjudications 
of guilt of prior conduct which, if committed by an adult, would have 
constituted a conviction of crime. S. v. Miller, 70. 

8 87. Direct Examination of Witnesses 
Trial court properly allowed solicitor to ask leading questions. S. v. 

Cox, 275; S. v. Peele, 253; S. v. Willis, 558. 
Where the State furnished defense counsel a list of the State's 

witnesses before trial, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allow- 
ing witnesses whose names did not appear on the list to testify on behalf 
of the State. S. v. Anderson, 261; S. v. Hoffman, 727. 

§ 89. Credibility of Witnesses; Corroboration and Impeachment 
Rule that  defendant may no longer be cross-examined for impeach- 
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ment purposes as  to whether he has been indicted for other criminal 
offenses is not retroactive. S. v. Harris, 542; S. v. Daye, 592. 

The trial court in a prosecution for possession and sale of heroin 
did not commit prejudicial error in permitting the solicitor to cross- 
examine defendant by reading from the trial calendar numerous names 
of persons charged with violating narcotic laws and asking defendant 
questions concerning his acquaintance and association with each of them. 
S. v. Daye, 592. 

fi 90. Rule that Party is  Bound by and May Not Discredit Own Witness 
The introduction in evidence by the State of a statement made by 

defendant which may tend to exculpate him does not prevent the State 
from showing that  the facts concerning the crime were different from 
what the defendant said about them. S. v. Bolin, 415. 

5 91. Time of Trial and Continuance 
Defendant's rights of confrontation and effective assistance of counsel 

were not violated by the denial of a motion for continuance made on the 
ground that  defendant needed to get information from her home in order 
to know what witnesses she wanted subpoenaed. S. v. Cradle, 198. 

fi 92. Consolidation and Severance of Counts 
Trial court properly consolidated for trial two indictments charging 

defendant with the murders of his wife and mother-in-law. S. v. Anderson, 
261. 

Trial court properly denied motion of three defendants for severance 
of their rape trial, notwithstanding evidence showed two defendants 
were guilty as aiders and abettors. S. v. Dawson, 645. 

fi 97. Introduction of Additional Evidence 
Trial court did not e r r  in allowing the State to  recall two wit- 

nesses who had previously been examined after defendant had rested and 
all arguments to the jury had been made. S. v. Anderson, 261. 

fi 99. Conduct of Court and Expression of Opinion 
In a prosecution for homicide committed during a robbery, defendant 

was not prejudiced by trial court's inquiry into the ownership of the 
store where the crime occurred and the merchandise therein. S. v. Jen- 
erett, 81. 

Trial court in rape prosecution did not err  in ejecting two black 
girls from the courtroom for disrupting the trial. S. v. Dawson, 645. 

fi 104. Consideration of Evidence on Motion to Nonsuit 
The introduction in evidence by the State of a statement made by 

defendant which may tend to exculpate him does not prevent the State 
from showing that  the facts concerning the crime were different from 
what the defendant said about them. S. v. Bolin, 415. 

8 106. Sufficiency of Evidence 
A felony conviction may not be based upon a naked extrajudicial 

confession of guilt uncorroborated by any other evidence. S. v. Jenerett, 81. 
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5 111. Form and Sufficiency of Instructions 
Trial court in kidnapping prosecution did not err  in charging jury 

on crimes of robbery and conspiracy where the crimes were part of a 
single transaction. S. v. Cox, 275. 

§ 115. Instructions on Lesser Degrees of Crime 
Defendant was not prejudiced by error, if any, in the submission of 

lesser included offenses. S. v. Accor, 287. 
Error in failing to submit the question of defendant's guilt of lesser 

degrees of the same crime is not cured by a verdict of guilty of the 
offense charged. S. v. Thacker, 447. 

Sj 122. Additional Instructions 
Trial court's additional instructions urging jury to reach a verdict 

were without error. S. v. Accor, 287. 

128. Power to Set Aside Verdict and Order Mistrial 
A motion for mistrial in cases less than capital is addressed to the 

trial judge's discretion. S. v. Daye, 592. 

§ 135. Judgment and Sentence in Capital Cases 
Judgment of life imprisonnient imposed in conformity with Supreme 

Court order is affirmed. S. v. Atkinson, 151; S. v. Atkinson, 152; S. v. 
Hill, 312. 

Sentences of death could not constitutionally be imposed on defendant 
for crimes of first degree murder comniitted while the statute allowing a 
defendant to plead guilty to a capital crime and receive a life sentence 
was in effect. S. v. Anderson, 261. 

Trial court properly allowed State's challenges for cause to prospective 
jurors who stated that  under no circumstances would they return a verdict 
which would result in the death penalty. S. v. Watson, 221; S. v. Anderson, 
261. 

Pursuant to mandate of U. S. Supreme Court vacating sentences of 
death, cases are remanded to superior court for imposition of sentences 
of life imprisonment. S. v. Miller, 740; S. v. Hamby, 743; S. v. Westbrook, 
748; S. v. Chance, 746; S. v. Doss, 751. 

§ 138. Severity of Sentence 
Superior court may impose punishment in excess of that  imposed in 

inferior court. S. v. Harrell, 111. 
A defendant whose appeal from conviction of possession of more than 

one gram of marijuana was pending on 1 January 1972, the effective date 
of the act reducing that crinie from a felony to a misdemeanor, is not 
entitled to the benefit of the more lenient punishment provisions of the 
new act. S. v. Harvey, 1;  S. v. Mclntyre, 304. 

A defendant whose appeal from conviction of felonious possession of 
a hypodermic needle and syringe for the purpose of administering habit- 
forming drugs was pending on the effective date of the Controlled Sub- 
stances Act, which reduced that  offense to the grade of general mis- 
demeanor, is not entitled to have his sentence reduced to a maximum of 
two years. S. v. Kelly, 618. 
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146. Jurisdiction of Supreme Court 
Appellate courts will not pass upon constitutional questions not raised 

in trial court. S. v. Hudson, 100. 
Supreme Court, in exercise of its supervisory jurisdiction, takes notice 

of lack of proof of burglary. S. v. Cox, 131. 
A statute will not be declared unconstitutional if the appeal can be 

determined on another ground. S. v. Mems, 658. 

§ 153. Jurisdiction of Lower Court Pending Appeal 
Trial judge was without jurisdiction to hear defendant's motion to 

set aside the verdict and for a new trial which was made before the judge 
in his office after defendant had given notice of appeal and court had 
adjourned. S. v. Cutshall, 588. 

§ 161. Exceptions and Assignments of Error in General 
Defendant's appeal presents the question whether error appears on 

the face of the record proper. S. v. Ford, 62; S. v. Hudson, 100; S. v. Cox, 
131. 

Error asserted on appeal must be supported by an exception duly 
taken and shown in the record. S. v. Hudson, 100. 

§ 162. Objections, Exceptions, and Assignments of Error to Evidence 
When objection to evidence is made on a specific ground, competency 

of the evidence will be determined on appeal solely on the basis of the 
ground specified. S. v. Cornell, 20. 

If a witness' answer brings forth relevant facts, i t  is admissible even 
though not responsive to the question asked. S. v. Peele, 253, 

Assignment of error to admission of evidence must set out the evi- 
dence which defendant contends should not have been admitted. S. v. Daye, 
592. 

Objection to evidence is waived by failure to object in apt time. Ibid. 
Admission of incompetent evidence, without objection, is not ground 

for a new trial. S. v. Mems, 658. 
Failure of defendant to renew his objection after voir dire does not 

preclude him from raising the question for appellate review, though re- 
newal would be the better practice. Ibid. 

163. Exceptions and Assignments of Error to Charge 
Assignment based on the court's failure to charge should set out the 

contention as  to what the court should have charged. S. v. Hudson, 100. 

169. Error in Admission or Exclusion of Evidence 
The erroneous admission in a rape prosecution of an indigent defend- 

ant's confession made without benefit of counsel cannot be considered 
harmless. S. v. Wright, 38. 

Error in admission of inculpatory statement in kidnapping prosecution 
without evidence or findings that  defendant waived his right to counsel 
was harmless. S. v. Hudson, 100. 

The improper admission of evidence which violates a right guaranteed 
by the U. S. Constitution does not constitute prejudicial error unless 
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there is a reasonable possibility that  such evidence contributed to defend- 
ant's conviction. State v. Watson, 221. 

Trial court committed harmless error in admitting in-custody in- 
criminating statements niade by defendant where the State failed to 
produce and offer in evidence a t  the voir dire hearing a written waiver 
of counsel executed by defendant in compliance with the statute then in 
effect. S. v. Cox, 275. 

Error in admission of evidence over objection is cured when similar 
evidence is  thereafter admitted without objection. S. v. Lewis, 564. 

DEATH 

fj 1. Proof of Cause of Death 
In a homicide prosecution, defendant's right to confrontation and right 

to due process were violated by admission of statement in the victim's death 
certificate as to the cause of death; however, the admisison of such evi- 
dence was harmless error. S. v. Watson, 221. 

DIVORCE AND ALIMONY 

fj 14. Adultery 
Rules of Civil Procedure do not require the husband or wife in actions 

inter se to answer interrogatories relating to acts of adultery or conduct 
from which adultery might be implied during the subsistence of their 
marriage. Wright v. Wright, 159. 

In an action in which the issue of paternity and adultery are raised, 
evidence of the results of blood-grouping tests excluding the husband a s  
the father of a child born during the subsistence of the marriage are com- 
petent on both the issue of paternity and the issue of adultery. Zbid. 

DOMICILE 

fj 2. Domicile of Wife 
Male student whose domicile in this State was stipulated does not 

have standing to object to a regulation which automatically bestows domi- 
cile on a nonresident female student who marries a N. C. domiciliary. 
Glusman v. Trustees, 629. 

EMINENT DOMAIN 

fj 3. Public Purpose 
Question of what is a public purpose is  one for the court. City of 

Charlotte v. McNeely, 684. 
Advisability of widening a public street is  a matter within the 

discretion of a city's governing body. Zbid. 
Substitute condemnation is a valid exercise of the power of eminent 

domain only when the substitution of other property is the sole method by 
which the owner of land taken for a public use can be justly compensated, 
and the practical problems resulting from the taking can be solved. 
Highway Comm. v. Equipment Co., 459. 
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5 5. Amount of Compensation 
Rental value of condemned property is merely one of the factors to be 

considered in determining the property's fair market value. Ross v. Perry, 
570. 

5 7. Proceedings 
Defendants are estopped to contest a municipality's right to condemn 

their property for a water reservoir project where i t  was stipulated that  
the municipality "will acquire title" to the lands upon posting the amount 
set forth in the petition. City of Kings Mountain v. Cline, 269. 

§ 16. Persons Entitled to Compensation Paid 
When condemned land is subject to a leasehold estate, the tenant 

is entitled to share in the award since the value of his interest is a 
part  of the value of the fee. Ross v. Perry, 570. 

When the owner of a fee is required to divide a condemnation award 
with the owner of the leasehold, he is not receiving rent from the lease 
but is, in effect, paying a penalty for it. Ibid. 

EVIDENCE 

5 11. Transactions or Communications with Decedent 
Dead man's statute precluded respondent from testifying as  to alleged 

parol agreement that  respondent's brother, now deceased, would hold title 
to real property in trust for respondent and her mother. Schoolfield v. 
Collins, 604. 

5 12. Communications Between Husband and Wife 
Rules of Civil Procedure do not require the husband or wife in 

actions inter se to answer interrogatories relating to acts of adultery 
or conduct from which adultery might be implied during the subsistence 
of their marriage. Wright v. Wright, 159. 

5 31. Best and Secondary Evidence Relating to Writings 
Trial court properly excluded parol testimony as to the contents of 

an automobile title certificate where there was no evidence that  the title 
certificate had been lost or destroyed. Younts v. Insurance Co., 582. 

Best evidence rule did not prohibit a courtroom clerk from testifying 
as to his personal observations regarding the racial composition of the 
jury venires during a specific period simply because the clerk had made 
a record of his observations. S. v. Cornell, 20. 

Q 33. Hearsay Evidence 
Testimony as  to statements made by respondent's mother, now de- 

ceased, is  hearsay and therefore incompetent to show an alleged parol 
agreement that  respondent's brother would hold title to real property in 
trust for respondent and her mother. Schoolfield v. Collins, 604. 

Defendant's testimony that  "they told me i t  was not a good lease" 
was not incompetent as  hearsay. Investment Properties v. Allen, 174. 

Appraisal testimony based on information as to price of new trailers 
obtained by the appraisers from a trailer manufacturer and a trailer 
dealer was incompetent as hearsay. In  r e  Trucking Co., 375. 
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8 48. Competency and Qualification of Experts 
The fact that a witness is an officer or  employee, or  a consultant 

specially retained by a party to the litigation does not disqualify him as  a n  
expert. Utilities Comm. v. Telephone Co., 318. 

8 51. Blood Tests 
In  both criminal and civil actions in which the issue of paternity 

arises, the results of blood-grouping tests are admissible in evidence re- 
gardless of any presumptions with respect to paternity, and such evi- 
dence is competent to rebut any presumptions of paternity. Wright v. 
Wright, 159. 

Husband was entitled to an order for blood-grouping tests where the 
wife alleged and the husband denied that  he was the father of a child 
born to the wife during the subsistence of the marriage. Zbid. 

In an action in which the issue of paternity and adultery are raised, 
evidence of the results of blood-grouping tests excluding the husband as  
the father of a child born during the subsistence of the marriage are 
competent on both the issue of paternity and the issue of adultery. Zbid. 

FORGERY 
Q 2. Punishment 

A sentence of seven to ten years for uttering a forged check in 
the sum of $50 is not cruel and unusual punishment. S. v. Cradle, 198. 

FRAUD 
8 9. Pleadings 

Under Rule 9(b) ,  facts relied upon to establish fraud, duress or mis- 
take must be alleged. Mangum v. Surles, 91. 

Q 12. Sufficiency of Evidence and Nonsuit 
Plaintiff's evidence was sufficient to make out a prima facie case 

of fraud in the factum in inducing plaintiff to sign a deed by telling her 
i t  was a note. Mangum v. Surles, 91. 

FRAUDS, STATUTE O F  

8 11. Abandonment of Contracts Affecting Realty 
A lease required by the Statute of Frauds to be in writing may 

be rescinded orally by mutual assent of both parties. Investment Properties 
v. Allen, 174. 

Lessor has no claim for rental payments or value of improvements 
promised under a lease if the lease was orally rescinded prior to the date 
the first rental payment was due. Zbid. 

GRAND JURY 

Q 3. Challenge to Composition 
Testimony by jury commissioners that, in some instances, they could 

determine from the address shown on the raw jury list card that  the 
person named thereon lived in a predominantly black or predominantly 
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white neighborhood was insufficient to make out a prima facie case of 
racial discrimination. S. v. Cornell, 20. 

A jury list is not discriminatory or unlawful because i t  is drawn 
from the tax  list of the county, and the jury commission is not limited to 
the sources specifically designated by the statute. Ibid. 

Absence from the jury list of names of persons 18 to 21 years old did 
not constitute systematic exclusion of this age group from grand jury 
service. S. v. Cornell, 20; S. v. Harris, 542. 

GUARANTY 

Guaranty of payment and guaranty of collection defined. Credit Corp. 
v. Wilson, 140. 

Where a proniissory note contains provision requiring the debtor to 
pay attorneys' fees of the creditor in collection of the note, but guaranty 
of payment of the note contains no such provision, guarantors are not 
liable for attorneys' fees of the creditor in an action on the guaranty 
contract. Ibid. 

Language of a guaranty creating an unconditional promise, to pay 
actual cost of land preparation of property owned by defendant's sister 
in case a lease of the property to plaintiff was not continued after a 
specified date constituted a guaranty of payment. Investment Properties 
v. Norburn, 191. 

Trial court erred in giving the jury instructions to the effect that  
i t  was necessary for the guarantor to have received something of value 
himself in order to provide the legal consideration to support the contract 
of guaranty. Ibid. 

HIGHWAYS 
§ 5. Rights of Way 

Substitute condemnation is  a valid exercise of the power of eminent 
domain only when the substitution of other property is the sole method 
by which the owner of land taken for a public use can be justly 
compensated, and the practical problems resulting from the taking can 
be solved. Highway Comm. v. Equipment Co., 459. 

Where part  of a railroad right-of-way was condemned for a highway 
construction project, the Highway Commission had authority to  condemn, 
for the purpose of exchange with the railroad, land of defendant required 
for the necessary relocation and upgrading of the railroad's tracks 
thereon; however, the Highway Commission could not condemn such land 
in fee but can only condemn an easement to  be used for railroad purposes. 
Ibid. 

HOMICIDE 

5 14. Presumptions and Burden of Proof 
If and when the jury found that  defendant intentionally shot decedent 

and thereby inflicted wounds which proximately caused his death, i t  was 
incumbent on defendant to show to the satisfaction of the jury that  he 
acted in self-defense and that  he used no more force than was or reason- 
ably appeared necessary. State v. Bolin, 415. 
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8 15. Relevancy and Competency of Evidence 
In a prosecution for homicide committed during a robbery, defendant 

was not prejudiced by trial court's inquiry into the ownership of the 
store where the crime occurred and the merchandise therein. S. v. Jenerett, 
81. 

Portion of defendant's confession which related to his intent to com- 
mit other robberies prior to the commission of the crime for which he is 
charged, held competent to show defendant's intent on the occasion in 
question. Ibid. 

§ 20. Demonstrative Evidence; Photographs 
Trial court properly allowed homicide victim's sister to identify the 

victim by use of a duly authenticated photograph of the victim's body. 
S. v. Willis, 558. 

§ 21. Sufficiency of Evidence and Nonsuit 
State's evidence was sufficient to be submitted to the jury on the 

issue of defendant's guilt of murder committed in the perpetration of 
armed robbery. S. v. Peele, 253. 

In this prosecution for first degree murder, there was ample evidence 
aliunde defendant's confession to sustain a finding by the jury that  defend- 
an t  shot and killed deceased while robbing him. S. v. Jenerett, 81. 

State's evidence was sufficient for the jury in a prosecution for first 
degree murder. S. v. Bolin, 415. 

Written statement signed by defendant which was offered in evidence 
by the State was insufficient to establish as a matter of law that  defend- 
ant  shot decedent in self defense. Ibid. 

$ 31. Verdict and Sentence 
Pursuant to mandate of U. S. Supreme Court vacating sentences of 

death, cases are remanded to superior court for imposition of sentences of 
life imprisonment. S. v. Miller, 740; S. v. Hamby, 743; S. v. Westbrook, 
748; S. v. Doss, 751. 

Sentences of death could not constitutionally be imposed on defendant 
for crimes of first degree murder committed while the statute allowing a 
defendant to plead guilty to a capital crime and receive a life sentence 
was in effect. S.  v. Anderson, 261. 

Where defendant's conviction of felony-murder was based upon a 
jury finding that  the murder was committed in the perpetration of an 
armed robbery, no separate punishment can be imposed for the armed 
robbery. S. v. Peele, 253. 

INDICTMENT AND WARRANT 

§ 6. Issuance of Warrants 
Fourth Amendment standard of probable cause applies to an  arrest 

warrant  as  well as to a search warrant. S. v. Harvey, 1. 
Information received from a reliable informant is  sufficient to support 

a finding that  probable cause for arrest exists. Ibid. 
SBI agent's affidavit and testimony that  another SBI agent had pur- 

chased heroin from defendant furnished sufficient evidence to support 
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a magistrate's determination that  probable cause existed for defendant's 
arrest. Ibid. 

5 14. Procedure for Quashal 
In passing on a motion to quash a warrant charging a violation of a 

county zoning ordinance, trial court treats the allegations of the warrant 
as  true and considers only the record proper and the provisions of the 
ordinance. S. v.  Vestal,  517. 

5 17. Variance 
Defendants were not prejudiced by the fact that  the indictment 

charged them with kidnapping on 17 December 1970 and the evidence 
showed the crime occurred on 10 December 1970. S. v. Cox, 275. 

INNKEEPERS 

5 5. Liability to  Guests 
An innkeeper's duty to use due care for the safety of his guests is 

nondelegable and liability cannot be avoided on the ground that  its per- 
formance was entrusted to an independent contractor. Page v. Sloan, 697. 

INSURANCE 

5 80. Liability Insurance; Vehicle Financial Responsibility Act 
Under the Motor Vehicle Responsibility Act of 1953, the "owner" 

of a vehicle includes the holder of title and a mortgagor, conditional 
vendee or lessee having the right of purchase and the right of possession. 
Younts  v .  Insurance Co., 582. 

5 106. Actions Against Insurer by Injured Persons 
Trial court properly allowed defendant insurer's motion for directed 

verdict in an action by an injured third party to recover under an owner's 
automobile liability policy issued to the negligent driver, where the evi- 
dence showed that  on the date of the accident the registered title holder 
of the automobile was a person other than the insured. Younts  v. Znsur- 
ance Co., 582. 

INTEREST 

5 1. Items Drawing Interest 
In an action on a contract to recover actual cost of grading and im- 

provements performed on defendant's property, trial court properly 
allowed plaintiffs to recover interest upon the verdict in their favor from 
the date plaintiffs forwarded to defendant a statement itemizing the work 
performed and the actual cost thereof. Investment Properties v. Allen, 
174. 

JUDGMENTS 

fj 5. Interlocutory and Final Judgments 
A judge has the power to modify an interlocutory order made by an- 

other whenever there is a showing of changed conditions which warrant 
such action. Calloway v .  Motor Co., 496. 
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9 35. Conclusiveness of Judgments and Bar 
The doctrine of res judicata does not apply to decisions upon ordinary 

motions incidental to the progress of the trial with the same strictness as  
to a judgment. Calloway v. Motor Co., 496. 

5 36. Parties Concluded 
Defendant insurer is estopped to attack a judgment in a former action 

giving plaintiff the right to commence a new action on a fire policy after 
the expiration of the one-year limitation period where the insurer failed 
to seek appellate review of the judgment in the former action. Gower v. 
Insurance Co., 577. 

9 37. Matters Concluded 
A judge has the power to modify an interlocutory order made by an- 

other whenever there is a showing of changed conditions which warrant 
such action. Callowa?~ v. Motor Co., 496. 

JURY 
9 2. Special Venires 

Trial court acted within its discretion in allowing the State's motion 
that  the jury in a homicide prosecution be drawn from another county. 
S. v. Cutshall, 588. 

9 5. Selection 
Trial court in f irst  degree murder prosecution did not e r r  in ordering 

that  the jury be selected by the "whole panel" method. S. v. Cutshall, 588. 
Trial court did not e r r  in denial of defendant's challenge for cause 

directed to the district solicitor's father-in-law as a juror. S. v. Watson,  
221. 

5 6. Examination 
Questions which the solicitor asked prospective jurors were proper 

for the purpose of determining whether such jurors could, under any cir- 
cumstances, vote for a verdict which would require imposition of the death 
penalty. S. v. Willis,  558. 

The trial court has discretion to decide whether the actual question- 
ing of jurors will be conducted by the court or by counsel for the State 
and counsel for defendant. S. v. Dawson, 645. 

9 7. Challenges 
Defendant's evidence that the black adult population of the county 

amounted to 20% of the total county population and that beginning Jan- 
uary 1970 approximately 10% of the petit jurors were Negroes, held in- 
sufficient to make out a prima facie case of racial discrimination; even 
if a prima facie case was shown, defendant's evidence relieved the State 
of the burden of going forward. S. v. Cornell, 20. 

Testimony by jury commissioners that, in some instances, they could 
determine from the address shown on the raw jury list card tha t  the 
person named thereon lived in a predominantly black or predominantly 
white neighborhood was insufficient to make out a prima facie case of 
racial discrimination. Ibid. 
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Absence from the jury list of names of persons between the ages of 
18 and 21 during a specified period did not constitute systematic ex- 
clusion of this age group from jury service. Zbid. 

A jury list is not discriminatory or unlawful because i t  is drawn from 
the tax list of the county, and the jury commission is not limited to the 
sources specifically desigmated by the statute. Zbid. 

Trial court properly allowed State's challenges for cause to prospec- 
tive jurors who stated that  under no circumstances would they return a 
verdict which would result in the death penalty. S. v. Watson, 221; S. v. 
Anderson, 261. 

KIDNAPPING 

§ 1. Elements of Offense and Prosecutions 
Evidence was sufficient to permit the jury to find defendant was 

guilty of kidnapping by practicing both fraud and intimidation to over- 
come the will of the victim and to secure control of her person. S. v. Hud- 
son, 100. 

Trial court in kidnapping prosecution did not err  in charging jury 
on crimes of robbery and conspiracy where the crimes were part  of a 
single transaction. S. v. Cox, 275. 

LANDLORD AND TENANT 

5 19. Rent and Actions Therefor 
Lessor has no claim for rental payments or value of improvements 

promised under a lease if the lease was orally rescinded prior to the date 
the first rental payment was due. Investment Properties v. Allen, 174. 

LARCENY 

5 5. Presumptions 
When i t  is established that  a store or warehouse has been broken 

into and merchandise has been stolen therefrom, possession of the stolen 
articles by defendant soon after the theft raises a presumption that  he is  
guilty both of breaking and entering and larceny. S. v. Lewis, 564. 

§ 7. Sufficiency of Evidence and Nonsuit 
Evidence was sufficient to support a finding that  stolen tools found 

in a tool box in the trunk of a car in which defendant was sitting in the 
back seat were in the possession of defendant. S. v. Lewis, 564. 

MASTER AND SERVANT 

§ 59. Wilful Act of Third Person-Compensable Injuries 
The deaths of two employees of a grocery store who were unexpectedly 

shot and killed by the femme decedent's husband while they were perform- 
ing their duties on the premises of their employer did not result from 
injuries arising out of their employment. Robbins v. Nicholson, 234. 

§ 79. Persons Entitled to Payment of Workmen's Compensation 
Brothers and sisters of a deceased employee who are 18 years of age 
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or over and married are "next of kin" as defined in G.S. 97-40. Stevenson 
v. Durham, 300. 

§ 108. Right to Unemployment Compensation 
Claimant for unemployment compensation had burden of showing she 

was available for work by the greater weight of the evidence, not by clear, 
cogent and convincing evidence. In  re  Thomas, 598. 

MORTGAGES AND DEEDS OF TRUST 

9 10. Conditions and Covenants 
A default on which the foreclosure of a first lien deed of trust was 

based did not constitute "waste" within the meaning of the provisions of 
the second lien deed of trust. In  re Castillian Apts., 709. 

§ 33. Foreclosure Sale-Disposition of Surplus 
The holder of a note secured by a second lien deed of trust is  not en- 

titled to have the surplus arising from a foreclosure sale under the first 
lien deed of trust  immediately disbursed to i t  for payment on the principal 
of the note. I n  re Castillian Apts., 709. 

MUNICIPAL CORPORATIONS 

§ 2. Territorial Extent and Annexation 
An appeal from order of superior court affirming an annexation ordi- 

nance was properly taken to the Court of Appeals. Adarns-Millis Corp. v. 
Kernersville, 147. 

The General Assembly did not delegate legislative authority in viola- 
tion of the N. C. Constitution by a special act delegating to the commis- 
sioners of Princeville the discretionary right to  decide whether to  enlarge 
the corporate limits as  specified in the act, and i t  was not necessary for 
the comn~issioners to follow procedures set forth in G.S. Ch. 160, Art. 36 
to annex such area. Plemmer v. Matthewson, 722. 

§ 30. Zoning Ordinances and Building Permits 
A comprehensive zoning ordinance may be amended or changed when 

the action is authorized by the enabling statute and does not contravene 
constitutional limitations. Allgood v. Town of Tarboro, 430. 

There is no merit in plaintiffs' contention that  a proposed shopping 
center is "regional" in character and therefore beyond the scope and size 
permitted by a Community Shopping District zoning classification. Ibid. 

The rezoning of a 25-acre tract from a Residential District to a Com- 
munity Shopping District was not arbitrary and capricious and did not 
constitute spot zoning. Ibid. 

A building permit was not rendered invalid by the fact the application 
listed the estimated cost of the building a t  $475,000 and the contractor 
named in the application had a license which limited i t  to construction not 
exceeding $300,000. Ibid. 

Provision of a county zoning ordinance requiring that  a fence be 
erected not less than 50 feet from the edge of any public road adjoining 
an automobile wrecking yard is  unconstitutionally vague in failing to  
define the term "edge of any public road" and has no reasonable relation 
to  the public health, morals or safety. S. v. Vestal, 517. 
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Building permit creates no vested right to build contrary to the pro- 
visions of a subsequently enacted zoning ordinance unless the permittee 
has made substantial expenditures in good faith reliance on the permit. 
Keiger v. Board of Adjustment, 715. 

Applicant's right to a special use permit for construction of a mobile 
home park, denied under an existing valid zoning ordinance which entitled 
him to it, may not be defeated by a purported amendment to the zoning 
ordinance which is void ab initio. Zbid. 

When, a t  the time a builder obtains a permit, he has knowledge of a 
pending ordinance which would make the authorized construction a non- 
conforming use and thereafter hurriedly makes expenditures in an attempt 
to acquire a vested right before the law can be changed, he does not act 
in good faith and acquires no rights under the permit. Zbid. 

NARCOTICS 

§ 4. Sufficiency of Evidence and Nonsuit 
One has possession of narcotics when he has both the power and 

intent to control its disposition or use. S. v. Harvey, 1 ;  S. v. Spencer, 121. 
Fact that  narcotics are found on premises under control of the accused 

raises an inference of knowledge and possession. S. v. Harvey, 1. 
Evidence was sufficient to support jury finding that  marijuana was 

in defendant's possession where i t  placed defendant within three or four 
feet of marijuana lying on top of a freezer and in a jar in defendant's resi- 
dence. Zbid. 

State's evidence was sufficient to support jury finding that  defendant 
constructively possessed 82.2 grams of marijuana found in a pig shed 
located approximately 20 yards from defendant's residence, and that  de- 
fendant was guilty of feloniously growing marijuana in a cornfield some 
75 yards behind his residence. S. v. Spencer, 121. 

8 4.5 Instructions 
Trial court did not err  in failing to submit misdemeanor of possession 

of less than one gram of marijuana. S. v. Harvey, 1. 

§ 5. Verdict and Punishment 
Defendant was not entitled to the beneflit of the statute reducing 

niaximum punishment for first offense of possession of any quantity of 
marijuana to six months which was passed while defendant's appeal from 
conviction for possession of more than one gram of marijuana was pend- 
ing. S. v. Harvey, 1 ;  S. v. McZntyre, 304. 

A defendant whose appeal from conviction of felonious possession 
of a hypodermic needle and syringe for the purpose of administering 
habit-forming drugs is pending on the effective date of the Controlled 
Substances Act, which reduced that  offense to the grade of general mis- 
demeanor, is not entitled to have his sentence reduced to a maximum of 
two years. S. v. Kelly, 618. 

NEGLIGENCE 
?j 52. Invitee 

A nurse employed by the family of a nursing home patient was an 
invitee while in the nursing home. Long v. Methodist Home, 137. 
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5 53. Duties and Liabilities to Invitees 
An innkeeper's duty to use due care for the safety of his guests is  

nondelegable and liability cannot be avoided on the ground that  its per- 
formance was entrusted to an independent contractor. Page v. Sloan, 697. 

3 57. Sufficiency of Evidence in Actions by Invitees 
Evidence was insufficient to be submitted to jury on issue of negli- 

gence of nursing home operator in action to recover for personal injuries 
sustained by a private duty nurse in fall in defendant's nursing home. 
Long v. Methodist Home, 173. 

PARENT AND CHILD 

5 1. Relationship Generally 
In both criminal and civil actions in which the issue of paternity 

arises, the results of blood-grouping tests are admissible in evidence re- 
gardless of any presumptions with respect to paternity, and such evidence 
is  competent to rebut any presumptions of paternity. Wright v. Wright, 
159. 

Husband was entitled to an order for blood-grouping tests where the 
wife alleged and the husband denied that  he was the father of a child 
born to the wife during the subsistence of the marriage. Ibid. 

In an action in which the issues of paternity and adultery are raised, 
evidence of the results of blood-grouping tests excluding the husband a s  
the father of a child born during the subsistence of the marriage are 
competent on both the issue of paternity and the issue of adultery. Ibid. 
5 2. Liability of One for Injury or Death of Other 

The administrator of an unemancipated minor child may not bring 
an action against the administrator of its father for damages for the 
wrongful death of such child caused by the ordinary negligence of the 
deceased father in the operation of an automobile. Skinner v. Whitley, 476. 

PLEADINGS 

5 32. Amendment of Pleadings 
When one superior court judge, in the exercise of his discretion, has 

made an  order denying a motion to amend, absent changed conditions, 
another superior court judge may not thereafter allow the motion. Callo- 
way v. Motor Co., 496. 

5 33. Scope of Amendment 
In an action to recover for injuiries received when a golf cart plain- 

tiff had rented from defendants overturned, the pleadings were amended 
by implied consent to conform to the evidence and broaden the issue of 
negligence so the jury could consider whether defendants breached a duty 
by furnishing a golf cart which they knew had no brakes on it when 
going backwards. Roberts v. Memorial Park, 48. 

PRINCIPAL AND AGENT 
§ 4. Proof of Agency 

Plaintiffs' evidence was sufficient for the jury on the question of 
whether defendant's brother was the agent of defendant in terminating 
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a lease of land owned by defendant and in promising to pay for grading 
work performed on the land if the lease were terminated before a certain 
date. Investment Properties v. Allen, 174. 

Evidence that defendant's brother negotiated a lease of defendant's 
land to another corporation after the lease to plaintiff was allegedly 
rescinded was competent on the question of the agency of defendant's 
brother in transactions concerning the lease with plaintiff. Ibid. 

RAILROADS 

5 3. Extent of Easement for Right of Way 
A railway can acquire by purchase a fee in the land over which its 

tracks run;  however, when a railway obtains such land in condemnation 
proceedings i t  procures merely an easement for railroad purposes which 
does not deprive the owner of the fee or its use for purposes not incon- 
sistent with its use for railroad purposes. Highway Comm. v. Equipment 
Co., 461. 

RAPE 

3 5. Sufficiency of Evidence and Nonsuit 
State's evidence was sufficient to support conviction of two defend- 

ants for crime of rape as principals in the second degree. S. v. Dawson, 
645. 

8 6. Submission of Lesser Degrees 
Trial court in rape prosecution did not e r r  in failing to submit lesser 

included offenses to the jury. S. v. Dawson, 645. 

5 7. Verdict and Judgment 
Pursuant to mandate of U. S. Supreme Court vacating sentence of 

death, case is remanded to superior court for imposition of sentence of 
life imprisonment. S. v. Chance, 746. 

ROBBERY 

4. Sufficiency of Evidence and Nonsuit 
Evidence that  defendant had a pistol within easy reach while he took 

prosecutrix' money held sufficient for the jury in a prosecution for robbery 
with a firearm. S. v. Harris, 542. 

RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 

§ 9. Pleading Special Matters 
Under Rule 9(b),  facts relied upon to establish fraud, duress or mis- 

take must be alleged. Mangum v. Surles, 91. 

8 15. Amended Pleadings 
Under Rule 15(b) the pleadings are deemed amended to conform to  

the evidence introduced outside the scope of the pleadings when the evi- 
dence is not objected to on the ground that  i t  is  not within the issues 
raised by the pleadings. Mangum v. Surles, 91; Roberts v. Memorial 
Park, 48. 
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Amendment by implied consent may change the legal theory of the 
cause of action so long as the opposing party has not been prejudiced in 
presenting his case; i.e., where he had a fa i r  opportunity to defend his 
case. Roberts v. Memorial Park ,  48. 

5 33. Interrogatories 
Rules of Civil Procedure do not require the husband or wife in actions 

inter se to answer interrogatories relating to acts of adultery or conduct 
from which adultery might be implied during the subsistence of their 
marriage. W r i g h t  v. Wrigh t ,  159. 

5 38. Jury Trial of Right 
Where a proceeding was commenced prior to the effective date of the 

new Rules of Civil Procedure, but the last pleading was filed after the 
new Rules had become effective, both parties were precluded from de- 
manding a jury trial ten days after the last pleading was filed. Schoolfield 
v. Collins, 604. 

5 41. Dismissal of Actions 
Defendant insurer is estopped to attack a judgment in a former 

action giving plaintiff the right to commence a new action on a fire policy 
after  the expiration of the one-year limitation period where the insurer 
failed to seek appellate review of the judgment in the former action. Gower 
v. Insurance Go., 577. 

5 50. Directed Verdict and Judgment NOV 
The court may direct a verdict against the party having the burden 

of proof when there is no evidence in his favor. Roberts v .  Memorial 
Park,  48. 

Denial of a motion for a directed verdict is not a bar to a motion for 
judgment n.0.v. Znvestnzent Properties v. Allen, 174. 

1 56. Summary Judgment 
A properly verified pleading which meets all requirements for affi- 

davits may be considered as  an affidavit in support of or  in opposition to 
a motion for summary judgment. Schoolfield v. Collins, 604. 

On motion for summary judgment, moving party has burden of 
showing that  there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that  
he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Page v. Sloan, 697. 

A verified complaint may be treated as  an affidavit to defeat motion 
for summary judgment when complaint is made on personal knowledge, 
sets forth facts as would be admissible in evidence and shows affirma- 
tively that  affiant is  competent to testify as  to  matters stated therein. 
Zbid. 

Summary judgment is appropriate only in exceptional negligence 
cases. Zbid. 

1 84. Forms 
Rule 84 requires specific allegations of acts of negligence. Roberts v. 

Memorial Park,  48. 



804 ANALYTICAL INDEX [281 

SALES 

8 17. Sufficiency of Evidence in Action for Breach of Warranty 

The distributor of a pre-emergent herbicide was liable for damages 
to plaintiff's squash crop caused by use of the herbicide, but the manu- 
facturer of the herbicide was not liable for such damages. Wilson v. Chemi- 
cal Co., 506. 

SEARCHES AND SEIZURES 

5 1. Search Without Warrant 
Police officer did not need a search warrant to seize marijuana seed 

lying in plain view on a freezer top or marijuana which was inside a 
plastic jar  which he picked up to use as a container for the seized mari- 
juana seed. S. v. Harvey, 1. 

If there is probable cause to search an autonlobile the officer may 
either seize and hold the vehicle before presenting the probable cause 
issue to a magistrate, or he may carry out an immediate search without a 
warrant. State v. Ratliff, 397. 

Right to search automobile without warrant does not depend on the 
right to arrest but depends on the existence of probable cause to make 
the search. Zbid. 

An officer had probable cause to believe that defendant's car con- 
tained contraband of some sort, and a search of the car without a warrant 
was lawful. Zbid. 

Officers' entry and seizure of "plain view" items from home of a 
suspected felon when there are reasonable grounds to believe the felon 
is  concealed therein are not illegal after admittance has been demanded 
and there has been no response. S. v. Hoffman, 727. 

5 3. Requisites and VaIidity of Search Warrant 
Officer's affidavit for a search warrant based on confidential infornia- 

tion complied with statutory and constitutional requirements. S. v. Spen- 
cer, 121. 

Constitutional guaranty against unreasonable search and seizure did 
not apply to a cornfield in which marijuana was growing approximately 
75 yards from defendant's residence. Zbid. 

TAXATION 

§ 9.5. Taxes on Imports and Exports 
When goods are needed, imported and irrevocably committed to supply 

and are actually being used to supply the daily requirements of a manu- 
facturer, they are being used for "current operational needs" so as to lose 
their character as  imports and their immunity from state taxation. I n  re  
Publishing Co., 210. 

A four-to-six week supply of newsprint ordinarily kept on hand by a 
newspaper publishing company, and on hand on the taxing date, includ- 
ing iniported newsprint, constituted the "current operational needs" of the 
publishing company and was subject to ad valorem taxation. Zbid. 
§ 24. Situs of Property 

The tax situs of vehicles used by a trucking company in interstate 
commerce was the township in which the company has its principal office 
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in the State, not the township in which a lot owned by the company and 
designated by i t  as a storage place for such vehicles is located. I n  re  
T m c k i n g  Co., 242. 

Trucking company was taxable for the year 1970 in the county 
wherein its principal office was located upon the full value of its tractors 
and trailers operated in interstate commerce in and out of this State. I n  
re  Trucking Co., 375. 

The State Board of Assessment erred in allocating the value of all of 
a trucking company's tractors between N. C. and other states, and in 
using as  the allocation factor the ratio of miles traveled in N. C. to the 
total miles traveled by all of the company's interstate vehicles. Ibid. 

§ 25. Ad Valorem Taxes 
Where appeal from an annexation ordinance was pending in the Court 

of Appeals on the effective date of annexation specified in the ordinance, 
15 May 1969, and the decision of the Court of Appeals was certified in 
September 1969, property within the area being annexed was not subject 
to niunicipal ad valorem taxes for the fiscal year beginning 1 July 1969. 
Adarns-Millis Corp. v. Kernersville, 147. 

A four-to-six week supply of newsprint ordinarily kept on hand by 
a newspaper publishing company, and on hand on the taxing date, includ- 
ing imported newsprint, constituted the "current operational needs" of the 
publishing company and was subject to ad valorem taxation. I n  re  Pub- 
lishing Co., 210. 

Taxpayer's gross understatement of the value of its inventories for 
each of the years 1963-68 constituted a failure to list a portion of its in- 
ventories for those years, and the board of county conlmissioners was 
authorized to assess taxes with penalties for each of those years on the 
difference between the amounts reported on the tax  forms as inventory 
and the value of the inventory shown by the taxpayer's records. I n  re  T i re  
Service, 293. 

A County Board of Equalization and Review had no authority to 
change a tax listing from one township to another after the time limita- 
tion set by statute for conlpletion of its duties had expired. I n  re  Trucking 
Go., 242. 

The board of county comnlissioners had no authority to change a tax  
listing from one township to another as "discovered property." Ibid. 

Appraisal testimony based on information as to price of new trailers 
obtained by the appraisers from a trailer manufacturer and a trailer 
dealer was incompetent as hearsay. I n  re Trucking Go., 375. 

The State Board of Assessment erred in accepting a trucking com- 
pany's book value of its tractors and trailers as the "true value in money" 
of such properties. Ibid. 

Truck Blue Book may be used in determining valuation of trucks for 
ad valorem taxation. Ibid. 

The State Board of Assessnlent did not e r r  in increasing the valua- 
tion of tobacco allotments in Nash County from 40 cents per pound to 
80 cents per pound and the valuation of peanut allotments from $150 per 
acre to $300 per acre. I n  re  King,  533. 

Superior Court properly denied taxpayer's motion for an  allowance 
of their attorneys' fees as part of the costs of their successful action be- 
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fore the State Board of Assessment to increase ad valorem tax valuation 
of tobacco and peanut allotnients. Zbid. 

5 28. Individual Income Tax 
A resident partner of a multistate partnership is required to include 

in his gross income for N. C. income tax purposes his distributive share 
of the net income of the partnership earned in other states. I n  re Dickin- 
son, 552. 

TELEPHONE AND TELEGRAPH COMPANIES 

1. Control and Regulation 
Rules for ascertaining fair  value of public utility's property and 

fixing a fair  rate of return on such fair  value. Utilities Comm. v. Tele- 

§ 15. Objections 
An objection 

564. 

5 4. Charitabile 

TRIAL 

to  Evidence 
to evidence not taken in 

TRUSTS 

Trust; Cy Pres Doctrine 

apt time is waived. S .  v. Lewis, 

Application of cy pres doctrine to charitable trusts. Y W C A  v. Mor- 
gan, 485. 

An absolute gift was made, and no trust was created, by a bequest 
of personal property to "the Young Women's Christian Association of 
Asheville, North Carolina, to be used by i t  exclusively for the upkeep and 
maintenance of Moorhead House." Zbid. 

Property conveyed to a trustee for a charitable purpose is limited to 
the uses set forth in the terms of the trust, and property conveyed to a 
charitable corporation, free of a trust, is limited to the purposes set forth 
in the corporation's charter. Zbid. 

8 13. Creation of Resulting Trusts 
Respondent's assertions were insufficient to establish a resulting trust 

in favor of respondent's mother in property to which respondent's brother 
held legal title. Schoolfield v. Collins, 604. 

USURY 

§ 1. Contracts and Transactions Usurious 
Usury invalidated only those provisions of the note providing for the 

payment of interest. In  re  Castillian Apts., 709. 

UTILITIES COMMISSION 

8 6. Hearings and Orders; Rates 
Rules for ascertaining fair  value of public utility's property and 

fixing a fair  rate of return on such fa i r  value. Utilities Comm. v. Tele- 
phone Co., 318. 
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VENUE 

3 2. Residence of Parties 
A national bank established in this State is subject to suit in a State 

court in a county in which i t  maintains a branch bank in an action arising 
out of its banking activities in such branch. Security Mills v. Trust CO., 525. 

WILLS 

5 2. Contracts to Devise or Bequeath 
A written contract executed by respondent, her mother and brother, 

whereby real property in which the three parties had an interest was to 
go to respondent upon prior death of her mother and brother was a con- 
tract to devise, and, upon the prior death of respondent's brother without 
devising his interest in the property to respondent, the court will fasten 
a trust on such interest in favor of respondent. Schoolfield v. Collins, 604. 

$j 34. Fees, Life Estates, and Remainders 
An absolute gift was made, and no trust was created, by a bequest of 

personal property to "the Young Women's Christian Association of Ashe- 
ville, North Carolina, to be used by i t  exclusively for the upkeep and 
maintenance of Moorhead House." YWCA v. Morgan, 485. 

The statutory presumption that a devise is in fee applies to the dis- 
position by will of both real and personal property. Ibid. 

WITNESSES 

5 1. Competency of Witness 
Trial court in a homicide prosecution properly allowed the State to 

present a witness whose name was not on a list of State's witnesses fur- 
nished to defendant's counsel prior to selection of the jury. S. v. Ander- 
son, 261. 
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ADULTERY 

Competency of blood-grouping tests, 
W r i g h t  v. W r i g h t ,  159. 

Interrogatories in divorce action, 
W r i g h t  v. W r i g h t ,  159. 

AD VALOREM TAXES 

Failure to list portion of inventories, 
I n  r e  T i r e  Service,  293. 

Imported newsprint, I n  r e  Publish- 
i ng  Co., 210. 

Property within annexed area pend- 
ing appeal of annexation, Adams-  
Millis Corp. v. Kernersvil le,  147. 

Tax situs of vehicles owned by inter- 
state motor carrier, I n  r e  Truck -  
i ng  Go., 242; I n  r e  Truck ing  Co., 
375. 

Tobacco and peanut allotments, I n  
r e  K ing ,  533. 

Truck Blue Book, use of in appraisal 
of trucking company's vehicles, 
I n  r e  Truck ing  Co., 375. 

AFFIDAVITS 

Pleadings considered as, Schoolfield 
v. Collins, 604. 

Search warrant for narcotics, S. v. 
Spencer,  121. 

AGENCY 

Of defendant's brother in leasing 
property, Inves tmen t  Properties v. 
Allen,  174. 

ALANAP 

Damage to squash crop by use of, 
Wil son  v. Chemical Co., 506. 

AMENDMENT OF PLEADINGS 

Amendment by implied consent to 
conform to evidence, Roberts  v. 
Memorial Park ,  48. 

Denial of motion to amend, au- 
thority of another judge to allow 

AMENDMENT OF PLEADINGS - 
Continued 

motion upon changed conditions, 
Calloway v. Motor  Co., 496. 

ANNEXATION 

Taxation of annexed property pend- 
ing appeal, A d a m - M i l l i s  Corp. v. 
Kernersvil le,  147. 

Town of Princeville, Plernmer v. 
Matthewson,  722. 

ARMED ROBBERY 

Weapon within reach, S .  v .  Harr is ,  
542. 

ARRAIGNMENT 

Defendant's testimony at, considera- 
tion on voluntariness of nolo con- 
tendere plea, S .  v .  Ford,  62. 

ARREST WARRANT 

Arrest under warrant - 
demand for and denial of entry, 

S. v. Harvey ,  1. 
erroneous identification of de- 

fendant, S. v. Harvey ,  1. 
Information from reliable informant, 

S .  v .  Harvey ,  1. 

ATTORNEYS' FEES 

Action on guaranty contract, Credit  
Corp. v. Wilson,  140. 

Costs in action to revalue tobacco 
and peanut allotments, I n  r e  King,  
533. 

Recovery in eminent domain pro- 
ceeding, C i t y  of Charlot te  v. Mc- 
Neely ,  684. 

4UTOMOBILE DEALER 

4mendment of pleadings in action 
against after denial of motion by 
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AUTOMOBILE DEALER- 
Continued 

another judge, Calloway v. Motor 
Co., 496. 

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY 
INSURANCE 

Action by injured third party, fail- 
ure to prove insured owned auto- 
mobile, Younts v. Insurance CO., 
582. 

AUTOMOBILE TITLE 
CERTIFICATE 

Best evidence rule, Younts V. Znsur- 
ance Co., 582. 

AUTOMOBILE WRECKING YARD 

Fencing requirement, unconstitution- 
ality of, S. v. Vestal, 517. 

BAILMENT 
Bailor of vehicle for hire, warning 

to bailee, Roberts v. Memorial 
Park, 48. 

BANKS AND BANKING 
Application for two branches, neces- 

sity for separate findings and 
conclusions, Banking Comm. v. 
Bank, 108. 

Solvency requirement for establish- 
ment of branch bank, Banking 
Comnz. v. Bank, 108. 

Venue of action against national 
bank, Security Mills v. Trust CO., 
525. 

BEST EVIDENCE RULE 
Automobile title certificate, Younts 

v. Insurance Co., 582. 
Testimony by courtroom clerk as to 

racial composition of juries, S. v. 
Cornell, 20. 

BLOOD-GROUPING TESTS 

Competency on issues of paternity 
and adultery, Wright v. Wright, 
159. 

BLUE BOOK 

Use of Truck Blue Book in ap- 
praisal of trucking company's 
vehicles, I n  re Trucking Co., 375. 

BOARDINGHOUSE 

Gift to YWCA for upkeep of, 
YWCA v. Morgan, 485. 

BROKERS 

Commissions from rental of con- 
demned hotel, Ross v. Perry, 570. 

BUILDING PERMIT 

Good faith expenditure in reliance 
upon, Keiger v. Board of Adjust- 
ment, 715. 

Validity where cost of building ex- 
ceeded amount allowed by build- 
er's license, Allgood v. Town of 
Tarboro, 430. 

BULLET 

Caliber, absence of finding that  wit- 
ness was ballistics expert, S. v. 
Jenerett, 81. 

BURGLARY 

Offense in daytime not second de- 
gree burglary, S. w. Cox, 131. 

CALENDAR OF TRIAL 

Acquaintance of defendant with 
other persons listed on, S. v. Daye, 
592. 
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CAPITAL PUNISHMENT 
Jurors opposed to death penalty, 

challenge for cause, S. v. Watson, 
221; S. v. Anderson, 261. 

Solicitor's questions as to death pen- 
alty views of prospective jurors, 
S. v. Willis, 558. 

Unconstitutionality under former 
statute, S. v. Anderson, 261. 

Waiver of counsel in capital case, 
prohibition by former statute, S. 
v. Wright, 38; S. v. Haddock, 675. 

CASTS 
Competency of tire tracks, S. V. 

Willis, 558. 

COMMISSIONS 

Realtor's rental of hotel which was 
condemned, Ross v. Perry, 570. 

CONDEMNATION 
See Eminent Domain this Index. 

CONFESSIONS 

Arrest for misdemeanor, statement 
relating to capital felony made 
without counsel, S. v. Ratliff, 397. 

Indigency of defendant - 
definition of indigency in capi- 

tal case, S. v. Hoffman, 727. 
erroneous determination of non- 

indigency, S. v. Wright, 38. 
Portion showing intent to commit 

other crimes, S. v. Jenerett, 81. 
Prejudicial error in erroneous ad- 

mission of, S. v. Wright, 38. 
Voluntary statement made by de- 

fendant, S. v. Haddock, 675. 
Waiver of counsel - 

absence of specific waiver, S. V. 
Hudson, 100; S. v. Turner, 
118; S. v. Thacker, 447. 

absence of written waiver, 

harmless error, S. v. Hudson, 
100; S. v. Cox, 275. 

statute prohibiting waiver in 
capital case, S. v. Wright, 38; 
S. v. Haddock, 675. 

CONFIDENTIAL 
COMMUNICATIONS 

Interrogatories as to  acts of sex- 
ual intercourse during marriage, 
Wright v. Wright, 159. 

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT 
Affidavit for search warrant for 

narcotics, S. v. Spencer, 121. 
Probable cause for arrest warrant, 

S. v. Harvey, 1. 

CONFRONTATION 
Right of - 

denial of continuance to get 
information from defendant's 
home, S. v. Cradle, 198. 

hearsay statement in homicide 
victim's death certificate, S. 
v. Watson, 221. 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW 
Right of indigent to waive counsel, 

S. v. Mems, 658; S. v. Haddock, 
675. 

CONTINUANCE 
Denial of - 

time to get information from 
defendant's home, S. v. Cra- 
dle, 198. 

witnesses' names omitted from 
list furnished defendant, S. v. 
Hoffman, 727. 

CONTRACT TO DEVISE 
Real property in which three parties 

had an interest, Schoolfield v. 
Collins, 604. 
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COSTS 

Attorneys' fees in action to revalue 
tobacco and peanut allotments, 
I n  re  King, 533. 

Recoverable in eminent domain pro- 
ceeding, City of Charlotte v. Mc- 
Neely, 684. 

CORNFIELD 

Growing marijuana in, S. v. Spen- 
cer, 121. 

COUNSEL, RIGHT TO 

Arrest for misdemeanor, statement 
relating to capital felony, S. v. 
Ratliff, 397. 

Erroneous determination of non- 
indigency in capital case, S. w. 
Wright, 38; S. w. Hoffman, 727. 

Failure to appoint counsel for pre- 
liminary hearing, harmless error, 
S. w. Cradle, 198. 

Identification by officer a t  arrest 
scene, S. v. Cox, 275. 

Pretrial identification in hospital 
emergency room, S. w. Thacker, 
447. 

Waiver of right to counsel - 
absence of specific waiver, S. V. 

Hudson, 100; S. w. Turner, 
118; S. w. Thacker, 447. 

absence of written waiver in 
kidnapping case, harmless er- 
ror, S. w. Hudson, 100; S. v. 
Cox, 275. 

determination of indigency, S. 
v. Wright, 38; S. v. Hoffman, 
727. 

lineup, S. w. Mems, 658. 
statute prohibiting waiver in 

capital case, S. w. Wright, 38; 
S. v. Haddock, 675. 

volunteered in-custody state- 
ment, S. v. Haddock, 675. 

When right attaches, S. w. Mems, 
658. 

COUNTY BOARD OF EQUALIZA- 
TION AND REVIEW 

Authority to change tax  listing from 
one township to another, I n  re  
Trucking Co., 242. 

COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

Authority to change tax  listing from 
one township to another, In  re  
Trucking Co., 242. 

CRIMINAL LAW 

Right of defendant to names of 
State's witnesses, S. w. Hoffman, 
727. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION OF 
DEFENDANT 

Acquaintance with other persons 
charged with narcotics violations, 
S. v. Daye, 592. 

Indictments for other crimes, S. V. 

Harris, 542; S. v. Daye, 592. 

CURRENT OPERATIONAL 
NEEDS 

Taxes on imported newsprint, In  re  
Publishing Co., 210. 

CY PRES DOCTRINE 

Modification of charitable trust, 
YWCA w. Morgan, 485. 

DEAD MAN'S STATUTE 

Testimony as to parol trust, School- 
field w. Collins, 604. 

DEATH CERTIFICATE 

Hearsay statement as  to cause of 
death, harmless error, S. w. Wat- 
son, 221. 
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DEATH PENALTY 

Jurors  opposed to death penalty, 
challenge for  cause, S. v. Watson, 
221; S. v. Anderson, 261. 

Solicitor's questions a s  to  death pen- 
alty views of prospective jurors, 
S. v. Willis, 558. 

Unconstitutionality under former 
statute, S. v. Anderson, 261. 

Waiver of counsel in  capital case, 
prohibition by former statute, S. 
v. Wright, 38; S. v. Haddock, 675. 

DEEDS 

Action to set aside based on fraud, 
amendment of pleadings by im- 
plied consent, Mangum v. Surles, 
91. 

DISCOVERED PROPERTY 

Authority of county comn~issioners 
to change t a x  listing from one 
township to  another, I n  r e  Truck- 
ing Co., 242. 

DISCOVERY 

Right of defendant to  names of 
State's witnesses, S. v. Hoffman, 
727. 

DISCRIMINATION 

Absence from jury list- 
Negroes, S. v. Cornell, 20. 
persons 18 to 21 years of age, 

S. v. Cornell, 20; S. v. Harris,  
542. 

DISRUPTION O F  TRIAL 

Spectators ejected from courtroom 
for, S. v. Dawson, 645. 

DIVORCE AND ALIMONY 

Competency of blood-grouping tests 
on issues of paternity and adul- 
tery, Wright v. Wright, 159. 

DOUBLE JEOPARDY 

See Former Jeopardy this Index. 

EMINENT DOMAIN 

Condemnation of rental property, 
broker's right t o  commissions, 
Ross v. Perry,  570. 

Costs recoverable i n  condemnation 
proceedings, City of Charlotte V. 
McNeely, 684. 

Selection of route f o r  street, City of 
Charlotte v. McNeely, 684. 

Substitute condemnation, property 
fo r  railroad right-of-way, High- 
way Comm. v. Equipment Co., 459. 

Zoning ordinance requirement of 
fencing of automobile junk yard, 
taking without compensation, S. V. 
Vestal, 517. 

ENGINEERING EXPENSES 

Not recoverable i n  eminent domain 
proceeding, City of Charlotte V. 
McNeely, 684. 

ESTOPPEL 

Failure t o  appeal judgment grant- 
ing right to  conlmence new action, 
Gower v. Insurance CO., 577. 

EXPERT WITNESS F E E S  

When recoverable, City of Charlotte 
v. McNeely, 684. 

FAIR RATE O F  RETURN 

Public utility rates, Utilities Comm. 
v. Telephone Co., 318. 

FATHER-IN-LAW 

District solicitor's father-in-law on 
jury, S. v. Watson, 221. 
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FLIGHT 
Evidence of guilt of homicide, S. v. 

Bolin, 415. 

FOOTPRINTS 
Nonexpert testimony as  to, S. v. 

Lewis, 564. 

FORMER JEOPARDY 
Murder in perpetration of robbery, 

separate punishment for robbery, 
S. v. Peele, 253. 

FRAUD 
Misrepresentation that  deed signed 

by plaintiff was a note, Mangum 
v. Surles, 91. 

GOLF CART 
Absence of brakes when going back- 

wards, pleading amended by iin- 
plied consent, Roberts v. Memorial 
Park, 48. 

GRADING WORK 
Work performed on leased property, 

Investment Properties v. Allen, 
174. 

GROCERY STORE 
Workmen's compensation for death 

of employees killed by femme 
decedent's husband, Robbins v. 
Nieholson, 234. 

GUARANTY 
Attorney's fees in action on guar- 

anty contract, Credit Corp. v. 
Wilson, 140. 

Cost of land preparation for Holi- 
day Inn, Investment Properties v. 
Norburn, 191. 

Sufficiency of consideration, Invest- 
ment Properties v. Norburn, 191. 

GUILTY PLEA 

Affirmative showing of voluntari- 
ness in record, S. v. Ford, 62. 

HEARSAY EVIDENCE 

Statement as to cause of death in 
death certificate, S. v. Watson, 
221. 

HERBICIDE 

Damage to squash crop by use of, 
Wilson v. Chemical Co., 506. 

HEROIN 

Cross-examination of defendant as 
to acquaintance with other per- 
sons charged with narcotics viola- 
tions, S. v. Daye, 592. 

HOLIDAY INN 

Guaranty of cost of land prepara- 
tion, Investment Properties v. 
Norburn, 191, 

Lease of property for, agency of 
defendant's brother, Investment 
Properties v. Allen, 174. 

HOMICIDE 

Murder in perpetration of armed 
robbery - 

evidence aliunde confession, S. 
v. Jenerett, 81. 

sufficiency of evidence, S. v. 
Peele, 253. 

Workmen's compensation for homi- 
cide of grocery store employees, 
Robbins v. Nicholson, 234. 
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HOSPITAL EMERGENCY ROOM 
Pretrial identification in, independ- 

ence of in-court identification, S. 
v. Tkacker, 447. 

HOTEL 
Realtor's commissions for lease of 

hotel which was condemned, Ross 
v. Perry, 570. 

HYPODERMIC NEEDLE AND 
SYRINGE 

Possession of, punishment statute 
changed pending appeal, S. v. 
Kelly, 618. 

IMPORTS 
State taxes on, In  re Publishing Co., 

210. 

INCOME TAXATION 
Resident partner's share of income 

earned in another state, I n  re  
Dickinson, 552. 

IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION 
See Identification of Defendant this 

Index. 

IN-CUSTODY STATEMENTS 
See Confessions this Index. 

IDENTIFICATION OF 
DEFENDANT 

Failure to hold voir dire, absence of 
lineup, S. v. Cox, 275. 

Failure to renew objection to in- 
court identification, S. v. Mems, 
658. 

Independent origin of in-court iden- 
tification - 

from identification in hos- 
pital emergency room, S. v. 
Thacker, 447. 

from illegal photographic iden- 
tification, S. v. Accor, 287. 

from pretrial photographic iden- 
tification, S. v. Miller, 70. 

Right to counsel - 
identification by officer a t  ar- 

rest scene, S. v. Cox, 275. 
lineup, S. v. Mems, 658. 

IMPEACHMENT 

Cross-examination - 
as  to indictments, nonretro- 

activity of new rule, S. v. 
Harris, 542. 

of juvenile defendant as to  prior 
adjudication of guilt, S. v. 
Miller, 70. 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
Liability of innkeeper for torts of, 

Page v. Sloan, 697. 

[NDICTMENT AND WARRANT 
Affidavit for search warrant for 

narcotics based on information 
from reliable informant, S. v. 
Spencer, 121. 

[ndictment for other crimes - 
cross-examination for impeach- 

ment, retroactivity of new 
rule, S. v. Harris, 542; S. v. 
Daye, 592. 

Probable cause to search automobile 
without warrant, S. v. Ratliff, 
397. 

[NDIGENCY 
letermination of indigency in capi- 

tal case, S. v. Hoffman, 727. 
Zrroneous determination of non- 

indigency, S. v. Wright, 38; S. v. 
Cradle, 198. 

?ailure to appoint counsel for pre- 
liminary hearing, harmless error, 
S. v. Cradle, 198. 
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INNKEEPERS 

Liability to guest, Page v. Sloan, 
697. 

IN-STATE TUITION 
Regulations of eligibility for a t  

UNC, Glusnzan v. Trustees, 629. 

INSURANCE 
Automobile liability policy - 

action by injured third party, 
Younts v. Insurance Co., 582. 

failure of proof that  insured 
owned automobile, Younts v. 
Insurance Co., 582. 

INTEREST 
On costs in eminent domain pro- 

ceeding, City of Charlotte v. Mc- 
Neely, 684. 

Verdict allowing recovery of cost of 
grading work, Investment Proper- 
ties v. Allen, 174. 

INVENTORIES 
Failure to list portion of for ad 

valorem taxation, In  re Tire Serv- 
ice, 293. 

INVITEE 
Private duty nurse in nursing home, 

Long v. Methodist Home, 137. 

JUNIOR LIEN 
Right to surplus from foreclosure 

sale of senior lien, I n  re  Castil- 
lian Apartments, 709. 

JUNK YARD 
Unconstitutionality of fencing re- 

quirement, S. v. Vestal, 517. 

JURY 

Address on jury list showing black 
or white neighborhood, S. v. Cor- 
nell, 20. 

Jurors drawn from another county, 
S. v. Cutshall, 588. 

Jurors opposed to death penalty, 
challenge for cause, S. v. Watson, 
221; S. v. Anderson, 261. 

Persons 18 to 21 years old, absence 
from jury list, S. v. Cornell, 20; 
S. v. Harris, 542. 

Right to trial by, failure to demand 
in apt time, Schoolfield v. Collins, 
604. 

Selection of, questioning conducted 
by trial judge, S. v. Dawson, 645. 

Solicitor's father-in-law on jury, S. 
v. Watson, 221. 

Solicitor's questions as to death pen- 
alty views of prospective jurors, 
S. v. Willis, 558. 

Systematic exclusion of Negroes, in- 
sufficiency of evidence, S. v. 
Cornell, 20. 

Whole panel method of jury selec- 
tion, S. v. Cutshall, 588. 

JUVENILE DELINQUENT 
Cross-examination as to prior ad- 

judication of guilt, S. v. Miller, 
70. 

KIDNAPPING 

Fraud and intimidation of 15-year- 
old retarded victim, S. v. Hudson, 
100. 

Variance between allegations and 
proof of date, harmless error, S. 
v. Cox, 275. 

LAUNDRY WORKER 

Unemployment compensation, avail- 
ability for work, I n  re  Thomas, 
598. 
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LEASES 

Oral rescission of, Investment Prop. 
erties v. Allen, 174. 

Realtor's commissions for lease of 
hotel which was condemned, Rosa 
v. Perry, 570. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

Delegation of, statute allowing 
Princeville to annex territory, 
Plemmer v. Matthewson, 722. 

LIMITATION OF ACTIONS 

Failure to appeal judgment grant- 
ing right to commence new action 
after expiration of statute of limi- 
tations, Gower v. Insurance Co., 
577. 

LINEUP 

Right to counsel - 
inapplicability to identification 

by officer a t  arrest scene, S. 
v. Cox, 275. 

waiver of, S. v. Mems, 658. 

MARIJUANA 

Affidavit to obtain warrant to 
search for, S. v. Spencer, 121. 

Growing marijuana in cornfield, S. 
v. Spencer, 121. 

Marijuana found in pig shed, S. v. 
Spencer, 121. 

Possession of, preniises under con- 
trol of accused, S. v. Harvey, 1. 

Punishment statute changed pending 
appeal, S. v. Harvey, 1;  S. v. Mc- 
Intyre, 304. 

Seizure of seeds lying on refrigera- 
tor top, S. v. Harvey, 1. 

MOBILE HOME PARK 

Denial of special use permit under 
void rezoning ordinance, Keiger v. 
Board of Adjustment, 715. 

MOORHEAD HOUSE 

Gift to YWCA for upkeep of, 
YWCA v. Morgan, 485. 

MORTGAGES AND DEEDS OF 
TRUST 

Surplus from foreclosure sale, right 
of holder of junior lien, In  re  
Castillian Apartmexts, 709. 

MOTEL 

Liability of owner for injuries re- 
sulting from explosion of water 
heater, Page v. Sloan, 697. 

NARCOTICS 

Affidavit to obtain warrant to 
search for marijuana, S. v. Spen- 
cer, 121. 

Cross-examination of defendant as 
to acquaintance with other persons 
charged with narcotics violations, 
S. v. Daye, 592. 

Growing marijuana in cornfield, S. 
v. Spencer, 121. 

Inference from defendant's prox- 
imity to narcotics, S. v. Harvey, 1. 

Possession of marijuana found in 
pig shed, S. v. Spencer, 121. 

Punishment statute changed pend- 
ing appeal, S. v. Harvey, 1;  S. v. 
Mclntyre, 304; S. v. Kelly, 618. 

NEGLIGENCE 

Liability of innkeeper for injuries 
to guest, Page v. Sloan, 697. 

Specific allegations of, requirement 
under new Rules of Civil Pro- 
cedure, Roberts w. Memorial Park, 
48. 

NEGROES 

Lbsence from jury list, S. v. Cornell, 
20. 
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Address on jury list indicating black 
or white neighborhood, S. v. Cor- 
nell, 20. 

NEWSPRINT 

Taxes on imported, I n  re  Publishing 
Co., 210. 

NEXT OF KIN 
Workmen's compensation death bene- 

fits, brothers and sisters of de- 
ceased employee, Stevenson V. 
Durham, 300. 

NIGHTTIME 

Elements of burglary, S. v. Cox, 
131. 

NOLO CONTENDERE 

Voluntariness of, consideration of 
defendant's testimony a t  arraign- 
ment, S. v. Ford, 62. 

NUDE DRIVER 

Probable cause to search automobile 
operated by, S. v. Ratliff, 397. 

NURSE 

Fall of private duty nurse in nurs- 
ing home, Long v. Methodist 
Home, 137. 

ORIGINAL PACKAGE DOCTRINE 

Taxation on imported newsprint, 
I n  re  Publishing Co., 210. 

PARTNERSHIP 

Taxation of resident partner's share 
of income earned in another state, 
I n  re  Dickinson, 552. 

PATERNITY 

Competency of blood-grouping tests, 
Wright v. Wright, 159. 

PEANUT ALLOTMENT 

Ad valorem taxation of, I n  re  King, 
533. 

PHOTOGRAPHIC 
IDENTIFICATION 

Independent origin of in-court iden- 
tification from pretrial photo- 
graphic identification, S. v. Miller, 
70; S. v. Accor, 287. 

PLEADINGS 

Amendment by second judge after 
denial of motion by first judge, 
Calloway v. Motor CO., 496. 

Amendment to conform to evidence 
by implied consent, Roberts v. Me- 
morial Park, 48. 

Verified pleading considered as affi- 
davit on motion for summary 
judgment, Schoolfield v. Collins, 
604. 

POOLROOM 

Homicide resulting from argument 
in, S. v. Bolin, 415. 

PRE-EMERGENT HERBICIDE 

Damage to squash crop, Wilson v. 
Chemical Co., 506. 

PRELIMINARY HEARING 

Right to counsel, erroneous determi- 
nation of indigency, S. v. Cradle, 
198. 

Termination by court upon finding 
of probable cause, S. v. Cradle, 
198. 
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PRINCEVILLE 

Enlargement of corporate limits, 
Plemnzer v. Matthewson, 722. 

PRIOR CRIMES 
Cross-examination- 

adjudication of guilt of juvenile, 
S. v. Miller, 70. 

indictments for other offenses, 
S. v. Harris, 542; S. v. Daye, 
592. 

PRISON RECORD 
Inspection by inmate, Goble v. 

Bounds, 307. 

PROBABLE CAUSE 
Arrest warrant, information from 

reliable informant, S. v. Harvey, 
1. 

Search of automobile without war- 
rant, S. v. Ratliff, 397. 

Termination of preliminary hearing 
upon finding of, S. v. Cradle, 198. 

PUBLIC UTILITY 
Rules for ascertaining fair  value of 

public utility's property and fix- 
ing fa i r  rate of return, Utilities 
Comm. v. Telephone Co., 318. 

PUNISHMENT 
Death penalty, unconstitutionality 

under former statute, S. v. Ander- 
son, 261. 

Increased sentence on trial de novo 
in superior court, S. v. Harrell, 
111. 

Murder in perpetration of robbery, 
separate punishment for robbery 
constitutes double jeopardy, S. v. 
Peele, 253. 

Possession of hypodermic needle 
and syringe, punishment statute 

changed pending appeal, S. v. 
Kelly, 618. 

Possession of marijuana, punish- 
ment statute changed pending ap- 
peal, S. v. Harvey, 1;  S. v. Mo- 
Intyre, 302. 

RAILROAD RIGHT OF WAY 
Substitute condemnation by High- 

way Comm., Highway Comm. v. 
Equipment Co., 459. 

REAL ESTATE BROKER 
Right to commissions for rental of 

condemned hotel, Ross v. Perry, 
570. 

RECENT POSSESSION 
DOCTRINE 

Tools found in car trunk, S. v. 
Lewis, 564. 

RESIDENCE REQUIREMENTS 
Regulations for in-state tuition a t  

UNC, Glusman v. Trustees, 629. 

RESULTING TRUST 
Insufficiency of assertions, School- 

field v. Collins, 605. 

RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 

Amendment of pleadings by im- 
plied consent, Roberts v. Memo- 
rial Park, 48; Mangum v. Surles, 
91. 

Dismissal without barring litigation 
on merits, failure to appeal, 
Gower v. Insurance Co., 577. 

Specific allegations of acts of neg- 
ligence, requirements for, Roberts 
v. Memorial Park, 48. 
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RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE- 
Continued 

Specific allegations of facts to show 
fraud, requirements for, Mangum 
v. Surles, 91. 

Summary judgment, motion for- 
applicability in negligence cases, 

Page v. Sloan, 697. 
verified pleading considered as 

affidavit, Schoolfield v. Col- 
lins, 604. 

SEARCHES AND SEIZURES 

Affidavit for search warrant for 
narcotics based on confidential 
informant, S. v. Spencer, 121. 

Marijuana seeds lying in plain view, 
S. v. Harvey, 1. 

Probable cause to search automo- 
bile without warrant, S. v. Rat- 
liff, 397. 

Rifle and cartridges in plain view, 
S. v. Hoffman, 727. 

Warrantless search, reasonable be- 
lief felon concealed in home, S. v. 
Hoffman, 727. 

SENTENCE 

Death penalty, unconstitutionality 
under former statute, S. v. Ander- 
son, 261. 

Increased sentence on trial de novo 
in superior court, S. v. Harrell, 
111. 

Murder in perpetration of robbery, 
separate punishment for robbery 
constitutes double jeopardy, S. v. 
Peele, 253. 

Possession of hypodermic needle 
and syringe, punishment statute 
changed pending appeal, S. v. 
Kelly, 618. 

Possession of marijuana, punish- 
ment statute changed pending ap- 
peal, S. v. Harvey, 1;  S. v. Mc- 
Intyre, 302. 

SEVERANCE 

Denial of motion in rape trial of 
three defendants, S. v. Dawson, 
645. 

SHOPPING CENTER 
Rezoning of property from resi- 

dential to allow construction of, 
Allgood v. Town of Tarboro, 430. 

SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
Denial under void rezoning ordi- 

nance, Keiger v. Board of Adjust- 
ment, 715. 

SPECTATORS 
Ejectment from courtroom for in- 

terrupting trial, S. v. Dawson, 
645. 

SPEEDY TRIAL 
Delay between appeal from record- 

er's court and trial de novo in 
superior court, S. v. Harrell, 111. 

Delay between warrant and trial, 
S. v. Watson, 221. 

Delay of 10 months between arrest 
and trial, S. v. Spencer, 121. 

SQUASH CROP 
Damage by use of pre-emergent 

herbicide, Wilson v. Chemical CO., 
506. 

STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS 
Failure to appeal judgment grant- 

ing right to commence new action 
after expiration of, Gower v. Zn- 
surance Co., 577. 

SUBSTITUTE CONDEMNATION 
Relocation of railroad tracks, High- 

way Comm. v. Equipment CO., 459. 
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SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

Applicability in negligence case, 
Page v. Sloan, 697. 

Verified pleading considered as affi- 
davit on motion for, Schoolfield 
v. Collins, 604. 

SURPLUS FROM FORECLOSURE 
SALE 

Right of holder of junior lien to, 
In  re  Castillian Apartments, 709. 

SYSTEMATIC EXCLUSION 
Negroes from jury list, S. v. Cornell, 

20. 
Persons 18 to 21 years of age, S. V. 

Cornell, 20; S. v. Harris, 542. 

TAXATION 
Annexation ordinance, taxation of 

property pending appeal, Adams- 
Millis Corp. v. Kernersville, 147. 

Authority of county commissioners 
to change tax listing from one 
township to another, I n  re Truck- 
ing Co., 242. 

Failure to list portion of inven- 
tories, I n  re  Tire Service, 293. 

Imported newsprint, ad valorem 
taxes on, I n  re  Publishing CO., 210. 

Income tax, resident partner's share 
of income earned in another state, 
I n  r e  Dickinson, 552. 

Tax situs of vehicles owned by in- 
terstate motor carrier, I n  re  
Trucking Co., 242; I n  re  Trucking 
Co., 375. 

Tobacco and peanut allotments, ad 
valorem taxes on, I n  re  King, 
533. 

Truck Blue Book, use of in ap- 
praisal of trucking company's ve- 
hicles, I n  r e  Trucking Co., 375. 

TELEPHONE RATES 
Rules for ascertaining fair  value of 

public utility's property and fix- 

TELEPHONE RATES-Continued 
ing fair  rate of return, Utilities 
Comm. v. Telephone Co., 318. 

TIRE TRACKS 
Competency of casts of in homicide 

prosecution, S. v. Willis, 558. 

TOBACCO ALLOTMENT 
Ad valorem taxation of, I n  re King, 

533. 

TOOLS 
Found in trunk of defendant's car, 

S. v. Lewis, 564. 

TRIAL CALENDAR 
Acquaintance of defendant with 

other persons listed on, S. v. Daye, 
592. 

TRUCK BLUE BOOK 
Use of in appraisal of trucking com- 

pany's vehicles, I n  re Trucking 
Co., 375. 

TRUCKING COMPANY 
Tax situs of vehicles owned by, I n  

re Trucking Co., 242; In  re  Truck- 
ing Co., 375. 

TRUNK OF CAR 
Possession of tools found in, S. V. 

Lewis, 564. 

TRUSTS 
Gift to YWCA for upkeep of board- 

inghouse for women, YWCA V. 

Morgan, 485. 

TUITION 
Regulations of eligiblity for in-state 

tuition a t  UNC, Glusrnan v. Trust- 
ees, 629. 
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UNEMANCIPATED MINOR 
CHILD 

Wrongful death action against ad- 
ministrator of child's father, Skin- 
ner v. Whitley, 476. 

UNEMPLOYMENT 
COMPENSATION 

Availability for work, quantum of 
proof, I n  r e  Thomas, 598. 

UNIVERSITY OF N. C. 

Regulations of eligibility for in- 
state tuition, Glusman v. Trustees, 
629. 

UTILITIES COMMISSION 

Determination of fair  value of pub- 
lic utility's property and fix- 
ing fair  rate of return, Utilities 
Comm. v. Telephone Co., 318. 

VENUE 

Action against national bank, Se- 
curity Mills v. Trust CO., 525. 

WASTE 

Default on senior lien does not con- 
stitute, In re  Castillian Apart- 
ments, 709. 

WATER HEATER 

Liability of motel owner for injuries 
from explosion of, Page v. Sloan, 
697. 

WILLS 

Contract to devise real property in 
which three parties had an inter- 
est, Schoolfield v. Collins, 604. 

WITNESSES 

Defendant's right to list of names 
of, S. v. Hoffman, 727. 

Fees are not recoverable in eminent 
donlain proceeding, City of Char- 
lotte v. McNeely, 684. 

List of State's witnesses, testimony 
by witness not listed, S. v. Ander- 
son, 261. 

Motion by defendant for names of 
witnesses favorable to him, S. v. 
Peele, 253. 

WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION 

Brothers and sisters as  next of kin, 
Stevenson v. Durham, 300. 

Grocery store employees killed by 
femme defendant's husband, Rob- 
bins v. Nich,olson, 234. 

WRONGFUL DEATH 

Action by minor child's adminis- 
trator against administrator of 
child's father, Skinner v. Whitley, 
476. 

YWCA 

Gift for upkeep of boardinghouse 
for women, YWCA v. Morgan, 
485. 

ZONING 

Fencing of automobile wrecking 
yard, constitutionality of statute, 
S. v. Vestal, 517. 

Rezoning from residential district 
to community shopping district, 
Allgood v. Town of Tarboro, 430. 

Rezoning ordinance adopted without 
proper notice, Keiger v. Board of 
Adjustment, 715. 
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